
 
 

13 March 2024 
 
 

Joint Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Date: 
 

21 March 2024 

Time: 
 

6.30 pm 

Venue: 
 

Gordon Room, Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing 
 
 

Committee Membership:  
 
Adur District Council: Councillors; Andy McGregor (Adur Chair), Kevin Boram (Adur 
Vice-Chair), Tony Bellasis, Ann Bridges, Jim Funnell, Julian Shinn and Debs Stainforth, 
Vacant. 
 
Worthing Borough Council: Councillors; Dan Hermitage (Worthing Chairman), 
Mike Barrett (Worthing Vice-Chairman), Ödül Bozkurt, Ibsha Choudhury, Nigel Morgan, 
Hazel Thorpe, John Turley and Steve Waight 
 
 

 
 
 

Agenda 
Part A 
  
1. Substitute Members   
 
 Any substitute members should declare their substitution. 

  
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 Members and officers must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests in relation 

to any business on the agenda.  Declarations should also be made at any stage 
such an interest becomes apparent during the meeting.   
  
If in doubt contact the Legal or Democratic Services representative for this 
meeting. 
  

Public Document Pack



3. Minutes   
 
 To approve the minutes of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting 

held on 18 January 2024, copies of which have been previously circulated. 
  

4. Public Question Time   
 
 So as to provide the best opportunity for the Committee to provide the public with 

the fullest answer, questions from the public should be submitted by 12.00 noon 
on Monday 18th March 2024  
  
Where relevant notice of a question has not been given, the person presiding 
may either choose to give a response at the meeting or respond by undertaking 
to provide a written response within three working days.  
  
Questions should be submitted to Democratic Services 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk  
  
(Note: Public Question Time will operate for a maximum of 30 minutes.) 
  

5. Members' Questions   
 
 Councillors who are not members of this committee can ask questions under 

CPR 12  Questions should be relevant to the committee where the question is 
being asked and also relevant to an item on the agenda. Please contact 
Democratic Services for more information 
  
Members question time is 30 minutes and questions should be submitted no later 
than 12.00 noon on Monday 18th March 2024. 
  
Questions should be submitted to Democratic Services 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk  
(Note: Members’ Question Time will operate for a maximum of 30 minutes.) 
  
  

6. Items Raised under Urgency Provisions   
 
 To consider any items the Chairman of the meeting considers to be urgent. 

  
7. Value for Money  (Pages 5 - 62) 
 
 To consider a report by Ernst and Young, copy attached as item 7 

  
8. Internal Audit Progress Report  (Pages 63 - 76) 
 
 To consider a report by Mazars copy attached as item 8 

  
9. Internal Audit Plan  (Pages 77 - 94) 
 
 To consider a report by Mazars copy attached as item 9 

 
 
  



10. Mazars Fraud Report  (Pages 95 - 138) 
 
 To consider a report by Mazars copy attached as item 9 

  
11. Strategic Property Investment Fund - Annual Commercial Property 

Investment Strategy 2022/23  (Pages 139 - 180) 
 
 To consider a report by the Director for Sustainability & Resources, copy attached 

as item 11 
  

12. Complaints Lead Member Champion  (Pages 181 - 192) 
 
 To consider a report by the Director for Housing & Communities copy attached as 

item 12 
  

13. Sussex Yacht Club  (Pages 193 - 202) 
 
 To consider a report by the Director Sustainability & Resources for copy attached 

as item 13 
  

14. Adur Homes  (Pages 203 - 248) 
 
 To consider a report by the Director for Housing & Communities copy attached as 

item 14 
  

15. Working Group Constitutional Amendments  (Pages 249 - 1050) 
 
 To consider a report by the Director for Sustainability & Resources copy attached 

as item 15 
  

16. The Councils' Surveillance Powers Policy and Procedure (RIPA)  (Pages 
1051 - 1056) 

 
 To consider a report by the Director for Sustainability & Resources copy attached 

as item 16 
 

Part B      Exempt Reports - Not for Publication 
 
None. 
 
 
Recording of this meeting  
Please note that this meeting is being live streamed and a recording of the meeting will 
be available on the Council’s website. This meeting will remain on our website for one 
year and will be deleted after that period.  The Council will not be recording any 
discussions in Part B of the agenda (where the press and public have been excluded). 

 
 
For Democratic Services enquiries relating 
to this meeting please contact: 

For Legal Services enquiries relating to 
this meeting please contact: 

Simon Filler  
 Democratic Services  

Joanne Lee  
Head of Legal Services and Monitoring 



 01903 221439 
simon.filler@adur-worthing.gov.uk 

Officer 
01903 221134 
joanne.lee@adur-worthing.gov.uk     

 
The agenda and reports are available on the Councils website, please visit  
www.adur-worthing.gov.uk  
 
Duration of the Meeting:  Three hours after the commencement of the meeting the 
Chairperson will adjourn the meeting to consider if it wishes to continue.  A vote will be 
taken and a simple majority in favour will be necessary for the meeting to continue. 
 

mailto:joanne.lee@adur-worthing.gov.uk
http://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/


Confidential

Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money report

Worthing Borough Council

Year ended 31 March 2023 

March 2024

5

A
genda Item

 7



The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited. A list of members’ names is available for inspection at 1 More London Place, London SE1 
2AF, the firm’s principal place of business and registered office. Ernst & Young LLP is a multi-disciplinary practice and is authorised and regulated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Solicitors Regulation Authority and other regulators. Further 
details can be found at http://www.ey.com/UK/en/Home/Legal.

12 March 2024

Dear Joint Audit and Governance Committee Members

2022/23 Value for Money Report 

We are pleased to attach our interim commentary on Value for Money (VFM) arrangements for Worthing Borough Council. The commentary 
explains the work we have undertaken during the year and highlights any significant weaknesses identified along with any recommendations 
for improvement. The commentary covers our interim findings for audit year 2022/23.

The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has worked collaboratively with the FRC, as incoming shadow system 
leader, and other system partners, to develop measures to address the delay in local audit. The National Audit Office (NAO) issued a 
consultation on 8 February 2024 seeking views on changes to the Code of Audit Practice (the Code) to support auditors to meet backstop 
dates and promote more timely reporting of their work on value for money arrangements. The consultation proposes to reduce the scope of 
the VFM reporting up to and including the 2022/23 financial year. At this stage, we are continuing to report VFM in line with our existing 
responsibilities as set out in the 2020 Code.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Joint Audit and Governance Committee and management. It is not intended 
to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss the contents of this report with you at the Joint Audit and Governance Committee meeting on 21 
March 2024.

Yours faithfully 

Kevin Suter

Partner

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

Encl

Worthing Borough Council

c/o Worthing Town Hall

Chapel Road

Worthing

West Sussex

BN11 1HA

6



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Contents

Executive 
Summary01

Value for Money 
Commentary

02
Appendices03

3

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued the “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the PSAA website (Statement of responsibilities of auditors and 

audited bodies (up to and including 2022/23 audits) - PSAA).The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises 

where the different responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas. 

The “Terms of Appointment and further guidance (updated July 2021)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National 

Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.

This report is made solely to the Joint Audit and Governance Committee and management of Worthing Borough Council in accordance with the statement of responsibilities. Our work has been 

undertaken so that we might state to Joint Audit and Governance Committee and management of Worthing Borough Council those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Joint Audit and Governance Committee and management of Worthing Borough Council 

for this report or for the opinions we have formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent.

7

https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies/psaa-statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies-upto-2022-23/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies/psaa-statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies-upto-2022-23/


Executive Summary01

Confidential — All Rights Reserved 4

8



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Executive Summary

Auditors are required to be satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We 
do not issue a ‘conclusion’ or ‘opinion’, but where significant weaknesses are identified we will report by exception in the auditor’s opinion on the financial 
statements. In addition, auditor’s provide an annual commentary on arrangements published as part of the Auditor’s Annual Report. In doing so, we comply with the 
requirements of the 2020 Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and Auditor Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03).

The purpose of this interim commentary is to explain the work we have undertaken for the period 2022/23 and highlight any significant weaknesses identified along 
with recommendations for improvement. The commentary covers our interim findings for audit year 2022/23.

The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has worked collaboratively with the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), as incoming shadow 
system leader, and other system partners, to develop measures to address the delay in local audit. As part of the NAO consultation issued on 8 February 2024, 
there is a proposal to reduce the scope of the VFM reporting up to and including the 2022/23 financial year. However, the consultation states that where auditors 
have begun or already undertaken work that no longer falls under the reduced scope (if agreed once the consultation closes), they may still report on it in 
accordance with Schedule 4.  We are continuing to report VFM in line with our existing responsibilities as set out in the 2020 Code to ensure a smooth transition to 
the 2023/24 audit year when auditors are required to meet the full Code reporting responsibilities.

The report sets out the following areas which have been assessed up to the point of issuing this interim report to the Joint Audit and Governance Committee:

• Risks of significant weakness and procedures planned to mitigate these

• Findings of our work against the three value for money reporting criteria and the sub-criteria

• Summary of arrangements in place over the period covered by this report.

We will summarise our final view of the value for money arrangements as part of the Auditor’s Annual Report once the audit report has been issued for 2022/23.

Purpose

5

9



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Executive Summary (continued)

Our value for money procedures are based on the judgements reached from a combination of:

• our cumulative audit knowledge and experience 

• our review of Council committee reports, 

• meetings with the officers, 

• and evaluation of associated documentation through our regular engagement with Council management and the finance team. 

We completed our risk assessment procedures and did not identify any risks of or actual significant weaknesses in the Council's VFM arrangements. As a result, we 
have no matters to report by exception at this stage of the audit and we will update our interim reporting as part of issuing the final commentary in the Auditor’s 
Annual Report later in the year. 

Risks of Significant Weakness

6

10



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Executive Summary (continued)

Our interim commentary for 2022/23 is set out over pages 9 to 13. The commentary on these pages summarises our understanding of the arrangements at the 
Council based on our evaluation of the evidence obtained in relation to the three reporting criteria (See table below) throughout 2022/23 over the arrangements at 
the Council in relation to our reporting criteria (see table below) throughout 2022/23. 

Appendix A includes the detailed arrangements and processes underpinning the reporting criteria. These were reported in our 2021/22 Annual Auditors Report and 
have been updated for 2022/23. 

In accordance with the NAO’s 2020 Code, we are required to report a commentary against three specified reporting criteria. The table below sets out the three 
reporting criteria, whether we identified a risk of significant weakness as part of our planning procedures, and whether, at the time of this interim report, we have 
concluded that there is no significant weakness in the body’s arrangements:

Reporting

7

Reporting Criteria
Risks of significant weaknesses in 
arrangements identified?

Actual significant weaknesses in 

arrangements identified?

Financial sustainability: How the Council plans and manages its resources to 
ensure it can continue to deliver its services

No significant risks identified No significant weakness identified 

Governance: How the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and 
properly manages its risks

No significant risks identified No significant weakness identified

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: How the Council uses 
information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and 
delivers its services

No significant risks identified No significant weaknesss identified

11



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Executive Summary (continued)

The FRC Ethical Standard requires that we provide details of all relationships between Ernst & Young (EY) and the Council, and its members and senior management 
and its affiliates, including all services provided by us and our network to the Council, its members and senior management and its affiliates, and other services 
provided to other known connected parties that we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on the our integrity or objectivity, including those that could 
compromise independence and the related safeguards that are in place and why they address the threats.

We highlight the following relationships that may be reasonably considered to bear upon our objectivity and independence. However we have adopted the safeguards 
noted below to mitigate these threats. 

Independence

8

Description of relationship Related independence threat Safeguards adopted and reasons considered to be effective

We are engaged by the Council as a 
reporting accountant for the Housing 
Benefit Assurance Process (HBAP)

Self-Interest The service is permissible under the NAO’s Auditor Guidance 
Note 01. because this service is required by the awarding 
central government department

Self-review The results of the AUP testing is not reflected in the amounts 
included/disclosed in the financial statements.
The external audit conclusion is not reliant upon the conclusion 
of our AUP engagement.
No advice will be given in relation to accounting treatment.

12



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary02

9Confidential — All Rights Reserved

13



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary

No significant weakness identified

10

Financial Sustainability: How the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to 
deliver its services

The 2022/23 revenue budget was set as a balanced budgets and compiled within the context of the Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review, the Chancellor’s 
Budget, and the local government settlement. There has been a significant decline in overall government income in recent years with increasing amounts of income 
being generated locally through council tax, business rates, fees and charges, and income from commercial property. In order to achieve a balanced budget, the 
Council has continued to pursue savings through efficiency reviews, procurement, and base budget reviews to set a balanced budget each year. These planned 
savings were set out in the short-term financial plans. For 2022/23 the savings target totaled to £1,135,270. The savings target for 2023/24 increased significantly 
to £3,203,000. The Council's Joint Strategic Committee has maintained oversight over the financial performance of the Council, and performance against revenue 
budget is reported at least quarterly to the Committee. These initiatives have resulted in underspend of £778,000 compared to the budget for the year ending 31 
March 2023. The final position for operational services were overspend by £3,563,000. However, the underspend is mainly due to the leisure services appeal VAT 
refund to the Council amounting to £2,780,000, NNDR grant reliefs of £1,336,000 and contribution from reserves of £2,385,000.

The 2nd quarter revenue monitoring report for 2023/24 has highlighted a net projected overspend of £1,541,000. The Council has budget management controls in 
place to control in-year spend and these are forecast to deliver further in-year savings of £735,000 in addition of the £3,203,000 savings identified in February 
2023. These controls include a developed set of in-year initiatives that include tighter controls on external spend, vacancy management and agency and consultant 
spend. The Council has also a Budget Management Group which meets weekly to review spend requests above £25,000, and sub £25,000 requests are considered 
daily by a triage group. In-year initiatives are being carefully tracked to ensure delivery, and service reviews undertaken to ensure any impact is understood to 
support communications to staff, members and the public.

The Council prepares a five-year revenue budget as part of its medium-term financial planning. The budget strategy for 2022/23 to 2026/27 was prepared with the 
aim to deliver the Council’s service delivery objectives outlined in its 3-year plan. These forecasts are updated throughout the year to give the Council a clear view of 
the forthcoming financial challenges and consider the fall in government funding. The Council has consequently identified significant budget reductions over the 
period 2022-23 to 2026-27. Due to the financial pressures the Council is facing, it needs to identify significant savings or deliver income growth over the medium 
term to balance the budget, particularly if it wants to deliver on its service delivery objectives. The current financial strategy including the savings strategy includes 
plans to:
• Increase income from commercial services
• Dispose assets and reduce the costs associated with the capital programme
• Increase income from the commercial property portfolio
• Reduce the costs associated with housing need through prevention and better commissioning
• Reduce costs through business efficiency and digital investment

Each year, a detailed schedule of the individual savings proposals is prepared and built directly into the budget. It is then monitored through the Council’s Committee 
structure to take corrective action where necessary.

14



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary (continued)

No significant weakness identified

11

Financial Sustainability: How the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to 
deliver its services (Continued)

While the Council is managing its budget pressures, it needs to ensure that its services are on a sustainable footing.  The overspend at service level of £3.5m during 
2022/23 is a concern, as is the projected overspend for 2023/24.  The Council needs to ensure financial sustainability of its services, and keep reviewing 
opportunities to ensure the general fund balance does not reduce to a level insufficient to manage future unforeseen circumstances

Conclusion: Based on the work performed, the Council had proper arrangements in place in 2022/23 to enable it to plan and manage its resources to ensure that 
it can continue to deliver its services.

15



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary (continued)

No significant weakness identified

12

Governance: How the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks

The Council continues to maintain adequate arrangements to monitor and assess risk and gain assurance over the effective operation of internal controls, including 
arrangements to prevent and detect fraud and corruption. The Council’s risk management framework guides the development of risk and opportunity management at 
a strategic and operational level and to ensure that risks are appropriately managed and controlled. This aids the achievement of the Council’s strategic priorities, 
supports its decision-making processes, and protects its reputation and other assets and is compliant with statutory and regulatory obligations. These risks are 
identified as a routine process of all services, and these are regularly reviewed and updated. This risk management framework is supported and informed by the work 
of the Council’s Internal Audit function.

Primary oversight of the risk management framework is the responsibility of the Council with some aspects delegated to Joint Audit & Governance Committee and 
Joint Strategic Committee. These committees meet on a regular basis during which key issues are raised and addressed with effective challenge from members. All 
decisions of the Council and these Committees are accompanied by a detailed report which details the rationale for the decision, the options considered, legal advice 
and financial advice. Under the constitution, all decisions may be called in by members for review prior to implementation on specific grounds. These reviews are the 
purview of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The Council has implemented systems to ensure conflicts of interest are identified, recorded and acted upon accordingly, excluding anyone from decision-making 
where a conflict arises, and making public declaration of interests through its Register of Interests which is published on the Council’s website and covers employees 
and members. Regular training is provided to members on standards issues, so all members are aware of the requirements.

Conclusion: Based on the work performed, the Council had proper arrangements in place in 2022/23 to make informed decisions and properly manage its risks.

16



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary (continued)

Significant weakness identified

13

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: How the Council uses information about its costs and 
performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services

The Council’s organisational performance management was undertaken via a six-monthly review of the targets, outputs and outcomes described in the Council’s Plan. 
This approach to organisational performance was updated in year following the full delivery of the previous organisational plan (Platforms for Our Places). It was 
replaced in October 2022 to align with the updated 3-year Corporate Plan. Progress has since continued to be reported to the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. Platform performances are reviewed, and areas of improvement implemented through multidisciplinary and directorate teams that oversee the delivery 
of council activities under each Platform Priority. The Council’s Leadership Team takes overall accountability at an officer level for delivery of Platforms though 
quarterly Leadership Team Platform performance meetings. Any issues identified by internal audit are monitored via the internal audit service and reported to the 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee four times a year. Officers not taking sufficient action on these service improvements may be requested to report to the 
Committee.

Most services have performance information and standards used to compare and assess performance with other Councils or with nationally recognised performance 
frameworks (e.g. Housemark, Department of Work and Pensions and national planning indicators). Where a service is identified in need of improvement a 
transformation team is set up to support service improvement.

The Council also has mechanisms to engage with the communities and has developed a consultation policy which reflects the Council's ambition to enable and 
empower communities to shape the places within which they live and work, influence formal decision making and make informed choices around the services they 
receive. The Council recognises that to be effective, this policy must inspire and support a genuine two-way dialogue with all sections of the community and other 
stakeholders. Therefore, in addition to the formal consultation procedures, residents have the option to engage in a dialogue through social media sites, petition 
schemes, stakeholder forums, tenant associations, council meetings (open to the public), and their local councillor. This process is supported by an established 
complaints procedure, where results are reported to the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The Council continue to work closely with Adur District Council through the Adur and Worthing Joint Committee, and the partnership continues to enable the Council 
to progress against it’s corporate plan. The Council also engages in the Safer Communities Partnership and a number of local business partnerships.

Conclusion: Based on the work performed, the Council had proper arrangements in place in 2022/23 to enable it to plan and manage its resources to ensure that 
it can continue to deliver its services.

17



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendices03

XYZ plc Audit planning report 14Confidential — All Rights Reserved

18



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body ensures that it 
identifies all the significant financial 
pressures that are relevant to its 
short and medium-term plans and 
builds these into them

The Council’s service delivery objectives for 2023-2026 have been set out in their strategic plan titled “Our Plan” and forms 
the basis of the Council’s strategic planning, including its short-term and medium-term financial plans. In this document, the 
Council sets out:
• It’s purpose
• How they work
• Their principles
• Their foundations
• Their missions.
The Council prepares an annual revenue budget as part of its short-term financial planning. The 2022/23 and 2023/24 
revenue budgets were set as a balanced budgets and compiled within the context of the Government’s Comprehensive 
Spending Review, the Chancellor’s Budget, and the local government settlement. There has been a significant decline in 
overall government income in recent years with increasing amounts of income being generated locally through council tax, 
business rates, fees and charges, and income from commercial property.

In addition to the national context, the Council’s budget strategy has also taken account of pressures and risks such as 
inflation; income generated by the Council which may be affected by lack of demand; impact of increasing demand for such 
services as homelessness; and withdrawal of funding by partners, potentially losing funding for key priorities.

The Council held a working balance and other earmarked reserves to help mitigate these risks. The Council’s budget strategy 
supports them in meeting these challenges through the following four major work streams: developing commercial income; 
investing in property; tackling homelessness and delivery of a new customer and digital strategy.

The Council also continued to pursue savings through efficiency reviews, procurement, and base budget reviews. These 
initiatives have resulted in underspend of £778,000 compared to the budget for the year ending 31 March 2023. The final 
position for operational services were overspent by £3,563,000. However, the underspend is mainly due to the leisure 
services appeal VAT refund to the Council amounting to £2,780,000, NNDR grant reliefs of £1,336,000 and contribution 
from reserves of £2,385,000. The 2nd quarter revenue monitoring report for 2023/24 has highlighted a net projected 
overspend of £1,541,000. 

15

Financial Sustainability

19



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body ensures that it 
identifies all the significant financial 
pressures that are relevant to its 
short and medium-term plans and 
builds these into them (continued)

The Council has implemented budget management controls in place to control in-year spend and these are forecast to deliver 
further in-year savings of £735,000 in addition of the £3,203,000 savings identified in February 2023. These controls 
include a developed set of in-year initiatives that include tighter controls on external spend, vacancy management and 
agency and consultant spend. The Council has also a Budget Management Group which meets weekly to review spend 
requests above £25,000, and sub £25,000 requests are considered daily by a triage group. In-year initiatives are being 
carefully tracked to ensure delivery, and service reviews undertaken to ensure any impact is understood to support 
communications to staff, members and the public. The Council prepares a five-year revenue budget as part of its medium-
term financial planning. This budget strategy covers 2023/24 – 2027/28 and was prepared with the aim to continue 
delivering the Council’s service delivery objectives as discussed above. These forecasts were further updated in-year giving 
the Council a clear view of forthcoming financial challenges and taking into account pressures such as the fall in government
funding, housing, HB subsidy and the impact of the pandemic of the Council’s financial outlook.

Achievement of revenue and capital budgets were further monitored in-year with quarterly finance reporting thereon to the 
Joint Strategic Committee. Areas of concern in these quarterly reports are subject to scrutiny that culminate into the 
revenue and capital outturn reports that are approved by the Joint Strategic Committee and subsequently adopted by the 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The 2022/23 and 2023/24 revenue outturn report reflect the efficiency of these in-year monitoring measures as the Council 
contained expenditure within the original budget levels despite facing a range of unforeseen additional costs not originally 
budgeted for. These initiatives have resulted in underspend of £778,000 compared to the budget for the year ending 31 
March 2023 and a net overspend of £1,541,000 for the year ending 31 March 2024.

How the body plans to bridge its 
funding gaps and identifies 
achievable savings

Due to the increasing financial pressures the Council needs to identify significant savings or deliver income growth over the
next 5 to 10 years to balance the budget and ensure delivery on its service delivery objectives.

16

Financial Sustainability (continued)

20



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body plans to bridge its 
funding gaps and identifies 
achievable savings (continued)

The savings process followed for the development of the budget entails the following four stages:
• Directors are responsible for identifying proposals aimed at meeting a significant proportion of the savings targets;
• A “Budget Reference Group” consisting of joint executives consider these proposals and potential impact on delivery of the 
Council’s priorities;
• These savings proposals are then presented to the Joint Overview & Scrutiny Committee for consideration. The Joint 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee may also add to the list of proposed savings with additional proposals as considered 
appropriate; and
• Consideration by the Joint Strategic Committee of which savings proposals are to be implemented to fund the budget 
shortfall.

Once these budgets have been set and approved, they are monitored throughout the financial year by the Chief Financial 
Officer and reported on quarterly to the Joint Strategic Committee as discussed above.

The 2023/24 budget was approved as a balanced budget by the Council on 1 February 2023 and identified the budget gaps 
over the medium term that needed to be addressed. The financial strategy, including the savings strategy includes plans to:
• Increase income from commercial services
• Dispose assets and reduce the costs associated with the capital programme
• Increase income from the commercial property portfolio
• Reduce the costs associated with housing need through prevention and better commissioning
• Reduce costs through business efficiency and digital investment
Each year, a detailed schedule of the individual savings proposals is prepared and built directly into the budget. It is then
monitored through the regular budget monitoring process, although reporting to Committee is at a higher level such that 
figures are not explicitly included.

For 2022/23 the savings target totaled to £1,135,270. The savings target for 2023/24 increased significantly to 
£3,203,000.

17

Financial Sustainability (continued)

21



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body plans finances to 
support the sustainable delivery of 
services in accordance with strategic 
and statutory priorities

The Council has detailed its service delivery objectives detailed in its Corporate Plan. This forms the basis for its strategic and 
statutory priorities on which its short-term and medium-term financial plans are developed. Progress towards achieving these 
objectives are monitored by the Corporate Leadership Team throughout the year. Bi-annual reporting on this progress is 
presented to Joint Strategic Committee with remedial actions discussed and actioned where necessary.

Short-term and medium-term financial plans detail the likely costs associated with the Council’s strategic and statutory 
priorities; identifies any budget gaps that may arise from reduction in government funding; and planned savings strategies to
bridge any gaps between available funding from taxation and the cost of services. Any new service investment made must 
meet either objectives within the corporate plan or be a new statutory obligation.

How the body ensures that its 
financial plan is consistent with 
other plans such as workforce, 
capital, investment, and other 
operational planning which may 
include working with other local 
public bodies as part of a wider 
system

The Council develops an annual capital investment strategy as part of its short-term and medium-term financial planning 
process. This is approved by the Council alongside its revenue budget. This investment strategy is also aligned to the 
Council’s Corporate Plan and identifies capital investments required to achieve its set service delivery objectives. This capital 
plan determines the cost of financing required capital along with any other financial impact. The revenue budget is also 
updated to reflect the impact to deliver this capital programme. The 2023/24 to 2025/26 Capital Programme identified 
capital expenditure planned over the medium term and their sources of financing which is also aligned to its 2023/24 
revenue budget. 

The Council had a capital expenditure amounted to £57,321,000 in 2022/23, a £4,586,000 underspent from the total 
revised budget of £61,906,000. This capital expenditure has been spent on the following projects: 

• Redevelopment of Brooklands Park; 

• Construction of a new Worthing Integrated Care Centre;

• Acquisition of the Southern House Headquarters;

• Disabled adaptations to residents’ homes, Decarbonisation programme of works to improve the sustainability of the 
Council’s buildings;

• Heat Network - Adur and Worthing Workspaces project to co-locate the NHS with the Councils;

• Improvements to the Council’s digital infrastructure;

18

Financial Sustainability (continued)

22



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body ensures that its 
financial plan is consistent with 
other plans such as workforce, 
capital, investment, and other 
operational planning which may 
include working with other local 
public bodies as part of a wider 
system (continued)

• Improvement to the public realm and 

• Continued repairs and improvements to the multi storey car parks.

A significant proportion of the expenditure was for the acquisition of investment properties, in particular, the Southern House 
Headquarters, which accounted for a total spend of £22,483,000. Additionally, the Council also made a considerable 
investment towards the construction of a new Worthing Integrated Care Centre, with total costs amounting to £22,813,000.

The capital expenditure, which encompasses the costs for the aforementioned properties and constructions, has been 
primarily financed through borrowings of £53,748,000, over the next three (3) year.

Government initiatives have placed emphasis on partnership working for service delivery to help meet the changing needs of 
customers and the cost savings authorities need to find. To achieve this goal Adur District Council and Worthing Borough 
Councils are part of an innovative partnership arrangement. A shared single officer structure was introduced in April 2008 
and includes all of the services that were intended to operate as shared Adur and Worthing services. These shared services 
are managed via a Joint Committee which must meet all the accounting requirements of a public sector body. For accounting 
purposes, the following key processes apply:

• The Joint Strategic Committee has a separate budget;

• As each service moved across from Adur and Worthing to the Joint Strategic Committee their respective budgets and spend 
were pooled; and

• The net expenditure within the Joint Strategic Committee is recharged back to Adur and Worthing Councils.

The Council’s financial planning process also considers the impact of this partnership working when setting its short-term and 
medium-term financial plans. This is inherently part of the Councils’ operations for which a separate partnership budget has 
been developed. Each constituent Council’s budget also includes the costs from partnership budgets.

19

Financial Sustainability (continued)

23



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body identifies and 
manages risks to financial resilience, 
e.g. unplanned changes in demand, 
including challenge of the 
assumptions underlying its plans

The Council manages its financial resilience risk through the following implemented measures:

• It publishes detailed short-term and medium-term financial plans that are aligned to its Corporate and includes actions to 
ensure financial sustainability;

• In-year monitoring of these financial plans to identify and incorporate any unplanned changes in underlying assumptions of 
the Council’s plans as explained above;

• Reporting of financial performance against above set financial plans on a quarterly basis to the Joint Strategic Committee;
and

• Risk management processes to identify, monitor and address risks.

The Council has established a Risk and Opportunity Management Strategy for the 2021-23 period which leads on from the 
previous version which covered the 2018-20 period. This purpose of this strategy is to serve as framework for the delivery of 
the risk and opportunity management function and to provide guidance on developing risk and opportunity management as a 
routine process for all services.

Risk and management opportunities identified are monitored in-year with quarterly reporting to the Joint Audit and 
Governance Committee. A risk relating to continued pressures on the Council’s finances has been identified and included in 
the Council’s risk register as a very likely risk with a major impact for both of the 2022/23 and 2023/24 years. The Council 
continues to implement remedial actions that lead to the setting of a balanced budget in future periods, including the short 
and medium terms as demonstrated by the relevant forecasts. Despite this, management remains acutely aware of the 
financial pressures on the Council and each detailed budget includes measures to look to balance the budget without 
consistent reliance on the limited reserves held.

20

Financial Sustainability (continued)

24



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the governance criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body monitors and assesses risk 
and how the body gains assurance over 
the effective operation of internal 
controls, including arrangements to 
prevent and detect fraud

The Council’s Constitution directs how it operates, decisions are made and the relevant procedures to ensure that 
these decisions are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Areas of potential change are identified, and 
the Constitution is amended accordingly, which has been evidenced by the recent updating of its constitution in 
November 2023.

The Council has a risk management framework which guides the development of risk and opportunity management at a 
strategic and operational level and to ensure that they are appropriately managed and controlled. This aids the 
achievement of the Council’s strategic priorities, supports its decision-making processes, protect its reputation and 
assets, and ensures compliance with relevant statutory and regulatory obligations. These risks are identified as a 
routine process of all services and are regularly reviewed and updated. All significant risks (defined as something that 
may result in failure in service delivery, significant financial loss, non-achievement of key objectives, damage to health, 
legal action or reputational damage) must be logged on a Corporate Risk Register, profiled (as high/medium/low), and 
mitigating measures/assurances must be put in place. These risks are regularly monitored and reported in-year to the 
Council Leadership Team, Joint Audit & Governance Committee, and Joint Strategic Committee to ensure that 
progress in addressing these risks is monitored throughout each year.

The Council has an internal audit service in place which provides information regarding the effectiveness of the internal 
control environment and its arrangements to prevent and detect fraud. In-year quarterly reporting by internal audit to 
the Joint Audit & Governance Committee ensures that efficient and effective assurance arrangements are in place to 
assist the management of risk and performance.

The Council furthermore has a fraud team in place to investigate fraud and carry out verification work on issues such 
as Council Tax discount and investigations into NFI matches.

21

Governance

25



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the governance criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body approaches and carries out 
its annual budget setting process

The annual budget process including the related responsibilities and procedures are set out in the Council’s 
Constitution. The annual service planning and budgeting process seeks to reconcile corporate and business plans, and 
strategies with the relevant resources which includes the finance department. This process commences with a series of 
strategic initiatives with inputs from various stakeholders. Similar to the establishment of its Medium-Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) and Medium-Term Capital Strategy, the Council has an implemented budgeting system which allows for 
the alignment of its annual budget to the priorities and commitments in its Corporate Plan.

The Council refreshes the MTFP and agrees the budget strategy for the forthcoming year in July. Managers are then 
tasked to review their budgets for its appropriateness and to confirm details for additional income or savings plans 
through a detailed financial planning exercise. Subsequently, the overall savings plan is checked and consulted on prior 
to initial consideration by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee in December and then subsequent approval by 
the Joint Strategic Committee in the following January, which also includes an updated MTFP. The Council will then 
consider the overall budget and options for Council Tax setting which is then subject to approval by the respective 
Councils in February.

How the body ensures effective processes 
and systems are in place to ensure 
budgetary control; to communicate 
relevant, accurate and timely management 
information (including non-financial 
information where appropriate); supports 
its statutory financial reporting 
requirements; and ensures corrective 
action is taken where needed

The Council’s processes and systems in place to ensure budgetary control have been set out in its Constitution. Each 
budget line has been assigned a budget manager who is responsible for managing the related budget. Monthly budget 
monitoring packs are produced and shared with managers to assess current financial performance shortly after each 
month end. Financial officials meet with budget managers to review related budgets and identify both areas of financial 
pressure and underspending. The Council may also hold a series of contingency budgets which are available to meet 
pressures identified if needed.

The Corporate Leadership Team further produces and evaluates monthly reports on the financial performance of the 
Council to identify emerging issues. This feeds into the quarterly reporting of the revenue and capital budgets to the 
Joint Strategic Committee. This budget management process is also subject to regular internal audit review to ensure 
that the system is fit for purpose.

The efficiency of these controls is evidenced by the overall outturn position of position of £778,000 underspend for 
2022/23 and a £1,541,000 net overspend for 2023/24.

22

Governance (continued)

26



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the governance criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body ensures it makes properly 
informed decisions, supported by 
appropriate evidence and allowing for 
challenge and transparency.  This includes 
arrangements for effective challenge from 
those charged with governance/Joint Audit 
and Governance Committee

Primary oversight is the responsibility of the Council with some responsibilities delegated to Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee and Joint Strategic Committee. These committees meet on a regular basis during which key issues are 
raised and addressed with effective challenge from members. All Council and Committee decisions are accompanied by 
a detailed report which details its rationale, the options considered, legal advice and financial

advice. A set corporate template is also used to ensure that all of advice needed to make a decision is provided. Under 
the constitution, all decisions may be called in by members for review prior to implementation on specific grounds. 
These reviews are the purview of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

To allow for transparency, the Council also ensures that it publishes relevant information relating to salaries, business 
interests and performance data on its website; has a procurement team who provide advice and issue clear guidelines 
for procuring goods and services; publishes information to the Council and its Committees as part of established 
accountability mechanisms; prepares an Annual Governance Statement; and prepares a Corporate Plan as discussed 
above.

The Council is furthermore committed to the publication of transparent performance information on its website, which 
includes: budget reports; operational performance reports; a Medium-Term Financial Plan; a Corporate Plan; 
Statement of Accounts; Annual Governance Statement; and Information as required under the Local Government 
Transparency Code.

There is also evidence of good arrangements in place to monitor the implementation of internal audit 
recommendations by the Joint Governance Committee. Internal audit progress reports are presented on a quarterly 
basis throughout the year to monitor implementation of recommendations by internal audit and to implement 
corrective actions where necessary.

23

Governance (continued)

27



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the governance criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body monitors and ensures 
appropriate standards, such as meeting 
legislative/regulatory requirements and 
standards in terms of officer or member 
behaviour (such as gifts and hospitality or 
declarations/conflicts of interests)

The roles of both members and officers of the Council are outlined in the Code of Conduct included within its 
Constitution and is approved by the Joint Audit & Governance Committee.

If any member breaches the Code of Conduct, there is a resolution and complaints process administered by the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer and potentially involving a hearing of the sub-Committee of the Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee.

The Council is transparent about how decisions are taken and recorded by:

• Ensuring that decisions are made in public and recorded. Those decisions and relevant information are publicly 
available (except where that information is exempt under the provisions of the Local Government Act or determined as 
being confidential by Government) and

• Having rules and procedures which govern how decisions are made.

The Council has implemented systems to ensure conflicts of interest are identified, recorded and acted upon 
accordingly, excluding anyone from decision-making where a conflict arises, and making public declaration of interests 
through its Register of Interests which is published on the Council’s website and covers employees, governing body 
members and members of panels/committees and sub-committee.

The Council maintains a register of member interests which is available to the public and published on its website. 
Regular training is provided to members on standards issues ensuring that all members are aware of the requirements. 
Each member and officer are also expected to complete a return on any gifts of hospitality.

The Council has a published Whistleblowing Policy and provides protection to individuals raising concerns.  This policy 
is periodically reviewed in line with guidance.

The Council also ensures that effective, transparent and accessible arrangements are in place for dealing with 
complaints.  The website contains guidance for submitting complaints against the Council by the public and processes 
are in place to progress any complaints that are made.

24

Governance (continued)

28



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How financial and performance 
information has been used to assess 
performance to identify areas for 
improvement

Organisational performance management is undertaken through a six-monthly review of the targets, outputs and outcomes 
described in the Council’s Plan. Information is gathered through various performance management arrangements to produce 
the “6 monthly Platforms Performance Report” and is presented to the Joint Strategic Committee and Joint Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee bi-annually.

Platform performances are reviewed, and areas of improvement implemented through multidisciplinary and directorate 
teams that oversee the delivery of council activities under each Platform Priority. The Council’s Leadership Team takes 
overall accountability at an officer level for delivery of Platforms though quarterly Council Leadership Team Platform 
performance meetings.

This process halted in year following the full delivery of the previous organisational plan titled “Platforms for Our Places” and 
was replaced in October 2022 with the updated 3-year Plan. Progress continued to be reported to the Joint Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee.

Each head of service works within the above arrangements and is responsible for assisting in the process of both identifying 
and addressing areas of improvement within their service areas. Where services are linked and have shared Platform 
outcomes, officers deliver performance improvements through multidisciplinary arrangements. These performance 
arrangements described above are integrated with financial management and budget forward planning arrangements.

Any issues identified by internal audit are furthermore monitored via the internal audit app and reported to the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee four times a year. Officers not taking sufficient action on these service improvements may be 
requested to report to the Committee.

The Council’s service delivery objectives are detailed in its 3-year Corporate Plan. Most services have performance 
information and standards used to compare and assess performance with other Councils or with nationally recognised
performance frameworks (e.g. Housemark, DWP, national planning indicators).

Internal audit and customer feedback are also used to inform which services require improvement. Where a service is 
identified in need of improvement a transformation team is set up to support service improvement.

25

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness

29



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body ensures it delivers its 
role within significant partnerships, 
engages with stakeholders it has 
identified, monitors performance 
against expectations, and ensures 
action is taken where necessary to 
improve

The Council has developed a consultation policy which reflects it's ambition to enable and empower communities to shape the 
places within which they live and work, influence formal decision making and make informed choices around the services they 
receive. This policy is available on the Council’s website. To be effective this policy aims to inspire and support a genuine two-
way dialogue with all sections of the community and other stakeholders. There are several ways people can get involved and 
connect with the council. Residents have the option to engage in a dialogue through social media sites, petition schemes, 
stakeholder forums, tenant associations, council meetings (open to the public), and their local Councillor.

Internally, a consultation toolkit has also been developed to guide council staff through the consultation process. The agreed 
process ensures that engagement activity is relevant, accessible, transparent and responsive. To increase awareness, 
consultations are proactively promoted. A list of current district-wide consultations is available on the Council website.

There is a clear and transparent complaints procedure for dealing with complaints. The Council operates a three-stage 
complaints procedure and promises to acknowledge complaints within 5 working days and respond fully within 10 working 
days for first-stage complaints, and 15 working days for second-stage complaints. If complainants remain dissatisfied, they 
have the right to refer the matter to the Local Government Ombudsman.

The Council operates one significant partnership (Adur and Worthing Joint Committee) although it participates in other 
partnerships across the Council. There is a governance framework for the Adur / Worthing partnership whereby decisions are 
made through a series of joint committees. This is set out in the Council’s Constitution. There are also separate budget and 
management accounts for the Joint Committee which is reported as part of the overall budget monitoring and outturn 
processes.

26

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness (continued)

30



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body ensures that 
commissioning and procuring 
services is done in accordance

with relevant legislation, 
professional standards and internal 
policies, and how the body assesses 
whether it is realising the expected 
benefits

The Councils have published Contract Standing Orders as part of its Constitution which detail how it procures services. The 
Council also has a team of qualified procurement officers supplemented by support from the larger procurement team at 
Orbis.

In line with the above-mentioned standing procedures, any procurement over £25,000 must be referred to the Council’s 
procurement team to ensure that the proposed procurement will deliver the expected outcome, and to ensure that the 
Council is complying with relevant legislation. All contracts are referred to legal, who will ensure that the procurement 
process has been complied with prior to approving the form of contract. The Council will also commission external expert 
advice where a proposed procurement is particularly complex or difficult.

27

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness (continued)

31



EY | Building a better working world

EY exists to build a better working world, helping to create 
long-term value for clients, people and society and build trust in the capital markets.

Enabled by data and technology, diverse EY teams in over 150 countries provide 
trust through assurance and help clients grow, transform and operate.

Working across assurance, consulting, law, strategy, tax and transactions, EY teams 
ask better questions to find new answers for the complex issues facing our world 
today.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or more, of the member 
firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & 
Young Global Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to 
clients. Information about how EY collects and uses personal data and a description of 
the rights individuals have under data protection legislation are available via 
ey.com/privacy. EY member firms do not practice law where prohibited by local laws. 
For more information about our organization, please visit ey.com.

Ernst & Young LLP

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales with registered number OC300001 
and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF. 

© 2022 Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.
All Rights Reserved.

UKC-024050 (UK) 07/22. Creative UK.

ED None

Information in this publication is intended to provide only a general outline of the subjects covered. It 
should neither be regarded as comprehensive nor sufficient for making decisions, nor should it be used 
in place of professional advice. Ernst & Young LLP accepts no responsibility for any loss arising from 
any action taken or not taken by anyone using this material. 

ey.com/uk

32



Confidential

Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money report

Adur District Council

Year ended 31 March 2023 

March 2024

33



The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited. A list of members’ names is available for inspection at 1 More London Place, London SE1 
2AF, the firm’s principal place of business and registered office. Ernst & Young LLP is a multi-disciplinary practice and is authorised and regulated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Solicitors Regulation Authority and other regulators. Further 
details can be found at http://www.ey.com/UK/en/Home/Legal.

12 March 2024

Dear Joint Audit and Governance Committee Members

2022/23 Value for Money Report 

We are pleased to attach our interim commentary on Value for Money (VFM) arrangements for Adur District Council. The commentary 
explains the work we have undertaken during the year and highlights any significant weaknesses identified along with recommendations for 
improvement. The commentary covers our interim findings for audit year 2022/23.

The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has worked collaboratively with the FRC, as incoming shadow system 
leader, and other system partners, to develop measures to address the delay in local audit. The National Audit Office (NAO) issued a 
consultation on 8 February 2024 seeking views on changes to the Code of Audit Practice (the Code) to support auditors to meet backstop 
dates and promote more timely reporting of their work on value for money arrangements. The consultation proposes to reduce the scope of 
the VFM reporting up to and including the 2022/23 financial year. At this stage, we are continuing to report VFM in line with our existing 
responsibilities as set out in the 2020 Code.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Joint Audit and Governance Committee and management. It is not intended 
to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss the contents of this report with you at the Joint Audit and Governance Committee meeting on 21 
March 2024.

Yours faithfully 

Kevin Suter

Partner

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

Encl

Adur District Council

Joint Audit & Governance Committee

c/o Worthing Town Hall

Chapel Road

Worthing

West Sussex

BN11 1HA

34



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Contents

Executive 
Summary01

Value for Money 
Commentary

02
Appendices03

3

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued the “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the PSAA website (Statement of responsibilities of auditors and 

audited bodies (up to and including 2022/23 audits) - PSAA).The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises 

where the different responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas. 

The “Terms of Appointment and further guidance (updated July 2021)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National 

Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.

This report is made solely to the Joint Audit and Governance Committee and management of Adur District Council in accordance with the statement of responsibilities. Our work has been undertaken so 

that we might state to Joint Audit and Governance Committee and management of Adur District Council those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 

extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Joint Audit and Governance Committee and management of Adur District Council for this report or for the 

opinions we have formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent.

35

https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies/psaa-statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies-upto-2022-23/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies/psaa-statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-audited-bodies-upto-2022-23/


Executive Summary01

Confidential — All Rights Reserved 4

36



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Executive Summary

Auditors are required to be satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We 
do not issue a ‘conclusion’ or ‘opinion’, but where significant weaknesses are identified we will report by exception in the auditor’s opinion on the financial 
statements. In addition, auditor’s provide an annual commentary on arrangements published as part of the Auditor’s Annual Report. In doing so, we comply with the 
requirements of the 2020 Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and Auditor Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03).

The purpose of this interim commentary is to explain the work we have undertaken for the period 2022/23 and highlight any significant weaknesses identified along 
with recommendations for improvement. As we have previously reported significant weaknesses in arrangements to you, this report also includes our views as to 
the status of the recommendations made and whether they have been satisfactorily implemented. The commentary covers our interim findings for audit year
2022/23.

The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has worked collaboratively with the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), as incoming shadow 
system leader, and other system partners, to develop measures to address the delay in local audit. As part of the NAO consultation issued on 8 February 2024, 
there is a proposal to reduce the scope of the VFM reporting up to and including the 2022/23 financial year. However, the consultation states that where auditors 
have begun or already undertaken work that no longer falls under the reduced scope (if agreed once the consultation closes), they may still report on it in 
accordance with Schedule 4.  We are continuing to report VFM in line with our existing responsibilities as set out in the 2020 Code to ensure a smooth transition to 
the 2023/24 audit year when auditors are required to meet the full Code reporting responsibilities.

The report sets out the following areas which have been assessed up to the point of issuing this interim report:

• Any identified risks of significant weakness, having regard to the three specified reporting criteria; 

• An explanation of the planned responsive audit procedures to the significant risks identified;

• Findings to date from our planned procedures; and 

• Summary of arrangements over the period covered by this report (Appendix A).

We will summarise our final view of the value for money arrangements as part of the Auditor’s Annual Report once the audit report has been issued for 2022/23.

Purpose

5

37



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Executive Summary (continued)

In undertaking our procedures to understand the body’s arrangements against the specified reporting criteria, we identify whether there are risks of significant 
weakness which require us to complete additional risk-based procedures. AGN 03 sets out considerations for auditors in completing and documenting their work and 
includes consideration of :

• our cumulative audit knowledge and experience as your auditor;

• our review of Council committee reports; 

• meetings with the officers; and

• evaluation of associated documentation through our regular engagement with Council management and the finance team. 

We identified a significant risk related to the Council’s self-referral to the Regulator of Social Housing in February 2023. We considered that the risk manifested as a 
weakness, which was evident in the Council’s arrangement for improving economy, efficiency, and effectiveness. We examine this in more detail in Section 02 of this 
report.

Risks of Significant Weakness

6

38



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Executive Summary (continued)

Our interim commentary for 2022/23 is set out over pages 9 to 15. The commentary on these pages summarises our understanding of the arrangements at the 
Council based on our evaluation of the evidence obtained in relation to the three reporting criteria (See table below) throughout 2022/23 over the arrangements at 
the Council in relation to our reporting criteria (see table below) throughout 2022/23. 

Appendix A includes the detailed arrangements and processes underpinning the reporting criteria. These were reported in our 2021/22 Annual Auditors Report and 
have been updated for 2022/23. 

In accordance with the NAO’s 2020 Code, we are required to report a commentary against the three specified reporting criteria. The table below sets out the three 
reporting criteria, whether we identified a risk of significant weakness as part of our planning procedures, and whether, at the time of this interim report, we have 
concluded that there is a significant weakness in the body’s arrangements:

Reporting

7

Reporting Criteria
Risks of significant weaknesses in 
arrangements identified?

Actual significant weaknesses in 

arrangements identified?

Financial sustainability: How the Council plans and manages its resources to 
ensure it can continue to deliver its services

No significant risks identified No significant weakness identified 

Governance: How the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and 
properly manages its risks

No significant risks identified No significant risks identified

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: How the Council uses 
information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and 
delivers its services

Risk of significant weakness identified in 
the criterion: how the body evaluates 
the services it provides to assess 
performance and identify areas for 
improvement

Significant weakness identified in 
the criterion: how the body 
evaluates the services it provides to 
assess performance and identify 
areas for improvement

39



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Executive Summary (continued)

The FRC Ethical Standard requires that we provide details of all relationships between Ernst & Young (EY) and the Council, and its members and senior management 
and its affiliates, including all services provided by us and our network to the Council, its members and senior management and its affiliates, and other services 
provided to other known connected parties that we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on the our integrity or objectivity, including those that could 
compromise independence and the related safeguards that are in place and why they address the threats.

We highlight the following relationships that may be reasonably considered to bear upon our objectivity and independence. However we have adopted the safeguards 
noted below to mitigate these threats. 

Independence

8

Description of relationship Related independence threat Safeguards adopted and reasons considered to be effective

We are engaged by the Council as a 
reporting accountant for the Housing 
Benefit Assurance Process (HBAP)

Self-Interest The service is permissible under the NAO’s Auditor Guidance 
Note 01. because this service is required by the awarding 
central government department

Self-review The results of the AUP testing is not reflected in the amounts 
included/disclosed in the financial statements.
The external audit conclusion is not reliant upon the conclusion 
of our AUP engagement.
No advice will be given in relation to accounting treatment.

40



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary02

9Confidential — All Rights Reserved

41



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary

No significant weakness identified

10

Financial Sustainability: How the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to 
deliver its services

The 2022/23 revenue budget was set as a balanced budgets and compiled within the context of the Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review, the Chancellor’s 
Budget, and the local government settlement. There has been a significant decline in overall government income in recent years with increasing amounts of income 
being generated locally through council tax, business rates, fees and charges, and income from commercial property. In order to achieve a balanced budget, the 
Council has continued to pursue savings through efficiency reviews, procurement, and base budget reviews to set a balanced budget each year. These planned 
savings were set out in the short-term financial plans. For 2022/23 the savings target totaled to £168,000. 

The Council's Joint Strategic Committee has maintained oversight over the financial performance of the Council, and performance against revenue budget is reported 
at least quarterly to the Committee. Performance was an overspend of £10,000 compared to the budget for the year ending 31 March 2023. However, we noted the 
final position for operational services were overspent by £1,770,000, offset by other actions including contributions from reserves. 

The Council set a balanced budget for 2023/24, and the savings target increased significantly to £1,333,000. The Council has a suite of budget management 
controls in place to control in-year spend and these are forecast to deliver further in-year savings of £441,000 in addition of the £1,333,000 savings identified in 
February 2023. These controls include a developed set of in-year initiatives that include tighter controls on external spend, vacancy management and agency and 
consultant spend. The Council has also a Budget Management Group which meets weekly to review spend requests above £25,000, and sub £25,000 requests are 
considered daily by a triage group. In-year initiatives are being carefully tracked to ensure delivery, and service reviews undertaken to ensure any impact is 
understood to support communications to staff, members and the public. The 2nd quarter revenue monitoring report for 2023/24 has highlighted a net projected 
underspend of £33,000.

The Council prepares a five-year revenue budget as part of its medium-term financial planning. The budget strategy for 2022/23 to 2026/27 was prepared with the 
aim to deliver the Council’s service delivery objectives outlined in its 3-year plan. These forecasts are updated throughout the year to give the Council a clear view of 
the forthcoming financial challenges and consider the fall in government funding. The Council has consequently identified significant budget reductions over the 
period 2022-23 to 2026-27. Due to the financial pressures the Council is facing, it needs to identify significant savings or deliver income growth over the medium 
term to balance the budget, particularly if it wants to deliver on its service delivery objectives. The current financial strategy including the savings strategy includes 
plans to:
• Increase income from commercial services
• Dispose assets and reduce the costs associated with the capital programme
• Increase income from the commercial property portfolio
• Reduce the costs associated with housing need through prevention and better commissioning
• Reduce costs through business efficiency and digital investment

Each year, a detailed schedule of the individual savings proposals is prepared and built directly into the budget. It is then monitored through the Council’s Committee 
structure to take corrective action where necessary.

42



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary (continued)

No significant weakness identified

11

Financial Sustainability: How the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to 
deliver its services (Continued)

While the Council has managed budget pressures within 2022/23, and is forecasting to do so during 2023/24, it needs to ensure that its services are on a sustainable 
footing.  The overspend at service level of nearly £1,770,000 during 2022/23 does remain concerning in the context of the low general fund balance of the Council, 
and predictions for its future balance within the MTFS. This overspend is forecast to significantly reduce in 2023/24, but as at the end of quarter 2 was still an 
overspend of £282,000.  The Council needs to ensure financial sustainability of its services, and keep reviewing opportunities to ensure the general fund balance 
does not reduce to a level insufficient to manage future unforeseen circumstances.

Conclusion: Based on the work performed, the Council had proper arrangements in place in 2022/23 to enable it to plan and manage its resources to ensure that 
it can continue to deliver its services.

43



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary (continued)

No significant weakness identified

12

Governance: How the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks

The Council continues to maintain adequate arrangements to monitor and assess risk and gain assurance over the effective operation of internal controls, including 
arrangements to prevent and detect fraud and corruption. The Council’s risk management framework guides the development of risk and opportunity management at 
a strategic and operational level and to ensure that risks are appropriately managed and controlled. This aids the achievement of the Council’s strategic priorities, 
supports its decision-making processes, and protects its reputation and other assets and is compliant with statutory and regulatory obligations. These risks are 
identified as a routine process of all services, and these are regularly reviewed and updated. This risk management framework is supported and informed by the work 
of the Council’s Internal Audit function.

Primary oversight of the risk management framework is the responsibility of the Council with some aspects delegated to Joint Audit & Governance Committee and 
Joint Strategic Committee. These committees meet on a regular basis during which key issues are raised and addressed with effective challenge from members. All 
decisions of the Council and these Committees are accompanied by a detailed report which details the rationale for the decision, the options considered, legal advice 
and financial advice. Under the constitution, all decisions may be called in by members for review prior to implementation on specific grounds. These reviews are the 
purview of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The Council has implemented systems to ensure conflicts of interest are identified, recorded and acted upon accordingly, excluding anyone from decision-making 
where a conflict arises, and making public declaration of interests through its Register of Interests which is published on the Council’s website and covers employees 
and members. Regular training is provided to members on standards issues, so all members are aware of the requirements.

We considered the Council's risk management process in light of the self-referral to the Regulator of Social Housing and are satisfied that the Council has 
appropriately reflected the issue in the 2022/23 Annual Governance Statement. We therefore conclude that the referral to the Regulator does not represent a risk of 
significant weakness and there is no risk in respect of the proper arrangements to this criteria.

Conclusion: Based on the work performed, the Council had proper arrangements in place in 2022/23 to make informed decisions and properly manage its risks.

44



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary (continued)

Significant weakness identified

13

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: How the Council uses information about its costs and 
performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services

The Council’s organisational performance management was undertaken via a six-monthly review of the targets, outputs and outcomes described in the Council’s Plan. 
This approach to organisational performance was updated in year following the full delivery of the previous organisational plan (Platforms for Our Places). It was 
replaced in October 2022 to align with the updated 3-year Corporate Plan, “Our Plan”. Progress has since continued to be reported to the Joint Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee. Platform performances are reviewed, and areas of improvement implemented through multidisciplinary and directorate teams that oversee the delivery 
of council activities under each Platform Priority. The Council’s Leadership Team takes overall accountability at an officer level for delivery of Platforms though 
quarterly Leadership Team Platform performance meetings. Any issues identified by internal audit are monitored via the internal audit service and reported to the 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee four times a year. Officers not taking sufficient action on these service improvements may be requested to report to the 
Committee.

Most services have performance information and standards used to compare and assess performance with other councils or with nationally recognised performance 
frameworks (e.g Housemark, Department of Work and Pensions and national planning indicators). Where a service is identified in need of improvement a 
transformation team is set up to support service improvement.

The Council has mechanisms to engage with the communities and has developed a consultation policy which reflects the Council's ambition to enable and empower 
communities to shape the places within which they live and work, influence formal decision making and make informed choices around the services they receive. The 
Council recognises that to be effective, this policy must inspire and support a genuine two-way dialogue with all sections of the community and other stakeholders. 
Therefore, in addition to the formal consultation procedures, residents have the option to engage in a dialogue through social media sites, petition schemes, 
stakeholder forums, tenant associations, council meetings (open to the public), and their local councillor. This process is supported by an established complaints 
procedure, where results are reported to the Joint Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

The Council continues to work closely with Worthing Borough Council through the Adur and Worthing Joint Committee, and the partnership continues to enable the 
Council to progress against it’s corporate plan. The Council also engages in the Safer Communities Partnership and a number of local business partnerships.

Significant weakness 

In our 2021/22 auditors annual report, we flagged a significant weakness concerning non-compliance with relevant Housing Standards in association with Adur
Homes housing stock. Due to the timing of the identification of this significant weakness, and when it was reported, these discrepancies continue to be applicable for 
the 2022/23 period. Consequently, this is carried forward and reported as a significant weakness in the 2022/23 audit report.

Following the self-referral to the regulator for social housing, the Council has developed a two-year improvement plan to enhance Adur Homes housing stock to meet 
the required standards. The Council has made progress in the 2023/24 financial period in ensuring compliance with regulatory standards. Progress has been made 
on:45



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary (continued)

Significant weakness identified

14

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: How the Council uses information about its costs and 
performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services (Continued)

• Establishing the right leadership and workforce: The Council has focused on leadership and management in its improvement plan by appointing a new Assistant 
Director for Housing and Homelessness Prevention (started November 2023) and a Compliance Manager. These new appointments will address essential elements 
such as health and safety and maintenance.

• Reviewing and strengthening governance: The Council has initiated a new approach to strengthen governance, including: the creation of an officer-led Housing 
Improvement Board, led by the Director for Housing and Communities, providing regular progress reports to the Corporate Leadership Team. Additionally, a new set 
of performance indicators for housing has been developed to track progress.

• Compliance and health and safety: The Council has reported that the work in compliance areas has steadily progressed with noticeable improvements and newly 
implemented processes ensuring that Adur Homes meets regulatory requirements and achieves full compliance. The focus continues on system data to ensure it is 
both accurate and up-to-date. This focus allows for effective data retrieval and reporting. According to the performance data presented in Appendix 3 at the Joint 
Audit and Governance Committee meeting on 18th January 2024, progress over the last six months has shown a positive trend in the work. The Council aims to 
continue close monitoring across all areas with particular emphasis on those that require greater effort to reach 100% compliance.

• Improving data and systems: The Council acknowledges the poor legacy systems at Adur Homes, hindering team efficiency. But with ongoing support from the 
Digital Team, work on the interim compliance system has been completed, and it's currently under testing to ensure accurate data capture. Significant work is still 
required to upgrade other systems, notable the housing management system. Issues with the legacy system and provider relationship are being addressed and 
prioritised based on critical areas of service. Staff training is being provided to build greater resilience within the team for managing and supporting the Council's 
systems. This also includes preparing the team to implement rent and service charge increases for 2024/25.

• Achieving “Decent Homes: The Council acknowledges that for now, 'decent homes' remains a concern under the Council’s Regulatory Notice. To prove that the 
Council homes meet this standard, housing authorities must have up-to-date stock condition data. The Council is still discussing aspects of the financial cost of this 
critical work to ensure it's achievable within Adur Homes' financial constraints. The next step is to identify contract gaps within Adur Homes and to procure long-term 
agreements with contractors. This arrangement will benefit both Adur Homes and its residents. This work is set to commence in 2024/25.

• Management of void properties: The Council has revisited processes for managing voids to decrease costs and enhance turn-around time. In past years, the void
process led to significant increases in numbers. Progress in this area has now stabilized, and the number of backlog properties has reduced. With the urgent demand 
for refurbishing the remaining void properties to house Adur's residents, two new contractors have been hired. These contractors bring experience and support to 
this process, emphasizing quick property returns while meeting Adur Homes' quality standards.

46



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Value for Money Commentary (continued)

Significant weakness identified

15

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: How the Council uses information about its costs and 
performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services (Continued)

Damp and mould: Adur continues to address damp and mould issues as they are reported or identified, responding within available resources and according to the 
urgency of the case. In response, Adur has created a new damp and mould policy to manage these exceptional circumstances efficiently. A cleaning service is also 
being considered to promptly clear and treat mould after each report, while further investigations are conducted to determine the root cause, whether structural or 
related to residents' living habits. This intends to assure residents that Adur Homes is addressing the reports appropriately and promptly.

• Tenant communication and engagement: The Council continues to actively engage with residents through conversations and publishing the 'Adur Together' 
newsletter. This resource provides updates on pivotal housing issues, advising on necessary actions. The communication and engagement team have released four 
issues, with the most recent in December 2023. 

Managing complaints: The Council has made progress in handling complaints by addressing backlog issues and aligning with the Ombudsman's requirements. Efforts 
include an actionable plan, a clearer process for the complaints team, a draft Housing Complaints Policy, revised communication methods, and a new resolution 
strategy with tenants.

We have no further recommendations to make in addition to the recommendation made within our 2021/22 Auditor’s Annual Report.  We will assess the Council’s 
progress again during our 2023/24 VFM procedures.

Conclusion: Based on the work performed, the Council had a significant weakness in its arrangements for how the body evaluates the services it provides to 
assess performance and identify areas for improvement.

47



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendices03

XYZ plc Audit planning report 16Confidential — All Rights Reserved

48



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body ensures that it 
identifies all the significant 
financial pressures that are 
relevant to its short and 
medium-term plans and 
builds these into them

The Council’s service delivery objectives for 2023-2026 have been set out in their strategic plan titled “Our Plan” and forms the 
basis of the Council’s strategic planning, including its short-term and medium-term financial plans. In this document, the Council sets 
out:

• It’s purpose
• How they work
• Their principles
• Their foundations
• Their missions.

The Council prepares an annual revenue budget as part of its short-term financial planning. The 2022/23 and 2023/24 revenue 
budgets were set as a balanced budgets and compiled within the context of the Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review, the
Chancellor’s Budget, and the local government settlement. There has been a significant decline in overall government income in 
recent years with increasing amounts of income being generated locally through council tax, business rates, fees and charges, and 
income from commercial property.

In addition to the national context, the Council’s budget strategy has also taken account of pressures and risks such as inflation; 
income generated by the Council which may be affected by lack of demand; impact of increasing demand for such services as 
homelessness; and withdrawal of funding by partners, potentially losing funding for key priorities.

The Council held a working balance and other earmarked reserves to help mitigate these risks. The Council’s budget strategy 
supports them in meeting these challenges through the following four major work streams: developing commercial income; investing
in property; tackling homelessness and delivery of a new customer and digital strategy.

The Council also continued to pursue savings through efficiency reviews, procurement, and base budget reviews. These initiatives
have resulted in overspend of £10,000 compared to the budget for the year ending 31 March 2023. We noted the final position for 
operational services was overspent by £1,770,000. 

The Council has a suite of budget management controls in place to control in-year spend and these are forecast to deliver further in-
year savings of £441,000 in addition of the £1,333,000 savings identified in February 2023. These controls include a developed set 
of in-year initiatives that include tighter controls on external spend, vacancy management and agency and consultant spend. 

17

Financial Sustainability

49



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body ensures that it 
identifies all the significant financial 
pressures that are relevant to its 
short and medium-term plans and 
builds these into them (continued)

The Council also has a Budget Management Group which meets weekly to review spend requests above £25,000, and sub 
£25,000 requests are considered daily by a triage group. In-year initiatives are being carefully tracked to ensure delivery, 
and service reviews undertaken to ensure any impact is understood to support communications to staff, members and the 
public. The 2nd quarter revenue monitoring report for 2023/24 has highlighted a net projected underspend of £33,000. 

Following the Councils self-referral to the Regulator of Social Housing, and the identification of improvements required to the 
standard of the Councils housing stock, the Council will need to ensure that the cost of these improvements is fully 
incorporated and funded within both their short-term and medium-term financial planning.

The Council prepares a five-year revenue forecast as part of its medium-term financial planning. This budget strategy covers 
2023/24 – 2027/28 and was prepared with the aim to continue delivering the Council’s service delivery objectives as 
discussed above. These forecasts were further updated in-year giving the Council a clear view of forthcoming financial 
challenges and taking into account pressures such as the fall in government funding, housing, HB subsidy and the impact of 
the pandemic of the Council’s financial outlook.

Achievement of revenue and capital budgets were further monitored in-year with quarterly finance reporting thereon to the 
Joint Strategic Committee. Areas of concern in these quarterly reports are subject to scrutiny that culminate into the 
revenue and capital outturn reports that are approved by the Joint Strategic Committee and subsequently adopted by the 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The 2022/23 and 2023/24 revenue outturn and monitoring reports reflect the efficiency of these in-year monitoring 
measures as the Council contained expenditure within the original budget levels despite facing a range of unforeseen 
additional costs not originally budgeted for. These initiatives have resulted in overspend of £10,000 compared to the budget 
for the year ending 31 March 2023 and a net underspend of £33,000 for the year ending 31 March 2024.

How the body plans to bridge its 
funding gaps and identifies 
achievable savings

Due to the increasing financial pressures the Council needs to identify significant savings or deliver income growth over the
next 5 to 10 years to balance the budget and ensure delivery on its service delivery objectives.

18

Financial Sustainability (continued)

50



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body plans to bridge its 
funding gaps and identifies 
achievable savings (continued)

The savings process followed for the development of the budget entails the following four stages:
• Directors are responsible for identifying proposals aimed at meeting a significant proportion of the savings targets;
• A “Budget Reference Group” consisting of joint executives consider these proposals and potential impact on delivery of the 
Council’s priorities;
• These savings proposals are then presented to the Joint Overview & Scrutiny Committee for consideration. The Joint 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee may also add to the list of proposed savings with additional proposals as considered 
appropriate; and
• Consideration by the Joint Strategic Committee of which savings proposals are to be implemented to fund the budget 
shortfall.

Once these budgets have been set and approved, they are monitored throughout the financial year by the Chief Financial 
Officer and reported on quarterly to the Joint Strategic Committee as discussed above.

The 2023/24 budget was approved as a balanced budget by the Council on 1 February 2023 and identified the budget gaps 
over the medium term that needed to be addressed. The financial strategy, including the savings strategy includes plans to:
• Increase income from commercial services
• Dispose assets and reduce the costs associated with the capital programme
• Increase income from the commercial property portfolio
• Reduce the costs associated with housing need through prevention and better commissioning
• Reduce costs through business efficiency and digital investment
Each year, a detailed schedule of the individual savings proposals is prepared and built directly into the budget. It is then
monitored through the regular budget monitoring process, although reporting to Committee is at a higher level such that 
figures are not explicitly included.

For 2022/23 the savings target totaled to £168,000. The savings target for 2023/24 increased significantly to £1,333,000.

19

Financial Sustainability (continued)

51



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body plans finances to 
support the sustainable delivery of 
services in accordance with strategic 
and statutory priorities

The Council has detailed its service delivery objectives detailed in its Corporate Plan. This forms the basis for its strategic and 
statutory priorities on which its short-term and medium-term financial plans are developed. Progress towards achieving these 
objectives are monitored by the Corporate Leadership Team throughout the year. Bi-annual reporting on this progress is 
presented to Joint Strategic Committee with remedial actions discussed and actioned where necessary.

Short-term and medium-term financial plans detail the likely costs associated with the Council’s strategic and statutory 
priorities; identifies any budget gaps that may arise from reduction in government funding; and planned savings strategies to
bridge any gaps between available funding from taxation and the cost of services. Any new service investment made must 
meet either objectives within the corporate plan or be a new statutory obligation.

How the body ensures that its 
financial plan is consistent with 
other plans such as workforce, 
capital, investment, and other 
operational planning which may 
include working with other local 
public bodies as part of a wider 
system

The Council develops an annual capital investment strategy as part of its short-term and medium-term financial planning 
process. This is approved by the Council alongside its revenue budget. This investment strategy is also aligned to the 
Council’s Corporate Plan and identifies capital investments required to achieve its set service delivery objectives. This capital 
plan determines the cost of financing required capital along with any other financial impact. The revenue budget is also 
updated to reflect the impact to deliver this capital programme. The 2023/24 to 2025/26 Capital Programme identified 
capital expenditure planned over the medium term and their sources of financing which is also aligned to its 2023/24 
revenue budget. 

The Council had a capital expenditure amounted to £13,717,000 in 2022/23, a £6,016,000 underspent from the total 
revised budget of £19,733,000. This capital expenditure has been spent on the following projects: 

• Adur Homes Capital Works Programme;

• Adur Homes Development of Properties;

• Disabled Facilities Grant Payments; 

• Redevelopment of properties for emergency and temporary accommodation; 

• Coastal Protection works - Shoreham Harbour Walls project;

• Shoreham Centre - Installation of air source heat pumps;

• Improvements to the Council’s digital infrastructure; 

• Play area improvements;

20

Financial Sustainability (continued)

52



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body ensures that its 
financial plan is consistent with 
other plans such as workforce, 
capital, investment, and other 
operational planning which may 
include working with other local 
public bodies as part of a wider 
system (continued)

The bulk of the actual expenditure has been earmarked for improvements and investments in Council homes, a project which 
amounted to total costs of £10,212,000. This includes £3,643,000 allocated to the Adur Homes Capital Works Program and 
£6,569,000 towards the Adur Homes Development of Properties.

The capital expenditure, which encompasses the costs for the aforementioned properties and constructions, has been 
primarily financed through borrowings of £7,579,000, over the next three (3) year.

Government initiatives have placed emphasis on partnership working for service delivery to help meet the changing needs of 
customers and the cost savings authorities need to find. To achieve this goal Adur District Council and Worthing Borough 
Councils are part of a partnership arrangement. A shared single officer structure was introduced in April 2008 and includes 
all of the services that were intended to operate as shared Adur & Worthing services. These shared services are managed via 
a Joint Committee which must meet all the accounting requirements of a public sector body. For accounting purposes, the 
following key processes apply:

• The Joint Strategic Committee has a separate budget;

• As each service moved across from Adur and Worthing to the Joint Strategic Committee their respective budgets and spend 
were pooled; and

• The net expenditure within the Joint Strategic Committee is recharged back to Adur and Worthing Councils.

The Council’s financial planning process also considers the impact of this partnership working when setting its short-term and 
medium-term financial plans. This is inherently part of the Councils’ operations for which a separate partnership budget has 
been developed. Each constituent Council’s budget also includes the costs from partnership budgets.

21

Financial Sustainability (continued)

53



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the financial sustainability criteria covering the year 2022/23. 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body identifies and 
manages risks to financial resilience, 
e.g. unplanned changes in demand, 
including challenge of the 
assumptions underlying its plans

The Council manages its financial resilience risk through the following implemented measures:

• It publishes detailed short-term and medium-term financial plans that are aligned to its Corporate and includes actions to 
ensure financial sustainability;

• In-year monitoring of these financial plans to identify and incorporate any unplanned changes in underlying assumptions of 
the Council’s plans as explained above;

• Reporting of financial performance against above set financial plans on a quarterly basis to the Joint Strategic Committee;
and

• Risk management processes to identify, monitor and address risks.

The Council has established a Risk and Opportunity Management Strategy for the 2021-23 period which leads on from the 
previous version which covered the 2018-20 period. This purpose of this strategy is to serve as framework for the delivery of 
the risk and opportunity management function and to provide guidance on developing risk and opportunity management as a 
routine process for all services.

Risk and management opportunities identified are monitored in-year with quarterly reporting to the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee. A risk relating to continued pressures on the Council’s finances has been identified and included in 
the Council’s risk register as a very likely risk with a major impact for both of the 2022/23 and 2023/24 years. The Council 
continues to implement remedial actions that lead to the setting of a balanced budget in future periods, including the short 
and medium terms as demonstrated by the relevant forecasts. Despite this, management remains acutely aware of the 
financial pressures on the Council and each detailed budget includes measures to look to balance the budget without 
consistent reliance on the limited reserves held.

22

Financial Sustainability (continued)

54



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the governance criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body monitors and assesses risk 
and how the body gains assurance over 
the effective operation of internal 
controls, including arrangements to 
prevent and detect fraud

The Council’s Constitution directs how it operates, decisions are made and the relevant procedures to ensure that 
these decisions are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Areas of potential change are identified, and 
the Constitution is amended accordingly, which has been evidenced by the recent updating of its constitution in 
November 2023.

The Council has a risk management framework which guides the development of risk and opportunity management at a 
strategic and operational level and to ensure that they are appropriately managed and controlled. This aids the 
achievement of the Council’s strategic priorities, supports its decision-making processes, protect its reputation and 
assets, and ensures compliance with relevant statutory and regulatory obligations. These risks are identified as a 
routine process of all services and are regularly reviewed and updated. All significant risks (defined as something that 
may result in failure in service delivery, significant financial loss, non-achievement of key objectives, damage to health, 
legal action or reputational damage) must be logged on a Corporate Risk Register, profiled (as high/medium/low), and 
mitigating measures/assurances must be put in place. These risks are regularly monitored and reported in-year to the 
Council Leadership Team, Joint Audit & Governance Committee, and Joint Strategic Committee to ensure that 
progress in addressing these risks is monitored throughout each year.

Following the Councils self-referral to the Regulator of Social Housing, the Council has ensured that its risk register has 
properly incorporated those risks relating to the condition of its housing stock and to the resulting housing 
improvement plan. 

The Council has an internal audit service in place which provides information regarding the effectiveness of the internal 
control environment and its arrangements to prevent and detect fraud. In-year quarterly reporting by internal audit to 
the Joint Audit & Governance Committee ensures that efficient and effective assurance arrangements are in place to 
assist the management of risk and performance.

The Council furthermore has a fraud team in place to investigate fraud and carry out verification work on issues such 
as Council Tax discount and investigations into NFI matches.

23

Governance

55



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the governance criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body approaches and carries out 
its annual budget setting process

The annual budget process including the related responsibilities and procedures are set out in the Council’s 
Constitution. The annual service planning and budgeting process seeks to reconcile corporate and business plans, and 
strategies with the relevant resources which includes the finance department. This process commences with a series of 
strategic initiatives with inputs from various stakeholders. Similar to the establishment of its Medium-Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) and Medium-Term Capital Strategy, the Council has an implemented budgeting system which allows for 
the alignment of its annual budget to the priorities and commitments in its Corporate Plan.

The Council refreshes the MTFP and agrees the budget strategy for the forthcoming year in July. Managers are then 
tasked to review their budgets for its appropriateness and to confirm details for additional income or savings plans 
through a detailed financial planning exercise. Subsequently, the overall savings plan is checked and consulted on prior 
to initial consideration by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee in December and then subsequent approval by 
the Joint Strategic Committee in the following January, which also includes an updated MTFP. The Council will then 
consider the overall budget and options for Council Tax setting which is then subject to approval by the respective 
Councils in February.

How the body ensures effective processes 
and systems are in place to ensure 
budgetary control; to communicate 
relevant, accurate and timely management 
information (including non-financial 
information where appropriate); supports 
its statutory financial reporting 
requirements; and ensures corrective 
action is taken where needed

The Council’s processes and systems in place to ensure budgetary control have been set out in its Constitution. Each 
budget line has been assigned a budget manager who is responsible for managing the related budget. Monthly budget 
monitoring packs are produced and shared with managers to assess current financial performance shortly after each 
month end. Financial officials meet with budget managers to review related budgets and identify both areas of financial 
pressure and underspending. The Council may also hold a series of contingency budgets which are available to meet 
pressures identified if needed.

The Corporate Leadership Team further produces and evaluates monthly reports on the financial performance of the 
Council to identify emerging issues. This feeds into the quarterly reporting of the revenue and capital budgets to the 
Joint Strategic Committee. This budget management process is also subject to regular internal audit review to ensure 
that the system is fit for purpose.

The efficiency of these controls is evidenced by the overall outturn position of position of £10,000 overspend for 
2022/23, and a forecast £33,000 underspend for 2023/24 as at the end of quarter 2.

24

Governance (continued)

56



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the governance criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body ensures it makes properly 
informed decisions, supported by 
appropriate evidence and allowing for 
challenge and transparency.  This includes 
arrangements for effective challenge from 
those charged with governance/Joint Audit 
and Governance Committee

Primary oversight is the responsibility of the Council with some responsibilities delegated to Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee and Joint Strategic Committee. These committees meet on a regular basis during which key issues are 
raised and addressed with effective challenge from members. All Council and Committee decisions are accompanied by 
a detailed report which details its rationale, the options considered, legal advice and financial advice. A set corporate 
template is also used to ensure that all of advice needed to make a decision is provided. Under the constitution, all 
decisions may be called in by members for review prior to implementation on specific grounds. These reviews are the 
purview of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

To allow for transparency, the Council also ensures that it publishes relevant information relating to salaries, business 
interests and performance data on its website; has a procurement team who provide advice and issue clear guidelines 
for procuring goods and services; publishes information to the Council and its Committees as part of established 
accountability mechanisms; prepares an Annual Governance Statement; and prepares a Corporate Plan as discussed 
above.

The Council is furthermore committed to the publication of transparent performance information on its website, which 
includes: budget reports; operational performance reports; a Medium-Term Financial Plan; a Corporate Plan; 
Statement of Accounts; Annual Governance Statement; and Information as required under the Local Government 
Transparency Code.

There is also evidence of good arrangements in place to monitor the implementation of internal audit 
recommendations by the Joint Governance Committee. Internal audit progress reports are presented on a quarterly 
basis throughout the year to monitor implementation of recommendations by internal audit and to implement 
corrective actions where necessary.

25

Governance (continued)

57



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for the governance criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body monitors and ensures 
appropriate standards, such as meeting 
legislative/regulatory requirements and 
standards in terms of officer or member 
behaviour (such as gifts and hospitality or 
declarations/conflicts of interests)

The roles of both members and officers of the Council are outlined in the Code of Conduct included within its 
Constitution and is approved by the Joint Audit & Governance Committee.

If any member breaches the Code of Conduct, there is a resolution and complaints process administered by the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer and potentially involving a hearing of the sub-Committee of the Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee.

The Council is transparent about how decisions are taken and recorded by:

• Ensuring that decisions are made in public and recorded. Those decisions and relevant information are publicly 
available (except where that information is exempt under the provisions of the Local Government Act or determined as 
being confidential by Government) and

• Having rules and procedures which govern how decisions are made.

The Council has implemented systems to ensure conflicts of interest are identified, recorded and acted upon 
accordingly, excluding anyone from decision-making where a conflict arises, and making public declaration of interests 
through its Register of Interests which is published on the Council’s website and covers employees, governing body 
members and members of panels/committees and sub-committee. The Council maintains a register of member 
interests which is available to the public and published on its website. Regular training is provided to members on 
standards issues ensuring that all members are aware of the requirements. Each member and officer are also expected 
to complete a return on any gifts of hospitality.

The Council has a published Whistleblowing Policy and provides protection to individuals raising concerns.  This policy 
is periodically reviewed in line with guidance.

The Council also ensures that effective, transparent and accessible arrangements are in place for dealing with 
complaints.  The website contains guidance for submitting complaints against the Council by the public and processes 
are in place to progress any complaints that are made.

26

Governance (continued)

58



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How financial and performance 
information has been used to assess 
performance to identify areas for 
improvement

Organisational performance management is undertaken through a six-monthly review of the targets, outputs and outcomes 
described in the Council’s Plan. Information is gathered through various performance management arrangements to produce 
the “6 monthly Platforms Performance Report” and is presented to the Joint Strategic Committee and Joint Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee bi-annually.

Platform performances are reviewed, and areas of improvement implemented through multidisciplinary and directorate 
teams that oversee the delivery of council activities under each Platform Priority. The Council’s Leadership Team takes 
overall accountability at an officer level for delivery of Platforms though quarterly Council Leadership Team Platform 
performance meetings.

This process halted in year following the full delivery of the previous organisational plan titled “Platforms for Our Places” and 
was replaced in October 2022 with the updated 3-year Plan. Progress continued to be reported to the Joint Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee.

Each head of service works within the above arrangements and is responsible for assisting in the process of both identifying 
and addressing areas of improvement within their service areas. Where services are linked and have shared Platform 
outcomes, officers deliver performance improvements through multidisciplinary arrangements. These performance 
arrangements described above are integrated with financial management and budget forward planning arrangements.

Any issues identified by internal audit are furthermore monitored via the internal audit app and reported to the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee four times a year. Officers not taking sufficient action on these service improvements may be 
requested to report to the Committee. The Council’s service delivery objectives are detailed in its 3-year Corporate Plan. 
Most services have performance information and standards used to compare and assess performance with other Councils or 
with nationally recognised performance frameworks (e.g. Housemark, DWP, national planning indicators).

Internal audit and customer feedback are also used to inform which services require improvement. Where a service is 
identified in need of improvement a transformation team is set up to support service improvement. 

27

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness

59



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How financial and performance 
information has been used to assess 
performance to identify areas for 
improvement (continued)

In our 2021/22 auditor annual report, we flagged a significant weakness concerning non-compliance with relevant Housing 
Standards in association with Adur Homes housing stock. Due to the timing of the identification of this significant weakness, 
and when it was reported, these discrepancies continue to be applicable for the 2022/23 period. Consequently, this is carried
forward and reported as a significant weakness in the 2022/23 audit report.

This issue is evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for how the body evaluates the services it provides to assess 
performance and identify areas for improvement.

How the body ensures it delivers its 
role within significant partnerships, 
engages with stakeholders it has 
identified, monitors performance 
against expectations, and ensures 
action is taken where necessary to 
improve

The Council has developed a consultation policy which reflects it's ambition to enable and empower communities to shape the 
places within which they live and work, influence formal decision making and make informed choices around the services they 
receive. This policy is available on the Council’s website. To be effective this policy aims to inspire and support a genuine two-
way dialogue with all sections of the community and other stakeholders. There are several ways people can get involved and 
connect with the council. Residents have the option to engage in a dialogue through social media sites, petition schemes, 
stakeholder forums, tenant associations, council meetings (open to the public), and their local Councillor.

Internally, a consultation toolkit has also been developed to guide council staff through the consultation process. The agreed 
process ensures that engagement activity is relevant, accessible, transparent and responsive. To increase awareness, 
consultations are proactively promoted. A list of current district-wide consultations is available on the Council website.

There is a clear and transparent complaints procedure for dealing with complaints. The Council operates a three-stage 
complaints procedure and promises to acknowledge complaints within 5 working days and respond fully within 10 working 
days for first-stage complaints, and 15 working days for second-stage complaints. If complainants remain dissatisfied, they 
have the right to refer the matter to the Local Government Ombudsman.

The Council operates one significant partnership (Adur Worthing Joint Committee) although it participates in other 
partnerships across the Council. There is a governance framework for the Adur / Worthing partnership whereby decisions are 
made through a series of joint committees. This is set out in the Council’s Constitution. There are also separate budget and 
management accounts for the Joint Committee which is reported as part of the overall budget monitoring and outturn 
processes.

28

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness (continued)

60



Confidential — All Rights Reserved

Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)

We set out below the arrangements for improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness criteria covering the year 2022/23 

Reporting Sub-Criteria Findings

How the body ensures that 
commissioning and procuring 
services is done in accordance

with relevant legislation, 
professional standards and internal 
policies, and how the body assesses 
whether it is realising the expected 
benefits

The Councils have published Contract Standing Orders as part of its Constitution which detail how it procures services. The 
Council also has a team of qualified procurement officers supplemented by support from the larger procurement team at 
Orbis.

In line with the above-mentioned standing procedures, any procurement over £25,000 must be referred to the Council’s 
procurement team to ensure that the proposed procurement will deliver the expected outcome, and to ensure that the 
Council is complying with relevant legislation. All contracts are referred to legal, who will ensure that the procurement 
process has been complied with prior to approving the form of contract. The Council will also commission external expert 
advice where a proposed procurement is particularly complex or difficult.

29

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness (continued)

61



EY | Building a better working world

EY exists to build a better working world, helping to create 
long-term value for clients, people and society and build trust in the capital markets.

Enabled by data and technology, diverse EY teams in over 150 countries provide 
trust through assurance and help clients grow, transform and operate.

Working across assurance, consulting, law, strategy, tax and transactions, EY teams 
ask better questions to find new answers for the complex issues facing our world 
today.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or more, of the member 
firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & 
Young Global Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to 
clients. Information about how EY collects and uses personal data and a description of 
the rights individuals have under data protection legislation are available via 
ey.com/privacy. EY member firms do not practice law where prohibited by local laws. 
For more information about our organization, please visit ey.com.

Ernst & Young LLP

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales with registered number OC300001 
and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF. 

© 2022 Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.
All Rights Reserved.

UKC-024050 (UK) 07/22. Creative UK.

ED None

Information in this publication is intended to provide only a general outline of the subjects covered. It 
should neither be regarded as comprehensive nor sufficient for making decisions, nor should it be used 
in place of professional advice. Ernst & Young LLP accepts no responsibility for any loss arising from 
any action taken or not taken by anyone using this material. 

ey.com/uk

62



Adur & Worthing Councils

Joint Audit & Governance Committee – March 2024

Internal Audit Progress Report

Date Prepared: 07 March 2024

63

A
genda Item

 8



Contents

01 Snapshot of Internal Audit Activity

02  Reports Issued Since Last Committee

03  Overview of Internal Audit Plan 2023/24

04  Follow-Ups

05  Definitions of Assurance

A1 Overdue P1 Recommendations

Disclaimer

This report (“Report”) was prepared by Mazars LLP at the request of Adur and Worthing 

Councils and terms for the preparation and scope of the Report have been agreed with them. 

The matters raised in this Report are only those which came to our attention during our internal 

audit work. Whilst every care has been taken to ensure that the information provided in this 

Report is as accurate as possible, Internal Audit have only been able to base findings on the 

information and documentation provided and consequently no complete guarantee can be given 

that this Report is necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist, or of 

all the improvements that may be required.

The Report was prepared solely for the use and benefit of Adur and Worthing Councils and to 

the fullest extent permitted by law Mazars LLP accepts no responsibility and disclaims all 

liability to any third party who purports to use or rely for any reason whatsoever on the Report, 

its contents, conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation, amendment and/or modification. 

Accordingly, any reliance placed on the Report, its contents, conclusions, any extract, 

reinterpretation, amendment and/or modification by any third party is entirely at their own risk. 

Please refer to the Statement of Responsibility in this report for further information about 

responsibilities, limitations and confidentiality.

2
Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

64



Introduction

Internal Audit is required to provide a regular report on progress and key findings 

to the Joint Audit and Governance Committee (Committee).

This report covers internal audit activity and performance since our last report to 

the Committee in September 2023 and includes:

• An update on progress in delivering the 2023/24 Plan;

• A summary of audit reports issued, and high priority recommendations raised; 

and

• An update on follow-up activity and any recommendations outstanding for 

implementation

01 Snapshot of Internal Audit Activity

Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

Internal Audit Progress

The Committee considered and approved the 2023/24 Internal Audit Plan (Plan) 

on 23 March 2023. The Plan provided for 20 internal audits totalling 406 days, 

including 35 days for IT audits, and 60 days for management which includes the 

Head of Internal Audit role.

The audits in the Plan comprised a mixture of key financial systems, service-

specific (operational and financial), corporate-wide, and IT reviews. So far, one 

review (IT Audit Needs Assessment) had been deferred to the 2024/25 FY due 

to availability of staff. Some other reviews originally timetabled for Q4 were 

delayed and rescheduled due to limited availability of staff. However, we have 

proposed revised timings to ensure fieldwork is completed by 30 April 2024 and 

to enable inclusion in our Annual Report for 2023/24. 

We expect to receive responses and finalise the four draft reports issued by the 

end of March 2024.

The table below provides a summary of current progress relevant to the 2023/24 

Plan:

Audit Status Number of reviews Percentage %

Finalised/complete 6 31%

Draft report 4 21%

Fieldwork in progress 1 5%

Not yet started 8 43%

Total 19 100%65



02 Reports Issued Since Last Committee

02

We have four categories by which we classify internal audit assurance over the processes we examine: Full, Satisfactory, Limited or None. 

Internal Audit categorises recommendations as Priority 1, 2 or 3 to differentiate between the types of recommendation made. These categories give management an 

indication of the importance and urgency of implementing the recommendations. Details on our Assurance Definitions are contained within Section 05. 

Six final reports from the 2023/24 Plan were issued in this reporting period. In addition, we have finalised a report relating to the 2022/23 Plan. However, there are two 

reports issued as drafts waiting for management responses relevant to the 2022/23 FY (Fire Doors Contract Management and Adur Leisure Contract Management) both 

reports had been last escalated to the relevant Head of Service and Director in February 2024. 

Internal Audit Title Assurance Level Plan Year

Legal Services Satisfactory 2023/24

Disabled Facilities Grants Limited 2023/24

Safeguarding (Children & Adults) Limited 2023/24

Health & Safety (Corporate Buildings) Satisfactory 2023/24

Events – Processing and Management Satisfactory 2023/24

IT Policies (Advisory Review) N/A – Advisory 2023/24

Governance of Property Disposals Satisfactory 2022/23

Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

66



5

03 Overview of Internal Audit Plan 2023/24
The table below lists the status of all reviews within the 2023/24 Plan.

Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

Review Status Debrief Meeting Assurance Level P1 P2 P3 Total

Supply of Affordable housing Draft Report 16/07/2023 Satisfactory -              1                  1                  2                  

Planned Maintenance Programme Draft Report 25/09/2023 Limited -              6                  2                  8                  

Legal Services Final 20/07/2023 Satisfactory -              2                  2                  4                  

Disabled Facilities Grants Final 30/08/2023 Limited -              11                -                    11                

Safeguarding (Children and Adults) Final 26/10/2023 Limited -              4                  1                  5                  

Discretionary Housing Payments (Cost of Living Response) Draft Report 20/12/2023 Limited -              2                  5                  7                  

Energy Supplier - Procurement & Contract Management Draft Report 02/02/2024 Satisfactory -              1                  3                  4                  

Health & Safety (Corporate Buildings) Final 21/12/2023 Satisfactory -              3                  1                  4                  

Events - Processing and Management Final 05/02/2024 Satisfactory -              -                    3                  3                  

Bereavement Services In Progress - - -              -                    -                    -                    

IT Policies (Advisory Review) Final 20/12/2023 N/A - Advisory -              3                  3                  6                  

Workforce Planning Starts 7 March 2024 - - -              -                    -                    -                    

Invoicing of Housing Services - EATA Starts 25 March 2024 - - -              -                    -                    -                    

Key Financial Systems Starts 1 April 2024 - - -              -                    -                    -                    

Member Expenses Starts 4 April 2024 - - -              -                    -                    -                    

Civica/Connect HR system Starts 8 April 2024 - - -              -                    -                    -                    

Follow up on Housing Recommendations Starts 15 April 2024 - - -              -                    -                    -                    

Accounts Receivable Starts 15 April 2024 - - -              -                    -                    -                    

Carbon Reduction Programme Starts 25 April 2024 - - -              -                    -                    -                    

IT Audit Needs Assessment Deferred to 2024/25 - - -              -                    -                    -                    

Totals Totals -              33                21                54                

67



04 Follow-Ups

02

Since the last Committee meeting, the Councils’ Audit App has continued to be populated with new recommendations from finalised internal audit reports. Follow-up 

audits are undertaken to ensure that all the recommendations/issues raised have been resolved according to the action plans agreed with the service managers.

1

2016/17

P1 P2 P3 Other

1

2017/18

P1 P2 P3 Other

2

2018/19

P1 P2 P3 Other

6

2019/20

P1 P2 P3 Other

3

1

2020/21

P1 P2 P3 Other

2

31
17

2021/22

P1 P2 P3 Other

3

36

11

2022/23

P1 P2 P3 Other

As at production of this report, there are 142 recommendations in the Audit App due to be followed up, 114 of which are overdue (5 P1s, 79 P2s, 29 P3s and 1 

other). In addition to these 114 recommendations there are 32 which relate to Housing, and these are being progressed through the Housing Transformation Project 

and which will actively be monitored until completion of that project. These 32 recommendations were detailed within the previous progress report presented in 

September 2023, with the latest update received from the Housing Team on implementation progress. Internal Audit will verify the implementation of housing related 

recommendations in April 2024.

Further detail of the five overdue P1 recommendations (excluding Housing) is included in Appendix A1 of this report. We followed up with the responsible Officers for 

implementing these actions in advance of the Committee and received an update for only one (of five). The remaining did not provide updates at the time of drafting 

this report.

We have discussed and agreed with the Chief Financial Officer that all overdue recommendations will be reported in detail to the Council’s CLT for escalation and to 

remind responsible Officers to implement these as soon as practical and in line with agreed / revised timescales.

Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

68



05 Definitions of Assurance

7
Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

Definitions of Assurance Levels

Level Description

Full There is a sound system of control designed to achieve the system objectives and the controls are being consistently applied.

Satisfactory While there is a basically sound system, there are weaknesses that put some of the system objectives at risk, and/or there is

evidence that the level of non-compliance with some of the controls may put some of the system objectives at risk.

Limited Weaknesses in the system of controls are such as to put the system objectives at risk, and/or the level of non-compliance puts

the system objectives at risk.

No Assurance Control is generally weak, leaving the system open to significant error or abuse, and/or significant non-compliance with basic

controls leaves the system open to error or abuse.

Definitions of Recommendations

Priority Definition Action required

Priority 1 (Fundamental) Major issues for the attention of senior management and the

Joint Governance Committee.

Remedial action must be taken urgently and within an agreed

timescale.

Priority 2 (Significant) Other recommendations for local management action. Remedial action should be taken at the earliest opportunity and

within an agreed timescale.

Priority 3 (Housekeeping) Minor matters. Remedial action should be prioritised and undertaken within an

agreed timescale.

69



A1 Overdue P1 Recommendations

02

Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

Recommendation

(Reference & content)
Agreed Action and Comments Follow Up Comments

Proposed Completion 

Date

Governance of Property Purchases (Final Report Issued November 2022)

2.1 Identification and Analysis of Options, Decisions 

and Purchase - Central Retention of Property 

Information

All files relating to property acquisition must be stored in a 

central location, such as the MATS system that the AMP 

suggests. Access to this information should then be 

restricted to relevant officers only.

Staff should be reminded that all documentation relating 

to property acquisitions should only be stored centrally 

and should not be kept within their email account.

Consideration should be given to the introduction of a 

generic email address which can be used by the Estates 

Team to receive information relating to commercial 

property acquisitions so that this issue of documentation 

being held in individual officers’ email archives can be 

negated.

Head of Major Projects and Investments – Agreed 

Audit Comment – a completion timescale of 31st January 

2023 has been added so that implementation of actions can 

be monitored. 

No further update received. 31/01/23

70



A1 Overdue P1 Recommendations (Continued)

02

Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

Recommendation

(Reference & content)
Agreed Action and Comments Follow Up Comments

Proposed Completion 

Date

Workspaces AW - Accommodation Review (Final Report Issued November 2022)

2.1 Roles and Responsibilities and Project 

Governance - Project Documentation

Project Managers should be provided with access to all 

relevant documentation relating to the project that they are 

managing, especially when they take over management 

from a predecessor. 

Furthermore, the Councils should ensure that sufficient 

handover occurs where project managers change during 

delivery of a key projects, in order that corporate 

knowledge is retained.

Head of Major Projects and Investments – Accept that 

requested documentation was not provided. 

The Councils’ policy which states the data management and 

information management requirements on development 

projects for all project managers should be complied with. 

Audit Comment – The issue of central retention of project 

documentation was raised in the Project Management Final 

report issued In June 2021 and a priority 1 recommendation 

raised. This is being addressed by revision to the Project 

Management Framework (PMF) that will require Project 

Managers need to allow access for stakeholders to access 

project information and this should be achieved by creating 

a shared google document. 

Heads of Service should ensure that this requirement is 

communicated to all project managers and compliance 

confirmed. 

An implementation timescale has been added in order that 

assessment of whether project documentation is being 

managed in accordance with the PMF is being achieved. 

No further update received. 31/01/23

71



A1 Overdue P1 Recommendations (Continued)

02

Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

Recommendation

(Reference & content)
Agreed Action and Comments Follow Up Comments

Proposed Completion 

Date

Disaster Recovery (Final Report Issued November 2022)

2.1 Linkage to Business Continuity Planning

1. For critical high-risk services, a report showing the 

supporting IT applications and IT services should be 

extracted from the MATS BIA data and provided to IT that 

also shows the related recovery time objective to the 

overall service.

2. Upon annual review of the BIA, business unit 

managers should be informed that the IT recovery 

arrangements are assumed to rely on overnight backups 

and therefore up to 24 hours data could be lost following 

an incident. If this is not deemed acceptable, they should 

be encouraged to liaise with IT to discuss their 

requirements.

3. The Incident Management Plan should be updated to 

reflect changes to the delivery of IT services since the 

CenSus partnership was terminated.

4. Residual business units yet to complete a business 

impact assessment should do so within the next three 

months.

5. The Safety and Resilience Manager and IT should 

meet regularly to review the status of disaster recovery 

arrangements. The meeting should cover;

• Business continuity requirements;

• Adequacy of measures to avoid a disaster;

• Adequacy of disaster recovery arrangements; and

• Testing of disaster

1. The Critical Services list of the Incident Management 

Plan will be reviewed ahead of submitting it to the council 

leadership team for ratification, and from this, the 

supporting critical IT applications will be prioritised.

2. Agreed. Information about the use of backups and the 

potential loss of data will be included in the above paper to 

the council leadership team.

3. Agreed.

4. This historical reference is no longer relevant and will be 

removed at the next review.

5. Agreed – a regular meeting will be arranged quarterly.

We have reviewed the evidence 

that has been uploaded for this 

recommendation, and whilst it 

provides some clarity on progress 

towards completion, there are a 

number of aspects of the 

recommendation that do not 

appear to have been addressed. 

30/11/2023

72



A1 Overdue P1 Recommendations (Continued)

02

Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

Recommendation

(Reference & content)
Agreed Action and Comments Follow Up Comments

Proposed Completion 

Date

Information Governance (Final Report Issued April 2023)

2.2 All out-of-date policies and procedures for IG

should be reviewed and updated where necessary, in

particular those that have not been reviewed since

May 2018 (when GDPR came into force).

Consideration should be given to opportunities where

policies and procedures could be streamlined, i.e.

combined for example.

In future, all policies and procedures should be reviewed

annually.

Given the number of policies, procedures and guidance, it

may be helpful to maintain a review list to ensure that all

are kept up to date.

Agreed No update received. 30/11/23

73



A1 Overdue P1 Recommendations (Continued)

02

Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

Recommendation

(Reference & content)
Agreed Action and Comments Follow Up Comments

Proposed Completion 

Date

Commercial Waste (Final Report Issued September 2023)

2.7 Responsibility for debt management should be 

assigned to a member of CWT.

This officer should then ensure high priority is given to 

recovering all overdue debts.

Monthly reconciliations of the customer account on MATs 

and Tech 1 should be carried out, and a senior officer 

should sign off the reconciliation report.

The CWT should liaise with the Finance Team on an 

effective and accurate way to generate debtors' reports 

from Tech 1 and the level of outstanding debt should be 

reported to senior management.

Debt management responsibility sits with the CWT Leader. 

We ceased debt recovery operations during the April 2022 

strike as we were unable to provide a reliable service.

Since September 2022 debt recovery has been a service 

priority and significant progress has been made both with 

commercial and garden waste customers. This has already 

significantly reduced the risk profile. A new robust process 

is in place for garden waste, the process for commercial 

waste is being finalised. 

Customer service suspension, which can be implemented 

due to non-payment, is now invoked sooner when required. 

This has helped reduce potential matters of customer debt. 

The CWT will liaise with Finance moving forward to discuss 

how reconciliations between Mats and T1 could be 

implemented.

No update received. 30/09/23

74



Statement of Responsibility 

We take responsibility to Adur & Worthing Councils for this report which is prepared on the basis of the limitations set out below.

The responsibility for designing and maintaining a sound system of internal control and the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities rests with management, with internal audit providing a service to 

management to enable them to achieve this objective. Specifically, we assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control arrangements implemented by management and perform sample testing on 

those controls in the period under review with a view to providing an opinion on the extent to which risks in this area are managed.  

We plan our work in order to ensure that we have a reasonable expectation of detecting significant control weaknesses. However, our procedures alone should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses 

in internal controls, nor relied upon to identify any circumstances of fraud or irregularity. Even sound systems of internal control can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance and may not be proof against 

collusive fraud.  

The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our work and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all improvements that 

might be made. Recommendations for improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact before they are implemented. The performance of our work is not and should not be taken as a substitute for 

management’s responsibilities for the application of sound management practices.

This report is confidential and must not be disclosed to any third party or reproduced in whole or in part without our prior written consent. To the fullest extent permitted by law Mazars LLP accepts no responsibility and 

disclaims all liability to any third party who purports to use or reply for any reason whatsoever on the Report, its contents, conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation amendment and/or modification by any third party is 

entirely at their own risk.

Registered office: 30 Old Bailey, London, EC4M 7AU, United Kingdom. Registered in England and Wales No 0C308299.  

Contacts

Graeme Clarke

Partner, Mazars

grame.clarke@mazars.co.uk

Juan Fosco

Manager, Mazars

juan.fosco@mazars.co.uk

Sam Lowe

Manager, Mazars

samuel.lowe@mazars.co.uk

Internal Audit Progress Report – March 2024

75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



   Adur & Worthing Councils

  Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25

   Joint Audit and Governance Committee

    Prepared by: Mazars LLP

    Date: 7 March 2024

Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

77

A
genda Item

 9



Contents

01 Scope and Purpose of Internal Audit

02 Internal Audit Strategy

03 Development of the Operational Plan 2024/25

04 Proposed Operational Plan 2024/25

A1 Audit Universe

Statement of Responsibility

This report (“Report”) was prepared by Mazars LLP at the request of the Adur & Worthing Councils and terms for the 

preparation and scope of the Report have been agreed with them. The matters raised in this Report are only those which 

came to our attention during our internal audit work. Whilst every care has been taken to ensure that the information provided 

in this Report is as accurate as possible, Internal Audit have only been able to base findings on the information and 

documentation provided and consequently no complete guarantee can be given that this Report is necessarily a 

comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist, or of all the improvements that may be required.

The Report was prepared solely for the use and benefit of Adur & Worthing Councils and to the fullest extent permitted by law 

Mazars LLP accepts no responsibility and disclaims all liability to any third party who purports to use or rely for any reason 

whatsoever on the Report, its contents, conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation, amendment and/or modification. 

Accordingly, any reliance placed on the Report, its contents, conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation, amendment and/or 

modification by any third party is entirely at their own risk. Please refer to the Statement of Responsibility on the final page of 

this report for further information about responsibilities, limitations and confidentiality.

Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024
2

78



Scope and Purpose of Internal Audit

IA’s Role
The fundamental role of Internal Audit is to provide senior 

management and Members with independent assurance on the 

adequacy, effectiveness, and efficiency of the system of internal 

control and report major weaknesses together with recommendations 

for improvement. The role is fulfilled by carrying out appropriate audit 

work following the Annual Plan as approved by the Council’s S151 

Officer and the Joint Audit and Governance Committee.

IA Plan

Objective
Within the Councils, Management has responsibility for maintaining a 

sound system of internal control. Internal auditing is an independent, 

objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and 

improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation 

accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 

approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 

management, control and governance processes. Internal Audit also 

has an independent and objective consultancy role to help line 

managers improve risk management, governance and control. 

The Council’s Internal Audit Service is delivered following a regulatory 

framework comprising:

•The Local Government Finance Act 1972, 

•The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015; and 

•The UK Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS). 

Completion of the internal audits in the Plan 2024/25 should be used 

to help inform the Councils Annual Governance Statement within its 

audited financial statements. 

This report establishes the Internal Audit Strategy (Strategy) and proposed Operational Plan (Plan) 

for 2024/25, which details how the Council will meet its statutory requirements for Internal Audit.

Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024 3

79



Internal Audit Strategy
This Strategy recognises that it is management’s responsibility to establish and maintain a sound 

internal control system and ensure that risks are appropriately managed. Internal audit work aims 

to establish areas requiring improvement and recommend solutions to enable the Councils to 

achieve its objectives.

The Strategy and planning process reflects that the control environment constantly changes, 

requiring continuous review and re-evaluation to ensure that emerging risks are identified, 

assessed, and included as appropriate in the audit plan. Specifically, recognising the 

unprecedented challenges facing Public Sector finances, the strategy must have in built flexibility 

to consider: 

• Greatest risks to the achievement of the Council’s objectives; 

• New areas of activity;

• Issues of local significance and importance;

• Changing issues and priorities;

• Changes to models for service delivery and partnership working; and

• The impact of changes on existing control structures.

The purpose of the Strategy is to establish an approach that will enable internal audit to be 

responsive to change and managed in a way that will facilitate:

• An understanding of assurance needs to enable the provision to Members and management of 

an overall opinion each year on the Council’s risk management, control and governance 

framework, to support the Annual Governance Statement within the audited financial statements;

• Internal Audit of the Council’s risk management, control and governance systems through an 

approach which assesses risks to Council objectives and prioritises internal audits accordingly;

Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024 4

80



Internal Audit Strategy (continued)

• The identification of internal audit resources required to deliver a service which meets the PSIAS 

and achieves the necessary level of audit coverage to enable an opinion to be given on the 

Council’s control environment;

• The identification of other sources of assurance from other assurance providers which can be 

relied upon to inform the focus of internal audit activity;

• Identification of responsibilities for providing assurance where services are delivered in 

partnership.

• Based on the budget available for internal audit work, the Strategy and internal audit work make 

provision for:

• Sufficient coverage of all significant financial systems to provide the necessary audit assurance;

• New systems and emerging high-risk areas;

• Cross-cutting reviews for a selection of corporate themes which link to the Corporate Risk 

Register;

• Support for corporate governance, with particular focus on governance issues identified in the 

Council’s annual governance statement, ensuring that proposed actions are taken;

• Monitoring the implementation of internal audit recommendations categorised as high; and

• An element for a contingency to enable the audit service to provide ad hoc advice and to respond 

to management requests for support.

Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024 5

81



Development of the Operational Plan for 
2024/25
The Plan was developed by applying a risk-based approach, to provide Members, 

management, and other external bodies with independent assurance on the adequacy of the 

Council’s risk management, governance, and internal control framework.

The main factors considered in compiling the Plan consist of:

• Concerns and emerging risks as identified within the Corporate and Directorate Level 

Risk Registers by the management team including the S151 and discussions with the 

Councils Directors (who form part of CLT); and,

• A review of internal audit themes against the Councils Corporate and Directorate level 

Risks and corporate objectives;

• The results of previous internal audits;

• Other sources of assurance available to the Council;

• Mazars Horizon Scanning of issues affecting all Local Authorities 

(https://www.mazars.co.uk/Home/Industries/Public-Social-Sector/Transforming-your-

organisation/Horizon-Scanning).

The total number of internal audit days allocated for 2024/25 is 412, including 35 days for IT 

audit and 12 days for the Head of Internal Audit role. This is a similar level of resource o the 

2023/24 Plan approved in March 2023. 

The list of audits to inform the proposed 2024/25 Operational Plan and is presented in the 

next slide.

6Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

82

https://www.mazars.co.uk/Home/Industries/Public-Social-Sector/Transforming-your-organisation/Horizon-Scanning
https://www.mazars.co.uk/Home/Industries/Public-Social-Sector/Transforming-your-organisation/Horizon-Scanning


Operational Plan 2024/25 
An overview of the Operational Plan 2024/25 is set out below: 

 

7

Auditable area

Corporate or Service Level 

Risk Register Issue (where 

relevant)

Notes Audit Sponsor
Indicative 

Days

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

(Apr-Jun) (Jul-Sep) (Oct-Dec) (Jan-Mar)

Housing and Communities

Improvement Plan Review Adur Homes -Risk that Adur 

Council will fail to comply with 

statutory health and safety 

obligations as a social 

landlord.

Adur Homes Improvement Plan - independent review of 

actions included in the Adur Homes Improvement Plan 

reported to the regulator.

Director for 

Housing & 

Communities

15 - - - 15

Debt Management and 

Collection

Council finances -Risk that the 

Councils finances will continue 

to be under pressure.

Corporate Debt Management across both Housing and 

Communities. Including chasing debts and reporting 

according with the Policy.

Director for 

Housing & 

Communities

20 - - 20 -

Homelessness Overall risk of increasing 

demand for housing advice 

and homelessness 

applications.

Review of arrangements by which the Councils seek to 

ensure compliance with Homelessness Prevention Act.

Assistant Director 

- Homelessness 

& Prevention

15 - 15 - -

Corporate Complaints N/A Not audited previously - Receipt, Recording and Allocation 

of Enquiries; Investigation; Review and Issue of 

Responses; Performance Management and Reporting.

Head of Resident 

Services

15 - - 15 -

Place

Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

Land Charges Council finances -Risk that the 

Councils finances will continue 

to be under pressure.

Given the recent changes introduced from Government -

how the Councils adapted to these. Roles and 

responsibilities re-defined, customer feedback/surveys 

satisfaction measures.

Head of Planning 15 15 - - -

Commercial Property 

Estate

Failure to develop and adhere 

to Property management and 

acquisition protocols.

Focus on Local Estate - Asset Management Plan, 

acquisitions, disposals, determination of rents, rent 

collection and management reporting.

Assistant Director 

- Regenerative 

Development

15 - 15 - -

83



Operational Plan 2024/25 (continued) 
An overview of the Operational Plan 2024/25 is set out below: 

 

8

Auditable area

Corporate or Service Level 

Risk Register Issue (where 

relevant)

Notes Audit Sponsor
Indicative 

Days

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

(Apr-Jun) (Jul-Sep) (Oct-Dec) (Jan-Mar)

Building Control Estates income -Risk that 

income is reduced, and 

Councils fail to meet property 

income targets.

Procedures and Guidance; Applications; Inspections; Fee 

Income; Enforcement; Dangerous Structures; Performance 

Monitoring and Financial Management.

Head of Planning 15 - 15 - -

Sustainability and Resources

Emergency Planning Emergency response -Ability 

to effectively respond to 

emergency events.

Legislative, Organisational and Management 

Requirements; Training & Awareness; Liaison With 

External Bodies; Communication; Testing, Exercising and 

Review of Plans; and Monitoring and Reporting.

Director for 

Sustainability & 

Resources

15 - 15 - -

FoI Requests Freedom of Information 

requests -Risk of failure to 

comply with statutory 

response times.

Policy and Procedures; Scheme of Publication; Recording 

and Processing of Requests; Exemptions; Appeals, and 

Management Information.

Assistant Director 

- Legal & 

Democratic 

Services

15 - 15 - -

Key Financial Systems Council finances -Risk that the 

Councils finances will continue 

to be under pressure.

Ongoing testing of key financial controls (includes 

Revenues & Benefits systems).

Assistant Director 

- Finance

40 - - - 40

Cash Office Council finances -Risk that the 

Councils finances will continue 

to be under pressure.

Requested by Chief Accountant - Cash Payments and 

Postal Cheques; Receipts from Outstations; Telephone, 

On-line, Pay-Point and Post Office Payments; End of Day 

Balancing; and Bank Reconciliations.

Assistant Director 

- Finance

15 15 - - -

Savings Achievement Council finances -Risk that the 

Councils finances will continue 

to be under pressure.

Not previously reviewed by Internal Audit - Review of the 

Councils savings plan/targets and independent assessment 

of achievement of targets, reporting and data accuracy.

Assistant Director 

- Finance

15 15 - - -

Electoral Services Elections and referenda -

Increasing complexity and 

frequency.

Collection of Voter Information; Register Maintenance; 

Issue of Voting Cards; Governance and Procedures; 

Employment and Payment of Staff; Third Party 

Arrangements and Payments; and Reimbursement Claims.

Assistant Director 

- Legal & 

Democratic 

Services

15 - - 15 -

Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

84



Operational Plan 2024/25 (continued) 
An overview of the Operational Plan 2024/25 is set out below: 

 

9

Auditable area

Corporate or Service Level 

Risk Register Issue (where 

relevant)

Notes Audit Sponsor
Indicative 

Days

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

(Apr-Jun) (Jul-Sep) (Oct-Dec) (Jan-Mar)

Treasury Management Council finances -Risk that the 

Councils finances will continue 

to be under pressure.

Not subject to review since 2018 - Review of activity 

against the Councils' Treasury Management Strategy.

Assistant Director 

- Finance

15 - - 15 -

Environmental Health -

Licensing

Adoption of the Environment 

Act -Additional duties being 

proposed for Local Authorities.

Review of the Councils arrangements for licensing of 

premises. 

Assistant Director 

- Operations and 

Sustainability

20 - - - 20

Capital Programme Council finances -Risk that the 

Councils finances will continue 

to be under pressure.

Not subject to recent review by Interna Audit - Governance 

Arrangements; Development of the Programme; Project 

Monitoring; Alterations; Income; and Financial and 

Performance Management Reporting.

Assistant Director 

- Finance

15 - - - 15

IT Audits

*  To be undertaken by specialist Technology & Digital team. 

Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

IT - Audit Needs 

Assessment *

Cyber Security Breach. Deferred from 2023/24 - Head of Service request. to 

conduct an IT Audit Needs Assessment to identify key 

risks and priorities for IT coverage.

Head of 

Technology and 

Design

15 15 - - -

IT - Housing System -

accuracy of data (Rent 

accounts) *

Orchard Housing system -

Ongoing issues with 

communications with 

Academy and other systems.

IT related review on data integrity and accuracy feeding 

from interface systems to Orchard.

Director for 

Housing & 

Communities

20 - 20 - -

Programme/Project and Contract Audits

Project Assurance -

Worthing Integrated Care 

Centre  and Union Place 

Joint Venture) **

Major Project delivery -Failure 

of major schemes to be 

delivered.

Review of the approach to major projects in the context of 

organisational redesign. Include lessons learned, insights 

gained and reflect on capacity and capability.

Director for Place 20 - - 20 -

** To be undertaken by specialist programme and project auditors. 

85



Operational Plan 2024/25 (continued) 
An overview of the Operational Plan 2024/25 is set out below: 

 

10

Auditable area

Corporate or Service Level 

Risk Register Issue (where 

relevant)

Notes Audit Sponsor
Indicative 

Days

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

(Apr-Jun) (Jul-Sep) (Oct-Dec) (Jan-Mar)

Other

NFI Testing - Continuing testing of NFI matches. - 30 - - 5 25

Follow Ups - Follow up of prior year recommendations. - 20 5 5 5 5

Management - Ongoing contract management. - 20 5 5 5 5

HoIA - Ongoing contract management. - 12 3 3 3 3

Totals 412 73 108 103 128

Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

86



A1 Audit Universe 
Audit coverage in prior years since 2020/21 and corresponding assurance to inform discussions on the Operational Plan for 2024/25

 

11Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

Audit Title 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

IT Applications Development Moderate

Accounts Receivable TBC

Adur Leisure Contract Management Moderate

Adur Promotions Service Limited

Allocation of Costs and Funding for Town 

Centre/Public Realm Improvements

Moderate

Anti-Social Behaviour Moderate

IT Audit Needs Assessment Deferred



BEIS Grants – Post Assurance Payment Plan N/A – Advisory

BEIS Post Payment Assurance N/A – Advisory

Bereavement Services TBC

Budget Monitoring Full

Building Control Moderate



Capital Programme Limited



87



A1 Audit Universe (continued) 
Audit coverage in prior years since 2020/21 and corresponding assurance to inform discussions on the Operational Plan for 2024/25

 

* Coverage in the Key Financial Systems work

12Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

Audit Title 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Carbon Reduction Programme TBC

Cash Collection Moderate



Civica/Connect HR System TBC

Cloud Management Moderate

Commercial Waste Limited

Community Grants Moderate

Community Infrastructure Levy Moderate

Compliance & Enforcement Grant N/A - Advisory

Corporate Governance Moderate

Covid-19 Governance Moderate

Creditors Limited

*

Debt Management Limited



Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) N/A – Advisory Limited

88



A1 Audit Universe (continued) 
Audit coverage in prior years since 2020/21 and corresponding assurance to inform discussions on the Operational Plan for 2024/25

 

13Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

Audit Title 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

IT Disaster Recovery Limited

Discretionary Housing Payments (Cost of Living 

Response)

Limited

Economic Development – Small Business and 

Apprenticeships Grants

Moderate

Elections & Referendums Moderate



Energy Supplier - Procurement & Contract

Management

Moderate

Env. Services - Review of Procurement 

arrangements

Moderate

Environmental Services - Stores Moderate

Equalities Act Compliance Limited

Events - Processing and Management Moderate

Fire Doors – Contract Management Moderate

Fire Safety – Commercial Provision Moderate

Follow up on Housing Recommendations TBC

Food Depot Moderate

89



A1 Audit Universe (continued) 
Audit coverage in prior years since 2020/21 and corresponding assurance to inform discussions on the Operational Plan for 2024/25

 

14Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

Audit Title 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

GDPR Compliance Limited

General Compliance Moderate

Governance of Property Disposals Moderate

Governance of Property Purchases Moderate

Health & Safety (Corporate Buildings) Moderate

Housing – Contracts Fact Find N/A – Advisory

Housing Complaints Limited

Incident & Problem Management Moderate

Information Governance Limited

Invoicing of Housing Services - EATA TBC

IT Device Management Limited Moderate

IT Policies (Advisory Review) N/A – Advisory

Key Controls Compliance N/A – Advisory N/A – Advisory N/A – Advisory N/A – Advisory



90



A1 Audit Universe (continued) 
Audit coverage in prior years since 2020/21 and corresponding assurance to inform discussions on the Operational Plan for 2024/25

 

15Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

Audit Title 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Leaseholder Charges Moderate

Legal Services Moderate

Markets Moderate

Member Expenses TBC

Out of Hours Service Moderate

Payroll Moderate

*

Planned Maintenance Programme Limited

Planning Policy Moderate

Procurement Cards Limited

Project Management Limited



Recruitment & Selection Moderate

Regulatory Compliance – Fire Safety Moderate

Rent Collection and Recovery Moderate

* Coverage in the Key Financial Systems work91



A1 Audit Universe (continued) 
Audit coverage in prior years since 2020/21 and corresponding assurance to inform discussions on the Operational Plan for 2024/25

 

16Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

Audit Title 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Revenues & Benefits  - Additional Discounts Moderate

Risk Assessments Moderate

Risk Management Moderate Moderate Moderate

Safeguarding (Children and Adults) Limited

Safety of Commercially Leased Buildings Limited

Self-isolation Grants Full

Staff Wellbeing Moderate

Street Naming & Numbering Moderate

Supply of Affordable Housing Moderate

Workforce Planning TBC

Workspaces AW - Accommodation Review Limited

92



We take responsibility to Adur & Worthing Councils for this report, which is prepared based on the limitations set out below.

The responsibility for designing and maintaining a sound system of internal control and the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities rests with management, with internal audit providing a service to management to enable them to achieve this 

objective. Specifically, we assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control arrangements implemented by management and perform sample testing on those controls in the period under review with a view to providing an opinion on the 

extent to which risks in this area are managed.  

We plan our work in order to ensure that we have a reasonable expectation of detecting significant control weaknesses. However, our procedures alone should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses in internal controls, nor relied upon to 

identify any circumstances of fraud or irregularity. Even sound systems of internal control can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance and may not be proof against collusive fraud.  

This report is confidential and must not be disclosed to any third party or reproduced in whole or in part without our prior written consent. To the fullest extent permitted by law Mazars LLP accepts no responsibility and disclaims all liability to any third party who 

purports to use or reply for any reason whatsoever on the Report, its contents, conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation amendment and/or modification by any third party is entirely at their own risk.

Registered office: 30 Old Bailey, London EC4M 7AU, United Kingdom. Registered in England and Wales No 0C308299.  

Internal Audit Strategy and Operational Plan 2024/25 – March 2024

93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Adur & Worthing 
Councils

Confidential

95

A
genda Item

 10



Adur & Worthing Councils - Investigation into building materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services - October 2023

Supplemental Report - Confidential

Dear Emma,

I present this supplemental report setting out the findings from our independent investigation undertaken by the Forensic and Investigation Services team at Mazars LLP (“Mazars”) into a building 
materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services (“ABS”), a team within Adur District Council (“ADC”) which provides repairs services to ADC housing stock. 

Our services were performed and this report has been prepared in accordance with our signed engagement letter dated 4 May 2023 and are subject to the terms and conditions included therein. The 
procedures that were performed as part of our investigation do not constitute an audit, and should not be relied on as such. None of the observations contained within this report constitutes any legal 
opinion or advice. 

Our work was limited to the specific procedures and analysis described herein and was based only on the information made available to us during our investigation. Accordingly, changes in 
circumstances after this date could affect the findings and conclusions outlined in this report.

Mazars issued a Phase 1 Memorandum on 16 June 2023, included in Appendix B, and this memorandum is taken as read for the purposes of this supplemental report.

Our report is set out in the following sections:
- Phase 1 – Summary and notes to the memorandum
- Phase 2 – Review of the Audit Trail 
- Appendices

We shall be pleased to discuss the observations set out in this report with you. Should you have any queries regarding this report, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Yours Sincerely

Emma Thomas
Adur & Worthing Councils
Town Hall
Chapel Road
Worthing
BN11 1HB

Mazars LLP 
30 Old Bailey
London
EC4M 7AU

Nigel Layton

Partner, Forensic and Investigation Services

2

96



Adur & Worthing Councils - Investigation into building materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services - October 2023

Supplemental Report - Confidential

Contents
Phase 1 – Summary and notes to the memorandum

Phase 2 – Review of the Audit Trail

Appendices

1

2

3

4

6

10

3

97



Phase 1 – Summary and notes to the memorandum
198



1.1 Introduction

Mazars issued a Phase 1 Memorandum on 16 June 2023, which covered point h) of the I. Planning section of the scope detailed in Appendix A.

1.2 Comments on the Memorandum

As part of collaboration with Adur & Worthing Councils (“AWC”), we have updated this Phase 1 Memorandum with some key comments made by  (“  
to aid understanding and correct errors therein. These are included within the Phase 1 Memorandum in blue italicised text.

This memorandum is included in Appendix B.

The clauses updated are as follows: 

 1.1.44; 

 1.1.46;

 1.1.50 a); and 

 1.1.50 b). 

1.3 Other items

We have reproduced Appendix A from the Phase 1 Memorandum and included within this report as Appendix C – Abbreviations used throughout the report.

We seek to also highlight Appendix F within the Phase 1 Memorandum, which includes comprehensive recommendations.

Adur & Worthing Councils - Investigation into building materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services - October 2023

Supplemental Report - Confidential

1 - Summary and notes to the memorandum

PHASE 1 – 
SUMMARY AND 
NOTES TO THE 
MEMORANDUM

AppendicesAppendices
Phase 1 – Summary 

and notes to the 
memorandum

Phase 2 – Review 
of the Audit Trail Appendices

Phase 1 – Summary 
and notes to the 

memorandum
Phase 2 – Review 
of the Audit Trail Appendices

Phase 1 – Summary 
and notes to the 

memorandum
Phase 2 – Review 
of the Audit Trail Appendices

5

99



Phase 2 – Review of the Audit Trail
2100



2.1 Introduction

In this section, we present our approach to and the results of our Phase 2 work, 
namely our review of the audit trail data provided by AWC. In Phase 2 we have 
aimed to identify any further instances of suspected fraud.

Overall, in the data reviewed, Mazars identified £11,527 of invoices that have a 
risk of being fraudulent, with £3,638 of this amount being highly likely to be or 
confirmed to be fraudulent. This is inclusive of the bath invoice.

2.2 Our approach

We have conducted analysis of building materials ordering over time, which has 
focussed on the identification of patterns indicative of fraudulent use of 
merchant cards, starting with analysis of the free-standing bath invoice 
identified, which we have verified as fraudulent, where the ex-agency operative 
(“XAO”) had misappropriated ABS materials. We have then developed further 
indicators of suspected fraud within the data in our review, which we have 
cascaded over the general data population to gauge any entries that we 
suspect to be fraudulent, providing a recalculated total.

We have used our judgement to identify risk indicators, increasing the 
perceived risk of an invoice alongside the interaction of multiple risk factors. We 
have aimed to quantify the possible fraud loss from the items identified and 
have also utilised the findings from our interviews with  and  
(“  as well as relevant operative  (“  where 
appropriate.

2.3 Our findings in respect of the audit trail

We were presented with 3 data sets for review:

1. City Plumbing Supplies (“CPS”);

2. Howdens; and

3. Shepherds.

In the CPS dataset, we identified the following risk factors in the initial free 
standing bath invoice, and subsequently through exploration of the data.

Adur & Worthing Councils - Investigation into building materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services - October 2023

Supplemental Report - Confidential

2 – Phase 2 – Review of the Audit Trail (1/3)

PHASE 2 – 
REVIEW OF THE 
AUDIT TRAIL

Description / Explanation
Ref

A Even number Job Number.

 noted that all Job Numbers should be odd - 
the system does not generate even Job 
Numbers. Hence, it is rare that a Job Number 
recorded will be even, notwithstanding 
transposition errors. 

B The invoice containing the free standing bath, 
and associated invoices.

The free standing bath item on an invoice 
helped AWC to first discover the fraud. This is a 
high value item which would not be ordered by 
AWC, and it was delivered to a private address.

C Delivery notes with "  or "  picked up 
after s departure from ABS.

 is the name of an ex-employee, which 
was used by XAO to collect the materials from 
the supplier. Invoices with  delivery notes 
have been isolated.

D Invoices in the same batches with  items.
These are invoices which were sent in the same 
batch as the invoices using s name, 
hence are possibly related.

Ref

E Chronologically out of place.

Job Numbers which, when compared to the 
related invoice date, are chronologically out of 
place, indicating that the Job Number may not 
have been generated by the system, which 
should generate sequential odd numbers. 

F Typical Job Number ending sequence (818, 
819).

It has been confirmed that XAO fabricated some 
Job Numbers which ended in '818' or '819'. 
Hence, invoices ending in these or similar 
numbers are suspicious. 

G After XAO's last login per the system.
These are invoices dated after XAO had left 
AWC, as it appears that most of the fraud has 
happened after XAO's departure.

H Large gaps between invoice dates within a Job 
Number.

 are multiple invoices relating to one 
Job Number, and these invoices are dated far 
apart. Hence, it is possible that a genuine Job 
Number has been re-used for an order at a later 
date and is not related to the original job.

I High Value Items in invoice (above £400 exc 
VAT)

High value items are rarely required for jobs by 
the ABS. For example, the free standing bath 
which has been confirmed as fraudulent. 

Risk
KEY RISK FACTORS INITIALLY IDENTIFIED FROM THE BATH INVOICE

FURTHER KEY RISK FACTORS EMERGING THROUGH MAZARS ANALYSIS

AppendicesAppendices
Phase 1 – Summary 

and notes to the 
memorandum

Phase 2 – Review 
of the Audit Trail Appendices

7

101



2.3 Our findings in respect of the audit trail (cont.)

We have the following results for CPS, with 2.3% of the dataset reviewed being 
designated as Very likely or confirmed fraud:

We have included at Appendix D all invoices isolated as confirmed fraud, 
possible fraud, or small likelihood of fraud in an excel document. Many of these 
have been reviewed alongside  however AWC may wish to review those 
items not yet reviewed, considering the likelihood of possible fraud in the 
context of the building services jobs with which they are assigned.

Within the categories of the Results for CPS table, we have displayed sub-
categories of results in the following tables:

We recommend that the Possible Fraud and Merits Review due to value items 
included within the Appendix D excel document may also be reviewed by staff 
at AWC as a precautionary measure.

Adur & Worthing Councils - Investigation into building materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services - October 2023

Supplemental Report - Confidential

2 – Phase 2 – Review of the Audit Trail (2/3)

PHASE 2 – 
REVIEW OF THE 
AUDIT TRAIL

92.4%

2.3%

3.7% 1.6%

7.6%

Non fraud invoices in dataset Likely or confirmed fraud

Possible fraud Small likelihood of fraud

Total of Invoices 
in dataset

Very likely or 
confirmed fraud Possible fraud Small likelihood 

of fraud

£148,507.90 £3,429.70 £5,471.27 £2,449.97

Results for CPS

Possibly merits 
review due to 

value

Even number Job 
Number

Invoices in the 
same batches 

with  items

Chronologically 
out of place

£1,252.10 £438.12 £59.51 £700.24

Small likelihood of fraud

Appendices
Phase 1 – Summary 

and notes to the 
memorandum

Phase 2 – Review 
of the Audit Trail

8

Bath invoice 
Confirmed as 
fraud upon  

review

£671.99 £227.93

Invoices in the same batches with 
 items AND after XAO's last 

login per the system AND other risk 
factors indicating possible fraud in 

some instances

£2,529.78

Very likely or confirmed fraud

After XAO's last 
login per the 

system

Chronologically 
out of place 
(90+ days)

Multiple risk 
factors identified 

within the Job 
Number

Other risk factors 
indicating 

possible fraud 

£1,638.92 £2,784.72 £73.93 £973.70

Possible Fraud 

102



2.3 Our findings in respect of the audit trail (cont.)

We also analysed Howdens and Shepherds, being other key suppliers to ABS. 
For Shepherds, no line items were identified as suspicious in the dataset:

For Howdens we have the following results:

As can be seen in the Howdens results, a very small amount has been 
identified as having a small likelihood of fraud. This is comprised of the 
following two entries which AWC may wish to review:

2.4 Conclusions and next steps

Mazars has noted that the total of the invoices that could be considered 
fraudulent is likely immaterial. It does not appear, from the work conducted by 
Mazars, that fraudulent activity is endemic to the work of the ABS team. We do 
not consider that further investigation into this matter is merited due to the small 
amount identified.

Overall, Mazars has identified £11,527 of invoice entries within the datasets that 
are possibly fraudulent and related to demonstrated patterns of behaviour from 
XAO, and the other risk factors identified. 

We recommend that AWC take on board the findings from the Phase 1 
memorandum and implement strong controls to mitigate the risk of fraud going 
forward.

To mitigate risks going forward,  and  team may wish to implement 
checks related to the risk factors identified into their review of payments runs 
and invoices received from suppliers.

Adur & Worthing Councils - Investigation into building materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services - October 2023

Supplemental Report - Confidential

2 – Phase 2 – Review of the Audit Trail (3/3)

PHASE 2 – 
REVIEW OF THE 
AUDIT TRAIL

Reference Doc. Type Assignment No Doc. Date Orig. 
Amount Comments

B120284333 Invoice PO15299819 08/02/2022 £169.07 Typical Job Number ending 
sequence (818, 819).

E450115453 Invoice 20220902 02/09/2022 £6.56 Even number Job Number

Appendices
Phase 1 – Summary 

and notes to the 
memorandum

Phase 2 – Review 
of the Audit Trail

9

Total of Invoices 
in dataset

Very likely or 
confirmed fraud Possible fraud Small likelihood of 

fraud
£2,002.99 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

Results for Shepherds

Total of Invoices 
in dataset

Very likely or 
confirmed fraud Possible fraud Small likelihood of 

fraud
£31,875.25 £0.00 £0.00 £175.63

0.55%

Results for Howdens

103



Appendices
3104



Appendix A – Excerpts from Engagement Letter dated 4 May 2023

Adur & Worthing Councils - Investigation into building materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services - October 2023

Supplemental Report - Confidential

APPENDICES

Scope of work

The following is as appears in Section 1 of our Engagement Letter:

I. Planning

a) Undertake initial planning meetings with key personnel to understand the 
background to the Investigation, as well as outlining the structure of the project 
and the cadence of communications throughout the project;

b) Prepare initial request list, including all relevant policies and procedures;

c) Conduct the following procedures on the area of relevant policies and procedures:

d) Obtain a detailed understanding of the policies and procedures related to building 
material ordering at ABS at the time of the fraud;

e) Identify relevant individuals with whom to conduct fact-finding interviews to 
supplement understanding of the building material ordering policies, and the 
fraudulent activity identified, conducting two interviews; 

f) Conduct review of the new procedures enacted after the identification of the 
fraud, considering their effectiveness in mitigating the risk of this type of fraud;

g) Consider whether performing assessment of compliance with relevant policies in 
relation to building material ordering usage on a sample basis would be valuable; 
and

h) Produce short memorandum detailing any weaknesses or gaps in 
controls/procedures in the areas reviewed, raising recommendations for 
improvements.

II. Audit Trail Investigation

a) Review documents already collated internally by Adur & Worthing Councils 
(“AWC”) in relation to the fraudulent building material ordering to gain a detailed 
understanding of the fraudulent activity, requesting, if required, further documents 
that would be valuable to for review;  

b) With evidence provided, conduct procedures including, but not limited to:

i. Analysis of building material ordering over time, identifying patterns of 
fraudulent use of merchant cards, cascading identified indicators of 
misuse over the population of the building material ordering data to 
identify any further instances of misuse or other suspect agency 
operatives;

ii. Recalculation or verification of the building material ordering overspends 
already identified by AWC to ensure accurate quantification of the 
fraudulent activity; and

iii. Identify one relevant ABS agency operative with whom to conduct an 
interview, focussing on materials ordering, working culture, adherence to 
policies and procedures, and other relevant topics identified throughout 
the investigation.

c) Reach out through email communication to relevant third parties with detailed 
questions on interactions with ABS.

III. Reporting

a) Identify and outline any further instances of probable or actual fraudulent building 
material ordering, or other colluding parties; 

b) Prepare a factual, evidence-based report for AWC, including the previously 
issued memorandum; 

c) Issue draft report for comments;

d) Collect and process comments and issue a final report, attaching all referenced 
evidence; and

e) Present our final report to the Audit Committee at AWC (if required).

Phase 2 - Review 
of the Audit Trail

Phase 1 – Summary 
and notes to the 

memorandum
Phase 2 – Review 
of the Audit Trail Appendices

11

105



Appendix B – Mazars for AWC – Draft Memorandum 16 06 2023

Adur & Worthing Councils - Investigation into building materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services - October 2023

Supplemental Report - Confidential

APPENDICES
Phase 1 – Summary 

and notes to the 
memorandum

Phase 2 – Review 
of the Audit Trail Appendices

12

106



Appendix C – Abbreviations used throughout the report

Adur & Worthing Councils - Investigation into building materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services - October 2023

Supplemental Report - Confidential

APPENDICES

Name Abbreviation
Mazars LLP we / Mazars
Adur & Worthing Councils AWC
Adur Building Services ABS
Adur District Council ADC
City Plumbing CP
Ex-agency operative XAO
Other ex-agency operative AO2
Purchase Order PO

Whistleblower WB

Gardner & Scardifield G&S

Abbreviations used in report

Phase 1 – Summary 
and notes to the 

memorandum
Phase 2 – Review 
of the Audit Trail Appendices

13

107



Appendix D – CPS Results Excel

Adur & Worthing Councils - Investigation into building materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services - October 2023

Supplemental Report - Confidential

APPENDICES
Phase 1 – Summary 

and notes to the 
memorandum

Phase 2 – Review 
of the Audit Trail Appendices

14

108



Adur & Worthing Councils - Investigation into building materials fraud identified at Adur Building Services - October 2023

Supplemental Report - Confidential

Disclaimer

This report (“Report”) was prepared by Mazars LLP at the request of Adur & Worthing Councils and terms for the preparation and scope of the Report have been agreed with them within the signed letter of 
engagement dated 4 May 2023.

The Report was prepared solely for the use and benefit of Adur & Worthing Councils. It should not be quoted, referred to or shown to any parties, other than Adur & Worthing Councils’ legal advisors, unless 
required by law or a regulatory authority, without our prior consent in writing. We understand that Adur & Worthing Councils operate within a regulatory environment and that this Report may be shared with 
their Regulators if Adur & Worthing Councils are required to make disclosures to The Regulator in respect of the matters discussed in this Report.

The Report was prepared on the basis of information and documents provided to us during the course of our work. This information was prepared by Mazars in connection with the services provided to Adur 
& Worthing Councils and was therefore prepared specifically for the purposes of those services and solely for the benefit of Adur & Worthing Councils. Mazars LLP neither owes nor accepts any duty of care 
to any third party and shall not be liable for any loss, damage and/or expense which is caused by any reliance that any other party may place on this information. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Mazars LLP accepts no responsibility and disclaims all liability to any third party who purports to use or rely for any reason whatsoever on the Report, its contents, 
conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation, amendment and/or modification. Accordingly, any reliance placed on the Report, its contents, conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation, amendment and/or 
modification by any third party is entirely at their own risk.

APPENDICES
Phase 1 – Summary 

and notes to the 
memorandum

Phase 2 – Review 
of the Audit Trail Appendices

15

109



Mazars is an internationally integrated partnership, specialising in audit, accountancy, 
advisory, tax and legal services*. Operating in 91 countries and territories around the 
world, we draw on the expertise of 40,400 professionals – 24,400 in the Mazars 
integrated partnership and 16,000 via the Mazars North America Alliance - to assist 
clients of all sizes at every stage in their development.

*Where permitted under applicable country laws

Partner, Head of Investigations

T: +44 (0) 7785 244331

E: nigel.layton@mazars.co.uk

Nigel Layton Peter Morgan

Manager

T: +44 (0) 7 973 739 577 

E: peter.morgan@mazars.co.uk

110



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 1 - 
 

Independent investigation into alleged building materials fraud at 
Adur District Council, within the Building Services team – Phase 1 
Memorandum 

 On 4 May 2023, Mazars LLP (“we”) were engaged by Adur & Worthing Councils 

(“AWC”) to conduct an independent investigation into an alleged building materials 

fraud identified at Adur Building Services (“ABS”), a team within Adur District Council 

(“ADC”) which provides repairs services to ADC housing stock.  

 The first phase of this investigation was to undertake a review of the policies and 

procedures related to building materials ordering at ABS by gaining a detailed 

understanding of them, both at the time of the alleged fraud and any new procedures 

implemented following the discovery of the alleged fraud. This has been 

supplemented by three interviews, please see Appendix B for details. 

 The purpose of this memorandum is to analyse any weaknesses or gaps noted in the 

controls, policies or procedures in the documents we have been provided for review, 

with recommendations for improvements raised. 

Summary 

 This memorandum is structured in four sections:  

 Background, initial understanding, and rationale for review; 

 Review of job role of suspect; 

 Materials purchasing procedures; and 

 Review of anti-fraud documentation.  

 Overall, upon review of the policy and procedure documents provided, in particular 

for materials purchasing procedures, we note that the de facto purchasing procedures 

utilised do not, in general, align with the prescribed procedures. We note that de facto 

procedures at the time of the alleged fraud did not have adequate controls. 

 We also note that the Counter Fraud Policy and Strategy Statement, setting out a 

strategy for 2022 to 2023, has not been implemented. 

111



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 2 - 
 

 We have included a table of our recommendations in Appendix F.  

Background, initial understanding, and rationale for review  

 In April 2023, an alleged fraudulent building supply order (“Order 1”) was identified 

at AWC. This activity was identified by an AWC employee who, upon receipt of an 

invoice from City Plumbing (“CP”), identified that a free-standing bath (a non-typical 

product) was ordered to a private address (i.e., a non-ADC address), and the job 

number noted on the CP invoice did not exist in ABS’ system1. This activity was 

subsequently linked to an ex-agency operative (“XAO”), who, upon internal 

investigation at AWC, was found to have been ordering materials from CP using the 

name of another agency operative (“AO2”). AO2 has recently left ABS, and had left 

prior to the bath being ordered, therefore giving further cause for concern upon 

identification. Upon internal investigation this was not an isolated issue, and other 

possibly fraudulent orders by XAO have been identified.  

 We have discussed this with  (“ ”), Resources and Performance Team 

Leader at AWC, who has provided most detail of these events, both in interview and 

in other meetings. We understand that XAO has allegedly been able to do the 

following on multiple occasions: 

 Contact CP to ask for a selection of trades materials to be prepared for pick up; 

 Arrive at CP for collection, giving a false job number and showing AWC ID;  

 Take these goods for use in XAO’s private work, and these goods are 

subsequently invoiced to AWC by CP in the monthly invoice; and 

 These invoices are paid by AWC after haphazard checks performed. 

 XAO’s decision to choose delivery rather than pick up resulted in Order 1 standing 

out as unusual, and therefore was identified in the haphazard checking conducted by 

’s team.  

 
1 As seen in email thread between AWC and CP – doc 03.1A 

112



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 3 - 
 

 We understand that, once identified, the matter was quickly reported to the police2, 

who have since confirmed that the XAO in question has been captured purchasing 

materials on City Plumbing’s CCTV3.  

 The information requested and the documents received in relation to this review are 

detailed in Appendices C and D respectively. The documents received have been 

reviewed to form our recommendations.  

Review of job role of suspect held whilst they worked at AWC 

 To better understand the job role of the XAO, we have reviewed their job description 

and the AWC code of conduct for council officers4.  

Job Description 

 XAO was employed by AWC as a chargehand from April 2020 to March 20225. 

 We have included their main duties, tasks and responsibilities as per the job 

description, these are included within Appendix G. 

 We note that implicitly the job description applies only to the time that XAO was 

employed at AWC, however we note the following key point: 

 “5. Ensuring … materials are recorded within the purchasing system…”  

(i) This indicates that XAO would have had a deep understanding of 

materials purchases, and how it could possibly be exploited after 

their departure. 

 We also note that whilst the job description includes positive descriptions of required 

behaviour, it does not include any direct references of negative behaviour to avoid 

and the consequences thereof. 

 
2 As seen in email thread between  and police – 03.1B 
3 The CCTV evidence relates to: a) Invoice 1380 ABW617 on 19/01/2023 totalling £231.88; b) Invoice 1380 ABW991 on 
26/01/2023 totalling £142.77; c) Invoice 1380 ABX583 on 07/02/2023 totalling £24.97; and d) Invoice 1380 ABZ723 on 21/03/2023 
totalling £236.32 
4 01.1 - Job Description of Charge Hand; 01.6 Code of Conduct for Council Officers 
5 The XAO last logged into AWC’s system on 18 March 2022 

113



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 4 - 
 

 We therefore recommend that AWC consider inclusion of explicit direct 

references to the Code of Conduct on unacceptable behaviours, and 

consequences thereof, in job descriptions moving forward. 

 Through review of the job description, it is clear that a chargehand is in a position of 

responsibility and trust, being in a leadership role with responsibilities over aspects 

of public finances.  

Code of Conduct for Council Officers 

 The Code of Conduct sets out fundamental values that underpin standards of conduct 

in Local Government and is part of all Employees’ terms and conditions of 

employment. The key theme noted is that all employees must perform duties with 

honesty, integrity, impartiality, and objectivity. We have listed the most relevant 

clauses to this investigation in Appendix H.  

 Through Order 1, it appears that XAO has violated the following clauses: 

 4.6 – XAO has used their knowledge of ABS’ procedures and the system from 

their previous position to serve their personal interests, at the expense of the 

Council.  

 4.9 – XAO has misused public funds to purchase materials for their own private 

benefit. 

 4.21 – through XAO’s use of public funds and previous knowledge, public duties 

have been subordinated to their own private interests. 

 We recommend that all staff and new joiners receive detailed training on this Code 

of Conduct, and that there is frequent refresher training put in place.  

 We recommend that when offboarding, all staff are made aware that they should not 

misuse the knowledge they have gained from their role at AWC for private benefit.  

Materials purchasing procedures  

114



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 5 - 
 

 Mazars received three documents for review to aid our understanding of the materials 

purchasing procedures in place at ABS6.  

 We have also discussed the de facto ordering process in place for materials in the 

repairs team in our interviews conducted, both at the time of Order 1 and since, to 

understand how policy and procedural documents interact with actual processes 

applied.  

 We outline this section as follows: 

 Mazars understanding of de facto purchasing procedures; 

 Total FMS Purchase Ordering Training Manual; 

 Technology One User Guidance Notes;  

 Procedures for Ordering from Gardner & Scardifield; and 

 Overall purchasing recommendations. 

Mazars understanding of de facto purchasing procedures 

 From interviews with  and  (“ ”) we understand that, during the 

time period when Order 1 occurred, in the repairs team the typical process for 

ordering materials was as follows: 

 Required jobs to perform are on the housing management system, and relevant 

operatives can see what jobs they are required to perform. Every job has a 

specific job number, and, when required, commentary is added when more 

specific parts are required. 

(i) These jobs and commentaries are often added by chargehands after 

inspecting and assessing the scope of work required at properties. 

 Operatives, if required, may on occasion contact suppliers to pre-order 

materials for collection. 

 
6 01.2A – Total FMS Purchase Ordering Training Manual; 01.2B – Technology One User Guidance Notes; 01.3 – Procedures for 
Ordering from G&S  

115



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 6 - 
 

 To pick up materials at the supplier, operatives need to communicate a job 

number for recording on the supplier system and present a valid AWC ID 

badge. Often an address is also recorded by the supplier. 

 Suppliers then invoice AWC for any materials collected, most often on a 

monthly basis, providing information on the job numbers, addresses (where 

available), materials collected and their values to AWC. 

 These are then haphazardly checked by  and her team, reviewing the listings 

for any line items that stand out as particularly strange or inappropriate, as well 

as some random sampling. 

(i)  estimated in interview that 1 in 10 line items are checked for 

legitimacy. 

(ii) An example of a line item that could be considered strange would be 

a shower ordered for a job number associated with a window repair. 

 Once reviewed, this listing is approved by  and sent to the finance team for 

payment. 

 A purchase order (“PO”) would only be used in specific situations, for non-job items 

such as uniforms, tools, or a bulk order. These are raised directly in the Technology 

One system. 

Total FMS Purchase Ordering Training Manual 

 This document is a training manual which explains the materials ordering process at 

ABS from their suppliers. The document is dated 2010.  

 The manual initially outlines general information, including: 

 That a PO must be placed with Suppliers for all goods and services being 

purchased; 

 Payment can only be made against invoices payable to Adur District Council; 

 Invoices should be paid within 30 days unless there is a valid reason for 

withholding payment, and the Payments Section should be notified if this is the 

case; 

116



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 7 - 
 

 If you are the officer who has requisitioned the goods, you must not authorise 

the requisition; and  

 Invoices are filed and stored on a weekly basis.  

 As shown in the diagram below7, this manual includes a flowchart showing the nine-

step purchase ordering process, followed by details for each step. 

 

 
7 01.2A - Total FMS Purchase Ordering Training Manual, pages 5-6 

117



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 8 - 
 

 The proceeding information includes some details of what it describes as controls 

during the process, including: 

 When entering an order into the system, the supplier, department and 

expenditure codes, procurement class and delivery locations are all selected 

from a dropdown. The date is automatically populated, and a description, price, 

and quantity of goods must be given. 

 Only Officers that have been given permission to authorise POs will be able to 

see the details of POs within their department that are waiting to be authorised. 

(i) This differs from the de facto process, as  explained that POs are 

not required for all orders, a job number may be sufficient.  

 When goods are received, their details are entered upon the system upon 

delivery. Details to be entered are as follows alongside the date which is 

automatically populated: 

(i) Order number; 

(ii) Supplier’s reference; 

(iii) Delivery note number or invoice number; and 

(iv) Quantity of goods received. 

 Invoices are registered by the Payments Section, before being passed onto the 

relevant department to verify that the goods have been delivered by entering 

the delivery reference number. They can then be processed for payment by the 

Payments section. 

(i) This differs from the de facto process, as  explained in interview 

that there hasn’t been enough time and resource to reconcile all 

invoices to the delivery notes for approximately the prior 1.5 to 2 

years. 

 Overall, after review we contend that this document provides guidance and instruction 

on how to use the system, rather than representing any controls. It is procedural in 

nature.  

118



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 9 - 
 

 However, the flowchart shown in this document does contain some key controls, 

namely: 

 2. Authorise Purchase Order; 

 6. Invoice received in Payments Section and Registered on system. Invoice 

then sent to requisitioning officer; and 

 7. Verify goods delivered and OK to pay. Return Invoice to Payments Section. 

 The different colours of the flowchart denote different officers, and as such represent 

a segregation of duties in the controls for 2., 6. and 7. above. There is a lack of clarity 

on what these controls actually represent and as such do not present adequate policy 

to support staff members in their day to day work. 

 , the Resources and Performance Team Leader, does not use this document to 

support her day to day responsibilities. DD, through interview, informed us that 

himself, and other members of staff, do not use policy or procedural documentation 

in new joiner training or in day to day use. 

 We note that this document does not fully capture the reality of the materials ordering 

process in place for the Repairs Team, in particular for a chargehand. For materials 

ordering at a supplier it is clear that in reality a PO, despite being required by the 

policy, is not used in all circumstances for suppliers to provide materials. 

 We also note that this document is now essentially defunct, with  explaining that 

Technology One is used almost exclusively as the purchasing system. 

Technology One User Guidance Notes  

 This document contains user guidance notes for ordering materials using Technology 

One, a new financial management system that was introduced in April 2019 with the 

aim to become less manual and more automated.  

 The document emphasises two new policies; 

 Firstly the ‘No Reference No Pay’ policy, meaning that all incoming invoices 

must have a valid PO number, or they will be rejected; and 

119



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 10 - 
 

(i) This differs from the de facto process, as  explained that POs are 

not required for all orders, a job number may be sufficient.  

 Secondly, for all requisitions, a user from a given list must be selected to 

approve the request. They have determined approval limits set.  

 As seen in the chart below, the document also has a flowchart to explain the new 

process8.  

 

 The guidance gives detail on these steps. Some relevant points include: 

a) When creating a requisition, the ‘requisition user’ defaults to the person filling 

out the requisition (this field can be changed); 

b) When selecting which supplier, the dropdown will already be filtered to 

suppliers available within that entry;  

c) The person submitting the requisition selects the approver and can leave 

comments on the requisition; 

d) Once approved, a PO is created with a PO number which can be given to the 

supplier; and 

e) Invoices are sent directly to the Exchequer services payment section; the goods 

must be marked as receipted on the system in order for the invoice to be paid.  

 
8 01.2B - Technology One - User Guidance Notes, page 3 

120



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 11 - 
 

 Similar to the Total FMS manual, we have concluded that this document is more 

focused on giving practical instructions on the software, rather than detailing any 

preventative controls and procedures in place. 

 In a meeting,  noted that before working with the Technology One system all 

employees must complete mandatory e-learning on how to use the system. Upon 

completion, employees can access the system and are given a financial limit.  

 However,  explained that in practice, people learn to use the systems in an ad hoc 

manner, learning from colleagues in the office, there is no formal training on how to 

use the system.  noted his concern staff may not have enough capacity to 

complete training alongside their daily duties.  noted that  does not use all 

systems, he uses only the MAT system, he does not use the Technology One system. 

Procedures for Ordering from Gardner & Scardifield  

 This document was drafted very recently, with the document dated 19 May 2023, with 

 explaining that this had been under review since April 2023. This document aims 

to mitigate some of the risks exposed by the alleged fraud by XAO. Therefore, in 

some respects, this document would supersede elements of the Technology One 

document. 

 From interview with , we understand ABS are trying to move over to a system with 

only one supplier, being Gardner & Scardifield (“G&S”), with the aim being to 

standardise purchasing and increase ease of review.  and  noted that the 

process of moving to one preferred supplier, G&S, had been underway for circa 18 

months at the time of the alleged fraud by XAO.  

 This document has a greater focus on giving guidelines for safeguarding against 

fraud. For example: 

a) To order, operatives must have a job number, address of the property and an 

ID badge; 

b) A monthly update is sent to the supplier, detailing operatives who are 

authorised to make purchases. Operatives who are on long-term sickness or 

leave are removed. This is also updated immediately following the exit of an 

employee; 

121



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 12 - 
 

c) If a new employee doesn’t yet have an ID badge, a code word will be agreed in 

the meantime; 

d) A weekly report of all purchases & prices from the previous week is sent from 

the supplier to  & the Building Services team. These will be looked into, and 

any queries reported back to the supplier; and 

e) As job numbers cannot be created for out of hours calls, individual PO numbers 

will be given to each operative for purchasing outside of business hours. These 

are valid for three months and then replaced.  

 We have confirmed with  that the document has been circulated to all relevant 

staff, in draft in April 2023, and then final version in May 2023. However, as the 

document has been produced so recently, it is difficult to know how well these policies 

are being used in practice yet.  

 We have confirmed with  and  that the requirement for a job number, ID badge 

and address is now currently in place. This allows ease of reconciliation of jobs with 

invoices.  

 We note the following concerns on this document: 

 The agreement of a code word in advance of receipt of an ID is possibly a weak 

control, with the possibility of it being shared easily. 

(i) We discussed an additional control to implement with , consisting 

of the following: 

• Order a no name / new joiner ID card to provide to a new joiner when 

their ID card has not arrived. 

• Enforce a strict sign out of the no name / new joiner ID card, with both 

the new joiner and their line manager signing the card out to the new 

joiner. 

• The no name / new joiner ID card is then signed back in by both the 

new joiner and their line manager to CF’s team upon issue of a proper 

AWC ID badge. 

122



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 13 - 
 

• When not in use this no name / new joiner ID card should be stored 

securely; when not signed back in in a timely manner, or if location is 

uncertain, all suppliers should be notified. 

 The document notes that all purchases will be reviewed, though it is not clear if 

this will be possible to implement owing to the resource constraints that caused 

 and her team to take on a haphazard review approach previously. 

(i) The work conducted by Mazars has not considered the efficacy of 

the processes instigated by  on G&S purchases reports received. 

 noted that non-matching items are now automatically flagged for 

review.  

 It is not detailed how the out of hours POs will be monitored, as well as the 

limits in terms of purchase amounts are enforced.  

 We recommend that, as part of a wholesale review of policies and procedures, that 

this document is refreshed to include interactions with all software systems utilised 

by the AWC team, to ensure that as much clarity is available as possible. 

 We recommend that a similar document is produced for ordering from other suppliers, 

for instances when G&S does not carry a required product. 

Offboarding procedures – G&S 

 As the alleged fraudulent activity in question occurred after XAO had left the council, 

it is important to consider the offboarding procedures in place at AWC. The most 

prevalent controls for this are detailed in the ‘Procedures for Ordering from Gardner 

& Scardifield’ document.  

 We note that when explaining the procedures related to starters and leavers, the 

document states “If we have been unable to claim and ID badge back from the leaver 

this must be added to the email to alert the supplier”9.  

 We recommend that there is a clear, robust procedure in place to ensure that 

ID badges are taken from all leavers.  

 
9 01.3 - Procedures for Ordering from G&S, page 1 

123



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 14 - 
 

 We recommend that procedures to alert all possible suppliers are implemented, 

rather than only G&S. 

Overall purchasing recommendations 

 We recommend a wholesale review of the policies and procedures to ensure there 

are clear guidance documents available to support staff members. The current 

situation includes informal, on-the-job training and learning about systems through 

observation of colleagues rather than formal training or documentation.  

 As an aim of the review, the policies should demonstrate a robust set of controls, 

including a clear purchasing approvals process, including delegated limits in terms of 

materials value, and segregation of duties in doing so. These should be clearly 

communicated to all employees, to create a more standardised process for 

purchasing materials. We recommend that members of the finance team are included 

in this review to ensure that they are reasonable and share clear responsibilities 

between teams. 

 We also note that current controls G&S are reliant on G&S and their staff members 

applying the controls that AWC have set out regarding job numbers, ID badges and 

addresses. It should be ensured that requirements on G&S are clearly 

communicated. 

Review of anti-fraud documentation 

 AWC provided us with two documents related to their anti-fraud policies and 

procedures10. These are discussed in turn below. 

Counter Fraud Policy and Strategy Statement  

 AWC’s Counter Fraud Policy and Strategy statement, published 15 March 2022, 

begins by stating a commitment to preventing losses through fraud, bribery and 

corruption. The purpose of the statement is to set out a 2022/23 anti-fraud strategy, 

general aims including: 

a) Creation of a robust ‘anti-fraud’ culture; 

 
10 01.4A – Counter Fraud Policy and Strategy Statement; 01.4B - Whistleblowing Protocol  

124



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 15 - 
 

b) Encourage individuals to promptly report suspicions; 

c) Protect the Council’s resources; and 

d) Direct counter fraud resources to the key areas of fraud risk, ensure 
resources are sufficient, and that those involved are appropriately skilled.  

 

 The document states that AWC has a specialist Corporate Investigation Team which 

consists of four people responsible for protecting their assets from fraud.  

 The document also states that the Corporate Investigations Team are developing a 

centralised log of all fraud and irregularity referrals received and are planning to 

establish an ongoing fraud awareness programme and training package for all 

Council employees. 

 The overall implementation of the strategy is displayed in the diagram below11: 

 
11 01.4A – Counter Fraud Policy, page 11 

125



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 16 - 
 

 

 Finally, the statement discusses how the success of the strategy will be measured. 

Some examples of this are: 

a) Increased awareness of fraud and corruption risks through implementation of a 

counter fraud awareness package.  

b) Creation of an anti-fraud culture where employees and members of the public 

are comfortable to report concerns.  

c) Centralisation of the reporting and the investigation of internal fraud.  

d) Increased use of technology for Data Matching of Council held data for 

preventing and detecting fraud. 

Mazars’ understanding of the implementation of the statement in practice 

 Mazars’ understanding of this document’s implementation is based primarily on the 

interview conducted on 12 June 2023 with  (“ ”), who is Senior 

126



127



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 18 - 
 

 We recommend that AWC’s senior leadership team prioritises and communicates a 

strong anti-fraud culture throughout all teams. 

Whistleblowing Protocol 

 Mazars were provided with details of the whistleblowing protocol in place at AWC. 

This document gives clear details of four individuals / bodies who can be contacted 

regarding serious concerns, being: 

 The Monitoring Officer12; 

 The Chief Executive13; 

 The Chairmen of the Joint Governance Committee14; and 

 The Chief Financial Officer (S.151 Officer)15. 

 The policy explains that the Council will arrange a meeting with the whistleblower 

(“WB”), who may bring a colleague or Union representative to this meeting.  

 An initial assessment will be made to determine the scope of any investigation 

required as a result of the disclosure, and the WB will be informed of this outcome 

and any further progress and outcomes of the investigation.  

 There is also provision that if the Council concludes that a WB has made false 

allegations maliciously or with a view to personal gain, the WB may be subject to 

disciplinary action. 

 Mazars concludes that this protocol is robust, in particular commending the 

provision that WB’s are kept informed of progress and outcomes. 

 We recommend the following in relation to the protocol: 

 Ensure that the protocol is easily available on internal AWC systems; 

 Ensure that all employees and new joiners are aware of the protocol; 

 
12 As per the whistleblowing protocol document, this is  
13 As per the whistleblowing protocol document, this is   
14 As per the whistleblowing protocol document, this is Councillor  (for Worthing Borough Council) and Councillor 

 (for Adur District Council) 
15 As per the whistleblowing protocol document, this is  

128



129



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 20 - 
 

 

Appendix D – Documents received  

 

Request Reference Description

01.1 Job Description of Building Team / ABS Agency Operatives / Charge Hands
01.2 Policies and Procedures related to ordering and purchasing materials at the time of the fraud 
01.3 New Policies and Procedures related to ordering and purchasing materials, enacted after the identification of the  
01.4 Anti-Fraud Policies and Procedures for AWC
01.5 Any other policies and procedures relevant to the building materials fraud 

02.1
Contact details and availability of individuals who would be relevant to be interviewed to supplement 
understanding of the building material ordering policies and the fraudulent activity identified (Please confirm one 
of these should be  and provide a further individual, along with both of their contact details) 

03.1 Information already collated internally by Adur & Worthing Councils in relation to the fraudulent building material o
03.2 Building material orders orders audit trail from dates 01/01/2020 to present
03.3 Invoices to support the above orders (to discuss whether a targeted sample basis is more appropriate here).
03.4 List of individuals with authority to order supplies since 01/01/2020, including the ex-agency operative in question

04.1 Contact details and availiability of a relevant ABS agency operative who would be relevant to be interviewed 
focussing on materials ordering  working culture  adherence to policies and procedures  and other relevant 

05.1 Organisational Chart 
05  Other Areas 

Initial Request List dated 5 May 2023

01 Key Documents related to Building Team (phase 1)

02 Interview Requests (phase 1) 

03   Key documents relating to Building Team (phase 2) 

04   Interview Requests (phase 2) 

Request 
Reference Description

01.1 Job Description of Charge Hand
01.2A Total FMS Purchase Ordering Training Manual 
01.2B Technology One - User Guidance Notes 
01.3 Procedures for Ordering from Gardner & Scardifield 
01.4A Counter Fraud Policy and Strategy Statement 
01.4B Whistleblowing Protocol 
01.5A Adur District Council Constitution
01.5B Staff Handbook
01.5C Statement of Terms and Conditions for Employment 
01.6 Code of Conduct for Council Officers 
01.8 Authorisation form 

03.1A Email thread between AWC and City Plumbing, including queries about the fraudulent activity in question
03.1B Email thread between AWC and the police
03.2 Purchases Report from City Plumbing 
03.3A Email thread containing invoices from City Plumbing - batch 1
03.3B Email thread containing invoices from City Plumbing - batch 2
03.3C Invoice relating to order by  1
03.3D Invoice relating to order by  2
03.3E Invoice relating to order by  3
03.3F Invoice relating to order by  4

05.1 Adur & Worthing Councils: Senior Management structure diagram and breakdown of services
05.2 Housing Staffing Structure

01 Key Documents related to Building Team (phase 1)

03   Key documents relating to Building Team (phase 2) 

05  Other Areas 

Documents Received 

130



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 21 - 
 

Appendix E – Key interview quotations  

 

Interviewee Theme

Informal Training: learn to use the systems by asking people in the 
office; no formal training on how to use the system; not enough time to 
do formal training due to low staffing levels.

Under Resourced: charge hands don’t have capacity to go out and 
perform checks; working overtime most days; 6 week wait time to book 
an operative. Resulting in low morale – people are not happy at work.

Loose Controls: despite the new systems, there are still a lot of grey 
areas.

Informal Training: no introductory packs; on-the-job training for how to 
use the systems; no handover procedures / documents so difficult when 
employees leave. 
Under Resourced: not enough staff/time to reconcile all invoices so 
haphazard checks are used instead. Moving over to one supplier has 
helped, but this process has taken a long time.
Inconsistent Controls: on the system, operatives may or may not leave 
notes and photos; XAO could have done 'anything he wanted really' due 
to his high level of authority and lack of controls around this. 

Under Resourced: all of the Corporate Investigations Team's time is 
spent  looking into housing fraud as they had to make a choice of what 
was most in the interest of the tax payer; only anti-fraud training is e-
learning to save time. 
Communication:  had never seen the strategy before that she was 
supposedly responsible for. 

Interviews - Key Themes 

131



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 22 - 
 

Appendix F – Table of recommendations 

 

Memorandum 
reference Recommendation

1.1.17
We therefore recommend that AWC consider inclusion of explicit direct references to the 
Code of Conduct on unacceptable behaviours, and consequences thereof, in job 
descriptions moving forward.

1.1.21 We recommend that all staff and new joiners receive detailed training on this Code of 
Conduct, and that there is frequent refresher training put in place.

1.1.22 We recommend that when offboarding, all staff are made aware that they should not misuse 
the knowledge they have gained from their role at AWC for private benefit.

1.1.51
We recommend that, as part of a wholesale review of policies and procedures, that this 
document is refreshed to include interactions with all software systems utilised by the AWC 
team, to ensure that as much clarity is available as possible

1.1.52 We recommend that a similar document is produced for ordering from other suppliers, for 
instances when G&S does not carry a required product.

1.1.54 We recommend that there is a clear, robust procedure in place to ensure that ID badges are 
taken from all leavers.

1.1.54 We recommend that procedures to alert all possible suppliers are implemented, rather than 
only G&S.

1.1.55

We recommend a wholesale review of the policies and procedures to ensure there are clear 
guidance documents available to support staff members. The current situation includes 
informal, on-the-job training and learning about systems through observation of colleagues 
rather than formal training or documentation.

1.1.56 We recommend that members of the finance team are included in this review to ensure that 
they are reasonable and share clear responsibilities between teams.

1.1.70
We recommend that a review of this document is conducted alongside HC and her team, 
considering resource constraints alongside the necessity and priority of various aspects of 
the statement. 

1.1.70

We recommend that AWC gives counter fraud initiatives a high priority and adequate 
resources within the organisation as a whole and ensures that any Counter Fraud Policy and 
Strategy Statement, either updated or in its current form, is publicised effectively across the 
organisation.

1.1.71 We recommend that AWC’s senior leadership team prioritises and communicates a strong 
anti-fraud culture throughout all teams.

1.1.77 Ensure that the protocol is easily available on internal AWC systems;
1.1.77 Ensure that all employees and new joiners are aware of the protocol;

1.1.77 Ensure that the protocol is periodically reviewed to ensure that details of those who can be 
contacted to make a disclosure are up to date; and

1.1.77 The next time a WB concern is raised, a lessons learnt meeting is conducted after the 
completion of the process, to review the extent to which AWC complied with the protocol.

Recommendations

132



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 23 - 
 

Appendix G – Chargehand Job Description 

 

Ref MAIN DUTIES, TASKS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF POST HOLDER

1 To supervise trade staff and subcontractors in the delivery of repairs to void and occupied properties. Provide 
coaching, supervision and technical guidance to ensure all works are completed to the required standard.

2 Be a role model to the trade staff, ensuring that they work to the Council’s Code of Conduct and maintain a high 
standard of reputation with our stakeholders.

3 Take responsibility for ensuring that all works carried out are accurately accounted for and costs are correctly 
recovered for the Building Services trading account and recharges to stakeholders.

4 To carry out verbal and written instructions.

5 Ensuring all job completion targets are met, and that materials are recorded within the purchasing system. 
Invoicing of all completed works through the council repairs system.

6 Carry out site inspections, and support the Equiries Officer with complaints.

7 Raise jobs on the Councils system, check trade diaries and invoice all completed works.

8 Carry out Post Inspection on completed works.

6 Ensure works are carried out within the required regulations, such as working at height, asbestos awareness, 
as well as following building control legislation, and be able to implement all.

7 Undertake all duties in accordance with Council policies, in particular those relating to Customer Care and 
Equal Opportunities.

8
Undertake any duties regarding health, safety and welfare at work, civil contingencies and business continuity 
which may reasonably be allocated to the postholder as a result of legislation, codes of practice or Council 
policies.

9 Promote the service and Council positively at all times.

The post holder will be required to undertake such other duties as may be required within the grade and 
competence of the postholder. Therefore, the list of duties in this job description should not be regarded as 
exclusive or exhaustive.

Duties will be set out in this job description but please note that the Council reserves the right to update the job 
description, from time to time, to reflect changes in, or to, the role. The post holder will be consulted about any 
proposed changes. Significant permanent changes in duties and respons bilities will require agreed revisions to 
be made to this job description.

Chargehand Job Description

133



 Mazars for Adur & Worthing District Councils 
Phase 1 Memorandum 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Private & Confidential - 24 - 
 

Appendix H – Relevant clauses from Council’s Code of Conduct 

 

 

Clause Relevant Expected Conduct

4.2 An Officer of the Council must be aware of and positively promote the Council’s vision and 
corporate priorities as set out on the Council’s website.

4.4 A Council Officer must abide by all policies and procedures of the Councils, relevant to their 
area of work.

4.6
A Council Officer must not allow their personal interests to conflict with the Council’s 
requirements or objectives and nor may they use their position improperly to confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any individual, or organisation.

4.9
A Council Officer must not use any public funds entrusted to them in an irresponsible, 
reckless or unlawful manner and may not make personal use of property or facilities of the 
Council, unless properly authorised to do so.

4.21

A Council Officer must at all times act in accordance with the trust that the public is entitled 
to place in them. Therefore both at work and in private life a Council Officer should do 
nothing to bring the Councils into disrepute. The public need to be assured that public duties 
are not subordinated to private interests, and that conflicts between private life and duty do 
not arise.

Code of Conduct for Council Officers

134



Appendix D
KEY RISK FACTORS IDENTIFIED 

A A Even number Job Number.
B B The invoice containing the free standing bath, and associated invoices.

C C Delivery notes with "[redacted]" or "[redacted]", picked up after [redacted]'s departure from ABS.
D D Invoices in the same batches with [redacted] items.

KEY RISK FACTORS EXPLORED
E E Chronologically out of place.

F F Typical Job Number ending sequence (818, 819).
G G After XAO's last login per the system. We have noted G as the most important risk factor identified

H H Large gaps between invoice dates within a Job Number.
I I High Value Items in invoice (above £400 exc VAT)

Very Likely Fraud ‐ 
confirmed with 
[redacted]

Possible Fraud 
Merits Review due 

to value
Even number Job 

Number 

Invoices in the 
same batches with 
[redacted] items 

Chronologically out of place Less likely to be fraud ‐ single risk factor

£3,429.70 £5,471.27 £1,252.10 £438.12 £59.51 £700.24 £2,449.97

18/03/2022 £11,350.93

A B C D E F G H Ref Invoice Number  Invoice Date  Invoice Value  Job Number  Job Value  [redacted] / AWC / other comments  Result of review of invoice 
C D G H 1 1380ACA666 15/04/2023 52.21                       26629819 402.83                     [redacted] delivery notes  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]

B C D G 2 1380ACA620 13/04/2023 671.99                     26729817 671.99                     The bath  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
A C D G 3 1380ABZ723 21/03/2023 236.32                     26729818 236.32                     [redacted] delivery notes  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]

D G 4 2413ADF260 23/02/2023 143.92                     26329819 143.92                     Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
F G H 5 0677ACY367 08/02/2023 133.20                     26629819 402.83                     Possible Fraud 

D G 6 1380ABX583 07/02/2023 24.97                       26720819 24.97                       Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
D G 7 1380ABX444 03/02/2023 337.02                     27739819 337.02                     Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
D G 8 1380ABW991 26/01/2023 142.76                     16829817 142.76                     Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
D G 9 1380ABX004 26/01/2023 47.30                       26629817 47.30                       Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
D G 10 1380ABW617 19/01/2023 231.89                     26729819 231.89                     Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]

C D F G H 11 1380ABW085 10/01/2023 91.45                       26629819 402.83                     [redacted] delivery notes  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
A G 12 0677ACV621 28/11/2022 24.10                       243220 24.10                       Possible Fraud 

D G 13 1380ABQ785 17/09/2022 125.96                     26629819 402.83                     Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
A D G 14 1380ABQ434 08/09/2022 148.46                     16729816 148.46                     Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]

D G H 15 1380ABQ212 02/09/2022 150.17                     16629819 293.46                     Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
G I 16 0677ACR247 09/08/2022 546.13                     22213733 546.13                     Possible Fraud 

E G 17 0677ACP437 27/06/2022 16.49                       12616057 16.49                       Fake job Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
E G 18 0677ACP073 20/06/2022 23.65                       12378907 23.65                       Fake job Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]

A D F G 19 1380ABM874 27/05/2022 75.18                       16629818 75.18                       Has been created by [redacted] to gain goods. Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
A G 20 0677ACN582 13/05/2022 4.25                         20818374 4.25                         Possible Fraud 

G H 21 0677ACN413 11/05/2022 111.55                     16629819 293.46                     Possible Fraud 

F G 22 2413ACV358 11/05/2022 31.74                       16629819 293.46                    

A job that had been booked for [redacted], but had been 
cancelled on 11/03/2022 by one of my team as it had been 
completed as part of a different job. And then [redacted] 
has ordered items on it.

Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]

G I 23 0677ACM307 13/04/2022 819.70                     19821431 819.70                     Possible Fraud 
D G 24 1380ABK320 28/03/2022 33.01                       19772977 33.01                       Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]

E 25 0677ACJ592 22/02/2022 41.65                       14437223 41.65                       Chronologically out of place
E 26 0677ACJ311 16/02/2022 64.78                       14799079 64.78                       Chronologically out of place
E 27 0677ACJ372 16/02/2022 61.56                       13784745 61.56                       Chronologically out of place

Less likely to be fraud ‐ single risk factor

135



Appendix D
KEY RISK FACTORS IDENTIFIED 

A A Even number Job Number.
B B The invoice containing the free standing bath, and associated invoices.

C C Delivery notes with "[redacted]" or "[redacted]", picked up after [redacted]'s departure from ABS.
D D Invoices in the same batches with [redacted] items.

KEY RISK FACTORS EXPLORED
E E Chronologically out of place.

F F Typical Job Number ending sequence (818, 819).
G G After XAO's last login per the system. We have noted G as the most important risk factor identified

H H Large gaps between invoice dates within a Job Number.
I I High Value Items in invoice (above £400 exc VAT)

Very Likely Fraud ‐ 
confirmed with 
[redacted]

Possible Fraud 
Merits Review due 

to value
Even number Job 

Number 

Invoices in the 
same batches with 
[redacted] items 

Chronologically out of place Less likely to be fraud ‐ single risk factor

£3,429.70 £5,471.27 £1,252.10 £438.12 £59.51 £700.24 £2,449.97

18/03/2022 £11,350.93

A B C D E F G H Ref Invoice Number  Invoice Date  Invoice Value  Job Number  Job Value  [redacted] / AWC / other comments  Result of review of invoice 

Less likely to be fraud ‐ single risk factor

D 28 0677ACI984 10/02/2022 22.88                       16272817 22.88                       Invoices in the same batches with [redacted] items 
E 29 0677ACI995 09/02/2022 18.78                       13607023 18.78                       Chronologically out of place

D E 30 1380ABH330 25/01/2022 607.84                     14108257 835.81                     Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]
D 31 1380ABH331 25/01/2022 156.49                     14108257 835.81                     Same batch as [redacted] items  Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]

E 32 0677ACH826 19/01/2022 39.20                       14514881 39.20                       Chronologically out of place
E 33 0677ACH674 17/01/2022 23.99                       14412065 23.99                       Chronologically out of place
E 34 0677ACH440 12/01/2022 321.26                     13983447 321.26                     Possible Fraud 
E 35 0677ACH392 11/01/2022 18.83                       13872783 47.83                       Chronologically out of place

A H 36 0677ACG972 30/12/2021 47.50                       1005504 73.93                       Possible Fraud 
E 37 0677ACG529 15/12/2021 197.44                     13649863 226.54                     Possible Fraud 

I 38 0677ACG464 14/12/2021 686.16                     15359717 686.16                     Merits Review due to value
A E 39 0677ACG456 14/12/2021 80.87                       11224466 80.87                       This is a fake job Very Likely Fraud ‐ confirmed with [redacted]

D 40 0677ACG087 07/12/2021 92.12                       14897819 102.67                     Possible Fraud 
E 41 0677ACF027 17/11/2021 9.11                         12893099 9.11                         Chronologically out of place

D 42 1380ABE138 15/11/2021 178.96                     14514109 187.06                     Same batch as [redacted] items  Possible Fraud 
E 43 0677ACD866 27/10/2021 533.40                     11041367 567.53                     Possible Fraud 
E 44 0677ACB517 10/09/2021 74.08                       12190119 226.69                     Chronologically out of place

A 45 0677ACB203 06/09/2021 26.44                       1005504 73.93                       Possible Fraud 
A 46 0677ACB069 02/09/2021 86.77                       136474114 86.77                       Even number Job Number 

E 47 0677ACB045 01/09/2021 275.98                     12274965 275.98                     Merits Review due to value
E 48 0677ACB049 01/09/2021 55.86                       12730721 55.86                       Possible Fraud 
E 49 0677ACB035 01/09/2021 53.51                       12700971 53.51                       Chronologically out of place
E 50 0677ACA955 31/08/2021 54.55                       12718323 54.55                       Chronologically out of place
E 51 0677ACA896 27/08/2021 6.12                         12334449 109.55                     Chronologically out of place
E 52 0677ACA460 19/08/2021 52.54                       12097443 52.54                       Chronologically out of place
E 53 0677ABZ851 05/08/2021 122.22                     12586377 122.22                     Possible Fraud 
E 54 0677ABZ148 21/07/2021 140.34                     11753009 140.34                     Possible Fraud 

A 55 0677ABY924 15/07/2021 57.04                       1005618 57.04                       Even number Job Number 
E 56 0677ABY485 07/07/2021 10.12                       12200507 36.23                       Chronologically out of place

I 57 0677ABY318 05/07/2021 702.61                     12452995 702.61                     Possible Fraud 

136



Appendix D
KEY RISK FACTORS IDENTIFIED 

A A Even number Job Number.
B B The invoice containing the free standing bath, and associated invoices.

C C Delivery notes with "[redacted]" or "[redacted]", picked up after [redacted]'s departure from ABS.
D D Invoices in the same batches with [redacted] items.

KEY RISK FACTORS EXPLORED
E E Chronologically out of place.

F F Typical Job Number ending sequence (818, 819).
G G After XAO's last login per the system. We have noted G as the most important risk factor identified

H H Large gaps between invoice dates within a Job Number.
I I High Value Items in invoice (above £400 exc VAT)

Very Likely Fraud ‐ 
confirmed with 
[redacted]

Possible Fraud 
Merits Review due 

to value
Even number Job 

Number 

Invoices in the 
same batches with 
[redacted] items 

Chronologically out of place Less likely to be fraud ‐ single risk factor

£3,429.70 £5,471.27 £1,252.10 £438.12 £59.51 £700.24 £2,449.97

18/03/2022 £11,350.93

A B C D E F G H Ref Invoice Number  Invoice Date  Invoice Value  Job Number  Job Value  [redacted] / AWC / other comments  Result of review of invoice 

Less likely to be fraud ‐ single risk factor

E 58 0677ABX948 29/06/2021 173.84                     11825163 173.84                     Possible Fraud 
A 59 0677ABX889 28/06/2021 40.74                       1005436 40.74                       Even number Job Number 

E 60 0677ABX315 16/06/2021 22.39                       12017175 22.39                       Chronologically out of place
E 61 0677ABW455 27/05/2021 523.45                     11776959 508.12                     Possible Fraud 
E 62 0677ABU444 19/04/2021 45.60                       7012207 45.60                       Chronologically out of place
E 63 0677ABU296 15/04/2021 288.86                     12320327 288.86                     Possible Fraud 
E 64 0677ABU013 09/04/2021 271.12                     10789457 271.12                     Possible Fraud 
E 65 0677ABT547 31/03/2021 156.92                     10685007 156.92                     Possible Fraud 
E 66 0677ABS397 10/03/2021 17.24                       10984901 17.24                       Chronologically out of place

A 67 0677ABS103 04/03/2021 11.75                       1175640 50.14                       Even number Job Number 
A 68 0677ABS098 04/03/2021 4.07                         1146046 4.07                         Even number Job Number 
A 69 0677ABR357 19/02/2021 47.06                       11788686 47.06                       Even number Job Number 
A 70 0677ABR283 18/02/2021 67.09                       1.17528E+22 67.09                       Even number Job Number 

E 71 0677ABR044 15/02/2021 86.20                       10800711 86.20                       Chronologically out of place
D 72 0677ABQ271 01/02/2021 8.23                         11602817 8.23                         Invoices in the same batches with [redacted] items 
D 73 0677ABP487 18/01/2021 4.22                         11316819 4.22                         Invoices in the same batches with [redacted] items 
D 74 0677ABP431 15/01/2021 24.17                       11317819 24.17                       Invoices in the same batches with [redacted] items 

A 75 0677ABP014 08/01/2021 61.75                       11419488 61.75                       Even number Job Number 
A 76 0677ABN877 10/12/2020 10.40                       11038158 10.40                       Even number Job Number 
A 77 0677ABN733 08/12/2020 40.55                       11076 40.55                       Even number Job Number 
A 78 0677ABM445 17/11/2020 8.22                         364136 8.22                         Even number Job Number 
A 79 0677ABM207 12/11/2020 289.97                     1080852 289.97                     Merits Review due to value
A 80 0677ABJ961 05/10/2020 2.68                         10338798 2.68                         Even number Job Number 

137



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Joint Audit and Governance Committee
21.03.2024

Key Decision [Yes/No]

Ward(s) Affected:

Strategic Property Investment Fund

Report by the Assistant Director for Regenerative Development
Officer Contact Details:
Chris Maughan, Assistant Director Regenerative Development
chris.maughan@adur-worthing.gov.uk

To note: This report is based upon previous year’s reports and as such reflects the
approach to non-residential investment property management that the Councils
have adopted for some years.

From next year, we expect to present a revised approach built around a model of
Active Asset Management which should give us scope to improve the approach to
management of the SPIFs. The Councils also own other commercial investment
property (provisionally called the Second Tier Funds) which is not included in this
report but is expected to be included next year. It is anticipated that future reports
will also include a richer approach to data following the completion of the Strategic
Asset review to be completed Summer 2024.

Executive Summary

1. Purpose

Statutory guidance places a duty on Local Authorities to prepare an
annual investment strategy to be approved by the full Council or
equivalent, in advance of forthcoming financial years.

139

Agenda Item 11



This report provides an update on the recent investment activities
and current position of the Strategic Property Investment Fund as of
January 2024. This covers:

● The current overall Fund structures and completions within the
current financial year to date.

● Review of economic situation and Public Works Loan Board
(PWLB) Funding criteria.

● Review and update of processes to support the ongoing
structured and measured approach to property income
generations and proactive risk management inherent in any
property investment.

● Update mechanisms to support the ongoing retention of a
balanced portfolio with a move from initial income generation to
income return approach as the Fund matures, with a focus on
strategic asset management and long term capital preservation
and growth.

● Outline the future strategy to re-focus investment within the
Councils’ geographic areas including seeking more acquisitions
where the Council can add commercial and social value to
assets through repositioning, repurposing or redevelopment
and for social housing, emergency and temporary homes.

The primary objective of the Commercial Property Investment
Strategy (CPIS) is to build a balanced portfolio generating consistent
revenue for the Councils’ delivery of services for the benefit of Adur
and Worthing.

It is recommended that both of these reports be approved by the
respective Councils as the Commercial Property Investment
Strategy for 2024-2025.

2. Recommendations
● It is recommended that the Joint Governance Committee considers

the contents of this report, providing feedback and/or comments to
the Joint Strategic Committee (JSC).

● It is recommended that the Joint Strategic Committee:

140



a) Agree the suggested delivery and governance model as set
out in the report which will be approved by the full Council as
part of the overall CPIS.

b) Approves that the average lot size be adjusted from £2m -
£20m to £2m - £25m.

c) Recommends to Adur District Council and Worthing Borough
Council to adopt the Commercial Property Investment Strategy
for 2024/25.

d) Approves that the budget for future years may be brought
forward with the approval of the relevant Executive Members
for Resources, following their consideration of a business
case.

e) Approves that value add and opportunistic investments, as
per section 4.3.9, 4.4.9 and 4.6.3, can be acquired and
approved under the CPIS in consultation with the Executive
Member for Resources considering a robust outline business
and financial case.

f) Approves that assets which were purchased for operational,
local economy and regeneration purposes, will be separated
in future SPIF reporting to those purchased for investment
purposes.

1. Report Context

1.1. Due to continued reductions in Central Government grant Funding, Local
Authorities are increasingly reliant upon income generating models to support
the delivery of Council services.

1.2. Direct investment in commercial properties is one of the ways that Councils
across the country have sought to increase their income growth in support of
delivering Council services.

1.3. Direct property investment is commonly undertaken by Local authorities who
have acquired assets both within their administrative boundaries and nationally.

1.4. Typically these investments have been Funded through Public Works Loan
Board (PWLB) long term lending. Historically, this lending has been on
preferential terms to the market enabling authorities to utilise this to generate
income over and above borrowing costs. This surplus is used to contribute
towards the Funding of services and mitigating the impact of cuts to services
whilst also protecting services that would otherwise be at risk of closure.

141



1.5. Members will be aware that in 2022/23 the PWLB increased borrowing rates
but nevertheless, the rates still represented good value.

1.6. Revised 2021 onward PWLB Funding arrangements resulted in increased
scrutiny on borrowing, preventing the use of this loan facility to Fund
investments primarily for yield. In parallel to this restriction, the PWLB rate was
reduced by 1% for qualifying investments.

1.7. Adur District and Worthing Borough Councils already have an established
Strategic Property Investment Fund (SPIF) following a report to JSC in July
2015. Since this time, subsequent reports (the most recent being March 2022)
have built upon and developed this workstream following the introduction of the
two Strategic Property Investment Funds and have increased the current Fund
size (capital spend) to £125m per Council.

1.8. The approval of the 2020 CPIS provided mechanisms to grow the portfolio and
monitor performance through improved asset management, continued annual
reviews and monitoring. This report reinforces the continued need to monitor
performance and moves to take a longer term “total return” approach and
analysis of the portfolios. The investment strategy as part of this year’s report
follows the same format as previously.

1.9. This investment strategy was significantly affected by the Council’s deficit
position with officers re-focusing their efforts on rent collection and tenant
engagement, driving outstanding rent reviews and securing lease renewals in
an uncertain market. Officers sought to preserve the Council's revenue position.
Very little of the planned Fund reserves for the year were spent by either
authority reflecting the prudent and cautious management approach that has
underpinned the development and management of the Fund since its inception.

1.10. As a result, rent collection data (% of all rents collected in advance) for the last
financial year for all occupied property was 100% across each quarter with no
bad debts. The above figures take into account all rent collection data for all
assets currently managed under the SPIF.

1.11. Against the backdrop of the slow recovery from the COVID 19 Pandemic, the
portfolios have performed positively during the 2022/23 financial year. The
success in rent collection is in part due to the relationships developed with our
tenants, but also through the careful evaluation and governance process that
has been applied to purchases. Where recoverable, officers will continue to
work with tenants with arrears in a proactive and supportive manner to improve
the rent collection for the financial period.

1.12. The quality of the assets and their locations reflects a great deal of forethought
on the part of the Councils’ acquisition team, but this is not taken for granted

142



and periodic reinvestment is required to keep the estate relevant to the market
conditions and tenant needs at the time. For example, the Adur SPIF currently
has two vacant office suites and each requires investment to position them for
the modern office market and revised tenant expectations. The Worthing
portfolio contains one office investment that will need significant attention and
possibly investment in 2026 but is otherwise fully let.

1.13. This year’s investment strategy reflects on the changes in the market over the
last 12 months as a result of the long lasting and fundamental changes in the
commercial property market as a result of the Pandemic, global and national
economic factors and changing consumer trends. This strategy looks ahead to
the future providing context for considering and changing the approach to
include opportunistic and value add opportunities within the Councils’ areas to
better support our local economies whilst retaining the context of Council
revenue requirements and regulations on this activity.

2. Points for Consideration

2.1. New Acquisitions

2.1.1. During the current financial year, the Councils have not been active as in
previous years, but have looked at opportunities as they have presented
themselves.

2.1.2. Neither Council made any acquisitions during the 2023/24 financial year.

2.2. Current Fund Structure

2.2.1. The Council has an established Strategic Property Investment Fund following a
report to JSC in July 2015. The overall Fund objective is to invest in commercial
property in the UK so as to obtain a high level of secure income and long term
capital growth to support the Councils in delivering local services following
reductions in Central Government grant Funding.

2.2.2. As a result of this the Councils have sought to acquire assets that present a
minimum hurdle average net return of at least 1% over the assumed hold
period after all costs and expenses including principal and interest debt
payments.

2.2.3. The acquisitions have still sought to minimise risk exposure, seeking strong
underpinning factors with the investment but with the objective to obtain stable
income and long term capital appreciation. The portfolio is under constant

143



review and where asset returns diminish to an unacceptable level,
disinvestment will be considered.

2.2.4. The Funds have maintained a balanced spread between asset classes and
geographical locations. The pie charts below detail the current weighting of the
Funds considering all purchases to date:

2.2.5. The above pie charts do not include any purchases made which have been
acquired for operational purposes, housing or regeneration (with one exception)
and local economy purposes.

2.2.6. The above charts show that the latest financial year still leaves both Councils
weighted highly towards office investments as this has been driven by a
combination of historic market opportunities and strong Fundamentals within
this sector (location of properties, strong demand from the UK’s service lead
economy, high quality of construction and low maintenance).

144



2.2.7. The office sector makes up a significant proportion of the commercial real
estate value in the UK in terms of value. The office sector has experienced
challenges, in that office usage rates have fallen owing to a combination of
hybrid working, reluctance in some quarters to return to the workplace full time
and an acceleration of digitisation. This acceleration and enablement of
improved remote working has changed the requirements of office tenants.

2.2.8. Our portfolios are not immune to these factors. Ongoing discussions with our
tenants show that although some are not using their space fully, some did
downsize space needs in 2023, with one subletting space by agreement, but
others are experiencing a very slow or nil return to higher utilisation of office
space.

2.2.9. The diversification within the portfolios, and an asset allocation focused on
strong underpinning Fundamentals, has resulted in a resilient performance
overall given the weighting towards offices which have arguably experienced
the most disruption across investment property classes. The Funds’ low
exposure to traditional retail and greater allocation to food retailing, and
industrial and logistic sectors, has been helpful to the Funds’ performance.
These specific sectors saw significant investor demand and yield compression
since the start of the Covid-19 Pandemic. Since the Pandemic, economic
pressure has weighed in and the increase in base rates is still affecting capital
values.

2.2.10. As income driven investors, the Councils are (relative to the market) not entirely
agnostic as to absolute capital value, but focus on strength and consistency of
income instead, as well as total return, across the economic cycle. If and when
capital values rise and fall, as they will, the focus remains on driving income.
The Funds will monitor rent collections and tenant viability with a view to
diversification.

2.2.11. It is important to note that this diversification will continue as the Funds mature
and we seek a total return approach rather than immediate short term income.
This may mean that assets present challenges as well as opportunities from an
asset management perspective and through asset management plans for the
individual assets, potentially investment, re-gearing of leases.

2.2.12. Disposal for reinvestment to reduce exposure may further be required where
appropriate returns have not been achieved or if future performance prospects
of an asset diminish to an unacceptable level.

2.2.13. Purchases will now solely focus on the Borough and District area of the
Councils, specifically targeting opportunities where there is significant
regeneration, economic or social value to build a portfolio for a longer term

145



position, balanced with the need to secure long term revenue income for the
Councils.

2.2.14. The portfolios will require ongoing investment to achieve long term returns
and maintain the estate’s appeal to tenants. The forthcoming Minimum Energy
Efficiency Regulations (MEES) will put increased pressure on all owners to
upgrade space. There is to be a minimum Energy Performance Certificate
threshold of A/B in 2030 and C in 2027 beyond which it will be illegal to let
space at a lower grade to new occupiers. Within the Funds we have identified
where there are shortfalls and are planning to address these which will require
a capital programme which is being prepared.

2.2.15. The key considerations underpinning the historic local acquisitions have been
about supporting our local economy and employment opportunities and value
add opportunities within our area. A market commentary and a key update is
provided below on the ‘pure’ investments across commercial property asset
classes. Equally important is diversity across sectors. The graphs below show
the tenant sectors.

146



2.3. Portfolio Breakdown

2.3.1. Offices
Office markets remain subdued due to the lasting impact of the shift to home
working, which overlapped with inflation, economic uncertainty and fluctuating
interest rates.

This has led to a reduction in investment volumes with market liquidity focused
around the life science and biotech sector assets or traditional office assets with
long dated income from secured investment grade tenants. Demand for space,
and supply, remains thin in our area for the time being. Investment yields have
moved out in non-core offices and volumes are lower than previous years but
may be recovering later this year.

Offices have typically been considered to be the least volatile commercial
property asset class and it is not unexpected that both Councils became heavily
weighted towards offices within the portfolios. The reality is that people will
always want somewhere to work collectively, and most of our Fund office assets
would present well in any occupier’s search for space.

Looking to 2024 office occupier markets are likely to continue to perform
modestly for high quality stock however there remains some uncertainty around
structural changes in this sector as some occupiers are still examining how they
will move to more flexible working. This is resulting in an acceleration of
secondary office stock being repurposed where they face economic and
physical obsolescence. Some of our office stock will require updating at lease
expiry (if tenants leave) as is normal procedure with any portfolio as there is a
need to anticipate and meet changing tenant needs.

Locally the lack of supply is not met with demand sufficient to encourage rental
levels sufficient to encourage new stock to be developed. Any new stock might
challenge the value of the existing stock. The largest known threat on the
horizon to value and rents though is not new supply, nor lack of demand, it is
the forthcoming MEES regulations.

2.3.2. Retail
The decline in ‘bricks and mortar’ retail was exacerbated by the Pandemic
which accelerated the move to digital trading. Although it is anticipated that this
decline may continue, those town centres that have something to offer as
destinations in their own right will perform ahead of the market. Some retail
property has halved in value across this cycle, but arguably from over inflated

147



values. Many former shop units are being re-used as quasi retail space,
housing ‘internet-proof’ end users whose service is a destination for customers,
for food and beverage sales or where personal attendance or click and collect
are factors.

Retail properties will continue to present risk until a sustainable model for
traditional retail is established. Other than food store retail, or where the
Councils see a regeneration or social opportunity, it is recommended that
unless there are compelling reasons for an acquisition, that this asset class
continues to be avoided.

It is anticipated that there will be continued and accelerated structural change in
UK retail in 2024.

In our Funds we are relatively underexposed to retail, owning regeneration and
local shops, together with a secure ground lease. Within the two SPIFS, well
located retail units offer long dated income.

2.3.3. Industrial
Industrial and logistics investments remain highly sought after, both prime and
secondary stock, with net yields until 2022, often reflected at sub 5%, now
having moved out to c 5.75%. The Councils have invested into this asset class
and could look to increase its allocation to this sector where pricing permits,
except that in our area most industrial investments are tightly held and do not
enter the market frequently. Industrial investments will remain highly priced due
to continued investor demand for industrial stock particularly in relation to last
mile distribution. The Councils will remain alert to opportunities, although due to
competition, opportunities remain limited. Within areas there is little new stock
due to come on stream, other than ‘Decoy Farm’ which when delivered will
increase much needed supply and free up older space for new and younger
businesses.

2.3.4. Alternatives
The Councils’ added alternatives such as hotels, car parking and laboratory
investments to the Funds, acquiring long index linked income to strong
investment grade covenants. These sectors have recovered, and subject to
detailed risk management, will continue to present as attractive investment
opportunities.

The Councils should seek further alternative sector investments to diversify risk

148



across the Funds, meaning sites within Adur District and Worthing Borough and
the functional economic areas.

2.3.5. Fund Size
a) The overall Fund size of £125m per Council is relatively small within the
context of wider commercial property investment Funds, however due to the
risks presented by smaller Funds officers have sought to proactively ensure a
diverse portfolio composition and balanced approach.

b)This has proven resilient against increased volatility in the market and has
reduced the Council’s exposure by spreading risk across a number of assets,
lot sizes, sectors and geographical locations. Officers are acutely aware that
the portfolio will require reinvestment through a capital programme and Funds
will be set aside on a case by case basis for this.

2.3.5.1. There are currently no proposals to increase this Fund
size beyond £250m but that the Councils should move to
the overall Fund being determined with assets comprising
not more than £125m of debt per authority.

2.3.5.2. Due to the impact of changes to the PWLB lending
criteria, it is recommended that, following a review of
typical transactional opportunities within the functional
economic area, the average lot size be amended to £2m -
£25m. This also gives a broader scope to catch
opportunities not just for the SPIFs, but for sites that can
deliver other uses for the Councils’ objectives.

2.3.5.3. This will enable the Councils to operate in a window of
opportunity partly below that of typical institutional
investors (pension Funds and private equity) in order for
the Council to remain competitive in the market.

2.3.5.4. It is also anticipated that opportunities below this size are
not cost efficient from a transactional and resourcing
perspective and there will be limited opportunities above
this level in the boroughs.

2.3.5.5. This target average lot size should not restrict the Council
from seeking opportunities higher or lower than this
subject to the usual due diligence procedures.

149



2.3.5.6. Proposals to alter the average lot size will not change the
Council’s acquisition and risk management process other
than for redevelopment opportunities.

2.3.5.7. Where an acquisition presents as a value add and
opportunistic opportunity, or where there is a
repositioning, repurposing and redevelopment
opportunity, it is recommended that the acquisition
process have an additional requirement to produce a
detailed outline business case and appraisal for the
redevelopment prior to acquisition, and that a full
business case be required in order to release the Funds
for development.

2.3.5.8. This will enable the Councils to proactively seek more
opportunities in a restricted search area.

2.3.5.9. Officers will continue to evaluate opportunities both higher
and lower than the average lot size as well as assets
across the evaluation criteria to ensure that opportunities
of interest and benefit to the Councils are not unduly ruled
out.

2.3.6. Resources and Capacity

2.3.6.1. During 2023-24 the Property and Investment Team led
the asset management of this portfolio to support the
delivery of the CPIS.

2.3.6.2. Officers are supported on rent collection and service
charge management by outsourced day-to-day property
management of the portfolio. The Councils’ have
procured Savills, a FTSE250 RICS regulated property
firm with over 130 offices across the UK and 39,000
employees globally.

2.3.6.3. The Property and Investment team was expanded in 2020
with the recruitment of a Principal Surveyor but that staff
member and two others have left and a support officer
has been assigned elsewhere within the Council. Now
there are two Principal Surveyor vacancies and some
temporary shortfall in support capability. The SPIFs are
being asset-managed by the Property and Investment

150



Manager who has the appropriate experience and
qualifications.

2.3.6.4. The composition of the team is being altered to fit the new
demands of the Councils by focusing on active asset
management, focusing on income and resilience. In
practice this partly means a more commercial and end -to
end approach so that the team can generate income to
support council services and enable the delivery of
property assets outside the SPIFs and within the Borough
and District for the benefit of the community.

2.3.6.5. The Property and Investment Team will continue to
engage specialist consultants where required and
appropriate and subscriptions maintained for specialist
property software/data to ensure the Councils are well
informed in delivery of the CPIS.

2.3.6.6. The Property and Investment team will also continue to
maintain relevant CPD requirements for the RICS,
seeking to develop trainees and apprentices through their
Assessment of Professional Competence, and subject to
budget, for more senior officers to develop specialist skills
to supplement the service delivery.

2.4. Future Fund Direction and Update to Commercial Property Investment
Strategy

2.4.1. The current weighting of the portfolio into the varying asset classes has
improved in diversification from previous years as the Funds mature. It is
anticipated that this will continue although until the Fund is full it is to be
expected to have periods of imbalance whilst further properties are acquired or
repositioned. This activity must inevitably slow down given the restricted area of
acquisition, budget pressure and relative lack of Grade A investment property in
our areas.

2.4.2. It is recommended that through the production of the annual individual asset
plans, that officers continually review opportunities within the existing portfolio
to re-shape this accordingly in order to manage risk. This will be reviewed
against the individual asset performance and ensure that the portfolio has a
balanced asset mix representative of the core aims of the SPIF.

2.4.3. Due to the restrictions on PWLB Funding, officers can only consider
investments within the functional economic areas of the Council’s where there
are opportunities to enhance economic regeneration prospects, or maintain and

151



support economic recovery. This may mean the investment and delivery of new
employment space, or opportunities where Councils can add value to existing
assets through the Council covenant, perhaps by way of under-writing new
developments through forward Funding or head leases.

2.4.4. The Councils could consider expanding its investment into alternative asset
classes, including the purpose built residential sector i.e. student housing /
build-to-rent and temporary accommodation, healthcare, renewables and
educational investments.

2.4.5. Due to the specialist nature of some of the above investments, the Councils
should continue to review the need for alternative corporate delivery structures,
such as wholly owned companies, to ensure it is well placed to manage
localised risks with the above asset classes and the changing market.

2.4.6. Owing to market uncertainties and the accelerated decline of retail assets, it is
unlikely that the Funds will seek to meet their target percentage of retail stock. It
is recommended that the SPIF does not alter its current investment mix as a
target percentage but should remain flexible in a fluid and fluctuating market.
This will enable the Councils to remain competitive and agile particularly when
exploring investments that present strategic opportunities, in an area with
limited opportunity.

2.4.7. The Councils should also remain reactive to opportunities that present
themselves for additional Council benefit such as where there is the option for
site assembly with adjoining properties, longer term regeneration opportunities
or other potential windfall acquisitions.

2.4.8. Acquisitions should also be considered for portfolio acquisitions where the
investment opportunity meets the Council's KPI to invest but the Fund would
need to acquire a number of assets. This can potentially mean acquiring a
number of units as part of a single transaction, which may be considered to
exceed the average lot size for a single purchase, however individual lots are
likely to meet the average size requirements. This is a means to deploy capital
in a potentially more efficient manner that generates greater return and
opportunities for the Councils.

2.4.9. Councils continue to seek a mixture of ‘Core’, ‘Added Value’ and ‘Opportunistic’
acquisitions within our areas.

2.4.10. The team has carried out a Strategic Asset Review during 2023 which helped to
improve asset income and identify underperforming assets for potential
disposals. This will be complete by mid 2024.

152



2.5. Statutory Guidance

2.5.1. When investing in property, local authorities must comply with statutory
guidance. This includes two codes of practice (Treasury Management in the
Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes and The
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities) issued by the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), in addition to,
the Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG)
February 2018 publication, “Statutory Guidance on Local Authority Investment
Activity”. Copies of this guidance are attached to the CPIS 2019/20, for which
there is a link under background documents at the end of this report.

2.5.2. This statutory guidance on investment strategy includes requirements for
Councils to:

● Prepare an annual Investment Strategy which must be approved before
the start of the forthcoming financial year by full Council, or its closest
equivalent.

● Ideally present the strategy prior to the start of the financial year.

● Ensure the strategy is publicly available on a local authority’s website,

● Disclose the contribution that all other investments make towards the
service delivery objectives and/or place making role of that local
authority.

● Include quantitative indicators within the strategy, that allow Councillors
and the public to assess a local authority’s total risk exposure as a result
of its investment decisions. This should include how investments are
Funded and the rate of return.

2.5.3. The investment strategy must include:

● Details of the processes used to ensure effective due diligence, defining
the authority’s risk appetite, including proportionality in respect of overall
resources.

● Qualify independent and expert advice and scrutiny arrangements.

● Disclose the contribution that investments make “towards the service
delivery objectives and/or place making role of the local authority”.

● Propose indicators that enable Councillors and the public to assess the
authority’s investments and the decisions taken.

153



2.5.4. The investment guidance is clear that Councils may not “borrow in advance of
need” to profit from the investment of the sums borrowed. The definition of
investment has recently been extended to include investment in property and
the granting of loans to third parties.

2.5.5. In recognition of the importance of commercial income to Councils at a time
when Central Government Funding is steeply declining, a Council can choose
to disregard the Prudential Code and this part of the guidance. In this case, its
investment strategy should set out why this is the case and what the Council’s
relevant policies are.

2.5.6. The implications of the guidance are that the Councils will need to have at least
one Investment Strategy (“the Strategy”) that meets all the disclosures and
reporting requirements specified in the statutory guidance.

2.5.7. For Adur District and Worthing Borough Councils, there will be two separate
elements to the strategy:

● Annual treasury management investment strategy which covers all cash
investments.

● Annual SPIF and CPIS covers the Councils’ approach to commercial
property investment.

2.5.8. The annual Treasury Management Investment Strategy 2024/25 to 2026/27 has
already been approved by the Councils in February 2024. This Treasury
Management Investment Strategy and the Commercial Property Investment
Strategy 2022/23, which is attached as Appendix 1, provide evaluation criteria
for the assessment of investment opportunities, risk profiling, evaluation,
resourcing and monitoring, accounting for the statutory guidance.

2.6. Investment Evaluation Process

2.6.1. Prospective investment opportunities are reported by suitably qualified and
experienced in-house FRICS/MRICS (Fellow/Member of the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors) professionals, in a risk matrix as Appendix 2. This risk
matrix provides analysis of a set of key investment criteria against which every
prospective purchase is evaluated. The presentation of information highlights
fundamental matters such as macro/micro location economics, tenant covenant
strength, lease length, building quality and alternative uses in a transparent and
consistent format, to support clear scrutiny and decisions.

2.6.2. The risk matrix provides a basis for scoring and weighting risk, to support the
analysis of potential acquisitions and qualify overall suitability for inclusion in
the wider portfolio. A minimum score threshold is set, below which it is not

154



recommended to proceed unless there are significant factors that require
consideration, to include additional regeneration opportunities for the Council,
land assembly opportunities or other circumstances that can be suitably
justified from a social and environmental perspective.

2.6.3. The score threshold is not an absolute, but set to guide decisions, reflecting the
Fund structure objectives, as detailed in the CPIS (Appendix 1), which assumes
a low risk profile. The process is further supported by the inclusion of a
Strength, Weakness, Opportunities, and Threats analysis (SWOT).

2.6.4. To ensure arms-length objectivity and scrutiny, external agents and consultants
provide professional market analysis, specialist data and advice, to support the
evaluation and internal reporting process. The risk matrix and SWOT analysis is
undertaken by the Councils retained external agent and consultants, with officer
input and scrutiny.

2.6.5. Tenant default is a significant threat to performance. This risk has previously
been reviewed through undertaking in-house reports such as CreditSafe and/or
Dun and Bradstreet, with further internal scrutiny from the in-house financial
team. Where proportionate, it is recommended that this process is furthered to
include third party advice from an accountant to provide an in-depth analysis of
a tenants financial health, business operations and future performance.

2.6.6. Where value-add or opportunistic acquisitions are identified, an additional
outline business and financial case will be prepared and shared at Stage 2
below and shared in Stage 4 as part of the relevant consultation process.

2.6.7. If a decision is made to proceed, in-house surveyors lead negotiations, via the
introducing/retained external agents, who are professional property firms with
relevant market specialism and RICS regulated.

2.6.8. To ensure independent and expert advice and scrutiny, all pre-sale technical
due diligence is undertaken by arms-length external professional advisors,
including as required:

● A valuation, in accordance with the RICS Red Book, Professional
Valuation Standards, issued by the RICS as part of their commitment to
promoting and supporting high standards in valuation delivery worldwide.
The publication details mandatory practices for RICS members
undertaking valuation services.

● A Building Survey report, as part of the proposed purchase for investment
purposes, including preparation of a Reinstatement Cost Assessment for
insurance purposes.

155



● Environmental, services and any further surveys/technical due diligence
required to qualify the investment.

● Specialist investment market advice, including, as required, occupational
market context and financial modelling to qualify and forecast prospective
investment performance.

2.6.9. The above is reviewed by the Property and Investment Manager as an
experienced in-house FRICS (Fellow of the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors) professional, with support from the internal multi-disciplinary
property teams, for final decision by the Head of Investment and Major Projects,
on whether to proceed.

2.6.10. The professional team including the Head of Major Projects and Investment
receives regular updates on market activity, trends, forecasts and occupier
activity from RICS firms and in-house surveyors to support the decision
process. In addition, it is also recommended that all members and officers
involved in the decision process are provided with annual updates on the
commercial investment market, including occupier activity and trends and
maintain up to date qualifications and continuing professional development.

2.6.11. A separate paper will be presented at an appropriate date, detailing a proposal
for a disposals strategy if required, as part of the whole Fund annual review
after the year end.

2.6.12. This will present opportunities for capital generation for projects but also to
reduce the debt levels across the investment portfolio as the Councils seek to
include equity into the investment process, leading to better overall returns.

2.7. Property Investment Governance

2.7.1. Clear, robust and transparent governance is critical to the strategy, meeting the
statutory guidance and ensuring an appropriate level of due diligence and
scrutiny is applied, together with objective arms-length external advice where
appropriate. It is also important to ensure any decision process retains fluidity,
so officers are empowered to respond promptly and competitively, to investment
opportunities in the market and avoid missing opportunities through delay.

2.7.2. The current Scheme of Delegations provides that the authority to acquire or
dispose of land, is vested in the Head of Major Projects and Investment, and
where the asset is purchased through the SPIF, the delegation is only
exercisable in consultation with the relevant Leader, Executive Member for
Resources and the Chief Financial Officer.

156



2.7.3. It is proposed that a formalised staged governance approach is adopted in
relation to SPIF purchases, as follows:

Stage 1
Officers identify suitable opportunities in the market, having undertaken
appropriate investigative and due diligence assessment, in accordance
with the above “Investment Evaluation Process”.

Stage 2
The opportunity is reported in writing, with all supporting information as
detailed in the “Investment Evaluation Process”, to the Head of Major
Projects and Investment, in consultation with the Chief Financial
Officer/s151 officer, notifying the Head of Legal Services, Director for the
Economy and Chief Executive.

The report will include:

● A risk matrix and SWOT analysis

● A financial appraisal

● An outline business case where the opportunity is a ‘value add’ or
‘opportunistic’ and likely to require additional capital expenditure

● A summary of the investment, including a request for authority to bind
the Council to a range of terms and indicating an acceptable price
point for the acquisition.

● A consideration of any tenant, use or asset from an Environmental,
Social and Governance perspective

If the proposal is supported, the potential acquisition will progress to Stage
3.

Stage 3
The Property and Investment Team will progress negotiations, with the
retained external agent, seeking to formally agree Heads of Terms with the
vendor, including price and basis/terms of acquisition. If negotiations lead
to the agreement of acceptable terms, final approval to proceed will be
sought in accordance with Stage 4.

Stage 4
A recommendation will be reported in writing to the Assistant Director for

157



Regenerative Development. In making any decision to purchase, the
Assistant Director for Regenerative Development will carry out a
consultation, as provided for in the Scheme of Officer Delegations, with the
relevant Council Leader, Executive Member for Resources and Chief
Financial Officer.

The relevant Council for any acquisition will be determined, applying the
principles in the Investment Strategy (Appendix 1) in relation to financial
resilience and risk diversification requirements, to support the development
of balanced portfolios.

Subject to approval, written authority to proceed, will be provided by the
Assistant Director for Regenerative Development to the Property and
Investment Manager, who will then seek to acquire the asset, which will be
subject to an external Red Book valuation, building and other necessary
surveys and legal reports and conveyancing, providing satisfactory
pre-acquisition due diligence.

A decision notice will be completed and published in accordance with the
Officer Decision Making Protocol, and such decisions will be subject to the
call-in provisions.

Stage 5
Completed purchases will be reported as part of the Annual Review, or
through the following year’s Commercial Property Investment Strategy to
JSC.

2.8. Risk Management

2.8.1. Property investment will necessitate exposure to risk. Risk is in effect two fold -
specific risks, arising from the nature of particular assets, or systemic risks - risk
that are Fundamental to the investment market and reliance upon property
investments for commercial returns.

2.8.2. Financial risk is notably evident whereby the total invested can exceed the
current Market Value. Prices are prone to fluctuation, particularly due to
changes in the locality, the general economic outlook, or asset specific risks,
such as tenant failure. Furthermore, property investment is relatively illiquid,
requiring a longer term approach. In the event of a market crash, property is
much less liquid than other assets and can be hard to sell and may present risk
to income and servicing of debt requirements.

158



2.8.3. The Councils’ exposure to risk equates to the total amount of capital invested,
plus financing costs (such as interest due on loans), property operational
running costs (management, vacant business rates, service charges,
professional fees etc.) and legislative compliance. The Councils’ risk quantum
will be defined as this total exposure, less the value of held assets.

2.8.4. Whilst risk is a natural, necessary, part of investment that cannot be eliminated,
it can be proactively managed.

2.8.5. Larger investment Funds have greater overall exposure but tend to be better
insulated to market fluctuations where they comprise a diverse mix of strong
performing assets.

2.8.6. The SPIF is built upon a series of conventional measures to manage risk,
reflecting the key objective:

“To adopt a structured and measured approach to property income
generation, pro-actively managing the risk inherent to investment,
creating a balanced portfolio delivering long term sustainable income,
for the purpose of supporting the continued provision of Council
Services.”

2.8.7. The CPIS (Appendix 1) objectives and Fund policy build upon this key
objective, providing a series of controls to direct the investment strategy
towards a prudent low risk Fund with a cautious perspective on investment,
limiting exposure to unnecessary capital risk, whilst generating a return.

2.8.8. In reviewing this strategy, the investment direction has been expanded to
include value add and opportunistic investments, where within the functional
economic area, additional value can be quantified through social, economic or
environmental benefit to the Councils’ objectives.

2.8.9. Financing property investments has typically been based upon utilising
reserves, capital receipts and borrowing. Borrowing is currently available with
fixed interest for the duration of any loan, (albeit subject to much more stringent
criteria than previous) via the PWLB Funding, mitigating the risk associated with
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

2.8.10. The Minimum Revenue Provision Policy (part of the treasury management
strategy statement) details the Council’s position and deals with the Minimum
Revenue Provision (MRP) that must be made to mitigate that risk. The MRP is
the amount the Councils must set aside each year from the annual revenue
budget for the repayment of debt.

159



2.8.11. The CPIS (Appendix 1) details a series of measures to guide decisions, based
around spreading capital across a variety of asset classes, locations and
sectors. This diversification reduces the risks of exposure to a single asset,
tenant, or sector failure.

2.8.12. Funds that are excessively concentrated in one particular sector or region
increase risk, whilst a good spread of properties across asset classes, diversify
systematic risk and varying the locality, reduces local market risk.

2.8.13. As a result of re-focusing investment within the functional economic area, the
Council’s risk profile to local market risk will be increased due to the reduction
in geographical spread of investments and higher allocation to our functional
economic area. However, where investments are local, the Council is able to
take a longer term view with regards to future growth and opportunities,
specifically where an assets current use is facing economic, physical or
functional obsolescence and requires regeneration, economic support and
placemaking more generally.

2.8.14. The average property size was typically a measure to ensure the Fund does not
only hold a very small number of large properties, which increases risk, such as
a single large tenant failing whilst maintaining an efficiency of management.
Whilst the Funds have historically moved to increase the Fund size, targeting
larger lot sizes in order to maintain the same level of net return to the Council,
officers feel that due to the locational restrictions on lending and typical lot size
for prospective assets within our economic functional area, the average lot size
should be adjusted to between £2m - £10m but with scope to increase to over
£20m for exceptional opportunities.

2.8.15. Investments should still focus on a diverse mix of single and multi let tenanted
properties to spread the income security.

2.8.16. The Council’s exposure to investment risk can also be profiled by defining the
acceptable parameters. The CPIS (Appendix 1) Fund Structure details a series
of different segments that provide a basis for dividing commercial property
investments, based upon their position at differing points on the risk versus
return spectrum.

2.8.17. The ability to vary the distribution of purchases between each of the above
three categories, is a common portfolio investment tool. This provides flexibility
to respond fluidly to opportunities and changes in the economy, market climate
and differing performance across asset classes, as the Fund evolves. Such
agility is key to maximising operational efficiencies and opportunities will
continue to be evaluated on a case by case basis.

160



2.8.18. This portfolio profile has favoured acquiring premises leased to strong covenant
tenants in established markets, which are typically more attractive to investors,
thus easier to sell if required, when compared to higher risk investments which
attract a different type of investor. If the portfolio expands into the value add and
opportunistic spheres, investments will become less liquid so a greater level of
scrutiny would be required through the business cases for individual
opportunities to ensure proposals are financially robust and can be delivered
within an appropriate timeframe. This is why officers have updated the
acquisition process and further reporting to ensure that a robust risk
management process is in place.

2.8.19. Officers have sought to ensure the Councils’ robust risk management
procedures are fit for purpose, in particular as a result of the ‘stress test’ applied
to the portfolio as a result of the Covid-19 Pandemic. Whilst it is clear that the
impact of the pandemic will continue to be felt and markets will flex and change
to meet this, it is important that the Councils continue to adjust their risk
management procedures in order to respond to this.

2.9. Annual Performance Monitoring

2.9.1. Active management of the portfolio is key to proactively maintain the buildings
to maximise value, monitor occupiers and capitalise in favourable market
conditions which maximise capital receipts. Tenant covenant strength,
compliance with lease obligations, such as repair and maintenance,
management of the payment of rent and service charge needs to be actively
managed. External managing agents (Savills) have been appointed and the
portfolio is cliented by the Councils’ in-house surveyor, a FRICS qualified
professional with experience in institutional level commercial property
investments.

2.9.2. Additional recommendations within last year's report were to expand the
investment management Fund reporting to include total return outputs to
measure the income and capital return from portfolio at inception to each future
financial year showing accumulative and annual performance. In the event
Officers have altered and enhanced the reporting tools for Members given we
are income driven and focusing on that metric, i e actual cash returns.

2.9.3. Officers are instead working up appropriate metrics for the different types of
investments arranged in ‘Tiers’. This means a focus on reporting for the SPIFs,
the second tier investments, then to community assets, as a more measured
and appropriate basis of reporting and ultimately resource allocation for
different property classes.

2.10. Corporate Implications

161



2.10.1. If the Councils had not taken the decision to invest, this would have led to an
overall reduction in the capacity of the Councils to deliver, with cuts in services,
particularly those we are not under a statutory duty to deliver.

2.10.2. The capital value and income from the Funds assets will go down as well as up.
There is no guarantee that the Fund will achieve its objectives and Council
returns less than originally invested.

2.10.3. The additional income delivered from SPIF investments has contributed to the
delivery of the Revenue Budget for 2023/24 and is a core element of future
budgets. It supports the delivery of the budget strategy, helping to manage
pressures arising in-year due to unforeseen circumstances.

2.10.4. As part of this initiative, the Councils will inevitably be taking on more risk.
Consequently, a robust risk management strategy has been adopted to cover
both acquiring property and managing the portfolio for the future, to ensure that
there is sufficient revenue income, to repay the debts the Councils are acquiring
and to continue to contribute to the Councils’ financial health.

3. Engagement and Communication

3.1. This report builds upon the previous CPIS 2020-21, taken to JSC in March
2020.

3.2. Consultations have taken place with legal and finance and their comments are
contained within.

4. Financial Implications

4.1. The Councils have, over the past few years, addressed significant budget
shortfalls. The investment in commercial property has enabled the Councils to
protect front line services, address falling income from Central Government
grant Funding, and increase the level of spend in areas such as housing need
through generating net additional income.

4.2. Looking ahead, this investment continues to be an important strand of the
budget strategy, helping balance the budget as the Councils continue to
address significant financial challenges.

4.3. The Councils approved an overall investment of £125m per Council which was
has been spent or allocated as follows:

162



Adur Worthing

£'000 £'000

2016/17 Actual 0 0

2017/18 Actual 11,579 0

2018/19 Actual 26,532 26,697

2019/20 Actual 44,298 45,047

2020/21 Actual 0 0

2021/22 Actual 0 0

2022/2023 Actual 0 22,483

2023/2024 Actual

- Allocated to projects 0 0

- Unallocated 43,488 3,075

Virements to other invest to save schemes outside SPIF 0 28,771

Total investments 125,897 126,073

*Figures include purchase costs

4.4. The Executive Member for Resources can approve an accelerated spend in
any given year subject to the provision of a business case to justify a higher
level of spend.

4.5. It is recommended where possible the Councils continue to seek to retain an
average of 20% of the rental income towards future expenditure on repairs,
refurbishment, lettings incentives, and void periods. To achieve this the Council
has three measures in place:

i) A regular contribution to earmarked reserves is budgeted with the
intention of building a balance that equates to 10 - 20% of annual rental
income over 5-10 years;

ii) Any over-achievement against the commercial income budget set will be
placed into earmarked reserves at the year end where affordable within
the overall outturn position for the council;

iii) Where commercial properties are disposed of, all the surplus income in
excess of any associated debt and the original purchase price, will be
placed into a specific reserve for future capital investment requirements.
In the short term, this reflects the need to build reserves to support the
management of risks associated with the portfolios. In the medium term,
it is envisaged these Funds could also be released for reinvestment into

163



the portfolios.

4.6. Currently the annual provision for the management of voids and future
maintenance is £750k for Adur and £550k for Worthing, and it is intended to
increase this provision by at least £100k per annum until the 20% annual set
aside has been reached. For 2024/25 the annual provision will be:

● Adur £850,000
● Worthing £650,000

The earmarked property risk reserve balances as at 31st March 2023 were
£375k in Adur and £450k in Worthing. The first call on the provision is to
mitigate any in year income shortfalls due to void or rent free periods and
expenditure required on the properties. Thereafter a transfer to reserves is
only possible if affordable within the overall outturn for the council.

Finance Officer: Emma Date:16/02/2024

Legal Implications

4.7. S.111 Local Government Act 1972 provides Councils with the power to do
anything (whether or not involving the expenditure, borrowing or lending of
money or the acquisition or disposal of any property or rights) which is
calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of
their functions.”

4.8. Section 120 (1) Local Government Act 1972 provides the Council with the
power to acquire land, whether inside their area or not, for the benefit,
improvement or development of their area. Section 1 Local Government Act
2003 enables the Councils to borrow money for the purpose of the prudent
management of its financial affairs. Section 12 Local Government Act 2003
empowers the Councils to invest for the purposes of the prudent management
of its financial affairs.

4.9. s.1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides the Councils with the general power of
competence to do anything that an individual may do.

4.10. The Scheme of Officer Delegations includes the following delegation to the
Head of Major Projects and Investment at paragraph 3.13.2: “To acquire land in
connection with the Council’s functions and to take leases, easements, licences
and wayleaves of, in, or over buildings or land in connection with the Council’s
functions. (Where acquisition of land is purchased through the Strategic
Investment Fund, the delegation is to be exercised in consultation with the
Leader, Executive Member for Resources and the Chief Financial Officer).

164



4.11. The Officer Decision Making Protocol in each Council’s Constitution provides a
procedure for giving notice of key decisions, Officer Decision making, the
publication of Decision Notices, and the procedure for Call-In of such decisions.

4.12. Any decisions made to acquire under the Strategic Investment Strategy are
subject to scrutiny by the Council’s Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee in
accordance with the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in each
Council’s Constitutions.

Legal Officer: Caroline Perry Date: 12th March 2024

Background Papers
● March 2020 JSC report

○ Strategic Property investment Fund 2020 (SPIF)

○ The Commercial Property Investment Strategy (CPIS 2020-2021) ●
Platforms for our places

● Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) February
2018 publication Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of
Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes

● The Prudential Code for Capital Finances In Local Authorities ● The Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy: Prudential Property Investment

● National Audit Office: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government
Local authority investment in commercial property

● Costar Insight - Local Authority Investment

165



Sustainability & Risk Assessment

1. Economic
● This proposal continues the implementation of the Council’s capital and Medium Term

Financial Strategy to generate additional revenue for the Funding of Council services.

2. Social

2.1 Social Value
● Matter Considered, no issues identified.

2.2 Equality Issues
● Matter Considered, no issues identified.

2.3 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)
● Matter Considered, no issues identified.

2.4 Human Rights Issues
● Matter Considered, no issues identified.

3. Environmental
● Matter Considered, no issues identified.

4. Governance
● This aligns with the Council’s capital strategy. Investment in good quality commercial

property to produce additional revenue is part of a combined strategy in the Councils’
approved budget strategy.

166



Appendix

1 Commercial Property

Investment Strategy:

THE COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY INVESTMENT

STRATEGY 2023-2024
(written 2015)

Contents

1. Objectives

2. Fund Policy

3. Financial Resilience

4. Fund Structure

5. Purchase Guidelines

6. Reviews

7. Asset Management Functions

167



The Property Investment Strategy

Objectives

The key objective:-

“To adopt a structured and measured approach to property income
generation, pro-actively managing the risk inherent to investment,
creating a balanced portfolio delivering long term sustainable
income, for the purpose of supporting the continued provision of
Council Services.”

This key objective will be delivered through the application of the following
principles: -

● To invest in commercial or other property to generate a sustainable
income, or capital receipt, with clear margins exceeding the cost of
capital and borrowing.

● To build financial resilience through the creation of a diverse portfolio to
balance risk and return.

● To acquire established commercial properties within the Boroughs
generating an immediate stable income and preserve capital
(notwithstanding market changes).

● Supporting economic growth within Worthing and Adur, where suitable
opportunities arise, provided the return covers the costs of an associated
financing but lower returns or greater risk can be justified.

● Re-evaluate the existing property portfolio to maximise the financial
benefit.

● Retain the existing properties, as appropriate to maximise long term
revenue generation.

Fund Policy

● Retain existing assets as appropriate, to generate income, investing to
enhance returns.

● Review the possibility of alternative uses for in Borough property where
alternative user need is identified.

● Review the benefits of an investment vehicle, such as a holding
company, to retain acquired assets.

● Capital receipts from the sale of Strategic Property Investment Fund
(SPIF), or other Council properties, to be considered for: 

168



● Reinvestment in SPIF, to sustain income generation and maximise
opportunities.

● Repayment of capital borrowing to improve the return on existing
assets.

● Allocation of new purchases or disinvestment between the Adur and
Worthing portfolios, to be recommended in consideration of Fund
diversification risk management.

● We will not engage with occupiers who may present a significant
unmitigated reputational risk.

The Property Investment Strategy
Financial Resilience

We will always undertake thorough due diligence to ensure risks associated
with any proposed acquisition are understood and mitigated.

The following table details a series of guiding principles, employing
conventional measures that are intended to assist decisions to create a
balanced portfolio, by providing a basis to manage risk through
diversification.

Risk Diversification

Geographical Diversification

Maximum of 30% of
the Target Fund size is
invested in any single
town, except for in
borough investments
with a social, economic
or environmental
benefit.

The initial Funds, were
concentrated on outer London
and the wider South East
area, but restrictions to PWLB
Funding mean that this
investment is now within The
Functional Economic Area or
in Boroughs only.

Industrial/Warehouses
25%

To ensure a spread of risks,
acquisition across sectors
shown. As the Fund grows,
the portfolios will be heavily
weighted into certain sectors
and classes, driven by
opportunities and market
performance. It is expected
weightings will progress
towards targets as the
portfolio matures in the
medium term. The Fund has

Asset Class/Sector Mix Offices 35%

Retail 15%

Alternatives 25% (e.g.
car parking, leisure,
quasi retail spaces)

169



avoided large scale retail, but
where food retail
opportunities or those with
value add or opportunistic
opportunities, this level has
been retained. 

Average Property Size Guide Size c.£2-20m

This provides flexibility for the
Councils to operate in an
optimal place in the market,
tailored to the extent of
competition and likely asset
availability within the
functional economic
area/boroughs. Acquisitions
outside the guide sizes will be
considered where they offer a
good return, support diversity
and do not create over
exposure to a large single
tenant/asset but also facilitate
larger multi-let properties or
strategic purchases.

Leases Expiring within 5
years

Maximum 30% Spread and diversity sought in
future lease expiries across
acquisitions to protect revenue
streams unless value add or
opportunistic acquisitions.

Target Return A return exceeding the
cost of borrowing

Initial return exceeding the
cost of borrowing, preferably
by 2%. Lower returns
considered if there is a viable
business case/portfolio fit or
for lower risk investments but
not lower than 1%.

Target Fund Size £250M

In order to make a meaningful
contribution to the financial
challenge, the Councils has
agreed to build a portfolio that
will generate an initial yield of
at least 5%. 

Capital Expenditure
Allowance 20% of the rental

income

Held in a Fund to support
future management and
capital expenditure for the
portfolio, such as voids,
maintenance and/or
refurbishment. Surplus
income will be set aside into a
revenue account and capacity
within the annual revenue

170



budget to support this will be
built over the next 3 financial
years, notwithstanding
unforeseen stress tests such
as Covid-19

It is important to acknowledge that the above principles are ongoing long term
objectives and attaining balance will progress as the Fund matures

The Property Investment Strategy

1. Fund Structure

Commercial property investments can be divided into different
segments, based upon their position at differing points on the risk v
return spectrum.

These segments can be defined as follows: -

Core investments: - comprise the bedrock of a diversified portfolio and
present minimum risk, being the least risky investment segment.
Typically they comprise fully leased, secure investments to strong
covenant tenants, in urban locations/markets that tend towards strong
demand.

Attractive for the lower level of risk they provide compared to other
investment types, which is reflected in the lower yield when compared
to riskier property investments.

Typical property characteristics: -

● subject to long leases to strong covenant tenants on fully repairing terms.
● buildings are typically modern, in good repair and condition.

171



● the buildings have reduced depreciation and obsolescence,
providing a stable relatively predictable income.

This type of investment suits investors who seek capital preservation
and long hold periods. This type of investment is typically the most
liquid, on the basis they are generally attractive, marketable assets
when compared to the following segments.

Added Value: - More risky investments reflected in the potential for
higher return by increasing property value.

Typical Property Characteristics: -

● single let, or multi let, with varying tenant covenants
● Opportunities to improve buildings.
● Fairly liquid in a stable market.

Potentially vacant, partially vacant, or close to lease expiries, creating
opportunities to make improvements.

Opportunities to increase value could include physical improvements, such as
refurbishment, or re-development, letting vacant space to stronger covenant
tenants on more investor attractive terms, lowering operating expenses.

These properties carry more risk due to the property not operating to its full
potential when acquired, commonly with less secure income. If the business
plan to increase value does not succeed, a tenant fails, or vacates, there is
potential for reduced return, or losses.

Opportunistic: - similar approach to value add, with additional risk due to
property typically requiring substantive work to increase value.

Typical property characteristics: -

● Part or fully vacant when acquired.
● No income when acquired, with ongoing vacant running costs.
● Typically distressed property, requiring substantial investment.
● These properties are considered high risk, with failure of a business plan typically

resulting in financial losses.

The following guideline Fund Structure is the basis of investment, adopting a
prudent, income focused, strategy: -

%

Core
65% 
(+/- 10%)

Modern, or extensively refurbished buildings, fully let on
long leases to good covenant tenants in major core
markets.

Value Add Max 25% 

(+/- 10%)

Single or multi-let buildings, with various lease lengths
and tenant covenants. Opportunity to add value.

172



Opportunistic Max 10% can be repurposed to generate income.

173



The Property Investment Strategy
Purchase Guidelines

● Target area Adur and Worthing municipal and functional economic areas.

● Commercial real estate.

● Freehold, or long leasehold nominal rent purchases. Forward Funding,
income strips and other financial models considered subject to individual
business cases.

● Income producing properties, leased on conventional terms, secured
against good covenant tenants.

● Value Add and Opportunistic acquisitions to have an outline business
case and clearly identify economic social or environmental value added if
returns do not meet the benchmarks above.

Property Investment Strategy – Property Investment Portfolio
Management

Reviews

To monitor performance and ensure proactive risk and opportunity
management, a Quarterly review will consider:

● An update of quarterly rent performance, service charge, voids and
insurance collection and arrears position.

● A review of retain, sale, repurpose or re-gear of each asset following on
from the individual asset plan.

● Bi-annual valuations of the assets to look at portfolio total return.

● Advise on all critical lease matters including rent reviews, lease renewals,
lease breaks and re- gearing opportunities. 

● Upcoming cash flow issues and reactive asset management requirements,
risk reporting from these.

● Tenant compliance with lease terms and any default, or issue.

An Annual review will consider:

● Market update on activity and forecasts to identify any re-purposing of any
asset(s).

● Ongoing review of the current investment strategy.

174



● An external market valuation of the portfolio to monitor and benchmark
performance, meeting financial requirements.

● An updated three -year cash flow forecast and capital expenditure
forecast.

● An update or review of individual asset plans.

● A review of retain, sale, repurpose or re-gear of each asset.

● Review of the previous year’s performance incl. any (Key Performance
Indicators) KPIs.

● Review of the underlying lifecycle of the asset, holding period and
refurbishment expectations.

● Rent collection rates, arrears and service charge reconciliation.

● Advise on all critical lease matters including rent reviews, lease renewals,
lease breaks and re- gearing opportunities.

● Dilapidations, health and safety and insurance claims.

● Capital expenditure over the preceding 12-month period.

● Tenant covenant strength monitoring report.

● Tenant compliance with lease terms and any default, or issue.

Asset Management Functions

● Rent collection rates, arrears and service charge reconciliation.

● Advise on all critical lease matters including rent reviews, lease renewals,
lease breaks and re- gearing opportunities.

● Driving asset management initiatives and delivering on asset
management plans.

● Dilapidations, health and safety and insurance claims.

● Void and re-letting management.

● Capital expenditure over the preceding 12-month period.

● Tenant covenant strength monitoring report.

● Tenant compliance with lease terms and any default, or issue.

175



Appendix 2 
Risk Matrix and SWOT example:

Property

Name/Location:

Vendor:

Tenure:

Category:

Price:

Rent per annum:

Rent Free:

Initial Yield:

VAT Election:

EPC:

Net Return After
Borrowing

Criteria Criteria Description Comments Weighting

Weighted
Property
Score

Excellent

Good Acceptable Margina
l

Poo
r

LOCATION

Location: Macro

Quality of the
location (town, city,
area) with regard to
the property use

 

3 0

Location: Micro

Quality of the
individual situation
of the property
within the macro
location, with regard
to the property use

3 0

Building Quality

Quality of the
building compared to
the Industry standard
Grade A for the
property type

3 0

OCCUPANCY

Tenant Covenant

Ability of the
tenant/s to pay the
rent for the duration
of the lease. Credit
rating of the tenant

3 0

Tenure

Freehold / Long
Leasehold.
Consideration of any
ground rent
obligations

2 0

Lease Term Length of the
secured income.

3 0

Lease Structure

Tenant repairing
obligations, rent
review mechanisms 3 0

Rental Growth Prospects
Opportunity /
Likelihood to
increase passing
rent/ ERV

3 0

176



Occupational Demand

Anticipated level of
demand from
alternative occupiers
if the tenant/s were
to vacate

3 0

STRATEGY

Management Intensity

Complexity and cost
of managing the
property 2 0

Liquidity/Exit Strategy

The degree to which
the property can be
quickly sold in the
market without
affecting the price.
Please provide
specific commentary
on exit strategy.

2 0

Alternative Use /
Underlying Value

The value of the land
and the opportunity
to explore a change
of
use should this be

required 

2 0

Asset
Management
Opportunities

Opportunities to add
value to the
property 1 0

Financial Return (risk v
reward)

The forecast gross

financial return

considering the risk

profile of the

property and in

accordance with the

sector with a focus

upon income v

capital values at

lease expiry

4 0

Portfolio Strategy
Context

The extent to which
the property meets
the strategy and
contributes to the
achievement of a
diversified portfolio 3 0

Weighted Score

A property will be
expected to score at least
140 out of 200 (70%) on
the above matrix unless
there are other economic /
wider benefits to be
delivered. 

0

Investment Decision Guide for filling in matrix

example considerations

Criteria Criteria Description
Maximum Weighted

Score Excellent Good Acceptable Marginal Poor

Scoring numerically between 1 and 5 as detailed in this guide

SCORE TO APPLY TO EACH COLUMN 5 4 3 2 1

Shading denotes client to fill in

SCORING GUIDE SCORING CONTROLS

Portfolio Strategy
Context

The extent to which
the property meets
the strategy and
contributes to the

15

Under-
represented
sector

Sector already
heavily represented

177



achievement of a
diversified portfolio

Location: Macro
Quality of the
location (town, city,
area) with regard to
the property use

15 Major Prime Prime
Major

Secondary
Micro

Secondary Tertiary

Location: Micro

Quality of the
individual situation
of the property
within the macro
location, with
regard to the
property use

15

Excellent
transport /
footfall

cation with limited
benefit

Tenant Covenant

Ability of the
tenant/s to pay the
rent for the duration
of the lease. Credit
rating of the tenant

15

Excellent
financial
covenant

Strong
financial
covenant

Good
financial
covenant

Poor but
improving
covenant

Poor financial
covenant

Building Quality

Quality of the
building compared to
the Industry
standard Grade A for
the property type

15

New, modern
or recently
refurbished

Good quality-
no spend
required for 20
years+

Good quality
but spend
required in 10
years

Spend
required in 5
years

Tired / Significant
spend CapEx likely

Lease Term Length of the secured
income.

15
reater than 15
years

Between 10
and 15 years

Between 6
and 10 years

Between 2
and 5 years

Under 2 years /
vacant

Lease Structure
Tenant repairing
obligations, rent
review mechanisms

15
Full repairing
and insuring

Full repairing
and insuring-
partially
recoverable

Internal
repairing

Internal
repairing-
partially
recoverable

Landlord
responsible

Rental Growth
Prospects

Opportunity /
Likelihood to
increase passing rent

15

Fixed uplifts at
frequent
intervals

Significantly
over-rented (tenant
paying
above the

Occupational Demand

Anticipated level of
demand from
alternative occupiers
if the tenant/s were
to vacate

15

In demand
from many
tenants

Reasonable
prospect of
securing new
tenants

Niche with limited
demand

Management Intensity
Complexity and cost
of managing the
property

10
Single
Tenant

Multiple
Tenants

Liquidity

The degree to which
the property can be
quickly sold in the
market without
affecting the price

10

Lot size & sector
attractive to
investors

Attractive to niche
purchasers only

Alternative
Use /
Underlying
Value

The value of the land
and the opportunity
to explore a change
of use should this be
required

10

Favourable
location /
planning

No  opportunity to
change use

Tenure

Freehold / Long
Leasehold.
Consideration of any
ground rent
obligations

10 Freehold

Long Leasehold
125 years +
/ peppercorn
ground rent

Lease

between 100
and 125 years
/ peppercorn
ground rent

Lease
between 50
and 100 years

Less than 50 years
and/or high ground
rent (10%+)

Asset
Management
Opportunities

Opportunities to add
value to the property

5

Significant
opportunity to
add value

No
opportunity

178



Financial Return (risk v
reward)

The forecast gross
financial return
considering the risk
profile of the property
and in accordance
with the sector.

20

Return higher
than expected
for sector / the
risk profile

Return lower than
expected for sector
/ risk profile

Weighted Score 20
0

A property will be expected to score at least 140 out of 200 (70%) on
the above matrix unless there are other economic / wider benefits to be delivered within or to the county.

Strengths Weaknesses 

Opportunities Threats

179



This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Audit and Governance Committee
21st March 2024

Key Decision [No]

Ward(s) Affected:

Creating a positive complaints culture: a new code for complaints handling

Report by the Tracey Strutt-Head of Resident Services

Executive Summary

1. Purpose

1.1. This report informs Members about two new complaint handling
codes:

1.1.1. Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code (HOCHC)
which becomes statutory from the 1st April 2024 and
addresses the issues of complaint handling for housing
providers, and the

1.1.2. Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Code (LG &
SCO Code), which local councils are encouraged to adopt as
soon as possible across all of their services.

1.2. The report sets out the purpose of these aligned codes of creating a
more positive complaints culture, process and governance.

1.3. The report sets out one of the key requirements of the HOCHC to
appoint a Member Responsible for Complaints (MRC) and asks
Members of this committee to note that these roles will be the
Cabinet Members for: Housing and Citizen Services (Worthing

181

Agenda Item 12

https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6558/Complaints-Handling-Code-F-form.pdf?utm_medium=email&_hsmi=294265957&_hsenc=p2ANqtz-_TnfqkDwCBnHRXfNq-jOAlAvzG-RS5ZEmLvppo3jsTSQAh8Mbo6ZIPWwz_tGea7uHw66HsWp35OnNmAJyjzcnVxZ3GsZ8vfyBdy8Tw7Sc6dYyYLHg&utm_content=294265957&utm_source=hs_email


Borough Council) and Adur Homes and Customer Services (Adur
District Council)

1.4. Whilst these appointments are a specific requirement of this statutory
HOCHC code at this stage, both of these MRCs will also support the
development and implementation of second LG&SCO Code, as part
of the roll out across all council services over the next year.

2. Recommendations
Members of this committee are asked to:

2.1. To recommend the following to the Meetings of Adur District Council
and Worthing Borough Council

2.1.1. Adopt the new (Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling
Code (HOCHC)

2.1.2. To highlight that the Local Government and Social Care
Ombudsman Service Complaints Handling Code (LG&SC
Code) was launched in February 2024. And that work is
underway to ensure compliance with this, which will be
required by April 2026.

2.1.3. Note the two Member Responsible for Complaints (MRC)
roles: one for Adur District Council and one for Worthing
Borough Council, as set out in the attached terms of reference
(see appendix 1) relating to the HOCHC code.

2.1.4. Note that these positions of Member Responsible for
Complaints (MRC) will be the Cabinet Members for: Housing
and Citizen Services (Worthing Borough Council) and Adur
Homes and Customer Services (Adur District Council)

2.1.5. Note that the senior responsible person for complaints will be
the Head of Resident Services.

182



1. Context

1.1. Two new, aligned, complaints codes have been published:

● The Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code (HOCHC) which
will come into effect on the 1st April 2024; and the

● Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Code (LG & SCO
Code) which was launched in February 2024 and Councils are
encouraged to adopt as soon as they are able. The Local Government
Ombudsman intends to start considering the LG & SCO Code as part
of their processes from April 2026 at the earliest to give Councils the
opportunity to adopt the LG&SCO Code into working practices.

1.2. The overall purpose of these aligned codes is to build a positive
complaints culture, to develop and improve services and ensure that
approaches to complaints value justice and fairness. The emphasis
across both Codes is on responding and resolving issues early, on
strong governance and effective procedures and processes.

1.3. Residents' needs are at the heart of this with complaints handling being
transparent, accessible and with organisations using data to learn from
the issues that are being raised

1.4. Whilst these two Codes are aligned, there are two key differences.

● The HOCHC is a statutory requirement for stock holding
authorities to comply with as part of the new Social Housing
(Regulation) Act 2023 which becomes statutory on 1 April 2024;

● The LG&SCO Code is guidance that has been issued under
section 23(12A) of the Local Government Act 1974 and this
Code will address complaints across all other council services.

1.5. Both Codes define a complaint as “‘an expression of dissatisfaction,
however made, about the standard of service, actions or lack of action
by the organisation, its own staff, or those acting on its behalf, affecting
an individual resident or group of residents”

1.6. Landlords must have a person or team assigned to take responsibility
for complaint handling to ensure complaints receive the necessary
attention, and that these are reported to the governing body. The role is
responsible for ensuring that appropriate arrangements are in place for

183

https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/01.-Complaint-Handling-Code-09.02.24.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6558/Complaints-Handling-Code-F-form.pdf?utm_medium=email&_hsmi=294265957&_hsenc=p2ANqtz-_TnfqkDwCBnHRXfNq-jOAlAvzG-RS5ZEmLvppo3jsTSQAh8Mbo6ZIPWwz_tGea7uHw66HsWp35OnNmAJyjzcnVxZ3GsZ8vfyBdy8Tw7Sc6dYyYLHg&utm_content=294265957&utm_source=hs_email


liaison with the Housing Ombudsman and appropriate cover exists to
ensure consistency of service.

-
1.7. The HOCHC requires the Council to:

■ Publish an annual performance report which should include
volume, categories and outcomes of complaints, alongside
complaint handling performance and learning

■ Carry out and publish an annual self assessment against the
Code

■ Appoint a suitable senior person for oversight and governance
of the code.

■ Appoint a Member Responsible for Complaints (“MRC”). This
should be a lead member or Councillor who has an oversight for
Housing.

1.8. It should also be noted that as a stock holding authority with social
housing, Adur Homes has been subject to an earlier version of the HO
Code and work has been underway to meet the requirements of this
as part of the Improvement Plan. Ongoing discussions have been
taking place with the HO to address this, with an action plan and a
complaints policy being agreed, To ensure complaint handling
promotes service improvement for residents and learning and business
improvement for the organisation.

1.9. Policy has been drafted and awaiting approval.
1.10. All compliance changes to letter templates, newsletter, and website

complete, along with training. (see appendix 2.)

2. Proposals to address these new requirements

2.1. Given that both Councils do own some level of housing stock, with
Adur Homes and also our owned Temporary Accommodation, both
Adur and Worthing Councils will fall under the requirements of being
stock holding authorities and therefore subject to the statutory
requirements of the HOCHC. The changes in our approach therefore
reflect this and the requirements and guidance set out in both codes.

2.2. A number of changes are therefore proposed to meet these new
requirements. This includes:

● A new Complaints handling policy
● Appoint a MRC

184



● Publish an annual statement
● To have a senior responsible person for complaints

(which is the Head of Resident Services)
● To learn from complaints

2.3. Alongside the main requirements and for the purpose of this committee
there are a number of requirements around governance:

■ The first is the requirement to have a suitably senior lead person
as accountable for their complaint handling as set out in section
4 of the Code, under Complaint handling staff guidance. This
will be the Head of Resident Services who manages the
corporate team.

■ Defined accountabilities need to be set out for all employees.
Landlords must have a standard objective in relation to
complaint handling for all relevant employees or third parties
that reflects the need to:
a) have a collaborative and cooperative approach towards
resolving complaints, working with colleagues across teams and
departments;
b) take collective responsibility for any shortfalls identified
through complaints, rather than blaming others;
c) act within the professional standards for engaging with
complaints as set by any relevant professional body.
d)Improve our handling of complaints beyond the code as we
see valuable learning opportunities which underpin both our
adaptive and participative principles.

■ As set out in the HOCHC there is a requirement to appoint a
MRC who is the member of the governing body (or equivalent)
to have lead responsibility for complaints:

● To support a positive complaint handling culture. To
provide assurance to the governing body on the efficacy
of its complaints system, including challenging the data
and information provided to the Board

● To seek assurances from the complaints team and where
appropriate the operational teams that complaints are
being managed, change is happening and that residents
are being heard through the process.

185



● To ensure complaint handling promotes service
improvement for residents and learning and business
improvement for the organisation.

● The MRCs will have oversight of the development of the
second LG&SCO code as this is developed and
implemented across the councils, which will be
implemented in 2026.

.

2.4. It should be noted that the Member appointed to this role should be
part of the governing body and have oversight in the cabinet for
housing. Therefore given that the respective Members with the
portfolios for housing (Cabinet Member for: Housing and Citizen
Services (Worthing Borough Council) and Adur Homes and Customer
Services (Adur District Council)) - both of these Members will assume
the respective roles of MRC.

2.5. Finally it it noted that the minimum requirements that the MRC and
Joint Audit Governance Committee must receive as part of the Code
are as follows:

● Regular updates on the volume, categories and
outcomes of complaints, alongside complaint handling
performance

● Regular reviews of issues and trends arising from
complaint handling

● Regular updates on the outcomes of the Housing
Ombudsman’s investigations and progress made in
complying with orders related to severe maladministration
findings

● The annual complaints performance report.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications as a direct result of this report.

Finance Officer: Emma Thomas Date: 08/03/2024

186



4. Legal Implications

● The Housing Ombudsman Scheme is approved by the Secretary of
State under section 51 of, and Schedule 2 to, the Housing Act 1996 (as
amended by the Localism Act 2011 and the Building Safety Act 2022).
The Act requires social landlords, as defined by section 51(2) of the
Act, to be members of an approved scheme. It is mandatory for all local
authorities and registered social housing providers to be members of
the Ombudsman Scheme. There have been previous versions of the
Complaint Handling Code, however the revised version will become
statutory from 1 April 2024 meaning that landlords will be obliged by
law to follow its requirements in accordance with the Social Housing
(Regulation) Act 2023.

● The Local Government Ombudsman has asserted it has the power to
issue “advice and guidance about good administration” to organisation
under section 23(12A) of the Local Government Act 1974. Therefore,
the LG&SC Code will be considered statutory guidance. The Code will
be statutory for all councils. The Code will not apply to other bodies in
the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction such as fire and rescue authorities and
private care providers.

Legal Officer: Caroline Perry Date: 12th March 2024

Background Papers

● Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code
● Local Government and Social Care Complaint Handling Code

Officer Contact Details:-
Name Tracey Strutt
Role Head of Resident Services
Telephone 07476968906
Email Tracey.strutt@adur-worthing.gov.uk

187

https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/01.-Complaint-Handling-Code-09.02.24.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/information-for-organisations-we-investigate/complaint-handling-code/complaint-handling-code?chapter=2


Sustainability & Risk Assessment

1. Economic
● Matter considered and no issues identified

2. Social

2.1 Social Value
● A robust and easy to access feedback system gives a voice to those who

need to complain. Through an equality risk assessment, other channels have
been made available for those that need to access the system but don't have
access to the online feedback system.

2.2 Equality Issues
● Adur and Worthing collect equality data. This data will highlight queries about

access and participation.
● The council is subject to the general equality duty set out in section 149 of the

Equality Act 2010. This duty covers the following protected characteristics:
age, gender, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or
belief, and sexual orientation.

2.3 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)
● Better complaints handling and learning will ensure that procedures are robust

and adhered to council wide. Community safety issues will be addressed
quickly and route cause investigated.

2.4 Human Rights Issues

● Matter considered and the human right to have concerns thoroughly
investigated and addressed will be supported throughout the complaints
process. Appointing two member champions (MRC’s) will create an additional
layer to ensure that appropriate action is taken.

3. Environmental
● Matter considered and no issues identified

4. Governance

● There is a risk to Adur and Worthing Councils’ reputation by not investigating
complaints thoroughly or acting on the lessons learned.

● Non-compliance could result in the Ombudsman issuing complaint handling
failure orders.

188



● Policy on dealing with non-compliance with the Ombudsman’s orders

Appendix 1.

Terms of Reference

Appendix 2.

Complaints Action Plan 2024 - Ombudsman Self Assessment

189

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1OIANtpJa1aXoM5Ucx8NQAhRLlUXqxcHeWPqveYHnzu8/edit?usp=sharing
https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Policy-on-non-compliance-with-orders.pdf
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1SI_m1BQ_4VWKt0PefN8beNS1BBkjwawUfvrG1RbJdqo/edit?usp=sharing


This page is intentionally left blank



Member Complaints Champion

ORGANISATION NAME: Adur District Council / Worthing Borough Council

ADDRESS:

CONTACT DETAILS: Tracey Strutt, Head of Residents Services

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: Frequency: Quarterly,

TYPE OF BUSINESS: lead responsibility for complaints to support a positive complaint
handling culture. This role will be responsible for ensuring the governing body receives
regular information on complaints that provides insight to the governing body on complaints
across the Authority including landlord’s complaint handling performance.

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: This appointment is most relevant to Members with an
interest in excellent customer services and managing of complaints

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 Councillor - must be a member of the Joint Audit and
Governance Committee

PRESENT REPRESENTATIVES:

TERM: Annual appointment, maximum appointment of 4 consecutive years. appointments
to be made annually at Annual Council

APPOINTMENT PRIORITY: HIGH

191



This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Audit and Governance Committee
21 March 2024

Key Decision [/No]

Ward(s) Affected:

New Flood Defence for Shoreham Town Centre at Sussex Yacht Club

Report by the Director for the Economy

1. Purpose

1.1. The Council, subject to planning amendment, intends to proceed with
delivering vital flood defences in Shoreham. There have been various
delays to the project including a need for wintering monitoring of ground
water and attempts to divert or stop up three restricted byways that are
affected by the proposed flood defence.

1.2. Attempts to divert or stop up RB3157 Stowes Hard have received objections
and these can only be considered at a public inquiry. This could take over 2
years to conclude without any guarantee of a successful outcome.

1.3. In order to deliver the flood protection, the Council now intends to proceed,
subject to planning amendment, with accommodating the legally defined
right of way into the flood protection scheme to ensure homes and
businesses are protected as soon as possible.

1.4. A report has been requested by the Joint Audit and Governance Committee
to set out the current risks associated with the delivery of the Flood Defence
adjacent to Sussex Yacht Club (SYC) in Shoreham.

193

Agenda Item 13



1.5. The report will highlight the current risks associated with the delivery of the
flood defence programme and address how the risks are being mitigated
with an associated timeline for delivery of the construction programme.

2. Recommendations

2.1. The Committee is asked to note the report and the steps taken to mitigate
the risk of any further delay with this important project to protect homes and
businesses from flooding.

3. Background

3.1. On 31 January 2019 the Joint Strategic Committee agreed to the purchase of
a 3.5m strip of land (adjacent to the A259 on Brighton Road) from Sussex
Yacht Club (SYC) by Adur District Council (ADC) to construct a new flood
defence wall. The SYC site has been recognised as a key weakness in the
flood defences in Shoreham, experiencing a number of flooding events in
recent years, impacting investment, growth and regeneration in this area. In
2012/13 the A27 was flooded along with a number of homes and businesses.

3.2. In addition to the construction of a flood wall, the land purchased from the
SYC would enable the provision of a 3 metre footpath on the southern side of
the A259 connecting the town centre and Ferry Bridge with the new
developments being built along the Western Harbour Arm. WSCC's longer
term strategy will be to develop the footway into a cyclepath linked to the
planned cyclepath on the south side of the A259.

3.3. Planning permission for the flood defence wall was granted by the Planning
Committee in March 2019 and varied in February 2022. A condition of the
planning permission requires the existing public rights of way to Stowes Gap
Hard RB3157 to remain undisturbed unless legally stopped up or diverted.

3.4. There are 3 Restricted Byways in the vicinity of the proposed Flood Defence
and these are shown on Appendix 1. The legal definitive line for each
Restrictive Byway being situated through SYC, ADC and WSCC land:

● RB3156 - Dolphin Hard
● RB3157 - Stows Hard
● RB3158 - Tarmount Hard

1
194



3.5. The Joint Strategic Committee agreed at its meeting on 7 July 2020 to give
delegated authority to the Head of Major Projects & Investment to make
formal applications to divert the Public Right of Way at Stows Hard and to
seek the Stopping Up of a section of highway at the entrance to SYC.

3.6. The section of public maintainable highway at the existing entrance to SYC
grounds was formally authorised to be Stopped Up by the Secretary of State
and this came into force on 15 October 2020.

3.7. The order to divert RB3157 was made on 8th March 2021 from the new
entrance to a point opposite the existing site entrance. During the formal
consultation process two objections were made, primarily on the grounds that
the new route would not be convenient to those seeking to access the River.
On advice, it was decided not to progress the Diversion Order as this would
cause further delays to the project with no guarantee of successful outcome.

3.8. The capital receipt from the sale of land from Coast to Capital funding has
been used by SYC to construct their new Yacht Club on the southern side of
the existing Clubhouse land which is now complete and operational.

3.9. The redundant yacht club was demolished by ADC to make way for the new
flood wall and ancillary infrastructure requirements in November 2021. The
removal of the redundant Yacht Club premises and decommissioned UKPN
substation partly reopened access to RB3156 and RB3157.

3.10. Floodgates have been included as part of the flood defence wall, one of which
being a 12m sliding flood defence gate. ADC will be responsible for the
on-going management and maintenance costs of the flood and access gates.
Although, as this is the main access into the Yacht Club, discussions are
ongoing with the Club to see whether they could operate the flood gates.

3.11. A design team had been appointed by the council to progress the scheme to
RIBA 4 Work stages (detailed design) in readiness to tender and to appoint
the flood defence construction contractors. Further important surveys and
ground investigations had been required to inform the final designs. The
testing was successfully concluded in June 2023.

3.12. On 15 June 2023 a further report was considered at the Joint Strategic Sub
Committee which agreed to delegate authority to the Assistant Director for
Regenerative Development to make a formal application to the Stopping Up of
RB3157 (see appendix 2) and subject to a successful conclusion of
negotiations in relation to Byeway RB3156 in consultation with the Cabinet
Member for Regeneration. The committee further resolved not to proceed with

2
195



the Diversion Order that was made on the 8th March 2021 in respect of
RB3157.

3.13. On 16 November 2023, public consultation was undertaken under the Town
and Country Planning Act, Section 257 to Stopping Up Restricted Byway
3157. The byway had been blocked from access for many years until the
recent demolition of the redundant yacht club.

3.14. The Council received 4 objections to the consultation process, Officers
reviewed the matter and determined that the objections raised a number of
important and relevant points. Officers reviewed the matter and it was decided
a recommendation should be taken to the Joint Strategic Committee not to
progress the Stopping Up Order

3.15. Officers also noted any likely progression of the Stopping Up Order would
have to be considered by way of a public inquiry, which could take up to 2
years to conclude without any guarantees that the process would be
concluded successfully at that stage.

3.16. On legal advice, officers concluded, in consultation with the Cabinet Member
for Regeneration, that any challenges relating to the legally definitive line of
RB3156 at Dolphin Hard by SYC should be resolved between SYC and
WSCC and not prevent delivery of the wall.

3.17. Planning Committee resolved to grant planning permission, subject to a s106
planning agreement, for the infilling of Tarmount Hard and the creation of a
stepped quay with a new pedestrian access in 2016 (AWDM/0784/14). The
legal agreement has not been signed as there is an unresolved issue
regarding compensatory habitat. Nevertheless, the stopping up of RB3158 at
Tarmount Hard has been agreed in principle with the restricted byway to be
replaced by a public footpath (once a s25 Agreement has been signed with
WSCC). This would allow a 1.22m floodgate to be installed in this location
rather than as approved a 4 metre wide flood gate.

4.0 Current Position and next steps

4.1. A report is being prepared for the next JSC to seek agreement to proceed
with the construction by installing an additional flood gate on the definitive line
of RB 3157 Stow’s Hard.

4.2. The final elements to conclude from the design package are the flood gates at
RB3157 Stow’s Hard, and RB3158 at Tarmount. All other drawings and
ground/surface water investigations have now concluded.

3
196



4.3. The already approved flood defence scheme incorporated 2 flood gates and 1
pedestrian gate:

● 1 x 12m flood gate (across the new vehicular access serving the SYC)
● 1 x 3m flood gate (at Tarmount Hard to be amended to a 1.22 metre

pedestrian flood gate when the new public footpath is confirmed).
● 1 x 3m pedestrian gate at Dolphin Hard (at RB3156 adjacent to Ferry

Bridge)

4.4. Given that it has not been possible to divert or stop up RB3157 Stows Hard,
an additional 3m flood gate will be installed aligned to the legal position of the
restricted byway. Whilst the SYC does not accept that the Definitive Map is
correct, this is a matter between SYC and WSCC. ADC can only proceed on
the basis of the current legal line of the restricted byway. ADC

4.5. Planning amendments will be submitted this Spring to incorporate an
additional 3m flood gate at RB3157 Stows Hard, and to adjust the design of
the flood gate at RB3158 Tarmout Hard. The process of applying for planning
amendments for an additional 3m flood gate at RB3157 Stowes Hard and to
adjust the design of the flood gate at RB3158 Tarmout Hard can be
undertaken simultaneously with the progression of the Construction tender
process.

5. Conclusion

5.1. Delays were incurred due to disputes on the location of, and access to, public
right of way RB3157. Attempts to divert and Stopping Up RB3157 through
SYC land have been publicly challenged and would therefore be subject to
public inquiry to extinguish, which could take over 2 years to resolve without
any guarantee of a successful conclusion.

5.2. This is an unacceptable delay, in order to deliver the flood protection, the
Council now must proceed, subject to planning amendments and
accommodate the legally defined right of way into the flood protection scheme
to ensure homes and businesses are protected as soon as possible

6. Estimated Delivery Programme

ITEM FROM

Submission of Planning Amendments Spring 2024

Tender Pack issued & returned Spring 2024

4
197



JSSC final approval Summer 2024

Award Contract Summer 2024

Contract Mobilisation Summer 2024

Contract Period Summer 2024 - Winter 2024

Completion of Flood Wall Winter 2024

7. Financial Implications

● The Scheme is part funded by the Council and part funded by Grant
funding, as the final programme is not decided the financial
implications are not readily discernible at this stage.

● This report serves to provide an overview of the risks associated with
the scheme to members, a detailed report inclusive of financial analysis
will be provided to the Joint Strategic Sub-committee in due course.

Finance Officer: Joel Goacher Date: 13th March 2024

4. Legal Implications

● Section 257 Town and Country Planning Act and the Town and Country
Planning (Public Path Orders) Regulations 1993 detail the process a
local authority may undertake to stop up or divert any footpath,
bridleway or restricted byway if they are satisfied that it is necessary to
do so in order to enable development to be carried out in accordance
with Planning Permission granted under Part III TCPA.

● Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 empowers the Council to do
anything an individual can do apart from that which is specifically
prohibited by pre-existing legislation.

Legal Officer: Caroline Perry Date: 12th March 2024

Officer Contact Details:-
Phil Graham
Project Manager

5
198



01903 221389
phil.graham@adur-worthing.gov.uk

Background Papers
● Joint Strategic Committee, 15 June 2023 - Western Harbour Arm Flood

Defence Project
● JSC Report, 7 July 2020
● JSC Report, 31 January 2019
● Joint Strategic Committee 5th June 2018 Agenda Item 7- Sussex Yacht Club.
● Joint Strategic Committee 10th January 2017 Agenda Item 11 - Flood

Defences at Sussex Yacht Club.
● Joint Strategic Committee 7th July 2015 Agenda Item 12 - Shoreham Harbour

Flood Defence Project for Sussex Yacht Club and Kingston Beach, Western
Harbour Arm.

6
199



Appendix 1.

7
200



Sustainability & Risk Assessment

1. Economic
● The project will deliver significant economic benefits through the protection of

Shoreham Town Centre and the A259 from flooding incidents and will create a
number of direct and indirect economic benefits through the construction
process.

2. Social

2.1 Social Value
● The project outlined in the above report will have a positive impact on our

local communities by improving local flood, cycle and pedestrian
Infrastructure.

2.2 Equality Issues
● Matter considered and no issues identified.

2.3 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)
● Building an appropriate flood defence wall and flood operational procedures

will protect the safety of the community

2.4 Human Rights Issues
● The development would protect homes and businesses and therefore would

not impinge on anyone’s human rights. The proposals, in any event, would
require planning permission and due consideration will be given to all the
consultation responses received.

3. Environmental
● It is not anticipated that any aspect of the scheme will have a Harmful

impact on Adur District’s environment or habitats. The environmental and
ecological effects of the scheme have been fully considered through the
planning application.

4. Governance
● The developments outlined within this report are aligned to the Council’s

contract of standing orders

8
201



This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Audit and Governance Committee
21 March 2024:

Adur Joint Strategic Sub-Committee
14 March 2024

Key Decision [No]

Ward(s) Affected:All Adur

Housing Improvement Plan: March 2024 Progress Report

Report by the Director for Housing and Communities

Executive Summary

Purpose

1.1. This report provides a progress overview of the Housing
Improvement Plan to both the Adur Joint Strategic Sub-Committee
and the Joint Audit and Governance Committee, following the
self-referral to the Regulator for Social Housing earlier this year.

1.2. Previous reports shared with both these committees have detailed
the rationale for the self-referral, the response from the Regulator,
and the scope of the work planned to address these issues in Adur
Homes. This report sets out a summary of the work underway, the
progress being made to improve performance and meet the required
standards, and the issues that remain. The purpose and focus of all
of this work is about delivering the Council’s mission to ensure that
everyone has a safe, secure and sustainable home.

1.3. This report provides an update on the progress being made on the
outstanding Audit Actions, which have been integrated into the
Improvement Plan. This includes an update on work being done to
address outstanding Freedom of Information Act requests.

1.4. This work contributes to the delivery of the Council’s mission to
ensure that everyone has a safe, secure and sustainable home.

203

Agenda Item 14



Recommendations

The Joint Audit and Governance Committee is asked to:

1.5. Note the good progress being made to ensure that Adur Homes
becomes fully compliant with regulatory standards and the wider
programme of transformation to create safe, secure and sustainable
homes for our residents.

1.6. Consider the progress being made on the outstanding audit actions
as captured in paragraph 9.

1.7. Note the progress being made with the overdue Freedom of
Information Request at paragraph 2.1 (12) of this Report.

1.8. Note the progress being made in respect of complaints and that the
wider changes around complaints policy is being reported to this
committee under a separate report.

1.9. To agree to future update reports being brought to this committee
every 6 months during 2024/5 during the second year of the
Improvement Plan.

The Adur Joint Strategic Sub-Committee is asked to:

1.10. Note the good progress being made to ensure that Adur Homes
becomes fully compliant with regulatory standards and the wider
programme of transformation to create safe, secure and sustainable
homes for our residents.

1.11. Extend the interim policies previously agreed by this committee for
2024/5. The polices are listed in 1.19 and will be reviewed during
2024/25.

1.12. Note the progress being made with the overdue Freedom of
Information Request at paragraph 2.1 (12) of this Report.

1.13. Note the progress being made with regard to the progress being
made on complaints and that the wider changes around complaints
policy is being reported to the Joint Audit and Governance Committee

204



Background context

1.14. Members are reminded that reports are presented to this committee to
provide an update on the work in progress following the self-referral to
the regulator for social housing. This work is being developed through
the Improvement Plan, which is now over halfway through the first year
of a two year plan.

1.15. Our focus is on the delivery of good, safe and sustainable homes for all
our residents, whose safety and wellbeing is paramount. There is a
strong commitment to ensuring that our social housing in Adur meets
this ambition.

1.16. Whilst this initial plan is work being carried out over the medium term, it
is important to state that programme to improvement will require longer
term transformation and work is being developed and referenced in this
report.

1.17. Officers continue to meet with the Regulator for Social Housing on a
monthly basis to review the elements of the improvement plan that
relate to the self-referral, notably health, safety and compliance, decent
homes and damp and mould.

1.18. Finally, Members are also reminded about the legislative change
underway through the new Social Housing (Regulation) Act.
Preparations are underway to ensure that Adur Homes is compliant
with these changes.

Interim Polices

1.19. Adur Joint Strategic Sub Committee previsout approved a number of
interim policies during 2023/24. These policies were:

● Payment Policy for Leasehold Works Charges

● Leasehold Management Policy

● Gas Safety Policy & Guidance

● Lift Maintenance Policy & Management Plan

● Health and Safety

205



● Electrical Safety Policy and Procedure

● Water Hygiene (Legionella) Risk Management Policy and Procedure

● Feedback & Complaints Policy and Procedure

● Compensation Policy

These policies are considered to be robust and fit for purpose but will be
subject to review in 2024/25 to ensure they remain compliant as legislation
develops and is implemented. Updated policies will be brought to the Adur
Joint Strategic Sub Committee for approval.

Adur Homes road to improvement and transformation

1.20. Adur Homes Improvement Plan

1.20.1. The Adur Homes Improvement Plan sets out a number of key priorities
for the service, which primarily address the concerns of the Regulator
(around compliance and decent homes) and also include wider-ranging
priorities to ensure the whole service is transformed, including:
systems, workforce, governance, asset management, health and safety
compliance issues, tenancy management and engagement, complaints
and FOIs.

1.20.2. Phased over a 24-month period, this is a relatively high level plan,
which sets out clear accountable leadership and delivery, against
challenging but realistic timeframes. Whilst this plan will deliver the
work to address issues in the short to medium term, we recognise that
the road to transformation of Adur Homes will require a longer-term
approach and this is referenced within the plan.

1.20.3. Importantly, the plan also includes a high level risk assessment and an
environment scan highlighting issues on the horizon that the service
needs to plan for and adapt to.

1.21. Summary of progress against the Improvement Plan

1.21.1. The full Improvement Plan is set out below as a set of actions
(Appendix 1), the risk assessment (Appendix 2) and performance
indicators (Appendix 3). Each of these priorities is being tracked and
regularly reviewed to drive forward progress through a new Housing
Improvement Board.

In addition to the full plan we will also be ensuring the actions can be
met through appropriate rent levels being set and rent arrears are
managed effectively. Households with arrears need to be appropriately

206



supported in respect of income maximisation support, debt support if
appropriate. As part of the wider work we will be benchmarking Adur
Homes rent arrears level against that of other stock holding authorities
and Registered Providers.

Below are some key areas to highlight for members of these
committees. Each summary area referenced the relevant priority area
(referenced as P):

1. Establishing the right leadership and workforce (Ps 26 and 32)
Our new Assistant Director for Housing and Homelessness
Prevention, started their position in November. We have also been
working hard to ensure a number of key positions are filled to deliver
this work, including surveyors and housing officers (two of who will
have started by the time this report is published). Unfortunately we
lost our Tenant Engagement Lead post (who secured a promotion
elsewhere) and this has led to some delays around engagement
work. In addition, like many other providers we have experienced a
lack of uptake to some professional areas. However we are working
to address this and complete a housing organisational design over
the coming months.

2. Reviewing and strengthening governance (P 29)
The Adur Homes Advisory Board is now meeting quarterly and work
is continuing to ensure we have a complete board of tenant
representatives. We were unable to recruit to the Tenant
Engagement Lead vacancy in February so are reviewing the role
profile and advert to go out for recruitment in March.

3. Compliance and health and safety (Ps 10.11)
This has been a significant area of focus.

Positive progress is continuing with gains being made across the
compliance requirements of Adur Homes works towards a target of
100%. Some access issues are being faced in relation to gas
servicing with the appropriate following action being taken e.g.
access warrants. Where appropriate the additional costs incurred will
be charged to the tenants in accordance with the Council’s debt
collection policy.

In the areas where 100% is being reached these works will continue
with a full planned programme of works being developed for the
coming year and resources will be concentrating on those other

207



areas to ensure 100% compliance is reached within an appropriate
timeframe.

Performance data (Appendix 3) shows the continued progress made
and continues to show a positive direction of this work. The focus is
to continue close monitoring and work across all areas with greater
attention to those areas that require the greatest effort to close the
gap to bring us to 100% compliance.

4. Improving data and systems (Ps3, 4)
This continues to be a critical area of work as data capture,
monitoring and reporting is paramount to the progress and success
of Adur Homes future plans in relation to financial and operational
management as well as meeting statutory and legislative
requirements.

Work continues with the support of the council's Digital Team.
Regular monitoring and reporting of issues continues and where
necessary and appropriate, ongoing updates and improvement are
implemented.

The system issues arising from the legacy system and provider
relationship are being worked through and prioritised based on
service critical areas. Training for staff is being provided and work is
being done to ensure there is greater resilience within the team to
manage and support our systems including ensuring we are better
prepared to implement rent and service charge increases for
2024/25.

As system knowledge increases we are now in a position to
implement the functionality available that has not been used to full
effect. This work will further support improved service delivery and is
also essential to improve our data transfers into possible future
systems.

This development has resulted in the comprehensive training of key
personnel, equipping them with the necessary skills to seamlessly
execute day-to-day operations and facilitate the implementation of
rent and service charge changes for the 2024/25 financial year.

Looking ahead, we have three significant initiatives in the pipeline,
aimed at fortifying stability for our users, providing transparency for

208



our customers, and optimising our capability to fulfil data requests
with increased efficiency. These endeavours signify our commitment
to continuous improvement and the delivery of high-quality services
to our stakeholders.

Concurrently, a discernible path is emerging, highlighting areas
within our processes that can be refined to implement more efficient
internal operational practices. This strategic approach aims to
empower our colleagues to focus their efforts on serving and
supporting our customers effectively. This is in line with our corporate
strategy and rapid improvement program.

5. Achieving “Decent Homes” (P1)
Decent homes is one area of concern under our Regulatory Notice.
In order to evidence that our homes are decent, we must have
accurate up-to-date stock condition data.

A full stock condition survey project is being progressed with a
proposed start in April 2024. This will capture the data that will
support the development of the investment needs for the short,
medium and long term planning process. This data is essential to
ensure resources and programmes are aligned and allocated
accordingly to the homes that are in the greatest need.

A financial projection has been submitted concentrating on key
elements of the Decent Homes standard and has been subject to
annual budget setting approvals.

Resources are now being allocated to manage not only the
programme of works above but also the development of long term
contracts with the support of both legal and procurement colleagues.
This will identify procurement options and appoint contractors to
undertake these works realising best value for money for Adur
Homes.

6. Management of void properties (P 7)
Following the appointment of the two new contractors, together with
new processes and procedures that place greater emphasis on the
management process being implemented, this has proved successful
with improvements in both quality of work, the number of properties
being worked on and turnaround times decreasing.

209



The new processes include an automated pricing model for the
specifications using the M3NHF Schedule of Rates, a national set of
approved prices for many elements of works. This results in the
contractor knowing exactly what work is required and what the costs
for these are thereby safeguarding Council’s budgets and using a
national competitively set pricing model.

The backlog of void properties (those empty prior to April 2023) is
reducing with 52 as at the end of February reduced from 73 at the
beginning of October, compared to 132 at the start of the financial
year last April. There have been 80 properties turned around and
re-let since April 2023 and added to this 12 new build properties
have been occupied across a number of developments. The
challenge we have now is that any transfers of Adur Homes tenants
into the refurbished properties create a resulting void that needs
additional work.

Despite the continued high level of works and associated costs
needed within the properties, confidence is growing on being able to
reduce the number of void properties significantly over the coming
weeks.

This will increase income levels that in turn will be reinvested and
equally important, to ensure Adur Homes can provide as many
properties to those residents in need of a new home.

7. Damp and mould (P13)
During the winter months, damp and mould cases do increase as we
would expect and is recognised as a national issue. This has lead to
changes through the Awabbs law that will come into effect in 2024..

As at the beginning of February Adur Homes had 78 properties
awaiting survey with 94 properties with works currently ongoing.

A new process is being trialled whereby within 5 working days of a
report, the property is visited, cleaned and treated with a full survey
being completed with necessary works identified and passed to
surveyors for review and actioning.

Cases are prioritised based on the level of risk to individual
households However it is recognised that this is a serious matter in

210



any home and every effort is made to identify and resolve the issues
that are contributing to the cause whatever the reason.

The monitoring and undertakings in this area of work will continually
result in improvements being made to the process and these will only
benefit the residents and Adur Homes as the landlord.

8. Tenant communication and engagement (P20-23)
Following a number of successful engagement sessions at the end of
2023 we are now working through the next programme of
engagement and identifying how we “show up” within Adur Homes
communities. Whether these are sessions arranged by the Council or
whether we are present at wider community events which may
enable us to engage with a wider cross section of our residents.

The frustrations of the service delivered to tenants remain but there
is also a level of understanding that the service is on a journey of
improvement and a positive message from the residents has been
that there is a noticeable improvement in communication.

We are redesigning our Tenant Engagement Lead role with the aim
to recruit someone with a background in community development.
The aim of this is to build communities within the wider Adur Homes
community that will have different aims and aspirations for different
areas. Part of the aspiration of the role will continue to be to enable
tenant led resident groups and reading panels which are essential for
meeting requirements on tenant engagement on policy.

The regulatory required tenant satisfaction survey work is complete,
we can report that we have reached the minimum requirement for
responses and a summary report is commissioned to report to
members.

The Council’s wider communications and engagement team continue
to support the team by creating the Adur Together newsletter. Each
newsletter includes updates on key issues affecting Adur Homes
tenants and leaseholders, including action we’d like our residents to
take. Four editions of the newsletter have been published to date
with the latest edition dated March 2024.

211

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/adur-homes/information-and-publications/newsletter/


9. Managing outstanding audit recommendations (P31)
32 actions are recorded on the Housing Improvement Plan, which now
incorporates the outstanding Housing Audit recommendations. Two
actions are now completed with a further 14 actions currently on track.
14 actions remain partially on track, with much of the work required to
be on track already in progress. Two actions have not yet been
commenced: the review of the repairs service has been delayed due to
the Council’s redesign process now underway across the Directorate
but will be undertaken following this process; the second action, the
strategic approach to asset management, will be incorporated as part
of the longer term business planning document, expected to be signed
off later this year.

10.Managing complaints
Work has been progressing in relation to improving the approach to
complaints to address the backlog and develop a much improved
process to responding to enquiries and complaints.

Two new, aligned, complaints codes have been published:
● The Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code (HO Code)

which will come into effect on the 1st April 2024; and the
● Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Code (LG &

SCO Code) which was launched in February 2024 and Councils
are encouraged to adopt as soon as they are able. The Local
Government Ombudsman intends to start considering the Code
as part of their processes from April 2026 at the earliest to give
Councils the opportunity to adopt the LG&SCO Code into
working practices.

Officers are reporting on this work and new requirements in full to the
Joint Audit and Governance Committee (March 2024) to address the
issues and compliance with these codes. For the purpose of this report
Members are asked to note the following:

An action plan is under development to address each of the
requirements of these codes for housing and this will be rolled out
across the councils. This plan addresses a number of areas of practice
including:

● Ensuring training is rolled out to those officers that we will be
dealing with complaints;

● Addressing the staff capacity to respond to complaints as part of
the organisational redesigns;

212

https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/01.-Complaint-Handling-Code-09.02.24.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6558/Complaints-Handling-Code-F-form.pdf?utm_medium=email&_hsmi=294265957&_hsenc=p2ANqtz-_TnfqkDwCBnHRXfNq-jOAlAvzG-RS5ZEmLvppo3jsTSQAh8Mbo6ZIPWwz_tGea7uHw66HsWp35OnNmAJyjzcnVxZ3GsZ8vfyBdy8Tw7Sc6dYyYLHg&utm_content=294265957&utm_source=hs_email


● Developed a draft Housing Complaints Policy to reflect the
Housing Ombudman’s Code of Practice

● Developing a focus on the complaints process for the team
● Updated communications to help residents make complaints more

easily including the Housing Ombudsman’s contact details and
their role in complaints intervention

● Developed a new approach as required by the Ombudsman to
agree resolutions with tenants before sending a formal response.

At the time of writing there is a significant backlog of complaints and
these are being worked through. Work will be undertaken to
differentiate the root cause of a complaint to inform changes that need
to be implemented in specific areas.

1.22. Working with the regulator in a changing legislative context

1.22.1. As previously reported, this year will see these standards change
through the assent of the new Social Housing Regulator Act 2023,
which has now received Royal Assent. This will provide greater powers
for tenants against serious hazards in their homes, ensure a better
quality of service and quality of life.

1.22.2. This new legislation will enact the reforms outlined in the Social
Housing White Paper aimed at improving the regulation of social
housing, strengthening tenants’ rights and ensuring better quality and
safer homes for residents. This is currently out to consultation.

1.22.3. This sets out a new charter outlining what every social housing resident
should expect from their landlord:

● To be safe in your home: Landlords will be required to ensure every
home is safe and secure

● To know how your landlord is performing: Landlords will be held
to account regarding repairs, complaints, safety, and how they spend
their Housing Revenue Account (HRA) money

● To have your complaints dealt with promptly and fairly: The
ombudsman will be strengthened, giving swift and fair redress for
tenants when needed

● To be treated with respect: The Regulator of Social Housing will be
strengthened and there will be improved consumer standards

● To have your voice heard by your landlord: Tenant voice will be
increased, for example through regular meetings, scrutiny panels or
being on housing boards

213

https://www.housing.org.uk/news-and-blogs/news/social-housing-act-receives-royal-assent/#:~:text=21%20July%202023,%2C%20secure%2C%20and%20affordable%20home.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936098/The_charter_for_social_housing_residents_-_social_housing_white_paper.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936098/The_charter_for_social_housing_residents_-_social_housing_white_paper.pdf


● To have a good quality home and neighbourhood to live in:
Landlords will be required to keep homes in good repair and the
Decent Homes Standard will be reviewed

● To be supported to take your first step to ownership: Increasing
the supply of good quality social homes, and working to give as
many residents as possible the right to purchase their own home.

1.22.4. As we work with the regulator over the coming year, there will be a
focus on the transition to these new standards to ensure that
compliance is adapted to meet these. The focus of Adur Homes in the
key areas detailed above have placed us in a really positive position to
meet the requirements of updated standards.

We are confident the current improvement plan and actions already
underway will meet the requirements of the new legislation. However,
as additional detail is made available, we will test the details of the new
standards against the improvement plan and make updates where
required. For example, if the definition surrounding the Decent Homes
standard changes we may need to reassess the timeline and financial
demand in this specific area.

If the requirement around tenant engagement is changed we are well
placed with a resident engagement role to be flexible to meet those
changes.

We will work with other local housing providers to help implement
learning in respect of the new legislation. We will update members if
the improvement plan needs to be updated and inform why changes
have been required.

We have taken a wider whole systems approach to addressing
complaints to ensure we can meet the requirements of current and
future legislation. This will see joint working between the housing and
resident services teams as well as the Housing Ombudsman to
address the handling and processing of complaints.

Engagement and Communication

1.23. In undertaking this work a range of engagement and communication
has been carried out, as referenced above as part of the Improvement
Plan. In addition, members have been briefed about this work
throughout.

214



1.24. A communication and engagement plan has been developed and a
new newsletter developed to inform residents about the work
underway.

Financial Implications

1.25. The resources to ensure compliance with the regulator’s standards
must be found within the Adur HRA which is a ring-fenced account.
Overall, the HRA has a significant budget available to it (£14.8m) and
every endeavour will be made regarding best use of this existing
resource to deliver the improvement plan and realise value for money

1.26. However, to enhance the HRA’s financial resilience for unforeseen
requirements beyond the current budget, the council has reviewed the
calculation of depreciation for Adur Homes. Specifically, increasing the
proportion of the overall valuation on council properties applied to
residual value (the remaining value of an asset after depreciation) from
30% to 40%. It's important to note that residual value itself is not
subject to depreciation. This adjustment is based on professional
judgement, considering the limited availability of land in the South East
of England.

Furthermore,the introduction of a de minimis value for
componentisation (breaking down an asset into its individual
components for accounting purposes), means components valued
below £10,000 are now depreciated along with the main structure. This
change follows benchmarking, which highlighted that our depreciation
charge per dwelling was higher than that of similar-sized councils. The
resulting annual depreciation charge is now directed to the Major
Repairs Reserve (funds set aside for significant property repairs),
contributing approximately £400,000 per year to the HRA's capacity.
However, any capital resources used to support the revenue budget will
need to be replaced by borrowing at an estimated revenue impact of
£45,000 per £1m additional borrowing in a full year.

1.27. Development of a new Housing Revenue Account Business Plan is
currently underway and this will enable the service to track the
management of resources to deliver against the government’s Decent
Homes Standard and to ensure compliance in all other service areas.

215



Legal Implications

1.28. Under Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, the council has
the power to do anything that is calculated to facilitate, or which is
conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of its functions.

1.29. Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 empowers the council to do
anything an individual can do apart from that which is specifically
prohibited by pre-existing legislation.

1.30. Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 1999 (LGA 1999) contains a
general duty on a best value authority to make arrangements to secure
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised,
having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.

1.31. Section 8 of the Housing Act 1985 continues to place a duty on every
local housing authority to consider housing conditions in its district and
the needs of the district with respect to the provision of further housing
accommodation.

Background Papers

● Adur Homes Compliance with Housing Regulator Standards - Joint Audit and
Governance Committee 26 September 2023

● Regulatory Compliance Notice for Adur Homes - Joint Audit and Governance
Committee 30 May 2023 and Adur Joint Strategic Sub-Committee 15 June
2023

● Regulatory Standards
● Decent Homes Standards
● Housing Strategy: Enabling communities to thrive in their own home”

2020-2023;
● Social Housing Act summary
● The Charter for Social Housing Residents - Social Housing White Paper
● Landmark Social Housing Act receives Royal Assent to become law

Officer Contact Details:-
Tina Favier, Director for Housing and Communities
Email: tina.favier@adur-worthing.gov.uk
Rob Jarvis, Assistant Director for Housing and Homelessness Prevention
Email: Rob:Jarvis@adur-worthing.gov.uk

216

https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/s11252/Adur%20Homes.pdf
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/s11252/Adur%20Homes.pdf
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/s10591/Regulatory%20Compliance%20for%20Notice%20Adur%20Homes.pdf
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/s10591/Regulatory%20Compliance%20for%20Notice%20Adur%20Homes.pdf
https://democracy.adur-worthing.gov.uk/documents/s10591/Regulatory%20Compliance%20for%20Notice%20Adur%20Homes.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/regulatory-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-decent-home-definition-and-guidance
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,157368,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,157368,smxx.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/landmark-social-housing-act-receives-royal-assent-to-become-law
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936098/The_charter_for_social_housing_residents_-_social_housing_white_paper.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/landmark-social-housing-act-receives-royal-assent-to-become-law#:~:text=We're%20delighted%20to%20see,on%20professionalism%20in%20the%20sector.
mailto:tina.favier@adur-worthing.gov.uk


Sustainability & Risk Assessment

1. Economic

1.1 Thriving Economy is one of the four Missions identified in Our Plan and will
therefore become one of the key documents informing the direction and
prioritisation of the council’s work with regard to Adur Homes.

1.2 Providing a decent home that is secure, affordable, warm and modern,
supports the wellbeing of our residents, enabling those who are able to work
to enter and sustain employment and contribute to economic activity.

2. Social

2.1 Social Value

2.1.1 Residents and communities are central to Our Plan and ‘Thriving
People’ is one of the four Missions identified in Our Plan. This mission
aims to ensure people are healthy, resilient and resourceful, that they
can access the right help when they need it and everyone has a safe,
secure and sustainable home.

2.1.2 One of the three overarching Principles in Our Plan is Participative,
which is based on the explicit intention to work more closely with
citizens to involve them in deeper and more meaningful conversations
about service design and delivery. Our work to meet the Decent Homes
Standard (and the other housing standards linked to tenant
participation) therefore forms a central part of the council's
commitments.

2.2 Equality Issues

2.2.1 The council is subject to the general equality duty set out in section 149
of the Equality Act 2010. This duty covers the following protected
characteristics: age, gender, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, and sexual orientation.

2.2.2 In delivering housing services the council must have due regard to the
need to:

● Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation

217



● Advance equality of opportunity between different groups
● Foster good relations between different groups

2.2.3 The participative principle in Our Plan describes the council’s
commitment to providing truly inclusive services by listening to
underrepresented voices, creating equal access and meeting our
equality duties.

2.2.4 The council’s legal duties (Equality Act 2010) will inform the
development and delivery of the improvement plan, in relation to
eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity and
fostering good relations.

2.2.5 Decisions, actions and areas of investment relating to implementation
of the improvement plan, may require Equality Impact Assessments.

2.3 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)

2.3.1 The council is committed to the promotion of communities as safe
places. Our Plan seeks to progress delivery of the council’s community
safety commitments by strengthening working partnerships with the
Police, communities, businesses and multidisciplinary teams across the
council.

2.3.2 As part of our ongoing work to meet the Neighbourhood and
Community Housing Standard will see to keep the neighbourhood and
communal areas associated with the Adur Homes clean and safe,
co-operate with relevant partners to promote the wellbeing and help
prevent and tackle anti-social behaviour.

2.4 Human Rights Issues

2.4.1 The actions set out in the report will enable the council to identify
solutions that will enable our residents, communities and
neighbourhoods to flourish.

3. Environmental

3.1 Thriving Environment is one of the four Missions identified in Our Plan and key
actions include achieving net zero carbon, resilience to climate change and
increased biodiversity by restoring natural habitats and minimising waste.

218



3.2 The improvement plan, as part of the wider work plan for Adur Homes, will as
part of these commitments actively contribute to carbon reduction, waste
minimisation and biodiversity improvement objectives.

4. Governance

4.1 In line with the constitution this report is being taken to the Joint Audit and
Governance Committee to note and comment. Additional engagement has
been undertaken with the Adur Joint Strategic Sub-Committee and the Adur
Homes Management Board.

4.2 Further updates, including the improvement plan will be brought to the Joint
Audit and Governance Committee on a quarterly basis.

219



Appendix 1 - Improvement Plan

Appendix 2 - Risk Assessment

Appendix 3 - Performance Indicators

220

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1YznrWUIM9rh2ioVdx0Zh5x12XcxiaxP1/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/17n5jDFwK1oc7fn4kk_7TQoDQIvF_-DUa/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1HpLOCb00owxpi1upnTuxGOS1RlmjlqaO/view?usp=drive_link


Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Type of 
Initiative 

Service Area 
accountable 

Sponsor Accountable 
Delivery Lead

Start 
date

End 
date

Status Key Dependencies
Necessary for the priority area

Progress 
monitoring

Summary headline of progress - 
end January 2024
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

1 Home 
Standard - 
Quality of 
Accommodati
on

All properties meet 
the 'decent homes' 
standard 

Review of assets and data 
that will enable informed 
decisions regarding the 
investment opportunities 
and future requirements for 
homes and ensure suitable 
systems are in place to 
support this work

Service/ 
efficiency 
improvement

Property and 
Technical 
Services

Head of 
Property 
Services

Asset 
Manager/HoP

01/05/23 31/03/27 In progress Technical services - Asset 
decision making and rating tool

Budgets

On track Budgets finalised and agreed for 
24/25 across all works.  Going to 
Council in February.

Recruitment is still an issue with 
obtaining external resource both 
temporary and permanent along with 
Council's redesign consultation and 
process underway

2 A clear set of 
priorities for 
planned and 
cyclical 
maintenance and 
compliance work 

Review current position 
and develop programme to 
meet regularity and 
legislative standards

Service/ 
efficiency 
improvement

Property and 
Technical 
Services

Head of 
Property 
Services

Asset 
Manager/Complia
nce 
Manager/HoP

01/05/23 31/03/24 In progress Data/Systems
Budget for this.
Leaseholder consultation.
Staff structure & resources
SLA's
Priorities

Partially on track Progress continues across 
compliance areas and still on track to 
continue this into the new financial 
year with budgets set and addresses 
known

3 Develop a clear 
performance 
framework

Establish KPIs for each 
performance area that 
address regulatory 
standards and provide a 
common set of data for 
regular reporting 

Service/ 
efficiency 
improvement

All services 
housing

AD Housing Performance, 
Policy and 
Strategy Officer

01/04/23 01/09/23 Done Improved and integrated 
systems, Performance and 
Data Officer appointed. New 
system/system upgrade, 
Agreed KPIs 

On track Most high level PIs now being 
collated on a monthly basis, missing 
from January is tenant satisfaction 
indicators (awaiting recruitment to 
post)                                                         
PP&S post now recruited, due to start 
in April.

4 Effective integrated 
IT system 
supporting all 
housing activity 

Deliver a programme of 
system improvements, 
upgrades and 
procurement, focusing on 
delivering asset 
management with an 
updated tenancy 
management system 

Service/ 
efficiency 
improvement

Property, 
Tenancy and 
Digital Services

AD Housing Digital 
Applications and 
Innovations 
Manager

01/05/23 30/05/25 In progress Detailed system specification, 
consultation with service users 

Partially on track Digital team focusing on support for 
the team, with a focus on some key 
areas: rent setting, complaints 
system, back end changes to the 
repairs and maintenance system and 
decison making tree.  We are now 
live with compliance system which 
now needs to be checked back in.  
Issues with data on EICRs.  Proposal 
has been drafted for digital support.   

New requirements for a tenant portal 
which needs 

Upgrade to Orchard is needed once 
rent setting is completed

Home connections needs some focus 
from the digital systems

We need direction on the repairs 
team before system changes are 
done.

5 Consolidated asset 
management stock 
condition data

Enhance IT capacity to 
manage stock condition 
data 

Service/ 
efficiency 
improvement

Property and 
Technical 
Services

Head of 
Property 
Services

Asset 
Manager/HoP

01/05/23 30/12/24 In progress A system to manage this which 
is connected to other systems

Budgets, all service users

On track Base system developed and further 
changes will be implemented once 
stock condition survey contracct and 
work is underway to incorporate data 
capture into the system

221



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Type of 
Initiative 

Service Area 
accountable 

Sponsor Accountable 
Delivery Lead

Start 
date

End 
date

Status Key Dependencies
Necessary for the priority area

Progress 
monitoring

Summary headline of progress - 
end January 2024
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

6 Stock condition 
audit programme

Improve asset information 
to inform investment 
decisions  including 
identified work and budget 
costs

Service/ 
efficiency 
improvement

Property and 
Technical 
Services

Head of 
Property 
Services

Asset 
Manager/HoP

01/06/23 31/03/24 In progress Data availability and quality, 
Technical Services
Digital
Procurement/Legal 

Partially on track The procurement route has been 
identified and is with legal team for 
review.  Specification being written 
and still on course for March start on 
surveys

7 Voids managed 
effectively  

Review processes for 
managing voids to reduce 
cost and improve turn 
around time 

Service/ 
efficiency 
improvement

Property and 
Housing 
Services 

Head of 
Property 
Services

Compliance 
Manager/HoP

01/04/23 31/03/24 In progress Data/Systems, Housing 
Management, budget

On track New contractors are making progress 
in addressing outstanding works and 
undertaking the necessary works to 
bring the properties back to a lettable 
standard with additional resources 
being employed to complete the 
works.

New forms and processes are 
working well and always being 
developed to improve the service

8 Home 
Standard - 
Repairs and 
Maintenance

Repairs service 
delivers first time 
fix - quality 
outcomes, value 
for money, and 
tenant satisfaction 

Undertake a 'rapid review' 
of the repairs service and 
implement changes to the 
service as required 

Service/ 
efficiency 
improvement

Property and 
Technical 
Services

Head of 
Property 
Services

Repairs Manager 01/06/23 01/10/24 Not started Data/Systems, Rapid 
Improvement Review, new 
system/system upgrade 
Review of teams structure 
Budgets

Not underway Review start has been delayed as 
Redesign process underway accross 
Direcctorate.  Due to start in new 
financial year following this process

9 Effective contracts 
in place for asset 
programmes  

Review and where 
necessary reissue 
contracts for asset 
programmes 

Service/ 
efficiency 
improvement

Property and 
Technical 
Services 

Head of 
Property 
Services

Asset 
Manager/Complia
nce Manager

01/05/23 01/05/24 In progress Technical Services, Legal 
Services, Procurement, 
Finance Team

On track Looking at identifying resource to 
soley concentrate on developing and 
implementing relevant contracts 
across all capital and revenue 
projects

10 Clarity and 
compliance with 
health and safety, 
compliance 
policies and 
procedures  

Review and update all 
health and safety 
compliance policies and 
procedures to ensure 
effective control - develop 
a compliance dashboard 

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Property and 
Housing 
Services 

Head of 
Property 
Services

Service 
Managers

01/01/23 01/03/24 In progress Tenants/leaseholder 
engagement, Tenant 
Engagement Lead 
Head of Policy / Digital

On track Work continues on policies & 
procedures

11 Clarity of data 
around compliance 
issues/progress

Review data to identify 
areas that require 
compliance action and 
initiate action to address 
this

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Property and 
Housing 
Services 

Head of 
Property 
Services

Compliance 
Manager/HoP

01/05/23 30/10/23 Done Data/Systems
Resources - Compliance 
Manager in post

Completed Work continues in this area not only 
to ensure the relevant work is 
completed but also on data capture 
and recording. ensuring up to date 
records are held that will support hte 
reporting process and contribute to 
the ongoing works programme

222



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Type of 
Initiative 

Service Area 
accountable 

Sponsor Accountable 
Delivery Lead

Start 
date

End 
date

Status Key Dependencies
Necessary for the priority area

Progress 
monitoring

Summary headline of progress - 
end January 2024
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

12 All health and 
safety compliance 
requirements are 
met 

Ensure compliance with all 
legislative requirements 
for; 
- gas
- fire safety
- electrical safety (including 
EICRs)
- legionella
- carbon monoxide
- asbestos
- FRAs for sheltered 
housing
- lifts and stair lifts
- new building regulations

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Property and 
Housing 
Services 

Head of 
Property 
Services

Compliance 
Manager/HoP

01/01/23 30/12/24 In progress Data/Systems, Technical 
Services, Legal, Procurement 
Compliance Manager in post

On track Continued improvements across all 
areas of compliance with the use of 
the new systems and ways of 
working

13 An effective 
approach to 
managing damp 
and mould for 
tenants 

Review and implement 
processes to proactively 
identify, prioritise and 
mitigate damp and mould

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Property and 
Housing 
Services 

Head of 
Property 
Services

Compliance 
Manager/HoP

01/05/23 01/12/24 In progress Data/Systems, Technical 
Services, Legal, Procurement 

On track Initial discussions with existing 
contractor on developing this process 
and process and procedures being 
finalised and trial properties 
identified.  Work continues on 
tackling reported damp and mould 
issues

Damp & Mould procedure

14 An effective 
customer access 
procedure

Review current access 
procedures for compliance 
work and ensure an 
effective procedure is in 
place

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Property and 
Housing 
Services 

Interim Head of 
Housing

Neighbourhood 
Services 
Manager

01/05/23 01/08/23 Done Tenancy Services, Property 
Services

On track Housing Officers in due in post 
enabling implementation from March 
2024

15 Tenant 
Involvement 
and 
Empowermen
t Standard - 
Customer 
service, 
choice, 
complaints

Tenancy type 
allocated 
accurately

Review current tenancy 
type allocation policy and 
procedure 

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Housing Services Interim Head of 
Housing 

Neighbourhood 
Services 
Manager

01/08/23 01/02/24 In progress Tenancy Services, Building 
Services, Legal Services, 
Tenant Engagement Lead

Partially on track Will be confirmed once tenant 
handbook signed off by legal. 

16 Clear, accessible 
information for 
tenants 

Update Tenant Handbook 
to provide clear information 
about services  and tenant 
and landlord 
responsibilities. Improve 
the self-service offer for 
tenants

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Housing 
Services

Interim Head of 
Housing

Neighbourhood 
Services 
Manager 

01/05/23 01/02/24 In progress Tenant Engagement Lead, 
Communication Team

Partially on track Currently with legal for review

17 Transparent and 
effective housing 
management 
polices

Review and update 
housing (tenancy and 
asset) management 
policies

Business 
Development 
and Service 
Improvement

Housing 
Services

Interim Head of 
Housing 

Neighbourhood 
Services 
Manager 

30/05/23 30/05/25 In progress All areas of the housing and 
assets team 

On track Strategy and Policy Officer recruited 
to , expected in post  April

18 Leasehold 
properties are well 
managed 

Develop new leaseholder 
management policies, 
including income and 
major works payment 

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Housing 
Services

Interim Head of 
Housing 

Leasehold and 
Right to Buy 
Manager

01/06/23 01/07/23 Done Tenant Engagement Lead On track Additional staffing resources will be in 
post from April 24 for income 
collection .223



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Type of 
Initiative 

Service Area 
accountable 

Sponsor Accountable 
Delivery Lead

Start 
date

End 
date

Status Key Dependencies
Necessary for the priority area

Progress 
monitoring

Summary headline of progress - 
end January 2024
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

19 Complaints and 
FOIs are managed 
in line with service 
standards  

Implement improved 
processes for managing:
- complaints
- HO appeals
- FOIs 

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Housing 
Services

Interim Head of 
Housing 

Housing 
Business Support 
Team Leader

01/03/23 11/03/24 In progress Service Managers Partially on track Complaints handling training  
scheduled for February. Action Plan 
in place, Service Redesign to 
consider resources to meet demand

20 Tenants and 
leaseholders 
understand, and 
are engaged in, 
developing policy 
and practice

Develop and implement a 
Tenant Engagement 
Strategy that reflects best 
practice and a proactive 
approach to engaging 
tenants

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Housing 
Services

Interim Head of 
Housing 

Tenant 
Engagement 
Lead 

01/03/23 01/06/23 In progress Tenant Engagement Lead Partially on track Tenant Engagement Lead - awaiting 
recruitment to post to progress this 
work stream, in the meantime, 
residents meeting continue to 
maintain dialogue 

21 Tenant 
participation is 
resourced 

Employ new Tenant 
Engagement Lead 

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Housing 
Services

Interim Head of 
Housing 

AD Housing

01/03/23 01/05/23 In progress Tenant Engagement Lead Partially on track one round of recruitment complete 
since TEL left the org, no 
appointment made 

22 Tenants and 
leaseholders are 
informed and 
engaged 

Regular communication 
about practice and 
performance 

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Property and 
Housing 
Services 

AD Housing Communications 
lead

01/03/23 30/12/25 In progress Communications Lead Partially on track Tenant Newsletters sent out regularly 
/ resident meetings continue with next 
scheduled, 

23 Tenant satisfaction 
is measured 

Tenant Satisfaction 
Perception Survey for 
100% of all tenants to 
report April 2024

Review current 
mechanisms for collecting 
tenant satisfaction data t 
portal and STAR survey 

Investigate use of tenant 
portal to collect data and 
carrying out a STAR 
survey

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Housing 
Services

Interim Head of 
Housing 

Tenant 
Engagement 
Lead 

01/04/23 30/04/23 In progress Contract with Runnymede. 
Tenant Engagement Lead. 
Audit of tenant contact details.

On track Report received and summary to be 
produced 

24 Good housing 
representation 
from tenants, 
leaseholders and 
sheltered housing 
feeding into the 
work of the Adur 
Homes Advisory 
Board

Tenant, Leaseholder and 
Sheltered housing 
representation to be 
sought for the new Adur 
Homes Advisory Board

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Housing 
Services

AD Housing Tenant 
Engagement 
Lead 

01/03/23 01/05/23 In progress TE lead in place Partially on track 

one round of recruitment complete 
since TEL left the org, no 
appointment made 

224



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Type of 
Initiative 

Service Area 
accountable 

Sponsor Accountable 
Delivery Lead

Start 
date

End 
date

Status Key Dependencies
Necessary for the priority area

Progress 
monitoring

Summary headline of progress - 
end January 2024
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

25 Anti-social 
behaviour is 
effectively 
managed with 
resident 
involvement

Develop ASB policy for 
Adur Homes in accordance 
with Councils' wider ASB 
approach
Secure ASB capacity for 
Adur Homes to deliver this 
work.

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 
Change

Lead for Early 
Help and 
Wellbeing and 
Neighbourhood 
Services 
Manager

Interim Head of 
Housing and 
Head of 
Community 
Capacity and 
Resilience

Lead for Early 
Help and 
Wellbeing

01/04/23 01/06/23 In progress Resources for ASB from AHs
MDT working with Community 
Capacity and Resilience Team

Partially on track ASB post yet to be recruited to

26 Business 
objectives to 
support 
regulatory 
compliance

A leadership 
structure that 
enables AHs to 
serve its residents 
well

Review the staffing 
structure for Adur Homes 
and drive the necessary 
change to deliver a good 
structure, focus and right 
culture for service 
improvement

Business 
Development 
and Service 
Improvement

Housing Services

Director for 
Housing & 
Communities  

Head of Property 
Services
Interim Head of 
Housing

01/06/23 30/06/24 In progress Human Resources, Finance, On track Wider reorganisation for housing 
underway which incorporates tenancy 
services and building services teams 
of Adur Homes. Formal consultation 
of expected to begin in April. 

27 Strategic approach 
to asset 
management 
developed

Develop 5 year and then a 
30 year SAMP to guide 
asset management 
decision making

Business 
Development 
and Service 
Improvement

Director for 
Housing & 
Communities  
and Director of 
Finance 

Director for 
Housing & 
Communities 

Head of Property 
Services 

01/05/23 01/09/24 Not started Director of Place , Finance Not underway This will be incorporated as part of 
the longer term business planning 
document expected to be formally 
signed off Summer 2024.

28 A long-term 
sustainanable 
business plan for 
Adur Homes in 
place

Develop new 30 year 
Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan 

Review options for the 
future direction of the 
service 

Business 
Development 
and Service 
Improvement

Business 
Development & 
Finance 

Director for 
Housing & 
Communities  
and Director of 
Finance 

AD Housing   01/04/23 01/08/23 In progress Financial resources Partially on track Business plan being worked on with a 
proposed date in the Summer (2024) 
for formal sign off. 

29 An accountable 
service that makes 
decisions well

Review governance 
arrangements to ensure  
clear accountability, 
oversight and scrutiny is in 
place against key service 
objectives and KPIs

Provide support to the 
team managers on 
decision making and report 
writing 

Business 
Development 
and Service 
Improvement

Business 
Development & 
Policy

Director for 
Housing and 
Communities

Policy, 
Performance and 
Strategy Lead

01/05/23 30/12/25 Done Housing Improvement Board
Adur Homes Advisory Board

Partially on track PP&S Lead has now been recruited 
and is due to join the service in April.

30 Improve financial 
performance 

Improve income and 
debt/cost recovery in line 
with Councils' new 
corporate debt policy and 
Proactive work

Business 
Development 
and Service 
Improvement

Housing 
Services 

Director for 
Housing & 
Communities  

Head of Housing 01/04/23 30/12/25 In progress New system/system upgrade On track 1) Housing Officers due in post and 
low levels arrears work woll be 
carried out by them (March 24)
2) CS team will be  able to make 
agreements with low level arrears 
cases as letters generate contact
3) System can now produce arrears 
recommendations, systems team 
trained to enable rewrite of the 
recommendations to correct errors 
that exist and amend letter content 
and once all rent increase work is 
complete this can be scheduled
4) Proactive continue to support the 
work
5) Scheduling for Telljo contact in 
process for the forthcomong financial 
year 
6) Legal Team to assist with 1st 
contact for high level cases

225



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Type of 
Initiative 

Service Area 
accountable 

Sponsor Accountable 
Delivery Lead

Start 
date

End 
date

Status Key Dependencies
Necessary for the priority area

Progress 
monitoring

Summary headline of progress - 
end January 2024
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

31 Embed all Audit 
recommendations 
into this 
Improvement Plan

Resolve outstanding 
Housing Audit 
Recommendations 

Business 
Development 
and Service 
Improvement

Housing 
Property 
Services 
Interim Head of 
Housing 

Director Housing 
and 
Communities

AD Housing 01/06/23 30/06/25 In progress On track In progress and to be reviewed by the 
end of the financial year to capture 
any outstanding ones.

32 A workforce fit for 
the future for Adur 
Homes

Implement a Workforce 
Strategy to support 
professional accreditation 
and skills development and 
the effective deployment of 
resources 

Business 
Development 
and Service 
Improvement

AD Housing and 
Homelessness 
Prevention 

Director for 
Housing & 
Communities 

AD Housing and 
Homelessness 
Prevention

01/09/23 01/06/24 Not started Human Resources, Finance Partially on track As we move through the 
implementation of the housing 
redesign we will embed new 
approaches to workforce 
development which maximises 
access to professional qualifications, 
trainee roles and apprenticeships 
where possible. 

226



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

1 Home 
Standard - 
Quality of 
Accommodati
on

All properties meet 
the 'decent homes' 
standard 

Review of assets and data 
that will enable informed 
decisions regarding the 
investment opportunities 
and future requirements for 
homes and ensure suitable 
systems are in place to 
support this work

2 A clear set of 
priorities for 
planned and 
cyclical 
maintenance and 
compliance work 

Review current position 
and develop programme to 
meet regularity and 
legislative standards

3 Develop a clear 
performance 
framework

Establish KPIs for each 
performance area that 
address regulatory 
standards and provide a 
common set of data for 
regular reporting 

4 Effective integrated 
IT system 
supporting all 
housing activity 

Deliver a programme of 
system improvements, 
upgrades and 
procurement, focusing on 
delivering asset 
management with an 
updated tenancy 
management system 

5 Consolidated asset 
management stock 
condition data

Enhance IT capacity to 
manage stock condition 
data 

Summary headline of progress - 
end December  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end November 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end October 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end September 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end August 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Progress on developing both budgets 
and programmes for bringing homes 
to DH standards continues despite no 
appointment made to Asset Manager 
role due to suitable candidates.  
Budgets in final stages before going 
through Council approval process.  
Properties identified and will be 
reviewed following final budget 
figures being confirmed

No appointment made to Asset 
Manager role due to suitable 
candidates.  Review in the New Year 
at options either readvertise for 
permanent or make temp 
appointment to fill gap

Asset Managers advert closing 5th 
Nov

Asset Managers post out to advert JDPS finalised and been through JE.  
Advert to be placed within 7 days

Priorities are known and budgets 
being agreed to enable works to be 
planned.  Great progress being made 
across all areas to bring back into a 
manageable system and process

Due to not appointing to the Asset 
Mgr, this work is delayed but will be 
addressed via existing resources 
while recruitment options are 
explored

Further work needed on confirming 
properties across each programme of 
works, due to recruitment delays to 
Asset Mgrs position this may over run 
slightly.     

Draft capital budget in for approval for 
2024/25 and then detailed 
programme and procurement will be 
developed

Work continues on reviewing current 
work programmes against budgets to 
determine position and this will lead 
to alignment of 2023/24 budgets and 
prepare for 2024/25 budget setting 
process

Not all data provided routinely;  
reports from system not available for 
all reporting required - some can be 
overcome through manual generatio 
(resource heavy)

PP&S post interviews underway.

PP&S post interviews underway.  
Not all data being supplied routinely 
yet for these PIs

PP&S post being created and 
recruited to.
This is being routinely added to the 
Corporate and Housing Leadership 
agendas to review There remains 
some notable gaps in reporting that 
are being addressed (rent arrears, 
complaints.) via groups established 
for system issues.

Working with current system supplier 
around improvements and current 
contract whilst we assess needs and 
next steps. New post within systems 
and applications being recruited to.    

Most high level PIs now being 
collated on a monthly basis; missing 
from January is tenant satisfaction 
indicators (awaiting recruitment to 
post).   P 

Data validation process from current 
system to new has raised some 
issues but being addressed, not a 
major problem just slightly delayed 
the expected 'go live' position

Working group of Housing and Digital 
personel established to review 
existing system and scope for 
procurement of new.

Compliance system to go live in 
October

Long term approach to systems being 
discussed and planned around all 
areas including Housing 
Management

Compliance module approaching the 
final completion of the works with 
final testing to be carried out soon 
before going 'live'

Continued updating on the repairs 
system

Further work continues with Orchard 
on appropriate system changes

Work continues on the new IT 
systems with the development of the 
attributes and data capture points to 
be agreed to ensure existing stock 
condition data can be uploaded and 
importantly the new SCS data that is 
being arranged for starting in 
Feb/Mar can be uploaded directly 
from source of capture

System development continues with 
testing underway

Work continues on the new IT 
systems

Continued development and progress 
in this area

Work continues on developing 
system(s) and their interfaces to each 
other so one set of data across all 
applications/modules

227



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Summary headline of progress - 
end December  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end November 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end October 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end September 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end August 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

6 Stock condition 
audit programme

Improve asset information 
to inform investment 
decisions  including 
identified work and budget 
costs

7 Voids managed 
effectively  

Review processes for 
managing voids to reduce 
cost and improve turn 
around time 

8 Home 
Standard - 
Repairs and 
Maintenance

Repairs service 
delivers first time 
fix - quality 
outcomes, value 
for money, and 
tenant satisfaction 

Undertake a 'rapid review' 
of the repairs service and 
implement changes to the 
service as required 

9 Effective contracts 
in place for asset 
programmes  

Review and where 
necessary reissue 
contracts for asset 
programmes 

10 Clarity and 
compliance with 
health and safety, 
compliance 
policies and 
procedures  

Review and update all 
health and safety 
compliance policies and 
procedures to ensure 
effective control - develop 
a compliance dashboard 

11 Clarity of data 
around compliance 
issues/progress

Review data to identify 
areas that require 
compliance action and 
initiate action to address 
this

Work continues to procure contractor 
and specification requirements, all on 
track

Work continues to procure contractor 
and specification requirements, all on 
track

Finalising projected costs, further 
discussions with contractors and then 
suitably procurement route to be 
identified, work to start at the earliest 
in Jan/Feb, latest Apr/May on a full 
SCS across all homes

Discussions to be had with Worthing 
Homes on their recently appointed 
contract on whether AH can join to 
include our properties on their stock 
condition surveys

Following feedback the programme 
will be realigned to update all 
property data within 24 months, 
contract documents need to be 
developed and work tendered 

Pre-start meetings complete with two 
new contractors, contractors 
mobilising during December with a 
start in January.  New process and 
procedures being implemented to 
streamline and become more efficient 
in turning around the void properties

Ongoing - weekly voids meetings 
take place to priortise voids work for 
properties to meet  urgent known 
need e.g. management transfers

Documents finalised amd pre-start 
meetings being held early December 
ith two new contractors with works to 
commence soon after

Documents with legal for finalising Slight delay in document review due 
to resource issue but on course for 
agreement in October

Contract documents are with 
Procurement/Legal and in final 
stages. Contract aimed to be in place 
by end of September 

Review start has been delayed due to 
other priorities until New Year

Review start has been delayed due to 
other priorities until New Year

Full review is planned to commence 
in November

Full review is planned to commence 
in November

Provisional structure developed for 
further analysis

The monitoring of contracts 
continues.  Going forward as and 
when new contracts are required 
across the service, the emphasis will 
be on using consortiums for long term 
contracts and tendering for 
specialised work where necessary, 
with this saving time and money in 
undertaking a full tender process.

The regular monitoring of contracts is 
continuing and a list of up and 
coming contracts either renewals or 
new have been identified for works to 
commence

The regular monitoring of contracts is 
continuing and a list of up and 
coming contracts either renewals or 
new have been identified for works to 
commence

The regular monitoring of contracts is 
continuing and a list of up and 
coming contracts either renewals or 
new have been identified for works to 
commence

The regular monitoring of contracts is 
continuing and a list of up and 
coming contracts either renewals or 
new have been identified for works to 
commence

Work continues on policies & 
procedures

Work continues on policies & 
procedures

Sheltered and Gen Needs resident 
engagement groups: TORS drafted, 
Sheltered Group 1st meet in 
December, Gen Needs January. 
Reading panel with be established for 
engagement on policy.

Dashboard as part of the systems 
detailed in Priority 4

Work to continues on policies & 
procedures

Compliance Manager recruited and 
as internal starts with immediate 
effect.  Work to continues on policies 
& procedures

Confidence with data is there, the 
important work on the IT systems as 
detailed in priority 4 above continues

Confidence with data is there, the 
important work on the IT systems as 
detailed in priority 4 above continues

Confidence with data is there, the 
important work on the IT systems as 
detailed in priority 4 above continues

Confidence has grown in the data 
position with the development of the 
new IT system and recording of 
information

Development work progressing well 
in new compliance application within 
MATS and T100 reporting.  
Compliance Manager recruited to 
take this forward

228



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Summary headline of progress - 
end December  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end November 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end October 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end September 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end August 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

12 All health and 
safety compliance 
requirements are 
met 

Ensure compliance with all 
legislative requirements 
for; 
- gas
- fire safety
- electrical safety (including 
EICRs)
- legionella
- carbon monoxide
- asbestos
- FRAs for sheltered 
housing
- lifts and stair lifts
- new building regulations

13 An effective 
approach to 
managing damp 
and mould for 
tenants 

Review and implement 
processes to proactively 
identify, prioritise and 
mitigate damp and mould

14 An effective 
customer access 
procedure

Review current access 
procedures for compliance 
work and ensure an 
effective procedure is in 
place

15 Tenant 
Involvement 
and 
Empowermen
t Standard - 
Customer 
service, 
choice, 
complaints

Tenancy type 
allocated 
accurately

Review current tenancy 
type allocation policy and 
procedure 

16 Clear, accessible 
information for 
tenants 

Update Tenant Handbook 
to provide clear information 
about services  and tenant 
and landlord 
responsibilities. Improve 
the self-service offer for 
tenants

17 Transparent and 
effective housing 
management 
polices

Review and update 
housing (tenancy and 
asset) management 
policies

18 Leasehold 
properties are well 
managed 

Develop new leaseholder 
management policies, 
including income and 
major works payment 

Continued improvements across all 
areas of compliance with the use of 
the new systems and ways of 
working

Continued improvements across all 
areas of compliance with the use of 
the new systems and ways of 
working

Continued improvements across all 
areas of compliance with the use of 
the new systems and ways of 
working

Continued improvements across all 
areas of compliance with the use of 
the new systems and ways of 
working

Up to date information available, 
progress underway to align work 
programmes and contracts to meet 
legislative requirements.

Current monitoring and recording of 
compliance and progress with 
monthly reports to the Regulator.

Progress continues with tackling 
reported areas of damp/mould.  A 
new process is being explored with a 
mould wash and clean undertaken 
within 5 working day of the report, 
this to treat areas of damp and mould 
while necessary works are identified 
and programmed in

Progress continues with a more direct 
approach being explored to treat 
areas of damp and mould while 
identified works are identified and 
programmed in

The new IT system currently being 
tested by users that will enhance and 
improve the process

Operational aspects from the receipt 
of report of D&M from the resident 
including the collection of data 
through the initial triage process to 
the recording of such data within our 
IT systems to the scheduling of an 
initial inspection and the follow on 
works that are required to resolve the 
causes including works to the 
property and advice being provided to 
manage the causes

Operational aspects from the receipt 
of report of D&M from the resident 
including the collection of data 
through the initial triage process to 
the recording of such data within our 
IT systems to the scheduling of an 
initial inspection and the follow on 
works that are required to resolve the 
causes including works to the 
property and advice being provided to 
manage the causes

Procedure agreed, full 
implementation cannot occur until 
new staff start as requires Housing 
Officer resource 

Work proceeding with MRI, and the 
councils data and systems officer ( 
Housing)  to ensure direct access can 
be identified and quarterly rent 
statements reinstated 

Interim arrangement agreed between 
relevant teams, procedure to follow. 

Draft tenancy agreement and 
handbook in final stages of review 
with internal teams and tenant 
consultation being scheduled

Tenant handboook and tenancy 
agreement written and being 
reviewed for sign off by SHO and 
Head of Housing. Deadline for 
submission on track.

Tenancy Agreement/Tenant 
Handbook -  1st draft complete and 
timetabled for engagement /approval 
and to support policy development

Draft tenancy agreement and 
handbook in final stages of review 
with internal teams and tenant 
consultation being scheduled

A draft tenant handbook has been 
written. Additional sections to be 
added on 1. Useful numbers 2. ASB 
3.Introductory tenancies 4. Shletered 
tenancies 5. Garages 6 RTB  Final 
draft aim for 2/1/24 

Tenancy Handbook 1st draft 
complete and timetabled for 
engagement /approval

Mutual Exchnage policy completed 
ASB policy in progress with working 
group. Policies oustanding for rewrite;
1. Rent Arrears Policy 2. Downsizing 
incentive policy  3. Tenancy policy 

Policies in porgress: ASB/Mutual 
Exchange

Policies reviewed and 'RAG' rated 
with proposal to timetable

Sheltered and Gen Needs resident 
engagement groups: TORS drafted, 
Sheltered Group 1st meet in 
December, Gen Needs January. 
Reading panel with be established for 
engagement on policy.

No further update The following LH policies are now 
complete:
Leasehold Management Policy
Major Works Policy
Service Charge Income Collection 
Policy

Policy approved

229



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Summary headline of progress - 
end December  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end November 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end October 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end September 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end August 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

19 Complaints and 
FOIs are managed 
in line with service 
standards  

Implement improved 
processes for managing:
- complaints
- HO appeals
- FOIs 

20 Tenants and 
leaseholders 
understand, and 
are engaged in, 
developing policy 
and practice

Develop and implement a 
Tenant Engagement 
Strategy that reflects best 
practice and a proactive 
approach to engaging 
tenants

21 Tenant 
participation is 
resourced 

Employ new Tenant 
Engagement Lead 

22 Tenants and 
leaseholders are 
informed and 
engaged 

Regular communication 
about practice and 
performance 

23 Tenant satisfaction 
is measured 

Tenant Satisfaction 
Perception Survey for 
100% of all tenants to 
report April 2024

Review current 
mechanisms for collecting 
tenant satisfaction data t 
portal and STAR survey 

Investigate use of tenant 
portal to collect data and 
carrying out a STAR 
survey

24 Good housing 
representation 
from tenants, 
leaseholders and 
sheltered housing 
feeding into the 
work of the Adur 
Homes Advisory 
Board

Tenant, Leaseholder and 
Sheltered housing 
representation to be 
sought for the new Adur 
Homes Advisory Board

Draft Complaints P&P and internal 
process out for comments, also 
seeking customer feedback before 
finalising.

HO referrals & determinations now 
being logged, intention to investigate 
digital options for reporting & 
monitoring.

FOI's process yet to be looked at.

Report for CLT being prepared with 
Tenancy Services and  AD Customer 
Services. training for staff identified 
and booked (to meet new regss)

Self assessment complete with action 
plan in place

Drafted but will be dealyed until new 
TEL in post

Drafted but will be dealyed until new 
TEL in post

Leaseholder engagement 
established. Gen Needs  and 
Sheltered Groups draft TORS 
complete with 1st meetings 
timetabled for December (sheltered) 
and January (Gen Needs). TE 
Strategy in first draft.

recruitment agreed TEL no longer in post TEL resigned
Resident Engaement meetings taken 
place in November and December, 
volunteers for interim Reading Panel 
secured,

TEL resigned, estblishment of 
resident groups will be delayed until 
knew TEL in post

Tenant Newsletter established, KPIs 
to be encorporate now established, 
system work to enable digital comms 
underway. Sheltered housing 
resident group set to begin again in 
January and work being done to 
resume tenants forum. TSM survey 
sent out with a high response rate 
being achieved. 

All Tenant Survey completed, 
minimum response required 
exceeded, awaiting report with 
outcomes

All tenant survey continues, with 
telephone contact phase scheduled

We have received 556 completed 
responses which meets the required 
minimum for margin of error 
purposes. Reports will be written on 
the results in December and 
presented to us in January

TEL recruitment to take place

Leaseholder rep in place, Gen Needs 
and Sheltered reps to be progressed 
wjennew TEL recruited

TEL has resigned Leaseholder group establised with 
member on the Advisory Board.  
Sheltered and Gen Needs will elect 
reps for the Advisory Board once 
resident groups established.

230



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Summary headline of progress - 
end December  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end November 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end October 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end September 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end August 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

25 Anti-social 
behaviour is 
effectively 
managed with 
resident 
involvement

Develop ASB policy for 
Adur Homes in accordance 
with Councils' wider ASB 
approach
Secure ASB capacity for 
Adur Homes to deliver this 
work.

26 Business 
objectives to 
support 
regulatory 
compliance

A leadership 
structure that 
enables AHs to 
serve its residents 
well

Review the staffing 
structure for Adur Homes 
and drive the necessary 
change to deliver a good 
structure, focus and right 
culture for service 
improvement

27 Strategic approach 
to asset 
management 
developed

Develop 5 year and then a 
30 year SAMP to guide 
asset management 
decision making

28 A long-term 
sustainanable 
business plan for 
Adur Homes in 
place

Develop new 30 year 
Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan 

Review options for the 
future direction of the 
service 

29 An accountable 
service that makes 
decisions well

Review governance 
arrangements to ensure  
clear accountability, 
oversight and scrutiny is in 
place against key service 
objectives and KPIs

Provide support to the 
team managers on 
decision making and report 
writing 

30 Improve financial 
performance 

Improve income and 
debt/cost recovery in line 
with Councils' new 
corporate debt policy and 
Proactive work

A specialist ASB Housing Officer is 
being recruited. Interviews 22/1/23. 
Meetings planned with ASB lead and 
SHO to progress new ASB policy   

Job Evaluation has taken place and 
recruitment authorisation to be 
sought

Recruitment to ASB post in progress: 
JD to be timetabled for evaluation

Structure proposal in final stages, 
consultation papers being written

This is being reviewed and a 
consultation will be carried out with 
the housing team  with a new 
organisational design for housing to 
be completed by the Spring 24

Waiting the start of the new AD on 
the 14th November and Asset 
Managers advert closes 5th 
November

New AD starting in November

Structure below now to be reviewed 
and commencement of finalising 
positions etc

Asset Manager - out to advert

AD post interviews complete and 
appointment made

Compliance Manager appointed and 
in post.  Structure below now to be 
reviewed and commencement of 
finalising positions etc

Asset Manager - internal 
documentation complete and going to 
advert in September

Outline of SAMP developed. 
Dependant on approval of HRA 
Business Plan that is going to 
Members in the Spring

Outline of SAMP developed. 
Dependant on approval of HRA 
Business Plan 

Outline of SAMP developed. 
Dependant on approval of HRA 
Business Plan 

Outline of SAMP developed. 
Dependant on approval of HRA 
Business Plan 

This is being developed and will be 
taken to the Board in the spring. The 
financial element of this work is also 
underway to determine rent levels 
and this is being taken to Members in 
Feb

The draft of this plan is being 
reviewed at CLT Nov, then to the 
Adur Homes Board December and 
onto the Adur Cabinet in the NY

New governance approach in place 
but still being implemented. Not all 
pieces are in place yet with the AHs 
Board - this is missing some key 
tenant reps who will be included after 
we recruit the Tenant Engagement 
Lead

x2 of 3 Proactive case workers due to 
start in Jan&Feb, recruitment for 3rd 
to go externally

Low level arrears pilot with Customer 
Services underway

MRI/Orchard trainin taken place: 
priorty 1 - rent setting Priority 2 
resolve arrears recommendations: 
Part one - amend to ensure 
recommendations correct Part two - 
revise auto generated letters in line 
with policy and proactive

Low levels arrears pilot with 
Customers Services Agreed and to 
start in November: protocol agreed / 
decision tree agreed  training 
completed

Weekly arrears meetings for high 
level cases in place - number of high 
level cases reducing

Systems workshop on 09.11.23. 
Working groups estbalished for 
arrears cohorts. Proactive post 
recruitment underway. Reacharge 
policy to follow once terms of tenancy 
/ handbook agreed

231



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Summary headline of progress - 
end December  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end November 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end October 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end September 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - 
end August 2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

31 Embed all Audit 
recommendations 
into this 
Improvement Plan

Resolve outstanding 
Housing Audit 
Recommendations 

32 A workforce fit for 
the future for Adur 
Homes

Implement a Workforce 
Strategy to support 
professional accreditation 
and skills development and 
the effective deployment of 
resources 

In progress and to be reviewed by the 
end of the financial year to capture 
any outstanding ones.

In progress and to be reviewed by the 
end of the financial year to capture 
any outstanding ones.

Majority of oustanding complete with 
remainder included in Improvment 
Plan. 

Proposal to incorporate Audit 
recommendations into Housing 
Improvement Plan to go to Joint Audit 
and Governance Committeee in 
September 2023 

Each audit action should be 
embdedded into core updates

This will get underway in the spring This will get underway in the spring Awaiting the new AD to drive this 
work forward.   Initial work has begun 
to map skills across the team

232



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

1 Home 
Standard - 
Quality of 
Accommodati
on

All properties meet 
the 'decent homes' 
standard 

Review of assets and data 
that will enable informed 
decisions regarding the 
investment opportunities 
and future requirements for 
homes and ensure suitable 
systems are in place to 
support this work

2 A clear set of 
priorities for 
planned and 
cyclical 
maintenance and 
compliance work 

Review current position 
and develop programme to 
meet regularity and 
legislative standards

3 Develop a clear 
performance 
framework

Establish KPIs for each 
performance area that 
address regulatory 
standards and provide a 
common set of data for 
regular reporting 

4 Effective integrated 
IT system 
supporting all 
housing activity 

Deliver a programme of 
system improvements, 
upgrades and 
procurement, focusing on 
delivering asset 
management with an 
updated tenancy 
management system 

5 Consolidated asset 
management stock 
condition data

Enhance IT capacity to 
manage stock condition 
data 

Summary headline of progress - 
end July  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - June 
2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise any 
main issue, progress and any blockers.

Project plan template 
Link to be added here
Project planning template 
- to be copied 

Audit recommendations 
connected here 

This work is awaiting the recruitment 
to the new Asset Managers position 
who will lead on this aspect

Recruitment to Asset Managers position 
underway who will lead on this aspect

Work has commenced on reviewing 
current work programmes against 
budgets to determine position and 
this will lead to alignment of 2023/24 
budgets and prepare for 2024/25 
budget setting process

Work has commenced on reviewing 
current work programmes against 
budgets to determine position and this will 
lead to alignment of 2023/24 budgets and 
prepare for 2024/25 budget setting 
process

See Audit Committee 
Recommendations

This is in place and the first set for 
July is in the process of being 
populated. To note that not all of 
these PIs can be collected right now 
(data/systems issues) 

Performance Framework and reporting 
format developed with 1st reporting 
sceduled for  September JAGCommittee.  
Not all data can be collated yet due to 
system issues. 

A clear performance 
framework  

Second tier reporting 
template

See Audit Committee 
Recommendations

Development of the compliance 
module is underway. A discovery into 
issues around repairs has been 
undertaken, and changes in the 
system and processes are now being 
developed. Consideration also of 
Orchard upgrades and purchase of 
asset management module to deliver 
an integrated system 

Initial scoping of asset requirements 
underway. Consideration also of Orchard 
upgrades and purchase of asset 
management module to dleiver an 
integrated system 

See Audit Committee 
Recommendations

Digital team developing new/updated 
system on MATS to include asset 
management and compliance data as 
well as full asset information

Digital team developing new/updated 
system on MATS to include asset 
management and compliance data as 
well as full asset information

233

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560


Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Summary headline of progress - 
end July  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - June 
2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise any 
main issue, progress and any blockers.

Project plan template 
Link to be added here
Project planning template 
- to be copied 

Audit recommendations 
connected here 

6 Stock condition 
audit programme

Improve asset information 
to inform investment 
decisions  including 
identified work and budget 
costs

7 Voids managed 
effectively  

Review processes for 
managing voids to reduce 
cost and improve turn 
around time 

8 Home 
Standard - 
Repairs and 
Maintenance

Repairs service 
delivers first time 
fix - quality 
outcomes, value 
for money, and 
tenant satisfaction 

Undertake a 'rapid review' 
of the repairs service and 
implement changes to the 
service as required 

9 Effective contracts 
in place for asset 
programmes  

Review and where 
necessary reissue 
contracts for asset 
programmes 

10 Clarity and 
compliance with 
health and safety, 
compliance 
policies and 
procedures  

Review and update all 
health and safety 
compliance policies and 
procedures to ensure 
effective control - develop 
a compliance dashboard 

11 Clarity of data 
around compliance 
issues/progress

Review data to identify 
areas that require 
compliance action and 
initiate action to address 
this

20% of stock surveys will be built into 
the budget forecast for 2024/25

Use of data from 2017/18 surveys for 
short term planning whilst systems and 
data capture methodologies are 
investigated, this will commence when we 
have more accurate completion date.  
Future proposals will be 20% of stock 
surveyed per annum along with other 
works that can identify and capture the 
data e.g. EPC. capital works, repairs etc

Procurement of contractors process 
started with Council approval process 
being followed with approval provided 
on 28/07.  Relevant internal 
process/forms are being followed

Concentration on clearing backlog and 
getting resources to achieve this.  
Procurement process to commence to 
employ two further contractors to provide 
support.

Work to update and implement new 
policies and procedures will start in 
parallel of this.  These will ensure the 
future void process is managed and 
efficient from start to finish

Repairs manager has drawn up a 
structure chart for the Building 
Services department. This will help to 
understand a structure and delivery 
capacity of the team.

Repairs manager has drawn up a 
structure chart for the Building Services 
department. This will help to understand a 
structure and delivery capacity of the 
team.

See Audit Committee 
Recommendations

Regular monitoring of contracts in 
place and in advance of contracts 
coming to an end, they are reviewed 
and retendered where necessary.  
Any new projects/works that are 
identified and existing contracts not in 
place then options are considered 
and correct procurement processes 
are followed

Procurement working group in place See Audit Committee 
Recommendations

Recruitment to Compliance 
Managers underway with interim 
dashboard developed both within 
documents but importantly being 
developed within our IT system with 
direct input from contractors and 
officers being incoporated.

Policies and procedures are in the 
process of being reviewed, created 
and updated

Recruitment to Compliance Managers 
role underway who will lead on this

Policies and procedures are in the 
process of being reviewed, created and 
updated

See Audit Committee 
Recommendations

Development work progressing well 
in new compliance application within 
MATS and T100 reporting

Up to date information available, progress 
underway to align work programmes and 
contracts to meet legislative requirements

234

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560


Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Summary headline of progress - 
end July  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - June 
2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise any 
main issue, progress and any blockers.

Project plan template 
Link to be added here
Project planning template 
- to be copied 

Audit recommendations 
connected here 

12 All health and 
safety compliance 
requirements are 
met 

Ensure compliance with all 
legislative requirements 
for; 
- gas
- fire safety
- electrical safety (including 
EICRs)
- legionella
- carbon monoxide
- asbestos
- FRAs for sheltered 
housing
- lifts and stair lifts
- new building regulations

13 An effective 
approach to 
managing damp 
and mould for 
tenants 

Review and implement 
processes to proactively 
identify, prioritise and 
mitigate damp and mould

14 An effective 
customer access 
procedure

Review current access 
procedures for compliance 
work and ensure an 
effective procedure is in 
place

15 Tenant 
Involvement 
and 
Empowermen
t Standard - 
Customer 
service, 
choice, 
complaints

Tenancy type 
allocated 
accurately

Review current tenancy 
type allocation policy and 
procedure 

16 Clear, accessible 
information for 
tenants 

Update Tenant Handbook 
to provide clear information 
about services  and tenant 
and landlord 
responsibilities. Improve 
the self-service offer for 
tenants

17 Transparent and 
effective housing 
management 
polices

Review and update 
housing (tenancy and 
asset) management 
policies

18 Leasehold 
properties are well 
managed 

Develop new leaseholder 
management policies, 
including income and 
major works payment 

Up to date information available, 
progress underway to align work 
programmes and contracts to meet 
legislative requirements.

Current monitoring and recording of 
compliance and progress with 
monthly reports to the Regulator.

August report

Up to date information available, progress 
underway to align work programmes and 
contracts to meet legislative requirements

Operational aspects from the receipt 
of report of D&M from the resident 
including the collection of data 
through the initial triage process to 
the recording of such data within our 
IT systems to the scheduling of an 
initial inspection and the follow on 
works that are required to resolve the 
causes including works to the 
property and advice being provided to 
manage the causes

Processes both operational and 
electronic are being reviewed and 
changes implemented across all service 
input areas

Ensure the Resident Liaison Officer 
has access to HMS and is able to see 
any User Defined Codes that are 
applicable befoer an appointment is 
made. 

encorporated into Policy and Procedure 
Review

No current Tenancy Type Policy is in 
place and will need to be developed 
along with the systems team to 
ensure the systems can manage this.

See Audit Committee 
Recommendations

This will be managed by the 
Community Engagment Lead with 
consultation with residents of all 
tenure.

Tenant Handbook drafted - consultation 
with tenants and stakeholders to follow as 
well as development of accessible and 
digital fomats

Adur Homes Tenant 
Handbook 2023

This will be progressed when the 
Policy lead is in post with consultation 
with residents.

Review of current policies complete and 
policy gaps identified - further work to 
scope the project to review and update 
policy devleopment required

Policies list

New policies now in place are: LH 
Management Policy, Major Works 
Policy and income collection policy.

New policies include: Leasehold 
Management Policy, Capital Works 
Policy, Income Collection Policy.

See Audit Committee 
Recommendations

235

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1M1NWKK5I9nRU05gOGMucNRlvDF1x3ovo
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1M1NWKK5I9nRU05gOGMucNRlvDF1x3ovo
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1FidItrJz7z4_cv2sHwOqv4-viihmUUK2zFfyfxSDeGg/edit#gid=0
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560


Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Summary headline of progress - 
end July  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - June 
2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise any 
main issue, progress and any blockers.

Project plan template 
Link to be added here
Project planning template 
- to be copied 

Audit recommendations 
connected here 

19 Complaints and 
FOIs are managed 
in line with service 
standards  

Implement improved 
processes for managing:
- complaints
- HO appeals
- FOIs 

20 Tenants and 
leaseholders 
understand, and 
are engaged in, 
developing policy 
and practice

Develop and implement a 
Tenant Engagement 
Strategy that reflects best 
practice and a proactive 
approach to engaging 
tenants

21 Tenant 
participation is 
resourced 

Employ new Tenant 
Engagement Lead 

22 Tenants and 
leaseholders are 
informed and 
engaged 

Regular communication 
about practice and 
performance 

23 Tenant satisfaction 
is measured 

Tenant Satisfaction 
Perception Survey for 
100% of all tenants to 
report April 2024

Review current 
mechanisms for collecting 
tenant satisfaction data t 
portal and STAR survey 

Investigate use of tenant 
portal to collect data and 
carrying out a STAR 
survey

24 Good housing 
representation 
from tenants, 
leaseholders and 
sheltered housing 
feeding into the 
work of the Adur 
Homes Advisory 
Board

Tenant, Leaseholder and 
Sheltered housing 
representation to be 
sought for the new Adur 
Homes Advisory Board

Complaints action plan in place 
outlining detailed work in relation to 
Ombudsman requirements, covering 
new complaints process, training for 
staff etc.

Key issues around complaints 
backlog being worked through and 
long delays.  

Complaints group in place chaired by 
the Director for H&C to drive forward 
this work

New complaints policy developed and in 
place

See Audit Committee 
Recommendations

Work to be developed. Tenant E 
Lead has been liaising with residents 
and members and has been busy 
recruiting tenants to engage in this 
work.

Tenant Engagement Lead appointed and 
areas of work identified, early meetings 
with tenants and leaseholders held 

DRAFT Areas of Work 
for the Tenant 
Engagement Lead

Completed.

Tenant Engagement Lead appointed and 
areas of work identified, early meetings 
with tenants and leaseholders held

Work ongoing on third newsletter 2 newsletters sent to tenants, meetings 
with tenants and leaseholders held 

Newsletters are stored 
here https://www.adur-
worthing.gov.uk/adur-
homes/information-and-
publications/newsletter/

Update Work is progressed, partnering with 
Runnymed Council.  Invitation to tender 
for tenant satisfaction survey now issued 
by Runnymede on behalf of Runnymede, 
Adur, and Tandridge Councils. Survey 
work to be undertaken September 2023.

Tenant portal to also be inlcuded in IT 
system scoping and updgrade project.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
08/08/23 - The tender bids have now 
been evaluated. Runnymede, Tandridge 
and Adur all scored the bid from Acuity 
the highest. This is now going through the 
procurement process. I am due to meet 
with Runnymede & Tandridge next week 
so should have more of an update then. 

Second meeting due in September.  
We do not yet have in place a tenant 
representative or a sheltered housing 
representative.  

Leaseholder representative in place. 
Others to be developed when the TEL is 
in post

236

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1eM9Lpw41291YAQImKqJBptYlvVk6YNP9JcBQJvUjBwg/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1eM9Lpw41291YAQImKqJBptYlvVk6YNP9JcBQJvUjBwg/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1eM9Lpw41291YAQImKqJBptYlvVk6YNP9JcBQJvUjBwg/edit


Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Summary headline of progress - 
end July  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - June 
2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise any 
main issue, progress and any blockers.

Project plan template 
Link to be added here
Project planning template 
- to be copied 

Audit recommendations 
connected here 

25 Anti-social 
behaviour is 
effectively 
managed with 
resident 
involvement

Develop ASB policy for 
Adur Homes in accordance 
with Councils' wider ASB 
approach
Secure ASB capacity for 
Adur Homes to deliver this 
work.

26 Business 
objectives to 
support 
regulatory 
compliance

A leadership 
structure that 
enables AHs to 
serve its residents 
well

Review the staffing 
structure for Adur Homes 
and drive the necessary 
change to deliver a good 
structure, focus and right 
culture for service 
improvement

27 Strategic approach 
to asset 
management 
developed

Develop 5 year and then a 
30 year SAMP to guide 
asset management 
decision making

28 A long-term 
sustainanable 
business plan for 
Adur Homes in 
place

Develop new 30 year 
Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan 

Review options for the 
future direction of the 
service 

29 An accountable 
service that makes 
decisions well

Review governance 
arrangements to ensure  
clear accountability, 
oversight and scrutiny is in 
place against key service 
objectives and KPIs

Provide support to the 
team managers on 
decision making and report 
writing 

30 Improve financial 
performance 

Improve income and 
debt/cost recovery in line 
with Councils' new 
corporate debt policy and 
Proactive work

ASB Officer post within establishment 
to support this. Yet to be recruited.

ASB work is being driven by the 
corporate ASB lead and Tenancy 
services currently but this lacks capacity.  
ASB policy is not yet developed.

AD post interviews underway
Compliance Manager being 
advertised early August
Asset Manager going to JE early 
August
Main structure being reviewed to 
make most urgent changes to add 
capacity and skills as required.  

Assistant Director for Housing position 
advertised. Positions of Head of Property 
filled and Interim Head of Housing filled. 
Other key posts underway (Compliance 
Manager, Asset Manager)
Tenancy Services structure being 
reviewed
Systems team and infrastructure to 
support AHs being reviewed 
Full staff structure to be implement in 
autumn 2023/4

See Audit Committee 
Recommendations

Outline of SAMP developed. 
Dependant on approval of HRA 
Business Plan 

Outline of SAMP developed. Dependant 
on approval of HRA Business Plan 

Strategic Asset 
Management Plan 

The draft needs to be reviewed at the 
AHHB first

HRA Business Plan drafted and awaiting 
final completion and approval 

Sustinable financial 
plan for housing  

Governance is in place now.  
Decision and report writing training 
completed with Managers. Reports 
being prepared for key committee 
meetings in September to ensure 
oversight.  Audit actions are being 
embdedded into this plan

Governance arrangements reviewed and 
proposal developed and presented to 
CLT and to committee (JACG and Adur 
Committee)
Revisions to the AHs Board agreed and 
to be taken to committees in Sept for 
formal approval
Proposal for governance overhaul to be 
fully reported to Members in Sept at 
committees (JACG )
KPIs developed for regular reporting to 
Joint Audit and Governance Committee, 
Joint Strategic Sub-committee (Adur), 
Adur Homes Advisory Board and Council 
Leadership Team  

Effective governance of 
Adur Homes

There are significant issues being 
worked through with regard to 
recovery of rent arrears for tenants, 
which have been impacted by rent 
setting delays.  These are to be 
added to the corporate risk register.

Proactive Casework post to be 
recruited to shortly once evaluated 
which will help support this work.

AWC has approved a new corporate debt 
policy to optimise debt reduction and 
collection whilst recognising residents 
difficulties. UK Shared Prosperity funding 
to be used to support additional Proactive 
capacity in 2023-2025 

Continued actioning of Leasehold Section 
20 process across all Capital works to 
ensure cost recovery where appropriate 
and necessary

237

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit#gid=1493405560
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1N9Prn99JFK7Ca49B2IjKG6c0oqgpRDkcK0WqJO0yRIk/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1N9Prn99JFK7Ca49B2IjKG6c0oqgpRDkcK0WqJO0yRIk/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1h32zOA_3yf-NuUu52scV5Ly5VcDfNDwOBZHo8wBypEs/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1h32zOA_3yf-NuUu52scV5Ly5VcDfNDwOBZHo8wBypEs/edit
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1hBfeF0wE1GZQIqdiKNeDo2B3Sb4XhKIZHPz1AEVqFdY/edit#slide=id.p
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1hBfeF0wE1GZQIqdiKNeDo2B3Sb4XhKIZHPz1AEVqFdY/edit#slide=id.p


Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Summary headline of progress - 
end July  2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise 
any main issue, progress and any 
blockers.

Summary headline of progress - June 
2023
NOTES: This needs to summarise any 
main issue, progress and any blockers.

Project plan template 
Link to be added here
Project planning template 
- to be copied 

Audit recommendations 
connected here 

31 Embed all Audit 
recommendations 
into this 
Improvement Plan

Resolve outstanding 
Housing Audit 
Recommendations 

32 A workforce fit for 
the future for Adur 
Homes

Implement a Workforce 
Strategy to support 
professional accreditation 
and skills development and 
the effective deployment of 
resources 

Proposal to incorporate Audit 
recommendations into Housing 
Improvement Plan to go to Joint Audit 
and Governance Committeee in 
September 2023 

Each audit action should be 
embdedded into core updates

Proposal to incorporate Audit 
recommendations into Housing 
Improvement Plan to go to Joint Audit 
and Governance Committeee in 
September 2023 

Housing Audit 
Recommendations  

Project to be developed when the 
new Assistant Director of Housing is 
in post 

Project to be developed when the new 
Assistant Director of Housing is in post 

238

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/u/0/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/u/0/d/1MeWteywvIVKJUyChUskKu9qkzt51lh5Iwqm_LLBXYcY/edit


Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

1 Home 
Standard - 
Quality of 
Accommodati
on

All properties meet 
the 'decent homes' 
standard 

Review of assets and data 
that will enable informed 
decisions regarding the 
investment opportunities 
and future requirements for 
homes and ensure suitable 
systems are in place to 
support this work

2 A clear set of 
priorities for 
planned and 
cyclical 
maintenance and 
compliance work 

Review current position 
and develop programme to 
meet regularity and 
legislative standards

3 Develop a clear 
performance 
framework

Establish KPIs for each 
performance area that 
address regulatory 
standards and provide a 
common set of data for 
regular reporting 

4 Effective integrated 
IT system 
supporting all 
housing activity 

Deliver a programme of 
system improvements, 
upgrades and 
procurement, focusing on 
delivering asset 
management with an 
updated tenancy 
management system 

5 Consolidated asset 
management stock 
condition data

Enhance IT capacity to 
manage stock condition 
data 

Recorded by Additional notes Project Brief

239



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Recorded by Additional notes Project Brief
6 Stock condition 

audit programme
Improve asset information 
to inform investment 
decisions  including 
identified work and budget 
costs

7 Voids managed 
effectively  

Review processes for 
managing voids to reduce 
cost and improve turn 
around time 

8 Home 
Standard - 
Repairs and 
Maintenance

Repairs service 
delivers first time 
fix - quality 
outcomes, value 
for money, and 
tenant satisfaction 

Undertake a 'rapid review' 
of the repairs service and 
implement changes to the 
service as required 

9 Effective contracts 
in place for asset 
programmes  

Review and where 
necessary reissue 
contracts for asset 
programmes 

10 Clarity and 
compliance with 
health and safety, 
compliance 
policies and 
procedures  

Review and update all 
health and safety 
compliance policies and 
procedures to ensure 
effective control - develop 
a compliance dashboard 

11 Clarity of data 
around compliance 
issues/progress

Review data to identify 
areas that require 
compliance action and 
initiate action to address 
this

240



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Recorded by Additional notes Project Brief
12 All health and 

safety compliance 
requirements are 
met 

Ensure compliance with all 
legislative requirements 
for; 
- gas
- fire safety
- electrical safety (including 
EICRs)
- legionella
- carbon monoxide
- asbestos
- FRAs for sheltered 
housing
- lifts and stair lifts
- new building regulations

13 An effective 
approach to 
managing damp 
and mould for 
tenants 

Review and implement 
processes to proactively 
identify, prioritise and 
mitigate damp and mould

14 An effective 
customer access 
procedure

Review current access 
procedures for compliance 
work and ensure an 
effective procedure is in 
place

15 Tenant 
Involvement 
and 
Empowermen
t Standard - 
Customer 
service, 
choice, 
complaints

Tenancy type 
allocated 
accurately

Review current tenancy 
type allocation policy and 
procedure 

16 Clear, accessible 
information for 
tenants 

Update Tenant Handbook 
to provide clear information 
about services  and tenant 
and landlord 
responsibilities. Improve 
the self-service offer for 
tenants

17 Transparent and 
effective housing 
management 
polices

Review and update 
housing (tenancy and 
asset) management 
policies

18 Leasehold 
properties are well 
managed 

Develop new leaseholder 
management policies, 
including income and 
major works payment 241



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Recorded by Additional notes Project Brief
19 Complaints and 

FOIs are managed 
in line with service 
standards  

Implement improved 
processes for managing:
- complaints
- HO appeals
- FOIs 

20 Tenants and 
leaseholders 
understand, and 
are engaged in, 
developing policy 
and practice

Develop and implement a 
Tenant Engagement 
Strategy that reflects best 
practice and a proactive 
approach to engaging 
tenants

21 Tenant 
participation is 
resourced 

Employ new Tenant 
Engagement Lead 

22 Tenants and 
leaseholders are 
informed and 
engaged 

Regular communication 
about practice and 
performance 

23 Tenant satisfaction 
is measured 

Tenant Satisfaction 
Perception Survey for 
100% of all tenants to 
report April 2024

Review current 
mechanisms for collecting 
tenant satisfaction data t 
portal and STAR survey 

Investigate use of tenant 
portal to collect data and 
carrying out a STAR 
survey

24 Good housing 
representation 
from tenants, 
leaseholders and 
sheltered housing 
feeding into the 
work of the Adur 
Homes Advisory 
Board

Tenant, Leaseholder and 
Sheltered housing 
representation to be 
sought for the new Adur 
Homes Advisory Board

242



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Recorded by Additional notes Project Brief
25 Anti-social 

behaviour is 
effectively 
managed with 
resident 
involvement

Develop ASB policy for 
Adur Homes in accordance 
with Councils' wider ASB 
approach
Secure ASB capacity for 
Adur Homes to deliver this 
work.

26 Business 
objectives to 
support 
regulatory 
compliance

A leadership 
structure that 
enables AHs to 
serve its residents 
well

Review the staffing 
structure for Adur Homes 
and drive the necessary 
change to deliver a good 
structure, focus and right 
culture for service 
improvement

27 Strategic approach 
to asset 
management 
developed

Develop 5 year and then a 
30 year SAMP to guide 
asset management 
decision making

28 A long-term 
sustainanable 
business plan for 
Adur Homes in 
place

Develop new 30 year 
Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan 

Review options for the 
future direction of the 
service 

29 An accountable 
service that makes 
decisions well

Review governance 
arrangements to ensure  
clear accountability, 
oversight and scrutiny is in 
place against key service 
objectives and KPIs

Provide support to the 
team managers on 
decision making and report 
writing 

30 Improve financial 
performance 

Improve income and 
debt/cost recovery in line 
with Councils' new 
corporate debt policy and 
Proactive work

243



Priority 
number

Relevant 
Standard to 
be addressed

Delivery outcome
This is the overall 
change we want to 
make

Description of Activity 
2023/24

Recorded by Additional notes Project Brief
31 Embed all Audit 

recommendations 
into this 
Improvement Plan

Resolve outstanding 
Housing Audit 
Recommendations 

32 A workforce fit for 
the future for Adur 
Homes

Implement a Workforce 
Strategy to support 
professional accreditation 
and skills development and 
the effective deployment of 
resources 

244



 

Probability Key Impact Key Risk Rating Key
Low - 1 Low - 1 Low - 1-2
Moderate - 2 Moderate - 2 Moderate - 3-5
High - 3 High - 3 High - 6

Pre Control Measures Post Control Measures
Housing 
Improvement 
Plan 
Reference/s

Risk/ Issue description Impact/ consequence Probability Impact Risk Rating Control Measure(s) Probability Impact Rating Owner

All

Failure to comply with Social 
Housing Regulation 

Reputational damage, increasing 
complaints from tenants & 
leaseholders about servie levels, 
financial consequences for not 
being compliant 

3 3 6 Establishment and monitoring of KPIs by senior 
management, council committees and the Adur 
Homes Board, systems and procedures in place 
- including rent analytics and escalation policy, 
IT system purchased, new HRA Business Plan

2 4 6 Adur Homes 
Board, AD 
Housing and 
Homelessness 
Prevention 

All

Housing Revenue Account 
income forecast not met. 

Performance targets not met, 
insufficient funds for R&M, 
questions about viability of 
service 

3 3 6 Establishment and monitoring of KPIs by senior 
management, council committees and the Adur 
Homes Board, systems and procedures in place 
- including rent analytics and escalation policy, 
IT system purchased, new HRA Business Plan 

2 2 4 Adur Homes 
Board, Director 
for Housing & 
Communities 

All

Loss of key staff Poor service delivery, low tenant 
satisfaction, targets not met

3 3 6 Business continuity plans. Staff trained to cover. 
Contractors sourced for emergency/interim 
cover

1 1 2 Head of Housing

3, 5

Data collated/reported may 
be inaccurate Performance not able to be 

monitored, poor decision making, 
compliance targets unmet

2 3 5 Purchase of new integrated IT system and staff 
training 

2 2 4 Head of Digital & 
Director for 
Housing & 
Communities 

5

Asset Management Plan is 
not fit for purpose

Poor asset management 
investment decisions

2 2 4 New Strategic Asset Management Plan 
developed identifying priorities for investment for 
the portfolio - new integrated asset management 
IT sytem purchased

1 1 2 Director for 
Housing & 
Communities  & 
Director for Place

12

Health and Safety 
requirements are not met 
within the Housing stock 
relating to fire risk control, 
asbestos, legionella, gas and 
electrical safety, lifts and safe 
working practices within the 
housing stock.

Failure to meet Council's 
responsibilities leading to death or 
injury - Council held liable for this 
and/or damage to property

3 3 6 Audit of all compliance requirements, review of 
big 6 policies and procedures, new damp and 
mould policy  - purchase of asset management 
sytem with fully integrated compliance tracking 
and reporting capacity - key compliance tenders 
in place and appropriately monitored - effective 
oversight through Council governance 
arrangements

1 1 2 Adur Homes 
Board, Director of 
Cmmunities Head 
of Property 
Services 

1, 5

Regeneration of HRA stock 
not achieved

Properties deteriorating impacting 
on their value and tenant 
satisfaction, reduction in soacial 
housing stock in the Council 
impacting on homelessness 
outcomes 

3 2 5 New Strategic Asset Management Plan  
identifying oinvestment priorities for the HRA - 
planned maintenance programme developed 
and contracts procured for Decent Homes and 
compliance work - delivery of captial 
programmes closely moritred and tracked 
through a new KPI regime

2 3 5 Adur Homes 
Board, Chief 
Executive, 
Director for 
Housing & 
Communities 

1, 5

New development targets not 
achieved

New, additional provision not 
delivered - increased need for TA 
if suitable housing offers cannot 
be made - Right to Buy receipts 
may not be able to be used for 
additional housing if not used 
within the timeframe allowed

3 2 5 Strategic Asset Managemernt Strategy identifies 
development targets which are regularly 
monitored, escalation pathways are in place 
where targets are slipping

1 1 2 Director for 
Housing & 
Communities  & 
Director for Place 

245



15 Allocations scheme is not fit 
for purpose

Nominations to RSLs not 
successful blocking up TA and 
PRS availability - appopriate 
stock not avaliable to meet 
applicant need

2 2 4 Housing Strategy and local Housing Needs 
Assessment for Adur completed setting out 
priorities for property requirements and 
partnership arrangements with local RSLs

1 1 2 Head of Housing

30

Increase in rent arrears and 
poor debt recovery leading to 
evictions and impacting on 
homelessness 

Loss of income for Council 
resulting in less caapcity for 
service delivery - increased 
evictions and homelessness

2 2 6 Revised rent and debt managment policies- 
improved IT system supporting tenancy 
management, arrears and debt performance 
targets set and regularly monitored  

1 1 2 Head of Housing

All

Increasing complaints from 
tenants and leaseholders 

Capacity to manage and respond 
to complaints is diminshed and 
resources diverted, reptuational 
and compliance risk

3 3 6 Revised complaints policy and procedures, 
effective triaging of complaints and appeals, 
appointment of new complaints officer, new IT 
system enables clear view of customer asset 
and tenancy records for quick response 

1 1 2 Director for 
Housing & 
Communities 

All

Tenant satisfaction is low and 
does not meet regulatory 
requirements

Tenant satisfation levels do not 
show signs of improvement and 
do not meet regulatory 
threshholds leading to reputation 
and regulatory risk

3 3 6 Carry out the new TMS perception survey in 
accordance with statutory requirements in 
partnership with other Local Authority landlords - 
deliver improved satisfaction outcomes year on 
year  

1 2 3 Head of Housing

246



Adur and Worthing Housing and Homelessness Performance Indicators 
Adur Homes 

Number Performance Indicator
 Quarter 1 

Total
Year End 

Total 2022/23
2023/24 
Target

July 23 
Result

Aug 23 
Result

Sept 23 
Result

 Quarter 2 
Total Oct 23 Result Nov 23 Result Dec 23 Result Jan 23 Result

Result Against 
Target - RAG 

rating
Direction of 

Travel 
Reporting 

period
Tenancy Management

1 Total rent collected Monthly Report to be developed 
Amount of arrears £775,804 £841,684 £814,254 £777,876

2 Arrears as % of total rent due *3.75% Monthly

have data for accounts in 
arrears - report being 
developedto give as % of 
rent roll, aim from  January 
will be able to report %. * 
estimated

3 Number of rent accounts in arrears 1143 1039 1512 1039 921 Monthly December 877
4 Number of residents with a suspended possession order Monthly Report to be developed 
5 Total number of evictions 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Monthly

Tenant Engagement

6 Numbers of tenant/leaseholders attending meetings/ events

x15 
leaseholders 

attended TBC

x5 Shoreham, 
x12 

Southwick, x4 
Fishersgate, 
x2 Sompting, 

x1 Lancing 0

7
Types of tenant engagement activity : surveys / 'have your 
say' meetings

3 -  'have 
your say' 
meetings / 41 
- surveys 
completed 
by residents 0 0

x1 
leaseholder 
meeting

1 Southwick - 
Regeneration 
Meeting

Resident 
engagment 
sessions in 
Lancing, 
Southwick, 
Sompting, 
Shoreham, 
Fishersgate 0

8 Tenant Satisfaction Measurement completed

All Tenant 
Survey 
commenced

All Tenant 
Surveys: 556 
responses 
(minium 
requirement 
met)

All Tenant 
Satisfaction 
Survey: 
telephone leg 
completed -

Right to Buy and Leaseholds
9 Number of RTB Active applications Not available 8 9 10 10 10 10 12 9 Quarterly

10 Total Leasehold Arrears as a % of annual rent roll *July result to be 
amended as % of rent roll Not available £235,535 1.80% TBC TBC TBC TBC 106.57% £284,027 Quarterly reports to be developed

Feedback & Complaints 
11 Number of new complaints (S1) 47 138 14 19 17 48 12 26 7 30 Quarterly
12 Number of complaints not met in time (S1) 33 N/A 11 13 12 27 6 7 12 1 Quarterly
13 Number of new FOIs 7 4 11 22 8 0 8 7 Quarterly

Asset management - Repairs
14 Number of responsive repairs completed 2337 9841 717 814 747 2278 781 831 758 918 Quarterly
15 % of repair appointments met 84.5% 85.3% 94.8% 93.1% 94.9% 94.3% 94.1% 92.5% 93.9% 93.6% Quarterly
16 % of repairs post-inspected 77.7% 85.22% 76.4% 65.2% 42.5% 61.4% 60.22% 48.95% 38.81% 62.50% Quarterly

Voids

17
Number of void properties (general needs & sheltered)

Backlog (pre April )
2023/24

142 139 136 108

73
35

108

73
35

128

70
58

125

62
63

123

58
65

128

52
74 Monthly

18
Number of new void properties during the period  (general 
needs & sheltered)

35 35 8 4 4 8
Monthly

19 Voids as a % of total stock 5.60% 5.5% 5.4% 5.5% 5.5% 5.3% 5.3% 4.9% 5.1% Monthly
20 Average number of void days 307 303 317 323 323 330 331 353 335 Monthly
21 Void loss as % of total rental income 3.8% 3.8% 3.8% 4.1% 4.1% 4.3% 4.4% 4.5% 4.8%

Asset management - Compliance
22 % of dwellings Decent Homes Standard compliant N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Monthly
23 Number of dwellings awaiting damp and mould survey - - - - - - - 78 Monthly
24 Number of dwellings with works raised for damp and mould - - - - - - - 94 Monthly
25 % of dwellings with an in-date gas safety certificate 99.30% 99.3% 99.3% 99.3% 99.3% 99.2% 99.2% 98.9% 99.1% Monthly
26 % of dwellings with an in-date EICR 37.20% 41.9% 45.2% 47.3% 47.3% 48.5% 49.2% 49.7% 51.1% Monthly
27 % of properties with an in-date ACM survey (asbestos) 20.50% 31.3% 31.6% 31.7% 31.7% 31.7% 36.4% 40.3% 41.2% Monthly
28 % of properties with an in-date Water Risk Assessment 100% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% Monthly

247



Adur and Worthing Housing and Homelessness Performance Indicators 
Adur Homes 

Number Performance Indicator
 Quarter 1 

Total
Year End 

Total 2022/23
2023/24 
Target

July 23 
Result

Aug 23 
Result

Sept 23 
Result

 Quarter 2 
Total Oct 23 Result Nov 23 Result Dec 23 Result Jan 23 Result

Result Against 
Target - RAG 

rating
Direction of 

Travel 
Reporting 

period
29 Number of new* disrepair claims Monthly
30 Value of disrepair claims paid out Monthly
31 % stock condition audit targets met N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Monthly

Adur and Worthing 
Housing Register

1 Total number live housing register applications - Adur 936 902 941 940 950 950 954 967 973 968 Monthly
2 Number of properties allocated - Adur 10 38 13 7 6 26 7 8 6 25 Monthly
3 Total number live housing register applications - Worthing 1796 1729 1812 1838 1859 1859 1863 1881 1880 1893 Monthly
4 Number of properties allocated - Worthing 38 106 25 11 21 57 17 15 17 24 Monthly

Homelessness

5
Number of households in Temporary Accommodation (at end 
of quarter/month) - Adur 91 92 107 TBC 96 96 101 108 107 115 Monthly

6
Cases assessed as homeless or threatened with 
homelessness & a statutory duty owed - Adur 52 165 19 16 14 49 24 20 6 24 Monthly

7 Gross expenditure on Temporary Accommodation - Adur £433,016 £1,494,234 £148,885 £150,072 £165,042 £897,015 £151,974 £141,406* £60,417* £154,900* *final figures not yet available Monthly

8
Number of people sleeping rough across the month/quarter - 
Adur 13 in total 6 6 5 14 in total 8 3 0 2 Monthly

9
Number of households in Temporary Accommodation (at end 
of quarter/month) - Worthing 349 327 351 TBC 370 370 361 361 353 353 Monthly

10
Assessed as homeless or threatened with homelessness & a 
statutory duty owed - Worthing 121 580 49 43 49 141 in total 37 33 26 41 Monthly

11 Gross expenditure on Temporary Accommodation - Worthing £1,302,974 £4,251,561 £435,256 £474,783 £481,745 £2,694,758 £485,776 £411,180* £430,751* £532,363* *final figures not yet available Monthly

12
Number of people sleeping rough across the month/quarter - 
Worthing 58 in total 33 34 38 65 in total 27 28 23 29 Monthly

Housing Development
7 Number of new property commencements 0 74 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Monthly
8 Number of new property completions 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 Monthly

Private Sector Housing 
9 New service requests received 79 359 20 27 31 78 27 23 19 35 Monthly

10 New enforcement notices issued  15 101 2 7 6 15 6 2 8 12 Monthly

248



Joint Audit and Governance Committee
21.03.2024

Key Decision [Yes/No]

Ward(s) Affected:
Amendments to the Constitution

Report by the Monitoring Officer

Executive Summary

1. Purpose
1.1. This report seeks to update Members of the Joint Audit &

Governance Committee on proposed amendments made to Adur
District Council’s and Worthing Borough Council’s Constitutions by:-

(a) the Joint Councils’ Working Group originally created by the
Joint Governance Committee in May 2022, which has now
met further to consider another review of the Constitutions;

(b) the Monitoring Officer under a delegated authority to “make
minor and inconsequential amendments to the Constitution at
any time” following the last report relating to Constitutional
amendments to the Joint Audit and Governance Committee on
13th July 2023; and

(c) amendments proposed by the Monitoring Officer which are
more than minor or consequential and require Member
approval.

2. Recommendations
2.1. The Joint Audit and Governance Committee is asked to consider the

matters raised in this report and:-

249

Agenda Item 15



a) note the use of the Monitoring Officer’s delegation to make
minor and inconsequential amendments.

b) endorse the amendments to the Constitutions proposed by the
Working Group and the Monitoring Officer and recommend the
revised Constitutions to both Full Councils for their approval.

c) Consider if the Committee is to make any additional
recommendations to Adur and Worthing Councils having
regard to paragraph 6.1 below.

3. Context

3.1. The Monitoring Officer has a duty to maintain an up-to-date version of
the Councils’ Constitutions and to ensure that the Constitutions are
publicly available. The Monitoring Officer has the authority, as set out
in Article 11 Paragraph 11:03 of each Constitution, to “make minor and
inconsequential amendments to the Constitution at any time”.

3.2. At a meeting of the Joint Governance Committee on 31st May 2022,
approval was given for the creation of a Working Group to consult on
proposed changes to amend and modernise the Constitutions to
ensure that the Constitutions were legally compliant, complete,
supported effective and sound decision-making and reflected the
character, culture and priorities of the two authorities. The
recommendations arising from the initial work of the Working Group
were taken to a meeting of the Joint Governance Committee in
September 2022. The Working Group has since met further, on 25th
September 2023, 22nd November 2023 and 9th January 2024, to
review the Constitutions and consult on some additional amendments.

3.3. The Working Group currently comprises the following members:

Conservative Labour Liberal
Democrat

Green SBRA

Adur
District
Council

Cllr Neil Parkin
Cllr Kevin
Boram

Cllr Lee
Cowen
Cllr

Cllr Gabe
Crisp

Cllr Julia
Watts

250



Cllr Andy
McGregor

Catherine
Arnold
Cllr Debs
Stainforth

Worthing
Borough
Council

Cllr Kevin
Jenkins
Cllr Nigel
Morgan

Cllr Dan
Hermitage
Cllr Sam
Theodoridi

Cllr Hazel
Thorpe

4. Minor and Inconsequential Amendments made by the Monitoring Officer
under Delegated Authority

Members are asked to please note that the following minor amendments have
already been made under the Monitoring Officer’s delegated authority, with
the exception of the minor and inconsequential amendments to the Budget
Procedure Rules referred to in this section and the amendments to the Joint
Committee Agreement which have been made in tracked changes and which
are yet to be updated.

Part 1 - Summary and Explanation

● WBC - Paragraph 1.0 amended to reflect the increased population of
Worthing.

Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions

● WBC - Cabinet Portfolios updated.

● ADC - Cabinet Portfolios - “Adur Homes Management Board”
amended to “Adur Homes Advisory Board” (to reflect the updated
details made for this board in Part 8 of the Constitution - see below).

Part 4 - Procedure Rules

● ADC - Council and Committee Procedure Rules - A typographical error
has been amended at paragraph 11.3(c) to read ‘Chair’ where it
previously said ‘Mayor’.

● Budget Procedure Rules -
○ WBC - Paragraph 7.3 - “Chair” has been amended to “Mayor”.

251



○ ADC and WBC - Paragraph 7.10 - “amended proposals”
changed to “proposed amendments”.

○ ADC and WBC - Paragraph 7.12 - “amended proposals”
changed to “proposed amendments”.

○ ADC and WBC - Paragraph 7.16 - “proposal” changed to
“proposed amendment”.

○ ADC and WBC - Paragraph 7.18 - “...have moved
amendments…” amended to “...are to propose amendments…”
so the paragraph now reads “This process continues until the
Leader of each Group and any ungrouped Members who are to
propose amendments have had the opportunity to speak and
the budget and all proposed amendments have been proposed
and seconded”.

○ ADC and WBC - Paragraph 7.19 - Grammatical errors have
been corrected and are set out in track changes Constitution
document attached at Appendix 1.

○ WBC - Paragraph 7.19 - “Executive” changed to “Cabinet”.

● ADC and WBC - The Officer Scheme of Delegations was amended at
2.6.8 to state that consultation should be with the Assistant Director
Finance (and Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services), rather
than the Assistant Director Regenerative Development.

● ADC and WBC - Proper Officer Functions -
○ Amended for Part 1, s.48 Care Act 2014 to amend typographical

error and to make consultation with the Director for
Sustainability and Resources a requirement.

○ Amended for Pet Animals Act which now reads “Pet Animals Act
1951 (as amended)”.

● ADC and WBC - In August 2023 the Contract Standing Orders were
amended to confirm the financial limits were exclusive of VAT (as
opposed to inclusive of VAT).

Part 5 - Codes and Protocols

● WBC - Petition Scheme amended to correct previous erroneous
mentions of ‘the District of Adur’ in the WBC version of the Petition
Scheme.

252



Part 8 - Members’ Allowances Scheme

● ADC - Adur Homes Advisory Board details updated.

Part 9 - Joint Committee Agreement

● ADC and WBC - Previous mentions of ‘JGC’ amended to ‘JAGC’
(shown within track changes documents at Appendix 1 of this report).

● ADC and WBC - Minor amendments to punctuation (shown within track
changes documents at Appendix 1 of this report).

Other minor amendments

● Amending miscellaneous references to the Proper Officer to read the
Director for Sustainability & Resources (rather than the Director for
Communities).

5. Working Group Amendments

Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution

● ADC and WBC - Paragraph added at 2.02 (Eligibility of Councillors) to
confirm that “for the purposes of this Constitution the Council has
resolved that the disqualification criteria appropriate to Councillors shall
also apply to removal of the title of Honorary Alderman or Alderwoman
by majority resolution at an Ordinary Meeting of the Council”.

● ADC and WBC - Paragraph 4.02 (the Policy Framework) amended to
include the Crime and Disorder Reduction Policy (s6 Crime and
Disorder Act 1988) within the Policy Framework.

Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions

● ADC and WBC - All mentions of ‘Portfolio Team Members’ under
powers of the Cabinet have been amended to ‘Portfolio Policy
Advisors’.

Part 4 - Procedure Rules

● Council and Committee Procedure Rules -

253



○ ADC and WBC - The Cabinet and Committees - Paragraph 8.3
added to clarify that “although the Constitution refers to the
Chair of [Full Council for ADC] the Cabinet and Committees, the
Chair may choose to adopt a title of Chairman, Chairwoman or
Chairperson as is their preference”.

○ ADC and WBC - Leader’s Report - Paragraph 13.1(d) amended
to confirm “any Member may ask one question, following which,
if time remains, a Member may ask a second question”.

○ WBC - Voting - Paragraph 24.1(d) (this was agreed in an earlier
review but not included in the WBC Constitution) to read that,
regarding majority votes, “if a Member is not present
continuously for the duration of the item on the agenda, they are
unable to cast a vote and if they are present when the vote is
taken, must indicate that they are abstaining from the vote”.

○ ADC and WBC - Recorded Vote - Paragraph 24.5 amended to
read “On the request of any Member of the Council made before
the vote is taken and upon 5 other Members signifying their
support by standing (unless unable to) , the voting on any
question shall be by roll-call and shall be recorded in the
minutes of the meeting to show how each Member present and
voting cast their vote. The name of any Member present and
abstaining from voting will also be recorded”.

● ADC and WBC - Budget Procedure Rules - The substantive agenda
items for the Budget Setting Council Meeting have been amended to
include at Paragraph 7.3 Public Questions and Members’ Questions.

● ADC and WBC - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules - Paragraph
17.9 relating to call-in procedure has been amended to read “having
considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may
refer the decision back to the decision-making person or body for
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns, or
where the Committee is unable to reach a determination, it may raise a
motion to refer the matter to Full Council…”.

● ADC and WBC - Joint Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules -
Paragraph 18.9 relating to call-in procedure has been amended to read
“having considered the decision, the Joint Overview and Scrutiny
Committee may refer the decision back to the decision-making person

254



or body for reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its
concerns, or where the Committee is unable to reach a determination,
it may raise a motion to refer the matter to Full Council or either of both
Councils…” .

● ADC and WBC - Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings Procedure Rules
- Paragraph 6.5 added to read “the presumption is that all hearings will
be held in person unless there are exceptional circumstances, such as
pandemic or other unforeseen event. In such circumstances, where
the business cannot reasonably be postponed, the hearing may be
held remotely in accordance with the Licensing Protocol for Remote
Hearings”.

● ADC and WBC - Member Complaints and Standards Sub-Committee
Procedure Rules - Paragraph 3.4 added under Initial Assessment of
Complaint “where in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer and
Independent Person a complainant has a sensitive interest and/or
there are exceptional circumstances to retain the complainant’s
anonymity/confidentiality and the retention does not prejudice an initial
assessment of the complaint, then these details will remain confidential
during the initial assessment stage”.

● ADC and WBC - Officer Employment Procedure Rules - Paragraph
2.4.1(d) amended ‘notify’ to ‘consult’ and now reads “where the Council
proposes to appoint a Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer,
Statutory Chief Officer, Non-Statutory Chief Officer or Deputy Chief
Officer, and it is not proposed that the appointment will be made
exclusively from their existing Officers, the Head of Paid Service or
their delegate will consult with the Leader of the Council in advance of
any recruitment process for the appointment of a non-statutory Chief
Officer”.

● ADC and WBC - Joint Councils Contract Standing Orders - Standing
Order 3 relating to Special Circumstances and Emergencies -

○ Sentence added at paragraph 3.1 confirming “use of this
provision must be compliant with the Access to Information
Rules found at Part 4 of this Constitution”.

○ Paragraph 3.3.2 (as this is Officer reporting on use of urgency
provisions) removal of reference to consultation with the Joint
Strategic Committee and now reads “for contracts over

255



£100,000 (exclusive of VAT) and below the Public Procurement
Threshold the Monitoring Officer and the s151 Finance Officer
must approve the award and the Director for Service (or their
delegated nominee) must consult with appropriate Executive
Members or their Leader, who must be satisfied that the matter
is Urgent or is a Special Circumstance having regard to the
above definition, and if so satisfied, a direct award under this
CSO exemption will be authorised”.

○ Paragraph 3.3.3 amended to delete the words “unless
committee approval is already obtained” at the beginning of the
paragraph and now reads “The use of this CSO is to be reported
as soon as practicable to the next Joint Strategic Committee
following the consultation with the Executive Members and the
publication of the Officer Decision”.

● ADC and WBC - Joint Councils Financial Regulations and Article 12.03
(b) of the Constitution - These have been updated to amend the Key
Decision limit for contracts to £75,000 and over (currently £100,000
and over). Members are asked to note for this section that there was
debate at the Working Group meeting as to the appropriate figure for a
Key Decision with some Members proposing a reduction to £50,000.
The Senior Leadership team have been asked to comment on the
proposed amendment and have requested that the figure (if reduced) is
not reduced to less than £75,000 for reasons of expediency in certain
circumstances of spend (not limited to) items including reactive
maintenance and repairs. Officers would still be required to publish a
Decision Notice in such circumstances providing 5 clear working days
notice in advance of any spend and consult with Members in advance
of commitment, to meet transparency requirements.

Part 5 - Codes and Protocols

● ADC and WBC - Probity in Planning - Section added at paragraphs 15
to 15.5 relating to the deferral of planning decisions (set out in track
changes documents in Appendix 1 to this report).

Part 9 - Joint Committee Agreement
● To update the review date.
● Officer job titles updated to reflect current titles

256



● Proper Officer amended to Director for Sustainability & Resources (this
role had previously been undertaken by the Director for Communities).

● JGC has been amended to JAGC
● Assistant Directors added (as senior officers) at Paragraphs 7.3 and

11.3(f)
● Deleted ‘fax’ at paragraph 20.1
● Schedule 2 Paragraph 7 ‘Assistant Directors’ added

6. A further proposal from the Working Group to change the order of the
Full Council Agenda

6.1 Members at one of the Working Group meetings also made a request for a
change to the order of the Full Council agenda to require public questions and
deputations; Members’ questions; and motions; to be dealt with in advance of
the recommendations from the Cabinet and Committees which require
Council decisions.

It is the Monitoring Officer’s view that decisions to be made by Full Council
should be the priority business of the Council in advance of Members’
Questions and Motions. Members are asked to note that the Council
Procedure Rules enable ‘the maximum number of motions available as (two
per group to the three largest political groups and any other group one per
group). Taking an average of 30 minutes per motion, this has a realistic time
estimate of 2-3 hours. This would be in addition to 1 ½ hours for public
questions, deputations and member questions, before Committee
recommendations can be considered, debated and decided by Members.

As the ‘three hour rule’ requires Members to vote on whether or not to
continue with the meeting it would be problematic indeed if decisions were not
made within this time frame. In addition to this rule, Members will note that a
Motion may be made without notice at a Full Council meeting to change the
order of an agenda and it would (in the Monitoring Officer’s view) be more
appropriate to consider such a motion on a case by case basis at each
meeting.

7. Further amendments not from the Working Group requiring Member
consideration and approval (and which are more than minor and
inconsequential)

● WBC and ADC - Budget Procedure Rules - Annual Process for Setting
the Budget - Paragraph 6 amended to read:-

257



The process by which the budget shall be set is as follows:

6.1 The Budget Strategy for the forthcoming year is considered and
agreed by the Council in July each year.

6.2 In December each year detailed financial proposals to meet the
Budget Strategy for the forthcoming year are considered by the
Joint Strategic Committee. Any proposals that are approved by
the Committee are built into the draft budget proposals for the
Council by the Chief Financial Officer and the draft Budget
Strategy is updated accordingly (if required).

6.3 In January of each Budget cycle the Joint Overview and Scrutiny
Committee will, by way of consultation, consider the draft budget
proposals and provide any comment to the Cabinet.

6.4 The meeting of the Cabinet will recommend a draft budget to the
Council and the level of Council Tax. The Director for
Sustainability & Resources will then refer them, at the earliest
opportunity, to the Council for decision. The Cabinet meeting
held to determine the Cabinet’s budget proposals to Council
must be held a minimum of 12 working days prior to the Council
meeting being held to consider the budget for the Council.

6.5 After the Cabinet meeting and before the Council Budget Setting
Meeting the Joint Strategic Committee will meet to consider the
Cabinet proposals and recommend the draft budget for the joint
services of the Council, which it wishes to provide jointly with
[Worthing Borough Council / Adur District Council]

● WBC and ADC - Budget Procedure Rules - Paragraph 7.14 notification
of minor amendments to proposed amendments to be made by 12
noon the day before the meeting, rather than 9am on the day of the
meeting. With Democratic Services circulating copies of all
amendments by 5.30pm on the day before the meeting, rather than at
noon on the day of the meeting.

8. Financial Implications

8.1. There are no financial implications arising from this report.

9. Legal Implications

9.1. Article 11, paragraph 11.03 of the Councils’ Constitutions sets out the
functions of the Monitoring Officer and states “the Monitoring Officer

258



has the delegated authority to make minor and inconsequential
amendments to the Constitution at any time”.

Legal Officer:Joanne Lee Date: 05/03/2024

Background Papers

● Adur District Council Constitution
● Worthing Borough Council Constitution

Appendices

● ADC Constitution with Track Changes
● WBC Constitution with Track Changes

Officer Contact Details:-
Joanne Lee
Assistant Director and Monitoring Officer, Legal & Democratic Services
01903 221134
Joanne.lee@adur-worthing.gov.uk

259

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,168761,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,168762,smxx.pdf
https://drive.google.com/file/d/12pgWjfB_Rjktg09laIIQqEZmjx_p9sOc/view?usp=drive_link
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1xo68hdQdSni2Pi_XZEMhjowNoRcc7chy/view?usp=drive_link
mailto:Joanne.lee@adur-worthing.gov.uk


Sustainability & Risk Assessment

1. Economic

Matter considered and no issues identified.

2. Social

2.1 Social Value

Matter considered and no issues identified.

2.2 Equality Issues

Matter considered and no issues identified.

2.3 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)

Matter considered and no issues identified.

2.4 Human Rights Issues

Matter considered and no issues identified.

3. Environmental

Matter considered and no issues identified.

4. Governance

The risk of not having up-to-date Constitutions is that procedures and
practices may not be transparent, fair and consistent and may increase the
risk of legal challenge.

260



 

ADC Constitution - 09.11.202301.02.2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSTITUTION 
  

261



 

2 

CONTENTS 
PART 1 - SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION ................................................................................... 5 
PART 2 - ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION ........................................................................... 10 

Article 1 – The Constitution .................................................................................................. 10 
Article 2 – Members of the Council ...................................................................................... 10 
Article 3 – The Citizen and the Council ................................................................................ 14 
Article 4 – The Full Council .................................................................................................. 17 
Article 5 – Chairing the Council ............................................................................................ 18 
Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny ........................................................................................ 19 
Article 7 – The Cabinet ........................................................................................................ 21 
Article 8 – Non-Executive Decision-Making Committees and Advisory Panels ..................... 22 
Article 9 – Governance ........................................................................................................ 23 
Article 10 – Joint Arrangements ........................................................................................... 25 
Article 11 – Officers.............................................................................................................. 26 
Article 12 – Decision-Making ................................................................................................ 30 
Article 13 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters ............................................................... 32 
Article 14 – Review and Revision of the Constitution ........................................................... 33 
Article 15 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution .......................... 34 

PART 3 - RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS .......................................................................... 36 
Principles of Delegation ....................................................................................................... 36 
Local Choice Functions ........................................................................................................ 38 
Responsibility for Council Functions .................................................................................... 40 
Terms of Reference and Delegated Powers of Executive and Non-Executive Committees .. 43 

Non-Executive Committees ........................................................................................ 43 
The Cabinet ................................................................................................................ 44 
Cabinet Portfolios ....................................................................................................... 46 
Portfolio Team Members ............................................................................................ 50 
Planning Committee ................................................................................................... 50 
Licensing Committee .................................................................................................. 53 
Licensing Regulatory Sub Committee ......................................................................... 57 
Licensing Sub Committee ........................................................................................... 57 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.............................................................................. 58 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee ..................................................................... 59 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee ......................................................................... 59 
Joint Staff Committee ................................................................................................. 62 
Joint Senior Staff Committee ...................................................................................... 63 
Officers ....................................................................................................................... 64 

PART 4 - PROCEDURE RULES .................................................................................................. 84 
Council and Committee Procedure Rules ............................................................................ 84 

Annual Meeting .......................................................................................................... 84 
Ordinary Meetings ...................................................................................................... 86 
Extraordinary Meetings ............................................................................................... 87 
Special meetings ........................................................................................................ 88 
Time and Location ...................................................................................................... 89 
Notice of and Summons to Meetings .......................................................................... 89 
Chairing ...................................................................................................................... 89 
Quorum ...................................................................................................................... 90 
Duration of meetings .................................................................................................. 91 
Public Questions and Deputations .............................................................................. 91 
Member Questions ..................................................................................................... 96 
Leader’s Report .......................................................................................................... 98 
Main Opposition Priority Motion .................................................................................. 98 
Motions on Notice ....................................................................................................... 98 
Motions and Amendments without Notice ................................................................. 100 
Rules of Debate ........................................................................................................ 101 
Matters Affecting Officers ......................................................................................... 106 

262



 

3 

Officer Reports ......................................................................................................... 106 
Overview and Scrutiny Reports to Full Council ......................................................... 106 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee Reports to Full Council .................................. 106 
Representatives on Outside Bodies .......................................................................... 106 
Previous Decisions and Motions ............................................................................... 107 
Petitions ................................................................................................................... 107 
Voting ....................................................................................................................... 107 
Confidentiality of Papers ........................................................................................... 109 
Minutes .................................................................................................................... 109 
Status of Draft Decisions and Minutes ...................................................................... 110 
Recording of Meetings .............................................................................................. 110 
Record of Attendance ............................................................................................... 111 
Exclusion of the Public ............................................................................................. 111 
Disturbance by the Public ......................................................................................... 111 
Members’ Conduct ................................................................................................... 112 
Delegation to the Leader, Committees and Officers ................................................. 113 
Attendance of Members at the Cabinet or Committees of which they are not 
Members................................................................................................................... 113 
Exercise of Powers and Functions ............................................................................ 115 
No Confidence in the Chair of a Committee .............................................................. 115 
Appointment and Term of Office of the Executive Leader ......................................... 115 
Leader of the Main Opposition .................................................................................. 116 
Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules ........................................ 117 
Urgent Business ....................................................................................................... 117 
Chair of the Council .................................................................................................. 117 

Budget Procedure Rules .................................................................................................... 119 
Cabinet Procedure Rules ................................................................................................... 125 

How the Cabinet Operates ....................................................................................... 125 
Forward Plan of Executive Key Decisions and/or Executive Exempt Decisions ........ 126 
Cabinet meetings ..................................................................................................... 127 
Individual Cabinet Member Decisions ....................................................................... 129 
Executive Decisions taken by Officers ...................................................................... 132 

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules ............................................................................ 135 
Terms of Reference .................................................................................................. 135 
Membership ............................................................................................................. 135 
Co-Opted Members .................................................................................................. 135 
Meetings................................................................................................................... 135 
Working Groups ....................................................................................................... 136 
Work Programme ..................................................................................................... 137 
Agenda Items ........................................................................................................... 137 
Policy Review and Development .............................................................................. 138 
Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee ................................................ 138 
Minority Reports ....................................................................................................... 139 
Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members to Documents ...................... 139 
Members and Officers Giving Account ..................................................................... 140 
Attendance by Others ............................................................................................... 140 
Party Whip ................................................................................................................ 140 
Call-In of a Decision ................................................................................................. 140 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules ................................................................... 143 
Terms of Reference .................................................................................................. 143 
Membership ............................................................................................................. 143 
Co-Opted Members .................................................................................................. 143 
Meetings................................................................................................................... 144 
Working Groups ....................................................................................................... 144 
Quorum .................................................................................................................... 145 
Chairing .................................................................................................................... 145 
Work Programme ..................................................................................................... 145 

263



 

4 

Agenda Items ........................................................................................................... 146 
Policy Review and Development .............................................................................. 146 
Reports from the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee ........................................ 147 
Minority Reports ....................................................................................................... 147 
Consideration of Joint Overview and Scrutiny reports............................................... 148 
Rights of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members to Documents .............. 148 
Members and Officers Giving Account ..................................................................... 148 
Attendance by Others ............................................................................................... 149 
Party Whip ................................................................................................................ 149 
Call-In of a Decision ................................................................................................. 149 
Procedure at Meetings ............................................................................................. 151 
Communications Strategy ........................................................................................ 152 

Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings Procedure Rules ........................................................ 153 
Member Complaints and Standards Sub-Committee Procedure Rules .............................. 159 
Joint Independent Remuneration Panel Procedure Rules .................................................. 170 
Access to Information Procedure Rules ............................................................................. 173 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules ................................................................................ 184 
Officer Scheme of Delegations .......................................................................................... 191 
Proper Officer and Authorised Officer Functions ................................................................ 214 
Joint Councils Contract Standing Orders ........................................................................... 225 
Joint Councils Financial Regulations .................................................................................. 247 

PART 5 - CODES AND PROTOCOLS ....................................................................................... 275 
Member Code of Conduct .................................................................................................. 275 
Officer Code of Conduct .................................................................................................... 287 
Member/Officer Working Arrangements Protocol ............................................................... 290 
Monitoring Officer Protocol ................................................................................................. 297 
Dispensations Protocol ...................................................................................................... 305 
Officer Decision-Making Protocol ....................................................................................... 308 
Councillor Call For Action Protocol ..................................................................................... 315 
Pre-Election Period Protocol .............................................................................................. 318 
Recording of Council Meetings Protocol ............................................................................ 323 
Petition Scheme ................................................................................................................. 325 
Planning Committee: Site Visit Protocol ............................................................................. 328 
Public Speaking at Planning Committee Protocol .............................................................. 329 
Probity in Planning ............................................................................................................. 331 
Social Media Policy ............................................................................................................ 339 
Code of Corporate Governance ......................................................................................... 343 
Whistleblowing Protocol ..................................................................................................... 352 

PART 6 - MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME ...................................................................... 356 
Dependent Person Carer Allowance and Child Carer Allowance ....................................... 356 
Parental Leave ................................................................................................................... 357 
Indexing of Allowances ...................................................................................................... 357 

PART 7 - MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE ................................................................................... 358 
PART 8 – JOINT ARRANGEMENTS ......................................................................................... 359 
PART 9 – ADUR/WORTHING JOINT COMMITTEE AGREEMENT ........................................... 374 
 
  

264



 

5 

PART 1 - SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
The District of Adur covers an area of some 41.81 km 2 and has a population of approximately 
60,000 residents. The District includes the four main urban areas of Shoreham-By-Sea, Lancing, 
Southwick and Sompting. Within the District there are two Parishes; Lancing and Sompting. 
 
The District Council of Adur was established in 1974. It provides many statutory services to the 
residents, businesses and visitors of the District, such as waste collection, food safety and 
collection of Council Tax. It also provides many other discretionary services, such as sports and 
leisure facilities, car parks and support for many local voluntary organisations. 
 
The Council is made up of 29 Councillors and together with the Borough Council of Worthing, 
employs over 1,000 staff to ensure its aim of maintaining, and where possible, improving the 
quality of life for all sectors of the community. 
 
This document is the Constitution of the Council. It sets out the roles, responsibilities and the rules 
of the District Council, as well as the rights of the community and individuals in relation to the 
Council. 
 
This document is subject to any changes in the relevant legislation. 
 
If you have any questions about this document, please contact the Monitoring Officer: Borough 
Council of Worthing and the District Council of Adur, Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing, West 
Sussex, BN11 1HA, email: monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk, website: www.adur-
worthing.gov.uk. 
 
1.01 Interpretation 
 
Throughout this Constitution: 
 

(a) Unless the context otherwise requires, the singular includes the plural and the plural the 
singular. 

(b) Any reference to a numbered or lettered paragraph is, unless the context otherwise 
requires, a reference to the paragraph in this Constitution. 

(c) The following words and expressions shall have the undermentioned meanings respectively 
assigned to them: 
 
‘1972 Act’ shall mean the Local Government Act 1972. 
‘1989 Act’ shall mean the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
‘2000 Act’ shall mean the Local Government Act 2000. 
‘2011 Act’ shall mean the Localism Act 2011. 

 
‘Chair’ shall mean the Chair of the Council or a Committee or, if the context permits, the 
person presiding at any meeting of Full Council or a Committee. 
 
‘Chief Financial Officer’ shall mean the Officer holding the post of Chief Financial Officer of 
the District Council, who is also designated as the Chief Financial Officer responsible for 
the purposes of Section 151 Local Government Act 1972; Section 73 Local Government 
Act 1985 and Section 112 Local Government Act 1988 for monitoring the Council’s financial 
affairs. 
 

265

http://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/
http://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/


 

6 

‘Clear Working Day’ excludes the day on which the summons or agenda for a meeting is 
published, the day on which the meeting was or is to be held and shall mean a day other 
than a Saturday or a Sunday, or a day which is a public or bank holiday. 
 
‘Clear Calendar Day’ excludes the day on which the summons or agenda for a meeting is 
published, the day on which the meeting was or is to be held but will include a day which is 
a Saturday or a Sunday, or a day which is a public or bank holiday. 
 
‘Confidential information’ is defined at paragraph 10.3 of the Access to Information Rules in 
Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 
‘Committee’ shall include any Committee, Sub-Committee, Joint Committee or Joint Sub-
Committee of, or appointed by, the Council. 
 
‘Constitution’ shall mean this Constitution as approved by the Council in accordance with 
the Local Government Act 2000. 
 
‘Council’ shall mean the District Council of Adur as the legal entity. 
 
‘Executive’ shall mean the Cabinet of the Council as set out in the Constitution and as 
defined by the 2000 Act, and shall comprise the Leader, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Members and will often act together with Worthing Borough Council’s Cabinet as the Joint 
Strategic Committee. 
 
‘Cabinet Member’ shall mean an elected Member of the Council appointed to the Cabinet 
by the Leader in accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 
 
‘Exempt information’ is defined at paragraph 10.4 of the Access to Information Rules in Part 
4 of this Constitution. 
 
‘Head of Paid Service’ shall mean the Officer holding the post of Chief Executive in the 
District Council, who is also designated as the Head of Paid Service under Section 4 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
 
‘Key Decision’ is defined in Article 12.03 (b) of Part 2 of the Constitution. 
 
‘Leader’ shall mean the Cabinet Leader, elected by the Council in accordance with the 
Constitution and the 2000 Act. 
 
‘Meeting’ shall mean a meeting of the Full Council, or in relation to the Cabinet, a 
Committee, Sub-Committee, Joint Committee or Joint Sub-Committee, a meeting of that 
body. 

(a) ‘‘Member’ shall mean: 
(b) in relation to a meeting of the Full Council, a Councillor;  
(c) in relation to a Committee, a Member of that Committee whether a Councillor or a 

person who is not a Councillor, but who is appointed to be a Member of the 
Committee under Section 102 of the 1972 Act; and 

(d) in relation to the Cabinet, a Cabinet Member. 
 
‘Monitoring Officer’ shall be that person designated as Monitoring Officer in accordance 
with section 5(1) Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
 
‘Motion’ includes a recommendation contained in any report concerning an item of business 
for a meeting and a new motion. 
 
‘Person Presiding’ shall mean the person appointed or entitled to preside at any meeting 
including the Chair or Vice Chair, where the context allows. 

266



 

7 

  
‘Rule’ shall mean a Procedure Rule or Standing Order, and shall include Financial 
Procedure Rules, Contract Procedure Rules and Council Procedure Rules. 
 
‘Sub-Committee’ shall mean a Sub-Committee of a Committee of the Council and ‘Joint 
Sub-Committee’ shall mean a Sub-Committee of a Joint Committee of the Councils. 
 
‘Summons’ shall mean the Summons for a meeting, or in relation to a Council Standing 
Order, applied to the Cabinet or a Committee shall mean the agenda for the meeting. 
 
‘Terms of Reference’ shall mean the terms of reference of the Cabinet or a Committee as 
varied from time to time. 
 
‘Urgent’ means a matter of pressing importance requiring swift action given the gravity of 
the situation, which was unforeseeable (in an objective sense) and is not attributable to a 
failing on the part of the Council (and similar expressions shall be construed accordingly). 
 
‘Vice Chair’ shall mean the Vice Chair of the Council. 
 
‘Working Group’ shall mean a group established by the Council consisting of Elected 
Members and/or Officers and/or co-opted Members and/or persons who are not Elected 
Members, Officers or co-opted Members, for the purpose of providing advice to any 
decision maker within the Council. 
 

1.02 The Council’s Constitution 
 
This is the Constitution of the District Council of Adur which has been adopted by the Council. It 
sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are followed 
to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Some of these 
processes are required by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to choose. 
 
Updates to the Council’s Constitution are made on an ongoing regular basis and an up-to-date 
version may always be accessed via the Council’s website. 
 
The Constitution is divided into nine parts. The 15 Articles in Part 2 set out the basic rules 
governing the Council’s business, and the remaining parts provide more detailed procedures and 
guidance. 
 
The Council’s Monitoring Officer takes overall responsibility for ensuring that the Council maintains 
an up-to-date Constitution. However, Parts 6, 7 and 8 dealing with Members’ Allowance Schemes, 
Council Management Structure and Joint Arrangements, are maintained by the Democratic 
Services Manager. Further, the Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Standing Orders 
contained in Part 4 of the Constitution, are maintained by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
The Constitution may be accessed on the internet at: Constitutions - Adur & Worthing Councils 
(adur-worthing.gov.uk). Hard copies of the Constitution are available to inspect at Council offices 
and public libraries, and may be provided upon request to the Democratic Services Lead at a 
charge of £40 per copy, payable in advance, to cover the costs of photocopying. 
 
1.03 How the Council Operates 
 
The Council is composed of 29 Councillors (with elections by halves), i.e. one half of Councillors 
are elected every two years. The District is divided into 14 Wards each of which elects 2 or 3 
Councillors. The Councillors are democratically accountable to the residents of their Ward. The 
overriding duty of Councillors is to the whole District, but they have a special duty to their 
constituents, regardless of how they voted. 
 

267

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/about-the-councils/constitutions/
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/about-the-councils/constitutions/


 

8 

Councillors should undertake their duties in accordance with the high standards of conduct 
expected of persons in public life and, to this end, the Council has adopted a Members’ Code of 
Conduct to which Members are obliged to adhere. The Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
oversees the provision of training and advice to Councillors on the Code of Conduct. 
 
All Councillors meet together as the Full Council. Meetings of the Full Council are normally open to 
the public. Here Councillors decide the Council’s overall policies, set the annual budget and the 
Council Tax. The Full Council will elect a Leader from among the elected Councillors.  
 
Legislation provides the Leader with the Cabinet decision-making powers of the Council. The 
Leader must appoint between 2 and 9 other elected Councillors to the Cabinet and may delegate 
to the Cabinet, individual Cabinet Members and Officers many of the executive functions and 
powers.  
 
The Council appoints at least one Overview & Scrutiny Committee, a Planning Committee and a 
Licensing Committee.  
 
The Full Council appoints the following Joint Committees with the Borough Council of Worthing: a 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee; Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee; Joint Staff 
Committee; Joint Senior Staff Committee and a Joint Senior Staff (Appeals) Committee. These are 
explained in more detail in Articles 7 to 9.  
 
The Council appoints Members to the Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee) with 
other Councils. 
 
Each year, the Full Council appoints a Chair of the Council.  
 
1.04 How Decisions are made 
 
The Full Council agrees the Policy Framework and Budget within which any other decisions within 
the Council are to be made.  
 
The Cabinet is responsible for most of the other Major Decisions. The Cabinet usually meets as a 
Joint Committee with the Cabinet of the Borough Council of Worthing. This Committee is known as 
the Joint Strategic Committee. The fact that the Cabinet is to make a Key and/or Exempt Decision 
is published on the Council’s website not less than 28 calendar days before the decision is to be 
made. When such decisions are to be discussed with Council Officers at a meeting of the Cabinet 
this will be open for the public to attend, except where confidential information or, if determined, 
exempt matters are being discussed. The Cabinet has to make decisions which are in line with the 
Council’s overall policies and budget. If it wishes to make a decision which is outside the Budget or 
Policy Framework, this must be referred to the Full Council as a whole to decide.  
 
Cabinet Members take individual decisions, within the remit of their portfolios. These decisions are 
made outside formal meetings following receipt of a written report, with recommendations and 
advice, from Officers. These individual Cabinet Member decisions are often taken as joint 
decisions following consultation with the equivalent Cabinet Member of the Borough Council of 
Worthing.  
 
The Council has put in place procedures to ensure that before such decisions are taken, there is 
appropriate opportunity for consultation with all interested parties and that the decisions must be 
recorded, in writing, kept and are available to the public. 
 
The majority of the day-to-day decisions of the Council are delegated to Officers. 
  

268



 

9 

1.05 Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Council will have at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee (‘OSC’) and a Joint Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (‘JOSC’) with the Borough Council of Worthing which support the work of 
the Full Council and the Cabinet as well as scrutinising and challenging the decisions of the 
Cabinet and Officers when appropriate. When they are looking at policy development or reviewing 
decisions by the Cabinet, the OSC and JOSC can hold public hearings to receive evidence and 
opinions from the public, external experts, elected Members and Officers of the Council. Details of 
how matters can be brought before the OSC are set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 
The majority of the work of Overview and Scrutiny is carried out by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee with the Borough Council of Worthing. 
 
1.06 Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
 
The Council has a Joint Audit & Governance Committee with Worthing Borough Council, which is 
responsible for: 

(a) Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Elected Councillors and Co-opted 
Members and determining standards matters; 

(b) Overseeing the audit function, annual accounts and the work of internal auditors; and 
(c) For all non-executive functions that are not the responsibility of Full Council or any other 

non-executive Committee. 
 
1.07 Regulatory Committees 
 
The Council has the following two Regulatory Committees: 
 
The Planning Committee, which is responsible for the Council’s development control functions, 
determines the more complex or sensitive planning applications, and is responsible for planning 
enforcement and building regulations. Public involvement in this process is encouraged by the 
opportunity for the public (applicants and objectors) to make written and oral representations to the 
Committee on planning applications. 
 
The Licensing Committee, which is responsible for all Non-Executive Licensing functions including 
those under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. 

1.08 The Council’s Staff 

 
The Council employs staff (called ‘Officers’) to give professional and practical advice, implement 
decisions of Members, make and implement delegated decisions and manage the day-to-day 
delivery of its services. Some Officers, namely the Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer), 
Deputy Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officers, have a specific duty 
to ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources wisely. A protocol in Part 5 of 
this Constitution governs the relationships between Officers and Members of the Council. 
 
1.09 Citizens’ Rights 
 
The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work. Citizens have a number of rights in 
their dealings with the Council. These are set out in more detail in Article 3. Some of these are 
legal rights, whilst others depend on the Council’s own processes. The Local Citizens’ Advice 
Bureau can advise on individuals’ legal rights. 
 
Where members of the public use specific Council services, they have additional rights. These are 
not covered in this Constitution. 

  

269



 

10 

PART 2 - ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 

 

Article 1 – The Constitution 
 
1.01 Powers of the Council 
 

The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 
Constitution. Should there be a conflict between the two, the law will prevail. 
 

1.02 The Constitution 
 

This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of the District Council of Adur. 
 
1.03 Purpose of the Constitution 
 

The purpose of the Constitution is to: 
(a) enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership with 

citizens, businesses and other organisations 
(b) support the active involvement of citizens and encourage all sections of the District’s 

communities to be involved in the Council’s decision-making processes; 
(c) help Elected Members represent their constituents more effectively; 
(d) enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 
(e) create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to public account; 
(f) ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were directly 

involved; 
(g) ensure that those responsible for decision-making are clearly identified to local 

people and that they explain the reasons for their decisions; 
(h) provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community; 
(i) balance speedy and reasoned decision-making with adequate checks and 

balances; 
(j) place high standards of conduct and probity at the centre of decision-making. 

 
1.04 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution 
 

Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of action, 
the Council will always choose that option which it thinks is most appropriate given the 
purposes stated above.  
 
The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in Article 
14. 
 
 

Article 2 – Members of the Council 
 
2.01 Composition 
 

The Council comprises 29 Members, otherwise called Councillors. Councillors are elected 
by the voters of the 14 Wards in the District in accordance with a scheme approved by the 
Secretary of State. 

  

270



 

11 

 
2.02 Eligibility 
 

Only registered voters of the District or those living or working within the District are eligible 
to stand as a Councillor. For additional information you should refer to Sections 79 to 81 of 
the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
For the purposes of this Constitution the Council has resolved that the disqualification 
criteria appropriate to Councillors shall also apply to removal of the title of Honorary 
Alderman or Alderwoman by majority resolution at an Ordinary Meeting of the Council. 

 
2.03 Election and Term of Office of Councillors 
 

The Ordinary Election of a half of all Councillors will be held on the first Thursday in May in 
every second year, or such date as is determined by legislation. A Councillor’s term of 
office is four years starting on the fourth calendar day after being elected and finishing on 
the fourth calendar day after the date of the local election four years later, unless they have 
been elected at a by-election, when the term is the remainder of the vacated office they 
have filled. 

 
2.04 Roles and Functions of all Councillors 
 

On accepting office, all Councillors sign a Statutory Declaration of Acceptance of Office. 
Acceptance of office provides an implied obligation for an Elected Member to comply with 
the Council’s Constitution. 
 
a) Key Roles 
 
All Councillors will participate constructively and effectively in the governance of the District 
and their local area. Councillors will: 
(i) Collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of strategic and 

corporate management functions; 
(ii) Represent their communities and bring the views of their communities into the Council’s 

decision-making process (i.e. become the advocate of and for their communities); 
(iii) Deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for constituents in resolving 

particular concerns or grievances; 
(iv) Balance different interests identified within their Ward and represent the Ward as a 

whole; 
(v) Be involved in decision-making; 
(vi) Be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and 
(vii) Maintain the highest standards of conduct, ethics and probity. 
 
More specifically, all Councillors will: 
 
(i) Participate constructively in the good governance of the area; 
(ii) Develop and maintain a prominent position within the community, which reflects their 

position as a democratically elected representative of the people within the Ward; 
(iii) Contribute actively to the formation and scrutiny of the Council’s policies, budget, 

strategies and service delivery; 
(iv) Develop and maintain a sound level of working knowledge of the Council's policies and 

practices generally and in particular in relation to services, plans and policies affecting 
Committees to which they are appointed or functions which are delegated to them and 
to their local area; 

(v) Exercise their judgement in the best interests of the Ward for which they were elected, 
subject to their overriding responsibility to the wider community, and deal with 
constituents’ enquiries and representations; 

271

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/part/V/crossheading/qualifications-and-disqualifications
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/part/V/crossheading/qualifications-and-disqualifications


 

12 

(vi) Champion the causes which best relate to the interests and sustainability of the 
community and campaign for the improvement of the quality of life of the community in 
terms of equity, economy and environment; 

(vii) Represent the Council on outside bodies as appointed by the Council or its Cabinet; 
(viii) Demonstrate awareness of their corporate parenting role and shared responsibility for 

understanding the impact of council decisions on, and championing the needs of, 
children in care and care leavers in the area. 

 
b) Key Tasks 
 
A Councillor’s key tasks are to: 
 
(i) Fulfil the statutory requirements of an Elected Member of the Council and the locally 

determined requirements of the Council itself, including compliance with all relevant 
codes of conduct and participation in those decisions and activities reserved to the Full 
Council; 

(ii) Participate effectively as a Member of the Cabinet, any Committee, Sub-Committee or 
working group to which they are appointed, including related responsibilities for the 
functions falling within their terms of reference and liaison with other public bodies to 
promote better understanding and partnership working; 

(iii) Participate, where appointed to do so, in the scrutiny or review of services, and their 
effectiveness in achieving the Council’s strategic objectives; 

(iv) Contribute constructively to open government and democratic renewal and actively 
encourage local people to participate generally in the governance of the area; 

(v) Participate in the activities of any outside body to which they are appointed, providing 
two-way communication between the Council and the relevant organisations; 

(vi) Report to the Council annually on the activities of any outside body to which they are 
appointed; 

(vii) Participate, as appointed, in consultative processes with the community and with other 
organisations; 

(viii) Develop and maintain a working knowledge of the organisations, services, activities 
and other factors that impact upon the well-being and identity of the District of Adur; 

(ix) Develop and maintain good and effective working relationships with the Cabinet, Chairs 
and Vice-Chairs of the Council's Committees and relevant Officers of the Council; 

(x) Represent the local community as requested under the procedures for the Community 
Call for Action (Local Government Act 2007). 

 
c)  Rights and Duties 
 
(i) Councillors will have rights of access to such documents, information, land and 

buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of their functions and 
in accordance with the law; 

(ii) Councillors will not make public information which is confidential or exempt without the 
consent of the Council or divulge information given in confidence to anyone other than a 
Councillor or Officer entitled to know it; 

(iii) For these purposes, ‘confidential’ and ‘exempt’ information are defined in the Access to 
Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

(iv) Councillors shall not request to inspect any document or have access to any 
information relating to any matter in which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
unless they have received a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer. 

(v) No Councillor shall have any claim by virtue of their position: 

 to enter any land or buildings occupied by the Council to which the public do not 
have access, or to which Members of the Council do not regularly have access, 
except with the permission of the Director responsible for the service of the 
Council for which the land or buildings are occupied, or the Chief Executive; 

 to exercise any power of the Council to enter or inspect other land or buildings, 
except where specifically authorised by the Council; 

272



 

13 

 to exercise any other powers of the Council. 
 

2.05 Conduct 
 
Councillors will, at all times, observe the Members’ Code of Conduct and the 
Member/Officer Protocol as set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 
 

2.06 Allowances 
 

Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme as set out in Part 6 of this Constitution. 
 

2.07 Political Groups 
 
Councillors may belong to Political Groups (which are not necessarily the same as political 
parties). The groups are entitled under the Local Government (Committees and Political 
Groups) Regulations to nominate Councillors to fill a proportion of the seats on certain 
Committees of the Council.  
 
Under these Regulations, the membership of most Committees, other than the Cabinet, 
broadly reflect the proportion of Councillors who are Members of each Political Group on 
the Council. The main principles are: 

(a) That not all the seats on the Committee are allocated to the same Political Group; 
(b) That the majority of the seats on the Committee are allocated to a Political Group if 

the majority of Councillors on the Council belong to that group; 
(c) Subject to paragraphs (a) and (b) above, the number of seats on each Committee 

reflects the proportion of Councillors in the various groups. 
 

At meetings of the Full Council, the Cabinet and Committees, individual Councillors may 
have regard to the views of their Political Group on policy matters, provided that they also 
take into account all other considerations. However, this would not apply to the 
determination of individual regulatory applications. 
 

2.08 External Representation 
 

The Council recognises the importance of its relationship with the communities it represents 
and all those who receive its services in order to provide desired outcomes. It achieves 
these aims in the following ways: 

(a) By recognising the opportunity for the public and external bodies to be involved in 
its business, through its Committee structure and engagement with the community; 

(b) By making appropriate Councillor appointments to other bodies; and 
(c) By ensuring that the Councillor representative role is meaningful and recognises 

the needs of the electorate. 
 
2.09 Indemnity 
 

The Council shall indemnify each and every Member, co-opted Member and Officer of the 
Council (‘the Beneficiary’) on demand from and against all liability for actions, claims, 
demands, costs, charges and expenses (including legal expenses on an indemnity basis) 
which may arise out of, or be in consequence of, any action of, or failure to act by, the 
Beneficiary which is: 

(a) authorised by the Council; or 
(b) forms part of, or arises from, any powers conferred or duties placed upon the 

Beneficiary as a consequence of any functions being carried on by that Beneficiary 
but excluding any action of, or failure to act by, the Beneficiary which constitutes a criminal 
offence or is the result of fraud, deliberate wrong doing or recklessness. 

273



 

14 

Article 3 – The Citizen and the Council 
 
3.01 Citizens’ Rights 
 

The Council welcomes participation by members of the public in its work. A strong 
democratic council, working collaboratively across Adur, can deliver (and advocate for) the 
policies and resources that all its citizens need to live a good life within the framework of a 
strong, creative and vibrant community. 
 
Members of the public who grow up, study, work, live and visit the District have a number of 
rights in their dealings with the council, including:  

(a) vote at local elections, if they are registered 
(b) contact the Council about any matters for which it is responsible; 
(c) contact their local councillor about any matter of concern to them and which are the 

responsibility of the Council; 
(d) attend meetings of Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny and Regulatory committees, except 

where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed; 
(e) find out from the Forward Plan what Major Decisions will be taken and when by 

Cabinet and officers and how they can make representations; 
(f) sign a petition: 

i) requesting the establishment of a parish council or similar Community 
Governance Review1  

ii) requesting a referendum to replace the council’s political management model2  
iii) on any matter for which the council’s is responsible in accordance with the 

Council’s Petition Scheme set out in Part 5 of the Constitution 
(g) inspect the following documents:  

i) agendas, public reports, background papers and any public records of decisions 
made by Council, Cabinet, committees and officers, except those relating to 
exempt or confidential items 

ii) the Constitution  
iii) the Register of Members’ Interests  
iv) the Council’s accounts as part of the annual audit and make their views known 

to the external auditor  
v) pay and remuneration policies for chief and senior officers  

(h) access other information as set out in the Access to Information Rules  
(i) make complaints about services to:  

i) the Council, under its customer complaints scheme  
ii) the Ombudsman, after using the Council's complaints scheme  
iii) the Monitoring Officer, about alleged breaches of the Member Code of Conduct 
iv) the Information Commissioner in relation to the Council’s actions under the Data 

Protection Act 1998 and the Freedom of Information Act 2000 
(j) ask questions or address all formal meetings of the Full Council, the Cabinet and 

Committees, subject to Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution 
(k) attend and speak as part of a deputation at full Council meetings, subject to Council 

Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution 
(l) contribute to the discussions investigations by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and the Joint Overview & Scrutiny Committee at the discretion of the 
chair of the meeting 

(m) take part in the Council’s consultation activities 
(n) initiate a Community Right to Buy, Community Right to Build, Community Right to 

Bid, Community Right to Challenge or participate in Neighbourhood Planning, as 
identified by the Localism Act 2011 (see below).  

 

                                                
1 See the Legislative Reform (Community Governance Reviews) Order 2014  
2 See the Local Authorities (Referendums)(Petitions)(England) Regulations 2011. Every year, the Council will publish 
details of the number of electors required to instigate a referendum for a change in governance arrangements. 

274



 

15 

3.02 Citizens’ Responsibilities 
 

Citizens have social responsibilities and the Council’s Officers and Members have a 
legitimate expectation to be treated courteously and with respect. Citizens must not be 
violent, abusive or threatening to Councillors, Co-opted Members or Officers and must not 
wilfully harm things owned by the Council, Councillors, Co-opted Members or Officers. 
 
Citizens are entitled to attend public meetings of the Full Council, the Cabinet and 
Committees, but must comply with the rulings of the Chair. They may not disrupt the 
meeting or cause undue disturbance or they may be removed from the meeting. 

 
3.03 The Community Rights 
 

The Localism Act 2011 introduced rights and powers for individuals and communities to 
take over public services, community assets and influence planning and development.  
 
The four community rights are a set of powers that give local people a greater say over how 
their community develops. They give local people the chance to decide what is built and 
how their area should develop. Groups of people have the chance to deliver local services 
and develop them into community enterprises.  
 
Community Right to Bid - We want to save our local pub, shop, library, park, football 
ground’  
 
The Right to Bid allows communities and parish councils to nominate buildings or land for 
listing by the local authority as an ‘asset of community value’. An asset can be listed if its 
principal use furthers (or has recently furthered) the community’s social well-being or social 
interests (which include cultural, sporting or recreational interests) and is likely to do so in 
the future.  

 
The council must keep a ‘List of Assets of Community Value’. The legislation outlines the 
definition of an asset of community value, what groups can nominate, the appeals process 
for land owners, timescales for groups interested in buying land or property on the list, and 
compensation available to the owners of land or property on the list. The council’s list can 
be found here: Assets of Community Value and Community Right to Bid - Adur & Worthing 
Councils (adur-worthing.gov.uk). If the asset comes up for sale, the community can ‘pause’ 
the sale and take up to six months to find the funding required to buy the asset.  

 
Several community organisations can nominate land and buildings for inclusion on the list, 
provided they have a local connection, which means their activities are wholly or partly 
concerned with the area, or with a neighbouring authority’s area. These include parish 
councils, neighbourhood forums (as defined in Neighbourhood Planning regulations), 
unconstituted community groups of at least 21 members and not-for-profit organisations 
(e.g. charities).  

 
Community Right to Build - ‘We want to build affordable housing and other community 
facilities’  
 
The Right to Build gives communities the power to build new shops, housing or community 
facilities without going through the normal planning process. It gives local organisations the 
right to bring forward small-scale community-led developments.  

 
A Community Right to Build Order is a type of Neighbourhood Development Order and 
forms part of the Neighbourhood Planning provisions in the Localism Act that give parish 
councils or neighbourhood forums the right to develop plans for their area.  
 

275

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/assets-of-community-value/#:~:text=A%20building%20or%20piece%20of,do%20so%20in%20the%20future.
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/assets-of-community-value/#:~:text=A%20building%20or%20piece%20of,do%20so%20in%20the%20future.


 

16 

Development proposals in neighbourhood plans and Community Right to Build need to be 
agreed through an independent examination and have the agreement of 50% of people 
who vote through a community referendum. Local authorities have a duty to assist and 
advise community organisations, which are also free to involve partners such as developers 
or housing associations.  
 
If your community wants to construct or rebuild community buildings such as a community 
centre or community-led housing, a Community Right to Build Order could be the best route 
to take.  

 
Community Right to Challenge - ‘We can do this better – I want to deliver a local service 
and set up a social enterprise’  
 
The Right to Challenge gives local groups the opportunity to express their interest in taking 
over a local service where they think they can do it differently and better.  

 
Community Right to Challenge is the right for community organisations to say that they are 
interested in running a particular public service and potentially get the chance to bid to do 
this. If a community group, charity, parish council or group of public sector staff identifies a 
service they would like to run, then they can submit an expression of interest to the council 
that runs the service. If accepted, this will trigger a procurement exercise. The interested 
group will then most likely need to compete with others in a competitive tendering process.  

 
Community Right to Reclaim Land - ‘We can use this land in a better way’  
 
The Community Right to Reclaim Land allows communities to challenge local councils and 
some other public bodies to release their unused and underused land. As land is held on 
the behalf of the taxpayer, councils have a duty to use it effectively. This right gives 
communities the power to ensure that they do so.  

 
Anyone can submit a request to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government requesting that the council be directed to dispose of the land so that it can 
brought back into use. If it is found that the land is being held without being adequately 
utilized, and that the council has no plans to bring the land into use, the Secretary of State 
can direct the council to dispose of the land, usually on the open market.  

 
Submitting requests is a simple and easy process, with request forms and detailed 
guidance available on the government website.  

 
Community Asset Transfer  
 
Community Asset Transfer is the transfer of management and/or ownership of land or 
buildings from a public body to a community-based organisation, at less than market value, 
in order to promote social, economic or environmental well-being.  
 
The Community Right to Bid is sometimes confused with Community Asset Transfer. 
Although they share some of the same objectives, they are substantively different 
mechanisms that communities can use to acquire land and buildings. The main differences 
are:  

(a) Community Asset Transfer is the transfer of ownership or management of publicly 
owned assets, whereas the Community Right to Bid applies to some public and 
some privately owned assets.  

(b) Community Asset Transfer is the transfer of management or ownership at less than 
market value. Community Right to Bid gives a window of opportunity for a 
community group to compete to buy an asset on the open market.  

276



 

17 

(c) Community Asset Transfer is a voluntary process entered into proactively by public 
bodies. The Community Right to Bid is a pre-emptive legal right pertaining to 
communities.  

 
 

Article 4 – The Full Council 
 
4.01 The Role of the Full Council 
 

Full Council is the policy-making body from which the Policy Framework will be established. 
Council has responsibility for ensuring that the correct structures are in place for the 
effective implementation and delivery of its services. Once the structures are agreed and 
appointments made, the Cabinet will be delegated the responsibility of policy 
implementation and effective service delivery. The election of the Leader and the 
appointment of Non-Executive Committees will be the responsibility of Full Council. 

 
Each year the Full Council will elect a Chair, who shall not then be a Member of the Cabinet 
or the Overview & Scrutiny Committee. Each year the Full Council shall appoint a Vice 
Chair who shall not then be a Member of the Cabinet. 
 
The Full Council shall normally meet six times per year unless a need is identified for any 
additional meetings. 
 

4.02 Meanings 
 

a) Policy Framework 
 
The Council’s Policy Framework comprises the following list of plans and strategies 
relevant to its functions, [some of] which are required by law3 to be decided by Full Council, 
usually on the recommendation of the Cabinet:  

 
The Policy Framework includes the following plans and strategies: 

 
(a) The Council’s Vision and its Key Aims and Objectives (Corporate Plan); 
(b) Plans and strategies which together comprise the Local Plan; 
(c) Licensing Authority Policy Statement; 
(d) Gambling Policy; 
(d)(e) Crime and Disorder Reduction Policy (s6 Crime & Disorder Act 1988) 
(e)(f) Any other plan or strategy (whether statutory or non-statutory) which the 

Council resolves shall be adopted or approved by it. 
 
Any proposal to amend these plans or adopt policies or take decisions that are not in 
accordance with them can only be decided by Full Council.  
 
There will, however, be a number of supplementary policies, plans, strategies, operating 
procedures or protocols that sit under these plans, which do not need to be approved by 
the Council. Those supplementary documents can be approved by the relevant committee, 
Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Officer with responsibility for the area of operations 
concerned.  
 
b)  Budget 
 
The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services and projects, 
proposed contingency funds, the Council Tax base, setting the Council Tax and decisions 

                                                
3 Regulation 4 and Schedule 3 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 

277



 

18 

relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing requirements, the control of its capital 
expenditure and the setting of virement limits. 

 
4.03 Full Council meetings 

 
There are five types of Full Council meeting: 

(a) Annual meeting 
(b) Ordinary meetings 
(c) Budget Setting meeting 
(d) Extraordinary meetings 
(e) Special meetings 

 
and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
4.04 Responsibility for Functions 
 

The Full Council will determine the responsibilities for the Council’s functions which are not 
the responsibility of the Cabinet. Details are set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 
 

Article 5 – Chairing the Council 
 
5.01 Role and Function of the Chair 
 

The Chair will be elected by Council annually. The Chair, and, in their absence, the Vice 
Chair will have the following roles, functions and responsibilities: 
 
(a) Chairing meetings of Full Council: 

(i) to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the 
Constitution when necessary, having taken advice from the Monitoring Officer; 

(ii) to preside over meetings of the Full Council so that its business can be carried 
out efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of the 
community; 

(iii) to ensure that the Full Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of 
concern to the local community and the place at which Members who are not on 
the Cabinet or do not hold Committee Chairs are able to hold the Cabinet and 
Committee Chairs to account; 

(iv) ensure that meetings of Council are properly constituted and that a quorum is 
present;  

(v) preserve order in the conduct of those present;  
(vi) preside over meetings of the council so that its business can be carried out 

efficiently and with regard to the rights of councillors and the interests of the 
community;  

(vii) confine discussion within the scope of the meeting and reasonable limits to time;  
(viii) decide whether proposed motions and amendments are in order;  
(ix) determine the validity of points of order;  
(x) determine other incidental questions that require decision;  
(xi) ascertain the sense of the meeting by:  

 putting relevant questions to the meeting and taking a vote thereon  

 declaring the result  
(xii) cause a ballot to be taken if demanded;  
(xiii) approve the draft minutes or other record of proceedings;  
(xiv) adjourn the meeting with the consent of those present where circumstances 

justify it;  
(xv) declare the meeting closed when its business is complete. 

 

278



 

19 

(b) Civic and Ceremonial Role: 
 

The Chair shall be the First Citizen of the District of Adur and shall have the following 
civic responsibilities: 
(i) to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and the Chair may 

determine generally or in appropriate cases; 
(ii) to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities;  
(iii) to promote the Council as a whole and act as a focal point for the community; 
(iv) to host functions in order to promote the Council and its interests. 
(v)  Although as a Councillor they will have been elected through their political party, 

the actual role of the Chair is non-political and the office of Chair is not to be used 
to promote or support any particular political party, including the use of regalia for 
the purposes of electioneering. 

 
(c) Generally: 
 

The Chair may promote a Chair’s Charity Appeal for the charity or charities of their 
choice during their term of office and will make external arrangements for provision of 
all the support necessary in relation to their involvement with, or support of, that charity 
appeal.  

 
 

Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny 
 

6.01 Introduction 
 

(a) Overview and Scrutiny is an important element of the Council’s Constitution. The 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Sub-
Committees and/or panels which may be established from time to time to carry out 
overview and scrutiny represent powerful public forums through which Councillors can 
monitor the implementation of the Council’s policies and the quality of its services; make 
recommendations on the discharge of the Council’s functions and/or other matters 
affecting the District of Adur and hold the Cabinet to account for their decisions and 
actions; 

(b) Overview and Scrutiny is concerned with the overall wellbeing of the District and all 
factors affecting this, including not only Council services but those of other agencies and 
other matters. Overview and Scrutiny is an important mechanism for community 
Councillors to represent their Wards and are a focus for stakeholder and community 
involvement; 

(c) This Article outlines the basic elements of the Overview and Scrutiny function. It should 
be read in conjunction with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, which appear at 
Part 4 of the Constitution and provide a more detailed framework for the operation of 
Overview and Scrutiny. 

 
6.02 The Council has appointed an Overview and Scrutiny Committee and jointly with the 

Borough Council of Worthing, a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee to discharge the 
functions conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 and regulations 
under Section 32 of the Local Government Act 2000.  

 
6.03 General Role 

 
Within their Terms of Reference, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee may: 

(a) review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with the 
discharge of any of the Council’s functions; 

(b) make reports and/or recommendations to the Full Council, the Cabinet or any 
Committee in connection with the discharge of any functions; 

279



 

20 

(c) consider and make reports or recommendations to the Full Council, the Cabinet or a 
Committee on any matters affecting the Council’s area or its inhabitants;  

(d) exercise the right, following a Call-In, to ask for reconsideration of decisions made 
but not yet implemented by the Cabinet; 

(e) perform scrutiny functions relating to crime and disorder and to scrutinise the Adur & 
Worthing Safer Communities Partnership4 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 8 Members appointed by the Council and its 
membership will reflect the political balance on the Council.  
 
The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 16 Members. The Council appoints 8 
Members and the Borough Council of Worthing appoints 8 Members.  
 
All councillors (except members of the Cabinet) may be members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee. However, no member 
may be involved in scrutinising a decision with which they have been directly involved, or in 
which they have pecuniary or personal interest, or any other actual or perceived conflict of 
interest, e.g. a close relationship with a decision-maker. 

 
6.04 Co-opted Members 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
their Sub Committees or Working Groups, may, from time to time, co-opt up to two non-
voting Members to assist them with a particular matter. A co-opted Member may not sit as 
a Co-opted Member on both a Cabinet and a Scrutiny Committee when considering the 
same matter.  
 
Where the matter relates to the Adur Housing Revenue Account, terms and conditions of 
tenancies or leaseholds, leasehold service charges and any other matter directly affecting 
housing tenants or leaseholders which do not have a general effect on other residents, the 
Adur Consultative Forum appointed co-optee shall be co-opted onto the Committee, Sub-
Committee, or Working Group.  
 

6.05 Specific Functions 
 

a) Policy development and review 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
may: 

(i) assist the Council and the Cabinet on all issues, including the development of new 
policies and the review of existing policies and services; 

(ii) assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget and Policy 
Framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;  

(iii) conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy issues 
and possible options; 

(iv) consider all performance, resources and corporate governance issues;  
(v) question Members of the Cabinet about their views on issues and proposals 

affecting the area; and appoint Panels to assist it with its work; 
(vi) set and monitor the annual scrutiny work programme. 

 
b) Scrutiny 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may: 

(i) review and scrutinise the decisions made by the Cabinet and Council Officers, both 
in relation to individual decisions and over time; 

                                                
4 s.19 Police and Justice Act 2006 and Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009 

280



 

21 

(ii) review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy 
objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas; 

(iii) question Members of the Cabinet and Officers about their decisions and 
performance, whether generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a 
period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or projects; 

(iv) make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or Council arising from the outcome of 
the scrutiny process; 

(v) review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and invite 
reports from them by requesting them to address the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and local people about their activities and performance; and 

(vi) question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent). 
 
c) Finance 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may 
exercise overall responsibility for any finances made available to it. 

 
d) Annual report 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee must 
report annually to Full Council on its workings and make recommendations for future work 
programmes and amended working methods, if appropriate. 

 
e) Officers 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may 
exercise overall responsibility for the work programme of any Officers employed to support 
their work. 

 
6.06 Proceedings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will conduct its proceedings in accordance with the 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, or jointly with the Borough Council of Worthing in 
accordance with the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution.  

 
6.07 Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee) Call-in Panel 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will appoint one of its Members to be a Member of 
the Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee) Call-in Panel, who is not a 
Member, nor a substitute Member, of the Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint 
Committee). The function of this Panel will be to consider decisions made, but not yet 
implemented, by Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee), when challenged by 
a Member of the Board referring such a decision to the Panel.  
 
 

Article 7 – The Cabinet  
 
7.01 Role 
 

The Cabinet will carry out all of the Council’s functions which are not the responsibility of 
any other part of the Council, whether by law or under this Constitution. 
 

7.02 Form and Composition 
 

281



 

22 

The Cabinet will consist of the Leader, who shall act as Chair of the Cabinet, together with 
between 2 and 9 other Councillors appointed by the Leader, one of whom the Leader shall 
appoint as Deputy Leader.  

 
7.03 Leader 
 

The Leader will be a Councillor elected to the position of Leader by the Council. The Leader 
will hold office until: 

(a) They resign from office. 
(b) They are removed from office by the Council. 
(c) If the Leader in office immediately before the Council elections is re-elected as a 

councillor within the Political Group having an overall majority of councillors after 
the elections, then the Leader shall continue in office until the election of a Leader 
by the Council and may exercise any Executive functions under this Constitution, if 
necessary.  

(d) If the Leader in office immediately before the Council elections ceases to be a 
councillor or ceases to be within the Political Group having an overall majority of 
councillors after the elections, then the Leader shall not continue in office and 
delegated power is granted to the Chief Executive in cases of genuine urgency to 
exercise all Executive functions of the Council in consultation with the 
representative of the largest Political Group of councillors (or groups in the event of 
a parity of councillors). 

 
7.04 Deputy Leader 
 

The Leader shall appoint a Member of the Cabinet to be the Deputy Leader. The Deputy 
Leader will hold office until: 

(a) they resign from office; 
(b) they cease to be a Councillor; or 
(c) they are removed from office by the Leader. 

 
7.05 Cabinet Members 
 

Other Cabinet Members shall be appointed by the Leader and have delegated to them 
specific Executive functions. They shall hold office until: 

(a) they resign from office; 
(b) they cease to be Councillors; 
(c) they are removed from office by the Leader. 

 
7.06 Proceedings of the Cabinet 
 

Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Council’s Procedure 
Rules and the Cabinet Procedure Rules, as set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
7.07 Responsibility for Functions 
 

The Leader, at their discretion, will determine which individual Members of the Cabinet, 
Committees of the Cabinet, Ward Members, Officers or joint arrangements are responsible 
for the exercise of particular Executive functions. The Monitoring Officer will maintain a list 
setting out such arrangements in Part 3 of this Constitution. The Leader will notify the 
Monitoring Officer of any appointments, removals or changes to Executive delegations, 
which shall then be circulated to all Members and take effect immediately. 

 
 

Article 8 – Non-Executive Decision-Making Committees and 
Advisory Panels 

 

282



 

23 

8.01 Regulatory Committees  
 

The Council will appoint the following Committees: 
(a) Planning Committee; 
(b) Licensing Committee. 

 
8.02 Non-Executive Decision-Making Committees  
 

The Council will, jointly with the Borough Council of Worthing, appoint the following Non-
Executive Decision-Making Committees: 

(a) Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
(b) Joint Staff Committee 
(c) Joint Senior Staff Committee 
(d) Joint Senior Staff (Appeals) Committee 

 
8.03 Advisory Panels 
 

The Council will, jointly with the Borough Council of Worthing, appoint the following 
advisory panels: 

(a) Joint Independent Remuneration Panel. 
 
8.04 Terms of Reference and Procedure Rules 

 
The terms of reference and delegated powers of the Committees are set out in Part 3 of 
this Constitution.  
 
The terms of reference of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee should be read in 
conjunction with the Standards Procedure Rules in Part 4. The terms of reference of the 
Joint Staff Committee, Joint Senior Staff Committee and Joint Senior Staff Appeals 
Committee should be read in conjunction with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in 
Part 4. The terms of reference for the Planning Committee should be read in conjunction 
with the Probity in Planning document in Part 5. 
 
The terms of reference and delegated functions of the Joint Independent Remuneration 
Panel can be found in the Joint Independent Remuneration Panel Procedure Rules in Part 
4.  

 
 

Article 9 – Governance 
 
9.01 Standards  
 

The Council has established a Joint Audit & Governance Committee with the Borough 
Council of Worthing. 
 
The Committee will carry out functions delegated to it by the Council in accordance with the 
Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000 and the Localism Act 2011 including the Standards 
functions. 
 

9.02 Composition 
 

a) Political Balance 
 
The Joint Audit & Governance Committee has to comply with the political balance rules in 
Section 15 of the Local Government & Housing Act 1989. 

 
b) Membership 

283



 

24 

 
The Joint Audit & Governance Committee is composed of the following:  

(i) Eight Worthing Borough Councillors, only one of whom can be a Cabinet Member; 
(ii) Eight Adur District Councillors, only one of whom can be a Cabinet Member; 
(iii) Up to three persons who are not Councillors nor Officers of the Council nor any 

other body having a Standards Committee and are appointed as Independent non-
voting Co-opted Members (‘Independent Persons’); 

(iv) One Member of Lancing Parish Council and one Member of Sompting Parish 
Council (Parish Representatives) appointed as non-voting Co-opted Members to 
advise the Committee on standards matters relating to a Parish. 

 
c) ‘Independent Persons’ 

 
‘Independent Persons’ are independent non-voting Co-opted Members of the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee. Their role and function is to: 

(i) advise and assist the Committee by providing an independent opinion on the 
matters before the Committee; 

(ii) advise the Monitoring Officer, as consultee, in respect of complaints under the 
Member Code of Conduct; and 

(iii) advise any Member who is the subject of a complaint under the Member Code of 
Conduct, (the ‘Subject Member’), as a consultee. 
 

Not more than one Independent Person shall advise the Committee in respect of standards 
matters at any one time. 

 
d) Parish Representatives 
 
Parish Representatives will not be entitled to vote at meetings. At least one Parish 
Representative should be present when matters relating to Parish Councils or their 
Members are being considered, although a Parish Representative must not advise in any 
matter affecting the Parish Council or Parish Councillors of the Parish of which they are a 
Parish Councillor. 
 
e) Local Determinations  
 
The Committee may appoint a Sub-Committee, comprising at least two Members of the 
Council, and at least two Members of Worthing Council and one Independent Person. The 
Members of the Sub-Committee shall be selected by the Monitoring Officer from the 
Members of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee. 

 
When considering a complaint in respect of a Parish Councillor the Sub-Committee shall 
include a Parish Representative.  

 
9.03 Role and Function of Members of the Governance Committee 
 

(a) Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and Co-opted 
Members; 

(b) Assisting the Councillors and Co-opted Members to observe the Code of Members’ 
Conduct; 

(c) Advising the Council on the adoption, or revision, or replacement of the Code of 
Members’ Conduct; 

(d) Monitoring the operation of the Code of Members’ Conduct; 
(e) Advising, training or arranging for the training of Councillors and Co-opted Members on 

matters relating to the Code of Members’ Conduct; 
(f) Granting dispensations to Councillors and Co-opted Members from requirements 

relating to interests set out in the Code of Members’ Conduct, which have not been 
dealt with by the Monitoring Officer.  

284



 

25 

(g) Hearing and determining allegations that a Member or Co-opted Member of the District 
Council has failed or may have failed to comply with the Code of Members’ Conduct in 
accordance with the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 and any relevant regulations; 

(h) To co-opt, in an advisory capacity only, any person who is an Independent Person at 
another Local Authority, to advise the Committee or any Sub-Committee. Such advice 
to be provided on such terms as the Committee may determine and agree with the 
person and the Local Authority concerned, and in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and any relevant regulations; 

(i) To make arrangements for the appointment of two Parish Representatives to advise the 
Committee on Parish matters; 

(j) To receive an annual report from the Monitoring Officer on the local resolution and 
assessment of allegations of breaches of the Code of Members’ Conduct; 

(k) To support the Monitoring Officer in the exercise of the Officers’ Ethical Standards 
functions, in particular the duty to establish and maintain Registers of Interest for the 
Council; 

(l) Any other functions imposed by statute; 
(m) The exercise of (g), (j), (k) and (l) above in relation to Parish Councils in the area and 

Members of those Parish Councils.  
(n) To appoint a Sub-Committee consisting of two elected Members of the Council, two 

elected Members of Worthing Borough Council, one co-opted Parish Representative 
(for Parish Matters) and one Independent Person to determine applications for 
dispensation and complaints following investigations. 

 
 

Article 10 – Joint Arrangements 
 
10.1 Joint Arrangements 
 

(a) The Council has established joint arrangements with the Borough Council of Worthing to 
exercise Non-Executive functions, and to advise the Council. These arrangements 
include the appointment of Joint Committees with the Borough Council of Worthing. 

(b) The Cabinet has established joint arrangements with the Borough Council of Worthing to 
exercise Executive functions. These arrangements include the appointment of a Joint 
Strategic Committee with the Cabinet of the Borough Council of Worthing. 

(c) The Council has established joint arrangements with Brighton & Hove City Council, the 
Borough Council of Worthing and the District Council of Lewes in relation to the Greater 
Brighton Economic Region under the City Deal arrangements. These arrangements 
include the appointment of a Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee). 

(d) The Council may establish further joint arrangements with the one or more Local 
Authorities to exercise Non-Executive functions, and to advise the Council. These 
arrangements may include the appointment of Joint Committees with the other Local 
Authorities. 

(e) The Cabinet may establish further joint arrangements with one or more other Local 
Authorities to exercise Executive functions. These arrangements may include the 
appointment of a Joint Committee with the other Local Authorities. 

 
10.2 Arrangements to Promote Well-Being 
 

The Council or the Cabinet, in order to promote the economic, social or environmental well-
being of its area, may: 

(a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 
(b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or body; 

and 
(c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or body. 

 
10.3 Access to Information 
 

285



 

26 

(a) The Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution apply. 
(b) If all the Members of a Joint Committee are Members of the Cabinet in each of the 

participating Authorities then its access to information regime is the same as that 
applied to the Cabinet. 

(c) If the Joint Committee contains Members who are not on the Cabinet of any 
participating Authority then the Access to Information Rules in Part V of the Local 
Government Act 1972 will apply. 

 
10.4 Delegation to and from Other Local Authorities 
 

(a) The Council may delegate Non-Executive functions to another Local Authority or, 
in certain circumstances, the Cabinet of another Local Authority. 

(b) The Cabinet may delegate Executive functions to another Local Authority or the 
Cabinet of another Local Authority in certain circumstances. 

(c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another Local 
Authority shall be reserved to the Full Council. 

(d) The Council has accepted delegations from the South Downs National Park 
Authority in relation to planning matters. 

 
10.5 Contracting Out 
 

The Cabinet may contract out, to another body or organisation, functions which may be 
exercised by an Officer and which are subject to an Order under Section 70 of the 
Delegation and Contracting Out Act 1994, or under contracting arrangements where the 
contractor acts as the Council’s agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is 
no delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision-making. In the event of such 
delegation, the decision to contract out shall be reserved to Full Council. 

 
 

Article 11 – Officers 
 
11.01 Management Structure 
 

a)  General 
 

The Council may employ such staff (referred to as Officers) as it considers necessary to 
carry out its functions. The Full Council will confirm the appointment of the Chief Executive 
(Head of Paid Service), the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer. All other staff 
will be appointed by the Chief Executive or by an individual to whom the Chief Executive 
has delegated authority. All appointments must be made in compliance of the Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 
Adur and Worthing Councils have a Joint Officer Management Structure; some of the areas 
of responsibility listed in this part of the Constitution may refer only to one Council. The 
Joint Committee Agreement, as amended, has the definitive roles and responsibilities. Full 
details of the delegations to Officers can be found in the Joint Scheme of Delegations to 
Officers, which is included within Part 4 of this Constitution.  

 
b)  Corporate Leadership Team 

 
The Council will engage persons for the following posts and they will collectively be 
designated as the Corporate Leadership Team (‘CLT’): 
 

(i) Chief Executive (and Head of Paid Service); 

(ii) Director for Housing and Communities; 

(iii) Director for Sustainability and Resources;  

(iv) Director for Place; 

286



 

27 

(v) Assistant Director Place & Economy; 

(vi) Assistant Director Regenerative Development; 

(vii) Assistant Director Housing, Homelessness & Prevention; 

(viii) Assistant Director Finance; 

(ix) Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services; 

(x) Assistant Director Operations & Sustainability; and 

(xi) Assistant Director People & Change 

 
c)  Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
 
The Council will designate the following statutory posts as shown: 

 
Post 
 

Designation 

Chief Executive Head of Paid Service, Returning Officer (for 
Adur, Worthing and Parish elections), Deputy 
Returning Officer (for West Sussex County 
Council elections), Acting Returning Officer (for 
Parliamentary elections) and Electoral 
Registration Officer (for Police and Crime 
Commissioner elections). 
 

Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 
 

Monitoring Officer (Section 5 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989). 
 

Assistant Director Finance Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and Section 114 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1982). 
 

 
Such posts will have the functions described in Articles 11.02 – 11.04 below. 

 
d) Structure 

 
The Chief Executive will, from time to time, report to Full Council on the overall 
departmental structure of the Council, showing the management structure and deployment 
of Officers. This is set out at Part 7 of this Constitution and may be amended from time to 
time by Full Council. 

 
e) The Council’s Pay Policy 

 
The Chief Executive shall produce The Council’s Pay Policy to be approved by Full Council 
not later than 31 March in each year. 

 
11.02 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 
 

a)  Discharge of functions by the Council 
 

The Head of Paid Service will from time to time report to the Council on the manner in 
which the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated, the number and grade of 
Officers required for the discharge of functions and the organisation of Officers. 
 
b) Appointment and dismissal of staff  

 
The Council has delegated to the Head of Paid Service responsibility for certain staffing 
matters as set out in the Officer Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the 
Constitution. 

287



 

28 

 
On acceptance of appointment all Officers are obliged to comply with the provisions of the 
Council’s Constitution. 

 
c) Restrictions on functions 

 
The Head of Paid Service cannot be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief 
Finance Officer, if a qualified accountant. 

 
11.03 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 
 

a)  Maintaining the Constitution 
 

The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and will 
ensure that it is openly available to Members, Officers and the public. The Monitoring 
Officer has the delegated authority to make minor and inconsequential amendments to the 
Constitution at any time. 

 
b)  Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making 

 
After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring 
Officer will report to the Council, or to the Cabinet in relation to any Executive decision, if 
they consider that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise, or has given rise, to 
unlawfulness or maladministration or service failure. Such a report will have the effect of 
stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been considered. 

 
c)  Supporting the Joint Audit & Governance Committee 

 
The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards 
of conduct through provision of support to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee. 

 
d) Code of Conduct complaints 
 
The Monitoring Officer will: 

(i) carry out an initial assessment of every allegation that a Member of the Council has 
failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and, after consulting one of the 
Independent Persons if necessary, decide whether or not it should be investigated; 

(ii) appoint an Investigator if they decide that a complaint merits formal investigation; 
(iii) review the Investigator’s report, in consultation with one of the Independent 

Persons, and decide either that no further action is required or that the matter 
should be referred to a Sub-Committee of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
for a hearing. 
 

e) Proper Officer for Access to Information 
 

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that all decisions, together with the reasons for those 
decisions, relevant Officer reports and background papers, are made publicly available as 
soon as possible. The Monitoring Officer will be the Proper Officer for determining whether 
information should be exempt. 

 
f) Providing advice 

 
The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take 
decisions and maladministration issues to all Members. 

 
g) Restrictions on posts 

 

288



 

29 

The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of Paid Service. 
 

11.04 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 
 

a) Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision-making 
 

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance 
Officer will report to the Council, or to the Cabinet in relation to a Cabinet function, and the 
Council’s external Auditor, if they consider that any proposal, decision or course of action 
will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency, or if the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 

 
b) Administration of Financial Affairs 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the administration of the financial 
affairs of the Council. 

 
c) Contributing to Corporate Management 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in 
particular through the provision of professional financial advice. 

 
d) Providing Advice 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take 
decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and Policy 
Framework issues to all Members and will support Council. 

 
e) Providing Financial Information 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial information to the media, members of the 
public and the community. 

 
f) Advising whether Executive decisions are within the budget and the Financial 

Regulations. 
 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for advising whether Executive decisions are 
within the Financial Regulations and whether funding for such decisions is within the 
budget. 

 
g) Restriction on Functions 
 
The Chief Finance Officer shall not be the Monitoring Officer, but may be the Head of Paid 
Service. 

 
11.05 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer 
 

The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such Officers, 
accommodation and other resources as are, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer and 
Chief Finance Officer, sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 
 

11.06 Conduct 
 

Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 
 
11.07 Employment 

289



 

30 

 
The recruitment, selection and dismissal of Officers will comply with the Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
 

Article 12 – Decision-Making 
 
12.01 Responsibility for Decision-Making 
 

The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of which part of the Council or which 
individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions, relating to particular areas or 
functions. This record is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 
 

12.02 Principles of Decision-Making 
 

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles: 
(a) there should be clarity of aims and desired outcomes; 
(b) all decisions shall be in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework, 

Finance, Contract and all other Procedure Rules, statutory requirements, guidance 
and codes of practice; 

(c) proper regard should be paid to the outcome of any internal or external 
consultation; 

(d) a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 
(e) assessing the impact on human rights, equality, diversity and sustainability; 
(f) proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 
(g) there should be an explanation of the alternative options considered; 
(h) there should be proper and documented records and reasons given for all 

decisions; 
(i) take into account all relevant considerations and ignore those which are irrelevant; 
(j) due consultation and proper advice is taken from Officers and consideration of 

alternative options before decisions are reached; 
(k) impartiality and an absence of bias, pre-determination or conflicts of interest; 
(l) any interests are properly declared. 

 
In exercising discretion, the decision-maker must: 

(a) understand the law that regulates the decision-making power and gives effect to it. 
The decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

(b) take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the 
Authority as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

(c) leave out of account irrelevant considerations;  
(d) act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good;  
(e) not reach a decision which no Authority acting reasonably could reach (also known 

as the ‘rationality’ or ‘taking leave of your senses’ principle);  
(f) comply with the rule that Local Government finance is to be conducted on an 

annual basis, save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and 
forward funding are unlawful; and  

(g) act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 
To be lawful, a decision: 

(a) If taken in Full Council, Cabinet, Committee, Sub-Committee or Joint Committee, 
must comply with the principle of being reached by a majority of Councillors 
present and voting, at a properly constituted meeting; 

(b) Be one which the decision-maker is empowered or obliged to take, otherwise it is 
ultra vires; 

(c) If intended to secure action (as opposed, for example, to a resolution merely 
expressing the Council’s collective view on an issue), be capable of execution, or it 
will be of no effect; and 

290



 

31 

(d) Not purport to undo what has already been done irrevocably (but it can rescind an 
earlier decision where this is feasible). 

 
There can be no substitute for appropriate advice on a matter-by-matter basis. This guidance 
cannot be, and does not purport to be, comprehensive or replace that professional advice.  

 
12.03 Types of decision 

 
a) Decisions reserved to Full Council 

 
Decisions relating to the functions listed in Article 4.03 will be made by the Full Council and 
not delegated. 

 
b) Key Decisions 

 
Certain Executive decisions are ‘Key Decisions’ within the terms of the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2000. These are 
decisions which are likely either: 

 
(i) to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings 

which are, significant, having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or 
function to which the decision relates, which the Council has currently determined 
to be: 

A) Capital schemes, within the approved Capital Programme, in excess 
of £250,000; or 

B) the letting/re-letting of contracts of value of £100,000 £75,000 or 
more over the period of the contract, where provision has been made 
in the approved budget; or 

C) expenditure in addition to the approved budget, requiring a virement 
or a supplementary estimate in excess of £100,000;  

or: 
 

(ii) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more Wards in the wider area of Adur District Council and 
Worthing Borough Council jointly.  

 
In interpreting after the event whether or not a decision should or should not have been 
classified as a Key Decision, the following will be taken into account: 

(i) The issue must be assessed on the basis of the information which could 
reasonably have been available to the decision-maker at the time; 

(ii) The ‘de minimis’ rule5 will be applied; 
(iii) The level and nature of advice sought by the decision-maker. The Monitoring 

Officer and Chief Financial Officer will have significant roles to play in this. 
 

A decision-maker may only make a Key Decision in accordance with the requirements of 
the Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
No treasury management decisions, as defined by the Chief Financial Officer, shall be 
deemed to be Key Decisions. 

 
Major Decisions are decisions which are not Key Decisions and are not Administrative 
Decisions.  
 

                                                
5 ‘De minimis’ means that (in this context) this rule does not apply to trifling, minor or insignificant variations, departures 
or breaches. 

291



 

32 

Administrative Decisions are decisions that are ancillary to the delivery of the function such 
as the: 

(a) ordering of stationery; 
(b) publication of statutory notices; or 
(c) deployment of staff.  

 
12.04 Decision-Making by the Full Council 
 

Subject to Article 12.08, the Full Council will follow the Council’s Procedure Rules relating 
to the Council in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 
12.05 Decision-Making by the Cabinet 
 

Subject to Article 12.08, the Cabinet will follow the Cabinet Procedure Rules relating to the 
Cabinet in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 
12.06 Decision-Making by Overview and Scrutiny  
 

Subject to Article 12.08 the Overview and Scrutiny function will follow the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 

12.07 Decision-Making by Other Committees  
 

Subject to Article 12.08, other Council Committees and Sub-Committees will follow those 
parts of the Council’s Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution as apply to 
them. 

 
12.08 Decision-Making by Council bodies acting as tribunals 
 

Any decision-making body within the Council acting as a tribunal or in a quasi- judicial 
manner or determining/considering (other than for the purpose of giving advice) the civil 
rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person, will follow a proper 
procedure which accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial 
as contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 
 

Article 13 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters 
 
13.01 Financial Management 
 

The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with the 
Financial Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

13.02 Contracts 
 

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contract Procedure Rules as set 
out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

13.03 Legal Proceedings 
 

The Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services is authorised to institute, defend, 
participate in, prosecute or settle any legal proceedings in any case where such action is 
necessary to give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case where they consider that 
such action is in the Council’s best interests. The Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 
Services may delegate this authority to a suitably qualified Officer or a suitably qualified 
external provider. 
 

292



 

ADC Constitution - 09.11.202301.02.2024 

13.04 Authentication of Documents 
 

Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of the 
Council, it will be signed by the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services or another 
person authorised by them, unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires.  
 
All contracts entered into on behalf of the Council in the course of the discharge of a 
Cabinet or Non-Executive function shall be made in writing and signed in accordance with 
the Contract Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
Any contract with a value exceeding £250,000 entered into on behalf of the Council in the 
course of the discharge of a Cabinet or Non-Executive function shall be made in writing and 
must either be signed by at least two Officers of the Council, or made under the Common 
Seal of the Council attested by at least one Officer, in accordance with the Contract 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

13.05 Common Seal of the Council 
 

The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of the Assistant 
Director Legal & Democratic Services. A decision of the Council, or of any part of it, will be 
sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision. The 
Common Seal will be affixed to those documents which in the opinion of the Assistant 
Director Legal & Democratic Services should be sealed. The affixing of the Common Seal 
will be attested by the Assistant Director, Legal & Democratic Services or by any other 
person duly authorised by them, who is employed by the Council and authorised in writing. 
The Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services may additionally arrange for the Chair 
to attest the Common Seal where this is desirable for civic or ceremonial reasons. 
 
The Monitoring Officer may adopt such means of sealing as from time to time they consider 
appropriate. This may include allowing electronic sealing in accordance with section 7A(1) 
of the Electronic Communications Act 2000 (as may be amended from time to time). 
Affixing of an electronic seal approved in this way shall be of the same legal effect as 
affixing the Common Seal of the Council (provided that where a witness is required, the 
additional formalities for witnessing the electronic execution are complied with). 

 
 

Article 14 – Review and Revision of the Constitution 
 
14.01 Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution 
 

The Joint Audit & Governance Committee will monitor and review the operation of the 
Constitution to ensure that its aims and principles are given full effect. 
 

14.02 Protocol for Monitoring and Review of the Constitution by the Monitoring Officer 
 

A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the strengths and weaknesses of the 
Constitution adopted by the Council, and to make recommendations for ways in which it 
could be amended in order to better achieve the purposes set out in Article 1. In 
undertaking this task the Monitoring Officer may: 

(a) observe meetings of different parts of the Member and Officer structure; 
(b) undertake an audit of a sample of decisions; 
(c) record and analyse issues raised with them by Members, Officers, the public 

and other relevant stakeholders; and 
(d) compare practices in this Council with those in other comparable Councils, or 

with national examples of best practice. 
 

293



 

ADC Constitution - 09.11.202301.02.2024 

14.03 Changes to Constitution 
 

a) Approval 
 

Changes to the Constitution arising either from a review, a motion from Council or from the 
Monitoring Officer will only be approved by the Full Council after consideration of the 
proposal by the Joint Audit & Governance Committee.  

 
b) Minor or inconsequential changes 
 
The Monitoring Officer has delegated authority to update the Constitution arising from 
decisions of the Council or Cabinet or where legislation requires a change in wording or 
terminology, such changes to be reported to Members of the Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee. The Monitoring Officer also has delegated authority to make ‘de minimis’ 
changes to the Constitution, without the requiring of such reporting. 

 
c) Change in the form of Executive  

 
Special procedures apply to changes in the form of Executive including (but not limited to) 
binding referendums when the law requires. 

 
d) Delegations 

 
Where a delegation is made to an Officer by the Council, to last six months or more, that 
delegation may need to be reflected within the Constitution (normally Part 3 or one of the 
Appendices), in which case the Monitoring Officer has authority to update the Constitution 
to reflect that change. 

 
e) Changes that are predominantly managerial in their nature 

 
The Monitoring Officer has the authority to amend the Constitution in relation to matters that 
are predominantly managerial in their nature where there is agreement from the other two 
Statutory Officers, namely the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) and the Chief 
Financial Officer, and where the matter has been subject to consultation with the 
appropriate Members (normally the relevant Cabinet Member and opposition 
spokespersons). Any such changes will be reported subsequently to Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee.  

 
f) Changes arising from changes to Cabinet Portfolios 
 
The Monitoring Officer has authority to amend the Constitution to reflect decisions of the 
Leader in relation to the delegation of Executive functions.  

 
 

Article 15 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the 
Constitution 

 
15.01 Suspension or Waiver of the Constitution 
 

a) Limit to Suspension 
 

The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended or waived. The Standing Orders and 
Procedure Rules below may be suspended or waived by the Full Council or the Cabinet or 
any Committee, to the extent permitted within those Standing Orders and Procedure Rules, 
and the law. 

 
b) Procedure to Suspend 

294



 

35 

 
A motion to suspend any Standing Order or Procedure Rule in accordance with Article 
15.01 must be moved in accordance with the Standing Orders or Procedure Rules. The 
extent and duration of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking 
account of the purposes of the Constitution as set out in Article 1. 

 
15.02 Interpretation 
 

The person presiding at any meeting shall take into account legal advice in interpreting the 
Constitution. The ruling of the person presiding at any meeting as to the construction or 
application of this Constitution in relation to any proceedings of the meeting shall not be 
challenged at that meeting. Such interpretation will have regard to the purposes of this 
Constitution contained in Article 1. 
 

15.03 Publication 
 

(a) On first being elected to the Council, and on an individual declaring their acceptance 
of office, the Monitoring Officer will make available an electronic or paper copy of 
this Constitution to each Member. 

(b) The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies are available for inspection at Council 
Offices, Libraries and other appropriate locations, and that they are available for 
purchase by members of the local press and the public on payment of a reasonable 
fee. 

 
  

295



 

36 

PART 3 - RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

 

Commentary 
 
1.1 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 specify 

that all functions are the responsibility of the Cabinet except for: 
(a) Those specified in the legislation as not being the responsibility of the Cabinet;  
(b) Those which are specified in the legislation as being capable of being the 

responsibility of the Cabinet (the ‘local choice functions’); and  
(c) Those which are specified in the legislation to be, only to some extent, the 

responsibility of the Cabinet.  
 
The Cabinet arrangements contained in the Constitution make clear how these distinctions 
are given effect. 

 

Principles of Delegation 
 
2.1 One of the primary purposes of the Constitution is to make it clear where responsibility for a 

particular function lies, and which person or body (Full Council, Committee, Sub-
Committee, Cabinet (whether acting individually or collectively), Joint Committee, Ward 
Member or Officer) is accountable for making a particular decision or not. 

 
2.2 The Hierarchy of Decision-Making 
 

The Full Council 
 
The Full Council will exercise the functions reserved by law to Full Council as set out in 
Article 4 of this Constitution, and those determined locally to be functions of Full Council, as 
set out in Sections 3 and 4 of Part 3 of the Constitution. 
 
The Cabinet 
 
The Cabinet will exercise the functions set out in Sections 3 and 5 of Part 3 of the 
Constitution. 
 
The Responsibility for Local Choice Functions 
 
The responsibility for local choice functions will be exercised in accordance with Section 3 
of Part 3 of the Constitution. 
 
Non-Executive Committees 
 
Non-Executive Committees will exercise the functions set out in Section 4 of Part 3 of the 
Constitution. Committees are able to appoint Sub-Committees. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may appoint Panels or Working 
Groups from time to time to carry out reviews. 
 
Officers 
 
Officers will exercise delegated functions, in accordance with: 

(a) Section 2 of Part 3 of the Constitution (Principles of Delegation); 
(b) Column 4 of the table in Section 4 of Part 3 of the Constitution (Responsibility for 

Council functions); 

296



 

37 

(c) Section 5 of Part 3 of the Constitution (Terms of Reference and Delegated Powers 
of the Cabinet and Non-Executive Committees); 

(d) The Scheme of Delegations to Officers in Part 4 of the Constitution;  
(e) Provisions made elsewhere in the Constitution. 

 
2.3 If a function is delegated to the appropriate Director, the Chief Executive may nominate a 

substitute Director or exercise the delegation themselves, where this would, in the Chief 
Executive’s opinion, be appropriate, provided that the Chief Executive or Director has the 
requisite professional qualification, experience and knowledge, where such is required.  

 
2.4 If a decision falls within the remit of a Cabinet Member described in Section 3 of Part 3 of 

the Constitution, that Member may take the decision. However, if responsibility overlaps 
with the portfolios of other Cabinet Members, the decision must be referred to the Cabinet 
as a whole. 

 
2.5 If a decision falls within the remit of a Cabinet Member and that Cabinet Member is 

unavailable to make the decision or has not made the decision, then the Leader may make 
the decision in their place. 

 
2.6 Limitations and parameters of delegations 
 

(a) The exercise of a delegated power, duty or function shall be subject to: 
(i) The Council’s Policy Framework and budget; and 
(ii) The Council’s Constitution (including, but not limited to, the Council Standing 

Orders, Financial Regulations and Contract Procedure Rules) and any 
corporate standards; 

(b) All delegated functions shall be deemed to be exercised on behalf of and/or in the name 
of the Council; 

(c) An Officer to whom a power, duty or function is delegated may, unless prohibited by the 
delegation, authorise another Officer to exercise that power, duty or function, subject to 
a requirement that the seniority of the Officer exercising the power should be of an 
appropriate level having regard to the nature of the power in question. Such 
authorisation shall be in writing, copied to the Monitoring Officer, and shall include 
whether or not the receiving Officer can further delegate. 

(d) References to any Act, regulation, Order or bylaw shall be construed as including any 
re-enactment or remaking of the same, whether or not with amendments. 

(e) Any reference to any Act of Parliament includes reference to regulations, subordinate 
and EU legislation upon which either UK legislation is based (as amended or replaced 
from time to time), or from which powers, duties and functions of the Council are 
derived. 

(f) Where the exercise of powers is subject to prior consultation with a Cabinet Member or 
Officer, the consultation shall be in writing, unless due to urgency that is not practicable, 
in which case there may be oral consultation which must be confirmed, by the Officer 
undertaking the consultation to the consultee in writing, as soon as reasonably 
practicable and, in any event, within five working days. 

(g) Subject to any express instructions to the contrary from the delegating body, any power 
to approve also includes the power to refuse, and the power to impose appropriate 
conditions. 

(h) All delegations are subject to: 
(i) The right of the delegating body to decide any matter in a particular case; 
(ii) The right of an individual delegatee, in any case, to refer the matter to the 

delegating body for a decision, rather than exercising their delegation; and 
(iii) Any restrictions, conditions or directions of the delegating body and of the 

delegation. 
(i) In exercising delegated powers, the delegatee shall: 

297



 

38 

(i) Take account of the requirements of the Constitution and shall address all 
legal, financial and other professional safeguards as if the matter were not 
delegated; 

(ii) Exercise the delegation so as to promote the efficient, effective and economic 
running of the Council, and in furtherance of the Council’s visions and value; 

(iii) Ensure that, except where otherwise expressly provided, either within this 
part of the Constitution or by resolution of the delegating body, the exercise of 
any delegated power, duty or function is subject to having the appropriate and 
necessary budgetary provision in place. 

(j) Any post specifically referred to shall be deemed to include any successor post, or a 
post which includes within the job description, elements relevant to any particular 
delegation, which were also present in the earlier post and shall include anyone acting 
up or seconded. 

(k) Any reference to a Committee shall be deemed to include reference to a successor 
Committee, provided that the subject matter of a particular delegation can be found 
within the terms of reference of both the earlier and the successor Committee or Sub-
Committee. 

(l) Where a power or duty is delegated, the exercise of that power or duty is contingent 
upon the opinion of the Council that particular conditions or factual circumstances exist, 
then the delegatee in question has the power to determine whether or not those 
circumstances do exist, or those conditions have been fulfilled, in the name of, and with 
the authority of, the Council. 

(m) If a matter is delegated, but that delegation cannot be implemented, that should be 
reported to the delegating body. 

(n) Functions, matters, powers, authorisations, delegations, duties and responsibilities, 
shall be construed in a broad and inclusive fashion, and shall include the doing of 
anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive, or incidental, to the discharge 
of anything specified. 

 

Local Choice Functions 
 
3.1 These are functions that could be, but don’t have to be, the responsibility of the Cabinet, 

and whether a function is Executive or Non-Executive, is down to local choice. The Council 
has determined the decision-maker for local choice functions to be as set out in the table 
below, but the decision-maker is able to further delegate to Officers in accordance with the 
Officer Scheme of Delegations in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 
3.2 Where it has been determined locally to be a Non-Executive Function, see Article 4 and the 

table below. Where it has been determined locally to be a Cabinet function, see Article 7 
and the table below. 

 

Function 
Local 

Choice 
Decision-Maker 

Any function under a local Act other than a function 
specified or referred to in regulation 2 or Schedule 1. 

Executive Executive as a whole 

The determination of appeals against any decision made 
by or on behalf of the authority (other than those 
reserved to a Non-Executive committee)  

Executive Executive as a whole 

Any function relating to contaminated land 
(a)  to the extent that the function involves the 

formulation of a strategic policy 
Executive 

Cabinet Member for 
the Environment 

(b)  to the extent that the function does not involve the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

Non-
Executive 

Governance 
Committee 

Performing any function relating to controlling pollution or 
managing air quality: 

Executive 
Cabinet Member for 
the Environment 

298



 

39 

(a)  to the extent that the function involves the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

(b) to the extent that the function does not involve the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

Non-
Executive 

Governance 
Committee 

The service of an Abatement Notice in respect of a 
statutory nuisance under Section 80(1) Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 

Non-
Executive 

Governance 
Committee 

The passing of a resolution that Schedule 2 Noise and 
Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 should apply under Section 
8 of the Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993: 
(a) to the extent that the function involves the 

formulation of a strategic policy 

Executive 
Cabinet Member for 
the Environment 

(b) to the extent that the function does not involve the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

Non-
Executive 

Governance 
Committee 

Inspection of the Authority’s area to detect any statutory 
nuisance  
(a) to the extent that the function involves the 

formulation of a strategic policy 

Executive 
Cabinet Member for 
the Environment 

(b) to the extent that the function does not involve the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

Non-
Executive 

Governance 
Committee 

The investigation of any complaints as to the existence of 
a statutory nuisance  

Non-
Executive 

Governance 
Committee 

Obtaining information from Section 330 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as to interests in land: 
(a) to the extent that it is necessary to exercise these 

powers in respect of actions which are preliminary 
to the exercise of powers to make compulsory 
purchase orders 

Executive 
Cabinet Member for 
the Environment 

(b) to the extent that it is necessary to exercise these 
powers in respect of actions which are not 
preliminary to the exercise of powers to make 
compulsory purchase orders 

Non-
Executive 

Planning Committee 

Obtaining information about people interested in land 
under Section 16 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976: 
(a) to the extent that it is necessary to exercise these 

powers in respect of actions which are preliminary 
to the exercise of powers to make compulsory 
purchase orders 

Executive 
Cabinet Member for 
the Environment 

(b) to the extent that it is necessary to exercise these 
powers in respect of actions which are not 
preliminary to the exercise of powers to make 
compulsory purchase orders 

Non-
Executive 

Governance 
Committee 

Making agreements for highways works to be carried out Non-
Executive 

Governance 
Committee 

The appointment (and revocation of appointment) of any 
individual: 
(1) to any office other than an office in which they are 

employed by the Authority; 
(2) to any body other than: 

(a) the Authority; 
(b) a Joint Committee of two or more 

Authorities; or 
(c) to any Committee or Sub-Committee of such 

a body. 

Executive 
and Non-
Executive 

Leader where the 
appointment relates to 
Executive powers.  
The Council where the 
appointment relates to 
Non-Executive 
functions 

299



 

40 

The making of agreements with other Local Authorities 
for the placing of staff at the disposal of those other 
Authorities: 
(a) to the extent that the staff are being placed at the 

disposal of the other Authority in relation to the 
discharge of functions which are the responsibility 
of the Authority placing the staff 

Non-
Executive 

Governance 
Committee 

(b) to the extent that the staff are being placed at the 
disposal of the other Authority in relation to the 
discharge of functions which are not the 
responsibility of the Authority placing the staff 

Executive Executive as a whole 

 

Responsibility for Council Functions 
 
4.1 Regulation 2 and Schedule 1 Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 

Regulations 2000 provides that the following responsibilities may not be the responsibility of 
the Cabinet and shall be reserved to the Full Council. These functions are therefore all 
Non-Executive.  

 
4.2 The table below should be read in conjunction with the Committee terms of reference in 

Part 3 and the Officer Scheme of Delegations in Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 

Functions 
Service Area with 
responsibility for 

Function 

To elect the Chair and appoint the Vice Chair of the Council Power to 
confer the title of honorary alderman or alderwoman (section 249 of the 
Local Government Act 1972) 

Director for 
Sustainability  & 
Resources 

To approve the Schedule of Ordinary Council meetings for the 
forthcoming year 

 

With the exception of the Cabinet, to appoint and dissolve Committees 
and determine or amend their terms of reference and size 

 

With the exception of the Cabinet, to determine the allocation of seats on 
the Council’s Committees, and to make appointments to them 

 

To appoint representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is a 
Cabinet function or has been delegated by the Full Council 

 

To make all necessary arrangements for the discharge of Non-Executive 
functions through joint arrangements, including the establishment of Joint 
Committees, Area Committees or delegation to another Local Authority 

 

To authorise the contracting out of Non-Executive functions to another 
body 

 

To accept any delegation of functions from another Local Authority (in 
relation to both Executive and Non-Executive functions) 

 

Make rules of procedure, adopt, amend (apart from changes in relation to 
Executive functions which will be discharged by the Leader/Executive) or 
suspend the Constitution, in accordance with the provisions of Article 15 

Assistant Director 
Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Appoint Proper Officers Assistant Director 
Legal & Democratic 
Services 

To make arrangements in accordance with the Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution for the appointment of 

 

300



 

41 

Directors, Statutory Chief Officers, non-statutory Chief Officers, the 
Monitoring Officer and the Deputy Chief Officers 

To appoint and dismiss the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), Chief 
Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer 

 

To designate Officers as the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer 
and Chief Finance Officer 

 

To determine the terms and conditions on which staff hold office, 
including procedures for their dismissal, unless otherwise delegated 

 

To make appointments to various Independent Person roles; as required 
by statute 

 

To approve the Council’s budget, as defined in Article 4.02(b) of the 
Constitution, and Statement of Accounts (Part 3 of the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015) 

Assistant Director 
Finance (Section 
151 Officer) 

Subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Financial Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution, to make decisions about any matter in 
the discharge of a Cabinet function which is covered by the Financial 
Procedure Rules or included in the budget, but where the decision-maker 
is minded to make it in a manner that would be contrary to Financial 
Procedure Rules or contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the 
budget: 

 where the decision is made under any procedure for the approval of 
urgent decisions approved by the Council; 

 where departures from the budget: 

i) are not met from external funding, a contingency or reserve 
set up for the purpose; 

ii) are not met from proven savings elsewhere in the revenue 
budget and/or exceed £150,000; 

iii) are not met from proven savings in that financial year in the 
Capital Programme and/or exceed £150,000; 

iv) the new project (whether revenue or capital) is not fully funded 
by a grant or external contribution already contained in the 
Council budget and/or the cost of the project exceeds 
£150,000; 

v) the expenditure has the effect of changing Council policy. 

 

To approve, amend, revoke or replace any plan or strategy falling within 
the Council’s Policy Framework (including any decision required for 
submission to the Secretary of State) 

 

To approve, amend, revoke or replace the Members’ Allowances 
Scheme and to determine the levels of all allowances payable to 
Councillors, taking into consideration the recommendations of the 
Council’s Joint Independent Remuneration Panel 

Democratic Services 
Manager 

To adopt, revise or replace the Code of Conduct for Councillors and Co-
opted Members and arrange for dealing with allegations of misconduct 

 

To authorise Co-opted Members to vote at meetings of Scrutiny 
Committees in accordance with a scheme approved by the Council 

 

To determine matters relating to the failure of a Councillor to attend 
meetings for a period of six months 

 

301



 

42 

Adoption and revision of the Statement of Licensing Policy (Licensing 
Act, 2003)  

Director for 
Sustainability  & 
Resources 

Adoption and revision of the Statement of Gambling Policy (Gambling Act 
2005) 

Director for 
Sustainability  & 
Resources 

To resolve not to issue casino premises licences  

To determine late night levy requirements (Chapter 2 of Part 2 of the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, regulations made 
thereunder and para. 1.4 of Home Office guidance) 

 

To make an Order identifying a place as a designated public place for the 
purposes of Police powers in relation to alcohol consumption and 
designating a locality as an alcohol disorder zone, unless otherwise 
delegated 

 

To determine policy in respect of the licensing of Hackney Carriages and 
Private Hire Vehicles and review such policy upon the recommendation 
of the Licensing Committee 

 

Power to make, amend, revoke, re-enact or enforce bylaws (other than 
those relating to taxis and private hire vehicles) 

Assistant Director 
Legal & Democratic 
Services 

To promote or oppose local or personal Bills (section 239 of the Local 
Government Act 1972) 

Assistant Director 
Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Making a request for single-Member electoral areas Returning 
Officer/Electoral 
Registration Officer 

Resolving to consult on and change a scheme for elections and related 
publicity (sections 33(2), 35, 38(2), 41, 40(2) and 52 of the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007) 

Returning 
Officer/Electoral 
Registration Officer 

To make proposals for a change in governance arrangements or 
complying with a duty to make a change in governance arrangements, 
approving the proposals, deciding whether the change should be subject 
to approval and a referendum to make the change, including provision in 
Executive arrangements for the Cabinet Leader to be removed by 
resolution and passing a resolution for the removal of the Cabinet Leader 
(section 81 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007) 

Assistant Director 
Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Making a reorganisation order implementing recommendations of a 
community governance review (section 81 Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007) 

Assistant Director 
Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Functions relating to Electoral Registration and the holding of elections 
(section 39(4) of the Representation of the People Act 1983) 

Returning 
Officer/Electoral 
Registration Officer 

To pay expenses properly incurred by Electoral Registration Officers 
(section 54 of the Representation of the People Act 1983) 

 

The appointment of the Electoral Registration Officer (section 8(2) of the 
Representation of the People Act 1983) and the Returning Officer for 
local government elections (section 35 of the Representation of the 
People Act 1983)  

 

Assigning officers in relation to requisitions of the Electoral Registration 
Officer (section 52(4) of the Representation of the People Act 1983) 

 

302

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/416092/Late_Night_Levy_-_new_guidance_as_at_24_March_2015__final_.pdf


 

43 

To fill vacancies in the event of insufficient nominations at an ordinary 
election of parish councillors (section 21 of the Representation of the 
People Act 1985) 

 

To declare vacancy in office in certain cases (section 86 of the Local 
Government Act 1972) 

 

To give public notice of a casual vacancy (section 87 of the Local 
Government Act 1972) 

 

To submit proposals to the Secretary of State for an order under section 
10 (pilot schemes for local elections in England and Wales) of the 
Representation of the People Act 2000 

 

To divide constituencies into polling districts (sections 18A to 18E of, and 
Schedule A1 to, the Representation of the People Act 1983) 

 

To divide electoral wards into polling districts at local government 
elections (section 31 of the Representation of the People Act 1983) 

 

Duties relating to notice to Electoral Commission (sections 36 and 42 of 
the 2007 Act) 

 

To alter years of ordinary elections of parish councillors (section 53 of the 
2007 Act) 

 

To change of name of electoral area (section 59 of the 2007 Act)  

To approve the public consultation on any draft proposals relating to a 
local development plan document (Part 6 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012) 

 

To exercise functions in relation to community governance 
arrangements, including those relating to Parishes and Parish Councils, 
and to determine any matters relating to the name and status of areas 

 

To dissolve small parish councils (section 10 of the Local Government 
Act 1972) 

 

To make temporary appointments to parish councils (section 91 of the 
Local Government Act 1972) 

 

To make orders for grouping parishes, dissolving groups and separating 
parishes from groups (section 11 of the Local Government Act 1972) 

 

To exercise such local choice functions as may be set out in Part 3 of this 
Constitution which the Full Council decides should be undertaken by 
itself, rather than by the Cabinet or any Committee or Officer 

 

To determine all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to the 
Council or which have not been delegated to any Committee or Officer 

 

 
 

Terms of Reference and Delegated Powers of Executive and 
Non-Executive Committees 

 
Non-Executive Committees 
 
Powers Delegated to Non-Executive Committees  
 

(a) Each Committee is authorised to exercise such powers and duties as are delegated to 
it by the Council and shall act within the plans, policies, strategies and budgets 
approved by the Council. 

303



 

44 

(b) All Committees have power to create such Sub-Committees as are necessary for the 
efficient conduct of their business. 

(c) The following functions may not be delegated to Non-Executive Committees: 
(i) to approve any matter which the Council is required by statute to approve; 
(ii) to approve the budget and financial strategies, and the plans and strategies 

listed in Article 4 under the Policy Framework; 
(iii) the discontinuance of, or major alterations to, existing services; 
(iv) amendment to Council Standing Orders, Financial Regulations, Contract 

Procedure Rules or the Terms of Reference of Committees; 
(v) to make Major Decisions relating to District, County or other boundaries; 
(vi) the right to dissolve a Committee or alter its membership or Terms of Reference; 

and 
(vii) the appointment of Members to other organisations. 

 
The Cabinet 
 
Powers of the Cabinet 
 

(a) Composition: Between three and ten Elected Members of the Council, including the 
Leader and Deputy Leader. 

(b) Meetings: Up to twelve Ordinary meetings per year. 
(c) The Cabinet will be the Cabinet arm of the Council with the authority to action policies 

within the planned strategies and budget approved by the Council. 
(d) The composition of between three and ten Members does not, and is not, required to, 

follow the rules of proportionality relating to Political Groups. 
(e) The Cabinet Leader (‘the Leader’), as elected by Council, shall chair the Cabinet 

meetings and may designate a portfolio role to each Member of the Cabinet. 
(f) The Leader will appoint Cabinet Members and delegate to them a portfolio as set out in 

the Terms of Reference to follow. The Leader will notify the Monitoring Officer of any 
such appointments, removals or changes to the Cabinet or Executive delegations, 
which shall then be circulated to all Members and take effect immediately. 

(g) The Leader may also appoint Portfolio Team Members Policy Advisors to assist 
Cabinet Members. 

(h) The Leader shall prepare the 28 Calendar Day Notice of Key and/or Exempt Decisions 
to be made by the Cabinet. 

(i) For the avoidance of doubt, any reference to partnerships contained below may not 
include legally binding partnerships. 

(j) The Cabinet has the power to appoint Members to other organisations, in respect of 
Executive functions. 

 
Terms of Reference of the Cabinet: 
 

1. To exercise those Executive functions delegated to it by the Leader. 
2. To establish joint arrangements with one or more Local Authorities to exercise 

functions which are Executive functions, including the delegation or acceptance of a 
delegation to or from another Local Authority or public agency. Such arrangements 
may involve the appointment of Joint Committees with these other Local Authorities. 

3. To implement policies as determined by Council. 
4. To determine Key Decisions. 
5. To advise the Council on financial and economic policy, to determine the Council Tax 

Base and to recommend annually, as determined by statute, proposals for the Council 
Tax. To exercise overall responsibility for the proper administration of the Council’s 
financial affairs under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

6. To maintain overall control of the accounts and approved budgets and to consider 
virement requests in accordance with Financial Regulations. 

7. To determine an itemised asset renewal programme annually as part of the approved 
capital programme. 

304



 

45 

8. To recommend to the Licensing Committee fees and charges relating to licences and 
registration. 

9. To determine the rent levels for District Housing. 
10. In partnership with other agencies, to review and update as required the Sustainable 

Community Strategy for the consideration of the Council. 
11. To submit annually to the Council a corporate plan and annual report and to monitor its 

effectiveness. 
12. (a) to be responsible for the production and review of the Local Plan under the Town & 

Country Planning Act 1990, consulting the Planning Committee as appropriate and 
subject to final approval by the Council of:  

(i) issues, papers and draft policies and proposals prior to public 
consultation on them; and  

(ii) the final version of the Local Plan; and 
(b)  to prepare supplementary planning guidance, designate conservation areas, areas 

of archaeological interest and nature reserves, remove permitted development 
rights through Article 4 directions and undertake other Executive functions under 
the Town & Country Planning Act which are not carried out by the Planning 
Committee or otherwise delegated to Officers. 

13. To prepare or consider (new or amended) policies from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for the consideration of Council. 

14. To exercise the Cabinet powers and duties of the Council under all statutes, 
regulations and codes of practice relating to the health and safety of Council staff. 

15. To let contracts on behalf of the Council in accordance with Contract Standing Orders. 
16. To oversee the Council’s corporate accommodation and to ensure the provision of 

safe, well-maintained premises to staff and public and to recommend the acquisition 
and disposal of such property. 

17. To be responsible for the acquisition, management, maintenance, disposal and letting 
of all property of the Council and to consider the views of the Council before making a 
compulsory purchase order. 

18. To be responsible for the review and implementation of the Council’s Asset 
Management Plan and Capital Strategy. 

19. To advise the Council on proposals for emergency planning and to ensure an adequate 
response to incidents affecting the District. 

20. To exercise general control over the information, public relations and publicity services 
of the Council. 

21. To prepare, approve and implement the Council’s ICT Strategy. 
22. To respond on behalf of the Council to external reports and consultation papers. 
23. To authorise exceptions to approved policies only where the particular merits of 

individual cases justify the exceptions being made. 
24. To authorise the spend of Section 106 monies in accordance with the Financial 

Regulations, following consultation with the Ward Member. 
25. To appoint appropriate panels and forums to assist to advise the Cabinet in carrying 

out its functions. 
26. To appoint or nominate persons to outside organisations which relate to functions of 

the Cabinet. 
27. To review and recommend any updates to the Risk Management Strategy to the Joint 

Audit & Governance Committee every two years, and to receive and review the annual 
risk and opportunities management report.  

 
Delegation of Executive functions 
 

The Leader may delegate any of their Executive functions to: 
(a) The Cabinet 
(b) A Committee of the Cabinet; 
(c) An individual Cabinet Member;  
(d) Officers;  

305



 

46 

(e) A Ward Member (to the extent that the function is exercisable in relation to 
their electoral ward); or 

(f) Another body in accordance with joint working arrangements. 
 

Cabinet Portfolios 
 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio 
Representation 

on Outside 
Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio 
Team 

Members 
Policy 

Advisors 

Leader 
Cllr Neil 
Parkin 

 Overall policy and 
strategy (vision and 
priorities). 

 External relations, 
including complaints 
management, marketing and 
promotion. 

 Reputation management, 
including risk (policy). 

 Performance 
management, including 
improvement plans. 

 Media and 
communications (internal 
and external). 

 Democratic Services 
including committee 
management. 

 Electoral Services within 
the remit of the Cabinet. 

 Member Services. 

 Chair of the Council and 
civic matters. 

 Partnership working 
(lead). 

 Public consultation, 
including community 
engagement and citizens 
panels. 

 City Deal (Strategic 
matters) 

 Devolution 

 Insurance 

 Greater 
Brighton 
Economic 
Board; 

 Local 
Government 
Association – 
Coastal Issues - 
Special Interest 
Group  

 District 
Councils’ 
Network 
 

 The 
Cabinet 

 A 
committee of 
the Cabinet 

 An 
individual 
Cabinet 
Member 

 Officers  

 A Ward 
Member (to 
the extent that 
the function is 
exercisable in 
relation to their 
electoral ward) 

 Another 
body in 
accordance 
with joint 
working 
arrangements 

 

Deputy 
Executive 
Leader and 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance & 
Resources 
Cllr Angus 
Dunn 

 Budgets (including the 
overall allocation of Revenue 
and Capital), external 
funding. 

 Capital programme. 

 Local taxation (benefit 
fraud (Adur) and appeals 
against decisions relating to 
National Non-Domestic Rate 
applications). 

 Court of the 
University of 
Sussex (known 
as the Sussex 
Annual Forum) 

 Quayside 
Youth Centre: 
Management 
Committee 

 Southwick 
Community 
Association 

 The 
Cabinet as a 
whole (when 
acting in the 
absence of the 
Leader); 

 Joint 
Strategic 
Committee 
(when acting 
in the absence 
of the Leader); 

 

306



 

47 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio 
Representation 

on Outside 
Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio 
Team 

Members 
Policy 

Advisors 

 Treasury management, 
investments, loans, leasing 
and banking matters. 

 Property and asset 
management, facilities 
management, estates 
(including Southwick Square 
shops), property terriers, 
corporate property (not in 
other portfolios) and non-
housing property repairs. 

 ICT (client side), 
telephony and Data 
Protection, Freedom of 
Information, information 
security and web team.  

 Procurement, including 
contracts. 

 Personnel and staffing 
(where Executive functions), 
including organisational 
development, occupational 
health and learning and 
development of staff. 

 Other central support 
services. 

 Internal Audit and audit 
fees. 

 Digital transformation 
programme.  

 In addition, and in the 
absence of the Leader, the 
Deputy Leader has overall 
responsibility for the portfolio 
of the Cabinet Leader. 

 An 
Individual 
Cabinet 
Member 
(when acting 
in the absence 
of the Leader); 

 Officers 

Cabinet 
Member for 
the 
Environment 
& Leisure  
Cllr Emma 
Evans 

 Waste collection and 
recycling. 

 Street cleaning. 

 Street-scene, including 
abandoned vehicles, bus 
shelters, enforcement, street 
names and numbering, road 
name plates, street furniture. 

 Environmental 
management and strategy. 

 Highways liaison. 

 Cemeteries and burials. 

 Parks and grounds 
maintenance, including 
allotments and dog control.  

 PATROL 
(Parking and 
Traffic 
Regulations 
Outside 
London) 
Adjudication 
Joint Committee 

 Marlipins 
Museum 

 Brighton City 
Airport 
Consultative 
Committee 
(formerly 
Shoreham 

 Officers  

307



 

48 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio 
Representation 

on Outside 
Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio 
Team 

Members 
Policy 

Advisors 

 On and off street car 
parking. 

 Public conveniences. 

 Energy management and 
sustainability. 

 Transport (maintenance). 

 Cultural Projects 
and/public entertainment 
events (not covered by the 
licensing functions, with a 
potential attendance of 500) 
to enhance the District's 
cultural offer to residents 
and visitors. 

 Client for South Downs 
Leisure and management of 
Adur Leisure facilities and 
sites. 

 Foreshore management, 
including beach huts and 
chalets, beach maintenance. 

Airport 
Consultative 
Committee) 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Communities 
& Wellbeing 
Cllr Kevin 
Boram 

 Community safety anti-
social behaviour 
management, 
neighbourhood disputes, 
safer communities. 

 Community development, 
including cohesion and 
planning, fuel poverty, 
wellbeing hubs. 

 Public health, health 
protection and enforcement, 
including Food Safety 
Enforcement Plan. 

 Cross-cutting health 
issues and NHS liaison. 

 Equalities and diversity. 

 Children and young 
people, including family 
intervention project. 

 Partnership working, with 
voluntary and community 
organisations (including the 
Local Strategic Partnership, 
grants and commissioning). 

 Health and safety and 
civil contingencies 
(emergency planning), 
including business 
continuity. 

 Adur and 
Worthing Health 
& Wellbeing 
Partnership. 

 Adur and 
Worthing Safer 
Communities 
Partnership. 

 Sussex 
Police and 
Crime Panel 

 Safeguarding 
Children 
Champion 
Member 

 Officers  

308



 

49 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio 
Representation 

on Outside 
Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio 
Team 

Members 
Policy 

Advisors 

 Wellbeing and 
development functions for 
culture, leisure and sport, 
including the cultural 
strategy. 

 Police performance and 
intelligence liaison. 

 Environmental protection, 
including noise, food 
hygiene, pest control, air 
quality. 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Adur Homes 
& Customer 
Services 
Cllr Carson 
Albury 

 Customer contacts and 
services, including Help 
Points. 

 Housing and Council Tax 
benefits (Adur). 

 Housing - Housing 
Revenue Account, ACF 
Tenants' Services, anti-
social behaviour/ 
neighbourhood disputes in 
relation to tenants, sheltered 
housing, leasehold 
administration, Adur Housing 
Voice, Adur Talkback, 
Choice Based Lettings, 
Community Alarm, Grounds 
Maintenance and Building 
Cleaning, Adur Home 
Service, Temporary 
Accommodation 
Management. 

 Housing strategy and 
housing enabling role; 
affordable housing provision; 
housing register need 
options and advice. 

 Housing – non-Housing 
Revenue Account - including 
homelessness and advice 
(prevention and 
management), private sector 
housing and other housing 
services - choice based 
lettings, grants (disability 
and housing). 

 Adur Homes Board 

 Adur Homes 
Advisory Board 

 Adur and 
Worthing 
Homeless 
Forum 

 Local 
Government 
Association - 
General 
Assembly 
 

 Officers  

Cabinet 
Member for 
Regeneration 

 Economic strategy and 
development, including 
regeneration (visitor 
economy, tourism, Adur 

 Coastal West 
Sussex 
Partnership 
Board 

 Officers  

309



 

50 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio 
Representation 

on Outside 
Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio 
Team 

Members 
Policy 

Advisors 

& Strategic 
Planning 
Cllr Steve 
Neocleous 

Festival, business 
partnerships, concessions, 
events and/or projects to 
encourage or are likely to 
generate viable, sustainable 
economic gain). 

 Education liaison. 

 Transport planning and 
infrastructure. 

 Minor amendments to 
planning policy; Local 
Development Plans, 
conservation areas and 
management plans, 
development briefs, 
infrastructure delivery plans. 

 Building control. 

 Coastal West Sussex. 

 Town centre 
management. 

 Flood prevention, 
including coastal protection, 
land drainage and flood 
protection. 

 Adur Local Plan 

 Adur and 
Worthing 
Business 
Partnership 

 Brighton City 
Airport 
Consultative 
Committee 
(formerly 
Shoreham 
Airport 
Consultative 
Committee) 

 
Portfolio Team MembersPolicy Advisors 
 
Cabinet Members, with the agreement of the Leader, may appoint Portfolio Team MembersPolicy 
Advisors to support them in their role. Portfolio Team MembersPolicy Advisors cannot exercise 
Executive functions or substitute for Cabinet Members, including voting at Cabinet or Joint 
Strategic Committee meetings and taking decisions on behalf of a Cabinet Member. Portfolio Team 
Members Policy Advisors cannot participate in the scrutiny of a decision made by their Cabinet 
Member. 
 
 
Planning Committee 
 
The Planning Committee makes decisions about town planning applications. 
 
General: 
 

(a) The Committee is a Committee of the Council appointed by the Council under Section 
101(2) of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) The Council has arranged under Section 101(1) of that Act for the discharge by the 
Committee of the Council’s functions as are within the Committee’s Terms of Reference 
(set out below); 

(c) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details of which may be 
found in the Officer Scheme of Delegations which can be found in Part 4 of this 
Constitution; 

310



 

51 

(d) Where a function or matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function/matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(e) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is always 
subject to any relevant requirement of the Council’s Constitution; 

(f) The Committee shall consist of 9 Members; 
(g) The Committee shall be quorate with 3 or more Members.  

 
Terms of reference: 
 

No
. 

Delegation  Legislation 

1. To be consulted on the draft local development 
framework 

Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 

2. Power to determine application for planning 
permission 

Sections 59A(1)(b), 70(1)(a) and (b) and 
72 of the Town & Country Planning Act 
1990 

3. Power to decline to determine an application 
for planning permission 

Section 70A of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

4. Power to determine application to develop land 
without compliance with conditions previously 
attached 

Section 73 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

5. Power to grant planning permission for 
development already carried out 

Section 73A of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

6. Duties relating to the making of determinations 
of planning permissions 

Sections 69, 69A, 92 and 96A of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Parts 2- 6 and 8 of the Town & Country 
Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) Order 2015 and directions 
thereunder 

7. Power to determine application for planning 
permission made by a Local Authority, alone or 
jointly with another person 

Section 316 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 and Town & Country 
Planning General Regulations 1992 

8. Power to make determinations, give approvals 
and agree certain other matters relating to the 
exercise of permitted development rights 

Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 

9. Power to enter into agreement regulating 
development or use of land 

Sections 106, 106A and 106BA of the 
Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

10. Power to issue a certificate of existing or 
proposed lawful use or development 

Sections 191, 192 and 193 of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 

11. Power to serve a completion notice Section 94 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

12. Power to authorise entry on to land Sections 196A, B and C of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 

13. Power to grant consent for the display of 
advertisements 

Section 220 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 and Town & Country 
Planning (Control of Advertisement) 
(England) Regulations 2007 

14. To exercise the Council powers and duties 
relating to advertisement control other than the 
grant of consent to display advertisements 

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

15. Power to require the discontinuance of a use 
of land 

Section 102 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

16. Power to serve a planning contravention 
notice, breach of condition notice, stop notice 
or temporary stop notice 

Sections 171C, 171E, 187A and 183(1) of 
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

311



 

52 

17. Power to issue an enforcement notice Section 172 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

18. Power to apply for an injunction restraining a 
breach of planning control 

Section 187B of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

19. Power to determine application for hazardous 
substances consent and related powers 

Sections 9(1) and 10 of the Planning 
(Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 

20. Power to require the proper maintenance of 
land 

Section 215(1) of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

21. Power to determine application for listed 
building consent and related powers and 
duties 

Sections 13, 14, 16, 17 and 33 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990; 
regulations 3-6 and 13 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Regulations 1990; and 
paragraphs 8, 15 and 26 of Department 
of the Environment, Transport and the 
Regions Circular 01/01 

22. Power to determine application for 
conservation area consent and related powers 

Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

23. Duties relating to applications for listed building 
consent and conservation area consent 

Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
Arrangements for Handling Heritage 
Applications 

24. Power to serve a building preservation notice, 
and related powers 

Sections 3(1) and 4(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 

25. Power to issue a listed building enforcement 
notice. 

Section 38 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 

26. Power to acquire a listed building in need of 
repair and to serve repairs notice 

Sections 47 and 48 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 

27. Power to apply for an injunction in relation to a 
listed building 

Section 44A of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 

28. Power to execute urgent works Section 54 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 

29. Duty to enter land in Part 2 of the brownfield 
land register 

Regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Brownfield Land Register) 
Regulations 2017 

30.2 The obtaining of information as to interests in 
land  

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

31.3 Power to create footpaths bridleways or 
restricted byways by agreement 

Highways Act 1980 

32.3 Power to create footpaths bridleways or 
restricted byways 

Highways Act 1980 

33.3 Power to stop up footpaths bridleways or 
restricted byways (and highways in respect of 
s118C) 

Highways Act 1980 

34.3 Power to divert footpaths bridleways or 
restricted byways 

Highways Act 1980 

35.3 Power to obtain particulars of persons 
interested in land, where relevant to the other 
functions of the committee 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 

312



 

53 

36.3 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties in 
relation to Hedgerows  

Hedgerows Regulations 1997 

37.3 To exercise the Council’s powers and duties in 
relation to the preservation of trees 

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Town and Country Planning (Tree 
Preservation) (England) Regulations 
2012 

38.3 To exercise all powers provided under the 
terms of any delegation arrangements from the 
South Downs National Park Authority in 
relation to applications that fall within the South 
Downs National Park area, within the Borough 

 

39.3 To make recommendations to Council, where 
such is considered desirable 

 

40.3 To make recommendations to the Cabinet in 
relation to matters of planning policy reserved 
to the Cabinet, where such is considered 
desirable 

 

41.4 To advise the Cabinet on any matters relating 
to claims and payments or statutory 
compensation arising from decisions on 
planning matters 

 

42.4 In the event that any or all of the above Acts or 
Statutory Instruments are amended, repealed 
and re-enacted by another Act or Statutory 
Instrument, or any of the general functions 
referred to in 1-5 above become the subject of 
additional legislation, then all such functions as 
contained in the new or amending legislation 
shall be delegated to the Planning Committee 
unless otherwise determined by Full Council or 
the new amending legislation provides that 
they shall be carried out by the Cabinet. 

 

 
 
Licensing Committee 
 
The Licensing Committee deals with various applications for licences. Sub-Committees have also 
been established to deal with the Council’s additional licensing responsibilities under the Licensing 
Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. 
 
General: 
 

(a) The Committee is a Committee of the Council appointed by the Council under section 
101(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 and under section 6 of the Licensing Act 2003 
and the Gambling Act 2005; 

(b) The Council has arranged under section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
under section 9 of the Licensing Act 2003 and under the Gambling Act 2005 for the 
discharge by the Committee of the Council’s functions as are within the Committees Terms 
of Reference (set out below); 

(c) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details of which may be 
found in the Officer Scheme of Delegations which can be found in Part 4 of this 
Constitution; 

(d) Where a function or matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(e) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is subject to any 
relevant requirement of the Council’s Constitution; 

313



 

54 

(f) The Committee may establish one or more Sub-Committees in accordance with the 
provisions of the Licensing Act 2003; any such Sub-Committees are authorised to 
discharge all relevant functions under the Licensing Act 2003 and to hear taxi matters. 

(g) The Committee shall consist of 11 Members;  
(h) Substitutes are permissible on the Licensing Committee, except when dealing with an 

application under the Licensing Act 2003 or the Gambling Act 2005; 
(i) Substitutes are not permitted on Licensing Sub-Committees, other than from the Licensing 

Committee; 
(j) Cabinet Members are permitted to sit on the Licensing Committee, subject to the 

requirement that Cabinet Members shall not form the majority of the membership of the 
Committee. 

(k) The quorum for Licensing Committee shall be 4 or more voting Members. 
(l) A Licensing Sub-Committee shall consist of 3 Members and the quorum for any Licensing 

Sub-Committee shall be 3 Members; 
(m) Procedures adopted at hearings of the Licensing Committee and its Sub-Committees 

should be adopted in accordance with the guidance at the Licensing Procedure Rules 
which can be found in Part 4 of this Constitution; 

(n) The Licensing Committee and its Sub-Committees are authorised to make exceptions to 
any such procedure where appropriate, subject to complying with all relevant regulations; 

(o) Where an individual exercises a right of appeal against a decision of the Licensing 
Committee, to the Magistrates’ Court, the Council will be represented in such proceedings 
by their Legal Officers, or their nominated representatives, and the Chair of the Licensing 
Committee, or Vice Chair in their absence, is expected to attend such hearing. 

 
Terms of reference: 
 
Except for matters of policy, the determination of casino premises licences and decisions to 
introduce, vary or end the requirement for a late night levy (which are reserved to Full Council), to 
undertake all licensing and gambling functions, powers and duties conferred on the Council under 
the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005, including the matters set out below: 
 

No Delegation Legislation 

1. Duty to comply with requirement to provide 
information to Gambling Commission  

Section 29 of the Gambling Act 2005 

2. Functions relating to exchange of information  Section 30 of the Gambling Act 2005 

3. Functions relating to occasional use notices  Section 39 of the Gambling Act 2005 

4. Power to designate officer of a licensing 
authority as an authorised person for a purpose 
relating to premises  

Section 304 of the Gambling Act 2005 

5. Power to make order disapplying section 279 or 
282(1) of the 2005 Act in relation to specified 
premises 

Section 284 of the Gambling Act 2005 

6. Power to institute criminal proceedings  Section 346 of the Gambling Act 2005 

7. Power to exchange information  Section 350 of the Gambling Act 2005 

8. Powers to license hackney carriages and private 
hire vehicles 

(a) as to hackney carriages, the Town 
Police Clauses Act 1847, as extended 
by section 171 of the Public Health 
Act 1875, and section 15 of the 
Transport Act 1985; and sections 47, 
57, 58, 60 and 79 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976; (b) as to private 
hire vehicles, sections 48, 57, 58, 60 
and 79 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

314



 

55 

9. Powers to license drivers of hackney carriages 
and private hire vehicles 

Sections 51, 53, 54, 59, 61 and 79 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 

10. Power to license operators of private hire 
vehicles 

Sections 55 to 58, 62 and 79 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 

11. Power to issue entertainments licences. Section 12 of the Children and Young 
Persons Act 1933, section 52 of, and 
Schedule 12 to, the London 
Government Act 1963, section 79 of 
the Licensing Act 1964, sections 1 to 
5 and 7 of, and Parts I and II of the 
Schedule to, the Private Places of 
Entertainment (Licensing) Act 1967 
and Part I of, and Schedules 1 and 2 
to, the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

12. Functions relating to the determination of fees for 
premises licences  

Gambling (Premises Licence Fees) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 
2007 

13. Functions relating to the registration and 
regulation of small society lotteries 

Part 5 of Schedule 11 to the 
Gambling Act 2005 

14.. Power to fix fares for hackney carriages Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 

15. Power to license sex establishments Section 2 and Schedule 3 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 

16. Power to license market and street trading Part III of, and Schedule 4 to, the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 

17. Power to license and control scrap metal dealers Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 

18. Power to license persons to collect for charitable 
and other causes 

Section 5 of the Police, Factories etc. 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916 
and section 2 of the House to House 
Collections Act 1939 

19. Power to make an order to designate a public 
place under the Criminal Justice and Police Act 
2001 

Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 

20. Power to license premises for acupuncture, 
tattooing, semi-permanent skin colouring, 
cosmetic piercing and electrolysis 

Sections 13 to 17 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 

21. Power to obtain particulars of persons interested 
in land, where relevant to the other functions of 
the Committee 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 

22. Power to license pleasure boats and pleasure 
vessels 

Section 94 of the Public Health Act 
(as amended) 1907 

23. Power to license premises for the breeding of 
dogs 

Animal Welfare Act 2006 

24. Power to authorise officers to inspect premises 
for the breeding of dogs 

Animal Welfare Act 2006 

25. Power to register and license premises for the 
preparation of food 

Section 19 of the Food Safety Act 
1990 

26. Power to license land as a caravan site and 
attach and alter conditions to site licences 

Section 3(3) of the Caravan Sites and 
Control of Development Act 1960 

315



 

56 

27. Power to license dangerous wild animals, power 
to inspect premises and power to seize and 
dispose of animals without compensation 

Section 1 of the Dangerous Wild 
Animals Act 1976 

28. Power to grant consent for the operation of a 
loudspeaker in streets or roads 

Schedule 2 to the Noise Nuisance 
and Statutory Act 1993 

29. Power to license and inspect thereafter, pet 
shops  

Animal Welfare Act 2006 

30. Power to license, and inspection of, riding 
establishments 

Animal Welfare Act 2006 

31. Power to control use of moveable dwellings Section 269(1) of the Public Health 
Act 1936 

32. Power to license zoos Section 1 of the Zoo Licensing Act 
1981 

33. Animal welfare powers – entry and search under 
warrant in connection with offence and 
inspection of premises and documents 

Animal Welfare Act 2006 (all 
functions insofar as they are non-
executive functions) 

34. Power to determine applications for personal 
licences. 

Part 6 of the Licensing Act 2003 

35. Power to determine applications for premises 
licences and club premises certificates. 

Part 3 and 4 of the Licensing Act 
2003 

36. Power to determine applications for variation of 
premises licences and club premises certificates. 

Part 3 and 4, Licensing Act 2003 

37. Power to remove designated premises 
supervisors. 

Licensing Act 2003 

38. Power to determine applications for transfer of 
premises licences. 

Licensing Act 2003 

39. Power to review premises licence and club 
premises certificates. 

Licensing Act 2003 

40. Power to determine pre-subjections to temporary 
event notices. 

Licensing Act 2003 

41. Where representations have been received and 
not withdrawn, to determine an application for a 
premises licence. 

Gambling Act 2005 

42. Where representations have been received and 
not withdrawn, to determine an application for a 
variation to a premises licence. 

Part 8, Gambling Act 2005 

43. Where representations have been received and 
not withdrawn, to determine an application for a 
transfer to a premises licence. 

Part 8, Gambling Act 2005 

44. Where representations have been received and 
not withdrawn, to determine an application for a 
provisional statement. 

 

45. Where representations have been received and 
not withdrawn, to determine an application for a 
club gaming or club machine permit. 

Gambling Act 2005 

46. Power to cancel a club gaming or club machine 
permit. 

Gambling Act 2005 

47. Power to determine to give a counter notice to a 
temporary use notice. 

Gambling Act 2005 

48. Power to take action after a review has been 
heard under Section 201 

Gambling Act 2005 

49. Power to issue premises licences and to receive 
temporary use notices. 

Gambling Act 2005 

50. Power to dis-apply Section 279 and 282(1) of the 
Act. 

Gambling Act 2005 

316



 

57 

51. Power to revoke premises licences for non-
payment of fee or dis-apply Section 193 of the 
Act. 

Gambling Act 2005 

52. Power to determine prize gaming permits. Gambling Act 2005 

53. Power to determine licensed premises gaming 
machine permits. 

Gambling Act 2005 

 
Licensing Regulatory Sub Committee 
 
Membership:  
 
3 Members selected on each occasion by the Director for Sustainability & Resources from the 
members of the Licensing Committee, which shall normally include the Chair or Vice-Chair of that 
Committee. 
 
Terms of reference:  
 
Except for matters of policy, to undertake all licensing functions, powers and duties conferred on 
the Council (except under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005), including the 
matters set out below: 
 
1. The Council’s licensing and enforcement functions relating to individual licences, consents or 

permits for:  
(a) hackney carriages and private hire drivers, vehicles, and private hire operators’ licences 

(taxi licences)  
(b) caravan sites  
(c) animal welfare  
(d) street trading  
(e) public protection  
(f) sex establishments where the Director for Communities Sustainability & Resources 

considers the matter merits the Sub-Committee’s attention.  
 
2. In particular the Sub-Committee will consider and determine matters relating to licences, 

permits, approvals, orders, consents or similar authorisations under the above provisions 
where the Director for Communities Sustainability & Resources considers that the matter 
merits the Sub-Committee’s attention. 

 
Licensing Sub Committee 
 
Membership:  
 
3 Members and substitutes selected on each occasion by the Director for Communities 
Sustainability & Resources from the members of the Licensing Committee 
 
Terms of Reference:  
 
1. To determine the following under the Licensing Act 2003, including the imposition of 

appropriate conditions on Licences: 
(a) Applications for personal licences – if a Police objection 
(b) Applications for personal licences with unspent convictions – all cases 
(c) Applications for Premises Licences/Club Premises Certificates – if an adverse relevant 

representation subsists* 
(d) Applications for provisional statements – if an adverse relevant representation subsists* 
(e) Applications to vary Premises Licences or Club Premises Certificates – if an adverse 

relevant representation subsists* 
(f) Applications to vary Designated Premises Supervisors – if a Police objection 
(g) Applications for transfer of Premises Licences – if a Police objection 

317



 

58 

(h) Applications for Interim Authorities – if a Police objection 
(i) Applications to review Premises Licences/Club Premises Certificates – if an adverse 

relevant representation subsists* 
(j) Decisions to object when Local Authority is a consultee and not the relevant authority 

considering the applications – all cases 
(k) Determinations of an objection to a Temporary Event Notice – all cases 

 
* Most cases will be considered by a Sub Committee but the Director for Communities 
Sustainability & Resources may refer the determination of a case to the Licensing Committee 
instead if they consider it merits their attention 

 
2. To determine the following under the Gambling Act 2005, including the imposition of 

appropriate conditions on licences: 
(a) Applications for premises licences – where representations have been received and not 

withdrawn 
(b) Application for a variation to a licence – where representations have been received and not 

withdrawn 
(c) Applications for a transfer of a licence – where representations have been received and not 

withdrawn 
(d) Application for a provisional Statement – where representations have been received and 

not withdrawn 
(e) Review of a premises licence 
(f) Application for club gaming/club machine permits – where objections have been made and 

not withdrawn 
(g) Cancellation of club gaming/club machine permits 
(h) Decision to give a counter notice to a temporary use notice 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
General 
 

(a) The Committee is a committee of the Council appointed by the Council under Section 
102(1) of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) The Council has arranged under Section 101(1) of that Act for the discharge by the 
Committee of such of the Council’s functions as are within the Committee’s Terms of 
Reference (set out below); 

(c) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details may be found in 
the Officer Scheme of Delegations, which can be found in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(d) The Committee exercises the scrutiny function of Adur District Council, only in relation to 
matters which have been specifically reserved to be within the remit of Adur District Council 
or its Cabinet, rather than being included under joint working arrangements as set out in the 
Joint Committee Agreement between Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council, 
a copy of which can be found in Part 9 of the Constitution. 

(e) Where a functional matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(f) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is always 
subject to any relevant requirement of the Council’s Constitution; and 

(g) The membership of the Committee is 9 Elected Members; 
(h) The quorum required for this Committee is 5 or more Members. 

 
Terms of Reference 
 

No. Power/Function Legislation 

1.  To consider Call-Ins relating to decisions of the Adur Cabinet in relation to 
an Adur District Council only matter; and 

 

2.  To exercise the functions set out in Article 6.03-6.05.  

318



 

59 

 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Council is required to have an overview and scrutiny function which: 

 Provides 'critical friend' challenge and holds to account the Executive policy and decision 
makers 

 Drives improvement, finds efficiencies and new ways of delivering services 

 Enables the voice and concerns of the public and its communities to be heard 

 Will be carried out by councillors in an apolitical and non-partisan manner. 
 
General 
 

(a) The Committee is a committee of the Council appointed by the Council under Section 
102(1) of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) The Council has arranged under Section 101(1) of that Act for the discharge by the 
Committee of such of the Council’s functions as are within the Committee’s Terms of 
Reference (set out in Article 6); 

(c) The Committee exercises the scrutiny function of both Worthing Borough Council and Adur 
District Council in relation to all matters other than those specifically reserved to be 
determined by the individual Councils or their Cabinets. 

(d) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details may be found in 
the Officer Scheme of Delegations which can be found in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(e) Where a functional matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(f) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is always 
subject to any relevant requirement of the Council’s Constitution;  

(g) The membership of the Committee is 16 Elected Members (8 appointed by the Council and 
8 by the Borough Council of Worthing); and 

(h) The current Chair and Vice Chair of the Council’s Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will automatically represent the Council on the Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint 
Committee) Call-In Panel and be consultees for any Call-In of decisions by the Greater 
Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee). 

 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
 
The Committee considers internal and external audit matters and issues such as the Council’s anti-
fraud and risk management arrangements; and is responsible for recommendations to the Full 
Councils in areas such as constitutional issues, Councillors’ allowances, bylaws and elections. 
 
General 
 

(a) This Committee is a committee of the Council appointed by the Council jointly with 
Worthing Borough Council under Section 101(5) of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details may be found in 
the Officer Scheme of Delegations found in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(c) Where a functional matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(d) The exercise of any functional matter within the Committee’s competence is always subject 
to any relevant requirement of the Council’s Constitution; and 

(e) The Joint Committee has 16 Elected Members (8 appointed by the Council and 8 by the 
Borough Council of Worthing) and up to 3 Independent Persons. The Independent Persons 
will be co-opted non-voting Members of the Committee. The Joint Committee shall also co-
opt one Member of Lancing Parish Council and one Member of Sompting Parish Council to 
advise the Committee on Parish matters, when considering such matters. Parish 
representatives will not be entitled to vote at meetings.  

319



 

60 

(f) The Joint Committee may establish one or more Sub-Committees in accordance with the 
Localism Act 2011, to determine standards matters, to make appointments of Joint 
Independent Remuneration Panel members, and to make recommendations to Full Council 
in respect of appointments of Independent Persons.  

(g) A Sub-Committee will consist of 6 Elected Members (3 appointed by the Council and 3 by 
the Borough Council of Worthing) and 1 Independent Person. In addition 1 Parish 
representative may sit on the Sub-Committee when determining a standards matter relating 
to a Parish Councillor; the Parish Member cannot be from the same Parish as the Subject 
Member complained of and should be from the other Parish within the District of Adur. The 
Independent Person and the Parish representative will be co-opted non-voting Members of 
the Sub-Committee. The quorum of any Sub-Committee shall be 4. 

(h) The Committee and any Sub-Committee should be politically balanced. 
(i) A maximum of one Member of each Council’s Cabinet may sit on the Joint Audit & 

Governance Committee, but they shall not be appointed as Chair or Vice-Chair. 
(j) Substitutes on the Joint Audit & Governance Committee are permitted. Substitutes on any 

Sub-Committee are only permitted from the Joint Audit & Governance Committee. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
Standards, Ethics and Probity 
 

No. Function/Matter Legislation 

1.  To lead on the Council’s duties to design, implement, monitor, approve and 
review the standards of ethics and probity of the Council and its Councillors 
and Co-opted Members. The Committee’s powers should include 
responding to consultation documents and the promulgation of Codes of 
Conduct but the adoption and revision of the local Members’ Code of 
Conduct shall be reserved to the Council. 

Chapter 7 of 
the Localism 
Act 2011 

2.  To promote a culture of openness, ready accountability and probity in order 
to ensure the higher standards of conduct of Councillors and Co-opted 
Members. 

 

3.  To lead on all aspects of corporate governance by promoting the values of 
putting people first, valuing public service and creating a norm of the higher 
standards of personal conduct. 

 

4.  To oversee and manage a programme of guidance, advice and training on 
ethics, standards and probity for Councillors and Co-opted Members and 
on the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 

5.  To be responsible for the Council’s Register of Members’ Interests and to 
receive reports from the Monitoring Officer on the operation of the register 
from time to time. 

Section 29, 
Localism Act 
2011 

6.  To be responsible for written guidance and advice on the operation of the 
system of declarations of Members’ interests and to receive reports from 
the Monitoring Officer on the operation of the system of declarations from 
time to time. 

 

7.  To establish, monitor, approve and issue advice and guidance to 
Councillors and Co-opted Members on a system of dispensations to speak 
on, or participate in, matters in which they have interests and give 
dispensation in appropriate cases. Granting dispensations to Councillors 
and Co-opted Members from requirements relating to interests set out in 
the Code of Members’ Conduct and the Localism Act 2011, in 
circumstances where the Monitoring Officer does not exercise their 
discretion. 

Section 33 of 
the Localism 
Act 2011. 

8.  To exercise the functions of the Council in relation to the ethical framework, 
corporate governance and standards of conduct of joint committees and 
other bodies. 

 

320



 

61 

9.  To establish a Standards Sub-Committee to receive reports following 
investigation on behalf of the Monitoring Officer into allegations of 
misconduct by Members and to determine appropriate action in respect of 
alleged breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 

10.  To support the Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 
Officer) in their statutory roles and the issuing of guidance on them from 
time to time. 

 

11.  To receive regular reports on the performance of the Corporate Complaints 
Process, Local Government Ombudsman referrals, Annual Governance 
Statement and Code of Corporate Governance and to recommend 
revisions to related policies and procedures, as appropriate. 

 

12.  To ensure adequate training and development for Elected Members.  

13.  To co-opt in an advisory capacity, any person who is an Independent 
Person at another Local Authority, to advise the Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee or its Sub-Committee, on such terms as the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee may determine. 

 

14.  To receive an annual report from the Monitoring Officer on the local 
resolution and assessment of allegations of breach of the Member Code of 
Conduct, by Members of the Council, and any Parish Council in the District 
of Adur. 

 

15.  Dealing with allegations that a Member of a Parish Council within the 
District of Adur has failed or may have failed to comply with the relevant 
Parish Code and conduct, in accordance with the provisions of the 
Localism Act. 

 

16.  Any other functions imposed by statute.  

 
Audit and Accounts Activity 
 

No. Power/Function Legislation 

1.  To consider the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual report and opinion and a 
summary of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of 
assurance it can give over the Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements. 

 

2.  To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the 
providers of internal audit services. 

 

3.  To consider reports on the Internal Audit on the recommendations agreed 
with the Heads of Service which have not been implemented within a 
reasonable timescale. 

 

4.  To consider the External Auditor’s Annual Letter, relevant reports (both 
financial and strategic), and the report of those charged with governance. 

 

5.  To consider specific reports as agreed with the External Auditor.  

6.  To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it 
gives value for money. 

 

7.  Power to undertake the Council’s responsibilities with regard to External 
Auditors under Part 3 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

 

8.  To commission work from Internal and External Audit.  

9.  To review the Annual Statement of Accounts with specific emphasis on 
whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether 
there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit 
that need to be brought to the attention of the Council. 

 

10.  To receive Risk and Opportunity update reports three times a year.  

11.  To report on internal and external audit activities in the previous fiscal year 
to both Adur and Worthing Full Councils on an annual basis. 

 

 
Constitutional Framework 

321



 

62 

 

No. Power/Function Legislation 

1.  To monitor and review the operation of the Council’s Constitution particularly 
in respect of financial procedures and protocols, codes of conduct and 
behaviour (including the Members’ Code of Conduct), procurement 
procedures and guidelines 

 

2.  To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive, a Director, or any 
Committee of the Council 

 

3.  To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management 
and corporate governance in the Council 

 

4.  To implement, monitor and review the Council’s Whistle-Blowing Procedure, 
Anti-Money Laundering Policy, Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and the 
Council’s complaints procedure 

 

5.  To oversee the production of the Council’s Statement on Internal Control 
and to recommend its adoption 

 

6.  To consider the Council’s arrangements for corporate governance and 
agreeing necessary actions to ensure compliance with best practice 

 

7.  To consider the Council’s compliance with its own and other published 
standards and controls 

 

8.  Considering the annual report regarding complaints about the Council 
referred to the Local Government Ombudsman 

 

9.  To appoint persons to the role of members of the Joint Independent 
Remuneration Panel and to make recommendations to Full Council as to 
the appointment of Independent Persons for Standards purposes 

 

 
Other 

No. Power/Function Legislation 

1.  To determine matters relating to functions which are not executive functions 
and are not the responsibility solely of Council or any other Committee. 

 

2.  To receive a report from the Joint Independent Remuneration Panel and 
make recommendations to Council. 

 

Joint Staff Committee 
 
General 
 

(a) The Committee is a committee of the Council appointed by the Council under Section 
102(1) of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) The Council has arranged under Section 101(1) of that Act for the discharge by the 
Committee of such of the Council’s functions as are within the Committee’s Terms of 
Reference (set out below); 

(c) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details may be found in 
the Officer Scheme of Delegations which can be found in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(d) Where a functional matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(e) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is always 
subject to any relevant requirement of the Council’s Constitution; and 

(f) The membership of the Committee is 6 Elected Members (3 appointed by the Council and 3 
appointed by the Borough Council of Worthing). 

 
Terms of Reference 
 

No. Function/Duty Legislation 

322



 

63 

1.  Power to determine the terms and conditions on which all 
staff other than the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance 
Officer and the Monitoring Officer, hold office (including 
employment procedures). 

Section 112 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
The Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) 
(England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015. 

2.  The making of agreements with other Local Authorities for 
the placing of staff for the disposal of those other Authorities, 
to the extent that the staff are being placed at the disposal of 
the other Authority in relation to the discharge of functions 
which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet placing the 
staff. 

Section 113(4) and (5), 
Local Government Act 
1972 

3.  Functions relating to Local Government pensions etc. Regulations under Section 
7, 12 and 24 of the 
Superannuation Act 1972 

 
Joint Senior Staff Committee 
 
General 
 

(a) The Committee is a committee of the Council appointed by the Council under Section 
102(1) of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) The Council has arranged under Section 101(1) of that Act for the discharge by the 
Committee of such of the Council’s functions as are within the Committee’s Terms of 
Reference (set out below); 

(c) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details may be found in 
the Officer Scheme of Delegations which can be found in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(d) Where a functional matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(e) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is always 
subject to any relevant requirement of the Council’s Constitution; and 

(f) The membership of the Committee is 6 Elected Members (3 appointed by the Council and 3 
appointed by the Borough Council of Worthing); 

(g) The Membership of the Committee shall include at least one Cabinet Member and at least 
one Non-Cabinet Member from each Council. 

 
Terms of Reference 
 

No. Function/Duty Legislation 

1.  To be responsible for the recruitment and terms and conditions of the 
Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), Chief Finance Officer and 
Monitoring Officer, and make recommendations on any proposed 
appointment, and terms and conditions, to the Council and Worthing 
Borough Council. 

The Local 
Authorities 
(Standing 
Orders) 
(England) 
(Amendment) 
Regulations 
2015. 

2.  All matters relating to the investigation, hearing and determination of any 
grievance against or allegation of misconduct by the Chief Executive, Chief 
Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer, including the appointment of the 
Independent Panel, the receipt of their report and the implementation of 
their recommendations. Where the Panel’s recommendation is to dismiss 
the Chief Executive, the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer, or 
where the Joint Senior Staff Committee propose to dismiss, the power to 
approve any proposed dismissal is reserved to Full Council. 

The Local 
Authorities 
(Standing 
Orders) 
(England) 
(Amendment) 
Regulations 
2015. 

323



 

64 

 
Officers 
 
General 
 

(a) Certain Officers of the Council have responsibility for decisions delegated to them in 
accordance with the Officer Scheme of Delegations, which can be found at Part 4 of the 
Constitution, and expressly delegated to them from time to time by Members, such 
delegations to be recorded in writing and notified to the Monitoring Officer. 

(b) The Officer Scheme of Delegations may be reviewed and varied from time to time. 

324



 

65 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

FULL COUNCIL 
Adur District Council ADC 

(29 Members) 

FULL COUNCIL 
Worthing Borough Council WBC 

(37 Members) 

EXECUTIVE REGULATORY OVERVIEW & 

SCRUTINY 

Leader and 
Executive  

(6 Members) 

Planning 
Committee 

(8 Members) 

Licensing 
Committee 

(10 Members) 

Licensing 
Regulatory 

Sub-
Committee  

(3 Members) 

Overview & 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

(8 Members) 

EXECUTIVE REGULATORY OVERVIEW & 

SCRUTINY 

Leader and 
Executive 

(9 Members) 

Planning 
Committee 
(8 Members) 

Licensing 
and Control 
Committees  

A and B 

(15 Members) 

Licensing 
and Control 
Committee B 

Sub-
Committee 

(3 Members) 

Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee 

(15 Members) 

INDIVIDUAL 
Executive 
MEMBER 
DECISIONS 

 
Cabinet Members of 
both Councils are 
delegated authority 
to take relevant 
decisions 
individually or jointly 
with the 
corresponding 
Cabinet Member 
across the two 
authorities. 

JOINT COMMITTEE AGREEMENT 

EXECUTIVE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW & 

SCRUTINY 

OTHER 

Joint Strategic 
Committee 

(12 Members 
made up of the 

Cabinet 
Members of ADC 

and WBC) 

Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee 

(8 Members of ADC and 8 Members 
of WBC)  

(1 Member of Lancing Parish Council 
and 1 Member of Sompting Parish 

Council and 3 co-opted Independent 
Persons) 

Joint Overview 
& Scrutiny 
Committee 

(8 Members of 
ADC and 8 
Members of 

WBC) 

Joint Staff 
Committee 

(3 Members of 
ADC and 3 
Members of 

WBC) 

Joint Senior 
Staff 

Committee 

(3 Members of 
ADC and 3 
Members of 

WBC) 

325



 

66 

Illustrative A-Z of Service Areas/Cabinet Portfolios & Committees  
 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Abandoned Vehicles Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Accountancy (technical and 
strategic) 

Finance Finance & Resources Resources 
 

South Downs Leisure Trust - client 
role 

Director for Place Environment & 
Leisure 

Culture & Leisure  
 

Adur Consultative Forum (ACF) Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Adur Core strategy (now the Local 
Plan) 

Planning Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

  

Adur Homes (including 
Management Board)  

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Affordable Housing Provision Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Air Quality  Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Environment 
 

Allotments Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Annual statement of Accounts Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources/Finance 

- - Joint Governance 

326



 

67 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Anti-Social Behaviour in relation to 
tenants 

Housing & Communities Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Assembly Hall Place - Culture & Leisure 
 

Asset Management Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Audit Fees Finance Finance & Resources Resources Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee 

Audit Management  Finance - - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee 

Audit Service Finance - - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee 

Beach Huts and Chalets Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Beach Maintenance  Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Benefit Administration  Resident Services Finance & Resources Citizen Services 
 

Bereavement Services (formerly 
cemeteries and crematoria) 

Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Branding People & Change Leader  Leader 
 

Budgets (including the overall 
allocation of Revenue and Capital) 

Finance Finance & Resources Resources Council Tax (revenue 
budget approved by Full 
Councils) 

327



 

68 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Building/Offices Cleaning Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Building cleaning (Adur Homes) Regenerative 
Development 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Building Control  Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration  
 

Bulky Waste Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Burials Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Bus shelters Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Business Engagement and 
Partnerships 

Place & Economy  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Business Rates  Resident Services Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Business Continuity Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Regeneration 
 

Business Improvement District 
Levy 

Place & Economy Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Building Management (Worthing 
Town Hall, Portland House,) 

Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Capital Programme  Place and Finance Finance & Resources Resources 
 

328



 

69 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Capital Programme (Adur Homes) Housing & Communities 
and Finance 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Chair of the Council Sustainability & 
Resources 

- - 
 

Chief Financial Officer Finance  - - Statutory Role 

Choice Based Lettings Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Cinema (Ritz) Place 
 

Culture & Leisure  
 

City Deal (strategic matters) 
 

Leader Leader 
 

Cleansing (Street) Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Clinical waste  Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Coastal Protection and monitoring Place & Economy Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Coastal West Sussex Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Commercial Waste  Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Committee Management Sustainability & 
Resources 

Leader Leader 
 

329



 

70 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Community Alarm and telecare 
service 

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Community Safety and Anti Social 
Behaviour 

Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Health and Wellbeing  Community Wellbeing  
 

Concessions Place  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Connaught Theatre Place - Culture & Leisure 
 

Conservation areas Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Consultation (public) People & Change Leader Deputy Leader 
 

Contact Centre Services Resident Services Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Contracts & Procurement Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Corporate Complaints Resident Services  Leader Leader 
 

Corporate Information 
Management (GIS) 

Sustainability & 
Resources 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Corporate Property Terriers Regenerative 
Development  

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Corporate Property (not included 
in other portfolios) 

Planning  Finance & Resources Resources 
 

330



 

71 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Council sheltered Housing 
Schemes (Adur) 

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Council Tax  Resident Services Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Councillor Code of Conduct 
(including Parish) 

Legal & Democratic 
Services (Monitoring 
Officer) 

- - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee/Standards Sub 
Committee 

Customer Insight, Customer 
Experience. Process and Service 
Improvement  

Resident Services  Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Dangerous Structures Regenerative 
Development and 
Planning 

- - Planning Committee 

Data Protection Sustainability & 
Resources 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Debtors Finance Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Democratic Services Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Leader Leader 
 

Devolution, strategic direction Chief Executive Leader Leader 
 

Disability Facilities Grant and 
other Housing Grants 

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Digital Transformation Technology & Design Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Dog Control Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

331



 

72 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Great Brighton Economic Board 
(Joint Committee) - representative 
on and Strategic Direction  

Chief Executive Leader Leader 
 

Economic Development, Inward 
Investment & Business Retention, 
Growth Deal, City Region 

Place & Economy Regeneration Regeneration 
 

Education Liaison, promotion etc. 
 

Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Leader 
 

Elections Returning Officer 
Customer Contact and 
Engagement 

- - Returning Officer/some 
decisions reserved to 
Council (i.e. frequency of 
elections) 

Emergency Planning  Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Regeneration 
 

Empty Properties 
 

Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Citizen Services 
 

Employee Relations People & Change Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Energy Management Sustainability & 
Resources 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Climate Emergency 
 

Engineering and Surveying Place & Economy and 
Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Environmental Health (Protection) Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Environment 
 

332



 

73 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Events and Cultural Projects Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Culture & Leisure  
 

Exchequer Services Finance  Finance & Resources Resources 
 

External Auditor’s Annual Letter  Finance - - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee 

EU and External Funding Place & Economy Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Facilities Management (incl 
security, reprographics, porters, 
pool cars) 

Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Fleet and Transport Maintenance Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Flood Protection  Planning and Place & 
Economy 

Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Food safety incl Enforcement Plan Operations & 
Sustainability and 
Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Environment 
 

Foreshore Management  Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Fraud Investigation (Adur) Finance Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Fraud Investigation (Worthing) Finance - Resources 
 

Freedom of Information Sustainability & 
Resources 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

333



 

74 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Fuel Poverty  Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities &  
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Garage Management (Adur 
Homes properties) 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services  

- 
 

Garden Waste  Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Grounds Maintenance  Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Grounds Maintenance (Adur 
Homes Properties) 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Hackney Carriage Licensing Operations & 
Sustainability  

- - Licensing Committees 

Health and Safety (corporate) Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Regeneration 
 

Help points/Customer services 
receptions 

Resident Services Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Housing Systems support and 
monitoring (Adur Homes) 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention  

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Housing Voice (Adur) Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Information Security  Sustainability & 
Resources 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

334



 

75 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Infrastructure delivery plans Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Insurance Finance Leader Resources 
 

Internal Audit Finance Finance & Resources Resources  
 

Internal Audit Annual report and 
Opinion  

Finance - - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee  

Investments (treasury 
Management) 

Finance Finance & Resources Resources 
 

IT Systems support Technology & Design Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Land Charges Planning  Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Land Drainage  Place & Economy Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Environment 
 

Leasehold administration  Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention  

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Leasehold Sheltered Scheme  Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Learning and Development  People & Change  Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Legal Services Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Finance & Resources  Resources 
 

Leisure Facilities (management of 
Adur sites) 

Place and Regenerative 
Development 

Environment & 
Leisure 

- 
 

335



 

76 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Leisure Facilities (management of 
Worthing sites) 

Place and Regenerative 
Development 

- Culture & Leisure 
 

Licensing (Premises, personal, 
alcohol, gambling hackney 
carriages etc.) 

Operations & 
Sustainability 

- - Licensing Committee 

Listed Buildings Planning  - - Planning Committee 

Local Development Plans Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Local Land and Property 
Gazetteer  

Planning  Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Local Strategic Partnership Place & Economy Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Major Regeneration Projects Planning and 
Regenerative 
Development 

Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Mayoralty  Sustainability & 
Resources 

 
Leader 

 

Media  People & Change Leader  Leader 
 

Member Development & Services Sustainability & 
Resources 

Leader Leader 
 

Monitoring Officer Legal & Democratic 
Services 

- - Statutory Role 

336



 

77 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Neighbour Disputes (dealing with) 
Noise etc. via environmental 
health 

Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Neighbour Disputes (dealing with) 
Anti-Social Behaviour Team 

Housing & Communities Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Neighbour Disputes (dealing with) 
Adur homes  

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Non-Domestic Rates (Adur) Resident Services Finance & Resources - 
 

Non-Domestic Rates (Worthing) Resident Services - Resources 
 

Non-Housing property repairs Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Ombudsman Resident Services - - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee 

Open spaces Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Organisational Development People & Change Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Parking Services Operations & 
Sustainability  

Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Parks Management  Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Performance Management  Sustainability & 
Resources (Digital) 

Leader Leader 
 

337



 

78 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Pest Control Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Environmental Services 
 

Places and Neighbourhoods Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Deputy Leader 
 

Place Shaping Place & Economy Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Deputy Leader 
 

Planning Policy Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Sustainability & 
Resources 

- - Licensing Committee  

Procurement and Contracts  Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Public conveniences (Including 
Cleaning) - contract management 

Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Recruitment and Selection of 
Statutory Officers (Chief 
Executive, Chief Finance Officer 
and Monitoring Officer) 

People & Change - - Joint Senior Staff 
Committee/Council  

Recycling Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Refuse Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Remuneration (Members) - 
(Members Allowances) 

Sustainability & 
Resources 

  
Joint Independent 
Remuneration Panel/Joint 

338



 

79 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Audit & Governance 
Committee /Full Council  

Rent Accounting (Adur) Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Repairs and Maintenance (Adur 
Homes) 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Reprographics Resident Services Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Residents’ Panels  People & Change Leader  Deputy Leader 
 

Risk Management  Sustainability & 
Resources 

Leader Leader 
 

Revenues and Benefits (Adur) Resident Services  Finance & Resources - 
 

Revenues and Benefits (Worthing) Resident Services - Citizen Services 
 

Road Nameplates Planning   Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Safer Communities  Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing  
 

Safeguarding Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing  
 

Scrutiny Legal & Democratic 
Services  

  
Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Section 151 Role Finance - - Statutory Role  

339



 

80 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Senior Information Risk Owner Sustainability & 
Resources 

- - 
 

Sex Establishments Operations & 
Sustainability 

- - Licensing Committees 

Shops owned by the Council 
(Adur) 

Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources - 
 

Skills and Enterprise/Education 
liaison 

People & Change Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Leader 
 

South Downs Leisure Trust (client 
role) 

Place - Culture & Leisure 
 

Strategy, Systems and Clienting 
(Housing)  

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services  

Citizen Services 
 

Strategic Housing and Enabling Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services  

Citizen Services 
 

Street Cleansing Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Street Furniture  Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Street and House to House 
Collections  

Sustainability & 
Resources 

- - Licensing Committees 

Street naming and Numbering Planning  Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

340



 

81 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Supported Housing - sheltered 
housing and community alarm 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Systems support and 
Development  

Technology & Design Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Taxi and Private Hire Sustainability & 
Resources 

- - Licensing Committee 

Telephony Technology & Design Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Temporary Accommodation 
Management 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention  

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Tenancy Services Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Tenant Participation Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Theatres Place - Culture & Leisure 
 

Think Family and Early Help Housing & Communities Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Third Sector and Partnerships  Housing & Communities Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing  
 

Town Centre Management 
(Lancing, Shoreham, Southwick) 

Place & Economy Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

- 
 

Trade Waste  Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

341



 

82 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Treasury Management Finance Finance & Resources Resources Joint Audit & Governance 

Tree Management Planning  - - Planning Committee 

Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs) Planning  - - Planning Committee  

Urban Realm Place  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Visitors and Events 
(cultural - Environment) 
(business - Regeneration) 

Place & Economy  Regeneration & 
Strategic 
Planning/Environment 
& Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Waste Education Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Waste Management Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Waste Strategy and compliance Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Waste Transfer Licences Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Website and Online Service 
Development 

Technology & Design Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Wellbeing Hub Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities &  
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Whistle Blowing Procedure Legal & Democratic 
Services 

- - Joint Audit & Governance 

342



 

83 

Service Area/Function Responsible ‘Head of’/ 
Director 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Worthing Foreshore Service Place & Economy - Regeneration 
 

Worthing Museum and Art Gallery  Place - Culture & Leisure 
 

Worthing Pier Place & Economy - Regeneration  
 

343



 

84 

PART 4 - PROCEDURE RULES 

 

Council and Committee Procedure Rules 
 
Introduction 
 
1.1 Interpretation 
 
In these Council Procedure Rules the interpretation of words shall be in accordance with the 
definitions set out in Part 1 of the Constitution. 

 
1.2 General 

 
(a) Any proposal to permanently alter these Council Procedure Rules (other than minor 

amendments made by the Monitoring Officer), other than a motion to implement a 
recommendation of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee, shall be in the form of a 
motion instructing the Joint Audit & Governance Committee to report upon such proposals. 
Any such motion, upon being seconded, shall be put to the vote without discussion. The 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee shall report to the next Ordinary Council meeting 
upon any matter referred to it under this Council Procedure Rule. 

(b) These Council Procedure Rules embody the requirements of the mandatory Standing 
Orders, as provided for by the Local Government Act 1972, Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2000, together with secondary legislation, where 
appropriate. These Council Procedure Rules, therefore, constitute the Council’s statutory 
procedural standing orders, and should be interpreted accordingly. 

(c) Where any step or action under these Council Procedure Rules is prescribed to be 
performed by a Designated Officer, that Officer may nominate or authorise another Officer 
in their place. 

(d) In implementing and effecting these Council Procedure Rules, the Council will comply with 
its statutory obligations relating to the use, recording and retention of any personal data that 
it receives. 

 
1.3 Notices 
 
Any Notice required under these Council Procedure Rules may be given in writing to the Director 
for Sustainability & Resources, Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing, BN11 1HA, or by email to: 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk. The listing of names as signatories on such 
documents shall be deemed to be signatures. 
 
1.4 Person Presiding’s Decision Final 
 
Any ruling of the person presiding at any meeting on any point of order, interpretation of these 
Council Procedure Rules, matters arising during the debate or with regard to the admissibility of an 
explanation, or otherwise, including any logistical arrangements for any meetings, shall be final and 
not open to discussion. However, in reaching their decision, the person presiding must give due 
consideration to the advice of professional Officers.  
 
Annual Meeting 
 
2.1 Timing 
 
In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the Annual meeting will take place 
within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors. In any other year, the Annual meeting 
will take place in March, April or May. 

344

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


 

85 

 
2.2 Business 
 
The Annual Council will: 

(a) Elect a Member, other than a Member of the Cabinet, to be the Chair of the Council; 
(b) Appoint a person, other than a Member of the Cabinet, to be the Vice Chair of the Council; 
(c) Elect the Cabinet Leader, if the term of office of the previous Leader has come to an end; 
(d) Appoint the Leader of the Main Opposition (see Procedure Rule 39); 
(e) Elect a Member, other than a Member of the Cabinet, to preside if the Chair is not present; 
(f) Receive apologies for absences; 
(g) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests; 
(h) Approve the Minutes of the last meeting; 
(i) Receive any announcements from the Chair and/or Head of Paid Service; 
(j) Give a vote of thanks to the retiring Chair and presentation of retiring Chair’s insignia; 
(k) In an election year, receive the return of the Returning Officer; 
(l) Establish such Committees as the Full Council considers appropriate to deal with matters 

which are neither reserved to the Full Council nor are Executive functions, including a 
Committee to consider Standards issues and an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, in 
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 2.3 below; 

(m) Appoint Members to the Committees of the Council in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules 2.3 and 2.4 below; 

(n) Adopt any changes to the Council’s Constitution and the Scheme of Officer Delegations, 
other than those relating to Executive functions, as set out in Part 4 of this Constitution; 

(o) Approve a programme of Ordinary meetings of the Council for the year, if not already 
agreed; 

(p) Consider any other business set out in the summons convening the meeting; and 
(q) Consider any business that the Chair believes to be urgent, in that the matter to be 

determined has arisen since the publication of the agenda and failure to determine it at this 
meeting would cause significant adverse impact on the Council.  

 
There is no opportunity for the public or Members question time at an Annual meeting of the Full 
Council. 
 
2.3 Selection of Councillors on Committees 
 
At the Annual meeting, the Council will: 

(a) Decide which Committees to establish for the Municipal Year; 
(b) Decide the size and Terms of Reference of those Committees; 
(c) Having received a report from the Director for Sustainability & Resources concerning the 

implementation of political balance rules, decide the allocation of the number of seats of 
those Committees to each Political Group. 

(d) Receive nominations of Councillors, and where appropriate co-optees, to serve on each 
Committee; and 

(e) Appoint Members to seats on those Committees; 
(f) Appoint the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Council’s Committees. 

 
In a year when there is no election, Council Procedure Rules 2.3 (a), (b) and (c) above may not 
apply. 
 
2.4 Appointment of Substitute Members to Committees and Sub-Committees 
 
The Full Council may appoint as many substitutes as it wishes, subject to the following: 

(a) No substitutes will be appointed for Licensing Committee or any of its Sub-Committees 
when dealing with Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 applications; 

(b) Substitutes may only substitute for Members of the same political party except where a 
substitution is necessary for the Committee to operate effectively, and the Political Group 
does not have sufficient membership to appoint a substitute, or the substitute is not able to 

345



 

86 

attend. In these circumstances the Director for Sustainability & Resources may, having 
regard to the rules of political proportionality, and in consultation with the Member who is 
unable to attend, invite any other Member who has been designated as a substitute for that 
Committee, to attend the Committee or Sub-Committee; 

(c) Substitutes must be identified at the time of their appointment, but this can be by: 
(i) appointing ‘all Members’ as substitutes for a particular Committee; or  
(ii) appointing named Members as substitutes for a particular Committee.  

Any Member sitting as a substitute on a regulatory Committee or Sub-Committee must 
have undertaken appropriate training within the preceding two years. Any Member sitting as 
a substitute on any other Committee must have undertaken training as appropriate. 

(d) Cabinet Members may not be substituted on the Cabinet; 
(e) Substitute Members will have all the powers and duties of any Ordinary Member of the 

Committee. The Substitute Member will not be able to exercise any special powers or 
duties exercisable by the person for whom they are substituting (e.g. if they substitute for 
the Chair, they shall not automatically have the powers of the Chair, unless voted as Chair 
by that Committee); 

(f) Substitute Members may attend meetings in that capacity only: 
(i) To take the place of an Ordinary Member for whom they are the substitute; 
(ii) Where the Ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; 
(iii) After notifying the Monitoring Officer, or their representative, prior to them joining 

the meeting of the Committee, of the intended substitution. 
(g) Where substitutions take place after the Appointed Member has been provided with 

documents relating to the meeting, the Appointed Member is responsible for providing the 
Substitute Member with access to those documents. 
 

Ordinary Meetings 
 
3.1 Full Council 
 
Ordinary meetings of the Full Council will take place in accordance with a programme decided by 
the Full Council at its Annual meeting, or at any other time. 
 
Ordinary meetings will: 

(a) Elect a Member, who is not a Member of the Cabinet, to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair 
are not present; 

(b) Receive apologies for absence; 
(c) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests from Members; 
(d) Approve the Minutes of the last meeting; 
(e) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.0, receive deputations and questions from, 

and provide answers to, the public; 
(f) Deal with any issues arising under the Council’s Petition Scheme; 
(g) Receive any announcements from the Chair, Leader, Members of the Cabinet or the Head 

of Paid Service; 
(h) Receive any announcements from any Group Leader as to changes to appointment of 

Members on Committees; 
(i) Deal with any business from the last Council meeting; 
(j) Consider any business that the Chair believes to be urgent, in that the matter to be 

determined has arisen since the publication of the agenda and failure to determine it at this 
meeting would cause significant adverse impact on the Council. 

(k) Consider the business specified in the summons to the meeting, including consideration of 
proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework and 
reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for debate;  

(l) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 13.0, receive the Leader’s report on Executive 
decisions and receive questions and answers on that report; 

(m) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 12.0, receive questions from, and provide 
answers to, Elected Members; 

346



 

87 

(n) Consider Motions on Notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 14 and Motions 
and Amendments Without Notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15. 

 
3.2 Cabinet and Committees 
 
Ordinary meetings of the Cabinet and Committees will take place in accordance with a programme 
of dates decided by themselves and noted by Full Council.  
 
Ordinary meetings will: 

(a) Elect a Member to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair are not present; 
(b) Receive any declarations of substitute membership in accordance with Council Procedure 

Rule 2.4 above; 
(c) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests from Members; 
(d) Approve the Minutes of the previous meeting; 
(e) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.0, receive questions from, and provide 

answers to, the public; 
(f) Deal with any business from the last meeting; 
(g) Consider any other business specified on the agenda for the meeting; and 
(h) Consider any business that the Chair believes to be urgent, in that the matter to be 

determined has arisen since the publication of the agenda and failure to determine it at this 
meeting would cause significant adverse impact on the Council. 

 
Extraordinary Meetings 
 
4.1 Full Council 
 
Those listed below may require the Director for Sustainability & Resources to summons Members 
to Full Council meetings in addition to Ordinary meetings: 

(a) Full Council by resolution; 
(b) Chair of the Council; 
(c) Head of Paid Service; 
(d) Monitoring Officer;  
(e) Section 151 Officer;  
(f) Any 5 Members of the Council, if they have signed a requisition presented to the Chair of 

the Council who has refused to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting within 7 
calendar days of presentation of the requisition. Any such requisition will be deemed to 
have been presented to the Chair of the Council, if emailed to the Director for Sustainability 
& Resources at: democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk. 
 

Extraordinary meetings of Full Council will: 
(a) Elect a Member, who is not a Member of the Cabinet, to preside if both the Chair of the 

Council and Vice Chair of the Council are not present; 
(b) Receive any apologies for absence; 
(c) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests from Members; 
(d) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.0, receive questions from, and provide 

answers to, the public; 
(e) Consider the single item of business specified in the summons to the meeting (a single item 

may be made up of more than one part provided they all relate to a single subject); and 
(f) Consider any business that the Chair believes to be urgent, in that the matter to be 

determined has arisen since the publication of the agenda and failure to determine it at this 
meeting would cause significant adverse impact on the Council. 

 
4.2 Cabinet and Committees 
 
Those listed below may request the Director for Sustainability & Resources to call meetings of the 
Cabinet or Committees in addition to Ordinary meetings: 

347



 

88 

(a) The Leader, in respect of Cabinet meetings, and the Chair of the Committee, in respect of 
their committee meetings, at any time. 

(b) If a requisition signed by at least two, or one quarter of the total number, of the voting 
Members of the Cabinet (whichever is the greater) has been presented to the Leader, and 
either they have refused to call a meeting or no such meeting has been called within 7 
calendar days of the presentation of the requisition, then any two, or one quarter of the 
number of the voting Members of the Cabinet (whichever is the greater) may call an 
Extraordinary meeting of the Cabinet by notice in writing to the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources at democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk specifying the business proposed 
to be transacted. The Director for Sustainability & Resources shall give notice to all 
Members of the Cabinet and all persons entitled to receive papers. Timeframes set out in 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules must be complied with. 

(c) If a requisition signed by at least two, or one quarter of the total number, of the voting 
Members of the Committee (whichever is the greater) has been presented to the Chair of 
the Committee, and either they have refused to call a meeting or no such meeting has been 
called within 7 calendar days of the presentation of the requisition, then any two, or one 
quarter of the number of the voting Members of the Committee (whichever is the greater) 
may call an Extraordinary meeting of the Committee by notice in writing to the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources at democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk specifying the 
business proposed to be transacted. The Director for Sustainability & Resources shall give 
notice to all Members of the Committee and all persons entitled to receive papers. 
Timeframes set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules must be complied with. 

 
Extraordinary meetings will: 

(a) Elect a Member to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair are not present; 
(b) Receive any declaration of Substitute Members in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 

2.4; 
(c) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests from Members; 
(d) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.0, receive questions from, and provide 

answers to, the public; 
(e) Consider any other business specified in the agenda for the meeting; 
(f) Consider any business that the Chair believes to be urgent, in that the matter to be 

determined has arisen since the publication of the agenda and failure to determine it at this 
meeting would cause significant adverse impact on the Council. 

 
Special meetings 
 
5.1 Full Council 
 
A Special meeting of the Full Council is one that is required by statute, e.g. for the appointment of 
honorary aldermen or alderwomen, and shall only consider a single substantive item of business. 
The meeting shall be convened for the specific statutory purpose which shall be contained in the 
summons. No other business may be transacted at that meeting. 
 
Those listed below may require the Director for Sustainability & Resources to call a Special 
meeting of the Full Council: 

(a) Full Council by resolution; 
(b) Chair of the Council; and 
(c) Monitoring Officer. 

 
Special meetings will: 

(a) Elect a Member, who is not a Member of the Cabinet, to preside if the Chair of the Council 
and Vice Chair are not present; 

(b) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests from Members;  
(c) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.0, receive questions from, and provide 

answers to, the public relating to the specific single item of business on the agenda; and 
(d) Consider the specific item of business for which the meeting has been convened. 

348



 

89 

 
5.2 Cabinet and Committees  
 
There shall be no Special meetings of the Cabinet or any Committee. 
 
Time and Location 
 
6.1 Full Council 
 
(a) Meetings will usually be held in the Shoreham Centre, Shoreham-by-Sea, commencing at 

7:00 p.m. unless: 
(i) The Full Council resolves otherwise; or 
(ii) For some practical reason this is not possible, in which case the meeting will be 

held at a location decided by the Director for Sustainability & Resources, after 
consulting the Chair of the Council and the Leader. 

(b) If an emergency occurs, the Director for Sustainability & Resources may, after consulting 
with such of the Chair of the Council, the Cabinet Leader and Leaders of the Political 
Groups as may conveniently be contacted, vary any arrangement agreed by the Full 
Council for the holding of Full Council meetings. 

(c) No meeting of the Full Council shall, except in an emergency, be held on a Friday evening, 
Saturday, Sunday, Bank Holiday or day on which the Council shall have granted a general 
holiday for its employees. 

 
Cabinet and Committees 
 
(a) Meetings of the Cabinet and Committees will usually be held at the Shoreham Centre, 

Shoreham-by-Sea, unless: 
(i) The Cabinet or Full Council (in the case of a Committee) resolves otherwise; or 
(ii) For some practical reason this is not possible, in which case the meeting will be 

held at a place decided by the Director for Sustainability & Resources after 
consulting with the Chair of the Cabinet and Committee; or 

(iii) They are Joint Committees under a Joint Committee Agreement, in which case the 
time and location of the meeting is governed by that Agreement. 

(b) If an emergency occurs, the Director for Sustainability & Resources may, after consulting 
the Chair of the Cabinet or the Committee, as the case may be, and, so far as practicable, 
representatives of the Political Groups, vary any arrangements agreed by the Full Council, 
the Cabinet or the Committee, for the holding of meetings. 

 
Notice of and Summons to Meetings 
 
7.1 At least 5 clear working days before the day of a meeting, the Director for Sustainability & 

Resources shall publish on the Council’s website and make available at the Council’s 
offices, the time and location of the intended meeting and, where the meeting is called by 
Members of the Council, the notice shall be signed by those Members and shall specify the 
purpose proposed to be transacted there. 

 
7.2 At least 5 clear working days before the day of a meeting, the Director for Sustainability & 

Resources will send a summons or agenda signed by them to every Member of the Council 
by electronic mail, by post, or by leaving it at their usual place of residence. The summons 
or agenda will give the date, time and location of each meeting, specify the business to be 
transacted and will be accompanied by such reports or shall provide access to such reports 
electronically.  

 
Chairing 
 
8.1 Full Council 
 

349



 

90 

(a) The person presiding at a meeting of Full Council may exercise any power or duty of the 
Chair of the Council. 

(b) If it is necessary to choose a Member of the Council (who cannot be a Member of the 
Cabinet) to preside in the absence of the Chair and Vice Chair of the Council, the Director 
for Sustainability & Resources or the Monitoring Officer (or their representative) shall 
preside and call for a motion that a Member of the Council take the Chair. 

(c) If there is any debate on this motion, then the Director for Sustainability & Resources or the 
Monitoring Officer (or their representative) shall have all the powers of the Chair of the 
Council for the purposes of that debate. 

 
8.2 The Cabinet and Committees 
 
(a) The person presiding at a meeting of the Cabinet and Committees may exercise any power 

or duty of the Chair. 
(b) If it is necessary to choose a Member of the Cabinet or Committee, as the case may be, to 

preside in the absence of the Chair or their Deputy, the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources, or the Monitoring Officer, or their representatives, shall preside and call for a 
motion that a Member of the Council take the Chair. 

(c) If there is any debate on this motion, then the Director for Sustainability & Resources, or the 
Monitoring Officer, or their representatives, shall have all the powers of the Chair for the 
purposes of that debate. 

  
(c)8.3  Although the Constitution refers to the Chair of Full Council, the Cabinet and Committees, 

the Chair may choose to adopt a title of Chairman, Chairwoman or Chairperson as is their 
preference. 

 
Quorum 
 
9.1 Full Council 
 
(a) The quorum of a meeting will be 8 Members. 
(b) If during any meeting the person presiding declares that there is not a quorum present, the 

meeting shall stand adjourned for 15 minutes. 
(c) If, after 15 minutes, there is still no quorum present, the meeting shall end. 
(d) Notwithstanding any provision in these rules that notices of questions or motions shall 

lapse, the consideration of all business which is on the agenda of a meeting brought to an 
end under the previous paragraph, and which has not been completed before the meeting 
is brought to an end, shall be postponed to the next meeting, whether Ordinary or 
Extraordinary, insofar as is allowed by law. 

 
9.2 The Cabinet and Committees 
 
(a) The quorum of a meeting will be one third of the whole number of Members of the Cabinet 

or Committee, as the case may be, (rounded up where necessary to the next whole 
number), save that: 

(i) In no case shall the quorum of a Committee be fewer than three; and 
(ii) In no case shall the quorum of a Sub-Committee be fewer than two. 

(b) If during any meeting the person presiding declares that there is not a quorum present, the 
meeting shall stand adjourned for 15 minutes. 

(c) If, after 15 minutes, there is still no quorum present, the meeting shall end. 
(d) Notwithstanding any provision in these rules that notices of questions or motions shall 

lapse, the consideration of all business which is on the agenda of a meeting brought to an 
end under the previous paragraph, and which has not been completed before the meeting 
is brought to an end, shall be postponed to the next meeting, whether Ordinary or 
Extraordinary, insofar as is allowed by law. 

 
9.3 Joint Committees 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25 cm + Indent at: 
1.26 cm

350



 

91 

 
The quorum of a Joint Committee shall be determined in accordance with the Joint Committee 
Agreement or arrangement under which it is constituted. However, if no such arrangements are set 
out within the Joint Committee Agreement, or arrangement under which a Joint Committee is 
convened, then Council Procedure Rule 9.2 above will apply. 
 
Duration of meetings 
 
10.1 General 
 
(a) Subject to (d) below, the person presiding shall interrupt proceedings where any meeting 

has lasted for three hours (and hourly after that), whereupon any Member speaking shall 
stop speaking. The person presiding shall, without discussion, take a vote on whether or 
not the Members wish the meeting to continue. 

(b) If the majority of Members present do not vote to continue the meeting, then the person 
presiding shall, without further discussion, take a vote on the item under discussion and 
then the meeting shall stand adjourned. The remaining business shall be considered at a 
time and date fixed at that time by the person presiding and if no such date is fixed, at the 
next Ordinary meeting. 

(c) If the majority of Members present vote to continue the meeting, then a further vote on 
whether or not to continue the meeting will take place on an hourly basis thereafter. 

(d) Council Procedure Rule 10.1(a)-(c) does not apply to meetings dealing with matters arising 
under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005, committee meetings dealing with 
staff appointments or staff appeals, and Joint Governance Sub-Committee meetings 
dealing with code of conduct determination hearings. 

 
Public Questions and Deputations 
 
11.1 Full Council 
 
11.1.1 General 
 

(a) Members of the public, who live, work or own property in the District may ask questions of 
any Member of the Cabinet at any Ordinary Council meeting and will be allowed a 
maximum of 5 minutes per person. This provision is subject to a maximum of 30 minutes 
being available for all public questions. 

(b) No discussion will take place in respect of any question. 
(c) Where notice has been given of the question in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 

11.1.3, the questioner and the Member to whom the question is put are both present, and 
there is sufficient time, then an oral response will be provided. If not, a written response will 
be provided within 3 working days. 

(d) There will be no opportunity for the public to ask questions at an Annual meeting of the Full 
Council. 

 
11.1.2 Order of Questions 
 
The questions will be put in the order in which notice of them was received, except that the Chair of 
the Council may group similar questions together. 
 
11.1.3 Notice of Questions 
 
To enable the Member of the Cabinet to provide the fullest and most accurate answer, notice that it 
is to be asked, together with a copy of it, should be given to the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources in writing by post or email to be received no later than midday two clear working days 
prior to the day of the meeting. Notice should be given by post to the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources, Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing, BN11 1HA or by email to 

351



 

92 

democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk. Notice of questions must include the questioner’s 
name, address and contact details. 
 
Where a member of the public has failed to give notice of a question in accordance with this 
provision, the question may still be put, but the Member of the Cabinet to whom it is addressed 
may either choose to give a full response or respond by undertaking to provide a written response 
within 3 working days. 
 
11.1.4 Number of Questions 
 
At any one meeting, no person may submit more than a total of two questions, although each 
question may have more than one part, provided that each part relates to the same subject. No 
more than two questions can be asked on behalf of one organisation.  
 
11.1.5 Scope of Questions 
 
Every question must relate to a matter for which the Council has responsibility and/or which 
specifically affects the District. 
 
Where notice of a question is provided, The Director for Sustainability & Resources may reject a 
question if, in their opinion, it: 

(i) is not about a matter for which the Cabinet or Committee has a responsibility; 
(ii) is defamatory, frivolous, vexatious or offensive; 
(iii) refers to legal proceedings taken or anticipated by or against the Council; 
(iv) is substantially the same as a question which has been put to a meeting of the Full 

Council, the Cabinet or the same Committee in the past 6 months; 
(v) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; or 
(vi) would more appropriately be responded to by the Council under the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000 or the Data Protection Act 1998. 
(vii) relates to a specific planning application; 
(viii) relates to a specific application before a Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee; 
(ix) relates to a specific staffing appointment or appeal matter;  
(x) names or identifies individual service users, Officers or Members/staff of partner 

agencies; 
(xi) makes or relates to allegations against, or comprise comments about, the conduct of 

individual Members or Officers; 
(xii) relates to a specific Standards determination matter. 

 
11.1.6 Record of Questions 
 

(a) Where notice of a question is provided, the Director for Sustainability & Resources will 
as soon as possible send a copy of the question to the Member of the Cabinet to whom 
it is to be put. If the Director for Sustainability & Resources has rejected the question in 
accordance with 11.1.5 above, a copy of the question will still be sent to the relevant 
Member of the Cabinet, with reasons as to why it has been rejected. 

(b) Where notice of a question has been provided, copies of all such questions, save for 
those that have been rejected, will be circulated to all Members of the Council and will 
be made available to the public attending the meetings via the Council’s website. 

(c) Where a question is asked, without notice, the Director for Sustainability & Resources or 
their representative will record a summary of the question in the minutes of the meeting. 

 
11.1.7 Asking the Question at the meeting 
 

(a) The Chair of the Council will invite the questioner to put the question to the relevant 
Cabinet Member.  

(b) If a member of the public who has submitted notice of a question is unable to be present 
at the meeting, they may ask the Chair of the Council to put the question on their behalf. 

352

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


 

93 

If the Chair of the Council puts the question, they will indicate either that a written reply 
will be given within 3 working days, or that, in the absence of the questioner, the 
question will not be dealt with. 

(c) The provisions of Council Procedure Rule 11.1.5 apply and the Chair may reject a 
question at the meeting on those same grounds. 

 
11.1.8 Supplemental Question 
 

(a) A member of the public who has put a question in person, may also put one 
supplementary question, without notice, to the Cabinet Member, who has replied to their 
original question. A supplementary question can be for a maximum of 2 minutes, subject 
to the overall 30 minutes allowed for public question time. 

(b) A supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. 
(c) The Chair of the Council may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds in 

Council Procedure Rule 11.1.5 above. 
 
11.1.9 Answers 
 

(a) Where notice has been given of a question, an oral response will be provided with a 
maximum time limit of 5 minutes in total, subject to the maximum of 30 minutes available 
for public question time. 

(b) Where a supplemental question is asked, following a question on notice, an oral 
response will be provided, with a time limit of 2 minutes, subject to a maximum of 30 
minutes available for public question time. 

(c) Any question which cannot be responded to during Public Question Time, either 
because of the non-attendance of the Member of the Cabinet to whom it was to be put, 
or the non-attendance of the member of the public putting the question, will be dealt with 
by way of a written answer, to be provided within 3 working days of the meeting. 

(d) Where notice of a question has been provided, but it cannot be responded to during 
Public Question Time due to lack of time, it will be dealt with by way of a written answer, 
to be provided within 3 working days of the meeting. 

 
11.1.10 Referral to the Cabinet or a Committee 
 
Any Member of the Council may move that a matter raised by a question, be referred to either the 
Cabinet or a Committee. Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on without discussion.  
 
11.2 The Cabinet and Committees 
 
11.2.1 General 
 

(a) Members of the public, who live, work or own property in the District may ask questions 
at any meeting of the Cabinet or a Committee on any matter which is before that 
meeting, or for which the Cabinet or that Committee has responsibility, subject to the 
matters referred to in 11.2.5. 

(b) A member of the public will be allowed a maximum of 5 minutes to ask each question, 
subject to a maximum 30 minutes being allowed in total for public question time. 

(c) Where notice of the question has been provided in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rule 11.2.3, the questioner is present and there is sufficient time, an oral response will 
be given. If the questioner is absent the question falls. If there is insufficient time, a 
written response will be provided within 3 working days of the meeting being held. 

 
11.2.2 Order of Questions 
 
Questions will be asked in the order in which notice of them was received, except that the person 
presiding may group similar questions together. 
 

353



 

94 

11.2.3 Notice of Questions 
 

(a) To enable the Member of the Cabinet or Committee to provide the fullest and most 
accurate answer, notice that it is to be asked, together with a copy of it, should be given 
to the Director for Sustainability & Resources in writing by post or email to be received 
no later than midday two clear working days prior to the day of the meeting. Notice 
should be given by post to the Director for Sustainability & Resources, Town Hall, 
Chapel Road, Worthing, BN11 1HA or by email to democratic.services@adur-
worthing.gov.uk. Notice must include the name, address and contact details of the 
questioner. 

(b) Where a member of the public has failed to give notice of a question in accordance with 
this provision, the question may still be put, but the Member of the Cabinet or Committee 
to whom it is addressed may either choose to give a full response or respond by 
undertaking to provide a written response within 3 working days. 

 
11.2.4 Number of Questions 
 
At any one meeting, no person may submit more than 2 questions, although each question may 
have more than one part, provided that each part relates to the same subject, and no more than 2 
questions can be asked on behalf of one organisation. 
 
11.2.5 Scope of Questions 
 

(a) Every question must relate to a matter for which the Cabinet, or that particular 
Committee, has responsibility. 

(b) Where notice of a question has been provided, the Director for  Sustainability & 
Resources may reject a question if, in their opinion, it: 

(i) is not about a matter for which the Cabinet or Committee has a responsibility; 
(ii) is defamatory, frivolous, vexatious or offensive; 
(iii) refers to legal proceedings taken or anticipated by or against the Council; 
(iv) is substantially the same as a question which has been put to a meeting of the 

Full Council, the Cabinet or the same Committee in the past 6 months; 
(v) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; or 
(vi) would more appropriately be responded to by the Council under the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000 or the Data Protection Act 1998. 
(vii) relates to a specific planning application; 
(viii) relates to a specific application before a Licensing Committee or Sub-

Committee; 
(ix) relates to a specific staffing appointment or appeal matter;  
(x) names or identifies individual service users, Officers or Members/staff of partner 

agencies; 
(xi) makes or relates to allegations against, or comprise comments about, the 

conduct of individual Members or Officers; 
(xii) relates to a specific Standards determination matter. 

 
11.2.6 Record of Questions 
 

(a) Where notice of a question is provided, the Director for Sustainability & Resources will 
as soon as possible send a copy of the question to the Member to whom it is to be put. 
Where the Director for Sustainability & Resources has rejected a question, a copy will 
still be sent to the relevant Member together with reasons for the rejection. 

(b) Where notice of a question is provided, copies of all questions, save for those which 
have been rejected, will be circulated to all Members of the Cabinet or Committee, as 
the case may be, and will be made available to the public attending the meetings, and 
made publicly available via the Council’s website. 

 
11.2.7 Asking the Question at the meeting 

354

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


 

95 

 
(a) The person presiding will invite the questioner to put the question to the meeting.  
(b) If a member of the public who has submitted notice of a question is unable to be present, 

they may ask the person presiding to put the question on their behalf. If the person 
presiding sees fit, they may group similar questions together and summarise them. If the 
person presiding puts the question, they will indicate either that a written reply will be given 
within 3 working days or, in the absence of the questioner, that the question will not be 
dealt with. 

 
11.2.8 Supplemental Question 
 

(a) A member of the public who has put a question in person, may also be allowed a maximum 
of two minutes to put one supplementary question, without notice, to the Cabinet or 
Committee, and an oral response will be given.  

(b) A supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. 
(c) The person presiding may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds in 

Council Procedure Rule 11.2.1 or 11.2.5 above. 
 
11.2.9 Written Answers 
 

(a) Any question which cannot be dealt with during Public Question Time, either because of the 
non-attendance of the Member to whom it was to be put, or due to the non-attendance of 
the questioner, will be dealt with by way of a written answer from the Leader of the Cabinet, 
relevant Member, or Chair of the Committee, to be provided within three working days of 
the meeting. 

(b) Where notice of a question has been provided, but it cannot be responded to during Public 
Question Time due to lack of time, it will be dealt with by way of a written answer, to be 
provided within three working days of the meeting. 

 
11.3 Deputations 
 
(a) Deputations may be received at full Council meetings provided that:  

(i) notice is received in writing by Democratic Services at least eight clear days before 
the meeting giving the subject to be raised, the contact details of the person or 
organisation who will be addressing the meeting, and signed by at least five 
registered local government electors of the District;  

(ii) the subject is not related to a specific planning, licensing or other application under 
consideration by the Council;  

(iii) the subject does not raise an issue of conduct by Members or officers, or names or 
clearly identifies any individual;  

(iv) the subject does not relate to legal proceedings or raise an issue in the nature of a 
complaint;  

(v) the subject does not relate to the appointment, promotion, dismissal, remuneration, 
conditions of service or conduct of officers;  

(vi) the subject relates to a power or duty exercised by the Council or seeks the support 
of the Council in influencing other public bodies; 

(vii) the subject is not, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, defamatory, vexatious, 
frivolous or offensive; 

(viii) the subject does not require the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 
(ix) they are not on the same or a similar subject to a deputation heard in the last six 

months. 
(b) Requisitions for deputations shall not be accepted from, nor on behalf of, political parties, 

nor if bearing the name, insignia or other device of a political party. 
(c) Subject to the foregoing, Democratic Services Manager shall bring the requisition before 

the Chair, who having consulted the Leader, or in their absence the Deputy Leader, shall 
decide whether notice shall be given of the deputation on the agenda for a meeting of the 
Council. The Mayor Chair must have regard to other business on the Council agenda in 

355



 

96 

reaching such a decision; however a deputation will normally be accepted where there is an 
item on the Council agenda of the same subject matter. 

(d) A maximum of two deputations only will be permitted at any meeting and will be taken in 
the order they were received. 

(e) The number of each deputation shall not exceed five, of whom only one shall speak for no 
longer than five minutes, following which they may answer any questions from Members. 

(f) The relevant Cabinet Member shall be given the opportunity to respond to Council on the 
issues raised, and advise Council what actions will be taken as a result of the deputation. 
Should no response be given at the meeting to which the deputation is put, the Cabinet 
Member shall provide a response at the next ordinary meeting of Council together with a 
written response provided to the deputation spokesperson. 

(g) A maximum of 30 minutes shall be allocated to Deputations on the Council agenda. 
(h) There shall be no debate on any matter raised by the deputation, but any Member may 

move without notice a motion for the manner in which the Council should dispose of the 
item. 

(i) A deputation will fail to be presented if no one who has signed the deputation is present. 
 
Member Questions 
 
12.1 Questions on Notice 
 
(a) Subject to Procedure Rule 12.2 below, a Member may ask the Chair, a Cabinet Member, a 

Chair of any Committee, or the Council’s representative on any outside body, a question at 
any Ordinary Council meeting, and at meetings of the Cabinet or a Committee, on any 
matter in relation to which the Council has power or which specifically affects the District. 

(b) Every question shall be put and answered without discussion. 
(c) No Member may ask more than one question unless the time taken by questions has not 

exceeded 30 minutes, in which case second questions will be taken in the order that they 
are received.  

(d) The Chair shall invite questions from Members in such an order as to ensure that each 
Political Group and independent Members are permitted to ask a question in rotation, 
starting with the Main Opposition group. 

 
12.2 Notice of Questions  
 
(a) A Member may ask a question in accordance with Procedure Rule 12 if either: 

(i) they have given written notice of the question to the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources, by email to democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk, to be received 
by midday at least two clear working days prior to the day of the meeting; or 

(ii) the question relates to an urgent matter and they have obtained the consent of the 
Chair and notice of, and a copy of, the question is given to the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources by midday on the day of the meeting. 

 
(b) The Director for Sustainability & Resources may reject a question if it:  

(i) is not about a matter:  

 for which the Council, the Cabinet or Committee to which it is addressed 
has a responsibility; or,  

 which particularly affects the District;  
(ii) is not submitted within the requisite timeframe; 
(iii) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;  
(iv) refers to legal proceedings taken or anticipated by or against the Council;  
(v) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined in the 

Local Government Act 1972;  
(vi) relates to a day to day council function or the provision of a council service and 

has not been asked first of the relevant service area;  
(vii) is not related to policy or budget issues  
(viii) is a statement rather than a question;  

356



 

97 

(ix) relates to an individual or the questioner's own particular circumstances;  
(x) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of the 

Council in the past six months  
(xi) names or identifies individual service users, members of staff or members/staff 

of partner agencies; 
(xii) makes or relates to allegations against, or compromise comments about, the 

conduct of individual Members or Officers; 
(xiii) is a decision on a staffing appointment or appeal relating to an individual; 
(xiv) is a decision of the Planning Committee on a specific planning application; 
(xv) is a decision of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee on a Standards 

determination; 
(xvi) is a decision of a Licensing Committee on a specific application, review or 

similar matter. 
 
12.3 Response 
 
(a) A written response will be prepared to the question and shall be read to the meeting. The 

response may take the form of:  
(i) a direct answer; or 
(ii) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published 

work, a reference to that publication; or 
(iii) where the reply cannot conveniently be given to the meeting, a written answer 

circulated within 3 working days of the meeting, to the questioner and all Members 
of the Council. 

(b) Written replies will be given to questions by the relevant Cabinet Member or their nominee, 
but shall not be the subject of any further debate.  

(c) Answers should provide a full response to questions in a succinct way. If the reply cannot 
be given at the meeting, a written answer will be provided to the questioner within 10 
working days of the meeting. 

 
12.4 Transferring the Response 
 
(a) The person to whom a question has been put may ask another Member to respond or may 

decline to answer. 
(b) Any Member may move that a matter raised by a question under Council Procedure Rule12 

be referred to the Cabinet or a Committee. Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on 
without discussion. 

 
12.5 Supplementary Question 
 
(a) A Member asking a question under Council Procedure Rule 12 may ask one supplementary 

question without notice to the Member who replied to the original question. 
(b) The supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. 
(c) The Chair may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds set out in 12.2.  
 
12.6 Number and Order of Questions 
 
(a) A Member may submit as many questions as they wish to any meeting but may only ask 

one question and one supplementary question at a time. 
(b) The Chair shall invite questions from Members in such an order as to ensure that each 

Political Group and independent Members are permitted to ask a question in rotation, 
starting with the main opposition group. 

 
12.7 Duration of Question Time by Members 
 
The period of time allotted to Members’ questions under Council Procedure Rule 12 shall not 
exceed 30 minutes, unless the Chair exercises their discretion to extend it. 

357



 

98 

 
12.8 Record of Questions and Answers  
 
(a) Questions asked on notice under Procedure Rule 12 will be recorded in the minutes, as will 

any written answer provided. This includes any questions that are asked but not answered 
at the meeting in the time allotted. 

(b) For the avoidance of doubt, neither supplementary questions nor answers shall be 
recorded.  

 
Leader’s Report  
 
13.1 General 
 
(a) The Leader shall prepare a report of the business of the Cabinet for each Ordinary meeting 

of the Full Council. In presenting the report, the Cabinet will have 15 minutes to make any 
statements that they wish to make relating to the report before the Full Council. 

(b) Following the presentation of the report of the business of the Cabinet, any Member may 
ask a question of the Leader or Cabinet Member arising from the written report, provided 
that the question is not one which is to be put under Council Procedure Rule 12.  

(c) This item of business shall not last longer than 15 minutes unless in the view of the Chair of 
the Council, or on a motion moved by a Member, seconded and approved by Full Council 
without discussion, it is deemed appropriate to extend the time. In this event, the Chair of 
the Council shall specify the duration of the extension. 

(d) Every question should be put and answered without discussion.  Any Member may ask one 
question, following which, if time remains, a Member may ask a second question. 

(e) Following the presentation of the report and questions arising on that, the Chair of the 
Council shall call Members to ask questions for which due notice has been given pursuant 
to Council Procedure Rule 12. 

 
Main Opposition Priority Motion 
 
(a) The largest political group not forming part of the Administration may submit one item of 

business to be placed on the agenda of an ordinary meeting of the Council to be treated as 
Priority Opposition Business. The submission shall include a brief description of the item of 
business (which will allow members and the public to understand the nature of the topic to 
be discussed) and the name of the member presenting it. The description and the name of 
the presenter shall be included on the agenda. Notice of the item must be submitted no 
later than the deadline for the receipt of motions (Rule 14). 

(b) Priority Opposition Business shall take the form of a statement and the total time allowed 
for the item will be 15 minutes. The member named on the agenda as presenting the 
statement may speak for up to five minutes. A member responding on behalf of the 
Administration may speak for up to five minutes. The Leader of the largest political group 
not forming part of the Administration may exercise a right of reply for up to five minutes. 
The matter under discussion shall not be put to the vote and no other questions or debate 
shall be allowed. 

(c) Priority Opposition Business shall not be taken at the Annual Meeting, the meeting 
convened to approve the Council's budget or a meeting called for a specific purpose. 

 
 
Motions on Notice 
 
14.1 Notice 
 
(a) Except for motions that can be moved without notice under Council Procedure Rule 15, 

written notice of every motion, signed by at least one Elected Member of the Council, must 
be delivered to the Director for Sustainability & Resources at least 10 clear working days 
before the date of the meeting. 

358



 

99 

(b) If the notice of motion is sent by electronic means, an electronic signature will suffice, and it 
shall be received at least 10 clear working days before the day of the meeting at 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk. The Member must ensure they obtain an 
acknowledgement of its receipt.  

(c) The Director for Sustainability & Resources will date and number the motion in the order in 
which it is received. 

 
14.2 Scope 
 
(a) Each motion must be clear and succinct, must clearly identify the matter to be debated and 

have a clear question to be put. Where the Councillor is aware of specific legal, regulatory or 
financial implications, these should be set out in the pre-amble. Motions must:  

(i) be about matters for which the council has a responsibility; and/or  
(ii) specifically affect the district; and  
(iii) be about a single issue. 

(b) Any amendments to motions must comply with (i) to (iii) above and the procedure rule on 
amendments. 

(c) Where a motion is received, the Director for Sustainability & Resources may reject it if, in their 
opinion, the motion: 

(i) is not relevant either to some matter in relation to which the Council has powers or 
duties or it does not affect the District; or 

(ii) is defamatory, frivolous, unlawful, vexatious or offensive; or 
(iii) refers to legal proceedings taken or anticipated by or against the Council; or 
(iv) is substantially the same as, or is to rescind, a motion which has been received and 

accepted in the past 6 months (see Procedure Rule 22); or 
(v) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; or 
(vi) names or identifies specific service users, members of staff or members of staff of 

partner organisations without the Councillor demonstrating they have provided 
consent; 

(vii) relates to the Member’s own personal circumstances; or 
(viii) is improper, out of order or not relevant. 

(d) Where a motion is rejected by the Director for Sustainability & Resources, they shall return the 
motion to the Member of the Council who sent it, stating that it will not be inserted on the 
agenda and providing reasons. 

(e) Where the Council is in the process of consulting with the public on a proposal, or responding 
to a formal consultation process, no notice of motion expressing support or objecting to the 
proposals shall be accepted. 

(f) All accepted notices of motion shall be sent, via a report, direct to Full Council by the Director 
for Sustainability & Resources. Such report will include the procedure for consideration and 
determination of the motion.  

(g) The decision of the Director for Sustainability & Resources will be final. 
 
14.3 Motions set out in Agenda 
 
(a) Accepted motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda, subject to the 

exception below, in the order in which notice was received by the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources, unless the Member giving notice of the motion gives advance written notice that 
they intend to propose to defer the motion until the next meeting, or withdraw the motion. 

(b) Such accepted motions will be placed on the agenda immediately before the consideration of 
exempt information items. 

(c) The maximum number of accepted motions on notice to be presented at a Council meeting 
shall be as follows: 

(i) The three largest political Groups: two per Group 
(ii) Any other Group: one per Group 

(d) If the three largest Groups cannot be determined due to equality in numbers, then each Group 
with a membership of 5 or more may present two motions. 

359

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


 

100 

(e) Any Member not belonging to a Political Group may present not more than one motion on 
notice.  

(f) Where Members of a Political Group submit more than the permitted maximum number of 
notices of motion the Group shall decide which of these it wishes to table. In the absence of 
such a decision, notices of motion from Members of a Group shall be taken in the order in 
which they are received up to the permitted maximum number.  

(g) No more than one motion may be proposed by a Member for each meeting. 
(h) A councillor may alter a motion that they have moved, in which case the amendment becomes 

part of the substantive motion without debate. Only alterations which could be made as an 
amendment may be made. 

 
14.4 Speaking to propose a Motion 
 
If a motion set out on the agenda is not moved by a Member who gave the notice or by some other 
Member on their behalf, it shall be treated as withdrawn and shall not be moved without fresh 
notice unless postponed by the Council. 
 
14.5 Referral of Motions to the Cabinet or a Committee 
 
All accepted motions shall be debated by Full Council. Where a decision is required by the Cabinet 
or a Committee the motion will automatically be referred to the next practical meeting of the 
Cabinet or Committee. 
 
14.6 Attendance of mover at meeting of the Cabinet or a Committee  
 
(a) Where a motion has been referred by Full Council to the Cabinet or a Committee, the mover, or 

the seconder in the absence of the mover, shall be entitled to attend the relevant meeting of 
the Cabinet or Committee and to explain the motion.  

(b) The Member may answer questions from the Cabinet or Committee, for the purposes of 
clarification, prior to any debate and may sit with the Committee for the item in question.  

(c) The Member may not partake in the debate, nor vote upon the item. 
 
Motions and Amendments without Notice 
 
15.1 General 
 
The following motions and amendments may be moved without notice: 

(a) To appoint a person to preside at the meeting at which the motion is moved; 
(b) In relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 
(c) To change the order of business in the agenda; 
(d) To refer something to an appropriate body or individual including referring any matter for 

consideration by the Cabinet or a Committee; 
(e) To assign to a Committee or Member a matter arising from an item on the summons for the 

meeting; 
(f) To receive reports or adopt recommendations from the Cabinet, Committee or Officers, and 

any resolutions arising from them; 
(g) To withdraw a motion; 
(h) To extend the time limit for speeches; 
(i) To amend a motion; 
(j) To postpone consideration of a motion; 
(k) To proceed to the next business; 
(l) To take an immediate vote on a motion; 
(m) To adjourn a debate; 
(n) To adjourn a meeting; 
(o) That the meeting continues beyond 3 hours in duration; 
(p) To suspend a particular Council Procedure Rule; 
(q) To authorise the sealing of documents; 

360



 

101 

(r) To exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules (see Council Procedure Rule 16.14); 

(s) To not hear further a Member named under Council Procedure Rule 32.3 or to exclude 
them from the meeting under Council Procedure Rule 32.4; 

(t) To invite a Member to withdraw in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct; 
(u) To give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this Constitution; 
(v) To carry out a statutory duty of the Council which, by reason of special circumstances, the 

person presiding is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as a matter of 
urgency; 

(w) Motions relating to communications and announcements from the Chair, Leader, Members 
of the Cabinet and/or Head of Paid Service in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 3; 

(x) Motions relating to vote by way of ballot. 
 
Rules of Debate 
 
For rules of debate relating to the consideration and determination of the annual budget, reference 
is made to the Council’s Budget Procedure Rules found in Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution. 

16.1 Management of debate 
 
(a) The person presiding shall have the control of any debate and will use their discretion to 

ensure the effective, efficient, fair and orderly conduct of the business. 
(b) The person presiding will normally follow the rules set out in this Procedure Rule 16 but 

their interpretation, application or waiver of these rules of debate will be final. 
 
16.2 No speeches until motion seconded 
 
No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and explained the purpose of it, 
until the motion or amendment has been seconded. 
 
16.3 Right to require motion in writing 
 
Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the person presiding may require it to be 
written down and handed to them before it is discussed. 
 
16.4 Full Council - Seconder's speech 
 
When seconding a motion or amendment, a Member may reserve their speech until later in the 
debate. 
 
16.5 Full Council - Content and length of speech 
 
(a) Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or be a personal explanation 

or point of order.  
(b) Subject to (c) and (d) below, no speech shall exceed 3 minutes in length. 
(c) The speech of the proposer of a motion (but not an amendment), when proposing the 

motion or when exercising their right of reply at the close of debate on a motion, shall not 
exceed 5 minutes 

(d) The time limits at (b) and (c) above may be extended with the consent of the Council which 
shall be given or refused without debate. 

 
16.6 The Cabinet and Committees - Content of speech 
 
(a) Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or be a personal explanation 

or point of order.  

361



 

102 

(b) The person presiding shall exercise principles of good chairship in conducting meetings; 
regulating proceedings fairly, objectively and without bias. In particular, they shall ensure 
that the meeting has a structured debate with clear proposals moved and seconded and 
debated in the order moved. 

(c) The Chair shall announce the motion (as amended if appropriate) immediately before any 
vote and confirm the decision of the Cabinet or Committee. 

 
16.7 Full Council - When a Member may speak again 
 
A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of debate, 
except: 
(a) to speak once to any amendment moved by another Member; 
(b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since they last spoke; 
(c) if their first speech was on an amendment moved by another Member, to speak on the main 

issue (whether or not the amendment on which they spoke was carried); 
(d) in exercise of a right of reply; 
(e) on a point of order; 
(f) by way of personal explanation. 
 
16.8 The Cabinet and Committees – When a Member may not speak again 
 
A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of debate 
subject to the person presiding at their discretion: 
(a) determining that the Member has spoken sufficiently on the matter; or 
(b) determining that the matter has been debated sufficiently and calling for a vote. 
 
16.9 Amendments to Motions 
 
(a) An amendment shall be relevant to the motion and will either be: 

(i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual, including the Cabinet or a 
Committee, for consideration or reconsideration; 

(ii) to give guidance to the Cabinet or a Committee on a subject determined under delegated 
powers; 

(iii) to amend the wording, as long as the effect is not to negate the motion or introduce a new 
proposal into the debate. 

(b) If they deem it necessary, the person presiding shall read out the amended motion before the 
amendment is put. 

(c) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time and no further 
amendment shall be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed of, 
except with the agreement of the proposer and seconder of the subsisting proposed 
amendment, to amend that proposal with a view to achieving agreement.  

(d) A Member may give notice of their intention to move a further amendment, and its nature, 
before a vote is taken on the amendment under consideration. 

(e) If an amendment is lost, other amendments to the original motion may be moved, provided that 
no such amendment may have a similar effect to one previously determined by the meeting 
unless it is supported by more than 50% of Members present. 

(f) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended shall take the place of the original motion 
and shall become the substantive motion to which any further amendments may be moved. 

(g) After an amendment has been carried, the person presiding will read out the amended motion 
before accepting any further amendments. 

(h) After all amendments have been considered and determined there shall be an opportunity for 
further debate on the original motion, as amended or otherwise, as the case may be, prior to 
the taking of a vote. 

 

362



 

103 

16.10 Alteration of Motion 
 
With the consent of their seconder and of the meeting, which shall be signified without discussion, 
a Member may alter: 

(a) a motion of which they have given notice, or 
(b) a motion or an amendment which they have moved, 

provided that the alteration is one which could be made as an amendment to the motion. 
 
16.11 Withdrawals of Motions and Amendments 
 
(a) A Member may withdraw a motion or amendment with the consent of their seconder and of the 

meeting, which shall be signified without discussion.  
(b) No Member may speak on the motion after the mover has asked permission for its withdrawal 

unless permission to withdraw is refused. 
 
16.12  Full Council - Right of Reply 
 
(a) When Full Council debates reports and recommendations received from the Cabinet or its 

Committees, the appropriate Cabinet Member or Committee Chair shall have the right to sum 
up at the end of any debate on the report. 

(b) Subject to the above, the mover of a motion has a right of reply at the end of the debate on the 
motion immediately before it is put to the vote. 

(c) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of reply at the close 
of the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise speak on it. 

(d) The mover of the amendment shall have a right of reply immediately after the reply on the 
amendment by the mover of the original motion. 

(e) A Member exercising a right of reply shall confine themselves to answering previous speakers 
and shall not introduce new matters or material. The person presiding’s ruling on this shall be 
final and not open to discussion. 

 
16.13 Person presiding may sum up debate 
 
(a) The person presiding may, if they think fit, sum up the debate before putting a motion or 

amendment to the vote; and  
(b) if such debate involves questions of a legal, administrative or technical nature, they may 

request the appropriate Officer to draw the attention of the meeting to any relevant factors. 
 
16.14 Motions which may be moved during debate 
 
When a motion is under debate, no other motion shall be moved except for the following 
procedural motions: 
(a) to withdraw a motion; 
(b) to amend a motion; 
(c) to postpone consideration of a motion; 
(d) to adjourn the debate; 
(e) to adjourn the meeting; 
(f) that the meeting continue beyond 3 hours in duration; 
(g) to proceed to the next business; 
(h) to take an immediate vote on the motion; 
(i) to not hear from a Member named under Council Procedure Rule 32.3 or to exclude them from 

the meeting under Council Procedure Rule 32.4; 
(j) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules. 
 
16.15  Closure Motions 
 
A Member may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of a speech of another 
Member: 

363



 

104 

(a) to proceed to the next business; 
(b) to take an immediate vote on a motion; 
(c) to adjourn a debate; 
(d) to adjourn the meeting; 
(e) to exclude the public from the meeting; 
(f) that a Member be not further heard. 
 
On the seconding of a motion referred to above, the person presiding shall proceed as follows: 
 

(a) On a motion to proceed to the next business, which is seconded, unless in their opinion the 
matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, the person presiding shall give 
the mover of the original motion the right of reply and then put their motion to the vote. If the 
procedural motion is carried, then the question before the Council is dropped and no 
decision on it has been taken. 

(b) On a motion to take an immediate vote on a motion, which is seconded, unless in their 
opinion the matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, the person 
presiding shall first put the procedural motion to the vote. If the motion is passed, the Chair 
will give the mover of the original motion or amendment their right of reply before putting it 
to the vote. 

(c) On a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting, which is seconded, if in the 
opinion of the person presiding the matter before the meeting has not been sufficiently 
discussed and cannot reasonably be so discussed, on that occasion, they shall put the 
adjournment motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion or 
amendment their right of reply. A Member moving the adjournment of the debate of the 
meeting must limit their observations to that question and no amendment can be proposed 
to that motion, unless it relates to the time of the adjournment. On resuming an adjourned 
debate, the Member who moved the adjournment is entitled to speak first.  

(d) On a motion to exclude the public, unless the motion appears on the agenda, the person 
presiding shall ascertain the grounds for the motion and seek the advice of the Monitoring 
Officer as to whether members of the public may lawfully be excluded. If members of the 
public may be lawfully excluded, the person presiding will allow the mover of the original 
motion a right of reply on the proposal to exclude the public and then put the motion to the 
vote. If it is passed, the person presiding may, at their discretion, either immediately require 
the public to leave the room in which the debate is being held or adjourn the debate until 
some convenient time later in the meeting when the public shall have been excluded. 

(e) On a motion that a named Member be not further heard, which is seconded, the person 
presiding shall put the motion to the vote without discussion from any Member. If it is 
passed, the named Member shall not be permitted to speak again during the meeting on 
any motion or amendment relating to the same matter. 

 
16.16  Certainty of Resolutions 
 
Before a vote is taken, the motion or resolution, as amended, is to be written down and read out by 
the Chair or their representative. 
 
16.17  Point of Order 
 
(a) A point of order shall only relate to: 

(i) an alleged breach of these Council Procedure Rules; or  
(ii) an alleged breach of the law.  

(b) A Member may raise a point of order at any time and the person presiding shall hear them 
immediately, subject to Council Procedure Rule 32.2. 

(c) The Member must indicate the Council Procedure Rule or law and the way in which they 
consider it has been breached. The ruling of the person presiding on the matter will be final and 
is not open to discussion. 

  

364



 

105 

16.18  Personal Explanation 
 
(a) A personal explanation shall be confined to some material part of an earlier speech by the 

Member, which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of 
the person presiding on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final and is not open 
to discussion. 

(b) A Member may indicate a desire to make a personal explanation at any time. The person 
presiding will hear them immediately. 

 
16.19  Council - Officers 
 
(a) Other than in relation to Rule 18, no Officer other than: 

(i) the Head of Paid Service; 
(ii) the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services, or their representative, in their 

role as adviser to the Council meeting; 
(iii) the Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer;  
(iv) the Section 151 Officer or Deputy Section 151 Officer; 
(v) the Director for Sustainability & Resources or their representative, as to the recording 

of any part of the meeting; 
may be called upon to speak at a meeting of Full Council, without the consent of both the Chair of 
the Council and Head of Paid Service or a Director. However, with such consent, an Officer, other 
than those listed above, may contribute by way of advice, guidance or presentations on any report 
under consideration. 
(b) Officers holding statutory positions shall not be prevented from addressing the Council where 

they see fit to do so and so far as they act within the law. 
 
16.20  Notice of adjourned meetings 
 
Any motion to adjourn a debate or a meeting may specify the location, date and time at which the 
adjourned debate or meeting shall take place. If such specification is not given, the venue, date 
and time of the adjourned debate or meeting shall be determined by the Chair of the Council or 
Committee Chair as appropriate, or Director for Sustainability & Resources. 
 
16.21  Council – Committee Recommendations and Reports 
 
Any recommendations by, or reports from, a Committee at Full Council will be taken in date order, 
unless otherwise required, and for the purpose of any debate or amendment or other motion, each 
recommendation shall be treated as if it were a separate motion by the Chair of the Committee or 
other Member moving the report that the same be adopted by the Council. 
 
16.22  Full Council - Recommendations of the Cabinet 
 
Each recommendation of the Cabinet will be moved in turn by the Leader. After the 
recommendation has been moved and seconded the matter may be debated. The rules about 
motions and amendments set out above in these Council Procedure Rules will apply to each 
recommendation. 
 
16.23 Offensive amendments or motions 
 
If at any meeting the person presiding is of the opinion that any motion, amendment or business 
proposed to be moved or transacted is of a defamatory, frivolous, vexatious or offensive nature, 
they may, either before or after the same has been brought forward, put to the vote a motion (upon 
which no discussion shall be allowed) that the motion, amendment or business in question not be 
entertained or further permitted. If such a motion is seconded, a vote will be taken. If such a motion 
is carried, the matter will be considered as disposed of at that meeting. 

365



 

106 

 
Matters Affecting Officers 
 
17.1 If any question arises at a meeting of Full Council, the Cabinet or a Committee at which the 
public are in attendance as to the appointment, promotion, dismissal, remuneration, pension 
matters, conditions of service or conduct of any person employed by the Council, such question 
shall not be the subject of discussion until Full Council, the Cabinet or the Committee, as the case 
may be, has decided whether or not the power of exclusion of the public under Section 100A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 shall be exercised. 
 
Officer Reports 
 
18.1 Where any matter is subject to a first report to Full Council, the appropriate Officer may: 

(a) introduce the report; 
(b) answer questions for the purpose of clarification; and 
(c) provide advice during the debate. 

 
18.2 The Officer may decline to answer a question which they perceive to be political in nature. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Reports to Full Council 
 
19.1 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee prepares a single report to Full Council, the 
Cabinet or a Committee, the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall present the 
report to the meeting as appropriate and shall be available to answer questions in relation to the 
report. 
 
19.2 At a meeting of the Cabinet or a Committee, the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall be entitled to sit with Members of the Cabinet or Committee during the 
consideration of the report for the purposes of answering questions/clarifying matters contained 
within the report. 
 
19.3 Where there is a minority report, as well as a majority report, from an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, those Members supporting the minority report shall select one of their number to 
present that report and/or answer questions on it.  
 
19.4 The Member selected under (c) above shall have the same rights/privileges with regard to 
attendance at Full Council, the Cabinet or the relevant Committee as the Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
19.5 If the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is a supporter of the minority report, 
then the Vice Chair or another Member supporting the majority report shall have the same 
rights/privileges as the Chair, had they supported it. 
 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee Reports to Full Council 
 
20.1 Full Council shall receive such reports of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee as shall 
be referred to it by the Committee. 
 
20.2 When receiving such reports or minutes, the Chair or Vice Chair of the Committee, whether 
they are an Elected Member of the Council or co-opted Member of the Committee, shall be entitled 
to: 

(a) present the report or minute; 
(b) answer any questions relating to the report or minute; 
(c) propose, or agree any amendment to, the motion, proposal or recommendation. 

 
Representatives on Outside Bodies 
 

366



 

107 

21.1 Members who are appointed to outside bodies as representatives of the Council are 
encouraged to post a report of such meetings that they attend in the Members’ Newsletter. 
 
21.2 Where a Member who is a representative on an outside body is of the view that a matter to 
be considered by that body is of such importance as to require that they are informed as to the 
Council’s opinion on that item, the Member shall be entitled to request the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources to place the item on the agenda of the appropriate meeting of Full 
Council, the Cabinet or a Committee. The Member may address Full Council, the Cabinet or a 
Committee as in Council Procedure Rule 14.6. 
 
Previous Decisions and Motions 
 
22.1 Motion to rescind a previous decision 
 
Subject to Rule 22.3 below: 
(a) Where a Motion on Notice is submitted, to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Full Council 

within the past 6 months, the Director for Sustainability & Resources shall reject it, unless the 
Motion is signed by at least 10 Members of the Council.  

(b) If a Motion or Amendment is raised during a debate, at Full Council, to rescind a decision made 
at a meeting of the Full Council within the previous 6 months, the Chair shall reject it. 

 
22.2 Motions similar to one previously rejected 
 
Subject to Rule 22.3 below: 
(a) Motions on Notice 

Where a Motion on Notice is submitted, which is substantially the same as one previously 
rejected by the Director for Sustainability & Resources within the previous 6 months, it shall 
again be rejected by the Director for Sustainability & Resources, unless it is signed by at 
least 10 Members of the Council, in which case it shall be accepted, subject to the 
provisions of Council Procedure Rule 14. 

(b) Motions arising during debate at Full Council 
If a Motion or amendment is raised during debate, at a meeting of the Full Council, which is 
similar to one rejected within the previous 6 months, the Chair shall reject it.  

 
22.3 Exceptions 
 
(a) Rules 22.1 and 22.2 shall not apply: 

(i) to motions moved in pursuance of a recommendation of the Cabinet or a Committee;  
(ii) ii) to motions to carry out any statutory duty of the Council which, in the opinion of the 

person presiding, is of an urgent nature; or 
(iii) where a decision has been made by another body since the Council’s decision, which 

significantly affects the decision and necessitates reconsideration of the matter. 
(b) The ruling of the person presiding as to whether any motion or amendment comes within the 

terms of Council Procedure Rules 22.1 and 22.2 will be final. 
 
Petitions 
 
23.1 Petitions, other than statutory petitions such as for an elected Mayor, shall be managed in 

accordance with the Council’s Petition Scheme set out in Part 5 of the Constitution. 
 
Voting 
 
Voting at meetings of Joint Committee will be dealt with in accordance with the procedures set out 
in the Joint Committee Agreement. 
  

367



 

108 

24.1 Majority 
 
(a) Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple majority of 

those Members voting and present in the room at the time the question was put. 
(b) The person presiding will ascertain the numbers voting for, against or abstaining on any 

question, shall announce those numbers, and declare the result. 
(c) The person presiding’s declaration as to the result will be final. 
(d) If a Member is not present continuously for the duration of the item on the agenda, they are 

unable to cast a vote and if they are present when the vote is taken, must indicate that they are 
abstaining from the vote. 

 
24.2 Casting vote 
 
(a) The casting vote can only be used if the person presiding has already cast their deliberative 

vote. So if the person presiding puts the issue to the vote, but does not vote themselves and 
there is a tie, then the casting vote does not apply because they have not yet exercised their 
deliberative vote.  

(b) If, after the person presiding has exercised their deliberative vote there is a tie, then the casting 
vote can be exercised. 

(c) If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the person presiding, having cast their 
deliberative vote, may exercise a second or casting vote. There will be no restriction on 
whether or how they choose to exercise a casting vote, save that it will be exercised in 
accordance with the law. 

(d) If there are equal numbers of votes for and against and the person presiding chooses not to 
exercise their casting vote, then the matter to be determined shall fall. 

 
24.3 Show of hands 
 
Unless a ballot or recorded vote is demanded under Rules 24.4 and 24.5 or a recorded vote is 
required under 24.6, the person presiding will take the vote by show of hands or by the use of such 
electronic voting system as the Council shall determine or, if there is no dissent, by the affirmation 
of the meeting. 
 
24.4 Ballot 
 
(a) A ballot is a vote whereby Members signify their vote in writing on a piece of paper issued to 

them individually for that purpose and the vote of individual Members is not identified as being 
by that Member. 

(b) The vote will take place by ballot if a majority of Members present at the meeting demands it, 
and there has been no valid request for a recorded vote in accordance with rule 24.5 below. 

(c) Such demand to be made by motion without notice, moved, seconded and voted on without 
debate. 

(d) The person presiding will announce the numerical result of the ballot immediately the result is 
known. 

 
24.5 Recorded Vote 
 
(a) On the request of any Member of the Council made before the vote is taken and upon 5 other 

Members signifying their support by standing (unless unable to), the voting on any question 
shall be by roll-call and shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting to show how each 
Member present and voting cast their vote. The name of any Member present and abstaining 
from voting will also be recorded. 

(b) A demand for a recorded vote will override a demand for a ballot. 
  

368



 

109 

24.6 Recorded vote – Budget Decision meeting 
 
Whenever the Full Council votes on the determination of the calculation of the budget and the 
setting of any precepts, the vote of each individual Member shall be recorded. 
 
24.7 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 
 
Where immediately after a vote is taken at a meeting of the council, a committee, joint committee 
or sub-committee any Member so requires, there shall be recorded in the minutes of the 
proceedings of that meeting whether that person cast their vote for the question or against the 
question or whether they abstained from voting. 
 
24.8 Voting on appointments 
 
Where there are appointments to be made (including appointments to outside bodies, to Executive 
Leader, or to the position of Chair or Vice Chair of the Council) and there are more nominations 
than positions to which appointments are to be made, the following rules will apply: 
(a) if practicable then the vote shall be by simple majority; 
(b) Where there are 3 or more candidates seeking appointment to a single position, there shall be 

a vote for each candidate and: 
(i) if one of the candidates receives more than half of all the votes cast in the election, 

that candidate is to be appointed. 
(ii) if no candidate receives more than half of all of the votes cast then the candidate with 

the fewest number of votes will be eliminated and a new vote taken. The process will 
continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. 

 
Confidentiality of Papers 
 
Save as provided by the Local Government Act 1972, all summonses, agendas, reports and other 
documents shall be treated as confidential unless and until they become public in the ordinary 
course of the Council’s business. 
 
Minutes 
 
26.1 Signing the Minutes 
 
(a) The person presiding will sign and initial each page of the minutes of the proceedings at the 

next suitable meeting. 
(b) The person presiding will move that the minutes of the previous meeting are a correct record, 

provided that the previous meeting took place more than 10 clear working days prior to the day 
of the meeting.  

(c) The only part of the minute that can be discussed is their accuracy. 
(d) Any questions as to their accuracy as a record of a meeting shall be raised by motion. If no 

such question is raised, or if it is raised then as soon as it has been disposed of, the person 
presiding shall sign the minutes. 

(e) Where there is no Ordinary meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee expected to take place 
within a period of 6 months after a meeting for which draft minutes have been prepared then: 

(i) in respect of a Committee, Full Council may agree the accuracy of the minutes; 
(ii) in respect of a Sub-Committee, the parent Committee or Full Council may agree the 

accuracy of the Minutes; 
(iii) in respect of Committees or Sub-Committees which have ceased to meet and their 

functions have been subsumed in another Committee or Sub-Committee, the new 
Committee or Sub-Committee or Full Council may agree the accuracy of the minutes; 

(iv) in respect of Joint Committees, minutes will be dealt with in accordance with the 
provisions of the Joint Committee Agreement. 

369



 

110 

(f) In respect of a Committee or Sub-Committee convened to determine a specific licensing, 
standards or staffing matter, the Chair of that decision-making body may agree the accuracy of 
the record of the meeting. 

 
26.2 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at Extraordinary Meeting 
 
Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the minutes is an 
Extraordinary meeting, then the next following meeting being an Ordinary meeting will be treated 
as a suitable meeting for the signing of minutes. 
 
26.3 Form of minutes – Non-Executive meetings 
 
(a) The minutes will contain a summary of any debate setting out the main points that were 

considered by the meeting and the wording of the final decision. 
(b) Any further reports or information commissioned with the agreement of the  
(c) meeting will be recorded in the minutes. 

 
26.4 Form of Records of decisions – Cabinet meetings 
 
Records of decisions shall contain a: 
(a) summary of the options considered; 
(b) summary of the reasons for the decision;  
(c) the decision; and 
(d) date for Call-In. 
and will comply with the requirements of the Cabinet Procedure Rules. 
 
Status of Draft Decisions and Minutes 
 
27.1 It should be noted that until such time as the Full Council, the Cabinet or a Committee 

whose record is set out in a draft record or minute confirm that record or minute as an 
accurate record of their decision, they are a working draft only. 

 
27.2 Subject to Council Procedure Rule 26.1 above, only the body whose record is set out in the 

draft record or minute may alter or amend the record or minute. 
 
27.3 If a Member wishes to propose a recommendation to Full Council that differs from that set 

out in a draft record or minute then it must be done by way of an amendment to the motion 
before the Full Council and not as an amendment to the minute or record. 

 
Recording of Meetings 
 
28.1 Recording by the Council 
 
The Council may make such arrangements as it decides are appropriate for the recording, 
broadcasting and publication of meetings. 
 
28.2 Recording by the public 
 
(a) This Council Procedure Rule should be read in conjunction with the Protocol for Public/Press 

Recording of Public Council meetings and Social Media Policy which can be found in Part 5 of 
the Constitution. 

(b) A member of the public may make sound or visual recordings at any meeting of the Council 
and may make such arrangements as they wish to broadcast the recordings, subject to the 
following: 

(i) no visual recording should be made of persons in the public gallery; 
(ii) no visual recording should be made of any person under 18; 

370



 

111 

(iii) no recording shall be made of any meeting or part of a meeting which is considering 
matters that the Members have agreed are exempt under the Access to Information 
Rules or which are confidential; 

(iv) no recording shall be carried out in a manner that causes disruption to the meeting or 
distracts the attention of the public from the content of the meeting; 

(v) no oral commentary or report shall be made during the meeting; 
(vi) their compliance with the statutory provisions of the General Data Protection 

Regulations and any other legislation surrounding the recording and use of personal 
data and its retention. 

(c) Where a member of the public does not comply with this Rule, the person presiding shall 
require them to stop recording. If the member of the public fails to cease recording, then the 
person presiding shall consider whether or not action should be taken under Council Procedure 
Rule 31 below. 

 
28.3 Recording by a Member 
 
A Member of the Council may also make sound or visual recordings provided that they comply with 
Council Procedure Rule 28.2 and the Protocol for Public/Press Recording of Public Council 
meetings and Social Media Policy in Part 5 of the Constitution. If they fail to do so, the person 
presiding shall require them to stop recording and if they fail to cease as requested, then the 
person presiding shall consider whether or not action should be taken in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 32 below. 
 
Record of Attendance 
 
29.1 The names of all Members present during the whole or part of a meeting shall be recorded.  
 
29.2  Any omission may be remedied at the absolute discretion of the Monitoring Officer, or by the 
amendment of draft minutes of a meeting prior to confirmation, at the next or subsequent meeting 
in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 26. 
 
Exclusion of the Public 
 
30.1 The public shall be admitted to all meetings of the Council unless members of the public are 
excluded either in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution or Council Procedure Rule 31. 
 
Disturbance by the Public 
 
31.1 Removal of member of the public 
 
(a) If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, causes a disturbance or behaves improperly, 

or offensively, or by wilfully obstructing the business of the Council, or fails to comply with 
Council Procedure Rule 28 above, the person presiding will warn the person concerned. 

(b) If the member of the public, having been warned under (a) above, continues their conduct, the 
person presiding will order their removal from the meeting room. 

 
31.2 Clearance of part of the meeting room 
 
If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the person 
presiding may call for that part to be cleared. 
 
31.3 General disturbance 
 
If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the person presiding may 
adjourn the meeting for as long as they think necessary. 
 

371



 

112 

Members’ Conduct 
 
32.1 Full Council - Addressing the Council 
 
(a) All Members must stand and address the Chair of the Council when speaking during a Full 

Council meeting, unless they are physically unable to do so, or the Chair of the Council uses 
their discretion to waive this Rule.  

(b) If more than one Member stands, the Chair of the Council will ask one to speak and any other 
Members must sit.  

(c) All Members, other than the speaker, must remain seated whilst a Member is speaking unless 
they wish to make a point of order in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 16.17 or a point 
of personal explanation in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 16.18. 

 
32.2 Chair standing 
 
When the Chair of any Council or Committee meeting stands during a debate, any Member 
speaking at the time must stop and sit down. The meeting is to be silent whilst the Chair of the 
meeting speaks. 
 
32.3 Member not to be heard further 
 
(a) If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the person presiding by continued irrelevance 

or repetitions or by behaving improperly or offensively or by wilfully obstructing the business of 
the Council, the person presiding may direct the Member to stop speaking. 

(b) If following a direction from the person presiding to stop speaking, the Member continues to 
speak, the person presiding may move that the Member be not heard further. If seconded, the 
person presiding shall put the motion to the vote without discussion and if passed, the Member 
shall not be permitted to speak on the same matter again, during the meeting. 

 
32.4 Member to leave the meeting 
 
(a) If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the person presiding by continued irrelevance 

or repetitions or by behaving improperly or offensively or by wilfully obstructing the business of 
the Council, the person presiding may request them to leave for the remainder of the meeting 
or for any lesser period. 

(b) If following a request to leave the meeting, the offending Member does not leave the meeting, 
the person presiding may move that the Member named leave the meeting.  

(c) The motion shall be put and if seconded, will be voted upon without discussion.  
(d) If carried, the person presiding shall give directions for the removal of the Member and such 

other directions as are necessary for restoring order to the proceedings. 
 
32.5 General disturbance 
 
If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the person presiding may 
adjourn the meeting for as long as they think necessary. 
 
32.6 Electronic devices 
 
This Council Procedure Rule should be read in conjunction with the Protocol for Public/Press 
Recording of Public Council meetings and Social Media Policy which can be found in Part 5 of the 
Constitution. 
(a) Subject to (b) below, Members may at any meeting use any device for: 

(i) the recording of the meeting; 
(ii) the sending or receiving of communications in relation to the meeting; 
(iii) the publication of the contents of the meeting.  

(b) Paragraph (a) above is subject to the following restrictions, namely that: 
(i) such device does not emit any audible warning or other disruptive signal; 

372



 

113 

(ii) the Member does not record or communicate any matter or information relating to the 
contents of any meeting or part of a meeting which is in relation to information which is 
confidential or which the Members have agreed to exclude the press and public in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules.  

(iii) the use of the device does not disrupt the meeting or distract members of the public or 
other Members from the content of the meeting; 

(iv) it is not permissible to record an oral commentary during the course of the meeting; 
(v) they comply with statutory provisions of General Data Protection Regulations and any 

other legislation relating to the recording, use of and retention of personal data. 
(c) Where a Member’s use of a device does not comply with this Rule then the person presiding at 

the meeting shall consider whether or not action should be taken in accordance with this Rule. 
 
Delegation to the Leader, Committees and Officers 
 
33.1 Matters to be delegated 
 
(a) The Council may delegate matters from time to time to the Cabinet and Committees as it sees 

fit or as legislation prescribes. 
(b) The Council may delegate matters from time to time to Officers as it sees fit or as legislation 

prescribes, in addition to those delegated by Council under the Scheme of Officer Delegations.  
(c) In relation to any matter determined by the Cabinet, a Committee or an Officer acting under 

delegated authority, the delegator may give guidance as to the manner in which the same or a 
similar matter shall be dealt with in future, provided that such guidance shall not have the effect 
of: 

(i) causing the Council to breach the rules of natural justice; or 
(ii) prejudicing the determination by the delegatee of any matter required to be judged on 

its individual merits; or  
(iii) fettering the discretion of the Cabinet in respect of matters delegated to it by legislation. 

 
Attendance of Members at the Cabinet or Committees of which they are not Members 
 
34.1 Attendance by mover of motion 
 
A Member of the Council who has moved a motion which has been referred to the Cabinet or a 
Committee shall be given notice by the Director for Sustainability & Resources of the meeting at 
which it is proposed that the motion be considered. They shall have the right to attend the meeting 
whilst the motion is being considered, to explain the motion and answer questions. 
 
34.2 Attendance by Representative on Outside Body 
 
Where a Member has requested the Director for Sustainability & Resources to place an item on the 
agenda in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 21, they shall have the right to attend that 
meeting whilst that item is under consideration. 
 
34.3 Attendance of Members at Meetings 
 
(a) A Member of the Council shall have a right to attend meetings of the Cabinet or a Committee 

on which they have not been appointed to serve, and be present, in the public gallery 
throughout the public part of the meeting. 

(b) A Member of the Council is entitled to remain in attendance, in the public gallery, during the 
confidential part of any meeting or where the public have been excluded from the meeting in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules, provided that they have a need to 
know about the matter under consideration, and they do not have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other relevant interest in the matter. It is assumed that every Member will have need 
to know about the matter under consideration, although this presumption is rebuttable and 
advice should be taken from the Monitoring Officer. 

373



 

114 

(c) A Member of the Council who is not a Member of the Cabinet or a Committee and has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or other relevant interest in any item under consideration at a 
particular meeting is not entitled to be present in any part of the room where the meeting is 
taking place, during that particular part of the meeting where that item is to be discussed, 
unless a dispensation has been granted by the Monitoring Officer. 

(d) Council Procedure Rule 34.3 does not apply to meetings of: 
(i) the Joint Audit & Governance Committee when it goes into closed session to 

determine a Member Code of Conduct matter; 
(ii) the Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee when they go into closed session to 

determine an individual quasi-judicial case; 
(iii) any Committee when it goes into closed session to determine the capability or conduct 

of an individual Officer under the Council’s disciplinary or grievance procedures. 
(iv) any Committee considering the appointment of a Council Officer. 

(e) No Member is entitled to attend meetings referred to in (d) above unless they are appointed as 
a Member of that Committee or are substituting for such a Member. 

 
34.4 Speaking by Members at meetings 
 
(a) Subject to (c) and (d) below, a Member of the Council shall have the right to attend meetings of 

the Cabinet or a Committee on which they have not been appointed to serve, and address the 
meeting provided that: 

(i) the Member has, prior to the commencement of the meeting, notified the person 
presiding of their desire to address it; and  

(ii) they are then invited by the person presiding to address the meeting.  
(b) The person presiding shall have total discretion as to whether or not to invite such a Member to 

address the meeting. 
(c) A Member who is not a Member of the Planning Committee may not address that Committee in 

respect of any planning application, unless a similar right is granted within the Constitution 
(Protocol on Public Speaking at Planning Committee in Part 5) to the applicant, any objector 
and any supporter. 

(d) A Member who is not sitting as a Member of the Licensing Committee or the Licensing Sub-
Committee may not address that Committee or Sub-Committee unless they have a right to 
speak under relevant statutory regulations. 

(e) A Member who is not sitting as a Member of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee may not 
address that Committee or Sub-Committee when hearing a Code of Conduct determination, 
unless they are representing or acting as a witness for either the Monitoring Officer, 
Investigating Officer, or the Subject Member. 

 
34.5 Executive Leader 
 
(a) Subject to (b) below, the Cabinet Leader, or Deputy Leader in their absence, may attend any 

meeting of a Committee and speak on any item under consideration as of right, unless they 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest or other relevant interest in the matter. 

(b) Paragraph (a) above does not apply to meetings of: 
(i) the Joint Audit & Governance Committee when considering an individual case relating 

to Member conduct; 
(ii) ii) the Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee when meeting in closed session to 

determine an individual case; or 
(iii) iii) the Planning Committee, when considering a planning application; 
(iv) iv) any Committee considering the conduct of an individual Officer under the 

Council’s disciplinary or grievance procedure; 
(v) any Committee dealing with the appointment of a Council Officer. 

 

374



 

115 

34.6 Voting 
 
A Member of the Council, attending a meeting of the Cabinet or a Committee on which they have 
not been appointed to serve, and is not acting as a Substitute Member, is not entitled to vote on 
any item under consideration. 
 
Exercise of Powers and Functions 
 
35.1 No individual Member, Officer or group of Members or Officers, or both, shall be entitled to 
exercise any power or function of the Council save as already or hereafter delegated to them by 
the Council, the Cabinet, a Committee or another Officer exercising a power or fulfilling a function 
on behalf of the Council or as detailed in this Constitution. 
 
35.2 Whilst the Chair of a Committee and Cabinet Members can expect to be consulted on 
matters affecting their areas of responsibility, they shall not have power to act on behalf of, or bind, 
the Council, unless the Council or the Leader has given them specific delegated powers to do so. 
 
No Confidence in the Chair of a Committee 
 
36.1 At any meeting of a Committee, a Member of that Committee may move that ‘the meeting 
has no confidence in the Chair’. If seconded, the motion shall, after debate, be put and, if carried 
by a majority of at least two thirds of the Members present, the Chair shall immediately stand down 
and the remainder of the meeting shall be chaired by the Vice-Chair or, in their absence, or if they 
were acting as the Chair and the subject of the vote, by a Member elected for that purpose by the 
meeting. 
 
36.2 During the consideration of a motion under (a) above, the Chair shall cease to be Chair of 
the Committee and shall be an Ordinary Member of the Committee. The Director for Sustainability 
& Resources, the Monitoring Officer (or their representative) will act as Chair of the Committee 
during consideration of the motion. 
 
36.3 Following a successful vote of no confidence in the Chair, they shall not officiate at any 
subsequent meeting of the Committee prior to the next meeting of the Full Council. At that meeting, 
the Council shall consider whether or not to confirm the vote of no confidence. If by a simple 
majority they decide to confirm the vote, the office of Chair of the relevant Committee shall be 
declared vacant and a new Chair shall be elected by the Council. If the Council does not confirm 
the vote by a simple majority, the Member remains as Chair of the Committee. 
 
Appointment and Term of Office of the Executive Leader 
 
37.1 Election 
 
(a) The Council shall elect a Leader at each Annual meeting where the term of office of the Leader 

has come to an end due to the fact that their term of office as a District Councillor has ended. 
(b) The Councillors present at that Annual meeting shall nominate one or more persons to be 

Leader from among the Elected Members. Any nomination which is not seconded, shall not be 
considered further. 

(c) Where there is only one Elected Member nominated and seconded, then the Chair of the 
Council shall provide an opportunity for a debate before calling for a vote which shall require a 
majority of those present and voting to determine whether the Member shall be elected as 
Leader. 

(d) Where there are two Elected Members nominated and seconded then, following the 
opportunity for debate, the Chair of the Council shall call for a vote and the Member who 
receives the largest number of votes shall be elected as Leader. 

(e) Where there are three or more candidates seeking appointment to a single position, there shall 
be a vote for each candidate and: 

375



 

116 

(i) if one of the candidates receives more than half of all the votes cast in the election, 
that candidate is to be appointed; 

(ii) if no candidate receives more than half of all of the votes cast then the candidate 
with the fewest number of votes will be eliminated and a new vote taken. The 
process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. 

(f) The Motion shall be subject to the rules of debate in Council Procedure Rule 16 and voting 
shall be in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 24. 

 
37.2 Removal 
 
(a) If a Member wishes at a meeting of Full Council to move a motion to remove the Cabinet 

Leader, the Member must give at least 10 clear working days’ notice to the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources. 

(b) The motion must be signed by the mover and seconder. 
(c) The Director for Sustainability & Resources shall place the motion on the agenda for the next 

meeting of the Council, provided that such meeting is not a Special meeting. The motion before 
the Council shall be considered after the receipt of any declarations of interest, approval of 
minutes of the last meeting and questions and statements by the public. 

(d) The motion shall be subject to the rules of debate in Council Procedure Rule 16 and voting 
shall be in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 24. 

 
37.3 Consequence of a Motion to Remove the Executive Leader 
 
Where a motion to remove the Cabinet Leader is carried, then the Leader shall cease to be 
Executive Leader with immediate effect. The Council shall proceed to elect a new Executive 
Leader at that meeting or the next meeting of the Full Council, provided it is not a Special meeting. 
 
37.4 Term of Office 
 
(a) The Cabinet Leader shall hold the office of Leader in accordance with Article 7 of the 

Constitution. 
(b) Should the Cabinet Leader resign from their appointment, an Extraordinary Meeting will be 

called to deal with the appointment of a new Executive Leader in accordance with this 
Procedure Rule. The Deputy Leader will assume the role of Leader until such appointment is 
made. 

 
Leader of the Main Opposition 
 
38.1 Where there is a Political Group or combination of Political Groups forming the 
Administration, the Leader of the Main Opposition shall be the leader of the next largest Political 
Group; 
 
38.2 Where the next largest Political Group does not wish to nominate a Member to be the Leader 
of the Main Opposition, the Council shall not appoint any Member to that office. 
 
38.3 If there is equality in the number of Members in all opposition groups, there will be no 
appointment to the role of Leader of the Main Opposition, e.g. if there are two opposition groups 
with equal membership; 
 
38.4 If there is no opposition group, and there is an equal number of opposition Members, there 
will be no appointment to the role of Leader of the Main Opposition, e.g. if there are two individual 
opposition Members, representing different parties. 
 
38.5 At the Annual Council each year, the Full Council shall note the Leader of the Main 
Opposition, who shall be entitled to receive any Special Responsibility Allowance payable to that 
office. 
 

376



 

117 

Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules 
 
39.1 Amendment 
 
Any motion to add to, amend or revoke any of these Council Procedure Rules will, when proposed 
and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion and be referred to the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee for consideration and recommendation to the following meeting of the 
Council, unless a report has been received, on the proposal, from the Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee. 
 
39.2 Suspension 
 
(a) Save as set out at 40.2(c) below, these Council Procedure Rules cannot be suspended. 
(b) The person presiding may, at their absolute discretion, amend the order of business of any 

meeting. 
(c) Only Council Procedure Rules 11.1 (as to the length of time), 12.7, 12.8, 16.5, 16.7, and 16.19, 

may be suspended by motion on notice or without notice. Suspension of Council Procedure 
Rules shall be determined for each individual item of business, and will only be effective for the 
duration of that meeting. 

 
Urgent Business 
 
40.1 Subject to (b) and (c) below, if, having consulted the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 

Officer, the Chief Executive is of the opinion that urgent action is required, in accordance with 
the Scheme of Officer Delegations, before a decision could be taken by Full Council, the 
Cabinet or a Committee having appropriate authority, they may take the decision in 
accordance with their urgency power as set out in the Officer Scheme of Delegations.  

 
40.2  If the decision is one which would normally be taken by: 

(a) Full Council, the Chief Executive will consult with the Leader and the Leader of the 
Main Opposition; 

(b) The Cabinet, the Chief Executive will consult with the Leader; 
(c) A Committee, the Chief Executive will consult with the Leader, Leader of the Main 

Opposition and Chair of the Committee. 
 
40.3 Every such decision shall be reported to the next available Ordinary meeting of Full Council, 

the Cabinet or the Committee that would have normally taken the decision. 
 
Chair of the Council 
 
41.1 Appointment 
 
(a) The Council shall elect a Chair at each Annual Council meeting. 
(b) The existing Chair shall take the Chair for the item on the agenda, unless they are conflicted, 

when the Vice Chair will take the Chair for the single item of business. If the Chair and Vice 
Chair are both conflicted the Monitoring Officer or their representative will take the Chair for the 
appointment of the Chair. 

(c) The Councillors present at that Annual meeting shall propose one or more persons to be Chair 
from among the Elected Members. Any proposal which is not seconded, shall not be 
considered further. 

(d) Where there is only one Elected Member proposed and seconded, then the Chair shall provide 
an opportunity for a debate before calling for a vote which shall require a majority of those 
present and voting to determine whether the Member shall be elected as Chair. 

(e) Where there are two Elected Members proposed and seconded, then a debate on the 
proposals will follow, then the Chair shall call for a vote and the Member who received the 
largest number of votes shall be elected as Chair. 

377



 

118 

(f) Where there are three or more Elected Members proposed and seconded, following a debate 
on the proposals, the Chair shall call for a vote for each Member proposed and: 

(i) If one of the proposed Members receives more than half of all the votes cast in the 
election, that Member is to be appointed as Chair; 

(ii) If no Member receives more than half of all the votes cast then the Member with the 
least number of votes will be eliminated and a new vote taken. The process will continue 
until there is a majority of votes for one person, who shall be appointed as Chair. 

(g) The voting will be in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 24. 
  

378



 

119 

Budget Procedure Rules 
 
1.0  SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Council has a duty under Chapter III of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to set 

a lawful budget in a timely manner. 
 

1.2 Members have a fiduciary duty to Council Tax payers. 
 
1.3 This means they have a duty to facilitate the setting of a lawful budget; a process that 

requires flexibility and compromise. 
 
1.4 Failure to set a lawful budget in time may lead to a loss of revenue, significant additional 

administrative costs, as well as reputational damage. 
 
1.5 Failure to set a budget may lead to intervention from the Secretary of State under section 

15 Local Government Act 1999. 
 

2.0 THE LEGAL DUTY 
 
2.1 Section 30(6) and 31A(11) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 provides that the 

Council has to set its budget before 11 March in the financial year preceding the one in 
respect of which the budget is set. This means the Council has a duty to set the budget 
before 11 March each year.  

 
2.2 If the budget is set after that date, the Act says the failure to set a budget within the 

deadline does not, in itself, invalidate the budget. However, such delay may have significant 
financial, administrative and legal implications, including potential individual liability of any 
Member who contributed to the failure to set a budget. 

 
2.3 Section 66 of the 1992 Act provides that failure to set a Council tax (or delay in setting a 

Council tax) shall not be challenged except by an application for judicial review. The 
Secretary of State and any other person with an interest or ‘standing’ may apply for judicial 
review. 

 
3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF DELAY 
 
3.1 Delay in setting the Council Tax means a delay in collecting the tax due not only to the 

Council, but also the precepting authorities such as West Sussex County Council, the 
Police, and others such as Parish Council (where appropriate) on whose behalf the Council 
acts as a collection authority. 

 
3.2 The Council has a legal duty to provide a range of statutory services (such as refuse 

collection, homelessness prevention, etc) and is not absolved from its duty because of the 
late setting of the Tax. It also has to pay the monies due to the precepting authorities 
whether or not it collects any Council Tax.  

 
3.3 Even if the Council sets the budget before the deadline but much later than the planned 

Budget Council meeting, there is still likely to be some disruption to the administrative 
arrangements relating to the collection of Council Tax (such as printing, posting, delivery of 
demands) that have cost implication. 

 
4.0 DUTY TO TAKE ADVICE OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
4.1 Sections 25 to 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 impose duties on the Council in 

relation to how it sets and monitors its budget. These provisions require the Council to 
make prudent allowance for the risk and uncertainties in its budget and regularly monitor its 

379



 

120 

finances during the year. The legislation leaves discretion to the Council about the 
allowances to be made and action to be taken. 

 
4.2 Section 25 also requires the Council’s Chief Financial Officer to make a report to Full 

Council when it is considering its budget and Council Tax. The report must deal with the 
robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of the reserves allowed for in the budget 
proposals, so Members will have authoritative advice available to them when they make 
their decisions on the Cabinet’s budget proposals and any alternative proposals. 

 
4.3 The section, and the Council’s Constitution, requires Members to have regard to the report 

in making their decisions. Any decision that ignores this professional advice, including the 
implications of delay, is potentially challengeable.  
 

5.0 THE BUDGET FRAMEWORK 

 
5.1 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget, as set out in Article 4 of the 

Constitution. Once a budget is in place, it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to 
implement it. 

 
6.0 ANNUAL PROCESS FOR SETTING THE BUDGET 
 

The process by which the budget shall be set is as follows: 
 

6.1 The Budget Strategy for the forthcoming year is considered and agreed by the Council in 
July each year.  

 
6.2 In December each year detailed financial proposals to meet theat Budget Strategy for the 

forthcoming year are considered by the Joint Strategic Committee. Any proposals that are 
approved by the Committee are built into the draft budget proposals for the Council by the 
Chief Financial Officer and the draft Budget Strategy is updated accordingly (if required).  

 
6.3 In January of each Budget cycle the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will, by way of 

consultation, consider the draft budget proposals and provide any comment to the Cabinet. 
after having been considered by the Council’s Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee by 
way of consultation.  

 
6.34 The meeting of the Cabinet will recommend a draft budget to the Council and the level of 

Council Tax. The Director for Sustainability & Resources will then refer them, at the earliest 
opportunity, to the Council for decision.  The Cabinet meeting held to determine the 
Cabinet’s budget proposals to Council must be held a minimum of 12 working days prior to 
the Council meeting being held to consider the budget for the Council.These proposals are 
fed, by the Chief Financial Officer, into the draft budget proposals for the Council and the 
draft Budget Strategy is updated accordingly.  

 
6.45 In January each year, the After the Cabinet meeting and before the Council Budget Setting 

Meeting the Joint Strategic Committee will meet to consider the Cabinet proposals and 
recommend the draft budget for the joint services of the Council, which it wishes to provide 
jointly with Worthing Borough Council. The decisions in relation to joint services are then 
used to produce the revenue estimates and draft budget proposals for Adur District Council 
which will be considered by a meeting of the Cabinet in early February.  

 
6.5 The meeting of the Cabinet will recommend a draft budget to the Council, and level of 

Council Tax. The Director for Sustainability & Resources will then refer them, at the 
earliest opportunity, to the Council for decision.  

 
6.6 The Cabinet meeting held to determine the Cabinet’s budget proposals to Council must 

be held a minimum of 12 working days prior to the Council meeting being held to 

Formatted: Strikethrough

380



 

121 

consider the budget for the Council. 
 
7.0 THE BUDGET SETTING COUNCIL MEETING 

 
7.1 The Cabinet’s proposals will be presented to the Council under cover of a report from the 

Chief Financial Officer, together with a budget pack and professional financial advice 
upon the proposal. 

 
7.2 The Council will be asked to agree to suspend Council Procedure Rules for the meeting, 

where they conflict with these Budget Procedure Rules, to allow these Budget Procedure 
Rules to prevail.  

 
7.3 The agenda for the Budget Setting Council Meeting will be limited to the following 

substantive items: 
(a) Public Questions 
(b) Consideration of the Leader’s recommendations for the Budget, Capital 

Programme, Borrowing Policy, Council Tax, and the limits defining key financial 
decisions 

(c) Members’ Questions 
(d) Other items the Chair agrees be taken as urgent 

 
 
7.4 The Budget Setting Council meeting will be held in February each year to set the budget 

for the forthcoming year. At the Budget Setting Council Meeting, the Cabinet submits to 
the Council for its consideration in relation to the following financial year: 

(a) Estimates of the amounts to be aggregated in making a calculation (whether 
originally or by way of substitute) in accordance with any of sections 32 to 37 or 
43 to 49, of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

(b) Estimates of other amounts to be used for the purposes of such a calculation; 

(c) Estimates of such a calculation; or 

(d) Amounts required to be stated in a precept under Chapter IV of Part I of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 
7.5 The Cabinet will propose its recommendations relating to the above matters to the 

Council, which if seconded, will be debated by Full Council, in accordance with the 
provisions below and voted upon.  

 
7.6 The Council may: 

(a) Adopt the Cabinet’s proposals; or 

(b) Amend them in accordance with the provisions set out below; or 

(c) Refer them back to the Cabinet for further consideration.  

 
7.7 Budget proposals can only be submitted to the Council by the Cabinet; others can 

propose amendments to the Cabinet’s proposals. The decision, on any amendment to 
the budget and on the budget, (as amended, if applicable), will be made by way of a 
recorded vote in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 24 and statutory requirements 
of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014. 
The Leader must confirm that they accept the budget as agreed by Council or it has to be 
resubmitted to Council with the Cabinet’s revised proposals, causing an inevitable delay. 

 
7.8 If the Council accepts the recommendation of the Cabinet without amendment, the 

Council may make a decision which has immediate effect. Otherwise, it may only make 
an in-principle decision, and the Leader’s oral confirmation will be sought at the meeting 
that the Leader accepts the budget as agreed by the Council. 

 
7.9 The decision will be published in accordance with Article 4 and a copy shall be given to 

the Leader (see 7.31-7.32, below). 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  1.37 cm,
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0 cm + Indent at:  0.63

Formatted: Font:

381



 

122 

 
7.10 Any Elected Member may put forward amendments to the Cabinet’s budget proposal, to the 

Council. However Members should not put forward proposals that would mean setting an 

unlawful budget and they must take Officer advice to ensure their proposals are in order. To 

this end, any proposed amendments must be evaluated by the Chief Financial Officer, or an 

Officer appointed by them for the purpose, to determine the service, financial and legal 

implications of implementing the amended proposals proposed amendments. The amended 

proposals proposed amendments are required to be submitted to the Chief Financial 

Officer, via the Democratic Services Manager by email to democratic.services@adur-

worthing.gov.uk, by no later than 12 noon 10 clear working days before the Budget Setting 

Council meeting, excluding the date of the meeting itself. 

 

7.11 Any proposed amendment to any matter on the Council meeting Agenda, other than the 

budget, which would have, or would be likely to have, a significant effect on the Cabinet’s 

proposed budget, must also be submitted to the Chief Finance Officer by no later than 12 

noon 10 clear working days before the Budget Setting Council meeting, excluding the date 

of the meeting itself.  

 

7.12 The amended proposals proposed amendments, once received by the Chief Financial 

Officer, will be held confidentially and not shared with other political parties, by the Finance 

Officers involved, with the exception that any amendments received for an Elected Member 

who is part of a Group will be shared with the relevant Group Leader. All amended 

proposals proposed amendments will be considered by Finance Officers by no later than 12 

noon 5 clear working days before the day of the Council meeting, excluding the day of the 

meeting itself. Finance Officers will confirm the legality and impact of all proposed 

amendments. Any that in the Chief Financial Officer’s opinion are unlawful shall be rejected. 

The Chief Financial Officer will then share all amended proposals proposed amendments, 

together with Finance sign off and comments, with the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer 

and Director for Sustainability & Resources, by 5pm 5 clear working days before the day of 

the Council meeting, excluding the day of the meeting itself. 

 

7.13 All proposed amendments will be shared with all Elected Members, by email, by the Chief 

Financial Officer by 12 noon 3 clear working days before the Council meeting, excluding the 

day of the meeting itself.  

 

7.14 Following a period for negotiation, any minor amendments to proposed amendments, will 

be allowed up to 9am 12 noon on the day of before the meeting, provided they do not have 

substantial impact and are agreed with the Chief Financial Officer. By noon 5.30pm on the 

day before of the Council meeting, Democratic Services Officers will circulate copies of all 

proposed amendments to all Members of the Council, by email, in case any have been 

withdrawn. At the Council meeting, the Chair will refuse to accept any proposals for 

amendment that have not been through the above process, and signed off as being lawful 

proposals by the Council’s Finance Officers. 

 

7.15 At the Budget Setting Council meeting, the Cabinet will propose their budget, with the 

Cabinet Leader having an unlimited time for their speech. The proposal will need to be 

seconded and the Member seconding has 5 minutes available for this purpose, or where 

proposed amendments have been circulated, 10 minutes. The seconder may speak at the 

time of seconding or reserve their speech for later on in the debate. 

 

7.16 The Leader of the next largest Group on the Council will have the right to speak first on the 

Cabinet’s proposal and may propose any amendment which has been signed off by the 

Chief Financial Officer, and has 15 minutes maximum for their speech. The proposaled 

amendment will need to be seconded and the Member seconding the amendment has 10 

minutes for this purpose and may make their speech at the time of seconding or reserve it 

382



 

123 

for later in the debate on this amendment.  

 

7.17 The Leader of the next largest Group will have the right to speak next on the earlier 

proposals put before Council, and may have 15 minutes to propose their own amendment, 

provided it has been signed off by the Chief Financial Officer, which shall need to be 

seconded with the seconder having a maximum of 10 minutes for this purpose and the right 

to reserve their speech until later in the debate. 

 

7.18 This process continues until the Leader of each Group, and any ungrouped Members who 

have moved are to propose amendments, have had the opportunity to speak, and the 

budget and all proposed amendments have been proposed and seconded.  

 

7.19 The matter, being both the Cabinet’s proposed and seconded budget and all amendments 

that have been proposed and seconded, is then open to one full debate from all Members 

of the Council. Each Member may speak only once on this item, other than the Cabinet 

Leader, and any Group Leader, or any Member not in a Group who has submitted an 

amendment, who each have a right of reply at the end of the debate. Each speaker, other 

than as set out above, has a maximum of 5 minutes to speak where it is only the Cabinet’s 

proposed budget under consideration, or 10 minutes where amendments have also been 

proposed and seconded.  

 

7.20 The debate is managed by the Chair, who has control of the debate and may use their 

discretion to ensure the effective, efficient, fair and orderly conduct of the business. The 

Chair’s interpretation of these procedure rules and their application will be final. 

 

7.21 At the end of the debate, if any Member seconding a proposal (the substantive proposal or 

a proposed amendment) has reserved their seconder’s speech to later in the debate, their 

speeches, of a maximum of 10 minutes where there are amendments, or otherwise 5 

minutes, will be taken in the reverse order in which the motions were proposed and 

seconded. 

 

7.22 When the debate has concluded, the Cabinet Leader, as the proposer of the substantive 

motion, and any Group Leader or ungrouped Member who has proposed an amendment, 

will have a right of reply. Each speaker will be taken in the reverse order in which the 

motions were proposed and seconded, with the Cabinet Leader having the last right of reply 

on behalf of the Cabinet. Any speaker with a right of reply has up to 10 minutes to respond. 

 

7.23 When the debate has concluded, the Chair will, if they think fit, sum up the debate before 

putting the amendments to the vote. In doing so they may request the Chief Financial 

Officer to draw the attention of the meeting to any relevant factors.  

 

7.24 The Chair will then put the amendments to the vote in the order of the amendments 

proposed by the largest Opposition Group Leader first, followed by the next largest, etc. 

Each amendment will be voted on in turn, with a recorded vote being taken, and 

administered by the Democratic Services Officer, on each amendment.  

 

7.25 Any vote (including procedural and on amendments) relating to budget setting and council 

tax decisions made by Full Council must be undertaken by a named vote.  

 

7.26 Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 bars a Councillor from voting on the 

Council’s budget if they have an outstanding council tax debt of over two months. If a 

Member is present at any meeting at which relevant budgetary matters are discussed, they 

must disclose that s.106 applies and may not vote. Failure to comply is a criminal offence.  

 

7.27 Some proposed amendments may impact on others and there may be inter dependencies 

383



 

124 

between them. For example, if one amendment is lost it may result in others automatically 

being lost, whilst some amendments may have no impact on others and may stand alone 

regardless of the outcome of voting on other amendments. The Chief Financial Officer will 

advise accordingly and the Chair may adjourn the meeting to facilitate the provision of that 

advice.  

 

7.28 Following the conclusion of the voting on the amendments, the Chief Financial Officer will 

confirm how the individual amendments that have been carried affect the Council Tax 

proposal as necessary. 

 

7.29 There may be a need for a short adjournment to allow for the preparation of the Council Tax 

resolutions to reflect the budget proposals as amended/if amended to be printed and 

circulated prior to the substantive vote. 

 

7.30 Once the amendments have each been voted upon and determined, the Chief Financial 

Officer will clarify any amendments that have been agreed and how they affect the budget 

proposal. The Chair will then put the substantive motions, as amended if they have been 

amended, to the Council for a vote. A recorded vote will be taken and recorded by the 

Democratic Services Officer present.  

 

7.31 If the budget proposal is accepted without amendment by Council, the Council may make a 

decision which has immediate effect. If the budget proposal is amended, and is approved 

as amended by Full Council, the Cabinet Leader will be asked by the Chair if they accept 

the budget as agreed by Council.  

 

7.32 (a) If the Cabinet Leader confirms that they do accept the budget proposals as amended 

by Council, the Council decision will have immediate effect.  

(b) If the Cabinet Leader does not accept the budget proposal as amended and agreed by 

the Council, the matter will be referred back to the Cabinet for further consideration and 

revised Cabinet proposals will need to be submitted to Council at a future meeting; this will 

cause an inevitable delay to the lawful setting of the budget and the Council Tax and the 

associated consequences of such a delay will need to be considered.  

 

  

384



 

125 

Cabinet Procedure Rules 
 
Introduction 
 
1.1 These Cabinet Procedure Rules have been adopted by the Council to help achieve the 

following aims:  
(a) to protect the interests of the Council, individual Members and Officers;  
(b) to ensure that decisions are based upon complete and sound information and 

advice from appropriate professional Officers; and  
(c) to ensure that decisions are made in accordance with the Council’s agreed 

governance arrangements.  
 
1.2 A clear audit trail of decision-making must be maintained for future reference. The 

Monitoring Officer will advise Members and Officers to ensure that the decision-making 
process meets the requirements of the law and good governance and on the proper 
implementation of these procedures.  

 
1.3 These Cabinet Procedure Rules do not cover all aspects of decision-making under 

Executive arrangements. Members and Officers will also need to be aware of and guided 
by other relevant sections of the Council’s Constitution, particularly:  
(a) Scheme of Delegation; 
(b) Access to Information Procedure Rules;  
(c) Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules;  
(d) Members’ Code of Conduct; 
(e) Officers’ Code of Conduct; 
(f) Protocol on Member/Officer Relations; 
(g) Code of Corporate Governance; 
(h) Article 12 concerning decision-making.  

 
1.4 If primary or secondary legislation is introduced which supersedes these Cabinet Procedure 

Rules, statutory legislation will prevail. 
 
1.5 These Cabinet Procedure Rules must be read in accordance with the Joint Committee 

Agreement.  
 
How the Cabinet Operates 
 
2.1 Who May Make Executive Decisions 
 
2.1.1 The arrangements for the discharge of Executive functions are to be determined by the 

Cabinet Leader who may arrange for the discharge of any of the Cabinet functions to: 
(a) the Cabinet; 
(b) Member of the Cabinet; 
(c) a Committee of the Cabinet; 
(d) an Officer of the Council; 
(e) an Area Committee; 
(f) another body in accordance with joint working arrangements; 
(g) another Local Authority; 
(h) a Ward Member to the extent that the function is exercisable in relation to their Ward. 

 
2.2 Delegation of Executive Functions 
 
2.2.1 The Monitoring Officer will present to the Council, on an annual basis, a written record of 

delegations made by the Leader, for inclusion in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution. The 
document will contain the following information about Executive functions in relation to the 
forthcoming year: 
(a) the name, address and Ward of each Member appointed to the Cabinet; 

385



 

126 

(b) the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet Members individually, including 
details of the limitation on their authority; 

(c) the terms of reference and composition of such Cabinet Committees as may be 
appointed and the names of Cabinet Members appointed to them; 

(d) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive functions to any other Authority 
or any joint arrangements and the names of those Cabinet Members appointed to any 
Joint Committee for the forthcoming year; and  

(e) the nature and extent of any delegation to Officers or Ward Members, with details of 
any limitation on that delegation and the title of the Officer or name of the Ward 
Member to whom the delegation is made. 

2.3 Sub-Delegation of Executive Functions 
 
2.3.1 The Leader may discharge any Executive function, or may arrange for any Executive 

function to be delegated to the Cabinet, an individual Cabinet Member, a Committee of the 
Cabinet, an Area Committee, a Ward Member or an Officer. 
 

2.3.2 Where the Cabinet is responsible for a Cabinet function, it may delegate further to a 
Committee of the Cabinet, an Officer or another body in accordance with joint working 
arrangements. 

 
2.3.3 Unless the Cabinet directs otherwise, a Committee of the Cabinet or Cabinet Member may 

delegate further to an Officer. 
 
2.3.4 Even where Executive functions have been delegated, that fact does not prevent the 

discharge of delegated functions by the person or body who delegated. 
 
2.4 The Scheme of Delegation of Executive Functions 
 
2.4.1 The Scheme of Delegation of Executive Functions may be adopted by the Council 

containing the details required in Article 7 and thereafter is set out in Part 3 and Part 4 of 
this Constitution. 

 
2.5 Conflicts of Interest 
 
(a) Where the Leader has a conflict of interest in exercising a Cabinet function, this should be 

dealt with in accordance with the principles of the Council’s Member Code of Conduct in Part 
5 of this Constitution. If a dispensation is not granted, the matter should be referred to a 
meeting of the Cabinet as a whole, or where appropriate, another body in accordance with 
joint working arrangements. 

(b) If every Member of the Cabinet has a conflict of interest in exercising a Cabinet function, this 
should be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s Member Code of Conduct in Part 5 of 
this Constitution. If a dispensation is not granted, the matter should be referred in accordance 
with paragraph 2.1 (d) (e) and (f) above. 

(c) If the exercise of a Cabinet function has been delegated to a Committee of the Cabinet, an 
individual Cabinet Member, a Ward Member or an Officer, and should a conflict of interest 
arise, then the function will be exercised in the first instance by the person or body by whom 
the delegation was made to the person with the conflict, and otherwise as set out in the 
Council’s Member Code of Conduct in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 
Forward Plan of Executive Key Decisions and/or Executive Exempt Decisions 
 
3.1 Subject to the Access to Information Procedure Rules, where a Cabinet decision is either 

‘key’ (as defined in Article 12) or ‘exempt’ as (defined in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules), the decision shall not be taken unless details have been included in the 
Council’s Forward Plan.  

 

386



 

127 

3.2 Paragraph 3.1 above applies regardless of which individual or body is the decision-maker 
and is therefore applicable to decision to be made by the Cabinet, collectively or 
individually, and to Officers. 

 
Cabinet meetings 
 
4.1 Exempt and/or Key Decisions 
 
4.1.1 Subject to the Access to Information Procedure Rules, the Cabinet may not make an 

exempt or Key Decision unless details have been included in the Forward Plan. 
 
4.2 Frequency and Location of Cabinet meetings 
 
4.2.1 The Cabinet will meet at least 8 times per year at times as determined by the Leader and at 

such other times as they shall determine. Some of these meetings will be held as the 
Cabinet sitting as another body in accordance with joint working arrangements. At least one 
of its meetings each year will be held to deal with the Cabinet’s recommendation to Council 
on its budget. The Cabinet shall meet at the Shoreham Centre, Pond Road, Shoreham-by-
Sea or another location in accordance with Council Procedure Rules, or at another location 
in accordance with joint working arrangements. 

 
4.3 Public Access to meetings of the Cabinet 
 
4.3.1 Subject to (a) and (b) below, meetings of the Cabinet will be held in accordance with the 

Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
(a) Exempt Information – where the Cabinet decides, by passing a resolution of its 

Members, to exclude the press and public, to prevent exempt information to be 
disclosed. It is open to the Cabinet to choose to consider in public matters involving 
exempt information; there is no statutory requirement compelling the body to discuss 
exempt information in a private meeting. 

(b) Confidential Information – where the presence of the public is likely to result in the 
Cabinet breaching a legal obligation to third parties about the keeping of confidential 
information, the meeting should be held in private. Confidential information means: 

(i) Information provided to the Council or Cabinet by a Government department 
on terms which forbid the disclosure of the information to the public; and 

(ii) Information which is prohibited from being disclosed by any enactment or by 
a Court Order. 

 
4.4 Quorum 
 
4.4.1 The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet shall be 3 Members of the Cabinet or, at a 

meeting held under joint arrangements, as provided for under joint working arrangements. 
 
4.5 Decision-making by the Cabinet 
 
(a) Executive decisions which have been delegated to the Cabinet as a whole will be taken at a 

meeting convened in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 
of the Constitution. 

(b) Where Executive decisions are delegated to a Committee of the Cabinet, these Rules will still 
apply. 

(c) Details of Executive decision-making under joint arrangements are contained in the Joint 
Committee Agreement. 

(d) All decisions made at Cabinet meetings are to be made following an Officer report and 
recorded in either the Minutes of the meeting or a Decision Notice, both of which must be 
made publicly available, by the end of the third working day following the day of the meeting. 

(e) All decisions made at Cabinet meetings must be made in accordance with Article 12 of the 
Council’s Constitution. 

387



 

128 

 
4.6 The Person Presiding 
 
4.6.1 The Leader, or in their absence the Deputy Leader, will preside. In the absence of both the 

Leader and Deputy Leader, another Member of the Cabinet will be appointed to preside.  
 
4.6.2 The person presiding at a meeting held under joint arrangements is determined in 

accordance with the Joint Committee Agreement. 
 
4.7 Business of the Cabinet  
 
4.7.1 At each meeting of the Cabinet, the following business will be conducted: 

(a) disclosure of any disclosable pecuniary and personal interests; 
(b) consideration of the minutes or decision notice of the previous meeting of the Cabinet; 
(c) questions by the public in accordance with Council Procedure Rules; 
(d) matters referred to the Cabinet by Overview and Scrutiny or by the Council (or under 

Joint Committee arrangements) for reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with 
the provisions contained in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Budget 
and Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution, or such 
joint procedure rules; 

(e) consideration of reports and recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny or 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee;  

(f) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting; 
(g) urgent items, which are defined as those items which by reason of special 

circumstance are urgent as they have arisen since the publication of the agenda and 
need to be determined before the next meeting of the Cabinet, which may or may not 
be a meeting held in accordance with joint working arrangements, and are items of 
pressing importance requiring swift action given the gravity of the situation, which 
were unforeseeable (in an objective sense) and are not attributable to a failing on the 
part of the Council. 

 
4.8 Written reports for meetings of the Cabinet 
 
4.8.1 A written report on the proposed decision shall be prepared by the relevant Officer and shall 

be approved by the relevant Director, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer. 
 
4.8.2 The Officer’s report shall set out the following: 

(a) The Cabinet portfolio within which the issues falls, if appropriate;  
(b) The Ward(s) and any Parish(es) affected by the proposed decision;  
(c) The title of the Director with overall responsibility for the subject matter of the report; 
(d) The name and title of the Officer writing the report;  
(e) The date of the meeting at which the decision may be taken; 
(f) The subject/title of the report;  
(g) Whether a Key Decision is to be taken;  
(h) Whether the report contains confidential or exempt information;  
(i) A description of the issue to be decided;  
(j) The views of the relevant Local Ward Member(s) and/or the Parish Council(s) (if 

appropriate);  
(k) Any consultations undertaken, the method of consultation and a summary of any 

representations received. See also paragraph 4.8.3 below; 
(l) The Officer’s recommendations and the reasons for them;  
(m) Details of any alternative options considered;  
(n) A list of background papers.  

 
4.8.3 All reports to the Cabinet on proposals relating to the Budget and Policy Framework must 

contain details of the nature and extent of consultation and the outcome of that 
consultation. reports about other matters will set out the details and outcome of consultation 

388



 

129 

as appropriate. The level of consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the 
matter under consideration and any statutory or other requirements. 

 
4.8.4 Subject to the provisions on confidential and exempt information and special urgency as set 

out in the Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules, the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources shall, at least 5 clear working days prior to the date that the proposed decision is 
scheduled to be taken: 
(a) forward a copy of the report by e-mail to the Cabinet Members and all Members of 

the Council; and  
(b) make the report publicly available on the Councils’ website. 

 

4.9 Decisions of Cabinet meetings 
 
4.9.1 Subject to the provisions of the Access to Information Procedure Rules, after a decision has 

been taken by the Cabinet, either draft minutes of the meeting or a Record of Decision will 
be prepared by the Director for Sustainability & Resources and published on the Councils’ 
website, which shall include:  
(a) whether or not it was a Key Decision; 
(b) the title of the item;  
(c) the title of the decision-making body;  
(d) the date on which the decision was made;  
(e) the date on which the decision may be implemented;  
(f) any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interest and details of any 

dispensation granted if appropriate; 
(g) details of consultation undertaken prior to making the decision;  
(h) the decision;  
(i) the reasons for the decision;  
(j) the alternative options considered, if any; and  
(k) a list of the documents taken into account by the decision-making body, including the 

report of the relevant Officer.  
 
4.9.2 By 5pm on the third working day, following the day of the meeting of the Cabinet, the 

Director for Sustainability & Resources shall publish the draft minutes or Record of Decision 
by email to all Members of the Council and, at the same time, make the record available for 
public inspection by publishing on the Councils’ website. This will enable Members to 
consider whether they wish to ‘Call-In’ the decision in accordance with Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules.  

 
4.9.3 The Director for Sustainability & Resources will maintain records of all decisions made, 

together with associated reports, in accordance with the Council’s Access to Information 
Procedure Rules. 

 
4.9.4 The report author will ensure that all background papers listed in the report are made 

publicly available, by at least 5 working days prior to the date of the meeting at which the 
decision may be taken. 

 
Individual Cabinet Member Decisions 
 
5.1 Exempt and/or Key Decisions 
 

Subject to the Access to Information Procedure Rules, the Individual Cabinet Member may 
not make an exempt or Key Decision unless details have been included in the Forward 
Plan. 

  

389



 

130 

5.2 Decision-making by an Individual Cabinet Member 
 
(a) Details of Executive decision-making by Individual Cabinet Members under joint 

arrangements are contained in the Joint Committee Agreement. 
(b) All decisions made by Individual Cabinet Members are to be made following an Officer report 

and recorded on a Decision Notice, which must be made publicly available, by the end of the 
second working day following receipt of the Decision Notice.  

(c) All decisions made by Individual Cabinet Members must be made in accordance with Article 
12 of the Council’s Constitution. 

5.3 Written reports for Individual Cabinet Member Decisions 
 
5.3.1 A written report on the proposed decision shall be prepared by the relevant Officer and shall 

be approved by the relevant Director, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer. 
 
5.3.2 The Officer’s report shall set out the following: 

(a) The Cabinet portfolio within which the issue falls, if appropriate;  
(b) The Ward(s) and any Parish(es) affected by the proposed decision;  
(c) The title of the Director with overall responsibility for the subject matter of the report; 
(d) The name and title of the Officer writing the report;  
(e) The date the proposed decision may be taken and the date by which it must be taken; 
(f) The subject/title of the report;  
(g) Whether a Key Decision is to be taken;  
(h) Whether the report contains confidential or exempt information;  
(i) A description of the issue to be decided;  
(j) The views of the relevant Local Ward Member(s) and relevant Parish Council(s) (if 

appropriate);  
(k) Any consultations undertaken, the method of consultation and a summary of any 

representations received. See also paragraph 5.3.3 below; 
(l) The Officer’s recommendations and the reasons for them;  
(m) Details of any alternative options considered;  
(n) A list of background papers.  

 
5.3.3 All reports to the Individual Cabinet Members on proposals relating to the Budget and 

Policy Framework must contain details of the nature and extent of consultation and the 
outcome of that consultation. Reports about other matters will set out the details and 
outcome of consultation as appropriate. The level of consultation required will be 
appropriate to the nature of the matter under consideration and any statutory or other 
requirements. 

 
5.3.4 Subject to the provisions on confidential and exempt information and special urgency as set 

out in the Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules, the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources shall, at least 5 clear working days prior to the earliest date that the proposed 
decision may be made:  
(a) forward a copy of the report by e-mail to the Individual Cabinet Member and all 

Members of the Council; and  
(b) make the report publicly available on the Councils’ website. 

 
5.4 Timescales 
 
5.4.1 Subject to the Access to Information Rules, the decision cannot be made until the expiry of 

the time specified in the Forward Plan for a Key Decision. Further, the decision cannot be 
taken by the individual Cabinet Member before the expiry of 5 clear working days after 
publication of the report. The decision should be made at the latest by 14 days thereafter.  

 

390



 

131 

5.4.2 The Cabinet Member shall provide a written record of their decision, including reasons, to 
the Director for Sustainability & Resources within one working day of the decision being 
made. 

 
5.5 Interests 
 
5.5.1 Prior to taking the decision, the Cabinet Member will be required to consider whether they 

have any disclosable pecuniary or personal interest in the matter, or any other interests as 
may be described in the Members’ Code of Conduct from time to time. If a personal 
interest, the Cabinet Member shall disclose it by recording the interest at the beginning of 
their record of decision. If a disclosable pecuniary interest, the Cabinet Member shall take 
no part in the consideration of the matter, save as permitted by law, and shall refer the 
matter to the Leader without comment, save as to record the nature of their disclosable 
pecuniary interest. Other interests shall have effect as outlined in the Members’ Code of 
Conduct from time to time. See paragraph 2.5(c) above. 

 
5.6 The Leader making a decision referred by an Individual Cabinet Member 
 
5.6.1 The Leader can either make the decision on a report referred to them by an Individual 

Cabinet Member in accordance with Rule 5.5 above, or may refer the report to the next full 
meeting of the Cabinet for discussion and decision. The Leader will record a decision to 
defer an item to a meeting of the Cabinet on the Decision Notice and it will be actioned by 
the Director for Sustainability & Resources. 

 
5.6.2 If the Leader is exercising their ability to make the decision in these circumstances, the 

timescales in paragraph 5.4 above still apply: the decision may not be made until the expiry 
of 5 clear working days after the original publication of the report and should be made prior 
to the expiry of 14 days thereafter. 

 
5.7 Delegations 

 
5.7.1 At any time, and for any reason, the Leader may temporarily, or permanently, withdraw the 

delegation of a Cabinet function to an Individual Cabinet Member and exercise the 
delegation in person. 

 
5.7.2 Where the Leader temporarily removes a delegation to an Individual Cabinet Member for a 

particular decision, this must be recorded on the Decision Notice. Where the Leader 
removes a delegation to an Individual Cabinet Member on a permanent basis, the 
Monitoring Officer must be notified in writing. 

 
5.8 Decisions of Individual Cabinet Members 
 
5.8.1 Subject to the provisions of the Access to Information Procedure Rules, after a decision has 

been taken by a Cabinet Member and the Record of Decision provided to the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources, they will publish, by placing on the Councils’ website, the 
Record of Decision which shall include:  
(a) whether it was a Key Decision; 
(b) the title of the item;  
(c) the name of the decision-maker;  
(d) the date on which the decision was made;  
(e) the date on which the decision will be implemented;  
(f) any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interest and details of any 

dispensation granted if appropriate; 
(g) a list of any groups or individuals consulted prior to making the decision;  
(h) the decision;  
(i) the reasons for the decision;  
(j) the alternative options considered, if any; and  

391



 

132 

(k) a list of the documents taken into account by the decision-maker, including the 
report of the relevant Officer.  

 
5.8.2 By 5pm on the second working day following the day upon which the Record of Decision 

was received, the Director for Sustainability & Resources shall forward the Record of 
Decision by e-mail to all Members of the Council indicating when it will become effective 
and, at the same time, will also make the record available for public inspection by 
publishing on the Councils’ website. This will enable Members to consider whether they 
wish to ‘Call-In’ the decision in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules.  

 
5.8.3 The Director for Sustainability & Resources will maintain records of all decisions made, 

together with associated reports and background papers, in accordance with the Council’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 
5.8.4 The report author will ensure that all background papers listed in a report are made publicly 

available, by at least 5 working days prior to the earliest date upon which the decision may 
be taken. 

 
Executive Decisions taken by Officers 
 
6.1 Decision-making by an Officer 
 
6.1.1 Decision making by Officers should be undertaken in accordance with the Protocol on 

Officer Decision Making in part 5 of the Constitution. 
 
 

392



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Key Decision 
(See Article 12) 

Exempt Information 
Decision (see Para 4.3(a) 

above) 

Confidential Information 
Decision (see Para 4.3(b) 

above) 

Decision which is neither Key, 
Exempt nor Confidential 

Forward Plan/28 Day Notice Publish Report 

Earliest Date Decision  
May be made i.e. After 28 days on 
the Forward Plan and after 5 days 

after publication, which periods may 
run concurrently 

Decision made by the Cabinet as a 
whole at a meeting of the Cabinet 

Draft minutes/Decision Notice to 
be published 

EXECUTIVE DECISION MAKING PROCESS FOR EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 

 

After 28 clear 
calendar days 

Decision should be made by the 
Individual Cabinet Member 

Decision Notice to be published 

Decision may be implemented 
 

After 5 clear 
working days 

Within 14 
calendar days 

Within 2 clear working days 
 

After 5 clear 
working days 

After 5 clear 
working days 

 

393



 

134 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key Decision 
(see Article 12) 

Decision which is not Key 
 

Forward Plan/28 Day Notice 
 

Complete Officer Report 
 

Earliest date decision may be made 
i.e. After 28 days on the Forward 

Plan 
 

Decision Notice and report to be 
published (provided does not contain 
exempt nor confidential information) 

Decision may be implemented 
 

 

 

EXECUTIVE DECISION MAKING FOR OFFICERS 
 

After 28 clear 
calendar days 
 

394



 

135 

  

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
 
Arrangements for the Adur Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
1.1 The Council will have an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as set out in Article 6, and will 

appoint Members to it on an annual basis. 
 
1.2 The Committee may appoint such Sub-Committees or Working Groups as it sees fit. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
2.1 The general terms of reference of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are as set out in 

Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution. The Adur District Council Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall exercise the scrutiny functions of the Council in relation to all matters 
reserved to Adur District Council, as opposed to those included within the remit of the Joint 
Committee Agreement which are scrutinised by the Adur and Worthing Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  

 
Membership  
 
3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will comprise 8 Elected Members from Adur District 

Council and shall not include Members of the Cabinet. However, no Member may be 
involved in scrutinising a decision in which they have been directly involved, for example as 
a decision-maker or in which they have pecuniary or personal interest, or any other actual 
or perceived conflict of interest, e.g. a close relationship with a decision-maker.. 

 
3.2 The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be appointed by the Council. In 

addition to consideration of experience, expertise, interests and the ability to act impartially, 
the Chair should have the ability to work as part of a group, to lead and build a sense of 
teamwork and consensus among committee members. 

 
Co-Opted Members 
 
4.1 Co-opted Elected Members 
 
 Subject to 10.2 below, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to co-opt non-

voting Elected Members to the membership of the Committee, to assist on a particular 
matter. A Co-opted Member may not sit as a Co-opted Member on both a Cabinet and a 
Scrutiny Committee when considering the same matter. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may appoint no more than two non-voting Co-opted Elected Members to any 
particular meeting.  

 
4.2 Co-opted Unelected Members 
 

Subject to 10.2 below, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to co-opt non-
voting unelected persons to the membership of the Committee, to assist on a particular 
matter. A Co-opted Member may not sit as a Co-opted Member on both a Cabinet and a 
Scrutiny Committee when considering the same matter. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may appoint no more than two non-voting Co-opted Elected Members to any 
particular meeting. A Working Group is not limited to these numbers. 

 
Meetings  
 
5.1 The Committee will meet to consider Call-Ins relating to decisions of the Adur Cabinet in 

relation to a matter reserved to the Cabinet of Adur District Council. 
 

395



 

136 

5.2  In addition, Extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time as and when 
appropriate. An Extraordinary meeting of the Adur Overview and Scrutiny Committee may 
be called by the Chair, requesting in writing that the Director for Sustainability & Resources 
call an Extraordinary meeting; or by any four Committee Members, signing a requisition, 
and presenting it to the Chair, who if they have failed to call a meeting within 7 calendar 
days, may provide notice in writing to the Director for Sustainability & Resources, who shall 
then call such an Extraordinary meeting. 

 
Working Groups 

 
6.1 Working Groups may be established by the Committee as: 

(a) A standing Working Group for a particular topic - for example budget monitoring or 
holding the Cabinet to account. 

(b) As a task and finish Working Group based on an agreed scoping report, likely to 
involve external attendees, site visits or gathering evidence over time.  

(c) A time-limited Working Group based on an agreed scoping report, likely to be a 
review of an internal Council service.  

 
6.2 Membership 
 

Working Groups shall consist of at least four Members of the Adur Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee selected when establishing the Terms of Reference under paragraph 6.1 above.  
The overriding criteria shall be the following: 

(a) The subject under discussion; 
(b) The skill set of the Members selected; 
(c) The location in the District of the matter under review;  
(d) As resolved by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
(e) Availability and time commitment as outlined in the scoping report. 

 
6.3 Officer Attendance at Working Groups 
 

Working Groups may invite Officers of the Council to attend meetings of the Working Group 
as consultees or specialist advisors. 

 
6.4 Quorum 
 

There is quorum of two for a Working Group meeting or site visit. 
 
6.5 Chairing 
 

Each Working Group will select its own Chair. 
 
6.6 Substitutes 
 

Substitutes are not allowed, although the Working Group may invite other Members from 
the Adur Overview and Scrutiny Committee to assist it for a particular meeting. Any change 
to the permanent membership of a Working Group should be approved by the Adur 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
Quorum 
 
7.1 The quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be determined in accordance 

with Council Procedure Rule 9. 
  

396



 

137 

Work Programme 
 
8.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for determining its own annual 

work programme and in doing so they shall take into account the wishes of all Members on 
that Committee, regardless of Political Group. It will be reported to Council for noting at the 
April meeting every year, for the following municipal year. 

 
8.2 When determining whether to include an item on the Overview and Scrutiny draft Work 

Programme, Members should be guided by: 
(a) The Council’s Strategic objectives;  
(b) the ability of the Committee to have influence and/or add value on the subject; 
(c) the PAPER criteria: Public Interest (P), Ability to Change (A), Performance (P), 

Extent (E) and Replication (R). 
 
8.3 During the municipal year, items may be added to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Work Programme, where appropriate. Requests for additional matters to be included in the 
Work Programme will initially be considered by the Chair in accordance with the criteria set 
out in paragraph 9.2 above, who will make their recommendations to the next Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for consideration and determination, following receipt of an Officer 
report. Consideration should also be given to capacity of the Committee and resources 
available. Any changes to the Work Programme should be reported to Council mid-
municipal year for noting.  

 
8.4 The Director for Sustainability & Resources will consult with the Chair of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee throughout the year to monitor the Work Programme, and will report to 
the Committee on a regular basis.  

 
8.5 After consideration of an Officer report, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be 

responsible for setting the scope of the work of any Working Group established to assist the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in carrying out its functions and responsibilities. The 
scope of the work should include timeframes, objectives, membership, resources and final 
reporting. 

 
Agenda Items 
 
9.1 Agendas will be published in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in 

Part 4 of the Constitution by the Director for Sustainability & Resources, in consultation with 
the Chair of the Committee. 

 
9.2 A Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to request that an item 

be added to the Work Programme in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 9.3 
below. Should the Chair fail to include the item on the agenda, at the next available meeting 
(in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules), the Member may give 
written notice to the Director for Sustainability & Resources that they wish an item relevant 
to the functions of the Committee to be considered by the Committee. On receipt of such a 
request, the Director for Sustainability & Resources will include the item in an agenda to be 
discussed at a meeting of the Committee (unless the matter is an Excluded Matter as 
defined in Regulation 3 of the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded 
Matters) (England) Order 2012). An excluded matter is a local crime and disorder matter 
within the meaning of the Police and Justice Act 2006 or any matter relating to a planning 
or licensing decision, or where a person has a right of recourse to a review or appeal, or 
where, in the opinion of the Director for Sustainability & Resources, the matter is vexatious, 
discriminatory or not reasonable. 

 
9.3 Any Member of the Council who is not a Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

may, on a maximum of four occasions in any municipal year, give written notice to the 
Director for Sustainability & Resources that they wish an item to be included on the agenda 

397



 

138 

for the Committee. If the Director for Sustainability & Resources receives such a 
notification, then they will consult with the Chair of the Committee who will follow the 
procedure set out in paragraph 9.2 above. Should the Chair fail to put the item on the 
agenda for the next available meeting (in accordance with Access to Information Procedure 
Rules) then the Member may ask the Director for Sustainability & Resources to put it on the 
agenda and they shall do so. The Committee will then consider the agenda item and 
determine whether or not it will be included on the Work Programme of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. If the Committee decides not to include the item in the Work 
Programme, the Member will be notified of the reasons. This procedure rule is to be taken 
in conjunction with the Council’s Protocol on Councillor Call for Action in Part 5 of this 
Constitution. 

 
9.4 The Council, the Cabinet or any Committee may request that the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee undertake scrutiny or policy development work on their behalf. The Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee shall respond, as soon as its Work Programme permits, to such 
requests. Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee does so, it shall report its findings 
and any recommendations back to the commissioning body. The commissioning body shall 
consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its next available (in 
accordance with Access to Information Procedure Rules) meeting. 

 
9.5 A member of the public may request that an item be added to the agenda of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee. Any such request shall be considered by the Chair and, unless 
inappropriate to do so, shall be dealt with in accordance with paragraph 9.3 above.  

 
Policy Review and Development 
 
10.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may make proposals to the Council, its Committees 

or the Cabinet for policy development, in so far as they relate to matters within that body’s 
terms of reference. 
 

10.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may hold inquiries and investigate the available 
options for future direction in policy development and may appoint advisors and assessors 
to assist them in this process. Such advisors may or may not be appointed as Co-opted 
Members, subject to the provisions of paragraph 4.0 above. The Committee may go on site 
visits, conduct public meetings, commission research and do all things that it reasonably 
considers necessary to inform their deliberations. It may ask witnesses to attend (see 
below) to address it on any matter under consideration and may, subject to available 
resources, pay to any advisors, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee to cover their 
expenses for doing so. 

 
Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
11.1 Once it has formed recommendations, the Director for Sustainability & Resources will 

prepare a formal report incorporating the views of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and submit it to the relevant body.  
 

11.2 The Council, the Cabinet or the Committee shall consider any report of the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources submitting the views of Overview and Scrutiny Committee at 
their next Ordinary meeting (subject to Access to Information Rules), after it has been 
submitted to the Proper Officer for placing on the Agenda. 
 

11.3 Alternatively, the minute from a meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee may be 
referred to the Council, its Cabinet or a Committee. In cases where the minutes of the 
previous meeting have not been agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee a draft 
minute shall be prepared by the Director for Sustainability & Resources in consultation with 
the Chair prior to the meeting of the Council, Committee or Cabinet. 

 

398



 

139 

Minority Reports 
 
12.1 Where the Adur Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on a single, final report to 

the Council, its Cabinet or a Committee, then one minority report may be submitted with the 
majority report. In order for a minority report to be produced, no fewer than three voting 
members of the Committee must support such a proposal. 

 
12.2 In order that a minority opinion can be expressed where the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee does not achieve a consensus on an issue, these rules make provision for 
minority reports to be produced by Members of such a committee. This means that 
although a majority report is issued representing the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
majority view, any Member of the Committee may propose an alternative view which may 
then be published in a minority report. In order for a minority report to be produced, no 
fewer than three voting Members of the Committee must support such a proposal. 

 
Procedure for dealing with Minority Reports  
 
12.3 At the conclusion of an inquiry and at the point of agreeing a final report detailing the Adur 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s conclusions and recommendations, Members may be 
unable to reach a general consensus. Members in the minority may wish to express a view 
different from that of the majority. In these circumstances, Members with a minority view 
may choose to submit a minority report.  

 
12.4 The intention to submit a minority report must be declared within the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee meeting at the time the majority report is agreed. Such an intention must be 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting and referred to in the final report as part of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s resolutions. Where the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has agreed its final report and there has been no declared intention to produce 
a minority report, a minority report cannot then be subsequently submitted.  

 
12.5 Where the intention to produce a minority report has been recorded in the minutes, 

Democratic Services will contact the appropriate Members to confirm submission dates. 
The minority report should be delivered to the Democratic Services within 5 working days 
after the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.  

 
12.6 In order that a minority report is given the opportunity to be noted in context by the Council, 

Cabinet or Committee, where it has been produced within the agreed timescale it will be 
attached as an appendix to the majority report.  

 
12.7 The Director of Communities for Sustainability & Resources will determine if a minority 

report should be exempt from publication, in which case the usual procedures for the 
publication of exempt reports apply.  

 
12.8 The drafting and submission of the minority report remains the responsibility of the 

Members who have proposed it (with the support of the Scrutiny Officer). The report will 
include details of the Members who have submitted the minority report, as well as its issues 
and any alternative recommendations. 

 
12.9 It is normally expected that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have taken into 

account all the relevant information available and as such a minority report will be based on 
the same evidence as a majority report. 

 
Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members to Documents 
 
13.1 In addition to their rights as Councillors, Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

have the additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in the Access 
to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

399



 

140 

 
Members and Officers Giving Account 
 
14.1 As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any 

Member, Head of Paid Service, Chief or Deputy Chief Officer to attend before it to explain 
in relation to matters within their remit in connection to a Call-In of a decision and it is the 
duty of those persons to attend if so required. Questions for those being requested to 
attend should be pre-submitted no later than two working days in advance of the meeting.  

 
14.2 When requesting Officers and Members of the Council to attend, sufficient notice of the 

meeting should be provided to them as referred below.  
 
14.3 Where any Member or Officer is required to attend the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

under this provision, the Chair of the Committee will inform the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources, who shall inform the Member or Officer in writing, giving at least 5 working 
days’ notice of the meeting at which they are required to attend. The notice will state the 
nature of the Call-In on which they are required to attend to give account and whether any 
papers are required to be produced for the Committee. Where the account to be given to 
the Committee will require the production of a report, then the Member or Officer concerned 
will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that documentation. 

 
14.4 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or Officer is unable to attend on the 

required date, then the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall, in consultation with the 
Member or Officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance. 

 
Attendance by Others 
 
15.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people (other than those referred to in 

paragraph 14 above) to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions 
in connection with the Call-In relevant to the meeting. It may, for example, wish to hear from 
residents, stakeholders, Members and Officers in other parts of the public sector and may 
invite such people to attend.  

 
Party Whip 
 
16.1 Applying the party whip is defined as any instruction given by or on behalf of a Political 

Group to any councillor who is a member of that group as to how that councillor shall speak 
or vote on any matter before the council, or any committee or sub-committee, or the 
application or threat to apply any sanction by the group in respect of that councillor should 
they speak or vote in any particular manner.  

 
16.2 When considering any matter in respect of which a member of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee is subject to a party whip, the member must declare the existence of the whip 
and the nature of it before the commencement of the committee's deliberations on the 
matter. The declaration, and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting.  

 
16.3 Scrutiny is seen as impartial and stays separate from party politics. Scrutiny councillors 

should use their political skills and understanding of the needs of local people to shape the 
discussions, whilst not acting in a party political manner or using the discussions to further 
party political objectives. 

 
Call-In of a Decision 
 
17.1 An Executive decision (if not yet implemented) is subject to Call-In when it is made by: 

(a) Adur’s Cabinet as a whole body; 
(b) an Individual Cabinet Member; or  

400



 

141 

(c) an Officer or Ward Member with delegated authority from the Cabinet;  
and the decision has been published on the Council’s website and made available at the 
main offices of the Council, as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 
4 of this Constitution. 
 

17.2 The Record of Decision will bear the date on which it is published and, subject to general 
exceptions, will specify the date on which the decision will come into force, and may then 
be implemented unless the decision is called in. 

 
17.3 During the period between the decision being made and coming into force: 

(a) The Monitoring Officer shall Call-In a decision for scrutiny if any three Members of Adur 
District Council submit to the Monitoring Officer in writing, by email to 
monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk, a request for a matter to be called-in. Such a 
request is to be made by 5.00pm on the fifth clear working day, from the day on which 
the Record of Decision is published. The request must include the detailed reasons for 
the Call-In. 

(b) Upon receipt of the request, the Monitoring Officer shall consult with the Chair, or Vice-
Chair in their absence, and shall determine whether or not the Call-In is in accordance 
with the requirement of these rules. The Monitoring Officer shall notify the Members 
who made the request, the Director for Sustainability & Resources, and the decision-
maker, or Chair of the decision-making body, of the determination, within 2 clear 
working days of the request being received.  

(c) If the Call-In is accepted, the decision will be put on hold pending referral to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

(d) The Director for Sustainability & Resources shall, within 10 clear working days of the 
Call-In being accepted, after consultation with the Chair, call a meeting of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. Such meeting is to be held on such date as the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources shall determine, but to be held as soon as is reasonably 
practicable. 

 
17.4 The Monitoring Officer will provide a report for the meeting in respect of the Call-In which 

will include the procedure for the Call-In hearing. 
 
Exemption from Call-in Procedure 
 
17.5 A matter may not be called-in if it has already been considered by the Scrutiny Committee 

or if the decision is urgent and any delay would prejudice the interest of the council or the 
public in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer. A decision will relate to a matter which is 
urgent if any delay caused by the Call-In process would: 
(a) be highly likely to result in the Council incurring significant additional expenditure or 

loss of significant additional income; or 
(b) be highly likely to result in significant damage to the Council’s reputation; or 
(c) prevent the Council from meeting its legal obligations. 
 

17.6 The agreement of the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee must be obtained in 
writing in advance of making the decision, by way of completion of a Notice by the Director 
for Sustainability & Resources, that it is reasonable in all the circumstances to treat the 
decision to be made as one which is urgent and therefore not subject to Call-In. In the 
absence of the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Vice-Chair’s consent 
shall be required. In the absence of the Chair and Vice Chair, the consent of the Chair of 
the Council or, in their absence the Vice Chair, shall be required. 

 
17.7 The Record of Decision and Notice that the decision is exempt from Call-In, shall state that 

in the opinion of the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee the decision is one 
which is urgent, with reasons, and therefore not subject to Call-In. 

 

401

mailto:monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk


 

142 

17.8 Decisions taken in accordance with this Procedure Rule must be reported to the next 
available meeting of Full Council. 
 

Call-In Procedure 
 

17.9 Having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may refer the 
decision back to the decision-making person or body for reconsideration, setting out in 
writing the nature of its concerns, or where the Committee is unable to reach a 
determination, it may raise a motion to refer the matter to Full Council. The decision-making 
person or body must reconsider the decision within a further 5 clear working days and may 
or may not amend the decision before making a final decision and implementing it. 

 
17.10 Once the reconsidered decision is published following the Call-In procedure, the decision 

cannot be called in again and may be implemented immediately.  
 
17.11 If the matter was referred to Full Council and the Council does not object to a decision that 

has been made, then no further action is necessary, and the decision will be effective in 
accordance with the provision below. However, if Full Council does object, it will refer the 
decision back to the decision-maker, together with its views on the decision. The decision-
maker shall then reconsider the matter as soon as possible, amending the decision or not, 
before making a final decision and implementing it. If Full Council does not meet, or if it 
does but does not refer the decision back to the decision-maker, the decision will become 
effective on the date of the council meeting or expiry of the period in which the council 
meeting should have been held, whichever is the earlier. Once a decision-maker has 
reconsidered the matter following Call-In, no further Call-In of that matter will be allowed. 

  

402



 

143 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
 
Arrangements for the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
1.1 The Councils will have a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as set out in Article 6, 

and will appoint Members to it on an annual basis. 
 
1.2 The Committee may appoint such Sub-Committees or Working Groups as it sees fit.  
 
Terms of Reference 
 
2.1 The general terms of reference of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee are as set 

out in the Joint Committee Agreement, which says that the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall exercise the Scrutiny function of both Councils in relation to all matters 
except those to be determined by the individual Cabinets. (Separate arrangements are in 
place for the scrutiny function relating to those matters determined by the individual 
Cabinets and reference should be made to the Adur District Council Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules). 

 
Membership  
 
3.1 The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will comprise 8 Elected Members from Adur 

District Council and 8 Elected Members from Worthing Borough Council and shall not 
include Members of either Cabinet. No Member may be involved in scrutinising a decision 
in which they have been directly involved, for example as a decision-maker or advisor. 

 
3.2 The Chair of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be appointed by the Council. 

In addition to consideration of experience, expertise, interests and the ability to act 
impartially, the Chair should have the ability to work as part of a group, to lead and build a 
sense of teamwork and consensus among committee members. 

 
Co-Opted Members 
 
Co-opted Elected Members 
 
4.1 Subject to 4.3 below, the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, its Sub-Committee or 

Working Group, shall be entitled to co-opt non-voting Elected Members to the membership 
of the Committee, to assist on a particular matter. A Co-opted Elected Member may not sit 
as a Co-opted Member on both a Cabinet and a Scrutiny Committee when considering the 
same matter. A Committee or Sub-Committee of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may appoint no more than two non-voting Co-opted Elected Members to any 
particular meeting. A Working Group is not limited to these numbers. 

 
Co-opted Unelected Members 
 
4.2 Subject to 4.3 below, the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or its Sub-Committee or 

Working Group, shall be entitled to co-opt non-voting unelected persons to the membership 
of the Committee, to assist on a particular matter. A Co-opted Unelected Member may not 
sit as a Co-opted Member on both a Cabinet and a Scrutiny Committee when considering 
the same matter. A Committee or Sub-Committee of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may appoint no more than two non-voting Co-opted Unelected Members to any 
particular meeting. A Working Group is not limited to these numbers. 

 
4.3 Where the matter relates to the Adur Housing Revenue Account, terms and conditions of 

tenancies or leaseholds, leasehold service charges and any other matter directly affecting 
housing tenants or leaseholders which do not have a general effect on other residents, the 

403



 

144 

Adur Consultative Forum appointed co-optee shall be co-opted onto the Committee, Sub-
Committee, or Working Group.  

 
Meetings  
 
5.1 There shall be at least four Ordinary meetings of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee in each municipal year.  
 
5.2 In addition, Extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time as and when 

appropriate. An Extraordinary meeting of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may 
be called by the Joint Chairs, in agreement, requesting in writing that the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources call an Extraordinary meeting; or by any four Committee 
Members, being at least one from each Authority, signing a requisition, and presenting it to 
the Joint Chairs, who if they have failed to call a meeting within 7 calendar days, may 
provide notice in writing to the Director for Sustainability & Resources, who shall then call 
such an Extraordinary meeting. 

 
Working Groups 
 
6.1 Working Groups may be established by the Committee as: 

(a) A standing Working Group for a particular topic - for example budget monitoring or 
holding the Cabinet to account. 

(b) As a task and finish Working Group based on an agreed scoping report, likely to 
involve external attendees, site visits or gathering evidence over time.  

(c) A time-limited Working Group based on an agreed scoping report, likely to be a review 
of an internal Council service.  

 
6.2 Working Groups may go on site visits, carry out evidence gathering, investigations and 

write reports, for the approval of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any Sub-
Committee. Reports of a Working Group shall be submitted under cover of an Officer report 
and will be included in the Agenda for the meeting and must comply with the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules. 

 
6.3 Meetings of Working Groups do not have to meet in public as they are informal non-

decision making meetings, unlike meetings of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
or any Sub-Committee.   

 
Membership 
 
6.4 The Working Group shall consist of at least four Members of the Joint Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee selected when establishing the Terms of Reference under paragraph 
6.1 above. 

 
6.5 Membership can be a mixture of Members from both Councils with a preference of at least 

one Member from each Council. The overriding criterion shall be the following: 
(a) The subject under discussion; 
(b) The skill set of the Members selected; 
(c) The location in the District or Borough of the matter under review;  
(d) As resolved by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
(e) Availability and time commitment as outlined in the scoping report. 

 
Officer Attendance at Working Groups 
 
6.6 The Working Group may invite Officers of the Councils to attend meetings of the Working 

Group as consultees or specialist advisors. 
  

404



 

145 

Quorum 
 
6.7 There is quorum of two for a Working Group meeting or site visit. 
 
Chairing 
 
6.8 Each Working Group will select its own Chair. 
 
Substitutes 

 
6.9 Substitutes are not allowed, although the Working Group may invite other Members of Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny to assist it for a particular meeting. Any change to the permanent 
membership of a Working Group should be approved by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  

 
Quorum 
 
7.1 The quorum for the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be determined in 

accordance with the Joint Committee Agreement. 
 
Chairing 
 
8.1 The Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee are appointed by 

each Annual Council each year. 
 
8.2 It is for each Sub-Committee or Working Group to decide who should Chair those meetings. 

In the event of a dispute, reference should be made to Council Procedure Rule 8.  
 
Work Programme 
 
9.1 The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for proposing its own draft 

work programme and in doing so it shall take into account the wishes of all Members on 
that Committee, regardless of Political Group.  
 

9.2 When determining whether to include an item on the Joint Overview and Scrutiny draft 
Work Programme, Members should be guided by: 
(a) The Councils’ Strategic objectives;  
(b) the ability of the Committee to have influence and/or add value on the subject; 
(c) the PAPER criteria: Public Interest (P), Ability to Change (A), Performance (P), Extent 

(E) and Replication (R). 
 
9.3 Approval of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme is the responsibility of each 

Council. It will be considered and determined by each Council at the April meeting every 
year, for the following municipal year.  

 
9.4 During the municipal year, items may be added to the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee Work Programme, where appropriate. Requests for additional matters to be 
included in the Work Programme will initially be considered by the Joint Chairs in 
accordance with the criteria set out in paragraph 9.2 above, who will make their 
recommendations to the next Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee for consideration and 
determination, following receipt of an Officer report. Consideration should also be given to 
capacity of the Committee and resources available. Any changes to the Work Programme 
should be reported to Council mid-municipal year for noting.  

 
9.5 The Director for Sustainability & Resources will consult with the Joint Chairs of the Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee throughout the year to monitor the Work Programme and 
will report to the Committee on a regular basis.  

405



 

146 

 
9.6 After consideration of an Officer report, the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be 

responsible for setting the scope of the work of any Working Group established to assist the 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee in carrying out its functions and responsibilities. 
The scope of the work should include timeframes, objectives, membership, resources and 
final reporting. 

 
Agenda Items 
 
10.1 A Member of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to request that an 

item be added to the Work Programme in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 9.3 
above. Should the Chairs fail to include the item on the agenda, at the next available 
meeting (in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules), the Member may 
give written notice to the Director for Sustainability & Resources that they wish an item 
relevant to the functions of the Committee to be considered by the Committee. On receipt of 
such a request, the Director for Sustainability & Resources will include the item in an 
agenda to be discussed at a meeting of the Committee (unless the matter is an Excluded 
Matter as defined in Regulation 3 of the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) 
(Excluded Matters) (England) Order 2012). An excluded matter is a local crime and disorder 
matter within the meaning of the Police and Justice Act or any matter relating to a planning 
or licensing decision, or where a person has a right of recourse to a review or appeal, or 
where the matter is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable. 

 
10.2 Any Member of the Council who is not a Member of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee may, on a maximum of four occasions in any municipal year, give written notice 
to the Director for Sustainability & Resources that they wish an item to be included on the 
agenda for the Committee. If the Director for Sustainability & Resources receives such a 
notification, then they will consult with the Joint Chairs of the Committee who will follow the 
procedure set out in paragraph 9.2 above. Should the Chairs fail to put the item on the 
agenda for the next available meeting (in accordance with Access to Information Procedure 
Rules), then the Member may ask the Director for Sustainability & Resources to put it on 
the agenda and they shall do so. The Committee will then consider the agenda item and 
determine whether or not it will be included on the Work Programme of the Joint Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. If the Committee decides not to include the item in its Work 
Programme, the Member will be notified of the reasons. This procedure rule is to be taken 
in conjunction with the Council’s Protocol on Councillor Call for Action in Part 5 of this 
Constitution. 

 
10.3 The Council, their Cabinets or any of their Committees may request that the Joint Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee undertake scrutiny or development work on their behalf. The Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall respond, as soon as their Work Programme 
permits, to such requests. Where the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee does so, it 
shall report its findings and any recommendations back to the commissioning body. The 
commissioning body shall consider the report of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
at its next available (in accordance with Access to Information Procedure Rules) meeting. 

 
10.4 A member of the public may request that an item be added to the agenda of the Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Any such request shall be considered by the Joint 
Chairs, and unless inappropriate to do so, shall be dealt with in accordance with paragraph 
9.4 above.  

 
Policy Review and Development 
 
11.1 The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any Sub-Committees may make proposals 

to the Council, its Committees or the Cabinet for policy development, in so far as they relate 
to matters within that body’s terms of reference. 

 

406



 

147 

11.2 The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may hold inquiries and investigate the 
available options for future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and 
assessors to assist them in this process. Such advisors may or may not be appointed as 
Co-opted Members, subject to the provisions of paragraph 4.0 above. The Committee may 
go on site visits, conduct public meetings, commission research and do all things that it 
reasonably considers necessary to inform their deliberations. It may ask witnesses to attend 
(see below) to address it on any matter under consideration and may, subject to available 
resources, pay to any advisors, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee to cover their 
expenses for doing so. 

 
Reports from the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
12.1 Once it has formed recommendations, the Director for Sustainability and Resources will 

prepare a formal report incorporating the views of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and submit it to the relevant body.  

 
12.2 The Council(s), the Cabinet(s) or the Committee shall consider any report of the Director for 

Sustainability & Resources submitting the views of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
at their next Ordinary meeting (subject to Access to Information Rules), after it has been 
submitted to the Proper Officer for placing on the Agenda. 

 
12.3 Alternatively the minute from a meeting of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may be 

referred to the Council, its Cabinet or a Committee. In cases where the minutes of the 
previous meeting have not been agreed by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a 
draft minute shall be prepared by the Director for Sustainability & Resources in consultation 
with the relevant Joint Chair prior to the meeting of the Cabinet(s), Committee(s) or 
Council(s). 

 
Minority Reports 
 
12.4 Where the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on a single, final report to 

the Council, its Cabinet or a Committee, then one minority report may be submitted with the 
majority report. In order for a minority report to be produced, no fewer than three voting 
members of the Joint Committee must support such a proposal. 

 
12.5 In order that a minority opinion can be expressed where the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee does not achieve a consensus on an issue, these rules make provision for 
minority reports to be produced by Members of the Joint Committee. This means that 
although a majority report is issued representing the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’s majority view, any Member of the Joint Committee may propose an alternative 
view which may then be published in a minority report. In order for a minority report to be 
produced, no fewer than three voting Members of the Joint Committee must support such a 
proposal. 

 
Procedure for dealing with Minority Reports  
 
12.6 At the conclusion of an inquiry and at the point of agreeing a final report detailing the Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s conclusions and recommendations, Members may be 
unable to reach a general consensus. Members in the minority may wish to express a view 
different from that of the majority. In these circumstances, Members with a minority view 
may choose to submit a minority report.  

 
12.7 The intention to submit a minority report must be declared within the Joint Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee meeting at the time the majority report is agreed. Such an intention 
must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting and referred to in the final report as part of 
the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s resolutions. Where the Joint Overview and 

407



 

148 

Scrutiny Committee has agreed its final report and there has been no declared intention to 
produce a minority report, a minority report cannot then be subsequently submitted.  

 
12.8 Where the intention to produce a minority report has been recorded in the minutes, 

Democratic Services will contact the appropriate Members to confirm submission dates. 
The minority report should be delivered to the Democratic Services within 5 working days 
after the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.  

 
12.9 In order that a minority report is given the opportunity to be noted in context by the Council, 

Cabinet or Committee, where it has been produced within the agreed timescale it will be 
attached as an appendix to the majority report.  

 
12.10 The Director of Communities for Sustainability & Resources will determine if a minority 

report should be exempt from publication, in which case the usual procedures for the 
publication of exempt reports apply.  

 
12.11 The drafting and submission of the minority report remains the responsibility of the 

Members who have proposed it (with the support of the Scrutiny Officer). The report will 
include details of the Members who have submitted the minority report, as well as its issues 
and any alternative recommendations. 

 
12.12 It is normally expected that the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have taken into 

account all the relevant information available and as such a minority report will be based on 
the same evidence as a majority report. 

 
Consideration of Joint Overview and Scrutiny reports 
 
13.1 The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will take advice from the Director for 

Sustainability & Resources as to the appropriate body to consider recommendations.  
 
Rights of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members to Documents 
 
14.1 In addition to their rights as Councillors, Members of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee have the additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
Members and Officers Giving Account 
 
15.1 Subject to paragraph 10.1 above, the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any 

Working Group may scrutinise and review decisions made or actions taken in connection 
with the discharge of any Council functions, unless prohibited elsewhere in this Constitution 
or by statute, for example in relation to quasi-judicial matters. As well as reviewing 
documentation, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any Member, Head of Paid 
Service, Chief or Deputy Chief Officer to attend before it to explain in relation to matters 
within their remit: 

(a) any particular decision or series of decisions; 
(b) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; 

and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. Questions for those being 
requested to attend should be pre-submitted no later than two working days in advance of 
the meeting.  

 
15.2 When requesting Officers and Members of the Council to attend, the Joint Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee should have regard to the extent/number of the requests and the 
capacity of Officers and Members to attend. Sufficient notice of the meeting should be 
provided to them as referred below.  

 

408



 

149 

15.3 Where any Member or Officer is required to attend the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee under this provision, the Joint Chairs of the Committee will inform the Director 
for Sustainability & Resources, who shall inform the Member or Officer in writing, giving at 
least 5 working days’ notice of the meeting at which they are required to attend. The notice 
will state the nature of the item on which they are required to attend to give account and 
whether any papers are required to be produced for the Committee. Where the account to 
be given to the Committee will require the production of a report, then the Member or 
Officer concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that 
documentation. 

 
15.4 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or Officer is unable to attend on the 

required date, then the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall in consultation with the 
Member or Officer arrange an alternative date for attendance. 

 
Attendance by Others 
 
16.1 The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people other than those people 

referred to in paragraph 15 above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or 
answer questions. It may for example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and 
Members and Officers in other parts of the public sector and may invite such people to 
attend.  

 
Party Whip 
 
17.1 Applying the party whip is defined as any instruction given by or on behalf of a Political 

Group to any councillor who is a member of that group as to how that councillor shall speak 
or vote on any matter before the council, or any committee or sub-committee, or the 
application or threat to apply any sanction by the group in respect of that councillor should 
they speak or vote in any particular manner.  

 
17.2 When considering any matter in respect of which a member of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee is subject to a party whip, the member must declare the existence of the whip 
and the nature of it before the commencement of the committee's deliberations on the 
matter. The declaration, and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting.  

 
17.3 Scrutiny is seen as impartial and stays separate from party politics. Scrutiny councillors 

should use their political skills and understanding of the needs of local people to shape the 
discussions, whilst not acting in a party political manner or using the discussions to further 
party political objectives. 

 
Call-In of a Decision  
 
18.1 A decision is subject to Call-In when it is a: 

(a) a decision of the Joint Strategic Committee or sub-committee; 
(b) a Joint Individual Cabinet Member decision; or  
(c) a decision made by an Officer or Ward Member with delegated authority from the 

Cabinet in relation to a joint service;  
 

and the decision has been published on the Councils’ website and made available at the 
main offices of the Council, as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 
4 of this Constitution, but not yet implemented. 
 
(In respect of a decision made by: 
(a) an Individual Cabinet; 
(b) an Individual Cabinet Member in respect of a single service; or  
(c) an Officer with delegated authority from the Cabinet in relation to a single service;  

409



 

150 

a separate Call-In procedure exists and is set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules for ADC and WBC). 

 
18.2 The Record of Decision will bear the date on which it is published and, subject to general 

exceptions, will specify the date on which the decision will come into force, and may then 
be implemented unless the decision is called in. 

 
18.3 During the period between the decision being made and coming into force: 
 

(a) The Monitoring Officer shall Call-In a decision for scrutiny if any three Members in total, 
being of either Council, submit to the Monitoring Officer in writing, by email to 
monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk, a request for a matter to be called in. Such a 
request is to be made by 5.00pm on the fifth clear working day, from the day on which 
the Record of Decision is published. The request must include the reasons for the Call-
In. 

(b) Upon receipt of the request, the Monitoring Officer shall consult with both Chairs, or 
Vice-Chairs in their absence, and shall determine whether or not the Call-In is in 
accordance with the requirement of these rules. The Monitoring Officer shall notify the 
Members who made the request, the Director for Sustainability & Resources, and the 
Decision-maker, or Chair of decision-making body, of the determination, within 2 clear 
working days of the request being received.  

(c) If the Call-In is accepted, the decision will be put on hold pending referral to the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

(d) The Director for Sustainability & Resources shall, within 10 clear working days of the 
Call-In being accepted, after consultation with the Joint Chairs, call a meeting of the 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Such meeting is to be held on such date as 
the Director for Sustainability & Resources shall determine, but to be held as soon as is 
reasonably practicable. 

(e) If the Monitoring Officer, following consultation with the Joint Chairs of the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, rejects the request for Call-In, they shall provide a 
report to the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee providing details of the request for 
Call-In of a decision and reasons given for the request being rejected. Such report will 
be received by the next Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting, following the 
determination of the request for Call-In, or if that is impracticable, then to the following 
meeting. 

 
18.4 The Monitoring Officer will provide a report for the meeting in respect of the Call-In which 

will include the procedure for the Call-In hearing. 
 

Exemption from Call-in Procedure  
 
18.5 A matter may not be called-in if it has already been considered by the Joint Scrutiny 

Committee or if the decision is urgent and any delay would prejudice the interest of the 
council or the public in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer. A decision will relate to a 
matter which is urgent if any delay caused by the Call-In process would: 
(a) be highly likely to result in either or both Councils incurring significant additional 

expenditure or loss of significant additional income; or 
(b) be highly likely to result in significant damage to either or both Councils’ reputation; or 
(c) prevent either or both Councils from meeting their legal obligations. 
 

18.6 The agreement of a Chair of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee must be obtained 
in writing in advance of making the decision, by way of completion of a Notice by the 
Director for Sustainability & Resources, that it is reasonable in all the circumstances to treat 
the decision to be made as one which is urgent and therefore not subject to Call-In. In the 
absence of both Chairs of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a Vice-Chair’s 
consent shall be required. In the absence of both Chairs and Vice Chairs, the consent of 
the Chair or, in their absence the Vice Chair, shall be required.  

410

mailto:monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk


 

151 

 
18.7 The Record of Decision and Notice that the decision is exempt from Call-In, shall state that 

in the opinion of the Joint Chairs of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee the decision is 
one which is urgent, with reasons, and therefore not subject to Call-In.  

 
18.8 Decisions taken in accordance with this Procedural Rule must be reported to the next 

available meeting of each Full Council. 
 

Call-In Procedure 
 

18.9 Having considered the decision, the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may refer the 
decision back to the decision-making person or body for reconsideration, setting out in 
writing the nature of its concerns, or where the Committee is unable to reach a 
determination it may raise a motion to refer the matter to the Full Council of either or both 
Councils. The decision-making person or body must reconsider the decision within a further 
5 clear working days and may or may not amend the decision before making a final 
decision and implementing it. 

 
18.10 Once the reconsidered decision is published following the Call-In procedure, the decision 

cannot be called in again and may be implemented immediately.  
 
18.11 If the matter was referred to a Full Council and that Council does not object to a decision 

that has been made, then no further action is necessary, and the decision will be effective 
in accordance with the provision below. However, if the Full Council does object, it will refer 
the decision back to the decision-maker, together with its views on the decision. The 
decision-maker shall then reconsider the matter as soon as possible, amending the 
decision or not, before making a final decision and implementing it. If the Full Council does 
not meet, or if it does but does not refer the decision back to the decision-maker, the 
decision will become effective on the date of the council meeting or expiry of the period in 
which the council meeting should have been held, whichever is the earlier. Once a 
decision-maker has reconsidered the matter following Call-In, no further Call-In of that 
matter will be allowed. 

 
Procedure at Meetings 
 
19.1 The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Sub-Committees shall consider the 

following business: 
(a) Declarations of disclosable pecuniary and personal interests; 
(b) Substitute Members; 
(c) Public questions in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.2.1; 
(d) Minutes of the last meeting; 
(e) Agreement of any procedure relevant for the meeting; 
(f) Consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for a decision in relation to 

Call-In of a decision; 
(g) Response of the Cabinets to reports of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
(h) (h) Any business otherwise set out on the Agenda for the meeting. 

 
19.2 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings are to be conducted in accordance with 

the following principles: 
(a) That the scrutiny be conducted fairly and all Members of the Committee be given the 

opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and speak; 
(b) That those assisting the meeting by giving evidence be treated with respect and 

courtesy; and 
(c) That the meeting be conducted so as to maximise efficiency. 
(d) to be constructive and positive, adopting non-confrontational and inquisitorial 

techniques. 
 

411



 

152 

19.3 Following any meeting, the Committee or Sub-Committee shall prepare recommendations for 
the Officer report, to be submitted to the Cabinet, Council or Committee as appropriate, and 
shall make its findings public, subject to Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 
Communications Strategy  

 
20.1 Subject to Access to Information Procedure Rules, for each meeting of the Joint Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, an appropriate communications strategy should be developed in 
consultation with the Joint Chairs and Assistant Director People & Change to promote the 
Work Programme of Joint Overview and Scrutiny, the meeting itself and to explain the function 
and purpose of Scrutiny.  

412



 

153 

Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings Procedure Rules 
 
1.0 GENERAL 
 
1.1  These Procedure Rules are subject to the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) 

Regulations 2005 as amended (the ‘Regulations’). Where appropriate, the provisions of the 
Regulations have been incorporated into these rules. 

 
1.2  Adur District Council is the Licensing Authority for the purposes of the Licensing Act 2003 

within the District of Adur. 
 
2.0 COMPOSITION OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE  
 
2.1  The Composition of the Licensing Committee and its Sub-Committee are set out in Part 3 of 

the Constitution.  
 
2.2  Licensing Committee Members are bound by the Council's Procedure Rules and the 

Member Code of Conduct. Members must not predetermine or show bias in any matter and 
must declare any interests at the start of every meeting. 

 
2.3  The Licensing Committee comprises Members who have been trained in the preceding two 

years and do not have interests in licensing matters that are likely to debar them from 
consideration of, or voting on, any particular issue.  

 
2.4  Members are selected for Sub-Committees subject to availability in an alphabetical order 

and in consultation with the Chair of the Licensing Committee. Sub-Committees are chaired 
by the Chair or Vice-Chair of the Committee. In the absence of the Chair or Vice Chair, a 
Chair will be selected from amongst the Sub-Committee Members by simple majority vote.  

 
3.0 NOTICE OF HEARING 
 
3.1  The Council shall notify the parties involved of the date, time and place at which the hearing 

is to be held (the ‘Notice of Hearing') in accordance with the provisions of the Regulations. 
 
3.2  The Notice of Hearing shall be accompanied by information regarding the following: 

(a) the rights of a party provided for in paragraphs 4.1 and 8.5 below; 
(b) the consequences if a party does not attend or is not represented at the hearing; 
(c) the procedure to be followed at the hearing; 
(d) any particular points on which the Licensing Committee will want clarification from a 

party at the hearing. 
 
4.0 RIGHTS OF ATTENDANCE, ASSISTANCE AND REPRESENTATION 
 
4.1  Subject to paragraphs 6.2 and 6.4 below, a party may attend the hearing and may be 

assisted or represented by any person whether or not that person is legally qualified. 
 
4.2  For the avoidance of doubt, a party may be assisted or represented by their Ward 

Councillor. Any Councillor undertaking such a role would take no part in the determination 
of the matter before the Committee. 

 
4.3  Upon receipt of the Notice of Hearing and within the period of time prescribed by the 

Regulations and specified in the Notice of Hearing, each party shall advise the Council in 
writing: 

(a) whether they intend to attend and/or be represented at the hearing, giving the name 
and contact details of the representative if applicable; 

(b) whether they consider a hearing to be unnecessary. 
 

413



 

154 

4.4 In a case where a party wishes any person (other than the person they intend to represent 
them at the hearing) to appear at the hearing, they shall submit a written request (normally 
at least 5 clear working days prior to the hearing) for permission for such other person to 
attend at the hearing, giving their name and a brief description of the point or points on 
which they may be able to assist the Sub-Committee, in relation to the application. 

 
4.5 A party who wishes to withdraw any representations they have made may do so: 

(a) by giving notice to the Licensing Section; or  
(b) orally at the hearing. 

 
5.0 RIGHT TO DISPENSE WITH A HEARING IF ALL PARTIES AGREE 
 
5.1 This section does not apply to Review Hearings. 
 
5.2  Subject to paragraph 5.1 above, the Sub-Committee may dispense with holding a hearing if 

all persons (as required by the Act) agree that such a hearing is unnecessary, other than 
the Licensing Authority itself.  

 
5.3  If the Licensing Authority agrees that a hearing is unnecessary, it shall forthwith give notice 

to the parties that the hearing has been dispensed with. 
 
6.0 HEARING TO BE HELD IN PUBLIC 
 
6.1  Subject to paragraph 6.2 below, the hearing shall take place in public. 
 
6.2  The Sub-Committee may exclude the public from all or part of a hearing where it considers 

that the public interest in doing so outweighs the public interest in the hearing, or that part 
of the hearing taking place in public. 

 
6.3  For the purposes of paragraph 6.2 a party and any person assisting or representing a party, 

may be treated as a member of the public. 
 
6.4  The Sub-Committee may require any person attending the hearing who is in their opinion 

behaving in a disruptive manner to leave the hearing and may: 
(a) refuse to permit that person to return; or 
(b) permit them to return only on such conditions as the Sub-Committee may specify; 

but such a person may, before the end of the hearing, submit to the Sub-Committee, in 
writing, any information which they would have been entitled to give orally had they not been 
required to leave. 
 

6.5 The presumption is that all hearings will be held in person unless there are exceptional 
circumstances, such as pandemic or other unforeseen event.  In such circumstances, where 
the business cannot reasonably be postponed, the hearing may be held remotely in 
accordance with the Licensing Protocol for Remote Hearings.  
 

 
7.0 REPORT 
 
7.1  A report will be put before the Sub-Committee, prepared by the Director for Sustainability & 

Resources, a copy of which will be sent to Members, Officers and the Applicant in advance 
of the hearing. 

 
7.2  The report will also be published on the Councils’ website, in accordance with the Council’s 

Access to Information Procedure Rules. 
 
8.0 PROCEDURE AT THE HEARING 
 

414



 

155 

8.1 The Sub-Committee will seek to focus the hearing on the steps needed to promote the 
particular Licensing Objectives which have given rise to the specific representations and will 
avoid straying into undisputed areas.  

 
8.2  The order of business shall be at the discretion of the Chair, but will normally proceed in 

accordance with procedures put before the meeting and sent to the Applicant prior to the 
meeting. The procedure will be explained at commencement of the hearing.  

 
8.3  Each Party will be given a maximum of 20 minutes to make their representations; all 

comments should be focused, relevant and avoid repetition.  
 
8.4  Cross examination shall not be permitted unless the Sub-Committee considers that cross 

examination is necessary for it to consider the representations, application or notice as the 
case may require. 

 
8.5  Where there is more than one representation raising the same or similar grounds, the Sub-

Committee may request that only one party addresses them on behalf of the parties who 
have made the representations in question. 

 
8.6  In considering any representations made by a party, the Sub-Committee may take into 

account documentary or other information produced by a party in support of their 
application, representations or notice (as applicable) either before the hearing or, with the 
consent of all the other parties, at the hearing. 

 
8.7  The Sub-Committee shall disregard any information given or evidence produced by a party 

which is not relevant to: 
(a) their application, representations or notice (as applicable); and 
(b) the promotion of the Licensing Objectives in s.4(2) of the Licensing Act 2003; or 
(c) in relation to a hearing to consider a notice given by a Chief Officer of Police, the 

crime prevention objective. 
 
8.8  At the Hearing, a party may choose to amplify and to rely upon written representations or 

documents that form part of the published papers. Parties may not produce or rely upon 
further representations or documents without the permission of the Chair. The Sub-
Committee will not normally allow representations or documents which are produced for the 
first time at the hearing or at short notice. 

 
8.9  Hearsay evidence may be admitted before the Sub-Committee, but consideration will 

always be given to the weight, if any, to be attached to such evidence, depending upon the 
circumstances in which it arises. 

 
9.0 ROLE OF THE LEGAL ADVISOR 
 
9.1  The Sub-Committee may seek advice or clarification of any procedural, technical or legal 

matter from the Legal Advisor at any time during the course of the hearing. 
 
9.2  The Legal Advisor will provide the Sub-Committee with any advice it requires properly to 

perform its functions, whether or not the Sub-Committee requested that advice, on: 
(a) questions of law; 
(b) questions of mixed fact and law; 
(c) matters of practice and procedure; 
(d) the range of options available to the Sub-Committee; 
(e) any relevant decisions of higher Courts: 
(f) relevant national guidance or policy; 
(g) other issues relevant to the matter before the Sub-Committee; 
(h) the appropriate decision-making structure to be applied in any given case. 

 

415



 

156 

9.3  The Legal Advisor will assist the Sub-Committee, where appropriate, as to the formulation 
of reasons and the recording of those reasons. 

 
9.4  The Legal Advisor will play no part in making findings of fact but may assist the Sub-

Committee by reminding it of the evidence taken from their own, or the Democratic Services 
Officer’s, notes. 

 
9.5  The Legal Advisor may ask questions of witnesses and the parties in order to clarify the 

evidence and any issues in the case. 
 
9.6  The Legal Advisor is under a duty to ensure that every case is conducted fairly. 
 
9.7  When advising the Sub-Committee the Legal Advisor should: 

(a) ensure that they are aware of the relevant facts; 
(b) invite representations from the parties on the advice; 
(c) provide the parties with the information necessary to enable them to make such 

representations. 
 
9.8  The Legal Advisor may assist Members during the course of their deliberations, either when 

asked to do so, or if they realise there is a point of law on which they may need assistance 
but on which they omitted to advise them in open session. 

 
10.0  ROLE OF THE DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER 
 
10.1  The role of the Democratic Services Officer shall be to undertake the procedural 

arrangements to hold the meeting according to the Council's Procedure Rules, make a 
record of the proceedings, summarise and record decisions and to provide help and 
assistance to members of the public attending hearings. 

 
10.2  The Democratic Services Officer will not ordinarily remain with the Members of the Sub-

Committee when they retire to make their deliberations but may do so at the request of the 
Chair or the Legal Advisor.  

 
11.0  DETERMINATION OF APPLICATIONS 
 
11.1  The Sub-Committee will give appropriate weight to: 

(a) the representations (including supporting information) presented by all the parties; 

(b) national guidance; 
(c) the Adur District Council Licensing Policy; 
(d) the steps that are necessary to promote the Licensing Objectives in s.4(2) of the 

Licensing Act 2003. 
 
11.2 The Sub-Committee shall normally make its determination in any case at the conclusion of 

the hearing, or within 5 working days thereafter. 
 
11.3 Where a hearing has been dispensed with in accordance with paragraph 5 of these 

Procedure Rules, the Sub-Committee will make its determination within the period of ten 
working days beginning with the day Notice is given to the parties. 

 
11.4 The determination shall be sent to all parties within 5 working days of a decision being 

made by the Sub-Committee. 
 
12.0 FAILURE OF PARTIES TO ATTEND THE HEARING 
 
12.1  If a party has informed the Licensing Authority that they do not intend to attend, nor be 

represented at the hearing, the hearing may proceed in their absence. 
 

416



 

157 

12.2  If a party who has not so indicated fails to attend or be represented at a hearing the Sub-
Committee may: 
(a) where it considers it to be necessary in the public interest, adjourn the hearing to a 

specified date; or  
(b) hold the hearing in the party's absence. 

 
12.3  Where the Sub-Committee holds the hearing in the absence of a party, it shall consider at 

the hearing of the application, representations or notice made by that party. 
 
13.0 ADJOURNMENTS 
 
13.1  Subject to the provisions of the Regulations, the Sub-Committee may: 

(a) adjourn the hearing to a specified date; 
(b) arrange for a hearing to be held on specified additional dates 
where it considers it necessary for its consideration of any representations or notice made 
by a party. 

 
13.2  Where the Sub-Committee adjourns the hearing to a specified date it shall forthwith notify 

the parties of the date, time and place to which the hearing has been adjourned. 
 
13.3  Similarly, when the Sub-Committee arranges for the hearing to be held on a specified 

additional date, it shall notify the parties of the additional date, time and place at which the 
hearing is to be held. 

 
14.0 RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 
14.1  A record of the hearing (Minutes) shall be kept for 6 years from the date of determination or, 

where an appeal is brought against the determination, the disposal of the appeal. 
 
14.2  A recording will be made of the open part of the hearing and will be placed on the Council's 

website within 10 clear working days of the hearing. 
 
15.0 WAIVER OF PROCEDURE RULES 
 
15.1  Except where prescribed by the Regulations, the Chair may in any particular case dispense 

with or modify these Rules. 
 
15.2  In particular, the Chair may extend a time limit provided for in the Regulations for a 

specified period where they consider this to be necessary and/or in the public interest. 
 
15.3  Where the Chair has extended a time limit they shall forthwith give a notice to the parties 

stating the period of time of the extension and the reasons for it. 
 
16.0 QUALIFIED PRIVILEGE 
 
16.1 Statements made in Sub-Committee meetings are subject to the general principles of the 

law of defamation. However, the Sub-Committee‘s proceedings are regarded in law as a 
'privileged occasion‘ to which the doctrine of qualified privilege attaches to statements 
made in the Sub-Committee's proceedings (quasi-judicial in nature) providing the following 
criteria are met: 

(a) any opinions expressed are honestly held; 
(b) opinions/statements are based on the facts of the matter; 
(c) opinions/statements are on a matter of public interest; 
(d) a clear distinction is made between what is fact and what is opinion; 
(e) there is no malice. 

  

417



 

158 

17.0 HUMAN RIGHTS  
 
17.1 The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the European Convention on Human Rights and 

makes it unlawful for a Local Authority to act in a way which is incompatible with a 
Convention right. The Sub-Committee will have regard to the Human Rights Act when 
exercising its licensing functions, and in particular to the following provisions:  

 
Article 1: Every person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of their possessions; 
Article 6: In the determination of civil rights and obligations everyone is entitled to a fair and 

public hearing within a reasonable time by an independent and impartial tribunal 
established by law;  

Article 8: Everyone has the right to respect for their home and private and family life. 
 
18.0 EQUALITIES  
 
18.1 All decisions will be made in accordance with the Council’s equalities duty pursuant to the 

Equalities Act 2010 and other legislation. 
 
19.0 RIGHT OF APPEAL 
 
19.1 The Applicant 
 
The Applicant has a right of appeal to the Magistrates' Court against a decision, within 21 days 
beginning with the day on which the applicant was notified of the decision of the Licensing Authority: 

(a) to reject the Application for a premises licence; or 
(b) to impose conditions on the premises licence; or 
(c) to exclude a licensable activity; or 
(d) to refuse to specify a person as a Premises Supervisor. 

 
19.2 Person making relevant representations and Chief Officer of Police 
 
A person who made relevant representations and the Chief Officer of Police has a right of appeal to 
the Magistrates' Court against a decision, within 21 days, beginning with the day on which the person 
was notified of the decision of the Licensing Authority: 

(a) to grant a premises licence; or 
(b) in relation to the conditions imposed; or 
(c) in relation to the licensable activities authorised; or 
(d) the person specified as Premises Supervisor. 

 
19.3 The Chair of the Licensing Committee, or in their absence the Vice-Chair of the Committee, 

will be expected to attend the appeal at the Magistrates Court. 

418



 

159 

Member Complaints and Standards Sub-Committee 
Procedure Rules 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 This procedure is only to be used for the assessment and investigation of complaints of 

alleged failures by Members to comply with the Council’s Member Code of Conduct. 

 
2.0 MAKING A COMPLAINT 

2.1  Complaints should be made in writing to the Monitoring Officer using the online complaints 
form.  

 
3.0 INITIAL ASSESSMENT OF COMPLAINT 

 

3.1 On receipt of a complaint, the Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt to the 

Complainant and notify the Subject Member that a complaint has been received (unless 

the Monitoring Officer considers that it would be contrary to the public interest or would 

prejudice the consideration of the complaint to do so).  

 
3.2 The Monitoring Officer will make an initial assessment of the complaint within 20 working 

days of receipt of all relevant information. In making an initial assessment, the Monitoring 

Officer may consult with an Independent Person, and inform the Group Leader. 

 
3.3 Having carried out an initial assessment of a complaint, the Monitoring Officer will decide 

on one of the following courses of action: 

(a) Decide to take no further action 
(b) Decide to resolve the complaint informally  
(c) Decide to refer the complaint for investigation 

  

3.4 Where in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer and Independent Person a complainant has 

a sensitive interest and/or there are exceptional circumstances to retain the complainant’s 

anonymity/confidentiality and the retention does not prejudice an initial assessment of the 

complaint, then these details may remain confidential during the initial assessment stage. 

 
4.0 DECISION TO TAKE NO ACTION 

 
4.1 Where the Monitoring Officer decides to take no further action in respect of the 

complaint, the Complainant and the Subject Member shall be advised of that decision in 

writing. The Monitoring Officer may decide to take no action if, for example: 

(a) The Code of Conduct was not engaged (the Member was not acting as a 

Member at the time of the alleged breach of Conduct took place); 

(b) Where the matter took place more than six months ago (except in exceptional 

circumstances or in the public interest); 

(c) Where the allegations are anonymous; 

(d) The complaint appears to be malicious, vexatious, politically motivated, tit for tat, 

or is so minor that there is no overriding public benefit in carrying out an 

investigation; 

(e) Where a challenge made to an expression of fact or opinion made during a 

debate at a council meeting is fundamentally a challenge to the underlying merits 

of a Council determination (e.g. a planning application).  

 

Formatted: Normal,  No bullets or numbering

419



 

160 

4.2 These are just some examples, but the list is not exhaustive. The Monitoring Officer (in 

consultation with the Independent Person, if necessary) may decide that a complaint 

does not merit further consideration for any other reason which appears to them to be 

relevant. 

 
5.0 PARISH COUNCIL MEMBERS 

 

5.1 If the Complainant is a Parish Council Member and the Subject Member (or one of them) 

is a Member of the same Parish Council, the Monitoring Officer may, in consultation with 

the Independent Person, refer the entire complaint to the Sussex Association of Local 

Councils (SALC) if appropriate. SALC will appoint a Panel to hear your complaint and 

decide whether it is sufficiently serious to be put through the procedure set out below or 

whether it should be settled in some other way within the Parish Council. 

 
5.2 Where the Monitoring Officer has taken the decision that the complaint does not merit 

further consideration or is to be referred to SALC for mediation/conciliation, the 

Monitoring Officer will inform the Complainant of that decision and the reasons for that 

decision. 

 
6.0 DECISION TO RESOLVE COMPLAINT INFORMALLY 

 

6.1 Where the Monitoring Officer decides to resolve the complaint informally, the Complainant, 

the Subject Member and their Political Group leader (if any) shall be advised of that 

decision in writing. In deciding to resolve the complaint informally, the Monitoring Officer 

may pursue any of the following courses of action: 

(a) Provide further training and guidance to the Subject Member 
(b) Mediate between the Complainant and the Subject Member 
(c) Require the Subject Member to write a personal apology to the Complainant 
(d) Write an advisory letter to the Member or such other action agreed between the 

Monitoring Officer and the Independent Person. 
 

6.2 If informal resolution is able to resolve the complaint, then no further action is required. 

 
6.3 Where informal resolution does not resolve the complaint, the Monitoring Officer may, 

following consultation with the Independent Person, decide to refer the complaint for 

investigation. 

 
7.0 DECISION TO INVESTIGATE COMPLAINT 

 
7.1 Where the Monitoring Officer decides to refer the complaint for investigation, the 

Complainant and the Subject Member shall be advised of that decision in writing. The 

Monitoring Officer shall also advise the Chair of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee 

that a complaint has been referred for investigation. 

 
7.2 Where the Monitoring Officer decides to refer the complaint for investigation, the Subject 

Member shall be provided with the details of an Independent Person should they require 

guidance on the process for investigation of the complaint. The Independent Person shall 

be a different Independent Person to the one that the Monitoring Officer has previously 

consulted with. 

 
7.3 Within 14 days of deciding to refer the complaint for investigation, the Monitoring Officer 

shall appoint an Investigating Officer to investigate the complaint. The Investigating Officer 

may be an officer of the Council, an officer of another local authority, or an external person. 

420



 

161 

 
8.0 INVESTIGATION OF COMPLAINT 

 

8.1 The Investigating Officer shall be instructed to investigate the complaint and to report to the 

Monitoring Officer. The purpose of the investigation is to establish the facts of the case and 

to form a view on whether there has been a breach of the Members Code of Conduct. 

 
8.2 The Complainant and the Subject Member shall cooperate fully with the Investigating 

Officer, including attending any meetings or interviews and providing all relevant 

information and documents to the Investigating Officer. 

 

8.3 The Subject Member may be accompanied by a friend or an adviser when attending any 

meeting or interview as part of the investigation of the complaint. 

 

8.4 The Investigating Officer may pursue any of the following actions as part of the 

investigation: 

(a) Interviewing the Complainant 
(b) Interviewing the Subject Member 
(c) Interviewing other relevant witnesses 
(d) Requesting copies of any documents relevant to the investigation 

8.5 The Investigating Officer shall produce a draft report of their findings and send a copy to the 

Monitoring Officer, the Complainant and the Subject Member. The Investigating Officer 

shall allow 14 days for comments on the draft report and shall take any comments into 

consideration when producing the final report. 

 
8.6 If during the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer identifies other breaches of 

the Code of Conduct the Monitoring Officer shall be advised accordingly. 

 
8.7 The Investigating Officer shall endeavour to complete the investigation within 2 months of 

appointment. 

 
8.8 The Investigating Officer shall send a copy of the final report to the Monitoring Officer. The 

report shall include copies of any statements or documents obtained during the course of 

the investigation. 

 
9.0 POST INVESTIGATION PROCEDURES 

 
9.1 Where the Investigating Officer concludes that there has not been a breach of the Code of 

Conduct, the Monitoring Officer shall take no further action and the Complainant and the 

Subject Member shall be advised of that decision in writing. 

 
9.2 Where the Investigating Officer concludes that there has been a breach of the Code of 

Conduct, the Monitoring Officer shall refer the report to the Standards Sub-Committee for 

consideration. 

 
10.0 STANDARDS SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

10.1 Where a Standards Sub-Committee is required the procedure for the hearing set out in the 

Appendix to this procedure shall apply. 

 
10.2 The Standards Sub-Committee shall have the power to decide whether or not to impose a 

sanction where there has been a finding of a breach of the Member Code of Conduct. 

421



 

162 

 
10.3 The Standards Sub-Committee will have the benefit of any advice from the Independent 

Person. 

 
10.4 The Standards Sub-Committee may decide not to impose a sanction or it may impose one 

or more of the following sanctions: 

(a) The Monitoring Officer to send a formal letter to the Subject Member 
(b) The Subject Member to make a public apology at Full Council. In the event of an 

apology not being made, the Subject Member may be censured at a meeting of the Full 
Council. 

(c) The Monitoring Officer to provide further training and guidance to the Subject Councillor. 
(d) The Subject Member to write a personal apology to the Complainant. 
(e) The Subject Member be excluded from the Council offices, providing them with a single 

point of contact. 
(f) A recommendation to the relevant Group Leader that the Subject Member should be 

removed from the Cabinet or a Committee, Sub-Committee, Working Group or External 
Body for a period of time. 

 

Appendix 

Standards Sub-Committee Procedure 

1. Terms of Reference 

The Standards Sub-Committee is responsible for considering reports of an Investigating 
Officer into complaints that there has been a breach of The Council’s Code of Conduct. The 
hearing shall be conducted in public whenever possible, unless circumstances require the 
hearing to be in private, such as personal details, or not in the public interest. 

Membership 

A Standards Sub-Committee shall consist of three District/Borough Councillors (who should be 
drawn from different Political Groups and have no connection with the subject Member). The 
Standards Sub-Committee shall be advised by the Monitoring Officer, who will be accompanied 
by the Independent Person. The Independent Person will be present to give independent advice 
to the Monitoring Officer, or to the Sub-Committee.  

2. Procedure 

Pre-hearing process 

The Monitoring Officer will liaise with Democratic Services to arrange for the Standards Sub-
Committee to meet to hear the complaint within three months of receiving the Investigating 
Officer’s report. Sufficient notice will be given to all parties to the Sub-Committee hearing regarding 
the date fixed for the hearing. 

The Monitoring Officer will require the Subject Member to give their response to the Investigating 
Officer’s report as to what facts are agreed or facts likely to be in contention at the Standards Sub-
Committee. 

If the Subject Member wishes to rely on evidence at the Standards Sub-Committee, then that 
information should be provided to the Monitoring Officer, in writing. 

The Standards Sub-Committee will not allow new arguments or evidence to be presented at the 
hearing. 

If there are two complaints that relate to the same Member or to the same incident/occasion, then 

422



 

163 

the Monitoring Officer may decide that they be considered together. 

The Subject Member should be provided with the Investigating Officer’s report and any evidence 
which will be heard at the hearing. 

The Monitoring Officer should provide the Members of the Standards Sub-Committee with a report 
that summarises the allegation. This should include a list of agreed facts, and disputed issues 
should be outlined. 

The Standards Sub-Committee 

The Standards Sub-Committee will normally take place in public. If the Subject Member is a Parish 
Member, a Parish Member unconnected with the complaint, who is a Co-opted Member of the 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee, will attend in an advisory capacity, in addition to the three 
voting Members of the Sub-Committee. 

One of the Independent Persons will be invited to attend the hearing and will be asked to comment 
on whether there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct and on appropriate sanctions. 

If the Subject Member does not attend the hearing, the Standards Sub-Committee may adjourn the 
hearing or may continue to reach a decision on the basis of the Investigating Officer’s report, and if 
it decides to do so, any evidence that it hears. 

Whilst the Standards Sub-Committee is a meeting of the Council, it is not a court of law. It does not 
hear evidence under oath. The rules of natural justice should nevertheless be carefully followed 
and the Standards Sub-Committee will have due regard to the seriousness of the proceedings for 
those involved, the Council and the public, and will adhere at all times to the Equalities Act 2010. 

The Standards Sub-Committee will decide disputed issues and whether the Subject Member has 
breached the Code of Conduct on the ‘balance of probabilities’. 

Representation 

The Subject Member may choose to be represented, at their own cost. The Standards Sub-
Committee may refuse to allow any person to remain at the hearing if they are disruptive. The 
Standards Sub-Committee will have the discretion to hear opening or closing arguments from the 
Subject Member and the Investigating Officer, if they feel this will assist them in reaching a 
decision. 

Evidence 

The Standards Sub-Committee will control the procedure and evidence presented at a hearing, 
including the number of witnesses and the way they are questioned. All matters relating to the 
evidence and procedure are within its discretion. However, no motion to dismiss the complaint 
should be made before consideration of all the facts and evidence. 

Generally, the Subject Member is entitled to present their case as they see fit. 

Witnesses of facts that are disputed would normally be expected to attend to be questioned. 
Character witnesses, if appropriate, will provide written evidence which will be read at the hearing. 

Witnesses may be questioned by the Standards Sub-Committee, the Independent Person, the 
Investigating Officer and the Subject Member. 

The onus is on the Subject Member to ensure the attendance of the witnesses on whom they rely 
to give evidence to assist them. The Standards Sub-Committee can limit the number of witnesses 
or the issues which can be covered by them. 

423



 

164 

Neither the Standards Sub-Committee nor the Subject Member will have any power to compel 
witnesses to give evidence. 
 

Making Findings of Fact 

(a) The Chair introduces the Sub-Committee and any other persons present, including 
the Monitoring Officer, the Independent Person, the Investigating Officer and a 
Democratic Services Officer. 

(b) The Subject Member introduces any person who is acting as their representative and 
any witnesses to be called on their behalf. 

(c) The Chair shall explain the procedure that shall be followed. 
(d) The Investigating Officer is invited to present their report and to call any witnesses. 
(e) The Subject Member may ask questions of the Investigating Officer and/or any 

witnesses which are to be put through the Chair. 
(f) The Members of the Sub-Committee may ask questions of the Investigating Officer. 
(g) The Subject Member is invited to respond to the Investigating Officer’s report and to 

call any witnesses. 
(h) The Investigating Officer may ask questions of the Subject Member or any witnesses 

which are to be put through the Chair. 
(i) The Members of the Sub-Committee may ask questions of the Subject Member. 
(j) The Chair may request advice from the Monitoring Officer, and/or the Independent 

Person. 

Decision 

(a) The Sub-Committee shall adjourn to consider whether there has been a breach of the 
Members Code of Conduct. The Sub-Committee may request the presence of the 
Democratic Services Officer during their deliberations. The Monitoring Officer may 
assist in settling out the reasons for their decisions. 

(b) The Sub-Committee shall reconvene to orally deliver its decision. 
(c) If the Sub-Committee decides that there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct 

then the Sub-Committee shall consider whether a sanction should be imposed. 

Sanctions 

(a) The Chair shall invite representations from the Investigating Officer as to whether a 
sanction should be imposed. 

(b) The Chair shall invite representations from the Subject Member as to whether a 
sanction should be imposed. 

(c) The Chair shall ask the Monitoring Officer if they wish to express an opinion as to 
whether a sanction should be imposed, and whether to comment on the appropriate 
sanctions. 

(d) The Chair shall ask the Independent Person if they wish to express an opinion as to 
whether a sanction should be imposed, and whether to comment on the appropriate 
sanctions. 

(e) The Sub-Committee shall adjourn to consider whether to impose a sanction.  
(f) The Sub-Committee may request the presence of the Democratic Services Officer 

during their deliberations.  

Sanctions- mitigating/aggravating circumstances 

(a) The Standards Sub-Committee should consider all the mitigating and aggravating 
circumstances that appear to be relevant. For example, it may wish to consider: 

(i) What were the actual and potential consequences of the breach? 
(ii) How serious was the breach? 
(iii) What is the attitude of the Subject Member now? Have they apologised? 

424



 

165 

(iv) Has the Subject Member previously been dealt with for a breach of the Code of 
Conduct? 

(b) The following are examples of mitigating and aggravating factors, (but these are not 
exhaustive): 

Mitigating Factors 

(a) An honest but mistaken belief that the action was not a breach of the Code of Conduct 
(b) A previous record of good service 
(c) Evidence that they were suffering from ill health at the time of the breach 

Aggravating Factors 

(a) Dishonesty 
(b) Continuing to deny the factors or blaming other people 
(c) Evidence of a failure to follow advice or warnings. 

The priority of the Standards Sub-Committee should be to ensure there are no further 
breaches of the Code of Conduct and that public confidence is maintained. 

The Decision 

(a) The Sub-Committee shall reconvene to orally deliver its decision in respect of a 
sanction. 

(b) The Chair will explain that written notice of the decision and the reasons for it shall be 
sent to all parties within 14 days of the date of the hearing, including the Parish 
Council, if the Subject Member is a Parish Council Member. 

(c) The Chair will formally close the hearing. 

Appeals 

There is no right of appeal for the Complainant or the Subject Member against a decision of 
the Monitoring Officer or the Standards Sub-Committee. 

Withdrawal of a complaint 

In the event that a Complainant withdraws a complaint at any time prior to a decision having 
been made by the Standards Sub-Committee, the Monitoring Officer may, following 
consultation with the Independent Person if necessary, decide that no further steps be taken in 
respect of that complaint but shall, in taking such decision, take into account any issues that 
may arise under paragraph 2.1 of the Code of Conduct, particularly any intimidation. 

Explanation of the roles 

Monitoring Officer 

The Monitoring Officer is a statutory role appointed by Council under s.5 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989, and in relation to the Member Code of Conduct, is the 
responsible person. The Monitoring Officer is also responsible for the operation of the 
Council’s Constitution. When a complaint is received, it is the Monitoring Officer’s 
responsibility to check the form is completed correctly and will decide whether the complaint 
can move forward or not, in accordance with this Code of Conduct Complaints procedure. 

References to the Monitoring Officer should be read to include any representative of the 
Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer has a key role in ensuring the smooth running of the 
pre-hearing and hearing process; who will remain neutral throughout and will provide 
independent advice to the Standards Sub-committee. 

Independent Person 

425



 

166 

The Independent Person is a statutory role under s. 28 of the Localism Act 2011 and 
appointed by Council. The role of the Independent Person is to advise the Standards Sub-
Committee as to whether in their opinion there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct and 
whether, and what sanctions could be imposed. The Independent Person may be consulted by 
the Monitoring Officer at the initial assessment stage of the complaint. The role also includes 
giving advice to the Subject Member as to procedural points in the process.  

Investigating Officer 

May be a Council Officer, an officer from another council or an external investigator. Following 
the initial assessment, The Monitoring Officer, may appoint an Investigating Officer to carry out 
an investigation into the complaints made by the Complainant against the Subject Member in 
respect of misconduct by a Council Member. 

Standards Sub-Committee 

The role of the Standards Sub-Committee is to hear the Code of Conduct complaints that have 
been referred to them by the Monitoring Officer. Decide on whether or not there has been a 
breach of the Code of Conduct, and then decide on if and what sanction(s) should be 
imposed.  

The Independent Person is invited to attend all meetings of the Standards Sub-Committee and 
their views are sought and taken into consideration before a decision is made by the 
Standards Sub-Committee as to whether the Member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply 
with the Code of Conduct and as to any action to be taken following a finding of a failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct. 

Revisions of Arrangements for dealing with breaches of the Member Code of Conduct 

The Council may by resolution agree to amend the arrangements for dealing with breaches of 
the Member Code of Conduct and has delegated to the Monitoring Officer the right to depart 
from these arrangements where they consider it is expedient to do so in order to secure the 
effective and fair consideration of any matter. 

See the flow charts for ease of reference and to show the time-line 

 

426



 

167 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Complaint received by Monitoring Officer 

Should be through complaints form 

Complaint assessed by Monitoring Officer in consultation 

with Independent Person 

inform Leader of the Council within 20 days 

Subject Member 

informed of 

allegations/complainant 

Potential breach identified 

Resolve Informally 

 Apology 

 Training 

Refer for Investigation 

(Go to Flow Chart 2) 

COMPLAINT REJECTED 

 Malicious, trivial,  vexatious, politically 

motivated or ‘tit for tat’ 

 Relates to matters which took place 

more than 6 months ago – will only 

accept in exceptional circumstances 

 Subject Member not in office at time of 

allegation 

 Complaint if proven would not be a 

breach of the Code 

 Allegations anonymous 

 Not considered serious 

 Not in the public interest 

FLOW CHART FOR STANDARDS COMPLAINTS – 1. ASSESSMENTS* 

Not possible 

to resolve 

informally 

*Please note this Flow Chart is a simplified version of the 

Council’s procedure for dealing with Standards complaints, 

the detail of which should be referred to where appropriate 

427



 

168 

 
 
 

428



 

169 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FINDINGS CONSIDERED BY HEARINGS SUB-COMMITTEE 

(Generally in Public) within 3 months 

No Further Action 

FLOW CHART FOR STANDARDS COMPLAINTS – 3. HEARING 

Sanction Imposed 

(Member must not be precluded from carrying out duties) 

 Report the findings to Council for information; 

 Recommend to Group Leaders that a Member be removed from Committees; 

 Recommending to the Leader that a Member be removed from the Executive; 

 Instructing the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for a Member; 

 Removing a Member from outside bodies; 

 Excluding a Member from the Council offices, i.e. providing them with a  single point of contact. 

429



 

170 

Joint Independent Remuneration Panel Procedure Rules 
 

Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council (‘the Councils’) have established a Joint 
District/Borough Independent Remuneration Panel (‘the Panel’) to make recommendations on 
remuneration levels for District and Borough Councillors. 

1.0 TERMS OF REFERENCE 

1.1 The Panel shall by 30 November each year produce a report making recommendations to 
each of the Councils as to: 
(a) the amount of the basic allowance which should be payable to their Elected and Co-

opted Members for the following municipal year; 
(b) the responsibilities, roles or duties where special responsibility allowance should be 

payable and the amount of such allowances;  
(c) the amount of any travelling and subsistence allowance which should be payable to 

their Elected and Co-opted Members 
(d) whether dependants’ carers’ allowance should be payable and the amount of such 

allowance; 
(e) whether payment of allowances may be backdated in cases where a scheme is 

amended at a time which would affect allowances payable in that year; 
(f) whether adjustments to the level of allowances may be determined according to an 

index, and which index and for how long before its use is reviewed (subject to a 
maximum of 4 years); 

(g) those items of expenditure that Elected and Co-opted Members may reclaim as 
expenses; and 

(h) any other Members’ allowances or reimbursement matters reasonably falling within the 
remit of the Panel; this may include relevant bodies on matters of joint working and 
parity; 

(i) such other functions as may be allocated to the Panels by statute, from time to time. 
 

1.2 The Panel’s reports shall be submitted to the Councils by way of the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee. 

 
2.0 PANEL MEMBERSHIP AND APPOINTMENT 
 
2.1 The Panel shall consist of a minimum of three persons appointed by the Joint Audit & 

Governance Committee or a Sub-Committee thereof. 
 
2.2 The following persons cannot be appointed to the Panels, namely a person: 

(a) who is a Member or Co-opted Member of either of the Councils; or 
(b) is disqualified from being or becoming a Member of either of the Councils; 

 
2.3 Appointment to the Panel shall be for a period of not more than 4 years. 
 
2.4 A Member of the Panel may be reappointed following the end of their term of appointment 

provided that the Councils carry out a recruitment process involving public advertisement. 
 

2.5 The Members of the Panel shall receive the following allowances, to be reviewed every 4 
years: 

 
Chair:  £100 per meeting attended 
Panel Member: £75 per meeting attended 
 
In the absence of the Chair, another Panel Member chairing the meeting should receive the 
payment of £100, in place of their usual £75 payment. 

 

430



 

171 

2.6 Wherever possible, the Panel Members shall be treated as separate and individual 
consultants who are responsible for their own tax, National Insurance, etc. 

 
2.7 A person specification shall be drawn up and agreed by the Joint Audit & Governance 

Committee to ensure that the candidates who are appointed: 
(a) are able to demonstrate a high degree of personal integrity; 
(b) are not Members of any local authority and are not disqualified from being or becoming 

a Member of a local authority; 
(c) have the appropriate level of skill, knowledge and understanding of setting 

remunerations; 
(d) have the necessary time and commitment for the role; 
(e) will disclose the extent of their connections to any political party or other group and 

whether these are such as to risk the effective discharge of the Panel’s functions were 
the candidate to be appointed. 

 
2.8 Terms of appointment shall include a provision that a Member of the Panel may be 

removed from office by a resolution of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee, or a Sub-
Committee thereof following a finding by that Committee or Sub-Committee that the 
Member of the Panel: 
(a) is disqualified from being a Member of the Panels or is guilty of conduct which brings 

the office into disrepute (e.g. being found guilty of a criminal offence, an act of 
dishonesty or other serious misconduct); 

(b) is guilty of a lack of diligence or incompetence; or 
(c) becomes an Elected or Co-opted Member or an employee of a local authority. 

 
3.0 PANEL OPERATING RULES 
 
3.1 The Panel shall: 

(a) appoint its own Chair at the first meeting and, thereafter, at the first meeting in each 
municipal year; 

(b) require a quorum of 3 at all meetings; 
(c) meet a minimum of once in each municipal year, with such additional meetings as are 

necessary to fully discharge the functions of the Panel; and 
(d) otherwise devise its own rules for the conduct of meetings, providing that such rules are 

consistent with legislative requirements and good governance practice. 
 
4.0 DELEGATED FUNCTIONS 
 
4.1 The Panels shall have the following delegated functions: 

(a) To research Members’ Allowances schemes in other relevant Authorities; 
(b) To gather evidence from interested persons and relevant organisations; 
(c) To conduct interviews with relevant persons; and 
(d) To produce the Annual report to the Councils, via the Joint Audit & Governance 

Committee, in line with the Terms of Reference of the Panels. 
 
4.2 Note 

(a) A copy of the relevant report shall be provided to each Council; 
(b) Once having received the report, each Council shall publish in one or more newspapers 

circulating in its area, a notice which: 
(i) states that it has received recommendations from an Independent Remuneration 

Panel in respect of its scheme; 
(ii) describes the main features of that Panel's recommendations;  
(iii) specifies the recommended amounts of each allowance mentioned in the report in 

respect of that Authority; 
(iv) states that copies of the Panel's report are available at the principal office of the 

Council for inspection by members of the public at such times as may be specified 
by the Council in the notice; and 

431



 

172 

(v) specifies the address of the principal office of the Council at which such copies are 
made available. 

(c) Each Council shall supply a copy of any report made by the Panels, where possible 
electronically, to any person who requests a copy. Where a hard copy is provided, the 
Council may charge such reasonable copying and postage fees, as may be determined 
from time to time. 

 

432



 

173 

Access to Information Procedure Rules 
 

1.0 SCOPE 

These Procedure Rules apply to all meetings of the Council, its Committees, Joint Committees 
and Sub-Committees and formal meetings of the Cabinet (together called ‘Meetings’). 

2.0 PRINCIPLES 

2.1 Interpretation 

These Rules will be interpreted, where possible, in accordance with the following guiding 
principles: 

(a) Openness: the right of the public to gain access to meetings and documents; 
(b) Transparency: the provision of information so that the public know who is responsible for 

making a particular decision, when and where, and have an explanation or justification for 
a decision; 

(c) Accountability: the public can measure the actions taken against policies and plans on 
which those responsible were elected to office. 

3.0 RIGHT OF THE PUBLIC TO ATTEND MEETINGS 

Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the exceptions in these rules and 
in any statutory provisions. 

4.0 NOTICES OF MEETINGS 

The Council will give at least 5 clear days’ notice of any meeting by posting details of the meeting 
at the designated office and on the website. Except where there is a Key Decision and/or 
Confidential/Exempt Decision, in which case the 28 day Notice provisions in Access to Procedure 
Rule 13 shall apply. 

5.0 RIGHT OF THE PUBLIC TO DOCUMENTS 

The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports available to the public for inspection at 
the designated office and on the Council’s website at least 5 clear days before any scheduled 
meeting. 

6.0 SUPPLY OF DOCUMENTS & CHARGING 

6.1 Supply of Documents 

The Council will supply, usually in electronic form, copies of: 

(a) any Agenda or report which is available for public inspection; 
(b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of the items in the 

Agenda; and 
(c) if the Director for Sustainability & Resources thinks fit, copies of any other non-exempt 

documents supplied to Councillors in readiness for a meeting. 

Such documents will be made available to the public by the Council publishing them on their 
website. 

6.2 Charging 

The Council reserves the right to make a reasonable charge for postage and copying of hard copy 
documents to members of the public. 

433



 

174 

7.0 ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS FOLLOWING A MEETING 

7.1 Agendas, reports and Minutes 

The Council will make available copies of the following for 6 years from the date of a meeting: 

(a) the Minutes of the meeting or Records of Decisions taken, (together with reasons), for all 
meetings of the Cabinet, excluding any part of the Minutes of proceedings when the 
meeting was not open to the public or which disclose exempt or confidential information, 
unless the reason for the exemption or confidentiality has ceased to apply; 

(b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the Minutes open to 
inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record; 

(d) the Agenda for the meeting; and 
(e) Reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public but excluding any part 

of such a report which disclosed exempt or confidential information, unless the reason for 
the exemption or confidentiality has ceased to apply. 

7.2 Background Papers 

The report Author will set out in every report a list of those documents (called background papers) 
relating to the subject matter of the report which in their opinion: 

(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the report is 
based; and 

(b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report but does not include 
published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in 
Access to Information Rule 9), unless the exemption no longer applies. 

The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the date of the meeting 
a copy of each of the documents on the list of background papers. 

8.0 SUMMARY OF THE PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 

These Access to Information Procedure Rules are a written summary of the public’s rights to 
attend meetings and to inspect and obtain copy documents. These form part of the Council’s 
Constitution and are available at the Council’s designated offices and on the Councils’ website. 

9.0 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC FROM THE WHOLE OR PART OF A MEETING 

9.1 Confidential information 

Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government Department on 
terms which forbid its public disclosure or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by 
Court Order. 

The public must be excluded from meetings or parts of meetings whenever it is likely in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential 
information would be disclosed. The Committee or Sub-Committee will be required to pass a 
resolution to exclude the public where confidential information will be disclosed. 

9.2 Exempt information 

Exempt information means information falling within one or more of the following 7 categories 
(subject to any condition): 

 CATEGORY CONDITION 

1. Information relating to any individual. In accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 

434



 

175 

2. Information which is likely to reveal the 
identity of an individual. 

In accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 

3. Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular 
person (including the Authority holding 
that information). 

Includes information relating to the Authority’s own 
financial or business affairs. It does not include 
information which is required to be registered 
under the Companies Act 1985, the Friendly 
Society Acts 1974 and 1992, the Industrial and 
Provident Societies Acts 1965-1978, the Building 
Societies Act 1986 or the Charities Act 1993 as 
such information will be in the public domain in 
any event. 
 

The ‘financial affairs or business affairs’ include 
past, present and contemplated activities. 

4. Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between 
the Authority or a Minister of the 
Crown and employees of, or office 
holders under, the Authority. 

‘Employee’ means a person employed under a 
contract of service with the Council and would not 
therefore include a consultant or a temporary 
member of staff employed through an agency or a 
company. Information about such a person, 
however, may well be covered under the 
exemptions in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 but it will 
depend on the individual matter. 

‘Labour relations matter’ means matters which may 
be the subject of a trade dispute within the meaning 
of Section 218(1) of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 or any dispute 
about such a trade dispute. This is therefore fairly 
narrow and does not appear to include normal staff 
negotiations which are not part of a dispute. 

5. Information in respect of which a claim 
to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

 

6. Information which reveals that the 
Authority proposes 
(a) to give under any enactment a 

notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a 
person, or 

(b) to make an order or direction 
under any enactment. 

 

7. Information relating to any action 
taken or to be taken in connection 
with the prevention, investigation or 
prosecution of crime. 

 

 

The public may be excluded from meetings or parts of meetings whenever it is likely in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt 
information will be disclosed. The Committee or Sub-Committee will be required to determine 
whether or not to pass a resolution to exclude the public where exempt information will be 
disclosed. 

9.3 Human Rights Act 1998 

Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely affect their 
possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that the meeting 

435



 

176 

will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in 
Article 6, as follows: 

(a) It is in the interests of morals, public order or national security in a democratic society, to 
hear the matter in private; or 

(b) Where the interests of juveniles or the protection of the private life of the parties requires 
that the matter should be heard in private; or 

(c) Where in the opinion of the meeting, due to special circumstances, publicity would 
prejudice the interests of justice. 

9.4 Town and Country Planning (General) Regulations 1992 

Information cannot be deemed exempt if it relates to proposed development for which the Local 
Planning Authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town 
and Country Planning (General) Regulations 1992. 

9.5 Public Interest Test 

Paragraphs 1-7 of the exemptions (Access to Information Rule 9.2) are subject to the public 
interest test. In determining whether this information should remain exempt, the report writer and 
the decision-maker will have to decide whether the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

In respect of all Council, Cabinet, Committee, Joint Committee and Sub-Committee reports, writers 
will, therefore, need to give consideration to exempt information and the public interest test, and if 
they determine that the document should not be published, they will need to explain why they 
consider the public interest test is best served by the information remaining exempt. The fact that a 
document is exempt, together with reasons, will appear in the report and the agenda relating to that 
item. The Monitoring Officer will ultimately determine whether reports and related documents are 
exempt or not and their decision will be final. 

Where the public may be excluded from a meeting or part of a meeting due to an exempt report 
being considered, the Members of the meeting will need to consider the public interest test, having 
given due consideration to any legal advice provided. 

There is no legal definition of ‘public interest’, but the following should be considered relevant 
considerations in favour of disclosure:  

(a) The information would assist public understanding of an issue that is subject to current 
public debate.  

(b) Proper debate cannot take place without wide availability of all the relevant information.  

(c) The issue affects a wide range of individuals or companies.  

(d) Facts, analysis and costings behind major policy decisions.  

(e) Allowing individuals to understand decisions made by public authorities affecting their lives 
and, in some cases, assisting individuals in challenging those decisions.  

(f) Accountability for proceeds of sale of assets in public ownership.  

(g) Openness and accountability for tender processes and prices.  

(h) Public interest in public bodies obtaining value for money.  

(i) Public health or public safety.  

(j) Damage to the environment.  

(k) Contingency plans in an emergency.  

(l) Promoting accountability and transparency for decisions taken by public authorities and the 
spending of public money.  

A practice of applying ‘Exempt’ status to a report without reasons being set out and consideration of 
the public interest is not acceptable.  

436



 

177 

10.0 NON-DISCLOSURE OF REPORTS TO THE PUBLIC 

10.1 Reports containing Confidential Information 

Reports containing confidential information will not be disclosed to the public. 

10.2 Reports containing Exempt Information 

If the Monitoring Officer determines that a report contains exempt information in accordance with 
Access to Information Rule 9, having applied the public interest test, they may refuse to disclose to 
the public any reports which in their opinion relate to items during which, in accordance with 
Rule 9, the meeting is likely to exclude the public. Such reports will be marked ‘Not for publication’ 
together with the category of information likely to be disclosed. 

11.0 THE EXECUTIVE 

Access to Information Rules 12 to 22 inclusive apply to the Cabinet only. 

If the Cabinet meets to take a Key Decision then it must also comply with Access to Information 
Rules 1 to 10 inclusive above, unless Rule 14 (general exception) or Rule 15 (special urgency) 
apply. A Key Decision is as defined in Article 12.03 of Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution. 

If the Cabinet, or any Member of the Cabinet, meets with an Officer to determine a Key Decision, 
within 28 clear days of the date according to the Forward Plan by which it is to be decided, then it 
must also comply with Access to Information Rules 1 to 10 inclusive above, unless Rule 14 
(general exception) or Rule 15 (special urgency) apply. This requirement does not apply to 
Officer/Member briefings or any non-decision making meetings. 

12.0 EXECUTIVE KEY DECISIONS 

Subject to Access to Information Rule 14 (general exception) and Access to Information Rule 15 
(special urgency), a Key Decision may not be taken unless: 

(a) a Notice (known as the 28 Day Notice of Key and/or Confidential/Exempt Decisions which 
will be taken in private) has been published in connection with the matter in question; 

(b) at least 28 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the Notice in which the 
decision was first included; and 

(c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet, notice of the meeting has 
been given in accordance with Access to Information Rule 4. 

13.0 THE 28 DAY NOTICE OF EXECUTIVE KEY AND/OR CONFIDENTIAL/EXEMPT 
DECISIONS 

13.1 Period Covered 

A 28 Day Notice of Key and/or Confidential/Exempt Decisions (which will be taken in private) will 
be prepared by the Director for Sustainability & Resources and updated when a new Notice is 
made and published, which will be at least 28 clear days prior to any regular scheduled meeting of 
the Cabinet. 

At least 5 clear working days prior to the day of any private meeting of the Cabinet, the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources shall publish a further Notice on the Agenda for the meeting and the 
Council’s website confirming the Cabinet’s intention to hold all or part of the meeting in private, a 
statement of the reasons for privacy and details of any representations received by the Council as 
to why the meeting should be held in public and the Cabinet’s response to those representations. 

  

437



 

178 

13.2 Notice 

The Notice will contain matters which the Director for Sustainability & Resources considers will be 
the subject of a Key Decision and/or a private decision (Confidential/Exempt) to be taken by the 
Cabinet, individual Members of the Cabinet, an Officer, or under joint arrangements in the course 
of the discharge of a Cabinet function during the period covered by the Notice. It will describe 
the following particulars in so far as the information is available or might reasonably be obtained: 

(a) the matter in respect of which a Key Decision/private decision is to be made; 

(b) where the decision-maker is an individual, their name and title, and where the decision-

maker is a body, its name and details of Membership; 

(c) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be taken; 

(d) a list of the documents submitted to the decision-maker for consideration in relation to the 

matter;  

(e) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their disclosure, copies 

of, or extracts from, any document listed is available; 

(f) the identity of the principal groups whom the decision-maker proposes to consult before 

taking the decision; 

(g) the means by which any such consultation is proposed to be undertaken; 

(h) the steps any person might take who wishes to make representations to the Cabinet or 

decision-maker about the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made, and the 

date by which those steps must be taken; and 

(i) the reasons why the matter will be confidential/exempt. 

The Notice must be produced and published at least 28 clear days before the day upon which the 

decision is to be taken, whether by a meeting or an individual Member of the Cabinet. 

14.0 EXCEPTIONS 

If a matter which is likely to be a Key Decision/private decision has not been included in the 28 
Day Notice of Key and/or Confidential/Exempt Decisions, then subject to Access to Information 
Rule 15 (special urgency), the decision may still be taken if: 

(a) the decision needs to be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to defer the 
decision until 28 clear days’ notice has been given by Notice; 

(b) the Director for Sustainability & Resources has, in writing, informed the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (or both Chairs where a matter is being dealt with under 
the Joint Committee Agreement), or if there is no such person, each member of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, by Notice, of the matter to which the decision is to be 
made; 

(c) the Director for Sustainability & Resources has made copies of that Notice available to 
the public, on the Councils’ website or at the offices of the Council; and 

(d) at least 5 clear working days have elapsed since the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources complied with (b) and (c). 

 
Where such a decision is taken by the Cabinet, it must be taken in public, subject to the 
provisions of Access to Information Rules 9 and 13. 

15.0 URGENT ITEMS 

15.1 Executive Key and/or Confidential/Exempt Decisions which are urgent 

If by virtue of the urgency of a matter, Access to Information Rule 14 cannot be complied with, 
then the decision can only be taken if the Director for Sustainability & Resources, on behalf of the 
decision-maker, obtains the agreement, in writing, of the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 

438



 

179 

Committee (or both Chairs where a matter is being dealt with under the Joint Committee 
Agreement), that the taking of the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. Electronic 
confirmation, via email, will suffice and will be sufficient authority for Democratic Services Officers 
to complete the signature requirement to the appropriate notice. If the Chairs are unable to act, 
then in their absence, the agreement of the Vice-Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
be sought. If neither the Chairs nor Vice-Chairs are available, in their absence, the agreement of the 
Chair of the Council will suffice (and if not available, the Vice Chair of the Council). 

15.2 Other Decisions which are urgent 

Only items on an Agenda which has been published 5 clear days before the day of a meeting can 
be considered at that meeting. However, the Chair of the meeting is able to add urgent items to 
the Agenda at the meeting. Urgent items are narrowly defined as being those items that by reason 
of special circumstance have arisen since the despatch of the Agenda and which were not known 
of at the time the Agenda was published, provided that 15.1 above is complied with. 

Urgent items cannot be dealt with as ‘any other business’ or ‘matters arising’ items. 

16.0 REPORT TO FULL COUNCIL 

16.1 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Council’s Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee can require that the Cabinet submit a report 
to Full Council, within such reasonable time period as the Committee specifies, if they consider that 
a Key Decision has been taken which was not: 

(a) included in the 28 Day Notice of Key and/or Confidential/Exempt Decisions; or 
(b) the subject of the general exception procedure; or 
(c) the subject of an agreement under Access to Information Rule 15. 

When directed to do so by either of the Chairs of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or 
by any 5 Members of that Committee, the Director for Sustainability & Resources will serve notice 
in writing upon the Leader requiring such a report , on behalf of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, or the Cabinet, to be submitted to Full Council. Alternatively, the Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee may pass a resolution at their meeting to require such a report of the Cabinet 
to Full Council within a specified time period. 

16.2 Cabinet’s report to Full Council 

The Cabinet will prepare a report for submission to the next available meeting of the Council, 
when required to do so in accordance with Access to Information Rule 16.1. However, if the next 
meeting of the Council is within 7 days of receipt of the written Notice, or the resolution of the 
Committee, requiring the report, then the report may be submitted to the meeting after that. 

The report to Council will set out particulars of the decision, the individual or body making the 
decision, and if the Leader is of the opinion that it was not a Key Decision, the reasons for that 
opinion. 

16.3 Reports on Special Urgency Decisions 

The Leader shall include in their report to Full Council, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 
13, a summary of any Executive decisions taken in the circumstances set out in Access to 
Information Rule 15 (special urgency) taken since the previous meeting of Full Council. 

17.0 RECORD OF DECISIONS 

After any meeting of the Cabinet, whether held in public or private, a record of every decision 
taken at that meeting will be produced as soon as is practicable. The record will include a 

439



 

180 

statement of the reasons for each decision and any alternative options considered and rejected at 
that meeting, in accordance with the Cabinet Procedure Rules. 

18.0 ATTENDANCE AT PRIVATE MEETINGS OF THE EXECUTIVE 

All Members of the Cabinet will be served Notice of all private meetings of the Cabinet, and all 
such Members are entitled to attend such a meeting. 

Members are entitled to attend meetings in accordance with Council Procedure Rules. 

The Head of the Paid Service, the Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer and their 
representatives are entitled to attend any meeting of the Cabinet. 

The Cabinet may not meet unless the Director for Sustainability & Resources has been given 
reasonable notice that a meeting is to take place. A private Cabinet meeting may only take place 
in the presence of the Director for Sustainability & Resources or their representative with 
responsibility for recording and publishing the decisions. 

19.0 DECISIONS BY INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE 

19.1 Decision reports 

Where an individual Member of the Cabinet receives a report which they must consider prior to 
making any decision, then they will not make the decision until at least 5 working days after the 
day of receipt of that report. 

Except that if the decision is a Key Decision and/or Confidential/Exempt Decision, the 28 day 
Notice provisions in Access to Information Rule 13 shall apply. 

19.2 Provision of Copies of reports to Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

When providing such a report to an individual Member of the Cabinet, the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources will provide a copy of it to the Chairs and Vice Chairs of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee as soon as reasonably 
practicable. At the same time the Director for Sustainability & Resources will make the report 
publicly available, by publishing on the Councils’ website, unless deemed confidential or exempt in 
accordance with Access to Information Rule 9 above. 

19.3 Record of Individual Cabinet Member Decision 

As soon as reasonably practicable after a Cabinet decision has been taken by an individual 
Member of the Cabinet, or a Key Decision has been taken by an Officer, the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources will prepare a record of the decision, a statement of the reasons for it 
and any alternative options considered and rejected. The provisions of Access to Information 
Rules 7 and 8 (inspection of documents after meet ings) will also apply to the making of 
decisions by individual Members of the Cabinet, subject to Access to Information Rule 9. 

20.0 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS 

20.1 Right to Documents 

Subject to Access to Information Rule 20.2, Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (and their Sub-Committees and Working Groups) will be entitled 
to copies of any documents which are in the possession or control of the Cabinet (or its 
Committees) and which contain material relating to: 

(a) any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the Cabinet or its Committees; 
or 

440



 

181 

(b) any decision taken by an individual Member of the Cabinet; or 

(c) any decision taken by an Officer of the Authority exercising a Cabinet function. 

Copies of documents requested under this Rule must be supplied within 10 working days of 
receipt of the request. 

20.2 Limitation 

Subject to Access to Information Rule 21, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not be entitled to: 

(a) any document that is in draft form; 
(b) any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential information, unless that 

information is relevant to an action or decision they are reviewing or scrutinising or intend 
to scrutinise, or is accessible in accordance with Access to Information Rule 21.4 below. 

21.0 ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS BY MEMBERS 

21.1 Documents Relating to Business to be Transacted at a Public meeting 

All Members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any document (except those available only in 
draft form) in the possession or under the control of the Cabinet or its Committees which contains 
material relating to any business to be transacted at a public meeting. Any document must be 
available for inspection at least 5 clear days before the day of the meeting except: 

(a) where the meeting is convened at shorter notice, the document must be available for 
inspection when the meeting is convened; and 

(b) where an item is added to the Agenda at shorter notice, a document that would be required 
to be available must be available for inspection when the item is added on the Agenda. 

All such documents will be made available by publishing on the Councils’ website. 

21.2 Documents Relating to Business to be Transacted at a Private meeting 

Any document which is in the possession or under control of the Cabinet and contains material 
relating to any business transacted at a private meeting will be available for Members to inspect at 
the offices of the Democratic Services section, subject to Access to Information Rule 21.4 below. 
This Rule does not provide a right to copy such documents. 

Where access is restricted to a document under this provision, the restriction is determined by the 
Director for Sustainability & Resources, having taken account of the advice of the Monitoring 
Officer. 

21.3 Disclosure of Documents after the Decision 

Any document which is in the possession or under control of the Cabinet and contains material 
relating to: 

(a) any business transacted at a public meeting; 
(b) any decision made by an individual Member of the Cabinet in accordance with Executive 

Arrangements; 
(c) any decision made by an Officer in accordance with Executive Arrangements; 

must be available for inspection by a Member immediately after the meeting concludes, or where a 
Cabinet decision is made by an Officer, immediately after the decision has been made (and in any 
event, within 24 hours). 

  

441



 

182 

21.4 Access to Confidential and Exempt Information 

The entitlement to access to, or inspection of, documents does not extend to a document that 
contains confidential or exempt information unless the exemption solely relates to paragraphs 3 or 
6 of the exemptions in Access to Information Rule 9.2 (except where the information relates to any 
terms proposed by or to the Authority in the course of negotiations of contract). 

Nothing in these Rules requires the disclosure of confidential information that breaches the 
obligation of confidence. 

Nothing in these Rules requires the disclosure of a document, or part of a document where advice 
had been provided by a political adviser or assistant. 

Members will therefore often be able to access reports which are exempt, but there may be 
occasions when information: 

(a) is highly sensitive and involves complex negotiations; 
(b) relates to a significant litigation risk; 
(c) relates to sensitive personal information where the data subject would reasonably expect 

such information to be restricted only to decision-makers. 

22.0 CONFIDENTIALITY OF COUNCIL BUSINESS 

22.1 Confidential Information 

Any item of business at Full Council, a Committee or Sub-Committee which is deemed to be 
confidential shall require that the relevant body's discussion in relation to the item be kept 
confidential and may only be disclosed to, and discussed by, the following: 

(a) Elected Members of the Council; 
(b) other persons appointed under Section 102 of the 1972 Act as Members of Committees 

or Sub-Committees; 
(c) such Officers of the Council as are concerned with the matter in the course of their duties 

including the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Financial Officer; 
(d) such other persons to whom in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, the item of business 

or report ought to be disclosed in order to comply with the Human Rights Act 1998 or any 
rule of law or to avoid maladministration by the Council; 

and there shall be no further disclosure of such report, item of Council business or discussion 
thereof to any other person whatsoever. 

The business referred to in this Rule consists of any item of Council business which has been 
agreed as being confidential by the Council, its Committees or Sub-Committees, or by the 
Monitoring Officer in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972. 

Information which has been deemed to be confidential may at some point in the future cease to be 
confidential and may be disclosed. Advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer in respect 
of confidential information. 

22.2 Working Party 

Subject to the Council Procedure Rules, a member of a working party set up by the Council shall 
not disclose a matter dealt with by or brought before the working party, without its permission 
until the proceedings of that working party have been reported to the Council or to the Committee 
or Sub-Committee which set it up, or the working party shall otherwise have concluded action on 
that matter. 

  

442



 

183 

23.0 ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 

These Rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere in this 
Constitution or the law. 
  

443



 

184 

Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 Definitions 
 
In these Rules: 

1.1.1 ‘The 2001 Regulations’ means the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
Regulations 2001; ‘The 2015 Regulations’ means the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015. 

1.1.2 ‘Appointor’ means, in relation to the appointment of a person as an Officer of the 
Authority, the Authority or, where a Committee, Sub-Committee or Officer is discharging 
the function of appointment on behalf of the Authority, that Committee, Sub-Committee or 
Officer, as the case may be; 

1.1.3 ‘Disciplinary Action’ in relation to an Officer of the Council means any action occasioned 
by alleged misconduct which, if proven, would, according to the Council’s usual practice, 
be recorded on the member of staff's personal file. This includes any proposal for 
dismissal of a member of staff for any reason other than redundancy, permanent ill-health 
or infirmity of mind or body, but does not include failure to renew a contract of employment 
for a fixed term unless the Authority has undertaken to renew such a contract; 

1.1.4 ‘Dismissor’ means, in relation to the dismissal of an Officer of the Authority, the Authority 
or, where a Committee, Sub-Committee or another Officer is discharging the function of 
dismissal on behalf of the Authority, that Committee, Sub-Committee or other Officer, as 
the case may be; 

1.1.5 ‘Head of Paid Service’ means the Officer designated under Section 4(1) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989; 

1.1.6 ‘Chief Finance Officer’ means the Officer having responsibility, for the purposes of Section 
151 of the Local Government Act 1972, for the administration of the Council’s financial 
affairs; 

1.1.7 ‘Monitoring Officer’ means the Officer designated under Section 5(1) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989; 

1.1.8 ‘Directors’ means those Officers who shall report directly to the Chief Executive and shall 
have managerial responsibility for a directorate consisting of not less than 4 services; 

1.1.9 ‘Statutory Chief Officer’ means, for the purposes of these provisions, the Chief Finance 
Officer; 

1.1.10 ‘Non-Statutory Chief Officer’ means a person for whom the Head of Paid Service is 
directly responsible or a person who, with respect to all or most of the duties of their post, 
is required to report directly or is directly accountable to either the Head of Paid Service or 
to the Council itself or any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council; except a person 
whose duties are solely secretarial or clerical or are otherwise in the nature of support 
services; 

1.1.11 ‘Deputy Chief Officer’ means a person who, with respect to all or most of the duties of 
their post, is required to report directly or is directly accountable to one or more of the 
Statutory or Non-Statutory Chief Officers; except a person whose duties are solely 
secretarial or clerical or are otherwise in the nature of support services; 

444



 

185 

1.1.12 ‘Joint Senior Staff Committee’ means a Committee set up in accordance with the Adur 
District Council and Worthing Borough Council Joint Committee Agreement dated 27th 
July 2007, as amended from time to time. For the purposes of these Procedure Rules, at 
least one Member of the Cabinet of each Council must be a Member of this Committee. 

1.2 General 

Other than as set out elsewhere in these Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the function of 
recruitment, appointment, disciplinary action and dismissal in respect of all staff other than the 
Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer, and the Monitoring Officer, will be discharged, on 
behalf of the Council, by the Head of Paid Service or an Officer nominated by the Head of Paid 
Service. Such functions will be carried out in accordance with the Council’s Staffing Policies, as 
adopted from time to time. 

1.3 Posts 
 
For ease of reference, the posts which fall under the relevant definitions in these Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules, at the time of writing, are as follows: 
 

Definition Relevant Post 

Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 

Statutory Chief Officer  Chief Finance Officer  

Monitoring Officer Assistant Director Legal and Democratic Services 

Non-Statutory Chief Officers Directors 
Assistant Director People and Change 
Head of Policy 

Deputy Chief Officers All staff, other than clerical, who are direct reports of: 
Directors 
Chief Finance Officer  
Assistant Director People and Change 
Head of Policy 

 
2.0 RECRUITMENT 

 
2.1 Declarations 
 
A candidate for any employment with the Council, or a staff member involved in a transfer, 
promotion or disciplinary matter, shall disclose whether they are related to, or cohabits with, any 
Member or other Officer who may have an influence on the decision. Failure to make such a 
disclosure may result in any appointment being rescinded and, in the case of an employee, 
disciplinary action. 

The requirements of any Code of Conduct relating to Members’ interests shall apply to the 
appointment, transfer, promotion, discipline and other matters relating to staff. 

2.2 Support for Appointment 
 
Canvassing of any Member of the Council, or any person appointed to discharge any function in 
relation to a Committee or Officer of the Council shall disqualify the candidate concerned in such 
canvassing for that appointment. The purport of this paragraph shall be included in any form of 
application issued in relation to any proposed appointment. 

A Member of the Council shall not solicit for any person any appointment under the Council and 
shall not provide any written testimonial of a candidate’s ability, experience or character for 
submission to the Authority. 

445



 

186 

All vacancies on the Council’s staffing establishment that are to be filled shall be advertised 
internally. 

2.3 Confidentiality 
 
The Council, the Cabinet, a Committee, a Sub-Committee or a Panel shall, unless there are 
exceptional circumstances which dictate otherwise, resolve to exclude the press and public under 
Section 100A of the 1972 Act where matters relating to the appointment, promotion, dismissal or 
discipline, severance, salary or conditions of an individual member of staff are to be discussed. 

2.4 Recruitment of Head of Paid Service, Statutory Chief Officer, Non-Statutory Chief 
Officers, Deputy Chief Officers and Monitoring Officer. 

 
2.4.1 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, 

Statutory Chief Officer, Non-Statutory Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer, and it is not 
proposed that the appointment will be made exclusively from among their existing Officers, 
the Head of Paid Service or their delegate will: 

(a) draw up a statement specifying: 
(i) the duties of the Officer concerned; and 
(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed; 

(b) advertise the post in such a way as is likely to bring it to the attention of persons who 
are qualified to apply for it; and 

(c) send a copy of the statement mentioned in paragraph (a) above to any person on 
request. 

(d) The Head of Paid Service will notify consult with the Leader of the Council in advance 
of any recruitment process for the appointment of a non-statutory Chief Officer. 

 
2.4.2 Where a post has been advertised as provided in paragraph 2.4.1, the Joint Senior Staff 

Committee or Head of Paid Service, or their delegate, in accordance with paragraph 3 
below, will: 

 
(a) interview all qualified applicants for the post; or 
(b) select a short list of such qualified applicants and interview those included on the short 

list; or 
(c) if no qualified person has applied, the Council will make further arrangements for 

advertisement in accordance with paragraph 2.4.1(b). 

3.0 APPOINTMENT 
 
3.1  Power to Appoint 
 
3.1.1 Subject to paragraph 3.1.2 and 3.2 below, the Joint Senior Staff Committee will be 

responsible for the function of recommending to Full Council the appointment of the Head 
of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

 
3.1.2 The power to approve the appointment of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer 

and Monitoring Officer shall be exercised by Full Council, subject to the consultation 
required under paragraph 3.2.2 where, for the purposes of this paragraph, ‘the Committee’ 
is to be read as ‘Full Council’. 

 
3.1.3 The Head of Paid Service, or their nominated representative, shall be responsible for the 

function of the appointment of Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers. The 
Head of Paid Service’s nominated representative may include an Officer of the Council of 
the appropriate level of seniority, or an external expert, provided that such representative 
shall have, in the opinion of the Head of Paid Service, the appropriate level of 
independence, knowledge, expertise and competence. 

 

446



 

187 

3.2 Consultation Procedure for Appointment 
 
3.2.1 Except as provided for in paragraph 3.1.2, paragraph 3.2.2 applies to the appointment of 

Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers. 
 
3.2.2 An offer of appointment to any of those Officers must not be made by the Appointor until: 

(a) The Appointor has notified the Monitoring Officer of the name of the person to whom 
the Appointer wishes to make the offer and any other particulars which the Appointor 
considers are relevant to the appointment, including evidence and reasons for the 
choice of preferred candidate; 

(b) The Monitoring Officer has notified every Member of the Cabinet of the Council of: 
(i) the name of the person to whom the Appointor wishes to make the offer, and the 

reasons why they are the Appointor’s preferred candidate, including evidence; 
(ii) any other particulars relevant to the appointment which the Appointor has notified 

to the Monitoring Officer; and  
(iii) the period within which any objection to the making of the offer is to be made by 

the Cabinet Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the Monitoring Officer; and 
(c) either: 

(i) the Cabinet Leader has, within the period specified in the notice under sub-
paragraph (b)(iii), notified the Monitoring Officer that neither they nor any other 
Member of the Cabinet has any objection to the making of the offer; or 

(ii) the Monitoring Officer has notified the Appointor that no objection was received by 
them within that period from the Cabinet Leader; or 

(iii) the Appointor is satisfied that any objection received from the Cabinet Leader 
within that period is not material or is not well-founded. 

 
3.3 Appointment of Senior Officers 
 

Post Appointment Conditions 

Head of Paid Service Joint Senior Staff Committee Requires approval of Full Council 

Chief Finance Officer Joint Senior Staff Committee Requires approval of Full Council 

Monitoring Officer Joint Senior Staff Committee Requires approval of Full Council 

Non-Statutory Chief 
Officers  

Head of Paid Service or 
nominee 

Requires consultation with the 
Cabinet 

Deputy Chief Officers  Head of Paid Service or 
nominee 

Requires consultation with the 
Cabinet 

 
4.0 DISCIPLINARY ACTION 
 
4.1 Investigation of alleged misconduct 

4.1.1 This paragraph applies to Disciplinary Action in respect of the Head of Paid Service, 
Statutory Chief Officer, Monitoring Officer, Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief 
Officers, subject to the express provisions in paragraph 4.2 relating to the Head of Paid 
Service, Monitoring Officer and Statutory Chief Officer. 

 
4.1.2 Subject to paragraph 4.2 the Joint Senior Staff Committee will investigate and consider any 

alleged misconduct in respect of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and 
Monitoring Officer, and decide, following receipt of the report of the Independent Panel, 
upon any Disciplinary Action to be taken, as necessary, in accordance with any Council 
Staffing Policies which have been adopted by the Council from time to time. 

 
4.1.3 Subject to paragraphs 4.1.2 and 4.2, the Head of Paid Service or their nominated 

representative, will investigate any alleged misconduct in respect of Non-Statutory Chief 
Officers and Deputy Chief Officers, as necessary, in accordance with any Council Staffing 
Policies which have been adopted by the Council from time to time. The Head of Paid 
Service’s nominated representative may include an Officer of the Council, of the 

447



 

188 

appropriate level of seniority, or an external expert, provided that such representative shall 
have, in the opinion of the Head of Paid Service, the appropriate level of independence, 
knowledge, expertise and competence. Pending the outcome of such investigation the Non-
Statutory Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer may be suspended by the Head of Paid 
Service or their nomination representative. Such suspension will be for no longer than is 
necessary to investigate the allegations and will be on full pay, other than in exceptional 
circumstances.  

 
4.2 Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 
 
4.2.1 The Council’s Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer cannot be 

dismissed by the Authority unless the procedure set out in paragraph 4.2 is complied with. 
 

4.2.2 Where an allegation of misconduct in respect of the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer or Chief Finance Officer requires an investigation, an Independent Panel will be 
formed for this purpose.  
 

4.2.3 Pending the report of such an Independent Panel the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring 
Officer and the Chief Finance Officer may be suspended by the Joint Senior Staff 
Committee whilst the alleged misconduct by the Officer is investigated. Any such 
suspension will be for a maximum period of two calendar months and will be on full pay. 
 

4.2.4 In consulting an Independent Panel to deal with such allegations of misconduct, the Joint 
Senior Staff Committee will invite Independent Persons who have been appointed for the 
purposes of the Members’ Conduct Regime under Section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 
to form an Independent Panel. An Independent Panel will be formed if two or more 
Independent Persons accept the invitation. If it has not been possible to appoint such a 
Panel following invitations to the Council’s appointed Independent Persons, then further 
invitation may be made to Independent Persons appointed by another Council. 
 

4.2.5 The role of the Independent Panel is to: 
(a) Investigate the alleged misconduct; 
(b) Prepare a report setting out the conclusions of their investigation, and any advice, views 

or recommendations as to any proposed disciplinary or other action, including 
dismissal. 

 
4.2.6 In carrying out its investigation the Panel may: 

(a) Inspect any documents relating to the conduct of the relevant Officer which are in the 
possession of the Council, or which the Council has the power to authorise them to 
inspect; and 

(b) Require any Officer or Elected Member to answer questions concerning the conduct of 
the relevant Officer. 

 
4.2.7 If the recommendation of the Independent Panel is disciplinary action, other than dismissal, 

the Panel will report back to the Joint Senior Staff Committee, which will consider the report 
and may impose disciplinary action other than dismissal. 
 

4.2.8 Where the Independent Panel or the Joint Senior Staff Committee recommends dismissal, 
the matter must be dealt with by a meeting of the Full Council. At least 20 working days 
after the Independent Panel has been appointed, a meeting of each Full Council (Adur 
District Council and Worthing Borough Council) will be held. 
 

4.2.9 The Council meeting must receive the report of the Independent Panel. Before taking a 
vote at such a Council meeting on whether or not to approve such a proposed dismissal, 
the Council must take into account: 
(a) Any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel; 
(b) The conclusions of any investigation into the alleged misconduct; 

448



 

189 

(c) Any representations from the relevant Officer or their representative. 
 

4.2.10 A Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer attending a Council 
meeting where proposed disciplinary action against them is being considered, is entitled to 
make both oral and written representations to Council, as is their representative, who may 
be a colleague, a Union representative, a companion or a lawyer. 

 
4.3 Disciplinary Action of Senior Officers 
 

Post Investigation Notes Appeal 

Head of Paid 
Service, Chief 
Finance Officer 
and Monitoring 
Officer 

Independent Panel who 
presents findings to Joint 
Senior Staff Committee who 
have the power to impose 
disciplinary action other than 
dismissal. 

Decision to dismiss 
must be taken by 
Council 

None 

Non-Statutory 
Chief Officers 
and Deputy 
Chief Officers 

Head of Paid Service or their 
representative 

Decision to dismiss may 
only be taken by the 
Joint Senior Staff 
Committee following 
consultation with the 
Cabinet.  

Head of Paid 
Service or their 
representative 

 
5.0 DISMISSAL 
 
5.1  Power to Dismiss 
 
5.1.1 Full Council will be responsible for the function of dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, the 

Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer. 
 
5.1.2 Subject to paragraph 5.2, the Head of Paid Service, or a representative nominated by them, 

shall decide upon any disciplinary action to be taken, following a disciplinary hearing, and 
shall be responsible for the function of dismissal of Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy 
Chief Officers. The Head of Paid Service’s nominated representative may include an Officer 
of the Council, of the appropriate level of seniority, or an external expert, provided that such 
representative shall have, in the opinion of the Head of Paid Service, the appropriate level 
of independence, knowledge, expertise and competence. Such nominated representative 
may not be the same individual responsible for the investigation into alleged misconduct as 
identified at paragraph 4.1.3 and must be wholly independent from that individual.  

 
5.2 Consultation Procedure for Dismissal 
 
5.2.1 Paragraph 5.2.2 applies to the dismissal of the Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy 

Chief Officers. 
 
5.2.2 Notice of the dismissal of any of those Officers in paragraph 5.2.1 must not be given by the 

Dismissor until: 
(a) the Dismissor has notified the Monitoring Officer of the name of the person whom the 

Dismissor wishes to dismiss and any other particulars which the Dismissor considers 
are relevant to the dismissal, including a summary of the evidence heard at the 
disciplinary hearing and the reasons for the proposed decision; 

(b) the Monitoring Officer has notified every Member of the Cabinet of the Council of: 
(i) the name of the person whom the Dismissor wishes to dismiss and the reasons for 

the decision; 
(ii) any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the Dismissor has notified to 

the Monitoring Officer; and 

449



 

190 

(iii) the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to be made by the Cabinet 
Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the Monitoring Officer; and 

(c) either: 
(i) the Cabinet Leader has, within the period specified in the notice under sub-

paragraph (b)(iii), notified the Monitoring Officer that neither they nor any other 
Member of the Cabinet has any objection to the dismissal; 

(ii) the Monitoring Officer has notified the Dismissor that no objection was received by 
them within that period from the Cabinet Leader; or 

(iii) the Dismissor is satisfied that any objection received from the Cabinet Leader 
within that period is not material or is not well-founded. 

5.3 Appeals 
 
5.3.1 Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers who feel that the outcome of 

Disciplinary Action against them is wrong or unjust may appeal in accordance with any 
relevant Council Staffing Policies to the Head of Paid Service or their nominated 
representative. The Head of Paid Service’s nominated representative may include an 
Officer of the Council, of the appropriate level of seniority, or an external expert, provided 
that such representative shall have, in the opinion of the Head of Paid Service, the 
appropriate level of independence, knowledge, expertise and competence. Such nominated 
representative must not be the same individual responsible for the disciplinary action or the 
dismissal, identified at paragraph 5.1.2, and nor may they be the same individual 
responsible for the investigation of alleged misconduct identified at paragraph 4.1.3 and 
must be wholly independent from those individuals. 

 
5.3.2 The Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer shall have no right 

of appeal against disciplinary action within the Councils. 

6.0 SPECIAL SEVERANCE PAYMENTS 
 

6.1 In deciding whether it is good value to make any payments on termination of employment 
that are additional, discretionary sums paid on top of statutory and contractual redundancy 
or severance terms, e.g. under the terms of a settlement agreement, enhancement of 
standard pension benefits, PILON payments, etc (‘Special Severance Payments’), the 
Council must demonstrate the economic rationale (including the availability of budgetary 
resources) and seek legal advice on the prospects of successfully defending an 
Employment Tribunal claim. 
 

6.2 Special Severance Payments must be approved as follows: 
(a) £100,000 and over (and in all cases for the Head of Paid Service) - Full Council;  
(b) £20,000-£100,000 - the Head of Paid Service with the Leader’s approval;  
(c) Under £20,000 - according to the Scheme of Officer Delegation.  

 
6.3 The Council will include in its annual accounts all severance payments and pension strain 

costs made in connection with termination of employment or loss of office. 
  

450



 

191 

Officer Scheme of Delegations 
 
1. GENERAL PRINCIPLES 
 
Introduction 
 
1.1 These delegations are made under the powers contained in the Local Government Act 1972 

(as amended), Section 101 and by reference to section 100G and the Local Government Act 
2000, Sections 14,19 and 20, the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(England) Regulations 2000 (as amended) and all other enabling powers. 

 
1.2 An officer or other person is authorised to exercise such powers as are shown in the Scheme 

of Delegations including those reasonably applied or incidental to the matters specified in 
respect of the functions of the Council. 

 
When a Post is Vacant or a Post-holder is Absent 
 
1.3 For the purposes of this Scheme, if the post of an officer to whom a function is delegated (or 

which they have been appointed as a Proper Officer) is vacant or if the post-holder is absent 
on leave (of whatever type), unless the function is exercisable by an officer who has the 
appropriate sub-delegation or the Council otherwise decides the following shall apply: 

 
1.4 In the case of the Chief Executive, the delegation shall be exercisable by an Acting Chief 

Executive (to include an Interim Chief Executive) or any one of the Directors, provided that 
the Acting Chief Executive or Director has the requisite professional qualification, experience 
and knowledge, where such is required. 

 
1.5 In the case of a Director, the delegation shall be exercisable by the Chief Executive or 

another Director, provided that the Chief Executive or Director has the requisite professional 
qualification, experience and knowledge, where such is required. 

 
1.6 In the case of the Section 151 Officer, the delegation shall be exercisable by a Deputy 

Section 151 Officer in relation to matters which are the responsibility of the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
1.7 In the case of the Monitoring Officer, the delegation shall be exercisable by a Deputy 

Monitoring Officer in relation to matters which are the responsibility of the Monitoring Officer.  
 
1.8 In the case of Heads of Service, the delegation shall be exercisable by the Chief Executive or 

a Director, provided that the Chief Executive or Director has the requisite professional 
qualification, experience and knowledge, where such is required. 

 
1.9 Any post specifically referred to shall be deemed to include any successor post, or a post 

which includes within the job description, elements relevant to any particular delegation, 
which were also present in the earlier post and shall include anyone acting up or seconded. 

 
All Decisions made by Officers 
 
1.10 Where decisions are taken by officers under delegated powers the following conditions and 

rules shall apply: 
 
1.11 All delegations shall be exercised in accordance with the Constitution, all relevant policies 

and procedures of the Council and all relevant legislative provisions, subject to paragraph 4 
below. 

 
1.12 Any officer exercising a delegation shall only do so where provision has been made for any 

expenditure within the relevant budget or otherwise in accordance with the Financial 

451



 

192 

Procedure Rules. 
 
1.13 Any officer exercising a delegation shall not do so in a manner which is contrary to any 

resolution of Full Council, Cabinet, an Individual Cabinet Member or a Committee. 
 
1.14 Any officer exercising a delegation shall do so having regard to Health & Safety 

requirements. 
 
1.15 Any officer exercising a delegation shall do so having regard to Equalities requirements. 
 
1.16 Any officer exercising a delegation shall do so having regard to Data Protection 

requirements. 
 
1.17 Any officer exercising a delegation is responsible for carrying out any consultation necessary 

under this Scheme. Such consultation shall be in writing, unless due to urgency that is not 
practicable, in which case there may be oral consultation which may be confirmed, by the 
Officer undertaking the consultation to the consultee in writing, as soon as reasonably 
practicable and, in any event, within 5 working days. 

 
1.18 Any officer to whom a delegation is given may waive their right to exercise the delegation and 

refer the matter to the original delegate for a decision or to Full Council, Cabinet, an 
Individual Cabinet Member or relevant Committee, as appropriate. 

 
1.19 Where an officer has the authority to take decisions, any action taken to implement such 

decisions may be taken in the name of (but not necessarily personally by) that officer, or any 
other officer authorised by that officer in accordance with paragraph 6 below. 

 
1.20 Any decision which could subject the Council to legal liability shall be taken in consultation 

with the Monitoring Officer. 
 
1.21 Any decision which has financial implications other than those budgeted for shall be taken in 

consultation with the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
1.22 Unless specifically stated, no delegation authorises the taking of decisions as to whether or 

not legal action should be taken by or on behalf of the Council. 
 
1.23 Officers shall not have the power to exercise any delegation where an individual officer is 

required by law to hold a relevant qualification and they do not hold that qualification. 
 
1.24 Officers shall not have the power to exercise any delegations which fall outside the 

individual’s actual authority as determined by their post. 
 
1.25 Officers shall not have the power to exercise any delegations in a situation where an 

individual officer is prevented, for whatever proper reason, from exercising such power. 
 
1.26 Subject to any express instructions to the contrary from the delegated body, any power to 

approve also includes the power to refuse, and the power to impose appropriate conditions. 
 
1.27 Functions, matters, powers, authorisations, delegations, duties and responsibilities, shall be 

construed in a broad and inclusive fashion, and shall include the doing of anything which is 
calculated to facilitate, or is conducive, or incidental, to the discharge of anything specified. 

 
Emergency Powers 
 
1.28 For the purposes of this Scheme, an emergency is defined as a situation which poses an 

immediate risk to Council services or the wellbeing of residents, for which urgent action is 
needed and which cannot be dealt with using the Councils usual processes and procedures. 

452



 

193 

 
1.29 In cases of emergency the Chief Executive (or their nominee) may, if justified by all of the 

circumstances, exercise delegations to take urgent action on behalf of the Council in a 
manner which is not in accordance with usual Council policies or procedures and/or where 
provision has not been made in any budget, in order to prevent or mitigate the emergency 
(see 2.1.2 below). 

 
1.30 A written record of the reasons for exercising emergency powers and deviating from the 

policies and procedure and/or causing expenditure without a relevant budget shall then be 
provided as soon as practicably possible to the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer by the relevant officer. 

 
Sub-Delegations 
 
1.31 Where an Officer is authorised to act, either under this Scheme or by a specific resolution of 

Full Council, Cabinet, an Individual Cabinet Member or a Committee, they may further 
delegate the authority to exercise a specific power to another Officer, whilst still retaining the 
delegation themselves. 

 
1.32 Before making a sub-delegation, the delegating officer must give consideration to and be 

satisfied that the officer to whom they are sub-delegating is of an appropriate level bearing in 
mind the nature of the delegation. 

 
1.33 Any such sub-delegation is subject to the existing consultation and limitation requirements, 

and further consultation or limitation can be applied when sub delegating. 
 
1.34 All sub-delegations must be made in writing and a copy provided to the Monitoring Officer 

within five working days. The Monitoring Officer shall maintain a central register of sub-
delegations which shall be available on the intranet. 

 
1.35 No sub-delegations may be further delegated, unless there is express permission from the 

original delegating officer that the specific power can be delegated further. Such permission 
should be included in the written record of the sub-delegation provided under paragraph 
1.5.4. When deciding whether to permit further sub-delegation, the same consideration 
should be given as outlined in paragraph 1.5.2. 

 
1.36 In the event that a post to which a delegation or function is given ceases to exist and its 

responsibilities are transferred to another post temporarily or permanently then the 
delegations given under this scheme shall be exercisable by the post to which the 
responsibilities have been transferred. There should be written confirmation of the change in 
responsibilities from the line manager, which shall be provided to the Monitoring Officer to be 
retained with the central copy of the scheme of delegations. 

 
1.37 Where an officer is authorised to act, either under this Scheme or by a specific resolution of 

Full Council, Cabinet, an Individual Cabinet Member or a Committee, they may further 
delegate the authority to exercise a specific power on behalf of this Council to an Officer of 
another Council, whilst still retaining the delegation themselves. All other provisions of 
paragraph 1.5 of this Scheme must be complied with when exercising this provision. 

 
Proper Officers/Authorised Officers 
 
1.38 Those officers designated as Proper Officers, authorised officers, appropriate person or any 

other statutory description of officer listed in this Scheme shall exercise the powers, and have 
the responsibilities, attributed to them by legislation. 

 
1.39 The Chief Executive and any other officer expressly authorised by this Scheme may appoint 

any appropriate officer to be a Proper Officer, authorised officer, appropriate person or any 

453



 

194 

other statutory description of officer (unless legislation requires the appointment to be made 
by Full Council) and written confirmation of such appointment shall be provided to the 
Monitoring Officer within five working days and made available on the intranet. 

 
Interpretation 
 
1.40 Any reference to an Act, Order or other legal provision shall include a reference to any 

modification or re-enactment thereof and any reference to any Directive, Act, Order or other 
legal provision shall include any Regulations, Orders, Rules, Instruments, Directions, 
Statutory Guidance or other legal provision made thereunder. 

 
1.41 ‘Appropriate Director’ shall mean the Director responsible for the function to which the 

particular exercise of the delegation applies. 
 
1.42 ‘Appropriate Assistant Director’ shall mean the Assistant Director or Head of Service 

responsible for the function/service to which the particular exercise of the delegation applies. 
 
1.43 ‘Consultation’ shall mean seeking the comments of the person(s) to be consulted. 

Consultation shall not mean obtaining the consent of the person(s) to be consulted. A written 
record of the consultation shall be retained by the officer. 

 
1.44 ‘The Council’ shall mean The Borough Council of Worthing or the District Council of Adur, as 

appropriate. 
 
2.  DELEGATIONS: GENERAL FUNCTIONS – CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS, 

ASSISTANT DIRECTORS & HEADS OF SERVICE 
 

Subject to the foregoing, there are delegated to the Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors 
and/or Heads of Service those matters detailed in column 2 subject to the consultation 
requirements set out in column 3 and the limitations in column 4 below. 
    
2.1  Chief Executive   

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

2.1.1  The taking of any action required in connection with the 
organisation or holding of neighbourhood, parish, district, 
county, Parliamentary, police commissioner elections or 
referenda. 

  

2.1.2  To take Urgent action on behalf of the Council. 
 
‘Urgent’ means a matter of pressing importance requiring 
swift action given the gravity of the situation, to prevent 
damage (or further damage) to life, limb, infrastructure or 
the financial integrity of the Councils. 

The relevant 
Leader, or in 
their absence, 
the relevant 
Deputy Leader 
or the 
Leaders, or in 
their absence 
the Deputy 
Leaders, 
where 
appropriate. 

A report on the 
use of urgency 
powers to be 
taken to the 
first available 
Council 
meeting. So far 
as applicable, 
any decisions/ 
actions taken 
shall only take 
effect on a 
temporary 
basis until a 
Committee/ 
Member 
decision has 
been made. 

2.1.3  The approval of Special Severance Payments between 
£20,000-£100,000 

Consultation 
with and 

Subject to 
demonstrating 

454



 

195 

approval of 
the Leader 

the economic 
rationale 
(including the 
availability of 
budgetary 
resources) and 
seeking legal 
advice on the 
prospects of 
successfully 
defending an 
Employment 
Tribunal claim 

2.2  Chief Executive and all Directors   
No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

2.2.1  Grant, review, renew and cancel authorisations under the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act, 2000 in accordance 
with the Council’s surveillance policy. 

  

2.2.2  Incur expenditure on the reception and entertainment by 
way of official courtesy of persons representative of or 
connected with local government or other public services 
whether inside or outside the United Kingdom. 

 In accordance 
with the 
Financial 
Procedure 
Rules. 

2.3  Director for Housing & Communities   
No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

2.3.1  The taking of a decision as to whether or not the Council will 
tolerate unlawful encampments for a specified period and 
purpose, and to keep that decision under constant review. 

  

2.3.2 To determine matters relating to the failure of a Member to 
attend meetings for a period in excess of 6 months 

  

2.3.3 To be the Councils’ lead Officer responsible for 
Safeguarding matters 

  

2.4  Director for Sustainability & Resources   

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

2.4.1  To respond to requests under Data Protection and Freedom 
of Information legislation 

 With the 
exception of 
requests for 
review and 
appeals 

2.4.2  To act as the Senior Information Risk Owner for both 
Councils in respect of the function of Information Security. 

  

2.4.3  To be the Councils’ Senior Responsible Officer for matters 
related to the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. 

  

2.4.4  To be the link officer with the Commissioner for Local 
Administration in England (‘Local Government 
Ombudsman’) 

Monitoring 
Officer (to 
reflect the 
statutory role 
of the 
Monitoring 
Officer in 
respect of 
maladministrat
ion) and the 
appropriate 
Assistant 
Director 

 

455



 

196 

2.4.5  To authorise payments or the provision of other benefits 
under s.92 Local Government Act, 2000 (payments in cases 
of maladministration) or by way of local settlement in 
relation to Local Government Ombudsman complaints. 

Appropriate 
Assistant 
Director, 
Monitoring 
Officer and, if 
over £1000, 
Chief 
Financial 
Officer 

 

2.4.6  To convene meetings of Full Council, Cabinet, Cabinet 
Members, Committees and other bodies. 

Mayor, 
Leader, 
Cabinet 
Member or 
Chair as 
appropriate 

 

2.4.7  To cancel meetings of Full Council, Cabinet, Cabinet 
Members, Committees and other bodies. 

Mayor, 
Leader, 
Cabinet 
Member or 
Chair as 
appropriate 

 

2.5  Director for Place   

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

2.5.1  To manage the relationship between Worthing Borough 
Council and Worthing Theatres Trust  

  

2.5.2  To manage the relationship between Worthing Borough 
Council and South Downs Leisure Trust 

  

2.5.3  To manage the relationship between Adur District Council 
and South Downs Leisure Trust 

  

2.5.4  To act on behalf of Worthing Borough Council as Trustee of 
Highdown Gardens Trust and Chalk Pit Charity Trust 

 Limited to 
being 
exercised in 
respect of day 
to day 
management 
activities and 
administrative 
matters only. 

2.5.5  To act on behalf of Adur District Council as Trustee of Adur 
Recreation Ground and The Green  

 Limited to 
being 
exercised in 
respect of day 
to day 
management 
activities and 
administrative 
matters only. 

2.6  Chief Executive, all Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

 General   

2.6.1  To manage the functions for which they are responsible.   

2.6.2  To make minor amendments to any Policy, Strategy, 
Consultation or similar document and sign notices, other 
than legal notices, arising from any decision of the Council. 

  

456



 

197 

2.6.3  To respond to consultations. The Leader 
and relevant 
Cabinet 
Member (in 
respect of 
Executive 
matters) or the 
relevant 
committee (in 
respect of 
non-Executive 
matters) 

 

2.6.4  To dispose of lost or uncollected property  Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 

 

2.6.5  To procure goods and services  Assistant 
Director 
Regenerative 
Development 
(Procurement) 

In accordance 
with Contract 
Standing 
Orders 

2.6.6  To exercise powers and determine all matters relating to the 
supply of goods and services to other local authorities and 
public bodies in respect of the functions for which they are 
responsible. 

Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 
Chief 
Financial 
Officer 

 

2.6.7  To carry out minor development for which planning 
permission is not required. 

Head Planning  

 Contracts   

2.6.8  To do all matters in relation to procurement and the letting 
of contracts. 

Where 
specified in 
Contract 
Standing 
Orders,  
Assistant 
Director 
Finance and  
Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 

In accordance 
with Contract 
Standing 
Orders 

 Financial   
2.6.9  To take any action authorised by Financial Standing Orders.   

2.6.10  To manage budgets allocated to the functions for which 
they are responsible, including authority to incur 
expenditure on items included in the approved Revenue 
Estimates or Capital Programme, except where the Council 
has placed a reservation on any such item. 

 In accordance 
with the 
Financial 
Procedure 
Rules 

2.6.11  To write off amounts as irrecoverable Where 
specified in 
Financial 
Standing 
Orders, Chief 
Financial 
Officer 

In accordance 
with the 
Financial 
Procedure 
Rules 

457



 

198 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources 

2.6.12  To determine and award grant applications in relation to the 
functions for which they are responsible, other than award 
of grants to voluntary sector organisations. 

Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 

In accordance 
with the 
Financial 
Procedure 
Rules 

2.6.13  To vary, in exceptional circumstances, fixed fees and 
charges. 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member 

 

2.6.14  To determine charges for the use of relevant services and 
events not covered by the annual review of fees and 
charges 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member 

 

2.6.15  To submit bids to outside bodies for grant funding. Chief 
Financial 
Officer 
Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 

 

 Assets   
2.6.16  To dispose of surplus assets (other than land and buildings) 

which are not of historical significance, interest or value. 
In consultation 
with the 
relevant 
Cabinet 
Member 

In accordance 
with the 
Financial 
Procedure 
Rules 

 Land   

2.6.17  To manage land, property (including rent reviews) and other 
assets allocated to the functions for which they are 
responsible. 

  

2.6.18  To vary the terms and conditions of leases and licences or 
negotiate the surrender of leases and licenses. 

  

2.6.19  To give landlord's consent for uses, subject to planning 
permission. 

  

 Legal   

2.6.20  To make application for warrants of entry to land or property 
under the provisions of any legislation, other than warrants 
for possession of land or property, in relation to functions for 
which they are responsible. 

Where 
practicable, 
with the 
Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 

 

2.6.21  To sign, issue and serve all notices required by statute or 
otherwise to be given by the Council and all necessary 
advertisements, in relation to functions for which they are 
responsible. 

  

2.6.22  To issue fixed penalty notices and community penalty 
notices where permitted by statute in relation to the 
functions for which they are responsible. 

  

 Licences, notices etc.   

2.6.23  The determination of any application for permissions, 
consents or licences or for registration within the functions 
for which they are responsible. 

 Except where 
they are 
reserved to 
Council, 
Cabinet, 
Cabinet 

458



 

199 

Member or 
Committee 

2.6.24  The issue and service of any notice or requisition for 
information concerned with matters within the functions for 
which they are responsible. 

  

2.6.25  The carrying out of works in default following non-
compliance with any notice concerned with matters within 
the functions for which they are responsible. 

  

2.6.26  The management of any internal appeal, challenge or 
objection process against or in support of any of the 
Council’s decisions, other than before a court or tribunal. 

Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 

 

 Planning   
2.6.27  To make application for all consents required in relation to 

planning permission in respect of Council land or property in 
relation to the functions for which they are responsible. 

  

2.6.28  To make application for all consents required in relation to 
Building Regulation Approval in respect of Council land or 
property in relation to the functions for which they are 
responsible. 

  

 Cultural Facilities & Activities   

2.6.29  To exercise the Council’s functions relating to the provision 
and management of cultural facilities and activities. 

  

 Staffing matters   

2.6.30  To determine and take action in relation to all staff matters 
in accordance with the Officer Procedure Rules. 

Where 
specified in 
the Officer 
Procedure 
Rules, 
Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 
 Assistant 
Director 
People & 
Change 

In accordance 
with Officer 
Procedure 
Rules and all 
Council 
policies and 
procedures. 
 
To exclude the 
determination 
of 
redundancies 
(voluntary or 
otherwise) and 
the 
determination 
of termination 
of contracts of 
employment 
on the grounds 
of efficiency of 
the service. 

2.6.31  The approval of Special Severance Payments under 
£20,000 

 Subject to 
demonstrating 
the economic 
rationale 
(including the 
availability of 
budgetary 
resources) and 
seeking legal 
advice on the 
prospects of 

459



 

200 

successfully 
defending an 
Employment 
Tribunal claim 

 
 

3.  DELEGATIONS: SPECIFIC FUNCTIONS – ASSISTANT DIRECTORS AND HEADS 
OF SERVICE 

 
Subject to the foregoing, there are delegated to the Officer(s) listed below those matters detailed 
in column 2 subject to the consultation requirements in column 3 and limitations in column 4 
below. 
    

3.1  Assistant Director, Housing, Homelessness & Prevention 
No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.1.1  To determine and take all action 
in relation to the management 
and maintenance of the Council’s 
housing accommodation 
including the letting, transfer, 
exchange and repossession of 
dwellings, garages, open spaces 
and parking spaces. 

  

3.1.2  To exercise the Council’s 
functions relating to homeless 
persons. 

 With the exception of 
requests for reviews 
under s202 Housing Act 
1996.  

3.1.3  To determine applications for 
Housing Grants (not Social 
Housing Grants) and the taking of 
all steps concerned with 
certification of payment of the 
same. 

  

3.1.4  To devise, manage and maintain 
the Housing Register maintained 
by the Council under the relevant 
statutory provisions in 
accordance with the Council’s 
Housing Allocations Policy. 

  

3.1.5  To nominate people on the 
Council’s Housing Register to 
properties managed by Adur 
Homes and the Registered Social 
Landlords in accordance with the 
Council’s Housing Allocations 
Policy. 

  

3.1.6  To exercise the Council’s 
regulatory functions in relation to 
Caravan sites, Fitness and 
Standards of Housing and 
Houses in Multiple Occupation. 

  

3.1.7  To determine and where 
appropriate give consent for 
alterations or extensions to 
former Council houses and flats. 

  

3.1.8  To lease property or land in 
connection with the Council’s 

To be exercised only after 
consultation with the 

 

460



 

201 

housing function, for the purpose 
of providing emergency and 
temporary accommodation. 

relevant Leader, the 
Cabinet Member for 
Resources and the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

3.2  Head of Community, Capacity & Resilience 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.2.1  To implement the Council’s 
policies regarding Community 
Safety and the redirection of 
crime and disorder. 

  

3.2.2  To take any action to combat 
anti-social behaviour including 
the issue of fixed penalty notices 
and community protection 
notices. 

  

3.2.3  To exercise the Council’s 
regulatory functions relating to: 

Amenities on the highway 
Environmental protection 
Food Safety and Hygiene 
Gambling 
Gaming permits 
Hackney Carriages and 
Drivers 
Health and Safety at Work 
House to house collections 
Highway management * 
Licensable activities under 
the Licensing Act 2003 
Lotteries 
Leisure Boats 
Private Hire Vehicles drivers 
and operators 
Public Health (including 
airports and port health) 
Public Safety 
Registration Plates 
Scrap metal dealers 
Shops and Sunday trading 
Street Collections 
Street Trading ** 
Drainage, Water and 
Sewerage 
Animal Boarding Licenses 
Pet Shops 
The Breeding of Dogs 
Sex Establishments 
Hypnosis 
Electrolysis 
Acupuncture 
Semi-permanent skin 
colouring 
Tattooing 
Cosmetic piercing 

* Adur DC in relation to 
Highways Maintenance - 
the relevant Cabinet 
Member  
 
** Adur DC in relation to 
Street Trading - the 
relevant Cabinet Member  

 

3.2.4  To determine whether or not a 
simple caution should be 
administered following an 

Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

There must be a full 
admission 
It must be a minor matter 

461



 

202 

investigation into an alleged 
criminal offence 

It must be in the public 
interest 
It must be a first offence 
Copy to be sent with 
reasons to the Head of 
Legal Services 
To exclude the 
administration of the 
caution. 

3.2.5  All matters relating to the 
investigation of matters under the 
Health & Safety at Work 
legislation. 

Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

Duly appointed 
inspectors 

3.2.6  To exercise the Councils’ 
regulatory functions relating to 
Animal Welfare. 

  

3.3  Head of Resident Services 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.3.1  To determine any applications for 
Housing Benefit, Council Tax 
Support or similar benefits. 

  

3.3.2  To make payments of Housing 
Benefit and Council Tax Support 
or similar benefits 

  

3.3.3  To take all necessary actions 
relating to the demand, collection 
and the recovery of Council Tax 
Rates, National Non-Domestic 
Rates and any other local levy or 
collected taxes. 

  

3.3.4  To determine entitlement to 
mandatory, discretionary and 
other rate relief applications, 
including National Non-Domestic 
Rate relief. 

  

3.3.5  To serve on the Valuation Officer 
notice of objection to any 
proposals for alteration of the 
Valuation List. 

  

3.3.6  To make proposals for the 
alteration of the Valuation List or 
for inclusion of particular 
properties in the Valuation List. 

  

3.3.7  To sign off Valuation 
Agreements. 

  

3.4  Assistant Director Operations & Sustainability 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.4.1  All matters relating to on and off 
street parking 

In respect of Adur District 
Council, consultation with 
the relevant Cabinet 
Member 

 

3.4.2  To exercise the Councils’ 
regulatory functions relating to 
burials, issuing exclusive rights of 
burial, rights to erect memorials, 
cremations and the maintenance 
of churchyards 

  

462



 

203 

3.4.3  To manage (including the 
authority to agree usage) and 
maintain burial grounds and 
crematoria within the Council’s 
control 

  

3.4.4  To charge fees for medical 
referees 

  

3.4.5  To collect, remove, recycle and 
dispose of waste 

  

3.4.6  To collect, remove, recycle and 
dispose of litter 

  

3.4.7  To collect, remove, recycle and 
dispose of abandoned or 
unauthorised vehicles 

  

3.4.8  To determine and communicate 
the Council’s position relating to 
Goods Vehicle Operators 
licences 

  

3.4.9  To authorise the waiving or 
reduction of charges for special 
refuse collections, commercial 
waste collections, green waste 
collections and clinical waste 
collections 

  

3.4.10  To undertake vehicle testing and 
issue Ministry of Transport 
Certificates and to make 
appropriate charges, and to 
waive and reduce such charges 

  

3.4.11  To take any action to combat 
anti-social behaviour including 
the issue of fixed penalty notices 
or community penalty notices for 
littering, fly tipping, breach of 
public space protection orders, 
unlawful camping and dog fouling 

  

3.4.12  To issue fixed penalty notices 

upon commercial traders for 

unlawful management of 

commercial waste 

 

  

3.4.13  To take any action necessary 

with regard to the Council’s 

Emergency Planning functions 

  

3.4.14  To exercise the Council’s 

regulatory function relating to 

Pest Control 

  

3.4.15  To exercise the Council’s 

regulatory functions relating to: 

Amenities on the highway 

Environmental protection 

Food Safety and Hygiene 

Gambling 

Gaming permits 

Hackney Carriages and 

Drivers 

* Adur DC in relation to 

Highways Maintenance - 

the relevant Cabinet 

Member  

 

** Adur DC in relation to 
Street Trading - the 
relevant Cabinet Member 

 

463



 

204 

Health and Safety at Work 

House to house collections 

Highway management * 

Licensable activities under 

the Licensing Act 2003 

Lotteries 

Leisure Boats 

Private Hire Vehicles drivers 

and operators 

Public Health (including 

airports and port health) 

Public Safety 

Registration Plates 

Scrap metal dealers 

Shops and Sunday trading 

Street Collections 

Street Trading ** 

Drainage, Water and 

Sewerage 

Animal Boarding Licenses 

Pet Shops 

The Breeding of Dogs 

Sex Establishments 

Hypnosis 

Electrolysis 

Acupuncture 

Semi-permanent skin 

colouring 

Tattooing 

 Cosmetic piercing 

3.4.16  All matters relating to the 

investigation of matters under the 

Health & Safety at Work 

legislation. 

Assistant Director Legal & 

Democratic Services 

Duly appointed 
inspectors 

3.4.17  To exercise the Councils’ 

regulatory functions relating to 

Animal Welfare. 

  

3.4.18  To exercise the Council’s 

regulatory functions in respect of 

street trading 

  

3.5  Head of Planning  

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.5.1  All matters relating to the naming 
and numbering of streets. 

Relevant Planning 
Committee Adur DC - 
relevant Cabinet Member, 
Ward member and where 
practicable the Planning 
Committee 

 

3.5.2  To issue and serve notices 
pursuant to the Building Act 1984 
and Building Regulations and to 
carry out works in default. 

  

3.5.3  To decide all Building 
Regulations applications in 

  

464



 

205 

accordance with Building 
Regulations current at time of 
deposit. 

3.5.4  To determine all relevant charges 
in accordance with the Building 
(Prescribed Fees) Regulations 
2010 as amended 

  

3.5.5  To determine applications for 
Planning permission, listed 
building consent, conservation 
area consent, express consent to 
display advertisements, 
hazardous substances consent 
pursuant to the Planning Acts, 
including: 
 
a. development specified in the 
GPDO where expressed planning 
permission is required by reason 
of limitations or conditions by that 
order; and 
 
b. determinations in connection 
with prior notification procedure 
under T&CP (General Permitted 
Development) Order. 

 The delegation shall not 
be exercised in relation 
to: 
 
a. applications requiring 
the Secretary of State to 
be notified under the 
Town and Country 
(Development Plans and 
Consultations) 
(Departures) Direction 
2009; 
 
b. applications  
for development requiring 
an environmental impact 
assessment but 
excluding applications for 
a screening or scoping 
opinion in connection with 
an environmental impact 
assessment; 
 
c. applications comprising 
‘major ‘development 
within the meaning of the 
T&CP (General Permitted 
Development) Order, 
other than applications 
for amendments to major 
developments where 
those amendments are 
either minor or non-
material. Members will be 
notified when such minor 
or non-material 
amendments to major 
applications have been 
approved; 
 
d. applications for 
development which 
conflicts materially with 
the Local Plan; 
 
e. applications materially 
affecting ancient 
monuments, and sites of 
special scientific interest; 
 

465



 

206 

f. applications made by 
on behalf of jointly with or 
promoted by the Council, 
a parish Council, West 
Sussex County Council 
any other local authority; 
 
g. where the application 
has been made by a 
Member of Adur District 
Council or Worthing 
Borough Council, or by 
an Officer of either 
Council who is either the 
Chief Executive, a Chief 
Officer, Deputy Chief 
Officer, Planning 
Services Manager or 
Planning Policy Manager, 
or who works within the 
Planning and 
Development Section  
 
h. where a member of the 
Council not more than 28 
days after validation of an 
application requests 
otherwise, subject to 
providing valid planning 
reasons. 

3.5.6  To determine applications for 
consent pursuant to the 
conditions and limitations under 
the Planning Acts. 

  

3.5.7  To determine the Council’s 
stance in respect of and respond 
to consultation opinions 
concerning matters including, but 
not limited to, Neighbourhood 
Plans and WSCC planning 
applications, unless they are for 
‘major’ development within the 
meaning of the T&CP (General 
Development Procedure) Order 
(other than those where the 
proposed amendment is minor or 
non-material). 

In respect of 
Neighbourhood Plans, in 
consultation with Relevant 
Cabinet Member. 
 
Members will be notified 
when minor amendments 
to ‘major’ applications have 
been approved. 

 

3.5.8  To determine applications for 
lawful development certificates 
(Town and Country Planning Acts 
Sections 191 and 192). 

Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services where 
necessary. 

 

3.5.9  To give, make and confirm any 
Order or Direction under the 
Planning Acts 

  

3.5.10  To issue, serve, modify and 
withdraw any Notice under the 
Planning Acts and to carry out 

  

466



 

207 

works in default including ruins 
and dilapidated buildings and 
neglected sites (Building Act 
1984, Section 79). 

3.5.11  To determine applications and to 
take any action under Anti-Social 
Behaviour Act (2003) Part 8 
(High Hedges). 

  

3.5.12  Subject to the limitations imposed 
above to determine the Council’s 
stance in respect of and respond 
to consultations and opinions 
concerning matters referred to 
above. 

  

3.5.13  All matters relating to the 
Planning (Hazardous 
Substances) Act, 1990. 

  

3.5.14  To issue and serve notices in 
relation to breaches of conditions 
in relation to planning 
permissions. 

  

3.5.15  To negotiate and enter into 
planning or other agreements 
regulating or controlling the use 
of development of land. 

 Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

Not where the 
determining body for any 
associated planning 
application is a 
committee. 

3.5.16  To make minor amendments in 
planning or other agreements 
regulating or controlling the use 
or development of land where the 
determining body for any 
associated planning application is 
a committee. 

 Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

 

3.5.17  To issue serve modify or 
withdraw any enforcement action 
or notices under the Planning 
Acts, etc. 

 Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

 

3.6  Chief Financial Officer 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.6.1  To take any action relating to 
borrowing in accordance with the 
Council’s borrowing strategy. 

  

3.6.2  To borrow by way of bank 
overdraft from the Council’s 
current bankers subject to annual 
review by the bank and the 
Cabinet Member for Resources.  

Cabinet Member for 
Resources 

£1,000,000 

3.6.3  To make payments into the 
insurance fund. 

  

3.6.4  To make payments in respect of 
any claims where the Council’s 
insurers may be involved. 

  

3.6.5  To invest available funds on 
appropriate terms and in 
accordance with the Council’s 
investment strategy. 

  

3.6.6  To make payment of any sums   

467



 

208 

due from the Council. 

3.6.7  To make repayments to the West 
Sussex County Council Pension 
Fund from those reserves 
earmarked for pensions 
contributions. 

  

3.6.8  To write off debts.  In accordance with the 
Financial Procedure 
Rules 

3.6.9  To investigate allegations of 
housing benefit or council tax 
benefit fraud. 

 Not exercisable in 
respect of ADC. 

3.6.10  To investigate and report upon 
any allegations of fraud or 
dishonesty. 

  

3.6.11  In respect of housing benefit and 
council tax fraud, to determine 
whether or not a simple caution 
or administrative penalty should 
be administered following an 
investigation into an alleged 
criminal offence. 

 Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

Not exercisable in 
respect of ADC. 
There must be a full 
admission 
It must be a 1st offence 
It must be for sums less 
than £500 
It must be in the public 
interest 
It must not be a complex 
fraud or attempted fraud 
Copy to be sent with 
reasons to EHC&CS 

3.6.12  In respect of housing benefit and 
council tax fraud, to administer 
simple cautions and 
administrative penalties. 

 Not exercisable in 
respect of ADC. 

3.6.13  To settle any claims where the 
Council’s Insurers may be 
involved. 

Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services and 
any other relevant Officer. 

 

3.6.14  To approve the recommended 
scale of Returning Officer’s 
Expenditure for Local 
Government Elections, Polls and 
Referendums in West Sussex, as 
proposed by the Returning 
Officer for West Sussex County 
Council. 

  

3.7  Assistant Director People & Change 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.7.1  To confirm the appointment of 
staff on the satisfactory 
completion of probationary 
period. 

Appropriate Assistant 
Director 

 

3.7.2  To implement decisions arising 
from the Council’s pay and 
grading procedure. 

  

3.7.3  To implement any nationally 
agreed pay settlements. 

Chief Financial Officer  

3.7.4  To maintain a register of 
politically restricted posts and 
ancillary matters. 

  

468



 

209 

3.7.5  To comply with all legislation and 
government guidance on 
transparency in pay within the 
Council, including taking the 
annual Pay Policy Statement to 
Council 

  

3.7.6  To execute settlement 
agreements between the Council 
and its employees or former 
employees in circumstances 
where redundancy or termination 
of contract on the grounds of 
efficiency of the service have 
been approved. 

 Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

 

3.7.7  To make minor, inconsequential 
and administrative amendments 
to the Councils’ Human 
Resources Policies 

Chairs of the Joint Staff 
Committee 

 

3.8  Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services and Monitoring Officer 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.8.1  Legal Proceedings: 
a. To determine what, if any legal 

action should be taken 
following any investigation into 
a criminal matter (except in 
relation to Health & Safety at 
Work). 

b. To institute, prosecute or 
terminate any proceedings 
which the Council is 
empowered to undertake in or 
before any Court, Tribunal, 
Inquiry or by way of Fixed 
Penalty Notice or Community 
Penalty Notice (except in 
relation to Health & Safety at 
Work). 

c. To defend or settle any 
proceedings brought against 
the Council (except in relation 
to Health & Safety at Work). 

d. To take any action incidental or 
inclusive to or which would 
facilitate any action under this 
paragraph. 

e. To administer simple cautions. 
f. To determine whether or not 

any legal proceedings should 
be taken in any particular case 
or set of circumstances. 

 In respect of settling legal 
proceedings a 
confidentiality clause may 
not be included unless 
the prior written 
agreement has been 
obtained from the 
Cabinet Leader (or 
Deputy in their absence) 
and the Leader of the 
Main Opposition (or 
Deputy in their absence). 

3.8.2  To appoint and instruct legal 
service providers including 
external Solicitors and Barristers. 

  

3.8.3  To determine whether or not a 
simple caution or other 
alternative to prosecution should 
be administered following an 

  

469



 

210 

investigation into an alleged 
criminal offence. 

3.8.4  To settle any claims where the 
Council’s Insurers may be 
involved. 

Chief Financial Officer  

3.8.5  To negotiate and enter into 
planning or other agreements 
regulating or controlling the use 
of development of land. 

Head of Planning  Not where the 
determining body for any 
associated planning 
application is a 
committee. 

3.8.6  To make minor amendments to 
planning or other agreements 
regulating or controlling the use 
or development of land where the 
determining body for any 
associated planning application is 
a committee. 

Head of Planning  

3.8.7  To issue, serve, modify or 
withdraw any enforcement action 
or notices under the Planning 
Acts, etc. 

Head of Planning   

3.8.8  To carry out or authorise the 
carrying out of works in default 
under any statutory provisions 
(including Notices concerning 
ruinous and dilapidated or 
dangerous buildings and 
neglected sites. 

  

3.8.9  To determine applications under 
the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Acts 
1982 Section 37 in respect of 
Temporary Markets. 

  

3.8.10  To give, make and confirm any 
Order or Direction under the 
Planning Acts including Tree 
Preservation Orders (and 
associated applications for 
consent for works) and 
notification of works to trees in 
conservation areas. 

Head of Planning Not to confirm if there are 
any objections 

3.8.11  To exercise the Council’s powers 
relating to temporary road 
closures.  

  

3.8.12  To seal any document on behalf 
of the Council. 

  

3.8.13  To negotiate and agree the terms 
of any contract. 

 In accordance with the 
Contract Procedure 
Rules. 

3.8.14  To sign any contract on behalf of 
the Council. 

 In accordance with the 
Contract Procedure 
Rules. 

3.8.15  To authorise the attendance of 
officers at Court under any 
statutory provision. 

  

3.8.16  To authorise service of any 
statutory requisition for 

  

470



 

211 

information as to interests in land. 
3.8.17  To execute any legal document 

on behalf of the Council. 
  

3.8.18  All matters relating to 
consultations with Sussex Police 
and other bodies in relation to 
Anti-Social Behaviour. 

  

3.8.19  All matters relating to the 
consecration of land. 

  

3.8.20  To issue, serve, suspend or 
withdraw any notices in respect 
of any matter for which the 
Council has power to act. 

  

3.8.21  To respond to requests for review 
under Data Protection and 
Freedom of Information 
legislation. 

  

3.8.22  All matters relating to the 
investigation of matters under the 
Health & Safety at Work 
legislation. 

  

3.8.23  To make minor or 
inconsequential amendments to 
the Council’s Constitution. 

  

3.8.24  To make orders relating to Public 
Spaces Protection Order in 
accordance with the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014. 

  

3.8.25  To grant dispensations in respect 
of Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests in accordance with the 
Localism Act 2011. 

  

3.8.26  To determine the approval of the 
Adur District Council and 
Worthing Borough Council 
Crest/Coat of Arms in appropriate 
circumstances. 

In consultation with the 
Leader.  

 

3.8.27  To act as the Councils’ Co-
ordinator in respect of all 
Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000 matters 

In accordance with the 
Councils’ Surveillance 
Policy 

 

3.9   Assistant Director Place & Economy 
No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.9.1  To approve and grant seasonal 
concession licence agreements 
on behalf of the Councils 

In consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member,  
Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services and 
the Head of Planning  

 

3.9.2  To approve non animal related 
Circuses 

In consultation with 
Assistant Director 
Operations & Sustainability 
and the relevant Cabinet 
Member 

To be limited to a 
maximum of 3 per year in 
Adur District Council. 
 
To be limited to a 
maximum of 3 per year in 
Worthing Borough 
Council 

471



 

212 

3.9.3  To exercise the Councils’ 
regulatory functions relating to 
markets, filming permits, public 
art and bus shelter advertising 

 Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

 

3.9.4  To manage the function of Events 
Management 

In consultation with the 
Council’s Assistant 
Director People & Change 
and Emergency Planning 
Officer, and where the 
event is expected to be 
attended by 500 people or 
more, the Leader of the 
relevant Council. 

 

3.9.5  Effective running of Colonnade 
House  
(WBC only – N/A to ADC) 

In consultation with the 
relevant Executive Member  

 
 

3.9.6  Overseeing the successful 
delivery of Public Realm projects 

In consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member 

 

3.9.7  To exercise the Council’s 
functions relating to the provision 
and management of recreational 
facilities 

  

3.9.8  To manage (including the 
authority to agree usage) and 
maintain all the parks, pleasure 
grounds, gardens, open spaces, 
commons, recreational facilities 
and nature reserves within the 
Council’s control 

Adur DC the relevant 
Cabinet Member in cases 
where the authority is 
required to agree usage 

 

3.9.9  All matters related to the 
Council’s powers and duties in 
relation to the coast, rivers and 
harbours 

  

3.9.10  All matters relating to pleasure 
boats, boatman’s licences, 
fisherman’s agreements 

  

3.9.11  All matters relating to coastal and 

dredging licence applications 

 

 Such development must 
be permitted in a General 
Permitted Development 
Order or have been 
granted planning 
permission 

3.9.12  To determine as landowner or 

landlord applications for licences, 

consents and permissions in 

respect of the Council’s parks 

and foreshore buildings or land 

Cabinet Members for 
Resources and Cabinet 
Members for Environment 

 

3.9.13  To undertake all matters related 

to the inspection and 

maintenance of Council owned 

trees 

Where a tree is subject to a 
Tree Preservation Order, 
only to be exercised in 
consultation with the Head 
of Planning  

 

3.9.14  To undertake all matters relating 

to the design, installation, 

inspection and maintenance of all 

Council owned play areas 

In respect of design and 
installation to be exercised 
only in consultation with the 
Engineering Section 

 

472



 

213 

3.9.15  To take any action to combat 

anti-social behaviour including 

the issue of fixed penalty notices 

or community penalty notices for 

littering, fly tipping, breach of 

public space protection orders, 

unlawful camping and dog fouling 

 
 
 

 

3.9.16  To exercise the Council’s powers 

in respect of water supply, 

sewerage and drainage. 

  

3.9.17  To exercise the Council’s powers 

in respect of land drainage. 

Adur DC - relevant Cabinet 
Member 

 

3.10  Assistant Director Regenerative Development 

3.10.1  To manage the improvement, 
refurbishment, maintenance and 
new build provision of the 
Council’s non-housing property 
portfolio not specifically the 
responsibility of other officers. 

  

3.10.2  To acquire land in connection 
with the Council’s functions and 
to take leases, easements, 
licences and wayleaves of, in, or 
over buildings or land in 
connection with the Council’s 
functions. 

Where acquisition of land is 
purchased through the 
Strategic Investment Fund, 
the delegation is to be 
exercised in consultation 
with the Leader, Cabinet 
Member for Resources and 
the Chief Financial Officer 

 

3.10.3  To dispose of land in connection 
with the Council’s functions and 
to grant leases, easements, 
licences and wayleaves of, in, or 
over buildings or land in 
connection with the Council’s 
functions. 

 Disposal of land is only 
authorised where the 
value is £50,000 or less 

3.10.4  To determine as landowner or 
landlord applications for licences, 
consents and permissions in 
respect of the Council’s buildings 
or land. 

Cabinet Member for 
Resources 

 

3.10.5  To acquire property or land in 
connection with the Council’s 
housing function, for the purpose 
of providing emergency and 
temporary accommodation. 

To be exercised only after 
consultation with the 
relevant Leader, Cabinet 
Member for Resources, 
Chief Financial Officer 
andAssistant Director 
Housing, Homelessness & 
Prevention. 

 

3.10.6  To exercise the Council’s powers 
affecting the design or 
maintenance of highways 

  

3.11  Head of Technology & Design [No Existing Delegations] 

3.11.1     

  

473



 

214 

Proper Officer and Authorised Officer Functions 
 
The Council designates Proper Officers to carry out functions allocated by law. Power to appoint 
Proper Officers is delegated to the Chief Executive, following consultation with the Monitoring 
Officer, unless legislation requires the appointment to be made by Full Council.  
 
The following Proper Officer and/or authorised officer functions listed in column 3 are assigned to 
the officers and deputies in columns 4 and 5. 
 
Functions relating to Officers 
Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.2(4) Local 
Government 
and Housing Act 
1989 

To maintain a list of politically 
restricted posts 

Assistant Director People & 
Change 

 

s.3A Local 
Government 
and Housing Act 
1989 

To determine applications for 
exemption from the list of 
politically restricted posts 

Chief Executive in 
consultation with the 
Monitoring Officer 

Assistant Director 
Legal & 
Democratic 
Services  

s.4 Local 
Government 
and Housing Act 
1989 

Head of Paid Service Chief Executive Nominated 
Director 

s.5 Local 
Government 
and Housing Act 
1989 

Monitoring Officer Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitors 

Sch.1, Part II, 
Paras.5-6 Local 
Authorities 
(Standing 
Orders) 
(England) 
Regulations 
2001 

Notification to Cabinet and 
objections to be considered 
concerning appointment or 
dismissal of Head of Paid 
Service, Chief Officers or 
Deputy Chief Officers 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 
Officer(s) 

 Any reference to the Clerk of a 
council which, by virtue of the 
Local Government Act 1972, is 
to be construed as a reference 
to the Proper Officer of the 
Council 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 
Officer(s) 

 Any reference to the Treasurer 
of a council which, by virtue of 
the Local Government Act 
1972, is to be construed as 
reference to the Proper Officer 
of the Council 

Chief Financial Officer  

    
Functions relating to Democratic Process 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.8 
Representation 
of the People 
Act 1983 

Electoral Registration Officer Chief Executive Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources 

s.35 
Representation 

Returning Officer Chief Executive Officer(s) 
appointed in 

474



 

215 

of the People 
Act 1983 

writing by the 
Returning Officer 

s.52 
Representation 
of the People 
Act 1983 

Deputy Electoral Registration 
Officer 

Director for Sustainability 
and Resources 

Assistant Director 
Legal & 
Democratic 
Services, 
Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

s.67(7)(b) 
Representation 
of the People 
Act 1983 

Receive declarations and give 
public notice of election agents’ 
appointments 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

ss.81, 82 and 
89 
Representation 
of the People 
Act 1983 

To receive, inspect and publish 
returns and declarations of 
election expenses 

Director for , Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Sch.29 Para.4 
Representation 
of the People 
Act 1983 

Undertake duties at council 
elections which are required to 
be undertaken not by the 
Returning Officer but by the 
Proper Officer 

Chief Executive Director for  
Sustainability & 
Resources 

s.131 
Representation 
of the People 
Act 1983 

Providing accommodation for 
holding election count 

Chief Executive Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources 

s.83 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Declarations of acceptance of 
office 

Chief Executive Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources 

s.84 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Receipt of resignations Chief Executive Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources 

s.86 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

To declare any vacancy in 
office 

Chief Executive Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources 

s.88(2) Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Convene a meeting to fill a 
vacancy of a chair 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

s.89(1) Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Receive from two electors 
notices of casual vacancies of 
Councillors 

Chief Executive Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources 

s.100B(2), (7)(c) 
and 100H Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Excluding from the public 
reports which are not likely to 
be considered in open session; 
and provision to the 
press/public of other 
documents provided to 
members where the Proper 
Officer thinks fit 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 
Officer(s) 

s.100C(2) Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Where part or the whole of the 
report has been exempt the 
Proper Officer shall make a 
written summary of the 
proceedings or a part to provide 
a record without disclosing the 
exempt information. 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

475



 

216 

s.100D(1)(a) 
and (5)(a) Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Compilation of list of 
background documents relied 
upon to a material extent in 
producing the report or 
disclosing important facts 

Author of report  

s.100F(2) Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Deciding whether documents 
for inspection in connection 
with Committees contain 
exempt information under a 
paragraph of Schedule 12A 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 
Officer(s) 

Sch.29 
Para.4(1)(b) 
Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Adaptation, modification and 
amendment of enactments 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 
Officer(s) 

s.41 Local 
Government 
Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act 
1976 

To certify copies of Resolutions 
Orders reports or Minutes of 
the Council or any Predecessor 
Authority 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

ss.15-17 Local 
Government 
and Housing Act 
1989 

Undertake all matters relating 
to the formal establishment of 
Political Groups, and give effect 
to the wishes of Political 
Groups in making appointments 
of members to committees 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Regs.8-10, 13-
15 and 17 Local 
Government 
(Committees 
and Political 
Groups) 
Regulations 
1990 

Receipt of notice re Political 
Groups; give effect to the 
wishes of Political Groups in 
making appointments of 
members to committees 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Part 3 Local 
Government Act 
1974 

Local Government 
Ombudsman functions, 
including giving public notice of 
reports 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources in consultation 
with Monitoring Officer 

 Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Sch.2 Para.54 
Local Elections 
(Principal 
Areas)(England 
and Wales) 
Rules 2006 

Registration officer for the 
retention and destruction of 
documents following an 
election 

Chief Executive Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources 

Local 
Authorities 
(Referendum) 
(Petitions) 
(England) 
Regulations 
2011 

Publish the verification number 
of local government electors for 
the purpose of petitions under 
s.34 Local Government Act 
2000 

Director for Sustainability 
and Resources 

 Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Local 
Authorities 
(Conduct of 
Referendums) 
(England) 
Regulations 

Proper Officer function Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

476



 

217 

2012 

s.29 Localism 
Act 2011 

Establish and maintain a 
register of members’ and co-
opted members’ interests 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 
Officer(s) 

s.30-31 
Localism Act 
2011 

Receipt of members’ and co-
opted members’ declarations of 
interests and changes to those 
interest within 28 days 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 
Officer(s) 

s.32 Localism 
Act 2011 

Sensitive interests Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 
Officer(s) 

s.33 Localism 
Act 2011 

Dispensations from restrictions 
under s.31(4) 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 
Officer(s) 

Local 
Authorities 
(Executive 
Arrangements) 
(Meetings and 
Access to 
Information) 
(England) 
Regulations 
2012 

Functions relating to the 
recording and publication of 
information relating to 
Executive decisions; inform the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Chairs or the 
Committee Members of 
decisions to be made where it 
has been impracticable to 
comply with the publicity 
requirements (in the Forward 
Plan) and publish notices 
relating to this; publish a written 
statement of Executive 
decisions and background 
papers; determine whether 
certain documents contain 
exempt or confidential 
information; grant 
dispensations in respect of 
conflicts of interest declared by 
a Cabinet member making a 
decision, or declared by a 
Cabinet member consulted by a 
member or officer taking such a 
decision 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

s. 21A Local 
Government Act 
2000 (as 
amended) 

Decision making in respect of 
Councillor Call for Action 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Functions relating to Finance 
Act Function Officer Deputy 

All legislation 
prior to 1 April 
1972; s.151 
Local 
Government Act 
1972; and 
ss.114-116 
Local 
Government 
Finance Act 
1988 

Proper Officer in relation to 
references to Treasurer or 
District Treasurer; the officer 
responsible for the proper 
management of the Council’s 
financial affairs and for making 
reports to Cabinet/Council 

Chief Financial Officer Deputy s.151 
Officer(s) 

All legislation 
prior to 1 April 

Proper Officer in relation to 
declarations and certificates 

Chief Financial Officer Deputy s.151 
Officer(s) 

477



 

218 

1972 with regard to securities 

s.115(2) Local 
Government Act 
1972 

For receipt of monies due to the 
Council from Officers 

Chief Financial Officer Deputy s.151 
Officer(s) 

s.146(1) Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Sign the statutory declaration to 
enable the transfer of securities 
in the event of a change in the 
name or status of the council 

Chief Financial Officer Deputy s.151 
Officer(s) 

Functions relating to Legal Processes 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.229 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

To certify photographic copies 
of documents to be a true copy 
(other than those under Public 
Records Act 1958) 

Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.234 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

To sign Notices Orders or other 
documents authorised or 
required by or under any 
Enactment 

Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.236 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

To send copies of Byelaws to 
Parish and Community 
Councils to which they apply. 

Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.238 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Certification of printed copies of 
bylaws 

Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.36 Freedom of 
Information Act 
2000 

Non-disclosure where potential 
to prejudice the effective 
conduct of public affairs 

Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitor(s) 

Sch.12 
Para.4(2)(b) 
Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Signing and serving 
summonses to attend meetings 
of the council 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Sch.12 
Para.4(3) Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Receive written notice from a 
Member of the address to 
which a summons to the 
meeting is to be sent 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Sch.12 Para.25 
Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Certifying copy resolutions of 
the council passed before 1975 
disapplying public health 
statutes 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Court Representation 

Every Solicitor, Barrister or Chartered Legal Executive employed or engaged by the Council 
(irrespective of their job title) shall be authorised to appear on its behalf before any Court, Tribunal 
or other hearing before which they have a Right of Audience and to exercise the powers given by 
the relevant professional body. 

In addition to the powers delegated in Section 3 above and the rights to appear in Court detailed 
in paragraphs 4.4.7, the following Officers in column 4 are authorised to appear on behalf of the 
Council and to conduct proceedings in Court in relation to the functions mentioned in column 3. 

There may be Officers other than those listed in 4.7 who are authorised to appear in Court on 
behalf of the Council by virtue of the Monitoring Officer’s delegation at 3.8.16 to provide such 
authorisation. Any authorisations made under delegation 3.8.16 will be recorded in writing and 
shall be provided to the Monitoring Officer within five working days and made available on the 
intranet. 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.223 Local 
Government Act 

In respect of possession 
matters and for any purpose for 

Legal Assistants 
Trainee Solicitors 

 

478



 

219 

1972 and s.60 
County Courts 
Act 1984 

which the Council is 
empowered to authorise 
Officers to appear on its behalf 

s.223 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

In respect of National Non-
Domestic Rating or Council Tax 
matters 

Head of Resident Services 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of Resident Services 
(in consultation with 
Monitoring Officer) 

Revenues & 
Benefits 
Operations 
Manager, 
Revenues and 
Recovery Team 
Leader, Court 
Officer 

Part 9 
Insolvency 
Rules 1986 

Examination of persons 
concerning company and 
individual insolvency 

 

Part I Health 
and Safety at 
Work etc. 1974 

 Head of Community, 
Capacity & Resilience (in 
consultation with Monitoring 
Officer) 

 

Functions in relation to Public Health 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.79 Public 
Health Act 1936 
& Schedule 29 
Part 1 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Removal of Noxious Matter Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

s.84 Public 
Health Act 1936 
& Schedule 29 
Part 1 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Verminous Articles Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

s.85 Public 
Health Act 1936 
& Schedule 29 
Part 1 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Verminous People Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Part XI Local 
Government 
Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act 
1982 

Public Health Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Part 1 Section 
48 Care Act 
2014 

Removal of people in need Director for Housing & 
Communities and Director 
for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Officers of Health 
Authority etc. 
authorised under 
Section 113 (1A) 
of the Local 
Government Act 
1972 

s.37 Public 
Health Act 1961 

Verminous Articles Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

ss.48 and 59 
Public Health 
(Control of 
Disease) Act 

Infectious diseases and dead 
bodies; preparation of 
certificate to Justice of Peace 
for removal of body to mortuary 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

479



 

220 

1984 (as 
amended) 

and for burial; authentication of 
documents 

Sch.14 
Paragraph 25(7) 
Local 
Government Act 
1972 

To certify copies of Resolutions 
applying or disapplying 
provisions of the Public Health 
Act 1875 to 1925  

Director Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Food Safety Act 
1990 (as 
amended) 

Food Safety and authentication 
of documents 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

s.40 Anti-Social 
Behaviour Act 
2003 

Closure order in respect of 
noisy premises where public 
nuisance 

Chief Executive Director for 
Housing & 
Communities 

s.78 Building 
Act 1984 

Authorise action in relation to 
dangerous structures 

Appropriate Director Appropriate 
Assistant Director 

European 
Communities 
Act 1972 

Food Safety Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Animal Welfare 
Act 2006 (as 
amended) & Pet 
Animals Act 
1951 (as 
amended) 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Caravan Sites 
and Control of 
Development 
Act 1960 

 Director for Housing & 
Communities 

Head of 
Community, 
Capacity & 
Resilience 

Animal Boarding 
Establishments 
Act 1963 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Riding 
Establishments 
Act 1964 and 
1970 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Scrap Metal 
Dealers Act 
2013 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Animal Welfare 
Act 2006 and 
1991 & 
Breeding and 
Sale of Dogs 
(Welfare) Act 
1999 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

s.41 Local 
Government 
(Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 
1976 

Certifying copy resolutions and 
minutes of proceedings 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Parts 1 and 2 
Local 
Government 
Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act 
1976 

To carry out the Council 
functions relevant to these 
parts of the Act 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources and Director for 
Housing & Communities 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability and 
Head of 
Community, 
Capacity & 
Resilience 

480



 

221 

Zoo Licensing 
Act 1981 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Parts II, III VII, 
VIII and XI Local 
Government 
(Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 
1982 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Public Health 
(Control of 
Disease) Act 
1984 and 
regulations 
made 
thereunder  

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Control of 
Pollution 
(Amendment) 
Act 1989 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Clean 
Neighbourhoods 
and 
Environment Act 
2005  

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Health Act 2006 
Chapter 1 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Part 4 Anti-
social 
Behaviour, 
Crime and 
Policing Act 
2014 

 Director for Housing & 
Communities 

Head of 
Community, 
Capacity & 
Resilience 

Parts 1, 2, 2A 
and 3 
Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Part 4 
Environment Act 
1995 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

s.108 
Environment Act 
1995 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Part 1 & Part 3 
Prevention of 
Damage by 
Pests Act 1949 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Control of 
Pollution Act 
1974 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Dangerous Wild 
Animals Act 
1976 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Refuse Disposal 
(Amenity) Act 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 

481



 

222 

1978 Sustainability 
Town Police 
Clauses Act 
1847 

 Director for Housing & 
Communities 

Head of Resident 
Services 

Housing Act 
1985, 1989 and 
2004 

 Director for Housing & 
Communities 

Assistant Director 
Housing, 
Homelessness & 
Prevention 

Clean Air Act 
1993 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Pollution 
Prevention and 
Control Act 
1999 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environmental 
Damage 
(Prevention and 
Remediation) 
Regulations 
2015 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Health and 
Safety at Work 
1974 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Animal Welfare 
Act 2006 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

s.59 Building 
Act 1984 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

House to House 
Collections Act 
1939 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Police, 
Factories, etc. 
(Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 
1916 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Hypnotism Act 
1952 

 Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

Miscellaneous Functions 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.100G Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Maintain a list of members Director for Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

s.100G Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Maintain a list of delegations to 
officers and the like 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 
Officer(s) 

s.146(1)(a) 
Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Statutory Declaration re 
Change of Name of the 
Authority in connection with 
Companies 

Monitoring Officer Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.191(2) Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Receive applications from 
Ordnance Survey for 
assistance in surveying 
disputed boundaries 

Director for Place Assistant Director 
Regenerative 
Development and 
Head of Planning 

482



 

223 

s.210 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

In respect of powers with 
regard to charities 

Director for  Sustainability & 
Resources 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

s.225 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

Deposit of documents in 
accordance with Standing 
Orders of either House of 
Parliament, Enactment or 
Statutory Instrument 

Monitoring Officer Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.248 Local 
Government Act 
1972 

To keep the roll of Freeman of 
City or Town in District 

Chief Executive Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources 

ss.69, 70-71 
Data Protection 
Act 2018 

Designated Data Protection 
Officer 

Senior Information 
Governance Officer 

 

Any other 
provisions for 
which 
arrangements 
are not 
specifically 
made under this 
Scheme of 
Delegation 

Any other legislation whether 
made before or after this list 
was approved and requiring a 
Proper Officer or authorised 
officer where not otherwise 
stated in the Council’s 
approved scheme of 
delegations from time to time 

Chief Executive  

Functions in relation to Entry of Land/Premises 

The Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Director, Legal & Democratic Services, Senior Solicitors, 
Solicitors, Senior Legal Executives, Legal Executives and Emergency Planning Officer shall be 
authorised to enter land or premises in relation to any function of the Council, subject to any 
applicable statutory constraints. 

In addition to the powers delegated in Section 3 above, the following Officers in column 4 are 
authorised to enter land or premises for or in connection with their duties and pursuant to the 
functions mentioned in column 3, subject to any applicable statutory constraints. 
An Officer authorised to enter land is also authorised to seek a warrant to enter. 

An Officer authorised to enter land may take with them such other persons and equipment as may 
be necessary. 

The right to enter given by paragraph 4.7 shall extend to the exercise of the power to make 
inspections, to provide samples and to examine and seize goods. 
Environmental Health, Housing etc. 
Act Function Officer Deputy 

 Animal Welfare 
Caravan Sites 
Environmental Protection 
Food Safety and Hygiene 
Health and Safety at Work 
Housing 
Licensing Act 2003 
Pest Control 
Public Health 
Public Safety 
Scrap Metal Dealers 
Shop Acts 
Street Trading 
Sunday Trading 
Gambling Act 2005 
Animal Boarding Licences 
Pet Shops 
The Breeding of Dogs 
Zoo Licensing 

Director for Sustainability & 
Resources and such others 
as shall be delegated in 
writing by them from time to 
time 

Assistant Director 
Operations & 
Sustainability 

483



 

224 

Sex Establishments 
Hypnosis 
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 
1976 
Riding Establishments Act 1964 
and 1970 
Drainage including s.59 
Building Act 1984 

Planning 

ss.178, 196A, 
196B, 324 & 
325 Town and 
Country 
Planning Act 
1990 

 Director for Place/Director 
for Housing & Communities, 
as appropriate 
Planning Services Manager 
Development Control 
Manager 
Principal Planning Officers 
Senior Planning Officers 
Planning assistants 
Senior Enforcement Officer 
Enforcement Assistant 

 

s.88 Planning 
(Listed Buildings 
and 
Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 

  

s.36 Planning 
(Hazardous 
Substances) Act 
1990 

  

Part 8 Anti-
Social 
Behaviour Act 
2003 

 Director for Housing and 
Communities 
Planning Services Manager 
Development Control 
Manager 
Principal Planning Officers 
Senior Planning Officers 
Planning assistants 
Senior Enforcement Officer 
Enforcement Assistant 
Senior Technical Officer 
(Parks) 

 

Building Control 

s.95 Building 
Act 1984 

General power of entry in 
relation to building regulations 

Head of Planning 
Principal Building control 
Surveyor 
Senior Building control 
surveyor 
Building control surveyor 
Fire Safety Officer 

 

Local Taxation 

 Collection of Local Taxes Director for Housing & 
Communities, Head of 
Resident Services, 
Revenues and Recovery 
Inspector/Collectors 

 

Land Drainage and Sewerage Undertaking 

Water Industry 
Act 1991 

 Principal Engineer 
Senior Engineer 

 

Land Drainage 
Act 1991 

  

 
  

484



 

225 

Joint Councils Contract Standing Orders 
 
1. Standing Order 1 

1.1. Introduction and Purpose 

These Contract Standing Orders (CSO) are applicable to all the Council’s Officers (and its 
appointed consultants) when procuring contracts for works, services and goods.  They provide a 
legal framework to ensure a uniform and transparent approach to procurement, and enable the 
Council to achieve best value for money.  
 
1.2. Creating a Contract  

A contract is created where there is an offer, acceptance, consideration and a legal intention 
between the parties; where these criteria exist a contract can be created orally or in writing. 
Officers entering into pre-contract negotiations with a Supplier, should declare all communications 
whether by telephone or by email to be ‘subject to executed contract’.  For the form of contract see 
CSO 12.1. 
 
1.3. Pre-procurement considerations 

1.3.1 Request for Quote or Tender 

A request for quotation (RFQ) is the process used by Officers who know what they want and are 
seeking pricing information to achieve best value, for a defined scope of work, services, or goods. 
An RFQ can be used providing the value is below £100,000 (exclusive of VAT) and the processes 
set out at CSOs 8, 9 and 10 are followed.  
 
An invitation to tender (ITT) is used when the Council wants to invite suppliers to bid on the 
delivery of works, services or goods and enables the Council to evaluate additional criteria such as 
the supplier’s technical solutions, delivery methodology, skill sets, as well as quality and price.  See 
CSOs 8.3 and 8.4.  
 
1.3.2 Assessing the total Contract Value 

Prior to procuring, Officers must assess the total contract value of their contract. 
The Public Procurement (Agreement on Government Procurement) (Thresholds) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2021 and PPN 10/21, require the total value of all public contracts to be calculated 
including VAT, although the Council is generally able to recover the VAT element of a contract 
payment.   
 
The total contract value includes the whole life-cycle cost, including any recurring revenue or 
capital expense, as well as all one-time charges including professional service fees, onboarding 
and exit fees.  
 
Where the Council is procuring on behalf of other public bodies as well as itself, then the contract 
value shall be determined as the combined sum for all public bodies even if our Council is only 
paying one part of the overall cost.  
 
Where the contract is procured in “lots”, e.g. based on geographical area or by particular type of 
requirements, then the contract value shall be the total value of all the combined lots. 
 
1.3.3 Budget  

Officers must ensure that they have a sufficient and approved budget in place prior to commencing 
the procurement project.  If the contract involves the supply of assets under lease finance 
arrangements, the Lease must be signed off by the Chief Financial Officer or their appointed 
deputy. 
 

485

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1041964/Procurement_Policy_Note_10_21_-_New_Thresholds_Values_and_Inclusion_of_VAT_in_Contract_Estimates.pdf


 

226 

1.3.4 Authority  

Officers must have Member Authority to enter into the contract (see CSO 2).  The type of Member 
authority required will depend upon the value of the contract, and whether or not budget is already 
in place.  If in doubt, Officers should take advice from the Council’s Legal, Finance, or Procurement 
Services.  
 
1.3.5 Decisions Pathway   

In addition to the requirement for budget and authority, Officers must consider good governance 
and the decision making process and always make sure that they have taken advice from 
Democratic or Legal Services.  A Member or Officer Decision notice will need to be published prior 
to your contract, and any delay in following the decisions pathway will delay the execution of the 
contract. 
 
Some decisions will also be a Key Decision and will require additional information to be placed on 
the forward plan for a minimum of 28 days prior to the publication of a decision notice.   
 
1.3.6 TUPE Transfers 

Where the Council outsources services and re-procures for those services, TUPE may apply to 
that procurement with eligible staff being able to transfer from the outgoing service provider to the 
incoming service provider. Sufficient information (compliant with data protection legislation) will 
need to be included in the procurement process with an assessment of the cost impact on the 
incoming supplier. If in doubt, always contact Legal Services and Human Resources for advice.  
 
1.3.7 Council Policies 

Depending upon the nature of the procurement, the Council may require the contractor to adopt or 
mirror certain policies during contract performance. Specific provisions may need to be built into 
the contract documents e.g. additional clauses, Health and Safety, Safeguarding, or Data 
Protection where personal data may be transferred.   
 
1.3.8 Reserving below threshold procurement by Location, SME, VCSEs 

Below threshold procurements can be reserved by supplier location, or for suppliers that are Small 
and Medium sized Enterprises (SMEs); or for Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprises 
(VCSEs) as enabled by the Cabinet Office PPN 11/20, for the benefit of local businesses and 
communities.   
 
These options should be considered on a case-by-case basis, and can be exercised on their own 
or together. For example, Officers may wish to reserve a procurement for suppliers based in a 
particular location as well as for SMEs and VCSEs, or may choose to reserve to location only or to 
SMEs only.  
 
Reserving by location could also be UK-wide to support domestic supply chains and promote 
resilience and capacity, or where appropriate, by county to tackle economic inequality and support 
local recruitment, training, skills and investment. Where a county reservation is to be applied, only 
a single county (or borough for London) may be reserved. Supplier location should be described by 
reference to where the supplier is based or established and has substantive business operations 
and not by location of corporate ownership. 
 
Any requirement to reserve the procurement under this CSO must follow up to date Cabinet Office 
guidance, and must be clearly set out in the tender documents, using the standardised definitions 
of SME/VCSE and supplier location outlined in the associated guidance. 
 
1.3.9 Financial Thresholds (exclusive of VAT) 

All figures referred to in these CSO are exclusive of VAT.  

486

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/about-the-councils/key-decisions/#intro-key-decisions
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1014493/20210818-PPN-11_20-Reserving-Below-Threshold-Procurements.pdf


 

227 

The following table provides VAT exclusive figures for the financial thresholds within these CSOs. 
 

Thresholds exclusive VAT Thresholds inclusive VAT 

£5,000.00 £6,000.00 

£10,000.00 £12,000.00 

£25,000.00 £30,000.00 

£100,000.00 £120,000.00 

£250,000.00 £300,000.00 

 
 
Public Procurement Thresholds as of 1st January 2022 (always check the thresholds as they are 
subject to change). 
 

Category Thresholds exclusive VAT Thresholds inclusive VAT VAT 

Goods and 
Services   

£177,897.50 £213,477.00 £35,579.50 

Works  £4,447,447.50 £5,336,937.00 £889,489.50 

 
 
How to calculate a figure inclusive of VAT – (for a VAT rate of 20%) Divide the VAT inclusive figure 
by 1.2% to find the figure less VAT  
 
1.3.10  Procurement Procedures Chart 

Total Value 
(exclusive of 
VAT) 

Procurement 
Route 

Receipt of 
Quotes/Tenders 

Delegated 
Authority for 
Contract 
Approval and 
Award 

Method of 
Contract 
Completion 

Transparency 
Code 
Obligations 

Up to 
£25,000 
(unless CSO 
5.2 applies) 

Two written 
quotations or if 
impractical one 
quote with 
evidence of 
value for money 

Via post or email 
to department by 
Head of Service 
or appointed 
deputy 

Head of 
Service 

Signature 
and/or 
purchase 
order raised 

Publish details 
of all contracts 
over £5,000 in 
Council’s 
Contracts 
Register 

From 
£25,000 up 
to but not 
including 
£100,000 

Three written 
quotations or 
tenders. 
Opportunity 
(open) to be 
published on 
Contracts 
Finder 

Quotes/Tenders 
submitted via 
portal and 
electronically 
opened after 
closed date and 
time has passed. 
Evaluated by a 
minimum of two 
officers 

Head of 
Service 

Signed by 
one Council 
officer with 
Authority 

Advertise an 
opportunity on 
Contracts 
Finder. Publish 
details of the 
Contract Award 
on Contracts 
Finder. 
Complete the 
Council’s 
Contracts 
Register  

From 
£100,000 up 
to but not 
including the 
public 
procurement 
thresholds  

Advertise Open 
invitation to 
tender (ITT) on 
the Council’s 
portal and 
Contracts 
Finder. Other 
media can also 
be used. Unless 
the exemption 

Tenders 
submitted via 
portal and 
electronically 
opened once 
closing date and 
time has passed. 
Evaluated by a 
minimum of two 
officers 

Where 
provision has 
been made in 
the approved 
budget. For 
contracts 
below 
£250,000, in 
consultation 
with Executive 

Below 
£250,000 
signed under 
hand by one 
authorised 
Officer; 
£250,000 or 
greater 
sealed and 
signed by one 

Advertise the 
opportunity on 
Contracts 
Finder. Publish 
details of the 
Contract Award 
on Contracts 
Finder. 
Complete the 
Council’s 

487



 

228 

to the Open 
process in CSO 
5.5 applies 

Members.  For 
contracts of 
£250,000 or 
more, with 
Executive 
Member 
authority 
pursuant to 
delivery of an 
Executive 
Member 
Report  

authorised 
Officer 
(witnessed as 
required) or 
signed by two 
authorised 
Officers  

Contract 
Register 

From the 
Public 
Procurement 
Threshold 
and above 

Advertise 
relevant 
Procurement 
Procedure by on 
the Council’s 
portal. Advertise 
on Contracts 
Finder and Find 
a Tender 
system 
Other media 
may also be 
used 

Tenders 
submitted via 
Council’s portal 
and electronically 
opened once 
closing date and 
time has passed. 
Evaluated by a 
minimum of two 
officers 

Executive 
Member, 
Executive, or 
relevant 
Committee 

Sealed and 
signed by one 
authorised 
Officer 
(witnessed as 
required) or 
signed under 
hand by two 
authorised 
Officers 

Advertise all 
tenders on FTS 
and then 
Contracts 
Finder. Publish 
details of 
Contract Award 
on Find a 
Tender. 
Complete the 
Council’s 
Contracts 
Register 

 
1.4. Incorporating Social Value in all procurement procedures  

1.4.1. For all above threshold contracts, social value and the ability to improve the economic, 

environmental and social wellbeing of the Council’s area is mandatory and must be given 

not less than 10% of the total evaluation score.   

 

1.4.2. For below threshold procurements social value must be considered, and incorporated, 

where the social value requirements are related and proportionate to the subject matter of 

the contract.   

1.4.3. Examples of what can be incorporated as social value are set out in the table below.  

1.4.4. Social Value Themes and Outcomes examples 
1.4.5. (Procurement Policy Note – Taking Account of Social Value in the Award of Central 

Government Contracts Action Note PPN 06/20 September 2020) 

Themes (for 
social value)  

Policy Outcomes (what 
can be achieved)  

Delivery objectives - what good looks like (consider 
for evaluation criteria)  

COVID-19 
recovery  

Help local communities to 
manage and recover from 
the impact of COVID-19 

Activities that, in the delivery of the contract: 
- Create employment, re-training and other return to work 
opportunities for those left unemployed by COVID-19, 
particularly new opportunities in high growth sectors. 
- Support people and communities to manage and 
recover from the impacts of COVID-19, including those 
worst affected or who are shielding. 
- Support organisations and businesses to manage and 
recover from the impacts of COVID-19, including where 
new ways of working are needed to deliver services. 
- Support the physical and mental health of people 
affected by COVID-19, including reducing the demand on 
health and care services. 

488

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/921437/PPN-06_20-Taking-Account-of-Social-Value-in-the-Award-of-Central-Government-Contracts.pdf


 

229 

- Improve workplace conditions that support the COVID-
19 recovery effort including effective social distancing, 
remote working, and sustainable travel solutions. 

Tackling 
economic 
inequality 

Create new businesses, 
new jobs and new skills 

Activities that, in the delivery of the contract: 
- Create opportunities for entrepreneurship and help 
new, small organisations to grow, supporting economic 
growth and business creation. 
- Create employment opportunities particularly for those 
who face barriers to employment and/or who are located 
in deprived areas. 
- Create employment and training opportunities, 
particularly for people in industries with known skills 
shortages or in high growth sectors. 
- Support educational attainment relevant to the contract, 
including training schemes that address skills gaps and 
result in recognised qualifications. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery of the contract to support 
employment and skills opportunities in high growth 
sectors. 

Increase supply chain 
resilience and capacity 

Activities that: 
- Create a diverse supply chain to deliver the contract 
including new businesses and entrepreneurs, start-ups, 
SMEs, VCSEs and mutuals. 
- Support innovation and disruptive technologies 
throughout the supply chain to deliver lower cost and/or 
higher quality goods and services. 
- Support the development of scalable and future-proofed 
new methods to modernise delivery and increase 
productivity. 
- Demonstrate collaboration throughout the supply chain, 
and a fair and responsible approach to working with 
supply chain partners in delivery of the contract. 
- Demonstrate action to identify and manage cyber 
security risks in the delivery of the contract including in 
the supply chain. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery 
of the contract to support resilience and capacity in the 
supply chain 

Fighting 
climate change 

Effective stewardship of the 
environment 

Activities that: 
- Deliver additional environmental benefits in the 
performance of the contract including working towards 
net zero greenhouse gas emissions. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery of the contract to support 
environmental protection and improvement. 

489



 

230 

Equal 
opportunity 

Reduce the disability 
employment gap 

Activities that: 
- Demonstrate action to increase the representation of 
disabled people in the contract workforce. 
- Support disabled people in developing new skills 
relevant to the contract, including through training 
schemes that result in recognised qualifications. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery of the contract to support disabled 
people. 

Tackle workforce inequality Activities that: 
- Demonstrate action to identify and tackle inequality in 
employment, skills and pay in the contract workforce. 
- Support in-work progression to help people, including 
those from disadvantaged or minority groups, to move 
into higher paid work by developing new skills relevant to 
the contract. 
- Demonstrate action to identify and manage the risks of 
modern slavery in the delivery of the contract, including 
in the supply chain. 

Wellbeing  Improve health and 
wellbeing 

Activities that: 
- Demonstrate action to support the health and wellbeing, 
including physical and mental health, in the contract 
workforce. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery of the contract to support health and 
wellbeing, including physical and mental health. 

Improve community 
integration 

Activities that: 
-Demonstrate collaboration with users and communities 
in the co-design and delivery of the contract to support 
strong integrated communities. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery of the contract to support strong, 
integrated communities. 

 

2. Standing Order 2: Authorisation to Contract 

2.1.1 The Director, Heads of Service or their delegated nominee shall have authority to enter into 

contracts provided that: 

2.1.2 There is sufficient approved revenue or capital budget to fund the proposed contract 

throughout its duration (see CSO 1.3.2 and 1.3.3);  

2.1.3 That the processes under these CSO have been followed correctly;  

2.1.4 That the Procurement Department has been consulted in advance for contracts over 

£25,000 (exclusive of VAT);  

2.1.5 That Member authority has been obtained (this may be from the Joint Strategic Committee; 

Executive Members for the particular service; or under a delegated authority). 

2.1.6 The contract formalities have been compiled with at CSO 12;  

2.1.7 That the Decisions Pathway has been followed (see CSO 1.3.5). 

3. Standing Order 3: Special Circumstances and Emergencies 

 
3.1 This CSO cannot be used for a contract that is over the public procurement threshold.  For 

urgent contracts over the threshold Officers would need to consult with the Monitoring 

Officer and the Chief Executive Officer.  Use of this provision must be compliant with the 

Access to Information Rules found at Part of this Constitution,  

 

490



 

231 

3.2 A ‘Special Circumstance’ or ‘Emergency’ is defined as a situation which poses an 

immediate risk to Council services or the wellbeing of residents, for which urgent action is 

needed and which cannot be dealt with using the Councils usual processes and 

procedures. 

 

3.3 Exemption from any of the provisions of these Standing Orders may only be made as 

follows: 

 

3.3.1 For contracts under £100,000 (exclusive of VAT) approval must be sought from the 

Monitoring Officer and the s151 Finance Officer and the Director for Service should publish 

an Officer Decision Notice; 

 

3.3.2 For contracts over £100,000 (exclusive of VAT) and below the Public Procurement 

Threshold the Monitoring Officer, and the s151 Finance Officer must approve the award 

and the Director for Service (or their delegated nominee) must consult with appropriate 

Executive Members or their Leader, (or the Joint Strategic Committee) who must be 

satisfied that the matter is Urgent or is a Special Circumstance having regard to the above 

definition, and if so satisfied, a direct award under this CSO exemption will be authorised.  

 

3.3.3 Where the exemption at 3.3.2 is so authorised, the Director for Service or their delegated 

nominee must ensure that: 

a) An Officer Decision awarding the contract is recorded by Democratic Services on the 

Decisions Pathway and/or in the minutes of the Committee giving the approval and the 

rules relating to Key Decisions in the Access to Information Rules are followed; and  

b) Unless committee approval is already obtained, tThe use of this CSO is to be reported as 

soon as practicable to the next Joint Strategic Committee following the consultation with the 

Executive Members and the publication of the Officer Decision. 

c) If it is impracticable for the Director or their delegated nominee to consult with the relevant 

Members, then the Director shall, when submitting the report to the next Joint Strategic 

Committee to explain the emergency, additionally give reasons as to why the Director was 

not able to consult with the relevant Members at the time. 

3.4 Advice should always be taken from the Monitoring Officer and Democratic Services as to 

the requirement to make any public notice in the Forward Plan of Key Decisions/28 Day 

Notice. 

 
3.5 For the avoidance of doubt, recruitment of temporary or agency staff to cover sickness or 

vacancies is included under this CSO. 

 

4. Standing Order 4: Publishing Contract Notices 

 

4.1 Publishing a Contract Opportunity Notice 

 

4.1.1. The Council advertises a contract opportunity when it carries out an open invitation to 

tender (ITT) or open request for quotation (RFQ) for a contract with a value of, or greater 

than £25,000 (exclusive of VAT).   

Open means that the opportunity is advertised to all suppliers whether nationally or within a 
geographic location and in these circumstances the contract must be published on the UK’s 
National Contracts Finder website.  
 
Where the Council advertises a contract opportunity it shall publish the information on the 
UK National Contracts Finder website within 24 hours of the time when it first advertises the 

491



 

232 

contract opportunity on the Council’s portal, see Regulation 110 (3) Public Contract 
Regulations 2015.  
 

4.1.2. The Council does not advertise an opportunity (and shall not be required to publish an 

opportunity on UK National Contracts Finder) where it carries out a closed ITT or closed 

RFQ process and only makes the opportunity available to a number of particular suppliers 

who have been selected for that purpose (whether ad hoc or by virtue of their membership 

of some closed category such as a framework agreement or DPS) and regardless of how it 

draws that opportunity to the attention of those suppliers.  

 

4.1.3. A regular report presenting information from the Contracts Register shall be presented to 

the Council’s Procurement Working Group by the Director for Service or their nominated 

representative identifying all those contracts due to expire and the proposed action to be 

taken.  The report identifying these contracts should be presented in a timely fashion to 

allow for sufficient time to re-procure, if necessary.  

 

If you need guidance on publishing a contract opportunity, always seek advice from the 

Procurement Department or Legal Services. 

 

4.2 Publishing a Contract Award Notice  

 

4.2.1. UK National Contracts Finder - Cabinet Office PPN09/21 requires Officers to publish a 

Contract Award Notice for all contracts with a value of, or greater than, £25,000 (exclusive 

of VAT) regardless of how the contract was procured and whether or not a contract 

opportunity was advertised.  The Notice must be published within 90 calendar days from 

the date of completion. 

 

4.2.2. Officers are responsible for notifying the Procurement Department when a Contract Award 

Notice is to be published and must provide all information required for the award notice to 

the Procurement Department.  

 
4.2.3. The Council’s Contracts Register - in addition to the requirement to publish on UK National 

Contracts Finder, a Council Contract Register for all contracts of, or greater than, £5,000 

(exclusive of VAT) shall be kept and maintained by the Council’s Procurement Department 

on behalf of the Director for Sustainability and Resources. The Register shall be open to 

inspection by any Member of the Council or public.   

 

4.2.4. All Officers completing contracts over £5,000 (exclusive of VAT) are responsible for 

providing the following information (as appropriate) to the Council’s Procurement 

Department to ensure the Contracts Register is kept up to date: 

a) Contract Reference Number  

b) Title of Agreement 

c) Department Responsible 

d) Description of Contract 

e) Contract Start Date 

f)  Contract End Date 

g) Contract Extension period (if applicable)  

h) Contract Review Date 

i)  Contract Value 

j)  Irrecoverable VAT 

k) Supplier Name 

l)  Supplier Type (legal standing of the organisation) 

m) Procurement process used   

492

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1044547/2021-12-21_Procurement_Policy_Note___Legal_requirements_to_publish_on_Contracts_Finder_update_December_2021.pdf


 

233 

 
5. Standing Order 5: Financial Limits and Procedures 

 

5.1 Contracts for a value up to but not including £25,000 (exclusive of VAT)  

 

5.1.1. For purchases up to (but not including) £25,000 (exclusive of VAT), two written quotes are 

to be obtained.  Where it is impracticable to obtain two written quotes due to the specialist 

nature of supply, one quote can be obtained providing there is written record that value for 

money has been considered, and the quote represents value for money.   

  

5.1.2. A written contract is required (see CSO 12). Any Finance Lease or Finance arrangement, 

must also be checked in advance by Financial Services. 

 

5.1.3. Contracts under CSO 5.1 do not need to be signed by Legal Services and can be signed by 

an Officer with sufficient budget, authority and has followed the Decisions Pathway (see 

CSO 1.3.5).   

 

5.2 Exemption from Obtaining Two Written Quotes 

 

5.2.1. Where the proposed purchase is for works, goods or services is below £5,000 (exclusive of 

VAT) and the purchase is for reactive maintenance and minor works to Council buildings or 

structures within the Council’s ownership and responsibility, the procuring officer need only 

obtain one written or oral quote.   

 

5.2.2. Use of the exemption at clause 5.2.1 is to be monitored. Where the aggregate value of the 

contracts reactive maintenance and minor works with any one supplier reaches £25,000 

(exclusive of VAT) in the aggregate or in any four year period, then the procuring officer will 

obtain two quotes prior to any further instruction to the same supplier to ensure value for 

money.     

 

5.2.3. In the event the aggregate spend has reached £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) and the 

procuring officer has obtained two quotes to ensure value for money as required by CSO 

5.2.2, if the same supplier has provided the most economically advantageous quote, the 

procuring officer may re-apply the procedure at clause 5.2.1 up to a further spend of 

£25,000 (exclusive of VAT) for reactive maintenance and repairs.  

 

5.3 Contracts for a value of £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) up to but not including £100,000 

(exclusive of VAT) 

 

5.3.1 Where the estimated value of a contract is from and including £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) 

but below £100,000 (exclusive of VAT), the Director or their delegated nominee is to obtain 

three written quotes or carry out a tender process.  The Procurement Department can 

advise on the most appropriate route. 

 

5.3.2 Unless the exemption at CSO 5.4 applies to this CSO, all quotations and tenders must be 

published on the Council’s e-portal.  

 

5.3.3 All quotes or tenders pursuant to this CSO shall be invited and received through the e-

portal in accordance with CSO 9. 

 

5.3.4 Quotes or tenders should only be evaluated in accordance with the criteria stated by the 

Council in the original RFQ or ITT documentation.  The evaluation process and reasons for 

the evaluation decision should be clearly documented and retained on file.  If in doubt, seek 

493



 

234 

advice from the Procurement Department.  

 

5.4 Exemption to Obtaining Three Quotes or Tenders  

 
5.4.1 Where in the opinion of the relevant Director, Head of Service, or their delegated nominee, 

it is impracticable to follow the procedure set out at CSO 5.3, due to the specialist nature of 

supply or the nature of any warranty that exists, then an exemption to obtaining three 

quotes will apply providing the reasoning for reaching the decision to use the exemption is 

recorded by the relevant Officer and approved by Legal, Finance, and Procurement 

Services in advance of the contract.  

 

5.5 Contracts for a value of £100,000 (exclusive of VAT) up to but not including the 

Public Procurement Threshold  

 

5.5.1 Where the estimated value of the contract is from £100,000 (exclusive of VAT) but below 

the procurement threshold, the Director for Service or their delegated nominee shall follow 

an open tender process unless the exemption to the open process at 5.6 applies.  

   

5.5.2 For below threshold contracts, an open process can be reserved by supplier location; small 

and medium sized enterprises (SMEs); voluntary and community groups and Social 

Enterprises (VCSEs). See CSO 1.3.8.  

 

5.5.3 An open procedure under this CSO requires the publication of: 

a. A notice on the Council’s Portal; 

b. A contract opportunity notice on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of the publication 

on the Portal.  The contract opportunity notice will be automatically created through 

the Portal using the information provided.  

 

5.5.4 In addition to the mandatory notices, Officers may consider giving notice of the procurement 

in a local publication, trade journal and/or on the Council’s web site. 

 

5.5.5 Instead of an open procurement a Framework Agreement may be used see CSO 7.1 and 

7.2. When using a framework or a dynamic purchasing system there is no need to publish a 

contract opportunity notice on National Contracts Finder. 

 

5.6 Exemption to the Open Process  

 

5.6.1 This exemption is only to be used in limited circumstances where approval is obtained from 

the Chief Financial Officer and the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services.  

 

5.6.2 An Open Process need not be followed, nor will a contract opportunity notice need to be 

published on National Contracts Finder, if it has been agreed by the Chief Financial Officer 

and Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services that the invitation to tender is to be 

made available to only a limited number of suppliers who have been selected for the 

purpose. In such circumstances, the tender process should invite a minimum of five 

tenderers unless the Chief Financial Officer and Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 

Services agree that it is impractical to do so.   

 

6. Standing Order 6: Above Threshold Procurements 

 

6.1 Tendering Procedures 

494



 

235 

6.1.1. When awarding public contracts, the Council shall apply one of the following procedures, 

always contact the Procurement Department for advice on the appropriate procedure: 

6.1.2. Open Procedure 

In which all interested suppliers may respond to the advertisement published on the 
Council’s Portal and the UK Find a Tender website by submitting a tender for the contract. 
 

6.1.3. Restricted Procedure 

The Council will publish a qualitative selection questionnaire and only those tenderers that 
pass the selection are invited to submit a tender for the contract. 
 

6.1.4. Competitive Dialogue Procedure (for developing solutions in dialogue) 

A qualitative selection is made of those who respond to the advertisement and the 
contracting authority enters into dialogue with potential bidders, to develop one or more 
suitable solutions for its requirements and on which chosen bidders will be invited to tender. 
  

6.1.5. Competitive Procedure with Negotiation (for improving bidders’ offers) 

A qualitative selection is made of those who respond to the advertisement. The Council 
may then open negotiations with the tenderers to seek improved offers and evaluate 
modified tender responses.  
 

6.1.6. Innovation Partnership Procedure (for developing innovative solutions)  

A qualitative selection is made of those who respond to the advertisement and the 
contracting authority uses a negotiated approach to invite suppliers to submit ideas to 
develop innovative works, supplies or services aimed at meeting a need for which there is 
no suitable existing ‘product’ on the market. The contracting authority is allowed to award 
partnerships to more than one supplier. 
 

6.2 Maintaining a Record of the Procurement Process  

6.2.1. Whichever above threshold procedure is to be used the procuring Officer must keep a 

Regulation 84 Report detailing each step of the procurement. The Report should be 

ongoing and specify: 

a) What process was used;  

b) Which stage has been reached;  

c) The names of selected and rejected tenderers;  

d) how the tenderers were evaluated and why;  

e) reasons for selection and rejection; 

f)  details of any known subcontractors; 

g) circumstances justifying the use of the tender procedure chosen; 

h) conflicts of interest identified and action taken; 

i) all details specific to negotiation or dialogue with the supplier. 

6.2.2. The Procurement Department will provide a template for the Report and it is the Officer’s 

responsibility to ensure the Report is kept up to date.  

495



 

236 

6.2.3. These mandatory Regulation 84 Reports may be fully disclosable in any procurement 

challenge, or may also be requested by a Cabinet Office Minister.  Officers should not 

disclose any information from the Report, without first obtaining legal advice.  

6.2.4. The Report is not required for contracts under a framework agreement. 

6.2.5. For contracts below threshold the Regulation 84 Report is not mandatory, but it is deemed 

good practice for Officers to keep a Report for reasons of transparency.  

7. Standing Order 7: Frameworks, Dynamic Purchasing Systems and Consortia 

Organisations 

 
7.1 Framework Agreements 

A Framework Agreement is a collective of suppliers that have already tendered through a 
compliant procurement process, and have been selected (on quality and cost criteria) for 
their ability to provide either works, goods or services to the Council. The Framework will 
enable the Council to hold a mini-competition to obtain best value, or it will enable a direct 
call-off to a single supplier.  
 
The Framework Agreement has established call-off contract terms to be used between the 
Council and the Supplier, and there will be Framework rules and guidance on how to use 
the Framework and what amendments if any can be made to the call-off terms.    
 

7.2 Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS) 

The DPS is similar to a Framework Agreement but new suppliers can apply to join at any 
time providing they meet the DPS criteria.   A mini competition must always be held with the 
DPS.  
 

7.3 Consortia Procurements 

Consortia bidding is the term used to describe the situation where a number of economic 
operators come together to submit a bid for a contract in a procurement process and could 
be a useful process for major projects requiring a mix of professional skills.   
 

8. Standing Order 8: Preparation of the Procurement Documents  

 

8.1 Request for Quotation and Specification Documents  

 

8.1.1. The Request for Quotation (RFQ) - Officers must ensure that they are using the most 

current version of the RFQ document which has been approved by the Procurement 

Department as it contains necessary protections to the Council during the RFQ process.  

  

The RFQ document can be varied from being 100% price based or can be reviewed on a 
combined price and quality assessment. The Procurement Department can give a guidance 
on using and completing the RFQ. 
 

8.1.2. The Specification accompanies the RFQ and must clearly and concisely set out the 

Officer’s needs, having regard to the nature of the works goods or services to be procured.  

 

8.1.3. Contract Terms and Conditions - it is preferable for each RFQ to attach the Council’s terms 

and conditions of contract which are appropriate to the nature of the works, goods or 

services being procured.  Officers will need to contact legal services in advance of 

publishing the RFQ for advice on contract terms and conditions. 

  

8.2 Invitation to Tender and Specification Documents  

 

496



 

237 

8.2.1. The Invitation to Tender (ITT) - Officers must ensure that they are using the most current 

version of the ITT document which has been approved by the Procurement Department as 

it contains necessary protections to the Council during the tender process.   The 

Procurement Department can give a guidance on completing the ITT.  

 

In all cases, every invitation to tender shall include the following: 
a) A statement that the tendering process will be conducted through the Council’s Portal; 

b) Full instructions on how to submit a tender to this system; 

c) The deadline for submission of tenders to this system;   

d) A Tender submission schedule which contains: 

 FOI Exemption Form  

 Form of Tender  

 Collusive Tendering Certificate 

 Mandatory and Discretionary Exclusion Grounds 

 Supplier’s selection questionnaire 

e) The ITT shall also include the evaluation criteria against which the tenderers will be 

scored and the weighting (or score) to be applied to each criterion with an 

explanation of the scoring mechanism. All criteria must be capable of being 

objectively assessed, clear and concise. Criteria will include price (which usually 

carries a score of not less than 30%) and Social Value (with a score of 10%).  The 

remaining criteria (60%) usually address the quality of the goods works or services 

to be delivered. Please see CSO 8.3 for example evaluation criteria.  

 

8.2.2. Fully detailed Specification - Officers must ensure that they have a fully detailed 

specification setting out exactly what it is the Council wants to purchase which provides all 

specific and technical requirements. 

8.2.3. Contract Terms and Conditions - Each ITT is to attach an appropriate form of contract as 

approved by Legal Services. 

 

8.3 Establishing the Most Economically Advantageous Tender (MEAT) or other approved 

Assessment 

 

8.3.1. The criteria for considering MEAT must: 

a) Be agreed in advance and applied equally to all tenders; 

b) Be relevant and appropriate to the subject matter of the tender; 

c) Be objectively identifiable capable of being objectively scored; 

d) Not be anti-competitive or capable of distorting competition; 

e) Be listed in a decreasing order of importance having regard to the weightings 

attributed to them starting with the highest scoring criteria first. 

 
8.3.2. Weighting must be given to each criterion used, which reflects the importance of each 

element of the contract.  

 
8.3.3. Where any weighted criterion has sub-criteria to be considered this must be disclosed in 

advance in the ITT and relevant sub-weightings attributed to the sub-criteria. 

 
8.3.4. Price must be a criterion and normally must have a weighting of not less than 30%.  Where 

the award requires adopting a price weighting of less than 30%, this will need to be justified 

to, and agreed with, the Procurement Department.  

 
8.3.5. Social value is to be given a weighting of not less than 10% unless the Procurement 

Department agrees otherwise. 

 

497



 

238 

8.3.6. The remaining criteria used must reflect the quality and available social value of the 

purchase, and be broken down appropriately to consider all aspects of required quality 

appropriate for the tender. 

 

An example evaluation scoring could be 30% price, 60% quality and 10% social value 
totalling 100%.  Quality and Social Value would most likely have sub-criteria with their total 
weightings not exceeding 60% and 10% respectively.  
 

8.4 Examples of criteria for establishing MEAT: 

 

8.4.1. Costs - the whole lifecycle cost should be evaluated - see CSO 1.3.2  

 

8.4.2. Social value - for Social Value criteria - see CSO 1.4 

 

8.4.3. Quality - Examples include: technical and professional merit, aesthetic and functional 

characteristics, environmental characteristics, service delivery, after-sales service and 

technical assistance, customer service and support, contract mobilisation, implementation 

and management, experience, and risk management. 

 
9. Standing Order 9: Using e-Procurement Portal  

 

9.1 Publishing and Accepting Quotations and Tenders on the Portal   

 

9.1.1. Unless the exemption at paragraph 9.2 below applies, all requests for quotations (RFQ) and 

invitations to tenders (ITT) are to be published and accepted on the Council’s portal.  

 
9.1.2. All quotations and tenders will be stored electronically by the portal in a secure inbox until 

opened after the deadline. 

 
9.1.3. Officers must ensure bids received are compliant by checking that the appropriate 

information detailed in the RFQ/ITT documents is completed and submitted by suppliers as 

requested in those documents.  

 
9.1.4. Bidders must return their submissions on or before the deadline set out in the RFQ/ITT 

documents. Submissions returned after the time and date must be rejected by the Council, 

although the Council may extend the deadline for a late submission if there is evidence 

available to demonstrate that the bidder has made an attempt to submit to the portal before 

the expiration of the deadline, or if an extension is afforded to all those bidding. All 

information regarding quotations or tenders received, their submission date, time and their 

opened date and time will be stored by the system.  

 

9.2 Exemption to publishing on the Council’s Portal   

 
9.2.1. For below-threshold procurements, where the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 

Services and the Chief Financial Officer agree that due to the specialist nature of the supply 

it is impractical for potential suppliers to be asked to quote or tender using the portal (i.e. 

due to a lack of technical knowledge and experience or availability) then the quotes or 

tenders can be obtained as set out below: 

a) The Director or their delegated nominee shall obtain at least three sealed written 

quotes or sealed tenders from persons or bodies who in the opinion of the Director 

or their delegated nominee are capable of performing the contract. 

b) An agreed form of standard contract should be used and Legal Services should be 

instructed in advance of the procurement. 

498



 

239 

c) All quotes and tenders received pursuant to this CSO shall either be opened by 

electronic means or if written sealed quotes or sealed tenders in the presence of the 

Director for Service and a Procurement Officer.  

d) The Head of Service or their delegated nominee shall then have delegated authority 

to accept such a quote or tender, but in the case of a quote other than the lowest, 

then the Head of Service must establish MEAT as set out in CSO 8.3.  

e) Details of the quotes or tenders received and how the successful contractor was 

chosen should be submitted to the Procurement Department for approval for all 

contracts. 

 

9.2.2. Where this exemption applies the procuring officer must still comply with any requirement to 

publish the contract award notice on Contracts Finder and on the Council’s contracts 

register.  

 
10. Standing Order 10: Evaluation and Notifications to Bidders 

 

10.1 Evaluation of Quotations and Tenders  

10.1.1. The members of an evaluation panel should be carefully considered and all members 

must declare any conflicts of interests in the procurement and its outcome prior to 

commencing any evaluation.  

10.1.2. Members of the evaluation panel should only receive that part of the tender response 

which they are required to score. This prevents undue influence on the scoring of their 

specified section. 

10.1.3. Submissions must be evaluated objectively and strictly in accordance with the criteria 

stated in the original request for quotation (RFQ) or invitation to tender (ITT) and in 

compliance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 or other relevant legislation.   

10.1.4. The evaluating panel members must clearly document and record the reasons for their 

decision and any other relevant matter arising during the evaluation. Where the tender 

process is above threshold, panel members must continue to keep this information up to 

date see CSO 6.2 (Maintaining a Record of the Procurement Process).  

10.1.5. Unless seeking an RFQ based on price only, the award must be based on the most 

economically advantageous tender (MEAT) which uses a cost-effective approach for 

price/quality ratio, offering best price (which will not necessarily be the lowest price).  Or, if 

approved by the Procurement Department, another recognised evaluation assessment 

method (see CSO 8.3 MEAT or other Approved Assessment).  

10.1.6. A tenderer’s submission may not be altered after the time and date specified for the return 

of tenders.  If an error in the submission is discovered, the tenderer shall be given the 

opportunity to confirm or withdraw the tender as it is submitted.  If, in the opinion of the 

Assistant Director Finance, there are exceptional circumstances, a tenderer may be 

allowed to correct any arithmetical error in the tender or clarify its tender, but not add to or 

enhance it. 

10.2  Notification to Unsuccessful Bidders  

10.2.1. Following an evaluation of a request for quotation or an invitation to tender, the procuring 

officer will ensure that they liaise with the Procurement Department to ensure that all 

bidders are simultaneously notified in writing through the Council’s portal with the 

evaluation outcome by providing the information below.  Supplying the following 

information is mandatory for above-threshold tenders and for below-threshold tenders is 

good transparent practice:   

499



 

240 

a) The tender evaluation criteria; 

b) The reasons for the decision, including the characteristics and relative advantages 

of the successful tender; 

c) The evaluation scores of the tenderer receiving the notice and the scores of the 

successful tenderer; 

d) The reasons (if any) why the tenderer did not meet the technical specification and/or 

the areas where the tenderers submission was weaker than that of the successful 

tenderer; 

e) The name of the tenderer(s) to be awarded the contract 

f) A statement on the date the standstill period is expected to end (see 10.6 Standstill 

Period).  

10.3 Notification to Successful Bidders  

10.3.1. Successful tenderers will be sent a Notification of an Intention to Award Letter, which will 

usually be subject to a ten day standstill period (see 10.4). Officers must ensure that they 

do not create a binding contract with the supplier until the contract has been finalised and 

executed.  This is in keeping with the request for quotation or invitation to tender, which 

confirms the Council will not be bound until the contract is executed.    

10.4 Standstill Period  

10.4.1. Above Threshold - The standstill period must run for a minimum of 10 calendar days 

commencing the day after the notice was emailed to the tenderer and expires at midnight 

on the 10th day.  If the expiry date of the standstill period falls on a weekend or public 

holiday then the expiry date shall be midnight on the next working day. 

 

10.4.2. Should a Tenderer request further information or debrief during the standstill period, the 

Officer should immediately consult with the Procurement Department and Assistant 

Director Legal & Democratic Services for advice.  The Council may extend the standstill 

period for further days until the tenderer has received and considered the information. 

 

10.4.3. If the Council receives notification from a tenderer that it intends to challenge a contract 

award decision, then the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services must be notified 

immediately and the Council must automatically refrain from entering into the contract until 

legal advice has been received (failure to comply with this CSO may result in the court 

making a declaration of ineffectiveness with damages payable by the Council).  Inform the 

Council’s Freedom of Information Officer if a challenge is received to ensure that 

commercially sensitive information is not released without prior consideration and 

authority.  

 

10.4.4. Upon satisfactory conclusion of the standstill period the Officer may advise the successful 

tenderer(s) that the standstill period has passed and instruct the Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services to draw up a formal contract with the successful tenderer(s). 

 

10.4.5. Once the standstill period has concluded a Contract Award Notice should be placed in the 

Find a Tender (FTS) by the Procurement Department within 30 days of the contract 

award. 

 

10.4.6. Below Threshold - tenders below the public procurement threshold are not covered by 

the full requirements laid out in Section 10.2 (Notification to Unsuccessful Bidders). 

However, it is best practice to follow the same principles of notifying unsuccessful 

500



 

241 

tenderers and, if requested by the tenderer, providing feedback on the outcome of the 

procurement exercise.  

  

10.4.7. It is not necessary to have a standstill period for a below threshold contract, but it is good 

practice to apply one and only in limited circumstances will the Procurement Department 

agree to reduce the standstill period.   

11. Standing Order 11: Subcontracting 

 

11.1 Where it is anticipated that the successful tenderer will want to subcontract out an element 

of delivery to a third party the Director for Service must ensure that: 

11.1.1. The subcontractor is not a supplier that would have been excluded in the tender process;  

11.1.2. The main supplier has carried a best value exercise in line with these CSO and that best 

value for the subcontractor has been approved by the Procurement Department; and 

11.1.3. Any subcontractor is paid on the same payment terms as the supplier in the main contract 

and on terms no less favourable than those agreed with the supplier, i.e. on payment 

terms within 30 days;  

11.2 Consideration must be given as to whether or not a collateral warranty between the 

subcontractor and the Council is required.  A collateral warranty is most often required 

where there is no direct contractual relationship between the Council and the 

subcontractor. 

11.3 There shall be inserted in every contract a clause detailing the subcontracting 

arrangements. 

 

12. Standing Order 12: Contract Formalities 

 

12.1 The Form of Contract  

12.1.1. All contracts should be made in writing and on the Council's standard written terms unless 

Legal Services approves otherwise.  Contracts made on the supplier’s written terms must 

be reviewed and approved by Legal Services. In advance of the tender process, the 

procuring Officer must seek advice from Legal Services on the form of contract to be 

used.    

12.1.2. Advice from the Finance Department must be obtained where the contract involves a 

finance leasing arrangement.  

12.1.3. Every contract shall specify the goods, materials or services to be supplied and the work 

to be executed; the price to be paid together with a statement as to the amount of any 

discount(s) or other deduction(s); the period(s) within which the contract is to be 

performed and such other conditions and terms as may be agreed between the parties 

and are required by law.    

12.1.4. Consideration must be given as to whether or not a performance bond, parent company 

guarantee, or other form of security (see 12.2.2 below Liquidated Damages) acceptable to 

the S151 officer and the Legal Services, is required from the supplier.   

12.2 Required Terms  

 
12.2.1 Boilerplate Clauses - The Council is required to include statutory terms which include 

non-exhaustively: Anti Bribery; Anti-Money Laundering; Freedom of Information; Data 

Protection; Safeguarding of Vulnerable Adults and Children; Transparency; Prevention of 

Terrorism; Audit; Anti-Discrimination Equality and Diversity; Payment of Subcontractors; 

501



 

242 

Termination and Exit of Above Threshold Contracts; Compliance with Anti-Slavery and 

Human Trafficking laws; Force Majeure; Health and Safety.  

 

If Officers consider one of the above clauses is more appropriate to their contract, they 
must notify Legal Services when asking them to consider the contract terms. For example, 
where personal data is being controlled or processed by a third party on the Council’s 
behalf, an additional data sharing agreement may be required.   
 

12.2.2 Liquidated Damages - Officers must consider the effect on the Council of any delay in 

performance of the contract, and whether that delay is likely to cause the Council financial 

loss which requires protection.  If so, the Officer must estimate the reasonable and 

genuine loss that the Council is likely to suffer as a result of the delay and provide to Legal 

Services a figure which would fairly compensate the Council, usually at a daily or weekly 

rate for that loss.   

 

12.2.3 Standards - Where an appropriate British Standard or code of practice (or other 

applicable standard) applies to the procurement, the procuring Officers are required to 

notify Legal Services so the relevant standard is included in the contract.  

 

12.3 Execution of Contracts  

 

12.3.1. Where any contract is required as a result of any legal procedure or legal proceedings on 

behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 

Services or another person authorised by them, unless any enactment otherwise 

authorises. 

   

12.3.2. Contracts with a value of less than £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) can be executed by the 

Head of Service of their delegated nominee.  Contracts of £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) or 

above, are to be executed in Legal Services, unless Legal Services approves otherwise.   

  

12.3.3. Any contract for an amount of or greater than £250.000 (exclusive of VAT) is to be to be 

executed as a deed using the common seal of the Council, signed by an authorised 

signatory and witnessed as formality requires.  

  

12.4 Electronic Signatures 

 

12.4.1. For all contracts below £250,000 (exclusive of VAT), the Council may execute the contract 

via a method of e-signature which has been pre-approved by Legal Services.  Any 

contract with a value of £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) or above, must be authorised, signed 

and completed by Legal Services.   

 
12.4.2. For contracts that require a seal, the Monitoring Officer may adopt such means of sealing 

as from time to time they consider appropriate. This may include allowing electronic 

sealing in accordance with section 7A(1) of the Electronic Communications Act 2000 (or 

other subsequent legislation).  Affixing of an electronic seal approved in this way shall be 

of the same legal effect as affixing the common seal of the Council.  Any additional 

formality relating to the witnessing of such contracts are complied with.  

 
13. Standing Order 13: Engagement of Consultants 

 

13.1 The financial limits in these CSOs apply to the engagement of consultants, the appointment 

must be based on MEAT or other approved evaluation (see CSO 8.3).  If a consultant is to 

provide services over the lifetime of a project then the whole lifetime cost should be taken 

502



 

243 

into account when procuring the consultant.  

 

13.2 External legal consultants must be appointed through Legal Services in accordance with 

the Council’s constitution.  

 

13.3 Prior to the engagement of the consultant the Officer must:  

a) Prepare a business case in advance of the appointment which as a minimum, 

should detail the reason for seeking external expertise, for example, lack of internal 

capacity or capability due to the specialist nature of services; 

b) This business case should be approved by either the Director or the Head of Service 

or their delegated nominee; 

c) Financial checks of lead consultants’ financial stability and professional indemnity 

insurance should be made (which should also include any sub-consultants);   

d) Insurance expiry date should be monitored by project managers except in those 

cases where the insurance Section is directly responsible for such insurance.  

Ongoing checks of valid insurance renewals should be undertaken during the 

lifetime of contracts; 

e) Where the consultant is an individual, check with Payroll and Procurement to find 

out if the consultant is acting in the capacity of an employee and therefore subject to 

IR35 (tax and national insurance payments at source)   

 

13.4 It shall be a condition that the consultancy contract shall require the consultant to: 

a) Comply with these CSO in consultation with the relevant Head of Service or Director 

if the consultant is procuring goods works or services on the Council’s behalf.  

b) Produce to the Head of Service or Director on request, all the records maintained by 

them in relation to the contract; and 

c) On completion of the contract, transmit all such records to the Head of Service or 

Director or to any other Head of Service duly authorised by the Council for this 

purpose. 

d) Consider and deal with ownership of intellectual property rights created by the 

instruction of the consultant. 

 
13.5 The terms of engagement of a consultant (not being an Officer of the Council) shall be set 

down in a form approved by Legal Service. 

 
13.6 Previous employees should not be engaged as consultants until a period of at least 6 

months has elapsed since they ended their employment with the Council. 

 
14. Standing Order 14: Contract Performance Monitoring 

 

14.1 The procuring Officer should ensure that the contractor’s performance is monitored against 

the contractually agreed terms, by an appropriate Officer responsible for contract 

management in their department. The extent of the monitoring should be proportionate to 

the nature, duration and associated cost of the contract. 

 
14.2 Heads of Service and managers are required to ensure Officers carry out proper contract 

management and that any issues in contract performance are brought to their attention.  

For higher value contracts, Members may also require an updating report on contract 

performance.   

 
14.3 Contract managers are to periodically revise how delivery and processes under ongoing 

contracts might be improved and to ensure that those improvements are implemented by 

the supplier and monitored by the contract manager.   

503



 

244 

 
14.4 Where further goods, works, or services will be required at the end of an existing contract 

term, contract managers must consult with the Procurement Department prior to the 

expiration of the existing contract in sufficient time to plan the re-procurement to avoid 

disruption to Council services.  

 
15. Standing Order 15: Extensions to Contracts 

 

15.1 This Standing Order is only to be used in the following circumstances: 

a) The extension is required to undertake an evaluation of the future requirement of the 

existing contract/service/service delivery;  

b) There has been no previous extension of the original contract (other than an 

extension, or option to extend, which was agreed as a term of the original contract); 

c) There is approved budget; 

d) The proposed extension has been approved by Procurement and Legal Services 

having consideration to these CSO and the public procurement rules; 

 
15.2 Where the Director for Service or Officer acting with delegated authority on their behalf 

proposes to extend a fixed-term contract to include additional works, services, goods they 

shall only do so in accordance with this CSO and CSO 2.1 (Authorisation to Contract). 

 
15.3 For above-threshold contracts, the terms of the contract extension must not breach the 

requirements of Regulation 72 of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (Modification of 

Contracts).  

 
15.4 In addition:  

a) The extension must be on the same terms as the original contract including terms as 

to price, although an increase in the price payable for the goods, services or works, 

which reflects an RPI increase is acceptable; 

b) The original contractor has agreed the additional goods, services or works will be 

supplied on the same terms;  

c) The extension is necessary and a legitimate business case for it has been approved 

and recorded in writing by the Director for Service or Officer with delegated authority 

to extend the contract; 

d) The extension must be made during the term of the original contract or continue 

immediately following the expiration of the original contract without any break in 

continuity between the expiration of the original contract and the extension of it;  

e) In the case of construction works, the proposed additional works are on the same 

site as the original contract or of a similar nature; 

f) The procurement for the original contract complied with these CSOs; 

g) The extension is for no more than 24 months; 

h) The decisions pathway has been followed prior to awarding the extension.  

 
15.5 In all cases, consideration should be given as to whether approval should be obtained from 

the relevant Executive Member(s) before any extensions are granted.  

 

16. Standing Order 16: Variations to Contracts 

 

16.1 The effect of the proposed variation on the contract value must be fully assessed and 

recorded in writing prior to the variation being made.  Officers must ensure that there is an 

authorised budget sufficient to meet the value of the variation in place, and the decisions 

pathway must be followed.  

 

504



 

245 

16.2 Officers must consult Procurement, Financial and Legal Services for advice on the 

proposed variation prior to making the variation. Any contract variation with a value of 

£25,000 (exclusive of VAT) or above, is to be signed by Legal Services.  

 

16.3 For above-threshold contracts, the terms of the contract variation must not breach any rule 

under Public Contract Regulations 2015 or other updating legislation.   

 

16.4 All of the following clauses shall apply to a contract variation. 

16.4.1. All contract variations must be within the scope of the original contract.  The variation will 

be in scope if it is within a similar range of goods, services or works supplied under the 

original contract and the variation is required in order to complete an aim or purpose of the 

original contract. 

 

16.4.2. In all cases, there should be a clear statement recorded in writing setting out the business 

justification, the cost, the benefits and the duration of the variation (whether temporary or 

for the remaining term of the contract) which is to be shared with Procurement Financial 

and Legal Services, as well as to inform the audit trail.  

 

16.4.3. All contract variations must be authorised by the Director for Service or have relevant 

Member approval having regard to the business case and any comments made by the 

Procurement, Financial and Legal Departments. The variation must be in writing and 

signed by both the Council and the contractor. Where the value of the contract variation 

exceeds £25,000 it must be executed by Legal Services.  

 

16.4.4. In all circumstances at the time the variation is proposed, Officers must follow the 

decisions pathway and if required to do so by that pathway, seek authorisation from (or 

consult with) Executive Member(s).  

 

17. Standing Order 17: Termination of Contracts 

 
17.1 No contract with a value greater than £250,000 (exclusive of VAT) which has been entered 

into under the authority of the Council’s Executive or appropriate Executive Members, shall 

be terminated either by agreement or by unilateral action without the approval of the Chief 

Financial Officer and the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services, and consultation 

with Executive Members in advance of terminating the contract.  

 
17.2 Where in the opinion of the Chief Financial Officer and the Assistant Director Legal & 

Democratic Services, the termination will have a significant financial impact on the Council 

or will cause a significant disruption to Council services, then the Director for Service is to 

provide a full report to Executive Members or the Joint Strategic Committee (as advised by 

the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services) and obtain Member authority to 

terminate the contract in advance of the termination.  

 
17.3 Where, in the opinion of the Director for Service, termination of the contract is urgent and 

delay would have an adverse impact on services, assets, or the public;  and there is 

insufficient time to take a report to Members (as required by paragraph 17.2), then 

providing the Chief Financial Officer and Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services 

agree, the Director may terminate the contract and report as soon as possible after the 

termination providing full details of the circumstances, financial effect and/or disruption to 

services.   

 
17.4 For all contracts below £100,000 (exclusive of VAT), the Director for Service can terminate 

the contract without Member consultation providing that the Chief Financial Officer and 

505



 

246 

Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services agree there is no significant financial 

impact or disruption to Council services. 

 
17.5 Legal advice shall be sought before terminating any contract.  

506



 

247 

 

Joint Councils Financial Regulations 
 

1.      INTRODUCTION 

2.     FINANCIAL PLANNING 

2.1  FORMAT OF THE BUDGET 

2.2  BUDGETS AND MEDIUM-TERM PLANNING 

2.3  CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

2.4  MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES 

3.      FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

3.1  BUDGETARY CONTROL 

3.2  SCHEME OF VIREMENT 

3.2.1 General Virement 

3.2.2 Virements Relating to S106 Contributions 

3.2.3 Virements Relating to Contingency Budgets 

3.2.4 Virements Relating to Reserves 

3.3  ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

3.4  ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS 

3.5  THE ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

4.     RISK MANAGEMENT & CONTROL OF RESOURCES 

4.1  RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSURANCE 

4.2  AUDIT REQUIREMENTS 

4.3  PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 

4.4  ASSETS – LAND, BUILDINGS, FURNITURE, EQUIPMENT ETC. 

4.5  TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

4.6 STRATEGIC INVESTMENT PROPERTY FUND 

4.7 WORKFORCE 

5.  FINANCIAL SYSTEMS & PROCEDURES 

5.1  GENERAL 

5.2  INCOME 

5.3  EXPENDITURE 

5.4  TAXATION 

6.  EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 

6.1  EXTERNAL FUNDING 

APPENDIX 1: SCHEME OF DELEGATION AT A GLANCE 

  

507



 

248 

1. INTRODUCTION 
  

1.1 Financial Regulations provide the internal framework for managing the Councils’ financial 
affairs. These regulations apply to every Member and Officer of Adur District Council and 
Worthing Borough Council and anyone in the public or private sector who acts on behalf of 
the Councils. It is imperative that the Councils have a strong and usable set of Financial 
Regulations that are accessible to all who are dealing with its financial matters. 
 

1.2 Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, each local authority is required to 
make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and arrange for one of 
their Officers to be responsible for the administration of those affairs. For Adur District 
Council and Worthing Borough Council this officer is the Chief Financial Officer. 
 

1.3 Throughout these Financial Regulations, the title Chief Financial Officer will be used to 
denote the designated Section 151 Officer of the Councils; in the case of absence or non-
availability, the Chief Accountant will be the Deputy Section 151 Officer. 
 

1.4 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the Financial 
Regulations and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the Councils for approval. 
They are also responsible, where appropriate, for reporting breaches of the Financial 
Regulations to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee. 
 

1.5 It is the responsibility of the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT)/Heads of Service to ensure 
that all Officers in their service are familiar with the content of the Councils’ Financial 
Regulations, as well as other internal regulatory documents, and also to confirm that they 
comply with them. 
 

1.6 It is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer to provide advice and guidance regarding 
the Financial Regulations that Members, Officers and others acting on behalf of the Councils 
are required to follow. 

  
STATUTORY REFERENCES 

● Local Government Act 1972 

● Local Government Act 1999 

● Local Government Act 2003 

● Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

● Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

  
CODES OF PRACTICE 

● Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 

● Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 

● Service reporting Code of Practice for Local Authorities (CIPFA) 

● Treasury Management Code of Practice (CIPFA) 

● United Kingdom Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) as interpreted by 

CIPFA’s Local Government Application Note 

 
2. FINANCIAL PLANNING 
  
2.1  FORMAT OF THE BUDGET 
  
2.1.1  Why is this important? 

 
The format of the budget determines the level of detail to which financial control and 
management will be exercised. The format shapes how the rules around virement operate, 

508



 

249 

the operation of cash limits and sets the level at which funds may be reallocated within 
budgets. 

  
2.1.2  Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To advise the Cabinets on the format of the budget that is approved by their Council. 

  
2.1.3   Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To comply with accounting guidance provided by the Chief Financial Officer. 

  
2.1.4  Key controls 

 
The key controls for the budget format are: 

(a) That the format complies with all legal requirements; 
(b) That the format reflects the accountabilities of service delivery;  
(c) That the format reflects the statutory reporting requirements for government 

returns; and 
(d) That, in published statements where it is required, the format complies with 

CIPFA’s Service reporting Code of Practice for Local Authorities. 
  
2.2  BUDGETS AND MEDIUM-TERM PLANNING 
  
2.2.1 Why is this important? 

 
The Councils needs to plan effectively and develop systems to enable limited resources to 
be allocated in accordance with priorities. The budget is the financial statement of the 
Councils’ plans and policies. 
 
The revenue and capital budgets must be constructed to ensure that resource allocation 
properly reflects the service plans and corporate priorities of the Councils. Budgets are 
needed so that the Councils can plan, authorise, monitor and control the way money is 
allocated and spent. It is illegal for the Councils to budget for a deficit. 
 
CLT/Heads of Service shall prepare annually in accordance with an agreed timetable 
(normally in preparation for submission to the Cabinets each January/February), draft 
estimates of income and expenditure in a form agreed with the Chief Financial Officer 
together with any necessary explanations. 
 

 
2.2.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To prepare and submit reports on the budget prospects for the Councils, including 
information about any resource constraints determined by the Government. Reports should 
consider the medium-term financial prospects which will be updated as appropriate. 
 
To determine the detailed form of revenue estimates and the methods for their preparation, 
consistent with the budget approved by each Council, and following consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member for Resources and CLT/ Heads of Service. 
 
To prepare and submit reports to the Joint Strategic Committee on the overall position; and 
to each Cabinet on the aggregate spending plans of the individual portfolios (analysed by 
departments) and the resources available, identifying, where appropriate, the implications 
for the level of Council Tax to be levied. 
 
To advise on the medium-term implications of spending decisions. 

 

509



 

250 

To encourage the best use of resources and value for money by working with CLT/ Heads 
of Service to identify opportunities to improve economy, efficiency and effectiveness, and 
by encouraging good practice in conducting financial appraisals of development or savings 
options, and in developing financial aspects of service planning. 
 
To advise the Council on the Cabinet’s proposals on the robustness of the budget set and 
the adequacy of reserves in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003. 

  
2.2.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To prepare estimates of income and expenditure, in consultation with the Chief Financial 
Officer, to be submitted to the Joint Strategic Committee and the Cabinet. 
 
To prepare budgets consistent with any relevant cash limits, with the Council’s annual 
budget cycle and with guidelines issued by the Joint Strategic Committee. The format will 
be prescribed by the Chief Financial Officer in accordance with the Joint Strategic 
Committee’s general directions. 
 
To integrate financial and budget plans into service planning. 
 
To ensure that budget proposals underpin the Councils’ strategic priorities and objectives. 
 
To utilise the Councils project management framework when delivering projects funded by 
the revenue budget. 

  
2.2.4 Key controls 

 
The key controls for budgets and medium-term planning are: - 
 
(a)  specific budget approval is given for all expenditure; 
(b)  budget managers are consulted in the preparation of the budgets for which they will be 

held responsible and accept accountability within delegations set by the Cabinet for 
their budgets and the level of service to be delivered; and 

(c)  a monitoring process is in place to regularly review the effectiveness and operation of 
budget preparation and to ensure that any corrective action is taken. 

 
2.3  CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
  
2.3.1 Why is this important? 

 
Capital expenditure involves acquiring or enhancing fixed assets with a long-term value to 
the Council, such as land, buildings, and major items of plant, equipment or vehicles. 

 
Capital assets can shape the way services are delivered in the long term and create 
financial commitments for the future in the form of financing costs and revenue running 
costs. Capital expenditure can also result in the creation of an intangible asset, for items 
such as software licenses which have no physical substance. 
 
The Council is required to set its Capital Programme having regard to the Prudential Code, 
ensuring that it is affordable, prudent and sustainable. This means that capital expenditure 
forms part of a capital strategy that is carefully prioritised in order to maximise the benefit of 
limited resources. The Council must also approve its Prudential Indicators which are used 
to monitor performance throughout the year. 

  
  

510



 

251 

2.3.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
To prepare a capital strategy which outlines the Councils approach to developing a Capital 
Programme which meets the Councils’ priorities; 
 
To prepare a Capital Programme covering at least two future financial years. If an urgent 
and unforeseen need arises to undertake a project in excess of the current approved 
Capital Programme or to accelerate the preparation, commencement or completion of a 
scheme, the proposal will be considered by the Corporate Leadership Team and if 
supported will then be reported to Joint Strategic Committee (and Full Council if a 
supplementary estimate is required) for final approval. 
 
To prepare and submit regular reports to the Joint Strategic Committee on the projected 
income, expenditure and resources compared with the approved estimates. Also, to inform 
the Cabinet where estimated expenditure on any scheme exceeds the Capital Programme 
provision by more than 10% or £50,000 whichever is lower, unless the amount is not 
material. 
 
The definition of ‘capital’ will be determined by the Chief Financial Officer, having regard to 
government regulations and accounting requirements. 

  
2.3.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To comply with guidance concerning the development of the Capital Programme, capital 
schemes and controls issued by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To utilise the Councils project management framework when delivering projects. 
 
To ensure that all estimates and programmes prepared in connection with capital 
expenditure shall include reference to the estimated revenue implications in each of the 
development years and in a full cost year as agreed with the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To review the Capital Programme provisions for their services and the estimated final costs 
of schemes in the approved Capital Programme. 
 
To ensure that adequate records are maintained for all capital contracts. 
 
To proceed with projects/contracts only when there is adequate provision in the Capital 
Programme and guarantees of any external funding are in place. 
 
To notify the Chief Financial Officer immediately if the total value of a contract or its annual 
sum is likely to be different from the original figure by more than the approved limits (the 
lower of more than 10% or £50,000 subject to materiality). 
 

 2.3.4  Key controls 
 
The key controls for Capital Programmes are: 

(a) specific recommendation by the Joint Strategic Committee and resolution of the 
relevant Council for the planned programme of capital expenditure; 

(b) Prior to any expenditure being incurred, each capital project must have a project 
initiation document (PID) as detailed in the capital strategy which is subject to 
approval by the relevant Director and Cabinet Member; 

(c) Projects with a value in excess of £250,000 are Key Decisions (as defined in Article 
12 of the Council’s Constitution) and therefore must be included in the Council’s 
Forward Plan to provided 28 days of any decision to be made, and a report taken to 
the relevant Cabinet Members detailing the following: 

(i) details of the scheme including the options considered; 

511



 

252 

(ii) the procurement strategy; 
(iii) the capital and revenue implications of the proposed scheme over the 

medium term; and 
(iv) requesting any further delegations as appropriate 

(d) proposals for minor improvements and alterations to buildings and land must be 
approved by the appropriate Director/ Head of Service; 

(e) monitoring of progress of the programme in conjunction with expected expenditure 
and comparison with approved budget; and 

(f) monitoring of Prudential Indicators throughout the year. 
  
2.4   MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES 
  
2.4.1 Why are these important? 

 
The Council holds reserves for one of three purposes: 

(a) working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows, to manage 

budget risk and to avoid unnecessary temporary borrowing (general reserve); 

(b) a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies (general 

reserve); and 

(c) a means of building up funds (earmarked reserves) to meet planned one-off 

expenditure, and to meet known or predicted liabilities. 

 
It is the responsibility of the Section 151 Officer to advise the Council as to the level of 
general reserves. 
 

2.4.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
To advise the Cabinet and/or the Council on prudent levels of reserves for the Council, 
having regard to advice from the External Auditor. 

  
2.4.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To ensure that reserves are used only for the purposes for which they were intended. 

  
2.4.4 Key controls 

 
The key controls for the maintenance of the reserves are: 

(a) To maintain reserves in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom and agreed accounting policies. 

(b) For each earmarked reserve established, the following must be provided: 

(i) The reason for/purpose of the reserve 

(ii) How and when the reserve can be used 

(iii) Procedures for the reserve management and control 

(iv) A regular review of the reserve to ensure continuing relevance and adequacy. 

(c) Expenditure from the reserves of in excess of £25,000 can only be approved by the 

Joint Strategic Committee unless a specific delegation exists (see guidance on 

virement limits at paragraph 3.2.4). 

  
3.     FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
  
3.1  BUDGETARY CONTROL 
  
3.1.1 Why is this important? 

 

512



 

253 

Budgetary control is the means by which the Council manages its finances and ensures 
their effective use in accordance with the approved budget. It is a continuous process, 
enabling the Council to monitor and review its financial performance during the financial 
year. 
 
By continuously identifying and explaining variances against budgetary targets, the Council 
can identify changes in trends and resource requirements at the earliest opportunity. 
 
To ensure that the Council in total does not overspend, each service is required to manage 
its own expenditure within the cash-limited budget allocated to it. 
 
For the purposes of budgetary control by managers, a budget will normally be the planned 
income and expenditure for a service area or cost centre. 

  
3.1.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To administer an appropriate framework of budgetary management and control that 
ensures: 

(a) Budget management is exercised within annual cash limits 
(b) Each Director has available timely information on receipts and payments on each 

budget; 
(c) Expenditure is only committed against an approved budget 
(d) All Officers responsible for committing expenditure comply with relevant guidance, 

and these Financial Regulations 
(e) Each budget heading has a single named Manager, determined by the relevant 

Director/ Head of Service. As a general principle, budget responsibility should be 
aligned as closely as possible to the decision-making processes that commit 
expenditure 

(f) Significant variances of more than 10% or £25,000 (was £5,000) whichever is the 
higher from approved budgets are investigated and reported by budget managers 
regularly. 

 
To administer the Council’s Scheme of Virement (see 3.2). 
 
To submit reports to the Joint Strategic Committee and to the Council, in consultation with 
the relevant Director/Head of Service, where it is not possible to balance expenditure and 
resources within existing approved budgets under their control (see 3.2.5 supplementary 
estimates). 
 
To prepare and submit regular monitoring reports to Joint Strategic Committee on the 
Council’s projected income and expenditure compared with the budget. 

  
3.1.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To maintain budgetary control within their departments and to ensure that all income and 
expenditure is recorded and accounted for properly. 
 
To ensure that an accountable Budget Manager is identified for each item of income and 
expenditure. 
 
To ensure that spending remains within the service’s overall budget limit, by monitoring the 
budget and taking appropriate corrective action where significant variations from the 
approved budget are forecast. 
 
To prepare and submit to the Joint Strategic Committee, reports on the service’s projected 
expenditure compared with its budget as part of the regular budget monitoring reports, in 
consultation with the Chief Financial Officer. 

513



 

254 

 
To ensure compliance with the Scheme of Virement (see 3.2). 
 
To agree with the relevant Director/Head of Service where it appears that a budget 
proposal, including a virement proposal, may impact materially on another service area. 

 
3.1.4 Key controls 

 
The key controls for managing and controlling the revenue budget are: - 

(a) Budget Managers should be responsible only for income and expenditure that they 
can influence; 

(b) there is a nominated Budget Manager for each budget heading; 
(c) Budget Managers accept accountability for their budgets and the level of service to 

be delivered and understand their financial responsibilities; 
(d) all budgets are appropriately profiled through the financial year; 
(e) Budget Managers follow an approved certification process for all expenditure; 
(f) income and expenditure items are recorded and accounted for properly. 

 
3.2  SCHEME OF VIREMENT 
  

A summary of the limits relating to virement as set out in the sections below is provided in 
Appendix 1 to these Rules. 

 
3.2.1.  General Virement 
  
a) Why is this important? 

 
Virement is the transfer of budget from one specific area to another. This can either be a 
transfer within revenue budgets or a transfer within capital budgets. Restrictions may apply 
to transfers between capital and revenue budgets and you cannot vire between a capital 
budget and a revenue budget. Virement can be a temporary (in-year) or permanent transfer 
of budget. 
 
The Scheme of Virement is intended to enable Cabinet Members together with CLT/ Heads 
of Service and their staff to manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall 
Policy Framework determined by the Council, and, therefore, to optimise the use of 
resources. Budget variation requests requiring Committee approval will be included on Joint 
Strategic Committee agendas.  
 

b)  Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
To submit a report to the Corporate Leadership Team and Cabinet where virements are 
proposed between Directorate areas or Member Portfolios; 
 
To approve all virements in excess of £50,000 and up to but not including £100,000; 
 
To ensure that all virements of £100,000 (Key Decision limit as defined by Article 12 of the 
Constitution) and up to and including £250,000 are approved by the relevant Cabinet 
Member; 
 
To ensure that all virements in excess of £250,000 are approved by the Joint Strategic 
Committee. 

  
c) Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
CLT/Heads of Service may exercise virement on budgets under their control of up to and 
including a maximum of £50,000, provided the Chief Financial Officer has been consulted. 

514



 

255 

 
To submit a report to the relevant Cabinet Member or the Joint Strategic Committee for 
virements over £100,000, provided that the Chief Financial Officer has been consulted. 
 
Salary budgets represent the Council’s approved establishment. As such the salary 
budgets cannot be vired to other areas of the budget without the approval of the Chief 
Financial Officer. A favourable salary budget variance may be used to cover the additional 
temporary staffing costs incurred due to the vacant post, subject to the corporate vacancy 
target. 
 
To ensure, where external funding has been successfully applied for, that a budget 
virement is undertaken to adjust the revenue budget for the confirmed funding and the 
related expenditure. 
 
Virements against future anticipated fees and charges or other uncertain sources of income 
will not be allowed unless approved by the relevant Cabinet Member. 
 
Savings of a non-recurring nature (temporary) cannot be used to justify the incurring of 
expenditure with a continuing commitment into later years (permanent). 
 
Virement that is likely to impact on the level of service activity of another department should 
be implemented only after agreement with the relevant Director/Head of Service. 

  
d) Key controls 
 

Key controls for the Scheme of Virement are: 
(a) It is administered by the Chief Financial Officer within guidelines set by the Council. 

Any variation requires the approval of the Council; 
(b) The overall budget is recommended by the Cabinet and approved by the Council. 

CLT/Heads of Service are authorised to incur expenditure in accordance with the 
estimates that make up the budget. 

(c) Virement does not create a net increase in budget. CLT/Heads of Service are 
expected to exercise their discretion in managing their budgets responsibly and 
prudently. 

 
3.2.2  Virements Relating To Section 106 Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy 

(CIL)  
  
a) Why is this important? 

 
Section 106 agreements are negotiated as part of a condition of planning consent. CIL levy 
is payable on certain developments. They provide an important source of additional funding 
towards a range of infrastructure and services such as community facilities, public open 
spaces, transport improvements and or affordable housing.  

  
b) Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To ensure that virements relating to s.106 and CIL funding in excess of £25,000 and up to 
and including a maximum of £100,000 are approved by the relevant Cabinet Member and 
that virements in excess of £100,000 are approved by the Joint Strategic Committee.  
 
To be responsible for the proper accounting of s.106 and CIL receipts. 

  
c) Responsibility of the Head of Planning  

 
To keep a record of all s.106 and CIL receipts due to each Council.  
 

515



 

256 

To be responsible for the collection of any s.106 and CIL receipts due. 
 

d) Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 
CLT/Heads of Service may exercise virements relating to s106/CIL funded expenditure 
under their control up to and including a maximum of £25,000 provided that the Chief 
Financial Officer has been notified and authorised the use of the receipts and the proposed 
use is in accordance with any legal agreement or Council policy governing their use. 
 
To submit a report to the relevant Cabinet Members for expenditure in excess of £25,000 
and up to and including £100,000 and to the Joint Strategic Committee for expenditure in 
excess of £100,000 and above at the earliest opportunity with details of how the funding is 
to be applied.  

e) Key controls 
 
Key controls for s.106 funded expenditure are: 
(a) It is administered by the Chief Financial Officer within guidelines set by the Council; and 
(b) Virement does not create a net increase in budget. CLT/Heads of Service are expected 

to ensure that funds are spent within the terms of the agreement including any time 
limits that may apply.  

 
3.2.3  Virements Relating To Contingency Budgets 
  
a) Why is this important? 

 
The Contingencies and Special Items budget is assessed annually as a provision for known 
possible service changes that have not been sufficiently developed to fully cost into the 
budget. 

  
b) Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To ensure that virements relating to contingency budgets have been fully costed before 
budget are vired to service areas. Virements are noted in budget monitoring reports. 

  
c) Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To submit fully developed spending plans to the Chief Financial Officer at the earliest 
opportunity. 

  
d) Key controls 

 
Key controls for virements from Contingency budgets: 
(a) It is administered by the Chief Financial Officer within guidelines set by the Council;  
(b) Virement does not create a net increase in budget; and 
(c) CLT/Heads of Service are expected to ensure that the use of these budgets follow the 

Council’s priorities. 
 
3.2.4  Virements Relating To Reserves 
  
a) Why is this important? 

 
Earmarked reserves should only be used for the purpose that they are intended. 
Unrequired earmarked reserves should be returned to the General Fund. Capital reserves 
should only be applied in line with statutory approvals. 

  
b) Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 

516



 

257 

To ensure that all virements from Earmarked Reserves up to and including £25,000 are 
approved by the relevant member of CLT or the Head of Service.  
 
To ensure that all virements relating to the use of Earmarked Reserves in excess of 
£25,000 and up to and including £250,000 are approved by Joint Strategic Committee or 
the relevant Individual Cabinet Members where a delegation to that Cabinet Member is in 
force.  
 
To ensure that all virements in excess of £250,000 are approved by the Joint Strategic 
Committee. 
 
To ensure that all proposals for the use of capital receipts complies with statutory guidance, 
the Capital Strategy and have a viable business case.  
 

c) Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 
To ensure that earmarked reserves are used only for the purpose for which they were 
intended.  
 
That unrequired earmarked reserves are returned to the General Fund. 
 
To submit proposals to the Chief Financial Officer as soon as practicable for the use of any 
earmarked reserve. 
 

d) Key controls 
 
Key controls for virements from reserves: 
(a) It is administered by the Chief Financial Officer within guidelines set by the Council. 
(b) Virement does not create a net increase in budget. CLT/Heads of Service are expected 

to ensure that the use of these budgets follow the Council’s priorities. 
 
3.3  ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
  
3.3.1 Why are these important? 

 
The Council is required to follow proper practices in preparing its Statement of Accounts. 
The Council’s Accounting Policies are a key part in ensuring that this is done and these are 
detailed in the Statement of Accounts. 

  
3.3.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To establish suitable accounting policies and to ensure that they are applied consistently. 
 
To ensure that the accounting policies are consistent with proper practices as set out in the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom, for each financial 
year. 

  
3.3.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To adhere to the accounting policies and guidelines approved by the Chief Financial 
Officer. 

  
3.3.4 Key controls 

 
The key controls for accounting policies are: 
(a) Systems of internal control are in place to ensure that financial transactions are lawful; 
(b) Suitable accounting policies are established and applied consistently; 

517



 

258 

(c) Proper accounting records are maintained; 
(d) Financial statements are prepared which present fairly the financial position of the 

Council and its expenditure and income; and 
(e) Accounting policies are set out in the Statement of Accounts and are subject to external 

audit. 
  
3.4  ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS 
  
3.4.1 Why are these important? 

 
Maintaining proper accounting records is one way in which the Council discharges its 
responsibility for stewardship of public resources. The Council has a statutory responsibility 
to prepare annual accounts that present its operations during the financial year fairly. These 
annual accounts are subject to external audit. This audit provides assurance that the 
accounts are prepared properly, that proper accounting practices have been followed and 
that quality arrangements have been made for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of the Council’s resources. 

  
3.4.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To determine the accounting policies, procedures and the method for recording 
transactions for the Council. 
 
To arrange for the compilation of all accounts and accounting records under their direction. 
 
To comply with the following principles when allocating accounting duties: - 
(a) Officers responsible for the calculation, checking and recording of income and 

expenditure should not be responsible for the collection and disbursement of such 
income and expenditure; and 

(b) Officers with the duty of examining or checking the accounts of cash transactions must 
not be engaged in those transactions. 

 
To make proper arrangements for the audit of the Council’s annual accounts in accordance 
with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 
 
To ensure that all claims for funds (including grants) are made accurately and by the due 
date. 
 
To prepare and publish the audited annual accounts of the Council for each financial year, 
in accordance with the statutory timetable. 
 
To ensure the proper security and retention of financial documents in accordance with the 
requirements set out in the Council’s Document Retention Policy. 
 
To ensure that an asset register is maintained and assets are appropriately revalued and 
categorised in accordance with Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom. 

 
3.4.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To ensure that a copy of any approved funding from a third party, including Government 
grant, is immediately passed to the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To ensure that all necessary service related information is available to support all claims for 
funds, including Government grants. 
 

518



 

259 

To maintain adequate records to provide a management/audit trail leading from the source 
of income/expenditure through to the accounting statements. 
 
To supply information required to enable the statement of accounts to be completed and 
published in accordance with the timetable and guidelines issued by the Chief Financial 
Officer. 

 
3.4.4 Key controls 

 
The key controls for accounting records and returns are: 
(a) All Cabinet Members, finance Officers and Budget Managers operate within the 

required accounting standards and timetables; 
(b) All the Council’s transactions, material commitments, contracts and other essential 

accounting information are recorded completely, accurately and on a timely basis; 
(c) Procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be reconstituted in the event of 

systems failure; 
(d) Reconciliation procedures are carried out to ensure transactions are correctly recorded; 
(e) Prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and other requirements, as 

set out in the Councils’ Document Retention Policy; and 
(f) The central accounting system of the Council, administered by the Chief Financial 

Officer, is the prime system upon which the financial position of the Council, or any part 
of the Council, will be assessed. 

  
3.5  THE ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
  
3.5.1 Why is this important? 

 
The Council has a statutory responsibility to prepare its own accounts to present its 
operations during the financial year in a fair manner. The Council is responsible for 
approving the statutory annual statement of accounts, through delegation to the Joint Audit 
& Governance Committee. 

  
3.5.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To establish suitable accounting policies and to apply them consistently. 
 
To make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent. 
 
To comply with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 
 
To sign and date the statement of accounts, stating that it presents fairly the financial 
position of the Council at the accounting date and its income and expenditure for the 
financial year. 
 
To draw up the timetable and requirements for final accounts preparation and to advise 
Officers and the External Auditor accordingly. 

  
3.5.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 

To comply with accounting guidance provided by the Chief Financial Officer and to supply 
the Chief Financial Officer with information when required. 

  
3.5.4 Key controls 

 
The key controls for the annual statement of accounts are: 
(a) The Council is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its 

financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the 

519



 

260 

administration of these affairs. In this Council, that officer is the Chief Financial Officer; 
and 

(b) The Council’s statement of accounts must be prepared in accordance with proper 
practices as set out in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom. 

 
4.  RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES 
 
4.1   RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSURANCE 
  
4.1.1 Why is this important? 

 
Risk management is a planned and systematic approach to identifying, evaluating and 
controlling risk. Its objectives are to secure the assets of the organisation and to ensure the 
continued financial and organisational wellbeing of the Council. It is, therefore, an integral 
and essential part of good business practice. Risk management is concerned with 
evaluating the measures an organisation already has in place to manage identified risks 
and then recommending the action needed to control these risks effectively. 
 
It is the overall responsibility of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee to approve the 
Council’s Risk Management Strategy, and to promote a culture of risk management 
awareness throughout the Council. 

  
4.1.2 Responsibilities of the Director of Digital, Sustainability and Resources 

 
To prepare and promote the Council’s Risk Management Strategy.  
 
To report regularly to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee on risk management 
matters. 

 
4.1.3 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To effect corporate insurance cover, through external insurance and internal funding, and to 
negotiate all claims, in consultation with other Officers where necessary. 

  
4.1.4 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 

To notify the Chief Financial Officer immediately of any injury, loss, liability or damage that 
may lead to a claim against the Council, together with any information or explanation 
required by the Chief Financial Officer or the Council’s insurers. 
 
To notify the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services of any injury, loss or liability 
that might result in legal action against the Council 
 
To take responsibility for risk management and minimising exposure to loss, having regard 
to advice from the Chief Financial Officer and other specialist advisers (e.g. health and 
safety, emergency planning). 
 
To ensure that there are regular reviews of Corporate and Departmental risk registers to 
identify and evaluate risk and to determine the ways risk can be managed. The risks and 
the mitigating actions should be recorded and monitored. 
 
To notify the Director of Digital, Sustainability and Resources promptly of all new risks 
 
To notify the Chief Financial Officer of any properties or vehicles that require insurance and 
of any alterations affecting existing insurances. 
 

520



 

261 

To consult the Chief Financial Officer and Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services 
on the terms of any indemnity that the Council is requested to give. 

  
4.1.5 Key controls 

 
The key controls for risk management are: 
(a) Procedures are in place to identify risks, to evaluate their likely impact and probability of 

occurring, and to determine suitable risk reduction strategies. The risk management 
process operates continually to ensure that changes in circumstances and new risks 
are identified, evaluated and managed; 

(b) Corporate and Departmental Risk Registers are produced and are regularly reviewed 
and action taken when appropriate; 

(c) Risk management procedures are communicated effectively throughout the Council. 
Managers know that they are responsible for managing risks in their areas and are 
provided with relevant information on risk management initiatives; 

(d) Acceptable levels of risk are determined and insured against where appropriate; and 
provision is made through balances or reserves for losses where insurance is not 
appropriate; 

(e) The Council has identified business continuity plans for implementation in the event of 
disaster that results in significant loss or damage to its resources. 

 
4.2  AUDIT REQUIREMENTS 
  
4.2.1 Internal Audit 

 
a) Why is this important? 

 
The requirement for an internal audit function is implied by the Accounts & Audit 
Regulations 2015 which requires that the Council must each financial year conduct a 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control and prepare an annual 
governance statement. 
 
Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to 
add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes. 
 
It will act in accordance with the internal audit charter and UK Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) and will undertake reviews that focus on areas of greatest risk to the 
Council, as agreed annually in consultation with CLT and approved by the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee. However, it is the responsibility of every manager to establish and 
maintain an effective system of internal control. 
 
Internal audit shall have the authority to have unrestricted access to all records, assets, 
personnel and premises deemed necessary to review the activities of the Council and 
(where appropriate, subject to contractual arrangements) its contractors and operating 
partners. It also has authority to obtain from all Officers and Members such information and 
explanations as are considered necessary and direct access and freedom to report to CLT, 
the Council and its committees (although its primary responsibility is to the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee). 
 

b) Key controls 
 

The key controls for Internal Audit are: 
(a) That it is independent in its planning and operation; 
(b) The Head of Internal Audit has direct access to the Chief Executive, all levels of 

management and directly to Elected Members; and 

521



 

262 

(c) The internal Auditors comply with the United Kingdom Internal Audit Standards as 
interpreted by CIPFA’s Local Government Application Note. 

  
4.2.2 External Audit 

 
a) Why is this important? 

 
It is a statutory requirement for the Council to publish an audited Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulation 2015 sets out the requirements of signing, 
approval and publication of the statement of accounts.  
 
The arrangements for the appointment of external auditors are included in the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 which give the Councils two options: 
 
i)   to either opt in to the Appointing Person regime; or  
ii)  to establish an auditor panel and conduct their own procurement exercise.  
 

b) Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
Make arrangements to let the contract for the provision of external audit services. 
 
To ensure that the appointed External Auditor is given access at all times to premises, 
personnel, documents and assets that they consider necessary for the purposes of their 
work.  
 
To ensure there is effective liaison between external and internal audit. 
 

c) Key controls 
 

The key controls for External Audit are: 
(a) That it is independent in its planning and operation; 
(b) The External auditor has direct access to the Chief Executive, all levels of management 

and directly to Elected Members; and 
(c) The External auditor reports to the Governance and Audit Committee and that all 

reports of the auditor are publicly available. 
 

4.3  PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 
  

The Council takes the prevention of fraud, corruption and maladministration very seriously 
and has the following policies in place, which aim to prevent or deal with such occurrences: 
 

● Anti-Fraud, Corruption & Bribery Policy 

● Whistleblowing Policy (in respect of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998) 

● Anti-money laundering procedures 

● HR policies regarding discipline of staff 

● Registers of Interests for Members and staff 

● Robust processes for the procurement of goods and services 

 
The Council expects all Members and Officers to act with propriety and accountability and 
also expects that individuals and organisations with whom the Council comes into contact 
(for example, suppliers, contractors and service providers) will act towards the Council with 
integrity and without thought or actions involving fraud and corruption. 

 

522



 

263 

Where financial or other impropriety is discovered or suspected it must immediately be 
reported to the Chief Financial Officer and the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 
Services and/or the Head of Internal Audit for appropriate investigation and action. 

 
4.4  ASSETS – LAND, BUILDINGS, FURNITURE, EQUIPMENT, ETC. 
  
4.4.1 Acquisitions 

 
Why are these important? 
The Council is publicly accountable for the way that it spends its money. Value for money 
must be demonstrated and the Council has a statutory duty to achieve best value in 
everything it does. Therefore, the Council has to exercise control over its purchasing 
activity, including asset acquisition (e.g. property, vehicles, plant and equipment, 
furniture). 
 
Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
To issue guidelines on the best practice in respect of asset acquisition. 
To periodically review all guidelines to ensure that they still reflect best practice. 
To ensure that all expenditure is properly recorded in the Council’s accounts and records. 
  
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
To ensure that the Council’s policies and procedures are complied with. 
To ensure that the necessary separation of duties is observed. 
To ensure that assets purchased are necessary. 
  
Key controls 
The key controls for asset acquisition are: 
(a) Council policies, including the Governance arrangements and Officer Decision Making 

Procedure Rules, in respect of the acquisition of assets are complied with at all times. 
This includes compliance with Contract Standing Orders for all relevant asset 
acquisitions. 

(b) There are at least two Officers involved in the process of acquisition, with a separation 
of duties between Officers involved in the different parts of the process. 

(c) Procedures protect Officers involved in the acquisition of assets from accusations of 
impropriety. 

  
4.4.2 Asset disposal and transfer 

 
Why is this important? 
It would be uneconomic and inefficient for the cost of maintaining assets to outweigh their 
benefits. Obsolete, non-repairable or unnecessary resources should be disposed of in 
accordance with the law and the Council’s policies and procedures. 
 
Assets are sometimes used by or transferred to an external party, for example as part of 
an outsourced contract or partnership arrangement. It is important that the legal and 
financial basis for the transfer is determined and properly documented, so that the 
interests of the Council are protected. 
  
Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
To issue guidelines representing best practice for disposal of assets. 
 
To ensure appropriate accounting entries are made to remove the value of disposed or 
transferred assets from the Council’s records and to include the sale proceeds, if 
appropriate. 
  
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

523



 

264 

To seek advice from the Chief Financial Officer on the disposal of surplus or obsolete 
materials, equipment and vehicles. 
 
To seek advice from the Chief Financial Officer where assets are to be transferred or 
predominantly used by an external party. 
 
To ensure that income received for the disposal of an asset is properly banked and coded. 
 
To authorise the write off and disposal of obsolete or surplus materials and equipment. 
 
To ensure that the disposal of obsolete or surplus materials and equipment, is by 
competitive quotation or auction, unless, following consultation with the Chief Financial 
Officer, the Cabinet decides otherwise. 

  
Specifically relating to the disposal or acquisition of land and buildings: 
 
To ensure that all disposals of land and buildings are in accordance with the Council’s 
asset management strategy current at the time. Where disposal of land and buildings is 
allowed, it shall be conducted in accordance with the scheme of delegations and the 
provisions detailed in (a) (i) – (vi) below. 
(a) Approved methods of disposal shall be by: 

(i) Private Treaty; 
(ii) Auction; 
(iii) Tender 
(iv) Sealed Offer; 
(v) Exchanges of land; or 
(vi) Compulsory Purchase Order 

(b) To ensure that where land is to be disposed of by the Council, the Chief Financial 
Officer shall ensure compliance with Financial Regulations and S123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

(c) Prior to any disposal of land, a valuation of the asset to be sold should be obtained 
from an appropriately qualified valuer. 

  
Key controls 
 
(a) assets for disposal or transfer are identified and are disposed of or transferred at the 

most appropriate time, and only when it is in the best interests of the Council, and the 
best price or contract terms are obtained, bearing in mind other factors, such as 
environmental issues or the delivery of strategic objectives. 

(b) Prior to the disposal of any land or buildings, a formal valuation is obtained 
(c) for items of significant value, disposal should be by competitive tender or public 

auction; and 
(d) procedures protect Officers involved in the disposal of assets from accusations of 

personal gain.  
 

4.4.3 Security (Including Inventories) 
 
Why is this important? 
The Council holds assets in the form of property, vehicles, equipment and other items 
worth many millions of pounds. Information held by the Council is also a key asset. It is 
important that assets are safeguarded and used efficiently in service delivery, and that 
there are arrangements for the security of assets. An up-to-date asset register is a 
prerequisite for proper fixed asset accounting and sound asset management. 

  

524



 

265 

  
Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
To ensure that an asset register is maintained in accordance with good practice for all 
assets with a value in excess of £10,000. The function of the asset register is to provide 
the Council with information about fixed assets so that they are: 
 

● safeguarded; 

● used efficiently and effectively; 

● adequately maintained; and 

● accounted for. 

  
To receive the information required for asset accounting and associated financial records 
from each director/group head. 
 
To ensure that assets are valued in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 
 
Responsibilities of the Head of Resident Services (Customer Services): 
To maintain a central register of all IT and telephony equipment. 
 
To maintain a central register of all vehicles. 
 
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
To ensure the proper security of all Officers, buildings and other assets under their 
control. 
 
To pass title deeds and contract documentation to the Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services who is responsible for custody of all title deeds. 
 
To ensure the safe custody of vehicles, equipment, furniture, and other property belonging 
to the Council. 
 
To ensure that assets are identified, their location recorded and that they are appropriately 
marked and insured. 
 
To ensure cash holdings on premises are kept to a minimum and that maximum limits are 
agreed by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To ensure that keys to safes and similar secure containers/cupboards are carried on the 
person of those responsible at all times; loss of any such keys must be reported to the 
Chief Financial Officer as soon as possible. 
 
To arrange for the valuation of assets for accounting purposes to meet requirements 
specified by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To carry out an annual check of all items on the inventory in order to verify location, to 
review condition and to take action in relation to surpluses or deficiencies, annotating the 
inventory accordingly. 
 
To make sure that property is only used in the course of the Council’s business, unless 
the Director/Head of Service concerned has given permission otherwise. 

  
Key controls 
 
(a) assets registers are accurately maintained and all assets are accounted for; and. 

525



 

266 

(b) assets are valued in accordance with approved policies and appropriate values 
included in the Council’s Annual Accounts. 

 
4.5  TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
  

Why is this important? 
 
Many millions of pounds pass through the Councils’ accounts each year. The scale of the 
local authority treasury activity and issues such as the Icelandic banking collapse has led to 
the development of CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management and Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (Prudential Code). These aim to provide 
assurances that the Councils’ money is properly managed in a way that balances risk with 
return, but with the overriding consideration being given to the security of the Councils’ 
financial resources. 

  
Responsibilities of Chief Financial Officer 
 
To arrange the borrowing and investments of the Councils, including bank overdrafts, in 
such a manner as to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management, 
the Prudential Code, the Councils’ Treasury Management Strategy and the Councils’ 
Treasury Management Practices. 
 
To report on treasury activities to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee, with 
recommendations (including adoption of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement & 
Annual Investment Strategy) referred for approval by Full Council. 
 
To operate bank accounts as are considered necessary. All arrangements with the 
Councils’ approved bankers regarding the Councils’ bank accounts, and the terms on which 
they are conducted, shall be made by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To ensure that detailed arrangements are made regarding the Councils’ bank accounts and 
for the issue of cheques and cards. All cheques or cards shall be ordered only on the 
authority of the Chief Financial Officer who shall advise on proper arrangements for their 
safe custody. 
 
All of the Councils’ bank accounts must be in the name of ‘Adur District Council’ or 
‘Worthing Borough Council’. 
 
To ensure that all investments or utilisation of monies and other accumulations and the sale 
or realisation of investments are made in the name of the relevant Council or in the name of 
nominees approved by the Cabinet. 
 
To effect all borrowings in the name of the Councils. 
 
To act as the Councils’ registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages and to maintain records of 
all borrowing of money and investment by the relevant Council. 
 
To ensure that in circumstances where a Council has decided to finance capital expenditure 
by way of leasing, deferred purchase, or similar arrangements, the Chief Financial Officer 
or their authorised representative shall so far as possible, obtain competitive quotations 
from relevant funding sources and such arrangements shall be subject to approval by the 
relevant Cabinet Member. 
  
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 
To follow the instructions on banking issued by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 

526



 

267 

To ensure that loans are not made to third parties and that interests are not acquired in 
companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without the approval of the Cabinet, following 
consultation with the Chief Financial Officer and if appropriate Council. 
 
To ensure that CLT/Heads of Service advise the Chief Financial Officer of the disposal of 
any vehicle or item of equipment that is subject to a lease. 

  
Key controls 
 
(a) the Treasury Management Strategy Statement & Annual Investment Strategy must be 

approved by Full Council by 31st March for the next financial year; 
(b) Council investments are only placed with approved institutions in line with the agreed 

strategies; 
(c) investment performance is monitored and reported to Officers and Members; 
(d) funds transfers (e.g. by CHAPS) require dual authorisation by designated officers; and 
(e) investment and borrowing requirements are identified and planned for in short-term 

cash flow forecasting and longer-term financial strategies. 
 
4.6  STRATEGIC PROPERTY INVESTMENT FUND 
 

Why is this important? 
 
The Councils are investing millions of pounds in commercial property to produce a 
sustainable income stream to support the Councils’ activities for the future. The scale of this 
investment activity and associated risks mean that such investments should be properly 
managed, a point reinforced by the recently revised Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities (Prudential Code). This aims to provide assurances that the Councils’ 
property investment activity is properly managed in a way that balances risk with return, but 
with the overriding consideration being given to the long-term security of the Councils’ 
property investments. 

  
Responsibilities of Assistant Director Regenerative Development 
 
To ensure that Key Decision notices are published for any potential purchase; 
 
To ensure that the approval of any purchases complies with the governance arrangements 
detailed within the Commercial Property Investment Strategy. 
 
To ensure sufficient resources are allocated to the long term management of Strategic 
Property Investment Fund assets to maintain their long term value is maintained. 
 
To ensure that effective asset management plans, processes and procedures are in place 
to ensure that these assets are managed appropriately.  
 
To report on property investment activities to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee, with 
recommendations (including adoption of the Annual Commercial Property Investment 
Strategy) referred for approval by Full Council. 
 
To effect all purchases in the name of the relevant Council. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Financial Officer 
 
To arrange the financing of any purchases (including borrowing) of the Council,, in such a 
manner as to comply with the CIPFA Prudential Code, the Councils’ Treasury Management 
Strategy and the Councils’ Treasury Management Practices. 

  

527



 

268 

Key controls 
 
(a) the Commercial Property Investment Strategy must be approved by Full Council by 31st 

March for the next financial year; 
(b) Council will only invest in line with the agreed strategy; 
(c) The performance of the Strategic Property Investment Fund is monitored and reported 

to Officers and Members; 
(d) An annual report is prepared for both the Joint Strategic Committee and the Joint Audit 

& Governance Committee detailing the value, outstanding borrowings and rental 
performance of the fund 

(e) All property purchases are subject to extensive due diligence and conveyancing is 
managed by appropriately qualified legal resources. 

 
4.7 WORKFORCE 
  

Why is this important? 
 
The Council sees its Officers as a valuable asset to running its business to provide the 
highest level of service, it is essential that the Council recruits and retains high calibre, 
knowledgeable Officers, who are qualified to an appropriate level. 
  
Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
To ensure that CLT/Heads of Service have identified budget provision for all existing and 
new employees. 
To act as an advisor to CLT/Heads of Service on areas such as National Insurance and 
pension contributions, as appropriate. 
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Digital, Sustainability and Resources 
 
To develop a workforce strategy, policy and procedures and ensure they are disseminated 
and enforced. 

  
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 
To produce an annual workforce budget. 
To ensure that the workforce budget is an accurate forecast of workforce levels and is 
equated to an appropriate revenue budget provision (including on-costs and overheads). 
To ensure that the workforce budget is not exceeded without due authority and that it is 
managed to enable the agreed level of service to be provided. 
To comply with, and ensure Officers comply with, the Council’s Human Resource policies 
(for example: recruitment, training and flexible working policies). 
 
Key controls 
 
The key controls for employees are: 
(a) an appropriate workforce strategy and policy exists, in which Officer requirements and 

budget allocation are matched; 
(b) procedures are in place for forecasting workforce requirements and cost; 
(c) controls are implemented that ensure that Officer time is used efficiently and to the 

benefit of the Council; and 
(d) checks are undertaken prior to appointing new Officers to ensure that they are 

appropriately qualified, experienced and trustworthy. 
 

5.  FINANCIAL SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 
  
5.1  GENERAL 

528



 

269 

  
Introduction 
 
The Council is governed by laws requiring that it makes proper arrangements for the 
administration, reporting and safeguarding of those funds and act in a way that is open and 
accountable as to how those funds are used. 
  
Whilst all Council Officers and Members have a general financial responsibility, Section 151 
of the Local Government Act 1972 requires that a suitably qualified Officer must be 
responsible for the financial administration of the organisation. This Officer is the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

  
Chief Financial Officer 
 
The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the proper administration of the Council’s 
financial affairs, prescribes appropriate financial systems, protocols, procedures and 
policies, maintains an internal audit service and reports to the Council in the event of any 
decision or action leading to, or may lead to, unlawful expenditure, loss, deficiency or 
accounting entry and: 
(a) will be responsible for ensuring the final accounts are completed and published in 

accordance with statute and accepted public sector accounting requirements and the 
reporting to Members of any material amendments specified by external audit, 

(b) will have unrestricted access to all Council assets, systems, documents, information, 
data, employees and Members held by the Council, 

(c) issue guidance, advice or instruction on the application of these financial systems and 
procedures as appropriate, 

(d) recommend to the Council the addition, alteration or deletion of any financial regulation. 
  
CLT/Heads of Service  
 
CLT and Heads of Service are the senior management of the organisation and: 
(a) will manage budgets and financial activity within their area of responsibility including the 

planning and control of budgets and prevention of fraud and corruption to ensure 
efficient and effective use of resources, 

(b) shall consult with the Chief Financial Officer and obtain approval on any matter that may 
have a material effect, advantageous or detrimental, on the Councils financial position 
or financial strategy, 

(c) Comply with any instruction given by the Chief Financial Officer regarding the form and 
method of financial record keeping or the operation of any financial procedures. 

  
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees 
 
All Members of the Council including those appointed to the Cabinet, any Committee or 
Sub-Committee will ensure that decisions taken are within their remit and relevant budgets, 
are compliant with adopted policies, and consistent with achievement of the Council’s 
service or corporate plans 

  
Council 
 
The Council will; 
  
● Determine the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 

● Approve and the annual revenue and capital budgets and determine the level of local 

taxation and other statutory charges 

● Approve the Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) and prudential indicators 

● Approve the capital strategy 

529



 

270 

● Approve changes to these financial procedures (following consideration by the Joint 

Audit & Governance Committee) 

 
Officers and Members 
 
All Officers and Members will contribute to the general stewardship of the Council’s 
financial affairs in compliance with these rules and any systems, procedures, policies 
prescribed by law or the Chief Financial Officer relating to the Council’s financial 
management. They will bring to the attention of the Chief Financial Officer and the Assistant 
Director Legal & Democratic Services any matter that is contrary to the provisions of this 
code or the high standard of financial probity expected of the Council or may bring the 
Council into disrepute or legal challenge. 

  
5.2  INCOME 
  

All Officers receiving money or cashable instruments (including cash, cheques, credit/debit 
card payments, direct credits, etc.) or making arrangements for the collection of income 
must comply with the relevant procedures and instructions issued by the Chief Financial 
Officer to ensure that sums are properly recorded, receipted, and banked, and correct 
accounting entries made. 
  
Cash, in coin or bank note, is only to be accepted in agreed circumstances and every effort 
should be made to promote cashless payments. 

  
Budget Holders 
 
All Officers with budget management responsibility are required to ensure that: 

  
● invoices and credit notes are raised promptly, 

● all enquiries relating to invoices raised and answered promptly, 

● any matters that may affect recovery of an invoiced debt is made known to Accounts 

Receivable, 

● any debts considered appropriate for write-off are notified to the Chief Financial 

Officer, 

● income is regularly monitored and any irregularities are promptly notified to the Chief 

Financial Officer, 

● a review of fees, charges and other income is undertaken at least annually and also 

as part of the budget setting cycle. 

  
Write-off of irrecoverable debt 

  
Once levied, debt may not be cancelled, except by full payment or by its formal writing off. 
A credit note to replace a debt must only be issued to correct a factual inaccuracy or 
administrative error in the calculation or billing of the original debt. 

 
The Chief Financial Officer is: 
(a) approved to write-off a debt (or combination of debts) due from any individual debtor in 

any one financial year of not more than £2,500 in aggregate. 
(b) authorised to delegate the write off of small debts of less than £250.00 to nominated 

Officers 
Debts greater than £2,500 may only be written-off with relevant Cabinet Member approval. 

  

530



 

271 

  
Sale of Assets 
  
CLT or Heads of Service will notify the Chief Financial Officer of any proposal to sell any 
surplus assets within their control or responsibility. The Chief Financial Officer will assess in 
consultation with the Director or Heads of Service the value of the asset(s) and determine 
the most appropriate route for sale. The prior approval of the Cabinet Member for 
Resources is to be sought for the sale of any individual asset with a current value of more 
than £50,000 in the Asset Register. 
  

5.3  EXPENDITURE 
  

General 
 
All purchases of goods and services are to be made in compliance with procedures in the 
Contract Standing Orders, as set out at Part 4 of this Constitution, or as otherwise 
instructed by the Chief Financial Officer. All Council purchases (other than those made by 
credit card) must be made and authorised by raising an Official Order in the Council’s 
financial management system or repairs management system. 
  
Purchases made using a Council credit card must be supported by a Payment Requisition 
signed by the purchasing Officer and counter-signed by an authorised Officer and 
forwarded promptly to the Chief Financial Officer. 
  
The Chief Financial Officer will determine the authorised purchasing limits for all Officers in 
consultation with the relevant Director or Head of Service. 
  
All purchases of goods and services must be supported by a valid invoice (in electronic or 
hard copy) that meets the requirements of the HM Revenue & Customs to support VAT 
recovery where appropriate. 
  
Payments for goods and services will only be made where it can be referenced to an 
Official Order and will be by bank automated clearing system (BACS) or such other 
alternative method as may be approved by the Chief Financial Officer. 

  
Acquisition of Assets 
  
Assets purchased at a cost of more than £25,000 must be notified to the Chief Financial 
Officer for inclusion in a register of assets maintained to comply with public sector 
accounting requirements and best practice. 
  
Officers and Members 
  
All payments to Officers and Members will be made through the Council’s payroll or as 
otherwise authorised by the Chief Financial Officer in order that all statutory and regulatory 
requirements are met. 
  
No payment will be made unless approved by a duly authorised Officer. The Chief Financial 
Officer will determine the limit of authority for any Officer in consultation with the relevant 
Director or Head of Service. 
 

5.4  TAXATION 
  

The Council has a statutory duty for the proper administration of its tax affairs in pursuance 
of various United Kingdom and European Union legislation and directives. 
  

531



 

272 

All Officers and Members will comply promptly with any request made by the Chief 
Financial Officer for information or documentation in relation to any direct or indirect tax 
matters that may impact upon the proper administration of such matters including; 
  

 Pay As You Earn income tax (PAYE) 

 National Insurance Contributions (NIC) 

 Value Added Tax (VAT) 

 Construction Industry Tax (CIS) 

 Corporation Tax 

  
5.5   INSURANCE 
  

Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 

The Chief Financial Officer will arrange for all insurance covers and negotiate settlement of 
all claims made through such insurances in consultation with relevant officers of the 
Council. 

  
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
CLT and Heads of Service will ensure prompt notification to the officer responsible for 
insurances: 

  
● of any incidents that may give rise to a claim against the Council the costs of which 

may be indemnified by the Council’s insurances, 

● of loss of or damage to any Council property or asset under its ownership, 

responsibility, custody or control, 

● of any change in risk or ownership of or responsibility for any asset or property. 

 
6.  EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
 
6.1  EXTERNAL FUNDING 
  

Why is this important? 
 

External funding is a very important source of income, but funding conditions need to be 
carefully considered to ensure that they are compatible with the aims and objectives of the 
Council. Local authorities are increasingly encouraged to provide seamless service delivery 
through working closely with other agencies and private service providers. Funds from 
external agencies provide additional resources to enable the Council to deliver services to 
the local community. However, in some instances, such funding may not link to the 
Council’s aims and objectives, is linked to tight specifications and conditions and may 
impose risk and liability upon the Council.  
 
Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
(a) To ensure that all funding notified by external bodies is received and properly recorded 

in the Council’s accounts. 
(b) To ensure that the match-funding requirements are considered prior to entering into the 

agreements and that future revenue budgets reflect these requirements or an exit 
strategy is agreed. 

(c) To ensure that audit requirements are met. 
(d) To ensure that all claims are submitted by the due date. 
(e) To ensure all virements in relation to approved bids are appropriately approved and 

actioned. 

532



 

273 

(f) To include progress updates on significant approved bids as part of the regular 
reporting process as and when required. 

 
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 Bid Approvals 
(a) To ensure that the Chief Executive, Director of Digital, Sustainability and Resources, the 

Chief Financial Officer and the Assistant Director Place & Economy are advised, at the 
earliest possible time, of all opportunities and applications for external funding. 

(b) To ensure that any match funding is identified and in place prior to bidding for any 
external funding. 

(c) To ensure all bids up to £100,000 are approved by the relevant Director prior to 
submitting the bid. 

(d) To ensure all bids over £100,000 are subject to consultation with all of the relevant 
Cabinet Members prior to submission of any bid 

 
Spend approvals 

(a) To update the Forward Plan for any new contracts or spend items which are over the Key 
Decision limits (currently £100,000£75,000); 

(b) If successful in bidding, to submit reports to: 
(i) the relevant Cabinet Member for bids that are over £100,000 and up to £250,000 

(ii)  the Joint Strategic Committee for bids that are over £250,001 

which are sufficiently developed to enable the use of the funds without any further 
reporting requirement. This will include seeking approval for budget virements and any 
procurement activity. 

 
Delivery 

(a) To give the Chief Financial Officer a copy of all approvals received from government 
departments or other sources of external funds. 

(b) To ensure that all supporting information is kept to support claims for funds. 
(c) To ensure that the project progresses in accordance with the agreed conditions and that 

all expenditure is properly incurred and recorded. 
(d) To complete all grant monitoring information and claims in accordance with the agreed 

timescales. 
 
Key controls 
 
The key controls for external funding are: 
 
(a) To ensure that key conditions of funding and any statutory requirements are complied 

with and that the responsibilities of the accountable body are clearly understood; 
(b) To ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities approved in the Policy 

Framework by the Council; 
(c) To ensure that any match-funding requirements are given due consideration prior to 

entering into long-term agreements and that future revenue budgets reflect these 
requirements or an exit strategy is agreed; 

(d) To ensure risks are identified, within acceptable limits and are capable of being 
managed; 

(e) To ensure monitoring and reporting frameworks are established and followed; and 
(f) To ensure adequate controls and governance arrangements are in place and are 

followed. 
 
 6.2  GRANTS TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS (INCLUDING RATE RELIEF) 
  

Why is this important 
 
Local groups and organisations make a significant contribution to the local community. 
However, this contribution is difficult to quantify in financial terms and it is therefore 

533



 

274 

particularly important that any financial support the Council provides to these groups follows 
a clear and transparent process. 
 
Responsibility of CLT/Heads of Service 
 
To ensure that any grant payments and any awards of discretionary business rate relief are 
made in accordance with the agreed policies of the Council, and can be met from within 
existing budgetary provision. 

 
 
 APPENDIX 1: SCHEME OF VIREMENT AT A GLANCE (SECTION 3.2) 
 

Type of Virement 
Delegation Limit 

General 
(3.2.1) 

S106  
(3.2.2) 

Contingency (3.2.3) Reserves 
(3.2.4) 

CLT £50k £25k n/a £25k 

Chief Financial Officer 
(s.151 Officer) 

£100k n/a Technical virement (s.151 
Officer) allowed when fully 
costed and compliance with 
policy 

 

Cabinet Member £100k+ £25k+ n/a £25k+  
If a delegation 
is in place 

Joint Strategic 
Committee/Cabinet 

£250+ £100k+ n/a £250k+ 

 
 
Note: 
It is essential that these limits are read in conjunction with the Financial Rules as contained in Part 
4 of the Constitution as there are certain circumstances where virement is restricted or not 
permitted.  

534



 

275 

PART 5 - CODES AND PROTOCOLS 

 

Member Code of Conduct 

Joint statement 

The role of Members across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our country’s system of 

democracy. It is important that as Members we can be held accountable and all adopt the 

behaviours and responsibilities associated with the role. Our conduct as an individual Member 

affects the reputation of all Members. We want the role of Member to be one that people aspire to. 

We also want individuals from a range of backgrounds and circumstances to be putting themselves 

forward to become Members. 

As Members, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and deliver local 

change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to represent our local area; taking 

decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We have both an individual and collective responsibility 

to meet these expectations by maintaining high standards and demonstrating good conduct, and by 

challenging behaviour which falls below expectations. 

Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a Member without being intimidated, abused, 

bullied or threatened by anyone, including the general public. 

This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct and 

safeguard the public’s trust in local government. 

 

Introduction 

The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed this Model Councillor Code of Conduct, 

in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the sector, as part of its work 

on supporting all tiers of local government to continue to aspire to high standards of leadership and 

performance. It is a template for councils to adopt in whole and/or with local amendments. 

All councils are required to have a local Member Code of Conduct. 

The LGA will undertake an annual review of this Code to ensure it continues to be fit-for-purpose, 

incorporating advances in technology, social media and changes in legislation. The LGA can also 

offer support, training and mediation to councils and Members on the application of the Code and 

the National Association of Local Councils (NALC) and the county associations of local councils 

can offer advice and support to town and parish councils. 

 

Definitions 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a ‘Member’ means a member or co-opted member of a 

local authority or a directly elected mayor. A ‘co-opted member’ is defined in the Localism Act 

2011 Section 27(4) as ‘a person who is not a member of the authority but who 

(a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or; 

(b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint sub-

committee of the authority; 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that 

committee or sub-committee’. 

535



 

276 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, ‘local authority’ includes county councils, district 

councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and rescue authorities, 

police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, combined authorities and National 

Park authorities. 

Purpose of the Code of Conduct 

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Member, in modelling the behaviour that 

is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to set out the type of conduct 

that could lead to action being taken against you. It is also to protect you, the public, fellow 

Members, local authority officers and the reputation of local government. It sets out general 

principles of conduct expected of all Members and your specific obligations in relation to standards 

of conduct. The LGA encourages the use of support, training and mediation prior to action being 

taken using the Code. The fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public 

confidence in the role of Member and local government. 

 

General principles of Member conduct 

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services, including 

ministers, civil servants, Members and local authority officers; should uphold the Seven Principles 

of Public Life, also known as the Nolan Principles (see Appendix A). 

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed specifically for 

the role of Member. 

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions: 

 I act with integrity and honesty 

 I act lawfully 

 I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 

 I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of Member. 

In undertaking my role: 

 I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community 

 I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any person 

 I avoid conflicts of interest 

 I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

 I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local authority’s 
requirements and in the public interest. 

Application of the Code of Conduct 

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of acceptance of the 

office of Member or attend your first meeting as a co-opted member and continues to apply to you 

until you cease to be a Member. 

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a Member which 
may include when: 
 

 you misuse your position as a Member 

 your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public with 

knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a Member; 
 
The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

 

536

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


 

277 

 at face-to-face meetings 

 at online or telephone meetings 

 in written communication 

 in oral communication 

 in non-oral communication 

 in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and comments. 

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all times when 

acting as a Member. 

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code of Conduct, 

and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring Officer on any matters that may 

relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish Members are encouraged to seek advice from 

their Clerk, who may refer matters to the Monitoring Officer. 

Standards of Member Conduct 

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct required of you 

as a Member. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a complaint may be made against 

you, which may result in action being taken. 

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they should be 

followed. 

General Conduct 

1. Respect 

As a Member: 

1.1. I treat other Members and members of the public with respect. 

 

1.2. I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of partner 

organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with respect and 

respect the role they play. 

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word. Debate and 

having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a Member, you can express, 

challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but civil 

manner. You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or organisations to 

personal attack. 

 

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude and offensive 

behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in Members. 

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members of the public 

are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any conversation or 

interaction in person or online and report them to the local authority, the relevant social media 

provider or the police. This also applies to fellow Members, where action could then be taken under 

the Member Code of Conduct, and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in 

line with the local authority’s Member-Officer protocol. 

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination  

As a Member: 

2.1.  I do not bully any person.  

2.2. I do not harass any person. 

537



 

278 

2.3. I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any person. 

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as offensive, 

intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power through means that 

undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying might be a regular pattern of 

behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on social media, in emails or phone calls, 

happen in the workplace or at work social events and may not always be obvious or noticed by 

others. 

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes alarm or 

distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at least two 

occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted communications and contact 

upon a person in a manner that could be expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable 

person. 

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected characteristic. 

Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's identity defined by the Equality Act 

2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 

and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Members have a central role to 

play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's performance and strategic 

aims, and that there is a strong vision and public commitment to equality across public services. 

3. Impartiality of officers of the council  

As a Member: 

3.1. I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of anyone who 

works for, or on behalf of, the local authority. 

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless they are 

political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would 

undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, for example, their 

reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they have written. 

However, you must not try and force them to act differently, change their advice, or alter the 

content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their professional integrity. 

4. Confidentiality and access to information  

As a Member: 

4.1. I do not disclose information: 

a. given to me in confidence by anyone 

b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a 

confidential nature, unless:  

i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

ii. I am required by law to do so; 

iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional legal advice provided that the third party agrees not to 

disclose the information to any other person; or 

iv. the disclosure is: 

 

1. reasonable and in the public interest; and 

2. made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 

requirements of the local authority; and 

538



 

279 

3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its release. 

4.2. I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a Member 

for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members, my employer or my 

business interests. 

 

4.3. I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by law. 

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and printed materials 

are open to the public, except in certain legally defined circumstances. You should work on this 

basis, but there will be times when it is required by law that discussions, documents and other 

information relating to or held by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. 

Examples include personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing 

negotiations. 

5. Disrepute  

 
As a Member: 

5.1. I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute. 

As a Member, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and your actions 

and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the public. You 

should be aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on you, other Members and/or 

your local authority and may lower the public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to 

discharge your/it’s functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful 

can bring your local authority into disrepute. 

You are able to hold the local authority and fellow Members to account and are able to 

constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes undertaken by the 

council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of Conduct. 

6. Use of position  

As a Member: 

6.1. I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage or 

disadvantage of myself or anyone else. 

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain opportunities, 

responsibilities and privileges, and you make choices all the time that will impact others. However, 

you should not take advantage of these opportunities to further your own or others’ private 

interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

7.  Use of local authority resources and facilities  

As a Member:  

7.1. I do not misuse council resources. 

 

7.2. I will, when using the resources of the local or authorising their use by others: 

a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and 

b. ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes unless that 

use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be conducive to, 

the discharge of the functions of the local authority or of the office to which I 

have been elected or appointed. 

539



 

280 

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you in carrying out 

your duties as a Member. 

Examples include: 

 office support 

 stationery 

 equipment such as phones, and computers 

 transport 

 access and use of local authority buildings and rooms. 
 

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a Member more effectively and are not to 

be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in accordance with the purpose for 

which they have been provided and the local authority’s own policies regarding their use. 

8 .  Complying with the Code of Conduct  

As a Member:  

8.1. I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority. 

8.2. I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or determination. 

8.3. I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be involved 

with the administration of any investigation or proceedings. 

8.4. I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I  have  breached 

the Code of Conduct. 

It is extremely important for you as a Member to demonstrate high standards, for you to have your 

actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the local authority or its 

governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about the local authority’s processes in 

handling a complaint you should raise this with your Monitoring Officer. 

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority 

9 .  Interests  

As a Member:  

9.1. I register and disclose my interests. 

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and maintain a 

register of interests of members of the authority. 

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and fellow 

Members know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register is a 

public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The register also protects 

you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held accountable. You are 

personally responsible for deciding whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but 

it can be helpful for you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also 

important that the public know about any interest that might have to be disclosed by you or other 

Members when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision making is seen by the public as 

open and honest. This helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is 

maintained. 

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set out in 

Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If in doubt, you 

should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

540



 

281 

10. Gifts and hospitality  
 

As a Member: 

10.1. I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which 

could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable suspicion 

of influence on my part to show favour from persons seeking to acquire, 

develop or do business with the local authority or from persons who may 

apply to the local authority for any permission, licence or other significant 

advantage. 

 

10.2. I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt. 
 

10.3. I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or hospitality that I 

have been offered but have refused to accept. 

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should exercise 

caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you reasonably believe to be) 

offered to you because you are a Member. The presumption should always be not to accept 

significant gifts or hospitality. However, there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it 

is seen as rudeness in which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. 

However, you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a 

Member, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is also important to note that it is 

appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated with your duties as a Member. If 

you are unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer for guidance. 
 

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 

The principles are: 

Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 

organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not act or 

take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or 

their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests and relationships. 

Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best 

evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and must 

submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner. 

Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so 

doing. 

541



 

282 

Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful.  

Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should actively 

promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it 

occurs. 
 

Appendix B 

Registering interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you must 
register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 1 
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in ‘The Relevant Authorities 
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012’. You should also register details of your 
other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable 
Interests). 

‘Disclosable pecuniary interest’ means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware 
of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 

‘Partner’ means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or 
wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 days of 

becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered interest, notify the 

Monitoring Officer. 

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the Member, or a 

person connected with the Member, being subject to violence or intimidation. 

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with the 

reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer agrees they will 

withhold the interest from the public register. 

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not participate in 

any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have 

been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the 

nature of the interest, just that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in 

limited circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a 

disclosable pecuniary interest. 

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is being 

considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, you must 

notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in 

the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other 

Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You may 

speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting 

542



 

283 

but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 

remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 

interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

7. Otherwise, if you disclose an Other Registrable Interest at a meeting regarding a matter 

that may engage but not directly relate to your interest, you may speak and vote on that 

particular item, provided you take account of any actual or perceived conflict of interest, 

bias or pre-determination, which a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts 

might believe would affect your view of the wider public interest.  

Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests 

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or 

well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in Table 1) or a financial 

interest or well-being of a relative6 or close associate, you must disclose the interest. You 

may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 

meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 

not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

9. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interests as set out in Table 1  

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the 
meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied 

10. Where a matter affects the financial interest or well-being of yourself, a friend, relative or 

close associate: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest 

you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 

meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 

not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 

interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

11. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have made 

an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make sure that any written 

statement of that decision records the existence and nature of your interest. 

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

 

                                                
6 ‘Relative’ is defined in s.28(10) of the Localism Act 2011 as: 

(a) the other person's spouse or civil partner, 
(b) living with the other person as husband and wife or as if they were civil partners, 
(c) a grandparent of the other person, 
(d) a lineal descendant of a grandparent of the other person, 
(e) a parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraph (a) or (b), 
(f) the spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraph (c), (d) or (e), or 
(g) living with a person within paragraph (c), (d) or (e) as husband and wife or as if they were civil partners. 

543



 

284 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the Relevant 

Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012  

Subject Description 

Employment, 
office, trade, 
profession 
or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or 
gain. 
[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the Member during the previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by them in carrying out their duties as a Member, or towards their 
election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the Member or their spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the Member is living as if they were spouses/civil partners (or 
a firm in which such person is a partner, or an incorporated body of which such 
person is a director* or a body that such person has a beneficial interest in the 
securities of*) and the council — 

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land and 
Property 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which 
does not give the Member or their spouse or civil partner or the person with 
whom the Member is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or 
jointly with another) a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the council 
for a month or longer 

Corporate 
tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)— 
the landlord is the council; and 
the tenant is a body that the Member, or their spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the Member is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners is 
a partner of or a director* of or has a beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of business or land 

in the area of the council; and 
(b) either— 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities* exceeds £25,000 or one 

hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 

nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the Member, or 
their spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the Member is 
living as if they were spouses/civil partners has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.  

 
* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident 
society. 
 
* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective 
investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other 
securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building society. 
 
Table 2: Other Registerable Interests 
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to 
affect: 

544

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


 

285 

(a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you are nominated 
or appointed by your authority 

(b) any body 

(i) exercising functions of a public nature 

(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes (including Freemasons) or 

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union) 

 

Appendix C  

The Committee on Standards in Public Life 

The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider the 

recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their report on Local 

Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to implement any of the 

recommendations, this could require a change to this Code. 

The recommendations cover: 

 Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law when the Code of 

Conduct applies 

 The introduction of sanctions 

 An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman 

 Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 

 Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code 

 Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person 

 That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interests should be abolished 

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice recommendations. 

These are: 

Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and harassment in 

codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and harassment, supplemented 

with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by such a definition. 

Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring Members to 

comply with any formal standards investigation and prohibiting trivial or malicious allegations by 

Members. 

Best practice 3: The Council will review this Code of Conduct every two years unless an earlier 

review is requested by the Monitoring Officer. 

Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both Members and the public, 

in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council premises. 

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at least once 

per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV. 

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest test against 

which allegations are filtered. 

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent Persons. 

545



 

286 

Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake a formal 

investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to review and comment on 

allegations which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss as being without merit, vexatious, or 

trivial. 

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of misconduct 

following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as soon as possible on its 

website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by the 

allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of the decision-maker, and any 

sanction applied. 

Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible guidance on its 

website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the process for handling 

complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and outcomes. 

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish Member towards a 

clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council, rather than the clerk in all but 

exceptional circumstances. 

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support and 

management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish councils within the 

remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with adequate training, corporate support 

and resources to undertake this work. 

Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any conflicts of 

interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps should include asking the 

Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake the investigation. 

Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or which they own 

as part of their annual governance statement and give a full picture of their relationship with those 

bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities should abide by the Nolan principle of 

openness and publish their board agendas and minutes and annual reports in an accessible 

place. 

Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with Political Group leaders or group 

whips to discuss standards issues. 

 
  

546



 

287 

Officer Code of Conduct 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Section 82 of the Local Government Act 2000 makes provision for a Code of Conduct for all 

Local Government Employees. The Officer Code of Conduct aims to set out fundamental 
values that underpin standards of conduct in Local Government.  

 
2.0 SCOPE 
 
2.1 This Code applies to all Council Officers, regardless of whether or not they are employees 

of the Council or employees of another body seconded to act as Officer of this Council. It 
applies to all Officers, regardless of whether they are part time, full time, permanent, 
temporary or casual. It sets out the minimum standards of conduct that apply.  

 
2.2 The Code forms part of all Employees’ terms and conditions of employment. 
 
3.0 STATEMENT 
 
3.1 All employees and/or Officers of the Council must perform their duties with honesty, 

integrity, impartiality and objectivity. All employees and Officers are accountable to the 
Council for their actions. The public is entitled to demand of a Local Government Officer 
conduct of the highest standard and public confidence in an Officer’s integrity would be 
damaged were the least suspicion, however ill-founded, to arise that an Officer could be 
influenced by improper motives. 

 
3.2 All Officers must treat other employees, Members and Co-opted Members of the Council 

with dignity and respect and must not discriminate unlawfully against any person. 
 
3.3 The Officer Code of Conduct is not intended to simply be a list of prohibitions, but should 

benefit all Officers because the Code will clarify conduct which is permissible and 
appropriate. 

 
4.0 CONDUCT EXPECTED OF COUNCIL OFFICERS 
 
4.1 This Officer Code of Conduct sets out the minimum standards that are to be expected. 
 
4.2 An Officer of the Council must be aware of and positively promote the Council’s vision and 

corporate priorities as set out on the Council’s website. 
 
4.3 An Officer of the Council must be committed to treating other Officers and Members with 

dignity and respect in accordance with the Councils’ dignity at work provisions incorporated 
into the Grievance Policy. 

 
4.4 A Council Officer must abide by all policies and procedures of the Councils, relevant to their 

area of work. 
 
4.5 All Council Officers must be aware of their responsibility to the community served by the 

Councils and must ensure that they provide a courteous, efficient and impartial service 
delivery, in accordance with the Council’s Customer Care Standards. Specifically all staff 
need to be proactive in providing great service to customers, ensuring we get things right 
first time, we listen to our customers and we are proactive in our communication. 

 
4.6 A Council Officer must not allow their personal interests to conflict with the Council’s 

requirements or objectives and nor may they use their position improperly to confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any individual, or organisation. 

 

547



 

288 

4.7 If a Council Officer who engages or supervises contractors, has a previous or current 
personal relationship with that contractor, it should be declared to their Head of Service. 

 
4.8  If a Council Officer has access to confidential information relating to tenders or costs for 

contractors, they may not disclose that information to any unauthorised individual, or 
organisation. 

 
4.9 A Council Officer must not use any public funds entrusted to them in an irresponsible, 

reckless or unlawful manner and may not make personal use of property or facilities of the 
Council, unless properly authorised to do so. 

 
4.10 An Officer of the Council will not be precluded from undertaking additional employment 

provided that any such employment does not, in the view of the Council, conflict with or 
react detrimentally to the Council’s interests, or in any way weaken public confidence in the 
conduct of the Council’s business. Any Officer of the Council must declare any such 
additional employment to their Head of Service for inclusion in the Register of Additional 
Employment maintained by the Assistant Director People & Change. 

 
4.11 If a Council Officer is aware that a contract in which they, or their spouse or partner, has 

any financial interest, either directly or indirectly, has been or is proposed to be entered into 
by the Councils, they must as soon as practicable give notice in writing to their Head of 
Service who shall inform the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services. 

 
4.12 Officers of the Council are employed to serve the Council as a whole and must provide a 

service to all Members, not just those of the controlling party, and ensure that the individual 
rights of all Members are respected. All Officers, whether in a politically restricted post or 
not, must follow all policies of the Councils and not allow their own personal or political 
opinions to interfere with their work.  

 
4.13 To preserve public confidence, Council Officers are strongly encouraged not to accept any 

gifts from customers or contractors. It may constitute a serious criminal offence for an 
Officer to corruptly receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage for doing, or not 
doing, anything, or showing favour or disfavour to any person, in their official capacity. 

 
4.14 If a Council Officer does accept any gift, they must comply with the Council’s requirements 

to register or declare interests, and to declare hospitality, benefits, gifts received as a 
consequence of employment. Any such gift received must be registered, regardless of its 
value, within 28 days of receipt. Such declaration must be made to the Officer’s Head of 
Service for inclusion in the register held by the Assistant Director People & Change. It is 
also good practice for Council Officers to declare any offers of gifts. 

 
4.15 A Council Officer must report to the appropriate Manager, any impropriety or breach of 

procedure. Further guidance is contained within the Councils’ Whistleblowing Policy. A 
Council Officer must not treat another Officer less favourably, because that Officer has, 
intends to, or is suspected of, reporting misconduct. 

 
4.16 A Council Officer must not disclose information given to them in confidence, or information 

acquired which is believed to be of a confidential nature, without the consent of the person 
involved or the proper authorisation. A Council Officer must not prevent another person 
from gaining access to information to which that person is entitled by law. Further guidance 
can be obtained from the Councils’ Security of Information Officer. 

 
4.17 Close personal associations, either between Officers and Members, or between Officers, 

can be perceived as leading to less independence and impartiality of individuals, and 
therefore Officers involved in such relationships should declare them to their Head of 
Service, to be transparent about the nature of the relationship and not put themselves nor 
the Council in any potential position of conflict. Further information can be found in the 

548



 

289 

Councils’ Equalities Policy and Grievance Policy, which are also part of an Officer’s terms 
and conditions of employment. 

 
4.18 A Council Officer must not be involved in the recruitment, discipline, promotion or pay 

adjustment or conditions of service of another Officer, or potential Officer, who is a relative 
or someone well known to them. Further guidance can be found in the Councils’ 
Recruitment and Selection Policy. 

 
4.19  A Council Officer must declare to their Head of Service, for inclusion in the Register of 

Interests held by the Assistant Director People & Change, membership of any organisation 
which is not open to the public without formal membership and commitment of allegiance 
and which has secrecy around rules of membership or conduct. 

 
4.20 A Council Officer should be aware that there may be exceptional circumstances where their 

behaviour, out of hours and off-duty, may impact on the Councils and their reputations. In 
particular, reference is made to the Councils’ Social Media Policy. The Councils reserve the 
right to consider such actions in relation to its position. 

 
4.21  A Council Officer must at all times act in accordance with the trust that the public is entitled 

to place in them. Therefore both at work and in private life a Council Officer should do 
nothing to bring the Councils into disrepute. The public need to be assured that public 
duties are not subordinated to private interests, and that conflicts between private life and 
duty do not arise. 

 
4.22 Any expenditure incurred by Council Officers on non-work related or social events will be 

personal and not paid from Council budgets. 
 
5.0 BREACH OF OFFICER CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
5.1 Failure of a Council Officer to comply with any part of this Code of Conduct may result in 

disciplinary action, which could include summary dismissal. Further guidance may be found 
in the Councils’ Disciplinary Policy. 

  

549



 

290 

Member/Officer Working Arrangements Protocol 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Mutual trust and respect between Members and Officers is at the heart of a Council’s 

good governance. They are essential if the partnership necessary for the effective running 
of a local authority is to succeed. At the heart of the Members’ and Officers’ Codes of 
Conduct and this Protocol, is the importance of mutual respect. Member/Officer 
relationships are to be conducted in a positive and constructive way.  

 
1.2 This protocol is intended to assist Members and Officers in maintaining the highest 

standards of integrity and propriety and ensuring that all they do is perceived by others to 
be done properly, fairly and, where possible, openly.  

 
1.3 This Protocol addresses the need for a written guide to the basic elements of the 

relationship between Members and Officers. It is a protocol designed to: 
(a) promote trust, openness, fairness and honesty by establishing some ground rules; 
(b) define roles so as to: 

(i) clarify responsibilities 
(ii) avoid conflict and 
(iii) prevent duplication or omission 

(c) secure compliance with the law, codes of conduct and the Council’s own practices; 
and 

(d) lay down procedures for dealing with concerns by Members or Officers. 
 
2.0  chairS 
 
2.1 Unless the context indicates otherwise, references to the term Council includes the 

Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committees, and other Committees and Sub-
Committees. 

 
2.2 Unless the context indicates otherwise, the terms Member and Members include non-

elected (i.e. co-opted) Members as well as elected Councillors. 
 
2.3 Officers means all persons employed by the Council, or employed by another Council for 

the purpose of providing a service to this Council. 
 
2.4 Senior Officer means Chief Officer, Deputy Chief Officer, Director and Heads of Service. 
 
2.5 Designated Finance Officer means the Officer exercising the duties prescribed by law for 

the financial administration of the Council and is the Chief Finance Officer, Assistant 
Director Finance and Section 151 Officer.  

 
2.6 Monitoring Officer means the Officer appointed to and exercising their role under the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989 and is the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 
Services. 

 
3.0  PRINCIPLES 
 
3.1 Members and Officers must at all times observe this protocol. 
 
3.2 This Protocol has been approved by the Council and the Joint Audit & Governance 

Committee will monitor its operation. 
 
3.3 Members and Officers must always respect the roles and duties of each other. They must 

be courteous in all their dealings, and not seek to take unfair advantage by virtue of their 
position. They must maintain a professional working relationship at all times. 

550



 

291 

 
3.4 Whilst Members and Officers are indispensable to one another, their responsibilities are 

distinct. Members are accountable to the electorate and serve only as long as their term of 
office lasts. Officers are accountable to the Council as a whole. Their job is to give advice 
to Members (individually and collectively) and to carry out the Council’s work under the 
direction of the Head of Paid Service. 
 

3.5 Officers are bound by the Council’s Officer Code of Conduct and, in some cases, by the 
codes of their professional associations. 

 
3.6 Elected Members are bound by the Council’s Member Code of Conduct. 
 
3.7 Breaches of this Protocol by a Member may result in a complaint to the Monitoring Officer 

if it appears that the Members’ Code of Conduct has also been breached. Breaches of this 
Protocol by an Officer may lead to disciplinary action, as may a breach of the Officer Code 
of Conduct. 

 
4.0  THE ROLE OF MEMBERS 
 
4.1 Collectively, Members are the ultimate policy-makers determining the core values of the 

Council and approving the Authority’s Policy Framework, strategic plans and budget. 
 
4.2 As politicians, Members may express the values and aspirations of the party Political 

Groups to which they belong, recognising that in their role as Members they have a duty 
always to act in the public interest. 

 
4.3 Members are not authorised to instruct Officers other than: 

(a) through the formal decision-making process; 
(b) to request the provision of consumable resources provided by the Council for 

Members’ use; 
(c) where staff have been specifically allocated to give support to a Member or group of 

Members.  
 
4.4 Members may not initiate or certify financial transactions, or enter into a contract in writing 

or orally on behalf of the Council, or direct any Officer to do so. Letters which may commit 
the Council to any action should not be sent in the name of any Member without having 
first checked the position with an appropriate Officer from Legal Services. Members 
should not give any assurances to any person outside the Council or make any public 
statement which may be interpreted as making a formal commitment on any matter where 
a formal decision has yet to be made. 

 
4.5 No Member should meet with a developer or contractor concerning negotiations for the 

disposal of land or the terms of a contract outside the formal meeting processes of the 
Council unless a Council Officer is present and a note is made of the content of the 
discussion at the meeting. Such meetings might occasionally take place on an initial 
exploratory basis, but should not continue beyond that. Officers should then pursue any 
negotiations arising. The Chief Officer would keep the Member(s) informed and report 
formally to Member meetings where appropriate for information or decision. 

 
4.6 Members must not take actions which are unlawful, financially improper or likely to 

amount to maladministration. Members have an obligation to take into account, when 
reaching decisions, any advice provided by the Monitoring Officer or the designated 
Finance Officer. 

 
4.7 Members’ roles on the employment of staff are limited to: 

(a) the appointment of specified senior posts as set out in the Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules; 

551



 

292 

(b) determining Human Resources policies and conditions of employment; and 
(c) hearing and determining specific appeals as set out in the Officer Employment 

Procedure Rules. 
 
4.8 Members must respect the impartiality of Officers and do nothing to compromise it, e.g. by 

insisting that an Officer change their professional advice. 
 
4.9 A Cabinet Member wanting to make a decision about a matter in their portfolio should 

ensure that other Members and Senior Officers who need to know of the matter are 
informed, particularly on issues of joint responsibility or mutual interest, and in appropriate 
cases to brief the whole Cabinet. 

 
6.0 THE ROLE OF OFFICERS 
 
5.1 Officers are paid employees of the Council (not of Elected Members). Officers are 

required to operate within the law, the Constitution, local and national codes and protocols 
and must always act to achieve the objectives of the Council. Ultimately, as employees, 
Officers are accountable under their contracts of employment. Some employees are in 
politically restricted posts and cannot stand for election, nor hold certain posts in political 
parties.  

 
5.2 Officers have a duty to provide information, advice and recommendations to Members to 

fulfil their roles. Such information, etc, can be given both formally and informally, but 
where significant or potentially controversial issues are at stake should be given formally 
and in writing.  

 
5.3 It must be recognised by all Officers and Members that in discharging their duties and 

responsibilities, Officers serve the Council as a whole and not any Political Group, 
combination of groups or any individual Member of the Council.  

 
5.4 Officers must assist and advise all parts of the Council. They must always act to the best 

of their abilities in the best interests of the Authority as expressed in the Council’s formal 
decisions.  

 
5.5 Officers have a contractual and legal duty to be impartial. They must not allow their 

professional judgment and advice to be influenced by their own personal views. 
 
5.6 Proper, open dialogue between Members and Officers of all grades and seniority is 

essential to good governance. In order to ensure that dialogue is mutually respectful, 
productive and contributes to the effective running of the council, certain principles should 
be followed.  

 
5.7 Under the direction and control of the Council (including, as appropriate, the Cabinet, 

Committees and Sub-Committees), Officers manage and provide the Council’s services 
within the framework of responsibilities delegated to them. This includes the effective 
management of employees and operational issues. 

 
5.8 Officers have a duty to implement decisions of the Council, the Cabinet, Committees and 

Sub-Committees which are lawful, and which have been properly approved in accordance 
with the requirements of the law and the Council’s Constitution, and duly recorded. 

 
5.9 Officers must be alert to issues which are, or are likely to be, contentious or politically 

sensitive, and be aware of the implications for Members, the media or other sections of 
the public. 

 
5.10 Officers have the right not to support Members in any role other than that of Member, and 

not to engage in actions incompatible with this Protocol. In particular, there is a statutory 

552



 

293 

limitation on Officers’ involvement in political activities applying to certain Officers holding 
politically restricted posts. 

 
5.11 Senior Officers shall agree mutually convenient times for regular contact with Cabinet 

Members and Shadow Cabinet Members. 
 
7.0 MEMBER DECISION MAKING  

 
6.1 Officers should never lobby Members or otherwise improperly seek to influence their 

decision making, nor should they seek to act for personal rather than professional 
motives.  

 
6.2 The principal focus of Member decision making is to determine policy and strategic 

objectives. Members will only exceptionally be involved in operational or managerial 
decisions designed to deliver those policies and strategic objectives. One exception to this 
principle is that Members sitting in a regulatory capacity will take decisions which affect 
the rights of individuals, for example in relation to development management and licensing 
matters, to which specific codes of practice apply.  

 
6.3 Member decision making is always formal, public and auditable on the basis of written 

reports and advice from relevant Officers.  
 
6.4 Accordingly, Members should not purport to give instructions directly to junior Officers on 

an informal basis, except to the small number of Officers employed specifically to provide 
support services to Elected Members.  

 
6.5 Members need to be aware that some, particularly more junior, members of staff can feel 

intimidated by direct approaches by Members, and in particular should avoid being in a 
position where they could be seen as asking an Officer to act against Council policy, 
against the Officer’s professional judgment or otherwise under pressure from the Member.  

 
7.0  THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 
 
7.1 The conduct of Members and Officers should be such as to inspire mutual confidence and 

trust. 
 
7.2 The key elements are a recognition of, and a respect for, each other’s roles and 

responsibilities. These should be reflected in the behaviour and attitude of each to the 
other, both publicly and privately. 

 
7.3 There must be no bullying and/or intimidating behaviour between Members and Officers. 
 
7.4 It is important that there should be a close working relationship between the Leader, 

Cabinet Members, Chairs of committees and senior Officers of any department which 
reports to that Member or committee. However, such relationships should never be 
allowed to become so close, or appear to be so close, as to bring into question the 
Officers’ ability to deal impartially with other Members and other Political Groups, or with 
any other individual or organisation.  

 
7.5 Informal and collaborative two-way contact between Members and Officers is encouraged. 

But personal familiarity can damage the relationship, as might a family or business 
connection. 

 
7.6 No Member or Officer should allow any personal connection or relationship with any other 

Member or Officer to affect the performance of their official responsibilities or the taking of 
any action or decision by or on behalf of the Council. This includes, for example, any 
family relationship, membership of the same household or any business connection. 

553



 

294 

Members and Officers should always consider how such a relationship or connection 
would be likely to be regarded by anyone outside the Council, or by any other Member or 
Officer, and avoid creating any impression of bias or unfairness.  

 
7.7 Any Members and Officers who form a close personal relationship, either a Member with 

an Officer, a Member with a Member, or an Officer with another Officer, shall inform their 
Head of Service of any such relationship since it might be seen as unduly influencing their 
work in their respective roles. 

 
7.8 If a Member or Officer becomes aware of an inappropriate relationship that may or does 

affect their work and/or the reputation of the Council, they should bring this to the attention 
of their Head of Service and Monitoring Officer. 

 
7.9 It is not enough to avoid actual impropriety. Members and Officers should always be open 

about their relationships to avoid any reason for suspicion and any appearance of 
improper conduct. Where a personal relationship has been disclosed, those concerned 
should avoid a situation where conflict could be perceived. Specifically, a Member should 
not sit on a body or participate in any decision which directly affects the Officer on a 
personal basis. 

 
7.10 Officers work to the instructions of their Senior Officers, not individual Members. It follows 

that, whilst such Officers will always seek to assist a Member, they must not be asked to 
exceed the bounds of authority they have been given by their managers. Except when the 
purpose of an enquiry is purely to seek factual information, Members should direct their 
requests and concerns to a Senior Officer, or an Officer that the Senior Officer has 
confirmed beforehand may be approached directly. Chief Officers shall ensure that 
Members are adequately informed of such arrangements. 

 
7.11 Officers will do their best to give timely responses to Members’ enquiries. However, 

Officers should not have unreasonable requests placed on them. Their work priorities are 
set and managed by Senior Managers. Members may discuss and give their views upon 
work priorities with Senior Officers. 

 
7.12 Members will endeavour to give timely responses to enquiries from Officers. 
 
7.13 An Officer shall not discuss with a Member personal matters concerning themselves or 

another individual employee. This does not prevent an Officer raising on a personal basis, 
and in their own time, a matter with their Ward Member. 

 
7.14 Members and Officers should respect each other’s free (i.e. non-Council) time. 
 
7.15 Members and Officers must comply with and promote the Council’s policies on equality 

and diversity. 
 
8.0 POLITICAL GROUPS AND OFFICERS 
 
8.1 Officers’ support will not extend beyond providing factual information or professional 

advice in relation to matters of Council business. Officers must not be involved in advising 
on matters of party business, and therefore should not be expected to be present at 
meetings or parts of meetings when such matters are to be discussed. 

 
8.2 Party group meetings, as opposed to meetings of a body such as the Cabinet that may 

consist only of members of one political party, are not empowered to make decisions on 
behalf of the Council, and conclusions reached at such meetings have no status as formal 
Council decisions. 

 

554



 

295 

8.3 In their dealings with Political Groups, Officers must treat each group in a fair and even-
handed manner. In particular, if a briefing is offered to one party then it should be offered 
to all Political Groups.  

 
8.4 There is statutory recognition for Political Groups, and it is common practice for such 

groups to give preliminary consideration to policy matters before being considered by the 
relevant Council decision-making body. There have to be confidential spaces in which 
Political Groups can develop their policy proposals in private with the benefit of officer 
advice. Officers must respect the confidentiality of any Political Group discussions at 
which they are present in the sense that they should not relay the content of any such 
discussion to another Political Group. Officers may therefore properly be called upon by 
Political Groups to support and contribute to such deliberations but must at all times 
maintain political neutrality. Equally, Members must not do anything which compromises 
or is likely to compromise Officers’ impartiality. 

 
8.5 At party group meetings where some of those present are not Members of the Council, 

care must be taken not to divulge confidential information relating to Council business. 
Persons who are not Members are not bound by the Members’ Code of Conduct. They do 
not have the same rights to Council information as Members. 

 
9.0 MEMBERS’ ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS AND INFORMATION 
 
9.1 This part of the Protocol should be read in conjunction with the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution. 
 
9.2 Members may request Senior Officers to provide them with such information, explanation 

and advice as they may reasonably need to assist them to discharge their roles as 
Members. This may range from general information about some aspect of the Council’s 
services to specific information on behalf of a constituent. Where information is requested 
on behalf of a third party, it will only be provided if: 
(a) it is in the public domain, and 
(b) it is not barred from being given, by any legislative restriction, including the Data 

Protection Act. 
 
9.3 A Member should obtain advice from the Monitoring Officer in circumstances where they 

wish to have access to documents or information: 
(a) where to do so is likely to be in breach of the Data Protection Act, or 
(b) where the subject matter is one in which they have a personal or disclosable 

pecuniary interest as defined in the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 
9.4 Information given to a Member must only be used for the purpose for which it was 

requested. 
 
9.5 Members and Officers must not disclose information given to them in confidence without 

the consent of a person authorised to give it, or unless required by law to do so. 
 
9.6 When requested to do so, Officers will keep confidential from other Members advice 

requested by a Member. 
 
9.7 Members and Officers must not prevent another person from gaining access to 

information to which that person is entitled by law. 
  

555



 

296 

10.0 INTERPRETATION, COMPLAINTS AND ALLEGATIONS OF BREACHES  
 
10.1 This part of the Protocol should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Anti-Fraud, 

Corruption and Whistleblowing Policy Statement and Code of Conduct. 
 
10.2 Members or Officers with questions about the implementation or interpretation or any part 

of this Protocol should seek the guidance of the Monitoring Officer or in their absence the 
Chief Executive. 

 
10.3 Neither Officers nor Members should pass comment about Officers (individually or 

collectively) in a way which could be taken as personally critical of, or as undermining, the 
Officer(s). Similarly, it is never the role of an Officer to criticise or undermine Members 
(individually or collectively).  

 
10.4 A Member should not raise matters relating to the conduct or capability of Officers 

(individually or collectively) in a manner that is incompatible with the objectives of this 
Protocol. This is a longstanding tradition in public service. Officers have no means of 
responding to such criticisms in public.  

 
10.5 A Member who is unhappy about the actions taken by, or the conduct or capability of, 

Officers (individually or collectively) should: 
(a) avoid personal attacks on, or abuse of, the Officer(s) at all times; 
(b) ensure that any criticism is well founded and constructive; 
(c) never make a criticism in public (including on social media); and 
(d) take up the concern with the relevant Director or Chief Executive. 

 
10.6 A serious breach of this Protocol by an Officer may lead to an investigation and action 

under the Council’s disciplinary procedure. 
 
10.7 An Officer who believes a Member may have acted other than in accordance with this 

Protocol should raise their concern with the Monitoring Officer. They will consider how the 
complaint or allegations should be dealt with and take such action as they consider 
appropriate. At a minor level, this may be to raise the matter confidentially with the 
Member and/or the Leader of the relevant party group, giving information to the Officer 
concerned as to the action taken. More serious complaints may be dealt with in 
accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct and Standards Procedure Rules, if they 
relate to an alleged breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 

  

556



 

297 

Monitoring Officer Protocol 
 
1.0 THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 
1.1 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for ensuring that the Council and its Members act 

lawfully, do not cause maladministration, and comply with the Member Code of Conduct. 
The Monitoring Officer is the Council’s primary source of advice on all legal issues, and to 
Members on their legal obligations, but they also have specific statutory duties, such as 
investigating complaints of Member misconduct and making public report to the Council in 
cases of illegality. There is an inherent potential conflict between the Monitoring Officer role 
as a Legal Advisor and the fact that, on occasion, they may have to comply with statutory 
duties in respect of illegality. The purpose of this protocol is to enable Members to make 
use of the Monitoring Officer’s ability to provide them with practical advice on legality and 
conduct, by setting out how the Monitoring Officer will carry out their functions. 

 
2.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
2.1 The Council recognises that an effective Monitoring Officer, positively engaged in the 

discharge of the Council’s business, is essential to the effective running and sound 
corporate governance of the Council. 

 
2.2 Section 5(1) Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires the Council to appoint an 

Officer as the Council’s Monitoring Officer and gives that Officer personal responsibility: 
(a) to report on actual, and anticipated, illegality within the Councils; 
(b) to report cases where the Ombudsman has found maladministration on the part of the 

Council; 
(c) to maintain the Register of Members’ Interests; and 
(d) to administer, assess and investigate complaints of Members’ misconduct. 

 
2.3 The Council has extended the functions of its Monitoring Officer beyond these ‘statutory 

functions’ above, and their functions are set out in paragraph 5 below.  
 
2.4 The law does not prescribe exactly how the Monitoring Officer is to carry out these 

functions. Therefore, this protocol describes the manner in which the Council expects the 
Monitoring Officer to discharge these functions and how it expects Officers and Members to 
co-operate with the Monitoring Officer in order to enable them to discharge these functions 
effectively. 

 
3.0 APPOINTMENT 
 
3.1 The Monitoring Officer is appointed by Council and is the Council’s Senior Legal Officer and 

Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services. 
 
3.2 The Monitoring Officer is employed by Adur District Council but also seconded to Worthing 

Borough Council to enable them to act as Monitoring Officer for both Adur District Council 
and Worthing Borough Council. 

 
3.3 Where the Monitoring Officer leaves the employment of Adur District Council, they 

automatically cease to be the Monitoring Officer for both Councils. The Council may appoint 
an Officer as Interim Monitoring Officer, pending a permanent appointment. The Head of 
Paid Service shall nominate one of the outgoing Monitoring Officer’s Deputies to continue 
their appointment as Deputy until the new interim or permanent Monitoring Officer is 
appointed. 

  

557



 

298 

 
4.0 PERSONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
 
4.1 The Monitoring Officer is required to carry out the statutory functions of their post 

personally, with the exception that: 
(a) the Monitoring Officer may nominate one or more members of staff as Deputy 

Monitoring Officer, with power to act as Monitoring Officer where they are unable to act; 
and 

(b) in respect of the obligations relating to alleged breaches of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct, the Monitoring Officer may arrange for any person to perform all or any of their 
functions, for example by delegating internally or by instructing an external lawyer to 
conduct a particular investigation. 

 
4.2 Whilst the statutory functions are personal to the Monitoring Officer, they may arrange for 

any member of staff to assist them in the discharge of any non-statutory functions. 
 
5.0 FUNCTIONS 
 
 The functions of the Monitoring Officer are as follows: 
 
5.1 Statutory Functions 
 
5.1.1 To report to the Council in any case where they are of the opinion that any proposal, 

decision or omission by the Council or any of its Committees, Sub-Committees or Joint 
Committees, or any Member or Officer of the Council, has given rise to, or is likely to give 
rise to any illegality, in accordance with Section 5(2)(a) Local Government and Housing Act 
1989. 

 
5.1.2 To report to the Council in any case where the Ombudsman, after investigation, has 

reported that any proposal, decision or omission by the Council or any Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee of the Council, or any Member or Officer of the Council has 
given rise to maladministration or injustice, in accordance with Section 5(2)(b) Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
5.1.3 To maintain the Register of Members’ Interests in accordance with Section 81(1) Local 

Government Act 2000. 
 
5.1.4  To administer, assess and investigate complaints referred to them of allegations of breach 

of the Members’ Code of Conduct, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011. 
 
5.2 Non-Statutory Functions 
 
5.2.1 To investigate any proposal, decision or omission by the Council or any of its Committees, 

Sub-Committees or Joint Committees, or any Member or Officer of the Council, which they 
have reason to believe may have given rise to, or is likely to, or would give rise to: 
(a) illegality; 
(b) maladministration; 
(c) service failure; 
(d) failure to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 
5.2.2 To act as the principal legal advisor to the Councils’ Joint Audit & Governance Committee. 
 
5.2.3 To act as principal advisor to the Sub-Committees of the Councils’ Joint Audit & 

Governance Committee when dealing with allegations of breach of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 

 

558



 

299 

5.2.4 To provide advice to Members on the Member Code of Conduct and local protocols 
adopted by the Council. 

 
5.2.5 To monitor and uphold the Constitution. 
 
5.2.6 Responsibility for the managing of complaints from the Commissioner for Local 

Administration in England and whistleblowing functions of the Council. 
 
5.2.7 Appointment as Proper Officer for the Data Protection Act 1998, the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000 and the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2001. 
 
5.2.8 To consult regularly with the Chief Executive, the Chief Finance Officer and Internal Audit to 

identify areas where the probity of the Council can be improved or better protected and to 
take appropriate actions. 

 
5.2.9 To investigate any application for dispensation from a Member and to report and 

recommend to the Councils’ Joint Audit & Governance Committee as appropriate. 
 
5.2.10 To ensure that Members of the Council are fully aware of their obligations in respect of 

probity, particularly under the Member Code of Conduct and any local protocols adopted by 
the Council. 

 
5.2.11 To report to the Councils’ Joint Audit & Governance Committee, and to the Council, on the 

resources which they require for the discharge of their functions. 
 
5.2.12 To report to the Councils’ Joint Audit & Governance Committee on the performance of their 

functions and to make any recommendations which would better enable those functions to 
be performed. 

 
6.0 ADVICE AND DECISIONS 
 
6.1 The Monitoring Officer’s responsibilities fall into three distinct categories: 
 
6.1.1 Advice 
 In a number of instances the Monitoring Officer acts as advisor to the Council, or to 

individual Members. For example, a Member may seek advice as to whether they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter coming before a Committee. In such cases, the 
Monitoring Officer will provide such advice, but ultimately it is for the individual Member to 
take their own decision as to their conduct in the light of that advice. Where a Member’s 
enquiry discloses a wider issue, the Monitoring Officer may decide that it is appropriate to 
make recommendations to the Council, in order to avoid a repetition of such difficulties. 

 
6.1.2 Decisions 
 In other cases, where the proposal, action or omission would cause the Council to act 

unlawfully, the Monitoring Officer may be required by statute to take a decision as to 
whether there is, or would be, any illegality on the part of the Council, or of any Member or 
Officer of the Council, and to decide whether they are required by statute to make a report 
to the Council which would have the effect of suspending the implementation of the action, 
or decision, until the report has been considered. 

 
6.1.3 Advice and Decision 
 The categories of advice and decisions are not mutually exclusive. In some instances the 

conduct of a Member could for example give rise to both a failure to comply with the 
Member Code of Conduct and an illegality on the part of the Councils. In some cases the 
Monitoring Officer may be obliged to advise a Member whilst also being required to take 
action as Monitoring Officer to address an illegality. 

 

559



 

300 

7.0 SEEKING THE ADVICE OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 
7.1 It is recognised that the Monitoring Officer will be most effective if they are able to advise on 

any issue at an early stage of policy formulation or implementation. Accordingly, Officers 
and Members of the Council should routinely inform and consult the Monitoring Officer in 
respect of new policy proposals and action programmes. 

 
7.2 Advice on legality and maladministration 
 
7.2.1 Members and Officers of the Council may consult the Monitoring Officer in confidence in 

respect of any proposal, decision or omission. 
 
7.2.2 Wherever possible, the Monitoring Officer will seek to avoid any illegality or 

maladministration by identifying alternative or legitimate means of achieving the objective of 
the proposal, decision, act or omission or by rectifying any deficiency. 

 
7.2.3 The Monitoring Officer will only need to make a report public on the matter if the proposed 

decision, act or omission were, in their opinion, unlawful and the Officer or Member 
concerned subsequently took any action to progress that proposal, decision or omission, 
despite having been advised to the contrary by the Monitoring Officer. 

 
7.2.4 Where the Monitoring Officer is consulted by a Member in respect of possible illegality or 

maladministration in any proposal, action or omission of the Council (as opposed to of the 
Member making the enquiry) the Monitoring Officer shall advise the Council’s Political 
Group Leaders and the relevant Committee Chair that they have been so consulted and the 
advice which they have given. 

 
7.3 Advice on the Code of Conduct 
 
7.3.1 The Monitoring Officer is the primary source of advice for all Members on the Member Code 

of Conduct and on local protocols. 
 
7.3.2 Any Member, irrespective of political party, can seek the confidential advice of the 

Monitoring Officer as to their own position. Where the Monitoring Officer is so consulted, 
and subject to any conflict of interest with the Council, they will seek to provide prompt 
advice to the Member concerned as to whether, in their opinion, the action or proposed 
action would constitute a failure to comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct. Where they 
are so consulted by a Member about their own conduct, the Monitoring Officer will not 
disclose the fact of consultation or the advice given unless required to do so by law or as 
part of an investigation into an alleged breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 
7.3.3 Any Member, irrespective of political party, may seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer as 

to whether the actions of another Member of the Council would amount to a failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct. Such enquiry should be made in writing to ensure that 
advice is given on the correct details. Members are encouraged to consult the Monitoring 
Officer before considering whether to make a formal complaint of an alleged breach of the 
Code. The Monitoring Officer may make enquiry of the Member in respect of whom the 
enquiry is made before providing such advice. 

 
8.0 INVESTIGATION 
 
8.1 Preventative Investigation 
 
8.1.1 Prevention is better than cure and the Council expects the Monitoring Officer to investigate 

matters which give them concern as to possible illegality, maladministration or breach of the 
Member Code of Conduct. This would arise when the Monitoring Officer receives 
information which raises the possibility that a proposal, action or omission of the Council or 

560



 

301 

any of its Committees, Sub-Committees or Joint Committees, or any Member or Officer of 
the Council, is or would be unlawful, or give rise to maladministration and injustice, or 
amount to a breach of the Member Code of Conduct. In such cases, the Council expects 
the Monitoring Officer to investigate the matter and determine whether the proposal, action 
or omission, actually is or would be unlawful, or give rise to maladministration or injustice, 
or amount to a failure to observe the Member Code of Conduct, and to take the appropriate 
action. 

 
8.1.2 Where the Monitoring Officer determines that the proposal, action or omission is, or would 

be, a failure to comply with the Member Code of Conduct, they shall advise the relevant 
Member accordingly. If appropriate, the Monitoring Officer could carry out an assessment of 
the matter, investigate as appropriate and bring the matter to the attention of the Councils’ 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee in accordance with the Standards Procedure Rules. 

 
8.2 Established Procedures 
 
8.2.1 Where the Monitoring Officer receives a complaint that a proposal, action or omission is 

unlawful or constitutes maladministration, and the Council already operates an appeal 
process for resolving such matters, the Monitoring Officer may deal with the matter by 
ensuring that the established procedure is followed. They may also intervene in such 
procedure to identify that the particular matter potentially gives rise to illegality or 
maladministration and injustice. 

 
8.2.2 In cases where the Monitoring Officer determines that the proposal, act or omission is not 

unlawful, they shall advise any Member or Officer concerned of their determination. Where 
the Monitoring Officer determines that the proposal, action or omission is, or would be, 
unlawful, they shall, where possible, seek to agree an alternative and lawful course of 
action. The Monitoring Officer will then advise the complainant of their determination and of 
any agreed alternative course of action, which could include an offer in settlement of any 
injustice suffered by any person and/or the Monitoring Officer making a statutory report. 

 
8.3 Maladministration 
 
8.3.1 Where the Monitoring Officer determines upon investigation that a proposal, act or omission 

has not caused, or would not give rise to, maladministration and injustice, they shall 
respond to the complainant and advise any Member or Officer concerned of the 
determination. 

 
8.3.2 Where the Monitoring Officer determines that the proposal, act or omission has caused or 

would give rise to maladministration and injustice, they shall advise any Member or Officer 
concerned of the determination and seek to agree an alternative lawful course of action. 
The Monitoring Officer shall then advise the complainant of their determination and of any 
agreed alternative course of action and/or offer in settlement of any injustice suffered by 
any person. 

 
8.4 Failure to observe the Member Code of Conduct 
 
8.4.1 The Monitoring Officer will deal with assessments and determinations of allegations of 

failure to observe the Member Code of Conduct in accordance with the Standards 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 and the Member Code of Conduct.  

 
9.0 LOCAL RESOLUTION 
 
9.1 Where the Monitoring Officer receives a complaint of illegality, maladministration or failure 

to observe the Member Code of Conduct, they shall, if appropriate, seek to resolve the 
matter amicably by ensuring the situation is as far as possible rectified, informing the 
complainant of the resolution and dealing with any potential compensation payment or 

561



 

302 

apology. However, it is recognised that the Monitoring Officer may determine that the 
matter is not appropriate for local resolution or incapable of being so resolved, or is of such 
seriousness that a statutory report is the only appropriate response. 

 
10.0 REPORTING 
 
10.1 Illegality 
10.1.1 Where the Monitoring Officer is of the opinion that an unlawful action or omission has 

already occurred, or that the Council, its Committees, Sub-Committees or Joint 
Committees, or any Member or Officer seeks to progress an unlawful proposal, action or 
omission, the Monitoring Officer shall consult as far as practicable with the Chief Executive 
and the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer), prior to determining whether to make a 
formal report under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
10.1.2 To avoid a separate statutory report, the Monitoring Officer shall be entitled, if they wish, to 

add their written advice to the report on the matter by any other Officer of the Council, 
and/or to provide oral advice at any meeting of the Council. 

 
10.2 Maladministration 
 
10.2.1 Where the Monitoring Officer is of the opinion that maladministration and injustice have 

already occurred, or where the Council or any Committees, Sub-Committees, or Joint 
Committees of the Council, or any Member or Officer of the Council, seek to progress a 
proposal, action or omission which would give rise to maladministration and injustice, the 
Monitoring Officer shall consult as far as practicable with the Chief Executive and the Chief 
Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) before determining whether to make a written report 
to the decision-maker. The Monitoring Officer shall be entitled to add their written advice to 
the report on the matter by any other Officer of the Council, and/or to provide oral advice at 
any meeting of the Council. 

 
10.3 Failure to observe the Member Code of Conduct 
 
10.3.1 The Monitoring Officer will deal with allegations of failure to observe the Member Code of 

Conduct in accordance with the Council’s Member Code of Conduct and the Standards 
Procedure Rules. 

 
11.0 ADVICE TO INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS 
 
11.1 Wherever possible, the Monitoring Officer will provide advice to individual Members to 

support them in the discharge of their responsibilities as a Councillor. The Monitoring 
Officer will not however provide advice to a Political Group or party or to a Member making 
an enquiry on their behalf. 

 
11.2 The Monitoring Officer is employed by the Council and owes their primary responsibility to 

the Council, rather than to any individual Member or group of Members. Consequently, 
where the Monitoring Officer considers that providing advice to a Member on a matter 
which is incompatible with their role as advisor to the Council, or any action they may have 
to take on behalf of the Council, the Monitoring Officer may decline to provide such advice 
but could, at their discretion, secure such advice from an independent source at the 
Council’s expense.  

 
12.0 MONITORING AND INTERPRETING THE CONSTITUTION 
 
12.1 The Monitoring Officer will monitor, and review on a regular basis, the effectiveness and 

operation of the Council’s Constitution so as to ensure that the aims and principles of the 
Constitution are given full effect and that the Constitution enables the Council to discharge 
its functions effectively. 

562



 

303 

 
12.2 In order to conduct such monitoring and review, the Monitoring Officer may: 

(a) consult any Member and/or Officers and other organisations and persons having 
dealings with the Council; 

(b) observe meetings of Members and/or Officers at any level; 
(c) undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions; 
(d) record and analyse issues raised with them by Members, Officers, the public and other 

relevant stakeholders; 
(e) compare practices in this Council with those in other comparable authorities, or national 

examples of best practice; and 
(f) consider any relevant reports and recommendations of the District Auditor and other 

regulatory agencies. 
 
12.3 The Monitoring Officer shall consult the Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer 

periodically, highlighting areas where there is potential to improve the Constitution or its 
effectiveness, before determining whether to report to the Council on any necessary 
changes. 

 
12.4 The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date copy of the Constitution and ensure that it 

is accessible to Members, Officers and the public and will make such amendments to the 
Constitution as are necessary to reflect changes of fact and law and decisions of the 
Council. The Council shall retain the power and responsibility to consider and determine 
policy changes to the Constitution. 

 
12.5 The Monitoring Officer shall be responsible for advising on the interpretation of the 

Constitution and in particular, shall determine whether a proposed decision is contrary to 
the Policy Framework or the approved budget and whether a proposal is sufficiently urgent 
to merit the use of the statutory urgency provisions or the Chief Executive’s urgency 
powers. 

 
13.0 RESOURCES 
 
13.1 The Council is required by statute to provide the Monitoring Officer with the resources 

which they consider are necessary for the fulfilment of their statutory duties. 
 
13.2 For the purpose of carrying out their functions, the Monitoring Officer shall be provided with 

the following resources: 
(a) the right of access to all documents and information held by or on behalf of the Council; 
(b) the right of access to any meetings of Members or Officers of the Council, although this 

does not extend to any meetings held by any political party or group; 
(c) the right to require any Officer or Member of the Council to provide an explanation of 

any matter under investigation; 
(d) a right to report to the Council, the Joint Audit & Governance Committee and to the 

Cabinet, including a right to present a written report and to attend and advise verbally; 
(e) the right to require the assistance of any Officer of the Council and to delegate to that 

Officer any other powers of the post of Monitoring Officer; 
(f) a power to agree a local resolution of any complaint of maladministration or breach of 

the Council’s Member Code of Conduct, in consultation with the Chief Executive and 
Chief Finance Officer, including the power to agree a compensation payment of up to 
£5,000 in any particular case, and subject to subsequent report to the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee for information; 

(g) the right of access to the Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer; 
(h) the right after consultation with the Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer, to 

notify the Police, the Council’s auditors and other regulatory agencies of their concerns 
in respect of any matter and to provide them with information and documents in order to 
assist them with their statutory functions; 

563



 

304 

(i) the right to obtain legal advice at the Council’s expense, whether internally or from an 
independent external solicitor or barrister, on any matter and to be provided with 
sufficient financial resource to enable them to do so. 

  

564



 

305 

Dispensations Protocol 
 
1.0 Guide to Dispensations 
 
1.1 The council is responsible for determining requests for a dispensation by a Member under 

s.33 of the Localism Act 2011. The council may grant a dispensation to an Elected or Co-
opted Member on a matter with which they would otherwise not be permitted to deal, as a 
result of having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  

 
1.2 This guide explains: 

(a) The purpose and effect of dispensations  
(b) The procedure for requesting dispensations  
(c) The criteria applied in determining dispensation requests  
(d) The terms of dispensations  

 
1.3 Until a dispensation is granted, a Member may not participate in the consideration of the 

matter before the Council (or any committee or sub-committee) in which they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  

 
1.4 For the avoidance of doubt, Members do not have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and/or 

are granted a general dispensation in respect of any business of the Council relating to: 
(a) housing, where the Member is a tenant of the Council, provided that the business does 

not relate particularly to the Member’s tenancy or lease, or that of a relative, friend or 
close associate; 

(b) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members; 
(c) any ceremonial honour given to Members;  
(d) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 
2.0 Purpose and effect of dispensations  
 
2.1 In certain circumstances, Members may be granted a dispensation that enables them to take 

part in council business where this would otherwise be prohibited because they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. Provided Members act within the terms of their dispensation 
there is deemed to be no breach of the Code of Conduct or the law.  

 
2.2 Section 31(4) of the Localism Act 2011 states that dispensations may allow a member to:  

(a) participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at a meeting; and/or  
(b) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at a meeting  

 
Please note: if a member participates in a meeting where they have a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest and they do not have a dispensation, they may be committing a criminal offence 
under section 34 of the Localism Act 2011.  
 
3.0 Process for making requests  
 
3.1 A request for dispensation must be made on an individual basis. Any Member who wishes to 

apply for a dispensation should fully complete a Dispensation Application Form (Appendix 1) 
and submit it to the Monitoring Officer, explaining why it is desirable and appropriate to grant 
the dispensation.  

 
4.0 Approval Process  
 
4.1 The Monitoring Officer may only grant a dispensation to a Member who has a Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interest allowing them to participate in any discussion of a matter at a meeting 
and/or to participate in any vote on the matter (as per paragraph 2 above), if they consider 
that:  

565



 

306 

(a) without the dispensation, the number of persons prohibited from participating in any 
particular business would be so great a proportion of the body transacting the business 
as to impede the transaction of the business,  

(b) without the dispensation, the representation of different Political Groups on the body 
transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the likely outcome of 
any vote relating to the business,  

(c) without the dispensation, each Member of the authority's Cabinet would be prohibited 
from participating in any particular business to be transacted by the Cabinet,  

(d) granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the authority's area, or  
(e) it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.  

 
4.2 In the absence of the Monitoring Officer, a Deputy Monitoring Officer is authorised to execute 

the functions of the Monitoring Officer. The Joint Audit & Governance Committee also has 
the delegated power to agree dispensations.  

 
4.3 Applications dealt with by the Monitoring Officer will normally be determined within 10 working 

days. Applications made to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee will go to the next 
ordinary meeting or it may be appropriate to arrange a special meeting at the discretion of 
the Chair of the committee. Applications must be received at least 10 clear working days 
before a meeting to enable a report to be prepared and the agenda published five clear days 
before the meeting.  

 
4.4 The Monitoring Officer will formally notify the Member of the decision and reasons in writing 

at the earliest opportunity and in any event within five clear working days of the decision.  
 
5.0 Criteria for determination of requests  
 
5.1 In reaching a decision on a request for a dispensation, the Monitoring Officer will consider:  

(a) the nature of the Member’s interest  
(b) the extent to which the request could have been avoided or other arrangements could 

be made  
(c) the need to maintain public confidence in the conduct of the Council’s business  
(d) the extent to which there is some personal benefit and the extent of the public benefit 

obtained by agreeing to a dispensation  
(e) the possible outcome of the proposed vote  
(f) the need for efficient and effective conduct of the Council’s business  
(g) any other relevant circumstances  

 
6.0 Terms of dispensations  
 
6.1 Dispensations may be:  

(a) Granted for one meeting or for a period not exceeding 4 years  
(b) Subject to specific conditions, e.g. notification of any material change in circumstances 

arising from the dispensation  
 
7.0 Disclosure of decision  
 
7.1 Any Member who has been granted a dispensation must declare the nature and existence of 

the dispensation before the commencement of any business to which it relates.  
 
7.2 A copy of the dispensation will be kept with the Register of Members’ Interests.  
 
8.0 Dispensations for Conflicts of Interest when taking Executive decisions  
 
8.1 Under regulations 12 and 13 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 

and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the record of a Cabinet decision 
made either at meetings or by individuals, must include:  

566



 

307 

(a) details of any conflict of interest either declared by any Member of the body which made 
the decision or declared by any Cabinet Member consulted by the Member or Officer 
taking the decision which relates to that decision;  

(b) In respect of any such conflict of interest, a note of dispensation granted by the Chief 
Executive.  

 
Please note: A conflict of interest is broader than a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. It can be 
any interest that conflicts (or may reasonably be perceived to conflict) with a Member’s duty 
to take decisions only in the public interest in the light of material considerations. 
 

Appendix 1  

To: The Monitoring Officer  

APPLICATION FOR A DISPENSATION UNDER SECTION 33 OF THE LOCALISM ACT 2011 IN 

RESPECT OF A DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST  

Name of member:  

A Member who has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter that is under consideration may 

not participate in the consideration of that matter by the Council, a committee or sub-committee or 

by the Cabinet or a committee of the Cabinet unless they have first obtained a dispensation from 

the council. You may apply for a dispensation by completing this form and sending it to the 

Monitoring Officer.  

1. What is the matter for which dispensation is sought?  

Please provide full details including amounts where the matter involves funding or finance.  

2. For which type of meeting is dispensation sought?  

(Full Council, Cabinet, Committee or Sub-Committee)  

3. What is the nature of the Disclosable Pecuniary Interest?  

Please provide full details.  

4. What is the date of the meeting(s) at which this matter is to be considered?  

5. For how long is the dispensation needed?  

Please note that it cannot be longer than 4 years nor exceed the Member’s term of office.  

6. Do you benefit personally from the business to which this application relates?  

If ‘yes’, the full details must be provided of the nature and extent.  

7. How is the business of the Council being impeded in the absence of a dispensation?  

8. Are there any other factors that might help the council to reach a decision on the 

application?  

9. Are you seeking a dispensation to speak and vote?  

Yes/No  

10. Are you seeking a dispensation to speak but not vote?  

Yes/ No  

Signed: ____________________Date: _________  

Please complete, sign and return this form to the Monitoring Officer  

567



 

308 

Officer Decision-Making Protocol 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 This document sets out the legal framework for decision-making and establishes a system 

to document decisions taken by Officers under delegated authority. 
 
2.0 TYPES OF DECISION 
 
2.1 The significance of decisions taken under delegated authority will vary and Officers 

authorised to make delegated decisions will need to exercise judgement in determining 
whether decisions are significant enough to require placing in the Forward Plan if they are 
in relation to Executive functions and/or formally recording. To assist in this process, 
decisions relating to Executive functions are defined as Key, Major or Administrative. All 
decisions other than Administrative Decisions need formally recording and publishing in 
accordance with paragraph 5. Administrative Decisions, although not required to be 
formally reported to the Proper Officer, must be recorded so as to provide an audit trail as 
referred to in paragraph 5. 

 
2.2 In relation to Non-Executive functions, Officers should adopt a similar approach to formal 

recording to ensure transparency of decision-making. Whilst Overview and Scrutiny cannot 
consider decisions of Regulatory Committees or Officers, such decisions can be challenged 
externally through appeals processes, the Courts and the Local Government Ombudsman. 

 
2.3 ‘Key Decision’, ‘Major Decision’ and ‘Administrative Decision’ are all defined in Article 12 of 

the Constitution. 
 
3.0 THE PROCESS 
 
3.1 Before taking any decision, Officers should ensure that they have appropriate delegated 

authority, and reference should be made to the Scheme of Officer Delegations in Part 4 of 
the Constitution. 

 
3.2 Where appropriate delegated authority exists, in writing, the authorised Officer must take 

into account the principles of decision-making set out in Article 12 of the Constitution. 
 
3.3 All proposed Key Decisions need to be published on the Council’s website not less than 28 

clear days prior to the date on which the decision is to be made. Officers proposing to make 
a Key Decision and needing to place an item on the Council’s website should provide 
details to the Democratic Services Manager at least 30 clear days prior to the date on 
which the decision is to be made.  

 
3.4 If it is impracticable to publish the notice not less than 28 clear days before the date of 

decision, then the Officer must comply with the legal requirements relating to exceptional 
and urgent Executive decisions. These are laid out in full in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution. 

 
3.5 If an Officer is unable to give five clear days’ notice of a Key Decision that was not 

published on the Council’s website at least 28 clear days before the date of the decision, 
they can take the decision only if the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (for an 
Adur only item) or the Joint Chair of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (joint 
items) agrees that the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. The full 
procedure is again set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
Council’s Constitution. 

 
3.6 Consultations under Paragraph 3.4 and 3.5 above, must be taken in consultation with the 

Democratic Services Manager. 

568



 

309 

 
3.7 In making an Officer decision, the principles of Member decision-making set out in Article 

12 of the Constitution, should be complied with. 
 
4.0 CALL-IN 
 
4.1 Relevant decisions made by Officers are subject to Call-In by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee or Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee and cannot be implemented until 
either the Call-In period has expired or the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee has made a decision regarding the Call-In. The Call-In 
procedure is set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules within the Constitution. 

 
5.0 RECORDING AND PUBLISHING OFFICER DECISIONS 
 
5.1 Officer Key Decisions are recorded in the same manner as Cabinet Member decisions. The 

Officer will produce a decision record in the same format as those relating to Executive 
decisions following the Officer decisions. 

 
5.2 Upon making a Major Decision in relation to a Cabinet function, the Officer must provide the 

Democratic Services Manager with a completed delegated decision form (available on the 
Council’s intranet site) within two clear working days of the date of taking the decision. 

 
5.3 Upon making a Major Decision relating to the exercise of a Non-Executive function, the 

Officer must provide the Democratic Services Manager with a completed delegated 
decision form within two clear working days of the date of taking the decision, unless 
agreed with the  Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services that that decision (or class 
of decision) does not require this. Any such forms must be copied to the relevant Director. 

 
5.4 The Democratic Services Manager will maintain a record of all decisions referred to in 

paragraphs 5.1 to 5.3, including any report upon which each decision was made and 
subject to any requirement for confidentiality, will ensure that this decision is recorded by 
the Council. They will also ensure that the record of decision is available for public 
inspection during all normal office hours, that the public has the right to copy or to be 
provided with a copy of any part of that record upon payment of a reasonable copying and 
administrative charge, and that the decision, report and background documents are 
available on the Council’s website. 

 
5.5 It is essential that the contents of the delegated decision form are clear in conveying the 

decision taken, i.e. it will not be sufficient to state that the recommendations in the report 
were agreed. The form and accompanying report must set out: 
(a) A record of decision (including the date it was made); 
(b) The reasons for the decision; 
(c) Details of any alternative options considered and rejected, with reasons; 
(d) A record of any conflict of interest declared by any Cabinet Member consulted; and 
(e) In relation to any such declaration, a note of any dispensation granted by the Joint 

Audit & Governance Committee. 
 

5.6 The delegated decision form includes a section for the recording of interests by Officers. It 
is important that where Officers involved in making decisions have a registerable interest, 
this is declared on the form to preserve the integrity of the process. 

 

Types of officer decisions  
 
5.7 An ‘Executive decision’ is one made in connection with the discharge of a function which is 

the responsibility of the Leader and Cabinet and which has been delegated to officers.  
 

569



 

310 

5.8 A ‘Non-Executive decision’ is one made in connection with the discharge of a function that 
is the responsibility of Full Council and its committees and which has been delegated to 
officers.  

 
5.9 The significance of decisions taken under delegated powers will vary, and officers 

authorised to make delegated decisions need to exercise judgment in determining whether 
decisions are significant enough to require formal recording and publishing.  

 
5.10 Although administrative and operational decisions are not required to be formally reported, 

they must be recorded within the service area so as to provide an audit trail.  
 
5.11 Key Decisions, Major Decisions and Urgent Decisions are defined below:  

 
Key Decisions are Executive decisions that are likely to result in the Council incurring expenditure 
which is, or the making of savings which are significant, having regard to the Council’s budget for 
the service or function to which the decision relates, which the Council has currently determined to 
be:  

(a) capital schemes, within the approved Capital Programme, in excess of £250,000; or 
(b) the letting/re-letting of contracts of value of £100,000 £75,000 or more over the period of 

the contract, where provision has been made in the approved budget; or 
(c) expenditure in addition to the approved budget, requiring virement or a supplementary 

estimate in excess of £100,000; or 
(d) in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more 

Wards in the wider area of Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council jointly.  
 
Major Executive Decisions are Executive decisions (other than purely operational or 
administrative in nature) taken by officers under powers delegated by a specific resolution of the 
Cabinet/Cabinet Member or under the Scheme of Delegation:  

(a) That are contentious, controversial or politically sensitive; or  
(b) Where there is likely to be a strong public interest; or  
(c) Where there is significant variance in expenditure outside the agreed scope or budget for a 

project or issue; or  
(d) Raise new issues of policy  

 
Major Non-Executive Decisions are Non-Executive decisions (other than purely operational or 
administrative in nature) taken by officers under powers delegated by a specific resolution of  
Full Council, a committee or under the Scheme of Delegation and having wide public 
impact/interest; where the effect of the decision:  

(a) is to grant a permission or licence  
(b) affects the legal rights of an individual  
(c) is to award a contract or incur expenditure which ‘materially’ affects the authority's financial 

position  
 
Urgent Decisions are decisions made in circumstances where:  

(a) a decision is required by statute or otherwise within a specified timescale; or  
(b) any delay likely to be caused by not making the decision would seriously prejudice the 

council’s or the public’s interests; or  
(c) any delay likely to be caused by not making the decision would be likely to expose the 

council, its members or the public to a significant level of risk, loss, damage or 
disadvantage  

  

570



 

311 

 
5.12 The following types of officer decision must be formally recorded and published subject to 

the exceptions set out: 

 

Type of Officer Decision  Exception  Publication  
Key Decisions  
Executive decisions that are:  
a) capital schemes, within the 
approved Capital Programme, 
in excess of £250,000; or 
b) the letting/re-letting of 
contracts of value of £100,000 
£75,000 or more over the 
period of the contract, where 
provision has been made in 
the approved budget; or 
c) expenditure in addition to 
the approved budget, 
requiring virement or a 
supplementary estimate in 
excess of £100,000; or 
d) are significant in terms of 
the effect on communities 
living or working in two or 
more electoral Wards. 

Officers are only to take Key 
Decisions where:  
(i) specifically authorised by 
the Leader or Cabinet; or  
(ii) where the Chief Executive 
or (in their absence) the 
Deputy Chief Executive is 
acting under urgency powers.  

As soon as reasonably 
practicable after an officer has 
made a Key, Material or 
Significant decision, they must 
produce a written statement, 
available for inspection at City 
Hall and published on the 
council’s website, that 
includes details of:  

 the decision and the date 
it was made;  

 the reasons for it;  

 any alternative options 
considered and rejected;  

 any conflicts of interests 
declared by any Cabinet 
member consulted by the 
officer and any 
dispensations granted by 
the Chief Executive in 
respect of any declared 
conflict;  

 the report considered by 
the decision-maker; 

 any background 
documents disclosing 
facts or matters on which 
the decision was based 
and which were relied on 
to a material extent in 
making the decision. 

The decision record must be 
kept for inspection for 6 years 
and the background papers 
for 4 years. 

Major Executive Decisions 
Executive decisions under 
powers delegated by a 
specific resolution of the 
Cabinet/Cabinet Member or 
under the Scheme of 
Delegation: 

 That are contentious, 
controversial or politically 
sensitive; or 

 Where there is likely to be 
a strong public interest; or 

 Where there is significant 
variance in expenditure 
outside the agreed scope 
or budget for a project or 
issue; or 

 That raise new issues of 
policy. 

Does not apply:  
(i) To routine operational, 
organisational or 
administrative decisions;  
(ii) Where the expenditure or 
saving has already been 
approved by the Cabinet or 
Cabinet Member and the 
decision has been published; 
(iii) Confidential or Exempt 
Information; or 
(iv) Where the expenditure or 
saving is already recorded 
and published under separate 
statutory requirements. 

Major Non-Executive 
Decisions 
Non-Executive decisions 
under powers delegated by a 
specific resolution of Full 
Council, a committee or under 
the Scheme of Delegation and 
having wide public impact/ 
interest; where the effect of 
the decision: 

 is to grant a permission or 
licence 

Does not apply: 
(i) To routine operational, 
organisational or 
administrative decisions; 
(ii) Confidential or Exempt 
information; 
(iii) Where the date, details of 
and reasons for the decision 
are already required to be 
produced under a statutory 
requirement; 
(iv) If only the rights of an 
individual or business are 

571



 

312 

 affects the legal rights of 
an individual 

 is to award a contract or 
incur expenditure which 
‘materially’ affects the 
authority's financial 
position 

affected, unless there is a 
wider public impact/ interest in 
the action. 

 
The process  
 
5.13 Before taking any decision, the authorised Officer must consider the principles of decision 

making set out in this Constitution.  
 
5.14 Details of all proposed Key Decisions must be published at least 28 clear days before the 

decision is made (unless the general exceptions procedure or special urgency procedure is 
applicable) via the Cabinet Notice (Forward Plan).  

 
5.15 Where an Officer makes an urgent Key Decision, they must comply with the legal 

requirements set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules.  
 
Call-In  
 
5.16 Key Decisions made by Officers are subject to Call-In by Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees and cannot be implemented until either the Call-In period has expired or the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee has made a decision regarding the Call-In.  

 
5.17 Although the formal Call-In process only applies to Officer Key Decisions, Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees can call an Officer to account over any decision made. 
 
6.0 AUTHORISATION OF OFFICERS TO EXERCISE DELEGATED POWERS 
 
6.1 The Scheme of Delegations to Officers includes the power for Officers to authorise other 

Officers to exercise delegations that have been delegated to them under the Scheme. This 
must be to another Officer or Officers of suitable experience and seniority. Each Director 
will prepare and maintain an up-to-date departmental Register of Sub-Delegations. It shall 
set out how decisions will be made in their area. This should establish which Officers will be 
given authority to make decisions under delegated powers and subject to which terms and 
conditions. The Scheme of Authorisation will be lodged with the Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services. 

 
6.2 Whilst Directors may authorise other Officers to take delegated decisions, the decision is 

still their responsibility in that they will be accountable for the decision to authorise and the 
exercise of that authorisation. 

 
7.0 REFERRAL 
 
7.1 Whilst the Scheme of Delegations to Officers is designed to encourage Officers to take 

responsibility for decisions, an Officer may decide that a particular issue is such that it 
should be referred to the body from whom authority was delegated. Such a referral must 
take place where the proposed decision relates to a Cabinet function and is conflict with the 
Council’s Budget and Policy Framework. 

 
7.2 The Cabinet may also direct an Officer’s delegated authority should not be exercised in 

respect of a particular matter and that the matter should be referred to the Cabinet. 
 

572



 

313 

7.3 In relation to the exercise of Non-Executive functions, the Officer may decide to refer a 
particular issue to the Committee or Sub-Committee from whom it was delegated, or if 
none, arrange for an appropriate recommendation to be made to Full Council. 

 
8.0 GIVING REASONS 
 
8.1 A matter of increasing significance in Local Government, decision-making is when reasons 

have to be given. Generally, giving reasons is an accepted ‘best practice’ principle of good 
administration. Case law suggests that the practice may be important in ensuring that 
controversial decisions are rooted in relevant considerations and with proper regard to 
available legal powers. 

 
9.0 ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
9.1 Officers are accountable to the Council for any decision they may make and with the 

exception of decisions relating to individual regulatory matters, may be required to report to, 
and answer questions from, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in respect of any decisions. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee or 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may also Call-In Key and Major Decisions before 
they are implemented and may recommend a course of action when the matter is to be 
reconsidered by the Officer. 

 
10.0 CONSULTATION WITH MEMBERS 
 
10.1 General provisions: 
 

(a) Decisions made by Officers under delegated powers fall into two principal categories, 
namely: 

(i) Decisions delegated to Officers in, or following, consultation with Cabinet 
Member (which may or may not be Key Decisions); and 

(ii) Other decisions delegated to Officers (which are not required to be taken in, 
or following, consultation with Cabinet Members) and which may or may not 
be Key Decisions; 

(b) Officers to whom decisions have been delegated have a duty to ensure that effective 
consultation takes place in accordance with the Constitution and the terms of the 
delegation; 

(c) Every effort will be made to ensure that Members have a realistic timescale to respond 
to consultation and, where appropriate and reasonably practicable, this timescale will 
be sufficient to enable Members to consult with their constituents. Members will be 
informed of any time restrictions which may apply relating to the process of 
consultation, particularly where urgent action is needed in the Council’s and/or the 
public interest. 

 
10.2 Decisions by Officers following consultation with Cabinet Members 
 

Officers to whom decision-making powers have been delegated, subject to consultation 
with Cabinet Members, will ensure that such consultation takes place. 
 
Consultation shall be carried out in writing, unless there is an urgency about the decision 
that makes such written consultation impractical, in which case the Officer shall confirm, in 
writing, to the Cabinet Member their understanding of the Cabinet Member’s response to 
the consultation. 
 
The decision, however, is the responsibility of the Officer and if, following consultation with 
the relevant Cabinet Member, the Officer does not feel that they can make the decision in 
accordance with their professional opinion, then they must refer the matter to the Cabinet 
Member for a formal decision. 

573



 

314 

 
10.3 Other decisions delegated to Officers 
 

(a) Officers acting within the remit of their delegated authority must ensure that they 
identify, at an early stage, issues upon which Members should be consulted; and 

(b) Will ensure that appropriate consultation takes place. 
 

10.4 Consultation with Cabinet Members 
 

Officers will ensure that appropriate consultation is undertaken with Cabinet Members on 
issues relating to their portfolios. 

 

  

574



 

315 

Councillor Call For Action Protocol 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) was introduced under the Local Government and Public 

Involvement in Health Act 2007. It seeks to strengthen the role of the Ward Councillor, 
encouraging them to resolve local problems on behalf of residents. The legislation allows 
Ward Councillors to place CCfA onto scrutiny agendas for resolution and action. The 
legislation extends the power of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny function in two ways: 

(a) So that any Member of the Council can refer a local government matter to the 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and 

(b) that matters which can be referred include matters which the Council and its 
partners are delivering through the Local Area Agreement and ‘local crime and 
disorder’ matters. 

 
1.2  The CCfA Best Practice guidance released by the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) and the 

Improvement and Development Agency (IDeA) refers to the importance of concentrating on 
outcomes rather than process when dealing with CCfAs. This protocol is therefore a light 
touch approach. 

 
1.3  The protocol outlines what constitutes a CCfA, what should be excluded and the process 

for dealing with a CCfA. The protocol applies to CCfAs related to crime and disorder 
matters as well as local government matters. 

 
2.0 WHAT IS COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION? 
 
2.1  The CCfA is a process for a Councillor to act on behalf of residents to resolve a local issue 

of concern, acting as a last resort for people who cannot get issues resolved through any 
other means; this can include crime and disorder matters. 

 
2.2 Under section 21A of the Local Government Act 2000, a CCfA needed to relate to a ‘local 

government matter’. To give full effect to CCfA, the interpretation of ‘local government 
matter’ was broad. It would include issues relating to the Council’s partners, in line with the 
area focus of Comprehensive Area Assessment, and the fact that an Authority’s duties 
increasingly impact on other organisations and involve partners within and outside the Local 
Strategic Partnership. 

 
2.3 Under CCfA, Ward Councillors are able to refer issues to Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, where it can be shown that: 
(a) the issue is of a genuine and persistent local concern; 
(b) the issue is not subject to ongoing legal processes; and 
(c) other courses of action have failed to resolve the matter. 

 
2.4 The Localism Act 2011 has provided further clarification on the matters or concerns that 

can be referred through the CCfA process. Ward Councillors are no longer restricted to 
referring matters of ‘local government concern’ to Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
3.0 MATTERS WHICH ARE EXCLUDED FROM COUNCILLOR CALL FOR  ACTION 
 
3.1  The following matters have been excluded under section 21A of the Local Government Act 

2000, introduced under section 119 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007: 
(a) any matter relating to a planning decision; 
(b) any matter relating to a licensing decision; 
(c) any matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that individual or entity 

has a right of recourse to a review or right of appeal conferred by or under any 
enactment; 

575



 

316 

(d) any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable to be included in the 
agenda for, or to be discussed at, a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
or at a meeting of a Sub-Committee of that Committee. 

 
4.0 CCFA PROCESS 
 
4.1  In accordance with the national best practice guidance Overview and Scrutiny should be 

the last resort for a CCfA. The expectation will be on the Ward Councillor to have tried to 
resolve an issue using all available mechanisms (including partnership working when 
appropriate) prior to referring the matter to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. When a 
matter is referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee it will be up to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Chair and the Proper Officer whether the matter is progressed and 
taken forward by scrutiny. The process of determination by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Chair with the Proper Officer represents a sifting process to determine if the 
matter is of sufficient weight to be considered as a CCfA, and to determine whether the 
matter is excluded under paragraph 3 above. 

 
4.2 At this stage the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair, together with the Proper Officer, 

will need to decide if the matter relates to a joint service issue. If so, the matter should be 
considered by the Councils’ Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Chair and 
Proper Officer will need to consult with the Worthing Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Chair to determine if the matter should be considered by the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
4.3 The possible reasons for rejecting a CCfA are outlined at paragraph 5.0  below.  
 
5.0 REFERRAL TO SCRUTINY 
 
5.1 The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will then determine with the Proper 

Officer whether to take the CCfA forward. The Proper Officer will inform the Ward Councillor 
whether they will accept the CCfA within 5 working days of the request. If the CCfA is a 
crime and disorder related matter then responsible partners must be notified. 

 
5.2 Reasons an Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair may decide not to take a CCfA 

forward to Overview and Scrutiny Committee (or Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee) 
could include: 
(a) Not enough information has been provided; 
(b) More could be done to resolve the issue at a local level, e.g. key people have not been 

contacted; 
(c) The CCfA is, or has stemmed from, a vexatious discriminatory or unreasonable 

complaint; 
(d) The matter has recently been examined by Overview and Scrutiny (though the Ward 

Councillors may argue that certain aspects were not sufficiently covered hence a need 
for a CCfA); 

(e) The matter is the subject of an Ombudsman complaint or other official  complaints 
procedure; 

(f) The matter falls under any other excluded matters (see paragraph 3 above). 
 
5.3 If a CCfA is rejected for consideration by scrutiny the Ward Councillor will be notified by the 

Proper Officer in writing within 5 working days of lodging the CCfA. Where it is a crime and 
disorder CCfA, all responsible partners must also be notified of the rejection. Ward 
Councillors will have the opportunity to reply to the Chair perhaps with further information to 
substantiate the CCfA. 

 
5.4 If the CCfA is accepted, the relevant Cabinet Members, Officers and/or  partners will be 

notified by the Proper Officer. 
 

576



 

317 

6.0 PROCESS FOR RESOLUTION OF A CCFA 
 
6.1 In an attempt to resolve the CCfA, a Ward Councillor may: 

(a) receive public request for action or issue; 
(b) discuss with other Ward Councillors if a multi-member ward and agree action; 
(c) take steps to resolve the issue through existing mechanisms such as liaising with 

partners, County Councillors or raising with Officers; 
(d) If unresolved and the matter can be taken no further by the Ward Councillor then refer 

to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee by completing ‘the Councillor Call for Action 
Form’ and submit this to the Proper Officer for action. 

 
6.2 Overview and Scrutiny Committee either: 

(a) reject the CCfA and notify the Ward Councillor, who in turn should inform the public; or 
(b) accept the CCfA and arrange to consider the CCfA, notifying partners as appropriate. 

Following which they will determine their response and relay this to the Ward Councillor 
and Partners as appropriate. 

 
7.0 PROCESS FOR DEALING WITH A CCFA AT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
7.1  The Chair and Proper Officer will determine if a special meeting outside the calendar of 

meetings is required and call a meeting, if not then the CCfA will be dealt with at the next 
available meeting of the Committee. 

 
7.2 The Chair in consultation with the Ward Councillor and Proper Officer when considering the 

meeting should give consideration to: 
(a) Witnesses; 
(b) Notifying and Inviting Partners 
(c) Evidence required; 
(d) Key questions; 
(e) Timescales; and 
(f) Aims and objectives for the meeting. 

 
7.3  In a similar fashion to the Call-In process, at the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, or Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as appropriate, Members will be 
expected to reach a decision on whether to: 

(a) take no action;  
(b) refer the matter to the Cabinet/Council/Partner Organisation, with 

recommendations; and/or  
(c) carry out a full scrutiny investigation. 

 
7.4  Any report and recommendations arising from the Committee meeting will be made 

available and sent to all agencies involved with the CCfA within 5 working days of the 
meeting. In the case of a crime and disorder matter, reports and recommendations will be 
sent to the responsible authorities as listed in the Police and Justice Act 2006. 

 
8.0 PROPER OFFICER 
 
8.1 For the purposes of this protocol, the Proper Officer dealing with Councillor Call for Action 

will be the Council’s Corporate Policy Officer (Scrutiny).  

577



 

318 

Pre-Election Period Protocol 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The actions of the Councils, its Members and Officers are subjected to closer scrutiny in a 

pre-election period and many activities which would normally pass without comment, could 
become the subject of controversy. 

 
1.2 This Protocol is intended to assist Officers and Members and covers rules on publicity, use 

of Council facilities, Council meetings, and use of premises during the pre-election period. 
 
1.3 This Protocol aims to extend the principles underlying the conduct of Members and Officers 

and should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Member Code of Conduct, the Officer 
Code of Conduct and the Protocol relating to Relationships within the Council. Also of 
relevance is any guidance note for the Officers and/or Members that is issued by the 
Returning Officer for any particular election. 

 
1.4 The pre-election period, which is sometimes referred to as ‘Purdah’ commences with the 

Notice of Elections and terminates the day after elections are concluded. 
 
2.0 PUBLICITY  
 
2.1 At any time the Councils are prohibited from publishing material which appears to be 

designed to affect public support for a political party. The Government’s Code of 
Recommended Practice on Local Authority Publicity sets out the following key principles in 
relation to Local Authority communications and publicity generally: 

(a) Publicity is defined in section 6 of the Local Government Act 1986 as: ‘Any 
communication, in whatever form, addressed to the public at large or to a section of 
the public’. This definition is very wide and would include press releases, speeches, 
leaflets and newspaper articles issued by, or on behalf of, the Council; posters; 
sponsorships; events; and displays. 

(b) Publicity about individual Members (whether or not they are or may become 
election candidates) should be objective and explanatory and should not be either 
party political or open to misinterpretation as such. 

(c) Publicity may include information about individual Members’ views on issues, 
decisions and recommendations only where this is relevant to their position and 
responsibilities within the Council. If views expressed by, or attributed to, individual 
Councillors do not reflect the views of the Local Authority itself, such publicity 
should make this fact clear. 

 
3.0 PUBLICITY DURING THE PRE-ELECTION PERIOD 

 
3.1 The following additional guidelines apply during the pre-election period: 

(a) During the pre-election period all Council publicity should avoid the pro-active 
publicity of candidates and other politicians involved directly with the elections; 

(b) There is a need to ensure that any publicity is objective, balanced, informative and 
accurate; concentrating on facts, explanations or both; 

(c) Council publicity should, as far as possible, avoid controversial issues or report 
proposals which could be identified with individual Members or Groups. However, 
the Council may respond to any events and enquiries provided the answers are 
factual and not party political; 

(d) Members holding key positions are able to comment on important unplanned 
events or emergencies where a Member-level response is required – ideally this 
should be a Member holding a politically neutral position or alternatively an agreed 
response from all Group Leaders; 

578



 

319 

(e) Events providing photo and publicity opportunities should, where possible, be timed 
to avoid the pre-election period. Where this is not possible, candidates for election 
should not be involved. 

  
3.2 The timing of a publication is an important factor. The nearer the publication to the election, 

the more likely it is to be controversial and be perceived as designed to affect support for a 
particular party. Where possible, therefore, it is advisable to avoid publishing any 
controversial material near the elections. 

 
4.0 CONTENT OF MEMBERS’ PUBLICITY 
 
4.1  The content of any publicity issued by Members who are election candidates is very much a 

matter for each Member and their Political Group. However, there will be circumstances 
when the Council’s Code of Conduct may apply, even to an individual Member’s own 
election publicity, and as such the Code must be borne in mind. As Members of a Local 
Authority, it is also necessary to take into account the general duties of Local Authorities 
under equalities and other legislation.  

 
5.0  IMPACT ON COUNCIL MEETINGS AND ACTIONS DURING THE ELECTION PERIOD 
 
5.1 In Local Government there is a broad convention that matters of political controversy, either 

locally or nationally, should not routinely be brought before Members if at all avoidable 
during a pre-election period. This can impact on, for example, items brought to Committees, 
questions from the public or from Members, petitions, or Motions on Notice at Council.  

 
5.2 In addition to the accepted convention, there are practical reasons for this approach from 

the publicity point of view. Firstly, whereas the agendas and minutes of official Council 
meetings are protected by the Local Government Act 1986 from being ‘publicity’, press 
releases publicising those minutes are not. This presents the Councils with difficulties in 
publicising any sensitive or controversial decisions during the pre-election period, even if in 
other circumstances such publicity would be merited by the level of public interest. 
Secondly, the more restrictive publicity regime during the pre-election period means that 
where an initiative would benefit from a public launch or immediate advertisement or 
consultation, this will rarely be possible during the pre-election period. 

 
5.3  Therefore any working practices or protocols which include publicity and media 

arrangements will need to be interpreted in the light of the restrictions mentioned above.  
 
6.0 CONSULTATION 
 
6.1 Guidance contained in the 2019 Local Government Association Guidance recommends that 

no new public consultations should be launched during the election period, and nor should 
any findings from consultation exercises be reported during this period if they could be 
politically sensitive. 

 
7.0 CODE OF MEMBER CONDUCT 
 
7.1 The Member Code of Conduct applies not only when a Member conducts the business of 

their Authority but also when acting, claiming to act, or giving the impression they are acting 
as a representative of the Authority. In this respect, certain elements of the Code are 
particularly relevant during the pre-election period:  

 
7.2 Disrepute: forbids a Member from conducting themselves in a manner which could 

reasonably be regarded as bringing their Office or Authority into disrepute.  
 
7.3 Unfair advantage: forbids a Member from using their position to confer on or secure for 

themselves or any other person an advantage or disadvantage. 

579



 

320 

 
7.4  Equalities: forbids a Member from conducting themselves in a way that is contrary to duties 

under Equalities legislation. Members should consider the need to treat some issues with 
sensitivity at all time, including in their election publicity and where they may relate to 
minority groups or protected characteristics. 

 
8.0  GENERAL 
 
8.1  The Councils do not and cannot vet Members’ election publicity. Generally, Members would 

need to seek any specific advice in relation to such publicity externally from the Councils, 
e.g. through their Political Group machinery. Also the Monitoring Officer would be happy to 
assist in relation to any queries from Members which relate to the application of the Code of 
Conduct.  

 
9.0  USE OF COUNCIL FACILITIES 
 
9.1 The use of Council facilities during the pre-election period can generate enquiries and 

complaints. The Councils’ Member Code of Conduct provides that a Member must ensure 
that Council resources are not used improperly for political purposes. 

 
9.2. Any services or facilities provided by the Council for Members should be used exclusively 

for the purposes of Council business or to enable the Member concerned to discharge their 
function as a Councillor. This applies to all facilities, including: 

(a) Council stationery (letterheads, envelopes, compliment slips); 
(b) Telephones; 
(c) Transport; 
(d) Photocopiers; 
(e) Officer time; 
(f) IT equipment. 

 
9.3. Subject to paragraph 12 below (use of Council premises during the pre-election period), no 

election candidate or a person associated with a political party is entitled to access Council 
premises. Members and Officers need to take extra care to ensure that election candidates 
or other persons associated with political parties who are not serving Councillors are not 
seen to have unauthorised access to Council offices or facilities. 

 
9.4 In relation to IT equipment, Members should not use IT equipment for party political 

purposes, as mentioned above. For example, Members sending messages to chat rooms 
or forums will need to consider whether to use their Councillor email address or a personal 
address. The former could be appropriate for simply sending information as a Councillor, 
but the latter will be appropriate if engaging in political debate.  

 
9.5.  Council business and party political business are not always mutually exclusive. For 

example, a Political Group within the Councils may use Council facilities (such as meeting 
rooms) to discuss matters coming before the Councils or its Committees. The particular 
circumstances of each event will need to be considered. By way of illustration, the following 
are examples of cases where the use of Council facilities would not be appropriate: - 

(a) The use of the internal/external Council postal service to distribute election 
campaign material; 

(b) Using Council supplied letterheads or compliment slips in sending out election 
material or as part of election campaigning; 

(c) Including election messages, strap-lines or slogans in letters which are otherwise 
being legitimately sent (e.g. for information purposes) on Council supplied 
letterheads to local residents;  

(d) Sending out election material using a Council email address; 
(e) Putting election material on, or canvassing via, the Councillors’ web pages on the 

Councils’ web site; 

580



 

321 

(f) Using Council telephones for canvassing. 
 

10.0  USE OF EMAILS 
 
10.1  A Member’s Council email address should not be used for political purposes, such as 

electioneering.  
 
10.2  It is recognised that a local resident may contact their Ward Member about an election 

issue via that Member’s Council email address. As long as the use of the Council email for 
political purposes was not initiated or promoted by the Member, it would be perfectly 
acceptable to reply to the email although it may be political in nature. Members should not 
however initiate political discussions using Council provided email facilities. If the exchange 
becomes extensive, Members should consider using their own email. 

 
11.0  USE OF TELEPHONE 
 
11.1  In line with the position on emails, Members may use Council supplied telephones for non-

party-political purposes or where the call is not initiated by a Member. 
 
11.2  Council email addresses and telephone numbers are better avoided for any party-political 

literature. If Members wish to refer to the facility for purposes of constituency work, it should 
be made clear that it is for Ward casework only and it is better kept in a discrete part of the 
document, for example in a box at the back saying ‘If you want to contact your Ward 
Councillors about Ward issues, you may contact them on….’. 

 
12.0 USE OF COUNCIL PREMISES DURING THE PRE-ELECTION PERIOD 
 
12.1  Between the Notice of Election being published and the day before the election, a 

candidate in the election is entitled to use Council meeting rooms to hold public meetings 
for furtherance of their candidature. This includes committee rooms and rooms in schools in 
the candidate’s electoral area. The use of these rooms is free of hire charge, though the 
candidate may be required to cover the expenses associated with using the premises e.g. 
electricity, cleaning costs. Further information on these arrangements may be obtained 
from the Electoral Services Office.  

 
13.0 CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 
 
13.1  Members are usually entitled to information not available to the public (exempt or 

confidential information) where that information is required by them to discharge their 
functions as Councillors. This may, for example, be the case if the information relates to an 
item coming before a Committee of which they are a Member. Exempt or confidential 
information cannot be used for electioneering purposes. It is for this reason that Officers, in 
the run up to an election, may seek to clarify the purpose for which a Member is seeking 
information. Members should not seek, nor may Officers provide, exempt or confidential 
information to help election campaigns. 

 
14.0 MEMBER/OFFICER ROLES 
 
14.1 In general terms, the role of Members is to set the strategies, policies and frameworks within 

which the Councils will operate, to monitor performance and to represent those who live in 
their Wards. Officers are employed to advise, undertake the detailed preparation and 
implementation work, and provide the day-to-day running of services. It is particularly worth 
bearing in mind this broad split of functions at election time and, in the interests of good 
administration, the need to avoid roles becoming confused.  

 
15.0 SPECIAL RULES RELATING TO OFFICERS 
 

581



 

322 

15.1  Officers at all levels should not engage in party political activity that compromises their 
neutrality and objectivity at work. Officers who hold politically restricted posts (generally 
Senior Officers and those who advise Members or speak on behalf of the Councils) are 
subject to additional restrictions. 

 
15.2  If an Officer attends a Political Group meeting to brief Members on Council business, 

Members should ensure that the Officer is not present when political business is discussed. 
Attendance at such meetings should normally be limited to Directors, Heads of Service or 
other Senior Officers. 

 
15.3  A central register of all posts which are Politically Restricted is held by the Assistant 

Director People & Change. 
 
16.0 PROTOCOL FOR RELATIONSHIPS WITHIN THE COUNCILS 
 
16.1  Further information and advice on the working relationship between Members and Officers 

is contained in the Protocol for Member/Officer Working Arrangements, which forms part of 
this Constitution. It covers in more detail matters such as roles and responsibilities, political 
activity, contact between Members and Officers, access to information, undue pressure and 
redress for breach of the Protocol. 

 

  

582



 

323 

Recording of Council Meetings Protocol 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 

1.1 This protocol provides guidance on acceptable conduct for audio and visual recording and 
the use of social media tools at public Council meetings. 

1.2 Adur and Worthing Councils support the principle of transparency in the decision-making 
process and therefore will allow, subject to the control of the person presiding at the 
relevant meeting, the recording of the public section of Full Council, committee and sub-
committee meetings by members of the press and public. 

1.3 The Councils audio record Full Council, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings and 
retain a copy of the recording along with the written minutes of the meeting. More detail on 
this procedure can be found within the Council Procedure Rules at Part 4 of the 
Constitution. 

2.0 WHAT IS ‘REPORTING’? 

2.1 Reporting means: 

(a) Filming, photographing or making an audio recording; 
(b) Using social media, such as Twitter, Facebook, blogging or similar; 
(c) Using any other means for enabling a person not present to see or hear proceedings at 

a meeting, as it takes place or later. 

3.0 WHEN IS REPORTING PERMITTED? 

3.1 Subject to the following rules, the public and press are permitted to record in any meetings 
of the Council that are held in public, except where the public have been excluded as 
permitted by law. 

3.2 Where meetings are held in private, due to confidential or exempt information being 
included, no recording by the press or public is permitted. 

3.3 No recording equipment may be left in the meeting room during any part of a meeting which 
is conducted in private. 

4.0 RULES ON REPORTING 
 

4.1 Anyone wishing to undertake recording should notify Democratic Services, by email at 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk or by telephone on 01903 239999, 24 hours 
prior to the commencement of the meeting and comply with any requests made by the 
Person Presiding. 

4.2 All recording must take place from a fixed position in the meeting room (i.e. public gallery) 
approved by the Person Presiding. 

4.3 Recording should be directed at Members of the Council. Members of the public seated in 
the public gallery should not be recorded, unless they have expressly given consent, to the 
Chair of the meeting. This also applies to a member of the public asking a question, 
presenting a petition or making a representation. 

4.4 No recording of anyone under the age of 18 is permitted. 

4.5 If a member of the public is concerned about being recorded at a Council meeting, please 
inform the Democratic Services Officer present at the meeting. No image or recording of a 

583

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


 

324 

member of the public should be made unless the member of the public has expressly given 
their consent to the Chair of that meeting. 

4.6 The Democratic Services Team will ensure signs are prominently displayed at meetings to 
remind attendees that recording may be undertaken and that the Council has no control 
over where a recording might appear (for example posted on the internet). meeting 
agendas will also carry this message and at the commencement of a meeting, the Person 
Presiding will announce if any requests to record have been made by the public. 

4.7 Persons recording meetings are not permitted to carry out an oral commentary or report 
whilst the meeting is in session. 

4.8 The use of flash or additional lighting in connection with recording at meetings will not be 
permitted without the prior notification and agreement of the Person Presiding. 

4.9 Where any part of a meeting is held in private, no recording by the press or public will be 
permitted. All recording equipment must be removed from the meeting room during the 
exclusion. 

4.10 Where the Person Presiding considers any recording is disrupting the meeting, the operator 
of the equipment will be required to stop and may be asked to leave the meeting room, 
removing their equipment at the same time. 

4.11 Anyone who has been asked to leave a meeting because they have refused to comply with 
the Person Presiding’s request with regard to recording may be prohibited from recording at 
future meetings. 

4.12 Members of the public and press must ensure the recording will not be edited in a way that 
could lead to misinterpretation of the proceedings of a meeting. This includes refraining 
from editing the views being expressed in a way that may ridicule or show a lack of respect 
towards those being filmed/recorded. 

4.13 Persons recording meetings are advised that the law of the land still applies when 
publishing recordings, for example the law of defamation and the law on public order 
offences. Freedom of speech within the law should also be exercised with personal and 
social responsibility, showing respect and tolerance towards the views of others. Anyone 
recording any meeting of the Council, or part of it, must comply with their statutory 
obligations relating to the recording, use and retention of any personal data they may 
capture. 

4.14 Recognised media organisations and educational institutions may be given greater 
flexibility to record meetings for the purposes of news bulletins, programmes and education. 
These requests must be directed through the Democratic Services Manager and approved 
by the Mayor or Chair of the relevant Council in the case of meetings of the Full Council, or 
the Person Presiding in the case of Committees and Sub-Committees. 

4.15 Any decision taken by the Person Presiding on the interpretation of this protocol is final. 

 

  

584



 

325 

Petition Scheme 
 
1.0 PETITIONS 
 
1.1 The Council welcomes petitions and recognises that they are a way in which the public can 

let the Council know about their concerns. Petitions can be submitted in paper or electronic 
form and a petition can be received by the Council by post, electronically or be hand 
delivered. All petitions must be sent to the Monitoring Officer by email at 
monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk. 

 
2.0 CONTENT 
 
2.1 Petitions submitted to the Council must: 

(a) include a clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition stating what 
action the petitioners wish the Council to take; 

(b) be accompanied by the name, address and contact details of the Petition Organiser; 
and 

(c) contain a minimum of 50 names, postal addresses (property name/number and post 
code) and signatures (other than when in electronic form) of people who live, work or 
study in the District of Adur and who support the petition. 

 
3.0 PETITION ORGANISER 
 
3.1 The Petition Organiser is the person the Council will contact to explain how it will respond to 

the petition. The contact details of the Petition Organiser will not be placed on the Council’s 
website.  

 
3.2 Elected Members are not permitted to sign public petitions made to the Council. 
 
4.0 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
4.1 An acknowledgement will be sent to the Petition Organiser, by the Monitoring Officer, within 

five working days of receiving the petition. The acknowledgement will advise the Petition 
Organiser if their petition has been rejected by the Monitoring Officer on any of the grounds 
below, or accepted. 

 
5.0 REJECTION BY THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 
5.1 A petition may be rejected by the Monitoring Officer should they consider that the petition: 

(a) contains intemperate, inflammatory, abusive or provocative language, is defamatory, 
frivolous, vexatious, discriminatory or otherwise offensive or contains false statements; 

(b) is similar to another petition submitted to the Council within the previous six months; 
(c) discloses confidential or exempt information, including information protected by a court 

order; 
(d) discloses material which is commercially sensitive; 
(e) contains names of individuals as the target of the petition, or provides information where 

the individual could be easily identified; 
(f) contains advertising statements; 
(g) refers to an issue which is currently the subject of a formal Council complaint, Local 

Government Ombudsman complaint or legal proceedings; 
(h) relates to the Council’s Planning or Licensing functions (as there are separate 

processes in place to deal with those matters); 
(i) relates to a response to the Council as part of a formal consultation process; 
(j) relates to a matter where there is already an existing right of appeal, such as Council 

Tax Banding and non-domestic rates, (as there are separate processes in place to deal 
with those matters); 

585

mailto:monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk


 

326 

(k) relates to a statutory petition, for example if at least 5% of Local Government electors in 
the District petition the Council to hold a referendum on whether it should change to a 
different form of governance (as there are separate processes to deal with those 
matters);  

(l) does not relate to an issue upon which the Council has powers or duties or on which it 
has shared delivery responsibilities. However, if the petition is about something over 
which the Council has no direct control, the Monitoring Officer will give consideration to 
the best method for responding to it. For example, the Council may make 
representations on behalf of the community to the relevant body or forward the petition 
to the relevant body. In any event the Council will always notify the Petition Organiser of 
the action it has taken; 

(m) has already been the subject of debate by Full Council within the previous six months; 
(n) is received during politically sensitive times, such as prior to an election or referendum, 

and the petition contains politically controversial material. In that situation the Monitoring 
Officer may need to agree a revised timescale for the acceptance of the petition; 

(o) relates specifically to the annual budget resolution, which is governed by the Council’s 
Budget Procedure Rules; 

(p) it contains less than 50 names, addresses and signatures of individuals who live, work 
or study in the District. 

 
6.0 ACCEPTED PETITIONS: THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSE  
 
6.1 If the Monitoring Officer has accepted the petition, the Petition Organiser will be advised 

what the Monitoring Officer plans to do with the petition and when they can expect to hear 
from the Council.  
 

6.2 The petition (but not the Petition Organiser’s details) and the details of what the Council will 
do will also be published on the Council’s website. 

 
 Non-qualifying petitions  
 
6.3 Non-qualifying petitions are defined in this scheme as petitions with 50 or more signatories 

but less than 1,000, and those petitions shall be referred to the relevant decision-maker, by 
the Monitoring Officer. 

 
6.4 Where the decision-maker is the Cabinet, a Committee or Joint Committee, then the 

Petition Organiser shall be advised as to when and where the petition is to be considered 
and shall be allowed to attend, remotely if the meeting is held with attendance via remote 
access, and speak for up to five minutes in support of the petition. Following which the 
Members shall discuss the petition and decide how to respond to it. Once a decision is 
made, the decision-maker will notify the Petition Organiser in writing of the response with 
reasons for the decision within five working days. 

 
6.5 Where the decision-maker is an individual Cabinet Member or an Officer they shall meet 

with the Petition Organiser, remotely or otherwise, to discuss the contents of the petition. 
Following which they shall determine how to respond to it. Once a decision is made, the 
decision-maker will notify the Petition Organiser in writing of the response with reasons for 
the decision within five working days. 

 
 Qualifying Petitions 
 
6.6 Qualifying petitions are defined in this scheme as petitions containing 1,000 or more 

names, postal addresses and signatures (other than when in electronic form) of people who 
live, work or study in the District of Adur and support the petition. 

 

586



 

327 

6.7 On receipt of a qualifying petition, where time permits, the petition will be debated by the 
Full Council, at their next Ordinary meeting, provided that the petition is received by the 
Monitoring Officer 15 clear working days prior to that meeting, or otherwise at the next 
available Ordinary Council meeting. The Petition Organiser will be given five minutes to 
read the petition at the meeting and make any representations and the petition will then be 
discussed by Councillors in accordance with the Council’s Standing Orders as contained in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. Following the debate by Councillors, the Petition Organiser will 
be given a further opportunity to address the Council and shall have a maximum of three 
minutes to make a closing statement. The Council will decide, by way of a motion being 
proposed, seconded and voted upon, how to respond to the petition at this meeting.  

 
6.8 If the petition relates to action currently being progressed by the Council and the petition 

will trigger a debate at Full Council, as it is accepted by the Monitoring Officer and is a 
qualifying petition, then the action will be suspended pending the debate, unless in relation 
to statutory, contractual or other legal situations where a suspension would, in the view of 
the Monitoring Officer, prejudice the Council’s position. 

 
6.9 Where a petition is accepted by the Monitoring Officer and is a qualifying petition but time 

does not permit a debate at Full Council, for example because an action that is the subject 
of the petition will occur prior to the next meeting of the Full Council, the petition will be 
referred by the Monitoring Officer to the appropriate decision-maker, Cabinet or relevant 
Committee or Joint Committee. Once a decision is made, the decision-maker will notify the 
Petition Organiser in writing of the response with reasons for the decision within five 
working days. 

 
 The Council’s Response to a Petition 
 
6.10 The Council’s response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how many 

people have signed it, but may include one or more of the following: 
(a) taking the action requested; 
(b) receiving and considering the petition at the next Ordinary Council meeting; 
(c) holding an enquiry into the matter; 
(d) undertaking research into the matter; 
(e) holding a public meeting; 
(f) holding a consultation; 
(g) holding a meeting with the petitioners; 
(h) referring the petition for consideration by the Overview & Scrutiny or Joint Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee; 
(i) referring the petition to the Cabinet or another Committee if the substantive content of 

the petition falls within the remit of that Committee; 
(j) writing to the Petition Organiser setting out the Council’s views about the request in the 

petition; 
(k) deciding not to agree to do what is asked in the petition. 

 
7.0 PUBLICATION AND RETENTION 
 
7.1 All decisions relating to petitions will be published on the Council’s website. 
 
7.2 Petitions will not be retained by the Council for longer than 6 years in compliance with 

General Data Protection Regulations. 
 
  

587



 

328 

Planning Committee: Site Visit Protocol 
 
1.0 Site visits by the Planning Committee shall be held only where the benefit is clear and 

substantial, having regard to: policy and material considerations; where the impact of the 
proposed development is difficult to visualise from the plans, photographs and information 
provided; where the comments of the applicant and objectors cannot be expressed 
adequately in writing; or where the proposal is particularly contentious.  

 
2.0 The purpose of the site visit is to observe the site and gain a better understanding. The 

Committee shall visit the site with Officer assistance. The decision to hold a site visit will be 
taken by the Chair of the relevant Panning Committee in consultation with Officers, 
Planning Committee Members and Ward Councillors and a record of the reason for the visit 
shall be kept. 
 

3.0 Where a site visit is carried out following a request from a Ward Councillor, it may also be 
appropriate to invite the relevant Member to attend the site visit to hear the same 
explanation of the proposal/application as the Committee. The site owner, (whether the 
applicant, objector or third party) will also be present, solely to provide access to the site. 

 
4.0 The Ward Councillor, landowner, applicant and objector (if in attendance) may not make 

any representations to the Committee about the application, but may point out relevant 
features on the ground.  

 
5.0 The Committee should direct all questions to the Officer. Only where the Officer does not 

have the answer immediately available, may the applicant or objector answer a technical or 
factual question relevant to the application.  

 
6.0 At no point during a site visit should the applicant, objector or Ward Councillor be allowed to 

make representations to the whole Committee or to individual Committee Members in 
conversation. All representations should be made at the Planning Committee meeting in 
accordance with the procedure for public speaking on planning applications.  

 
7.0 The needs of all participants will be considered and reasonable measures taken to facilitate 

access to the site visit. A representative may attend where reasonable adjustments cannot 
be made. 

 
8.0 Individual Committee Members are only entitled to view the site from public vantage points 

if visiting the site alone, as they have no individual rights to enter private property.  

  

588



 

329 

Public Speaking at Planning Committee Protocol 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION  
 
Public speaking to object to or support planning applications at Planning Committee is an 
established part of the Council’s procedure.  
 
2.0 AGENDA ITEM  
 
A Planning Officer will introduce the planning application and display any plans as well as bringing 
any new matters that have arisen since the agenda was prepared. Members may ask questions of 
the Planning Officer.  
 
3.0 PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 
3.1 Public speaking at Planning Committee meetings shall be allowed in respect of planning 

applications, including Conservation Area, Listed Building, Tree Preservation Order 
confirmation and Advertisement Consent Applications.  

 
3.2 Questions, statements and comments made by the public to the Planning Committee must 

be relevant to planning issues.  
 
3.2.1 Examples of relevant planning issues include: 

(a) external design, appearance and layout of the development,  
(b) impact on trees and nature conservation or overshadowing and privacy,  
(c) Highway safety,  
(d) Planning Policy and Government Guidance.  

 
3.2.2 Examples of non-relevant planning issues may include: 

(a) boundary disputes or other property rights,  
(b) loss of property value or loss of a view,  
(c) matters covered by other legislation,  
(d) the applicants’ motives, character or reputation.  

 
3.3 Relevant representations will be accepted from objectors, parish councillors, Ward 

Councillors, and the Applicant or their representative and supporters.  
 
3.4 Advance notice of the intention to make representations must be provided to Democratic 

Services Officers, by email at democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk, by noon on the 
working day prior to the date of the meeting. If a decision on the application is deferred to a 
future meeting, the individual having given appropriate notice, will be able to speak when 
the application is considered by the Committee again, without the need to give further 
notice of their intention to speak. If more than the maximum number of speakers give notice 
of their intention to make representations, those permitted will be taken in order in which 
their notice was received.  

 
The order, and time allowed, for speaking at Planning Committee meetings will be as 
follows: 

 
  Total time allowed 

Objectors Limited to a maximum of three speakers  Limited to 3 minutes per speaker  

Parish Councillor A maximum of one Parish Councillor 
from the relevant Parish Council 

Limited to 3 minutes 

Ward Councillors Subject to a maximum of one Councillor 
speaking in support of the application 
and a maximum of one Councillor 

5 minutes each 

589



 

330 

speaking against the application, limited 
to:  

 Up to two Ward Councillors or  

 With the agreement of the Chair, and 
subject to a maximum of one Ward 
Councillor wishing to speak, one Ward 
Councillor and an adjacent Ward 
Councillor, or  

 With the agreement of the Chair and 
subject to no Ward Councillors wishing 
to speak, a maximum of two Councillors. 

Applicant or 
representative 
and Supporters 

Limited to a maximum of three speakers Limited to 3 minutes per speaker 

 
3.5 There is no right for anyone to speak at a Planning Committee meeting otherwise than in 

accordance with the above table. An individual may not speak a second time at a Planning 
Committee meeting on the same application. 

 
3.6 Speakers may address the Planning Committee Chair, but are not permitted to ask 

questions of other speakers, Officers or Members. Members and Officers can question 
speakers for clarification purposes only.  
 

4.0 DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION  
 
4.1 Following public speaking, Members of the Planning Committee will debate the planning 

application, involving professional Officers as necessary and appropriate. The debate 
should be governed by the Rules of Debate within the Council’s Procedure Rules.  

 
4.2 Members of the Planning Committee may receive legal and other professional advice as 

required during the Committee meeting.  
 
5.0 MISCELLANEOUS  
 
5.1 The Chair has the discretion to waive any of the requirements of this Protocol if satisfied on 

legal and professional advice that it is fair, reasonable and appropriate to do so in the 
circumstances.  

 
5.2 This Protocol is formally adopted by the Council as part of its Constitution. It is to be 

reviewed at least once every 3 years. 
  

590



 

331 

Probity in Planning 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Planning has a positive and proactive role to play at the heart of Local Government. It helps 

the Councils to stimulate growth whilst looking after important environmental areas. It can 
help to translate goals into action. It balances social, economic and environmental needs to 
achieve sustainable development. 
 

1.2 The planning system works best when Officers and Members involved in planning 
understand their roles and responsibilities, and the context and constraints in which they 
operate. 
 

1.3 Planning decisions involve balancing many competing interests. In doing this, decision-
makers need an ethos of decision-making in the wider public interest on what can be 
controversial proposals. 
 

1.4 It is recommended that Members should receive regular training on Code of Conduct 
issues, interests and predetermination, as well as on planning matters. 

 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Early Member engagement is encouraged to ensure that proposals for sustainable 

development can be harnessed to produce the settlements that communities need. This 
Protocol is intended to reinforce Members’ community engagement roles, whilst maintaining 
good standards of probity that minimise the risk of legal challenge. 
 

2.2 Planning decisions are based on balancing competing interests and making an informed 
judgement against a local and national Policy Framework. Decisions can be controversial. 
The risk of controversy and conflict are heightened by the openness of a system which 
invites public opinion before taking decisions and the legal nature of the Local Plan and 
decision notices. Nevertheless, it is important that the decision-making process is open and 
transparent. 
 

2.3 One of the key aims of the planning system is to balance private interests in the 
development of land against the wider public interest. In performing this role, planning 
necessarily affects land and property interests, particularly the financial value of 
landholdings and the quality of their settings. Opposing views are often strongly held by 
those involved. 
 

2.4 Whilst Members must take account of these views, they should not favour any person, 
company, group or locality, nor put themselves in a position where they may appear to be 
doing so. It is important, therefore, that planning authorities make planning decisions 
affecting these interests openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable 
reasons. 
 

2.5 The process should leave no grounds for suggesting that those participating in the decision 
were biased or that the decision itself was unlawful, irrational or procedurally improper.  
 

2.6 This guidance is not intended to be prescriptive. Local circumstances may provide reasons 
for local variations of policy and practice. Every Council should regularly review the way in 
which it conducts its planning business. 
 

2.7 This Protocol, which is based on the Local Government Association Probity in Planning 
Guidance, refers mainly to the actions of a Local Authority Planning Committee as the 
principal decision-making forum. However, the Council’s governance and decision-making 
arrangements must be complied with and there are circumstances set out elsewhere in this 

591



 

332 

Constitution which provide for, in some circumstances, Officer delegations and Full Council 
decision-making. 
 

2.8 The Protocol applies equally to these alternative forms of decision-making.  
 

3.0 THE GENERAL ROLE AND CONDUCT OF MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 
 
3.1 Members and Officers have different but complimentary roles. Both serve the public but 

Members are responsible to the Electorate, whilst Officers are responsible to the Council as 
a whole. Officers advise Members and the Council and carry out the Council’s work. They 
are employed by the Council, not by individual Members. A successful relationship between 
Members and Officers will be based upon mutual trust, understanding and respect of each 
other’s positions. 
 

3.2 Both Members and Officers are guided by Codes of Conduct. The Localism Act 2011 sets 
out a duty for each Local Authority to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by 
Members and to adopt a Local Code of Conduct. The Codes of Conduct adopted by 
Worthing Borough Council and Adur District Council are consistent with the principles of 
selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 
 

3.3 The Codes of Conduct embrace the standards central to the preservation of an ethical 
approach to Council business, including the need to register and disclose interests, as well 
as appropriate relationships with other Members, Officers, and the public. Many Local 
Authorities have adopted their own, separate Codes relating specifically to planning, 
although Worthing Borough Council and Adur District Council have agreed to adopt the 
LGA Probity in Planning Guidance, which is summarised in this Protocol. This Protocol 
should always be cross-referenced with the Council’s substantive Code of Conduct. 
 

3.4 Officers and Members must not act as agents for people pursuing planning matters within 
either Adur District or Worthing Borough Councils, even if they are not involved in the 
decision-making on it.  
 

3.5 The determination of a Planning Application is a formal administrative process involving the 
application of national and local policies, reference to legislation and case law as well as 
rules of procedure, rights of appeal and an expectation that people will act reasonably and 
fairly. All involved should remember the possibility that an aggrieved party may seek a 
Judicial Review and/or complain to the Ombudsman on grounds of maladministration or a 
breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

4.0 REGISTRATION AND DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 
 
4.1 The Localism Act 2011 places requirements on Members regarding the registration and 

disclosure of their pecuniary interests and the consequences for a Member taking part in 
consideration of an issue in the light of those interests. The definitions of disclosable 
pecuniary interests are set out in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 
Regulations 2012. A failure to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of 
election or co-option or the provision of false or misleading information on registration, or 
participation in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which a Member or Co-
opted Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest, are criminal offences. 
 

4.2 Advice should always be sought from the Council’s Monitoring Officer in respect of 
disclosable pecuniary interests. Ultimately, however, responsibility for fulfilling the 
requirements rests with each Member. 
 

4.3 The provisions of the Act seek to separate interests arising from the personal and private 
interests of a Member from those arising from the Member’s wider public life. Members 
should think about how a reasonable member of the public, with full knowledge of all the 

592



 

333 

relevant facts, would view the matter when considering whether the Member’s involvement 
would be appropriate. 
 

4.4 For information as to what interests need to be disclosed, reference should be made to the 
Council’s Member Code of Conduct. All disclosable interests should be registered under 
Register maintained by the Council’s Monitoring Officer and made available to the public. 
Members should also disclose that interest orally at the Committee meeting when it relates 
to an item under discussion.  
 

4.5 A Member must provide the Monitoring Officer with written details of relevant interests 
within 28 days of their election or appointment to office. Any changes to those interests 
must similarly be notified within 28 days of the Member becoming aware of such changes.  
 

4.6 A disclosable pecuniary interest relating to an item under discussion requires the 
withdrawal of the Member from the Committee. In certain circumstances, a dispensation 
can be sought from the appropriate body or Officer to take part in that particular item of 
business, but further advice should be sought from the Council’s Monitoring Officer. 
 

4.7 If a Member has a (non-pecuniary) personal interest, they should disclose that interest, but 
then may speak and vote on that particular item. This includes being a member of an 
outside body; mere membership of another body does not constitute an interest requiring 
such a prohibition. 
 

4.8 It is always best to identify a potential interest early on. If a Member thinks that they may 
have an interest in a particular matter to be discussed at Planning Committee, they should 
raise this with the Council’s Monitoring Officer as soon as possible. 
 

5.0 PREDISPOSITION, PREDETERMINATION OR BIAS 
 

5.1 Members of the Planning Committee (or Full Council when the Local Plan is being 
considered) need to avoid any appearance of bias or of having predetermined their views 
before taking a decision on a planning application or on planning policies. The Courts have 
sought to distinguish between situations which involve predetermination or bias on the one 
hand and predisposition on the other. The former is indicative of a ‘closed mind’ approach 
and likely to leave the Committee’s decision susceptible to challenge by Judicial Review. 
 

5.2 Clearly expressing an intention to vote in a particular way before a meeting 
(predetermination) is different from where a Member makes it clear they are willing to listen 
to all the considerations presented at the Committee before deciding on how to vote 
(predisposition). The latter is acceptable; the former is not and may result in a Court 
quashing such planning decisions. 
 

5.3 Section 25 Localism Act 2011 also provides that a Member should not be regarded as 
having a closed mind simply because they previously did or said something that, directly or 
indirectly, indicated what view they might take in relation to a particular matter.  
 

5.4 This reflects the common law position that a Member may be predisposed on a matter 
before it comes to Committee, provided they remain open to listening to all the arguments 
and changing their minds in light of all the information presented at the meeting. 
Nevertheless, a Member in this position will always be judged against an objective test of 
whether the reasonable onlooker, with knowledge of the relevant facts, would consider that 
the Member was biased. 
 

5.5 If a Member has predetermined their position, they should withdraw from being a Member 
of the decision-making body for that matter. This would apply to any Member of the 
Planning Committee who wanted to speak for or against a proposal as a campaigner.  
 

593



 

334 

5.6 The Councils have a Cabinet Member responsible within their portfolio for development and 
planning. This Member is able to be a Member of the Planning Committee. Leading 
Members of a Local Authority who have participated in the development of planning policies 
and proposals, need not and should not, on that ground and in the interests of the good 
conduct of the business, normally exclude themselves from decision-making Committees. 
 

6.0 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS SUBMITTED BY MEMBERS AND OFFICERS AND 
COUNCIL DEVELOPMENT 

 
6.1 Proposals submitted by serving and former Members, Officers and their close associates 

and relatives can easily give rise to suspicions of impropriety. Proposals could be planning 
applications or Local Plan proposals. 
 

6.2 Such proposals must be handled in a way that gives no grounds for accusations of 
favouritism. Any local planning protocol or code of good practice should address the 
following points in relation to proposals submitted by Members and Planning Officers: 

(a) If they submit their own proposal to the Authority they should play no part in its 
consideration; 

(b) A system should be devised to identify and manage such proposals; 
(c) The Council’s Monitoring Officer should be informed of such proposals; 
(d) Such proposals should be reported to the Planning Committee and not dealt with by 

Officers under delegated powers. 
 

6.3 A Member would undoubtedly have a disclosable pecuniary interest in their own application 
and should not participate in its consideration. They do have the same rights as any 
applicant in seeking to explain their proposal to an Officer, but the Member, as applicant, 
should also not seek to improperly influence the decision. 
 

6.4 Proposals for a Council’s own development should be treated with the same transparency 
and impartiality as those of private developers. 
 

7.0 LOBBYING OF AND BY MEMBERS 
 
7.1 Lobbying is a normal part of the planning process. Those who may be affected by a 

planning decision, whether through an application, a site allocation in a local development 
plan, or an emerging policy, will often seek to influence it through an approach to their Ward 
Member or to a Member of the Planning Committee.  
 

7.2 Lobbying, however, can lead to the impartiality and integrity of a Member being called into 
question, unless care and common sense is exercised by all the parties involved. 
 

7.3 Whilst the common law permits predisposition, it remains good practice that when being 
lobbied, Members (and particularly Members of the Planning Committee) should try to take 
care about expressing an opinion that may be taken as indicating that they have already 
made up their mind on the issue before they have been exposed to all the evidence and 
arguments. In such situations, they could restrict themselves to giving advice about the 
process and what can and can’t be taken into account. 
 

7.4 Members can raise issues which have been raised by their constituents, with Officers. If 
Members do express an opinion to objectors or supporters, it is good practice that they 
make it clear that they will only be in a position to take a final decision after having heard all 
the relevant arguments and taken into account all relevant material and planning 
considerations at Committee. 
 

7.5 If any Member, whether or not a Planning Committee Member, speaks on behalf of a lobby 
group at the decision-making Committee, they would be well advised to withdraw once any 
public or Board Member speaking opportunities had been completed, in order to counter 

594



 

335 

any suggestion that Members of the Committee may have been influenced by their 
continuing presence. 
 

7.6 It is sometimes difficult to get the balance right between the duty to be an active local 
representative and the requirement when taking decisions on planning matters to take 
account of all arguments in an open-minded way. However, it cannot be stressed too 
strongly, that the striking of this balance is, ultimately, the responsibility of the individual 
Member. Further specific issues relating to lobbying are as follows: 
(a) Planning decisions cannot be made on a party political basis in response to lobbying; 

the use of political whips to seek to influence the outcome of a planning application is 
likely to be regarded as maladministration. 

(b) Planning Committee or Local Plan Steering Group Members should in general avoid 
organising support for or against planning application and avoid lobbying other 
Members. Members should not put pressure on Officers for a particular 
recommendation or decision, and should not do anything which compromises, or is 
likely to compromise, the Officers’ impartiality or professional integrity. 

(c) Call-in procedures, whereby Members can require a proposal that would normally be 
determined under the delegated authority to be called in for determination by the 
Planning Committee, should require the reasons for Call-In to be recorded in writing and 
to refer solely to matters of material planning concern. 

 
7.7 As previously outlined, Members must always be mindful of their responsibilities and duties 

under their local Codes of Conduct. These responsibilities and duties apply equally to 
matters of lobbying as they do to the other issues of probity explored elsewhere in this 
Protocol. 

 
8.0 PRE-APPLICATION DISCUSSIONS 
 
8.1 Pre-application discussions between a potential applicant and a Member can benefit both 

parties and are encouraged. However, it would be easy for such discussions to become, or 
be seen by objectors to become, part of a lobbying process on the part of the applicant. 
 

8.2 The Localism Act has given Members much more freedom to engage in pre-application 
discussions. Nevertheless, in order to avoid perceptions that Members might have fettered 
their discretion, such discussions should take place within clear, published guidelines. 
 

8.3 The following guidelines should be adhered to: 
(a) Clarity at the outset that the discussions will not bind a Council to making a particular 

decision and that any views expressed are personal and provisional. By the very nature 
of such meetings not all relevant information may be at hand, nor will formal 
consultations with interested parties have taken place.  

(b) An acknowledgement that consistent advice should be given by Officers based upon 
the Local Plan and material planning considerations. 

(c) Officers should be present with Members in pre-application meetings. Members should 
avoid giving separate advice on the Local Plan or material considerations as they may 
not be aware of all the issues at an early stage. Neither should they become drawn into 
any negotiations, which should be done by Officers (keeping interested Members up to 
date) to ensure that the Authority’s position is coordinated. 

(d) Confirmation that a written note should be made of all meetings. An Officer should 
make the arrangements for such meetings, attend and write notes. A note should also 
be taken of any phone conversations, and relevant emails recorded for the file. Notes 
should record issues raised and advice given. The note should be placed on the file as 
a public record. If there is a legitimate reason for confidentiality regarding a proposal, a 
note of the non-confidential issues raised or advice given can still normally be placed on 
the file to reassure others not party to the discussion. 

(e) A commitment that care will be taken to ensure that advice is impartial, otherwise the 
subsequent report or recommendation to Committee could appear to be advocacy. 

595



 

336 

(f) The scale of proposals to which these guidelines would apply. Members talk regularly to 
constituents to gauge their views on matters of local concern.  

 
9.0 OFFICER REPORTS TO COMMITTEE 
 
9.1 As a result of decisions made by the Courts and Ombudsman, Officer reports on planning 

applications must have regard to the following: 
(a) Reports should be accurate and should include the substance of any objections and 

other responses received to the consultation. 
(b) Relevant information should include a clear assessment against the relevant local 

development plan policies, relevant parts of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
any local finance considerations, and any other material planning considerations. 

(c) Reports should have a written recommendation for a decision to be made. 
(d) Reports should contain technical appraisals which clearly justify the recommendation. 
(e) If the report’s recommendation is contrary to the provisions of the Local Plan, the 

material considerations which justify the departure must be clearly stated. Failure to do 
so may constitute maladministration or give rise to a Judicial Review challenge on the 
grounds that the decision was not taken in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Plan and the Council’s statutory duty under Section 38A of the Planning and 
Compensation Act 2004 and Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

(f) Any oral updates or changes to the report should be recorded. 
 

10.0 PUBLIC SPEAKING AT PLANNING COMMITTEES 
 
10.1 Reference is made to the Protocol on Public Speaking at the Planning Committee, to be 

found within Part 5 of the Constitution. 
 

11.0 DECISIONS WHICH DIFFER FROM A RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1 The law requires that decisions should be taken in accordance with the Local Plan, unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. This applies to all planning decisions. Any 
reasons for refusal must be justified against the Local Plan and other material 
considerations. 
 

11.2 The Courts have expressed the view that the Committee’s reasons should be clear and 
convincing. The personal circumstances of an applicant or any other material or non-
material planning considerations which might cause local controversy will rarely satisfy the 
relevant tests. 
 

11.3 Planning Committees can, and often do, make a decision which is different from the Officer 
recommendation. Sometimes this will relate to conditions or terms of a Section 106 
obligation. Sometimes it will change the outcome, from an approval to a refusal or vice 
versa. This will usually reflect a difference in the assessment of how a policy has been 
complied with, or different weight ascribed to material considerations. 
 

11.4 Planning Committees are advised to take the following steps before making a decision 
which differs from the Officer recommendation: 
(a) Firstly, if a Member is concerned about an Officer recommendation, they should discuss 

their area of difference and the reasons for that with Officers in advance of the 
Committee meeting; 

(b) Recording the detailed reasons as part of the mover’s motion; 
(c) Adjourning for a few minutes for those reasons to be discussed and then agreed by the 

Committee; 
(d) Where there is concern about the validity of reasons, considering deferring to another 

meeting to have the putative reasons tested and discussed. 
 

596



 

337 

11.5 If the Planning Committee makes a decision contrary to the Officers’ recommendation, a 
detailed minute of the Committee’s reasons should be made and a copy placed on the 
application file. Members should be prepared to explain in full their planning reasons for not 
agreeing with the Officers’ recommendation. 
 

11.6 The Officer should also be given an opportunity to explain the implications of the contrary 
decision, including an assessment of a likely appeal outcome, and chances of a successful 
award of costs against the Council, should one be made. 
 

11.7 All applications that are clearly contrary to the Local Plan must be advertised as such and 
are known as ‘departure’ applications. If it is intended to approve such an application, the 
material considerations leading to this conclusion must be clearly identified, and how these 
considerations justify overriding the Local Plan must be clearly demonstrated. 
 

11.8 The application may then have to be referred to the relevant Secretary of State, depending 
upon the type and scale of the development proposed. If the Officers’ report recommends 
approval of such a departure, the justification for this should be included, in full, in that 
report. 

 
12.0 ANNUAL REVIEW OF DECISIONS 
 
12.1 It is good practice for Members to visit a sample of implemented planning permissions to 

assess the quality of the decisions and the development. This should improve the quality 
and consistency of decision-making, strengthen public confidence in the planning system, 
and can help with reviews of planning policy. 
 

12.2 Reviews should include visits to a range of developments such as major and minor 
schemes, upheld appeals, listed building works and enforcement cases. Briefing notes 
should be prepared on each case. The Planning Committee should formally consider the 
review and decide whether it gives rise to the need to reconsider any policies or practices. 
 

13.0 COMPLAINTS AND RECORD KEEPING 
 
13.1 So that complaints may be fully investigated and as general good practice, record keeping 

should be complete and accurate. Every planning application file should contain an 
accurate account of events throughout its life. It should be possible for someone not 
involved in that application to understand what the decision was, and why and how it had 
been reached. This applies to decisions taken by Committee and under delegated powers, 
and to applications, enforcement and local development plan matters. 

 
14.0 TRAINING 
 
14.1 Councillors should not participate in decision making at meetings dealing with planning 

matters if they have not attended the mandatory planning training prescribed by the 
Council. 

 
14.2 Members of Planning Committee should endeavour to attend any other specialised training 

sessions provided, since these will be designed to extend their knowledge of planning law, 
regulations, procedures, Codes of Practice and the Development Plans beyond the 
minimum referred to above and thus assist them in carrying out their role properly and 
effectively. 

 
14.3 Members of Planning Committee should participate in a periodic review of a sample of 

planning decisions to ensure that their judgments are based on proper planning 
considerations. The review should include examples from a broad range of categories, such 
as:  
(a) major and minor development proposals  

597



 

338 

(b) permitted departures from the Development Plan  
(c) significant allowed appeals 
(d) major listed building works 
(e) associated infrastructure 

 
15.0  Deferral of Planning Decisions 

 
15.1 Members should not seek to defer consideration of any item put before the Planning 

Committee unless there are clear and demonstrable reasons relating to relevant planning 
considerations for doing so, such as a relevant planning issue arising for the first time that 
requires further investigation.  
 

15.2 Where a Member might otherwise be minded to seek deferral of an item because they wish 
to seek clarification or further information on a particular matter, or for any other substantial 
reason, they should seek to obtain such clarification or additional information from the 
relevant Planning Officer, ideally prior to the commencement of the Planning Committee 
meeting but otherwise during it.  

 
15.3 The reason for deferral shall be recorded in the minutes of the Committee meeting.  

 
15.4 If an application has previously been deferred then as far as reasonably practicable, the 

same Members will be asked to reconsider the application when it is returned to the 
Planning Committee.  
 

15.5 If an application is deferred after an Objector, Parish/Ward Councillor, Applicant, their 
Representative or other Supporter has spoken, they will not be allowed to speak again 
when the matter is referred back to Committee for a decision, unless any new information 
has been submitted in respect of the application. They will be limited to speak only in 
respect of the new information and subject to the usual order and time allowed for speaking 
at Planning Committee meetings. They will not be required to give further notice of their 
intention to speak. 

 
 

  

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0 cm, Hanging:  1.25 cm,
Space Before:  0 pt, After:  0 pt

598



 

339 

Social Media Policy 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1. Social Media includes the various online technology tools that enable people to 

communicate easily via the internet to share information and resources. Social media 
includes, but is not limited to, blogs; wikis; RSS feeds; social networking sites such as 
Facebook, LinkedIn and Twitter; photo sharing sites such as Flickr, Instagram and 
Snapchat; and video sharing sites such as YouTube.  

 
1.2. The widespread availability and use of social networking applications brings opportunities 

for the Councils to better understand, engage and communicate with its customers, 
partner agencies and the communities it serves.  

 
1.3. This Policy supports the Councils’ stated purpose, ambition and values by enabling the 

organisation to make best use of these technologies and so improve the way it does 
business. It also sets out a behavioural framework for Officers and Members to ensure 
that the considerable benefits that accrue from using social media are adequately 
balanced against our legal responsibilities and the need to safeguard the Councils’ image 
and reputation. 

 
2. PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES 

2.1. The purpose of this policy is to: 

(a) ensure Officers are aware of their responsibility to comply with good practice and 
the law for example in relation to data protection, confidentiality, libel, copyright, 
safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults, human rights, harassment and 
discrimination so that the Councils are not exposed to legal and governance risks;  

(b) support safer working practice by setting standards of good practice and behaviour 
in the use of social media; 

(c) ensure the reputation of the Councils and its Officers are not damaged; 
(d) ensure children, young people and vulnerable adults are safeguarded by reducing 

the risk of positions of trust being abused or misused; 
(e) minimise the risk of misplaced or malicious allegations being made against those 

who work with vulnerable groups; 
(f) ensure users of social networking media are able to clearly identify where 

information provided via such applications is legitimately representative of the 
Councils;  

(g) enable Officers to distinguish between the use of social media in their work and 
personal lives; 

(h) ensure the use of social media is aligned to the Council’s corporate communications 
approach. 

3. OTHER CODES AND POLICIES 

3.1. The Councils’ Officer Code of Conduct applies to all offline and online communications and 
includes the use of social media, and can in some circumstances apply to the use of social 
media in an Officer’s personal life. 

3.2. The Councils’ Disciplinary Policy applies to online communications and includes the use of 
social media, and can in some circumstances apply to the use of social media in an 
Officer’s personal life. 

3.3. The Council’s Code of Conduct for Elected Members applies to a Member’s use of Social 
Media. 

599



 

340 

4. USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA BY ADUR & WORTHING COUNCIL OFFICERS 

4.1. Social media is used to communicate news and updates from the Council and the wider 
community and residents. It is also now an important customer service tool. The two main 
channels used are Facebook and Twitter. 

4.2. There is also a Council presence on LinkedIn and YouTube. 

4.3. The majority of public facing communication via the Councils’ corporate social media 
channels should be either produced or approved by the Council’s Communications Team. 

4.4. Some individual Councils accounts or aspects of social media management, such as 
incoming customer enquiries, can be operated by other members of staff. However, this is 
only by prior approval of the Assistant Director People & Change and after full training 
delivered by the Communications Team is completed. 

4.5. A Council service can request to create a public social media page by submitting a 
business case outlining how social media would benefit this service and how it will be 
maintained or managed. This should be submitted for review to the Assistant Director 
People & Change.  

4.6. If approved, the social media pages will be set up in collaboration with the Communications 
Team and all design must be in line with the Councils’ branding. 

4.7. All new social media pages will be reviewed after a period of 4 months. Those sites which 
are not performing well or are not benefiting residents will be removed. Similarly, any 
unauthorised sites will be closed down. Contact the  Assistant Director People & Change 
for more information. 

4.8. Officers may be permitted to use a Council’s Twitter account to represent their role within 
the local authority. These must: 

(a) Be requested and approved by the Assistant Director People & Change; 
(b) Be clearly identifiable as a corporate account using @nameAWC  
(c) Include the relevant Adur/Worthing/Joint logo in the header or profile image 

5. PERSONAL USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA - OFFICERS AND MEMBERS 

5.1. Social Media is now part of everyday life and routine and the lines between personal/ 
professional use can become blurred. 

5.2. Officers and Members must be aware that their actions online on their personal pages may 
have wider implications on their professional role and on the Councils’ 
image/representation. Always bear your relevant Code of Conduct in mind when you post to 
social media. 

5.3. In the event that an Officer/Member’s online conduct impacted on the Councils this would 
become a matter of Council concern and may result in investigation in accordance with the 
Council’s Disciplinary Procedure or Member Code of Conduct. 

5.4. All Officers and Members should familiarise themselves with the privacy settings of each 
social media platform they are using and ensure these are set up correctly. You should 
never include any personal information (DOB, phone number, address, etc) on your 
personal profile, nor should you share this with residents or third parties. 

5.5. Never publish confidential information which you have received as part of your job. Nor 
should you use any such information for personal gain or pass it on to others who may use 
it in such a way.  

600



 

341 

5.6. Staff should be aware of not using personal online profiles to raise or discuss a complaint or 
grievance about the Council, your manager, colleagues, etc. There are formal procedures 
in place for progressing these within the Council.  

6. DATA PROTECTION AND SUBJECT ACCESS REQUESTS 

6.1. As per section 5.5, to adhere to the latest data protection laws, i.e. (EU General Data 
Protection Regulation 2016/679 and Data Protection Act, 2018 you should never share any 
sensitive or personal information to social media about a colleague, Member or resident. 
Any instances of this will be investigated and may lead to disciplinary action. 

6.2. Data protection law was introduced to respect an individual’s fundamental right to privacy 
through the protection of their personal data. Personal data is identified as ‘any information 
related to an identifiable individual’. 

6.3. Observe the privacy notices of the social media platforms for which you sign up to and 
check the privacy settings to see who your posts are shared with. 

6.4. Personal data collected outside of social media by AWC may only be shared on social 
media if such sharing was stated explicitly under the AWC privacy notice that was used to 
initially collect the data. 

6.5. The sharing of ‘special category’ data, i.e. ethnicity, religious beliefs, trade union 
membership (refer to ICO website for full list) may only be shared on social media with the 
consent of the individual (data subject) and must be accurate at the time of posting. 

6.6. The sharing of personal data on social media must be noted in the Register of Processing 
Activity (RoPA) for the respective service who collected the information in the first instance. 

6.7. Members of the public can submit a Subject Access Request (SAR) via our corporate social 
media pages. The right of access, commonly referred to as subject access, gives 
individuals the right to obtain a copy of their personal data as well as other supplementary 
information.  

6.8. More information about an SAR can be found here: https://ico.org.uk/for-
organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/right-of-
access/ 

6.9. Members of the public may also exercise their other rights, i.e. right to rectification, erasure, 
restrict processing, data portability, object and automated decision making including 
profiling via our corporate social media pages. 

6.10. Most personal information collected for use by Members uses the ‘Public Task’ legal basis 
and any subsequent sharing or disclosure of personal information on social media satisfies 
that basis. 

6.11. More information about other rights may be found here: https://ico.org.uk/for-
organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/ 

7. MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT  

7.1. Members should be very careful in respect of their actions on their personal pages as the 
Member Code of Conduct may apply to them when they are not expecting it. The Code and 
relevant legislation continues to apply online and in social media. If you are referring online 
in any way to your role as a councillor, you are deemed to be acting in your ‘official 
capacity’ and any conduct may fall within the Code. 

601

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/right-of-access/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/right-of-access/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/right-of-access/


 

342 

7.2 Elected and Co-opted Members are bound by the provisions of their Member Code of 
Conduct when they are conducting Council business or acting, claiming to act, or giving the 
impression of so acting, as a representative of the Council, or in their official capacity as a 
Councillor. However, the law has held that whether a Member uses a personal social media 
or email account or a Council one is not definitive, and neither is whether the sign off of 
refers to themselves as a councillor or not (MC v Standards Committee of LB of Richmond 
2011). 

7.3 It is becoming increasingly common for standards complaints to be made on the basis of 
comments Members have made on social media. As section 27(1) of the Localism Act 2011 
places a positive duty on councils to promote and maintain high standards of conduct of 
members and officers, the Council must seek to do so wherever its Members use social 
media. 

7.4 Section 27(2) of the Act states that the Code of Conduct applies when Members are acting 
in their official capacity. This can present significant grey areas in the context of social 
media, where the line between acting officially or in a private capacity can be a difficult one 
to draw. 

7.5 In January 2019, the Committee on Standards in Public Life published their report ‘Local 
Government Ethical Standards – A Review by the Committee on Standards in Public Life’. 
In respect of Members’ use of social media, it recommended that there be a rebuttable 
presumption that when posting on social media they are acting in an official capacity.  

7.6 Once something is posted on social media, it is difficult to retain control over how it will be 
used. Consider the content of your communications carefully and apply this test – if you 
would be reluctant to say it face-to-face or in an official email, then it is probably 
inappropriate to say online. As a rule of thumb, never post anything online you would not be 
comfortable saying or sharing in a public meeting. 

8. LINKED DOCUMENTS 

8.1. There are a number of policies which should be considered in conjunction with this social 
media policy. These can all be found on the Councils’ Intranet, or hard copies can be 
provided on request. These are: 

(a) The IT Policy 
(b) The Disciplinary Policy 
(c) The Use of Social Media in Investigation Policy 
(d) The Officer Code of Conduct (see intranet) 
(e) The Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

  

602



 

343 

Code of Corporate Governance 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
Governance is about how local government bodies ensure they are doing the right things, in the 
right way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open and honest, and accountable manner. It 
comprises the systems and processes, and cultures and values, by which local government bodies 
are directed and controlled and through which they account to, engage with and, where 
appropriate, lead their communities. 
 
Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council are committed to the practise of good 
governance: ensuring good management, good performance, good stewardship of public money, 
good public engagement and ultimately good outcomes for citizens and service users. 
 
2.0 THE PRINCIPLES OF GOOD GOVERNANCE 
 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)/Society of Local Authority 
Chief Executives (SOLACE) provide a framework for developing and maintaining a Local Code of 
Corporate Governance and for discharging accountability for the proper conduct of public 
business.  
 
The CIPFA/SOLACE guidance Delivering Good Governance in Local Government (2012) identified 
six core principles against which local authorities should review their existing corporate governance 
arrangements and develop and maintain a Local Code of Governance.  
 
The six principles are: 
(a) Focussing on the Councils’ purpose and outcomes for the community and implementing a 

vision for the local area. 
(b) Members and Officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly defined 

functions and roles. 
(c) Promoting values for the Councils and demonstrating the values of good governance 

through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour. 
(d) Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to scrutiny and managing risk. 
(e) Developing the capacity and capability of Members and Officers to be effective. 
(f) Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public accountability. 
 
Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council are committed to these six core principles. 
The Councils’ Code of Corporate Governance has been prepared in accordance with the 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidance. The Code describes how the Councils achieve compliance with each of 
the core principles to deliver the best outcomes for local communities. 
 
Focussing on the Councils’ purpose and outcomes for the community and implementing a 
vision for the local area. 
 
Summary 
 
Good governance ensures the Councils fulfil their purpose and achieve the intended outcomes for 
their citizens and service users. Good governance also ensures the Councils continue to operate in 
an effective, economic and ethical manner. The Councils have therefore developed a clear vision 
of their purpose and intended outcomes which are communicated both within the Councils and to 
external stakeholders and the public, and contained within the document Catching the Wave. 
 
Supporting Principles of Good Governance 
 
In order to exercise strategic leadership the Councils will:  

(a) Develop and promote their authority’s purpose and vision;  

603



 

344 

(b) Review on a regular basis the authority’s vision for the local area and its impact on the 
authority’s governance arrangements; 

(c) Ensure that partnerships are underpinned by a common vision of their work that is 
understood and agreed by the parties; 

(d) Publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities and 
achievements, its financial position and performance. 

 
In order to ensure users have quality services the Councils will: 

(a) Decide how the quality of service for users is to be measured and make sure that the 
information needed to review service quality effectively and regularly is available; 

(b) Put in place effective arrangements to identify and deal with failure in service delivery. 
(c) In order to ensure the Councils make best use of resources and that tax payers and service 

users receive excellent value for money the Councils will: 
(d) Decide how value for money is to be measured and make sure that the authority or 

partnership has the information needed to review value for money and performance 
effectively.  

(e) Measure the environmental impact of policies, plans and decisions. 
 
Evidence of Commitment to these Principles 
 

(a) The Councils’ strategic plans identifies its corporate priorities. The plan is widely promoted 
through the Councils’ website. 

(b) The corporate plan sets out the Councils’ ambitious vision and details how the strategic 
plan will be implemented and corporate priorities achieved. 

(c) Councils’ Constitution – sets out the governance arrangements and procedural 
requirements for the business of the Councils. 

(d) Joint Committee Agreement – sets out the roles and responsibilities for partnership working 
between Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council. 

(e) Local Development Framework – a series of Local Development Documents that deliver 
the spatial planning strategy for the District/Borough. 

(f) Medium Term Financial Strategy – links the Councils’ finances to the Corporate Priorities 
and sets out strategic financial policies, a medium term financial forecast and budget 
guidelines for the forthcoming year. 

(g) Annual Statement of Accounts – a mainly financial document listing achievements for the 
previous year as well as setting out longer term aims. 

(h) Trello Boards for Performance Dashboard and Risk Registers - records performance in 
relation to a range of key and local performance measures which form part of performance 
dashboard information and also details of Corporate and Service level risks which are 
reported to the Corporate Leadership Team on a regular basis. 

(i) Benchmarking – provides comparisons between the Councils’ functions and performance 
with those provided by similar organisations. 

(j) Comments, Compliments and Complaints System. 
(k) Contract Standing Orders - outlines the procurement process used by the Councils and 

how Officers ensure value for money is achieved. 
(l) Committee reports – Provide Members with information needed to make decisions. 

 
Members and Officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly defined 
functions and roles 
 
Summary 
 
Elected Members are collectively responsible for the governance of the Councils. The Local 
Government Act 2000 introduced new Executive arrangements whereby the Councils’ Policy 
Framework, budget and key strategies are agreed by Full Council following proposals from the 
Cabinets. The Councils each have a Cabinet responsible for exercising all functions except those 
reserved to Council and statutory functions such as planning and licensing. In addition, the 

604



 

345 

Councils have Overview and Scrutiny Committees, comprising of Non-Cabinet Members who can 
question and challenge the decisions and/or performance of the Cabinets. 
 
The Chief Executive, Directors, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer are responsible for 
advising the Cabinets and other Committees on legal, financial and other policy considerations. 
 
Supporting Principles of Good Governance 
 
In order to ensure effective leadership throughout the Councils, each Council will: 

(a) Set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the Cabinet and of 
the Cabinet Members individually and the authority’s approach towards putting this into 
practice; 

(b) Set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of other Authority 
Members, Members generally and of Senior Officers. 

 
In order to ensure a constructive working relationship exists between Members and Officers, each 
Council will: 

(a) Determine an Officer Scheme of Delegations and reserve powers within the Constitution, 
including a formal schedule of those matters specifically reserved for collective decision of 
the authority, taking into account relevant legislation and ensuring that it is monitored and 
updated when required; 

(b) Make the Chief Executive responsible and accountable to the authority for all aspects of 
operational management; 

(c) Develop protocols to ensure that the Leader and Chief Executive negotiate their respective 
roles early in the relationship and that a shared understanding of roles and objectives is 
maintained; 

(d) Make the Section 151 Officer responsible to the authority for ensuring that appropriate 
advice is given on all financial matters for keeping proper financial records and accounts, 
and for maintaining an effective system of internal financial controls; 

(e) Make the Monitoring Officer responsible to the authority for ensuring that agreed 
procedures are followed and that all applicable statutes and regulations are complied with. 

 
To ensure the Councils’ relationships with partners and the public are clear, each Council will: 

(a) Develop protocols to ensure effective communication between Members and Officers in 
their respective roles; 

(b) Set out the terms and conditions for remuneration of Members and Officers and an effective 
structure for managing the process, including an effective job evaluation process for 
Officers’ remuneration and a remuneration panel for Members; 

(c) Ensure that effective mechanism exists to monitor service delivery; 
(d) Ensure that the organisation’s vision, strategic plans, priorities and targets are developed 

through robust mechanisms, and in consultation with the local community and other key 
stakeholders, and that they are clearly articulated and disseminated; 

(e) When working in partnership, ensure that Members are clear about their roles and 
responsibilities, both individually and collectively, in relation to the partnership and to the 
authority; 

(f) When working in partnership, ensure that there is clarity about the legal status of the 
partnership, ensure that representatives or organisations understand and make clear to all 
other partners the extent of their authority to bind their organisation to partner decisions. 

 
Evidence of Commitment to these Principles 
 

(a) Constitution – sets out how the Councils operate, how decisions are made and the 
procedures and codes of conduct which the Councils follow. It also includes the roles of 
Statutory Officers and their responsibilities relating to compliance with the law and ensuring 
sound financial control. 

(b) Role of Members – set out in the Constitution. 
(c) Terms of Reference for the Cabinet and Cabinet Members – set out in the Constitution. 

605



 

346 

(d) Monitoring Officer Protocol – set out in the Constitution. 
(e) Cabinet Procedure Rules – set out in the Constitution. 
(f) Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules – sets out the terms of reference which includes 

the role of overseeing the proper and effective administration of the Councils, reviewing the 
effectiveness of its services and supporting and complimenting the activities of the 
Cabinets. 

(g) Officer Job Descriptions – detail the roles and responsibilities of Officers employed by the 
Councils. 

(h) Whistleblowing Policy – enables Members and Officers to confidentially report suspected 
malpractice. 

(i) Chief Executive and Leader meetings – held to ensure effective communication. 
(j) Pay Policy – the Councils are committed to the principle of Equal Pay for all its employees 

and adopted a Pay Policy in October 2015. 
(k) Catching the Wave – sets out the corporate objectives and strategic ambitions of the 

Councils. 
 
Promoting values for the Authority and demonstrating the values of good governance 
through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour 
 
Summary 
 
Adur and Worthing Councils recognise that good governance is underpinned by shared values and 
demonstrated in the behaviour of its Members and Officers. The Councils’ values (the way in which 
the Councils work for the community in pursuing its aims) are set out in Catching the Wave and 
Surf’s Up. The standards of conduct and behaviour the Councils expect of their Members and 
Officers are clearly set out in the Constitution. This is supported by the Codes of Conduct and a 
range of training programmes for both Members and staff. 
 
Supporting Principles of Good Governance 
 
To ensure Members and Officers exemplify good standards of conduct each Council will: 

(a) Ensure that the authority’s leadership sets a tone for the organisation by creating a climate 
of openness, support and respect; 

(b) Ensure that standards of conduct and personal behaviour expected of Members and staff, 
of work between Members and staff and between the authority, its partners and the 
community are defined and communicated through codes of conduct and protocols; 

(c) Put in place arrangements to ensure that Members and Officers are not influenced by 
prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest in dealing with different stakeholders and put in place 
appropriate processes to ensure that they continue to operate in practice. 

 
To ensure organisational values are put into practice each Council will: 

(a) Develop and maintain shared values including leadership values both for the organisation 
and staff reflecting public expectations and communicate these with Members, staff, the 
community and partners; 

(b) Put in place arrangements to ensure that procedures and operations are designed in 
conformity with appropriate ethical standards, and monitor their continuing effectiveness in 
practice; 

(c) Develop and maintain an effective Standards Committee; 
(d) Use the organisations’ shared values to act as a guide for decision-making and as a basis 

for developing positive and trusting relationships within the authority; 
(e) In pursuing the vision of a partnership, agree a set of values against which decision-making 

and actions can be judged. Such values must be demonstrated by partners’ behaviour both 
individually and collectively. 

  

606



 

347 

Evidence of Commitment to these Principles 
 

(a) Constitution – seeks to define the standards of conduct and personal behaviour expected of 
Members and Officers. 

(b) Member Code of Conduct and Officer Code of Conduct. 
(c) Performance Development Reviews – provide opportunities to review the performance, 

including standards of conduct and personal behaviour of Officers, as well as identifying 
any development needs. 

(d) Comments, Compliments and Complaints System – this provides a process, clearly 
publicised on the website, for those wanting to complain to the Councils. 

(e) Data Access Requests – a system is in place to respond to Freedom of Information and 
Subject Access Requests. 

(f) Joint Audit & Governance Committee and Standards Sub-Committee – promotes and 
maintains high standards of conduct by Members. 

(g) Whistleblowing Policy and Ombudsman Complaints System – enables Members, 
employees and residents to confidentially report suspected malpractice that is in the public 
interest. 

(h) Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy – designed to encourage prevention and promote 
detection. 

(i) Anti-Bribery Policy – this policy outlines the Councils’ position on preventing and prohibiting 
bribery, in accordance with the Bribery Act 2012. 

(j) Members’ and Officers’ Register of Interests and Gifts and Hospitality – the Councils 
maintain such registers to safeguard both Members and Officers against conflicts of 
interest. The Members’ Register of Interests and Gifts and Hospitality is available online. 

(k) Member Induction – following Council Elections, Members undergo a formal induction 
which includes information about the Councils’ vision and corporate priorities, an 
introduction to the Constitution and in particular the Code of Conduct. 

 
Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny and 
managing risk 
 
Summary 
 
Adur and Worthing Councils recognise that all Council decisions must be accountable and legally 
sound. As such, the Councils must be able to demonstrate that decision-makers follow a proper 
process and that all decisions are based on accurate information, including consideration of legal, 
financial and risk management implications. To ensure that this happens, Adur and Worthing 
Councils have a range of procedures in place to ensure that decisions are not influenced by 
prejudice, bias or conflicts on interest. 
 
Supporting Principles of Good Governance 
 
In being rigorous and transparent about how decisions are taken each Council will: 

(a) Develop and maintain an effective scrutiny function which encourages constructive 
challenge and enhances the Councils’ performance overall and of any organisation for 
which they are responsible; 

(b) Develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting evidence for 
decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and considerations on which decisions are 
based; 

(c) Put in place arrangements to safeguard Members and employees against conflicts of 
interest and put in place appropriate processes to ensure that they continue to operate in 
practice; 

(d) Develop and maintain an effective Audit Committee which is independent of the Cabinet; 
(e) Put in place effective transparent and accessible arrangements for dealing with complaints. 

  

607



 

348 

In order to ensure that the Councils have good quality information and advice, each Council will: 
(a) Ensure that those making decisions, whether for the authority or partnership, are provided 

with information that is fit for the purpose - relevant, timely and gives clear explanations of 
technical issues and their implications; 

(b) Ensure that professional advice on matters that have legal or financial implications is 
available and recorded well in advance of decision-making and used appropriately. 

 
In order to ensure that there is an effective system of risk management, each Council will: 

(a) Ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the organisation, with 
Members and Managers at all levels recognising that risk management is part of their job; 

(b) Ensure that arrangements are in place for whistleblowing to which staff and all those 
contracting with the authority have access. 

 
In order to use the Councils’ legal powers for the full benefit of the community, the Councils will: 

(a) Actively recognise the limits of lawful activity placed on them by, for example, the ultra vires 
doctrine but also strive to utilise powers to the full benefit of their communities; 

(b) Recognise the limits of lawful action and observe both the specific requirements of 
legislation and the general responsibilities placed on local authorities by public law; 

(c) Observe all specific legislative requirements placed upon them, as well as the requirements 
of general law, and in particular, integrate the key principles of good administrative law - 
rationality, legality and natural justice - into their procedures and decision-making 
processes. 

 
Evidence of Commitment to these Principles 
 

(a) Overview and Scrutiny Committee – this is an established Committee which reviews and 
monitors the effectiveness of the Councils’ services. 

(b) Report Templates – to ensure that all relevant information is obtained when producing a 
report for Committee, Cabinet or Full Council, a standard report template has been 
adopted. The report format helps to ensure that all matters coming before Member bodies 
have received appropriate legal and financial vetting before being signed off.  

(c) Meeting Minutes – the majority of meetings are open to members of the public and minutes 
of the decisions taken are published on the Councils’ website. 

(d) Constitution – in order to safeguard Members and employees against conflicts of interest, 
the Constitution contains protocols which describe and regulate the way in which Members 
and Officers interact with one another. 

(e) Members’ and Officers’ Register of Interest and Gifts and Hospitality – the Councils 
maintain a Register of Interests and a Register of Gifts and Hospitality to safeguard both 
Members and Officers against conflicts of interest. 

(f) Joint Audit & Governance Committee – this Committee, which is independent from the 
Cabinets and scrutiny functions, monitors budgets and receives reports on the work of 
internal and external audit and risk management.  

(g) Comments, Compliments and Complaints System – a process is clearly outlined on the 
website for those wishing to complain to the Councils. Complaints are monitored and 
categorised, and reported to Corporate Leadership Team on a regular basis. 

(h) Data Access Requests – a system is in place to respond to Freedom of Information and 
Subject Access Requests. 

(i) Member Training – Members of specific committees receive comprehensive training to 
equip them with the skills required to carry out their work. 

(j) Whistleblowing Policy – enables Members and Officers to confidentially report suspected 
malpractice that is in the public interest. The Whistleblowing Policy is publicised on the 
Councils’ intranet.  

(k) Monitoring Officer provisions – the Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the 
Councils if any proposal would give rise to unlawfulness or maladministration and as such 
performs a key function in ensuring lawfulness and fairness in the operation of the Councils’ 
decision-making processes. 

 

608



 

349 

Developing the capacity and capability of Members and Officers to be effective 
 
Summary 
 
Adur and Worthing Councils realise that the Officers they employ enable the Councils to fulfil their 
ambitions. Once appointed or elected, Members and Officers are provided with a range of 
development opportunities. The Councils’ learning and development needs are met through a 
variety of training interventions including in- house training and e-learning. Members also receive 
specialised training on key issues on a regular basis. 
 
Supporting Principles of Good Governance 
 
To make sure Members and Officers have the necessary skills and resources, the Councils will: 

(a) Provide induction programmes tailored to individual needs and opportunities for Members 
and Officers to update their knowledge on a regular basis; 

(b) Ensure that the Statutory Officers have the skills, resources and support necessary to 
perform effectively in their roles and that these roles are properly understood throughout 
the organisation. 

 
To develop the capability of people with governance responsibilities, each Council will: 

(a) Assess the skills required by Members and Officers and make a commitment to develop 
those skills to enable roles to be carried out effectively; 

(b) Develop skills on a continuing basis to improve performance including the ability to 
scrutinise and challenge and to recognise when outside expert advice is needed; 

(c) Ensure that effective arrangements are in place for reviewing the performance of the 
authority as a whole and of individual Members and agreeing an action plan which might for 
example aim to address any training or development needs. 

 
To encourage new Members of the authority, the Councils will: 

(a) Ensure that effective arrangements are in place, designed to encourage individuals from all 
sections of the community to engage with, contribute to and participate in the work of the 
authority; 

(b) Ensure that career structures are in place for Members and Officers to encourage 
participation and development. 
 

Evidence of Commitment to these Principles 
 

(a) Member and Officer Induction Programme – an extensive induction programme is in place 
for both Members and Officers. All new Officers receive an induction booklet and are invited 
to a corporate induction where the Councils’ values and visions are outlined in further 
detail. 

(b) Unboxed – the Councils run a talent pool known as the Unboxed Programme for Officers to 
provide opportunity for innovation and development. 

(c) Mentoring Scheme – the Councils run a programme of mentoring for Officers throughout 
the Councils, using external Mentors where necessary. 

(d) Members’ Bulletin – this is a web-based area which provides an information zone for 
Members and is a key source of information. 

(e) Performance Development Reviews – provide opportunities to review employee 
performance, providing a chance to consider personal development needs in relation to the 
employee’s role. 

(f) Officer Job Descriptions – set out the roles and responsibilities of Officers employed by the 
Councils. 

(g) Constitution – sets out how the Councils operate, how decisions are made and the 
procedures and codes of conduct which are followed. It also covers the roles of the 
Statutory Officers of the Council – Head of Paid Service, Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer – and their responsibilities relating to compliance with the law and 
ensuring sound financial control. 

609



 

350 

(h) Overview and Scrutiny Committee – this is an established Committee which reviews and 
monitors the decisions of each Cabinet.  

(i) Leadership and Staff Exchange – organised events at which Managers and Officers meet 
to consider current issues affecting the Councils and work together to identify solutions. 

 
Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public accountability 
 
Summary 
 
Adur and Worthing Councils recognise the need to effectively engage with local residents to 
ensure that their opinions are taken into account when preparing Council plans and policies. The 
Constitution sets out how the Councils incorporate the rights of residents in relation to the Councils’ 
work.  
 
Supporting the Principles of Good Governance 
 
To exercise leadership through a robust scrutiny function the Councils will: 

(a) Make clear to themselves, all staff and the community, to whom they are accountable and 
for what; 

(b) Consider those institutional stakeholders to whom they are accountable and assess the 
effectiveness of the relationships and any changes required; 

(c) Produce an annual report on scrutiny function activity. 
 
To take an active approach to dialogues and accountability with the community each Council will: 

(a) Ensure that clear channels of communication are in place with all sections of the 
community and other stakeholders including monitoring arrangements to ensure that they 
operate effectively; 

(b) Hold meetings in public unless there are good reasons for confidentiality; 
(c) Ensure arrangements are in place to enable the authority to engage with all sections of the 

community effectively. These arrangements should recognise that different sections of the 
community have different priorities and establish explicit processes for dealing with these 
competing demands; 

(d) Establish a clear policy on the types of issues they will meaningfully consult on or engage 
with the public and service users including a feedback mechanism for those consultees to 
demonstrate what has changed as a result; 

(e) On an annual basis, publish an annual report giving information on the authority's vision, 
strategy, plans and financial statements as well as information about its outcomes, 
achievements and the satisfaction of service users in the previous period; 

(f) Ensure that the authority as a whole is open and accessible to the community, service 
users and its staff and ensure that it has made a commitment to openness and 
transparency in all its dealings, including partnerships subject only to the need to preserve 
confidentiality in those specific circumstances where it is proper and appropriate to do so. 

 
In order to make best use of human resources, the Councils will develop and maintain a clear 
policy on how staff and their representatives are consulted and involved in decision-making. 
 
Evidence of Commitment to these Principles  
 

(a) Constitution – sets out how the Councils operate, how decisions are made and the 
procedures and codes of conduct which are followed. It also sets out roles and 
responsibilities for Members and Statutory Officers and includes the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations. 

(b) Overview and Scrutiny Committee – this is an established committee which reviews and 
monitors the decisions made by the Cabinets and other Council bodies, as well as 
monitoring the activities and performance of external bodies. The Committee sets and 
reviews its work programme on a regular basis and produces an annual report on its work.  

610



 

351 

(c) Joint Audit & Governance Committee – independent from the Cabinet and scrutiny 
functions, this Committee monitors budgets and receives reports on the work of internal 
and external audit and risk management. 

(d) Annual Statement of Accounts – a mainly financial document listing achievements for the 
previous year, as well as setting out longer term aims. 

(e) Petition Scheme – sets out in broad terms the right of members of the public to submit 
petitions, the functions and areas of the Councils’ activities which may be the subject of 
petitions and the general arrangements for dealing with them. 
 

3.0 REVIEW OF THE CODE 
 
The Councils’ Code of Corporate Governance will be reviewed on a regular basis with a view to 
ensuring that: 
 

a) The Councils’ governance arrangements are adequate and operating effectively in practice, 
or 

b) If reviews of governance arrangements have revealed gaps, action is planned that will 
ensure effective governance in the future. 

 
The Joint Governance Committee will review the Code at least once every two years. 
 
 
  

611



 

352 

Whistleblowing Protocol 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 In this Protocol ‘Whistleblowing’ means the reporting by staff of suspected misconduct, 
illegal acts or failure to act within the Councils. 
 

1.2 The aim of this Protocol is to encourage employees and others who have serious concerns 
about any aspects of the Council’s work to come forward and voice those concerns. 
 
This Protocol intends to: 

(a) Encourage staff to report suspected wrongdoing as soon as possible, in the 
knowledge that their concerns will be taken seriously and investigated as 
appropriate, and that their confidentiality will be respected, as far as possible. 

(b) Encourage and enable staff to raise concerns within the Council rather than ignoring 
a problem or blowing the whistle externally. 

(c) Provide staff with guidance as to how to raise those concerns. 
(d) Reassure staff that they should be able to raise genuine concerns without fear of 

reprisals, victimisation, subsequent discrimination, disadvantage or dismissal, even 
if they turn out to be mistaken, provided the disclosure is made in the public interest. 

1.3 The Councils are committed to conducting business with honesty and integrity, and we 
expect all staff to maintain high standards of conduct, in accordance with the Council’s 
Officer Code of Conduct. However, all organisations face the risk of things going wrong 
from time to time, or of unknowingly harbouring illegal or unethical conduct. A culture of 
openness and accountability is essential in order to prevent such situations occurring or to 
address them when they do occur. 

 
Staff are often the first to realise that there may be something seriously wrong within an 
organisation. ‘Whistleblowing’ is viewed by the Council as a positive act that can make a 
valuable contribution to the Council’s efficiency and long-term success. It is not disloyal to 
colleagues or the Council to speak up. The Council is committed to achieving the highest 
possible standards of service and the highest possible ethical standards in public life and in 
all of its practices. To help achieve these standards it encourages freedom of speech. 
 

2.0 WHAT IS WHISTLEBLOWING? 
 
2.1 Any serious concerns that staff have about service provision or the conduct of Officers of 

the Council, or others acting on behalf of the Council, that make them feel uncomfortable in 
terms of known standards, are not in keeping with the Constitution or Council policies, fall 
below established standards of practice or are improper behaviour, should be reported. 
This may relate to: 

(a) Criminal activity; 
(b) Miscarriages of justice; 
(c) Racial, sexual, disability or other discrimination; 
(d) Danger to health and safety; 
(e) Damage to the environment;  
(f) Failure to comply with any legal, or professional, obligation or regulatory 

requirements; 
(g) Unauthorised use of public funds or other assets; 
(h) Bribery; 
(i) Financial fraud or mismanagement; 
(j) Negligence; 
(k) Breach of our internal policies and procedures, including our Officer Code of 

612



 

353 

Conduct; 
(l) Conduct likely to damage our reputation; 
(m) Unauthorised disclosure of confidential information; 
(n) The deliberate concealment of any of the above matters. 

2.2 A whistleblower is a person who raises a genuine concern relating to any of the above, 
where they honestly and reasonably believe it to be in the public interest to raise the 
concern.  

 
2.3 This Protocol should not be used for complaints relating to an individual’s own personal 

circumstances, such as the way they have been treated at work. In those cases the 
Grievance Procedure should be used. 

 
2.4 If a staff member is uncertain whether something is within the scope of this Protocol they 

should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer, whose contact details are at the end of this 
Protocol. 

 
2.5 This Protocol does not form part of any employee's contract of employment and it may be 

amended at any time. 
 
2.6 If an individual has a concern about services provided to them, it should be raised through 

the Council’s complaints procedure. 
 
2.7 Complaints of misconduct by Councillors are dealt with under a separate procedure and 

should be referred to the Council’s Monitoring Officer.  
 
3.0 WHO CAN RAISE A CONCERN UNDER THIS PROTOCOL? 
 
3.1 This Protocol applies to all individuals working at all levels of the organisation, including 

Senior Managers, Officers, Directors, employees, consultants, contractors, trainees, 
homeworkers, part-time and fixed-term workers, casual and agency staff and volunteers 
(collectively referred to as staff in this Protocol). 

 
4.0 RAISING A WHISTLEBLOWING CONCERN 

 
4.1 It is hoped that in many cases staff will be able to raise any concerns with their line 

manager or Director. Staff may tell them in person or put the matter in writing if preferred. 
They may be able to agree a way of resolving concerns quickly and effectively.  

 
4.2 However, where the matter is more serious, or staff feel that their line manager or Director 

has not addressed the concern, or if they prefer not to raise it with them for any reason, 
they should contact one of the following: 

(a) The Monitoring Officer; 
(b) The Chief Executive; 
(c) The Chairs of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee; 
(d) The Chief Financial Officer (S.151 Officer). 

4.3 The Council will arrange a meeting with the whistleblower as soon as possible to discuss 
their concern. The whistleblower may bring a colleague or Union representative to any 
meetings held under this Protocol. The companion must respect the confidentiality of the 
disclosure and any subsequent investigation. 

 
4.4 The Council will take down a written summary of the whistleblower’s concern and provide 

them with a copy after the meeting. The Council will also aim to give an indication of how it 
proposes to deal with the matter. 

613



 

354 

 
4.5 Whoever internally, within the Councils, receives a whistleblowing disclosure, they are 

obliged to notify the Monitoring Officer, in writing, within 2 working days of the nature of the 
disclosure made. 

 
5.0 CONFIDENTIALITY 
 
5.1 The Council hopes that staff will feel able to voice whistleblowing concerns openly under 

this Protocol. However, if a whistleblower wants to raise a concern confidentially, the 
Council will make every effort not to disclose their identity. If it is necessary for anyone 
investigating the concern to know the whistleblower’s identity, this will be discussed with the 
whistleblower in advance.  

 
5.2 The Council does not encourage staff to make disclosures anonymously. Proper 

investigation may be more difficult or impossible if the Investigating Officer cannot obtain 
further information from the whistleblower. It is also more difficult to establish whether any 
allegations are credible. Whistleblowers who are concerned about possible reprisals if their 
identity is revealed should come forward to the Monitoring Officer or another senior 
manager and appropriate measures can then be taken to preserve confidentiality.  

 
5.3 If a whistleblower is in any doubt, they can seek independent advice from the independent 

charity, Protect, who offer a confidential helpline. Their contact details are at the end of this 
Protocol. 

 
6.0 EXTERNAL DISCLOSURES 
 
6.1 The aim of this Protocol is to provide an internal mechanism for reporting, investigating and 

remedying any wrongdoing in the workplace. In most cases a whistleblower should not find 
it necessary to alert anyone externally. 

 
6.2 The law recognises that in some circumstances it may be appropriate for a whistleblower to 

report their concerns to an external body such as a regulator. It will very rarely, if ever, be 
appropriate to alert the media. The Council strongly encourages whistleblowers to seek 
advice before reporting a concern to anyone external. The independent whistleblowing 
charity, Protect, operates a confidential helpline. They also have a list of prescribed 
regulators for reporting certain types of concern. Their contact details are at the end of this 
Protocol. 

 
6.3 Whistleblowing concerns usually relate to the conduct of staff, but they may sometimes 

relate to the actions of a third party, such as a customer, supplier or service provider. In 
some circumstances the law will protect a whistleblower if they raise the matter with the 
third party directly. However, the Council encourages whistleblowers to report such 
concerns internally first.  

 
7.0 INVESTIGATION AND OUTCOME 
 
7.1 Once a whistleblower has raised a concern, the Council will carry out an initial assessment 

to determine the scope of any investigation. The Council will then inform the whistleblower 
of the outcome of the assessment. The whistleblower may be required to attend additional 
meetings in order to provide further information. 

 
7.2 In some cases the Council may appoint an Investigating Officer or team of investigators 

including staff with relevant experience of investigations or specialist knowledge of the 
subject matter. The investigator(s) may make recommendations for change to enable the 
Council to minimise the risk of future wrongdoing. 

 

614



 

355 

7.3 The Council will aim to keep the whistleblower informed of the progress of the investigation 
and its likely timescale. However, sometimes the need for confidentiality may prevent the 
giving of specific details of the investigation or any disciplinary action taken as a result. Any 
information given about the investigation should be treated as confidential. 

 
7.4 If the Council concludes that a whistleblower has made false allegations maliciously or with 

a view to personal gain, the whistleblower may be subject to disciplinary action. 
 
8.0 IF THE WHISTLEBLOWER IS NOT SATISFIED WITH THE OUTCOME 
 
8.1 While the Council cannot always guarantee the outcome the whistleblower is seeking, it will 

deal with the concern raised fairly and in an appropriate way, and in compliance with 
Human Rights and Equalities legislation.  

 
8.2 If a whistleblower is not satisfied with the way in which their disclosure has been handled, 

they can raise it with one of the other key contacts in paragraph 4.2 of this Protocol. 
Alternatively they may contact the Council’s Auditors (contact details are set out at the end 
of this Protocol) or seek independent advice from Protect. 

 
9.0 PROTECTION AND SUPPORT FOR WHISTLEBLOWERS 
 
9.1 It is understandable that whistleblowers are sometimes worried about possible 

repercussions. The Council aims to encourage openness and will support staff who raise 
genuine concerns under this Protocol, if they reasonably believe it to be in the public 
interest to do so, even if they turn out to be mistaken. 

 
9.2 Staff must not suffer any detrimental treatment as a result of raising a concern or making a 

disclosure, provided it is made in the honest belief that it is in the public interest to do so. 
Detrimental treatment includes dismissal, disciplinary action, threats or other unfavourable 
treatment connected with raising a concern. If you believe that you have suffered any such 
treatment, you should inform the Monitoring Officer immediately. If the matter is not 
remedied you should raise it formally using the Council’s Grievance Procedure. 

 
9.3 Staff must not threaten or retaliate whistleblowers in any way. Any staff member involved in 

such conduct it likely to be subject to disciplinary action. In some cases the whistleblower 
could have a right to sue them personally for compensation in an Employment Tribunal, 
and also for the Council to potentially be vicariously liable for their actions. 

 
10.0 RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE SUCCESS OF THIS PROTOCOL 
 
10.1 The Council’s Corporate Leadership Team has overall responsibility for this Protocol, and 

for reviewing the effectiveness of actions taken in response to concerns raised under this 
Protocol. 

 
10.2 The Monitoring Officer has day-to-day operational responsibility for this Protocol, and must 

ensure that all managers and other staff who may deal with concerns or investigations 
receive regular and appropriate training. 

 
10.3 The Monitoring Officer should review this Protocol at least every 3 years in conjunction with 

the Councils’ Joint Audit & Governance Committee and with the Assistant Director People 
& Change who shall consult with UNISON. 

 
10.4 All staff are responsible for the success of this Protocol and should ensure that they use it 

to disclose any suspected danger or wrongdoing. Staff are invited to comment on this 
Protocol and suggest ways in which it might be improved. Comments, suggestions and 
queries should be addressed to the Monitoring Officer. 

  

615



 

356 

PART 6 - MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 

 
ADUR DISTRICT COUNCIL 

COUNCILLORS’ ALLOWANCES 2021/22 
 
Adur District Council in February 2023 approved an Allowance Scheme for Members that linked the 
scheme to the Officers’ NJC National Pay Agreement. The National Pay Agreement was agreed as 
1.75% increase from 1 April 2021. 
 
Therefore the allowances for Members for 2021/22 are as follows: 
 

Basic Allowance (payable to all Members) 
 

£5,279.27 

Special Responsibility Allowances 
 

 

Leader £15,837.81 

Deputy Leader £8,710.80 

Cabinet Members (each portfolio holder) £7,127.01 

 
Chair of the Council 
Vice Chair 

 
£3,167.56 £791.89  

Chair of Planning Committee 
Vice Chair  

 

 £5,543.23   £1,38
5.80 

Chair of Licensing Committee 
Vice Chair  

 

 £3,167.56 
£791.89 

Chair of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Vice Chair 

 

 £4148.00  £1,037.
00 

Chair of Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
Vice Chair  

£3,318.18 

 £829.60  

Leader of the Main Opposition Group  
Deputy Leader of the Opposition Group 

£3,959.45 £989.86  

 

Other allowances   

● Travelling and Subsistence: NJC Rate, no local agreement    

● The allowances are not pensionable   

● More than one SRA can be claimed    

 
Notes: 
Councillors may renounce in writing their entitlement to all or part of their allowance. 
 
Travel and all other expenses and claims by Members must be submitted within two months of the 
period to which they relate. 

Dependent Person Carer Allowance and Child Carer 
Allowance 

 

 The Dependent Persons Carer Allowance and both Child Carer Allowance should be based 
at cost upon production of receipts. In the case of specialist care a requirement of medical 
evidence that this type of care be required, the allowance should have no daily or monthly 
maximum claim when undertaking Approved Councillor Duties. 
 

616



 

357 

 The Council should actively promote the allowance to prospective and new councillors both 
before and following an election. This may assist in supporting a greater diversity of 
councillor representation. 

 
Parental Leave  

 
 All Councillors shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full for a period up to six 

months in the case of absence from their Councillor duties due to leave relate to maternity, 
paternity, adoption shared parental leave or sickness absence 

 
 Councillors entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance shall continue to receive their 

allowance in full for a period of six months, in the case of absence from their Councillor 
duties due to leave related to maternity, paternity, adoption, shared parental leave or 
sickness absence 
 

 
 Where for reasons connected with sickness, maternity leave, adoption leave, paternity 

leave or shared parental leave a Councillor is unable to attend a meeting of the Council for 
a period of six months, a dispensation by Council can be sought in accordance with Section 
85 of the Local Government Act 1972  
 

 
 If a replacement to cover the period of absence under these provisions is appointed by 

Council or the Leader (or in the case of a party group position the party group) the 
replacement shall be entitled to claim a Special Responsibility Allowance pro rata for the 
period over which the cover is provided. 
 

 
 If a Councillor stands down, or an election is held during the period when a Councillor is 

absent due to any of the above and the Councillor is not re-elected or decides not to stand 
down for re-election, their Basic Allowance and any Special Responsibility Allowance will 
cease from the date they leave office.           

 

Indexing of Allowances 
 

 The allowances should be increased annually in line with the percentage increase in staff 
salaries from April 2023 for a period of up to four years. 

 
 
Principal Officer: 
Paul Brewer, Director for Sustainability & Resources, Worthing Borough Council 
Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing, West Sussex, BN11 1HA

617



 

358 

 

PART 7 - MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 

 

The Council’s Officer structure consists of the Chief Executive and 3 Directors with their Directorates. This section should be read in conjunction with 
Article 11 of the Constitution which details with statutory responsibilities within the Council’s management structure. Adur and Worthing Councils have 
a Joint Officer Management Structure; some of the areas of responsibility may refer only to one Council. The Joint Committee Agreement has the 
definitive roles and responsibilities. Full details of the delegations to Officers can be found in the Joint Scheme of Delegations to Officers (see Part 4 
of this Constitution).  
 
 

To see the current Senior Management structure diagram and breakdown of services please see:  
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/about-the-councils/senior-management-structure/ 

618

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/about-the-councils/senior-management-structure/


 

359 

 
 

PART 8 – JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

 

The Council has several methods of establishing bodies for decision-making, collaboration or 

consultation with other local authorities, partners, officer representatives and members of the 

public. These bodies may be set up for a specific purpose or to more generally promote the 

economic, social, or environmental well-being of the District.  

Joint arrangements with other local authorities may be established to exercise Executive and/or 

Non-Executive functions. The establishment of joint committees that exercise Executive powers 

requires the agreement of the Leader. The establishment of joint committees that exercise Non-

Executive powers requires the approval of Full Council. The Leader must obtain Council approval 

before agreeing to exercise functions on behalf of another local authority.   

Political balance rules apply to joint committees that exercise Non-Executive powers and where 

Full Council appoints to three or more seats. Political balance rules do not apply to joint 

arrangements that only exercise Executive powers. If any Executive functions are to be exercised, 

then a Cabinet Member must be appointed if the Leader appoints to two or more seats on the 

committee.  

The membership, terms of reference and functions of the joint committees and the rules governing 

their conduct and proceedings are described below and in Part 9.  

There are additional joint arrangements with external bodies, as detailed below. 

 

Adur Homes Advisory Board 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

1.0 Purpose 

1.1 Adur District Council’s residential housing stock is generally referred to as Adur Homes. 

1.2 The purpose of the Adur Homes Advisory Board is to: 

  advise on strategic and operational issues affecting the performance of Adur Homes 

 scrutinise and challenge policies and procedures with a view to the long-term health and 

success of the business and the tenants and leaseholders of Adur Homes.  

2.0 Responsibilities of the Board 

2.1 Contribute to the development of the strategic vision, values and objectives of Adur Homes 

as incorporated into Adur District Council’s plans and Adur District Council’s role within the 

strategic housing and homelessness plans. 

2.2  Ensure that Adur Homes’ operational practice and policies reflect the needs of 

all stakeholders including tenants, leaseholders and the broader community and that the 

organisation is inclusive. 

2.3  Review service delivery in relation to tenancy and asset management and provide advice to 

support improvements in performance and service delivery.   

619



 

360 

2.4  Receive and review reports on the performance of Adur Homes against key performance 

indicators including measures of tenant and leaseholder satisfaction, customer feedback, 

and customer service standards.  

2.5  Assist in identifying issues relating to statutory or regulatory compliance, specifically in 

relation to the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) consumer standards and report concerns 

to the Adur Joint Governance Committee and Adur Cabinet.  

2.6  Advise the Adur Joint Audit and Governance Committee and Adur Cabinet where there are 

any serious performance concerns which require improvement.  

2.7  Contribute to the development of Adur Homes’ efficiency and value for money strategy, with 

particular reference to operational service delivery. 

2.8  Ensure that all aspects of Adur Homes services are delivered with respect for fairness and 

inclusion.  

3.0 Composition of the Board 

3.1 The board will consist of the following 

Board Role Officer Title 

Cabinet Member lead role Adur Cabinet Member for Customer Services 
and Housing 

Tenants representative The chairperson of the Adur Homes general 
housing tenants representative group 

Member representative of the Joint Audit 
and Governance Committee 

Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing 

Member of the Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Meeting 

Councillor 

Sheltered housing representative. The chairperson of the sheltered housing 
tenants residents representative group 

Leaseholder representative The chairperson of the leaseholder 
representative group 

Young person’s representative 
 

Accountable strategic officer Director for Housing and Communities 

Accountable chief finance officer Chief Financial Officer (or delegate) 

Senior Officer Interim Head of Housing 

Senior Officer Head of Property Services 

Strategy/Policy Manager Homeless Prevention Team Leader 

 

4.0 Board Meetings 

4.1 The Board will meet four times per year to coincide with the quarter end reporting. 

4.2 Additional meetings can be convened where business is critical but the use of special 

meetings will be avoided as much as possible. 

620



 

361 

4.3 After the first meeting of a Board, the Board will agree the date of the next meeting. 

4.4 Members will receive at least seven (7) days’ notice of a meeting however, a forward plan will 

be agreed and papers will be sent out the week before the meeting. 

 

Adur & Worthing Safer Communities Partnership (A&WSCP) Executive 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

1. The primary purpose of the A&WSCP Executive is to prevent crime and disorder, tackle 

substance misuse, anti-social behaviour and reduce re-offending to make Adur & Worthing a 

safer place for all. 

2. Its primary responsibilities shall comprise: 

 Being the statutory ‘strategy board’ for the Adur & Worthing Safer Communities 

Partnership; 

 Carry out an annual strategic assessment of local crime and disorder problems and 

community safety issues, taking into account the views of those who live, visit and work in 

Adur & Worthing; 

 Formulate and implement a three year partnership plan to address local priorities as 

identified in the strategic assessment;   

 Monitor partnership performance and progress against its priorities; 

 Publish an annual summary of the partnership’s achievements; 

 Review the strategic assessment on an annual basis and refresh the partnership plan, as 

appropriate; 

 Complete an annual Hallmarks assessment of the partnership & formulate an improvement 

plan if required; 

 Hold an annual ‘Face the Public’ session; 

 Have a clear escalation process of issues to the Safer West Sussex Partnership (county-

wide Community Safety Partnership) from A&WSCP. 

3. The partnership shall be managed by an Executive comprising senior representatives from the 

following statutory responsible authorities, namely: 

 Police District Commander for Adur & Worthing; 

 Chief Executive, Adur & Worthing Councils or nominee; 

 Cabinet Member for Health & Wellbeing for Adur District Council; 

 Cabinet Member for Health & Wellbeing for Worthing Borough Council; 

 Chief Executive, West Sussex County Council or nominee; 

 Central Operations Group Manager, West Sussex Fire and Rescue Service; 

 Public Health, West Sussex or nominee; 

 Surrey & Sussex Probation Trust, Team Manager, Adur & Worthing; 

 Sussex Police & Crime Commissioner (Co-operating Member); 

621



 

362 

4. Members of the Executive shall have authority to make decisions on behalf of their respective 

organisations. 

5. The Executive shall meet on a quarterly basis. The Executive will agree the partnership plan, 

allocate funding, and monitor performance against priorities and commission services to deliver 

the plan. 

6. The Executive shall also: 

 Seek to encourage and promote arrangements to ensure that their respective 

organisation’s policies, strategies, plans and budgets take into account the prevention of 

crime and disorder, anti-social behaviour, substance misuse and reducing re-offending; 

 Agree an annual funding plan and submit its bids to the appropriate  grant-funding bodies; 

 Ensure that partnership funding provides value for money; 

 Engage communities in problem identification and resolution; 

 Appoint a chair & vice-chair with tenure of 12 months shared between partners, appointed 

following the local election cycle in May of each financial year; 

 The vice-chair should provide continuity and an overview role in connection with the SCP’s 

supporting structure and partnership working;  

 At least once a year, ensure that the partnership has the requisite skills and knowledge to 

meet its statutory requirements;   

 Sign up to the Pan- West Sussex Information Sharing Protocol, governing the sharing of 

information between the responsible authorities and others, as appropriate; 

 Share depersonalised information, as required; 

 Ensure that each responsible authority nominates a designated liaison officer whose role 

will be to facilitate the sharing of information with other partners.  

7. Membership of the wider Safer Communities Partnership (including the Executive) shall 

comprise all those agencies, organisations and individuals in the public, private, voluntary and 

community sectors who contribute to delivering the plan. 

 

Adur and Worthing Business Partnership 

MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Quarterly. 

Venue: Various venues – across Adur and Worthing. 

Time/Duration: Board meetings 2pm to 3.15pm 

Partnership meetings 3:30pm to 6pm 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

To work in partnership with all economic development agencies to secure economic regeneration 

of the local economy, to open up new business opportunities and to promote competitiveness and 

employment growth. To liaise with business organisations and educational establishments in 

Worthing, Adur and surrounding areas to enable, facilitate and develop the delivery of skills, 

training and learning as broadly and widely to the community as practicable. 

622



 

363 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER) tba 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Armed Forces Champion (appointed representative to sit on West Sussex Civilian Military 

Partnership Board, which also includes Community Engagement Sub-Group and South East 

Reserve Forces' and Cadets' Association (SERFCA)) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

West Sussex Civilian Military Partnership Board (& Community Engagement Sub-Group) 

Frequency: 3 times a year 

Venue: Various throughout the West Sussex Area 

Time/Duration: 0930-1230 

SERFCA 

Frequency: Annually 

Venue: Reserve Centre, Brighton or to be notified at the time of the meeting 

Duration: 3 hours 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

To champion the role of the Armed Forces in relation to the signed Community Covenant. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: 

Able to liaise with local interested groups, former service personnel, individuals and families, the 

Royal British Legion and Combined Ex-Services Associations. Willing to represent these groups on 

Community Covenant issues. To be the council’s spokesperson on Armed Forces and Community 

Covenant matters. Appointed representative should have an interest in Armed Forces matters. 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER) 

Interpretation of regulations. Able to liaise with local interested groups, former service personnel, 

individuals and families; the Royal British Legion and Combined Ex-Services Associations. Willing 

to represent these groups on Community Covenant issues. To be the council’s spokesperson on 

Armed Forces and Community Covenant matters. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

TERM: Annual Appointment 

 

Brighton City Airport Consultative Committee (formerly Shoreham Airport Consultative 

Committee) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Quarterly 

Venue: Brighton City Airport. 

Time/Duration: 2:30pm (normally Wednesdays) 

623



 

364 

TYPE OF BUSINESS:  

The Committee provides a forum for those operating and using the airport and those 

environmentally affected by the airport. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: 

This appointment is most relevant to Members with close links to the airport and/or neighbouring 

wards. Representatives are invited from Adur and Worthing Councils. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 plus a substitute 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Active participant. 

Representative to have knowledge of Shoreham Airport. 

TERM: Annual Appointment 

 

Coastal West Sussex Partnership Board 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Quarterly. 

Venue: Various venues on the West Sussex south coast. 

Time/Duration: 2pm – 4pm 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

A public/private sector partnership of West Sussex organisations who have joined together to 

tackle the big economic issues facing coastal towns including Selsey, Bognor Regis, Chichester, 

Littlehampton, Worthing and Shoreham. The priority areas for action include business enterprise, 

employment and skills and economic regeneration. A partnership that brings together the private 

and public sector around a common purpose to support business development and sustainable 

economic growth working collectively on economic issues that affect the coast. Focusing on the 

strategic issues, the Coastal West Sussex Partnership brings together leaders and senior officers 

from business, education institutions and the public sector to work collectively on economic issues 

that affect the coastal area. The Partnerships vision is for a strengthened coastal economy that 

delivers an exceptional experience for residents, business and visitors. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Bring ideas about what growth could mean 

for the area. What economic challenges are being faced in the area and on a wider scale. 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Court of the University of Sussex (known as the Sussex Annual Forum) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 1 per year. 

Venue: University of Sussex, Falmer, Brighton. 

Time/Duration: tbc 

624



 

365 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: To promote research, teaching, and 

interests of the University to the local area, enhance relationships with businesses to strengthen 

placement opportunities and provide an opportunity for networking. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER) Non-voting member. 

TERM: Annual Appointment 

 

Discretionary Housing Payments Board 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: as and when required. 

Venue: Shoreham Centre 

Time/Duration: will be arranged as necessary. 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

To consider applications by members of the public in accordance with the Councils’ Joint Housing 

Discretionary Payments Policy as agreed by the Joint Strategic Committee on 11 June 2013. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: Interpretation of regulations. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 3 

TERM: Annual Appointment 

 

District Councils’ Network 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Regular Assemblies, Executive meetings and an annual conference 

Frequency: Monthly Executive meetings, 3 or 4 Assemblies a year. 

Time/Duration: Varied – Executive meetings are 2 hours, Assemblies vary from one morning or 

afternoon or one day. 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

Membership organisation for District Councils within the Local Government Association. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 183 council leaders 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Voting 

TERM: The Cabinet Leader remains the representative for the duration of their leadership of the 

council. 

 

Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 4 per year 

625



 

366 

Venue: Varied locations 

Time/Duration: 10am - varied duration 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

The Greater Brighton Economic Board is overarching, legally constituted, body behind the growth 

of the Greater Brighton City Region, formed in 2014 with the aim of protecting and growing the 

Region’s economy through creative, innovative initiatives which coordinate economic development 

activities and investment at City Region level  

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 – Executive Leader 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Voting member 

TERM: The Cabinet Leader remains the representative for the duration of their leadership of the 

council. 

 

Greater Brighton Economic Board ‘Call in Panel’ 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Ad Hoc 

Venue: tba 

Time/Duration: tba 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

Determination of call in for the Greater Brighton Economic Board, as required by the Board’s 

Constitution. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 Scrutiny member (plus substitute) 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): tba 

TERM: Annual  

 

Heritage Champion Member 

(Appointed representative to sit on Historic England which is an executive non-departmental public 

body of the British Government sponsored by the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and 

Sport). 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Various optional training and other events: https://historicengland.org.uk/services-skills/trainng-

skills/online-training/ 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

Established in 2004, the Heritage Champions are a network of people in local authorities, almost 

all Councillors, who have been selected by their councils to be advocates for the historic 

environment within their authority. Historic England supports Historic Champions through offering 

expert advice, training, other events and the Heritage Champion newsletter. 

For more information visit: https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/planning/local-heritage/heritage-

champions/ 

626



 

367 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: 

Heritage Champions can be very influential. At a strategic level, Champions can make sure that 

local plans and strategies capture the contribution that the local historic environment can make to 

the success of an area. More specifically, Champions can: 

 Help local authorities manage the historic environment of their area 

 Promote heritage within the local authority, generating enthusiasm for and awareness of 

the importance of the local historic environment 

 Help ensure that the commitment to the proper care of the historic environment is 

embedded in all relevant activities and plans of the local authority; for example, helping to 

ensure good quality planning decisions are made 

 Support the authority’s local historic environment services (both archaeological and historic 

buildings conservation officers). Influence and communicate with others to ensure benefits 

for the historic environment. Heritage Champions can interpret the role in a way that fits 

with local priorities. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 (more if wished: the role can be a shared one) 

TERM: as determined by the Leader 

 

iESE Ltd 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Improvement and Efficiency South East (iESE) began as one of nine Regional Improvement and 

Efficiency Partnerships, established to work with councils across the South East to facilitate 

projects that drive efficiencies. In 2011, iESE became a not for profit making company limited by 

guarantee. Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council both became members of the 

company and each nominates the Leader as a Director and the Deputy Leader as the 

representative at Annual General Meetings.  

 

Local Government Association – Coastal Issues Special Interest Group 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Quarterly meetings a year 

Venue: London and/or a coastal location. 

Time/Duration: Daytime 

As confirmed by LGA for the foreseeable future, all meetings will take place via Zoom. 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: 

To increase awareness and debate at a national and European level of environmental, economic 

and social issues and concerns that directly affect or which may so affect coastal, estuarine and 

maritime communities. To act as a focus for liaison between local authorities and other bodies 

representing coastal, estuarine and maritime interests; To secure cross-departmental coordination 

within Central Govt on coastal, estuarine and maritime issues with a view to ensuring consistency 

in policy and provision of resources. 

627



 

368 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 (the LGA suggests that the representative should be the 

Leader)  

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Attend and participate in meetings of the 

SIG 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Local Government Association - General Assembly 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Annual 

Venue: National venue, to coincide with the LGA Annual Conference 

Time/Duration: 11.45am - usually lasts between 45 minutes and 2 hours (held before lunchtime on 

the first day of the Conference and precedes the formal opening of the Annual Conference) 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: As set out in the LGA’s Articles of 

Association and Governance Framework 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 (the Leader plus a substitute) 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Voting 

TERM: One Year 

 

Marlipins Museum 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 4-5 meetings per year. 

Venue: Marlipins Museum 

Time/Duration: Afternoon – 2:00pm 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: 

To manage the activities of the museum. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: Interest in heritage and conservation 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

TERM: Annual Appointment 

 

PATROL (Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London) Adjudication Joint Committee) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Annually in July. 

Venue: Church House, Great smith St, Westminster, London SW1P 3NZ 

Time/Duration: 11am-2pm 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

628



 

369 

Statutory requirement for all councils undertaking civil parking or bus lane enforcement to make 

provision for independent adjudication and this is delivered through the Traffic Penalty Tribunal. 

The PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee Agreement (to which both Adur District Council and 

Worthing Borough Councils are party) requires nomination of a Councillor to the Joint Committee, 

even if those Councillors are unable to attend meetings. 

PATROL has been established to enable councils undertaking civil parking enforcement in 

England and Wales and civil bus lane and moving traffic enforcement in Wales to exercise their 

functions under section 81 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA) and Regulations 17 and 18 

of The Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General Regulations 2007 (the 

English General Regulations). 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: There are no specific requirements for nominees except for 

being a Councillor, however they generally have an involvement in transport or environmental 

matters. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 - Cabinet Member (may also provide a substitute). It is 

suggested that the Cabinet Member for the Environment be appointed. 

TERM: Annual Appointment 

 

Quayside Youth Centre (Management Committee) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Approximately 4 meetings per annum. 

Venue: Quayside Youth Centre. 

Time/Duration: Weekday evenings, normally 7:00pm. 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

Youth and Community work. Management Committee still in the process of taking over the Centre 

from WSCC 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: 

Interest in social education of young people between the ages of 13 and 18. Representatives of 

Southwick and/or Fishersgate preferred. The representative would be required to support the 

Management Committee in any decisions etc that they may make regarding the running of the 

Centre. Also as a member of the Council to give any appropriate information that may help the 

Centre. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Safeguarding Children Champion Member 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: tba 

Venue: tba 

Time/Duration: tba 

629



 

370 

Adur and Worthing Health and Wellbeing Partnership (thematic group of Local Strategic 

Partnership) 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

The Children Act 2004 introduced new duties for District and Borough Councils for safeguarding 

and promoting the welfare of children through cooperation and communication with key bodies and 

agencies. 

Government guidance has set out that for all tiers of local authorities, an elected member should 

be appointed with responsibilities for safeguarding children. Adults at Risk is included in this work 

as good practice and a legal duty to undertake this work is imminent. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: 

The key objective for the Safeguarding Champion Member is to ensure that consideration is given 

to children and young people and Adults at Risk in the decision making of the Council, that Adur 

has support for the application of the Safeguarding Policy, and ensuring Council involvement in the 

West Sussex Think Family Board (delivering the West Sussex Children and Young People’s Plan). 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 (Portfolio Holder for Health and Wellbeing) 

TERM: The Cabinet Portfolio Holder may remain in this appointment for the duration of their office. 

To be endorsed annually by the Leader. 

 

Shoreham Port Local Authority Liaison Committee 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 2 meetings per year. 

Venue: Shoreham Port 

Time/Duration: Normally 11am - 2 hours 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

The Local Authority Liaison Committee is attended by representatives of Adur District Council, 

Brighton & Hove City Council, West Sussex County Council, and Shoreham Port Authority. It is a 

forum for consultation and information flow. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: Interest in and knowledge of the Port. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 2 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

South Downs Leisure 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 4-6 meetings per year 

Venue: Field Place 

Time/Duration: 6pm- 2.5hrs 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: 

630



 

371 

To provide both indoor and outdoor facilities in the interest of social welfare for recreation or other 

leisure time, promote community participation in healthy recreational activities and any other such 

charitable purposes. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): An active Board member for the Trust. 

TERM: Three years from 2020 or until no longer a councillor (up to the Council) 

 

South Downs National Park Authority (SDNPA) 

This is a joint appointment by the Leaders of Adur and Worthing Councils.  

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: The Authority meets 6 times per year; plus working groups, training sessions and 

workshops as required. Each SDNPA Member is appointed to one Committee. 

Appointments to Committees and Outside bodies are made at the AGM meeting in June. 

 Planning Committee convenes 12 times per year and has 12 site visits per year 

 Policy & Programme Committee convenes 6 times per year 

 Governance Committee convenes 5 times per year 

 Area tours and development opportunities at least 6 times per year. 

 Local Plan monthly workshops 

Venue: Generally the South Downs Centre at Midhurst. 

Time/Duration: Authority 2:00pm - Committees 10-10:30am 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION:  

The two main purposes of the SDNPA are to: conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife 

and cultural heritage; and promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the 

special qualities of the South Downs National Park by the public. The overall purpose of the 

Member role on the SDNPA is to ensure that the SDNPA fulfils its objectives and does so in a way 

that best suits the special characteristics of the National Park. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: 

Skills and Knowledge Framework table set by South Downs National Park Authority (available on 

request). 

South Downs National Park Authority Members are able to claim an allowance, together with travel 

and other expenses incurred in the course of their appointment - Commitment to involvement of 

typically 3 to 4 days per month. 

NUMBER OF APPOINTEES: 

1 Councillor appointed by Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council. Members of the 

SDNPA do not represent their appointing bodies on the Authority, but will, as an SDNPA Member, 

be responsible for ensuring that the SDNPA achieves the National Park Purposes and Duty, and 

does so in a way that best suits the National Park as a whole. 

(Appointment to alternate between ADC and WBC) 

631



 

372 

TERM: 

An election serves as a trigger for the reappointment process or if the appointee resigns/ceases to 

be a member of the SDNPA or appointing Authority – Appointments must be confirmed if the 

member appointed has stood for re-election. 

The provisions in the Environment Act 1995 place certain restrictions on termination of 

membership. The effect of Para 2(5) of Schedule 7 to the Act is that a local authority-appointed 

member holds office with a National Park Authority until they cease to be a member of the 

appointing local authority, unless the appointing local authority terminates the appointment earlier 

in accordance with the provisions, in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, requiring that 

appointments to committees and external bodies reflect the political balance of the appointing 

authority. 

However, even if there has been a recent change in political balance within a local authority, the 

effect of Para 1(c) of Schedule 1 to the 1989 Act is that the rules on maintaining political balance in 

appointments only apply to appointments to a national park authority of three seats or more (local 

authorities within the SDNPA only appoint one member to SDNPA). 

 

Southwick Community Association 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Bi-monthly. 

Venue: Southwick Community Centre 

Meeting – Trustees Meeting. 

Time/Duration: 7.30pm – approx 9.30pm 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: Community Centre 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: 

To be a trustee and ensure the community centre is run properly. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

TERM: Annual Appointment 

 

Sussex Police and Crime Panel (PCP) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Quarterly. 

Venue: Council Chamber, County Hall, Lewes. 

Time/Duration: 10:30am start 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

To hold the elected Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) to account. Main functions in brief:  

 to consider and make recommendations on the draft Police and Crime Plan;  

 to consider and make recommendations (including power of veto) on the PCC’s proposed 

precept; and conduct public confirmation hearings for the PCC’s proposed appointments to 

632



 

373 

senior positions including Deputy PCC, CEO, CFO and Chief Constable (PCP has power of 

veto over proposed Chief Constable appointment).  

 to scrutinise the actions and decisions of the PCC. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: An interest in local crime and policing and the new police 

governance structures. Involvement in the authority’s community safety role. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 (plus a substitute) 

TERM: The term of office to be decided by a member’s own local authority. Only appointed while a 

councillor. ADC determination: Appointment by the Annual Meeting of the Council after the PCC 

elections; or the term of office of the appointed Councillor; or any resignation from office by the 

appointed Councillor. 

 

The Ropetackle Trust 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 4 meetings per year, or as required 

Venue: Ropetackle Centre 

Time/Duration: Normally evening meetings – 2 hours. 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

The management of the Ropetackle Arts Centre. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: 

Liaison between the Council and the Trust, and acting as advocate of the Trust. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

TERM: No fixed period  

633



 

374 

PART 9 – ADUR/WORTHING JOINT COMMITTEE AGREEMENT 

 
DATED 27th July 2007 
Amended 1s May 2011 

Amended 7th October 2011 
Amended 17th May 2013 

Amended 10th November 2016 
Amended 3rd December 2018 

Amended 25th September 2019 
Amended 12th May 2020 

Amended 7th February 2024 
 
 

(1) ADUR DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

and 
 

(2) WORTHING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

_______________________________________________________ 
 

An Agreement (1) for the employment of staff (2) to provide 
services jointly and (3) to establish Joint Committees for Adur 

District Council and Worthing Borough Council 
_______________________________________________________ 

 
 
Mrs Susan Sale  
Head of Legal Services 
Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council 
Town Hall 
Chapel Road 
Worthing  
West Sussex 
BN11 1HA 
DX 142960 Worthing 10 

Mr Andrew Mathias 
Senior Solicitor 
Adur District Council and Worthing 
Borough Council 
Town Hall 
Chapel Road 
Worthing 
West Sussex 
BN11 1HA 
DX 142960 Worthing 10 

 
 

Formatted: Superscript

634



 

375 

CONTENTS 
 
Clause  Description          Page No. 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND ........................................................................................... 376375 
2.0 DEFINITIONS .............................................................................................. 377376 
3.0 PRELIMINARY MATTERS ........................................................................... 378377 
4.0 THE JOINT COMMITTEES .......................................................................... 379378 
5.0 UNRESOLVED DECISIONS ........................................................................ 385384 
6.0 DECISIONS RELEVANT TO A SINGLE AUTHORITY ................................. 386384 
7.0 OFFICER SUPPORT ................................................................................... 386385 
8.0 THE SERVICES ........................................................................................... 387386 
9.0 EXPENSES ................................................................................................. 387386 
10.0 EXTENSION ................................................................................................ 387386 
11.0 TERMINATION AND REVIEW ..................................................................... 387386 
12.0 DISPUTE RESOLUTION ............................................................................. 388387 
13.0 ASSETS....................................................................................................... 389388 
14.0 LIABILITIES ................................................................................................. 389388 
15.0 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS ........................................................ 389388 
16.0 NOTICES ..................................................................................................... 389388 
17.0 RIGHTS AND DUTIES RESERVED ............................................................ 389388 
18.0 LEGAL AND OTHER FEES ......................................................................... 390388 
19.0 PROVISION OF STATISTICAL INFORMATION, ACCOUNTS AND OTHER 
 DOCUMENTS ETC ...................................................................................... 390389 
20.0 AUDIT .......................................................................................................... 390389 
21.0 STATUS....................................................................................................... 390389 
22.0 ANTI-CORRUPTION.................................................................................... 390389 
23.0 DISCRIMINATION ....................................................................................... 391390 
24.0 HUMAN RIGHTS ......................................................................................... 391390 
25.0 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ................................................................... 391390 
26.0 DATA PROTECTION ................................................................................... 391390 
27.0 SURVIVAL OF THIS AGREEMENT ............................................................. 391390 
28.0 WHOLE AGREEMENT ................................................................................ 391390 
29.0 WAIVER....................................................................................................... 392390 
30.0 SEVERANCE ............................................................................................... 392391 
31.0 CLAUSE HEADINGS ................................................................................... 392391 
32.0 LAW ............................................................................................................. 392391 
33.0 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 ........................... 392391 
34.0 NON-ASSIGNMENT .................................................................................... 392391 
SCHEDULE 1 .............................................................................................................. 393392 
SCHEDULE 2 .............................................................................................................. 393392 
  

635

file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518825
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518826
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518827
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518828
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518829
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518830
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518831
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518832
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518833
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518834
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518835
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518836
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518837
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518838
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518839
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518840
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518841
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518842
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518843
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518843
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518844
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518845
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518846
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518847
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518848
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518849
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518850
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518851
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518852
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518853
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518854
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518855
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518856
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518857
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518858
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518859
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518860


 

376 

THIS AGREEMENT is made on the 27th of July 2007 and amended on the 1st May 2011, 7th October 
2011, 17th May 2013, 10th November 2016, 3rd December 2018, and 25th September 2019, and 12th 
May 2020 and 7th February 2024 
 
BETWEEN 
 
(1) Adur District Council whose principal office is at c/o Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing BN11 

1HA ('Adur') 
 
(2) Worthing Borough Council whose principal office is at Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing 

BN11 1HA (‘Worthing’) 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
1.1 Adur and Worthing agreed in 2007 to deliver functions and services through a Joint Officer 

Structure and a Joint Committee Structure. 
 
1.2 The Strategic Purposes of such a co-ordinated approach are: 
 

(a)  to optimise the availability of skills and resources available to the two Councils; 
(b)  to achieve best value in the delivery of services;  
(c)  to secure the most economic, efficient and effective use of resources; 
(d)  to secure the reduction of operational costs; 
(e)  to maximise the opportunities for securing funding from outside bodies including 

 Government;  
(f) to reduce reliance on outside bodies to improve bargaining power in relation to outside 

bodies and to increase capacity and capability within the constituent Councils; 
(g) to provide and promote a customer-orientated approach to service delivery; 
(h) to support the community strategies led by the constituent Councils and prepared from 

time to time to reflect the strategic direction of the organisations; and  
(i) wherever possible, to secure a joint response to strategic and other issues affecting the 

two Councils. 
 
1.3 In order to achieve the Strategic Purposes set out in clause 1.2 the Councils have agreed: 
 

(a) to establish: 
(i) a Joint Committee to provide strategic direction for the Joint Services and 

determine all delegated Executive functions relating to the Joint Services on 
behalf of the two Councils, to be known as the Joint Strategic Committee; 

(ii)  a Joint Individual Cabinet Member decision-making process in respect of all 
Executive functions of the Joint Services delegated to Individual Cabinet 
Members, encompassed in the Cabinet Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
Constitution; 

(iii)  a Joint Committee to agree, and where appropriate recommend to the Councils, 
the appointment of and staffing matters in relation to Senior Staff, in accordance 
with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution, known 
as the Joint Senior Staff Committee; 

(iv) a Joint Committee to determine Non-Executive staff matters and to determine 
employment policies, known as the Joint Staff Committee.  

(v) a Joint Overview & Scrutiny Committee to exercise the scrutiny function in relation 
to the Joint Services of the two Councils; 

(vi) a Joint Audit & Governance Committee to determine or make recommendations 
to the Councils on all Non-Executive functions that are not reserved to any other 
Committee, Joint Committee or Full Councils, and to establish a Joint Sub-
Committee to deal with Standards matters relating to either Council; 

(vii) a Joint Remuneration Panel, to make proposals to the Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee, as to Members Allowances . 

 

Formatted: Superscript

636



 

377 

(b) to establish a Joint Officer structure to deliver all of the services of Adur and Worthing 
Councils jointly, subject to any other agreements made under s101 Local Government 
Act 1072 in respect of joint delivery of services. 

 
IT IS AGREED as follows 
 
2.0 DEFINITIONS 

Adur: Adur District Council 

Amendment Date: 12th May 20207th February 2024 

Appendix: Appendix to this Agreement 

Assets: All assets relating to the delivery of the joint services including contracts, 
machinery, computers, information, materials and equipment  

Chief Executive: Chief Executive of the Councils 

Clause: Clause in this Agreement 

Commencement 
Date: 

27th July 2007 

Contract Standing 
Orders: 

Joint Contract Standing Orders of Adur District Council and Worthing 
Borough Council 

Costs: Costs include income, expenditure, cashable savings and efficiency savings 

Council: One of Adur District Council or Worthing Borough Council as the case may 
be 

Councils: Both Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council 

Executive: The Leader and Executive of the relevant Council(s) 

Executive 
arrangements: 

Construed in accordance with Part II of the Local Government Act 2000, as 
amended  

Expenses: Expenses as defined by clause 8 

Financial 
Regulations: 

The Joint Financial Regulations of Adur District Council and Worthing 
Borough Council 

Head of Paid 
Service: 

The Head of Paid Service under Section 4 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 who shall be the Chief Executive of the Councils 

Intellectual 
Property Rights: 

All rights available for the protection of any discovery, invention, name, 
design, process or work in which copyright or any rights in the nature of 
copyright subsist and all patents, copyrights, registered designs, design 
rights, trade marks, service marks and other forms of protection from time to 
time subsisting in relation to the same, including the right to apply for any 
such protection and trade secrets and other unpublished information 

JAGC: The Joint Audit & Governance Committee established by Clause 4 

Joint Committees: the Joint Committees established by Clause 4 

Formatted: Superscript

637



 

378 

JOSC: the Joint Overview & Scrutiny Committee established by Clause 4 

Legal Adviser The Head of Legal Services Assistant Director, Legal & Democratic Services 
of Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council, or their 
representative 

Monitoring Officer: The Officer appointed under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989, who shall be the Head of Legal Services Assistant Director, Legal 
& Democratic Services of Adur District Council and Worthing Borough 
Council 

Officers: Officers employed within the Joint Officer Structure referred to in this 
Agreement 

Section 151 
Officer: 

The Head of Financial Services Assistant Director, Finance of Adur District 
Council and Worthing Borough Council who shall be the Chief Financial 
Officer  

Service: Any one of the Joint Services provided by the Councils 

JSC The Joint Strategic Committee established by Clause 4 

JSSC: the Joint Senior Staff Committee established by Clause 4 

The Joint 
Services: 

All services are joint services provided by the Councils unless specifically 
reserved to an individual Council as specified in Schedule 1 

JSfC:  the Joint Staff Committee established by Clause 4 

Worthing: Worthing Borough Council 
 
2.1 A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as amended, extended or 

re-enacted from time to time. 
 
2.2 A reference to a statute or statutory provision shall include all subordinate or secondary 

legislation made from time to time under the statute or statutory provisions.  
 
IT IS AGREED as follows 
 
PRELIMINARY MATTERS 
3.1 This Agreement is made pursuant to: 
 
 (a) Sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972 (delegation to joint 

committees) 
 (b) Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 (duty to secure best value) 
 (c) Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 (general power of competence) 
 (d) Sections 14 and 20 of the Local Government Act 2000 and The Local Authorities 

(Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2000/2851 (joint 
arrangements for the exercise of Executive functions), as amended. 

 
3.2 This Agreement has been entered into: 
 
 (a) by Adur by virtue of the resolution of Adur District Council dated 23rd July 2007 and 

(b) by Worthing by virtue of the resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 25th July 
2007 and amended: 

(c) by Adur by virtue of a resolution of Adur District Council dated 7th April 2011 and 

638



 

379 

(d) by Worthing by virtue of a resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 12th April 2011 
and 

(e) By Adur by virtue of a resolution of Adur District Council dated 6th October 2011 and 
(f) By Worthing by virtue of a resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 4th October 

2011 and 
(g) by Adur by virtue of a resolution of Adur District Council dated 20th December 2012 and 
(h) By Worthing by virtue of a resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 18th 

December 2012 and 
(i) By Adur by virtue of a resolution of Adur District Council dated 24th October 2016 and 
(j) By Worthing by virtue of a resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 25th October 

2016 and 
(k) By Adur by virtue of a resolution of Adur District Council dated 1st November 2018 and 
(l) By Worthing by virtue of a resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 30th October 

2018 and 
(m) By Worthing and Adur by virtue of the Monitoring Officer making minor amendments 

under delegated authority dated 25th September 2019. 
(n) By Worthing and Adur by virtue of the Monitoring Officer making minor and/or 

inconsequential amendments under delegated authority dated 12th May 2020 
(n)(o) By Worthing and Adur by virtue of the Monitoring Officer making minor and/or 

inconsequential amendments under delegated authority dated 7th February 2024 
 

3.3 This Agreement shall commence on the commencement date and shall, subject to Clause 
10 (termination and review) and Clause 9 (extension) terminate on 31st March 2028.  

 
THE JOINT COMMITTEES 
The Joint Committees shall not be bodies corporate or have the functions of acquiring or holding 
assets, employing staff or entering into contracts. For the avoidance of doubt such functions shall be 
undertaken by one of the Councils as an administering Council. 
 
A Schedule of Joint meetings shall be agreed annually by each Council and additional meetings may 
be called in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4.2. The Director for Communities 
Sustainability & Resources shall be the Proper Officer for the signing of documents relating to the 
calling of meetings. 
 
Call-in of decisions of Joint Committees exercising Executive functions are provided for in the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 4 of each Council’s Constitution. Non-Executive 
decisions may not be called in and therefore the procedure does not apply to decisions of JOSC, 
JSSC, JSfC and JGC.  
 
4.1 Joint Strategic Committee 
 
The Councils shall establish a Joint Strategic Committee (‘JSC’) which: 
 

(a) shall comprise of the Cabinet of each Council. The Cabinet model adopted by each 
Council ensures that the Members appointed to JSC are empowered to take Executive 
decisions.  

(b) shall have the following terms of reference: 
1. To determine all matters relating to Executive functions of Joint Services, as set out 

in the Terms of Reference in Part 3 of the Constitution, unless specifically reserved 
to the individual Councils as specified in Schedule 1, either meeting as individual 
Executives or as sub-committees under 4.1(l); 

2. To provide strategic management of the Joint Services; 
3. To provide strategic direction to both Councils in relation to all Executive functions 

unless specifically reserved to the Cabinets of the individual Councils as specified 
in Schedule 1; 

4. To set strategic targets in respect of the Joint Services; 

Formatted: Superscript

Commented [TS1]: Correct wording (and date?) used here? 

639



 

380 

5. To agree draft revenue budgets for the implementation of each Joint Service which 
comply with the agreed budget strategy set by the Councils and which clearly show 
the costs to be borne by each Council including the allocation of any resulting 
savings or efficiencies and to recommend them to the Councils, via the individual 
Executives; 

6. To annually agree draft capital budgets for the Joint Services which comply with the 
agreed budget strategies set by the Councils and which clearly show the costs to 
be borne by each Council; 

7. To receive any reports in respect of any Executive function from either Council; 
8. To determine significant changes to the nature of the Joint Services delivered to the 

public in one or both Council areas; 
9. To determine any matters assigned as Executive functions in accordance with the 

Local Choice functions set out in Part 3 of the Constitution. 
(c) If there is an inequality between the Councils as to the number of Members on each 

Executive, all Members of the Cabinet may attend and participate in meetings of the 
Joint Strategic Committee as full voting Members. 

(d) One representative from Adur Consultative Forum shall be a co-opted non-voting 
Member on the Joint Strategic Committee for any item concerning the Housing 
Revenue Account, terms and conditions of tenancies or leaseholds, leasehold service 
charges and any other matter directly affecting housing tenants or leaseholders which 
do not have a general effect on other residents. 

(e)  In the event of a Member being unable to attend a meeting of JSC, there is no ability 
to appoint a Substitute Member. 

(f)  The JSC shall meet on at least four occasions in any municipal year. One of those 
meetings shall be scheduled to ensure that any proposed budgets can properly and 
fully be considered by each of the Councils as part of their respective budget-making 
processes. 

(g) The JSC shall meet during May to October of each municipal year at Worthing Town 
Hall and in November to April of each municipal year at the Shoreham Centre, or 
such other location as the Chair of the Committee shall agree. 

(h) The Cabinet Leader in whose area a meeting should take place shall be the Chair of 
the meeting and, in their absence, the Deputy Leader of that Council shall be the Chair. 
In the absence of both the Leader and Deputy Leader, the Leader of the other Council 
shall act as Chair of the meeting. 

(i) Each Member of JSC shall have one vote in its proceedings. The Chair shall not have 
a casting vote. 

(j) The JSC may arrange for the discharge of their functions by an Officer and in doing so 
will set out clearly any limits upon such delegation. 

(k) The JSC may establish working groups to assist them in their work and in doing so will 
set clear terms of reference for them. Such working groups will not be decision-making 
bodies.  

(l) JSC may establish sub-committees consisting solely of the Members of one Council, 
to consider matters solely relating to that Council. 

(m) For a meeting of JSC to be quorate there must be at least 4 members present and: at 
least two Members present from each Council where the business of the Committee 
relates to both the District of Adur and the Borough of Worthing; or at least one Member 
present from each Council where the business of the Committee relates to either the 
District of Adur or the Borough of Worthing. 

 
4.2 Individual Cabinet Member Decisions 
 

The Councils shall establish a process for the taking of decisions jointly by Individual Cabinet 
Members from each Council, encompassed in the Cabinet Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
Constitution, which includes: 

 
(a) where a decision relating to a Cabinet function which falls within the remit and portfolio 

of an Individual Cabinet Member from each Council and relates to a Joint Service, the 

640



 

381 

relevant report shall be sent simultaneously by Democratic Services Officers to both 
Individual Cabinet Members from each Council; 

(b) the Individual Cabinet Members will consult with one another in an attempt to make a 
Joint decision; 

(c) if the two Individual Cabinet Members agree on the decision that is to be made, then 
they may make a Joint decision; 

(d) if the two Individual Cabinet Members do not agree on the decision that is to be made, 
then no decision is made, and the matter must be referred to the Joint Strategic 
Committee for determination. 

 
4.3 Joint Senior Staff Committee 
 

The Councils shall establish the Joint Senior Staff Committee (‘the JSSC’) which: 
 

(a) shall comprise three Councillors from each Council (or such greater number of 
Councillors as the Councils may from time to time agree, providing there is equal 
representation from each Council) at least one of whom shall be a Cabinet Member 
and at least one of whom shall be a Non-Cabinet Member; 

(b) shall be politically balanced for each Council in accordance with the provisions of the 
Local Government & Housing Act 1989; 

(c) shall have the terms of reference in respect of all staff employed in the Joint Officer 
structure, as set out in Part 3 of the Constitution, and shall operate in accordance with 
the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

(d) In the event of an appointed Councillor being unable to attend any meeting of the JSSC, 
the relevant Political Group Leader may appoint a substitute Member, provided that 
prior written notice of such substitution is given to the Director for Communities 
Sustainability & Resources as Proper Officer for such matters.  

(e) shall meet on such occasions as is necessary to determine any business within its 
terms of reference. 

(f) shall meet from May to October each year at Worthing Town Hall and from November 
to April each year at the Shoreham Centre, or such other location as the Chairs of the 
Committee shall agree. 

(g) The Chair and Vice Chair of the JSSC Committee shall be appointed by each Council 
at its Annual Council meeting. 

(h) The Chair of JSSC in whose area a meeting should take place shall be the Chair of that 
meeting and, in their absence, the Vice Chair shall be the Chair. In the absence of both 
the Chair and Vice Chair, the Chair of JSSC from the other Council shall act as Chair 
of the meeting. 

(i) Each Member of JSSC shall have one vote in its proceedings, to include Substitute 
Members appointed in accordance with this Agreement. The Chair of JSSC shall have 
a casting vote. 

(j) JSSC may arrange for the discharge of their functions by an Officer and in doing so will 
set out clearly any limits upon such delegation.  

(k) JSSC may establish working groups to assist them in their work and in doing so will set 
clear terms of reference for them. Such working groups shall not be decision-making 
bodies. 

(l) JSSC may establish sub-committees consisting solely of the Members of one Council, 
to consider matters solely relating to that Council. 

(m) For a meeting of JSSC to be quorate there must be at least 4 Members present and: 
at least 2 Members present from each Council where the business of the Committee 
relates to both the District of Adur and the Borough of Worthing; or at least one Member 
present from each Council where the business of the Committee relates to either the 
District of Adur or the Borough of Worthing. 

 
4.4 Joint Staff Committee 
 

The Councils shall establish the Joint Staff Committee (‘JSfC’) which 

641



 

382 

 
(a) shall comprise three Councillors from each Council (or such greater number of 

Councillors as the Councils may agree from time to time, providing there is equal 
representation from each Council); 

(b) shall be politically balanced from each Council in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 

(c) shall have the terms of reference in respect of all staff employed in the Joint Officer 
structure, as set out in Part 3 of the Constitution, and shall operate in accordance with 
the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

(d) In the event of an appointed Councillor being unable to attend any meeting of the 
JSfC, they may nominate a Substitute Member to attend, provided that prior written 
notice of such substitution is given to the Director for Communities Sustainability & 
Resources as the Proper Officer for such matters. 

(e) The JSfC shall meet on such occasions as is necessary to determine any business 
within its terms of reference. 

(f) The JSfC shall meet from May to October each year at the Worthing Town Hall and 
from November to April each year at the Shoreham Centre, or such other location as 
the Chair of the Committee shall agree. 

(g) The Chair and Vice Chair of JSfC shall be appointed by the relevant Authority at its 
Annual Council meeting. 

(h) The Chair of JSfC in whose area a meeting should take place shall be the Chair of 
that meeting and, in their absence, the Vice Chair shall be the Chair. In the absence 
of both the Chair and Vice Chair, the Chair of JSfC from the other Council shall act as 
Chair of the meeting. 

(i) Each Member of JSfC shall have one vote in its proceedings (to include Substitute 
Members appointed in accordance with this Agreement). The Chair of JSfC shall have 
a casting vote.  

(j) JSfC may arrange for the discharge of its functions by an Officer and in doing so will 
set out clearly any limits upon such delegation. 

(k) JSfC may establish working groups to assist them in their work and in doing so will 
set clear terms of reference for them. Such working groups shall not be decision-
making bodies.  

(l) JSfC may establish a Sub-Committee consisting solely of the Members of one 
Council to consider matters solely relating to that Council. 

(m) For a meeting of JSfC to be quorate there must be at least 4 Members present and: at 
least 2 Members present from each Council where the business of the Committee 
relates to both the District of Adur and the Borough of Worthing; or at least one 
Member present from each Council where the business of the Committee relates to 
either the District of Adur or the Borough of Worthing. 

 
4.5 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

The Councils shall establish the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JOSC) which: 
 

(a) shall comprise eight Members from each Council (or such other number of Members 
as the Councils may from time to time agree, providing equal representation from each 
Council); 

(b) shall be politically balanced for each Council in accordance with the provisions of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 

(c) shall have the terms of reference set out in Article 6 of each Council’s Constitution and 
shall operate in accordance with the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in 
Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(d) shall exercise the overview and scrutiny functions of the two Councils in relation to all 
matters, except those to be determined by each Council’s Individual Executives as set 
out in Schedule 1 to this Agreement; 

(e) the Councils may each establish an Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) to 
exercise the overview and scrutiny functions of the Councils in relation to matters 

642



 

383 

reserved to each Council’s individual Executive as set out in Schedule 1 to this 
aAgreement;  

(f) one Member of Adur Consultative Forum shall be a co-opted non-voting Member of the 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee for any item concerning the Housing Revenue 
Account, terms and conditions of tenancies or leaseholds, leasehold service charges 
and any other matter directly affecting housing tenants or leaseholders which do not 
have a general effect on other residents; the Member should not be the same Adur 
Consultative Forum representative who sits as a co-opted Member of JSC for the same 
purpose. 

(g) shall not comprise any Members of the Cabinet within its membership. In making its 
appointments to the JOSC each Council will ensure that its Members are not Members 
of the Cabinet;  

(h) In the event of an appointed Councillor being unable to attend any meeting of the JOSC, 
the relevant Member may appoint a Substitute Member to attend, provided that prior 
written notice of such substitution is given to the Director for CommunitiesSustainability 
& Resources as the Proper Officer for such matters; 

(i) The JOSC shall meet on at least four occasions in any municipal year.  
(j) The JOSC shall meet in May to October of each municipal year at the Shoreham Centre 

and in November to April of each municipal year in Worthing Town Hall, or such other 
location as the Chair of the Committee shall agree; 

(k) The Chair and Vice Chair of JOSC shall be appointed by the relevant Council at its 
Annual Council meeting. The Chair of the JOSC of the Council in whose area a meeting 
should take place shall be the Chair of that meeting and, in their absence, the Vice 
Chair of the JOSC from the Council where the meeting should take place will be the 
Chair. In the absence of both, the Chair of JOSC from the other Council shall act as 
Chair of that meeting. 

(l) Each Member of JOSC shall have one vote in its proceedings (to include Substitute 
Members appointed in accordance with this Agreement). The Chair of JOSC shall not 
have a casting vote.  

(m) JOSC may arrange for the discharge of their functions by an Officer and in doing so will 
set out clearly any limits upon such delegation. 

(n) JOSC may establish working groups to assist them in their work and in doing so will set 
clear terms of reference for them. Such working groups shall not be decision-making 
bodies. 

(o) JOSC may establish sub-committees consisting solely of the Members of one Council 
to consider matters solely relating to that Council. 

(p) For a meeting of JOSC to be quorate there must be at least 4 Members present and: 
at least 2 Members present from each Council where the business of the Committee 
relates to both the District of Adur and the Borough of Worthing; or at least one Member 
present from each Council where the business of the Committee relates to either the 
District of Adur or the Borough of Worthing. 

 
4.6 Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
 
 The Councils shall establish a Joint Audit & Governance Committee (‘JAGC’) which shall: 
 

(a) comprise six Councillors from each Council (or such other number of Councillors as the 
Councils may from time to time agree, providing there is equal representation from each 
Council); 

(b)  be politically balanced for each Council in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989; 

(c)  have the terms of reference set out in Part 3 of the Council’s cConstitution;  
(d) have no more than one Cabinet Member from each Council in its membership.  
(e) In the event of an appointed Councillor being unable to attend any meeting of the JAGC, 

the relevant Member may appoint a Substitute Member to attend, provided that prior 
written notice of such substitution is given to the Director for Communities Sustainability 
& Resources as the Proper Officer for such matters. 

643



 

384 

(f) The JAGC shall meet on at least four occasions in any municipal year.  
(g) The JAGC shall meet from May to October each year at the Shoreham Centre and from 

November to April each year at Worthing Town Hall, or such other location as the 
Chairs of the Committee shall agree.  

(h) The Chair and Vice Chair of JAGC shall be appointed by each Council at its Annual 
Council meeting. 

(i) The Chair and Vice Chair of any meeting of JAGC shall be the Chair and Vice Chair of 
JAGC of the Council in whose area a meeting should take place. In the absence of the 
Chair and Vice Chair of JAGC for the Council in whose area the meeting should take 
place, the Chair of JAGC from the other Council will act as Chair for that meeting. 

(j) Each Member of JAGC shall have one vote in its proceedings (to include Substitute 
Members appointed in accordance with this Agreement). The Chair of JAGC shall not 
have a casting vote. 

(k) JAGC may arrange for the discharge of its functions by an Officer and in doing so will 
set out clearly any limits upon such delegation. 

(l) JAGC may establish working groups to assist them in their work and in doing so will set 
clear terms of reference for them. Such working groups shall not be decision-making 
bodies.  

(m) JAGC may establish sub-committees consisting solely of the Members of one Council 
to consider matters solely relating to that Council.  

(n) For a meeting of JAGC to be quorate there must be at least 4 Members present and: 
at least 2 Members present from each Council where the business of the Committee 
relates to both the District of Adur and the Borough of Worthing; or at least one Member 
present from each Council where the business of the Committee relates to either the 
District of Adur or the Borough of Worthing. 

(o) The Councils’ Independent Persons, appointed under the Localism Act 2011, will be 
co-opted Members of Joint Audit & Governance Committee. 

 
4.7 Joint Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
 The Council shall establish a Joint Independent Remuneration Panel, which shall: 

 
(a) Comprise of four independent persons appointed in accordance with the Local 

Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2001. 
(b) carry out the functions set out in the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) 

Regulations, 2001. 
 

 Proposals of the Joint Independent Remuneration Panel are received by the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee who will make recommendations to each Council as appropriate. 

 
4.8 Officers 
 
 The Joint Committees shall receive their legal advice from the Legal Adviser who shall also 

be the Monitoring Officer, or their representative. 
 
 The Joint Committees shall receive their financial advice from the Chief Financial Officer who 

shall also be the Section 151 Officer, or their representative. 
 
 The Joint Committees shall receive their advice (except that relating to legal, probity, and 

financial matters) from the Council’s Officers, as appropriate. 
 
4.9 Rules of Procedure 
 
 Rules of Procedures relating to Joint Committee structure are contained within each Council’s 

cConstitution. Where there is any conflict with the terms of this Agreement and the 
Constitution, advice will be taken from the Monitoring Officer as to the interpretation of 
provisions, and their determination will be final.  

644



 

385 

 
4.10 Administrative Expenses 
 
 The administration expenses of the Joint Committees will be borne by the Councils in 

accordance with clause 8 below.  
 
4.11 Decision Making 
 
 Where decisions are taken by a Joint Committee the following principles and conditions, in 

addition to those contained in Article 12 of each Council’s Constitution, shall apply: 
 
 (a) powers shall be exercised in accordance with the Joint Contract Standing Orders and 

Joint Financial Regulations. 
 (b) the Joint Committees shall have proper regard to any resolution of the Councils. 
 (c) the Joint Committees shall satisfy themselves that any inter-Council consultation has 

been carried out. 
 (d) decision making by individual Cabinet Members should be undertaken in accordance 

with the Cabinet Procedure Rules in Part 4 of each Council’s Constitution.  
 (e) the taking of decisions shall be subject to there being appropriate and adequate 

budgetary provision. 
 (f) any decision which could attract legal liability shall be taken in consultation with the 

Legal Adviser or their representative. 
 (g) any decision which has financial implications shall be taken in consultation with the 

Chief Financial Officer and particularly in any case where JSC is considering making 
recommendations which involve increased expenditure in any budget they shall receive 
and incorporate in any report advice from the Chief Financial Officer or their 
representative. 

 (h) any decision which could involve the exercise by the Monitoring Officer of any of their 
powers shall be taken in consultation with them, or in their absence the Deputy 
Monitoring Officer. 

 (i) The exercise of functions by a Joint Committee shall have regard to all relevant 
considerations and shall not take into account irrelevant matters. In particular a Joint 
Committee must take proper account of the Councils’ duties to promote compliance 
with human rights legislation, social value, reduction of crime and disorder and 
promotion of equalities. 

 (j) The Joint Committees shall not authorise the entering into of obligations by or on behalf 
of the Councils beyond the expiry of the Term of this Agreement, unless the Councils 
have so agreed. 

 
5.0 UNRESOLVED DECISIONS 
5.1 There is an unresolved decision for the purposes of this clause if the Members of JSC, JOSC 

or JAGC fail to reach a decision upon the matter by a majority of their votes at a meeting.  
 
5.2 An unresolved decision of JSC shall be referred to the respective Leaders with a view to 

resolution by discussion and negotiation and thereafter either a Joint Decision Notice will be 
issued by them or the matter will be referred back to JSC for reconsideration and decision.  

 
5.3 An unresolved decision of the JOSC shall not be referred on for resolution. 
 
5.4 An unresolved decision of JAGC will either be referred to the next meeting of JAGC to allow 

a period of discussion and negotiation, or will be referred to full Council as the Committee 
was unable to determine the matter. 

 
5.5 Where there is an unresolved decision as set out in sections 5.2 and 5.4 above, advice should 

be taken from the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer and/or the Monitoring Officer, 
as appropriate, in seeking to resolve the matter. 

 

645



 

386 

6.0 DECISIONS RELEVANT TO A SINGLE AUTHORITY 
6.1 This Clause applies where there is a matter which is solely the province of one Council and 

has not been reserved to the relevant Executive or sub-committee under clause 4.1(l). This 
clause does not apply to decisions of JSSC or JSfC.  

 
6.2 Where there is a matter which is solely within the province of one Council, the rules will be: 
 
 6.2.1 All Members of the Committee present may participate in the debate; 
 
 6.2.2 All Committee Members present may participate in the vote; 
 
 6.2.3 The decision shall be made by a majority vote of those present and voting provided 

that the majority of those representatives of the relevant Council shall be part of that 
majority. 

 
 6.2.4 If the overall majority of those present and voting does not include the majority of 

the relevant Council, then the decision shall stand referred as follows: 
 

 Where it is a decision of JSC, to the relevant Executive or sub-committee 
under clause 4.1(l), who may hold a special meeting to determine the matter. 

 Where a decision of JAGC, to the next Council meeting of the relevant 
Council. 

 Where a decision of JOSC, to a meeting of OSC of the relevant Council or 
sub-committee under clause 4.3(l). 

 
6.3 Where the decision is one of a Joint Governance Sub-Committee determining an 

allegation that a Councillor has breached the Member Code of Conduct, the decision shall 
be made by a majority vote of those present and voting provided that the majority of those 
representatives of the relevant Council shall be part of that majority. If not, or where there 
is no majority decision, then the matter will be referred to a meeting of the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee. Should the Joint Audit & Governance Committee considering 
such a referred decision be unable to reach a majority decision which includes the 
majority of those representatives of the relevant Council, then the breach will stand as ‘not 
proven’.  

 
7.0 OFFICER SUPPORT 
7.1 The Councils shall establish a joint officer structure which shall: 
 

(a) be employed by Adur as lead authority under this Agreement as staff are transferred, 
appointed or employed within the joint officer structure. 

(b)  provide advice to both Councils 
(c)  provide services to both Councils 
(d)  not show bias towards one Council vis-à-vis the other in the provision of advice or 

services. 
 

7.2 The Chief Executive shall be the Head of Paid Service in respect of the joint officer structure 
and workforce and for each Council. 

 
7.3 The two Councils will appoint joint senior officers to fill the posts of Joint Chief Executive, 

Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service within the joint officer structure serving 
the Councils by means of the Joint Senior Staff Committee or Officer Employment Procedure 
Rules, as appropriate. 

 
7.4 The Councils shall ensure that each Council has a Head of Paid Service, a Monitoring Officer 

and a Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer). This to be achieved by way of employment 
by Adur and a secondment to Worthing of each office holder for the purposes of discharging 
their statutory duties at both Councils. 

646



 

387 

 
7.5 Officers are to be empowered to act under the Scheme of Officer Delegations of each Council 

when providing services on behalf of that Council. 
 
7.6 The Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 apply to the 

transfer of staff from Worthing to Adur as lead authority for employment purposes and this 
constitutes a relevant transfer of an undertaking pursuant to regulation 3 thereof. 

 
7.7 The Councils shall agree financial arrangements as to the allocation of pension contributions 

including those relating to payments due in respect of the pension deficits of the two Councils 
upon the transfer, appointment or employment of staff within the joint officer structure. 

 
8.0 THE SERVICES 
8.1 The services providing the joint functions through a joint service, and the services providing 

a function through separate provision are set out in Schedule 1 to this Agreement. 
 
8.2 The costs of each joint service shall be shared by each Council in accordance with the terms 

of Schedule 2 
 
9.0 EXPENSES 
9.1 The expenses of the Joint Committee shall be borne 50% by Adur and 50% by Worthing. 
 
9.2 The expenses shall comprise: 
 

(a) the costs of and incidental to the holding of meetings of the Joint Committees, 
(b) the costs of legal, secretarial and financial support to the Joint Committees, 
(c) the costs of and incidental to the training of Members relating to the Joint Committees. 

 
9.3 The administration of the Joint Committees shall be shared between the relevant officers of 

the Councils until (1) there is an Agreement to alternative effect or (2) the joint officer structure 
is established for particular administrative services. This shall include legal, financial, human 
resources and democratic services administration. 

 
9.4 Income properly and solely paid for the Joint Committee (including grants) rather than to the 

constituent Councils individually shall be accounted for by the Chief Financial Officer and 
allocated if and as appropriate to the Councils. 

 
9.5 The Chief Financial Officer shall account to each of the Councils annually regarding the 

expenses of the Joint Committees by not later than 30th June following the end of the financial 
year. 

 
9.6 Payments due but not paid within 30 days of the invoice rendered pursuant to clause 8.5 

shall bear interest from the date of the invoice until payment at a rate of 2% above the 
Cooperative Bank plc base rate. 

 
10.0 EXTENSION 
10.1 This agreement may be extended by agreement in writing between the parties. 
 
11.0 TERMINATION AND REVIEW 
11.1 This Agreement shall continue until 31st March 2028 unless terminated in accordance with 

this clause or extended in accordance with clause 11. 
 
11.2 Either of the parties may terminate or withdraw from this Agreement before 31st March 2028 

only by giving to the other not less than two years' prior written notice to expire on 31st March 
in the relevant year. Such a decision to terminate or withdraw the Cabinet functions may only 
be made by the Cabinet of each Council, and in respect of the Non-Executive functions, each 
Council. 

647



 

388 

 
11.3 In the event of termination however and whenever occurring the parties shall: 
 

(a) co-operate in terminating, modifying, restructuring, assigning or novating contractual 
arrangements entered into to mutual advantage and properly and timeously execute 
any documents necessary 

(b) enter into arrangements with the other party concerning the ownership and control of 
assets acquired, particularly where such assets may have been acquired for other 
parties or third parties 

(c) use reasonable endeavours to secure an amicable financial settlement 
(d) immediately transfer or return any property including data belonging to the other party 
(e) ensure that a fair and reasonable proportion of the staff within the joint officer structure 

are transferred promptly to the Council which is not the employer under this Agreement 
so that (1) each Council can maintain continuity in the provision of its services at the 
same level of effectiveness and efficiency as the other and (2) they become employed 
by the Council to which they are transferred. 

(f) The senior posts at the level of Chief Executive, Strategic Directors, Assistant Directors 
and Heads of Service shall be re-allocated between the two Councils so that each has 
half in number of the postholders concerned (with the Monitoring Officer and Section 
151 Officer being allocated to different Councils) SAVE THAT the Head of Service with 
responsibility for direct provision of housing shall go to Adur. 

 
11.4 In the event of one party wishing to terminate or withdraw from this Agreement before 31st 

March 2028 and the other party confirming in writing within three months of the receipt of the 
notice of termination its wish to continue this Agreement then the party wishing to terminate 
or withdraw from this Agreement shall  

 
(a) pay to the other party or direct to third parties (as may be appropriate) any additional 

costs which the other party may properly and reasonably incur by virtue of the early 
termination or withdrawal together with any professional and other costs properly and 
reasonably incurred by the other party in consequence of such early termination or 
withdrawal, and 

(b) indemnify and keep indemnified the other party from and against any claims, costs, 
losses and expenses arising from or in connection with such early termination or 
withdrawal. 

 
11.5 The parties may review and seek to amend this Agreement from time to time and (1) in any 

event they shall carry out a review as to the efficacy and relevance of its terms upon every 
seventh anniversary of the commencement date and (2) all changes arising upon such 
reviews shall only take effect upon the completion and sealing of a formal amending 
Agreement. 

 
12.0 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
12.1 In the event of a dispute concerning the construction or effect of this Agreement the matter 

shall be referred to the respective Leaders in consultation with the Chief Executive and such 
other officers as are appropriate with a view to resolution by discussion and negotiation. 

 
12.2 In the event that a decision or a matter in dispute cannot be resolved under clause 13.1 the 

matter will be referred to an arbitrator from a professional body appropriate to the matter in 
dispute. 

 
12.3 The arbitrator shall be appointed with the agreement of the two Councils or in the event that 

agreement cannot be reached by the President or other chief officer of the appropriate 
profession (such profession to be determined by the Chief Executive of the Councils). 

 
12.4 The resolution of unresolved disputes in respect of the expenses of the Joint Committees 

(referred to in clause 8) shall be determined in accordance with section 103(b) of the Local 

648



 

389 

Government Act 1972 namely by a single arbitrator agreed on by the Councils or, in default 
of agreement, appointed by the Secretary of State. 

 
12.5 For the avoidance of doubt this clause remains in effect after the termination or expiry of this 

Agreement to confer powers on the parties to resolve matters remaining in dispute. 
 
13.0 ASSETS 
13.1 Each Council shall draw up a register of all its assets which will be applied for the purposes 

of the joint services controlled by the joint committees as at 1st April 2008. 
 
13.2 All assets acquired by the Councils for the purposes of the joint services controlled by the 

joint committees after 1st April 2008 shall be recorded on a register of shared assets, and 
incorporated into each authority’s register or balance sheet at the appropriate share. Those 
assets shall be acquired by Worthing but held in trust for the benefit of both Councils so that 
each has a share in the beneficial ownership of them in accordance with the statement to be 
prepared for each joint service under clause 7.3 (k).  

 
13.3 Each Council shall permit all staff employed under this Agreement reasonable use of all 

assets of the Councils for the purpose of discharging the joint services.  
 
13.4 Upon termination of this aAgreement all assets listed on the register of shared assets shall 

be valued and the assets shall be divided between the Councils in accordance with the share 
as shown on the balance sheet of the respective Councils. 

 
13.5 This Agreement has no application to any interests in land. Neither Council will acquire any 

rights or interest in land in respect of which the other Council has any right or interest. 
 
14.0 LIABILITIES 
14.1 The Councils shall be equally and severally liable to any third parties in respect of all claims, 

costs and expenses arising from (1) the employment of staff under this Agreement (2) the 
provision of joint services under this Agreement and (3) the use of assets under it.  

 
14.2 Each Council shall ensure that it has all appropriate insurances relating to public liability, 

employee liability, professional indemnity and Member indemnity to cover liabilities arising 
under clause 15.1 and (1) in relation to all functions and services provided by the joint officer 
structure and (2) in relation to the joint services.  

 
15.0 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS 
15.1 Each Council shall remain the owner of all intellectual property rights it owns at the date of 

this Agreement in any materials which it has created or the creation of which was undertaken 
by a third party which it commissioned to create those materials. 

 
15.2 Any new material created jointly by the Councils in the course of provision of the joint services 

shall belong to the parties jointly. 
 
15.3 Each Council hereby grants a licence to the other to use its intellectual property rights 

incorporated in or appearing from the materials referred to in clauses 16.1 and 16.2 for the 
purposes of the performance of this Agreement. 

 
16.0 NOTICES 
16.1 Any notice to be served under this Agreement shall be valid and effective if it is addressed to 

the Chief Executive and delivered by e-mail, fax, prepaid recorded delivery post or delivered 
by hand to the other Council’s principal offices. 

 
17.0 RIGHTS AND DUTIES RESERVED 
17.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall prejudice or fetter the proper exercise of any function by the 

Councils or their Officers. 

649



 

390 

 
18.0 LEGAL AND OTHER FEES 
18.1 Each party shall bear its own legal and other fees in relation to the preparation and completion 

of this Agreement. 
 
19.0 PROVISION OF STATISTICAL INFORMATION, ACCOUNTS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 
ETC 
19.1 The parties shall make available to the other party such statistical information which each 

Council may from time to time reasonably require. 
 
19.2 Without prejudice to any provision in this Agreement requiring the keeping of records, the 

supply of statistics or the provision of information the parties shall keep such other records 
and details of or concerning the joint services, supplies or work delivered pursuant to this 
Agreement or their performance as the parties may require and shall produce or provide to 
the other copies whether kept electronically or in paper format, of such accounts, invoices, 
orders, contracts, receipts, statistics and other information or documents touching or 
concerning or arising from the joint services, supplies or work delivered pursuant to this 
Agreement or their performance or this Agreement as, when and in such form as each 
Council may reasonably require. 

 
19.3 Without prejudice to any provision in this Agreement the parties shall keep and maintain all 

necessary information and shall provide all necessary assistance to enable each Council to 
complete all necessary official returns or statistics related to this Agreement and the joint 
services, supplies or works delivered pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
19.4 The parties shall supply each other with such assistance and information as each Council 

may require to enable it to allocate such expenditure as each Council may incur under this 
Agreement and in relation to joint services, supplies or works delivered pursuant to this 
Agreement between their various respective budget heads. 

 
20.0 AUDIT 
20.1 Each Council's external and internal auditors shall have the like powers set out in the Local 

Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Each Council shall at all reasonable times (including 
following the termination for whatever reason of this Agreement) allow or procure for any 
auditor for the purposes of an external or internal or audit: 

 
(a) immediate access to 
(b) permission to copy and remove any copies of and 
(c) permission to remove the originals of 

  
 any books, records and information in the possession or control of either Council which in 

any way relates to or are or were used in connection with this Agreement or the provision of 
the joint services supplies and works delivered pursuant to this Agreement including (but 
without limitation) any of each Council's data and any such information stored on a computer 
system operated by another Council. 

 
20.2 Each Council will provide all practicable co-operation and afford all appropriate access to 

personnel and records in order to assist the requesting Council in carrying out any 
investigations which are already under way at the Commencement Date and any 
investigations which are carried out after the termination or expiry of this Agreement. 

 
21.0 STATUS 
21.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as establishing or implying any legal partnership 

or joint venture between the parties. 
 
22.0 ANTI-CORRUPTION  

650



 

391 

22.1 Either Council may cancel this Agreement at any time and recover from the other the amount 
of any loss resulting from such cancellation if any of the following apply: 

(a) the other Council has offered or given or agreed to give to any person any gift or 
consideration as an inducement or reward (1) for doing or forbearing to do or for having 
done or forborne to do any action in relation to the obtaining or execution of the 
Agreement or any other contract with the Council (2) for showing or forbearing to show 
favour or disfavour to any person in relation to the Agreement or any other contract with 
the Council. 

(b) any person employed by or acting on behalf of the other Council (whether with or 
without the other council’s knowledge or consent) acts in a similar manner to that set 
out in (a) above. 

(c) in relation to any contract or potential contract with the Council the other Council or any 
person employed by or acting on behalf of the other Council shall have committed any 
offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916 or any amendment or 
replacement of them or shall have given any fee or reward the receipt of which is an 
offence under Sub Section (2) of Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
23.0 DISCRIMINATION 
23.1 The Councils shall not unlawfully discriminate within the meaning and scope of the provisions 

of the Race Relations Act 1976, the Sex Discrimination Act 1975 and 1986 or the Disability 
Discrimination Act 1995, Gender Recognition Act, 2004, Equality Act, 2010 and any other 
legislation prohibiting discrimination on any grounds whatsoever. The Councils shall take all 
reasonable steps to secure the observance of these provisions by its employees in the 
execution of the Agreement (and any statutory provisions amending or replacing the same). 

 
24.0 HUMAN RIGHTS 
24.1 The Councils in the performance of this Agreement shall comply with the provisions of the 

Human Rights Act 1998 in all respects as if the joint committees were public bodies within 
the meaning of the Act. The Councils shall indemnify or keep indemnified each other against 
all actions, claims, demands, proceedings, damages, losses, costs, charges and expenses 
whatsoever in respect of any breach by the one Council of this clause. 

 
25.0 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
25.1 It is agreed that the Councils are subject to the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act, 

2000. Each waives all claims of commercial or other confidentiality in respect of this 
document.  

 
26.0 DATA PROTECTION 
26.1 All data relating to the services or the recipient of any services undertaken by the Joint 

Committee shall remain the property of the Council on whose behalf that service is provided 
and that Council is the Data Controller. 

 
27.0 SURVIVAL OF THIS AGREEMENT 
27.1 In so far as any of the rights and powers of the parties provided for in this Agreement shall 

or may be exercised or exercisable after the termination or expiry of this Agreement the 
provisions of this Agreement conferring such rights and powers shall survive and remain in 
full force and effect notwithstanding such termination or expiry 

 
27.2 In so far as any of the obligations of the parties provided for in this Agreement remain to be 

discharged after the termination or expiry of this Agreement the provisions of this Agreement 
imposing such obligations shall survive and remain in full force and effect notwithstanding 
such termination or expiry 

 
28.0 WHOLE AGREEMENT 

651



 

392 

28.1 This Agreement constitutes the whole agreement and understanding of the parties as to its 
subject matter and there are no prior or contemporaneous agreements between the parties. 

 
29.0 WAIVER 
29.1 Failure by any party at any time to enforce any provision of this Agreement or to require 

performance by the other or others of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be 
construed as a waiver of any such provisions and shall not affect the validity of this 
Agreement or any part or the right of that party to enforce any provision in accordance with 
its terms. 

 
30.0 SEVERANCE 
30.1 If any provision of this Agreement shall become or shall be declared by any court of 

competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable in any way, such invalidity or 
unenforceability shall in no way impair or affect any other provision all of which shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

 
31.0 CLAUSE HEADINGS 
31.1 The clause headings shall not be construed as part of the clauses. 
 
32.0 LAW 
32.1 This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England 

and the parties irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of the English courts. 
 
33.0 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 
33.1 The parties do not intend that any term of this Agreement should be enforceable by any third 

party as provided by the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999. 
 
34.0 NON-ASSIGNMENT 
34.1 Neither of the parties shall be entitled to assign this Agreement or any of its rights and 

obligations under it without the written consent of the other (which consent the other party 
may in its absolute discretion withhold). 

 
 
IN WITNESS of which this Agreement has been executed as a Deed on the first day before written 
 
Sealed with the Common Seal of  ) 
Adur District Council in the    ) 
presence of:    ) 
 
      Authorised signatory 
 
Sealed with the Common Seal of  ) 
Worthing Borough Council in   ) 
the presence of:   ) 
 
      Authorised signatory 

652



 

393 

SCHEDULE 1 
 
All services of each Council will be regarded as Joint Services, other than those listed below. 
 
1.0 Services retained as a separate service by Adur District Council  

 
1.1 All matters relating to the Adur District Council Local Plan. 

 
1.2 All matters relating to the Adur District Council annual budget process. 
 
1.3 All matters relating to rent, fees and charges, connected to the provision and maintenance 

of Council housing stock, garages and leasehold property.  
 
2.0 Services retained as a separate service by Worthing Borough Council 
 
2.1 All matters relating to the Worthing Borough Council Local Plan 
 
2.2 All matters relating to the Worthing Borough Council annual budget process. 
 
 

SCHEDULE 2 
 

Cost allocation between the Councils 
 
Protocol for cost allocation in the Adur/Worthing partnership: 
 
Under joint working arrangements the allocation of costs becomes much more sensitive. Changes 
in allocation will affect not just individual services but could affect each authority’s budget (and final 
accounts). A gain for one authority will be a loss to another under the arrangement. 
 
There is no possible solution to this problem which will completely alleviate the risk to both authorities 
if the Councils are to comply with relevant professional guidelines and codes of practice. However, 
there are a number of measures which would help manage the risks. This note details those 
measures. 
 

1. Code directly to services where possible to minimise the amount to be allocated and 
consequently the amount which could be subject to controversy. 

2. Within the costs to be allocated, some will relate uniquely to services provided by one or other 
authority and some will relate to true joint services (for example AWS management). Those 
costs which relate uniquely to the services provided by one or other authority can continue to 
be allocated as present as changes in these will not affect the other Council.  

Those which are true joint costs will need to be subject to differing protocols. As part of this 
it will be sensible to review the current structure of the holding accounts and where possible 
separate out those groups of staff which deliver the services of one Council, from staff 
engaged on joint activity, again to minimise any areas of dispute. 
 

3. The service head will need to produce a service specification which should include the following: 

 The service specification – What are we delivering, to whom, to what standard, and how 
frequently? 

 The existing staff structures and the proposed staffing structure required to deliver the 
new service. 

 The existing baseline costs of service analysed between Adur and Worthing. 

653



 

394 

 The new cost of service which should distinguish between costs which fall directly of 
Worthing, those which fall on Adur, and those which will need to be allocated between 
the two authorities. 

 The allocation basis for the joint service. The basis chosen should reflect the nature of 
the service delivered (for example number of invoices paid for creditors), and should be 
capable of being substantiated. 

 The overall impact on each authority’s budget of the new service. 

This will then determine the allocation of cost in the short term. 

4. Where the allocation of costs is across both Councils, the overriding principle must be one of 
stability. Consequently, having established a split of costs, this then should not be annually 
revised unless a trigger point is reached. Trigger points should include: 

 The overall resources devoted to the service need to be increased to meet demand.  

For example, it will be possible for the refuse and recycling service to accommodate a 
certain amount of growth in the number of households. However, a major development 
such as  wWest Durrington may necessitate an increase to the number of refuse rounds 
and consequently increase the cost of refuse and recycling. At this point, the allocation 
of costs should be reviewed. 

 The current allocation does not reflect the long-term trend in use of the service.  

 The allocation of costs should be reviewed each year as part of the budget cycle. If over 
a three year period it transpires that the original allocation does not substantially reflect 
the average 3-year allocation, then the allocation should be changed. This should enable 
each authority to manage temporary changes to the allocations due to items such as 
project work. However, it may lead to the perception that one Council is getting better 
value than another. 

 
5.  The concept of ‘no detriment’ has been introduced to equalise any changes that might occur 

as a result of any of the above, although the actual details of such an arrangement still need 
to be established. 

 
6. The cost of the joint service for household waste collection and recycling shall be shared 

between the two Councils upon the basis of the ratio of the numbers of properties receiving 
the service in each area. Paragraph 4 of this schedule shall apply to any necessary review 
of this allocation. 

 
7. All the costs incurred by the Councils in employing the joint Chief Executive, Strategic 

Directors, Assistant Directors and Executive Heads of Services (including tax, pension, 
National Insurance and miscellaneous expenses incurred) shall be shared equally by the two 
Councils. 

654



WBC Constitution – 09.11.202301.02.2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSTITUTION 
  

655



2 

Contents 
PART 1 - SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION ................................................................................... 5 
PART 2 - ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION ........................................................................... 11 

Article 1 – The Constitution .................................................................................................. 11 
Article 2 – Members of the Council ...................................................................................... 11 
Article 3 – The Citizen and the Council ................................................................................ 15 
Article 4 – The Full Council .................................................................................................. 18 
Article 5 – Chairing the Council ............................................................................................ 19 
Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny ........................................................................................ 20 
Article 7 – The Cabinet ........................................................................................................ 22 
Article 8 – Regulatory and Other Non-Executive Committees and Advisory Panels ............. 24 
Article 9 – Governance ........................................................................................................ 24 
Article 10 – Joint Arrangements ........................................................................................... 26 
Article 11 – Officers.............................................................................................................. 27 
Article 12 – Decision-Making ................................................................................................ 31 
Article 13 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters ............................................................... 34 
Article 14 – Review and Revision of the Constitution ........................................................... 35 
Article 15 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution .......................... 36 

PART 3 – RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS .......................................................................... 37 
Principles of Delegation ....................................................................................................... 37 
Local Choice Functions ........................................................................................................ 39 
Responsibility for Council Functions .................................................................................... 41 
Terms of Reference and Delegated Powers of the Cabinet and Non-Executive Committees44 

Non-Executive Committees ........................................................................................ 44 
The Cabinet ................................................................................................................ 44 
Cabinet Portfolios ....................................................................................................... 46 
Portfolio Team Members ............................................................................................. 52 
Planning Committee ................................................................................................... 52 
Licensing and Control Committee ............................................................................... 55 
Licensing and Control ‘A’ Sub-Committee ................................................................... 59 
Licensing and Control ‘B’ Sub-Committee ................................................................... 59 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee .............................................................................. 60 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee ..................................................................... 60 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee ......................................................................... 61 
Joint Staff Committee.................................................................................................. 64 
Joint Senior Staff Committee ...................................................................................... 65 
Officers ....................................................................................................................... 66 

PART 4 – PROCEDURE RULES ................................................................................................. 86 
Council and Committee Procedure Rules ............................................................................ 86 

Annual Meeting ........................................................................................................... 86 
Ordinary Meetings ...................................................................................................... 88 
Extraordinary Meetings ............................................................................................... 89 
Special Meetings ........................................................................................................ 90 
Time and Location ...................................................................................................... 91 
Notice of and Summons to Meetings .......................................................................... 91 
Chairing ...................................................................................................................... 91 
Quorum ...................................................................................................................... 92 
Duration of Meetings ................................................................................................... 93 
Public Questions and Deputations .............................................................................. 93 
Member Questions ..................................................................................................... 98 
Leader’s Report ........................................................................................................ 100 
Main Opposition Priority Motion ................................................................................ 100 
Motions on Notice ..................................................................................................... 100 
Motions and Amendments without Notice ................................................................. 102 
Rules of Debate ........................................................................................................ 103 
Matters Affecting Officers .......................................................................................... 108 

656



3 

Officer Reports.......................................................................................................... 108 
Overview and Scrutiny Reports to Full Council ......................................................... 108 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee Reports to Full Council................................... 108 
Representatives on Outside Bodies .......................................................................... 109 
Previous Decisions and Motions ............................................................................... 109 
Petitions .................................................................................................................... 110 
Voting ....................................................................................................................... 110 
Confidentiality of Papers ........................................................................................... 111 
Minutes ..................................................................................................................... 111 
Status of Draft Decisions and Minutes ...................................................................... 112 
Recording of Meetings .............................................................................................. 112 
Record of Attendance ............................................................................................... 113 
Exclusion of the Public .............................................................................................. 113 
Disturbance by the Public ......................................................................................... 113 
Members’ Conduct .................................................................................................... 114 
Delegation to the Leader, Committees and Officers .................................................. 115 
Attendance of Members at the Cabinet or Committees of which they are not Members
 ................................................................................................................................. 115 
Exercise of Powers and Functions ............................................................................ 117 
Leader of the Main Opposition .................................................................................. 119 
Suspension and Amendment of Procedure Rules ..................................................... 119 
Urgent Business ....................................................................................................... 119 
Mayor of the Council ................................................................................................. 120 

Budget Procedure Rules .................................................................................................... 121 
Cabinet Procedure Rules ................................................................................................... 127 

How the Cabinet Operates ........................................................................................ 127 
Forward Plan of Executive Key Decisions and/or Executive Exempt Decisions ........ 128 
Cabinet Meetings ...................................................................................................... 129 
Individual Cabinet Member Decisions ....................................................................... 131 
Executive Decisions Taken By Officers ..................................................................... 134 

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules ............................................................................ 137 
Terms of Reference .................................................................................................. 137 
Membership .............................................................................................................. 137 
Co-Opted Members .................................................................................................. 137 
Meetings ................................................................................................................... 137 
Working Groups ........................................................................................................ 138 
Quorum .................................................................................................................... 138 
Work Programme ...................................................................................................... 138 
Agenda Items ........................................................................................................... 139 
Policy Review and Development ............................................................................... 140 
Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee ................................................. 140 
Minority Reports ........................................................................................................ 141 
Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members to Documents ....................... 141 
Members and Officers Giving Account ...................................................................... 142 
Attendance by Others ............................................................................................... 142 
Party Whip ................................................................................................................ 142 
Call-In of a Decision .................................................................................................. 142 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules ................................................................... 145 
Terms of Reference .................................................................................................. 145 
Membership .............................................................................................................. 145 
Co-opted Members ................................................................................................... 145 
Meetings ................................................................................................................... 146 
Working Groups ........................................................................................................ 146 
Quorum .................................................................................................................... 147 
Chairing .................................................................................................................... 147 
Work Programme ...................................................................................................... 147 
Agenda Items ........................................................................................................... 148 

657



4 

Policy Review and Development ............................................................................... 148 
Reports from the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee ........................................ 149 
Minority Reports ........................................................................................................ 149 
Consideration of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Reports .............................................. 150 
Rights of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members to Documents .............. 150 
Members and Officers Giving Account ...................................................................... 150 
Attendance by Others ............................................................................................... 151 
Party Whip ................................................................................................................ 151 
Call-In of a Decision .................................................................................................. 151 
Procedure at Meetings .............................................................................................. 153 
Communications Strategy ......................................................................................... 153 

Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings Procedure Rules ........................................................ 155 
Member Complaints and Standards Sub-Committee Procedure Rules .............................. 161 
Joint Independent Remuneration Panel Procedure Rules .................................................. 172 
Access to Information Procedure Rules ............................................................................. 175 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules ................................................................................ 185 
Officer Scheme of Delegations .......................................................................................... 192 
Proper Officer and Authorised Officer Functions ................................................................ 216 
Joint Councils Contract Standing Orders ........................................................................... 228 
Joint Councils Financial Regulations .................................................................................. 249 

PART 5 - CODES AND PROTOCOLS ....................................................................................... 277 
Member Code of Conduct .................................................................................................. 277 
Officer Code of Conduct .................................................................................................... 289 
Member/Officer Working Arrangements Protocol ............................................................... 292 
Monitoring Officer Protocol ................................................................................................. 299 
Dispensations Protocol ...................................................................................................... 306 
Officer Decision-Making Protocol ....................................................................................... 309 
Councillor Call For Action Protocol ..................................................................................... 316 
Pre-Election Period Protocol .............................................................................................. 319 
Recording of Council Meetings Protocol ............................................................................ 324 
Petition Scheme ................................................................................................................. 326 
Planning Committee: Site Visit Protocol ............................................................................. 329 
Public Speaking at Planning Committee Protocol .............................................................. 330 
Probity in Planning ............................................................................................................. 332 
Social Media Policy ............................................................................................................ 340 
Code of Corporate Governance ......................................................................................... 344 
Whistleblowing Protocol ..................................................................................................... 353 

PART 6 - MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME ...................................................................... 357 
Dependent Person Carer Allowance and Child Carer Allowance ................................. 357 
Parental Leave ................................................................................................................. 357 
Indexing of Allowances ................................................................................................... 358 

PART 7 - MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE ................................................................................... 359 
PART 8 – JOINT ARRANGEMENTS ......................................................................................... 360 
PART 9 – ADUR/WORTHING JOINT COMMITTEE AGREEMENT ........................................... 376 
 

  

658



5 

PART 1 - SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION 

1.0 Introduction 
 
The Borough of Worthing covers an area of some 32.37 km2 and has a population of 
approximately 111,300 residents. The Borough includes Worthing, Goring-by-Sea, Durrington, 
Salvington and Findon Valley. 
 
The Borough Council of Worthing was originally established by Royal Charter in 1890 and re-
established by statute in 1974. It provides many statutory services to the residents, businesses and 
visitors of the Borough, such as waste collection, food safety and collection of Council Tax. It also 
provides many other discretionary services, such as sports and leisure facilities, car parks and 
support for many local Voluntary Organisations. 
 
The Council is made up of 37 Councillors and together with the District Council of Adur, employs 
over 1,000 staff to ensure its aim of maintaining, and where possible, improving the quality of life 
for all sectors of the community. 
 
This document is the Constitution of the Council. It sets out the roles, responsibilities and the rules 
of the Borough Council, as well as the rights of the community and individuals in relation to the 
Council. This document is subject to any changes in the relevant legislation. 
 
If you have any questions about this document, please contact the Monitoring Officer, Borough 
Council of Worthing and the District Council of Adur, Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing, West 
Sussex, BN11 1HA, email: monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk, website: www.adur-
worthing.gov.uk. 

1.01 Interpretation 
 
Throughout this Constitution: 

 
a) Unless the context otherwise requires, the singular includes the plural and the plural the singular. 

 
b) Any reference to a numbered or lettered paragraph is, unless the context otherwise requires, a 

reference to the paragraph in this Constitution. 
 

c) The following words and expressions shall have the undermentioned meanings respectively 
assigned to them: 

 
‘1972 Act’ shall mean the Local Government Act 1972. 
‘1989 Act’ shall mean the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
‘2000 Act’ shall mean the Local Government Act 2000. 
‘2011 Act’ shall mean the Localism Act 2011. 

 
‘Cabinet Member’ shall mean an elected Member of the Council appointed to the Cabinet by 
the Leader in accordance with the Constitution. 

 
‘Chief Financial Officer’ shall mean the Officer holding the post of Chief Financial Officer of 
the Borough Council, who is also designated as the Chief Financial Officer responsible for 
the purposes of Section 151 Local Government Act 1972; Section 73 Local Government Act 
1985 and Section 112 Local Government Act 1988 for monitoring the Council’s financial 
affairs. 
 

659

http://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/
http://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/


6 

‘Clear Working Day’ excludes the day on which the summons or agenda for a meeting is 
published, the day on which the meeting was or is to be held and shall mean a day other than 
a Saturday or a Sunday, or a day which is a public or bank holiday. 
 
‘Clear Calendar Day’ excludes the day on which the summons or agenda for a meeting is 
published, the day on which the meeting was or is to be held but will include a day which is 
a Saturday or a Sunday, or a day which is a public or bank holiday. 
 
‘Confidential information’ is defined at paragraph 10.3 of the Access to Information Rules in 
Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 
‘Committee’ shall include any Committee, Sub-Committee, Joint Committee or Joint Sub-
Committee of, or appointed by, the Council. 
 
‘Constitution’ shall mean this Constitution as approved by the Council in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 2000. 
 
‘Council’ shall mean the Borough Council of Worthing as the legal entity. 
 
‘Deputy Mayor’ shall mean the Deputy Chair of the Council. 
 
‘Executive’ shall mean the Cabinet of the Council as set out in the Constitution and as defined 
by the 2000 Act, and shall comprise the Leader, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Members 
(sometimes referred to as ‘the Cabinet’) and will often act together with Adur District Council’s 
Executive as the Joint Strategic Committee. 
 
‘Exempt information’ is defined at paragraph 10.4 of the Access to Information Rules in Part 
4 of this Constitution. 
 
‘Head of Paid Service’ shall mean the Officer holding the post of Chief Executive in the 
Borough Council, who is also designated as the Head of Paid Service under Section 4 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
 
‘Key Decision’ is defined in Article 12.03 (b) of Part 2 of the Constitution. 
 
‘Leader’ shall mean the Executive Leader, elected by the Council in accordance with the 
Constitution and the 2000 Act. 
 
‘Mayor’ shall mean the Chair of the Council or, if the context permits, the person presiding at 
any meeting of Full Council. 
 
‘Meeting’ shall mean a meeting of the Full Council, or in relation to the Cabinet, a Committee, 
Sub-Committee, Joint Committee or Joint Sub-Committee, a meeting of that body. 
 
‘Member’ shall mean: 

(a) in relation to a meeting of the Full Council, a Councillor;  
(b) in relation to a Committee, a Member of that Committee whether a Councillor or a 

person who is not a Councillor, but who is appointed to be a Member of the 
Committee under Section 102 of the 1972 Act; and 

(c) in relation to the Cabinet, a Cabinet Member. 
 
‘Monitoring Officer’ shall be that person designated as Monitoring Officer in accordance with 
section 5(1) Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
 
‘Motion’ includes a recommendation contained in any report concerning an item of business 
for a meeting and a new motion. 
 

660



7 

‘Person Presiding’ shall mean the person appointed or entitled to preside at any meeting 
including the Mayor or Deputy Mayor where the context allows. 
 
‘Rule’ shall mean a Procedure Rule or Standing Order, and shall include Financial Procedure 
Rules, Contract Procedure Rules and Council Procedure Rules. 
 
‘Sub-Committee’ shall mean a Sub-Committee of a Committee of the Council and ‘Joint Sub-
Committee’ shall mean a Sub-Committee of a Joint Committee of the Councils. 
 
‘Summons’ shall mean the Summons for a meeting, or in relation to a Council Standing Order, 
applied to the Cabinet or a Committee shall mean the agenda for the meeting. 
 
‘Terms of Reference’ shall mean the terms of reference of the Cabinet or a Committee as 
varied from time to time. 
 
‘Urgent’ means a matter of pressing importance requiring swift action given the gravity of the 
situation, which was unforeseeable (in an objective sense) and is not attributable to a failing 
on the part of the Council (and similar expressions shall be construed accordingly). 
 
‘Working Group’ shall mean a group established by the Council consisting of Elected 
Members and / or Officers and / or co-opted Members and / or persons who are not Elected 
Members, Officers or co-opted Members, for the purpose of providing advice to any decision 
maker within the Council. 

1.02 The Constitution 
 
This is the Constitution of the Borough Council of Worthing which has been adopted by the Council. 
It sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are followed 
to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Some of these 
processes are required by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to choose. 
 
Updates to the Constitution are made on an ongoing regular basis and an up-to-date version may 
always be accessed via the Council’s website. 
 
The Constitution is divided into nine parts. The 15 Articles in Part 2 set out the basic rules governing 
the Council’s business, and the remaining parts provide more detailed procedures and guidance. 
 
The Council’s Monitoring Officer takes overall responsibility for ensuring that the Council maintains 
an up-to-date Constitution. However, Parts 6, 7 and 8 dealing with Members’ Allowance Schemes, 
Council Management Structure and Joint Arrangements, are maintained by the Democratic Services 
Manager. Further, the Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Standing Orders contained in Part 4 
of the Constitution, are maintained by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
The Constitution may be accessed on the internet at: Constitutions - Adur & Worthing Councils 

(adur-worthing.gov.uk). Hard copies of the Constitution are available to inspect at Council offices 

and public libraries, and may be provided upon request to the Democratic Services Lead at a 

charge of £40 per copy, payable in advance, to cover the costs of photocopying. 

1.03 How the Council Operates 
 
The Council is composed of 37 Councillors (with elections by thirds), i.e. one third of Councillors are 
elected each year for three out of every four years. The Borough is divided into 13 Wards each of 
which elects 2 or 3 Councillors. The Councillors are democratically accountable to the residents of 
their Ward. The overriding duty of Councillors is to the whole Borough, but they have a special duty 
to their constituents, regardless of how they voted. 
 

661

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/about-the-councils/constitutions/
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/about-the-councils/constitutions/


8 

Councillors should undertake their duties in accordance with the high standards of conduct expected 
of persons in public life and, to this end, the Council has adopted a Members’ Code of Conduct to 
which Members are obliged to adhere. The Joint Audit & Governance Committee oversees the 
provision of training and advice to Councillors on the Code of Conduct. 
 
All Councillors meet together as the Full Council. Meetings of the Full Council are normally open to 
the public. Here Councillors decide the Council’s overall policies, set the annual budget and the 
Council Tax. The Full Council will elect a Leader from among the elected Councillors. 
 
Legislation provides the Leader with the Cabinet decision-making powers of the Council. The Leader 
must appoint between 2 and 9 other elected Councillors to the Cabinet and may delegate to the 
Cabinet, individual Cabinet Members, Committees of the Cabinet, Ward Members and Officers many 
of the Cabinet functions and powers.  
 
The Council appoints at least one Overview & Scrutiny Committee, a Planning Committee and two 
Licensing & Control Committees.  
 
The Full Council appoints the following Joint Committees with the District Council of Adur: a Joint 
Audit & Governance Committee; Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee; Joint Staff Committee; 
Joint Senior Staff Committee and a Joint Senior Staff (Appeals) Committee. These are explained in 
more detail in Articles 7 to 9.  
 
The Council appoints Members to the Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee) with other 
Councils. 
 
Each year, the Full Council appoints a ceremonial Mayor of the Borough, who also chairs meetings 
of the Full Council. 

1.04 How Decisions are made 
 
The Full Council agrees the Policy Framework and Budget within which any other decisions within 
the Council are to be made.  
 
The Cabinet are responsible for most of the other Major Decisions. The Cabinet usually meets as a 
Joint Committee with the Cabinet of the District Council of Adur. This Committee is known as the 
Joint Strategic Committee. The fact that the Cabinet is to make a Key and/or Exempt Decision is 
published on the Council’s website not less than 28 calendar days before the decision is to be made. 
When such decisions are to be discussed with Council Officers at a meeting of the Cabinet this will 
be open for the public to attend, except where confidential information or, if determined, exempt 
matters are being discussed. The Cabinet has to make decisions which are in line with the Council’s 
overall policies and budget. If it wishes to make a decision which is outside the Budget or Policy 
Framework, this must be referred to the Full Council as a whole to decide.  
 
Cabinet Members take individual decisions, within the remit of their portfolios. These decisions are 
made outside formal meetings following receipt of a written report, with recommendations and 
advice, from Officers. These individual Cabinet Member decisions are often taken as joint decisions 
following consultation with the equivalent Executive Member of the District Council of Adur.  
 
The Council has put in place procedures to ensure that before such decisions are taken, there is 
appropriate opportunity for consultation with all interested parties and that the decisions must be 
recorded, in writing, kept and are available to the public. 
 
The majority of the day-to-day decisions of the Council are delegated to Officers. 
  

662



9 

1.05 Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Council will have at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee (‘OSC’) and a Joint Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (‘JOSC’) with the District Council of Adur which support the work of the Full 
Council and the Cabinet as well as scrutinising and challenging the decisions of the Cabinet and 
Officers when appropriate. When they are looking at policy development or reviewing decisions by 
the Cabinet, the OSC and JOSC can hold public hearings to receive evidence and opinions from the 
public, external experts, elected Members and Officers of the Council. Details of how matters can 
be brought before the OSC are set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 4 of 
the Constitution. The majority of the work of Overview and Scrutiny is carried out by the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the District Council of Adur. 

1.06 Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
 
The Council has a Joint Audit & Governance Committee with Adur District Council, which is 
responsible for: 

a) Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Elected Councillors and Co-opted 
Members and determining standards matters; 

b) Overseeing the audit function, annual accounts and the work of internal auditors; and 
c) For all Non-Executive functions that are not the responsibility of Full Council or any other 

Non-Executive Committee. 

1.07 Regulatory Committees 
 
The Council has the following three Regulatory Committees: 
 
The Planning Committee, which is responsible for the Council’s development control functions, 
determines the more complex or sensitive planning applications, and is responsible for planning 
enforcement and building regulations. Public involvement in this process is encouraged by the 
opportunity for the public (applicants and objectors) to make written and oral representations to the 
Committee on planning applications. 
 
The Licensing and Control Committee A, which is responsible for all Non-Executive licensing 
functions, other than those under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005, including the 
licensing of private hire vehicles, drivers and operators and hackney carriage vehicles and drivers. 
 
The Licensing and Control Committee B, which has been established under the Licensing Act 2003 
and is responsible for developing the Council’s Licensing Policy and making determinations under 
the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. 

1.08 The Council’s Staff 
 
Together with Adur District Council, the Council employs staff (called ‘Officers’) to give professional 
and practical advice, implement decisions of Members, make and implement delegated decisions 
and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services. Some Officers, namely the Chief Financial Officer 
(Section 151 Officer), Deputy Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officers, 
have a specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources wisely. A 
protocol in Part 5 of this Constitution governs the relationships between Officers and Members of 
the Council. 

1.09 Citizens’ Rights 
 
The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work. Citizens have a number of rights in 
their dealings with the Council. These are set out in more detail in Article 3. Some of these are legal 
rights, whilst others depend on the Council’s own processes. The Local Citizens’ Advice Bureau can 
advise on individuals’ legal rights. 
 

663



10 

Where members of the public use specific Council services, they have additional rights. These are 

not covered in this Constitution.  

664



11 

PART 2 - ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 

 

Article 1 – The Constitution 
 
1.01 Powers of the Council 
 

The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 
Constitution. Should there be a conflict between the two, the law will prevail. 
 

1.02 The Constitution 
 

This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of the Borough Council of 
Worthing. 
 

1.03 Purpose of the Constitution 
 

The purpose of the Constitution is to: 
(a) enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership with 

citizens, businesses and other organisations 
(b) support the active involvement of citizens and encourage all sections of the District’s 

communities to be involved in the Council’s decision-making processes; 
(c) help Elected Members represent their constituents more effectively; 
(d) enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 
(e) create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to public account; 
(f) ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were directly 

involved; 
(g) ensure that those responsible for decision-making are clearly identified to local 

people and that they explain the reasons for their decisions; 
(h) provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community; 
(i) balance speedy and reasoned decision-making with adequate checks and 

balances; 
(j) place high standards of conduct and probity at the centre of decision-making. 

 
1.04 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution 
 

Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of action, 
the Council will always choose that option which it thinks is most appropriate given the 
purposes stated above. 
 
The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in Article 
14. 

 
 

Article 2 – Members of the Council 
 
2.01 Composition 
 

The Council comprises 37 Members, otherwise called Councillors. Councillors are elected 
by the voters of the 13 Wards in the Borough in accordance with a scheme approved by the 
Secretary of State. 

  

665



12 

2.02 Eligibility 
 

Only registered voters of the Borough or those living or working within the Borough are 
eligible to stand as a Councillor. For additional information you should refer to Sections 79 
to 81 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
For the purposes of this Constitution the Council has resolved that the disqualification 
criteria appropriate to Councillors shall also apply to removal of the title of Honorary 
Alderman or Alderwoman by majority resolution at an ordinary meeting of the Council. 
 

2.03 Election and Term of Office of Councillors 
 

The Ordinary Election of a third of all Councillors will be held on the first Thursday in May in 
each year, or such date as is determined by legislation except that in 2017 and every fourth 
year thereafter there will be no Ordinary Borough Election. A Councillor’s term of office is 
four years starting on the fourth calendar day after being elected and finishing on the fourth 
calendar day after the date of the local Election four years later, unless they have been 
elected at a by-election, when the term is the remainder of the vacated office they have 
filled. 

 
2.04 Roles and Functions of all Councillors 
 

On accepting office, all Councillors sign a Statutory Declaration of Acceptance of Office. 
Acceptance of office provides an implied obligation for an Elected Member to comply with 
the Constitution.  
 
a) Key Roles 
 
All Councillors will participate constructively and effectively in the governance of the 
Borough and their local area. Councillors will: 
(i) Collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of strategic and 

corporate management functions; 
(ii) Represent their communities and bring the views of their communities into the 

Council’s decision-making process (i.e. become the advocate of and for their 
communities); 

(iii) Deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for constituents in resolving 
particular concerns or grievances; 

(iv) Balance different interests identified within their Ward and represent the Ward as a 
whole; 

(v) Be involved in decision-making; 
(vi) Be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and 
(vii) Maintain the highest standards of conduct, ethics and probity. 
 
More specifically, all Councillors will: 
 
(i) Participate constructively in the good governance of the area; 
(ii) Develop and maintain a prominent position within the community, which reflects their 

position as a democratically elected representative of the people within the Ward; 
(iii) Contribute actively to the formation and scrutiny of the Council’s policies, budget, 

strategies and service delivery; 
(iv) Develop and maintain a sound level of working knowledge of the Council's policies and 

practices generally and in particular in relation to services, plans and policies affecting 
Committees to which they are appointed or functions which are delegated to them and 
to their local area; 

(v) Exercise their judgement in the best interests of the Ward for which they were elected, 
subject to their overriding responsibility to the wider community, and deal with 
constituents’ enquiries and representations; 

666

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/part/V/crossheading/qualifications-and-disqualifications
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/part/V/crossheading/qualifications-and-disqualifications


13 

(vi) Champion the causes which best relate to the interests and sustainability of the 
community and campaign for the improvement of the quality of life of the community in 
terms of equity, economy and environment; 

(vii) Represent the Council on outside bodies as appointed by the Council or its Executive. 
(viii) Demonstrate awareness of their corporate parenting role and shared responsibility for 

understanding the impact of council decisions on, and championing the needs of, 
children in care and care leavers in the area. 

 
b) Key Tasks 
 
A Councillor’s key tasks are to: 
(i) Fulfil the statutory requirements of an Elected Member of the Council and the locally 

determined requirements of the Council itself, including compliance with all relevant 
codes of conduct and participation in those decisions and activities reserved to the Full 
Council; 

(ii) Participate effectively as a Cabinet Member, any Committee, Sub-Committee or 
working group to which they are appointed, including related responsibilities for the 
functions falling within their terms of reference and liaison with other public bodies to 
promote better understanding and partnership working; 

(iii) Participate, where appointed to do so, in the scrutiny or review of services, and their 
effectiveness in achieving the Council’s strategic objectives; 

(iv) Contribute constructively to open government and democratic renewal and actively 
encourage local people to participate generally in the governance of the area; 

(v) Participate in the activities of any outside body to which they are appointed, providing 
two-way communication between the Council and the relevant organisations; 

(vi) Report to the Council annually on the activities of any outside body to which they are 
appointed; 

(vii) Participate, as appointed, in consultative processes with the community and with other 
organisations; 

(viii) Develop and maintain a working knowledge of the organisations, services, activities 
and other factors that impact upon the well-being and identity of the Borough of 
Worthing; 

(ix) Develop and maintain good and effective working relationships with the Cabinet, Chairs 
and Vice-Chairs of the Council's Committees and relevant Officers of the Council; 

(x) Represent the local community as requested under the procedures for the Community 
Call for Action (Local Government Act 2007). 

 
c) Rights and Duties 
 
(i) Councillors will have rights of access to such documents, information, land and 

buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of their functions 
and in accordance with the law; 

(ii) Councillors will not make public information which is confidential or exempt without the 
consent of the Council or divulge information given in confidence to anyone other than 
a Councillor or Officer entitled to know it; 

(iii) For these purposes, ‘confidential’ and ‘exempt’ information are defined in the Access to 
Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

(iv) Councillors shall not request to inspect any document or have access to any 
information relating to any matter in which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
unless they have received a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer. 

(v) No Councillor shall have any claim by virtue of their position: 

 to enter any land or buildings occupied by the Council to which the public do not 
have access, or to which Members of the Council do not regularly have access, 
except with the permission of the Director responsible for the service of the 
Council for which the land or buildings are occupied, or the Chief Executive; 

 to exercise any power of the Council to enter or inspect other land or buildings, 
except where specifically authorised by the Council; 

667



14 

 to exercise any other powers of the Council. 
 

2.05 Conduct 
 

Councillors will, at all times, observe the Members’ Code of Conduct and the 
Member/Officer Protocol as set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 
 

2.06 Allowances 
 
 Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members’ 

Allowances Scheme as set out in Part 6 of this Constitution 
 

2.07 Political Groups 
 

Councillors may belong to Political Groups (which are not necessarily the same as political 
parties). The groups are entitled under the Local Government (Committees and Political 
Groups) Regulations to nominate Councillors to fill a proportion of the seats on certain 
Committees of the Council. 

 
Under these Regulations, the membership of most Committees, other than the Cabinet, 
broadly reflect the proportion of Councillors who are Members of each Political Group on 
the Council. The main principles are: 

(a) That not all the seats on the Committee are allocated to the same Political Group; 
(b) That the majority of the seats on the Committee are allocated to a Political Group if 

the majority of Councillors on the Council belong to that group; 
(c) Subject to paragraphs (a) and (b) above, the number of seats on each Committee 

reflects the proportion of Councillors in the various groups. 
 

At meetings of the Full Council, the Cabinet and Committees, individual Councillors may 
have regard to the views of their Political Group on policy matters, provided that they also 
take into account all other considerations. However, this would not apply to the 
determination of individual regulatory applications. 

 
2.08 External Representation 
 

The Council recognises the importance of its relationship with the communities it represents 
and all those who receive its services in order to provide desired outcomes. It achieves 
these aims in the following ways: 

(a) By recognising the opportunity for the public and external bodies to be involved in its 
business, through its Committee structure and engagement with the community; 

(b) By making appropriate Councillor appointments to other bodies; and 
(c) By ensuring that the Councillor representative role is meaningful and recognises the 

needs of the electorate. 
 
2.09 Indemnity  
 

The Council shall indemnify each and every Member, co-opted Member and Officer of the 
Council (‘the Beneficiary’) on demand from and against all liability for actions, claims, 
demands, costs, charges and expenses (including legal expenses on an indemnity basis) 
which may arise out of, or be in consequence of, any action of, or failure to, act by the 
Beneficiary which is: 

(a) authorised by the Council; or 
(b) forms part of, or arises from, any powers conferred or duties placed upon the 

Beneficiary as a consequence of any functions being carried on by that Beneficiary 
 

668



15 

but excluding any action of, or failure to act by, the Beneficiary which constitutes a criminal 
offence or is the result of fraud, deliberate wrong doing or recklessness. 

 
 

Article 3 – The Citizen and the Council 
 
3.01 Citizens’ Rights 
 

The council welcomes participation by members of the public in its work. A strong 

democratic council, working collaboratively across Worthing, can deliver (and advocate for) 

the policies and resources that all its citizens need to live a good life within the framework 

of a strong, creative and vibrant community. 

Members of the public who grow up, study, work, live and visit the Borough have a number 

of rights in their dealings with the council, including:  

(a) vote at local elections, if they are registered 
(b) contact the Council about any matters for which it is responsible; 
(c) contact their local councillor about any matter of concern to them and which are the 

responsibility of the Council; 
(d) attend meetings of Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny and Regulatory committees, except 

where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed; 
(e) find out from the Forward Plan what Major Decisions will be taken and when by 

Cabinet and officers and how they can make representations; 
(f) sign a petition: 

i) requesting the establishment of a parish council or similar Community 
Governance Review1  

ii) requesting a referendum to replace the council’s political management model2  
iii) on any matter for which the council’s is responsible in accordance with the 

Council’s Petition Scheme set out in Part 5 of the Constitution 
(g) inspect the following documents:  

i) agendas, public reports, background papers and any public records of decisions 
made by Council, Cabinet, committees and officers, except those relating to 
exempt or confidential items 

ii) the Constitution  
iii) the Register of Members’ Interests  
iv) the Council’s accounts as part of the annual audit and make their views known 

to the external auditor  
v) pay and remuneration policies for chief and senior officers  

(h) access other information as set out in the Access to Information Rules  
(i) make complaints about services to:  

i) the Council, under its customer complaints scheme  
ii) the Ombudsman, after using the Council's complaints scheme  
iii) the Monitoring Officer, about alleged breaches of the Member Code of Conduct 
iv) the Information Commissioner in relation to the Council’s actions under the Data 

Protection Act 1998 and the Freedom of Information Act 2000 
(j) ask questions or address all formal meetings of the Full Council, the Cabinet and 

Committees, subject to Council Standing Orders in Part 4 of this Constitution 
(k) attend and speak as part of a deputation at full Council meetings, subject to Council 

Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution 
(l) contribute to the discussions investigations by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and the Joint Overview & Scrutiny Committee at the discretion of the 
chair of the meeting;  

(m) take part in the Council’s consultation activities 

                                                
1 See the Legislative Reform (Community Governance Reviews) Order 2014  
2 See the Local Authorities (Referendums)(Petitions)(England) Regulations 2011. Every year, the Council will publish 
details of the number of electors required to instigate a referendum for a change in governance arrangements. 

669



16 

(n) initiate a Community Right to Buy, Community Right to Build, Community Right to 
Bid, Community Right to Challenge or participate in Neighbourhood Planning, as 
identified by the Localism Act 2011 (see below).  
 

3.02 Citizens’ Responsibilities 
 

Citizens have social responsibilities and the Council’s Officers and Members have a 
legitimate expectation to be treated courteously and with respect. Citizens must not be 
violent, abusive or threatening to Councillors, Co-opted Members or Officers and must not 
wilfully harm things owned by the Council, Councillors, Co-opted Members or Officers. 
 
Citizens are entitled to attend public meetings of the Full Council, the Cabinet and 
Committees, but must comply with the rulings of the Chair. They may not disrupt the 
meeting or cause undue disturbance or they may be removed from the meeting. 

 
3.03 The Community Rights 

 
The Localism Act 2011 introduced rights and powers for individuals and communities to 
take over public services, community assets and influence planning and development.  
 
The four community rights are a set of powers that give local people a greater say over how 
their community develops. They give local people the chance to decide what is built and 
how their area should develop. Groups of people have the chance to deliver local services 
and develop them into community enterprises.  
 
Community Right to Bid - We want to save our local pub, shop, library, park, football 
ground’  
 
The Right to Bid allows communities and parish councils to nominate buildings or land for 
listing by the local authority as an ‘asset of community value’. An asset can be listed if its 
principal use furthers (or has recently furthered) the community’s social well-being or social 
interests (which include cultural, sporting or recreational interests) and is likely to do so in 
the future.  
 
The council must keep a ‘List of Assets of Community Value’. The legislation outlines the 
definition of an asset of community value, what groups can nominate, the appeals process 
for land owners, timescales for groups interested in buying land or property on the list, and 
compensation available to the owners of land or property on the list. The council’s list can 
be found here: Assets of Community Value and Community Right to Bid - Adur & Worthing 
Councils (adur-worthing.gov.uk). If the asset comes up for sale, the community can ‘pause’ 
the sale and take up to six months to find the funding required to buy the asset.  
 
Several community organisations can nominate land and buildings for inclusion on the list, 
provided they have a local connection, which means their activities are wholly or partly 
concerned with the area, or with a neighbouring authority’s area. These include parish 
councils, neighbourhood forums (as defined in Neighbourhood Planning regulations), 
unconstituted community groups of at least 21 members and not-for-profit organisations 
(e.g. charities).  
 
Community Right to Build - ‘We want to build affordable housing and other community 

facilities’  
 
The Right to Build gives communities the power to build new shops, housing or community 
facilities without going through the normal planning process. It gives local organisations the 
right to bring forward small-scale community-led developments.  
 

670

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/assets-of-community-value/#:~:text=A%20building%20or%20piece%20of,do%20so%20in%20the%20future.
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/assets-of-community-value/#:~:text=A%20building%20or%20piece%20of,do%20so%20in%20the%20future.


17 

A Community Right to Build Order is a type of Neighbourhood Development Order and 
forms part of the Neighbourhood Planning provisions in the Localism Act that give parish 
councils or neighbourhood forums the right to develop plans for their area.  
 
Development proposals in neighbourhood plans and Community Right to Build need to be 
agreed through an independent examination and have the agreement of 50% of people 
who vote through a community referendum. Local authorities have a duty to assist and 
advise community organisations, which are also free to involve partners such as developers 
or housing associations.  
 
If your community wants to construct or rebuild community buildings such as a community 
centre or community-led housing, a Community Right to Build Order could be the best route 
to take.  
 
Community Right to Challenge - ‘We can do this better – I want to deliver a local service 

and set up a social enterprise’  
 
The Right to Challenge gives local groups the opportunity to express their interest in taking 
over a local service where they think they can do it differently and better.  
 
Community Right to Challenge is the right for community organisations to say that they are 
interested in running a particular public service and potentially get the chance to bid to do 
this. If a community group, charity, parish council or group of public sector staff identifies a 
service they would like to run, then they can submit an expression of interest to the council 
that runs the service. If accepted, this will trigger a procurement exercise. The interested 
group will then most likely need to compete with others in a competitive tendering process.  
 
Community Right to Reclaim Land - ‘We can use this land in a better way’  
 
The Community Right to Reclaim Land allows communities to challenge local councils and 
some other public bodies to release their unused and underused land. As land is held on 
the behalf of the taxpayer, councils have a duty to use it effectively. This right gives 
communities the power to ensure that they do so.  
 
Anyone can submit a request to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government requesting that the council be directed to dispose of the land so that it can 
brought back into use. If it is found that the land is being held without being adequately 
utilized, and that the council has no plans to bring the land into use, the Secretary of State 
can direct the council to dispose of the land, usually on the open market.  
 
Submitting requests is a simple and easy process, with request forms and detailed 
guidance available on the government website.  
 
Community Asset Transfer  
 
Community Asset Transfer is the transfer of management and/or ownership of land or 
buildings from a public body to a community-based organisation, at less than market value, 
in order to promote social, economic or environmental well-being.  
 
The Community Right to Bid is sometimes confused with Community Asset Transfer. 
Although they share some of the same objectives, they are substantively different 
mechanisms that communities can use to acquire land and buildings. The main differences 
are:  

(a) Community Asset Transfer is the transfer of ownership or management of publicly 
owned assets, whereas the Community Right to Bid applies to some public and 
some privately owned assets.  

671



18 

(b) Community Asset Transfer is the transfer of management or ownership at less than 
market value. Community Right to Bid gives a window of opportunity for a 
community group to compete to buy an asset on the open market.  

(c) Community Asset Transfer is a voluntary process entered into proactively by public 
bodies. The Community Right to Bid is a pre-emptive legal right pertaining to 
communities.  

 
 

Article 4 – The Full Council 
 
4.01 The Role of the Full Council 
 
 Full Council is the policy-making body from which the Policy Framework will be established. 

Council has responsibility for ensuring that the correct structures are in place for the 
effective implementation and delivery of its services. Once the structures are agreed and 
appointments made, the Cabinet will be delegated the responsibility of policy 
implementation and effective service delivery. The election of the Leader and the 
appointment of Non-Executive Committees, will be the responsibility of the Full Council. 

 
Each year the Full Council will elect a Chair, who shall not then be a Cabinet Member or 
the Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Each year the Full Council shall appoint a Vice Chair who shall not then be a Cabinet 
Member. 
 
The Full Council shall normally meet six times per year unless a need is identified for any 
additional meetings. 
 

4.02  Meanings  
 

a) Policy Framework 
 

The Council’s Policy Framework comprises the following list of plans and strategies 
relevant to its functions, [some of] which are required by law3 to be decided by Full Council, 
usually on the recommendation of the Cabinet:  

 
The Policy Framework includes the following plans and strategies: 

 

(a) The Council’s Vision and its Key Aims and Objectives (Corporate Plan); 
(b) Plans and strategies which together comprise the Local Plan; 
(c) Licensing Authority Policy Statement; 
(d) Gambling Policy; 
(d)(e) Crime and Disorder Reduction Policy (s6 Crime & Disorder Act 1988) 
(e)(f) Any other plan or strategy (whether statutory or non-statutory) which the 

Council resolves shall be adopted or approved by it. 
 

Any proposal to amend these plans or adopt policies or take decisions that are not in 
accordance with them can only be decided by Full Council.  
 
There will, however, be a number of supplementary policies, plans, strategies, operating 
procedures or protocols that sit under these plans, which do not need to be approved by 
the Council. Those supplementary documents can be approved by the relevant committee, 
Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Officer with responsibility for the area of operations 
concerned.  

                                                
3 Regulation 4 and Schedule 3 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 

672



19 

 
b) Budget 
 
The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services and projects, 
proposed contingency funds, the Council Tax base, setting the Council Tax and decisions 
relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing requirements, the control of its capital 
expenditure and the setting of virement limits. 

 
4.03 Full Council Meetings 
 

There are five types of Full Council Meeting: 
(a) the Annual Meeting; 
(b) Ordinary Meetings; 
(c) Budget setting meetings; 
(d) Extraordinary Meetings; 
(e) Special Meetings; 

 
and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution, except that there will be no Public Question Time, Petitions and Questions 
from Elected Members at the Annual Meeting. 

 
4.04 Responsibility for Functions 
 

The Full Council will determine the responsibilities for the Council’s functions which are not 
the responsibility of the Cabinet. Details are set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 
 

Article 5 – Chairing the Council 
 
5.01 Role and Function of the Mayor 
 

The Mayor will be elected by Council annually. 
 
The Mayor, and, in their absence, the Deputy Mayor will have the following roles, functions 
and responsibilities: 
 

(a) Chairing meetings of Full Council 
(i) to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the 

Constitution when necessary, having taken advice from the Monitoring Officer; 
(ii) to preside over meetings of the Full Council so that its business can be carried 

out efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of 
the community; 

(iii) to ensure that the Full Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of 
concern to the local community and the place at which Members who are not 
on the Cabinet or do not hold Committee Chairs are able to hold the Cabinet 
and Committee Chairs to account; 

(iv) ensure that meetings of Council are properly constituted and that a quorum is 
present; 

(v) preserve order in the conduct of those present;  
(vi) preside over meetings of the council so that its business can be carried out 

efficiently and with regard to the rights of councillors and the interests of the 
community;  

(vii) confine discussion within the scope of the meeting and reasonable limits to 
time;  

(viii) decide whether proposed motions and amendments are in order;  
(ix) determine the validity of points of order; 
(x) determine other incidental questions that require decision;  

673



20 

(xi) ascertain the sense of the meeting by:  

 putting relevant questions to the meeting and taking a vote thereon  

 declaring the result  
(xii) cause a ballot to be taken if demanded;  
(xiii) approve the draft minutes or other record of proceedings;  
(xiv) adjourn the meeting with the consent of those present where circumstances 

justify it;  
(xv) declare the meeting closed when its business is complete. 
 

(b) Civic and Ceremonial Role 
 

The Mayor shall be the First Citizen of the Borough of Worthing and shall have the 
following civic responsibilities: 
(i) to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and the Mayor 

may determine generally or in appropriate cases; 
(ii) to promote the Council as a whole and act as a focal point for the community; 
(iii) to host functions in order to promote the Council and its interests. 
(iv) Although as a Councillor the Mayor will have been elected through their 

political party the actual role of the Mayor is non-political and the officer of 
Mayor is not to be used to promote or support any particular political party, 
including the use of regalia for the purposes of electioneering.  

 
(c) Generally: 

 
The Mayor may promote a Mayor’s Charity Appeal for the charity or charities of their 
choice during their term of office and will make external arrangements for provision 
of all the support necessary in relation to their involvement with, or support of, that 
charity appeal.  
 
 

Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny 
 
6.01 Introduction 
 

(a) Overview and Scrutiny is an important element of the Constitution. The Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Sub-Committees and/or 
panels which may be established from time to time to carry out overview and scrutiny 
represent powerful public forums through which Councillors can monitor the 
implementation of the Council’s policies and the quality of its services; make 
recommendations on the discharge of the Council’s functions and/or other matters 
affecting the Borough of Worthing and hold the Cabinet to account for their decisions 
and actions; 

(b) Overview and Scrutiny is concerned with the overall wellbeing of the Borough and all 
factors affecting this, including not only Council services but those of other agencies 
and other matters. Overview and Scrutiny is an important mechanism for community 
Councillors to represent their Wards and are a focus for stakeholder and community 
involvement; 

(c) This Article outlines the basic elements of the Overview and Scrutiny function. It should 
be read in conjunction with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, which appear 
at Part 4 of the Constitution and provide a more detailed framework for the operation of 
Overview and Scrutiny. 

 
6.02 The Council has appointed an Overview and Scrutiny Committee and jointly with the District 

Council of Adur, a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee to discharge the functions 
conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 and regulations under Section 
32 of the Local Government Act 2000.  

  

674



21 

6.03 General Role 
 

Within their Terms of Reference, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee may: 
(a) review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with the 

discharge of any of the Council’s functions; 
(b) make reports and/or recommendations to the Full Council, the Cabinet or any 

Committee in connection with the discharge of any functions; 
(c) consider and make reports or recommendations to the Full Council, the Cabinet or a 

Committee on any matters affecting the Council’s area or its inhabitants; and 
(d) exercise the right, following a Call-In, to ask for reconsideration of decisions made but 

not yet implemented by the Cabinet; 
(e) perform scrutiny functions relating to crime and disorder and to scrutinise the Adur & 

Worthing Safer Communities Partnership4 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 15 Members appointed by the Council and its 
membership will reflect the political balance on the Council.  
 
The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 16 Members. The Council appoints 8 
Members and the District Council of Adur appoints 8 Members. 
 
All councillors (except Cabinet Members) may be members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee. However, no member may be 
involved in scrutinising a decision with which they have been directly involved, or in which 
they have pecuniary or personal interest, or any other actual or perceived conflict of 
interest, e.g. a close relationship with a decision-maker. 

 
6.04 Co-opted Members 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
their Sub-Committees and Working Groups, may, from time to time, co-opt up to two non-
voting Members to assist them with a particular matter. A Co-opted Member may not sit as 
a Co-opted Member on both an Executive and a Scrutiny Committee when considering the 
same matter. 
 

6.05 Specific Functions 
 

a)  Policy development and review 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may: 
(i) assist the Council and the Cabinet on all issues, including the development of 

new policies and the review of existing policies and services; 
(ii) assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget and Policy 

Framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues; 
(iii) conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy 

issues and possible options; 
(iv) consider all performance, resources and corporate governance issues;  
(v) question Cabinet Members about their views on issues and proposals affecting 

the area; and appoint Panels to assist it with its work; 
(vi) set and monitor the annual scrutiny work programme. 

 
b)  Scrutiny 

 

                                                
4 s.19 Police and Justice Act 2006 and Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009 

675



22 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
may: 
(i) review and scrutinise the decisions made by the Cabinet and Council Officers, 

both in relation to individual decisions and over time; 
(ii) review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy 

objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas; 
(iii) question Cabinet Members and Officers about their decisions and performance, 

whether generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a period of 
time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or projects; 

(iv) make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or Council arising from the outcome 
of the scrutiny process; 

(v) review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and 
invite reports from them by requesting them to address the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and local people about their activities and performance; and 

(vi) question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent). 
 

c)  Finance 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
may exercise overall responsibility for any finances made available to it. 
 

d)  Annual Report 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
must report annually to Full Council on its workings and make recommendations for 
future work programmes and amended working methods, if appropriate. 
 

e)  Officers 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
may exercise overall responsibility for the work programme of any Officers 
employed to support their work. 

 
6.06 Proceedings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will conduct its proceedings in accordance with the 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, or jointly with the Borough Council of Worthing in 
accordance with the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution.  
 

6.07 Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee) Call-in Panel 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will appoint one of its Members to be a Member of 
the Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee) Call-in Panel, who is not a 
Member, nor a substitute Member, of the Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint 
Committee). The function of this Panel will be to consider decisions made, but not yet 
implemented, by Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee), when challenged by 
a Member of the Board referring such a decision to the Panel.  

 
 

Article 7 – The Cabinet  
 
7.01 Role 
 

The Cabinet will carry out all of the Council’s functions which are not the responsibility of 
any other part of the Council, whether by law or under this Constitution. 
 

676



23 

7.02 Form and Composition 
 

The Cabinet will consist of the Leader, who shall act as Chair of the Cabinet, together with 
between 2 and 9 other Councillors appointed by the Leader, one of whom the Leader shall 
appoint as Deputy Leader. 
 

7.03 Leader 
 

The Leader will be a Councillor elected to the position of Leader by the Council. The Leader 
will hold office until: 

(a) They resign from office. 
(b) They are removed from office by the Council. 
(c) If the Leader in office immediately before the Council elections is re-elected as a 

councillor within the Political Group having an overall majority of councillors after the 
elections, then the Leader shall continue in office until the election of a Leader by 
the Council and may exercise any Executive functions under this Constitution, if 
necessary; 

(d) If the Leader in office immediately before the Council elections ceases to be a 
councillor or ceases to be within the Political Group having an overall majority of 
councillors after the elections, then the Leader shall not continue in office and 
delegated power is granted to the Chief Executive in cases of genuine urgency to 
exercise all Executive functions of the Council in consultation with the 
representative of the largest Political Group of councillors (or groups in the event of 
a parity of councillors). 

 
7.04 Deputy Leader 
 

The Leader shall appoint a Cabinet Member to be the Deputy Leader. 
 
The Deputy Leader will hold office until: 

(a) they resign from office; 
(b) they cease to be a Councillor; or 
(c) they are removed from office by the Leader 

 
7.05 Cabinet Members 
 

Other Cabinet Members shall be appointed by the Leader and have delegated to them 
specific Executive functions. They shall hold office until: 

(a) they resign from office; 
(b) they cease to be Councillors; 
(c) they are removed from office by the Leader. 

 
7.06 Proceedings of the Cabinet 
 

Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Council’s Procedure 
Rules and the Cabinet Procedure Rules, as set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

7.07 Responsibility for Functions 
 

The Leader, at their discretion, will determine which individual Cabinet Members, 
Committees of the Cabinet, Ward Members, Officers or joint arrangements are responsible 
for the exercise of particular Executive functions. The Monitoring Officer will maintain a list 
setting out such arrangements in Part 3 of this Constitution. The Leader will notify the 
Monitoring Officer of any appointments, removals or changes to Executive delegations, 
which shall then be circulated to all Members and take effect immediately. 

 
 

677



24 

Article 8 – Regulatory and Other Non-Executive Committees and 
Advisory Panels 
 

8.01 Regulatory Committees  
 

The Council will appoint the following Committees: 
(a) Planning Committee; 
(b) Licensing and Control Committee A; 
(c) Licensing and Control Committee B 

 
8.02 Non-Executive Decision-Making Committees  
 

The Council will, jointly with the District Council of Adur, appoint the following Non-
Executive Decision Making Committees: 

(a) Joint Audit & Governance Committee; 
(b) Joint Staff Committee; 
(c) Joint Senior Staff Committee; 
(d) Joint Senior Staff (Appeals) Committee 

 
8.03 Advisory Panels 
 

The Council will, jointly with the District Council of Adur appoint the following advisory 
panels: 

(a) Joint Independent Remuneration Panel. 
 

8.04 Terms of Reference and Procedure Rules 
 
The terms of reference and delegated powers of the Committees are set out in Part 3 of 
this Constitution.  
 
The terms of reference of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee should be read in 
conjunction with the Standards Procedure Rules in Part 4. The terms of reference of the 
Joint Staff Committee, Joint Senior Staff Committee and Joint Senior Staff Appeals 
Committee should be read in conjunction with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in 
Part 4. The terms of reference for the Planning Committee should be read in conjunction 
with the Probity in Planning document in Part 5. 
 
The terms of reference, procedure rules and delegated functions of the Joint Independent 
Remuneration Panel can be found in Part 4 of this Constitution.  

 
 

Article 9 – Governance 
 
9.01 Standards  
 

The Council has established a Joint Audit & Governance Committee with the District 
Council of Adur. 
 
The Committee will carry out functions delegated to it by the Council in accordance with the 
Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000 and the Localism Act 2011 including the Standards 
functions. 
 

9.02 Composition 
 

a) Political Balance 
 

678



25 

The Joint Audit & Governance Committee has to comply with the political balance rules in 
Section 15 of the Local Government & Housing Act 1989. 

 
b) Membership 

 
The Joint Audit & Governance Committee is composed of the following:  

(i) Eight Worthing Borough Councillors only one of whom can be a Cabinet Member; 
(ii) Eight Adur District Councillors only one of whom can be a Cabinet Member; 
(iii) Up to three persons who are not Councillors nor Officers of the Council nor any 

other body having a Standards Committee and are appointed as Independent non-
voting co-opted members (‘Independent Persons’); 

(iv) One Member of Lancing Parish Council and one Member of Sompting Parish 
Council (Parish Representatives) appointed as non-voting Co-opted Members to 
advise the Committee on standards matters relating to a Parish. 

 
c) ‘Independent Persons’ 

 
‘Independent Persons’ are independent non-voting Co-opted Members of the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee. Their role and function is to: 

(i) advise and assist the Committee by providing an independent opinion on the 
matters before the Committee; 

(ii) advise the Monitoring Officer, as consultee, in respect of complaints under the 
Member Code of Conduct; and 

(iii) advise any Member who is the subject of a complaint under the Member Code of 
Conduct, (the ‘Subject Member’), as a consultee. 

 
Not more than one Independent Person shall advise the Committee in respect of 
standards matters at any one time. 

 
d) Parish Representatives 
 

Parish Representatives will not be entitled to vote at meetings. At least one Parish 
Representative should be present when matters relating to Parish Councils or their 
Members are being considered, although a Parish Representative must not advise 
in any matter affecting the Parish Council or Parish Councillors of the Parish of 
which they are a Parish Councillor. 

 
e) Local Determinations  
 

The Committee may appoint a Sub-Committee, comprising at least two Members of 
the Council, and at least two Members of Adur District Council and one Independent 
Person. The Members of the Sub-Committee shall be selected by the Monitoring 
Officer from the Members of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee. 
 
When considering a complaint in respect of a Parish Councillor the Sub-Committee 
shall include a Parish Representative.  
 

9.03 Role and Function of Members of the Governance Committee  
 

(a) Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and Co-opted 
Members; 

(b) Assisting the Councillors and Co-opted Members to observe the Code of Members 
Conduct; 

(c) Advising the Council on the adoption, or revision, or replacement of the Code of 
Members’ Conduct; 

(d) Monitoring the operation of the Code of Members’ Conduct; 

679



26 

(e) Advising, training or arranging for the training of Councillors and Co-opted Members on 
matters relating to the Code of Members Conduct; 

(f) Granting dispensations to Councillors and Co-opted Members from requirements 
relating to interests set out in the Code of Members Conduct, which have not been dealt 
with by the Monitoring Officer.  

(g) Hearing and determining allegations that a Member or Co-opted Member of the 
Borough Council has failed or may have failed to comply with the Code of Members’ 
Conduct in accordance with the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 and any relevant 
regulations; 

(h) To co-opt, in an advisory capacity only, any person who is an Independent Person at 
another Local Authority, to advise the Committee or any Sub-Committee. Such advice 
to be provided on such terms as the Committee may determine and agree with the 
person and the Local Authority concerned, and in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and any relevant regulations; 

(i) To make arrangements for the appointment of two Parish Representatives to advise the 
Committee on Parish matters; 

(j) To receive an annual report from the Monitoring Officer on the local resolution and 
assessment of allegations of breaches of the Code of Members’ Conduct; 

(k) To support the Monitoring Officer in the exercise of the Officers’ Ethical Standards 
functions, in particular the duty to establish and maintain Registers of Interest for the 
Council; 

(l) Any other functions imposed by statute; 
(m) To appoint a Sub-Committee consisting of two elected Members of the Council, two 

elected Members of Adur District Council, one co-opted Parish Representative (for 
Parish Matters) and one Independent Person to determine applications for dispensation 
and complaints following investigations. 

 
 

Article 10 – Joint Arrangements 
 
10.01 Joint Arrangements 
 

(a) The Council has established joint arrangements with the District Council of Adur to 
exercise Non-Executive functions, and to advise the Council. These arrangements 
include the appointment of Joint Committees with the District Council of Adur. 

(b) The Cabinet has established joint arrangements with the District Council of Adur to 
exercise Executive functions. These arrangements include the appointment of a Joint 
Strategic Committee with the Executive of the District Council of Adur. 

(c) The Council has established joint arrangements with Brighton & Hove City Council, and 
the District Councils of Adur, Lewes in relation to the Greater Brighton Economic 
Region under the City Deal arrangements. These arrangements include the 
appointment of a Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee). 

(d) The Council may establish further joint arrangements with the one or more Local 
Authorities to exercise Non-Executive functions, and to advise the Council. These 
arrangements may include the appointment of Joint Committees with the other Local 
Authorities. 

(e) The Cabinet may establish further joint arrangements with one or more other Local 
Authorities to exercise Executive functions. These arrangements may include the 
appointment of a Joint Committee with the other Local Authorities. 

 
10.2 Arrangements to Promote Well-Being 
 

The Council or the Cabinet, in order to promote the economic, social or environmental well-
being of its area, may: 
(a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 
(b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or body; and 
(c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or body. 

680



27 

 
10.3 Access to Information 
 

(a) The Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution apply. 
(b) If all the Members of a Joint Committee are Cabinet Members in each of the 

participating Authorities then its access to information regime is the same as that 
applied to the Cabinet. 

(c) If the Joint Committee contains Members who are not on the Cabinet of any 
participating Authority then the Access to Information Rules in Part V of the Local 
Government Act 1972 will apply. 

 
10.4 Delegation to and from Other Local Authorities 
 

(a) The Council may delegate Non-Executive functions to another Local Authority or, in 
certain circumstances, the Cabinet of another Local Authority. 

(b) The Cabinet may delegate Executive functions to another Local Authority or the Cabinet 
of another Local Authority in certain circumstances. 

(c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another Local Authority 
shall be reserved to the Full Council. 

(d) The Council has accepted delegations from the South Downs National Park Authority in 
relation to Planning matters. 

 
10.5 Contracting Out 
 

The Cabinet may contract out, to another body or organisation, functions which may be 
exercised by an Officer and which are subject to an Order under Section 70 of the 
Delegation and Contracting Out Act 1994, or under contracting arrangements where the 
contractor acts as the Council’s agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is 
no delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision-making. In the event of such 
delegation, the decision to contract out shall be reserved to Full Council. 

 
 

Article 11 – Officers 
 
11.01 Management Structure 
 

a)  General 
 

The Council may employ such staff (referred to as Officers) as it considers 
necessary to carry out its functions. The Full Council will confirm the appointment of 
the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), the Chief Finance Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer. All other staff will be appointed by the Chief Executive or by an 
individual to whom the Chief Executive has delegated authority. All appointments 
must be made in compliance of the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 
of the Constitution.  
 
Adur and Worthing Councils have a Joint Officer Management Structure; some of 

the areas of responsibility listed in this part of the Constitution may refer only to one 

Council. The Joint Committee Agreement, as amended, has the definitive roles and 

responsibilities. Full details of the delegations to Officers can be found in the Joint 

Scheme of Delegations to Officers, which is included within Part 4 of this 

Constitution.  

 
b)  Corporate Leadership Team 

 

681



28 

The Council will engage persons for the following posts and they will collectively be 
designated as the Corporate Leadership Team (‘CLT’): 
 

Chief Executive 

Director for Housing & Communities 

Director for Sustainability and Resources 

Director for Place 

Assistant Director Place & Economy 

Assistant Director Regenerative Development 

Assistant Director Housing, Homelessness & Prevention 

Assistant Director Finance 

Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services 

Assistant Director Operations & Sustainability 

Assistant Director People & Change 

 

 
 c) Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer 

 
The Council will designate the following statutory posts as shown: 
 

Post 
 

Designation 

Chief Executive Head of Paid Service, Returning Officer (for Adur, 

Worthing and Parish elections), Deputy Returning 

Officer (for West Sussex County Council 

elections), Acting Returning Officer (for 

Parliamentary elections) and Electoral 

Registration Officer (for Police and Crime 

Commissioner elections). 

Assistant Director Legal 
& Democratic Services 

Monitoring Officer (Section 5 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989).  

 
Assistant Director 
Finance 

 
Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and Section 114 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1982) 

 
Such posts will have the functions described in Articles 11.02–11.04 below. 

 
d) Structure 

 
The Chief Executive will, from time to time, report to Full Council on the overall 
departmental structure of the Council, showing the management structure and 
deployment of Officers. This is set out at Part 7 of this Constitution and may be 
amended from time to time by Full Council. 
 

e) The Council’s Pay Policy 
 

The Chief Executive shall produce the Council’s Pay Policy to be approved by Full 
Council no later than 31 March each year. 
 

11.02 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 
 

a)  Discharge of functions by the Council 
 

682



29 

The Head of Paid Service will from time to time report to the Council on the manner 
in which the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated, the number and 
grade of Officers required for the discharge of functions and the organisation of 
Officers. 

 
b)  Appointment and dismissal of staff  

 
The Council has delegated to the Head of Paid Service responsibility for certain 
staffing matters as set out in the Officer Employment Procedure Rules set out in 
Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 
On acceptance of appointment all Officers are obliged to comply with the provisions 
of the Constitution. 

 
c) Restrictions on functions 

 
The Head of Paid Service cannot be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of 
Chief Finance Officer, if a qualified accountant. 
 

11.03 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 
 

a)  Maintaining the Constitution 
 

The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and 
will ensure that it is openly available to Members, Officers and the public. The 
Monitoring Officer has the delegated authority to make minor and inconsequential 
amendments to the Constitution at any time. 
 

b)  Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making 
 

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the 
Monitoring Officer will report to the Council, or to the Cabinet in relation to any 
Executive decision, if they consider that any proposal, decision or omission would 
give rise, or has given rise, to unlawfulness, or maladministration or service failure. 
Such a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being 
implemented until the report has been considered. 
 

c)  Supporting the Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
 

The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high 
standards of conduct through provision of support to the Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee. 
 

d) Code of Conduct complaints 
 

The Monitoring Officer will: 
(i) carry out an initial assessment of every allegation that a Member of the 

Council has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and, after consulting 
one of the Independent Persons if necessary, decide whether or not it 
should be investigated; 

(ii) appoint an Investigator if they decide that a complaint merits formal 
investigation; 

(iii) review the Investigator’s report, in consultation with one of the Independent 
Persons and decide either that no further action is required or that the matter 
should be referred to a Sub-Committee of the Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee for a hearing. 

 

683



30 

e) Proper Officer for Access to Information 
 

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that all decisions, together with the reasons for 
those decisions, relevant Officer reports and background papers, are made publicly 
available as soon as possible. The Monitoring Officer will be the Proper Officer for 
determining whether information should be exempt. 
 

f) Providing advice 
 

The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to 
take decisions and maladministration issues to all Members. 
 

g) Restrictions on posts 
 

The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of Paid 
Service. 

 
11.04 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 
 

a)  Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision-making. 
 

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief 
Finance Officer will report to the Council, or to the Cabinet in relation to an 
Executive function, and the Council’s External Auditor, if they consider that any 
proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or 
is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency, or if the Council is about to 
enter an item of account unlawfully. 
 

b)  Administration of Financial Affairs 
 

The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the administration of the 
financial affairs of the Council. 

 
c)  Contributing to Corporate Management 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of the 
Council, in particular through the provision of professional financial advice. 
 

d)  Providing Advice 
 

The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority 
to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and 
Policy Framework issues to all Members and will support Council. 
 

e)  Providing Financial Information 
 

The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial information to the media, members 
of the public and the community. 

 
f) Advising whether Executive decisions are within the budget and the financial 

regulations 
 
 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for advising whether Executive decisions 

are within the financial regulations and whether funding for such decisions is within 
the budget. 

 
g) Restriction on Functions 

684



31 

 
The Chief Finance Officer shall not be the Monitoring Officer, but may be the Head 
of Paid Service. 
 
 

11.05 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer 

 
The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such Officers, 
accommodation and other resources as are, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer and 
Chief Finance Officer, sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 
 

11.06 Conduct 
 

Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 
 

11.07 Employment 
 

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of Officers will comply with the Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
 

Article 12 – Decision-Making 
 
12.01 Responsibility for Decision-Making 
 

The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of which part of the Council or which 
individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions, relating to particular areas or 
functions. This record is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 
 

12.02 Principles of Decision-Making 
 

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles: 
(a) there should be clarity of aims and desired outcomes; 
(b) all decision shall be in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework, Finance, 

Contract and all other procedure rules, statutory requirements, guidance and codes 
of practice; 

(c) proper regard should be paid to the outcome of any internal or external consultation; 
(d) a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 
(e) assessing the impact on human rights, equality, diversity and sustainability; 
(f) proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 
(g) there should be an explanation of the alternative options considered;  
(h) there should be proper and documented records and reasons given for all 

decisions; 
(i) take into account all relevant considerations and ignore those which are irrelevant; 
(j) due consultation and proper advice is taken from Officers and consideration of 

alternative options before decisions are reached; 
(k) impartiality and an absence of bias, pre-determination or conflicts of interest; 
(l) any interests are properly declared. 

 
In exercising discretion, the decision-maker must: 

(a) understand the law that regulates the decision-making power and gives effect to it. 
The decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

(b) take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the 
Authority as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

(c) leave out of account irrelevant considerations;  
(d) act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good;  

685



32 

(e) not reach a decision which no Authority acting reasonably could reach (also known 
as the ‘rationality’ or ‘taking leave of your senses’ principle);  

(f) comply with the rule that Local Government finance is to be conducted on an annual 
basis, save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward 
funding are unlawful; and  

(g) act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 
To be lawful, a decision: 
 

(a) If taken in Full Council, Cabinet, Committee, Sub-Committee or Joint Committee, 
must comply with the principle of being reached by a majority of Councillors present 
and voting, at a properly constituted meeting; 

(b) Be one which the decision-maker is empowered or obliged to take, otherwise it is 
ultra vires; 

(c) If intended to secure action (as opposed, for example, to a resolution merely 
expressing the Council’s collective view on an issue), be capable of execution, or it 
will be of no effect; and 

(d) Not purport to undo what has already been done irrevocably (but it can rescind an 
earlier decision where this is feasible). 

 
There can be no substitute for appropriate advice on a matter-by-matter basis. This guidance 
cannot be, and does not purport to be, comprehensive or replace that professional advice. 

 
12.03 Types of decision 

a) Decisions reserved to Full Council 
 

 Decisions relating to the functions listed in Article 4.03 will be made by the Full 
Council and not delegated. 

b) Key Decisions 
 
 Certain Executive decisions are ‘Key Decisions’ within the terms of the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2000. These are decisions which are likely: 

 
 Either: 

i) to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of 
savings which are, significant, having regard to the Council’s budget for the 
service or function to which the decision relates, which the Council has 
currently determined to be;  
A) Capital schemes, within the approved Capital Programme, in excess 

of £250,000; or 
B) the letting/re-letting of contracts of value of £100,000 £75,000 or 

more over the period of the contract, where provision has been made 
in the approved budget; or 

C) expenditure in addition to the approved budget, requiring a virement 
or a supplementary estimate in excess of £100,000;  

 
 Or: 

ii) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an 
area comprising two or more Wards in the wider area of Adur District Council 
and Worthing Borough Council jointly. 

 
In interpreting after the event whether or not a decision should or should not have 
been classified as a Key Decision, the following will be taken into account: 

686



33 

 The issue must be assessed on the basis of the information which could 
reasonably have been available to the decision-maker at the time; 

 The ‘de minimis’5 rule will be applied; 

 The level and nature of advice sought by the decision-maker. The Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer will have significant roles to play in this. 

 
A decision-maker may only make a Key Decision in accordance with the 
requirements of the Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
No treasury management decisions, as defined by the Chief Financial Officer, shall 
be deemed to be key decisions. 

 
Major Decisions are decisions which are not Key Decisions and are not Administrative Decisions. 
 
Administrative Decisions are decisions that are ancillary to the delivery of the function such as 
the: 

(a) ordering of stationery; 
(b) publication of statutory notices; 
(c) deployment of staff.  

 
12.04 Decision-Making by the Full Council 
 

Subject to Article 12.08 the Full Council will follow the Council’s Standing Orders relating to 
the Council in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 

12.05 Decision-Making by the Cabinet 
 

Subject to Article 12.08 the Cabinet will follow the Cabinet Procedure Rules relating to the 
Cabinet in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 

12.06 Decision-Making by Overview and Scrutiny  
 

Subject to Article 12.08 the Overview and Scrutiny function will follow the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 

12.07 Decision-Making by Other Committees  
 

Subject to Article 12.08, other Council committees and sub-committees will follow those 
parts of the Council’s Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution as apply to 
them. 
 

12.08 Decision-Making by Council bodies acting as tribunals 
 

Any decision-making body within the Council acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-judicial 
manner or determining/considering (other than for the purpose of giving advice) the civil 
rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person, will follow a proper 
procedure which accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial 
as contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 
 
 

  

                                                
5 5 ‘De minimis’ means (in this context) that this rule does not apply to trifling, minor or insignificant variations, departures 

or breaches. 

687



34 

Article 13 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters 
 
13.01 Financial Management 
 

The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with the 
Financial Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

13.02 Contracts 
 

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contract Procedure Rules as set 
out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

13.03 Legal Proceedings 
 

The Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services is authorised to institute, defend, 
participate in, prosecute or settle any legal proceedings in any case where such action is 
necessary to give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case where they consider that 
such action is in the Council’s best interests. The Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 
Services may delegate this authority to a suitably qualified Officer or a suitably qualified 
external provider. 
 

13.04 Authentication of Documents 
 

Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of the 
Council, it will be signed by the  Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services or another 
person authorised by them, unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires.  
 
All contracts entered into on behalf of the Council in the course of the discharge of an 
Executive or Non-Executive function shall be made in writing and signed in accordance with 
the Contract Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
Any contract with a value exceeding £250,000 entered into on behalf of the Council in the 
course of the discharge of an Executive or Non-Executive function shall be made in writing 
and must either be signed by at least two Officers of the Council, or made under the 
Common Seal of the Council attested by at least one Officer, in accordance with the 
Contract Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

13.05 Common Seal of the Council 
 

The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of the Assistant 
Director Legal & Democratic Services A decision of the Council, or of any part of it, will be 
sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision. The 
Common Seal will be affixed to those documents which in the opinion of the Assistant 
Director Legal & Democratic Services should be sealed. The affixing of the Common Seal 
will be attested by the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services or by any other 
person duly authorised by them, who is employed by the Council and authorised in writing. 
The Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services may additionally arrange for the Mayor 
to attest the Common Seal where this is desirable for civic or ceremonial reasons. 
 
The Monitoring Officer may adopt such means of sealing as from time to time they consider 
appropriate. This may include allowing electronic sealing in accordance with section 7A(1) 
of the Electronic Communications Act 2000 (as may be amended from time to time). 
Affixing of an electronic seal approved in this way shall be of the same legal effect as 
affixing the Common Seal of the Council (provided that where a witness is required, the 
additional formalities for witnessing the electronic execution are complied with). 

 
 

688



35 

Article 14 – Review and Revision of the Constitution 
 

14.01 Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution 
 

The Joint Audit & Governance Committee will monitor and review the operation of the 
Constitution to ensure that its aims and principles are given full effect. 
 

14.02 Protocol for Monitoring and Review of the Constitution by the Monitoring Officer 
 

A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the strengths and weaknesses of the 
Constitution adopted by the Council, and to make recommendations for ways in which it 
could be amended in order to better achieve the purposes set out in Article 1. In 
undertaking this task the Monitoring Officer may: 
 

(a) observe meetings of different parts of the Member and Officer structure; 
(b) undertake an audit of a sample of decisions; 
(c) record and analyse issues raised with them by Members, Officers, the public and 

other relevant stakeholders; and 
(d) compare practices in this Council with those in other comparable Councils, or with 

national examples of best practice. 
 

14.03 Changes to Constitution 
 

a) Approval 
 

Changes to the Constitution arising either from a review, a motion from Council or 
from the Monitoring Officer will only be approved by the Full Council after 
consideration of the proposal by the Joint Audit & Governance Committee.  
 

b) Minor or inconsequential changes 
 

The Monitoring Officer has delegated authority to update the Constitution arising 
from decisions of the Council or Cabinet or where legislation requires a change in 
wording or terminology, such changes to be reported to Members of the Joint Audit 
& Governance Committee. The Monitoring Officer also has delegated authority to 
make ‘de minimis’ inconsequential changes to the Constitution, without the requiring 
of such reporting. 
 

c) Change in the form of Executive  
 

Special Procedures apply to changes in the form of Executive including (but not 
limited to) binding referendums when the law requires. 
 

d) Delegations 
 

Where a delegation is made to an Officer by the Council, to last six months or more, 
that delegation may need to be reflected within the Constitution (normally Part 3 or 
one of the Appendices), in which case the Monitoring Officer has authority to update 
the Constitution to reflect that change. 
 

e) Changes that are predominantly managerial in their nature 
 

The Monitoring Officer has the authority to amend the Constitution in relation to 
matters that are predominantly managerial in their nature where there is agreement 
from the other two Statutory Officers, namely the Chief Executive (Head of Paid 
Service) and the Chief Financial Officer, and where the matter has been subject to 
consultation with the appropriate Members (normally the relevant Cabinet Member 

689



36 

and opposition spokespersons). Any such changes will be reported subsequently to 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee.  

 
f) Changes arising from changes to Cabinet Portfolios 
 

The Monitoring Officer has authority to amend the Constitution to reflect decisions of 
the Leader in relation to the delegation of Executive functions.  

 
 

Article 15 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the 
Constitution 

 
15.01 Suspension or Waiver of the Constitution 
 

a) Limit to Suspension 
 

The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended or waived. The Standing 
Orders and Procedure Rules below may be suspended or waived by the Full 
Council or the Cabinet or any Committee, to the extent permitted within those 
Procedure Rules, and the law. 
 

b) Procedure to Suspend 
 

A motion to suspend any Standing Order or Procedure Rule in accordance with 
Article 15.01 must be moved in accordance with the Standing Order or Procedure 
Rules. The extent and duration of suspension will be proportionate to the result to 
be achieved, taking account of the purposes of the Constitution as set out in Article 
1. 
 

15.02 Interpretation 
 

The person presiding at any meeting shall take into account legal advice in interpreting the 
Constitution. The ruling of the person presiding at any meeting as to the construction or 
application of this Constitution in relation to any proceedings of the meeting shall not be 
challenged at that meeting. Such interpretation will have regard to the purposes of this 
Constitution contained in Article 1. 
 

15.03 Publication 
 

(a) On first being elected to the Council, and on an individual declaring their acceptance of 
office, the Monitoring Officer will make available an electronic or paper copy of this 
Constitution to each Member. 

(b) The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies are available for inspection at Council 
Offices, Libraries and other appropriate locations, and that they are available for 
purchase by members of the local press and the public on payment of a reasonable fee. 

 
  

690



37 

PART 3 – RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

 
Commentary 

 
1.1 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 specify 

that all functions are the responsibility of the Cabinet except for: 
(a) Those specified in the legislation as not being the responsibility of the Cabinet;  
(b) Those which are specified in the legislation as being capable of being the 

responsibility of the Cabinet (the ‘local choice functions’); and  
(c) Those which are specified in the legislation to be, only to some extent, the 

responsibility of the Cabinet.  
 
The Cabinet arrangements contained in the Constitution make clear how these distinctions 
are given effect. 

 
Principles of Delegation 

 
2.1 One of the primary purposes of the Constitution is to make it clear where responsibility for a 

particular function lies, and which person or body (Full Council, Committee, Sub-Committee, 
Cabinet (whether acting individually or collectively), Joint Committee, Ward Member or 
Officer) is accountable for making a particular decision or not. 

 
2.2 The Hierarchy of Decision-Making 
 

The Full Council 
 
The Full Council will exercise the functions reserved by law to Full Council as set out in Article 
4 of this Constitution, and those determined locally to be functions of Full Council, as set out 
in Sections 3 and 4 of this Part 3 of the Constitution. 
 
The Cabinet 
 
The Cabinet will exercise the functions set out in Sections 3 and 5 of this Part 3 of the 
Constitution. 
 
The Responsibility for Local Choice Functions 
 
The responsibility for local choice functions will be exercised in accordance with Section 3 of 
this Part 3 of the Constitution. 
 
Non-Executive Committees  
 
Non-Executive Committees will exercise the functions set out in Section 4 of this Part 3 of 
the Constitution. Committees are able to appoint Sub-Committees. The Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may appoint Panels or 
Working Groups from time to time to carry out reviews. 
 
Officers 
 
Officers will exercise delegated functions, in accordance with: 

(a) Section 2 of Part 3 of the Constitution (Principles of Delegation); 
(b) Column 4 of the table in Section 4 of Part 3 of the Constitution (Responsibility for 

Council functions); 

691



38 

(c) Section 5 of Part 3 of the Constitution (Terms of Reference and Delegated Powers of 
the Cabinet and Non-Executive Committees); 

(d) The Scheme of Delegations to Officers in Part 4 of the Constitution;  
(e) Provisions made elsewhere in the Constitution. 

 
2.3 If a function is delegated to the appropriate Director, the Chief Executive may nominate a 

substitute Director or exercise the delegation himself, where this would, in the Chief 
Executive’s opinion, be appropriate, provided that the Chief Executive or Director has the 
requisite professional qualification, experience and knowledge, where such is required. 

 
2.4 If a decision falls within the remit of a Cabinet Member described in Section 3 of this Part 3 

of the Constitution, that Member may take the decision. However, if responsibility overlaps 
with the portfolios of other Cabinet Members, the decision must be referred to the Cabinet as 
a whole. 

 
2.5 If a decision falls within the remit of a Cabinet Member and that Cabinet Member is 

unavailable to make the decision or has not made the decision, then the Leader may make 
the decision in their place. 
 

2.6 Limitations and parameters of delegations 
 

(a) The exercise of a delegated power, duty or function shall be subject to: 
(i) The Council’s Policy Framework and budget; and 
(ii) The Constitution (including, but not limited to, the Council Standing Orders, 

Financial Regulations and Contract Procedure Rules) and any corporate 
standards; 

(b) All delegated functions shall be deemed to be exercised on behalf of and/or in the name 
of the Council; 

(c) An Officer to whom a power, duty or function is delegated may, unless prohibited by the 
delegation, authorise another Officer to exercise that power, duty or function, subject to 
a requirement that the seniority of the Officer exercising the power should be of an 
appropriate level having regard to the nature of the power in question. Such authorisation 
shall be in writing, copied to the Monitoring Officer, and shall include whether or not the 
receiving Officer can further delegate.  

(d) References to any Act, regulation, Order or byelaw shall be construed as including any 
re-enactment or remaking of the same, whether or not with amendments. 

(e) Any reference to any Act of Parliament includes reference to regulations, subordinate and 
EU legislation upon which either UK legislation is based (as amended or replaced from 
time to time), or from which powers, duties and functions of the Council are derived. 

(f) Where the exercise of powers is subject to prior consultation with a Cabinet Member or 
Officer, the consultation shall be in writing, unless due to urgency that is not practicable, 
in which case there may be verbal consultation which must be confirmed, by the Officer 
undertaking the consultation to the consultee in writing, as soon as reasonably 
practicable and, in any event, within five working days. 

(g) Subject to any express instructions to the contrary from the delegating body, any power 
to approve also includes the power to refuse, and the power to impose appropriate 
conditions. 

(h) All delegations are subject to: 
(i) The right of the delegating body to decide any matter in a particular case; 
(ii) The right of an individual delegatee, in any case, to refer the matter to the 

delegating body for a decision, rather than exercising their delegation; and 
(iii) Any restrictions, conditions or directions of the delegating body and of the 

delegation. 
(i) In exercising delegated powers, the delegatee shall: 

(i) Take account of the requirements of the Constitution and shall address all legal, 
financial and other professional safeguards as if the matter were not delegated; 

692



39 

(ii) Exercise the delegation so as to promote the efficient, effective and economic 
running of the Council, and in furtherance of the Council’s visions and value; 

(iii) Ensure that, except where otherwise expressly provided, either within this part of 
the Constitution or by resolution of the delegating body, the exercise of any 
delegated power, duty or function is subject to having the appropriate and 
necessary budgetary provision in place. 

(j) Any post specifically referred to shall be deemed to include any successor post, or a post 
which includes within the job description, elements relevant to any particular delegation, 
which were also present in the earlier post and shall include anyone acting up or 
seconded. 

(k) Any reference to a Committee shall be deemed to include reference to a successor 
Committee, provided that the subject matter of a particular delegation can be found within 
the Terms of Reference of both the earlier and the successor Committee or Sub-
Committee. 

(l) Where a power or duty is delegated, the exercise of that power or duty is contingent upon 
the opinion of the Council that particular conditions or factual circumstances exist, then 
the delegatee in question has the power to determine whether or not those circumstances 
do exist, or those conditions have been fulfilled, in the name of, and with the authority of, 
the Council. 

(m) If a matter is delegated, but that delegation cannot be implemented, that should be 
reported to the delegating body. 

(n) Functions, matters, powers, authorisations, delegations, duties and responsibilities, shall 
be construed in a broad and inclusive fashion, and shall include the doing of anything 
which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive, or incidental, to the discharge of anything 
specified. 

 

Local Choice Functions 
 
3.1 These are functions that could be, but don’t have to be, the responsibility of the Cabinet, and 

whether a function is Executive or Non-Executive, is down to local choice. The Council has 
determined the decision-maker for local choice functions to be as set out in the table below, 
but the decision-maker is able to further delegate to Officers in accordance with the Officer 
Scheme of Delegations in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 
3.2 Where it has been determined locally to be a Non-Executive function, see Article 4 and the 

table below. Where it has been determined locally to be an Executive function, see Article 7 
and the table below. 

 

Function 
Local 

Choice 
Decision-Maker 

Any function under a local Act other than a function 
specified or referred to in regulation 2 or Schedule 1. 

Executive Cabinet as a whole 

The determination of appeals against any decision made 
by or on behalf of the authority (other than those 
reserved to a Non-Executive committee)  

Executive Cabinet as a whole 

Any function relating to contaminated land 
(a)  to the extent that the function involves the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

 
Executive 

Cabinet Member for 
Environmental Services 

(b)  to the extent that the function does not involve the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

Non-
Executive 

Governance Committee 

Performing any function relating to controlling pollution 
or managing air quality: 
(a)  to the extent that the function involves the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

 
 
 
Executive 

Cabinet Member for 
Environmental Services 

693



40 

(b) to the extent that the function does not involve the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

Non-
Executive 

Governance Committee 

The service of an Abatement Notice in respect of a 
statutory nuisance under Section 80(1) Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 

Non-
Executive 

Governance Committee 

The passing of a resolution that Schedule 2 Noise and 
Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 should apply under Section 
8 of the Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993: 
(a) to the extent that the function involves the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

 
 
 
Executive 

Cabinet Member for 
Environmental Services 

(b) to the extent that the function does not involve the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

Non-
Executive 

Governance Committee 

Inspection of the Authority’s area to detect any statutory 
nuisance  
(a) to the extent that the function involves the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

 
 
Executive 

Cabinet Member for 
Environmental Services 

(b) to the extent that the function does not involve the 
formulation of a strategic policy 

Non-
Executive 

Governance Committee 

The investigation of any complaints as to the existence 
of a statutory nuisance  

Non-
Executive 

Governance Committee 

Obtaining information from Section 330 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as to interests in land: 
(a) to the extent that it is necessary to exercise these 
powers in respect of actions which are preliminary to the 
exercise of powers to make compulsory purchase orders 

 
 
Executive 

Cabinet Member for 
Environmental Services 

(b) to the extent that it is necessary to exercise these 
powers in respect of actions which are not preliminary to 
the exercise of powers to make compulsory purchase 
orders 

Non-
Executive 

Planning Committee 

Obtaining information about people interested in land 
under Section 16 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976: 
(a) to the extent that it is necessary to exercise these 
powers in respect of actions which are preliminary to the 
exercise of powers to make compulsory purchase orders 

 
 
 
Executive 

Cabinet Member for 
Environmental Services 

(b) to the extent that it is necessary to exercise these 
powers in respect of actions which are not preliminary to 
the exercise of powers to make compulsory purchase 
orders 

Non-
Executive 

Governance Committee 

Making agreements for highways works to be carried out Non-
Executive 

Governance Committee 

The appointment (and revocation of appointment) of any 
individual: 
(1) to any office other than an office in which they are 
employed by the Authority; 
(2) to any body other than: 
(a) the Authority; 
(b) a Joint Committee of two or more Authorities; or 
(c) to any Committee or Sub-Committee of such a 
body. 

Executive 
and Non-
Executive 

Leader where the 
appointment relates to 
Executive powers.  
The Council where the 
appointment relates to 
Non-Executive functions 

The making of agreements with other Local Authorities 
for the placing of staff at the disposal of those other 
Authorities: 
(a) to the extent that the staff are being placed at the 
disposal of the other Authority in relation to the 
discharge of functions which are the responsibility of the 
Authority placing the staff 

 
 
 
Non-
Executive 

Governance Committee 

694



41 

(b) to the extent that the staff are being placed at the 
disposal of the other Authority in relation to the 
discharge of functions which are not the responsibility of 
the Authority placing the staff 

Executive Cabinet as a whole 

 

Responsibility for Council Functions 
 
4.1 Regulation 2 and Schedule 1 Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 

Regulations 2000, provides that the following functions may not be the responsibility of the 
Cabinet and shall be reserved to the Full Council. These functions are therefore all Non-
Executive.  

 
4.2 The table below should be read in conjunction with the Committee terms of reference in Part 

3 and the Officer Scheme of Delegations in Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 

Functions Service Area 
with 

responsibility 
for Function 

To elect the Chair and appoint the Vice Chair of the Council  Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources 

To approve the Schedule of Ordinary Council meetings for the forthcoming 
year 

 

With the exception of the Cabinet, to appoint and dissolve Committees and 
determine or amend their terms of reference and size 

 

With the exception of the Cabinet, to determine the allocation of seats on the 
Council’s Committees, and to make appointments to them 

 

To appoint representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an 
Executive function or has been delegated by the Full Council 

 

To make all necessary arrangements for the discharge of Non-Executive 
functions through joint arrangements, including the establishment of Joint 
Committees, Area Committees or delegation to another Local Authority 

 

To authorise the contracting out of Non-Executive functions to another body  

To accept any delegation of functions from another Local Authority (in relation 
to both Executive and Non-Executive functions) 

 

Make rules of procedure, adopt, amend (apart from changes in relation to 
Executive functions which will be discharged by the Leader/Cabinet) or 
suspend the Constitution, in accordance with the provisions of Article 15 

 Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services  

Appoint Proper Officers  Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services  

To make arrangements in accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution for the appointment of Directors, Statutory 
Chief Officers, non-statutory Chief Officers, the Monitoring Officer and the 
Deputy Chief Officers 

 

To appoint and dismiss the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), Chief 
Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer 

 

To designate Officers as the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and 
Chief Finance Officer 

 

To determine the terms and conditions on which staff hold office, including 
procedures for their dismissal, unless otherwise delegated 

 

To make appointments to various Independent Person roles; as required by 
statute 

 

695



42 

To approve the Council’s budget, as defined in Article 4.02(b) of the 
Constitution, and Statement of Accounts (Part 3 of the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015) 

Assistant 
Director 
Finance 
(Section 151 
Officer) 

Subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Financial Procedure Rules 
in Part 4 of this Constitution, to make decisions about any matter in the 
discharge of an Executive function which is covered by the Financial 
Procedure Rules or included in the budget, but where the decision-maker is 
minded to make it in a manner that would be contrary to Financial Procedure 
Rules or contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the budget: 
(a) where the decision is made under any procedure for the approval of 

urgent decisions approved by the Council; 
(b) where departures from the budget: 

i) are not met from external funding, a contingency or reserve set up 
for the purpose; 

ii) are not met from proven savings elsewhere in the revenue budget 
and/or exceed £150,000; 

iii) are not met from proven savings in that financial year in the 
Capital Programme and/or exceed £150,000; 

iv) the new project (whether revenue or capital) is not fully funded by 
a grant or external contribution already contained in the Council 
budget and/or the cost of the project exceeds £150,000; 

v) the expenditure has the effect of changing Council policy. 

 

To approve, amend, revoke or replace any plan or strategy falling within the 
Council’s Policy Framework (including any decision required for submission to 
the Secretary of State) 

 

To approve, amend, revoke or replace the Members’ Allowances Scheme and 
to determine the levels of all allowances payable to Councillors, taking into 
consideration the recommendations of the Council’s Joint Independent 
Remuneration Panel 

Democratic 
Services 
Manager 

To adopt, revise or replace the Code of Conduct for Councillors and Co-opted 
Members and arrange for dealing with allegations of misconduct 

 

To authorise Co-opted Members to vote at meetings of Scrutiny Committees 
in accordance with a scheme approved by the Council 

 

To determine matters relating to the failure of a Councillor to attend meetings 
for a period of six months 

 

Adoption and revision of the Statement of Licensing Policy (Licensing Act, 
2003)  

Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources 

Adoption and revision of the Statement of Gambling Policy (Gambling Act 
2005) 

Director for  
Sustainability & 
Resources 

To resolve not to issue casino premises licences  

To determine late night levy requirements (Chapter 2 of Part 2 of the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, regulations made thereunder and 
para. 1.4 of Home Office guidance) 

 

To make an Order identifying a place as a designated public place for the 
purposes of Police powers in relation to alcohol consumption and designating 
a locality as an alcohol disorder zone, unless otherwise delegated 

 

To determine policy in respect of the licensing of Hackney Carriages and 
Private Hire Vehicles and review such policy upon the recommendation of the 
Licensing Committee 

 

Power to make, amend, revoke, re-enact or enforce bylaws (other than those 
relating to taxis and private hire vehicles) 

Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 

696

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/416092/Late_Night_Levy_-_new_guidance_as_at_24_March_2015__final_.pdf


43 

To promote or oppose local or personal Bills (section 239 of the Local 
Government Act 1972) 

Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 

Making a request for single-Member electoral areas Returning 
Officer/Electoral 
Registration 
Officer 

Resolving to consult on and change a scheme for elections and related 
publicity (sections 33(2), 35, 38(2), 41, 40(2) and 52 of the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007) 

Returning 
Officer/Electoral 
Registration 
Officer 

To make proposals for a change in governance arrangements or complying 
with a duty to make a change in governance arrangements, approving the 
proposals, deciding whether the change should be subject to approval and a 
referendum to make the change, including provision in Executive 
arrangements for the Executive Leader to be removed by resolution and 
passing a resolution for the removal of the Executive Leader (section 81 Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007) 

Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 

Making a reorganisation order implementing recommendations of a 
community governance review (section 81 Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007) 

Assistant 
Director Legal 
& Democratic 
Services 

Functions relating to Electoral Registration and the holding of elections 
(section 39(4) of the Representation of the People Act 1983) 

Returning 
Officer/Electoral 
Registration 
Officer 

To pay expenses properly incurred by Electoral Registration Officers (section 
54 of the Representation of the People Act 1983) 

 

The appointment of the Electoral Registration Officer (section 8(2) of the 
Representation of the People Act 1983) and the Returning Officer for local 
government elections (section 35 of the Representation of the People Act 
1983)  

 

Assigning officers in relation to requisitions of the Electoral Registration Officer 
(section 52(4) of the Representation of the People Act 1983) 

 

To fill vacancies in the event of insufficient nominations at an ordinary election 
of parish councillors (section 21 of the Representation of the People Act 1985) 

 

To declare vacancy in office in certain cases (section 86 of the Local 
Government Act 1972) 

 

To give public notice of a casual vacancy (section 87 of the Local Government 
Act 1972) 

 

To submit proposals to the Secretary of State for an order under section 10 
(pilot schemes for local elections in England and Wales) of the Representation 
of the People Act 2000 

 

To divide constituencies into polling districts (sections 18A to 18E of, and 
Schedule A1 to, the Representation of the People Act 1983) 

 

To divide electoral wards into polling districts at local government elections 
(section 31 of the Representation of the People Act 1983) 

 

Duties relating to notice to Electoral Commission (sections 36 and 42 of the 
2007 Act) 

 

To alter years of ordinary elections of parish councillors (section 53 of the 
2007 Act) 

 

To change of name of electoral area (section 59 of the 2007 Act)  

To approve the public consultation on any draft proposals relating to a Local 
Plan document (Part 6 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012) 

 

697



44 

To exercise functions in relation to community governance arrangements, 
including those relating to Parishes and Parish Councils, and to determine any 
matters relating to the name and status of areas 

 

To dissolve small parish councils (section 10 of the Local Government Act 
1972) 

 

To make temporary appointments to parish councils (section 91 of the Local 
Government Act 1972) 

 

To make orders for grouping parishes, dissolving groups and separating 
parishes from groups (section 11 of the Local Government Act 1972) 

 

To exercise such local choice functions as may be set out in Part 3 of this 
Constitution which the Full Council decides should be undertaken by itself, 
rather than by the Cabinet or any Committee or Officer 

 

To determine all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to the Council 
or which have not been delegated to any Committee or Officer 

 

 
 

Terms of Reference and Delegated Powers of the Cabinet and Non-
 Executive Committees 
 
Non-Executive Committees 
 
Powers Delegated to Non-Executive Committees  
 

(a) Each Committee is authorised to exercise such powers and duties as are delegated to it by 
the Council and shall act within the plans, policies, strategies and budgets approved by the 
Council. 

(b) All Committees have power to create such sub-committees as are necessary for the 
efficient conduct of their business. 

(c) The following functions may not be delegated to Non-Executive Committees: 
(i) to approve any matter which the Council is required by statute to approve; 
(ii) to approve the budget and financial strategies, and the plans and strategies listed 

in Article 4 under the Policy Framework; 
(iii) the discontinuance of, or major alterations to, existing services; 
(iv) amendment to Council Standing Orders, Financial Regulations, Contract 

Procedure Rules or the Terms of Reference of Committees; 
(v) to make Major Decisions relating to District, County or other boundaries; 
(vi) the right to dissolve a Committee or alter its membership or Terms of Reference; 

and 
(vii) the appointment of Members to other organisations. 

 
The Cabinet 
 
Powers of the Cabinet 
 

(a) Composition: Between three and ten Elected Members of the Council, including the Leader 
and Deputy Leader. 

(b) Meetings: Up to twelve Ordinary meetings per year. 
(c) The Cabinet will be the Cabinet arm of the Council with the authority to action policies 

within the planned strategies and budget approved by the Council. 
(d) The composition of between three and ten Members does not, and is not, required to, 

follow the rules of proportionality relating to Political Groups. 
(e) The Executive Leader (‘the Leader’), as elected by Council, shall chair the Cabinet 

meetings and may designate a portfolio role to each Cabinet Member. 
(f) The Leader will appoint Cabinet Members and delegate to them a portfolio as set out in the 

terms of reference below. The Leader will notify the Monitoring Officer of any such 

698



45 

appointments, removals or changes to the Cabinet or Cabinet delegations, which shall then 
be circulated to all Members and take effect immediately. 

(g) The Leader may also appoint Portfolio Policy Advisors Team Members to assist Cabinet 
Members. 

(h) The Leader shall prepare the 28 Calendar Day Notice of Key and/or Exempt Decisions to 
be made by the Cabinet. 

(i) For the avoidance of doubt, any reference to partnerships contained below may not include 
legally binding partnerships. 

(j) The Cabinet has the power to appoint Members to other organisations, in respect of 
Executive functions. 

 
Terms of Reference of the Cabinet 

 
1. To exercise those Executive functions delegated to it by the Leader. 
2. To establish joint arrangements with one or more Local Authorities to exercise functions 

which are Executive functions, including the delegation or acceptance of a delegation to or 
from another Local Authority or public agency. Such arrangements may involve the 
appointment of Joint Committees with these other Local Authorities. 

3. To implement policies as determined by Council. 
4. To determine Key Decisions. 
5. To advise the Council on financial and economic policy, to determine the Council Tax Base 

and to recommend annually, as determined by statute, proposals for the Council Tax. To 
exercise overall responsibility for the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs 
under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

6. To maintain overall control of the accounts and approved budgets and to consider virement 
requests in accordance with Financial Regulations. 

7. To determine an itemised asset renewal programme annually as part of the approved 
capital programme. 

8. To recommend to the Licensing Committee fees and charges relating to licences and 
registration. 

9. To determine the rent levels for District Housing. 
10. In partnership with other agencies, to review and update as required the Sustainable 

Community Strategy for the consideration of the Council. 
11. To submit annually to the Council a corporate plan and annual report and to monitor its 

effectiveness. 
12. (a) to be responsible for the production and review of the Local Plan under the Town 

  & Country Planning Act 1990, consulting the Planning Committee as appropriate 
  and subject to final approval by the Council of:  

(i) issues, papers and draft policies and proposals prior to public consultation on them; 
and  

(ii) the final version of the Local Plan; and 
(b) to prepare supplementary planning guidance, designate conservation areas, areas of  

 archaeological interest and nature reserves, remove permitted development rights 
through Article 4 directions and undertake other Executive functions under the Town & 
Country Planning Act which are not carried out by the Planning Committee or otherwise 
delegated to Officers. 

13. To prepare or consider (new or amended) policies from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for the consideration of Council. 

14. To exercise the Cabinet powers and duties of the Council under all statutes, regulations 
and codes of practice relating to the health and safety of Council staff. 

15. To let contracts on behalf of the Council in accordance with Contract Standing Orders. 
16. To oversee the Council’s corporate accommodation and to ensure the provision of safe, 

well-maintained premises to staff and public and to recommend the acquisition and 
disposal of such property. 

17. To be responsible for the acquisition, management, maintenance, disposal and letting of all 
property of the Council and to consider the views of the Council before making a 
compulsory purchase order. 

699



46 

18. To be responsible for the review and implementation of the Council’s Asset Management 
Plan and Capital Strategy. 

19. To advise the Council on proposals for emergency planning and to ensure an adequate 
response to incidents affecting the District. 

20. To exercise general control over the information, public relations and publicity services of 
the Council. 

21. To prepare, approve and implement the Council’s ICT Strategy. 
22. To respond on behalf of the Council to external reports and consultation papers. 
23. To authorise exceptions to approved policies only where the particular merits of individual 

cases justify the exceptions being made. 
24. To authorise the spend of Section 106 monies in accordance with the Financial 

Regulations, following consultation with the Ward Member. 
25. To appoint appropriate panels and forums to assist to advise the Cabinet in carrying out its 

functions. 
26. To appoint or nominate persons to outside organisations which relate to functions of the 

Cabinet. 
27. To review and recommend any updates to the Risk Management Strategy to the Joint Audit 

& Governance Committee every two years, and to receive and review the annual risk and 
opportunities management report. 

 
Delegation of Executive functions 
 
 The Leader may delegate any of their Executive functions to: 
 

(a) The Cabinet; 

(b) A Cabinet committee; 

(c) An individual Cabinet Member;  
(d) Officers;  
(e) A Ward Member (to the extent that the function is exercisable in relation to their electoral 

ward); or 
(f) Another body in accordance with joint working arrangements. 

 
Cabinet Portfolios 
 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio Representation 
on Outside 

Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio Team 
MembersPolicy 

Advisors 

Leader 
Cllr Beccy 
Cooper 

 Overall policy and 
strategy (vision and 
priorities) 

 City Deal (strategic 
matters) 

 Democratic Services, 
including committee 
management 

 Devolution and County 
liaison lead, including 
education and highways 
(Active/sustainable 
transport, in partnership 
with Regeneration’s 
management of 
transport planning & 
infrastructure) 

 Electoral Services within 
the remit of the Cabinet. 

 External relations, 
including complaints 

Coastal West 
Sussex 
Partnership Board 
 
District Councils’ 
Network 
 
Greater Brighton 
Economic Board 
 
Local 
Government 
Association 
General 
Assembly 
 
Quality Bus 
Partnership 

 The Cabinet 

 A Cabinet 
committee 

 An individual 
Cabinet 
Member 

 Officers  

 A Ward 
Member (to the 
extent that the 
function is 
exercisable in 
relation to their 
electoral ward) 

 Another body 
in accordance 
with joint 
working 
arrangements 

Cllr Dale 
Overton 

700



47 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio Representation 
on Outside 

Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio Team 
MembersPolicy 

Advisors 

management, marketing 
and promotion 

 Head of Paid Service 
responsibilities 

 Mayor of the Borough 
and civic matters 

 Media and 
communications 
(internal and external) 

 Member Services 

 Partnership working 
(lead) 

 Performance 
management, including 
improvement plans 

 Reputation 
management, including 
risk (policy) 

 Transport planning and 
infrastructure (to share 
with Regeneration 
portfolio for 
active/sustainable 
transport development) 

Deputy Leader  
Cllr Carl 
Walker 

 In the absence of the 
Leader, the Deputy 
Leader has overall 
responsibility for the 
portfolio of the Leader 

 Big Listening 

 15 minute 
neighbourhoods and 
place-based working 

 Children and young 
people, including mental 
wellbeing and family 
intervention project (to 
share with Community 
Wellbeing portfolio) 

 Cost of living emergency 

 Developing community 
participatory decision-
making structures. 

 Public Consultation, 
including Community 
Engagement and 
Citizens Panels 

 Refugees 

 Young persons’ audit 
and consultation 

 Youth Council 

Worthing 
Community 
Partnership T/A 
Worthing 
Community Chest 

 The Cabinet as 
a whole (when 
acting in the 
absence of the 
Leader); 

 Joint Strategic 
Committee 
(when acting in 
the absence of 
the Leader); 

 An Individual 
Cabinet 
Member (when 
acting in the 
absence of the 
Leader); 

 Officers 

Cllr Dan 
Hermitage 
 

Citizen 
Services 
Cllr Emma 
Taylor-Beal 

 Affordable Housing 
Provision 

 Benefit Fraud 
Detection/Prevention 

 Customer contacts and 
services, including Help 
Points 

Discretionary 
Housing 
Payments Board 

Officers Cllr Margaret 
Howard 
 
Cllr Dawn Smith 

701



48 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio Representation 
on Outside 

Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio Team 
MembersPolicy 

Advisors 

 Disabled Facilities Grant 
and other Housing 
Grants 

 Empty Properties 

 Homelessness and 
Advice (Prevention and 
Management), including 
Choice Based Lettings, 
Bed & Breakfast 

 Housing and Council 
Tax Benefits and 
Adjudication 

 Housing Need, Options 
and Advice and Housing 
Register 

 Housing Strategy 
Development & Review 

 Private Sector Housing 

 Revenues and Benefits 

 Strategic Housing and 
Enabling 

 Supported People 

Environmental 
Services 
Cllr Vicki 
Wells 

 Cemeteries and burials 

 Crematorium 

 Environmental 
management and 
strategy (to share with 
Climate Emergency 
Portfolio) 

 Environmental protection 
and ecological 
sustainability, including 
noise, dog control, food 
hygiene, land drainage, 
pest control and air 
quality (to share with the 
Climate Emergency 
portfolio) 

 Foreshore - Sussex Bay 
and fishing community 

 Parks, open and green 
spaces, including ground 
maintenance and 
allotments 

 Public health, health 
protection and 
enforcement, including 
Food Safety 
Enforcement Plan 

 Public conveniences 

 Street cleaning 

 Waste minimisation, 
collection and recycling 

 Water Quality, including 
sea bathing water status 

Action in Rural 
Sussex 
 
South Downs 
National Park 
Authority 

Officers Cllr Mike Barrett 
 
Cllr Ibsha 
Choudhury 

702



49 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio Representation 
on Outside 

Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio Team 
MembersPolicy 

Advisors 

Community 
Wellbeing 
Cllr Rosey 
Whorlow 

 Children and young 
people, including mental 
wellbeing and family 
intervention project (to 
share with Deputy 
Leader portfolio) 

 Community 
development, including 
cohesion and planning, 
fuel poverty, community 
buildings and wellbeing 
hubs 

 Community safety, anti-
social behaviour 
management, 
neighbourhood disputes, 
safer communities 

 Cross-cutting health 
issues and NHS liaison 

 Equalities and diversity 

 Partnership working with 
voluntary and 
community organisations 
(including Local 
Strategic Partnership; 
grants and 
commissioning) 

 Police performance and 
intelligence liaison 

Western Sussex 
Hospitals NHS 
Foundation 
Trust(now called 
University 
Hospitals Sussex 
NHS Foundation 
Trust (UHSussex) 
 
Sussex Police 
and Crime Panel 
(PCP) 

Officers Cllr Sam 
Theodoridi 
 
Cllr Henna 
Chowdhury 

Regeneration 
Cllr Caroline 
Baxter 

 Beach Maintenance, 
including beach huts and 
chalets 

 Building Control 

 Coastal protection, 
including Coastal West 
Sussex 

 Economic strategy and 
development, including 
regeneration, visitor 
economy, business 
partnerships, 
concessions, events 
and/or projects to 
encourage or are likely 
to generate viable, 
sustainable economic 
gain (to share with 
Climate Emergency 
portfolio) 

 Foreshore management, 
including Worthing Pier 

 Health and safety and 
civil contingencies 
(Emergency Plan), 
including business 
continuity 

 Minor amendments to 
planning policy, Local 
Plan documents, 

PATROL (Parking 
and Traffic 
Regulations 
Outside London) 
Adjudication Joint 
Committee 
 
Adur and 
Worthing 
Business 
Partnership 
 
Worthing Town 
Centre Initiative 
 

Officers Cllr Richard 
Mulholland 
 
Cllr Andy Whight 

703



50 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio Representation 
on Outside 

Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio Team 
MembersPolicy 

Advisors 

conservation areas and 
management plans, 
development briefs, 
infrastructure delivery 
plans 

 On and off-street car 
parking 

 Street-scene, including 
abandoned vehicles, bus 
shelters, enforcement, 
street names and 
numbering, road name 
plates, street furniture 

 Transport planning and 
infrastructure (to share 
with the Leader for 
active/sustainable 
transport development) 

 Transport (maintenance) 

Resources 
Cllr John 
Turley 

 Budgets (including the 
overall allocation of 
revenue and capital), 
external funding 

 Business Liaison  

 Capital programme 

 Community Wealth 
Building programme 

 Digital transformation 
programme 

 ICT (client side); 
telephony and e-
government - Data 
Protection, Freedom of 
Information, information 
security and web team 

 Local taxation (fraud 
investigation) 

 Non-Domestic Rates 

 Personnel and staffing 
(where Executive 
functions); including 
organisational 
development, 
occupational health, 
payroll and learning and 
development of staff 

 Procurement, including 
contracts 

 Other central support 
services 

 Internal Audit and audit 
fees 

 Property and Asset 
Management, including 
the Town Hall and 
Portland House sites; 
non-housing property 
repairs, corporate 
property, terriers, 

Dr Chester’s 
(Poor Ten Acres) 
Charity 

Officers Cllr Odul 
Bozkurt 

704



51 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio Representation 
on Outside 

Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio Team 
MembersPolicy 

Advisors 

property not included in 
other portfolios and 
estates management 

 Treasury management, 
including insurance, 
investments, loans, 
leasing and banking 
matters 

Culture & 
Leisure 
Cllr Rita 
Garner 

 Client for South Downs 
Leisure Trust and 
management of 
Worthing Leisure 
facilities and sites 

 Cultural projects and 
public entertainments 
(not covered by the 
licensing functions, with 
a potential attendance of 
500) to enhance the 
Borough's cultural offer 
to residents and visitors 

 Tourism and Tourist 
Information Centres 

 Wellbeing and 
development functions 
for culture, leisure and 
sport, including the 
cultural strategy 

 Worthing Cultural 
Assets; Museum, Art 
Gallery, Ritz Cinema, 
Assembly Hall, Pavilion 
Theatre and Connaught 
Theatre. (NB. Worthing 
Pier is with the 
Regeneration Portfolio) 

South Downs 
Leisure 
 
Worthing Town 
Centre Initiative 
 
Tourism South 
East 

Officers Cllr Cathy 
Glynn-Davies 
 
Cllr Hilary Schan 

Climate 
Emergency 
Cllr Sophie 
Cox 

 Climate and nature 
positive policy 

 Carbon reduction and 
energy management 
policy, including low 
carbon building 
standards  

 Economic strategy and 
development, including 
regeneration, visitor 
economy, business 
partnerships, 
concessions, events 
and/or projects to 
encourage or are likely 
to generate viable, 
sustainable economic 
gain (to share with 
Regeneration portfolio) 

 Energy management 
and sustainability 
strategy 

Local 
Government 
Association 
Coastal Issues - 
Special Interest 
Group 
 
Durrington 
Community 
Centre 
Association 
 

Officers Cllr Helen 
Abrahams 

705



52 

Cabinet 
Member 

Portfolio Representation 
on Outside 

Bodies 

Powers of 
Delegation 

Portfolio Team 
MembersPolicy 

Advisors 

 Environmental 
management and 
strategy (to share with 
Environmental Services 
Portfolio) 

 Environmental protection 
and ecological 
sustainability, including 
noise, dog control, food 
hygiene, land drainage, 
pest control and air 
quality (to share with the 
Environmental Services 
portfolio) 

 
Portfolio Team MembersPolicy Advisors 
 

Cabinet Members, with the agreement of the Leader, may appoint Portfolio Team MembersPolicy 

Advisors to support them in their role. Portfolio Team MembersPolicy Advisors cannot exercise 

Executive functions or substitute for Cabinet Members, including voting at Cabinet or Joint 

Strategic Committee meetings and taking decisions on behalf of a Cabinet Member. Portfolio Team 

MembersPolicy Advisors cannot participate in the scrutiny of a decision made by their Cabinet 

Member. 

 
Planning Committee 
 
The Planning Committee makes decisions about town planning applications. 
 
General: 
 

(a) The Committee is a Committee of the Council appointed by the Council under Section 101(2) 
of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) The Council has arranged under section 101(1) of that Act for the discharge by the Committee 
of the Council’s functions as are within the Committee’s Terms of Reference (set out below); 

(c) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details of which may be 
found in the Officer Scheme of Delegations to Officers which can be found in Part 4 of this 
Constitution; 

(d) Where a function or matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function / matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(e) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is always subject 
to any relevant requirement of the Constitution; 

(f) The Committee shall consist of 8 Members; 
(g) The Committee shall be quorate with 3 or more Members.  

 
Terms of reference: 
 

No. Delegation  Legislation 

1. To be consulted on the draft local 
development framework 

Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 

2. Power to determine application for planning 
permission 

Sections 59A(1)(b), 70(1)(a) and (b) and 
72 of the Town & Country Planning Act 
1990 

706



53 

3. Power to decline to determine an application 
for planning permission 

Section 70A of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

4. Power to determine application to develop 
land without compliance with conditions 
previously attached 

Section 73 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

5. Power to grant planning permission for 
development already carried out 

Section 73A of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

6. Duties relating to the making of 
determinations of planning permissions 

Sections 69, 69A, 92 and 96A of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and Parts 2- 6 and 8 of the Town & 
Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015 and 
directions thereunder 

7. Power to determine application for planning 
permission made by a Local Authority, alone 
or jointly with another person 

Section 316 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 and Town & Country 
Planning General Regulations 1992 

8. Power to make determinations, give 
approvals and agree certain other matters 
relating to the exercise of permitted 
development rights 

Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 

9. Power to enter into agreement regulating 
development or use of land 

Sections 106, 106A and 106BA of the 
Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

10. Power to issue a certificate of existing or 
proposed lawful use or development 

Sections 191, 192 and 193 of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 

11. Power to serve a completion notice Section 94 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

12. Power to authorise entry on to land Sections 196A, B and C of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 

13. Power to grant consent for the display of 
advertisements 

Section 220 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 and Town & Country 
Planning (Control of Advertisement) 
(England) Regulations 2007 

14. To exercise the Council powers and duties 
relating to advertisement control other than 
the grant of consent to display 
advertisements 

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

15. Power to require the discontinuance of a use 
of land 

Section 102 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

16. Power to serve a planning contravention 
notice, breach of condition notice, stop notice 
or temporary stop notice 

Sections 171C, 171E, 187A and 183(1) 
of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

17. Power to issue an enforcement notice Section 172 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

18. Power to apply for an injunction restraining a 
breach of planning control 

Section 187B of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

19. Power to determine application for 
hazardous substances consent and related 
powers 

Sections 9(1) and 10 of the Planning 
(Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 

20. Power to require the proper maintenance of 
land 

Section 215(1) of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 

21. Power to determine application for listed 
building consent and related powers and 
duties 

Sections 13, 14, 16, 17 and 33 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990; 
regulations 3-6 and 13 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Regulations 1990; and 

707



54 

paragraphs 8, 15 and 26 of Department 
of the Environment, Transport and the 
Regions Circular 01/01 

22. Power to determine application for 
conservation area consent and related 
powers 

Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

23. Duties relating to applications for listed 
building consent and conservation area 
consent 

Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
Arrangements for Handling Heritage 
Applications 

24. Power to serve a building preservation 
notice, and related powers 

Sections 3(1) and 4(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 

25. Power to issue a listed building enforcement 
notice. 

Section 38 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 

26. Power to acquire a listed building in need of 
repair and to serve repairs notice 

Sections 47 and 48 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 

27. Power to apply for an injunction in relation to 
a listed building 

Section 44A of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 

28. Power to execute urgent works Section 54 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 

29. Duty to enter land in Part 2 of the brownfield 
land register 

Regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Brownfield Land Register) 
Regulations 2017 

30. The obtaining of information as to interests in 
land  

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

31. Power to create footpaths bridleways or 
restricted byways by agreement 

Highways Act 1980 

32. Power to create footpaths bridleways or 
restricted byways 

Highways Act 1980 

33. Power to stop up footpaths bridleways or 
restricted byways (and highways in respect 
of s118C) 

Highways Act 1980 

34. Power to divert footpaths bridleways or 
restricted byways 

Highways Act 1980 

35. Power to obtain particulars of persons 
interested in land, where relevant to the other 
functions of the committee 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 

36. To exercise the Council’s powers and duties 
in relation to hedgerows  

Hedgerows Regulations 1997 

37. To exercise the Council’s powers and duties 
in relation to the preservation of trees 

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Town and Country Planning (Tree 
Preservation) (England) Regulations 
2012 

38. To exercise all powers provided under the 
terms of any delegation arrangements from 
the South Downs National Park Authority in 
relation to applications that fall within the 
South Downs National Park area, within the 
Borough 

 

39. To make recommendations to Council, where 
such is considered desirable 

 

708



55 

40. To make recommendations to the Cabinet in 
relation to matters of planning policy reserved 
to the Cabinet, where such is considered 
desirable 

 

41. To advise the Cabinet on any matters 
relating to claims and payments or statutory 
compensation arising from decisions on 
planning matters 

 

42. In the event that any or all of the above Acts 
or Statutory Instruments are amended, 
repealed and re-enacted by another Act or 
Statutory Instrument, or any of the general 
functions referred to in 1-5 above become 
the subject of additional legislation, then all 
such functions as contained in the new or 
amending legislation shall be delegated to 
the Planning Committee unless otherwise 
determined by Full Council or the new 
amending legislation provides that they shall 
be carried out by the Cabinet. 

 

 
 
Licensing and Control Committee 
 
The Licensing Committee deals with various applications for licences. Sub-Committees have also 

been established to deal with the Council’s additional licensing responsibilities under the Licensing 

Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. 

General: 

(a) The Committee is a Committee of the Council appointed by the Council under section 
101(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 and under section 6 of the Licensing Act 2003 
and the Gambling Act 2005; 

(b) The Council has arranged under section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
under section 9 of the Licensing Act 2003 and under the Gambling Act 2005 for the 
discharge by the Committee of the Council’s functions as are within the Committees Terms 
of Reference (set out below); 

(c) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details of which may be 
found in the Officer Scheme of Delegations which can be found in Part 4 of this 
Constitution; 

(d) Where a function or matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(e) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is subject to any 
relevant requirement of the Council’s Constitution; 

(f) The Committee may establish one or more Sub-Committees in accordance with the 
provisions of the Licensing Act 2003; any such Sub-Committees are authorised to 
discharge all relevant functions under the Licensing Act 2003 and to hear taxi matters. 

(g) The Committee shall consist of 15 Members;  
(h) Substitutes are permissible on the Licensing Committee, except when dealing with an 

application under the Licensing Act 2003 or the Gambling Act 2005; 
(i) Substitutes are not permitted on Licensing Sub-Committees, other than from the Licensing 

Committee; 
(j) Executive Members are permitted to sit on the Licensing Committee, subject to the 

requirement that Executive Members shall not form the majority of the membership of the 
Committee. 

(k) The quorum for Licensing Committee shall be 5 or more voting Members. 

709



56 

(l) A Licensing Sub-Committee shall consist of 3 Members and the quorum for any Licensing 
Sub-Committee shall be 3 Members; 

(m) Procedures adopted at hearings of the Licensing Committee and its Sub-Committees 
should be adopted in accordance with the guidance at the Licensing Procedure Rules 
which can be found in Part 4 of this Constitution; 

(n) The Licensing Committee and its Sub-Committees are authorised to make exceptions to 
any such procedure where appropriate, subject to complying with all relevant regulations; 

(o) Where an individual exercises a right of appeal against a decision of the Licensing 
Committee, to the Magistrates’ Court, the Council will be represented in such proceedings 
by their Legal Officers, or their nominated representatives, and the Chair of the Licensing 
Committee, or Vice Chair in their absence, is expected to attend such hearing. 

Terms of reference: 

Except for matters of policy, the determination of casino premises licences and decisions to 

introduce, vary or end the requirement for a late night levy (which are reserved to Full Council), to 

undertake all licensing and gambling functions, powers and duties conferred on the Council under 

the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005, including the matters set out below: 

No Delegation Legislation 

1. Duty to comply with requirement to provide 

information to Gambling Commission  

Section 29 of the Gambling Act 2005 

2. Functions relating to exchange of information  Section 30 of the Gambling Act 2005 

3. Functions relating to occasional use notices  Section 39 of the Gambling Act 2005 

4. Power to designate officer of a licensing 

authority as an authorised person for a purpose 

relating to premises  

Section 304 of the Gambling Act 2005 

5. Power to make order disapplying section 279 or 

282(1) of the 2005 Act in relation to specified 

premises 

Section 284 of the Gambling Act 2005 

6. Power to institute criminal proceedings  Section 346 of the Gambling Act 2005 

7. Power to exchange information  Section 350 of the Gambling Act 2005 

8. Powers to license hackney carriages and private 

hire vehicles 

(a) as to hackney carriages, the Town 

Police Clauses Act 1847, as extended 

by section 171 of the Public Health 

Act 1875, and section 15 of the 

Transport Act 1985; and sections 47, 

57, 58, 60 and 79 of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976; (b) as to private 

hire vehicles, sections 48, 57, 58, 60 

and 79 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

9. Powers to license drivers of hackney carriages 

and private hire vehicles 

Sections 51, 53, 54, 59, 61 and 79 of 

the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 

10. Power to license operators of private hire 

vehicles 

Sections 55 to 58, 62 and 79 of the 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 

11. Power to issue entertainments licences. Section 12 of the Children and Young 

Persons Act 1933, section 52 of, and 

Schedule 12 to, the London 

Government Act 1963, section 79 of 

the Licensing Act 1964, sections 1 to 

710



57 

5 and 7 of, and Parts I and II of the 

Schedule to, the Private Places of 

Entertainment (Licensing) Act 1967 

and Part I of, and Schedules 1 and 2 

to, the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

12. Functions relating to the determination of fees for 

premises licences  

Gambling (Premises Licence Fees) 

(England and Wales) Regulations 

2007 

13. Functions relating to the registration and 

regulation of small society lotteries 

Part 5 of Schedule 11 to the 

Gambling Act 2005 

14.. Power to fix fares for hackney carriages Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 

15. Power to license sex establishments Section 2 and Schedule 3 of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982 

16. Power to license market and street trading Part III of, and Schedule 4 to, the 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982 

17. Power to license and control scrap metal dealers Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 

18. Power to license persons to collect for charitable 

and other causes 

Section 5 of the Police, Factories etc. 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916 

and section 2 of the House to House 

Collections Act 1939 

19. Power to make an order to designate a public 

place under the Criminal Justice and Police Act 

2001 

Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 

20. Power to license premises for acupuncture, 

tattooing, semi-permanent skin colouring, 

cosmetic piercing and electrolysis 

Sections 13 to 17 of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982 

21. Power to obtain particulars of persons interested 

in land, where relevant to the other functions of 

the Committee 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 

22. Power to license pleasure boats and pleasure 

vessels 

Section 94 of the Public Health Act 

(as amended) 1907 

23. Power to license premises for the breeding of 

dogs 

Animal Welfare Act 2006 

24. Power to authorise officers to inspect premises 

for the breeding of dogs 

Animal Welfare Act 2006 

25. Power to register and license premises for the 

preparation of food 

Section 19 of the Food Safety Act 

1990 

26. Power to license land as a caravan site and 

attach and alter conditions to site licences 

Section 3(3) of the Caravan Sites and 

Control of Development Act 1960 

27. Power to license dangerous wild animals, power 

to inspect premises and power to seize and 

dispose of animals without compensation 

Section 1 of the Dangerous Wild 

Animals Act 1976 

28. Power to grant consent for the operation of a 

loudspeaker in streets or roads 

Schedule 2 to the Noise Nuisance 

and Statutory Act 1993 

29. Power to license and inspect thereafter, pet 

shops  

Animal Welfare Act 2006 

30. Power to license, and inspection of, riding 

establishments 

Animal Welfare Act 2006 

711



58 

31. Power to control use of moveable dwellings Section 269(1) of the Public Health 

Act 1936 

32. Power to license zoos Section 1 of the Zoo Licensing Act 

1981 

33. Animal welfare powers – entry and search under 

warrant in connection with offence and 

inspection of premises and documents 

Animal Welfare Act 2006 (all 

functions insofar as they are non-

executive functions) 

34. Power to determine applications for personal 

licences. 

Part 6 of the Licensing Act 2003 

35. Power to determine applications for premises 

licences and club premises certificates. 

Part 3 and 4 of the Licensing Act 

2003 

36. Power to determine applications for variation of 

premises licences and club premises certificates. 

Part 3 and 4, Licensing Act 2003 

37. Power to remove designated premises 

supervisors. 

Licensing Act 2003 

38. Power to determine applications for transfer of 

premises licences. 

Licensing Act 2003 

39. Power to review premises licence and club 

premises certificates. 

Licensing Act 2003 

40. Power to determine pre-subjections to temporary 

event notices. 

Licensing Act 2003 

41. Where representations have been received and 

not withdrawn, to determine an application for a 

premises licence. 

Gambling Act 2005 

42. Where representations have been received and 

not withdrawn, to determine an application for a 

variation to a premises licence. 

Part 8, Gambling Act 2005 

43. Where representations have been received and 

not withdrawn, to determine an application for a 

transfer to a premises licence. 

Part 8, Gambling Act 2005 

44. Where representations have been received and 

not withdrawn, to determine an application for a 

provisional statement. 

 

45. Where representations have been received and 

not withdrawn, to determine an application for a 

club gaming or club machine permit. 

Gambling Act 2005 

46. Power to cancel a club gaming or club machine 

permit. 

Gambling Act 2005 

47. Power to determine to give a counter notice to a 

temporary use notice. 

Gambling Act 2005 

48. Power to take action after a review has been 

heard under Section 201 

Gambling Act 2005 

49. Power to issue premises licences and to receive 

temporary use notices. 

Gambling Act 2005 

50. Power to dis-apply Section 279 and 282(1) of the 

Act. 

Gambling Act 2005 

51. Power to revoke premises licences for non-

payment of fee or dis-apply Section 193 of the 

Act. 

Gambling Act 2005 

52. Power to determine prize gaming permits. Gambling Act 2005 

53. Power to determine licensed premises gaming 

machine permits. 

Gambling Act 2005 

 

712



59 

 
Licensing and Control ‘A’ Sub-Committee  
 
Membership:  
3 members selected on each occasion by the Director for Sustainability & Resources from the 15 
members of the Licensing and Control Committee A, which shall normally include the Chair or 
Vice-Chair of that committee.  
 
Terms of reference:  
Except for matters of policy, to undertake all licensing functions, powers and duties conferred on 
the Council (except under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005), including the 
matters set out below:  
 
1. The Council’s licensing and enforcement functions relating to individual licences, consents or 

permits for:  
(a) hackney carriages and private hire drivers, vehicles, and private hire operators’ licences (taxi 

licences)  
(b) caravan sites  
(c) animal welfare  
(d) street trading  
(e) public protection  
(f) sex establishments where the Director of Communities for Sustainability & Resources 

considers the matter merits the Sub-Committee’s attention.  
 
2. In particular the Sub-Committees will consider and determine matters relating to licences, 

permits, approvals, orders, consents or similar authorisations under the above provisions 
where the Director of Communities for Sustainability & Resources considers that the matter 
merits the Sub-Committee’s attention. 

 
Licensing and Control ‘B’ Sub-Committee  
 
Membership:  
3 Members and substitute(s) selected on each occasion by the Director of Communities for 
Sustainability & Resources from the 15 members of the Licensing and Control Committee B  
 
Terms of Reference: 
1. To determine the following under the Licensing Act 2003 including the imposition of appropriate 

conditions on Licences:  
(a) Applications for personal licences – if a Police objection  
(b) Applications for personal licences with unspent convictions – all cases  
(c) Applications for Premises Licences/Club Premises Certificates – if an adverse relevant 

representation subsists 
(d) Applications for provisional statements – if an adverse relevant representation subsists 
(e) Applications to vary Premises Licences/Club Premises Certificates – if an adverse relevant 

representation subsists 
(f) Applications to vary Designated Premises Supervisors – if a Police objection  
(g) Applications for transfer of Premises Licences – if a Police objection  
(h)  Applications for Interim Authorities – if a Police objection  
(i) Applications to review Premises Licences/Club Premises Certificates – if an adverse relevant 

representation subsists 
(j) Decisions to object when Local Authority is a consultee and not the relevant authority 

considering the applications – all cases  
(k) Determinations of an objection to a Temporary Event Notice – all cases  

 
2. To determine the following under the Gambling Act 2005 including the imposition of appropriate 

conditions on licences:  

713



60 

(a) Applications for premises licences – where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn 

(b) Application for a variation to a licence – where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn  

(c) Applications for a transfer of a licence – where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn  

(d) Application for a provisional Statement – where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn  

(e) Review of a premises licence  
(f) Application for club gaming/club machine permits – where objections have been made and 

not withdrawn  
(g) Cancellation of club gaming/club machine permits  
(h) Decision to give a counter notice to a temporary use notice 

 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
General 
 

(a) The Committee is a committee of the Council appointed by the Council under Section 102(1) 
of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) The Council has arranged under Section 101(1) of that Act for the discharge by the 
Committee of such of the Council’s functions as are within the Committee’s Terms of 
Reference (set out in Article 6); 

(c) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details may be found in 
the Officer Scheme of Delegations with can be found in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(d) The Committee exercises the scrutiny function of Worthing Borough Council, only in relation 
to matters which have been specifically reserved to be within the remit of Worthing Borough 
Council or its Cabinet, rather than being included under joint working arrangements as set 
out in the Joint Committee Agreement between Adur District Council and Worthing Borough 
Council, as may be found in Part 9 of the Constitution. 

(e) Where a functional matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(f) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is always subject 
to any relevant requirement of the Constitution; and 

(g) The membership of the Committee is 15 Elected Members; 
(h) The quorum required for this Committee is 5 or more Members. 

 
Terms of Reference 
 

No. Power/Function Legislation 

1. To consider Call-Ins relating to decisions of the Worthing Cabinet in relation 
to a Worthing Borough Council only matter; and 

 

2. To exercise the functions set out in Article 6.03-6.05.  

 
 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Council is required to have an overview and scrutiny function which: 

 Provides 'critical friend' challenge and holds to account the Executive policy and decision 
makers 

 Drives improvement, finds efficiencies and new ways of delivering services 

 Enables the voice and concerns of the public and its communities to be heard 

 Will be carried out by councillors in an apolitical and non-partisan manner. 
 

714



61 

General 
 

(a) The Committee is a committee of the Council appointed by the Council under Section 102(1) 
of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) The Council has arranged under Section 101(1) of that Act for the discharge by the 
Committee of such of the Council’s functions as are within the Committee’s Terms of 
Reference (set out in Article 6); 

(c) The Committee exercises the scrutiny function of both Worthing Borough Council and Adur 
District Council in relation to all matters other than those specifically reserved to be within the 
remit of the individual Councils or their Executives. 

(d) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details may be found in 
the Officer Scheme of Delegations which can be found in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(e) Where a functional matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(f) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is always subject 
to any relevant requirement of the Constitution;  

(g) The membership of the Committee is 16 Elected Members (8 appointed by the Council and 
8 by the District Council of Adur); and 

(h) The current Chair and Vice Chair of the Council’s Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will automatically represent the Council on the Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint 
Committee) Scrutiny Panel and be consultees for any Call-In of decisions by the Greater 
Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee). 

 
 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
 
The Committee considers internal and external audit matters and issues such as the Council’s anti-

fraud and risk management arrangements; and is responsible for recommendations to the Full 

Councils in areas such as constitutional issues, Councillors’ allowances, bylaws and elections. 

General 
 

(a) This Committee is a committee of the Council appointed by the Council jointly with Adur 
District Council under Section 101(5) of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details may be found in 
the Officer Scheme of Delegations found in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(c) Where a functional matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(d) The exercise of any functional matter within the Committee’s competence is always subject 
to any relevant requirement of the Constitution; 

(e) The Joint Committee has 16 Elected Members (8 appointed by the Council and 8 by the 
District Council of Adur), and up to 3 Independent Persons. The Independent Persons will be 
co-opted non-voting members of the Committee. The Joint Committee shall also co-opt one 
Member of Lancing Parish Council and one Member of Sompting Parish Council to advise 
the Committee on Parish matters, when considering such matters. Parish representatives 
will not be entitled to vote at meetings. 

(f) The Joint Committee may establish one or more Sub-Committees in accordance with the 
Localism Act 2011, to determine standards matters, to make appointments of Joint 
Independent Remuneration Panel members, and to make recommendations to Full Council 
in respect of appointments of Independent Persons.  

(g) A Sub-Committee will consist of 6 Elected Members (3 appointed by the Council and 3 by 
the District Council of Adur) and 1 Independent Person. In addition 1 Parish representative 
may sit on the Sub-Committee when determining a standards matter relating to a Parish 
Councillor; the Parish Member cannot be from the same Parish as the Subject Member 
complained of and should be from the other Parish within the District of Adur. The 

715



62 

Independent Person and the Parish representative will be co-opted non-voting Members of 
the Sub-Committee. The quorum of any Sub-Committee shall be 4. 

(h) The Committee and any Sub-Committee should be politically balanced. 
(i) A maximum of one Member of each Council’s Executive may sit on the Joint Audit & 

Governance Committee, but they shall not be appointed as Chair or Vice-Chair. 
(j) Substitutes on the Joint Audit & Governance Committee are permitted. Substitutes on any 

Sub-Committee are only permitted from the Joint Audit & Governance Committee. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
Standards, Ethics and Probity 
 

No. Function/Matter Legislation 

1. To lead on the Council’s duties to design, implement, monitor, approve 
and review the standards of ethics and probity of the Council and its 
Councillors and Co-opted Members. The Committee’s powers should 
include responding to consultation documents and the promulgation of 
Codes of Conduct but the adoption and revision of the local Members’ 
Code of Conduct shall be reserved to the Council. 

Chapter 7 of 
the Localism 
Act 2011 

2. To promote a culture of openness, ready accountability and probity in 
order to ensure the higher standards of conduct of Councillors and Co-
opted Members. 

 

3. To lead on all aspects of corporate governance by promoting the values 
of putting people first, valuing public service and creating a norm of the 
higher standards of personal conduct. 

 

4. To oversee and manage a programme of guidance, advice and training 
on ethics, standards and probity for Councillors and Co-opted Members 
and on the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 

5. To be responsible for the Council’s Register of Members’ Interests and to 
receive reports from the Monitoring Officer on the operation of the register 
from time to time. 

Section 29, 
Localism Act 
2011 

6. To be responsible for written guidance and advice on the operation of the 
system of declarations of Members’ interests and to receive reports from 
the Monitoring Officer on the operation of the system of declarations from 
time to time. 

 

7. To establish, monitor, approve and issue advice and guidance to 
Councillors and Co-opted Members on a system of dispensations to 
speak on, or participate in, matters in which they have interests and give 
dispensation in appropriate cases. Granting dispensations to Councillors 
and Co-opted Members from requirements relating to interests set out in 
the Code of Members’ Conduct and the Localism Act 2011, in 
circumstances where the Monitoring Officer does not exercise their 
discretion. 

Section 33 of 
the Localism 
Act 2011 

8. To exercise the functions of the Council in relation to the ethical 
framework, corporate governance and standards of conduct of joint 
committees and other bodies. 

 

9. To establish a Standards Sub-Committee to receive reports following 
investigation on behalf of the Monitoring Officer into allegations of 
misconduct by Members and to determine appropriate action in respect of 
alleged breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 

10. To support the Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 
Officer) in their statutory roles and the issuing of guidance on them from 
time to time. 

 

11. To receive regular reports on the performance of the Corporate 
Complaints Process, Local Government Ombudsman referrals, Annual 

 

716



63 

Governance Statement and Code of Corporate Governance and to 
recommend revisions to related policies and procedures, as appropriate. 

12. To ensure adequate training and development for Elected Members.  

13. To co-opt in an advisory capacity, any person who is an Independent 
Person at another Local Authority, to advise the Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee or its Sub-Committee, on such terms as the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee may determine. 

 

14. To receive an annual report from the Monitoring Officer on the local 
resolution and assessment of allegations of breach of the Member Code 
of Conduct, by Members of the Council, and any Parish Council in the 
District of Adur. 

 
 

15. Dealing with allegations that a Member of a Parish Council within the 
District of Adur has failed or may have failed to comply with the relevant 
Parish Code and conduct, in accordance with the provisions of the 
Localism Act. 

 

16. Any other functions imposed by statute.  

 
Audit and Accounts Activity 
 

No. Power/Function Legislation 

1. To consider the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report and opinion and a 
summary of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of 
assurance it can give over the Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements. 

 

2. To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the 
providers of internal audit services. 

 

3. To consider reports on the Internal Audit on the recommendations agreed 
with the Heads of Service which have not been implemented within a 
reasonable timescale. 

 

4. To consider the External Auditor’s Annual Letter, relevant reports (both 
financial and strategic), and the report of those charged with governance. 

 

5. To consider specific reports as agreed with the External Auditor.  

6. To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it 
gives value for money. 

 

7. Power to undertake the Council’s responsibilities with regard to External 
Auditors under Part 3 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

 

8. To commission work from Internal and External Audit.  

9. To review the Annual Statement of Accounts with specific emphasis on 
whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether 
there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit 
that need to be brought to the attention of the Council. 

 

10. To receive Risk and Opportunity update reports three times a year.  

11. To report on internal and external audit activities in the previous fiscal year 
to both Adur and Worthing Full Councils on an annual basis. 

 

 
Constitutional Framework 
 

No. Power/Function Legislation 

1. To monitor and review the operation of the Constitution particularly in 
respect of financial procedures and protocols, codes of conduct and 
behaviour (including the Members Code of Conduct), procurement 
procedures and guidelines 

 

2. To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive, a Director, or any 
Committee of the Council 

 

717



64 

3. To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and 
corporate governance in the Council 

 

4. To implement, monitor and review the Council’s Whistle-Blowing Procedure, 
, Anti-Money Laundering Policy, Anti-Fraud and corruption Policy and the 
Council’s complaints procedure 

 

5. To oversee the production of the Council’s Statement on Internal Control 
and to recommend its adoption 

 

6. To consider the Council’s arrangements for corporate governance and 
agreeing necessary actions to ensure compliance with best practice 

 

7. To consider the Council’s compliance with its own and other published 
standards and controls 

 

8. Considering the annual report regarding complaints about the Council 
referred to the Local Government Ombudsman  

 

9. To appoint persons to the role of members of the Joint Independent 
Remuneration Panel and to make recommendations to Full Council in 
respect of proposed appointments of Independent Persons for Standards 
matters. 

 

 
Other 

No. Power/Function Legislation 

1. To determine matters relating to functions which are not Executive functions 
and are not the responsibility solely of Council or any other Committee. 

 

2. To receive a report from the Joint Independent Remuneration Panel and 
make recommendations to Council. 

 

 

Joint Staff Committee 
 
General 
 

(a) The Committee is a committee of the Council appointed by the Council under Section 102(1) 
of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) The Council has arranged under Section 101(1) of that Act for the discharge by the 
Committee of such of the Council’s functions as are within the Committee’s terms of 
reference (set out below); 

(c) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details may be found in 
the Officer Scheme of Delegations which can be found in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(d) Where a functional matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(e) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is always subject 
to any relevant requirement of the Constitution; and 

(f) The membership of the Committee is 6 Elected Members (3 appointed by the Council and 3 
appointed by the District Council of Adur). 

 
Terms of Reference 
 

No. Function/Duty Legislation 

1. Power to determine the terms and conditions on which all staff other 
than the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer, hold office (including employment procedures). 

Section 112 of 
the Local 
Government 
Act 1972. 
The Local 
Authorities 
(Standing 

718



65 

Orders) 
(England) 
(Amendment) 
Regulations 
2015. 

2. The making of agreements with other Local Authorities for the placing of 
staff for the disposal of those other Authorities, to the extent that the 
staff are being placed at the disposal of the other Authority in relation to 
the discharge of functions which are not the responsibility of the Cabinet 
placing the staff. 

Section 113(4) 
and (5), Local 
Government 
Act 1972 

3. Functions relating to Local Government pensions, etc. Regulations 
under Section 
7, 12 and 24 of 
the 
Superannuation 
Act 1972 

 
 
Joint Senior Staff Committee 
 
General 
 

(a) The Committee is a committee of the Council appointed by the Council under Section 102(1) 
of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) The Council has arranged under Section 101(1) of that Act for the discharge by the 
Committee of such of the Council’s functions as are within the Committee’s Terms of 
Reference (set out below); 

(c) Certain functions are delegated by this Committee to Officers. Full details may be found in 
the Officer Scheme of Delegations which can be found in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(d) Where a functional matter within the Committee’s competence has been delegated to an 
Officer, the Committee may exercise that function or matter concurrently with the Officer to 
whom it has been delegated; 

(e) The exercise of any function or matter within the Committee’s competence is always subject 
to any relevant requirement of the Constitution; and 

(f) The membership of the Committee is 6 Elected Members (3 appointed by the Council and 3 
appointed by the District Council of Adur); 

(g) The Membership of the Committee shall include at least one Cabinet or Executive Member 
and at least one Non-Executive Member from each Council. 

 
Terms of Reference 
 

No. Function/Duty Legislation 

1. To be responsible for the recruitment and terms and conditions of the 
Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), Chief Finance Officer and 
Monitoring Officer, and make recommendations on any proposed 
appointment, and terms and conditions, to the Council and Adur District 
Council. 

The Local 
Authorities 
(Standing 
Orders) 
(England) 
(Amendment) 
Regulations 
2015 

2. All matters relating to the investigation, hearing and determination of any 
grievance against or allegation of misconduct by the Chief Executive, Chief 
Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer, including the appointment of the 
Independent Panel, the receipt of their report and the implementation of 
their recommendations. Where the Panel’s recommendation is to dismiss 
the Chief Executive, the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer, or 

The Local 
Authorities 
(Standing 
Orders) 
(England) 
(Amendment) 

719



66 

where the Joint Senior Staff Committee proposes to dismiss, the power to 
approve any proposed dismissal is reserved to Full Council. 

Regulations 
2015. 

 
 
Officers 
 

(a) Certain Officers of the Council have responsibility for decisions delegated to them in 
accordance with the Officer Scheme of Delegations, which can be found at Part 4 of the 
Constitution, and expressly delegated to them from time to time by Members, such 
delegations to be recorded in writing and notified to the Monitoring Officer. 

(b) The Officer Scheme of Delegations may be reviewed and varied from time to time. 
 
 

720



67 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

FULL COUNCIL 

Adur District Council ADC 

(29 Members) 

FULL COUNCIL 

Worthing Borough Council WBC 

(37 Members) 

EXECUTIVE REGULATORY OVERVIEW & 

SCRUTINY 

Leader and 

Executive  

(6 Members) 

Planning 

Committee 

(8 Members) 

Licensing 

Committee 

(10 Members) 

Licensing 

Regulatory 

Sub-

Committee  

(3 Members) 

Overview & 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

(8 Members) 

EXECUTIVE REGULATORY OVERVIEW & 

SCRUTINY 

Leader and 

Executive 

(9 Members) 

Planning 

Committee 

(8 Members) 

Licensing 

and Control 

Committees  

A and B 

(15 Members) 

Licensing 

and Control 

Committee B 

Sub-

Committee 

(3 Members) 

Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee 

(15 Members) 

Individual Cabinet 

Member 

DECISIONS 

Executive Members 

of both Councils are 

delegated authority 

to take relevant 

decisions 

individually or jointly 

with the 

corresponding 

Executive Member 

across the two 

authorities. 

JOINT COMMITTEE AGREEMENT 

EXECUTIVE 
GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW & 

SCRUTINY 

OTHER 

Joint Strategic 

Committee 

(12 Members 

made up of the 

Cabinet 

Members of ADC 

and WBC) 

Joint Governance Committee 

(8 Members of ADC and 8 Members of 

WBC)  

(1 Member of Lancing Parish Council 

and 1 Member of Sompting Parish 

Council and 3 co-opted Independent 

Persons) 

Joint Overview 

& Scrutiny 

Committee 

(8 Members of 

ADC and 8 

Members of 

WBC) 

Joint Staff 

Committee 

(3 Members of 

ADC and 3 

Members of 

WBC) 

Joint Senior 

Staff 

Committee 

(3 Members of 

ADC and 3 

Members of 

WBC) 

721



68 

Illustrative A-Z of Service Areas/Cabinet Portfolios & Committees  
(Approved version) 
 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Abandoned Vehicles Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Accountancy (technical and 
strategic) 

Finance Finance & Resources Resources 
 

South Downs Leisure Trust - client 
role 

Place Environment & 
Leisure 

Culture & Leisure 
 

Adur Consultative Forum (ACF) Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Adur Core strategy (now the Local 
Plan) 

Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

  

Adur Homes (including 
Management Board)  

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Affordable Housing Provision Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Air Quality  Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Environment 
 

Allotments Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Annual statement of Accounts Director for 
Sustainability & 
Resources/Finance 

- - Joint Governance 

722



69 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Anti-Social Behaviour in relation to 
tenants 

Housing & Communities Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Assembly Hall Place - Culture & Leisure 
 

Asset Management Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Audit Fees Finance Finance & Resources Resources Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee 

Audit Management  Finance - - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee 

Audit Service Finance - - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee 

Beach Huts and Chalets Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Beach Maintenance  Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Benefit Administration  Resident Services Finance & Resources Citizen Services 
 

Bereavement Services (formerly 
cemeteries and crematoria) 

Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Branding People & Change Leader  Leader 
 

Budgets (including the overall 
allocation of Revenue and Capital) 

Finance Finance & Resources Resources Council Tax (revenue 
budget approved by Full 
Councils) 

723



70 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Building/Offices Cleaning Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Building cleaning (Adur Homes) Regenerative 
Development 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Building Control  Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning  

Regeneration  
 

Bulky Waste Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Burials Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Bus shelters Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Business Engagement and 
Partnerships 

Place & Economy  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning  

Regeneration 
 

Business Rates  Resident Services  Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Business Continuity Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Regeneration 
 

Business Improvement District 
Levy 

Place & Economy  Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Building Management (Worthing 
Town Hall, Portland House,) 

Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Capital Programme  Place and Finance Finance & Resources Resources 
 

724



71 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Capital Programme (Adur Homes) Housing & Communities 
and Finance 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Chair of the Council Sustainability & 
Resources 

- - 
 

Chief Financial Officer Finance  - - Statutory Role 

Choice Based Lettings Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Cinema (Ritz) Place 
 

Culture & Leisure  
 

City Deal (strategic matters) 
 

Leader Leader 
 

Cleansing (Street) Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Clinical waste  Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Coastal Protection and monitoring Place & Economy Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Coastal West Sussex Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Commercial Waste  Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Committee Management Sustainability & 
Resources 

Leader Leader 
 

725



72 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Community Alarm and telecare 
service 

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Community Safety and Anti-Social 
Behaviour 

Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities &  
Wellbeing  

Community Wellbeing  
 

Concessions Place & Economy Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Connaught Theatre Place - Culture & Leisure 
 

Conservation areas Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Consultation (public) People & Change Leader Deputy Leader 
 

Contact Centre Services Resident Services Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Contracts & Procurement Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Finance & Resources  Resources 
 

Corporate Complaints Resident Services Leader Leader 
 

Corporate Information 
Management (GIS) 

Sustainability & 
Resources 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Corporate Property Terriers Regenerative 
Development  

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Corporate Property (not included 
in other portfolios) 

Planning and  
Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

726



73 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Council sheltered Housing 
Schemes (Adur) 

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Council Tax  Resident Services Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Councillor Code of Conduct 
(including Parish) 

Legal & Democratic 
Services (Monitoring 
Officer) 

- - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee/Standards Sub 
Committee 

Customer Insight, Customer 
Experience. Process and Service 
Improvement  

Resident Services Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Dangerous Structures Regenerative 
Development and 
Planning 

- - Planning Committee 

Data Protection Sustainability & 
Resources 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Debtors Finance Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Democratic Services Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Leader Leader 
 

Devolution, strategic direction Chief Executive Leader Leader 
 

Disability Facilities Grant and 
other Housing Grants 

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Digital Transformation Technology & Design Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Dog Control Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

727



74 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Greater Brighton Economic Board 
(Joint Committee) - representative 
on and Strategic Direction  

Chief Executive Leader Leader 
 

Economic Development, Inward 
Investment & Business Retention, 
Growth Deal, City Region 

Place & Economy Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Education Liaison, promotion etc. 
 

Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Leader 
 

Elections Returning Officer 
Customer Contact and 
Engagement 

- - Returning Officer/some 
decisions reserved to 
Council (i.e. frequency of 
elections) 

Emergency Planning  Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Regeneration 
 

Empty Properties 
 

Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Citizen Services 
 

Employee Relations People & Change Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Energy Management Sustainability & 
Resources 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Climate Emergency 
 

Engineering and Surveying Place & Economy and 
Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Environmental Health (Protection) Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities &  
Wellbeing 

Environment 
 

728



75 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Events and Cultural Projects Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Culture & Leisure  
 

Exchequer Services Finance  Finance & Resources Resources 
 

External Auditor’s Annual Letter  Finance - - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee 

EU and External Funding Place & Economy Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Facilities Management (incl 
security, reprographics, porters, 
pool cars) 

Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Fleet and Transport Maintenance Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Flood Protection  Planning and Place & 
Economy 

Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Food safety incl Enforcement Plan Operations & 
Sustainability and 
Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Environment 
 

Foreshore Management  Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Fraud Investigation (Adur) Finance Finance & Resources  
 

Fraud Investigation (Worthing) Finance - Resources 
 

Freedom of Information Sustainability & 
Resources 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

729



76 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Fuel Poverty  Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Garage Management (Adur 
Homes properties) 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services  

- 
 

Garden Waste  Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Grounds Maintenance  Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Grounds Maintenance (Adur 
Homes Properties) 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Hackney Carriage Licensing Operations & 
Sustainability 

- - Licensing Committees 

Health and Safety (corporate) Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Regeneration 
 

Help points/Customer services 
receptions 

Resident Services Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Housing Systems support and 
monitoring (Adur Homes) 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention  

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Housing Voice (Adur) Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Information Security  Sustainability & 
Resources 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

730



77 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Infrastructure delivery plans Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Insurance Finance Leader Resources 
 

Internal Audit Finance Finance & Resources Resources  
 

Internal Audit Annual report and 
Opinion  

Finance - - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee  

Investments (treasury 
Management) 

Finance Finance & Resources Resources 
 

IT Systems support Technology & Design Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Land Charges Planning  Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Land Drainage  Place & Economy Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Environment 
 

Leasehold administration  Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention  

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Leasehold Sheltered Scheme  Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Learning and Development  People & Change Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Legal Services Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Finance & Resources  Resources 
 

Leisure Facilities (management of 
Adur sites) 

Place and Regenerative 
Development  

Environment & 
Leisure 

- 
 

731



78 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Leisure Facilities (management of 
Worthing sites) 

 Place and 
Regenerative 
Development  

- Culture & Leisure 
 

Licensing (Premises, personal, 
alcohol, gambling hackney 
carriages etc.) 

Operations & 
Sustainability 

- - Licensing Committee 

Listed Buildings Planning  - - Planning Committee 

Local Development Plans Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Local Land and Property 
Gazetteer  

Planning  Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Local Strategic Partnership Place & Economy Communities &  
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Major Regeneration Projects Planning and 
Regenerative 
Development 

Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Mayoralty  Sustainability & 
Resources 

 
Leader 

 

Media  People & Change Leader  Leader 
 

Member Development & Services Sustainability & 
Resources 

Leader Leader 
 

Monitoring Officer Legal & Democratic 
Services 

- - Statutory Role 

732



79 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Neighbour Disputes (dealing with) 
Noise etc. via environmental 
health 

Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities &  
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Neighbour Disputes (dealing with) 
Anti-Social Behaviour Team 

Housing & Communities Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Neighbour Disputes (dealing with) 
Adur homes  

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Non-Domestic Rates (Adur) Resident Services Finance & Resources - 
 

Non-Domestic Rates (Worthing) Resident Services - Resources 
 

Non-Housing property repairs Regenerative 
Development  

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Ombudsman Resident Services  - - Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee 

Open spaces Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Organisational Development People & Change Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Parking Services Operations & 
Sustainability  

Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Parks Management  Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Performance Management  Sustainability & 
Resources (Digital) 

Leader Leader 
 

733



80 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Pest Control Operations & 
Sustainability 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Environment 
 

Places and Neighbourhoods Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Deputy Leader 
 

Place Shaping Place & Economy  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Deputy Leader 
 

Planning Policy Planning  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Sustainability & 
Resources 

- - Licensing Committee  

Procurement and Contracts  Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Public conveniences (Including 
Cleaning) - contract management 

Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Recruitment and Selection of 
Statutory Officers (Chief 
Executive, Chief Finance Officer 
and Monitoring Officer) 

People & Change - - Joint Senior Staff 
Committee/Council  

Recycling Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Refuse Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Remuneration (Members) - 
(Members Allowances) 

Sustainability & 
Resources 

  
Joint Independent 
Remuneration Panel/Joint 

734



81 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Audit & Governance 
Committee /Full Council  

Rent Accounting (Adur) Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Repairs and Maintenance (Adur 
Homes) 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Reprographics Resident Services Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Residents’ Panels  People & Change Leader  Deputy Leader 
 

Risk Management  Sustainability & 
Resources 

Leader Leader 
 

Revenues and Benefits (Adur) Resident Services  Finance & Resources - 
 

Revenues and Benefits (Worthing) Resident Services - Citizen Services 
 

Road Nameplates Planning  Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Safer Communities  Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing  
 

Safeguarding Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing  
 

Scrutiny Legal & Democratic 
Services  

  
Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Section 151 Role Finance - - Statutory Role  

735



82 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Senior Information Risk Owner  Sustainability & 
Resources 

- - 
 

Sex Establishments Operations & 
Sustainability 

- - Licensing Committees 

Shops owned by the Council 
(Adur) 

Regenerative 
Development 

Finance & Resources - 
 

Skills and Enterprise/Education 
liaison 

People & Change Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Leader 
 

South Downs Leisure Trust (client 
role) 

Place - Culture & Leisure 
 

Strategy, Systems and Clienting 
(Housing)  

Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services  

Citizen Services 
 

Strategic Housing and Enabling Housing & Communities Adur Homes & 
Customer Services  

Citizen Services 
 

Street Cleansing Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Street Furniture  Place & Economy Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Street and House to House 
Collections  

Sustainability & 
Resources 

- - Licensing Committees 

Street naming and Numbering Planning  Environment & 
Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

736



83 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Supported Housing - sheltered 
housing and community alarm 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Systems support and 
Development  

Technology & Design Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Taxi and Private Hire Sustainability & 
Resources 

- - Licensing Committee 

Telephony Technology & Design Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Temporary Accommodation 
Management 

Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

Citizen Services 
 

Tenancy Services Housing, Homelessness 
& Prevention 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Tenant Participation Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Adur Homes & 
Customer Services 

- 
 

Theatres Place - Culture & Leisure 
 

Think Family and Early Help Housing & Communities Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Third Sector and Partnerships  Housing & Communities Communities &  
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing  
 

Town Centre Management 
(Lancing, Shoreham, Southwick) 

Place & Economy Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

- 
 

Trade Waste  Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

737



84 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Treasury Management Finance Finance & Resources Resources Joint Audit & Governance 

Tree Management Planning  - - Planning Committee 

Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs) Planning  - - Planning Committee  

Urban Realm Place  Regeneration & 
Strategic Planning 

Regeneration 
 

Visitors and Events 
(cultural - Environment) 
(business - Regeneration) 

Place & Economy  Regeneration & 
Strategic 
Planning/Environment 
& Leisure 

Regeneration 
 

Waste Education Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Waste Management Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Waste Strategy and compliance Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Waste Transfer Licences Operations & 
Sustainability 

Environment & 
Leisure 

Environment 
 

Website and Online Service 
Development 

Technology & Design Finance & Resources Resources 
 

Wellbeing Hub Community, Capacity & 
Resilience 

Communities & 
Wellbeing 

Community Wellbeing 
 

Whistle Blowing Procedure Legal & Democratic 
Services 

- - Joint Audit & Governance 

738



85 

Service Area/Function Responsible 
‘Director/Assistant 
Director/’Head of’ 

Cabinet Member 
(ADC) 

Cabinet Member (WBC) Committee (if not 
specific to a Cabinet 

Member) 

Worthing Foreshore Service Place & Economy - Regeneration 
 

Worthing Museum and Art Gallery  Place - Culture & Leisure 
 

Worthing Pier Place & Economy - Regeneration  
 

 

739



86 

PART 4 – PROCEDURE RULES 

 

Council and Committee Procedure Rules 
 

Introduction 

 
1.1 Interpretation 
 
In these Council Procedure Rules the interpretation of words shall be in accordance with the 
definitions set out in Part 1 of the Constitution. 
 
1.2 General 
 

(a) Any proposal to permanently alter these Council Procedure Rules (other than minor 
amendments made by the Monitoring Officer), other than a motion to implement a 
recommendation of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee, shall be in the form of a 
motion instructing the Joint Audit & Governance Committee to report upon such proposals. 
Any such motion, upon being seconded, shall be put to the vote without discussion. The 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee shall report to the next Ordinary Council Meeting 
upon any matter referred to it under this Council Procedure Rule. 

(b) These Council Procedure Rules embody the requirements of the mandatory Standing 
Orders, as provided for by the Local Government Act 1972, Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2000, together with secondary legislation, where 
appropriate. These Council Procedure Rules, therefore, constitute the Council’s statutory 
procedural standing orders, and should be interpreted accordingly. 

(c) Where any step or action under these Council Procedure Rules is prescribed to be 
performed by a Designated Officer, that Officer may nominate or authorise another Officer 
in their place. 

(d) In implementing and effecting these Council Procedure Rules, the Council will comply with 
their statutory obligations relating to the use, recording and retention of any personal data 
that it receives. 

 
1.3 Notices 
 
Any Notice required under these Council Procedure Rules may be given to the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources, Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing, BN11 1HA, or by email to: 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk 
 
The listing of names as signatories on such documents shall be deemed to be signatures. 
 
1.4 Person Presiding’s Decision Final 
 
Any ruling of the person presiding at any meeting on any point of order, interpretation of these 
Council Procedure Rules, matters arising during the debate or with regard to the admissibility of an 
explanation, or otherwise, including any logistical arrangements for any meetings, shall be final and 
not open to discussion. However, in reaching their decision, the person presiding must give due 
consideration to the advice of professional Officers.  
 
Annual Meeting 
 
2.1 Timing 
 

740

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


87 

In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the Annual Meeting will take place 
within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors. In any other year, the Annual Meeting 
will take place in March, April or May. 
 
2.2 Business 
 
The Annual Council will: 

(a) Elect a Member, other than a Cabinet Member, to be the Mayor of the Borough; 
(b) Appoint a person, other than a Cabinet Member, to be the Deputy Mayor of the Borough; 
(c) Elect the Leader, if the term of office of the previous Leader has come to an end; 
(d) Appoint the Leader of the Main Opposition (see Procedure Rule 39); 
(e) Elect a Member, other than a Cabinet Member, to preside if the Mayor is not present; 
(f) Receive apologies for absences; 
(g) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests; 
(h) Approve the Minutes of the last meeting; 
(i) Receive any announcements from the Mayor and/or Head of Paid Service; 
(j) Give a vote of thanks to the retiring Mayor and presentation of retiring Mayor’s insignia; 
(k) In an election year, receive the return of the Returning Officer; 
(l) Establish such Committees as the Full Council considers appropriate to deal with matters 

which are neither reserved to the Full Council nor are Executive functions, including a 
Committee to consider Standards issues and an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, in 
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 2.3 below; 

(m) Appoint Members to the Committees of the Council in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules 2.3 and 2.4 below; 

(n) Adopt any changes to the Constitution and the Scheme of Officer Delegations, other than 
those relating to Executive functions, as set out in Part 4 of this Constitution; 

(o) Approve a programme of Ordinary Meetings of the Council for the year, if not already 
agreed; 

(p) Consider any other business set out in the summons convening the meeting; and 
(q) Consider any business that the Mayor believes to be urgent, in that the matter to be 

determined has arisen since the publication of the agenda and failure to determine it at this 
meeting would cause significant adverse impact on the Council. 

 
There is no opportunity for the public or Members question time at an Annual Meeting of the Full 
Council. 
 
2.3 Selection of Councillors on Committees 
 
At the Annual Meeting, the Council will: 

(a) Decide which Committees to establish for the Municipal Year; 
(b) Decide the size and Terms of Reference of those Committees; 
(c) Having received a report from the Director for Sustainability & Resources concerning the 

implementation of political balance rules, decide the allocation of the number of seats of 
those Committees to each Political Group. 

(d) Receive nominations of Councillors, and where appropriate co-optees, to serve on each 
Committee; and 

(e) Appoint Members to seats on those Committees; 
(f) Appoint the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Council’s Committees. 

 
In a year when there is no Election, Council Procedure Rules 2.3 (a), (b) and (c) above may not 
apply. 
 
2.4 Appointment of Substitute Members to Committees and Sub-Committees 
 
The Full Council may appoint as many substitutes as it wishes, subject to the following: 

(a) No substitutes will be appointed for Licensing Committee or any of its Sub-Committees 
when dealing with Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 applications; 

741



88 

(b) Substitutes may only substitute for Members of the same political party except where a 
substitution is necessary for the Committee to operate effectively, and the Political Group 
does not have sufficient membership to appoint a substitute, or the substitute is not able to 
attend. In these circumstances the Director for Sustainability & Resources may, having 
regard to the rules of political proportionality, and in consultation with the Member who is 
unable to attend, invite any other Member who has been designated as a substitute for that 
Committee, to attend the Committee or Sub-Committee; 

(c) Substitutes must be identified at the time of their appointment, but this can be by: 
(i) appointing ‘all Members’ as substitutes for a particular Committee; or  
(ii) appointing named Members as substitutes for a particular Committee.  

(d) Any Member sitting as a substitute on a regulatory Committee or Sub-Committee must 
have undertaken appropriate training within the preceding two years. Any Member sitting as 
a substitute on any other Committee must have undertaken training as appropriate. 

(e) Cabinet Members may not be substituted on the Cabinet; 
(f) Substitute Members will have all the powers and duties of any Ordinary Member of the 

Committee. The Substitute Member will not be able to exercise any special powers or 
duties exercisable by the person for whom they are substituting (e.g. if they substitute for 
the Chair, they shall not automatically have the powers of the Chair, unless voted as Chair 
by that Committee); 

(g) Substitute Members may attend meetings in that capacity only: 
(i) To take the place of an Ordinary Member for whom they are the substitute; 
(ii) Where the Ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; 
(iii) After notifying the Monitoring Officer, or their representative, prior to them joining the 

meeting of the Committee, of the intended substitution. 
(h) Where substitutions take place after the Appointed Member has been provided with 

documents relating to the meeting, the Appointed Member is responsible for providing the 
Substitute Member with access to those documents. 

 
Ordinary Meetings 
 
3.1 Full Council 
 
Ordinary Meetings of the Full Council will take place in accordance with a programme decided by 
the Full Council at its Annual Meeting, or at any other time.  
 
Ordinary Meetings will: 

(a) Elect a Member, who is not a Cabinet Member, to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor 
are not present; 

(b) Receive apologies for absence; 
(c) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests from Members; 
(d) Approve the Minutes of the last meeting; 
(e) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.0, receive deputations and questions from, 

and provide answers to, the public; 
(f) Deal with any issues arising under the Council’s Petition Scheme; 
(g) Receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader, Cabinet Members or the Head of 

Paid Service; 
(h) Receive any announcements from any Group Leader as to changes to appointment of 

Members on Committees; 
(i) Deal with any business from the last Council meeting; 
(j) Consider any business that the Mayor believes to be urgent, in that the matter to be 

determined has arisen since the publication of the agenda and failure to determine it at this 
meeting would cause significant adverse impact on the Council; 

(k) Consider the business specified in the summons to the meeting, including consideration of 
proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework and 
reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for debate; 

(l) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 13.0, receive the Leader’s report on Executive 
decisions and receive questions and answers on that report; 

742



89 

(m) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 12.0, receive questions from, and provide 
answers to, Elected Members; 

(n) Consider Motions on Notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 14 and Motions 
and Amendments Without Notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15. 

 
3.2 Cabinet and Committees  
 
Ordinary Meetings of the Cabinet and Committees will take place in accordance with a programme 
of dates decided by themselves and noted by Full Council.  
 
Ordinary Meetings will: 

(a) Elect a Member to preside if the Chair and Deputy Chair are not present; 
(b) Receive any declarations of substitute membership in accordance with Council Procedure 

Rule 2.4 above; 
(c) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests from Members; 
(d) Approve the Minutes of the previous meeting; 
(e) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.0, receive questions from, and provide 

answers to, the public; 
(f) Deal with any business from the last meeting; 
(g) Consider any other business specified on the agenda for the meeting; and 
(h) Consider any business that the Chair believes to be urgent, in that the matter to be 

determined has arisen since the publication of the agenda and failure to determine it at this 
meeting would cause significant adverse impact on the Council. 

 
Extraordinary Meetings 
 
4.1 Full Council  
 
Those listed below may require the Director for Sustainability & Resources to summons Members 
to Full Council Meetings in addition to Ordinary Meetings: 

(a) The Full Council by resolution; 
(b) The Mayor; 
(c) The Head of Paid Service; 
(d) Monitoring Officer;  
(e) Section 151 Officer;  
(f) Any 5 Members of the Council, if they have signed a requisition presented to the Mayor and 

they have refused to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting within 7 calendar days of 
presentation of the requisition. Any such requisition will be deemed to have been presented 
to the Mayor, if emailed to the Director for Sustainability & Resources at: 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk 
 

Extraordinary Meetings of Full Council will: 
(a) Elect a Member, who is not a Cabinet Member, to preside if both the Mayor and Deputy 

Mayor are not present; 
(b) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests from Members; 
(c) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.0, receive questions from, and provide 

answers to, the public; 
(d) Consider the single item of business specified in the summons to the meeting (a single item 

may be made up of more than one part provided they all relate to a single subject); and 
(e) (Consider any business that the Mayor believes to be urgent, in that the matter to be 

determined has arisen since the publication of the agenda and failure to determine it at this 
meeting would cause significant adverse impact on the Council. 

 
4.2 Cabinet and Committees  
 
Those listed below may request the Director for Sustainability & Resources to call meetings of the 
Cabinet or Committees in addition to Ordinary Meetings: 

743



90 

(a) The Leader, in respect of Cabinet Meetings, and the Chair of the Committee, in respect of 
their Committee Meetings, at any time. 

(b) If a requisition signed by at least 2, or one quarter of the total number, of the voting Cabinet 
Members, whichever is the greater, has been presented to the Leader, and either they have 
refused to call a meeting or no such Meeting has been called within 7 calendar days of the 
presentation of the requisition, then any 2, or one quarter of the number, of the voting 
Cabinet Members, whichever is the greater, may call an Extraordinary Meeting of the 
Cabinet by notice in writing to the Director for Sustainability & Resources at 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk specifying the business proposed to be 
transacted. The Director for Sustainability & Resources shall give notice to all Cabinet 
Members and all persons entitled to receive papers. Timeframes set out in the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules must be complied with. 

(c) If a requisition signed by at least 2, or one quarter of the total number, of the voting 
Members of the Committee, whichever is the greater, has been presented to the Chair of 
the Committee, and either they have refused to call a meeting or no such Meeting has been 
called within 7 calendar days of the presentation of the requisition, then any 2, or one 
quarter of the number, of the voting Members of the Committee, whichever is the greater, 
may call an Extraordinary Meeting of the Committee by notice in writing to the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources at democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk specifying the 
business proposed to be transacted. The Director for Sustainability & Resources shall give 
notice to all Members of the Committee and all persons entitled to receive papers. 
Timeframes set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules must be complied with. 

 
Extraordinary Meetings will: 

(a) Elect a Member to preside if the Chair and Deputy Chair are not present; 
(b) Receive any declaration of Substitute Members in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 

2.4; 
(c) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests from Members; 
(d) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.0, receive questions from, and provide 

answers to, the public; 
(e) Consider any other business specified in the agenda for the meeting; 
(f) Consider any business that the Chair believes to be urgent, in that the matter to be 

determined has arisen since the publication of the agenda and failure to determine it at this 
meeting would cause significant adverse impact on the Council. 

 
Special Meetings 
 
5.1 Full Council  
 
A Special Meeting of the Full Council is one that is required by statute and shall only consider a 
single substantive item of business. The meeting shall be convened for the specific statutory 
purpose which shall be contained in the summons. No other business may be transacted at that 
meeting. 
 
Those listed below may require the Director for Sustainability & Resources to call a Special 
Meeting of the Full Council: 

(a) Full Council by resolution; 
(b) Mayor; and 
(c) Monitoring Officer. 

 
Special meetings will: 

(a) Elect a Member, who is not a Cabinet Member, to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor 
are not present; 

(b) Receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interests from Members;  
(c) In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.0, receive questions from, and provide 

answers to, the public relating to the specific single item of business on the agenda; and 
(d) Consider the specific item of business for which the meeting has been convened. 

744



91 

 
5.2 Cabinet and Committees  
 
There shall be no Special Meetings of the Cabinet or any Committee. 
 
Time and Location 
 
6.1 Full Council 
 

(a) Meetings will usually be held at the Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing, commencing at 
6:30 p.m. unless: 
(i) The Full Council resolves otherwise; or 
(ii) For some practical reason this is not possible or appropriate, in which case the 

meeting will be held at another location to be decided by the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources, after consulting the Mayor and the Leader. 

(b) If an emergency occurs, the Director for Sustainability & Resources may, after consulting 
with such of the Mayor, the Leader and Leaders of the Political Groups as may 
conveniently be contacted, vary any arrangement agreed by the Full Council for the 
holding of Full Council meetings. 

(c) No meeting of the Full Council shall, except in an emergency, be held on a Friday 
evening, Saturday, Sunday, Bank Holiday or day on which the Council shall have 
granted a general holiday for its employees. 

 
6.2 Cabinet and Committees 
 

(a) Meetings of the Cabinet and Committees will usually be held at the Town Hall, Chapel 
Road, Worthing, unless: 
(i) The Cabinet or Full Council (in the case of a Committee) resolves otherwise; or 
(ii) For some practical reason this is not possible, or appropriate, in which case the 

meeting will be held either at another location to be decided by the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources after consulting with the Chair of the Cabinet and 
Committee; or 

(iii) They are Joint Committees under a Joint Committee Agreement, in which case the 
time and location of the meeting is governed by that Agreement. 

(b) If an emergency occurs, the Director for Sustainability & Resources may, after consulting 
the Chair of the Cabinet or the Committee, as the case may be, and, so far as 
practicable, representatives of the Political Groups, vary any arrangements agreed by 
the Full Council, the Cabinet or the Committee, for the holding of meetings. 

 
Notice of and Summons to Meetings 
 
7.1 At least 5 clear working days before the day of a meeting, the Director for Sustainability & 

Resources shall publish on the Council’s website the time and location of the intended 
meeting. Where the meeting is called by Members of the Council, the notice shall be signed 
by those Members and shall specify the purpose proposed to be transacted there. 

 
7.2 At least 5 clear working days before the day of a meeting, the Director for Sustainability & 

Resources will send a summons or agenda signed by them to every Member of the Council 
by electronic mail, by post, or by leaving it at their usual place of residence. The summons 
or agenda will give the date, time and location of each meeting, specify the business to be 
transacted and will be accompanied by such reports or shall provide access to such reports 
electronically.  

 
Chairing 
 
8.1 Full Council 
 

745



92 

(a) The person presiding at a meeting of Full Council may exercise any power or duty of the 
Mayor. 

(b) If it is necessary to choose a Member of the Council (who cannot be a Cabinet Member) 
to preside in the absence of the Mayor or their Deputy, the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources, or the Monitoring Officer, or their representatives, shall preside and call for a 
motion that a Member of the Council take the Chair. 

(c) If there is any debate on this motion, then the Director for Sustainability & Resources, or 
the Monitoring Officer, or their representatives, shall have all the powers of the Mayor for 
the purposes of that debate. 

 
8.2 The Cabinet and Committees 
 

(a) The person presiding at a meeting of the Cabinet and Committees may exercise any 
power or duty of the Chair. 

(b) If it is necessary to choose a Cabinet Member or Committee, as the case may be, to 
preside in the absence of the Chair or their Deputy, the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources , or the Monitoring Officer, or their representatives, shall preside and call for a 
motion that a Member of the Council take the Chair. 

(c) If there is any debate on this motion, then the Director for Sustainability & Resources , or 
the Monitoring Officer, or their representatives, shall have all the powers of the Chair for 
the purposes of that debate. 

  
(c) 8.3 Although the Cconstitution refers to the Chair of the Cabinet and Committees, the Chair 
may choose to adopt a title of Chairman, Chairwoman or Chair Person as is their preference.  
 
Quorum 
 
9.1 Full Council  
 

(a) The Quorum of a meeting will be 10 Members. 
(b) If during any meeting the person presiding declares that there is not a quorum present 

the meeting shall stand adjourned for 15 minutes. 
(c) If, after 15 minutes, the person presiding declares that there is still no quorum present 

the meeting shall end. 
(d) Notwithstanding any provision in these rules that notices of questions or motions shall 

lapse, the consideration of all business which is on the agenda of a meeting brought to 
an end under the previous paragraph, and which has not been completed before the 
meeting is brought to an end, shall be postponed to the next meeting, whether Ordinary 
or Extraordinary, insofar as is allowed by law. 

 
9.2 The Cabinet and Committees 
 

(a) The Quorum of a meeting will be one third of the whole number of Cabinet Members or 
Committee, as the case may be, (rounded up where necessary to the next whole 
number), save that: 

(i) In the case of the Licensing Committee the quorum will be one quarter of the 
whole number of Members of the Committee (rounded up where necessary to the 
next whole number);  

(ii) In no case shall the quorum of any other Committee be less than 3; and 
(iii) In no case shall the quorum of a Sub-Committee be less than 2. 

(b) If during any meeting the person presiding declares that there is not a quorum present 
the meeting shall stand adjourned for 15 minutes. 

(c) If, after 15 minutes, the person presiding declares that there is still no quorum present 
the meeting shall end. 

(d) Notwithstanding any provision in these rules that notices of questions or motions shall 
lapse, the consideration of all business which is on the agenda of a meeting brought to 
an end under the previous paragraph, and which has not been completed before the 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

746



93 

meeting is brought to an end, shall be postponed to the next meeting, whether Ordinary 
or Extraordinary, insofar as is allowed by law. 

 
9.3 Joint Committees 
 
The quorum of a Joint Committee shall be determined in accordance with the Joint Committee 
Agreement or arrangement under which it is constituted. However, if no such arrangements are set 
out within the Joint Committee Agreement, or arrangement under which a Joint Committee is 
convened, then Council Procedure Rule 9.2 above will apply. 
 
Duration of Meetings 
 
10.1 General 
 
(a) Subject to (d) below, the person presiding shall interrupt proceedings where any meeting 

has lasted for three hours (and hourly after that), whereupon any Member speaking shall 
stop speaking. The person presiding shall, without discussion, take a vote on whether or 
not the Members wish the meeting to continue. 

(b) If the majority of Members present do not vote to continue the meeting, then the person 
presiding shall, without further discussion, take a vote on the item under discussion and 
then the meeting shall stand adjourned. The remaining business shall be considered at a 
time and date fixed at that time by the person presiding and if no such date is fixed, at the 
next Ordinary Meeting. 

(c) If the majority of Members present vote to continue the meeting, then a further vote on 
whether or not to continue the meeting will take place on an hourly basis thereafter. 

(d) Council Procedure Rule 10.1 (a), (b) and (c) do not apply to meetings dealing with matters 
arising under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005, Committee meetings 
dealing with staff appointments or staff appeals and Joint Governance Sub-Committee 
meetings dealing with code of conduct determination hearings. 

 
Public Questions and Deputations 
 
11.1 Full Council  

 
11.1.1 General 
 

(a) Members of the public, who live, work or own property in the District may ask questions of 
any Cabinet Member at any Ordinary Council meeting and will be allowed a maximum of 5 
minutes per person. This provision is subject to a maximum of 30 minutes being available 
for all public questions. 

(b) No discussion will take place in respect of any question. 
(c) Where notice has been given of the question in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 

11.1.3, the questioner and the Member to whom the question is put are both present, and 
there is sufficient time, then an oral response will be provided. If not, a written response will 
be provided within 3 working days. 

(d) There will be no opportunity for the public to ask questions at an Annual meeting of the Full 
Council. 

 
11.1.2 Order of Questions 
 
The questions will be put in the order in which notice of them was received, except that the Mayor 
may group similar questions together. 
 
11.1.3 Notice of Questions 
 
To enable the Cabinet Member to provide the fullest and most accurate answer, notice that it is to 
be asked, together with a copy of it, should still be given to the Director for Sustainability & 

747



94 

Resources  in writing by email to be received no later than midday two clear working days prior to 
the day of the meeting. Notice should be given by email to the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources , at democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk. Notice of questions must include the 
questioner’s name, address and contact details. 
 
Where a member of the public has failed to give notice of a question in accordance with this 
provision, the question may still be put, but the Cabinet Member to whom it is addressed may 
either choose to give a full response or respond by undertaking to provide a written response 
within 3 working days. 
 
11.1.4 Number of Questions 
 
At any one meeting, no person may submit more than a total of 2 questions, although each 
question may have more than one part, provided that each part relates to the same subject. No 
more than 2 questions can be asked on behalf of one organisation.  
 
11.1.5 Scope of Questions 
 
Every question must relate to a matter for which the Council has responsibility and/or which 
specifically affects the Borough. 
 
Where notice of a question is provided, The Director for Sustainability & Resources may reject a 
question if, in their opinion, it: 

i) is not about a matter for which the Cabinet or Committee has a responsibility; 
ii) is defamatory, frivolous, vexatious or offensive; 
iii) refers to legal proceedings taken or anticipated by or against the Council; 
iv) is substantially the same as a question which has been put to a meeting of the Full 

Council, the Cabinet or the same Committee in the past 6 months; 
v) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 
vi) would more appropriately be responded to by the Council under the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000 or the Data Protection Act 1998; 
vii) relates to a specific planning application; 
viii) relates to a specific application before a Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee; 
ix) relates to a specific staffing appointment or appeal matter;  
x) names or identifies individual service users, Officers or Members/staff of partner 

agencies; 
xi) makes or relates to allegations against, or comprises comments about, the conduct of 

individual Members or Officers; 
xii) relates to a specific Standards determination matter. 

 
11.1.6 Record of Questions 
 
(a) Where notice of a question is provided, The Director for Sustainability & Resources will as 

soon as possible send a copy of the question to the Cabinet Member to whom it is to be 
put. If the Director for Sustainability & Resources has rejected the question in accordance 
with 11.1.5 above, a copy of the question will still be sent to the relevant Cabinet Member, 
with reasons as to why it has been rejected. 

(b) Where notice of a question has been provided, copies of all such questions, save for those 
that have been rejected, will be circulated to all Members of the Council, and will be made 
available to the public attending the meetings via the Council’s website. 

(c) Where a question is asked, without notice, the Director for Sustainability & Resources or 
their representative, will record a summary of the question in the minutes of the meeting. 

 
11.1.7 Asking the Question at the Meeting 
 
(a) The Mayor will invite the questioner to put the question to the relevant Cabinet Member.  

748

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


95 

(b) If a member of the public who has submitted notice of a question is unable to be present at 
the meeting, they may ask the Mayor to put the question on their behalf. If the Mayor puts 
the question, they will indicate either that a written reply will be given within 3 working days, 
or that, in the absence of the questioner, the question will not be dealt with. 

(c) The provisions of Council Procedure Rule 11.1.5 apply and the Mayor may reject a 
question at the meeting on those same grounds. 

 
11.1.8 Supplemental Question 

 
(a) A member of the public who has put a question in person, may also put one supplementary 

question, without notice, to the Cabinet Member, who has replied to their original question. 
A supplementary question can be for a maximum of 2 minutes, subject to the overall 30 
minutes allowed for public question time. 

(b) A supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. 
(c)  The Mayor may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds in Council 

Procedure Rule 11.1.5 above. 
 
11.1.9 Answers 
 
(a) Where notice has been given of a question, a verbal response will be provided with a 

maximum time limit of 5 minutes in total, subject to the maximum of 30 minutes available for 
public question time. 

(b) Where a supplemental question is asked, following a question on notice, a verbal response 
will be provided, with a time limit of 2 minutes, subject to a maximum of 30 minutes 
available for public question time. 

(c) Any question which cannot be responded to during Public Question Time, either because of 
the non-attendance of the Cabinet Member to whom it was to be put, or the non-attendance 
of the member of the public putting the question, will be dealt with by way of a written 
answer, to be provided within 3 working days of the meeting. 

(d) Where notice of a question has been provided, but it cannot be responded to during Public 
Question Time due to lack of time, it will be dealt with by way of a written answer, to be 
provided within 3 working days of the meeting. 

 
11.1.10 Referral to the Cabinet or a Committee 
 
Any Member of the Council may move that a matter raised by a question, be referred to either the 
Cabinet or a Committee. Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on without discussion.  
 
11.2 The Cabinet and Committees  
 
11.2.1  General 
 
(a) Members of the public, who live, work or own property in the Borough, may ask questions 

at any meeting of the Cabinet or a Committee on any matter which is before that meeting, 
or for which the Cabinet or that Committee has responsibility, subject to the matters 
referred to in 11.2.5. 

(b) A member of the public will be allowed a maximum of 5 minutes to ask each question, 
subject to a maximum of 30 minutes being allowed in total for public question time. 

(c) Where notice of the question has been provided in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rule 11.2.3, the questioner is present and there is sufficient time, an oral response will be 
given. If the questioner is absent the question falls. If there is insufficient time, a written 
response will be provided within 3 working days of the meeting being held. 

 
11.2.2 Order of Questions 
 
Questions will be asked in the order in which notice of them was received, except that the person 
presiding may group similar questions together. 

749



96 

 

11.2.3 Notice of Questions 
 
(a) To enable the Cabinet Member or Committee to provide the fullest and most accurate 

answer, notice that it is to be asked, together with a copy of it, should still be given to the 
Director for Sustainability & Resources in writing by email to be received no later than 
midday two clear working days prior to the day of the meeting. Notice should be given by 
email to the Director for Sustainability & Resources , at democratic.services@adur-
worthing.gov.uk. Notice must include the name, address and contact details of the 
questioner. 

(b) Where a member of the public has failed to give notice of a question in accordance with this 
provision, the question may still be put, but the Cabinet Member or Committee to whom it is 
addressed may either choose to give a full response or respond by undertaking to provide a 
written response within 3 working days. 

 
11.2.4 Number of Questions 
 
At any one meeting, no person may submit more than 2 questions, although each question may 
have more than one part, provided that each part relates to the same subject, and no more than 2 
questions can be asked on behalf of one organisation. 
 
11.2.5 Scope of Questions 
 
(a) Every question must relate to a matter for which the Cabinet, or that particular Committee, 

has responsibility. 
(b) Where notice of a question has been provided, the Director for Sustainability & Resources 

may reject a question if, in their opinion, it: 
(i) is not about a matter for which the Cabinet or Committee has a responsibility; 
(ii) is defamatory, frivolous, vexatious or offensive; 
(iii) refers to legal proceedings taken or anticipated by or against the Council; 
(iv) is substantially the same as a question which has been put to a meeting of the Full 

Council, the Cabinet or the same Committee in the past 6 months; 
(v) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 
(vi) would more appropriately be responded to by the Council under the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000 or the Data Protection Act 1998; 
(vii) relates to a specific planning application; 
(viii) relates to a specific application before a Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee; 
(ix) relates to a specific staffing appointment or appeal matter;  
(x) names or identifies individual service users, Officers or Members/staff of partner 

agencies; 
(xi) makes or relates to allegations against, or comprises comments about, the conduct 

of individual Members or Officers; 
(xii) relates to a specific Standards determination matter. 

 
11.2.6 Record of Questions 
 
(a) Where notice of a question is provided, the Director for Sustainability & Resources will as 

soon as possible send a copy of the question to the Member to whom it is to be put. Where 
the Director for Sustainability & Resources has rejected a question, a copy will still be sent 
to the relevant Member together with reasons for the rejection. 

(b) Where notice of a question is provided, copies of all questions, save for those which have 
been rejected, will be circulated to all Cabinet Members or Committee, as the case may be, 
and will be made available to the public attending the meetings, and made publicly 
available via the Council’s website. 

 
11.2.7 Asking the Question at the meeting 

750

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


97 

 
(a) The person presiding will invite the questioner to put the question to the meeting. 
(b) If a member of the public who has submitted notice of a question is unable to be present, 

they may ask the person presiding to put the question on their behalf. If the person 
presiding sees fit, they may group similar questions together and summarise them. If the 
person presiding puts the question, they will indicate either that a written reply will be given 
within 3 working days or, in the absence of the questioner, that the question will not be dealt 
with. 

 
11.2.8 Supplemental Question 
 
(a) A member of the public who has put a question in person, may also be allowed a maximum 

of 2 minutes to put one supplementary question, without notice, to the Cabinet or 
Committee, and a verbal response will be given 

(b) A supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. 
(c) The person presiding may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds in 

Council Procedure Rule 11.2.1 or 11.2.5 above. 
 
11.2.9 Written Answers 
 
(a) Any question which cannot be dealt with during Public Question Time, either because of the 

non-attendance of the Member to whom it was to be put, or due to the non-attendance of 
the questioner, will be dealt with by way of a written answer from the Leader of the Cabinet, 
relevant Member, or Chair of the Committee, to be provided within 3 working days of the 
meeting. 

(b) Where notice of a question has been provided, but it cannot be responded to during Public 
Question Time due to lack of time, it will be dealt with by way of a written answer, to be 
provided within 3 working days of the meeting. 

 
11.3 Deputations 

 
(a) Deputations may be received at full Council meetings provided that:  

(i) notice is received in writing by Democratic Services at least eight clear days before 
the meeting giving the subject to be raised, the contact details of the person or 
organisation who will be addressing the meeting, and signed by at least five 
registered local government electors of the Borough;  

(ii) the subject is not related to a specific planning, licensing or other application under 
consideration by the Council;  

(iii) the subject does not raise an issue of conduct by Members or officers, or names or 
clearly identifies any individual;  

(iv) the subject does not relate to legal proceedings or raise an issue in the nature of a 
complaint;  

(v) the subject does not relate to the appointment, promotion, dismissal, remuneration, 
conditions of service or conduct of officers;  

(vi) the subject relates to a power or duty exercised by the Council or seeks the support 
of the Council in influencing other public bodies; 

(vii) the subject is not, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, defamatory, vexatious, 
frivolous or offensive; 

(viii) the subject does not require the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 
(ix) they are not on the same or a similar subject to a deputation heard in the last six 

months. 
(b) Requisitions for deputations shall not be accepted from, nor on behalf of, political parties, 

nor if bearing the name, insignia or other device of a political party. 
(c) Subject to the foregoing, Democratic Services Manager shall bring the requisition before 

the Mayor, who having consulted the Leader, or in their absence the Deputy Leader, shall 
decide whether notice shall be given of the deputation on the agenda for a meeting of the 
Council. The Mayor must have regard to other business on the Council agenda in reaching 

751



98 

such a decision; however a deputation will normally be accepted where there is an item on 
the Council agenda of the same subject matter. 

(d) A maximum of two deputations only will be permitted at any meeting and will be taken in 
the order they were received. 

(e) The number of each deputation shall not exceed five, of whom only one shall speak for no 
longer than five minutes, following which they may answer any questions from Members. 

(f) The relevant Cabinet Member shall be given the opportunity to respond to Council on the 
issues raised, and advise Council what actions will be taken as a result of the deputation. 
Should no response be given at the meeting to which the deputation is put, the Cabinet 
Member shall provide a response at the next ordinary meeting of Council together with a 
written response provided to the deputation spokesperson. 

(g) A maximum of 30 minutes shall be allocated to Deputations on the Council agenda. 
(h) There shall be no debate on any matter raised by the deputation, but any Member may 

move without notice a motion for the manner in which the Council should dispose of the 
item. 

(i) A deputation will fail to be presented if no one who has signed the deputation is present. 
 
Member Questions 
 
12.1 Questions on Notice 
 
(a) Subject to Procedure Rule 12.2 below, a Member may ask the Mayor, a Cabinet Member, 

the Chair of any Committee, or the Council’s representative on any outside body, a 
question at any Ordinary Council meeting, and at meetings of the Cabinet or a Committee, 
on any matter in relation to which the Council has power or which specifically affects the 
Borough, which is relevant to an item on the agenda of the Cabinet or committee. 

(b) Every question shall be put and answered without discussion. 
(c) No Member may ask more than one question at a meeting unless the time taken by 

questions has not exceeded 30 minutes, in which case second questions will be taken in 
the order that they are received. 

(d) The Chair shall invite questions from Members in such an order as to ensure that each 
Political Group and ungrouped Members are permitted to ask questions in rotation, starting 
with the Main Opposition group. 

 
12.2 Notice of Questions  
 
(a) A Member may only ask a question in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 12 if either: 

(i) they have given written notice of the question and a copy of the question, to the 
Director for Sustainability & Resources, by email to democratic.services@adur-
worthing.gov.uk, to be received by midday at least two clear working days prior to 
the day of the meeting; or 

(ii) the question relates to an urgent matter and they have obtained the consent of the 
Mayor and notice of, and a copy of, the question is given to the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources by midday on the day of the meeting, by email to 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk. 

 
(b) The Director for Sustainability & Resources may reject a question if it:  

(i) is not about a matter:  

 for which the Council, the Cabinet or Committee to which it is addressed has 
a responsibility; or,  

 which particularly affects the Borough;  
(ii) is not submitted within the requisite timeframe; 
(iii) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;  
(iv) refers to legal proceedings taken or anticipated by or against the Council;  
(v) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined in the 

Local Government Act 1972;  

752



99 

(vi) relates to a day to day council function or the provision of a council service and 
has not been asked first of the relevant service area;  

(vii) is not related to policy or budget issues  
(viii) is a statement rather than a question;  
(ix) relates to an individual or the questioner's own particular circumstances;  
(x) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of the 

Council in the past six months  
(xi) names or identifies individual service users, members of staff or members/staff of 

partner agencies; 
(xii) makes or relates to allegations against, or compromise comments about, the 

conduct of individual Members or Officers; 
(xiii) is a decision on a staffing appointment or appeal relating to an individual; 
(xiv) is a decision of the Planning Committee on a specific planning application; 
(xv) is a decision of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee on a Standards 

determination; 
(xvi) is a decision of a Licensing Committee on a specific application, review or similar 

matter. 
 
12.3 Response 
 
(a) A written response will be prepared to the question and shall be read to the meeting. The 

response may take the form of:  
(i) a direct answer; or 
(ii) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published work, 

a reference to that publication; or 
(iii) where the reply cannot conveniently be given to the meeting, a written answer 

circulated within 3 working days of the meeting, to the questioner and all Members of 
the Council. 

(b) Replies will be given to questions by the relevant Cabinet Member or their nominee, but 
shall not be the subject of any further debate.  

(c) Answers should provide a full response to questions in a succinct way. If the reply cannot 
be given at the meeting, a written answer will be provided to the questioner and all 
Members of the Council within 5 working days of the meeting. 

 
12.4 Transferring the Response 
 
(a) The person to whom a question has been put may ask another Member to respond or may 

decline to answer. 
(b) Any Member may move that a matter raised by a question under Council Procedure Rule 

12 be referred to the Cabinet or a Committee. Once seconded, such a motion will be voted 
on without discussion. 

 
12.5 Supplementary Question 
 
(a) A Member asking a question under Council Procedure Rule 12 may ask one supplementary 

question, without notice, to the Member who first replied to the original question. 
(b) The supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. 
(c) The Chair may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds set out in 12.2.  
 
12.6 Number and Order of Questions 
 
(a) A Member may submit as many questions as they wish to any meeting but may only ask 

one question and one supplementary question at a time. 
(b) The Mayor shall invite questions from Members in such an order as to ensure that each 

Political Group and independent Members are permitted to ask a question in rotation, 
starting with the main opposition group. 

  

753



100 

12.7 Duration of Question Time by Members 
 
The period of time allotted to Members’ questions under Council Procedure Rule 12 shall not 
exceed 30 minutes, unless the Mayor exercises their discretion to extend it. 
 
12.8 Record of Questions and Answers  
 
(a) Questions asked on notice under Procedure Rule 12 will be recorded in the minutes, as will 

any written answer provided. This includes any questions that are asked but not answered 
at the meeting in the time allotted. 

(b) For the avoidance of doubt, neither supplementary questions nor answers shall be 
recorded.  

 
Leader’s Report 
 
13.1 General 
 
(a) The Leader shall prepare a report of the business of the Cabinet for each Ordinary Meeting of 

the Full Council. In presenting the report, the Cabinet will have 15 minutes to make any 
statements that they wish to make relating to the report before the Full Council. 

(b) Following the presentation of the Report of the business of the Cabinet, any Member may ask 
a question of the Leader or Cabinet Member arising from the written report, provided that the 
question is not one which is to be put under Council Procedure Rule 12.  

(c) This item of business shall not last longer than 15 minutes unless in the view of the Mayor, or 
on a motion moved by a Member, seconded and approved by Full Council without discussion, 
it is deemed appropriate to extend the time. In this event, the Mayor shall specify the duration 
of the extension. 

(d) Every question should be put and answered without discussion. Any Member may ask one 
question, following which, if time remains, a Member may ask a second question.  

(e) Following the presentation of the report and questions arising on that, the Mayor shall call 
Members to ask questions for which due notice has been given pursuant to Council Procedure 
Rule 12. 

 
Main Opposition Priority Motion 
 

a) The largest political group not forming part of the Administration may submit one item of 
business to be placed on the agenda of an ordinary meeting of the Council to be treated as 
Priority Opposition Business. The submission shall include a brief description of the item of 
business (which will allow members and the public to understand the nature of the topic to 
be discussed) and the name of the member presenting it. The description and the name of 
the presenter shall be included on the agenda. Notice of the item must be submitted no 
later than the deadline for the receipt of motions (Rule 14). 

b) Priority Opposition Business shall take the form of a statement and the total time allowed 
for the item will be 15 minutes. The member named on the agenda as presenting the 
statement may speak for up to five minutes. A member responding on behalf of the 
Administration may speak for up to five minutes. The Leader of the largest political group 
not forming part of the Administration may exercise a right of reply for up to five minutes. 
The matter under discussion shall not be put to the vote and no other questions or debate 
shall be allowed. 

c) Priority Opposition Business shall not be taken at the Annual Meeting, the meeting 
convened to approve the Council's budget or a meeting called for a specific purpose. 

 
Motions on Notice 
 
14.1 Notice 
 

754



101 

(a) Except for motions that can be moved without notice under Council Procedure Rule 15, written 
notice of every motion, signed by at least one Elected Member of the Council, must be 
delivered to the Director for Sustainability & Resources not less than 10 clear working days 
before the date of the meeting.  

(b) If the notice of motion is sent by electronic means, an electronic signature will suffice, and it 
shall be received at least 10 clear working days before the day of the meeting at 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk. The Member must ensure they obtain an 
acknowledgement of its receipt.  

(c) The Director for Sustainability & Resources will date and number the motion in the order in 
which it is received. 

 
14.2 Scope 
 
(a) Each motion must be clear and succinct, must clearly identify the matter to be debated and 

have a clear question to be put. Where the Councillor is aware of specific legal, regulatory or 
financial implications, these should be set out in the pre-amble. Motions must:  

(i) be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility; and/or  
(ii) specifically affect the Borough; and  
(iii) be about a single issue. 

(b) Any amendments to motions must comply with (i) to (iii) above and the procedure rule on 
amendments. 

(c) Where a motion is received, the Director for Sustainability & Resources may reject it if, in their 
opinion, the motion: 

(i) is not relevant either to some matter in relation to which the Council has powers or 
duties or it does not affect the Borough; or 

(ii) is defamatory, frivolous, unlawful, vexatious or offensive; or 
(iii) refers to legal proceedings taken or anticipated by or against the Council; or 
(iv) is substantially the same as, or is to rescind, a motion which has been received and 

accepted in the past 6 months (see Procedure Rule 22; or 
(v) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; or 
(vi) names or identifies specific service users, members of staff or members of staff of 

partner organisations without the Councillor demonstrating they have provided 
consent; 

(vii) relates to the Member’s own personal circumstances; or 
(viii) is improper, out of order or not relevant. 

(d) Where a motion is rejected by the Director for Sustainability & Resources, they shall return the 
motion to the Member of the Council who sent it, stating that it will not be inserted on the 
agenda and providing reasons. 

(e) Where the Council is in the process of consulting with the public on a proposal, or responding 
to a formal consultation process, no notice of motion expressing support or objecting to the 
proposals shall be accepted. 

(f) All accepted notices of motion shall be sent, via a report, direct to Full Council by the Director 
for Sustainability & Resources. Such report will include the procedure for consideration and 
determination of the motion.  

(g) The decision of the Director for Sustainability & Resources will be final. 
 
14.3 Motions set out in Agenda 
 
(a) Accepted motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda, subject to the 

exception below, in the order in which notice was received by the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources, unless the Member giving notice of the motion gives advance written notice that 
they intend to propose to defer the motion until the next meeting, or withdraw the motion. 

(b) Such accepted motions will be placed on the agenda immediately before the consideration of 
exempt information items. 

(c) The maximum number of accepted notices of motion to be presented at a Council meeting 
shall be as follows: 

(i) The three largest Political Groups: two per Group 

755

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


102 

(ii) Any other Group: one per Group 
(d) If the three largest groups cannot be determined due to equality in numbers, then each Group 

with a membership of 5 or more may present two motions. 
(e) Any Member not belonging to a Political Group may present not more than one motion on 

notice.  
(f) Where Members of a Political Group submit more than the permitted maximum number of 

notices of motion the Group shall decide which of these it wishes to table. In the absence of 
such a decision, notices of motion from Members of a Group shall be taken in the order in 
which they are received up to the permitted maximum number.  

(g) No more than one motion may be proposed by a member for each meeting. 
(h) A councillor may alter a motion that they have moved, in which case the amendment becomes 

part of the substantive motion without debate. Only alterations which could be made as an 
amendment may be made. 

 
14.4 Speaking to propose a Motion 
 
If a motion set out on the agenda is not moved by a Member who gave the notice or by some other 

Member on their behalf, it shall be treated as withdrawn and shall not be moved without fresh 

notice unless postponed by the Council. 

14.5 Referral of Motions to the Cabinet or a Committee  
 

All accepted motions on notice shall be debated by Full Council.  Where a decision is required by 

the Cabinet or a Committee the motion will automatically be referred to the next practical meeting 

of the Cabinet or Committee.  

14.6 Attendance of mover at meeting of the Cabinet or a Committee  
 
(a) Where a motion has been referred by Full Council to the Cabinet or a Committee, the mover, or 

the seconder in the absence of the mover, shall be entitled to attend the relevant meeting of 
the Cabinet or Committee and to explain the motion.  

(b) The Member may answer questions from the Cabinet or Committee, for the purposes of 
clarification, prior to any debate and may sit with the Committee for the item in question.  

(c) The Member may not partake in the debate, nor vote upon the item. 
 
Motions and Amendments without Notice 
 
15.1 General 
 
The following motions and amendments may be moved without notice: 

(a) To appoint a person to preside at the meeting at which the motion is moved; 
(b) In relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 
(c) To change the order of business in the agenda; 
(d) To refer something to an appropriate body or individual including referring any matter for 

consideration by the Cabinet or a Committee; 
(e) To assign to a Committee or Member a matter arising from an item on the summons for 

the meeting; 
(f) To receive reports or adopt recommendations from the Cabinet, Committee or Officers, 

and any resolutions arising from them; 
(g) To withdraw a motion; 
(h) To extend the time limit for speeches; 
(i) To amend a motion; 
(j) To postpone consideration of a motion; 
(k) To proceed to the next business; 
(l) To take an immediate vote on a motion; 
(m) To adjourn a debate; 
(n) To adjourn a meeting; 

756



103 

(o) That the meeting continue beyond 3 hours in duration; 
(p) To suspend a particular Council Procedure Rule; 
(q) To authorise the sealing of documents; 
(r) To exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure 

Rules (see Council Procedure Rule 16.14); 
(s) To not hear further a Member named under Council Procedure Rule 32.3 or to exclude 

them from the meeting under Council Procedure Rule 32.4; 
(t) To invite a Member to withdraw in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct; 
(u) To give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this Constitution; 
(v) To carry out a statutory duty of the Council which, by reason of special circumstances, 

the person presiding is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as a matter of 
urgency; 

(w) Motions relating to communications and announcements from the Chair, Leader, 
Cabinet Members and/or Head of Paid Service in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rule 3; 

(x) Motions relating to vote by way of ballot. 
 
Rules of Debate 
 
For rules of debate relating to the consideration and determination of the annual budget, reference 
is made to the Budget Procedure Rules found in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

16.1 Management of debate 
 
(a) The person presiding shall have the control of any debate and will use their discretion to 

ensure the effective, efficient, fair and orderly conduct of the business. 
(b) The person presiding will normally follow the rules set out in this Council Procedure Rule 16 but 

their interpretation, application or waiver of these rules of debate will be final. 
 
16.2 No speeches until motion seconded 
 
No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and explained the purpose of it, 
until the motion or amendment has been seconded. 
 
16.3 Right to require motion in writing 
 
Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the person presiding may require it to be 
written down and handed to them before it is discussed. 
 
16.4 Full Council - Seconder's speech 
 
When seconding a motion or amendment, a Member may reserve their speech until later in the 
debate. 
 
16.5 Full Council - Content and length of speech 
 
(a) Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or be a personal explanation or 

point of order.  
(b) Subject to (c) and (d) below, no speech shall exceed 3 minutes in length. 
(c) The speech of the proposer of a motion (but not an amendment), when proposing the motion or 

when exercising their right of reply at the close of debate on a motion, shall not exceed 5 
minutes. 

(d) The time limits at (b) and (c) above may be extended with the consent of the Council which 
shall be given or refused without debate. 

757



104 

16.6 The Cabinet and Committees - Content of speech 
 
(a) Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or be a personal explanation or 

point of order.  
(b) The person presiding shall exercise principles of good chairship in conducting meetings; 

regulating proceedings fairly, objectively and without bias. In particular, they shall ensure that 
the meeting has a structured debate with clear proposals moved and seconded and debated in 
the order moved. 

(c) The Chair shall announce the motion (as amended if appropriate) immediately before any vote 
and confirm the decision of the Cabinet or Committee. 

 
16.7 Full Council - When a Member may speak again 
 
A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of debate, 
except: 

(a) to speak once to any amendment moved by another Member; 
(b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since they last spoke; 
(c) if their first speech was on an amendment moved by another Member, to speak on the 

main issue (whether or not the amendment on which they spoke was carried); 
(d) in exercise of a right of reply; 
(e) on a point of order; 
(f) by way of personal explanation. 

 
16.8 The Cabinet and Committees– When a Member may not speak again 
 
A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of debate 
subject to the person presiding at their discretion: 

(a) determining that the Member has spoken sufficiently on the matter; or 
(b) determining that the matter has been debated sufficiently and calling for a vote. 

 
16.9 Amendments to Motions 
 
(a) An amendment shall be relevant to the motion and will either be: 

(i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual, including the Cabinet or a 
Committee, for consideration or reconsideration; 

(ii) to give guidance to the Cabinet or a Committee on a subject determined under delegated 
powers; 

(iii) to amend the wording, as long as the effect is not to negate the motion or introduce a 
new proposal into the debate. 

(b) If they deem it necessary, the person presiding shall read out the amended motion before the 
amendment is put. 

(c) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time and no further 
amendment shall be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed of, 
except with the agreement of the proposer and seconder of the subsisting proposed 
amendment, to amend that proposal with a view to achieving agreement.  

(d) A Member may give notice of their intention to move a further amendment, and its nature, 
before a vote is taken on the amendment under consideration. 

(e) If an amendment is lost, other amendments to the original motion may be moved, provided that 
no such amendment may have a similar effect to one previously determined by the meeting 
unless it is supported by more than 50% of Members present. 

(f) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended shall take the place of the original motion 
and shall become the substantive motion to which any further amendments may be moved.  

(g) After an amendment has been carried, the person presiding will read out the amended motion 
before accepting any further amendments. 

(h) After all amendments have been considered and determined there shall be an opportunity for 
further debate on the original motion, as amended or otherwise, as the case may be, prior to 
the taking of a vote. 

758



105 

 
16.10 Alteration of Motion 
 
With the consent of their seconder and of the meeting, which shall be signified without discussion, 
a Member may alter: 

(a) a motion of which they have given notice, or 
(b) a motion or an amendment which they have moved, 

provided that the alteration is one which could be made as an amendment to the motion. 
 
16.11 Withdrawals of Motions and Amendments 
 
(a) A Member may withdraw a motion or amendment with the consent of their seconder and of the 

meeting, which shall be signified without discussion.  
(b) No Member may speak on the motion after the mover has asked permission for its withdrawal 

unless permission to withdraw is refused. 
 
16.12 Full Council - Right of Reply 
 
(a) When Full Council debates reports and recommendations received from the Cabinet or its 

Committees, the appropriate Cabinet Member or Committee Chair shall have the right to sum 
up at the end of any debate on the report. 

(b) Subject to the above, the mover of a motion has a right of reply at the end of the debate on the 
motion immediately before it is put to the vote. 

(c) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of reply at the close 
of the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise speak on it. 

(d) The mover of the amendment shall have a right of reply immediately after the reply on the 
amendment by the mover of the original motion. 

(e) A Member exercising a right of reply shall confine themselves to answering previous speakers 
and shall not introduce new matters or material. The person presiding’s ruling on this shall be 
final and not open to discussion. 

 
16.13 Person presiding may sum up debate 
 
(a) The person presiding may, if they think fit, sum up the debate before putting a motion or 

amendment to the vote; and  
(b) if such debate involves questions of a legal, administrative or technical nature, they may 

request the appropriate Officer to draw the attention of the meeting to any relevant factors. 
 
16.14 Motions which may be moved during debate 
 
When a motion is under debate, no other motion shall be moved except for the following 
procedural motions: 

(a) to withdraw a motion; 
(b) to amend a motion; 
(c) to postpone consideration of a motion; 
(d) to adjourn the debate; 
(e) to adjourn the meeting; 
(f) that the meeting continue beyond 3 hours in duration; 
(g) to proceed to the next business; 
(h) to take an immediate vote on the motion: 

(i) to not hear from a Member named under Council Procedure Rule 32.3 or to exclude 
them from the meeting under Council Procedure Rule 32.4; 

(ii) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules. 

759



106 

 
16.15 Closure Motions 
 
(a) A Member may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of a speech of 

another Member: 
(i) to proceed to the next business; 
(ii) to take an immediate vote on a motion; 
(iii) to adjourn a debate; 
(iv) to adjourn the meeting; 
(v) to exclude the public from the meeting; 
(vi) that a Member be not further heard. 

 
(b) On the seconding of a motion referred to above, the person presiding shall proceed as follows: 

(i) On a motion to proceed to the next business, which is seconded, unless in their opinion 
the matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, the person presiding 
shall give the mover of the original motion the right of reply and then put their motion to 
the vote. If the procedural motion is carried, then the question before the Council is 
dropped and no decision on it has been taken. 

(ii) On a motion to take an immediate vote on a motion, which is seconded, unless in their 
opinion the matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, the person 
presiding shall first put the procedural motion to the vote. If the motion is passed, the 
Chair will give the mover of the original motion or amendment their right of reply before 
putting it to the vote. 

(iii) On a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting, which is seconded, if in the 
opinion of the person presiding the matter before the meeting has not been sufficiently 
discussed and cannot reasonably be so discussed, on that occasion, they shall put the 
adjournment motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion or 
amendment their right of reply. A Member moving the adjournment of the debate of the 
meeting must limit their observations to that question and no amendment can be 
proposed to that motion, unless it relates to the time of the adjournment. On resuming an 
adjourned debate, the Member who moved the adjournment is entitled to speak first.  

(iv) On a motion to exclude the public, unless the motion appears on the agenda, the person 
presiding shall ascertain the grounds for the motion and seek the advice of the Monitoring 
Officer as to whether members of the public may lawfully be excluded. If members of the 
public may be lawfully excluded, the person presiding will allow the mover of the original 
motion a right of reply on the proposal to exclude the public and then put the motion to 
the vote. If it is passed, the person presiding may, at their discretion, either immediately 
require the public to leave the room in which the debate is being held or adjourn the 
debate until some convenient time later in the meeting when the public shall have been 
excluded. 

(v) On a motion that a named Member be not further heard, which is seconded, the person 
presiding shall put the motion to the vote without discussion from any Member. If it is 
passed, the named Member shall not be permitted to speak again during the meeting on 
any motion or amendment relating to the same matter. 

 
16.16 Certainty of Resolutions 
 
Before a vote is taken, the motion or resolution, as amended, is to be written down and read out by 
the Chair or their representative. 
 
16.17 Point of Order 
 
(a) A point of order shall only relate to: 

(i) an alleged breach of these Council Procedure Rules; or  
(ii) an alleged breach of the law.  

(b) During a meeting, a Member may rise on a point of order at any time and the person presiding 
shall hear them immediately, subject to Council Procedure Rule 32.2.  

760



107 

(c) The Member must indicate the Council Procedure Rule or law and the way in which they 
consider it has been breached. The ruling of the person presiding on the matter will be final and 
is not open to discussion. 

 
16.18 Personal Explanation 
 
(a) A personal explanation shall be confined to some material part of an earlier speech by the 

Member, which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of 
the person presiding on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final and is not open 
to discussion. 

(b) A Member may indicate a desire to make a personal explanation at any time.  
 
16.19 Officers 
 
(a) Other than in relation to Rule 18, no Officer, other than: 

(i) the Head of Paid Service; 
(ii) the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services, or their representative, in their role 

as adviser to the Council meeting; 
(iii) the Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer, acting in that capacity;  
(iv) the Section 151 Officer or Deputy Section 151 Officer, acting in that capacity; 
(v) the Director for Sustainability & Resources or their representative as to the recording of 

any part of the meeting; 
may be called upon to speak at a meeting of Full Council, without the consent of both the 
Mayor and Head of Paid Service or a Director. However, with such consent, an Officer, other 
than those listed above, may contribute by way of advice, guidance or presentations on any 
report under consideration. 

(b) Officers holding statutory positions shall not be prevented from addressing the Council where 
they see fit to do so and so far as they act within the law. 

 
16.20 Notice of Adjourned Meetings 
 
Any motion to adjourn a debate or a meeting may specify the location, date and time at which the 
adjourned debate or meeting shall take place. If such specification is not given, the venue, date 
and time of the adjourned debate or meeting shall be determined by the Mayor or Committee Chair 
as appropriate, or Director for Sustainability & Resources. 
 
16.21 Committee Recommendations and Reports 
 
Any recommendations by, or reports from, a Committee at Full Council will be taken in date order, 
unless otherwise required, and for the purpose of any debate or amendment or other motion, each 
recommendation shall be treated as if it was a separate motion by the Chair of the Committee or 
other Member moving the report that the same be adopted by the Council. 
 
16.22 Recommendations of the Cabinet 
 
Each recommendation of the Cabinet will be moved in turn by the Leader. After the 
recommendation has been moved and seconded the matter may be debated. The rules about 
motions and amendments set out above in these Council Procedure Rules will apply to each 
recommendation. 

761



108 

 
16.23 Offensive amendments or motions 
 
If at any meeting the person presiding is of the opinion that any motion, amendment or business 
proposed to be moved or transacted is of a defamatory, frivolous, vexatious or offensive nature, 
they may, either before or after the same has been brought forward, put to the vote a motion (upon 
which no discussion shall be allowed) that the motion, amendment or business in question not be 
entertained or further permitted. If such a motion is seconded, a vote will be taken. If such a motion 
is carried, the matter will be considered as disposed of at that meeting. 
 
Matters Affecting Officers 
 
17.1 If any question arises at a meeting of Full Council, the Cabinet or a Committee at which the 

public are in attendance as to the appointment, promotion, dismissal, remuneration, 
pension matters, conditions of service or conduct of any person employed by the Council, 
such question shall not be the subject of discussion until Full Council, the Cabinet or the 
Committee, as the case may be, has decided whether or not the power of exclusion of the 
public under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 shall be exercised. 

 
Officer Reports 
 
18.1 Where any matter is subject to a first report to Full Council, the appropriate Officer may: 

(a) introduce the report; 
(b) answer questions for the purpose of clarification; and 
(c) provide advice during the debate. 

 
18.2 The Officer may decline to answer a question which they perceive to be political in nature. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Reports to Full Council 
 
19.1 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee prepares a single report to Full Council, the 

Cabinet or a Committee, the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall present 
the report to the meeting as appropriate and shall be available to answer questions in 
relation to the report. 

 
19.2 At a meeting of the Cabinet or a Committee, the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee shall be entitled to sit with Cabinet Members or Committee during the 
consideration of the report for the purposes of answering questions/clarifying matters 
contained within the report. 

 
19.3 Where there is a minority report, as well as a majority report, from an Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, those Members supporting the minority report shall select one of their 
number to present that report and/or answer questions on it.  

 
19.4 The Member selected under (c) above shall have the same rights/privileges with regard to 

attendance at Full Council, the Cabinet or the relevant Committee as the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
19.5 If the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is a supporter of the minority report, 

then the Vice Chair or another Member supporting the majority report shall have the same 
rights/privileges as the Chair, had they supported it. 

 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee Reports to Full Council 
 
20.1 Full Council shall receive such reports of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee as shall 

be referred to it by the Committee. 
 

762



109 

20.2 When receiving such reports or minutes, the Chair or Vice Chair of the Committee, whether 
they are an Elected Member of the Council or co-opted Member of the Committee, shall be 
entitled to: 

(a) present the report or minute; 
(b) answer any questions relating to the report or minute; 
(c) propose, or agree any amendment to, the motion, proposal or recommendation. 

 
Representatives on Outside Bodies 
 
21.1 Members who are appointed to outside bodies as representatives of the Council are 

encouraged to post a report of such meetings that they attend in the Members’ Newsletter. 
 
21.2 Where a Member who is a representative on an outside body is of the view that a matter to 

be considered by that body is of such importance as to require that they are informed as to 
the Council’s opinion on that item, the Member shall be entitled to request the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources to place the item on the agenda of the appropriate meeting of 
Full Council, the Cabinet or a Committee. The Member may address Full Council, the 
Cabinet or a Committee as in Council Procedure Rule 14.6. 

 
Previous Decisions and Motions 
 
22.1 Motion to rescind a previous decision 
 
Subject to Rule 22.3 below: 

(a) Motions on Notice 
Where a Motion on Notice is submitted, to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Full 
Council within the past 6 months, the Director for Sustainability & Resources shall reject it, 
unless the Motion is signed by at least 10 Members of the Council.  

(b) Motions proposed during debate 
If a Motion or Amendment is raised during a debate, at Full Council, to rescind a decision 
made at a meeting of the Full Council within the previous 6 months, the Chair shall reject it. 

 
22.2 Motions similar to one previously rejected 
 
Subject to Rule 22.3 below: 
(a) Motions on Notice 

Where a Motion on Notice is submitted, which is substantially the same as one previously 
rejected by the Director for Sustainability & Resources within the previous 6 months, it shall 
again be rejected by the Director for Sustainability & Resources, unless it is signed by at 
least 10 Members of the Council, in which case it shall be accepted, subject to the 
provisions of Council Procedure Rule 14. 

(b) Motions arising during debate at Full Council 
If a Motion or amendment is raised during debate, at a meeting of the Full Council, which is 
similar to one rejected within the previous 6 months, the Chair shall reject it.  

 
22.3 Exceptions 
 
(a) Rules 22.1 and 22.2 shall not apply: 

(i) to motions moved in pursuance of a recommendation of the Cabinet or a Committee; or 
(ii) to motions to carry out any statutory duty of the Council which, in the opinion of the 

person presiding, is of an urgent nature. 
(iii) where a decision has been made by another body since the Council’s decision, which 

significantly affects the decision and necessitates reconsideration of the matter. 
(b) The ruling of the person presiding as to whether any motion or amendment comes within the 

terms of Council Procedure Rules 22.1 and 22.2 will be final. 
 

763



110 

Petitions  
 
23.1 Petitions, other than statutory petitions such as for an elected Mayor, shall be managed in 

accordance with the Council’s Petition Scheme set out in Part 5 of the Constitution. 
 
Voting 
 
Voting at Meetings of Joint Committee will be dealt with in accordance with the procedures set out 
in the Joint Committee Agreement. 
 
24.1 Majority 
 
(a) Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple majority 

of those Members voting and present in the room at the time the question was put. 
(b) The person presiding will ascertain the numbers voting for, against or abstaining on any 

question, shall announce those numbers, and declare the result.  
(c) The person presiding’s declaration as to the result will be final. 
(c)(d) If a Member is not present continuously for the duration of the item on the agenda, they are 

unable to cast a vote and if they are present when the vote is taken, must indicate that they 
are abstaining from the vote.  

 
24.2 Casting vote 
 
(a) The casting vote can only be used if the person presiding has already cast their deliberative 

vote. So if the person presiding puts the issue to the vote, but does not vote themselves 
and there is a tie, then the casting vote does not apply because they have not yet exercised 
their deliberative vote.  

(b) If, after the person presiding has exercised their deliberative vote there is a tie, then the 
casting vote can be exercised. 

(c) If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the person presiding, having cast their 
deliberative vote, may exercise a second or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how 
they choose to exercise a casting vote, save that it will be exercised in accordance with the 
law. 

(d) If there are equal numbers of votes for and against and the person presiding chooses not to 
exercise their casting vote, then the matter to be determined shall fall. 

 
24.3 Show of hands 
 
Unless a ballot or recorded vote is demanded under Rules 24.4 and 24.5, or a recorded vote is 
required under 24.6, the person presiding will take the vote by show of hands or by the use of such 
electronic voting system as the Council shall determine or, if there is no dissent, by the affirmation 
of the meeting. 
 
24.4 Ballot 
 
(a) A ballot is a vote whereby Members signify their vote in writing on a piece of paper issued 

to them individually for that purpose and the vote of individual Members is not identified as 
being by that Member. 

(b) The vote will take place by ballot if a majority of Members present at the meeting demands 
it, and there has been no valid request for a recorded vote in accordance with rule 24.5 
below. 

(c) Such demand to be made by motion without notice, moved, seconded and voted on without 
debate. 

(d) The person presiding will announce the numerical result of the ballot immediately the result 
is known. 

  

764



111 

24.5 Recorded Vote 
 
(a) On the request of any Member of the Council made before the vote is taken and upon 5 

other Members signifying their support by standing (unless unable to), the voting on any 
question shall be by roll-call and shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting to show 
how each Member present and voting cast their vote. The name of any Member present 
and abstaining from voting will also be recorded. 

(b) A demand for a recorded vote will override a demand for a ballot. 
 
24.6 Recorded vote – Budget Decision meeting 
 
Whenever the Full Council votes on the determination of the calculation of the budget and the 
setting of any precepts, the vote of each individual Member shall be recorded. 
 
24.7 Right to require individual vote to be recorded at Full Council 
 
Where immediately after a vote is taken at a meeting of the council, a committee, joint committee 
or sub-committee any Member so requires, there shall be recorded in the minutes of the 
proceedings of that meeting whether that person cast their vote for the question or against the 
question or whether they abstained from voting. 
 
24.8 Voting on appointments 
 
Where there are appointments to be made (including appointments to outside bodies, to Leader, or 

to the position of Mayor or Deputy Mayor) and there are more nominations than positions to which 

appointments are to be made, the following rules will apply: 

(a) if practicable then the vote shall be by simple majority; 
(b) Where there are 3 or more candidates seeking appointment to a single position, there 

shall be a vote for each candidate and: 
(i) if one of the candidates receives more than half of all the votes cast in the election, 

that candidate is to be appointed. 
(ii) if no candidate receives more than half of all of the votes cast then the candidate with 

the least number of votes will be eliminated and a new vote taken. The process will 
continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. 

 
Confidentiality of Papers 
 
25.1 Save as provided by the Local Government Act 1972, all summonses, agendas, reports 

and other documents shall be treated as confidential unless and until they become public in 
the ordinary course of the Council’s business. 

 
Minutes 
 
26.1 Signing the Minutes 
 

(a) The person presiding will sign and initial each page of the minutes of the proceedings at 
the next suitable meeting.  

(b) The person presiding will move that the minutes of the previous meeting are a correct 
record, provided that the previous meeting took place more than 10 clear working days 
prior to the day of the meeting.  

(c) The only part of the minute that can be discussed is their accuracy. 
(d) Any questions as to their accuracy as a record of a meeting shall be raised by motion. If 

no such question is raised, or if it is raised then as soon as it has been disposed of, the 
person presiding shall sign the minutes.  

(e) Where there is no Ordinary Meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee expected to take 
place within a period of 6 months after a meeting for which draft minutes have been 
prepared then: 

765



112 

(i) in respect of a Committee, Full Council may agree the accuracy of the minutes; 
(ii) in respect of a Sub-Committee, the parent Committee or Full Council may agree the 

accuracy of the Minutes; 
(iii) in respect of Committees or Sub-Committees which have ceased to meet and their 

functions have been subsumed in another Committee or Sub-Committee, the new 
Committee or Sub-Committee or Full Council may agree the accuracy of the 
minutes; 

(iv) in respect of Joint Committees, minutes will be dealt with in accordance with the 
provisions of the Joint Committee Agreement. 

(f) In respect of a Committee or Sub-Committee, convened to determine a specific 
licensing, standards or staffing matter, the Chair of that decision-making body may agree 
the accuracy of the record of the meeting. 

 
26.2 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at Extraordinary Meeting 
 
Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the minutes is an 
Extraordinary Meeting, then the next following meeting being an Ordinary Meeting will be treated 
as a suitable meeting for the signing of minutes. 
 
26.3 Form of minutes – Non-Cabinet meetings 
 
(a) The minutes will contain a summary of any debate setting out the main points that were 

considered by the meeting and the wording of the final decision. 
(b) Any further reports or information commissioned with the agreement of the meeting will be 

recorded in the minutes. 
 
26.4 Form of Records of decisions – Cabinet Meetings 
 
Records of decisions shall contain a: 

(a) summary of the options considered; 
(b) summary of the reasons for the decision;  
(c) the decision; and 
(d) date for Call-In; 

and will comply with the requirements of the Cabinet Procedure Rules. 
 
Status of Draft Decisions and Minutes 
 
27.1 It should be noted that until such time as the Full Council, the Cabinet or a Committee 

whose record is set out in a draft record or minute confirm that record or minute as an 
accurate record of their decision, they are a working draft only. 

 
27.2 Subject to Council Procedure Rule 26.1 above, only the body whose record is set out in the 

draft record or minute may alter or amend the record or minute. 
 
27.3 If a Member wishes to propose a recommendation to Full Council that differs from that set 

out in a draft record or minute then it must be done by way of an amendment to the motion 
before the Full Council and not as an amendment to the minute or record. 

 
Recording of Meetings 
 
28.1 Recording by the Council 
 
The Council may make such arrangements as it decides are appropriate for the recording, 
broadcasting and publication of meetings. 
 

766



113 

28.2 Recording by the public 
 
(a) This Council Procedure Rule should be read in conjunction with the Protocol for Public/Press 

Recording of Public Council Meetings and Social Media Policy which can be found in Part 5 of 
the Constitution. 

(b) A member of the public may make sound or visual recordings at any meeting of the Council 
and may make such arrangements as they wish to broadcast the recordings, subject to the 
following: 

(i) no visual recording should be made of persons in the public gallery; 
(ii) no visual recording should be made of any person under 18; 
(iii) no recording shall be made of any meeting or part of a meeting which is considering 

matters that the Members have agreed are exempt under the Access to Information 
Rules or which are confidential; 

(iv) no recording shall be carried out in a manner that causes disruption to the meeting or 
distracts the attention of the public from the content of the meeting; 

(v) no oral commentary or report shall be made during the meeting; 
(vi) their compliance with the statutory provisions of the General Data Protection Regulations 

and any other legislation surrounding the recording and use of personal data and its 
retention. 

(c) Where a member of the public does not comply with this Rule, the person presiding shall 
require them to stop recording. If the member of the public fails to cease recording, then the 
person presiding shall consider whether or not action should be taken under Council Procedure 
Rule 31 below. 

 
28.3 Recording by a Member 
 
A Member of the Council may also make sound or visual recordings provided that they comply with 

Council Procedure Rule 28.2 and the Protocol for Public/Press Recording of Public Council 

Meetings and Social Media Policy in Part 5 of the Constitution. If they fail to do so, the person 

presiding shall require them to stop recording and if they fail to cease as requested, then the 

person presiding shall consider whether or not action should be taken in accordance with Council 

Procedure Rule 32 below. 

 
Record of Attendance 
 
29.1 The names of all Members present during the whole or part of a meeting shall be recorded.  
 
29.2 Any omission may be remedied at the absolute discretion of the Monitoring Officer, or by 

the amendment of draft minutes of a meeting prior to confirmation, at the next or 
subsequent meeting in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 26. 

 
Exclusion of the Public 
 
30.1 The public shall be admitted to all Meetings of the Council unless members of the public 

are excluded either in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 
of this Constitution or Council Procedure Rule 31. 

 
Disturbance by the Public 
 
31.1 Removal of member of the public 
 

(a) If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, causes a disturbance or behaves 
improperly, or offensively, or by wilfully obstructing the business of the Council, or fails to 
comply with Council Procedure Rule 28 above, the person presiding will warn the person 
concerned. 

(b) If the member of the public, having been warned under (a) above, continues their 
conduct, the person presiding will order their removal from the meeting room.  

767



114 

 
31.2 Clearance of part of the meeting room 
 
If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the person 
presiding may call for that part to be cleared.  
 
31.3 General disturbance 
 
If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the person presiding may 
adjourn the meeting for as long as they think necessary. 
 
Members’ Conduct 
 
32.1 Full Council - Addressing the Council 
 

(a) All Members must stand and address the Mayor when speaking during a Full Council 
meeting, unless they are physically unable to do so, or the Mayor uses their discretion to 
waive this Rule.  

(b) If more than one Member stands, the Mayor will ask one to speak and any other 
Members must sit.  

(c) All Members, other than the speaker, must remain seated whilst a Member is speaking 
unless they wish to make a point of order in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 
16.17 or a point of personal explanation in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 
16.18. 

 
32.2 Chair standing 
 
When the Chair of any Council or Committee Meeting stands during a debate, any Member 
speaking at the time must stop and sit down. The Meeting is to be silent whilst the Chair of the 
meeting speaks.  
 
32.3 Member not to be heard further 
 

(a) If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the person presiding by continued 
irrelevance or repetitions or by behaving improperly or offensively or by wilfully 
obstructing the business of the Council, the person presiding may direct the Member to 
stop speaking. 

(b) If following a direction from the person presiding to stop speaking, the Member continues 
to speak, the person presiding may move that the Member be not heard further. If 
seconded, the person presiding shall put the motion to the vote without discussion and if 
passed, the Member shall not be permitted to speak on the same matter again, during 
the meeting. 

 
32.4 Member to leave the meeting 
 

(a) If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the person presiding by continued 
irrelevance or repetitions or by behaving improperly or offensively or by wilfully 
obstructing the business of the Council, the person presiding may request them to leave 
for the remainder of the meeting or for any lesser period. 

(b) If following a request to leave the meeting, the offending Member does not leave the 
meeting, the person presiding may move that the Member named leave the meeting.  

(c) The motion shall be put and if seconded, will be voted upon without discussion.  
(d) If carried, the person presiding shall give directions for the removal of the Member and 

such other directions as are necessary for restoring order to the proceedings.  

768



115 

32.5 General disturbance 
 
If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the person presiding may 
adjourn the meeting for as long as they think necessary. 
 
32.6 Electronic devices 
 
This Council Procedure Rule should be read in conjunction with the Protocol for Public/Press 
Recording of Public Council Meetings and Social Media Policy which can be found in Part 5 of the 
Constitution. 

(a) Subject to (b) below, Members may at any Meeting use any device for: 
(i) the recording of the meeting; 
(ii) the sending or receiving of communications in relation to the meeting; 
(iii) the publication of the contents of the meeting.  

(b) Paragraph (a) above is subject to the following restrictions, namely that: 
(i) such device does not emit any audible warning or other disruptive signal; 
(ii) the Member does not record or communicate any matter or information relating to 

the contents of any Meeting or part of a meeting which is in relation to information 
which is confidential or which the Members have agreed to exclude the press and 
public in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules.  

(iii) the use of the device does not disrupt the meeting or distract members of the 
public or other Members from the content of the meeting; 

(iv) it is not permissible to record an oral commentary during the course of the 
meeting; 

(v) they comply with statutory provisions of General Data Protection Regulations and 
any other legislation relating to the recording, use of and retention of personal 
data. 

(c) Where a Member’s use of a device does not comply with this Rule then the person 
presiding at the meeting shall consider whether or not action should be taken in 
accordance with this Rule. 

 
Delegation to the Leader, Committees and Officers 
 
33.1 Matters to be delegated 
 

(a) The Council may delegate matters from time to time to the Cabinet and Committees as it 
sees fit or as legislation prescribes. 

(b) The Council may delegate matters from time to time to Officers as it sees fit or as 
legislation prescribes, in addition to those delegated by Council under the Scheme of 
Officer Delegations.  

(c) In relation to any matter determined by the Cabinet, a Committee or an Officer acting 
under delegated authority, the delegator may give guidance as to the manner in which 
the same or a similar matter shall be dealt with in future, providing that such guidance 
shall not have the effect of: 

(i) causing the Council to breach the rules of natural justice; or  
(ii) prejudicing the determination by the delegatee of any matter required to be judged 

on its individual merits; or 
(iii) fettering the discretion of the Cabinet in respect of matters delegated to it by 

legislation. 
 
Attendance of Members at the Cabinet or Committees of which they are not Members 
 
34.1 Attendance by mover of motion 
 

769



116 

A Member of the Council who has moved a motion which has been referred to the Cabinet or a 
Committee shall be given notice by the Director for Sustainability & Resources of the meeting at 
which it is proposed that the motion be considered. They shall have the right to attend the meeting 
whilst the motion is being considered, to explain the motion and answer questions. 
 
34.2 Attendance by Representative on Outside Body 
 
Where a Member has requested the Director for Sustainability & Resources to place an item on the 
agenda in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 21, they shall have the right to attend that 
meeting whilst that item is under consideration. 
 
34.3 Attendance of Members at Meetings 
 
(a) A Member of the Council shall have a right to attend Meetings of the Cabinet or a Committee 

on which they have not been appointed to serve, and be present, in the public gallery 
throughout the public part of the meeting. 

(b) A Member of the Council is entitled to remain in attendance, in the public gallery during the 
confidential part of any Meeting or where the public have been excluded from the meeting in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules, provided that they have a need to 
know about the matter under consideration, and they do not have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other relevant interest in the matter. It is assumed that every Member will have need 
to know about the matter under consideration, although this presumption is rebuttable and 
advice should be taken from the Monitoring Officer. 

(c) A Member of the Council who is not a Cabinet Member or a Committee and has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or other relevant interest in any item under consideration at a particular 
Meeting is not entitled to be present in any part of the room where the meeting is taking place 
during that particular part of the meeting where that item is to be discussed, unless a 
dispensation has been granted by the Monitoring Officer. 

(d) Council Procedure Rule 34.3 does not apply to Meetings of: 
(i) the Joint Audit & Governance Committee when it goes into closed session to determine a 

Member Code of Conduct matter; 
(ii) the Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee when they go into closed session to determine 

an individual quasi-judicial case; 
(iii) any Committee when it goes into closed session to determine the capability or conduct of 

an individual Officer under the Council’s disciplinary or grievance procedures. 
(iv) any Committee considering the appointment of a Council Officer. 

(e) No Member is entitled to attend Meetings referred to in (d) above unless they are appointed as 
a Member of that Committee or are substituting for such a Member. 

 
34.4 Speaking by Members at Meetings 
 
(a) Subject to (c) and (d) below, a Member of the Council shall have the right to attend meetings of 

the Cabinet or a Committee on which they have not been appointed to serve, and address the 
meeting provided that: 

(i) the Member has, prior to the commencement of the meeting, notified the person 
presiding of their desire to address it and they are then invited by the person 
presiding to address it;  

(ii) The person presiding shall have total discretion as to whether or not to invite such a 
Member to address the meeting. 

(b) A Member who is not a Member of the Planning Committee may not address that Committee in 
respect of any planning application, unless a similar right is granted within the Constitution 
(Protocol on Public Speaking at Planning Committee in Part 5) to the applicant, any objector 
and any supporter. 

(c) A Member who is not sitting as a Member of the Licensing Committee or the Licensing Sub-
Committee may not address that Committee or Sub-Committee unless they have a right to 
speak under relevant statutory regulations. 

770



117 

(d) A Member who is not sitting as a Member of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee may not 
address that Committee or Sub-Committee when hearing a Code of Conduct determination, 
unless they are representing or acting as a witness for either the Monitoring Officer, 
Investigating Officer, or the Subject Member. 

 
34.5 Executive Leader 
 
(a) Subject to (b) below, the Leader, or Deputy Leader in their absence, may attend any 

Committee meeting and speak on any item under consideration as of right, unless they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or other relevant interest in the matter. 

(b) Paragraph (a) above does not apply to Meetings of: 
(i) the Joint Audit & Governance Committee when considering an individual case relating to 

Member conduct; 
(ii) the Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee when meeting in closed session to 

determine an individual case; or 
(iii) the Planning Committee, when considering a planning application; 
(iv) any Committee considering the conduct of an individual Officer under the Council’s 

disciplinary or grievance procedure; 
(v) any Committee dealing with the appointment of a Council Officer. 

 

34.6 Voting 
 
A Member of the Council, attending a meeting of the Cabinet or a Committee on which they have 
not been appointed to serve, and is not acting as a Substitute Member, is not entitled to vote on 
any item under consideration. 
 
Exercise of Powers and Functions 
 
35.1 No individual Member, Officer or group of Members or Officers, or both, shall be entitled to 

exercise any power or function of the Council save as already or hereafter delegated to 
them by the Council, the Cabinet, a Committee or another Officer exercising a power or 
fulfilling a function on behalf of the Council or as detailed in this Constitution. 

 
35.2 Whilst the Chair of a Committee and Cabinet Members can expect to be consulted on 

matters affecting their areas of responsibility, they shall not have power to act on behalf of, 
or bind, the Council, unless the Council or the Leader has given them specific delegated 
powers to do so. 

 
No Confidence in the Chair of a Committee  
 
36.1 At any Meeting of a Committee, a Member of that Committee may move that ‘the meeting 

has no confidence in the Chair’. If seconded, the motion shall, after debate, be put and, if 
carried by a majority of at least two thirds of the Members present, the Chair shall 
immediately stand down and the remainder of the meeting shall be chaired by the Vice-
Chair or, in their absence, or if they were acting as the Chair and the subject of the vote, by 
a Member elected for that purpose by the meeting. 

 
36.2 During the consideration of a motion under (a) above, the Chair shall cease to be Chair of 

the Committee and shall be an Ordinary Member of the Committee. The Director for 
Sustainability & Resources, the Monitoring Officer, or their representative, will act as Chair 
of the Committee during consideration of the motion. 

 
36.3 Following a successful vote of no confidence in the Chair, they shall not officiate at any 

subsequent Meeting of the Committee prior to the next meeting of the Full Council. At that 
Meeting, the Council shall consider whether or not to confirm the vote of no confidence. If 
by a simple majority they decide to confirm the vote, the office of Chair of the relevant 
Committee shall be declared vacant and a new Chair shall be elected by the Council. If the 

771



118 

Council does not confirm the vote by a simple majority, the Member remains as Chair of the 
Committee. 

 
Appointment and Term of Office of the Executive Leader  
 
37.1 Election of the Executive Leader 
 
(a) The Council shall elect a Leader at each Annual Meeting where the term of office of the Leader 

has come to an end due to the fact that their term of office as a Borough Councillor has ended. 
(b) The Councillors present at that Annual Meeting shall nominate one or more persons to be 

Leader from among the Elected Members. Any nomination which is not seconded, shall not be 
considered further. 

(c) Where there is only one Elected Member nominated and seconded, then the Mayor shall 
provide an opportunity for a debate before calling for a vote which shall require a majority of 
those present and voting to determine whether the Member shall be elected as Leader. 

(d) Where there are two Elected Members nominated and seconded then, following the 
opportunity for debate, the Mayor shall call for a vote and the Member who receives the largest 
number of votes shall be elected as Leader. 

(e) Where there are three or more candidates seeking appointment to a single position, there shall 
be a vote for each candidate and: 

(i) if one of the candidates receives more than half of all the votes cast in the election, that 
candidate is to be appointed; 

(ii) if no candidate receives more than half of all of the votes cast then the candidate with 
the least number of votes will be eliminated and a new vote taken. The process will 
continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. 

(f) The Motion shall be subject to the rules of debate in Council Procedure Rule 16 and voting 
shall be in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 24. 

 
37.2 Removal  
 
(a) If a Member wishes at a meeting of Full Council to move a motion to remove the Leader, the 

Member must give at least 10 clear working days’ notice to the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources. 

(b) The motion must be signed by the mover and seconder. 
(c) The Director for Sustainability & Resources shall place the motion on the agenda for the next 

Meeting of the Council, provided that such Meeting is not a Special Meeting. The motion before 
the Council shall be considered after the receipt of any declarations of interest, approval of 
minutes of the last Meeting and questions and statements by the public. 

(d) The motion shall be subject to the rules of debate in Council Procedure Rule 16 and voting 
shall be in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 24. 

 
37.3 Consequence of a Motion to Remove the Executive Leader 
 
Where a motion to remove the Executive Leader is carried, then the Leader shall cease to be 
Leader with immediate effect. The Council shall proceed to elect a new Executive Leader at that 
Meeting or the next Meeting of the Full Council, provided it is not a Special Meeting. 
 
37.4 Term of Office 
 
(a) The Executive Leader shall hold the office of Leader in accordance with Article 7 of the 

Constitution. 
(b) Should the Executive Leader resign from their appointment, an Extraordinary Meeting will 

be called to deal with the appointment of a new Executive Leader in accordance with this 
Procedure Rule. The Deputy Leader will assume the role of Leader until such appointment 
is made. 

  

772



119 

Leader of the Main Opposition 
 
38.1 Where there is a Political Group or combination of Political Groups forming the 

Administration, the Leader of the Main Opposition shall be the leader of the next largest 
Political Group; 

 
38.2 Where the next largest Political Group does not wish to nominate a Member to be the 

Leader of the Main Opposition, the Council shall not appoint any Member to that office; 
 
38.3 If there is equality in the number of Members in all opposition groups, there will be no 

appointment to the role of Leader of the Main Opposition; e.g. if there are two opposition 
groups with equal membership; 

 
38.4 If there is no opposition group, and there is an equal number of opposition Members, there 

will be no appointment to the role of Leader of the opposition, e.g. if there are two individual 
opposition Members, representing different parties. 

 
38.5 At the Annual Council each year, the Full Council shall note the Leader of the Main 

Opposition, who shall be entitled to receive any Special Responsibility Allowance payable 
to that office. 

 
Suspension and Amendment of Procedure Rules 
 
39.1 Amendment 
 
Any motion to add to, amend or revoke any of these Council Procedure Rules will, when proposed 
and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion and be referred to the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee for consideration and recommendation to the following Meeting of the 
Council, unless a report has been received, on the proposal, from the Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee. 
 
39.2 Suspension  

 
(a) Save as set out at 40.2 (c) below, these Council Procedure Rules cannot be suspended. 
(b) The person presiding may, at their absolute discretion, amend the order of business of any 

meeting. 
(c) Only Council Procedure Rules 11.1 (as to the length of time), 12.7, 12.8, 16.5, 16.7, and 16.19, 

may be suspended by motion on notice or without notice. Suspension of Council Procedure 
Rules shall be determined for each individual item of business, and will only be effective for the 
duration of that Meeting. 

 
Urgent Business  
 
40.1 Subject to (b) and (c) below, if, having consulted the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 

Officer, the Chief Executive is of the opinion that urgent action is required, in accordance 
with the Scheme of Officer Delegations, before a decision could be taken by Full Council, 
the Cabinet or a Committee having appropriate authority, they may take the decision in 
accordance with their urgency power as set out in the Officer Scheme of Delegations.  

 
40.2  If the decision is one which would normally be taken by: 

(a) Full Council, the Chief Executive will consult with the Leader and the Leader of the Main 
Opposition; 

(b) The Cabinet, the Chief Executive will consult with the Leader; 
(c) A Committee, the Chief Executive will consult with the Leader, Leader of the Main 

Opposition and Chair of the Committee. 
 

773



120 

40.3 Every such decision shall be reported to the next available Ordinary Meeting of Full 
Council, the Cabinet or the Committee that would have normally taken the decision. 

 
Mayor of the Council 
 
41.1 Appointment 
 
(a) The Council shall elect a Mayor at each Annual Council Meeting.  
(b) The existing Mayor shall take the Chair for the item on the agenda, unless they are conflicted, 

when the Deputy Mayor will take the Chair for the single item of business. If the Mayor and 
Deputy Mayor are both conflicted the Monitoring Officer or their representative will take the 
Chair for the appointment of the Mayor. 

(c) The Councillors present at that Annual Meeting shall propose one or more persons to be Mayor 
from among the Elected Members. Any proposal which is not seconded, shall not be 
considered further. 

(d) Where there is only one Elected Member proposed and seconded, then the Mayor shall 
provide an opportunity for a debate before calling for a vote which shall require a majority of 
those present and voting to determine whether the Member shall be elected as Mayor. 

(e) Where there are two Elected Members proposed and seconded, then a debate on the 
proposals will follow, then the Mayor shall call for a vote and the Member who received the 
largest number of votes shall be elected as Mayor. 

(f) Where there are three or more Elected Members proposed and seconded, following a debate 
on the proposals, the Mayor shall call for a vote for each Member proposed and: 
(i) If one of the proposed Members receives more than half of all the votes cast in the election, 

that Member is to be appointed as Mayor; 
(ii) If no Member receives more than half of all the votes cast then the Member with the least 

number of votes will be eliminated and a new vote taken. The process will continue until 
there is a majority of votes for one person, who shall be appointed as Mayor. 

(g) The voting will be in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 24. 
 

  

774



121 

Budget Procedure Rules 
 
1.0  SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Council has a duty under Chapter III of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to set 

a lawful budget in a timely manner. 
 

1.2 Members have a fiduciary duty to Council Tax payers. 
 

1.3 This means they have a duty to facilitate the setting of a lawful budget; a process that 
requires flexibility and compromise. 

 
1.4 Failure to set a lawful budget in time may lead to a loss of revenue, significant additional 

administrative costs, as well as reputational damage. 
 

1.5 Failure to set a budget may lead to intervention from the Secretary of State under section 
15 Local Government Act 1999. 

 
 
2.0 THE LEGAL DUTY 
 
2.1 Section 30(6) and 31A(11) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 provides that the 

Council has to set its budget before 11 March in the financial year preceding the one in 
respect of which the budget is set. This means the Council has a duty to set the budget 
before 11 March each year. 
  

2.2 If the budget is set after that date, the Act says the failure to set a budget within the 
deadline does not, in itself, invalidate the budget. However, such delay may have significant 
financial, administrative and legal implications, including potential individual liability of any 
Member who contributed to the failure to set a budget. 
 

2.3 Section 66 of the 1992 Act provides that failure to set a Council tax (or delay in setting a 
Council tax) shall not be challenged except by an application for judicial review. The 
Secretary of State and any other person with an interest or ‘standing’ may apply for judicial 
review. 

 
3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF DELAY 

 
3.1 Delay in setting the Council Tax means a delay in collecting the tax due not only to the 

Council, but also the precepting authorities such as West Sussex County Council, the 
Police, and others such as Parish Council (where appropriate) on whose behalf the Council 
acts as a collection authority. 
 

3.2 The Council has a legal duty to provide a range of statutory services (such as refuse 
collection, homelessness prevention etc.) and is not absolved from its duty because of the 
late setting of the Tax. It also has to pay the monies due to the precepting authorities 
whether or not it collects any Council Tax.  
 

3.3 Even if the Council sets the budget before the deadline but much later than the planned 
Budget Council Meeting, there is still likely to be some disruption to the administrative 
arrangements relating to the collection of Council Tax (such as printing, posting, delivery of 
demands) that have cost implication. 

 
4.0 DUTY TO TAKE ADVICE OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
4.1 Sections 25 to 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 impose duties on the Council in 

relation to how it sets and monitors its budget. These provisions require the Council to 

775



122 

make prudent allowance for the risk and uncertainties in its budget and regularly monitor its 
finances during the year. The legislation leaves discretion to the Council about the 
allowances to be made and action to be taken.  
 

4.2 Section 25 also requires the Council’s Chief Financial Officer to make a report to Full 
Council when it is considering its budget and Council Tax. The report must deal with the 
robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of the reserves allowed for in the budget 
proposals, so Members will have authoritative advice available to them when they make 
their decisions on the Cabinet’s budget proposals and any alternative proposals.  
 

4.3 The section, and the Constitution, requires Members to have regard to the report in making 
their decisions. Any decision that ignores this professional advice, including the implications 
of delay, is potentially challengeable.  

 
5.0 THE BUDGET FRAMEWORK 
 
5.1 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget, as set out in Article 4 of the 

Constitution. Once a budget is in place, it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to 
implement it. 

 
6.0 ANNUAL PROCESS FOR SETTING THE BUDGET 
 

The process by which the budget shall be set is as follows: 
 

6.1 The Budget Strategy for the forthcoming year is considered and agreed by the Council in 
July each year.  

 
6.2 In December each year detailed financial proposals to meet theat Budget Strategy for the 

forthcoming year are considered by the Joint Strategic Committee. Any proposals that are 
approved by the Committee are built into the draft budget proposals for the Council by the 
Chief Financial Officer and the draft Budget Strategy is updated accordingly (if required). 
 

6.26.3  In January of each Budget cycle the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will, by way of 
consultation, consider the draft budget proposals and provide any comment to the Cabinet., 
after having been considered by the Council’s Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee by 
way of consultation.  

 
 

6.4     The meeting of the Cabinet will recommend a draft budget to the Council and the level of 
Council Tax. The Director for Sustainability & Resources will then refer them, at the earliest 
opportunity, to the Council for decision.  The Cabinet meeting held to determine the 
Cabinet’s budget proposals to Council must be held a minimum of 12 working days prior to 
the Council meeting being held to consider the budget for the Council. 

 
 

 
6.36.5 In January each year the After the Cabinet meeting and before the Council Budget Setting 

Meeting the Joint Strategic Committee will meet to consider the Cabinet proposals and 
recommend the draft budget for the joint services of the Council, which it wishes to provide 
jointly with Adur District Council. The decisions in relation to joint services are then used to 
produce the revenue estimates and draft budget proposals for Worthing Borough Council 
which will be considered by a meeting of the Cabinet in early February.  

 
 
6.42.1 The Cabinet meeting held to determine the Cabinet’s budget proposals to Council must be 

held a minimum of 12 working days prior to the Council meeting being held to consider the 
budget for the Council 

776



123 

 
7.0 THE BUDGET SETTING COUNCIL MEETING 
 
7.1 The Cabinet’s proposals will be presented to the Council under cover of a report from the 

Chief Financial Officer, together with a budget pack and professional financial advice upon 
the proposal. 

 
7.2 The Council will be asked to agree to suspend Council Procedure Rules for the meeting, 

where they conflict with these Budget Procedure Rules, to allow these Budget Procedure 
Rules to prevail.  

 
7.3 The agenda for the Budget Setting Council Meeting will be limited to the following 

substantive items: 
(a) Public Questions  
(b) Consideration of the Leader’s recommendations for the Budget, Capital 

Programme, Borrowing Policy, Council Tax, and the limits defining key financial 
decisions 

(a)(c) Members’ Questions  
(b)(d) Other items the Chair Mayor agrees be taken as urgent. 

 
7.4 The Budget Setting Council Meeting will be held in February each year to set the budget for 

the forthcoming year. At the Budget Setting Council Meeting, the Cabinet submits to the 
Council for its consideration in relation to the following financial year: 

(a) Estimates of the amounts to be aggregated in making a calculation (whether 
originally or by way of substitute) in accordance with any of sections 32 to 37 or 
43 to 49, of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

(b) Estimates of other amounts to be used for the purposes of such a calculation; 
(c) Estimates of such a calculation; or 
(d) Amounts required to be stated in a precept under Chapter IV of Part I of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992. 

 
7.5 The Cabinet will propose its recommendations relating to the above matters to the Council, 

which if seconded, will be debated by Full Council, in accordance with the provisions below 
and voted upon.  
 

7.6 The Council may: 
(a) Adopt the Cabinet’s proposals; or 
(b) Amend them in accordance with the provisions set out below; or 
(c) Refer them back to the Cabinet for further consideration.  

 
7.7 Budget proposals can only be submitted to the Council by the Cabinet; others can propose 

amendments to the Cabinet’s proposals. The decision, on any amendment to the budget 
and on the budget, (as amended, if applicable), will be made by way of a recorded vote in 
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 24 and statutory requirements of the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014. The Leader must 
confirm that they accept the budget as agreed by Council or it has to be resubmitted to 
Council with the Cabinet’s revised proposals, causing an inevitable delay.  
 

7.8 If the Council accepts the recommendation of the Cabinet without amendment, the Council 
may make a decision which has immediate effect. Otherwise, it may only make an in-
principle decision, and the Leader’s verbal confirmation will be sought at the meeting that 
the Leader accepts the budget as agreed by the Council.  

 
7.9 The decision will be publicised in accordance with Article 4 and a copy shall be given to the 

Leader (see 7.31 and 7.32, below). 

 

777



124 

7.10 Any Elected Member may put forward amendments to the Cabinet’s budget proposal, to the 
Council. However Members should not put forward proposals that would mean setting an 
unlawful budget and they must take Officer advice to ensure their proposals are in order. To 
this end any proposed amendments must be evaluated by the Chief Financial Officer, or an 
Officer appointed by them for the purpose, to determine the service, financial and legal 
implications of implementing the amended proposalsproposed amendments. The amended 
proposed amendmentsproposals are required to be submitted to the Chief Financial Officer, 
via the Democratic Services Manager by email to democratic.services@adur-
worthing.gov.uk, by no later than 12 noon 10 clear working days before the Budget Setting 
Council Meeting, excluding the date of the meeting itself. 

 

7.11 Any proposed amendment to any matter on the Council Meeting Agenda, other than the 
budget, which would have, or would be likely to have, a significant effect on the Cabinet’s 
proposed budget, must also be submitted to the Chief Finance Officer by no later than 12 
noon 10 clear working days before the Council Budget Setting Meeting, excluding the date 
of the meeting itself. 

 

7.12 The amended proposalsproposed amendments, once received by the Chief Financial 
Officer, will be held confidentially and not shared with other political parties, by the Finance 
Officers involved, with the exception that any amendments received for an Elected Member 
who is part of a Group will be shared with the relevant Group Leader. All amended 
proposed amendmentsproposals will be considered by Finance Officers by no later than 12 
noon 5 clear working days before the day of the Council meeting, excluding the day of the 
meeting itself. Finance Officers will confirm the legality and impact of all proposed 
amendments. Any that in the Chief Financial Officer’s opinion are unlawful shall be rejected. 
The Chief Financial Officer will then share all amended proposalsproposed amendments, 
together with Finance sign off and comments, with the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer 
and Director for Sustainability & Resources, by 5pm 5 clear working days before the day of 
the Council meeting, excluding the day of the meeting itself. 

 

7.13 All proposed amendments will be shared with all Elected Members, by email, by the Chief 
Financial Officer by 12 noon 3 clear working days before the Council meeting, excluding the 
day of the meeting itself.  

 

7.14 Following a period for negotiation, any minor amendments to proposed amendments, will 
be allowed up to 9am 12 noon on the day of before the meeting, provided they do not have 
substantial impact and are agreed with the Chief Financial Officer. By noon 5.30 pm on the 
day of thebefore the Council meeting Democratic Services Officers will circulate copies of 
all proposed amendments to all Members of the Council, by email, in case any have been 
withdrawn. At the Council meeting, the Mayor will refuse to accept any proposals for 
amendment that have not been through the above process, and signed off as being lawful 
proposals by the Council’s Finance Officers. 

 

7.15 At the Budget Setting Council meeting, the Cabinet will propose their budget, with the 
Leader having an unlimited time for their speech. The proposal will need to be seconded 
and the Member seconding has 5 minutes available for this purpose, or where proposed 
amendments have been circulated, 10 minutes. The seconder may speak at the time of 
seconding or reserve their speech for later on in the debate. 

 

7.16 The Leader of the next largest Group on the Council will have the right to speak first on the 
Cabinet’s proposal and may propose any amendment which has been signed off by the 
Chief Financial Officer, and has 15 minutes maximum for their speech. The proposed 
amendment  will need to be seconded and the Member seconding the amendment has 10 
minutes for this purpose and may make their speech at the time of seconding or reserve it 
for later in the debate on this amendment.  

 

778



125 

7.17 The Leader of the next largest Group will have the right to speak next on the earlier 
proposals put before Council, and may have 15 minutes to propose their own amendment, 
provided it has been signed off by the Chief Financial Officer, which shall need to be 
seconded with the seconder having a maximum of 10 minutes for this purpose and the right 
to reserve their speech until later in the debate. 

 

7.18 This process continues until the Leader of each Group and any ungrouped Members who 
are to propose amendmentshave moved amendments, have had the opportunity to speak, 
and the budget and all proposed amendments have been proposed and seconded.  

 

7.19 The matter, being both the Cabinet’s proposed and seconded budget and all amendments 
that have been proposed and seconded, is then open to one full debate from all Members 
of the Council. Each Member may speak only once on this item, other than the Executive 
Cabinet Leader, and any Group Leader, or any Member not in a Group who has submitted 
an amendment, who each has have a right of reply. Each speaker, other than as set out 
above, has a maximum of 5 minutes to speak where it is only the Cabinet’s proposed 
budget under consideration, or 10 minutes where amendments have also been proposed 
and seconded.  

 

7.20 The debate is managed by the Mayor who has control of the debate and may use their 
discretion to ensure the effective, efficient, fair and orderly conduct of the business. The 
Mayor’s interpretation of these procedure rules and their application will be final.  

 

7.21 At the end of the debate if any Member seconding a proposal (the substantive proposal or a 
proposed amendment) has reserved their seconder’s speech to later in the debate, their 
speeches, of a maximum of 10 minutes where there are amendments, or otherwise 5 
minutes, will be taken in the reverse order in which the motions were proposed and 
seconded. 

 

7.22 When the debate has concluded, the Executive Leader, as the proposer of the substantive 
motion, and any Group Leader or ungrouped Member who has proposed an amendment, 
will have a right of reply. Each speaker will be taken in the reverse order in which the 
motions were proposed and seconded, with the Leader having the last right of reply on 
behalf of the Cabinet. Any speaker with a right of reply has up to 10 minutes to respond. 

 

7.23 When the debate has concluded, the Mayor will if they think fit, sum up the debate before 
putting the amendments to the vote. In doing so they may request the Chief Financial 
Officer to draw the attention of the meeting to any relevant factors.  

 

7.24 The Mayor will then put the amendments to the vote in the order of the amendments 
proposed by the largest Opposition Group Leader first, followed by the next largest etc. 
Each amendment will be voted on in turn, with a recorded vote being taken, and 
administered by the Democratic Services Officer, on each amendment.  

 

7.25 Any vote (including procedural and on amendments) relating to budget setting and council 
tax decisions made by Full Council must be undertaken by a recorded vote.  

 

7.26 Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 bars a Councillor from voting on 
the Council’s budget if they have an outstanding council tax debt of over two months. If a 
Member is present at any meeting at which relevant budgetary matters are discussed, they 
must disclose that s.106 applies and may not vote. Failure to comply is a criminal offence.  

 

7.27 Some proposed amendments may impact on others and there may be inter dependencies 
between them. For example, if one amendment is lost it may result in others automatically 
being lost, whilst some amendments may have no impact on others and may stand alone 
regardless of the outcome of voting on other amendments. The Chief Financial Officer will 

779



126 

advise accordingly and the Mayor may adjourn the meeting to facilitate the provision of that 
advice.  
  

7.28 Following the conclusion of the voting on the amendments, the Chief Financial Officer will 
confirm how the individual amendments that have been carried affect the Council Tax 
proposal as necessary. 

 

7.29 There may be a need for a short adjournment to allow for the preparation of the Council Tax 
resolutions to reflect the budget proposals as amended/if amended to be printed and 
circulated prior to the substantive vote. 

 

7.30 Once the amendments have each been voted upon and determined, the Chief Financial 
Officer will clarify any amendments that have been agreed and how they affect the budget 
proposal. The Mayor will then put the substantive motions, as amended if they have been 
amended, to the Council for a vote. A recorded vote will be taken and recorded by the 
Democratic Services Officer present.  

 

7.31 If the budget proposal is accepted without amendment by Council, the Council may make a 
decision which has immediate effect. If the budget proposal is amended, and is approved 
as amended by Full Council, the Leader will be asked by the Mayor if they accept the 
budget as agreed by Council.  

 

7.32  
(a) If the Executive Leader confirms that they do accept the budget proposals as amended 

by Council, the Council decision will have immediate effect.  
(b) If the Executive Leader does not accept the budget proposal as amended and agreed 

by the Council, the matter will be referred back to the Cabinet for further consideration 
and revised Cabinet proposals will need to be submitted to Council at a future meeting; 
this will cause an inevitable delay to the lawful setting of the budget and the Council 
Tax and the associated consequences of such a delay will need to be considered.  

 

  

780



127 

Cabinet Procedure Rules 
 
Introduction 
 
1.1 These Cabinet Procedure Rules have been adopted by the Council to help achieve the 

following aims: 
(a) to protect the interests of the Council, individual Members and Officers;  
(b) to ensure that decisions are based upon complete and sound information and advice from 

appropriate professional Officers; and  
(c) to ensure that decisions are made in accordance with the Council’s agreed governance 

arrangements.  
 
1.2 A clear audit trail of decision-making must be maintained for future reference. The 

Monitoring Officer will advise Members and Officers to ensure that the decision-making 
process meets the requirements of the law and good governance and on the proper 
implementation of these procedures.  

 
1.3 These Cabinet Procedure Rules do not cover all aspects of decision-making under 

Executive arrangements. Members and Officers will also need to be aware of and guided 
by other relevant sections of the Constitution, particularly: 
(a) Scheme of Delegation; 
(b) Access to Information Procedure Rules;  
(c) Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules;  
(d) Members’ Code of Conduct; 
(e) Officers’ Code of Conduct; 
(f) Protocol on Member/Officer Relations; 
(g) Code of Corporate Governance; 
(h) Article 12 concerning decision-making.  

 
1.4 If primary or secondary legislation is introduced which supersedes these Cabinet Procedure 

Rules, statutory legislation will prevail. 
 
1.5 These Cabinet Procedure Rules must be read in accordance with the Joint Committee 

Agreement.  
 
How the Cabinet Operates 
 
2.1 Who May Make Executive Decisions 
 
2.1.1 The arrangements for the discharge of Executive functions are to be determined by the 

Leader who may arrange for the discharge of any of the Cabinet functions to: 
(a) the Cabinet; 
(b) Cabinet Member; 
(c) a Cabinet committee; 
(d) an Officer of the Council; 
(e) an Area Committee; 
(f) another body in accordance with joint working arrangements; 
(g) another Local Authority; 
(h) a Ward Member to the extent that the function is exercisable in relation to their Ward. 

 
2.2 Delegation of Executive Functions 
 
2.2.1 The Monitoring Officer will present to the Council, on an annual basis, a written record of 

delegations made by the Leader, for inclusion in Part 3 of the Constitution. The document 
will contain the following information about Executive functions in relation to the 
forthcoming year: 

(a) the name, address and Ward of each Member appointed to the Cabinet; 

781



128 

(b) the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet Members individually, including 
details of the limitation on their authority; 

(c) the terms of reference and composition of such Cabinet Committees as may be 
appointed and the names of Cabinet Members appointed to them; 

(d) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive functions to any other Authority 
or any joint arrangements and the names of those Cabinet Members appointed to 
any Joint Committee for the forthcoming year; and  

(e) the nature and extent of any delegation to Officers or Ward Members, with details of 
any limitation on that delegation, and the title of the Officer or name of the Ward 
Member to whom the delegation is made. 

 
2.3 Sub-Delegation of Executive Functions 
 
2.3.1 The Leader may discharge any Executive function, or may arrange for any Executive 

function to be delegated to the Cabinet, an individual Cabinet Member, a Cabinet 
committee, an Area Committee, a Ward Member or an Officer. 
 

2.3.2 Where the Cabinet is responsible for an Executive function, it may delegate further to a 
Cabinet committee, an Officer or another body in accordance with joint working 
arrangements. 

 
2.3.3 Unless the Cabinet directs otherwise, a Cabinet committee or Cabinet Member may 

delegate further to an Officer. 
 
2.3.4 Even where Executive functions have been delegated, that fact does not prevent the 

discharge of delegated functions by the person or body who delegated. 
 
2.4 The Scheme of Delegation of Executive Functions 
 
2.4.1 The Scheme of Delegation of Executive Functions may be adopted by the Council 

containing the details required in Article 7 and thereafter is set out in Part 3 and Part 4 of 
this Constitution. 

 
2.5 Conflicts of Interest 
 
(a) Where the Leader has a conflict of interest in exercising an Executive function, this should 

be dealt with in accordance with the principles of the Council’s Member Code of Conduct in 
Part 5 of this Constitution. If a dispensation is not granted, the matter should be referred to a 
meeting of the Cabinet as a whole, or where appropriate, another body in accordance with 
joint working arrangements. 
 

(b) If every Cabinet Member has a conflict of interest in exercising an Executive function, this 
should be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s Member Code of Conduct in Part 5 of 
this Constitution. If a dispensation is not granted, the matter should be referred in accordance 
with paragraph 2.1 (d) (e) and (f) above. 

 
(c) If the exercise of an Executive function has been delegated to a Cabinet committee, an 

individual Cabinet Member, a Ward Member or an Officer, and should a conflict of interest 
arise, then the function will be exercised in the first instance by the person or body by whom 
the delegation was made to the person with the conflict, and otherwise as set out in the 
Council’s Member Code of Conduct in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 
Forward Plan of Executive Key Decisions and/or Executive Exempt Decisions 
 
3.1 Subject to the Access to Information Procedure Rules, where an Executive decision is 

either ‘Key’ (as defined in Article 12) or ‘exempt’ as (defined in the Access to Information 

782



129 

Procedure Rules), the decision shall not be taken unless details have been included in the 
Council’s Forward Plan.  

 
3.2 Paragraph 3.1 above applies regardless of which individual or body is the decision-maker 

and is therefore applicable to decision to be made by the Cabinet, collectively or 
individually, and to Officers. 

 
Cabinet Meetings 
 
4.1 Exempt and/or Key Decisions 
 
4.1.1 Subject to the Access to Information Procedure Rules, the Cabinet may not make an 

exempt or key decision unless details have been included in the Forward Plan. 
 
4.2 Frequency and Location of Cabinet Meetings 
 
4.2.1 The Cabinet will meet at least 8 times per year at times as determined by the Leader and at 

such other times as they shall determine. Some of these meetings will be held as the 
Cabinet sitting as another body in accordance with joint working arrangements. At least one 
of its Meetings each year will be held to deal with the Cabinet’s recommendation to Council 
on its budget. The Cabinet shall meet at the Council’s Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing or 
another location in accordance with Council Procedure Rules, or at another location in 
accordance with joint working arrangements. 

 
4.3 Public Access to Meetings of the Cabinet 
 
4.3.1 Subject to (a) and (b) below, meetings of the Cabinet will be held in accordance with the 

Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
(a) Exempt Information – where the Cabinet decides, by passing a resolution of its 

Members, to exclude the press and public, to prevent exempt information to be 
disclosed. It is open to the Cabinet to choose to consider in public matters involving 
exempt information; there is no statutory requirement compelling the body to discuss 
exempt information in a private meeting. 

(b) Confidential Information – where the presence of the public is likely to result in the 
Cabinet breaching a legal obligation to third parties about the keeping of confidential 
information, the meeting should be held in private. Confidential information means: 
(i) Information provided to the Council or Cabinet by a Government department on 

terms which forbid the disclosure of the information to the public; and 
(ii) Information which is prohibited from being disclosed by any enactment or by a Court 

Order. 
 
4.4 Quorum 
 
4.4.1 The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet shall be 3 Cabinet Members, or at a meeting held 

under joint arrangements, as provided for under the Joint Committee Agreement. 
 
4.5 Decision-making by the Cabinet 
 
(a) Executive decisions which have been delegated to the Cabinet as a whole will be taken at a 

meeting convened in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 
of the Constitution. 

(b) Where Executive decisions are delegated to a Cabinet committee, these Rules will still apply. 
(c) Details of Executive decision-making under joint arrangements are contained in the Joint 

Committee Agreement. 

783



130 

(d) All decisions made at Cabinet meetings are to be made following an Officer report and 
recorded in either the Minutes of the meeting or a Decision Notice, both of which must be 
made publicly available, by the end of the third working day following the day of the meeting. 

(e) All decisions made at Cabinet meetings must be made in accordance with Article 12 of the 
Constitution. 

 
4.6 The Person Presiding 
 
4.6.1 The Leader, or in their absence the Deputy Leader, will preside. In the absence of both the 

Leader and Deputy Leader, another Cabinet Member will be appointed to preside.  
 
4.6.2 The person presiding at a meeting held under joint arrangements is determined in 

accordance with the Joint Committee Agreement. 
 
4.7 Business of the Cabinet  
 
4.7.1 At each meeting of the Cabinet, the following business will be conducted: 

(a) disclosure of any disclosable pecuniary and personal interests; 
(b) consideration of the minutes or decision notice of the previous meeting(s) of the Cabinet; 
(c) questions by the public in accordance with Council Procedure Rules; 
(d) matters referred to the Cabinet by Overview and Scrutiny or by the Council (or under Joint 

Committee arrangements) for reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with the 
provisions contained in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Budget and 
Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution, or such joint 
procedure rules; 

(e) consideration of reports and recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny or Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee;  

(f) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting; 
(g) urgent items which are defined as those items which by reason of special circumstance 

are urgent as they have arisen since the publication of the agenda and need to be 
determined before the next Meeting of the Cabinet, which may or may not be a meeting 
held in accordance with joint working arrangements, and are items of pressing importance 
requiring swift action given the gravity of the situation, which were unforeseeable (in an 
objective sense) and are not attributable to a failing on the part of the Council. 
 

4.8 Written Reports for Meetings of the Cabinet 
 
4.8.1 A written report on the proposed decision shall be prepared by the relevant Officer and shall 

be approved by the relevant Director, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer. 
 
4.8.2 The Officer’s report shall set out the following: 

(a) The Cabinet portfolio within which the issues falls, if appropriate;  
(b) The Ward(s) affected by the proposed decision;  
(c) The title of the Director with overall responsibility for the subject matter of the report; 
(d) The name and title of the Officer writing the report;  
(e) The date of the meeting at which the decision may be taken; 
(f) The subject/title of the report;  
(g) Whether a key decision is to be taken;  
(h) Whether the report contains confidential or exempt information;  
(i) A description of the issue to be decided;  
(j) The views of the relevant Local Ward Member(s) (if appropriate);  
(k) Any consultations undertaken, the method of consultation and a summary of any 

representations received. See also paragraph 4.8.3 below; 
(l) The Officer’s recommendations and the reasons for them;  
(m) Details of any alternative options considered;  
(n) A list of background papers.  

 

784



131 

4.8.3 All reports to the Cabinet on proposals relating to the Budget and Policy Framework must 
contain details of the nature and extent of consultation and the outcome of that 
consultation. Reports about other matters will set out the details and outcome of 
consultation as appropriate. The level of consultation required will be appropriate to the 
nature of the matter under consideration and any statutory or other requirements. 

 
4.8.4 Subject to the provisions on confidential and exempt information and special urgency as set 

out in the Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules, the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources shall, at least 5 clear working days prior to the date that the proposed decision is 
scheduled to be taken: 
(a) forward a copy of the report by email to the Cabinet Members and all Members of the 

Council; and  
(b) make the report publicly available on the Councils’ website. 

 
4.9 Decisions of Cabinet meetings 
 
4.9.1 Subject to the provisions of the Access to Information Procedure Rules, after a decision has 

been taken by the Cabinet, either draft minutes of the meeting or a Record of Decision will 
be prepared by the Director for Sustainability & Resources and published on the Councils’ 
website, which shall include:  
(a) whether or not it was a key decision; 
(b) the title of the item;  
(c) the title of the decision-making body;  
(d) the date on which the decision was made;  
(e) the date on which the decision may be implemented;  
(f) any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interest and details of any 

dispensation granted if appropriate; 
(g) details of consultation undertaken prior to making the decision;  
(h) the decision;  
(i) the reasons for the decision;  
(j) the alternative options considered, if any; and  
(k) a list of the documents taken into account by the decision-making body, including the 

report of the relevant Officer.  
 
4.9.2 By 5pm on the third working day, following the day of the meeting of the Cabinet, the 

Director for Sustainability & Resources shall publish the draft minutes or Record of 
Decision by email to all Members of the Council and, at the same time, make the record 
available for public inspection by publishing on the Councils’ website. This will enable 
Members to consider whether they wish to ‘Call-In’ the decision in accordance with 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules.  

 
4.9.3 The Director for Sustainability & Resources will maintain records of all decisions made, 

together with associated reports, in accordance with the Council’s Access to Information 
Procedure Rules. 

 
4.9.4 The report author will ensure that all background papers listed in the report are made 

publicly available, by at least 5 working days prior to the date of the meeting at which the 
decision may be taken. 

 
Individual Cabinet Member Decisions 
 
5.1 Exempt and/or Key Decisions 
 
5.1.1 Subject to the Access to Information Procedure Rules, the Individual Cabinet Member may 

not make an exempt or key decision unless details have been included in the Forward Plan. 
 
5.2 Decision-making by an Individual Cabinet Member 

785



132 

 
(a) Details of Executive decision-making by Individual Cabinet Members under joint 

arrangements are contained in the Joint Committee Agreement. 
(b) All decisions made by Individual Cabinet Members are to be made following an Officer report 

and recorded on a Decision Notice, which must be made publicly available, by the end of the 
second working day following receipt of the Decision Notice.  

(c) All decisions made by Individual Cabinet Members must be made in accordance with Article 
12 of the Constitution. 

 
5.3 Written Reports for Individual Cabinet Member Decisions 
 
5.3.1 A written report on the proposed decision shall be prepared by the relevant Officer and shall 

be approved by the relevant Director, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer. 
 
5.3.2 The Officer’s report shall set out the following: 
 

(a) The Cabinet portfolio within which the issue falls, if appropriate;  
(b) The Ward(s) affected by the proposed decision;  
(c) The title of the Director with overall responsibility for the subject matter of the report; 
(d) The name and title of the Officer writing the report;  
(e) The date the proposed decision may be taken and the date by which it must be taken; 
(f) The subject/title of the report;  
(g) Whether a key decision is to be taken;  
(h) Whether the report contains confidential or exempt information;  
(i) A description of the issue to be decided;  
(j) The views of the relevant Local Ward Member(s) (if appropriate);  
(k) Any consultations undertaken, the method of consultation and a summary of any 

representations received. See also paragraph 5.3.3 below; 
(l) The Officer’s recommendations and the reasons for them;  
(m) Details of any alternative options considered;  
(n) A list of background papers.  

 
5.3.3 All reports to the Individual Cabinet Members on proposals relating to the Budget and 

Policy Framework must contain details of the nature and extent of consultation and the 
outcome of that consultation. Reports about other matters will set out the details and 
outcome of consultation as appropriate. The level of consultation required will be 
appropriate to the nature of the matter under consideration and any statutory or other 
requirements. 

 
5.3.4 Subject to the provisions on confidential and exempt information and special urgency as set 

out in the Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules, the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources shall, at least 5 clear working days prior to the earliest date that the proposed 
decision may be made: 

(a) forward a copy of the report by email to the Individual Cabinet Member and all 
Members of the Council; and  

(b) make the report publicly available on the Councils’ website. 
 
5.4 Timescales 
 
5.4.1 Subject to the Access to Information Rules, the decision cannot be made until the expiry of 

the time specified in the Forward Plan for a key decision. Further, the decision cannot be 
taken by the individual Cabinet Member before the expiry of 5 clear working days after 
publication of the report. The decision should be made at the latest by 14 days thereafter.  

 
5.4.2 The Cabinet Member shall provide a written record of their decision, including reasons, to 

the Director for Sustainability & Resources within one working day of the decision being 
made. 

786



133 

 
5.5 Interests 
 
5.5.1 Prior to taking the decision, the Cabinet Member will be required to consider whether they 

have any disclosable pecuniary or personal interest in the matter, or any other interests as 
may be described in the Members’ Code of Conduct from time to time. If a personal 
interest, the Cabinet Member shall disclose it by recording the interest at the beginning of 
their record of decision. If a disclosable pecuniary interest, the Cabinet Member shall take 
no part in the consideration of the matter, save as permitted by law, and shall refer the 
matter to the Leader without comment, save as to record the nature of their disclosable 
pecuniary interest. Other interests shall have effect as outlined in the Members’ Code of 
Conduct from time to time. See paragraph 2.5(c) above. 

 
5.6 The Leader making a decision referred by an Individual Cabinet Member 
 
5.6.1 The Leader can either make the decision on a report referred to them by an Individual 

Cabinet Member in accordance with Rule 5.5 above, or may refer the report to the next full 
meeting of the Cabinet for discussion and decision. The Leader will record a decision to 
defer an item to a meeting of the Cabinet on the Decision Notice and it will be actioned by 
the Director for Sustainability & Resources. 

 
5.6.2 If the Leader is exercising their ability to make the decision himself in these circumstances, 

the timescales in paragraph 5.4 above still apply: the decision may not be made until the 
expiry of 5 clear working days after the original publication of the report and should be 
made prior to the expiry of 14 days thereafter. 

 
5.7 Delegations 
 
5.7.1 At any time, and for any reason, the Leader may temporarily, or permanently, withdraw the 

delegation of an Executive function to an Individual Cabinet Member and exercise the 
delegation in person. 

 
5.7.2 Where the Leader temporarily removes a delegation to an Individual Cabinet Member for a 

particular decision, this must be recorded on the Decision Notice. Where the Leader 
removes a delegation to an Individual Cabinet Member on a permanent basis, the 
Monitoring Officer must be notified in writing. 

 
5.8 Decisions of Individual Cabinet Members 
 
5.8.1 Subject to the provisions of the Access to Information Procedure Rules, after a decision has 

been taken by a Cabinet Member and the Record of Decision provided to the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources, they will publish, by placing on the Councils’ website, the 
Record of Decision which shall include: 

(a) whether it was a key decision; 
(b) the title of the item;  
(c) the name of the decision-maker;  
(d) the date on which the decision was made;  
(e) the date on which the decision will be implemented;  
(f) any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or personal interest and details of any 

dispensation granted if appropriate; 
(g) a list of any groups or individuals consulted prior to making the decision;  
(h) the decision;  
(i) the reasons for the decision;  
(j) the alternative options considered, if any; and  
(k) a list of the documents taken into account by the decision-maker, including the 

report of the relevant Officer.  
 

787



134 

5.8.2 By 5pm on the second working day following the day upon which the Record of Decision 
was received, the Director for Sustainability & Resources shall forward the Record of 
Decision by email to all Members of the Council indicating when it will become effective 
and, at the same time, will also make the record available for public inspection by 
publishing on the Councils’ website. This will enable Members to consider whether they 
wish to ‘Call-In’ the decision in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules.  

 
5.8.3 The Director for Sustainability & Resources will maintain records of all decisions made, 

together with associated reports and background papers, in accordance with the Council’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 
5.8.4 The report author will ensure that all background papers listed in a report are made publicly 

available, by at least 5 working days prior to the earliest date upon which the decision may 
be taken. 

 
Executive Decisions Taken By Officers 
 
6.1 Decision-making by an Officer 
 
6.1.1 Decision making by Officers should be undertaken in accordance with the Protocol on 

Officer Decision Making in part 5 of the Constitution. 
 

788



135 

  

 

Key Decision 

(See Article 12) 

Exempt Information 

Decision (see Para 4.3(a) 

above) 

Confidential Information 

Decision (see Para 4.3(b) 

above) 

Decision which is neither Key, 

Exempt nor Confidential 

Forward Plan/28 Day Notice Publish Report 

Earliest Date Decision  

May be made i.e. After 28 days on 

the Forward Plan and after 5 days 

after publication, which periods may 

run concurrently 

Decision made by the Cabinet as a 

whole at a meeting of the Cabinet 

Draft minutes/Decision Notice to 

be published 

EXECUTIVE DECISION MAKING PROCESS FOR EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 

After 28 clear 

calendar days 

Decision should be made by the 

Individual Cabinet Member 

Decision Notice to be published 

Decision may be implemented 

After 5 clear 

working days 

Within 14 

calendar days 

Within 2 clear working days 
Within 3 clear working days 

After 5 clear 

working days 
After 5 clear 

working days 

789



136 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Decision  

(see Article 12) 

Decision which is not Key 

Forward Plan/28 Day Notice Complete Officer Report 

Earliest date decision may be made 

i.e. After 28 days on the Forward 

Plan 

Decision Notice and report to be 

published (provided does not contain 

exempt nor confidential information) 

Decision may be implemented 

Within 2 clear working days of decision 

After 5 clear working days 

EXECUTIVE DECISION MAKING FOR OFFICERS 

After 28 clear 

calendar days 

790



137 

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
 
Arrangements for the Worthing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
1.1 The Council will have an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as set out in Article 6, and will 

appoint Members to it on an annual basis. 
 
1.2 The Committee may appoint such Sub-Committees or Working Groups as it sees fit. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
2.1 The general terms of reference of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are as set out in 

Part 3 of the Constitution. The Worthing Borough Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
shall exercise the scrutiny function of the Council in relation to all matters reserved to 
Worthing Borough Council, as opposed to those included within the remit of the Joint 
Committee Agreement which are scrutinised by the Adur and Worthing Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  

 
Membership  
 
3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will comprise 15 Elected Members from Worthing 

Borough Council and shall not include Cabinet Members. However, no Member may be 
involved in scrutinising a decision in which they have been directly involved, for example as 
a decision-maker, or in which they have pecuniary or personal interest, or any other actual 
or perceived conflict of interest, e.g. a close relationship with a decision-maker. 

 

3.2 The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be appointed by the Council. The 
Chair will first be offered to a member of a Political Group that does not form part of the 
Administration or an ungrouped Member, with the Vice Chair being drawn from any other 
Political Group. 

 
Co-Opted Members 
 
4.1 Co-opted Elected Members 
 

Subject to 10.2 below, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to co-opt non-
voting Elected Members to the membership of the Committee, to assist on a particular matter. 
A Co-opted Member may not sit as a Co-opted Member on both an Executive and a Scrutiny 
Committee when considering the same matter. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may 
appoint no more than two non-voting Co-opted Members to any particular meeting.  

 
4.2 Co-opted Unelected Members 
 

Subject to 10.2 below, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to co-opt non-
voting unelected persons to the membership of the Committee, to assist on a particular 
matter. A Co-opted Member may not sit as a Co-opted Member on both an Executive and a 
Scrutiny Committee when considering the same matter. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may appoint no more than two non-voting Co-opted Members to any particular 
Meeting. A Working Group is not limited to these numbers. 

 
Meetings 
 
5.1  The Committee will meet to consider Call-Ins relating to decisions of the Worthing Cabinet 

in relation to a matter reserved to the Cabinet of Worthing Borough Council. 
 
5.2 In addition, Extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time as and when appropriate. 

An Extraordinary meeting of the Worthing Overview and Scrutiny Committee may be called 

791



138 

by the Chair, requesting in writing that the Director for Sustainability & Resources call an 
Extraordinary Meeting; or by any four Committee Members, signing a requisition, and 
presenting it to the Chair, who if they have failed to call a meeting within 7 calendar days, 
may provide notice in writing to the Director for Sustainability & Resources, who shall then 
call such an Extraordinary meeting. 

 
Working Groups 

 
6.1 Working Groups may be established by the Committee as: 

(a) A standing Working Group for a particular topic - for example budget monitoring or 
holding the Cabinet to account. 

(b) As a task and finish Working Group based on an agreed scoping report, likely to 
involve external attendees, site visits or gathering evidence over time.  

(c) A time-limited Working Group based on an agreed scoping report, likely to be a review 
of an internal Council service.  

 
6.2 Membership 
 

The Working Group shall consist of at least four Members of the Worthing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee selected when establishing the Terms of Reference under paragraph 
6.1 above. The overriding criterion shall be the following: 
(a) The subject under discussion; 
(b) The skill set of the Members selected; 
(c) The location in the Borough of the matter under review;  
(d) As resolved by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
(e) Availability and time commitment as outlined in the scoping report. 

 
6.3 Officer Attendance at Working Groups 
 

The Working Group may invite Officers of the Council to attend meetings of the Working 
Group as consultees or specialist advisors. 

 
6.4 Quorum 
 

There is quorum of two for a Working Group meeting or site visit. 
 
6.5 Chairing  
 

Each Working Group will select its own Chair. 
 
6.6 Substitutes 
 

Substitutes are not allowed, although the Working Group may invite other Members from 
the Worthing Overview and Scrutiny Committee to assist it for a particular meeting. Any 
change to the permanent membership of a Working Group should be approved by the 
Worthing Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
Quorum 
 
7.1 The quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be determined in accordance 

with Council Procedure Rule 9. 
 
Work Programme 
 
8.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for determining its own annual 

work programme and in doing so they shall take into account the wishes of all Members on 

792



139 

that Committee, regardless of Political Group. It will be reported to Council for noting at the 
April meeting every year, for the following municipal year. 

 
8.2 When determining whether to include an item on the Overview and Scrutiny draft Work 

Programme, Members should be guided by: 
(a) The Council’s Strategic objectives;  
(b) the ability of the Committee to have influence and/or add value on the subject; 
(c) the PAPER criteria: Public Interest (P), Ability to Change (A), Performance (P), 

Extent (E) and Replication (R). 
 
8.3 During the municipal year, items may be added to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Work Programme, where appropriate. Requests for additional matters to be included in the 
Work Programme will initially be considered by the Chair in accordance with the criteria set 
out in paragraph 8.2 above, who will make their recommendations to the next Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for consideration and determination, following receipt of an Officer report. 
Consideration should also be given to capacity of the Committee and resources available. 
Any changes to the Work Programme should be reported to Council mid-municipal year for 
noting.  

 
8.4 The Director for Sustainability & Resources will consult with the Chair of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee throughout the year to monitor the Work Programme, and will report to 
the Committee on a regular basis.  

 
8.5 After consideration of an Officer report, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be 

responsible for setting the scope of the work of any Working Group established to assist the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in carrying out its functions and responsibilities. The scope 
of the work should include timeframes, objectives, membership, resources and final 
reporting. 

 
Agenda Items 
 
9.1 Agendas will be published in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in 

Part 4 of the Constitution by the Director for Sustainability & Resources, in consultation with 
the Chair of the Committee. 

 
9.2 A Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to request that an item 

be added to the Work Programme in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 9.3 below. 
Should the Chair fail to include the item on the agenda at the next available meeting (in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules), the Member may give written 
notice to the Director for Sustainability & Resources that they wish an item relevant to the 
functions of the Committee to be considered by the Committee. On receipt of such a request, 
the Director for Sustainability & Resources will include the item in an agenda to be discussed 
at the next available meeting of the Committee (unless the matter is an Excluded Matter as 
defined in Regulation 3 of the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded 
Matters) (England) Order 2012). An excluded matter is: 

(a) a local crime and disorder matter within the meaning of the Police and Justice Act 
2006; 

(b) any matter relating to a planning or licensing decision; 
(c) where a person has a right of recourse to a review or appeal; or  
(d) where, in the opinion of the Director for Sustainability & Resources, the matter is 

vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable. 
 
9.3 Any Member of the Council who is not a Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

may, on a maximum of four occasions in any municipal year, give written notice to the 
Director for Sustainability & Resources that they wish an item to be included on the agenda 
for the Committee. If the Director for Sustainability & Resources receives such a 
notification, they will consult with the Chair of the Committee who will follow the procedure 

793



140 

set out in paragraph 9.2 above. Should the Chair fail to put the item on the agenda for the 
next available meeting (in accordance with Access to Information Procedure Rules) then 
the Member may ask the Director for Sustainability & Resources to put it on the agenda and 
they shall do so. The Committee will then consider the agenda item and determine whether 
or not it will be included on the Work Programme of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
If the Committee decides not to include the item in the Work Programme, the Member will 
be notified of the reasons. This procedure rule is to be taken in conjunction with the 
Council’s Protocol on Councillor Call for Action in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 
9.4 The Council, the Cabinet or any Committee may request that the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee undertakes scrutiny or policy development work on their behalf. The Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee shall respond, as soon as its Work Programme permits, to such 
requests. Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee does so, it shall report its findings 
and any recommendations back to the commissioning body. The commissioning body shall 
consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its next available (in 
accordance with Access to Information Procedure Rules) meeting. 

 
9.5 A member of the public may request that an item be added to the agenda of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee. Any such request shall be considered by the Chair and, unless 
inappropriate to do so, shall be dealt with in accordance with paragraph 9.3 above.  

 
Policy Review and Development 
 
10.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may make proposals to the Council, its Committees 

or the Cabinet for policy development, in so far as they relate to matters within that body’s 
terms of reference. 
 

10.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may hold inquiries and investigate the available 
options for future direction in policy development and may appoint advisors and assessors 
to assist them in this process. Such advisors may or may not be appointed as Co-opted 
Members, subject to the provisions of paragraph 4 above. The Committee may go on site 
visits, conduct public meetings, commission research and do all things that it reasonably 
considers necessary to inform their deliberations. It may ask witnesses to attend (see below) 
to address it on any matter under consideration and may, subject to available resources, 
pay to any advisors, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee to cover their expenses for 
doing so. 

 
Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
11.1 Once it has formed recommendations, the Director for Sustainability & Resources will prepare 

a formal report incorporating the views of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and submit 
it to the relevant body.  

 
11.2 The Council, the Cabinet or the Committee shall consider any report of the Director for 

Sustainability & Resources submitting the views of Overview and Scrutiny Committee at 
their next Ordinary Meeting (subject to Access to Information Rules), after it has been 
submitted to the Proper Officer for placing on the Agenda. 

 
11.3 Alternatively the minute from a meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee may be referred 

to the Council, its Cabinet or a Committee. In cases where the minutes of the previous 
meeting have not been agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee a draft minute shall 
be prepared by the Director for Sustainability & Resources in consultation with the Chair 
prior to the meeting of the Cabinet, Committee or Council. 

  

794



141 

Minority Reports 
 
12.1 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on a single, final report to the 

Council, its Cabinet or a Committee, then one minority report may be submitted with the 
majority report. In order for a minority report to be produced, no fewer than three voting 
members of the Committee must support such a proposal. 

 
12.2 In order that a minority opinion can be expressed where the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee does not achieve a consensus on an issue, these rules make provision for 
minority reports to be produced by Members of such a committee. This means that although 
a majority report is issued representing the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s majority view, 
any Member of the Committee may propose an alternative view which may then be published 
in a minority report. In order for a minority report to be produced, no fewer than three voting 
Members of the Committee must support such a proposal. 

 
Procedure for dealing with Minority Reports  
 
12.3 At the conclusion of an inquiry and at the point of agreeing a final report detailing the Adur 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s conclusions and recommendations, Members may be 
unable to reach a general consensus. Members in the minority may wish to express a view 
different from that of the majority. In these circumstances, Members with a minority view may 
choose to submit a minority report.  

 
12.4 The intention to submit a minority report must be declared within the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee meeting at the time the majority report is agreed. Such an intention must be 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting and referred to in the final report as part of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s resolutions. Where the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has agreed its final report and there has been no declared intention to produce a 
minority report, a minority report cannot then be subsequently submitted.  

 
12.5 Where the intention to produce a minority report has been recorded in the minutes, 

Democratic Services will contact the appropriate Members to confirm submission dates. The 
minority report should be delivered to the Democratic Services within 5 working days after 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.  

 
12.6 In order that a minority report is given the opportunity to be noted in context by the Council, 

Cabinet or Committee, where it has been produced within the agreed timescale it will be 
attached as an appendix to the majority report.  

 
12.7 The Director of Communities for Sustainability & Resources will determine if a minority report 

should be exempt from publication, in which case the usual procedures for the publication of 
exempt reports apply.  

 
12.8 The drafting and submission of the minority report remains the responsibility of the Members 

who have proposed it (with the support of the Scrutiny Officer). The report will include details 
of the Members who have submitted the minority report, as well as its issues and any 
alternative recommendations. 

 
12.9 It is normally expected that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have taken into account 

all the relevant information available and as such a minority report will be based on the same 
evidence as a majority report. 

 
Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members to Documents 
 
13.1 In addition to their rights as Councillors, Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

have the additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

795



142 

 
Members and Officers Giving Account 
 
14.1 As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any Member, 

Head of Paid Service, Chief or Deputy Chief Officer to attend before it to explain in relation 
to matters within their remit in connection to a Call-In of a decision and it is the duty of those 
persons to attend if so required. Questions for those being requested to attend should be 
pre-submitted no later than two working days in advance of the meeting.  

 
14.2 When requesting Officers and Members of the Council to attend, sufficient notice of the 

meeting should be provided to them as referred below.  
 
14.3 Where any Member or Officer is required to attend the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

under this provision, the Chair of the Committee will inform the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources, who shall inform the Member or Officer in writing, giving at least 5 working days’ 
notice of the meeting at which they are required to attend. The notice will state the nature of 
the Call-In on which they are required to attend to give account and whether any papers are 
required to be produced for the Committee. Where the account to be given to the Committee 
will require the production of a report, then the Member or Officer concerned will be given 
sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that documentation. 

 
14.4 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or Officer is unable to attend on the 

required date, then the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall in consultation with the 
Member or Officer arrange an alternative date for attendance. 

 
Attendance by Others 
 
15.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people other than those people referred to 

in paragraph 14 above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions 
in connection with the Call-In relevant to the meeting. It may for example wish to hear from 
residents, stakeholders and Members and Officers in other parts of the public sector and 
shall invite such people to attend.  

 
Party Whip 
 
16.1 Applying the party whip is defined as any instruction given by or on behalf of a Political Group 

to any councillor who is a member of that group as to how that councillor shall speak or vote 
on any matter before the council, or any committee or sub-committee, or the application or 
threat to apply any sanction by the group in respect of that councillor should they speak or 
vote in any particular manner.  

 
16.2 When considering any matter in respect of which a member of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee is subject to a party whip, the member must declare the existence of the whip and 
the nature of it before the commencement of the committee's deliberations on the matter. 
The declaration, and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting. 

 
16.3 Scrutiny is seen as impartial and stays separate from party politics. Scrutiny councillors 

should use their political skills and understanding of the needs of local people to shape the 
discussions, whilst not acting in a party political manner or using the discussions to further 
party political objectives. 

 
Call-In of a Decision  
 
17.1  An Executive decision (if not yet implemented) is subject to Call-In when made by: 

(a) the Cabinet as a whole body; 
(b) an Individual Cabinet Member; or  

796



143 

(c) an Officer or Ward Member with delegated authority from the Cabinet;  
 

and the decision has been published on the Council’s website and made available at the 
main offices of the Council, as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 
4 of this Constitution. 
 

17.2 The Record of Decision will bear the date on which it is published and, subject to general 
exceptions, will specify the date on which the decision will come into force, and may then be 
implemented unless the decision is called in. 

 
17.3  During the period between the decision being made and coming into force: 

(a) The Monitoring Officer shall Call-In a decision for scrutiny if any three Members of 
Worthing Borough Council, in total, submit to the Monitoring Officer in writing, by email 
to monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk, a request for a matter to be called in. Such 
a request is to be made by 5.00pm on the fifth clear working day, from the day on which 
the Record of Decision is published. The request must include the detailed reasons for 
the Call-In. 

(b) Upon receipt of the request, the Monitoring Officer shall consult with the Chair, or Vice-
Chair in their absence, and shall determine whether or not the Call-In is in accordance 
with the requirement of these rules. The Monitoring Officer shall notify the Members who 
made the request, the Director for Sustainability & Resources, and the decision-maker, 
or Chair of decision making body, of the determination, within 2 clear working days of 
the request being received.  

(c) If the Call-In is accepted, the decision will be put on hold pending referral to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.  

(d) The Director for Sustainability & Resources shall, within 10 clear working days of the 
Call-In being accepted, after consultation with the Chair, call a meeting of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. Such meeting is to be held on such date as the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources shall determine, but to be held as soon as is reasonably 
practicable. 

 
17.4 The Monitoring Officer will provide a report for the meeting in respect of the Call-In which will 

include the procedure for the Call-In hearing. 
 

Exemption from Call-in Procedure  

17.5  A matter may not be Called-In if it has already been considered by the Scrutiny Committee 
or if the decision is urgent and any delay would prejudice the interest of the council or the 
public in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer. A decision will relate to a matter which is urgent 
if any delay caused by the Call-In process would: 

(a) be highly likely to result in the Council incurring significant additional expenditure or 
loss of significant additional income; or 

(b) be highly likely to result in significant damage to the Council’s reputation; or 
(c) prevent the Council from meeting its legal obligations. 

 
17.6 The agreement of Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee must be obtained in writing 

in advance of making the decision, by way of completion of a Notice by the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources, that it is reasonable in all the circumstances to treat the decision 
to be made as one which is urgent and therefore not subject to Call-In. In the absence of the 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Vice-Chair’s consent shall be required. 
In the absence of the Chair and Vice Chair, the consent of the Mayor or, in their absence, the 
Deputy Mayor, shall be required.  

 
17.7 The Record of Decision and Notice that the decision is exempt from Call-In, shall state that 

in the opinion of the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee the decision is one which 
is urgent, with reasons, and therefore not subject to Call-In.  

 

797

mailto:monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk


144 

17.8 Decisions taken in accordance with this Procedural Rule must be reported to the next 
available Meeting of Worthing Borough Council. 
 

Call-In Procedure 
 
17.9  Having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may refer the decision 

back to the decision-making person or body for reconsideration, setting out in writing the 
nature of its concerns, or where the Committee is unable to reach a determination, it may 
raise a motion to refer the matter to Full Council. The decision-making person or body must 
reconsider the decision within a further 5 clear working days, and may or may not amend the 
decision before making a final decision and implementing it. 

 
17.10 Once the reconsidered decision is published following the Call-In procedure, the decision 

cannot be called in again and may be implemented immediately.  
 
17.11 If the matter was referred to Full Council and the Council does not object to a decision that 

has been made, then no further action is necessary, and the decision will be effective in 
accordance with the provision below. However, if Full Council does object, it will refer the 
decision back to the decision-maker, together with its views on the decision. The decision-
maker shall then reconsider the matter as soon as possible, amending the decision or not, 
before making a final decision and implementing it. If Full Council does not meet, or if it does 
but does not refer the decision back to the decision-maker, the decision will become effective 
on the date of the council meeting or expiry of the period in which the council meeting should 
have been held, whichever is the earlier. Once a decision-maker has reconsidered the matter 
following Call-In, no further Call-In of that matter will be allowed. 

 
  

798



145 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
 
 
Arrangements for the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
1.1 The Councils will have a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as set out in Article 6, and 

will appoint Members to it on an annual basis. 
 
1.2 The Committee may appoint such Sub-Committees or Working Groups as it sees fit.  
 
Terms of Reference 
 
2.1 The general terms of reference of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee are as set out 

in the Joint Committee Agreement, which says that the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall exercise the Scrutiny function of both Councils in relation to all matters 
except those to be determined by the individual Executives. (Separate arrangements are in 
place for the scrutiny function relating to those matters determined by the individual 
Executives and reference should be made to the Worthing Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules). 

 
Membership  
 
3.1  The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will comprise 8 Elected Members from Adur 

District Council and 8 Elected Members from Worthing Borough Council and shall not include 
Members of either Executive. No Member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which 
they have been directly involved, for example as a decision-maker or advisor. 

 
3.2 The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be appointed by the Council. The 

Chair will first be offered to a member of a Political Group that does not form part of the 
Administration or an ungrouped Member, with the Vice Chair being drawn from any other 
Political Group. 

 
Co-opted Members 
 
Co-opted Elected Members 
 
4.1  Subject to 4.3 below, the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, its Sub-Committee or 

Working Group, shall be entitled to co-opt non-voting Elected Members to the membership 
of the Committee, to assist on a particular matter. A Co-opted Elected Member may not sit 
as a Co-opted Member on both an Executive and a Scrutiny Committee when considering 
the same matter. A Committee or Sub-Committee of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may appoint no more than two non-voting Co-opted Elected Members to any 
particular Meeting. A Working Group is not limited to these numbers. 

 
 Co-opted Unelected Members 
 
4.2  Subject to 4.3 below, the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or its Sub-Committee or 

Working Group, shall be entitled to co-opt non-voting unelected persons to the membership 
of the Committee, to assist on a particular matter. A Co-opted Unelected Member may not sit 
as a Co-opted Member on both an Executive and a Scrutiny Committee when considering 
the same matter. A Committee or Sub-Committee of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may appoint no more than two non-voting Co-opted Unelected Members to any 
particular Meeting. A Working Group is not limited to these numbers. 

 
4.3 Where the matter relates to the Adur Housing Revenue Account, terms and conditions of 

tenancies or leaseholds, leasehold service charges and any other matter directly affecting 
housing tenants or leaseholders which do not have a general effect on other residents, the 

799



146 

Adur Consultative Forum appointed co-optee shall be co-opted onto the Committee, Sub-
Committee, or Working Group.  

 
Meetings 
 
5.1  There shall be at least four Ordinary Meetings of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

in each municipal year.  
 
5.2 In addition, Extraordinary Meetings may be called from time to time as and when appropriate. 

An Extraordinary Meeting of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may be called by 
the Joint Chairs, in agreement, requesting in writing that the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources call an Extraordinary Meeting; or by any four Committee Members, being at least 
one from each Authority, signing a requisition, and presenting it to the Joint Chairs, who if 
they have failed to call a meeting within 7 calendar days, may provide notice in writing to the 
Director for Sustainability & Resources, who shall then call such an Extraordinary Meeting. 

 
Working Groups 
 
6.1  Working Groups may be established by the Committee as: 

(a) A standing Working Group for a particular topic - for example budget monitoring or holding 
the Cabinet to account. 

(b) As a task and finish Working Group based on an agreed scoping report, likely to involve 
external attendees, site visits or gathering evidence over time.  

(c) A time-limited Working Group based on an agreed scoping report, likely to be a review of 
an internal Council service.  

 
6.2 Working Groups may go on site visits, carry out evidence gathering, investigations and write 

reports, for the approval of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any Sub-Committee. 
Reports of a Working Group shall be submitted under cover of an Officer report and will be 
included in the Agenda for the meeting, and must comply with the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules. 

 
6.3 Meetings of Working Groups do not have to meet in public as they are informal non-decision 

making meetings, unlike meetings of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any Sub-
Committee. 

 
Membership 
 
6.4 The Working Group shall consist of at least four Members of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee selected when establishing the Terms of Reference under paragraph 6.1 above. 
 
6.5 Membership can be a mixture of Members from both Councils with a preference of at least 

one Member from each Council. The overriding criterion shall be the following: 
(a) The subject under discussion; 
(b) The skill set of the Members selected; 
(c) The location in the District or Borough of the matter under review;  
(d) As resolved by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
(e) Availability and time commitment as outlined in the scoping report. 

 
Officer Attendance at Working Groups 
 
6.6 The Working Group may invite Officers of the Councils to attend meetings of the Working 

Group as consultees or specialist advisors. 
  

800



147 

Quorum 
 
6.7 There is quorum of two for a Working Group meeting or site visit. 
 
Chairing  
 
6.8 Each Working Group will select its own Chair. 
 
Substitutes 
 
6.9 Substitutes are not allowed, although the Working Group may invite other Members of Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny to assist it for a particular meeting. Any change to the permanent 
membership of a Working Group should be approved by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  

 
Quo2rum 
 
7.1  The quorum for the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be determined in 

accordance with the Joint Committee Agreement. 
 
Chairing 
 
8.1 The Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee are appointed by 

each Annual Council each year. 
 
8.2 It is for each Sub-Committee or Working Group to decide who should Chair those meeting(s). 

In the event of a dispute, reference should be made to Council Procedure Rule 8.  
 
Work Programme 
 
9.1  The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for proposing their own draft 

work programme and in doing so they shall take into account the wishes of all Members on 
that Committee, regardless of Political Group.  
 

9.2 When determining whether to include an item on the Joint Overview and Scrutiny draft Work 
Programme, Members should be guided by: 

(a) The Councils’ Strategic objectives;  
(b) the ability of the Committee to have influence and/or add value on the subject; 
(c) the PAPER criteria: Public Interest (P), Ability to Change (A), Performance (P), Extent 

(E) and Replication (R).  
 
9.3 Approval of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme is the responsibility of the 

Council. It will be considered and determined by each Council at the April meeting each year, 
for the following municipal year.  

 
9.4 During the Municipal year, items may be added to the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Work Programme, where appropriate. Requests for additional matters to be included in the 
Work Programme will initially be considered by the Joint Chairs in accordance with the criteria 
set out in paragraph 9.1 above, who will make their recommendations to the next Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for consideration and determination, following receipt of 
the Officer report. Consideration should also be given to capacity of the Committee and 
resources available. Any changes to the Work Programme should be reported to Council mid 
municipal year for noting.  

 
9.5 The Director for Sustainability & Resources will consult with the Joint Chairs of the Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee throughout the year to monitor the Work Programme, and 
will report to the Committee on a regular basis.  

801



148 

 
9.6 After consideration of an Officer report, the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be 

responsible for setting the scope of the work of any Sub-Committee or Working Group 
established to assist the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee in carrying out its functions 
and responsibilities. The scope of the work should include timeframes, objectives, 
membership, resources and final reporting. 

 
Agenda Items 
 
10.1  A Member of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to request that an 

item be added to the Work Programme in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 9.3 
above. Should the Chairs fail to include the item on the agenda, at the next available meeting 
(in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules), the Member may give 
written notice to the Director for Sustainability & Resources that they wish an item relevant to 
the functions of the Committee to be considered by the Committee. On receipt of such a 
request, the Director for Sustainability & Resources will include the item in an agenda to be 
discussed at a meeting of the Committee (unless the matter is an Excluded Matter as defined 
in Regulation 3 of the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) 
(England) Order 2012). An excluded matter is a local crime and disorder matter within the 
meaning of the Police and Justice Act or any matter relating to a planning or licensing 
decision, or where a person has a right of recourse to a review or appeal, or where the matter 
is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable. 

 
10.2  Any Member of the Council who is not a Member of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee may, on a maximum of four occasions in any municipal year, give written notice 
to the Director for Sustainability & Resources that they wish an item to be included on the 
agenda for the Committee. If the Director for Sustainability & Resources receives such a 
notification, then they will consult with the Joint Chairs of the Committee who will follow the 
procedure set out in paragraph 9.2 above. Should the Chairs fail to put the item on the agenda 
for the next available meeting (in accordance with Access to Information Procedure Rules) 
then the Member may ask the Director for Sustainability & Resources to put it on the agenda 
and they shall do so. The Committee will then consider the agenda item and determine 
whether it will be included on the Work Programme of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or not. If the Committee decide not to include the item in their Work Programme, 
the Member will be notified of the reasons. This procedure rule is to be taken in conjunction 
with the Council’s Protocol on Councillor Call for Action in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 
10.3 The Council or its Committee may request that the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

undertake scrutiny or development work on their behalf. The Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall respond, as soon as their Work Programme permits, to requests from the 
Council and, if it considers it appropriate, the Cabinet to review particular areas of Council 
activity. Where the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee does so, it shall report its findings 
and any recommendations back to the commissioning body. The commissioning body shall 
consider the report of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee at their next available (in 
accordance with Access to Information Procedure Rules) meeting. 

 
10.4 A member of the public may request that an item be added to the Agenda of the Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Any such request shall be considered by the Joint Chairs, 
and unless inappropriate to do so, shall be dealt with in accordance with paragraph 9.3 
above.  

 
Policy Review and Development 
 
11.1  The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any Sub-Committees may make proposals to 

the Council, its Committees or the Cabinet for policy development, in so far as they relate to 
matters within that body’s terms of reference. 

 

802



149 

11.2 The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may hold inquiries and investigate the available 
options for future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and assessors to 
assist them in this process. Such advisors may or may not be appointed as Co-opted 
Members, subject to the provisions of paragraph 4.0 above. The Committee may go on site 
visits, conduct public meetings, commission research and do all things that it reasonably 
considers necessary to inform their deliberations. It may ask witnesses to attend (see below) 
to address it on any matter under consideration and may, subject to available resources, pay 
to any advisors, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee to cover their expenses for doing 
so. 

 
Reports from the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
  
12.1  Once it has formed recommendations, the Director for Sustainability & Resources will prepare 

a formal report incorporating the views of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
submit it to the relevant body.  

 
12.2 The Council(s), the Cabinet(s) or the Committee shall consider any report of the Director for 

Sustainability & Resources submitting the views of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
at their next Ordinary Meeting (subject to Access to Information Rules), after it has been 
submitted to the Proper Officer for placing on the Agenda. 

 
12.3 Alternatively the minute from a meeting of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may be 

referred to the Council, its Cabinet or a Committee. In cases where the minutes of the 
previous meeting have not been agreed by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee a 
draft minute shall be prepared by the Director for Sustainability & Resources in consultation 
with the relevant Joint Chair prior to the meeting of the Cabinet(s), Committee(s) or 
Council(s). 

 
Minority Reports 
 
12.4  Where the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on a single, final report to 

the Council, its Cabinet or a Committee, then one minority report may be submitted with the 
majority report. In order for a minority report to be produced, no fewer than three voting 
members of the Joint Committee must support such a proposal. 

 
12.5 In order that a minority opinion can be expressed where the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee does not achieve a consensus on an issue, these rules make provision for 
minority reports to be produced by Members of the Joint Committee. This means that 
although a majority report is issued representing the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’s majority view, any Member of the Joint Committee may propose an alternative 
view which may then be published in a minority report. In order for a minority report to be 
produced, no fewer than three voting Members of the Joint Committee must support such a 
proposal. 

 
Procedure for dealing with Minority Reports  
 
12.6  At the conclusion of an inquiry and at the point of agreeing a final report detailing the Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s conclusions and recommendations, Members may be 
unable to reach a general consensus. Members in the minority may wish to express a view 
different from that of the majority. In these circumstances, Members with a minority view may 
choose to submit a minority report.  

 
12.7  The intention to submit a minority report must be declared within the Joint Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee meeting at the time the majority report is agreed. Such an intention must 
be recorded in the minutes of the meeting and referred to in the final report as part of the 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s resolutions. Where the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has agreed its final report and there has been no declared intention to produce a 

803



150 

minority report, a minority report cannot then be subsequently submitted.  
 
12.8 Where the intention to produce a minority report has been recorded in the minutes, 

Democratic Services will contact the appropriate Members to confirm submission dates. The 
minority report should be delivered to the Democratic Services within 5 working days after 
the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.  

 
12.9 In order that a minority report is given the opportunity to be noted in context by the Council, 

Cabinet or Committee, where it has been produced within the agreed timescale it will be 
attached as an appendix to the majority report.  

 
12.10 The Director of Communities for Sustainability & Resources will determine if a minority report 

should be exempt from publication, in which case the usual procedures for the publication of 
exempt reports apply.  

 
12.11 The drafting and submission of the minority report remains the responsibility of the Members 

who have proposed it (with the support of the Scrutiny Officer). The report will include details 
of the Members who have submitted the minority report, as well as its issues and any 
alternative recommendations. 

 
12.12 It is normally expected that the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have taken into 

account all the relevant information available and as such a minority report will be based on 
the same evidence as a majority report. 

 
Consideration of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Reports  
 
13.1  The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will take advice from the Director for 

Sustainability & Resources as to the appropriate body to consider recommendations.  
 

Rights of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members to Documents 
 
14.1  In addition to their rights as Councillors, Members of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee have the additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
Members and Officers Giving Account 
 
15.1  Subject to paragraph 10.1 above, Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-Committee 

or Working Group may scrutinise and review decisions made or actions taken in connection 
with the discharge of any Council functions, unless prohibited elsewhere in this Constitution 
or by statute, for example in relation to quasi-judicial matters. As well as reviewing 
documentation, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any Member, Head of Paid Service, 
Chief or Deputy Chief Officer to attend before it to explain in relation to matters within their 
remit: 

(a) any particular decision or series of decisions; 
(b) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; 

and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. Questions for those being 
requested to attend should be pre-submitted no later than two working days in advance of 
the meeting.  

 
15.2 When requesting Officers and Members of the Council to attend, the Joint Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee should have regard to the extent/number of the requests and the capacity 
of Officers and Members to attend. Sufficient notice of the meeting should be provided to 
them as referred below.  

 
15.3 Where any Member or Officer is required to attend the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee under this provision, the Joint Chair of the Committee will inform the Director for 

804



151 

Sustainability & Resources, who shall inform the Member or Officer in writing, giving at least 
5 working days’ notice of the meeting at which they are required to attend. The notice will 
state the nature of the item on which they are required to attend to give account and whether 
any papers are required to be produced for the Committee. Where the account to be given 
to the Committee will require the production of a report, then the Member or Officer concerned 
will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that documentation. 

 
15.4 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or Officer is unable to attend on the 

required date, then the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall in consultation with the 
Member or Officer arrange an alternative date for attendance. 

 
Attendance by Others 
 
16.1 The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people other than those people 

referred to in paragraph 15 above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer 
questions. It may for example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and Members and 
Officers in other parts of the public sector and shall invite such people to attend.  

 
Party Whip 
 
17.1  Applying the party whip is defined as any instruction given by or on behalf of a Political Group 

to any councillor who is a member of that group as to how that councillor shall speak or vote 
on any matter before the council, or any committee or sub-committee, or the application or 
threat to apply any sanction by the group in respect of that councillor should they speak or 
vote in any particular manner.  

 
17.2  When considering any matter in respect of which a member of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee is subject to a party whip, the member must declare the existence of the whip and 
the nature of it before the commencement of the committee's deliberations on the matter. 
The declaration, and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting.  

 
17.3 Scrutiny is seen as impartial and stays separate from party politics. Scrutiny councillors 

should use their political skills and understanding of the needs of local people to shape the 
discussions, whilst not acting in a party political manner or using the discussions to further 
party political objectives. 

 
Call-In of a Decision  
 
18.1  A decision is subject to Call-In when it is: 

(a) a decision of the Joint Strategic Committee or sub-committee; 
(b) a Joint Individual Cabinet Member decision; or  
(c) a decision made by an Officer or Ward Member with delegated authority from the 

Cabinet in relation to a joint service;  
and the decision has been published on the Councils’ website and made available at the 
main offices of the Council, as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 
4 of this Constitution, but not yet implemented. 
 
(In respect of a decision made by: 

(a) an Individual Executive; 
(b) an Individual Cabinet Member in respect of a single service; or  
(c) an Officer with delegated authority from the Cabinet in relation to a single service;  

a separate Call-In procedure exists and is set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules for ADC and WBC). 

  
18.2 The Record of Decision will bear the date on which it is published and, subject to general 

exceptions, will specify the date on which the decision will come into force, and may then be 

805



152 

implemented unless the decision is called in. 
 
18.3 During the period between the decision being made and coming into force: 
 

(a) The Monitoring Officer shall Call-In a decision for scrutiny if any three Members in total, 
being of either Council, submit to the Monitoring Officer in writing, by email to 
monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk, a request for a matter to be called in. Such a 
request is to be made by 5.00pm on the fifth clear working day, from the day on which the 
Record of Decision is published. The request must include the reasons for the Call-In. 

(b) Upon receipt of the request, the Monitoring Officer shall consult with both Chairs, or Vice-
Chairs in their absence, and shall determine whether or not the Call-In is in accordance with 
the requirement of these rules. The Monitoring Officer shall notify the Members who made 
the request, the Director for Sustainability & Resources, and the Decision-maker, or Chair 
of decision making body, of the determination, within 2 clear working days of the request 
being received.  

(c) If the Call-In is accepted, the decision will be put on hold pending referral to the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

(d) The Director for Sustainability & Resources shall, within 10 clear working days of the Call-In 
being accepted, after consultation with the Joint Chairs, call a meeting of the Joint Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. Such meeting is to be held on such date as the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources shall determine, but to be held as soon as is reasonably 
practicable. 

(e) If the Monitoring Officer, following consultation with the Joint Chairs of the Joint Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, rejects the request for Call-In, they shall provide a report to the 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee providing details of the request for Call-In of a 
decision and reasons given for the request being rejected. Such report will be received by 
the next Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting, following the determination of the 
request for Call-In, or if that is impracticable, then to the following meeting. 

 
18.4 The Monitoring Officer will provide a report for the meeting in respect of the Call-In which will 

include the procedure for the Call-In hearing. 
 

Exemption from Call-in Procedure  
 
18.5 A matter may not be called-in if it has already been considered by the Joint Scrutiny 

Committee or if the decision is urgent and any delay would prejudice the interest of the council 
or the public in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer. A decision will relate to a matter which 
is urgent if any delay caused by the Call-In process would: 

(a) be highly likely to result in either or both Councils incurring significant additional 
expenditure or loss of significant additional income; or 

(b) be highly likely to result in significant damage to either or both Councils’ reputation; 
or 

(c) prevent either or both Councils from meeting their legal obligations. 
 

18.6 The agreement must be obtained in writing in advance of making the decision, by way of 
completion of a Notice, by the Director for Sustainability & Resources , of a Chair of the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, that it is reasonable in all the circumstances to treat the 
decision to be made as one which is urgent and therefore not subject to Call-In. In the 
absence of both Chairs of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a Vice-Chair’s consent 
shall be required. In the absence of both Chairs and Vice Chairs, the consent of a Civic Head 
(Council Mayor) or, in their absence, the Deputy Mayor, shall be required.  

 
18.7 The Record of Decision and Notice that the decision is exempt from Call-In, shall state that 

in the opinion of the Joint Chairs of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee the decision is 
one which is urgent, with reasons, and therefore not subject to Call-In.  

 
18.8 Decisions taken in accordance with this Procedural Rule must be reported to the next 

806

mailto:monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk


153 

available Meeting of each Full Council. 
 
Call-In Procedure 

 
18.9 Having considered the decision, the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may refer the 

decision back to the decision-making person or body for reconsideration, setting out in writing 
the nature of its concerns, or where the Committee is unable to reach a determination it may 
raise a motion to refer the matter to the Full Council of either or both Councils. The decision-
making person or body must reconsider the decision within a further 5 clear working days, 
and may or may not amend the decision before making a final decision and implementing it. 

 
18.10 Once the reconsidered decision is published following the Call-In procedure, the decision 

cannot be called in again and may be implemented immediately.  
 

18.11 If the matter was referred to a Full Council and that Council does not object to a decision that 
has been made, then no further action is necessary, and the decision will be effective in 
accordance with the provision below. However, if the Full Council does object, it will refer the 
decision back to the decision-maker, together with its views on the decision. The decision-
maker shall then reconsider the matter as soon as possible, amending the decision or not, 
before making a final decision and implementing it. If the Full Council does not meet, or if it 
does but does not refer the decision back to the decision-maker, the decision will become 
effective on the date of the council meeting or expiry of the period in which the council meeting 
should have been held, whichever is the earlier. Once a decision-maker has reconsidered 
the matter following Call-In, no further Call-In of that matter will be allowed. 
 

Procedure at Meetings 
 
19.1  The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Sub-Committees shall consider the 

following business: 
(a) Declarations of disclosable pecuniary and personal interests; 
(b) Substitute Members; 
(c) Public questions in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11.2.1; 
(d) Minutes of the last meeting; 
(e) Agreement of any procedure relevant for the meeting; 
(f) Consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for a decision in relation to 

Call-In of a decision; 
(g) Response of the Cabinets to reports of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
(h) Any business otherwise set out on the Agenda for the meeting. 

 
19.2 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings are to be conducted in accordance with 

the following principles: 
(a) That the scrutiny be conducted fairly and all Members of the Committee be given 

the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and speak; 
(b) That those assisting the meeting by giving evidence be treated with respect and 

courtesy; and 
(c) That the meeting be conducted so as to maximise efficiency. 
(d) to be constructive and positive, adopting non-confrontational and inquisitorial 

techniques. 
 
19.3 Following any meeting, the Committee or Sub-Committee shall prepare recommendations 

for the Officer report, to be submitted to the Cabinet, Council or Committee as appropriate, 
and shall make its findings public, subject to Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 
Communications Strategy 

 
20.1  Subject to Access to Information Procedure Rules, for each meeting of the Joint Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee, an appropriate communications strategy should be developed in 

807



154 

consultation with the Joint Chairs and Assistant Director People & Change to promote the 
Work Programme of Joint Overview and Scrutiny, the meeting itself and to explain the 
function and purpose of Scrutiny.  

808



155 

Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings Procedure Rules 
 

1.0 GENERAL 
 

1.1 These Procedure Rules are subject to the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) 
Regulations 2005 as amended (‘the Regulations’). Where appropriate, the provisions of the 
Regulations have been incorporated into these rules. 
 

1.2 Worthing Borough Council is the Licensing Authority for the purposes of the Licensing Act 
2003 within the Borough of Worthing. 

 
2.0 COMPOSITION OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
2.1 The Composition of the Licensing Committee and its Sub-Committee are set out in Part 3 of 

the Constitution. 
 

2.2 Licensing Committee Members are bound by the Council's Procedure Rules and the Member 
Code of Conduct. Members must not predetermine or show bias in any matter and must 
declare any interests at the start of every meeting. 
 

2.3 The Licensing Committee comprises Members who have been trained in the preceding two 
years and do not have interests in licensing matters that are likely to debar them from 
consideration of, or voting on, any particular issue. 
 

2.4 Members are selected for Sub-Committees subject to availability in an alphabetical order and 
in consultation with the Chair of the Licensing Committee. Sub-Committees are chaired by 
the Chair or Vice-Chair of the Committee. In the absence of the Chair or Vice-Chair, a Chair 
will be selected from amongst the Sub-Committee Members by simple majority vote. 
 

3.0 NOTICE OF HEARING 
 

3.1 The Council shall notify the parties involved of the date, time and place at which the hearing 
is to be held (‘the Notice of Hearing') in accordance with the provisions of the Regulations. 
 

3.2 The Notice of Hearing shall be accompanied by information regarding the following: 
(a) the rights of a party provided for in paragraphs 4.1 and 8.5 below;  
(b) the consequences if a party does not attend or is not represented at the hearing;  
(c) the procedure to be followed at the hearing; 
(d) any particular points on which the Licensing Committee will want clarification from a party 

at the hearing. 

4.0 RIGHTS OF ATTENDANCE, ASSISTANCE AND REPRESENTATION  
 

4.1 Subject to paragraphs 6.2 and 6.4 below, a party may attend the hearing and may be 
assisted or represented by any person whether or not that person is legally qualified. 
 

4.2 For the avoidance of doubt a party may be assisted or represented by their Ward Councillor. 
Any Councillor undertaking such a role would take no part in the determination of the matter 
before the Sub-Committee. 
 

4.3 Upon receipt of the Notice of Hearing and within the period of time prescribed by the 
Regulations and specified in the Notice of Hearing, each party shall advise the Council in 
writing: 

(a) whether they intend to attend and/or be represented at the hearing, giving the name and 
contact details of the representative if applicable; 

(b) whether they consider a hearing to be unnecessary. 

809



156 

4.4 In a case where a party wishes any person (other than the person they intend to represent 
them at the hearing) to appear at the hearing, the party shall submit a written request 
(normally at least 5 clear working days prior to the hearing) for such other person to attend at 
the hearing, giving their name and a brief description of the point or points on which they may 
be able to assist the Sub-Committee, in relation to the application. 
 

4.5 A party who wishes to withdraw any representations they have made may do so:  
(a) by giving notice to the Licensing Section; or 
(b) orally at the hearing. 

 
5.0 RIGHT TO DISPENSE WITH A HEARING IF ALL PARTIES AGREE 

  
5.1 This section does not apply to Review Hearings.  

 
5.2 Subject to paragraph 5.1 above, the Sub-Committee may dispense with holding a hearing if 

all persons (as required by the Act) agree that such a hearing is unnecessary, other than the 
Licensing Authority itself. 
 

5.3 If the Licensing Authority agrees that a hearing is unnecessary, it shall forthwith give notice 
to the parties that the hearing has been dispensed with. 
 

6.0 HEARING TO BE HELD IN PUBLIC 
 

6.1 Subject to paragraph 6.2 below, the hearing shall take place in public. 
 

6.2 The Sub-Committee may exclude the public from all or part of a hearing where it considers 
that the public interest in doing so outweighs the public interest in the hearing, or that part of 
the hearing taking place in public. 
 

6.3 For the purposes of paragraph 6.2 a party and any person assisting or representing a party, 
may be treated as a member of the public. 
 

6.4 The Sub-Committee may require any person attending the hearing who is in their opinion 
behaving in a disruptive manner to leave the hearing and may: 

(a) refuse to permit that person to return; or 
(b) permit them to return only on such conditions as the Sub-Committee may specify; 

but such a person may, before the end of the hearing, submit to the Sub-Committee, in writing, 
any information which they would have been entitled to give orally had they not been required 
to leave. 
 

6.5  The presumption is that all hearings will be held in person unless there are exceptional 
circumstances, such as pandemic or other unforeseen event.  In such circumstances, where the 
business cannot reasonably be postponed, the hearing may be held remotely in accordance with the 
Licencing Protocol for Remote Hearings.   

 
7.0 REPORT 

 
7.1 A report will be put before the Sub-Committee, prepared by the Director for Sustainability & 

Resources, a copy of which will be sent to Members, Officers and the Applicant in advance 
of the hearing. 
 

7.2 The report will also be published on the Councils’ website, in accordance with the Council’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 

8.0 PROCEDURE AT THE HEARING 
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

810



157 

8.1 The Sub-Committee will seek to focus the hearing on the steps needed to promote the 
particular Licensing Objectives which have given rise to the specific representations and will 
avoid straying into undisputed areas. 

8.2 The order of business shall be at the discretion of the Chair, but will normally proceed in 
accordance with procedures put before the meeting and sent to the Applicant prior to the 
meeting. The procedure will be explained at commencement of the hearing. 
 

8.3 Each Party will be given a maximum of 20 minutes to make their representations; all 
comments should be focused, relevant and avoid repetition. 
 

8.4 Cross examination shall not be permitted unless the Sub-Committee considers that cross 
examination is necessary for it to consider the representations, application or notice as the 
case may require. 
 

8.5 Where there is more than one representation raising the same or similar grounds, the Sub-
Committee may request that only one party addresses them on behalf of the parties who 
have made the representations in question. 
 

8.6 In considering any representations made by a party, the Sub-Committee may take into 
account documentary or other information produced by a party in support of their application, 
representations or notice (as applicable) either before the hearing or, with the consent of all 
the other parties, at the hearing. 
 

8.7 The Sub-Committee shall disregard any information given or evidence produced by a party 
which is not relevant to: 

(a) their application, representations or notice (as applicable); and 
(b) the promotion of the Licensing Objectives or, in relation to a hearing to consider a notice 

given by a Chief Officer of Police, the crime prevention objective. 
 

8.8 At the Hearing, a party may choose to amplify and to rely upon written representations or 
documents that form part of the published papers. Parties may not produce or rely upon 
further representations or documents without the permission of the Chair. The Sub-
Committee will not normally allow representations or documents which are produced for the 
first time at the hearing or at short notice. 
 

8.9 Hearsay evidence may be admitted before the Sub-Committee, but consideration will always 
be given to the weight, if any, to be attached to such evidence, depending upon the 
circumstances in which it arises. 

 
9.0 ROLE OF THE LEGAL ADVISOR 

 
9.1 The Sub-Committee may seek advice or clarification of any procedural, technical or legal 

matter from the Legal Advisor at any time during the course of the hearing. 
 

9.2 The Legal Advisor will provide the Sub-Committee with any advice it requires properly to 
perform its functions, whether or not the Sub-Committee requested that advice, on: 

(a) questions of law;  
(b) questions of mixed fact and law; 
(c) matters of practice and procedure; 
(d) the range of options available to the Sub-Committee;  
(e) any relevant decisions of higher Courts: 
(f) relevant national guidance or policy; 
(g) other issues relevant to the matter before the Sub-Committee; 
(h) the appropriate decision-making structure to be applied in any given case. 

 

811



158 

9.3 The Legal Advisor will assist the Sub-Committee, where appropriate, as to the formulation of 
reasons and the recording of those reasons. 

9.4 The Legal Advisor will play no part in making findings of fact but may assist the Sub-
Committee by reminding it of the evidence taken from their own, or the Democratic Services 
Officer’s notes. 
 

9.5 The Legal Advisor may ask questions of witnesses and the parties in order to clarify the 
evidence and any issues in the case. 
 

9.6 The Legal Advisor is under a duty to ensure that every case is conducted fairly. 
 

9.7 When advising the Sub-Committee the Legal Advisor should: 

(a) ensure that they are aware of the relevant facts; 
(b) invite representations from the parties on the advice; 
(c) provide the parties with the information necessary to enable them to make such 

representations. 
 

9.8 The Legal Advisor may assist Members during the course of their deliberations, either when 
asked to do so, or if they realise there is a point of law on which they may need assistance 
but on which they omitted to advise them in open session. 
 

10.0 ROLE OF THE DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER 
 

10.1 The role of the Democratic Services Officer shall be to undertake the procedural 
arrangements to hold the meeting according to the Council's Procedure Rules, make a 
record of the proceedings, summarise and record decisions and to provide help and 
assistance to members of the public attending hearings. 
 

10.2 The Democratic Services Officer will not ordinarily remain with the Members of the Sub-
Committee when they retire to make their deliberations but may do so at the request of the 
Chair or the Legal Advisor. 
 

11.0  DETERMINATION OF APPLICATIONS 
 

11.1 The Sub-Committee will give appropriate weight to: 

(a) the representations (including supporting information) presented by all the parties; 
(b) national guidance; 
(c) the Worthing Brough Council Licensing Policy; 
(d) the steps that are necessary to promote the Licensing Objectives in s.4(2) of the Licensing 

Act 2003. 
 

11.2 The Sub-Committee shall normally make its determination in any case at the conclusion of 
the hearing, or within 5 working days thereafter. 
 

11.3 Where a hearing has been dispensed with in accordance with paragraph 5 of these 
Procedure Rules, the Sub-Committee will make its determination within the period of ten 
working days beginning with the day Notice is given to the parties. 
 

11.4 The determination shall be sent to all parties within 5 working days of a decision being made 
by the Sub-Committee. 
 

12.0 FAILURE OF PARTIES TO ATTEND THE HEARING 
 

12.1 If a party has informed the Licensing Authority that they do not intend to attend, nor be 
represented at the hearing, the hearing may proceed in their absence. 

812



159 

 
12.2 If a party who has not so indicated fails to attend or be represented at a hearing the Sub-

Committee may: 

(a) where it considers it to be necessary in the public interest, adjourn the hearing to a 
specified date; or  

(b) hold the hearing in the party's absence. 
 

12.3 Where the Sub-Committee holds the hearing in the absence of a party, it shall consider at 
the hearing of the application, representations or notice made by that party. 
 

13.0 ADJOURNMENTS 
 

13.1 Subject to the provisions of the Regulations, the Sub-Committee may: 

(a) adjourn the hearing to a specified date;  
(b) arrange for a hearing to be held on specified additional dates where it considers it 

necessary for its consideration of any representations or notice made by a party. 
 

13.2 Where the Sub-Committee adjourns the hearing to a specified date it shall forthwith notify the 
parties of the date, time and place to which the hearing has been adjourned. 
 

13.3 Similarly, when the Sub-Committee arranges for the hearing to be held on a specified 
additional date, it shall notify the parties of the additional date, time and place at which the 
hearing is to be held. 
 

14.0 RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 

14.1 A record of the hearing (Minutes) shall be kept for 6 years from the date of determination or, 
where an appeal is brought against the determination, the disposal of the appeal. 
 

14.2 A recording will be made of the open part of the hearing and will be placed on the Council's 
website within 10 clear working days of the hearing. 

 

15.0 WAIVER OF PROCEDURE RULES 
 

15.1 Except where prescribed by the Regulations, the Chair may in any particular case dispense 
with or modify these Rules. 
 

15.2 In particular, the Chair may extend a time limit provided for in the Regulations for a specified 
period where it considers this to be necessary and/or in the public interest. 
 

15.3 Where the Chair has extended a time limit it shall forthwith give a notice to the parties stating 
the period of time of the extension and the reasons for it. 
 

16.0 QUALIFIED PRIVILEGE 
 

16.1 Statements made in Sub-Committee meetings are subject to the general principles of the law 
of defamation. However, the Sub-Committee‘s proceedings are regarded in law as a 
'privileged occasion‘ to which the doctrine of qualified privilege attaches to statements made 
in the Sub-Committee's proceedings (quasi-judicial in nature) providing the following criteria 
are met: 

(a) any opinions expressed are honestly held; 
(b) opinions/statements are based on the facts of the matter; 
(c) opinions/statements are on a matter of public interest; 
(d) a clear distinction is made between what is fact and what is opinion; 

813



160 

(e) there is no malice. 
17.0 HUMAN RIGHTS 

 
17.1 The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the European Convention on Human Rights and 

makes it unlawful for a Local Authority to act in a way which is incompatible with a 
Convention right. The Sub-Committee will have regard to the Human Rights Act when 
exercising its licensing functions, and in particular to the following provisions: 
Article 1: Every person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of their possessions; 

Article 6: In the determination of civil rights and obligations everyone is entitled to a fair and 

public hearing within a reasonable time by an independent and impartial tribunal established 

by law; 

Article 8: Everyone has the right to respect for their home and private and family life.  

18.0 EQUALITIES 
 

18.1 All decisions will be made in accordance with the Council’s equalities duty pursuant to the 
Equalities Act 2010 and other legislation. 
 

19.0 RIGHT OF APPEAL 
 

19.1 The Applicant has a right of appeal against to the Magistrates' Court a decision, within 21 
days beginning with the day on which the applicant was notified of the decision of the 
Licensing Authority: 

(a) to reject the Application for a premises licence; or 
(b) to impose conditions on the premises licence; or 
(c) to exclude a licensable activity; or  
(d) to refuse to specify a person as a Premises Supervisor. 

 
19.2 Person making relevant representations and Chief Officer of Police 

 
A person who made relevant representations and the Chief Officer of Police has a right of appeal 

to the Magistrates' Court against a decision, within 21 days beginning with the day on which the 

person was notified of the decision of the Licensing Authority: 

(a) to grant a premises licence; or 
(b) in relation to the conditions imposed; or 
(c) in relation to the licensable activities authorised; or 
(d) the person specified as Premises Supervisor. 

  

814



161 

Member Complaints and Standards Sub-Committee Procedure 
Rules 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 This procedure is only to be used for the assessment and investigation of complaints of 
alleged failures by Members to comply with the Council’s Member Code of Conduct. 

 
2.0 MAKING A COMPLAINT 

 

2.1 Complaints should be made in writing to the Monitoring Officer using the online complaints 
form.   

 

3.0 INITIAL ASSESSMENT OF COMPLAINT 

 

3.1 On receipt of a complaint, the Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt to the complainant 
and notify the Subject Member that a complaint has been received (unless the Monitoring 
Officer considers that it would be contrary to the public interest or would prejudice the 
consideration of the complaint to do so).  

 
3.2 The Monitoring Officer will make an initial assessment of the complaint within 20 working 

days of receipt of all relevant information. In making an initial assessment, the Monitoring 
Officer may consult with an Independent Person, and inform the Group Leader. 

 
3.3 Having carried out an initial assessment of a complaint, the Monitoring Officer will decide on 

one of the following courses of action: 

(a)  Decide to take no further action 
(b)  Decide to resolve the complaint informally  
(c)  Decide to refer the complaint for investigation 

  
(c)3.4  Where in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer and Independent Person a complainant has a 

sensitive interest and/or there are exceptional circumstances to retain the complainant’s 
anonymity/confidentiality and the retention does not prejudice an initial assessment of the 
compliant, then these details may remain confidential during the initial assessment stage.  

 

4.0 DECISION TO TAKE NO ACTION 

 

4.1 Where the Monitoring Officer decides to take no further action in respect of the complaint, the 
Complainant and the Subject Member shall be advised of that decision in writing. The 
Monitoring Officer may decide to take no action if, for example: 

(a) The Code of Conduct was not engaged (the Member was not acting as a 

Member at the time of the alleged breach of Conduct took place); 

(b) Where the matter took place more than six months ago (except in exceptional 

circumstances or in the public interest); 

(c) Where the allegations are anonymous; 

(d) The complaint appears to be malicious, vexatious, politically motivated, tit for tat, 

or is so minor that there is no overriding public benefit in carrying out an 

investigation; 

(e) Where a challenge made to an expression of fact or opinion made during a 

debate at a council meeting is fundamentally a challenge to the underlying merits 

of a Council determination (e.g. a planning application).  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.9 cm,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, Right:  0 cm, Outline
numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1 cm + Indent at:  2.01

815



162 

 

4.2 These are just some examples, but the list is not exhaustive. The Monitoring Officer (in 
consultation with the Independent Person, if necessary) may decide that a complaint does 
not merit further consideration for any other reason which appears to them to be relevant. 

 

5.0 PARISH COUNCIL MEMBERS 

 

5.1 If the Complainant is a Parish Council Member and the Subject Member (or one of them) is a 
Member of the same Parish Council, the Monitoring Officer may, in consultation with the 
Independent Person, refer the entire complaint to the Sussex Association of Local Councils 
(SALC) if appropriate. SALC will appoint a Panel to hear your complaint and decide whether 
it is sufficiently serious to be put through the procedure set out below or whether it should be 
settled in some other way within the Parish Council. 
 

5.2 Where the Monitoring Officer has taken the decision that the complaint does not merit further 
consideration or is to be referred to SALC, if appropriate, for mediation/ conciliation the 
Monitoring Officer will inform the Complainant of that decision and the reasons for that 
decision. 
 

6.0 DECISION TO RESOLVE COMPLAINT INFORMALLY 

 

6.1 Where the Monitoring Officer decides to resolve the complaint informally, the Complainant, 
the Subject Member and their Political Group leader (if any) shall be advised of that decision 
in writing. In deciding to resolve the complaint informally, the Monitoring Officer may pursue 
any of the following courses of action: 

(a) Provide further training and guidance to the Subject Member 
(b) Mediate between the Complainant and the Subject Member 
(c) Require the Subject Member to write a personal apology to the 

Complainant 
(d) Write an advisory letter to the Member or such other action agreed 

between the Monitoring Officer and the Independent Person. 
 

6.2 If informal resolution is able to resolve the complaint, then no further action is required. 
 

6.3 Where informal resolution does not resolve the complaint, the Monitoring Officer may, 
following consultation with the Independent Person, decide to refer the complaint for 
investigation. 

 
7.0 DECISION TO INVESTIGATE COMPLAINT 

 

7.1 Where the Monitoring Officer decides to refer the complaint for investigation, the 
Complainant and the Subject Member shall be advised of that decision in writing. The 
Monitoring Officer shall also advise the Chair of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
that a complaint has been referred for investigation. 
 

7.2 Where the Monitoring Officer decides to refer the complaint for investigation, the Subject 
Member shall be provided with the details of an Independent Person should they require 
guidance on the process for investigation of the complaint. The Independent Person shall be 
a different Independent Person to the one that the Monitoring Officer has previously 
consulted with. 

 
7.3 Within 14 days of deciding to refer the complaint for investigation, the Monitoring Officer shall 

appoint an Investigating Officer to investigate the complaint. The Investigating Officer may be 
an officer of the Council, an officer of another local authority, or an external person. 
 

816



163 

8.0 INVESTIGATION OF COMPLAINT 

 

8.1 The Investigating Officer shall be instructed to investigate the complaint and to report to the 
Monitoring Officer. The purpose of the investigation is to establish the facts of the case and 
to form a view on whether there has been a breach of the Members Code of Conduct. 

 
8.2 The Complainant and the Subject Member shall cooperate fully with the Investigating Officer, 

including attending any meetings or interviews and providing all relevant information and 
documents to the Investigating Officer. 
 

8.3 The Subject Member may be accompanied by a friend or an adviser when attending any 
meeting or interview as part of the investigation of the complaint. 
 

8.4 The Investigating Officer may pursue any of the following actions as part of the investigation: 

(a) ‐Interviewing the Complainant 
(b) ‐Interviewing the Subject Member 

(c) ‐Interviewing other relevant witnesses 
(d) ‐Requesting copies of any documents relevant to the investigation 

 

8.5 The Investigating Officer shall produce a draft report of their findings and send a copy to the 
Monitoring Officer, the Complainant and the Subject Member. The Investigating Officer shall 
allow 14 days for comments on the draft report and shall take any comments into 
consideration when producing the final report. 

 
8.6 If during the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer identifies other breaches of 

the Code of Conduct the Monitoring Officer shall be advised accordingly. 
 

8.7 The Investigating Officer shall endeavour to complete the investigation within 2 months of 
appointment. 

 
8.8 The Investigating Officer shall send a copy of the final report to the Monitoring Officer. The 

report shall include copies of any statements or documents obtained during the course of the 
investigation. 

 

9.0 POST INVESTIGATION PROCEDURES 

 

9.1 Where the Investigating Officer concludes that there has not been a breach of the Code of 
Conduct, the Monitoring Officer shall take no further action and the Complainant and the 
Subject Member shall be advised of that decision in writing. 

 
9.2 Where the Investigating Officer concludes that there has been a breach of the Code of 

Conduct, the Monitoring Officer shall refer the report to the Standards Sub-Committee for 
consideration. 

 
10.0 STANDARDS SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

10.1 Where a Standards Sub-Committee is required the procedure for the hearing set out in the 
Appendix to this procedure shall apply. 

 
10.2 The Standards Sub-Committee shall have the power to decide whether or not to impose a 

sanction where there has been a finding of a breach of the Member Code of Conduct. 
 

10.3 The Standards Sub-Committee will have the benefit of any advice from the Independent 
Person. 
 

817



164 

10.4 The Standards Sub-Committee may decide not to impose a sanction or it may impose one or 
more of the following sanctions: 

(a) The Monitoring Officer to send a formal letter to the Subject Member. 
(b) The Subject Member to make a public apology at Full Council. In the event of an 

apology not being made, the Subject Member may be censured at a meeting of the 
Full Council. 

(c) The Monitoring Officer to provide further training and guidance to the Subject 
Councillor. 

(d) The Subject Member to write a personal apology to the Complainant. 
(e) The Subject Member be excluded from the Council offices (with the exception of 

attending formal meetings), and/or providing them with a single point of contact. 
(f) A recommendation to the relevant Group Leader that the Subject Member should be 

removed from the Cabinet or a Committee (or Sub-Committee, Working Group or 
External Body) for a period of time. 

 

Appendix 

Standards Sub-Committee Procedure 

1. Terms of Reference 

The Standards Sub-Committee is responsible for considering reports of an Investigating Officer 

into complaints that there has been a breach of The Council’s Code of Conduct. The hearing 

shall be conducted in public whenever possible, unless circumstances require the hearing to be 

in private, such as personal details, or not in the public interest. 

Membership 

A Standards Sub-Committee shall consist of three District/Borough Councillors (who should be 

drawn from different Political Groups and have no connection with the subject Member). The 

Standards Sub-Committee shall be advised by the Monitoring Officer, who will be accompanied 

by the Independent Person. The Independent Person will be present to give independent advice 

to the Monitoring Officer, or to the Sub-Committee.  

2. Procedure 

Pre-hearing process 

The Monitoring Officer will liaise with Democratic Services to arrange for the Standards Sub-

Committee to meet to hear the complaint within three months of receiving the Investigating 

Officer’s report. Sufficient notice will be given to all parties to the Sub-Committee hearing regarding 

the date fixed for the hearing. 

The Monitoring Officer will require the Subject Member to give their response to the Investigating 

Officer’s report as to what facts are agreed or facts likely to be in contention at the Standards Sub-

Committee. 

If the Subject Member wishes to rely on evidence at the Standards Sub-Committee, then that 

information should be provided to the Monitoring Officer, in writing. 

The Standards Sub-Committee will not allow new arguments or evidence to be presented at the 

hearing. 

If there are two complaints that relate to the same Member or to the same incident/occasion, then 

the Monitoring Officer may decide that they be considered together. 

818



165 

The Subject Member should be provided with the Investigating Officer’s report and any evidence 

which will be heard at the hearing. 

The Monitoring Officer should provide the Members of the Standards Sub-Committee with a report 

that summarises the allegation. This should include a list of agreed facts, and disputed issues 

should be outlined. 

The Standards Sub-Committee 

The Standards Sub-Committee will normally take place in public. If the Subject Member is a Parish 

Member, a Parish Member unconnected with the complaint, who is a Co-opted Member of the 

Joint Audit & Governance Committee, will attend in an advisory capacity, in addition to the three 

voting Members of the Sub-Committee. 

One of the Independent Persons will be invited to attend the hearing and will be asked to comment 

on whether there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct and on appropriate sanctions. 

If the Subject Member does not attend the hearing, the Standards Sub-Committee may adjourn the 

hearing or may continue to reach a decision on the basis of the Investigating Officer’s report, and if 

it decides to do so, any evidence that it hears. 

Whilst the Standards Sub-Committee is a meeting of the Council, it is not a court of law. It does not 

hear evidence under oath. The rules of natural justice should nevertheless be carefully followed 

and the Standards Sub-Committee will have due regard to the seriousness of the proceedings for 

those involved, the Council and the public, and will adhere at all times to the Equalities Act 2010. 

The Standards Sub-Committee will decide disputed issues and whether the Subject Member has 

breached the Code of Conduct on the ‘balance of probabilities’. 

Representation 

The Subject Member may choose to be represented, at their own cost. The Standards Sub-

Committee may refuse to allow any person to remain at the hearing if they are disruptive. The 

Standards Sub-Committee will have the discretion to hear opening or closing arguments from the 

Subject Member and the Investigating Officer, if they feel this will assist them in reaching a 

decision. 

Evidence 

The Standards Sub-Committee will control the procedure and evidence presented at a hearing, 

including the number of witnesses and the way they are questioned. All matters relating to the 

evidence and procedure are within its discretion. However, no motion to dismiss the complaint 

should be made before consideration of all the facts and evidence. 

Generally, the Subject Member is entitled to present their case as they see fit. 

Witnesses of facts that are disputed would normally be expected to attend to be questioned. 

Character witnesses, if appropriate, will provide written evidence which will be read at the hearing. 

Witnesses may be questioned by the Standards Sub-Committee, the Independent Person, the 

Investigating Officer and the Subject Member. 

The onus is on the Subject Member to ensure the attendance of the witnesses on whom they rely 

to give evidence to assist them. The Standards Sub-Committee can limit the number of witnesses 

819



166 

or the issues which can be covered by them. 

Neither the Standards Sub-Committee nor the Subject Member will have any power to compel 

witnesses to give evidence. 

Making Findings of Fact 

(a) The Chair introduces the Sub-Committee and any other persons present, including the 
Monitoring Officer, the Independent Person, the Investigating Officer and a Democratic 
Services Officer. 

(b) The Subject Member introduces any person who is acting as their  representative and any 
witnesses to be called on their behalf. 

(c) The Chair shall explain the procedure that shall be followed. 
(d) The Investigating Officer is invited to present their report and to call any witnesses. 
(e) The Subject Member may ask questions of the Investigating Officer and/or any witnesses 

which are to be put through the Chair. 
(f) The Members of the Sub-Committee may ask questions of the Investigating Officer. 
(g) The Subject Member is invited to respond to the Investigating Officer’s report and to call 

any witnesses. 
(h) The Investigating Officer may ask questions of the Subject Member or any witnesses 

which are to be put through the Chair. 
(i) The Members of the Sub-Committee may ask questions of the Subject Member. 
(j) The Chair may request advice from the Monitoring Officer, and/or the Independent Person. 

Decision 

(a) The Sub-Committee shall adjourn to consider whether there has been a breach of the 
Members Code of Conduct. The Sub-Committee may request the presence of the 
Democratic Services Officer during their deliberations. The Monitoring Officer may assist in 
settling out the reasons for their decisions. 

(b) The Sub-Committee shall reconvene to orally deliver its decision. 
(c) If the Sub-Committee decides that there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct then 

the Sub-Committee shall consider whether a sanction should be imposed. 

Sanctions 

(a) The Chair shall invite representations from the Investigating Officer as to whether a 
sanction should be imposed. 

(b) The Chair shall invite representations from the Subject Member as to whether a sanction 
should be imposed. 

(c) The Chair shall ask the Monitoring Officer if they wish to express an opinion as to whether 
a sanction should be imposed, and whether to comment on the appropriate sanctions. 

(d) The Chair shall ask the Independent Person if they wish to express an opinion as to 
whether a sanction should be imposed, and whether to comment on the appropriate 
sanctions. 

(e) The Sub-Committee shall adjourn to consider whether to impose a sanction.  
(f) The Sub-Committee may request the presence of the Democratic Services Officer during 

their deliberations.  

Sanctions- mitigating/aggravating circumstances 

(a) The Standards Sub-Committee should consider all the mitigating and aggravating 
circumstances that appear to be relevant. For example, it may wish to consider: 

(i) What were the actual and potential consequences of the breach? 
(ii) How serious was the breach? 
(iii) What is the attitude of the Subject Member now? Have they apologised? 

820



167 

(iv) Has the Subject Member previously been dealt with for a breach of the Code of 
Conduct? 

(b) The following are examples of mitigating and aggravating factors, (but these are not 
exhaustive): 

Mitigating Factors 

(a) An honest but mistaken belief that the action was not a breach of the Code of Conduct 
(b) A previous record of good service 
(c) Evidence that they were suffering from ill health at the time of the breach 

Aggravating Factors 

(a) Dishonesty 
(b) Continuing to deny the factors or blaming other people 
(c) Evidence of a failure to follow advice or warnings. 

The priority of the Standards Sub-Committee should be to ensure there are no further 

breaches of the Code of Conduct and that public confidence is maintained. 

The Decision 

(a) The Sub-Committee shall reconvene to orally deliver its decision in respect of a sanction. 
(b) The Chair will explain that written notice of the decision and the reasons for it shall be sent 

to all parties within 14 days of the date of the hearing, including the Parish Council, if the 
Subject Member is a Parish Council Member. 

(c) The Chair will formally close the hearing. 

Appeals 

There is no right of appeal for the Complainant or the Subject Member against a decision of 

the Monitoring Officer or the Standards Sub-Committee. 

Withdrawal of a complaint 

In the event that a Complainant withdraws a complaint at any time prior to a decision having 

been made by the Standards Sub-Committee, the Monitoring Officer may, following 

consultation with the Independent Person if necessary, decide that no further steps be taken in 

respect of that complaint but shall, in taking such decision, take into account any issues that 

may arise under paragraph 2.1 of the Code of Conduct, particularly any intimidation. 

Explanation of the roles 

Monitoring Officer 

The Monitoring Officer is a statutory role appointed by Council under s.5 of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989, and in relation to the Member Code of Conduct, is the 

responsible person. The Monitoring Officer is also responsible for the operation of the 

Constitution. When a complaint is received, it is the Monitoring Officer’s responsibility to check 

the form is completed correctly and will decide whether the complaint can move forward or 

not, in accordance with this Code of Conduct Complaints procedure. 

References to the Monitoring Officer should be read to include any representative of the 

Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer has a key role in ensuring the smooth running of the 

pre-hearing and hearing process; who will remain neutral throughout and will provide 

independent advice to the Standards Sub-committee. 

Independent Person 

821



168 

The Independent Person is a statutory role under s. 28 of the Localism Act 2011 and 

appointed by Council. The role of the Independent Person is to advise the Standards Sub-

Committee as to whether in their opinion there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct and 

whether, and what sanctions could be imposed. The Independent Person may be consulted by 

the Monitoring Officer at the initial assessment stage of the complaint. The role also includes 

giving advice to the Subject Member as to procedural points in the process.  

Investigating Officer 

May be a Council Officer, an officer from another council or an external investigator. Following 

the initial assessment, The Monitoring Officer, may appoint an Investigating Officer to carry out 

an investigation into the complaints made by the Complainant against the Subject Member in 

respect of misconduct by a Council Member. 

Standards Sub-Committee 

The role of the Standards Sub-Committee is to hear the Code of Conduct complaints that have 

been referred to them by the Monitoring Officer. Decide on whether or not there has been a 

breach of the Code of Conduct, and then decide on if and what sanction(s) should be 

imposed.  

The Independent Person is invited to attend all meetings of the Standards Sub-Committee and 

their views are sought and taken into consideration before a decision is made by the 

Standards Sub-Committee as to whether the Member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply 

with the Code of Conduct and as to any action to be taken following a finding of a failure to 

comply with the Code of Conduct. 

Revisions of Arrangements for dealing with breaches of the Member Code of Conduct 

The Council may by resolution agree to amend the arrangements for dealing with breaches of 

the Member Code of Conduct and has delegated to the Monitoring Officer the right to depart 

from these arrangements where they consider it is expedient to do so in order to secure the 

effective and fair consideration of any matter. 

See the flow charts for ease of reference and to show the time-line 

 

822



169 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Complaint received by Monitoring Officer 

Should be through complaints form 

Complaint assessed by Monitoring Officer in consultation 

with Independent Person 

inform Leader of the Council within 20 days 

Subject Member 

informed of 

allegations/complainant 

Potential breach identified 

Resolve Informally 

 Apology 

 Training 

Refer for Investigation 

(Go to Flow Chart 2) 

COMPLAINT REJECTED 

 Malicious, trivial,  vexatious, politically 

motivated or ‘tit for tat’ 

 Relates to matters which took place 

more than 6 months ago – will only 

accept in exceptional circumstances 

 Subject Member not in office at time of 

allegation 

 Complaint if proven would not be a 

breach of the Code 

 Allegations anonymous 

 Not considered serious 

 Not in the public interest 

FLOW CHART FOR STANDARDS COMPLAINTS – 1. ASSESSMENTS* 

Not possible 

to resolve 

informally 

*Please note this Flow Chart is a simplified version of the 

Council’s procedure for dealing with Standards complaints, 

the detail of which should be referred to where appropriate 

823



170 
 

 

 

824



171 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FINDINGS CONSIDERED BY HEARINGS SUB-COMMITTEE 

(Generally in Public) within 3 months 

No Further Action 

FLOW CHART FOR STANDARDS COMPLAINTS – 3. HEARING 

Sanction Imposed 

(Member must not be precluded from carrying out duties) 

 Report the findings to Council for information; 

 Recommend to Group Leaders that a Member be removed from Committees; 

 Recommending to the Leader that a Member be removed from the Executive; 

 Instructing the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for a Member; 

 Removing a Member from outside bodies; 

 Excluding a Member from the Council offices, i.e. providing them with a  single point of contact. 

825



172 

Joint Independent Remuneration Panel Procedure Rules 
 
Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council (‘the Councils’) have established a Joint 
District/Borough Independent Remuneration Panel (‘the Panel’) to make recommendations on 
remuneration levels for Borough and District Councillors. 

1.0  TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

1.1 The Panel shall produce a report making recommendations to each of the Councils as to: 
(a) the amount of the basic allowance which should be payable to their Elected and Co-

opted Members for the following municipal year; 
(b) the responsibilities, roles or duties where special responsibility allowance should be 

payable and the amount of such allowances;  
(c) the amount of any travelling and subsistence allowance which should be payable to 

their Elected and Co-opted Members 
(d) whether dependants’ carers’ allowance should be payable and the amount of such 

allowance; 
(e) whether payment of allowances may be backdated in cases where a scheme is 

amended at a time which would affect allowances payable in that year; 
(f) whether adjustments to the level of allowances may be determined according to an 

index, and which index and for how long before its use is reviewed (subject to a 
maximum of 4 years); 

(g) those items of expenditure that Elected and Co-opted Members may reclaim as 
expenses; and 

(h) any other Members’ allowances or reimbursement matters reasonably falling within 
the remit of the Panel; this may include relevant bodies on matters of joint working 
and parity; 

(i) such other functions as may be allocated to the Panels by statute, from time to time. 
 

1.2 The Panel’s Reports shall be submitted to the Councils by way of the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee. 

 
2.0  PANEL MEMBERSHIP AND APPOINTMENT 

 
2.1 The Panel shall consist of a minimum of three persons appointed by the Joint Audit & 

Governance Committee or a Sub-Committee thereof; 
 
2.2 The following persons cannot be appointed to the Panels, namely a person: 

(a) who is a Member or Co-opted Member of either of the Councils; or 
(b) is disqualified from being or becoming a Member of either of the Councils. 

 
2.3 Appointment to the Panel shall be for a period of not more than 4 years. 
 
2.4 A Member of the Panels may be reappointed following the end of their term of appointment 

provided that the Councils carry out a recruitment process involving public advertisement; 
 
2.5 The Members of the Panels shall receive the following allowances, to be reviewed every 4 

years: 
 

Chair:  £100 per Meeting attended;  
Panel Member: £75 per Meeting attended; 
 
In the absence of the Chair to the meeting, another Panel Member chairing the meeting 
should receive the payment of £100, in place of their usual £75 payment. 

 

826



173 

2.6 Wherever possible the Panel Members shall be treated as separate and individual 
consultants who are responsible for their own tax, National Insurance, etc. 

 
2.7 A person specification shall be drawn up and agreed by the Joint Audit & Governance 

Committee, to ensure that the candidates who are appointed: 
(a) are able to demonstrate a high degree of personal integrity; 
(b) are not Members of any Local Authority and are not disqualified from being or 

becoming a Member of a Local Authority; 
(c) have the appropriate level of skill, knowledge and understanding of setting 

remunerations; 
(d) have the necessary time and commitment for the role; 
(e) will disclose the extent of their connections to any political party or other group and 

whether these are such as to risk the effective discharge of the Panel’s functions 
were the candidate to be appointed. 

 
2.8 Terms of appointment shall include a provision that a Member of the Panels may be 

removed from office by a resolution of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee, or a Sub-
Committee thereof following a finding by that Committee or Sub-Committee that the 
Member of the Panels: 

(a) is disqualified from being a Member of the Panels or is guilty of conduct which 
brings the office into disrepute (e.g. being found guilty of a criminal offence, an act of 
dishonesty or other serious misconduct); 

(b) is guilty of a lack of diligence or incompetence; or 
(c) becomes an Elected or Co-opted Member or an employee of a Local Authority. 

 
3.0  PANEL OPERATING RULES 

 
3.1 The Panel shall: 

(a) appoint its own Chair at the first Meeting and, thereafter, at the first Meeting in each 
Municipal year; 

(b) require a quorum of 3 at all Meetings; 
(c) meet a minimum of once in each Municipal year, with such additional Meetings as are 

necessary to fully discharge the functions of the Panels; and 
(d) otherwise devise its own rules for the conduct of Meetings providing that such rules 

are consistent with legislative requirements and good governance practice. 
 
4.0  DELEGATED FUNCTIONS 

 
4.1 The Panel shall have the following delegated functions: 

(a) To research Members’ Allowances schemes in other relevant Authorities; 
(b) To gather evidence from interested persons and relevant organisations; 
(c) To conduct interviews with relevant persons; and 
(d) To produce the Annual Report to the Councils, via the Joint Audit & Governance 

Committee, in line with the Terms of Reference of the Panels. 
 
4.2 Note 

(a) A copy of the relevant Report shall be provided to the relevant Council; 
(b) Having received the Report, each Council shall publish in one or more newspapers 

circulating in its area, a notice which: 
(i) states that it has received recommendations from an Independent 

Remuneration Panel in respect of its scheme; 
(ii) describes the main features of that Panel's recommendations;  
(iii) specifies the recommended amounts of each allowance mentioned in the 

Report in respect of that Council; 

827



174 

(iv) states that copies of the Panel's Report are available at the principal office of 
the Council for inspection by members of the public at such times as may be 
specified by the Council in the notice; and 

(v) specifies the address of the principal office of the Council at which such copies 
are made available. 

(c) Each Council shall supply a copy of any Report made by the Panels, where possible 
electronically, to any person who requests a copy. Where a hard copy is provided, the 
Council may charge such reasonable copying and postage fees, as may be 
determined from time to time. 

  

828



175 

Access to Information Procedure Rules 
 

1.0  SCOPE 

These Procedure Rules apply to all Meetings of the Council, its Committees Joint Committees 
and Sub-Committees and formal meetings of the Cabinet, (together called ‘Meetings’). 

2.0  PRINCIPLES 

2.1 Interpretation 

These Rules will be interpreted, where possible, in accordance with the following guiding 
principles: 

(a) Openness: the right of the public to gain access to Meetings and documents; 
(b) Transparency: the provision of information so that the public know who is responsible for 

making a particular decision, when and where, and have an explanation or justification for 
a decision; 

(c) Accountability: the public can measure the actions taken against policies and plans on 
which those responsible were elected to office. 

3.0 RIGHT OF THE PUBLIC TO ATTEND MEETINGS 

Members of the public may attend all Meetings subject only to the exceptions in these rules 
and in any statutory provisions. 

4.0 NOTICES OF MEETINGS 

The Council will give at least 5 clear days’ notice of any Meeting by posting details of the meeting 
at the designated office and on the website. Except where there is a Key Decision and/or 
Confidential/Exempt Decision, in which case the 28 day Notice provisions in Access to Procedure 
Rule 13 shall apply. 

5.0 RIGHT OF THE PUBLIC TO DOCUMENTS 

The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports available to the public for inspection at 
the designated office and on the Council’s website at least 5 clear days before any scheduled 
meeting. 

6.0 SUPPLY OF DOCUMENTS & CHARGING 

6.1 Supply of Documents 

The Council will supply, usually in electronic form, copies of: 
(a) any Agenda or Report which is available for public inspection; 
(b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of the items in the 

Agenda; and 
(c) if the Director for Sustainability & Resources thinks fit, copies of any other non-exempt 

documents supplied to Councillors in readiness for a meeting. 

Such documents will be made available to the public by the Council publishing them on their 
website. 

6.2 Charging 

The Council reserves the right to make a reasonable charge for postage and copying of hard copy 
documents to members of the public. 

7.0 ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS FOLLOWING A MEETING 

829



176 

7.1 Agendas, Reports and Minutes 

The Council will make available copies of the following for 6 years from the date of a meeting: 
(a) the Minutes of the meeting or Records of Decisions taken, (together with reasons), for 

all Meetings of the Cabinet, excluding any part of the Minutes of proceedings when the 
meeting was not open to the public or which disclose exempt or confidential information, 
unless the reason for the exemption or confidentiality has ceased to apply; 

(b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the Minutes open to 
inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record; 

(c) the Agenda for the meeting; and 
(d) Reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public but excluding any 

part of such a Report which disclosed exempt or confidential information, unless the 
reason for the exemption or confidentiality has ceased to apply. 

7.2 Background Papers 

The Report Author will set out in every Report a list of those documents (called background 
papers) relating to the subject matter of the Report which in their opinion: 

(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the Report or an important part of the Report is 
based; and 

(b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the Report but does not 
include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential information (as 
defined in Access to Information Rule 9), unless the exemption no longer applies. 

 

The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the date of the meeting 
a copy of each of the documents on the list of background papers. 

8.0 SUMMARY OF THE PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 

These Access to Information Procedure Rules are a written summary of the public’s rights to 
attend Meetings and to inspect and obtain copy documents. These form part of the Constitution 
and are available at the Council’s designated offices and on the Councils’ website. 

9.0 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC FROM THE WHOLE OR PART OF A MEETING 

9.1 Confidential information 

Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government Department on 
terms which forbid its public disclosure or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by 
Court Order. 

The public must be excluded from Meetings or parts of Meetings whenever it is likely in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential 
information would be disclosed. The Committee or Sub-Committee will be required to pass a 
resolution to exclude the public where confidential information will be disclosed. 

9.2 Exempt information 

Exempt information means information falling within one or more of the following 7 categories 
(subject to any condition): 

 CATEGORY CONDITION 

1. Information relating to any individual. In accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 

2. Information which is likely to reveal 
the identity of an individual. 

In accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 

3. Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular 

Includes information relating to the Authority’s own 
financial or business affairs. It does not include 

830



177 

person (including the Authority 
holding that information). 

information which is required to be registered under 
the Companies Act 1985, the Friendly Society Acts 
1974 and 1992, the Industrial and Provident 
Societies Acts 1965-1978, the Building Societies 
Act 1986 or the Charities Act 1993 as such 
information will be in the public domain in any 
event. 
 

The ‘financial affairs or business affairs’ include past, 
present and contemplated activities. 

4. Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising 
between the Authority or a Minister of 
the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the Authority. 

‘Employee’ means a person employed under a 
contract of service with the Council and would not 
therefore include a consultant or a temporary 
member of staff employed through an agency or a 
company. Information about such a person, 
however, may well be covered under the 
exemptions in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 but it will 
depend on the individual matter. 

‘Labour relations matter’ means matters which may 
be the subject of a trade dispute within the meaning 
of Section 218(1) of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 or any dispute 
about such a trade dispute. This is therefore fairly 
narrow and does not appear to include normal staff 
negotiations which are not part of a dispute. 

5. Information in respect of which a 
claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal 
proceedings. 

 

6. Information which reveals that the 
Authority proposes 

 to give under any enactment a 
notice under or by virtue of 
which requirements are imposed 
on a person, or 

 to make an order or direction 
under any enactment. 

 

7. Information relating to any action 
taken or to be taken in connection 
with the prevention, investigation or 
prosecution of crime. 

 

 

The public may be excluded from Meetings or parts of Meetings whenever it is likely in view of the 
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information 
will be disclosed. The Committee or Sub-Committee will be required to determine whether or 
not to pass a resolution to exclude the public where exempt information will be disclosed.  

9.3 Human Rights Act 1998 

Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely affect their 
possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that the meeting 
will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in 
Article 6, as follows: 

(a) It is in the interests of morals, public order or national security in a democratic society, to 
hear the matter in private; or 

831



178 

(b) Where the interests of juveniles or the protection of the private life of the parties requires 
that the matter should be heard in private; or 

(c) Where in the opinion of the meeting, due to special circumstances, publicity would 
prejudice the interests of justice. 

9.4 Town and Country Planning (General) Regulations 1992 

Information cannot be deemed exempt if it relates to proposed development for which the Local 
Planning Authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town 
and Country Planning (General) Regulations 1992. 

9.5 Public Interest Test 

Paragraphs 1-7 of the exemptions (Access to Information Rule 9.2) are subject to the public 
interest test. In determining whether this information should remain exempt, the report writer and 
the decision-maker will have to decide whether the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

In respect of all Council, Cabinet, Committee, Joint Committee and Sub-Committee Reports, writers 
will, therefore, need to give consideration to exempt information and the public interest test, and if 
they determine that the document should not be published, they will need to explain why they 
consider the public interest test is best served by the information remaining exempt. The fact that a 
document is exempt, together with reasons, will appear in the Report and the Agenda relating to 
that item. The Monitoring Officer will ultimately determine whether Reports and related documents 
are exempt or not and their decision will be final. 

Where the public may be excluded from a meeting or part of a meeting due to an exempt Report 
being considered, the Members of the meeting will need to consider the public interest test, having 
given due consideration to any legal advice provided. 

There is no legal definition of ‘public interest’, but the following should be considered relevant 
considerations in favour of disclosure:  

(a) The information would assist public understanding of an issue that is subject to current 
public debate.  

(b) Proper debate cannot take place without wide availability of all the relevant information.  

(c) The issue affects a wide range of individuals or companies.  

(d) Facts, analysis and costings behind major policy decisions.  

(e) Allowing individuals to understand decisions made by public authorities affecting their 
lives and, in some cases, assisting individuals in challenging those decisions.  

(f) Accountability for proceeds of sale of assets in public ownership.  

(g) Openness and accountability for tender processes and prices.  

(h) Public interest in public bodies obtaining value for money.  

(i) Public health or public safety.  

(j) Damage to the environment.  

(k) Contingency plans in an emergency.  

(l) Promoting accountability and transparency for decisions taken by public authorities and 
the spending of public money.  

A practice of applying ‘Exempt’ status to a report without reasons being set out and consideration 
of the public interest is not acceptable. 

10.0 NON-DISCLOSURE OF REPORTS TO THE PUBLIC 

10.1 Reports containing Confidential Information 

Reports containing confidential information will not be disclosed to the public. 

832



179 

10.2 Reports containing Exempt Information 

If the Monitoring Officer determines that a Report contains exempt information in accordance with 
Access to Information Rule 9, having applied the public interest test, they may refuse to disclose 
to the public any Reports which in their opinion relate to items during which, in accordance with 
Rule 9, the meeting is likely to exclude the public. Such Reports will be marked ‘Not for 
publication’ together with the category of information likely to be disclosed. 

11.0 THE CABINET 

Access to Information Rules 12 to 22 inclusive apply to the Cabinet only. 

If the Cabinet meets to take a Key Decision then it must also comply with Access to Information 
Rules 1 to 10 inclusive above, unless Rule 14 (general exception) or Rule 15 (special urgency) 
apply. A Key Decision is as defined in Article 12.03 of Part 3 of the Constitution. 

If the Cabinet, or any Cabinet Member, meets with an Officer, to determine a Key Decision, within 
28 clear days of the date according to the Forward Plan by which it is to be decided, then it must 
also comply with Access to Information Rules 1 to 10 inclusive above, unless Rule 14 (general 
exception) or Rule 15 (special urgency) apply. This requirement does not apply to Officer/Member 
briefings or any non-decision making meetings. 

12.0 EXECUTIVE KEY DECISIONS 

Subject to Access to Information Rule 14 (general exception) and Access to Information Rule 15 
(special urgency), a Key Decision may not be taken unless: 

(a) a Notice (known as the 28 Day Notice of Key and/or Confidential/Exempt Decisions 
which will be taken in private) has been published in connection with the matter in 
question; 

(b) at least 28 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the Notice in which the 
decision was first included; and 

(c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet, notice of the meeting 
has been given in accordance with Access to Information Rule 4. 

13.0 THE 28 DAY NOTICE OF EXECUTIVE KEY AND/OR CONFIDENTIAL/ EXEMPT 
DECISIONS 

13.1 Period Covered 

A 28 Day Notice of Key and/or Confidential/Exempt Decisions (which will be taken in private) will 
be prepared by the Director for Sustainability & Resources and updated when a new Notice is 
made and published, which will be at least 28 clear days prior to any regular scheduled meeting of 
the Cabinet. 

At least 5 clear working days prior to the day of any private Meeting of the Cabinet, the Director for 
Sustainability & Resources shall publish a further Notice on the Agenda for the meeting and the 
Council’s website confirming the Cabinet’s intention to hold all or part of the meeting in private, a 
statement of the reasons for privacy and details of any representations received by the Council as 
to why the meeting should be held in public and the Cabinet’s response to those representations. 

13.2 Notice 

The Notice will contain matters which the Director for Sustainability & Resources considers will be 
the subject of a Key Decision and/or a private decision (Confidential/Exempt) to be taken by the 
Cabinet, individual Cabinet Members, an Officer, or under joint arrangements in the course of the 
discharge of an Executive function during the period covered by the Notice. It will describe the 
following particulars in so far as the information is available or might reasonably be obtained: 

(a) the matter in respect of which a Key Decision/private decision is to be made; 

833



180 

(b) where the decision-maker is an individual, their name and title, and where the 
decision-maker is a body, its name and details of Membership; 

(c) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be taken; 
(d) a list of the documents submitted to the decision-maker for consideration in relation to 

the matter;  
(e) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their disclosure, 

copies of, or extracts from, any document listed is available; 
(f) the identity of the principal groups whom the decision-maker proposes to consult 

before taking the decision; 
(g) the means by which any such consultation is proposed to be undertaken; 
(h) the steps any person might take who wishes to make representations to the Cabinet or 

decision-maker about the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made, and 
the date by which those steps must be taken; and 

(i) the reasons why the matter will be confidential/exempt. 

The Notice must be produced and published at least 28 clear days before the day upon which the 

decision is to be taken, whether by a meeting or an individual Cabinet Member. 

14.0 EXCEPTIONS 

If a matter which is likely to be a Key Decision/private decision has not been included in the 28 
Day Notice of Key and/or Confidential/Exempt Decisions, then subject to Access to Information 
Rule 15 (special urgency), the decision may still be taken if: 

(a) the decision needs to be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to defer the 
decision until 28 clear days’ notice has been given by Notice; 

(b) the Director for Sustainability & Resources has, in writing, informed the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (or both Chairs where a matter is being dealt with 
under the Joint Committee Agreement), or if there is no such person, each member of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, by Notice, of the matter to which the decision is 
to be made; 

(c) the Director for Sustainability & Resources has made copies of that Notice available to 
the public, on the Councils’ website or at the offices of the Council; and 

(d) at least 5 clear working days have elapsed since the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources complied with (b) and (c). 

Where such a decision is taken by the Cabinet, it must be taken in public, subject to the 
provisions of Access to Information Rules 9 and 13. 

15.0 URGENT ITEMS 

15.1 Executive Key and/or Confidential/Exempt Decisions which are urgent 

If by virtue of the urgency of a matter, Access to Information Rule 14 cannot be complied with, 
then the decision can only be taken if the Director for Sustainability & Resources, on behalf of the 
decision-maker, obtains the agreement, in writing, of the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (or both Chairs where a matter is being dealt with under the Joint Committee 
Agreement), that the taking of the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. Electronic 
confirmation, via email, will suffice and will be sufficient authority for Democratic Services Officers 
to complete the signature requirement to the appropriate notice. If the Chairs are unable to act, 
then in their absence, the agreement of the Vice-Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will be sought. If neither the Chairs nor Vice-Chairs are available, in their absence, the agreement 
of the Mayor of the Council will suffice (and if not available, the Deputy Mayor). 

15.2 Other Decisions which are urgent 

Only items on an Agenda which has been published 5 clear days before the day of a meeting can 
be considered at that Meeting. However, the Chair of the meeting is able to add urgent items to 
the Agenda at the meeting. Urgent items are narrowly defined as being those items that by reason 

834



181 

of special circumstance have arisen since the despatch of the Agenda and which were not known 
of at the time the Agenda was published, provided that 15.1 above is complied with. 

Urgent items cannot be dealt with as ‘any other business’ or ‘matters arising’ items. 

16.0 REPORT TO FULL COUNCIL 

16.1 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Council’s Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee can require that the Cabinet submit a Report 
to Full Council, within such reasonable time period as the Committee specifies, if they consider that 
a Key Decision has been taken which was not: 

(a) included in the 28 Day Notice of Key and/or Confidential/Exempt Decisions; or 
(b) the subject of the general exception procedure; or 
(c) the subject of an agreement under Access to Information Rule 15. 

When directed to do so by either of the Chairs of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or by 
any 5 Members of that Committee, the Director for Sustainability & Resources will serve notice in 
writing upon the Leader requiring such a report, on behalf of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, or the Cabinet, to be submitted to Full Council. Alternatively, the Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee may pass a resolution at their Meeting to require such a Report of the Cabinet 
to Full Council within a specified time period. 

16.2 Cabinet’s Report to Full Council 

The Cabinet will prepare a Report for submission to the next available Meeting of the Council, 
when required to do so in accordance with Access to Information Rule 16.1. However, if the next 
Meeting of the Council is within 7 days of receipt of the written Notice, or the resolution of the 
Committee, requiring the Report, then the Report may be submitted to the meeting after that. 

The Report to Council will set out particulars of the decision, the individual or body making the 
decision, and if the Leader is of the opinion that it was not a Key Decision, the reasons for that 
opinion. 

16.3 Reports on Special Urgency Decisions 

The Leader shall include in their Report to Full Council, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 
13 a summary of any Executive decisions taken in the circumstances set out in Access to 
Information Rule 15 (special urgency) taken since the previous meeting of Full Council. 

17.0 RECORD OF DECISIONS 

After any Meeting of the Cabinet, whether held in public or private, a record of every decision 
taken at that Meeting will be produced as soon as is practicable. The record will include a 
statement of the reasons for each decision and any alternative options considered and rejected at 
that Meeting, in accordance with the Cabinet Procedure Rules. 

18.0 ATTENDANCE AT PRIVATE MEETINGS OF THE CABINET 

All Cabinet Members will be served Notice of all private Meetings of the Cabinet, and all such 
Members are entitled to attend such a meeting. 

Members are entitled to attend Meetings in accordance with Council Procedure Rules. 

The Head of the Paid Service, the Chief Financial Officer and the Monitoring Officer, and their 
representatives are entitled to attend any Meeting of the Cabinet. 

835



182 

The Cabinet may not meet unless the Director for Sustainability & Resources has been given 
reasonable notice that a meeting is to take place. A private Cabinet Meeting may only take place 
in the presence of the Director for Sustainability & Resources or their representative with 
responsibility for recording and publishing the decisions. 

19.0 DECISIONS BY INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBERS 

19.1 Decision Reports 

Where an individual Cabinet Member receives a Report which they must consider prior to making 
any decision, then they will not make the decision until at least 5 working days after the day of 
receipt of that report. 

Except that if the decision is a Key Decision and/or Confidential/Exempt Decision, the 28 day 
Notice provisions in Access to Information Rule 13 shall apply. 

19.2 Provision of Copies of Reports to Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

When providing such a Report to an individual Cabinet Member, the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources will provide a copy of it to the Chairs and Vice Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee as soon as reasonably practicable. At 
the same time the Director for Sustainability & Resources will make the Report publicly available, 
by publishing on the Councils’ website, unless deemed confidential or exempt in accordance with 
Access to Information Rule 9 above. 

19.3 Record of Individual Cabinet Member Decision 

As soon as reasonably practicable after an Executive decision has been taken by an individual 
Cabinet Member, or a Key Decision has been taken by an Officer, the Director for Sustainability & 
Resources will prepare a record of the decision, a statement of the reasons for it and any 
alternative options considered and rejected. The provisions of Access to Information Rules 7 and 
8 (inspection of documents after meetings) will also apply to the making of decisions by 
individual Cabinet Members, subject to Access to Information Rule 9. 

20.0 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS 

20.1 Right to Documents 

Subject to Access to Information Rule 20.2, Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (and their Sub-Committees and Working Groups) will be 
entitled to copies of any document which are in the possession or control of the Cabinet (or its 
Committees) and which contain material relating to: 

(a) any business transacted at a public or private Meeting of the Cabinet or its 
Committees; or 

(b) any decision taken by an individual Cabinet Member; or 
(c) any decision taken by an Officer of the Authority exercising an Executive function. 

Copies of documents requested under this Rule must be supplied within 10 working days of 
receipt of the request. 

20.2 Limitation 

Subject to Access to Information Rule 21, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not be entitled to: 

(a) any document that is in draft form; 
(b) any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential information, unless that 

information is relevant to an action or decision they are reviewing or scrutinising or 

836



183 

intend to scrutinise, or is accessible in accordance with Access to Information Rule 
21.4 below. 

21.0 ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS BY MEMBERS 

21.1 Documents Relating to Business to be Transacted at a Public Meeting 

All Members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any document (except those available only in 
draft form) in the possession or under the control of the Cabinet or its Committees which contains 
material relating to any business to be transacted at a public Meeting. Any document must be 
available for inspection at least 5 clear days before the day of the meeting except: 

(a) where the meeting is convened at shorter notice, the document must be available for 
inspection when the meeting is convened; and 

(b) where an item is added to the Agenda at shorter notice, a document that would be 
required to be available must be available for inspection when the item is added on 
the Agenda. 

All such documents will be made available by publishing on the Councils’ website. 

21.2 Documents Relating to Business to be Transacted at a Private Meeting 

Any document which is in the possession or under control of the Cabinet and contains material 
relating to any business transacted at a private Meeting will be available for Members to inspect at 
the offices of the Democratic Services section, subject to Access to Information Rule 21.4 below. 
This Rule does not provide a right to copy such documents. 

Where access is restricted to a document under this provision, the restriction is determined by the 
Director for Sustainability & Resources, having taken account of the advice of the Monitoring 
Officer. 

21.3 Disclosure of Documents after the Decision 

Any document which is in the possession or under control of the Cabinet and contains material 
relating to: 

(a) any business transacted at a public Meeting; 
(b) any decision made by an individual Cabinet Member in accordance with Executive 

Arrangements; 
(c) any decision made by an Officer in accordance with Executive Arrangements; 

must be available for inspection by a Member immediately after the meeting concludes, or where 
an Executive decision is made by an Officer, immediately after the decision has been made (and in 
any event, within 24 hours). 

21.4 Access to Confidential and Exempt Information 

The entitlement to access to, or inspection of, documents does not extend to a document that 
contains confidential or exempt information unless the exemption solely relates to paragraphs 3 or 
6 of the exemptions in Access to Information Rule 9.2 (except where the information relates to any 
terms proposed by or to the Authority in the course of negotiations of contract). 

Nothing in these Rules requires the disclosure of confidential information that breaches the 
obligation of confidence. 

Nothing in these Rules requires the disclosure of a document, or part of a document where advice 
had been provided by a political adviser or assistant. 

Members will therefore often be able to access Reports which are exempt, but there may be 
occasions when information: 

(a) is highly sensitive and involves complex negotiations; 

837



184 

(b) relates to a significant litigation risk; 
(c) relates to sensitive personal information where the data subject would reasonably 

expect such information to be restricted only to decision-makers. 

22.0 CONFIDENTIALITY OF COUNCIL BUSINESS 

22.1 Confidential Information 

Any item of business at Full Council, a Committee or Sub-Committee which is deemed to be 
confidential shall require that the relevant body's discussion in relation to the item be kept 
confidential and may only be disclosed to, and discussed by, the following: 

(a) Elected Members of the Council; 
(b) other persons appointed under Section 102 of the 1972 Act as Members of 

Committees or Sub-Committees; 
(c) such Officers of the Council as are concerned with the matter in the course of their 

duties including the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Financial Officer; 
(d) such other persons to whom in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, the item of 

business or Report ought to be disclosed in order to comply with the Human Rights 
Act 1998 or any rule of law or to avoid maladministration by the Council; 

and there shall be no further disclosure of such Report, item of Council business or discussion 
thereof to any other person whatsoever. 

The business referred to in this Rule consists of any item of Council business which has been 
agreed as being confidential by the Council, its Committees or Sub-Committees, or by the 
Monitoring Officer in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972. 

Information which has been deemed to be confidential may at some point in the future cease to be 
confidential and may be disclosed. Advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer in respect 
of confidential information. 

22.2 Working Party 

Subject to the Council Procedure Rules, a member of a working party set up by the Council shall 
not disclose a matter dealt with by or brought before the working party, without its permission 
until the proceedings of that working party have been reported to the Council or to the Committee 
or Sub-Committee which set it up, or the working party shall otherwise have concluded action on 
that matter. 

23.0 ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 

These Rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere in this 
Constitution or the law. 

 
  

838



185 

Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 Definitions 
In these Rules: 
 

1.1.1 ‘The 2001 Regulations’ means the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
Regulations 2001; ‘The 2015 Regulations’ means the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015. 

1.1.2 ‘Appointor’ means, in relation to the appointment of a person as an Officer of the 
Authority, the Authority or, where a Committee, Sub-Committee or Officer is discharging 
the function of appointment on behalf of the Authority, that Committee, Sub-Committee or 
Officer, as the case may be; 

1.1.3 ‘Disciplinary Action’ in relation to an Officer of the Council means any action occasioned 
by alleged misconduct which, if proven, would, according to the Council’s usual practice, 
be recorded on the member of staff's personal file. This includes any proposal for 
dismissal of a member of staff for any reason other than redundancy, permanent ill-health 
or infirmity of mind or body, but does not include failure to renew a contract of 
employment for a fixed term unless the Authority has undertaken to renew such a 
contract; 

1.1.4 ‘Dismissor’ means, in relation to the dismissal of an Officer of the Authority, the Authority 
or, where a Committee, Sub-Committee or another Officer is discharging the function of 
dismissal on behalf of the Authority, that Committee, Sub-Committee or other Officer, as 
the case may be; 

1.1.5 ‘Head of Paid Service’ means the Officer designated under Section 4(1) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989; 

1.1.6 ‘Chief Finance Officer’ means the Officer having responsibility, for the purposes of 
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, for the administration of the Council’s 
financial affairs; 

1.1.7 ‘Monitoring Officer’ means the Officer designated under Section 5(1) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989; 

1.1.8 ‘Directors’ means those Officers who shall report directly to the Chief Executive and shall 
have managerial responsibility for a directorate consisting of not less than 4 services; 

1.1.9 ‘Statutory Chief Officer’ means, for the purposes of these provisions, the Chief Finance 
Officer; 

1.1.10 ‘Non-Statutory Chief Officer’ means a person for whom the Head of Paid Service is 
directly responsible or a person who, with respect to all or most of the duties of their post, 
is required to report directly or is directly accountable to either the Head of Paid Service 
or to the Council itself or any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council; except a 
person whose duties are solely secretarial or clerical or are otherwise in the nature of 
support services; 

1.1.11 ‘Deputy Chief Officer’ means a person who, with respect to all or most of the duties of 
their post, is required to report directly or is directly accountable to one or more of the 
Statutory or Non-Statutory Chief Officers; except a person whose duties are solely 
secretarial or clerical or are otherwise in the nature of support services; 

839



186 

1.1.12 ‘Joint Senior Staff Committee’ means a Committee set up in accordance with the Adur 
District Council and Worthing Borough Council Joint Committee Agreement dated 27th 
July 2007, as amended from time to time. For the purposes of these Procedure Rules, at 
least one Cabinet Member of each Council must be a Member of this Committee. 

1.2 General 

Other than as set out elsewhere in these Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the function of 
recruitment, appointment, disciplinary action and dismissal in respect of all staff other than the 
Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer, and the Monitoring Officer, will be discharged, on 
behalf of the Council, by the Head of Paid Service or an Officer nominated by the Head of Paid 
Service. Such functions will be carried out in accordance with the Council’s Staffing Policies, as 
adopted from time to time. 

1.3 Posts 
 
For ease of reference, the posts which fall under the relevant definitions in these Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules, at the time of writing, are as follows: 
 

Definition Relevant Post 

Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 

Statutory Chief Officer  Chief Finance Officer  

Monitoring Officer Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services 

Non-Statutory Chief Officers Directors 
Assistant Director People & Change 
Head of Policy 

Deputy Chief Officers All staff, other than clerical, who are direct reports of: 
Directors 
Chief Finance Officer  
Assistant Director People & Change 
Head of Policy 

 
2.0  RECRUITMENT 

 
2.1 Declarations 
 
A candidate for any employment with the Council, or a staff member involved in a transfer, promotion 
or disciplinary matter, shall disclose whether they are related to, or cohabits with, any Member or 
other Officer who may have an influence on the decision. Failure to make such a disclosure may 
result in any appointment being rescinded and, in the case of an employee, disciplinary action. 

The requirements of any Code of Conduct relating to Members’ interests shall apply to the 
appointment, transfer, promotion, discipline and other matters relating to staff. 

2.2 Support for Appointment 
 
Canvassing of any Member of the Council, or any person appointed to discharge any function in 
relation to a Committee or Officer of the Council shall disqualify the candidate concerned in such 
canvassing for that appointment. The purport of this paragraph shall be included in any form of 
application issued in relation to any proposed appointment. 

A Member of the Council shall not solicit for any person any appointment under the Council and shall 
not provide any written testimonial of a candidate’s ability, experience or character for submission to 
the Authority. 

All vacancies on the Council’s staffing establishment that are to be filled shall be advertised 
internally. 

840



187 

2.3 Confidentiality 
 
The Council, the Cabinet, a Committee, a Sub-Committee or a Panel shall, unless there are 
exceptional circumstances which dictate otherwise, resolve to exclude the press and public under 
Section 100A of the 1972 Act where matters relating to the appointment, promotion, dismissal or 
discipline, severance, salary or conditions of an individual member of staff are to be discussed. 

2.4 Recruitment of Head of Paid Service, Statutory Chief Officers, Non-Statutory Chief 
Officers, Deputy Chief Officers and Monitoring Officer. 

 
2.4.1 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Statutory 

Chief Officer, Non-Statutory Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer, and it is not proposed that 
the appointment will be made exclusively from among their existing Officers, the Head of Paid 
Service or their delegate will: 

(a) draw up a statement specifying: 
(i) the duties of the Officer concerned; and 
(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed; 

(b) advertise the post in such a way as is likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are 
qualified to apply for it; and 

(c) send a copy of the statement mentioned in paragraph (a) above to any person on 
request. 

(d) The Head of Paid Service will notify consult with the Leader of the Council in advance of 
any recruitment process for the appointment of a Non-Statutory Chief Officer.  

 
2.4.2 Where a post has been advertised as provided in paragraph 2.4.1, the Joint Senior Staff 

Committee or Head of Paid Service, or their delegate, in accordance with paragraph 3 below, 
will: 

(a) interview all qualified applicants for the post; or 
(b) select a short list of such qualified applicants and interview those included on the short 

list; or 
(c) if no qualified person has applied, the Council will make further arrangements for 

advertisement in accordance with paragraph 2.4.1(b). 

3.0  APPOINTMENT 
 
3.0  Power to Appoint 
 
3.0.1 Subject to paragraph 3.1.2 and 3.2 below, the Joint Senior Staff Committee will be 

responsible for the function of recommending to Full Council the appointment of the Head of 
Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

 
3.0.2 The power to approve the appointment of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer 

and Monitoring Officer shall be exercised by Full Council, subject to the consultation required 
under paragraph 3.2.2 where, for the purposes of this paragraph, ‘the Committee’ is to be 
read as ‘Full Council’. 

 
3.0.3 The Head of Paid Service, or their nominated representative, shall be responsible for the 

function of the appointment of Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers. The 
Head of Paid Service’s nominated representative may include an Officer of the Council of the 
appropriate level of seniority, or an external expert, provided that such representative shall 
have, in the opinion of the Head of Paid Service, the appropriate level of independence, 
knowledge, expertise and competence. 

841



188 

3.1  Consultation Procedure for Appointment 
 

3.1.1 Except as provided for in paragraph 3.1.2, paragraph 3.2.2 applies to the appointment of 
Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers. 
 

3.1.2 An offer of appointment to any of those Officers must not be made by the Appointor until: 

(a) The Appointor has notified the Monitoring Officer of the name of the person to whom the 
Appointer wishes to make the offer and any other particulars which the Appointor 
considers are relevant to the appointment, including evidence and reasons for the choice 
of preferred candidate; 

(b) The Monitoring Officer has notified every Cabinet Member of the Council of: 
(i) the name of the person to whom the Appointor wishes to make the offer, and the 

reasons why they are the Appointor’s preferred candidate, including evidence; 
(ii) any other particulars relevant to the appointment which the Appointor has notified to 

the Monitoring Officer; and  
(iii) the period within which any objection to the making of the offer is to be made by the 

Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the Monitoring Officer; and 
(c) either: 

(i) the Leader has, within the period specified in the notice under sub-paragraph (b)(iii), 
notified the Monitoring Officer that neither they nor any other Cabinet Member has 
any objection to the making of the offer; or 

(ii) the Monitoring Officer has notified the Appointor that no objection was received by 
them within that period from the Leader; or 

(iii) the Appointor is satisfied that any objection received from the Leader within that 
period is not material or is not well-founded. 

 
3.2  Appointment of Senior Officers 
 

Post Appointment Conditions 

Head of Paid Service Joint Senior Staff Committee Requires approval of Full Council 

Chief Finance Officer Joint Senior Staff Committee Requires approval of Full Council 

Monitoring Officer Joint Senior Staff Committee Requires approval of Full Council 

Non-Statutory Chief 
Officers  

Head of Paid Service or 
nominee 

Requires consultation with the 
Cabinet 

Deputy Chief Officers  Head of Paid Service or 
nominee 

Requires consultation with the 
Cabinet 

 

4.0  DISCIPLINARY ACTION 
 
4.1  Investigation of alleged misconduct 

 
4.1.1 This paragraph applies to Disciplinary Action in respect of the Head of Paid Service, Statutory 

Chief Officer, Monitoring Officer, Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers, 
subject to the express provisions in paragraph 4.2 relating to the Head of Paid Service, 
Monitoring Officer and Statutory Chief Officer. 

 
4.1.2 Subject to paragraph 4.2 the Joint Senior Staff Committee will investigate and consider any 

alleged misconduct in respect of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and 
Monitoring Officer, and decide, following receipt of the report of the Independent Panel, upon 
any Disciplinary Action to be taken, as necessary, in accordance with any Council Staffing 
Policies which have been adopted by the Council from time to time. 

 
4.1.3 Subject to paragraphs 4.1.2 and 4.2, the Head of Paid Service or their nominated 

representative, will investigate any alleged misconduct in respect of Non-Statutory Chief 

842



189 

Officers and Deputy Chief Officers, as necessary, in accordance with any Council Staffing 
Policies which have been adopted by the Council from time to time. The Head of Paid 
Service’s nominated representative may include an Officer of the Council, of the appropriate 
level of seniority, or an external expert, provided that such representative shall have, in the 
opinion of the Head of Paid Service, the appropriate level of independence, knowledge, 
expertise and competence. Pending the outcome of such investigation the Non-Statutory 
Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer may be suspended by the Head of Paid Service or their 
nomination representative. Such suspension will be for no longer than is necessary to 
investigate the allegations and will be on full pay, other than in exceptional circumstances.  

 
4.2 Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 
 
4.2.1 The Council’s Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer cannot be 

dismissed by the Authority unless the procedure set out in paragraph 4.2 is complied with. 
 

4.2.2 Where an allegation of misconduct in respect of the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer 
or Chief Finance Officer requires an investigation, an Independent Panel will be formed for 
this purpose. 
 

4.2.3 Pending the report of such an Independent Panel the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring 
Officer and the Chief Finance Officer may be suspended by the Joint Senior Staff Committee 
whilst the alleged misconduct by the Officer is investigated. Any such suspension will be for 
a maximum period of two calendar months and will be on full pay. 
 

4.2.4 In consulting an Independent Panel to deal with such allegations of misconduct, the Joint 
Senior Staff Committee will invite Independent Persons who have been appointed for the 
purposes of the Members’ Conduct Regime under Section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 to 
form an Independent Panel. An Independent Panel will be formed if two or more Independent 
Persons accept the invitation. If it has not been possible to appoint such a Panel following 
invitations to the Council’s appointed Independent Persons, then further invitation may be 
made to Independent Persons appointed by another Council. 
 

4.2.5 The role of the Independent Panel is to: 
(a) Investigate the alleged misconduct; 
(b) Prepare a report setting out the conclusions of their investigation, and any advice, views 

or recommendations as to any proposed disciplinary or other action, including dismissal. 
 

4.2.6 In carrying out its investigation the Panel may: 
(a) Inspect any documents relating to the conduct of the relevant Officer which are in the 

possession of the Council, or which the Council has the power to authorise them to 
inspect; and 

(b) Require any Officer or Elected Member to answer questions concerning the conduct of 
the relevant Officer. 

 
4.2.7 If the recommendation of the Independent Panel is disciplinary action, other than dismissal, 

the Panel will report back to the Joint Senior Staff Committee, which will consider the report 
and may impose disciplinary action other than dismissal. 
 

4.2.8 Where the Independent Panel or the Joint Senior Staff Committee recommends dismissal, 
the matter must be dealt with by a meeting of the Full Council. At least 20 working days after 
the Independent Panel has been appointed, a meeting of each Full Council (Adur District 
Council and Worthing Borough Council) will be held. 
 

4.2.9 The Council meeting must receive the report of the Independent Panel. Before taking a vote 
at such a Council meeting on whether or not to approve such a proposed dismissal, the 
Council must take into account: 
(a) Any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel; 

843



190 

(b) The conclusions of any investigation into the alleged misconduct; 
(c) Any representations from the relevant Officer or their representative. 
 

4.2.10 A Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer attending a Council 
meeting where proposed disciplinary action against them is being considered, is entitled to 
make both oral and written representations to Council, as is their representative, who may 
be a colleague, a Union representative, a companion or a lawyer. 

 
4.3 Disciplinary Action of Senior Officers 
 

Post Investigation Notes Appeal 

Head of Paid 
Service, Chief 
Finance Officer 
and Monitoring 
Officer 

Independent Panel who 
presents findings to Joint 
Senior Staff Committee who 
have the power to impose 
disciplinary action other than 
dismissal. 

Decision to dismiss 
must be taken by 
Council 

None 

Non-Statutory 
Chief Officers 
and Deputy 
Chief Officers 

Head of Paid Service or their 
representative 

Decision to dismiss may 
only be taken by the 
Joint Senior Staff 
Committee following 
consultation with the 
Cabinet.  

Head of Paid 
Service or their 
representative 

 
5.0  DISMISSAL 
 
5.1  Power to Dismiss 
 
5.1.1 Full Council will be responsible for the function of dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, the 

Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer. 
 
5.1.2 Subject to paragraph 5.2, the Head of Paid Service, or a representative nominated by them, 

shall decide upon any disciplinary action to be taken, following a disciplinary hearing, and 
shall be responsible for the function of dismissal of Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy 
Chief Officers. The Head of Paid Service’s nominated representative may include an Officer 
of the Council, of the appropriate level of seniority, or an external expert, provided that such 
representative shall have, in the opinion of the Head of Paid Service, the appropriate level of 
independence, knowledge, expertise and competence. Such nominated representative may 
not be the same individual responsible for the investigation into alleged misconduct as 
identified at paragraph 4.1.3 and must be wholly independent from that individual.  

 
5.2 Consultation Procedure for Dismissal 
 
5.2.1 Paragraph 5.2.2 applies to the dismissal of the Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief 

Officers. 
 
5.2.2 Notice of the dismissal of any of those Officers in paragraph 5.2.1 must not be given by the 

Dismissor until: 
(a) the Dismissor has notified the Monitoring Officer of the name of the person whom the 

Dismissor wishes to dismiss and any other particulars which the Dismissor considers are 
relevant to the dismissal, including a summary of the evidence heard at the disciplinary 
hearing and the reasons for the proposed decision; 

(b) the Monitoring Officer has notified every Cabinet Member of the Council of: 
(i) the name of the person whom the Dismissor wishes to dismiss and the reasons for 

the decision; 
(ii) any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the Dismissor has notified to 

the Monitoring Officer; and 

844



191 

(iii) the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to be made by the Leader 
on behalf of the Cabinet to the Monitoring Officer; and 

(c) either: 
(i) the Leader has, within the period specified in the notice under sub-paragraph (b)(iii), 

notified the Monitoring Officer that neither they nor any other Cabinet Member has 
any objection to the dismissal; 

(ii) the Monitoring Officer has notified the Dismissor that no objection was received by 
them within that period from the Leader; or 

(iii) the Dismissor is satisfied that any objection received from the Leader within that 
period is not material or is not well-founded. 

 
5.3 Appeals 
 
5.3.1 Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers who feel that the outcome of 

Disciplinary Action against them is wrong or unjust may appeal in accordance with any 
relevant Council Staffing Policies to the Head of Paid Service or their nominated 
representative. The Head of Paid Service’s nominated representative may include an Officer 
of the Council, of the appropriate level of seniority, or an external expert, provided that such 
representative shall have, in the opinion of the Head of Paid Service, the appropriate level of 
independence, knowledge, expertise and competence. Such nominated representative must 
not be the same individual responsible for the disciplinary action or the dismissal, identified 
at paragraph 5.1.2, and nor may they be the same individual responsible for the investigation 
of alleged misconduct identified at paragraph 4.1.3 and must be wholly independent from 
those individuals. 

 
5.3.2 The Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer shall have no right 

of appeal against disciplinary action within the Councils. 
 

6.0  SPECIAL SEVERANCE PAYMENTS 
 

6.1 In deciding whether it is good value to make any payments on termination of employment 
that are additional, discretionary sums paid on top of statutory and contractual redundancy 
or severance terms, e.g. under the terms of a settlement agreement, enhancement of 
standard pension benefits, PILON payments, etc (‘Special Severance Payments’), the 
Council must demonstrate the economic rationale (including the availability of budgetary 
resources) and seek legal advice on the prospects of successfully defending an Employment 
Tribunal claim. 
 

6.2 Special Severance Payments must be approved as follows: 
(a) £100,000 and over (and in all cases for the Head of Paid Service) - Full Council;  
(b) £20,000-£100,000 - the Head of Paid Service with the Leader’s approval;  
(c) Under £20,000 - according to the Scheme of Officer Delegation.  

 
6.3 The Council will include in its annual accounts all severance payments and pension strain 

costs made in connection with termination of employment or loss of office. 
 

  

845



192 

Officer Scheme of Delegations 
 
1. GENERAL PRINCIPLES 
 
Introduction 
 
1.1 These delegations are made under the powers contained in the Local Government Act 1972 

(as amended), Section 101 and by reference to section 100G and the Local Government Act 
2000, Sections 14,19 and 20, the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(England) Regulations 2000 (as amended) and all other enabling powers. 

 
1.2 An officer or other person is authorised to exercise such powers as are shown in the Scheme 

of Delegations including those reasonably applied or incidental to the matters specified in 
respect of the functions of the Council. 

 
When a Post is Vacant or a Post-holder is Absent 
 
1.3 For the purposes of this Scheme, if the post of an officer to whom a function is delegated (or 

which they have been appointed as a Proper Officer) is vacant or if the post-holder is absent 
on leave (of whatever type), unless the function is exercisable by an officer who has the 
appropriate sub-delegation or the Council otherwise decides the following shall apply: 

 
1.4 In the case of the Chief Executive, the delegation shall be exercisable by an Acting Chief 

Executive (to include an Interim Chief Executive) or any one of the Directors, provided that 
the Acting Chief Executive or Director has the requisite professional qualification, experience 
and knowledge, where such is required. 

 
1.5 In the case of a Director, the delegation shall be exercisable by the Chief Executive or 

another Director, provided that the Chief Executive or Director has the requisite professional 
qualification, experience and knowledge, where such is required. 

 
1.6 In the case of the Section 151 Officer, the delegation shall be exercisable by a Deputy 

Section 151 Officer in relation to matters which are the responsibility of the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
1.7 In the case of the Monitoring Officer, the delegation shall be exercisable by a Deputy 

Monitoring Officer in relation to matters which are the responsibility of the Monitoring Officer.  
 
1.8 In the case of Heads of Service, the delegation shall be exercisable by the Chief Executive or 

a Director, provided that the Chief Executive or Director has the requisite professional 
qualification, experience and knowledge, where such is required. 

 
1.9 Any post specifically referred to shall be deemed to include any successor post, or a post 

which includes within the job description, elements relevant to any particular delegation, 
which were also present in the earlier post and shall include anyone acting up or seconded. 

 
All decisions made by Officers 
 
1.10 Where decisions are taken by officers under delegated powers the following conditions and 

rules shall apply: 
 
1.11 All delegations shall be exercised in accordance with the Constitution, all relevant policies 

and procedures of the Council and all relevant legislative provisions, subject to paragraph 4 
below. 

 
1.12 Any officer exercising a delegation shall only do so where provision has been made for any 

expenditure within the relevant budget or otherwise in accordance with the Financial 

846



193 

Procedure Rules. 
 
1.13 Any officer exercising a delegation shall not do so in a manner which is contrary to any 

resolution of Full Council, Cabinet, an Individual Cabinet Member or a Committee. 
 
1.14 Any officer exercising a delegation shall do so having regard to Health & Safety 

requirements. 
 
1.15 Any officer exercising a delegation shall do so having regard to Equalities requirements. 
 
1.16 Any officer exercising a delegation shall do so having regard to Data Protection 

requirements. 
 
1.17 Any officer exercising a delegation is responsible for carrying out any consultation necessary 

under this Scheme. Such consultation shall be in writing, unless due to urgency that is not 
practicable, in which case there may be oral consultation which may be confirmed, by the 
Officer undertaking the consultation to the consultee in writing, as soon as reasonably 
practicable and, in any event, within 5 working days. 

 
1.18 Any officer to whom a delegation is given may waive their right to exercise the delegation 

and refer the matter to the original delegate for a decision or to Full Council, Cabinet, an 
Individual Cabinet Member or relevant Committee, as appropriate. 

 
1.19 Where an officer has the authority to take decisions, any action taken to implement such 

decisions may be taken in the name of (but not necessarily personally by) that officer, or any 
other officer authorised by that officer in accordance with paragraph 6 below. 

 
1.20 Any decision which could subject the Council to legal liability shall be taken in consultation 

with the Monitoring Officer. 
 
1.21 Any decision which has financial implications other than those budgeted for shall be taken in 

consultation with the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
1.22 Unless specifically stated, no delegation authorises the taking of decisions as to whether or 

not legal action should be taken by or on behalf of the Council. 
 
1.23 Officers shall not have the power to exercise any delegation where an individual officer is 

required by law to hold a relevant qualification and they do not hold that qualification. 
 
1.24 Officers shall not have the power to exercise any delegations which fall outside the 

individual’s actual authority as determined by their post. 
 
1.25 Officers shall not have the power to exercise any delegations in a situation where an 

individual officer is prevented, for whatever proper reason, from exercising such power. 
 
1.26 Subject to any express instructions to the contrary from the delegated body, any power to 

approve also includes the power to refuse, and the power to impose appropriate conditions. 
 
1.27 Functions, matters, powers, authorisations, delegations, duties and responsibilities, shall be 

construed in a broad and inclusive fashion, and shall include the doing of anything which is 
calculated to facilitate, or is conducive, or incidental, to the discharge of anything specified. 

 
Emergency Powers 
 
1.28 For the purposes of this Scheme, an emergency is defined as a situation which poses an 

immediate risk to Council services or the wellbeing of residents, for which urgent action is 
needed and which cannot be dealt with using the Council’s usual processes and procedures. 

847



194 

 
1.29 In cases of emergency the Chief Executive may, if justified by all of the circumstances, 

exercise delegations to take urgent action on behalf of the Council in a manner which is not 
in accordance with usual Council policies or procedures and/or where provision has not been 
made in any budget, in order to prevent or mitigate the emergency (see 2.1.2 below). 

 
1.30 A written record of the reasons for exercising emergency powers and deviating from the 

policies and procedure and/or causing expenditure without a relevant budget shall then be 
provided as soon as practicably possible to the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer by the relevant officer. 

 
Sub-Delegations 
 
1.31 Where an Officer is authorised to act, either under this Scheme or by a specific resolution of 

Full Council, Cabinet, an Individual Cabinet Member or a Committee, they may further 
delegate the authority to exercise a specific power to another Officer, whilst still retaining the 
delegation themselves. 

 
1.32 Before making a sub-delegation, the delegating officer must give consideration to and be 

satisfied that the officer to whom they are sub-delegating is of an appropriate level bearing in 
mind the nature of the delegation. 

 
1.33 Any such sub-delegation is subject to the existing consultation and limitation requirements, 

and further consultation or limitation can be applied when sub delegating. 
 
1.34 All sub-delegations must be made in writing and a copy provided to the Monitoring Officer 

within five working days. The Monitoring Officer shall maintain a central register of sub-
delegations which shall be available on the intranet. 

 
1.35 No sub-delegations may be further delegated, unless there is express permission from the 

original delegating officer that the specific power can be delegated further. Such permission 
should be included in the written record of the sub-delegation provided under paragraph 
1.5.4. When deciding whether to permit further sub-delegation, the same consideration 
should be given as outlined in paragraph 1.5.2. 

 
1.36 In the event that a post to which a delegation or function is given ceases to exist and its 

responsibilities are transferred to another post temporarily or permanently then the 
delegations given under this scheme shall be exercisable by the post to which the 
responsibilities have been transferred. There should be written confirmation of the change in 
responsibilities from the line manager, which shall be provided to the Monitoring Officer to be 
retained with the central copy of the scheme of delegations. 

 
1.37 Where an officer is authorised to act, either under this Scheme or by a specific resolution of 

Full Council, Cabinet, an Individual Cabinet Member or a Committee, they may further 
delegate the authority to exercise a specific power on behalf of this Council to an Officer of 
another Council, whilst still retaining the delegation themselves. All other provisions of 
paragraph 1.5 of this Scheme must be complied with when exercising this provision. 

 
Proper Officers/Authorised Officers 
 
1.38 Those officers designated as Proper Officers, authorised officers, appropriate person or any 

other statutory description of officer listed in this Scheme shall exercise the powers, and 
have the responsibilities, attributed to them by legislation. 

 
1.39 The Chief Executive and any other officer expressly authorised by this Scheme may appoint 

any appropriate officer to be a Proper Officer, authorised officer, appropriate person or any 
other statutory description of officer (unless legislation requires the appointment to be made 

848



195 

by Full Council) and written confirmation of such appointment shall be provided to the 
Monitoring Officer within five working days and made available on the intranet. 

 
Interpretation 
 
1.40 Any reference to an Act, Order or other legal provision shall include a reference to any 

modification or re-enactment thereof and any reference to any Directive, Act, Order or other 
legal provision shall include any Regulations, Orders, Rules, Instruments, Directions, 
Statutory Guidance or other legal provision made thereunder. 

 
1.41 ‘Appropriate Director’ shall mean the Director responsible for the function to which the 

particular exercise of the delegation applies. 
 
1.42 ‘Appropriate Assistant Director’ shall mean the Assistant Director or Head of Service 

responsible for the function/service to which the particular exercise of the delegation applies. 
 
1.43 ‘Consultation’ shall mean seeking the comments of the person(s) to be consulted. 

Consultation shall not mean obtaining the consent of the person(s) to be consulted. A written 
record of the consultation shall be retained by the officer. 

 
1.44 ‘The Council’ shall mean The Borough Council of Worthing or the District Council of Adur, as 

appropriate. 
 
2.  DELEGATIONS: GENERAL FUNCTIONS – CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS, 

ASSISTANT DIRECTORS & HEADS OF SERVICE 

 

Subject to the foregoing, there are delegated to the Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors 

and/or Heads of Service those matters detailed in column 2 subject to the consultation 

requirements set out in column 3 and the limitations in column 4 below. 

    

2.1  Chief Executive   

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

2.1.1  The taking of any action required in connection with the 

organisation or holding of neighbourhood, parish, district, 

county, Parliamentary, police commissioner elections or 

referenda. 

  

2.1.2  To take Urgent action on behalf of the Council. 

 

‘Urgent’ means a matter of pressing importance requiring 

swift action given the gravity of the situation, to prevent 

damage (or further damage) to life, limb, infrastructure or 

the financial integrity of the Councils. 

The relevant 

Leader, or in 

their absence, 

the relevant 

Deputy Leader 

or the Leaders, 

or in their 

absence the 

Deputy 

Leaders, where 

appropriate. 

A report on the 

use of urgency 

powers to be 

taken to the 

first available 

Council 

meeting. So 

far as 

applicable, 

any decisions/ 

actions taken 

shall only take 

effect on a 

temporary 

basis until a 

Committee/ 

Member 

decision has 

been made. 

849



196 

2.1.3  The approval of Special Severance Payments between 

£20,000-£100,000 

Consultation 

with and 

approval of the 

Leader 

Subject to 

demonstrating 

the economic 

rationale 

(including the 

availability of 

budgetary 

resources) 

and seeking 

legal advice 

on the 

prospects of 

successfully 

defending an 

Employment 

Tribunal claim 

2.2  Chief Executive and all Directors   

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

2.2.1  Grant, review, renew and cancel authorisations under the 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act, 2000 in 

accordance with the Council’s surveillance policy. 

  

2.2.2  Incur expenditure on the reception and entertainment by 

way of official courtesy of persons representative of or 

connected with local government or other public services 

whether inside or outside the United Kingdom. 

 In accordance 

with the 

Financial 

Procedure 

Rules. 

2.3  Director for Housing & Communities   

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

2.3.1  The taking of a decision as to whether or not the Council 

will tolerate unlawful encampments for a specified period 

and purpose, and to keep that decision under constant 

review. 

  

2.3.2 To determine matters relating to the failure of a Member to 

attend meetings for a period in excess of 6 months 

  

2.3.3 To be the Councils’ lead Officer responsible for 

Safeguarding matters 

  

2.4  Director for Sustainability & Resources   

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

2.4.1  To respond to requests under Data Protection and 

Freedom of Information legislation 

 With the 

exception of 

requests for 

review and 

appeals 

2.4.2  To act as the Senior Information Risk Owner for both 

Councils in respect of the function of Information Security. 

  

2.4.3  To be the Councils’ Senior Responsible Officer for matters 

related to the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. 

  

2.4.4  To be the link officer with the Commissioner for Local 

Administration in England (‘Local Government 

Ombudsman’) 

Monitoring 

Officer (to 

reflect the 

statutory role of 

the Monitoring 

Officer in 

 

850



197 

respect of 

maladministrati

on) and the 

appropriate 

Assistant 

Director 

2.4.5  To authorise payments or the provision of other benefits 

under s.92 Local Government Act, 2000 (payments in 

cases of maladministration) or by way of local settlement in 

relation to Local Government Ombudsman complaints. 

Appropriate 

Assistant 

Director, 

Monitoring 

Officer and, if 

over £1000, 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

 

2.4.6  To convene meetings of Full Council, Cabinet, Cabinet 

Members, Committees and other bodies. 

Mayor, Leader, 

Cabinet 

Member or 

Chair as 

appropriate 

 

2.4.7  To cancel meetings of Full Council, Cabinet, Cabinet 

Members, Committees and other bodies. 

Mayor, Leader, 

Cabinet 

Member or 

Chair as 

appropriate 

 

2.5  Director for Place   

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

2.5.1  To manage the relationship between Worthing Borough 

Council and Worthing Theatres Trust  

  

2.5.2  To manage the relationship between Worthing Borough 

Council and South Downs Leisure Trust 

  

2.5.3  To manage the relationship between Adur District Council 

and South Downs Leisure Trust 

  

2.5.4  To act on behalf of Worthing Borough Council as Trustee 

of Highdown Gardens Trust and Chalk Pit Charity Trust 

 Limited to 

being 

exercised in 

respect of day 

to day 

management 

activities and 

administrative 

matters only. 

2.5.5  To act on behalf of Adur District Council as Trustee of Adur 

Recreation Ground and The Green  

 Limited to 

being 

exercised in 

respect of day 

to day 

management 

activities and 

administrative 

matters only. 

2.6  Chief Executive, all Directors, Assistant Directors and 

Heads of Service 

  

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

851



198 

 General   

2.6.1  To manage the functions for which they are responsible.   

2.6.2  To make minor amendments to any Policy, Strategy, 

Consultation or similar document and sign notices, other 

than legal notices, arising from any decision of the Council. 

  

2.6.3  To respond to consultations. The Leader and 

relevant 

Cabinet 

Member (in 

respect of 

Executive 

matters) or the 

relevant 

committee (in 

respect of non-

Executive 

matters) 

 

2.6.4  To dispose of lost or uncollected property  Assistant 

Director Legal & 

Democratic 

Services 

 

2.6.5  To procure goods and services Assistant 

Director 

Regenerative 

Development 

(Procurement) 

In accordance 

with Contract 

Standing 

Orders 

2.6.6  To exercise powers and determine all matters relating to 

the supply of goods and services to other local authorities 

and public bodies in respect of the functions for which they 

are responsible. 

Assistant 

Director Legal & 

Democratic 

Services,  

Chief Financial 

Officer 

 

2.6.7  To carry out minor development for which planning 

permission is not required. 

Head of 

Planning 

 

 Contracts   

2.6.8  To do all matters in relation to procurement and the letting 

of contracts. 

Where specified 

in Contract 

Standing 

Orders, 

Assistant 

Director 

Finance and 

Assistant 

Director Legal & 

Democratic 

Services 

In accordance 

with Contract 

Standing 

Orders 

 Financial   

2.6.9  To take any action authorised by Financial Standing 

Orders. 

  

2.6.10  To manage budgets allocated to the functions for which 

they are responsible, including authority to incur 

expenditure on items included in the approved Revenue 

 In accordance 

with Financial 

Procedure 

852



199 

Estimates or Capital Programme, except where the Council 

has placed a reservation on any such item. 

Rules  

2.6.11  To write off amounts as irrecoverable Where specified 

in Financial 

Standing 

Orders, Chief 

Financial Officer 

Cabinet 

Member for 

Resources 

In accordance 

with Financial 

Procedure 

Rules  

2.6.12  To determine and award grant applications in relation to 

the functions for which they are responsible, other than 

award of grants to voluntary sector organisations. 

Assistant 

Director Legal & 

Democratic 

Services 

In accordance 

with the 

Financial 

Procedure 

Rules 

2.6.13  To vary, in exceptional circumstances, fixed fees and 

charges. 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member 

 

2.6.14  To determine charges for the use of relevant services and 

events not covered by the annual review of fees and 

charges 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member 

 

2.6.15  To submit bids to outside bodies for grant funding. Chief Financial 

Officer 

Assistant 

Director Legal & 

Democratic 

Services 

 

 Assets   

2.6.16  To dispose of surplus assets (other than land and 

buildings) which are not of historical significance, interest 

or value. 

In consultation 

with the 

relevant 

Cabinet 

Member 

In accordance 

with the 

Financial 

Procedure 

Rules 

 Land   

2.6.17  To manage land, property (including rent reviews) and 

other assets allocated to the functions for which they are 

responsible. 

  

2.6.18  To vary the terms and conditions of leases and licences or 

negotiate the surrender of leases and licenses. 

  

2.6.19  To give landlord's consent for uses, subject to planning 

permission. 

  

 Legal   

2.6.20  To make application for warrants of entry to land or 

property under the provisions of any legislation, other than 

warrants for possession of land or property, in relation to 

functions for which they are responsible. 

Where 

practicable, with 

the Assistant 

Director Legal & 

Democratic 

Services 

 

2.6.21  To sign, issue and serve all notices required by statute or 

otherwise to be given by the Council and all necessary 

advertisements, in relation to functions for which they are 

responsible. 

  

2.6.22  To issue fixed penalty notices and community penalty   

853



200 

notices where permitted by statute in relation to the 

functions for which they are responsible. 

 Licences, notices, etc.   

2.6.23  The determination of any application for permissions, 

consents or licences or for registration within the functions 

for which they are responsible. 

 Except where 

they are 

reserved to 

Council, 

Cabinet, 

Cabinet 

Member or 

Committee 

2.6.24  The issue and service of any notice or requisition for 

information concerned with matters within the functions for 

which they are responsible. 

  

2.6.25  The carrying out of works in default following non-

compliance with any notice concerned with matters within 

the functions for which they are responsible. 

  

2.6.26  The management of any internal appeal, challenge or 

objection process against or in support of any of the 

Council’s decisions, other than before a court or tribunal. 

Assistant 

Director Legal & 

Democratic 

Services 

 

 Planning   

2.6.27  To make application for all consents required in relation to 

planning permission in respect of Council land or property 

in relation to the functions for which they are responsible. 

  

2.6.28  To make application for all consents required in relation to 

Building Regulation Approval in respect of Council land or 

property in relation to the functions for which they are 

responsible. 

  

 Cultural Facilities & Activities   

2.6.29  To exercise the Council’s functions relating to the provision 

and management of cultural facilities and activities. 

  

 Staffing matters   

2.6.30  To determine and take action in relation to all staff matters 

in accordance with the Officer Procedure Rules. 

Where specified 

in the Officer 

Procedure 

Rules, Assistant 

Director Legal & 

Democratic 

Services 

Assistant 

Director People 

& Change 

In accordance 

with Officer 

Procedure 

Rules and all 

Council 

policies and 

procedures. 

 

To exclude the 

determination 

of 

redundancies 

(voluntary or 

otherwise) and 

the 

determination 

of termination 

of contracts of 

employment 

on the 

854



201 

grounds of 

efficiency of 

the service. 

2.6.31  The approval of Special Severance Payments under 

£20,000 

 
Subject to 

demonstrating 

the economic 

rationale 

(including the 

availability of 

budgetary 

resources) 

and seeking 

legal advice 

on the 

prospects of 

successfully 

defending an 

Employment 

Tribunal claim 

 
 

3.  DELEGATIONS: SPECIFIC FUNCTIONS – ASSISTANT DIRECTORS AND HEADS OF 

SERVICE 

 
Subject to the foregoing, there are delegated to the Officer(s) listed below those matters detailed 

in column 2 subject to the consultation requirements in column 3 and limitations in column 4 

below. 

    

3.1  Assistant Director Housing, Homelessness & Prevention 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.1.1  To determine and take all action in 

relation to the management and 

maintenance of the Council’s 

housing accommodation including 

the letting, transfer, exchange and 

repossession of dwellings, garages, 

open spaces and parking spaces. 

  

3.1.2  To exercise the Council’s functions 

relating to homeless persons. 

 With the exception of 

requests for reviews 

under s.202 Housing Act 

1996.  

3.1.3  To determine applications for 

Housing Grants (not Social Housing 

Grants) and the taking of all steps 

concerned with certification of 

payment of the same. 

  

3.1.4  To devise, manage and maintain 

the Housing Register maintained by 

the Council under the relevant 

statutory provisions in accordance 

with the Council’s Housing 

Allocations Policy. 

  

3.1.5  To nominate people on the   

855



202 

Council’s Housing Register to 

properties managed by Adur 

Homes and the Registered Social 

Landlords in accordance with the 

Council’s Housing Allocations 

Policy. 

3.1.6  To exercise the Council’s regulatory 

functions in relation to Caravan 

sites, Fitness and Standards of 

Housing and Houses in Multiple 

Occupation. 

  

3.1.7  To determine and where 

appropriate give consent for 

alterations or extensions to former 

Council houses and flats. 

  

3.1.8  To lease property or land in 

connection with the Council’s 

housing function, for the purpose of 

providing emergency and 

temporary accommodation. 

To be exercised only after 

consultation with the 

relevant Leader, the 

Cabinet Member for 

Resources and the Chief 

Financial Officer. 

 

3.2  Head of Community, Capacity & Resilience 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.2.1  To implement the Council’s policies 

regarding Community Safety and 

the redirection of crime and 

disorder. 

  

3.2.2  To take any action to combat anti-

social behaviour including the issue 

of fixed penalty notices and 

community protection notices. 

  

3.2.3  To exercise the Council’s regulatory 

functions relating to: 

Amenities on the highway 

Environmental protection 

Food Safety and Hygiene 

Gambling 

Gaming permits 

Hackney Carriages and Drivers 

Health and Safety at Work 

House to house collections 

Highway management * 

Licensable activities under the 

Licensing Act 2003 

Lotteries 

Leisure Boats 

Private Hire Vehicles drivers 

and operators 

Public Health (including airports 

and port health) 

Public Safety 

Registration Plates 

Scrap metal dealers 

* Adur DC in relation to 

Highways Maintenance - 

the relevant Cabinet 

Member  

 

** Adur DC in relation to 

Street Trading - the 

relevant Cabinet Member  

 

856



203 

Shops and Sunday trading 

Street Collections 

Street Trading ** 

Drainage, Water and Sewerage 

Animal Boarding Licenses 

Pet Shops 

The Breeding of Dogs 

Sex Establishments 

Hypnosis 

Electrolysis 

Acupuncture 

Semi-permanent skin colouring 

Tattooing 

Cosmetic piercing 

3.2.4  To determine whether or not a 

simple caution should be 

administered following an 

investigation into an alleged 

criminal offence 

Assistant Director Legal & 

Democratic Services 

There must be a full 

admission 

It must be a minor matter 

It must be in the public 

interest 

It must be a first offence 

Copy to be sent with 

reasons to the Head of 

Legal Services 

To exclude the 

administration of the 

caution. 

3.2.5  All matters relating to the 

investigation of matters under the 

Health & Safety at Work legislation. 

Assistant Director Legal & 

Democratic Services 

Duly appointed inspectors 

3.2.6  To exercise the Councils’ regulatory 

functions relating to Animal 

Welfare. 

  

3.3  Head of Resident Services 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.3.1  To determine any applications for 

Housing Benefit, Council Tax 

Support or similar benefits. 

  

3.3.2  To make payments of Housing 

Benefit and Council Tax Support or 

similar benefits 

  

3.3.3  To take all necessary actions 

relating to the demand, collection 

and the recovery of Council Tax 

Rates, National Non-Domestic 

Rates and any other local levy or 

collected taxes. 

  

3.3.4  To determine entitlement to 

mandatory, discretionary and other 

rate relief applications, including 

National Non-Domestic Rate relief. 

  

3.3.5  To serve on the Valuation Officer 

notice of objection to any proposals 

for alteration of the Valuation List. 

  

857



204 

3.3.6  To make proposals for the 

alteration of the Valuation List or for 

inclusion of particular properties in 

the Valuation List. 

  

3.3.7  To sign off Valuation Agreements.   

3.4  Assistant Director Operations & Sustainability 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.4.1  All matters relating to on and off 

street parking 

In respect of Adur District 

Council, consultation with 

the relevant Cabinet 

Member 

 

3.4.2  To exercise the Councils’ regulatory 

functions relating to burials, issuing 

exclusive rights of burial, rights to 

erect memorials, cremations and 

the maintenance of churchyards 

  

3.4.3  To manage (including the authority 

to agree usage) and maintain burial 

grounds and crematoria within the 

Council’s control 

  

3.4.4  To charge fees for medical referees   

3.4.5  To collect, remove, recycle and 

dispose of waste 

  

3.4.6  To collect, remove, recycle and 

dispose of litter 

  

3.4.7  To collect, remove, recycle and 

dispose of abandoned or 

unauthorised vehicles 

  

3.4.8  To determine and communicate the 

Council’s position relating to Goods 

Vehicle Operators licences 

  

3.4.9  To authorise the waiving or 

reduction of charges for special 

refuse collections, commercial 

waste collections, green waste 

collections and clinical waste 

collections 

  

3.4.10  To undertake vehicle testing and 

issue Ministry of Transport 

Certificates and to make 

appropriate charges, and to waive 

and reduce such charges 

  

3.4.11  To take any action to combat anti-

social behaviour including the issue 

of fixed penalty notices or 

community penalty notices for 

littering, fly tipping, breach of public 

space protection orders, unlawful 

camping and dog fouling 

  

3.4.12  To issue fixed penalty notices upon 

commercial traders for unlawful 

management of commercial waste 

 

  

858



205 

3.4.13  To take any action necessary with 

regard to the Council’s Emergency 

Planning functions 

  

3.4.14  To exercise the Council’s regulatory 

function relating to Pest Control 

  

3.4.15  To exercise the Council’s regulatory 

functions relating to: 

Amenities on the highway 

Environmental protection 

Food Safety and Hygiene 

Gambling 

Gaming permits 

Hackney Carriages and Drivers 

Health and Safety at Work 

House to house collections 

Highway management * 

Licensable activities under the 

Licensing Act 2003 

Lotteries 

Leisure Boats 

Private Hire Vehicles drivers 

and operators 

Public Health (including airports 

and port health) 

Public Safety 

Registration Plates 

Scrap metal dealers 

Shops and Sunday trading 

Street Collections 

Street Trading ** 

Drainage, Water and Sewerage 

Animal Boarding Licenses 

Pet Shops 

The Breeding of Dogs 

Sex Establishments 

Hypnosis 

Electrolysis 

Acupuncture 

Semi-permanent skin colouring 

Tattooing 

Cosmetic piercing 

* Adur DC in relation to 

Highways Maintenance - 

the relevant Cabinet 

Member  

 

** Adur DC in relation to 

Street Trading - the 

relevant Cabinet Member 

 

3.4.16  All matters relating to the 

investigation of matters under the 

Health & Safety at Work legislation. 

Assistant Director Legal & 

Democratic Services 

Duly appointed inspectors 

3.4.17  To exercise the Councils’ regulatory 

functions relating to Animal 

Welfare. 

  

3.4.18 To exercise the Council’s regulatory 

functions in respect of street trading 

  

3.5  Head of Planning    

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.5.1  All matters relating to the naming 

and numbering of streets. 

Relevant Planning 

Committee Adur DC - 

 

859



206 

relevant Cabinet Member, 

Ward member and where 

practicable the Planning 

Committee 

3.5.2  To issue and serve notices 

pursuant to the Building Act 1984 

and Building Regulations and to 

carry out works in default. 

  

3.5.3  To decide all Building Regulations 

applications in accordance with 

Building Regulations current at time 

of deposit. 

  

3.5.4  To determine all relevant charges in 

accordance with the Building 

(Prescribed Fees) Regulations 

2010 as amended 

  

3.5.5  To determine applications for 

Planning permission, listed building 

consent, conservation area 

consent, express consent to display 

advertisements, hazardous 

substances consent pursuant to the 

Planning Acts, including: 

 

a. development specified in the 

GPDO where expressed planning 

permission is required by reason of 

limitations or conditions by that 

order; and 

 

b. determinations in connection with 

prior notification procedure under 

T&CP (General Permitted 

Development) Order. 

 The delegation shall not 

be exercised in relation 

to: 

 

a. applications requiring 

the Secretary of State to 

be notified under the 

Town and Country 

(Development Plans and 

Consultations) 

(Departures) Direction 

2009; 

 

b. applications  

for development requiring 

an environmental impact 

assessment but excluding 

applications for a 

screening or scoping 

opinion in connection with 

an environmental impact 

assessment; 

 

c. applications comprising 

‘major ‘development 

within the meaning of the 

T&CP (General Permitted 

Development) Order, 

other than applications for 

amendments to major 

developments where 

those amendments are 

either minor or non-

material. Members will be 

notified when such minor 

or non-material 

amendments to major 

860



207 

applications have been 

approved; 

 

d. applications for 

development which 

conflicts materially with 

the Local Plan; 

 

e. applications materially 

affecting ancient 

monuments, and sites of 

special scientific interest; 

 

f. applications made by on 

behalf of jointly with or 

promoted by the Council, 

a parish Council, West 

Sussex County Council 

any other local authority; 

 

g. where the application 

has been made by a 

Member of Adur District 

Council or Worthing 

Borough Council, or by an 

Officer of either Council 

who is either the Chief 

Executive, a Chief Officer, 

Deputy Chief Officer, 

Planning Services 

Manager or Planning 

Policy Manager, or who 

works within the Planning 

and Development Section  

 

h. where a member of the 

Council not more than 28 

days after validation of an 

application requests 

otherwise, subject to 

providing valid planning 

reasons. 

3.5.6  To determine applications for 

consent pursuant to the conditions 

and limitations under the Planning 

Acts. 

  

3.5.7  To determine the Council’s stance 

in respect of and respond to 

consultation opinions concerning 

matters including, but not limited to, 

Neighbourhood Plans and WSCC 

planning applications, unless they 

are for ‘major’ development within 

In respect of 

Neighbourhood Plans, in 

consultation with Relevant 

Cabinet Member. 

 

Members will be notified 

when minor amendments 

 

861



208 

the meaning of the T&CP (General 

Development Procedure) Order 

(other than those where the 

proposed amendment is minor or 

non-material). 

to ‘major’ applications 

have been approved. 

3.5.8  To determine applications for lawful 

development certificates (Town and 

Country Planning Acts Sections 191 

and 192). 

Assistant Director Legal & 

Democratic Services 

where necessary. 

 

3.5.9  To give, make and confirm any 

Order or Direction under the 

Planning Acts 

  

3.5.10  To issue, serve, modify and 

withdraw any Notice under the 

Planning Acts and to carry out 

works in default including ruins and 

dilapidated buildings and neglected 

sites (Building Act 1984, Section 

79). 

  

3.5.11  To determine applications and to 

take any action under Anti-Social 

Behaviour Act (2003) Part 8 (High 

Hedges). 

  

3.5.12  Subject to the limitations imposed 

above to determine the Council’s 

stance in respect of and respond to 

consultations and opinions 

concerning matters referred to 

above. 

  

3.5.13  All matters relating to the Planning 

(Hazardous Substances) Act, 1990. 

  

3.5.14  To issue and serve notices in 

relation to breaches of conditions in 

relation to planning permissions. 

  

3.5.15  To negotiate and enter into 

planning or other agreements 

regulating or controlling the use of 

development of land. 

 Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

Not where the 

determining body for any 

associated planning 

application is a 

committee. 

3.5.16  To make minor amendments in 

planning or other agreements 

regulating or controlling the use or 

development of land where the 

determining body for any 

associated planning application is a 

committee. 

 Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

 

3.5.17  To issue serve modify or withdraw 

any enforcement action or notices 

under the Planning Acts, etc. 

 Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

 

3.6  Chief Financial Officer   

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.6.1  To take any action relating to 

borrowing in accordance with the 

  

862



209 

Council’s borrowing strategy. 

3.6.2  To borrow by way of bank overdraft 

from the Council’s current bankers 

subject to annual review by the 

bank and the Cabinet Member for 

Resources.  

Cabinet Member for 

Resources 

£1,000,000 

3.6.3  To make payments into the 

insurance fund. 

  

3.6.4  To make payments in respect of 

any claims where the Council’s 

insurers may be involved. 

  

3.6.5  To invest available funds on 

appropriate terms and in 

accordance with the Council’s 

investment strategy. 

  

3.6.6  To make payment of any sums due 

from the Council. 

  

3.6.7  To make repayments to the West 

Sussex County Council Pension 

Fund from those reserves 

earmarked for pensions 

contributions. 

  

3.6.8  To write off debts.  In accordance with the 

Financial Procedure 

Rules 

3.6.9  To investigate allegations of 

housing benefit or council tax 

benefit fraud. 

 Not exercisable in respect 

of ADC. 

3.6.10  To investigate and report upon any 

allegations of fraud or dishonesty. 

  

3.6.11  In respect of housing benefit and 

council tax fraud, to determine 

whether or not a simple caution or 

administrative penalty should be 

administered following an 

investigation into an alleged 

criminal offence. 

Assistant Director Legal & 

Democratic Services 

Not exercisable in respect 

of ADC. 

There must be a full 

admission 

It must be a 1st offence 

It must be for sums less 

than £500 

It must be in the public 

interest 

It must not be a complex 

fraud or attempted fraud 

Copy to be sent with 

reasons to EHC&CS 

3.6.12  In respect of housing benefit and 

council tax fraud, to administer 

simple cautions and administrative 

penalties. 

 Not exercisable in respect 

of ADC. 

3.6.13  To settle any claims where the 

Council’s Insurers may be involved. 

Assistant Director Legal & 

Democratic Services and 

any other relevant Officer. 

 

3.6.14  To approve the recommended 

scale of Returning Officer’s 

  

863



210 

Expenditure for Local Government 

Elections, Polls and Referendums 

in West Sussex, as proposed by the 

Returning Officer for West Sussex 

County Council. 

3.7  Assistant Director People & Change 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.7.1  To confirm the appointment of staff 

on the satisfactory completion of 

probationary period. 

Appropriate Assistant 

Director 

 

3.7.2  To implement decisions arising 

from the Council’s pay and grading 

procedure. 

 

  

3.7.3  To implement any nationally agreed 

pay settlements. 

Chief Financial Officer  

3.7.4  To maintain a register of politically 

restricted posts and ancillary 

matters. 

  

3.7.5  To comply with all legislation and 

government guidance on 

transparency in pay within the 

Council, including taking the annual 

Pay Policy Statement to Council 

  

3.7.6  To execute settlement agreements 

between the Council and its 

employees or former employees in 

circumstances where redundancy 

or termination of contract on the 

grounds of efficiency of the service 

have been approved. 

 Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

 

3.7.7  To make minor, inconsequential 

and administrative amendments to 

the Councils’ Human Resources 

Policies 

Chairs of the Joint Staff 

Committee 

 

3.8   Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services and Monitoring Officer 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.8.1  Legal Proceedings: 

a. To determine what, if any legal 

action should be taken following 

any investigation into a criminal 

matter (except in relation to 

Health & Safety at Work). 

b. To institute, prosecute or 

terminate any proceedings which 

the Council is empowered to 

undertake in or before any Court, 

Tribunal, Inquiry or by way of 

Fixed Penalty Notice or 

Community Penalty Notice 

(except in relation to Health & 

Safety at Work). 

c. To defend or settle any 

 In respect of settling legal 

proceedings a 

confidentiality clause may 

not be included unless the 

prior written agreement 

has been obtained from 

the Leader (or Deputy 

Leader in their absence) 

and the Leader of the 

Main Opposition (or 

Deputy in their absence). 

864



211 

proceedings brought against the 

Council (except in relation to 

Health & Safety at Work). 

d. To take any action incidental or 

inclusive to or which would 

facilitate any action under this 

paragraph. 

e. To administer simple cautions. 

f. To determine whether or not any 

legal proceedings should be 

taken in any particular case or 

set of circumstances. 

3.8.2  To appoint and instruct legal 

service providers including external 

Solicitors and Barristers. 

  

3.8.3  To determine whether or not a 

simple caution or other alternative 

to prosecution should be 

administered following an 

investigation into an alleged 

criminal offence. 

  

3.8.4  To settle any claims where the 

Council’s Insurers may be involved. 

Chief Financial Officer  

3.8.5  To negotiate and enter into 

planning or other agreements 

regulating or controlling the use of 

development of land. 

Head of Planning  Not where the 

determining body for any 

associated planning 

application is a 

committee. 

3.8.6  To make minor amendments to 

planning or other agreements 

regulating or controlling the use or 

development of land where the 

determining body for any 

associated planning application is a 

committee. 

Head of Planning   

3.8.7  To issue, serve, modify or withdraw 

any enforcement action or notices 

under the Planning Acts, etc. 

Head of Planning   

3.8.8  To carry out or authorise the 

carrying out of works in default 

under any statutory provisions 

(including Notices concerning 

ruinous and dilapidated or 

dangerous buildings and neglected 

sites. 

  

3.8.9  To determine applications under the 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Acts 1982 Section 37 in 

respect of Temporary Markets. 

  

3.8.10  To give, make and confirm any 

Order or Direction under the 

Planning Acts including Tree 

Preservation Orders (and 

Head of Planning  Not to confirm if there are 

any objections 

865



212 

associated applications for consent 

for works) and notification of works 

to trees in conservation areas. 

3.8.11  To exercise the Council’s powers 

relating to temporary road closures.  

  

3.8.12  To seal any document on behalf of 

the Council. 

  

3.8.13  To negotiate and agree the terms of 

any contract. 

 In accordance with the 

Contract Procedure 

Rules. 

3.8.14  To sign any contract on behalf of 

the Council. 

 In accordance with the 

Contract Procedure 

Rules. 

3.8.15  To authorise the attendance of 

officers at Court under any statutory 

provision. 

  

3.8.16  To authorise service of any 

statutory requisition for information 

as to interests in land. 

  

3.8.17  To execute any legal document on 

behalf of the Council. 

  

3.8.18  All matters relating to consultations 

with Sussex Police and other 

bodies in relation to Anti-Social 

Behaviour. 

  

3.8.19  All matters relating to the 

consecration of land. 

  

3.8.20  To issue, serve, suspend or 

withdraw any notices in respect of 

any matter for which the Council 

has power to act. 

  

3.8.21  To respond to requests for review 

under Data Protection and Freedom 

of Information legislation. 

  

3.8.22  All matters relating to the 

investigation of matters under the 

Health & Safety at Work legislation. 

  

3.8.23  To make minor or inconsequential 

amendments to the Constitution. 

  

3.8.24  To make orders relating to Public 

Spaces Protection Order in 

accordance with the Anti-social 

Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 

2014. 

  

3.8.25  To grant dispensations in respect of 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests in 

accordance with the Localism Act 

2011. 

  

3.8.26  To determine the approval of the 

Adur District Council and Worthing 

Borough Council Crest/Coat of 

Arms in appropriate circumstances. 

In consultation with the 

Leader.  

 

3.8.27  To act as the Councils’ Co-ordinator In accordance with the  

866



213 

in respect of all Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

matters 

Councils’ Surveillance 

Policy 

3.9  Assistant Director Place & Economy 

No Delegation Consultation Limitations 

3.9.1  To approve and grant seasonal 

concession licence agreements on 

behalf of the Councils 

In consultation with the 

relevant Cabinet Member, 

the Assistant Director 

Legal & Democratic 

Services and the Head of 

Planning 

 

3.9.2  To approve non animal related 

Circuses 

In consultation with 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability and the 

relevant Cabinet Member 

To be limited to a 

maximum of 3 per year in 

Adur District Council. 

 

To be limited to a 

maximum of 3 per year in 

Worthing Borough 

Council 

3.9.3  To exercise the Councils’ regulatory 

functions relating to markets, filming 

permits, public art and bus shelter 

advertising 

Assistant Director Legal & 

Democratic Services 

 

3.9.4  To manage the function of Events 

Management 

In consultation with the 

Assistant Director People 

& Change and Emergency 

Planning Officer, and 

where the event is 

expected to be attended 

by 500 people or more, 

the Leader of the relevant 

Council. 

 

3.9.5  Effective running of Colonnade 

House 

In consultation with the 

relevant Executive 

Member 

 

3.9.6  Overseeing the successful delivery 

of Public Realm projects 

In consultation with the 

relevant Executive 

Member  

 

3.9.7  To exercise the Council’s functions 

relating to the provision and 

management of recreational 

facilities 

  

3.9.8  To manage (including the authority 

to agree usage) and maintain all the 

parks, pleasure grounds, gardens, 

open spaces, commons, 

recreational facilities and nature 

reserves within the Council’s control 

Adur DC the relevant 

Cabinet Member in cases 

where the authority is 

required to agree usage 

 

3.9.9  All matters related to the Council’s 

powers and duties in relation to the 

coast, rivers and harbours 

  

867



214 

3.9.10  All matters relating to pleasure 

boats, boatman’s licences, 

fisherman’s agreements 

  

3.9.11  All matters relating to coastal and 

dredging licence applications 

 

 Such development must 

be permitted in a General 

Permitted Development 

Order or have been 

granted planning 

permission 

3.9.12  To determine as landowner or 

landlord applications for licences, 

consents and permissions in 

respect of the Council’s parks and 

foreshore buildings or land 

Cabinet Members for 

Resources and Cabinet 

Members for Environment 

 

3.9.13  To undertake all matters related to 

the inspection and maintenance of 

Council owned trees 

Where a tree is subject to 

a Tree Preservation 

Order, only to be 

exercised in consultation 

with the Head of Planning  

 

3.9.14  To undertake all matters relating to 

the design, installation, inspection 

and maintenance of all Council 

owned play areas 

In respect of design and 

installation to be 

exercised only in 

consultation with the 

Engineering section 

 

3.9.15  To take any action to combat anti-

social behaviour including the issue 

of fixed penalty notices or 

community penalty notices for 

littering, fly tipping, breach of public 

space protection orders, unlawful 

camping and dog fouling 

  

3.9.16  To exercise the Council’s powers in 

respect of water supply, sewerage 

and drainage. 

  

3.9.17  To exercise the Council’s powers in 

respect of land drainage. 

Adur DC - relevant 

Cabinet Member 

 

3.10  Assistant Director Regenerative Development 

3.10.1  To manage the improvement, 

refurbishment, maintenance and 

new build provision of the Council’s 

non-housing property portfolio not 

specifically the responsibility of 

other officers. 

  

3.10.2  To acquire land in connection with 

the Council’s functions and to take 

leases, easements, licences and 

wayleaves of, in, or over buildings 

or land in connection with the 

Council’s functions. 

Where acquisition of land 

is purchased through the 

Strategic Investment 

Fund, the delegation is to 

be exercised in 

consultation with the 

Leader, Cabinet Member 

for Resources and the 

 

868



215 

Chief Financial Officer 

3.10.3  To dispose of land in connection 

with the Council’s functions and to 

grant leases, easements, licences 

and wayleaves of, in, or over 

buildings or land in connection with 

the Council’s functions. 

 Disposal of land is only 

authorised where the 

value is £50,000 or less 

3.10.4  To determine as landowner or 

landlord applications for licences, 

consents and permissions in 

respect of the Council’s buildings or 

land. 

Cabinet Member for 

Resources 

 

3.10.5  To acquire property or land in 

connection with the Council’s 

housing function, for the purpose of 

providing emergency and 

temporary accommodation. 

To be exercised only after 

consultation with the 

relevant Leader, Cabinet 

Member for Resources, 

Chief Financial Officer 

and Assistant Director, 

Housing, Homelessness & 

Prevention. 

 

3.10.6  To exercise the Council’s powers 

affecting the design or maintenance 

of highways 

  

3.11  Head of Technology & Design  [No Existing Delegations] 

3.11.1      

  

869



216 

Proper Officer and Authorised Officer Functions 
 
The Council designates Proper Officers to carry out functions allocated by law. Power to appoint 
Proper Officers is delegated to the Chief Executive, following consultation with the Monitoring 
Officer, unless legislation requires the appointment to be made by Full Council.  
 
The following Proper Officer and/or authorised officer functions listed in column 3 are assigned to 
the officers and deputies in columns 4 and 5. 
 
Functions relating to Officers 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.2(4) Local 

Government 

and Housing Act 

1989 

To maintain a list of 

politically restricted posts 

Assistant Director People 

& Change 

 

s.3A Local 

Government 

and Housing Act 

1989 

To determine applications 

for exemption from the list of 

politically restricted posts 

Chief Executive in 

consultation with the 

Monitoring Officer 

Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

s.4 Local 

Government 

and Housing Act 

1989 

Head of Paid Service Chief Executive Nominated Director 

s.5 Local 

Government 

and Housing Act 

1989 

Monitoring Officer Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitors 

Sch.1, Part II, 

Paras.5-6 Local 

Authorities 

(Standing 

Orders) 

(England) 

Regulations 

2001 

Notification to Cabinet and 

objections to be considered 

concerning appointment or 

dismissal of Head of Paid 

Service, Chief Officers or 

Deputy Chief Officers 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 

Officer(s) 

 Any reference to the Clerk 

of a council which, by virtue 

of the Local Government 

Act 1972, is to be construed 

as a reference to the Proper 

Officer of the Council 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 

Officer(s) 

 Any reference to the 

Treasurer of a council 

which, by virtue of the Local 

Government Act 1972, is to 

be construed as reference 

to the Proper Officer of the 

Council 

Chief Financial Officer  

    

Functions relating to Democratic Process 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.8 

Representation 

Electoral Registration 

Officer 

Chief Executive Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

870



217 

of the People 

Act 1983 

s.35 

Representation 

of the People 

Act 1983 

Returning Officer Chief Executive Officer(s) appointed in 

writing by the Returning 

Officer 

s.52 

Representation 

of the People 

Act 1983 

Deputy Electoral 

Registration Officer 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

s.67(7)(b) 

Representation 

of the People 

Act 1983 

Receive declarations and 

give public notice of election 

agents’ appointments 

Director for Sustainability 

&Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

ss.81, 82 and 

89 

Representation 

of the People 

Act 1983 

To receive, inspect and 

publish returns and 

declarations of election 

expenses 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

 Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

 

Sch.29 Para.4 

Representation 

of the People 

Act 1983 

Undertake duties at council 

elections which are required 

to be undertaken not by the 

Returning Officer but by the 

Proper Officer 

Chief Executive Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

s.131 

Representation 

of the People 

Act 1983 

Providing accommodation 

for holding election count 

Chief Executive Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

s.83 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Declarations of acceptance 

of office 

Chief Executive Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

s.84 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Receipt of resignations Chief Executive Director for Sustainability 

& Resources  

s.86 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

To declare any vacancy in 

office 

Chief Executive Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

s.88(2) Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Convene a meeting to fill a 

vacancy of a chair 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

 Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

s.89(1) Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Receive from two electors 

notices of casual vacancies 

of Councillors 

Chief Executive Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

s.100B(2), (7)(c) 

and 100H Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Excluding from the public 

reports which are not likely 

to be considered in open 

session; and provision to 

the press/public of other 

documents provided to 

members where the Proper 

Officer thinks fit 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 

Officer(s) 

s.100C(2) Local Where part or the whole of Director for  Sustainability  Assistant Director 

871



218 

Government Act 

1972 

the report has been exempt 

the Proper Officer shall 

make a written summary of 

the proceedings or a part to 

provide a record without 

disclosing the exempt 

information. 

& Resources Operations & 

Sustainability 

s.100D(1)(a) 

and (5)(a) Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Compilation of list of 

background documents 

relied upon to a material 

extent in producing the 

report or disclosing 

important facts 

Author of report  

s.100F(2) Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Deciding whether 

documents for inspection in 

connection with Committees 

contain exempt information 

under a paragraph of 

Schedule 12A 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 

Officer(s) 

Sch.29 

Para.4(1)(b) 

Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Adaptation, modification and 

amendment of enactments 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 

Officer(s) 

s.41 Local 

Government 

Miscellaneous 

Provisions Act 

1976 

To certify copies of 

Resolutions Orders reports 

or Minutes of the Council or 

any Predecessor Authority 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

ss.15-17 Local 

Government 

and Housing Act 

1989 

Undertake all matters 

relating to the formal 

establishment of Political 

Groups, and give effect to 

the wishes of Political 

Groups in making 

appointments of members 

to committees 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Regs.8-10, 13-

15 and 17 Local 

Government 

(Committees 

and Political 

Groups) 

Regulations 

1990 

Receipt of notice re Political 

Groups; give effect to the 

wishes of Political Groups in 

making appointments of 

members to committees 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Part 3 Local 

Government Act 

1974 

Local Government 

Ombudsman functions, 

including giving public 

notice of reports 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources in 

consultation with 

Monitoring Officer 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Sch.2 Para.54 

Local Elections 

(Principal 

Areas)(England 

Registration officer for the 

retention and destruction of 

documents following an 

election 

Chief Executive Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

872



219 

and Wales) 

Rules 2006 

Local 

Authorities 

(Referendum) 

(Petitions) 

(England) 

Regulations 

2011 

Publish the verification 

number of local government 

electors for the purpose of 

petitions under s.34 Local 

Government Act 2000 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Local 

Authorities 

(Conduct of 

Referendums) 

(England) 

Regulations 

2012 

Proper Officer function Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

s.29 Localism 

Act 2011 

Establish and maintain a 

register of members’ and 

co-opted members’ interests 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 

Officer(s) 

s.30-31 

Localism Act 

2011 

Receipt of members’ and 

co-opted members’ 

declarations of interests and 

changes to those interest 

within 28 days 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 

Officer(s) 

s.32 Localism 

Act 2011 

Sensitive interests Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 

Officer(s) 

s.33 Localism 

Act 2011 

Dispensations from 

restrictions under s.31(4) 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 

Officer(s) 

Local 

Authorities 

(Executive 

Arrangements) 

(Meetings and 

Access to 

Information) 

(England) 

Regulations 

2012 

Functions relating to the 

recording and publication of 

information relating to 

Executive decisions; inform 

the relevant Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee Chairs 

or the Committee Members 

of decisions to be made 

where it has been 

impracticable to comply with 

the publicity requirements 

(in the Forward Plan) and 

publish notices relating to 

this; publish a written 

statement of Executive 

decisions and background 

papers; determine whether 

certain documents contain 

exempt or confidential 

information; grant 

dispensations in respect of 

conflicts of interest declared 

by a Cabinet Member 

making a decision, or 

declared by a Cabinet 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

873



220 

Member consulted by a 

member or officer taking 

such a decision 

s. 21A Local 

Government Act 

2000 (as 

amended) 

Decision making in respect 

of Councillor Call for Action 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Functions relating to Finance 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

All legislation 

prior to 1 April 

1972; s.151 

Local 

Government Act 

1972; and 

ss.114-116 

Local 

Government 

Finance Act 

1988 

Proper Officer in relation to 

references to Treasurer or 

District Treasurer; the officer 

responsible for the proper 

management of the 

Council’s financial affairs 

and for making reports to 

Cabinet/Council 

Chief Financial Officer Deputy s.151 Officer(s) 

All legislation 

prior to 1 April 

1972 

Proper Officer in relation to 

declarations and certificates 

with regard to securities 

Chief Financial Officer Deputy s.151 Officer(s) 

s.115(2) Local 

Government Act 

1972 

For receipt of monies due to 

the Council from Officers 

Chief Financial Officer Deputy s.151 Officer(s) 

s.146(1) Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Sign the statutory 

declaration to enable the 

transfer of securities in the 

event of a change in the 

name or status of the 

council 

Chief Financial Officer Deputy s.151 Officer(s) 

Functions relating to Legal Processes 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.229 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

To certify photographic 

copies of documents to be a 

true copy (other than those 

under Public Records Act 

1958) 

Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.234 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

To sign Notices Orders or 

other documents authorised 

or required by or under any 

Enactment 

Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.236 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

To send copies of Byelaws 

to Parish and Community 

Councils to which they 

apply. 

Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.238 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Certification of printed 

copies of bylaws 

Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.36 Freedom of 

Information Act 

2000 

Non-disclosure where 

potential to prejudice the 

effective conduct of public 

Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services 

Senior Solicitor(s) 

874



221 

affairs 

Sch.12 

Para.4(2)(b) 

Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Signing and serving 

summonses to attend 

meetings of the council 

Director for  Sustainability 

& Resources 

 Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Sch.12 

Para.4(3) Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Receive written notice from 

a Member of the address to 

which a summons to the 

meeting is to be sent 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

 Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Sch.12 Para.25 

Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Certifying copy resolutions 

of the council passed before 

1975 disapplying public 

health statutes 

Director for  Sustainability 

& Resources 

 Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Court Representation 

Every Solicitor, Barrister or Chartered Legal Executive employed or engaged by the Council 

(irrespective of their job title) shall be authorised to appear on its behalf before any Court, Tribunal 

or other hearing before which they have a Right of Audience and to exercise the powers given by 

the relevant professional body. 

In addition to the powers delegated in Section 3 above and the rights to appear in Court detailed 

in paragraphs 4.4.7, the following Officers in column 4 are authorised to appear on behalf of the 

Council and to conduct proceedings in Court in relation to the functions mentioned in column 3. 

There may be Officers other than those listed in 4.7 who are authorised to appear in Court on 

behalf of the Council by virtue of the Monitoring Officer’s delegation at 3.8.16 to provide such 

authorisation. Any authorisations made under delegation 3.8.16 will be recorded in writing and 

shall be provided to the Monitoring Officer within five working days and made available on the 

intranet. 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.223 Local 

Government Act 

1972 and s.60 

County Courts 

Act 1984 

In respect of possession 

matters and for any purpose 

for which the Council is 

empowered to authorise 

Officers to appear on its 

behalf 

Legal Assistants 

Trainee Solicitors 

 

s.223 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

In respect of National Non-

Domestic Rating or Council 

Tax matters 

Head of Resident 

Services 

 

 

 

 

 

Head of Resident 

Services (in consultation 

with Monitoring Officer) 

Revenues & Benefits 

Operations Manager, 

Revenues and Recovery 

Team Leader, Court 

Officer 

Part 9 

Insolvency 

Rules 1986 

Examination of persons 

concerning company and 

individual insolvency 

 

Part I Health 

and Safety at 

Work etc. 1974 

 Head of Community, 

Capacity & Resilience (in 

consultation with 

Monitoring Officer) 

 

Functions in relation to Public Health 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.79 Public 

Health Act 1936 

Removal of Noxious Matter Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

875



222 

& Schedule 29 

Part 1 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Sustainability 

s.84 Public 

Health Act 1936 

& Schedule 29 

Part 1 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Verminous Articles Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

s.85 Public 

Health Act 1936 

& Schedule 29 

Part 1 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Verminous People Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Part XI Local 

Government 

Miscellaneous 

Provisions Act 

1982 

Public Health Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Part 1 Section 

48 Care Act 

2014 

Removal of people in need Director for Housing & 

Communities and 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Officers of Health 

Authority etc. authorised 

under Section 113 (1A) 

of the Local Government 

Act 1972 

s.37 Public 

Health Act 1961 

Verminous Articles Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

ss.48 and 59 

Public Health 

(Control of 

Disease) Act 

1984 (as 

amended) 

Infectious diseases and 

dead bodies; preparation of 

certificate to Justice of 

Peace for removal of body 

to mortuary and for burial; 

authentication of documents 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Sch.14 

Paragraph 25(7) 

Local 

Government Act 

1972 

To certify copies of 

Resolutions applying or 

disapplying provisions of the 

Public Health Act 1875 to 

1925  

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Food Safety Act 

1990 (as 

amended) 

Food Safety and 

authentication of documents 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

s.40 Anti-Social 

Behaviour Act 

2003 

Closure order in respect of 

noisy premises where public 

nuisance 

Chief Executive Director for Housing & 

Communities 

s.78 Building 

Act 1984 

Authorise action in relation 

to dangerous structures 

Appropriate Director Appropriate Assistant 

Director 

European 

Communities 

Act 1972 

Food Safety Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability  

Animal Welfare 

Act 2006 (as 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

876



223 

amended) & Pet 

Animals Act 

1951 (as 

amended) 

Sustainability 

Caravan Sites 

and Control of 

Development 

Act 1960 

 Director for Housing & 

Communities 

Head of Community, 

Capacity & Resilience 

Animal Boarding 

Establishments 

Act 1963 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Riding 

Establishments 

Act 1964 and 

1970 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Scrap Metal 

Dealers Act 

2013 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Animal Welfare 

Act 2006 and 

1991 & 

Breeding and 

Sale of Dogs 

(Welfare) Act 

1999 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

s.41 Local 

Government 

(Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 

1976 

Certifying copy resolutions 

and minutes of proceedings 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Parts 1 and 2 

Local 

Government 

Miscellaneous 

Provisions Act 

1976 

To carry out the Council 

functions relevant to these 

parts of the Act 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources and 

Director for Housing & 

Communities 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability and Head 

of Community, Capacity 

& Resilience 

Zoo Licensing 

Act 1981 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Parts II, III VII, 

VIII and XI Local 

Government 

(Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 

1982 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Public Health 

(Control of 

Disease) Act 

1984 and 

regulations 

made 

thereunder  

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Control of  Director for Sustainability Assistant Director 

877



224 

Pollution 

(Amendment) 

Act 1989 

& Resources Operations & 

Sustainability 

Clean 

Neighbourhoods 

and 

Environment Act 

2005  

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Health Act 2006 

Chapter 1 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Part 4 Anti-

social 

Behaviour, 

Crime and 

Policing Act 

2014 

 Director for Housing & 

Communities 

Head of Community, 

Capacity & Resilience 

Parts 1, 2, 2A 

and 3 

Environmental 

Protection Act 

1990 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Part 4 

Environment Act 

1995 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

s.108 

Environment Act 

1995 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Part 1 & Part 3 

Prevention of 

Damage by 

Pests Act 1949 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Control of 

Pollution Act 

1974 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Dangerous Wild 

Animals Act 

1976 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Refuse Disposal 

(Amenity) Act 

1978 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Town Police 

Clauses Act 

1847 

 Director for Housing & 

Communities 

Head of Resident 

Services 

Housing Act 

1985, 1989 and 

2004 

 Director for Housing & 

Communities 

Assistant Director 

Housing, Homelessness 

& Prevention 

Clean Air Act 

1993 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Pollution 

Prevention and 

Control Act 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

878



225 

1999 

Environmental 

Damage 

(Prevention and 

Remediation) 

Regulations 

2015 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Health and 

Safety at Work 

1974 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Animal Welfare 

Act 2006 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

s.59 Building 

Act 1984 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

House to House 

Collections Act 

1939 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Police, 

Factories, etc. 

(Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 

1916 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Hypnotism Act 

1952 

 Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

Miscellaneous Functions 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

s.100G Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Maintain a list of members Director for  Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

s.100G Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Maintain a list of delegations 

to officers and the like 

Monitoring Officer Deputy Monitoring 

Officer(s) 

s.146(1)(a) 

Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Statutory Declaration re 

Change of Name of the 

Authority in connection with 

Companies 

Monitoring Officer Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.191(2) Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Receive applications from 

Ordnance Survey for 

assistance in surveying 

disputed boundaries 

Director for Place Assistant Director 

Regenerative 

Development and Head 

of Planning 

s.210 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

In respect of powers with 

regard to charities 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

s.225 Local 

Government Act 

1972 

Deposit of documents in 

accordance with Standing 

Orders of either House of 

Parliament, Enactment or 

Statutory Instrument 

Monitoring Officer Senior Solicitor(s) 

s.248 Local 

Government Act 

To keep the roll of Freeman 

of City or Town in District 

Chief Executive Director for Sustainability 

& Resources 

879



226 

1972 

ss.69, 70-71 

Data Protection 

Act 2018 

Designated Data Protection 

Officer 

Senior Information 

Governance Officer 

 

Any other 

provisions for 

which 

arrangements 

are not 

specifically 

made under this 

Scheme of 

Delegation 

Any other legislation 

whether made before or 

after this list was approved 

and requiring a Proper 

Officer or authorised officer 

where not otherwise stated 

in the Council’s approved 

scheme of delegations from 

time to time 

Chief Executive  

Functions in relation to Entry of Land/Premises 

The Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services, Senior Solicitors, 

Solicitors, Senior Legal Executives, Legal Executives and Emergency Planning Officer shall be 

authorised to enter land or premises in relation to any function of the Council, subject to any 

applicable statutory constraints. 

In addition to the powers delegated in Section 3 above, the following Officers in column 4 are 

authorised to enter land or premises for or in connection with their duties and pursuant to the 

functions mentioned in column 3, subject to any applicable statutory constraints. 

An Officer authorised to enter land is also authorised to seek a warrant to enter. 

An Officer authorised to enter land may take with them such other persons and equipment as may 

be necessary. 

The right to enter given by paragraph 4.7 shall extend to the exercise of the power to make 

inspections, to provide samples and to examine and seize goods. 

Environmental Health, Housing etc. 

Act Function Officer Deputy 

 Animal Welfare 

Caravan Sites 

Environmental Protection 

Food Safety and Hygiene 

Health and Safety at Work 

Housing 

Licensing Act 2003 

Pest Control 

Public Health 

Public Safety 

Scrap Metal Dealers 

Shop Acts 

Street Trading 

Sunday Trading 

Gambling Act 2005 

Animal Boarding Licences 

Pet Shops 

The Breeding of Dogs 

Zoo Licensing 

Sex Establishments 

Hypnosis 

Dangerous Wild Animals Act 

1976 

Riding Establishments Act 

1964 and 1970 

Director for Sustainability 

& Resources  and such 

others as shall be 

delegated in writing by 

them from time to time 

Assistant Director 

Operations & 

Sustainability 

880



227 

Drainage including s.59 

Building Act 1984 

Planning 

ss.178, 196A, 

196B, 324 & 

325 Town and 

Country 

Planning Act 

1990 

 Director for 

Place/Director for 

Housing & Communities, 

as appropriate 

Planning Services 

Manager 

Development Control 

Manager 

Principal Planning 

Officers 

Senior Planning Officers 

Planning assistants 

Senior Enforcement 

Officer 

Enforcement Assistant 

 

s.88 Planning 

(Listed Buildings 

and 

Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 

  

s.36 Planning 

(Hazardous 

Substances) Act 

1990 

  

Part 8 Anti-

Social 

Behaviour Act 

2003 

 Director for Housing & 

Communities 

Planning Services 

Manager 

Development Control 

Manager 

Principal Planning 

Officers 

Senior Planning Officers 

Planning assistants 

Senior Enforcement 

Officer 

Enforcement Assistant 

Senior Technical Officer 

(Parks) 

 

Building Control 

s.95 Building 

Act 1984 

General power of entry in 

relation to building 

regulations 

Head of Planning 

Principal Building control 

Surveyor 

Senior Building control 

surveyor 

Building control surveyor 

Fire Safety Officer 

 

Local Taxation 

 Collection of Local Taxes Director for Housing & 

Communities, Head of 

Resident Services, 

Revenues and Recovery 

Inspector/Collectors 

 

Land Drainage and Sewerage Undertaking 

Water Industry 

Act 1991 

 Principal Engineer 

Senior Engineer 

 

Land Drainage 

Act 1991 

  

  

881



228 

Joint Councils Contract Standing Orders 
 

1. Standing Order 1 

1.1. Introduction and Purpose 

These Contract Standing Orders (CSO) are applicable to all the Council’s Officers (and its 

appointed consultants) when procuring contracts for works, services and goods.  They provide a 

legal framework to ensure a uniform and transparent approach to procurement, and enable the 

Council to achieve best value for money.  

1.2. Creating a Contract  

A contract is created where there is an offer, acceptance, consideration and a legal intention 

between the parties; where these criteria exist a contract can be created orally or in writing. 

Officers entering into pre-contract negotiations with a Supplier, should declare all communications 

whether by telephone or by email to be ‘subject to executed contract’.  For the form of contract see 

CSO 12.1.    

1.3. Pre-procurement considerations 

1.3.1 Request for Quote or Tender 

A request for quotation (RFQ) is the process used by Officers who know what they want and are 

seeking pricing information to achieve best value, for a defined scope of work, services, or goods. 

An RFQ can be used providing the value is below £100,000 (exclusive of VAT) and the processes 

set out at CSOs 8, 9 and 10 are followed.  

An invitation to tender (ITT) is used when the Council wants to invite suppliers to bid on the 

delivery of works, services or goods and enables the Council to evaluate additional criteria such as 

the supplier’s technical solutions, delivery methodology, skill sets, as well as quality and price.  See 

CSOs 8.3 and 8.4.  

1.3.2 Assessing the total Contract Value 

Prior to procuring, Officers must assess the total contract value of their contract. 

The Public Procurement (Agreement on Government Procurement) (Thresholds) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2021 and PPN 10/21, require the total value of all public contracts to be calculated 

including VAT, although the Council is generally able to recover the VAT element of a contract 

payment.   

The total contract value includes the whole life-cycle cost, including any recurring revenue or 

capital expense, as well as all one-time charges including professional service fees, onboarding 

and exit fees.  

Where the Council is procuring on behalf of other public bodies as well as itself, then the contract 

value shall be determined as the combined sum for all public bodies even if our Council is only 

paying one part of the overall cost.  

Where the contract is procured in “lots”, e.g. based on geographical area or by particular type of 

requirements, then the contract value shall be the total value of all the combined lots. 

1.3.3 Budget  

Officers must ensure that they have a sufficient and approved budget in place prior to commencing 

the procurement project.  If the contract involves the supply of assets under lease finance 

arrangements, the Lease must be signed off by the Chief Financial Officer or their appointed 

deputy. 

882

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1041964/Procurement_Policy_Note_10_21_-_New_Thresholds_Values_and_Inclusion_of_VAT_in_Contract_Estimates.pdf


229 

1.3.4 Authority  

Officers must have Member Authority to enter into the contract (see CSO 2).  The type of Member 

authority required will depend upon the value of the contract, and whether or not budget is already 

in place.  If in doubt, Officers should take advice from the Council’s Legal, Finance, or Procurement 

Services.  

1.3.5 Decisions Pathway   

In addition to the requirement for budget and authority, Officers must consider good governance 

and the decision making process and always make sure that they have taken advice from 

Democratic or Legal Services.  A Member or Officer Decision notice will need to be published prior 

to your contract, and any delay in following the decisions pathway will delay the execution of the 

contract.    

Some decisions will also be a Key Decision and will require additional information to be placed on 

the forward plan for a minimum of 28 days prior to the publication of a decision notice.   

1.3.6 TUPE Transfers 

Where the Council outsources services and re-procures for those services, TUPE may apply to 

that procurement with eligible staff being able to transfer from the outgoing service provider to the 

incoming service provider. Sufficient information (compliant with data protection legislation) will 

need to be included in the procurement process with an assessment of the cost impact on the 

incoming supplier. If in doubt, always contact Legal Services and Human Resources for advice.  

1.3.7 Council Policies 

Depending upon the nature of the procurement, the Council may require the contractor to adopt or 

mirror certain policies during contract performance. Specific provisions may need to be built into 

the contract documents e.g. additional clauses, Health and Safety, Safeguarding, or Data 

Protection where personal data may be transferred.   

1.3.8 Reserving below threshold procurement by Location, SME, VCSEs 

Below threshold procurements can be reserved by supplier location, or for suppliers that are Small 

and Medium sized Enterprises (SMEs); or for Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprises 

(VCSEs) as enabled by the Cabinet Office PPN 11/20, for the benefit of local businesses and 

communities.   

These options should be considered on a case-by-case basis, and can be exercised on their own 

or together. For example, Officers may wish to reserve a procurement for suppliers based in a 

particular location as well as for SMEs and VCSEs, or may choose to reserve to location only or to 

SMEs only.  

Reserving by location could also be UK-wide to support domestic supply chains and promote 

resilience and capacity, or where appropriate, by county to tackle economic inequality and support 

local recruitment, training, skills and investment. Where a county reservation is to be applied, only 

a single county (or borough for London) may be reserved. Supplier location should be described by 

reference to where the supplier is based or established and has substantive business operations 

and not by location of corporate ownership. 

Any requirement to reserve the procurement under this CSO must follow up to date Cabinet Office 

guidance, and must be clearly set out in the tender documents, using the standardised definitions 

of SME/VCSE and supplier location outlined in the associated guidance. 

1.3.9 Financial Thresholds (exclusive of VAT) 

All figures referred to in these CSO are exclusive of VAT.  

883

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/about-the-councils/key-decisions/#intro-key-decisions
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1014493/20210818-PPN-11_20-Reserving-Below-Threshold-Procurements.pdf


230 

The following table provides VAT exclusive figures for the financial thresholds within these CSOs. 

Thresholds exclusive VAT Thresholds inclusive VAT 

£5,000.00 £6,000.00 

£10,000.00 £12,000.00 

£25,000.00 £30,000.00 

£100,000.00 £120,000.00 

£250,000.00 £300,000.00 

 

Public Procurement Thresholds as of 1st January 2022 (always check the thresholds as they are 

subject to change). 

Category Thresholds exclusive VAT Thresholds inclusive VAT VAT 

Goods and 
Services   

£177,897.50 £213,477.00 £35,579.50 

Works  £4,447,447.50 £5,336,937.00 £889,489.50 

 

How to calculate a figure inclusive of VAT – (for a VAT rate of 20%) Divide the VAT inclusive figure 

by 1.2% to find the figure less VAT. 

1.3.10  Procurement Procedures Chart 

Total Value 

(exclusive of 

VAT) 

Procurement 

Route 

Receipt of 

Quotes/Tenders 

Delegated 

Authority for 

Contract 

Approval and 

Award 

Method of 

Contract 

Completion 

Transparency 

Code 

Obligations 

Up to 

£25,000 

(unless CSO 

5.2 applies) 

Two written 

quotations or if 

impractical one 

quote with 

evidence of 

value for money 

Via post or email 

to department by 

Head of Service 

or appointed 

deputy 

Head of 

Service 

Signature 

and/or 

purchase 

order raised 

Publish details 

of all contracts 

over £5,000 in 

Council’s 

Contracts 

Register 

From 

£25,000 up 

to but not 

including 

£100,000 

Three written 

quotations or 

tenders. 

Opportunity 

(open) to be 

published on 

Contracts 

Finder 

Quotes/Tenders 

submitted via 

portal and 

electronically 

opened after 

closed date and 

time has passed. 

Evaluated by a 

minimum of two 

officers 

Head of 

Service 

Signed by 

one Council 

officer with 

Authority 

Advertise an 

opportunity on 

Contracts 

Finder. Publish 

details of the 

Contract Award 

on Contracts 

Finder. 

Complete the 

Council’s 

Contracts 

Register  

From 

£100,000 up 

to but not 

including the 

public 

procurement 

thresholds  

Advertise Open 

invitation to 

tender (ITT) on 

the Council’s 

portal and 

Contracts 

Finder. Other 

media can also 

be used. Unless 

Tenders 

submitted via 

portal and 

electronically 

opened once 

closing date and 

time has passed. 

Evaluated by a 

Where 

provision has 

been made in 

the approved 

budget. For 

contracts 

below 

£250,000, in 

consultation 

Below 

£250,000 

signed under 

hand by one 

authorised 

Officer; 

£250,000 or 

greater 

sealed and 

Advertise the 

opportunity on 

Contracts 

Finder. Publish 

details of the 

Contract Award 

on Contracts 

Finder. 

Complete the 

884



231 

the exemption 

to the Open 

process in CSO 

5.5 applies 

minimum of two 

officers 

with Executive 

Members.  For 

contracts of 

£250,000 or 

more, with 

Executive 

Member 

authority 

pursuant to 

delivery of an 

Executive 

Member 

Report  

signed by one 

authorised 

Officer 

(witnessed as 

required) or 

signed by two 

authorised 

Officers  

Council’s 

Contract 

Register 

From the 

Public 

Procurement 

Threshold 

and above 

Advertise 

relevant 

Procurement 

Procedure by on 

the Council’s 

portal. Advertise 

on Contracts 

Finder and Find 

a Tender 

system 

Other media 

may also be 

used 

Tenders 

submitted via 

Council’s portal 

and electronically 

opened once 

closing date and 

time has passed. 

Evaluated by a 

minimum of two 

officers 

Executive 

Member, 

Executive, or 

relevant 

Committee 

Sealed and 

signed by one 

authorised 

Officer 

(witnessed as 

required) or 

signed under 

hand by two 

authorised 

Officers 

Advertise all 

tenders on FTS 

and then 

Contracts 

Finder. Publish 

details of 

Contract Award 

on Find a 

Tender. 

Complete the 

Council’s 

Contracts 

Register 

 

1.4. Incorporating Social Value in all procurement procedures  

1.4.1. For all above threshold contracts, social value and the ability to improve the economic, 

environmental and social wellbeing of the Council’s area is mandatory and must be given 

not less than 10% of the total evaluation score.   

 

1.4.2. For below threshold procurements social value must be considered, and incorporated, 

where the social value requirements are related and proportionate to the subject matter of 

the contract.   

1.4.3. Examples of what can be incorporated as social value are set out in the table below.  

1.4.4. Social Value Themes and Outcomes examples 
1.4.5. (Procurement Policy Note – Taking Account of Social Value in the Award of Central 

Government Contracts Action Note PPN 06/20 September 2020) 

Themes  
(for social 
value)  

Policy Outcomes 
(what can be achieved)  

Delivery objectives - what good looks like  
(consider for evaluation criteria)  

885

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/921437/PPN-06_20-Taking-Account-of-Social-Value-in-the-Award-of-Central-Government-Contracts.pdf


232 

COVID-19 
recovery  

Help local communities to 
manage and recover from 
the impact of COVID-19 

Activities that, in the delivery of the contract: 
- Create employment, re-training and other return to work 
opportunities for those left unemployed by COVID-19, 
particularly new opportunities in high growth sectors. 
- Support people and communities to manage and 
recover from the impacts of COVID-19, including those 
worst affected or who are shielding. 
- Support organisations and businesses to manage and 
recover from the impacts of COVID-19, including where 
new ways of working are needed to deliver services. 
- Support the physical and mental health of people 
affected by COVID-19, including reducing the demand on 
health and care services. 
- Improve workplace conditions that support the COVID-
19 recovery effort including effective social distancing, 
remote working, and sustainable travel solutions. 

Tackling 
economic 
inequality 

Create new businesses, 
new jobs and new skills 

Activities that, in the delivery of the contract: 
- Create opportunities for entrepreneurship and help 
new, small organisations to grow, supporting economic 
growth and business creation. 
- Create employment opportunities particularly for those 
who face barriers to employment and/or who are located 
in deprived areas. 
- Create employment and training opportunities, 
particularly for people in industries with known skills 
shortages or in high growth sectors. 
- Support educational attainment relevant to the contract, 
including training schemes that address skills gaps and 
result in recognised qualifications. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery of the contract to support 
employment and skills opportunities in high growth 
sectors. 

Increase supply chain 
resilience and capacity 

Activities that: 
- Create a diverse supply chain to deliver the contract 
including new businesses and entrepreneurs, start-ups, 
SMEs, VCSEs and mutuals. 
- Support innovation and disruptive technologies 
throughout the supply chain to deliver lower cost and/or 
higher quality goods and services. 
- Support the development of scalable and future-proofed 
new methods to modernise delivery and increase 
productivity. 
- Demonstrate collaboration throughout the supply chain, 
and a fair and responsible approach to working with 
supply chain partners in delivery of the contract. 
- Demonstrate action to identify and manage cyber 
security risks in the delivery of the contract including in 
the supply chain. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery 
of the contract to support resilience and capacity in the 
supply chain 

Fighting 
climate change 

Effective stewardship of the 
environment 

Activities that: 
- Deliver additional environmental benefits in the 
performance of the contract including working towards 
net zero greenhouse gas emissions. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery of the contract to support 
environmental protection and improvement. 

886



233 

Equal 
opportunity 

Reduce the disability 
employment gap 

Activities that: 
- Demonstrate action to increase the representation of 
disabled people in the contract workforce. 
- Support disabled people in developing new skills 
relevant to the contract, including through training 
schemes that result in recognised qualifications. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery of the contract to support disabled 
people. 

Tackle workforce inequality Activities that: 
- Demonstrate action to identify and tackle inequality in 
employment, skills and pay in the contract workforce. 
- Support in-work progression to help people, including 
those from disadvantaged or minority groups, to move 
into higher paid work by developing new skills relevant to 
the contract. 
- Demonstrate action to identify and manage the risks of 
modern slavery in the delivery of the contract, including 
in the supply chain. 

Wellbeing  Improve health and 
wellbeing 

Activities that: 
- Demonstrate action to support the health and wellbeing, 
including physical and mental health, in the contract 
workforce. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery of the contract to support health and 
wellbeing, including physical and mental health. 

Improve community 
integration 

Activities that: 
-Demonstrate collaboration with users and communities 
in the co-design and delivery of the contract to support 
strong integrated communities. 
- Influence staff, suppliers, customers and communities 
through the delivery of the contract to support strong, 
integrated communities. 

 

2. Standing Order 2: Authorisation to Contract 

2.1.1 The Director, Heads of Service or their delegated nominee shall have authority to enter into 

contracts provided that: 

2.1.2 There is sufficient approved revenue or capital budget to fund the proposed contract 

throughout its duration (see CSO 1.3.2 and 1.3.3);  

2.1.3 That the processes under these CSO have been followed correctly;  

2.1.4 That the Procurement Department has been consulted in advance for contracts over 

£25,000 (exclusive of VAT);  

2.1.5 That Member authority has been obtained (this may be from the Joint Strategic Committee; 

Executive Members for the particular service; or under a delegated authority). 

2.1.6 The contract formalities have been compiled with at CSO 12;  

2.1.7 That the Decisions Pathway has been followed (see CSO 1.3.5). 

3. Standing Order 3: Special Circumstances and Emergencies 

 
3.1 This CSO cannot be used for a contract that is over the public procurement threshold.  For 

urgent contracts over the threshold Officers would need to consult with the Monitoring 

Officer and the Chief Executive Officer.  Use of this provision must also be compliant with 

the Access to Information Rules found at Part 4 of thise Constitution  

 

887



234 

3.2 A ‘Special Circumstance’ or ‘Emergency’ is defined as a situation which poses an 

immediate risk to Council services or the wellbeing of residents, for which urgent action is 

needed and which cannot be dealt with using the Councils usual processes and 

procedures. 

 

3.3 Exemption from any of the provisions of these Standing Orders may only be made as 

follows: 

 

3.3.1 For contracts under £100,000 (exclusive of VAT) approval must be sought from the 

Monitoring Officer and the s151 Finance Officer and the Director for Service should publish 

an Officer Decision Notice; 

 

3.3.2 For contracts over £100,000 (exclusive of VAT) and below the Public Procurement 

Threshold the Monitoring Officer and, the s151 Finance Officer must approve the award 

and the Director for Service (or their delegated nominee) must consult with appropriate 

Executive Members or their Leader, (or the Joint Strategic Committee) who must be 

satisfied that the matter is Urgent or is a Special Circumstance having regard to the above 

definition, and if so satisfied, a direct award under this CSO exemption will be authorised.  

 

3.3.3 Where the exemption at 3.3.2 is so authorised, the Director for Service or their delegated 

nominee must ensure that: 

a) An Officer Decision awarding the contract is recorded by Democratic Services on the 

Decisions Pathway and/or in the minutes of the Committee giving the approval and the 

rules relating to Key Decisions in the Access to Information Rules are followed; and  

b) Unless committee approval is already obtained, tThe use of this CSO is to be reported as 

soon as practicable to the next Joint Strategic Committee following the consultation with the 

Executive Members and the publication of the Officer Decision. 

c) If it is impracticable for the Director or their delegated nominee to consult with the relevant 

Members, then the Director shall, when submitting the report to the next Joint Strategic 

Committee to explain the emergency, additionally give reasons as to why the Director was 

not able to consult with the relevant Members at the time. 

3.4 Advice should always be taken from the Monitoring Officer and Democratic Services as to 

the requirement to make any public notice in the Forward Plan of Key Decisions/28 Day 

Notice. 

 
3.5 For the avoidance of doubt, recruitment of temporary or agency staff to cover sickness or 

vacancies is included under this CSO. 

 

4. Standing Order 4: Publishing Contract Notices 

 

4.1 Publishing a Contract Opportunity Notice 

 

4.1.1. The Council advertises a contract opportunity when it carries out an open invitation to 

tender (ITT) or open request for quotation (RFQ) for a contract with a value of, or greater 

than £25,000 (exclusive of VAT).   

Open means that the opportunity is advertised to all suppliers whether nationally or within a 
geographic location and in these circumstances the contract must be published on the UK’s 
National Contracts Finder website.  
 
Where the Council advertises a contract opportunity it shall publish the information on the 
UK National Contracts Finder website within 24 hours of the time when it first advertises the 

888



235 

contract opportunity on the Council’s portal, see Regulation 110 (3) Public Contract 
Regulations 2015.  
 

4.1.2. The Council does not advertise an opportunity (and shall not be required to publish an 

opportunity on UK National Contracts Finder) where it carries out a closed ITT or closed 

RFQ process and only makes the opportunity available to a number of particular suppliers 

who have been selected for that purpose (whether ad hoc or by virtue of their membership 

of some closed category such as a framework agreement or DPS) and regardless of how it 

draws that opportunity to the attention of those suppliers.  

 

4.1.3. A regular report presenting information from the Contracts Register shall be presented to 

the Council’s Procurement Working Group by the Director for Service or their nominated 

representative identifying all those contracts due to expire and the proposed action to be 

taken.  The report identifying these contracts should be presented in a timely fashion to 

allow for sufficient time to re-procure, if necessary.  

 

If you need guidance on publishing a contract opportunity, always seek advice from the 

Procurement Department or Legal Services. 

 

4.2 Publishing a Contract Award Notice  

 

4.2.1. UK National Contracts Finder - Cabinet Office PPN09/21 requires Officers to publish a 

Contract Award Notice for all contracts with a value of, or greater than, £25,000 (exclusive 

of VAT) regardless of how the contract was procured and whether or not a contract 

opportunity was advertised.  The Notice must be published within 90 calendar days from 

the date of completion. 

 

4.2.2. Officers are responsible for notifying the Procurement Department when a Contract Award 

Notice is to be published and must provide all information required for the award notice to 

the Procurement Department.  

 
4.2.3. The Council’s Contracts Register - in addition to the requirement to publish on UK National 

Contracts Finder, a Council Contract Register for all contracts of, or greater than, £5,000 

(exclusive of VAT) shall be kept and maintained by the Council’s Procurement Department 

on behalf of the Director for Sustainability & Resources. The Register shall be open to 

inspection by any Member of the Council or public.   

 

4.2.4. All Officers completing contracts over £5,000 (exclusive of VAT) are responsible for 

providing the following information (as appropriate) to the Council’s Procurement 

Department to ensure the Contracts Register is kept up to date: 

a) Contract Reference Number  

b) Title of Agreement 

c) Department Responsible 

d) Description of Contract 

e) Contract Start Date 

f) Contract End Date 

g) Contract Extension period (if applicable)  

h) Contract Review Date 

i) Contract Value 

j) Irrecoverable VAT 

k) Supplier Name 

l) Supplier Type (legal standing of the organisation) 

m) Procurement process used   

 

889

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1044547/2021-12-21_Procurement_Policy_Note___Legal_requirements_to_publish_on_Contracts_Finder_update_December_2021.pdf


236 

5. Standing Order 5: Financial Limits and Procedures 

 

5.1 Contracts for a value up to but not including £25,000 (exclusive of VAT)  

 

5.1.1. For purchases up to (but not including) £25,000 (exclusive of VAT), two written quotes are 

to be obtained.  Where it is impracticable to obtain two written quotes due to the specialist 

nature of supply, one quote can be obtained providing there is written record that value for 

money has been considered, and the quote represents value for money.   

  

5.1.2. A written contract is required (see CSO 12). Any Finance Lease or Finance arrangement, 

must also be checked in advance by Financial Services. 

 

5.1.3. Contracts under CSO 5.1 do not need to be signed by Legal Services and can be signed by 

an Officer with sufficient budget, authority and has followed the Decisions Pathway (see 

CSO 1.3.5).   

 

5.2 Exemption from Obtaining Two Written Quotes 

 

5.2.1. Where the proposed purchase is for works, goods or services is below £5,000 (exclusive of 

VAT) and the purchase is for reactive maintenance and minor works to Council buildings or 

structures within the Council’s ownership and responsibility, the procuring officer need only 

obtain one written or oral quote.   

 

5.2.2. Use of the exemption at clause 5.2.1 is to be monitored. Where the aggregate value of the 

contracts reactive maintenance and minor works with any one supplier reaches £25,000 

(exclusive of VAT) in the aggregate or in any four year period, then the procuring officer will 

obtain two quotes prior to any further instruction to the same supplier to ensure value for 

money.     

 

5.2.3. In the event the aggregate spend has reached £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) and the 

procuring officer has obtained two quotes to ensure value for money as required by CSO 

5.2.2, if the same supplier has provided the most economically advantageous quote, the 

procuring officer may re-apply the procedure at clause 5.2.1 up to a further spend of 

£25,000 (exclusive of VAT) for reactive maintenance and repairs.  

 

5.3 Contracts for a value of £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) up to but not including £100,000 

(exclusive of VAT) 

 

5.3.1 Where the estimated value of a contract is from and including £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) 

but below £100,000 (exclusive of VAT), the Director or their delegated nominee is to obtain 

three written quotes or carry out a tender process.  The Procurement Department can 

advise on the most appropriate route. 

 

5.3.2 Unless the exemption at CSO 5.4 applies to this CSO, all quotations and tenders must be 

published on the Council’s e-portal.  

 

5.3.3 All quotes or tenders pursuant to this CSO shall be invited and received through the e-

portal in accordance with CSO 9. 

 

5.3.4 Quotes or tenders should only be evaluated in accordance with the criteria stated by the 

Council in the original RFQ or ITT documentation.  The evaluation process and reasons for 

the evaluation decision should be clearly documented and retained on file.  If in doubt, seek 

advice from the Procurement Department.  

 

890



237 

5.4 Exemption to Obtaining Three Quotes or Tenders  

 
5.4.1 Where in the opinion of the relevant Director, Head of Service, or their delegated nominee, 

it is impracticable to follow the procedure set out at CSO 5.3, due to the specialist nature of 

supply or the nature of any warranty that exists, then an exemption to obtaining three 

quotes will apply providing the reasoning for reaching the decision to use the exemption is 

recorded by the relevant Officer and approved by Legal, Finance, and Procurement 

Services in advance of the contract.  

 

5.5 Contracts for a value of £100,000 (exclusive of VAT) up to but not including the 

Public Procurement Threshold  

 

5.5.1 Where the estimated value of the contract is from £100,000 (exclusive of VAT) but below 

the procurement threshold, the Director for Service or their delegated nominee shall follow 

an open tender process unless the exemption to the open process at 5.6 applies.  

   

5.5.2 For below threshold contracts, an open process can be reserved by supplier location; small 

and medium sized enterprises (SMEs); voluntary and community groups and Social 

Enterprises (VCSEs). See CSO 1.3.8.  

 

5.5.3 An open procedure under this CSO requires the publication of: 

a. A notice on the Council’s Portal; 

b. A contract opportunity notice on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of the publication 

on the Portal.  The contract opportunity notice will be automatically created through 

the Portal using the information provided.  

 

5.5.4 In addition to the mandatory notices, Officers may consider giving notice of the procurement 

in a local publication, trade journal and/or on the Council’s web site. 

 

5.5.5 Instead of an open procurement a Framework Agreement may be used see CSO 7.1 and 

7.2. When using a framework or a dynamic purchasing system there is no need to publish a 

contract opportunity notice on National Contracts Finder. 

 

5.6 Exemption to the Open Process  

 

5.6.1 This exemption is only to be used in limited circumstances where approval is obtained from 

the Chief Financial Officer and the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services.  

 

5.6.2 An Open Process need not be followed, nor will a contract opportunity notice need to be 

published on National Contracts Finder, if it has been agreed by the Chief Financial Officer 

and Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services that the invitation to tender is to be 

made available to only a limited number of suppliers who have been selected for the 

purpose. In such circumstances, the tender process should invite a minimum of five 

tenderers unless the Chief Financial Officer and Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 

Services agree that it is impractical to do so.   

 

6. Standing Order 6: Above Threshold Procurements 

 

6.1 Tendering Procedures 

6.1.1. When awarding public contracts, the Council shall apply one of the following procedures, 

always contact the Procurement Department for advice on the appropriate procedure: 

6.1.2. Open Procedure 

891



238 

In which all interested suppliers may respond to the advertisement published on the 

Council’s Portal and the UK Find a Tender website by submitting a tender for the contract. 

6.1.3. Restricted Procedure 

The Council will publish a qualitative selection questionnaire and only those tenderers that 

pass the selection are invited to submit a tender for the contract. 

6.1.4. Competitive Dialogue Procedure (for developing solutions in dialogue) 

A qualitative selection is made of those who respond to the advertisement and the 

contracting authority enters into dialogue with potential bidders, to develop one or more 

suitable solutions for its requirements and on which chosen bidders will be invited to tender.  

6.1.5. Competitive Procedure with Negotiation (for improving bidders’ offers) 

A qualitative selection is made of those who respond to the advertisement. The Council 

may then open negotiations with the tenderers to seek improved offers and evaluate 

modified tender responses.  

6.1.6. Innovation Partnership Procedure (for developing innovative solutions)  

A qualitative selection is made of those who respond to the advertisement and the 

contracting authority uses a negotiated approach to invite suppliers to submit ideas to 

develop innovative works, supplies or services aimed at meeting a need for which there is 

no suitable existing ‘product’ on the market. The contracting authority is allowed to award 

partnerships to more than one supplier. 

6.2 Maintaining a Record of the Procurement Process  

6.2.1. Whichever above threshold procedure is to be used the procuring Officer must keep a 

Regulation 84 Report detailing each step of the procurement. The Report should be 

ongoing and specify: 

a) What process was used;  

b) Which stage has been reached;  

c) The names of selected and rejected tenderers;  

d) how the tenderers were evaluated and why;  

e) reasons for selection and rejection; 

f)  details of any known subcontractors; 

g) circumstances justifying the use of the tender procedure chosen; 

h) conflicts of interest identified and action taken; 

i) all details specific to negotiation or dialogue with the supplier. 

6.2.2. The Procurement Department will provide a template for the Report and it is the Officer’s 

responsibility to ensure the Report is kept up to date.  

6.2.3. These mandatory Regulation 84 Reports may be fully disclosable in any procurement 

challenge, or may also be requested by a Cabinet Office Minister.  Officers should not 

disclose any information from the Report, without first obtaining legal advice.  

6.2.4. The Report is not required for contracts under a framework agreement. 

6.2.5. For contracts below threshold the Regulation 84 Report is not mandatory, but it is deemed 

good practice for Officers to keep a Report for reasons of transparency.  

892



239 

7. Standing Order 7: Frameworks, Dynamic Purchasing Systems and Consortia 

Organisations 

 
7.1 Framework Agreements 

A Framework Agreement is a collective of suppliers that have already tendered through a 
compliant procurement process, and have been selected (on quality and cost criteria) for 
their ability to provide either works, goods or services to the Council. The Framework will 
enable the Council to hold a mini-competition to obtain best value, or it will enable a direct 
call-off to a single supplier.  
 
The Framework Agreement has established call-off contract terms to be used between the 
Council and the Supplier, and there will be Framework rules and guidance on how to use 
the Framework and what amendments if any can be made to the call-off terms.    
 

7.2 Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS) 

The DPS is similar to a Framework Agreement but new suppliers can apply to join at any 
time providing they meet the DPS criteria.   A mini competition must always be held with the 
DPS.  
 

7.3 Consortia Procurements 

Consortia bidding is the term used to describe the situation where a number of economic 
operators come together to submit a bid for a contract in a procurement process and could 
be a useful process for major projects requiring a mix of professional skills.   
 

8. Standing Order 8: Preparation of the Procurement Documents  

 

8.1 Request for Quotation and Specification Documents  

 

8.1.1. The Request for Quotation (RFQ) - Officers must ensure that they are using the most 

current version of the RFQ document which has been approved by the Procurement 

Department as it contains necessary protections to the Council during the RFQ process.  

  

The RFQ document can be varied from being 100% price based or can be reviewed on a 
combined price and quality assessment. The Procurement Department can give a guidance 
on using and completing the RFQ. 
 

8.1.2. The Specification accompanies the RFQ and must clearly and concisely set out the 

Officer’s needs, having regard to the nature of the works goods or services to be procured.  

 

8.1.3. Contract Terms and Conditions - it is preferable for each RFQ to attach the Council’s terms 

and conditions of contract which are appropriate to the nature of the works, goods or 

services being procured.  Officers will need to contact legal services in advance of 

publishing the RFQ for advice on contract terms and conditions. 

  

8.2 Invitation to Tender and Specification Documents  

 

8.2.1. The Invitation to Tender (ITT) - Officers must ensure that they are using the most current 

version of the ITT document which has been approved by the Procurement Department as 

it contains necessary protections to the Council during the tender process.   The 

Procurement Department can give a guidance on completing the ITT.  

 

In all cases, every invitation to tender shall include the following: 
a) A statement that the tendering process will be conducted through the Council’s 

Portal; 

b) Full instructions on how to submit a tender to this system; 

893



240 

c) The deadline for submission of tenders to this system;   

d) A Tender submission schedule which contains: 

 FOI Exemption Form  

 Form of Tender  

 Collusive Tendering Certificate 

 Mandatory and Discretionary Exclusion Grounds 

 Supplier’s selection questionnaire 

e) The ITT shall also include the evaluation criteria against which the tenderers will be 

scored and the weighting (or score) to be applied to each criterion with an 

explanation of the scoring mechanism. All criteria must be capable of being 

objectively assessed, clear and concise. Criteria will include price (which usually 

carries a score of not less than 30%) and Social Value (with a score of 10%).  The 

remaining criteria (60%) usually address the quality of the goods works or services 

to be delivered. Please see CSO 8.3 for example evaluation criteria.  

 

8.2.2. Fully detailed Specification - Officers must ensure that they have a fully detailed 

specification setting out exactly what it is the Council wants to purchase which provides all 

specific and technical requirements. 

 

8.2.3. Contract Terms and Conditions - Each ITT is to attach an appropriate form of contract as 

approved by Legal Services. 

 

8.3 Establishing the Most Economically Advantageous Tender (MEAT) or other approved 

Assessment 

 

8.3.1. The criteria for considering MEAT must: 

a) Be agreed in advance and applied equally to all tenders; 

b) Be relevant and appropriate to the subject matter of the tender; 

c) Be objectively identifiable capable of being objectively scored; 

d) Not be anti-competitive or capable of distorting competition; 

e) Be listed in a decreasing order of importance having regard to the weightings 

attributed to them starting with the highest scoring criteria first. 

 

8.3.2. Weighting must be given to each criterion used, which reflects the importance of each 

element of the contract.  

 

8.3.3. Where any weighted criterion has sub-criteria to be considered this must be disclosed in 

advance in the ITT and relevant sub-weightings attributed to the sub-criteria. 

 

8.3.4. Price must be a criterion and normally must have a weighting of not less than 30%.  Where 

the award requires adopting a price weighting of less than 30%, this will need to be justified 

to, and agreed with, the Procurement Department.  

 

8.3.5. Social value is to be given a weighting of not less than 10% unless the Procurement 

Department agrees otherwise. 

 

8.3.6. The remaining criteria used must reflect the quality and available social value of the 

purchase, and be broken down appropriately to consider all aspects of required quality 

appropriate for the tender. 

 

An example evaluation scoring could be 30% price, 60% quality and 10% social value 
totalling 100%.  Quality and Social Value would most likely have sub-criteria with their total 

894



241 

weightings not exceeding 60% and 10% respectively.  
 

8.4 Examples of criteria for establishing MEAT: 

 

8.4.1. Costs - the whole lifecycle cost should be evaluated - see CSO 1.3.2  

 

8.4.2. Social value - for Social Value criteria - see CSO 1.4 

 

8.4.3. Quality - Examples include: technical and professional merit, aesthetic and functional 

characteristics, environmental characteristics, service delivery, after-sales service and 

technical assistance, customer service and support, contract mobilisation, implementation 

and management, experience, and risk management. 

 
9. Standing Order 9: Using e-Procurement Portal  

 

9.1 Publishing and Accepting Quotations and Tenders on the Portal   

 

9.1.1. Unless the exemption at paragraph 9.2 below applies, all requests for quotations (RFQ) and 

invitations to tenders (ITT) are to be published and accepted on the Council’s portal.  

9.1.2. All quotations and tenders will be stored electronically by the portal in a secure inbox until 

opened after the deadline. 

9.1.3. Officers must ensure bids received are compliant by checking that the appropriate 

information detailed in the RFQ/ITT documents is completed and submitted by suppliers as 

requested in those documents.  

9.1.4. Bidders must return their submissions on or before the deadline set out in the RFQ/ITT 

documents. Submissions returned after the time and date must be rejected by the Council, 

although the Council may extend the deadline for a late submission if there is evidence 

available to demonstrate that the bidder has made an attempt to submit to the portal before 

the expiration of the deadline, or if an extension is afforded to all those bidding. All 

information regarding quotations or tenders received, their submission date, time and their 

opened date and time will be stored by the system.  

 

9.2 Exemption to publishing on the Council’s Portal   

 

9.2.1. For below-threshold procurements, where the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 

Services and the Chief Financial Officer agree that due to the specialist nature of the supply 

it is impractical for potential suppliers to be asked to quote or tender using the portal (i.e. 

due to a lack of technical knowledge and experience or availability) then the quotes or 

tenders can be obtained as set out below: 

a) The Director or their delegated nominee shall obtain at least three sealed written 

quotes or sealed tenders from persons or bodies who in the opinion of the Director 

or their delegated nominee are capable of performing the contract. 

b) An agreed form of standard contract should be used and Legal Services should be 

instructed in advance of the procurement. 

c) All quotes and tenders received pursuant to this CSO shall either be opened by 

electronic means or if written sealed quotes or sealed tenders in the presence of the 

Director for Service and a Procurement Officer.  

d) The Head of Service or their delegated nominee shall then have delegated authority 

to accept such a quote or tender, but in the case of a quote other than the lowest, 

then the Head of Service must establish MEAT as set out in CSO 8.3.  

e) Details of the quotes or tenders received and how the successful contractor was 

chosen should be submitted to the Procurement Department for approval for all 

contracts. 

 

895



242 

9.2.2. Where this exemption applies the procuring officer must still comply with any requirement to 

publish the contract award notice on Contracts Finder and on the Council’s contracts 

register.  

 
10. Standing Order 10: Evaluation and Notifications to Bidders 

 

10.1 Evaluation of Quotations and Tenders  

10.1.1. The members of an evaluation panel should be carefully considered and all members 

must declare any conflicts of interests in the procurement and its outcome prior to 

commencing any evaluation.  

10.1.2. Members of the evaluation panel should only receive that part of the tender response 

which they are required to score. This prevents undue influence on the scoring of their 

specified section. 

10.1.3. Submissions must be evaluated objectively and strictly in accordance with the criteria 

stated in the original request for quotation (RFQ) or invitation to tender (ITT) and in 

compliance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 or other relevant legislation.   

10.1.4. The evaluating panel members must clearly document and record the reasons for their 

decision and any other relevant matter arising during the evaluation. Where the tender 

process is above threshold, panel members must continue to keep this information up to 

date see CSO 6.2 (Maintaining a Record of the Procurement Process).  

10.1.5. Unless seeking an RFQ based on price only, the award must be based on the most 

economically advantageous tender (MEAT) which uses a cost-effective approach for 

price/quality ratio, offering best price (which will not necessarily be the lowest price).  Or, if 

approved by the Procurement Department, another recognised evaluation assessment 

method (see CSO 8.3 MEAT or other Approved Assessment).  

10.1.6. A tenderer’s submission may not be altered after the time and date specified for the return 

of tenders.  If an error in the submission is discovered, the tenderer shall be given the 

opportunity to confirm or withdraw the tender as it is submitted.  If, in the opinion of the 

Assistant Director Finance, there are exceptional circumstances, a tenderer may be 

allowed to correct any arithmetical error in the tender or clarify its tender, but not add to or 

enhance it. 

10.2  Notification to Unsuccessful Bidders  

10.2.1. Following an evaluation of a request for quotation or an invitation to tender, the procuring 

officer will ensure that they liaise with the Procurement Department to ensure that all 

bidders are simultaneously notified in writing through the Council’s portal with the 

evaluation outcome by providing the information below.  Supplying the following 

information is mandatory for above-threshold tenders and for below-threshold tenders is 

good transparent practice:   

a) The tender evaluation criteria; 

b) The reasons for the decision, including the characteristics and relative advantages 

of the successful tender; 

c) The evaluation scores of the tenderer receiving the notice and the scores of the 

successful tenderer; 

d) The reasons (if any) why the tenderer did not meet the technical specification and/or 

the areas where the tenderers submission was weaker than that of the successful 

tenderer; 

896



243 

e) The name of the tenderer(s) to be awarded the contract 

f) A statement on the date the standstill period is expected to end (see 10.6 Standstill 

Period).  

10.3 Notification to Successful Bidders  

10.3.1. Successful tenderers will be sent a Notification of an Intention to Award Letter, which will 

usually be subject to a ten day standstill period (see 10.4). Officers must ensure that they 

do not create a binding contract with the supplier until the contract has been finalised and 

executed.  This is in keeping with the request for quotation or invitation to tender, which 

confirms the Council will not be bound until the contract is executed.    

10.4 Standstill Period  

10.4.1. Above Threshold - The standstill period must run for a minimum of 10 calendar days 

commencing the day after the notice was emailed to the tenderer and expires at midnight 

on the 10th day.  If the expiry date of the standstill period falls on a weekend or public 

holiday then the expiry date shall be midnight on the next working day. 

 

10.4.2. Should a Tenderer request further information or debrief during the standstill period, the 

Officer should immediately consult with the Procurement Department and Assistant 

Director Legal & Democratic Services for advice.  The Council may extend the standstill 

period for further days until the tenderer has received and considered the information. 

 

10.4.3. If the Council receives notification from a tenderer that it intends to challenge a contract 

award decision, then the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services must be notified 

immediately and the Council must automatically refrain from entering into the contract until 

legal advice has been received (failure to comply with this CSO may result in the court 

making a declaration of ineffectiveness with damages payable by the Council).  Inform the 

Council’s Freedom of Information Officer if a challenge is received to ensure that 

commercially sensitive information is not released without prior consideration and 

authority.  

 

10.4.4. Upon satisfactory conclusion of the standstill period the Officer may advise the successful 

tenderer(s) that the standstill period has passed and instruct the Assistant Director Legal 

& Democratic Services to draw up a formal contract with the successful tenderer(s). 

 

10.4.5. Once the standstill period has concluded a Contract Award Notice should be placed in the 

Find a Tender (FTS) by the Procurement Department within 30 days of the contract 

award. 

 

10.4.6. Below Threshold - tenders below the public procurement threshold are not covered by 

the full requirements laid out in Section 10.2 (Notification to Unsuccessful Bidders). 

However, it is best practice to follow the same principles of notifying unsuccessful 

tenderers and, if requested by the tenderer, providing feedback on the outcome of the 

procurement exercise.  

  

10.4.7. It is not necessary to have a standstill period for a below threshold contract, but it is good 

practice to apply one and only in limited circumstances will the Procurement Department 

agree to reduce the standstill period.   

11. Standing Order 11: Subcontracting 

 

11.1 Where it is anticipated that the successful tenderer will want to subcontract out an element 

of delivery to a third party the Director for Service must ensure that: 

897



244 

11.1.1. The subcontractor is not a supplier that would have been excluded in the tender process;  

11.1.2. The main supplier has carried a best value exercise in line with these CSO and that best 

value for the subcontractor has been approved by the Procurement Department; and 

11.1.3. Any subcontractor is paid on the same payment terms as the supplier in the main contract 

and on terms no less favourable than those agreed with the supplier, i.e. on payment 

terms within 30 days;  

11.2 Consideration must be given as to whether or not a collateral warranty between the 

subcontractor and the Council is required.  A collateral warranty is most often required 

where there is no direct contractual relationship between the Council and the 

subcontractor. 

11.3 There shall be inserted in every contract a clause detailing the subcontracting 

arrangements. 

 

12. Standing Order 12: Contract Formalities 

 

12.1 The Form of Contract  

12.1.1. All contracts should be made in writing and on the Council's standard written terms unless 

Legal Services approves otherwise.  Contracts made on the supplier’s written terms must 

be reviewed and approved by Legal Services. In advance of the tender process, the 

procuring Officer must seek advice from Legal Services on the form of contract to be 

used.    

12.1.2. Advice from the Finance Department must be obtained where the contract involves a 

finance leasing arrangement.  

12.1.3. Every contract shall specify the goods, materials or services to be supplied and the work 

to be executed; the price to be paid together with a statement as to the amount of any 

discount(s) or other deduction(s); the period(s) within which the contract is to be 

performed and such other conditions and terms as may be agreed between the parties 

and are required by law.    

12.1.4. Consideration must be given as to whether or not a performance bond, parent company 

guarantee, or other form of security (see 12.2.2 below Liquidated Damages) acceptable to 

the S151 officer and the Legal Services, is required from the supplier.   

12.2 Required Terms  

 
12.2.1 Boilerplate Clauses - The Council is required to include statutory terms which include 

non-exhaustively: Anti Bribery; Anti-Money Laundering; Freedom of Information; Data 

Protection; Safeguarding of Vulnerable Adults and Children; Transparency; Prevention of 

Terrorism; Audit; Anti-Discrimination Equality and Diversity; Payment of Subcontractors; 

Termination and Exit of Above Threshold Contracts; Compliance with Anti-Slavery and 

Human Trafficking laws; Force Majeure; Health and Safety.  

 

If Officers consider one of the above clauses is more appropriate to their contract, they 
must notify Legal Services when asking them to consider the contract terms. For example, 
where personal data is being controlled or processed by a third party on the Council’s 
behalf, an additional data sharing agreement may be required.   
 

12.2.2 Liquidated Damages - Officers must consider the effect on the Council of any delay in 

performance of the contract, and whether that delay is likely to cause the Council financial 

loss which requires protection.  If so, the Officer must estimate the reasonable and 

genuine loss that the Council is likely to suffer as a result of the delay and provide to Legal 

898



245 

Services a figure which would fairly compensate the Council, usually at a daily or weekly 

rate for that loss.   

 

12.2.3 Standards - Where an appropriate British Standard or code of practice (or other 

applicable standard) applies to the procurement, the procuring Officers are required to 

notify Legal Services so the relevant standard is included in the contract.  

 

12.3 Execution of Contracts  

 

12.3.1. Where any contract is required as a result of any legal procedure or legal proceedings on 

behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 

Services or another person authorised by them, unless any enactment otherwise 

authorises. 

   

12.3.2. Contracts with a value of less than £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) can be executed by the 

Head of Service of their delegated nominee.  Contracts of £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) or 

above, are to be executed in Legal Services, unless Legal Services approves otherwise.   

  

12.3.3. Any contract for an amount of or greater than £250.000 (exclusive of VAT) is to be to be 

executed as a deed using the common seal of the Council, signed by an authorised 

signatory and witnessed as formality requires.  

  

12.4 Electronic Signatures 

 

12.4.1. For all contracts below £250,000 (exclusive of VAT), the Council may execute the contract 

via a method of e-signature which has been pre-approved by Legal Services.  Any 

contract with a value of £25,000 (exclusive of VAT) or above, must be authorised, signed 

and completed by Legal Services.   

 
12.4.2. For contracts that require a seal, the Monitoring Officer may adopt such means of sealing 

as from time to time they consider appropriate. This may include allowing electronic 

sealing in accordance with section 7A(1) of the Electronic Communications Act 2000 (or 

other subsequent legislation).  Affixing of an electronic seal approved in this way shall be 

of the same legal effect as affixing the common seal of the Council.  Any additional 

formality relating to the witnessing of such contracts are complied with.  

 
13. Standing Order 13: Engagement of Consultants 

 

13.1 The financial limits in these CSOs apply to the engagement of consultants, the appointment 

must be based on MEAT or other approved evaluation (see CSO 8.3).  If a consultant is to 

provide services over the lifetime of a project then the whole lifetime cost should be taken 

into account when procuring the consultant.  

 

13.2 External legal consultants must be appointed through Legal Services in accordance with 

the Council’s constitution.  

 

13.3 Prior to the engagement of the consultant the Officer must:  

a) Prepare a business case in advance of the appointment which as a minimum, 

should detail the reason for seeking external expertise, for example, lack of internal 

capacity or capability due to the specialist nature of services; 

b) This business case should be approved by either the Director or the Head of Service 

or their delegated nominee; 

c) Financial checks of lead consultants’ financial stability and professional indemnity 

insurance should be made (which should also include any sub-consultants);   

899



246 

d) Insurance expiry date should be monitored by project managers except in those 

cases where the insurance Section is directly responsible for such insurance.  

Ongoing checks of valid insurance renewals should be undertaken during the 

lifetime of contracts; 

e) Where the consultant is an individual, check with Payroll and Procurement to find 

out if the consultant is acting in the capacity of an employee and therefore subject to 

IR35 (tax and national insurance payments at source)   

 

13.4 It shall be a condition that the consultancy contract shall require the consultant to: 

a) Comply with these CSO in consultation with the relevant Head of Service or Director 

if the consultant is procuring goods works or services on the Council’s behalf.  

b) Produce to the Head of Service or Director on request, all the records maintained by 

them in relation to the contract; and 

c) On completion of the contract, transmit all such records to the Head of Service or 

Director or to any other Head of Service duly authorised by the Council for this 

purpose. 

d) Consider and deal with ownership of intellectual property rights created by the 

instruction of the consultant. 

 
13.5 The terms of engagement of a consultant (not being an Officer of the Council) shall be set 

down in a form approved by Legal Service. 

 
13.6 Previous employees should not be engaged as consultants until a period of at least 6 

months has elapsed since they ended their employment with the Council. 

 
14. Standing Order 14: Contract Performance Monitoring 

 

14.1 The procuring Officer should ensure that the contractor’s performance is monitored against 

the contractually agreed terms, by an appropriate Officer responsible for contract 

management in their department. The extent of the monitoring should be proportionate to 

the nature, duration and associated cost of the contract. 

 
14.2 Heads of Service and managers are required to ensure Officers carry out proper contract 

management and that any issues in contract performance are brought to their attention.  

For higher value contracts, Members may also require an updating report on contract 

performance.   

 
14.3 Contract managers are to periodically revise how delivery and processes under ongoing 

contracts might be improved and to ensure that those improvements are implemented by 

the supplier and monitored by the contract manager.   

 
14.4 Where further goods, works, or services will be required at the end of an existing contract 

term, contract managers must consult with the Procurement Department prior to the 

expiration of the existing contract in sufficient time to plan the re-procurement to avoid 

disruption to Council services.  

 
15. Standing Order 15: Extensions to Contracts 

 

15.1 This Standing Order is only to be used in the following circumstances: 

a) The extension is required to undertake an evaluation of the future requirement of the 

existing contract/service/service delivery;  

b) There has been no previous extension of the original contract (other than an 

extension, or option to extend, which was agreed as a term of the original contract); 

c) There is approved budget; 

900



247 

d) The proposed extension has been approved by Procurement and Legal Services 

having consideration to these CSO and the public procurement rules; 

 
15.2 Where the Director for Service or Officer acting with delegated authority on their behalf 

proposes to extend a fixed-term contract to include additional works, services, goods they 

shall only do so in accordance with this CSO and CSO 2.1 (Authorisation to Contract). 

 
15.3 For above-threshold contracts, the terms of the contract extension must not breach the 

requirements of Regulation 72 of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (Modification of 

Contracts).  

 
15.4 In addition:  

a) The extension must be on the same terms as the original contract including terms as 

to price, although an increase in the price payable for the goods, services or works, 

which reflects an RPI increase is acceptable; 

b) The original contractor has agreed the additional goods, services or works will be 

supplied on the same terms;  

c) The extension is necessary and a legitimate business case for it has been approved 

and recorded in writing by the Director for Service or Officer with delegated authority 

to extend the contract; 

d) The extension must be made during the term of the original contract or continue 

immediately following the expiration of the original contract without any break in 

continuity between the expiration of the original contract and the extension of it;  

e) In the case of construction works, the proposed additional works are on the same 

site as the original contract or of a similar nature; 

f) The procurement for the original contract complied with these CSOs; 

g) The extension is for no more than 24 months; 

h) The decisions pathway has been followed prior to awarding the extension.  

 
15.5 In all cases, consideration should be given as to whether approval should be obtained from 

the relevant Executive Member(s) before any extensions are granted.  

 

16. Standing Order 16: Variations to Contracts 

 

16.1 The effect of the proposed variation on the contract value must be fully assessed and 

recorded in writing prior to the variation being made.  Officers must ensure that there is an 

authorised budget sufficient to meet the value of the variation in place, and the decisions 

pathway must be followed.  

 

16.2 Officers must consult Procurement, Financial and Legal Services for advice on the 

proposed variation prior to making the variation. Any contract variation with a value of 

£25,000 (exclusive of VAT) or above, is to be signed by Legal Services.  

 

16.3 For above-threshold contracts, the terms of the contract variation must not breach any rule 

under Public Contract Regulations 2015 or other updating legislation.   

 

16.4 All of the following clauses shall apply to a contract variation. 

16.4.1. All contract variations must be within the scope of the original contract.  The variation will 

be in scope if it is within a similar range of goods, services or works supplied under the 

original contract and the variation is required in order to complete an aim or purpose of the 

original contract. 

 

901



248 

16.4.2. In all cases, there should be a clear statement recorded in writing setting out the business 

justification, the cost, the benefits and the duration of the variation (whether temporary or 

for the remaining term of the contract) which is to be shared with Procurement Financial 

and Legal Services, as well as to inform the audit trail.  

 

16.4.3. All contract variations must be authorised by the Director for Service or have relevant 

Member approval having regard to the business case and any comments made by the 

Procurement, Financial and Legal Departments. The variation must be in writing and 

signed by both the Council and the contractor. Where the value of the contract variation 

exceeds £25,000 it must be executed by Legal Services.  

 

16.4.4. In all circumstances at the time the variation is proposed, Officers must follow the 

decisions pathway and if required to do so by that pathway, seek authorisation from (or 

consult with) Executive Member(s).  

 

17. Standing Order 17: Termination of Contracts 

 

17.1 No contract with a value greater than £250,000 (exclusive of VAT) which has been entered 

into under the authority of the Council’s Executive or appropriate Executive Members, shall 

be terminated either by agreement or by unilateral action without the approval of the Chief 

Financial Officer and the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services, and consultation 

with Executive Members in advance of terminating the contract.  

 

17.2 Where in the opinion of the Chief Financial Officer and the Assistant Director Legal & 

Democratic Services, the termination will have a significant financial impact on the Council 

or will cause a significant disruption to Council services, then the Director for Service is to 

provide a full report to Executive Members or the Joint Strategic Committee (as advised by 

the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services) and obtain Member authority to 

terminate the contract in advance of the termination.  

 
17.3 Where, in the opinion of the Director for Service, termination of the contract is urgent and 

delay would have an adverse impact on services, assets, or the public;  and there is 

insufficient time to take a report to Members (as required by paragraph 17.2), then 

providing the Chief Financial Officer and Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services 

agree, the Director may terminate the contract and report as soon as possible after the 

termination providing full details of the circumstances, financial effect and/or disruption to 

services.   

 
17.4 For all contracts below £100,000 (exclusive of VAT), the Director for Service can terminate 

the contract without Member consultation providing that the Chief Financial Officer and 

Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services agree there is no significant financial 

impact or disruption to Council services. 

 
17.5 Legal advice shall be sought before terminating any contract. 

  

902



249 

 Joint Councils Financial Regulations 
 

1.      INTRODUCTION 

2.     FINANCIAL PLANNING 

2.1  FORMAT OF THE BUDGET 

2.2  BUDGETS AND MEDIUM-TERM PLANNING 

2.3  CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

2.4  MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES 

3.      FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

3.1  BUDGETARY CONTROL 

3.2  SCHEME OF VIREMENT 

3.2.1 General Virement 

3.2.2 Virements Relating to S106 Contributions 

3.2.3 Virements Relating to Contingency Budgets 

3.2.4 Virements Relating to Reserves 

3.3  ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

3.4  ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS 

3.5  THE ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

4.     RISK MANAGEMENT & CONTROL OF RESOURCES 

4.1  RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSURANCE 

4.2  AUDIT REQUIREMENTS 

4.3  PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 

4.4  ASSETS – LAND, BUILDINGS, FURNITURE, EQUIPMENT ETC. 

4.5  TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

4.6 STRATEGIC INVESTMENT PROPERTY FUND 

4.7 WORKFORCE 

5.  FINANCIAL SYSTEMS & PROCEDURES 

5.1  GENERAL 

5.2  INCOME 

5.3  EXPENDITURE 

5.4  TAXATION 

6.  EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 

6.1  EXTERNAL FUNDING 

APPENDIX 1: SCHEME OF DELEGATION AT A GLANCE 

  

903



250 

1. INTRODUCTION 
  

1.1 Financial Regulations provide the internal framework for managing the Councils’ financial 
affairs. These regulations apply to every Member and Officer of Adur District Council and 
Worthing Borough Council and anyone in the public or private sector who acts on behalf of 
the Councils. It is imperative that the Councils have a strong and usable set of Financial 
Regulations that are accessible to all who are dealing with its financial matters. 
 

1.2 Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, each local authority is required to 
make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and arrange for one of 
their Officers to be responsible for the administration of those affairs. For Adur District 
Council and Worthing Borough Council this officer is the Chief Financial Officer. 
 

1.3 Throughout these Financial Regulations, the title Chief Financial Officer will be used to 
denote the designated Section 151 Officer of the Councils; in the case of absence or non-
availability, the Chief Accountant will be the Deputy Section 151 Officer. 
 

1.4 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the 
Financial Regulations and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the Councils for 
approval. They are also responsible, where appropriate, for reporting breaches of the 
Financial Regulations to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee. 
 

1.5 It is the responsibility of the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT)/Heads of Service to ensure 
that all Officers in their service are familiar with the content of the Councils’ Financial 
Regulations, as well as other internal regulatory documents, and also to confirm that they 
comply with them. 
 

1.6 It is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer to provide advice and guidance regarding 
the Financial Regulations that Members, Officers and others acting on behalf of the Councils 
are required to follow. 

  
STATUTORY REFERENCES 

● Local Government Act 1972 

● Local Government Act 1999 

● Local Government Act 2003 

● Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

● Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

  
CODES OF PRACTICE 

● Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 

● Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 

● Service reporting Code of Practice for Local Authorities (CIPFA) 

● Treasury Management Code of Practice (CIPFA) 

● United Kingdom Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) as interpreted by 

CIPFA’s Local Government Application Note 

 
2. FINANCIAL PLANNING 
  
2.1 FORMAT OF THE BUDGET 
  
2.1.1 Why is this important? 

 
The format of the budget determines the level of detail to which financial control and 
management will be exercised. The format shapes how the rules around virement operate, 
the operation of cash limits and sets the level at which funds may be reallocated within 
budgets. 

904



251 

  
2.1.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 

To advise the Cabinets on the format of the budget that is approved by their Council. 
  

2.1.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 

To comply with accounting guidance provided by the Chief Financial Officer. 
  

2.1.4 Key controls 
 
The key controls for the budget format are: - 
 

(a) That the format complies with all legal requirements; 
(b) That the format reflects the accountabilities of service delivery;  
(c) That the format reflects the statutory reporting requirements for government returns; 

and 
(d) That, in published statements where it is required, the format complies with CIPFA’s 

Service reporting Code of Practice for Local Authorities. 
  
2.2 BUDGETS AND MEDIUM-TERM PLANNING 
  
2.2.1 Why is this important? 

 

The Councils needs to plan effectively and develop systems to enable limited resources to 
be allocated in accordance with priorities. The budget is the financial statement of the 
Councils’ plans and policies. 
 

The revenue and capital budgets must be constructed to ensure that resource allocation 
properly reflects the service plans and corporate priorities of the Councils. Budgets are 
needed so that the Councils can plan, authorise, monitor and control the way money is 
allocated and spent. It is illegal for the Councils to budget for a deficit. 
 

CLT/Heads of Service shall prepare annually in accordance with an agreed timetable 
(normally in preparation for submission to the Cabinets each January/February), draft 
estimates of income and expenditure in a form agreed with the Chief Financial Officer 
together with any necessary explanations. 
 

2.2.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 

To prepare and submit reports on the budget prospects for the Councils, including 
information about any resource constraints determined by the Government. Reports should 
consider the medium-term financial prospects which will be updated as appropriate. 
 

To determine the detailed form of revenue estimates and the methods for their preparation, 
consistent with the budget approved by each Council, and following consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member for Resources and CLT/Heads of Service. 
 

To prepare and submit reports to the Joint Strategic Committee on the overall position; and 
to each Executive on the aggregate spending plans of the individual portfolios (analysed by 
departments) and the resources available, identifying, where appropriate, the implications 
for the level of Council Tax to be levied. 
 

To advise on the medium-term implications of spending decisions. 
 

To encourage the best use of resources and value for money by working with CLT/ Heads 
of Service to identify opportunities to improve economy, efficiency and effectiveness, and 
by encouraging good practice in conducting financial appraisals of development or savings 
options, and in developing financial aspects of service planning. 
 

905



252 

To advise the Council on the Cabinet’s proposals on the robustness of the budget set and 
the adequacy of reserves in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003. 

  

2.2.3 Responsibilities of CLT/ Heads of Service 
 

To prepare estimates of income and expenditure, in consultation with the Chief Financial 
Officer, to be submitted to the Joint Strategic Committee and the Cabinet. 
 

To prepare budgets consistent with any relevant cash limits, with the Council’s annual 
budget cycle and with guidelines issued by the Joint Strategic Committee. The format will 
be prescribed by the Chief Financial Officer in accordance with the Joint Strategic 
Committee’s general directions. 
 

To integrate financial and budget plans into service planning. 
 

To ensure that budget proposals underpin the Councils’ strategic priorities and objectives. 
 

To utilise the Councils project management framework when delivering projects funded by 
the revenue budget. 

  
2.2.4 Key controls 

 

The key controls for budgets and medium-term planning are: - 
 

(a)  specific budget approval is given for all expenditure; 
(b)  budget managers are consulted in the preparation of the budgets for which they will be 

held responsible and accept accountability within delegations set by the Cabinet for 
their budgets and the level of service to be delivered; and 

(c) a monitoring process is in place to regularly review the effectiveness and operation of 
budget preparation and to ensure that any corrective action is taken. 

 
2.3 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
  
2.3.1 Why is this important? 

 
Capital expenditure involves acquiring or enhancing fixed assets with a long-term value to 
the Council, such as land, buildings, and major items of plant, equipment or vehicles. 

 
Capital assets can shape the way services are delivered in the long term and create 
financial commitments for the future in the form of financing costs and revenue running 
costs. Capital expenditure can also result in the creation of an intangible asset, for items 
such as software licenses which have no physical substance. 
 
The Council is required to set its Capital Programme having regard to the Prudential Code, 
ensuring that it is affordable, prudent and sustainable. This means that capital expenditure 
forms part of a capital strategy that is carefully prioritised in order to maximise the benefit of 
limited resources. The Council must also approve its Prudential Indicators which are used 
to monitor performance throughout the year. 

  
2.3.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To prepare a capital strategy which outlines the Councils approach to developing a Capital 
Programme which meets the Councils’ priorities; 
 
To prepare a Capital Programme covering at least two future financial years. If an urgent 
and unforeseen need arises to undertake a project in excess of the current approved 
Capital Programme or to accelerate the preparation, commencement or completion of a 
scheme, the proposal will be considered by the Corporate Leadership Team and if 

906



253 

supported will then be reported to Joint Strategic Committee (and Full Council if a 
supplementary estimate is required) for final approval. 
 
To prepare and submit regular reports to the Joint Strategic Committee on the projected 
income, expenditure and resources compared with the approved estimates. Also, to inform 
the Cabinet where estimated expenditure on any scheme exceeds the Capital Programme 
provision by more than 10% or £50,000 whichever is lower, unless the amount is not 
material. 
 
The definition of ‘capital’ will be determined by the Chief Financial Officer, having regard to 
government regulations and accounting requirements. 

  
2.3.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To comply with guidance concerning the development of the Capital Programme, capital 
schemes and controls issued by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To utilise the Councils project management framework when delivering projects. 
 
To ensure that all estimates and programmes prepared in connection with capital 
expenditure shall include reference to the estimated revenue implications in each of the 
development years and in a full cost year as agreed with the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To review the Capital Programme provisions for their services and the estimated final costs 
of schemes in the approved Capital Programme. 
 
To ensure that adequate records are maintained for all capital contracts. 
 
To proceed with projects/contracts only when there is adequate provision in the Capital 
Programme and guarantees of any external funding are in place. 
 
To notify the Chief Financial Officer immediately if the total value of a contract or its annual 
sum is likely to be different from the original figure by more than the approved limits (the 
lower of more than 10% or £50,000 subject to materiality). 
 

2.3.4 Key controls 
 
The key controls for Capital Programmes are: - 
 
(a)  specific recommendation by the Joint Strategic Committee and resolution of the 

relevant Council for the planned programme of capital expenditure; 
(b)  Prior to any expenditure being incurred, each capital project must have a project 

initiation document (PID) as detailed in the capital strategy which is subject to approval 
by the relevant Director and Cabinet Member; 

(c) Projects with a value in excess of £250,000 are Key Decisions (as defined in Article 12 
of the Constitution) and therefore must be included in the Council’s Forward Plan to 
provided 28 days of any decision to be made, and a report taken to the relevant 
Cabinet Members detailing the following: 

● details of the scheme including the options considered; 
● the procurement strategy; 
● the capital and revenue implications of the proposed scheme over the 

medium term; and 
● requesting any further delegations as appropriate 

(d)  proposals for minor improvements and alterations to buildings and land must be 
approved by the appropriate Director/ Head of Service; 

(e) monitoring of progress of the programme in conjunction with expected expenditure and 
comparison with approved budget; and 

907



254 

(f) monitoring of Prudential Indicators throughout the year. 
  
2.4 MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES 
  
2.4.1 Why are these important? 

 
The Council holds reserves for one of three purposes: 

● working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows, to manage 

budget risk and to avoid unnecessary temporary borrowing (general reserve); 

● a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies (general 

reserve); and 

● a means of building up funds (earmarked reserves) to meet planned one-off 

expenditure, and to meet known or predicted liabilities. 

 
It is the responsibility of the Section 151 Officer to advise the Council as to the level of 
general reserves. 
 

2.4.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
To advise the Cabinet and/or the Council on prudent levels of reserves for the Council, 
having regard to advice from the External Auditor. 

  
2.4.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To ensure that reserves are used only for the purposes for which they were intended. 

  
2.4.4 Key controls 

 
The key controls for the maintenance of the reserves are: 

a) To maintain reserves in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom and agreed accounting policies. 

b) For each earmarked reserve established, the following must be provided: 

● The reason for/purpose of the reserve 

● How and when the reserve can be used 

● Procedures for the reserve management and control 

● A regular review of the reserve to ensure continuing relevance and 

adequacy. 

c) Expenditure from the reserves of in excess of £25,000 can only be approved by the 

Joint Strategic Committee unless a specific delegation exists (see guidance on 

virement limits at paragraph 3.2.4). 

  
3. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
  
3.1 BUDGETARY CONTROL 
  
3.1.1 Why is this important? 

 
Budgetary control is the means by which the Council manages its finances and ensures 
their effective use in accordance with the approved budget. It is a continuous process, 
enabling the Council to monitor and review its financial performance during the financial 
year. 
 
By continuously identifying and explaining variances against budgetary targets, the Council 
can identify changes in trends and resource requirements at the earliest opportunity. 
 

908



255 

To ensure that the Council in total does not overspend, each service is required to manage 
its own expenditure within the cash-limited budget allocated to it. 
 
For the purposes of budgetary control by managers, a budget will normally be the planned 
income and expenditure for a service area or cost centre. 

  
3.1.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To administer an appropriate framework of budgetary management and control that 
ensures: 
 
(a)  Budget management is exercised within annual cash limits 
(b)  Each Director has available timely information on receipts and payments on each 

budget; 
(c)  Expenditure is only committed against an approved budget 
(d) All Officers responsible for committing expenditure comply with relevant guidance, and 

these Financial Regulations 
(e)  Each budget heading has a single named Manager, determined by the relevant 

Director/ Head of Service. As a general principle, budget responsibility should be 
aligned as closely as possible to the decision-making processes that commit 
expenditure 

(f)  Significant variances of more than 10% or £25,000 (was £5,000) whichever is the 
higher from approved budgets are investigated and reported by budget managers 
regularly. 

 
To administer the Council’s Scheme of Virement (see 3.2). 
 
To submit reports to the Joint Strategic Committee and to the Council, in consultation with 
the relevant Director/Head of Service, where it is not possible to balance expenditure and 
resources within existing approved budgets under their control (see 3.2.5 supplementary 
estimates). 
 
To prepare and submit regular monitoring reports to Joint Strategic Committee on the 
Council’s projected income and expenditure compared with the budget. 

  
3.1.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To maintain budgetary control within their departments and to ensure that all income and 
expenditure is recorded and accounted for properly. 
 
To ensure that an accountable Budget Manager is identified for each item of income and 
expenditure. 
 
To ensure that spending remains within the service’s overall budget limit, by monitoring the 
budget and taking appropriate corrective action where significant variations from the 
approved budget are forecast. 
 
To prepare and submit to the Joint Strategic Committee, reports on the service’s projected 
expenditure compared with its budget as part of the regular budget monitoring reports, in 
consultation with the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To ensure compliance with the Scheme of Virement (see 3.2). 
 
To agree with the relevant Director/Head of Service where it appears that a budget 
proposal, including a virement proposal, may impact materially on another service area. 

 
3.1.4 Key controls 

909



256 

 
The key controls for managing and controlling the revenue budget are: - 
 
(a)  Budget Managers should be responsible only for income and expenditure that they can 

influence; 
(b)  there is a nominated Budget Manager for each budget heading; 
(c)  Budget Managers accept accountability for their budgets and the level of service to be 

delivered and understand their financial responsibilities; 
(d) all budgets are appropriately profiled through the financial year; 
(e)  Budget Managers follow an approved certification process for all expenditure; 
(f) income and expenditure items are recorded and accounted for properly. 

 
3.2 SCHEME OF VIREMENT 
  

A summary of the limits relating to virement as set out in the sections below is provided in 
Appendix 1 to these Rules. 
 

3.2.1 General Virement 
  
a) Why is this important? 

 
Virement is the transfer of budget from one specific area to another. This can either be a 
transfer within revenue budgets or a transfer within capital budgets. Restrictions may apply 
to transfers between capital and revenue budgets and you cannot vire between a capital 
budget and a revenue budget. Virement can be a temporary (in-year) or permanent transfer 
of budget. 
 
The Scheme of Virement is intended to enable Cabinet Members together with CLT/ Heads 
of Service and their staff to manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall 
Policy Framework determined by the Council, and, therefore, to optimise the use of 
resources. Budget variation requests requiring Committee approval will be included on Joint 
Strategic Committee Agendas.  
 

b) Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
To submit a report to the Corporate Leadership Team and Cabinet where virements are 
proposed between Directorate areas or Member Portfolios; 
 
To approve all virements in excess of £50,000 and up to but not including £100,000; 
 
To ensure that all virements of £100,000 (Key Decision limit as defined by Article 12 of the 
Constitution) and up to and including £250,000 are approved by the relevant Cabinet 
Member; 
 
To ensure that all virements in excess of £250,000 are approved by the Joint Strategic 
Committee. 

  
c) Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
CLT/Heads of Service may exercise virement on budgets under their control of up to and 
including a maximum of £50,000, provided the Chief Financial Officer has been consulted. 
 
To submit a report to the relevant Cabinet Member or the Joint Strategic Committee for 
virements over £100,000, provided that the Chief Financial Officer has been consulted. 
 
Salary budgets represent the Council’s approved establishment. As such the salary 
budgets cannot be vired to other areas of the budget without the approval of the Chief 

910



257 

Financial Officer. A favourable salary budget variance may be used to cover the additional 
temporary staffing costs incurred due to the vacant post, subject to the corporate vacancy 
target. 
 
To ensure, where external funding has been successfully applied for, that a budget 
virement is undertaken to adjust the revenue budget for the confirmed funding and the 
related expenditure. 
 
Virements against future anticipated fees and charges or other uncertain sources of income 
will not be allowed unless approved by the relevant Cabinet Member. 
 
Savings of a non-recurring nature (temporary) cannot be used to justify the incurring of 
expenditure with a continuing commitment into later years (permanent). 
 
Virement that is likely to impact on the level of service activity of another department should 
be implemented only after agreement with the relevant Director/Head of Service. 

  
d) Key controls 
 

Key controls for the Scheme of Virement are: 
 
(a)  It is administered by the Chief Financial Officer within guidelines set by the Council. 

Any variation requires the approval of the Council; 
(b)  The overall budget is recommended by the Cabinet and approved by the Council. 

CLT/Heads of Service are authorised to incur expenditure in accordance with the 
estimates that make up the budget. 

(c) Virement does not create a net increase in budget. CLT/Heads of Service are expected 
to exercise their discretion in managing their budgets responsibly and prudently. 

 
3.2.2 Virements Relating To Section 106 Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy 

(CIL)  
  
a) Why is this important? 

 
Section 106 agreements are negotiated as part of a condition of planning consent. CIL levy 
is payable on certain developments. They provide an important source of additional funding 
towards a range of infrastructure and services such as community facilities, public open 
spaces, transport improvements and or affordable housing.  

  
b) Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To ensure that virements relating to s.106 and CIL funding in excess of £25,000 and up to 
and including a maximum of £100,000 are approved by the relevant Cabinet Member and 
that virements in excess of £100,000 are approved by the Joint Strategic Committee.  
 
To be responsible for the proper accounting of S106 and CIL receipts. 

  
c) Responsibility of the Head of Planning  

 
To keep a record of all s.106 and CIL receipts due to each Council.  
 
To be responsible for the collection of any s.106 and CIL receipts due. 
 

d) Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 
CLT/Heads of Service may exercise virements relating to s106/CIL funded expenditure 
under their control up to and including a maximum of £25,000 provided that the Chief 

911



258 

Financial Officer has been notified and authorised the use of the receipts and the proposed 
use is in accordance with any legal agreement or Council policy governing their use. 
 
To submit a report to the relevant Cabinet Members for expenditure in excess of £25,000 
and up to and including £100,000 and to the Joint Strategic Committee for expenditure in 
excess of £100,000 and above at the earliest opportunity with details of how the funding is 
to be applied.  
 

e) Key controls 
 
Key controls for s.106 funded expenditure are: 
 
(a) It is administered by the Chief Financial Officer within guidelines set by the Council; 

and 
(b)  Virement does not create a net increase in budget. CLT/Heads of Service are expected 

to ensure that funds are spent within the terms of the agreement including any time 
limits that may apply.  

 
3.2.3 Virements Relating To Contingency Budgets 
  
a) Why is this important? 

 
The Contingencies and Special Items budget is assessed annually as a provision for known 
possible service changes that have not been sufficiently developed to fully cost into the 
budget. 

  
b) Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To ensure that virements relating to contingency budgets have been fully costed before 
budget are vired to service areas. Virements are noted in budget monitoring reports. 

  
c) Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To submit fully developed spending plans to the Chief Financial Officer at the earliest 
opportunity. 

  
d) Key controls 

 
Key controls for virements from Contingency budgets: 
 
(a)  It is administered by the Chief Financial Officer within guidelines set by the Council;  
(b) Virement does not create a net increase in budget; and 
(c) CLT/Heads of Service are expected to ensure that the use of these budgets follow the 

Council’s priorities. 
 
3.2.4 Virements Relating To Reserves 
  
a) Why is this important? 

 
Earmarked reserves should only be used for the purpose that they are intended. 
Unrequired earmarked reserves should be returned to the General Fund. Capital reserves 
should only be applied in line with statutory approvals. 

  
b) Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To ensure that all virements from Earmarked Reserves up to and including £25,000 are 
approved by the relevant member of CLT or the Head of Service.  

912



259 

 
To ensure that all virements relating to the use of Earmarked Reserves in excess of 
£25,000 and up to and including £250,000 are approved by Joint Strategic Committee or 
the relevant Individual Cabinet Members where a delegation to that Cabinet Member is in 
force.  
 
To ensure that all virements in excess of £250,000 are approved by the Joint Strategic 
Committee. 
 
To ensure that all proposals for the use of capital receipts complies with statutory guidance, 
the Capital Strategy and have a viable business case.  
 

c) Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 
To ensure that earmarked reserves are used only for the purpose for which they were 
intended.  
 
That unrequired earmarked reserves are returned to the General Fund. 
 
To submit proposals to the Chief Financial Officer as soon as practicable for the use of any 
earmarked reserve. 
 

d) Key controls 
 
Key controls for virements from reserves: 
 
(a) It is administered by the Chief Financial Officer within guidelines set by the Council. 
(b)  Virement does not create a net increase in budget. CLT/Heads of Service are expected 

to ensure that the use of these budgets follow the Council’s priorities. 
 
3.3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
  
3.3.1 Why are these important? 

 
The Council is required to follow proper practices in preparing its Statement of Accounts. 
The Council’s Accounting Policies are a key part in ensuring that this is done and these are 
detailed in the Statement of Accounts. 

  
3.3.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To establish suitable accounting policies and to ensure that they are applied consistently. 
 
To ensure that the accounting policies are consistent with proper practices as set out in the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom, for each financial 
year. 

  
3.3.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To adhere to the accounting policies and guidelines approved by the Chief Financial 
Officer. 

  
3.3.4 Key controls 

 
The key controls for accounting policies are: 
(a) Systems of internal control are in place to ensure that financial transactions are lawful; 
(b) Suitable accounting policies are established and applied consistently; 
(c) Proper accounting records are maintained; 

913



260 

(d) Financial statements are prepared which present fairly the financial position of the 
Council and its expenditure and income; and 

(e) Accounting policies are set out in the Statement of Accounts and are subject to 
external audit. 

  
3.4 ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS 
  
3.4.1 Why are these important? 

 
Maintaining proper accounting records is one way in which the Council discharges its 
responsibility for stewardship of public resources. The Council has a statutory responsibility 
to prepare annual accounts that present its operations during the financial year fairly. These 
annual accounts are subject to external audit. This audit provides assurance that the 
accounts are prepared properly, that proper accounting practices have been followed and 
that quality arrangements have been made for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of the Council’s resources. 

  
3.4.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To determine the accounting policies, procedures and the method for recording 
transactions for the Council. 
 
To arrange for the compilation of all accounts and accounting records under their direction. 
 
To comply with the following principles when allocating accounting duties: - 
(a) Officers responsible for the calculation, checking and recording of income and 

expenditure should not be responsible for the collection and disbursement of such 
income and expenditure; and 

(b)  Officers with the duty of examining or checking the accounts of cash transactions must 
not be engaged in those transactions. 

 
To make proper arrangements for the audit of the Council’s annual accounts in accordance 
with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 
 
To ensure that all claims for funds (including grants) are made accurately and by the due 
date. 
 
To prepare and publish the audited annual accounts of the Council for each financial year, 
in accordance with the statutory timetable. 
 
To ensure the proper security and retention of financial documents in accordance with the 
requirements set out in the Council’s Document Retention Policy. 
 
To ensure that an asset register is maintained and assets are appropriately revalued and 
categorised in accordance with Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom. 

 
3.4.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
To ensure that a copy of any approved funding from a third party, including Government 
grant, is immediately passed to the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To ensure that all necessary service related information is available to support all claims for 
funds, including Government grants. 
 
To maintain adequate records to provide a management/audit trail leading from the source 
of income/expenditure through to the accounting statements. 

914



261 

 
To supply information required to enable the statement of accounts to be completed and 
published in accordance with the timetable and guidelines issued by the Chief Financial 
Officer. 

 
3.4.4 Key controls 

 
The key controls for accounting records and returns are: 
(a) All Cabinet Members, finance Officers and Budget Managers operate within the 

required accounting standards and timetables; 
(b)  All the Council’s transactions, material commitments, contracts and other essential 

accounting information are recorded completely, accurately and on a timely basis; 
(c)  Procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be reconstituted in the event 

of systems failure; 
(d)  Reconciliation procedures are carried out to ensure transactions are correctly recorded; 
(e)  Prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and other requirements, 

as set out in the Councils’ Document Retention Policy; and 
(f) The central accounting system of the Council, administered by the Chief Financial 

Officer, is the prime system upon which the financial position of the Council, or any part 
of the Council, will be assessed. 

  
3.5 THE ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
  
3.5.1 Why is this important? 

 
The Council has a statutory responsibility to prepare its own accounts to present its 
operations during the financial year in a fair manner. The Council is responsible for 
approving the statutory annual statement of accounts, through delegation to the Joint Audit 
& Governance Committee. 

  
3.5.2 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To establish suitable accounting policies and to apply them consistently. 
 
To make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent. 
 
To comply with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 
 
To sign and date the statement of accounts, stating that it presents fairly the financial 
position of the Council at the accounting date and its income and expenditure for the 
financial year. 
 
To draw up the timetable and requirements for final accounts preparation and to advise 
Officers and the External Auditor accordingly. 

  
3.5.3 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 

To comply with accounting guidance provided by the Chief Financial Officer and to supply 
the Chief Financial Officer with information when required. 

  
3.5.4 Key controls 

 
The key controls for the annual statement of accounts are: - 
 
(a) The Council is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its 

financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the 

915



262 

administration of these affairs. In this Council, that officer is the Chief Financial Officer; 
and 

(b) The Council’s statement of accounts must be prepared in accordance with proper 
practices as set out in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom. 

 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES 
 
4.1   RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSURANCE 
  
4.1.1 Why is this important? 

 
Risk management is a planned and systematic approach to identifying, evaluating and 
controlling risk. Its objectives are to secure the assets of the organisation and to ensure the 
continued financial and organisational wellbeing of the Council. It is, therefore, an integral 
and essential part of good business practice. Risk management is concerned with 
evaluating the measures an organisation already has in place to manage identified risks 
and then recommending the action needed to control these risks effectively. 
 
It is the overall responsibility of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee to approve the 
Council’s Risk Management Strategy, and to promote a culture of risk management 
awareness throughout the Council. 

  
4.1.2 Responsibilities of the Director of Digital, Sustainability and Resources 

 
To prepare and promote the Council’s Risk Management Strategy.  
 
To report regularly to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee on risk management 
matters. 

 
4.1.3 Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 

 
To effect corporate insurance cover, through external insurance and internal funding, and to 
negotiate all claims, in consultation with other Officers where necessary. 

  
4.1.4 Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 

To notify the Chief Financial Officer immediately of any injury, loss, liability or damage that 
may lead to a claim against the Council, together with any information or explanation 
required by the Chief Financial Officer or the Council’s insurers. 
 
To notify the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services of any injury, loss or liability 
that might result in legal action against the Council 
 
To take responsibility for risk management and minimising exposure to loss, having regard 
to advice from the Chief Financial Officer and other specialist advisers (e.g. health and 
safety, emergency planning). 
 
To ensure that there are regular reviews of Corporate and Departmental risk registers to 
identify and evaluate risk and to determine the ways risk can be managed. The risks and 
the mitigating actions should be recorded and monitored. 
 
To notify the Director of Digital, Sustainability and Resources promptly of all new risks 
 
To notify the Chief Financial Officer of any properties or vehicles that require insurance and 
of any alterations affecting existing insurances. 
 

916



263 

To consult the Chief Financial Officer and the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 
Services on the terms of any indemnity that the Council is requested to give. 

  
4.1.5 Key controls 

 

The key controls for risk management are: 
 

(a)  Procedures are in place to identify risks, to evaluate their likely impact and probability 
of occurring, and to determine suitable risk reduction strategies. The risk management 
process operates continually to ensure that changes in circumstances and new risks 
are identified, evaluated and managed; 

(b)  Corporate and Departmental Risk Registers are produced and are regularly reviewed 
and action taken when appropriate; 

(c)  Risk management procedures are communicated effectively throughout the Council. 
Managers know that they are responsible for managing risks in their areas and are 
provided with relevant information on risk management initiatives; 

(d)  Acceptable levels of risk are determined and insured against where appropriate; and 
provision is made through balances or reserves for losses where insurance is not 
appropriate; 

(e)  The Council has identified business continuity plans for implementation in the event of 
disaster that results in significant loss or damage to its resources. 

 
4.2 AUDIT REQUIREMENTS 
  
4.2.1 Internal Audit 

 
a) Why is this important? 

 
The requirement for an internal audit function is implied by the Accounts & Audit 
Regulations 2015 which requires that the Council must each financial year conduct a 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control and prepare an annual 
governance statement. 
 
Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to 
add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes. 
 
It will act in accordance with the internal audit charter and UK Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) and will undertake reviews that focus on areas of greatest risk to the 
Council, as agreed annually in consultation with CLT and approved by the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee. However, it is the responsibility of every manager to establish and 
maintain an effective system of internal control. 
 
Internal audit shall have the authority to have unrestricted access to all records, assets, 
personnel and premises deemed necessary to review the activities of the Council and 
(where appropriate, subject to contractual arrangements) its contractors and operating 
partners. It also has authority to obtain from all Officers and Members such information and 
explanations as are considered necessary and direct access and freedom to report to CLT, 
the Council and its committees (although its primary responsibility is to the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee). 
 

b) Key controls 
 

The key controls for Internal Audit are: 
(a) That it is independent in its planning and operation; 
(b) The Head of Internal Audit has direct access to the Chief Executive, all levels of 

management and directly to Elected Members; and 

917



264 

(c)  The internal Auditors comply with the United Kingdom Internal Audit Standards as 
interpreted by CIPFA’s Local Government Application Note. 

  
4.2.2 External Audit 

 

a) Why is this important? 
 
It is a statutory requirement for the Council to publish an audited Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulation 2015 sets out the requirements of signing, 
approval and publication of the statement of accounts.  
 
The arrangements for the appointment of external auditors are included in the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 which give the Councils two options: 
 
i)   to either opt in to the Appointing Person regime; or  
ii)  to establish an auditor panel and conduct their own procurement exercise.  
 

b) Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
Make arrangements to let the contract for the provision of external audit services. 
 
To ensure that the appointed External Auditor is given access at all times to premises, 
personnel, documents and assets that they consider necessary for the purposes of their 
work.  
 
To ensure there is effective liaison between external and internal audit. 
 

c) Key controls 
 

The key controls for External Audit are: 
(a)  That it is independent in its planning and operation; 
(b)  The External auditor has direct access to the Chief Executive, all levels of management 

and directly to Elected Members; and 
(c)  The External auditor reports to the Governance and Audit Committee and that all 

reports of the auditor are publicly available. 
 

4.3 PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 
  

The Council takes the prevention of fraud, corruption and maladministration very seriously 
and has the following policies in place, which aim to prevent or deal with such occurrences: 
 

● Anti-Fraud, Corruption & Bribery Policy 

● Whistleblowing Policy (in respect of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998) 

● Anti-money laundering procedures 

● HR policies regarding discipline of staff 

● Registers of Interests for Members and staff 

● Robust processes for the procurement of goods and services 

 
The Council expects all Members and Officers to act with propriety and accountability and 
also expects that individuals and organisations with whom the Council comes into contact 
(for example, suppliers, contractors and service providers) will act towards the Council with 
integrity and without thought or actions involving fraud and corruption. 

 

918



265 

Where financial or other impropriety is discovered or suspected it must immediately be 
reported to the Chief Financial Officer and the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic 
Services and/or the Head of Internal Audit for appropriate investigation and action. 

 
4.4 ASSETS – LAND, BUILDINGS, FURNITURE, EQUIPMENT, ETC. 
  
4.4.1 Acquisitions 

 
Why are these important? 
The Council is publicly accountable for the way that it spends its money. Value for money 
must be demonstrated and the Council has a statutory duty to achieve best value in 
everything it does. Therefore, the Council has to exercise control over its purchasing 
activity, including asset acquisition (e.g. property, vehicles, plant and equipment, 
furniture). 
 
Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
To issue guidelines on the best practice in respect of asset acquisition. 
To periodically review all guidelines to ensure that they still reflect best practice. 
To ensure that all expenditure is properly recorded in the Council’s accounts and records. 
  
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
To ensure that the Council’s policies and procedures are complied with. 
To ensure that the necessary separation of duties is observed. 
To ensure that assets purchased are necessary. 
  
Key controls 
The key controls for asset acquisition are: 
 
(a) Council policies, including the Governance arrangements and Officer Decision 

Making Procedure Rules, in respect of the acquisition of assets are complied with 
at all times. This includes compliance with Contract Standing Orders for all relevant 
asset acquisitions. 

(b) There are at least two Officers involved in the process of acquisition, with a 
separation of duties between Officers involved in the different parts of the process. 

(c) Procedures protect Officers involved in the acquisition of assets from accusations 
of impropriety. 

  
4.4.2 Asset disposal and transfer 

 
Why is this important? 
It would be uneconomic and inefficient for the cost of maintaining assets to outweigh their 
benefits. Obsolete, non-repairable or unnecessary resources should be disposed of in 
accordance with the law and the Council’s policies and procedures. 
 
Assets are sometimes used by or transferred to an external party, for example as part of 
an outsourced contract or partnership arrangement. It is important that the legal and 
financial basis for the transfer is determined and properly documented, so that the 
interests of the Council are protected. 
  
Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
To issue guidelines representing best practice for disposal of assets. 
 
To ensure appropriate accounting entries are made to remove the value of disposed or 
transferred assets from the Council’s records and to include the sale proceeds, if 
appropriate. 
  
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

919



266 

To seek advice from the Chief Financial Officer on the disposal of surplus or obsolete 
materials, equipment and vehicles. 
 
To seek advice from the Chief Financial Officer where assets are to be transferred or 
predominantly used by an external party. 
 
To ensure that income received for the disposal of an asset is properly banked and coded. 
 
To authorise the write off and disposal of obsolete or surplus materials and equipment. 
 
To ensure that the disposal of obsolete or surplus materials and equipment, is by 
competitive quotation or auction, unless, following consultation with the Chief Financial 
Officer, the Cabinet decides otherwise. 

  
Specifically relating to the disposal or acquisition of land and buildings: 
 
To ensure that all disposals of land and buildings are in accordance with the Council’s 
asset management strategy current at the time. Where disposal of land and buildings is 
allowed, it shall be conducted in accordance with the scheme of delegations and the 
provisions detailed in (a) (i) – (vi) below. 
 
(a)  Approved methods of disposal shall be by: 

(i)  Private Treaty; 
(ii)  Auction; 
(iii)  Tender 
(iv)  Sealed Offer; 
(v)  Exchanges of land; or 
(vi)  Compulsory Purchase Order 
 

(b)  To ensure that where land is to be disposed of by the Council, the Chief Financial 
Officer shall ensure compliance with Financial Regulations and S123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 
(c) Prior to any disposal of land, a valuation of the asset to be sold should be obtained 

from an appropriately qualified valuer. 
  

Key controls 
 
(a) assets for disposal or transfer are identified and are disposed of or transferred at the 

most appropriate time, and only when it is in the best interests of the Council, and the 
best price or contract terms are obtained, bearing in mind other factors, such as 
environmental issues or the delivery of strategic objectives. 

(b)  Prior to the disposal of any land or buildings, a formal valuation is obtained 
(c)  for items of significant value, disposal should be by competitive tender or public 

auction; and 
(d)  procedures protect Officers involved in the disposal of assets from accusations of 

personal gain.  
 

4.4.3 Security (Including Inventories) 
 
Why is this important? 
The Council holds assets in the form of property, vehicles, equipment and other items 
worth many millions of pounds. Information held by the Council is also a key asset. It is 
important that assets are safeguarded and used efficiently in service delivery, and that 
there are arrangements for the security of assets. An up-to-date asset register is a 
prerequisite for proper fixed asset accounting and sound asset management. 

  

920



267 

Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
To ensure that an asset register is maintained in accordance with good practice for all 
assets with a value in excess of £10,000. The function of the asset register is to provide 
the Council with information about fixed assets so that they are: - 

● safeguarded; 

● used efficiently and effectively; 

● adequately maintained; and 

● accounted for. 

  
To receive the information required for asset accounting and associated financial records 
from each director/group head. 
 
To ensure that assets are valued in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 
 
Responsibilities of the Head of Resident Services (Customer Services): 
To maintain a central register of all IT and telephony equipment. 
 
To maintain a central register of all vehicles. 
 
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
To ensure the proper security of all Officers, buildings and other assets under their 
control. 
 
To pass title deeds and contract documentation to the Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services who is responsible for custody of all title deeds. 
 
To ensure the safe custody of vehicles, equipment, furniture, and other property belonging 
to the Council. 
 
To ensure that assets are identified, their location recorded and that they are appropriately 
marked and insured. 
 
To ensure cash holdings on premises are kept to a minimum and that maximum limits are 
agreed by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To ensure that keys to safes and similar secure containers/cupboards are carried on the 
person of those responsible at all times; loss of any such keys must be reported to the 
Chief Financial Officer as soon as possible. 
 
To arrange for the valuation of assets for accounting purposes to meet requirements 
specified by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To carry out an annual check of all items on the inventory in order to verify location, to 
review condition and to take action in relation to surpluses or deficiencies, annotating the 
inventory accordingly. 
 
To make sure that property is only used in the course of the Council’s business, unless 
the Director/Head of Service concerned has given permission otherwise. 

  
Key controls 
 
(a)  assets registers are accurately maintained and all assets are accounted for; and. 
(b)  assets are valued in accordance with approved policies and appropriate values 

included in the Council’s Annual Accounts. 
 

921



268 

4.5 TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
  

Why is this important? 
 
Many millions of pounds pass through the Councils’ accounts each year. The scale of the 
local authority treasury activity and issues such as the Icelandic banking collapse has led to 
the development of CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management and Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (Prudential Code). These aim to provide 
assurances that the Councils’ money is properly managed in a way that balances risk with 
return, but with the overriding consideration being given to the security of the Councils’ 
financial resources. 

  
Responsibilities of Chief Financial Officer 
 
To arrange the borrowing and investments of the Councils, including bank overdrafts, in 
such a manner as to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management, 
the Prudential Code, the Councils’ Treasury Management Strategy and the Councils’ 
Treasury Management Practices. 
 
To report on treasury activities to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee, with 
recommendations (including adoption of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement & 
Annual Investment Strategy) referred for approval by Full Council. 
 
To operate bank accounts as are considered necessary. All arrangements with the 
Councils’ approved bankers regarding the Councils’ bank accounts, and the terms on which 
they are conducted, shall be made by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To ensure that detailed arrangements are made regarding the Councils’ bank accounts and 
for the issue of cheques and cards. All cheques or cards shall be ordered only on the 
authority of the Chief Financial Officer who shall advise on proper arrangements for their 
safe custody. 
 
All of the Councils’ bank accounts must be in the name of ‘Adur District Council’ or 
‘Worthing Borough Council’. 
 
To ensure that all investments or utilisation of monies and other accumulations and the sale 
or realisation of investments are made in the name of the relevant Council or in the name of 
nominees approved by the Cabinet. 
 
To effect all borrowings in the name of the Councils. 
 
To act as the Councils’ registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages and to maintain records of 
all borrowing of money and investment by the relevant Council. 
 
To ensure that in circumstances where a Council has decided to finance capital expenditure 
by way of leasing, deferred purchase, or similar arrangements, the Chief Financial Officer 
or their authorised representative shall so far as possible, obtain competitive quotations 
from relevant funding sources and such arrangements shall be subject to approval by the 
relevant Cabinet Member. 
  
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 
To follow the instructions on banking issued by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
To ensure that loans are not made to third parties and that interests are not acquired in 
companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without the approval of the Cabinet, following 
consultation with the Chief Financial Officer and if appropriate Council. 

922



269 

 
To ensure that CLT/Heads of Service advise the Chief Financial Officer of the disposal of 
any vehicle or item of equipment that is subject to a lease. 

  
Key controls 
 
(a) the Treasury Management Strategy Statement & Annual Investment Strategy must be 

approved by Full Council by 31st March for the next financial year; 
 
(b) Council investments are only placed with approved institutions in line with the agreed 

strategies; 
 
(c)  investment performance is monitored and reported to Officers and Members; 
 
(d)  funds transfers (e.g. by CHAPS) require dual authorisation by designated officers; and 
 
(e)  investment and borrowing requirements are identified and planned for in short-term 

cash flow forecasting and longer-term financial strategies. 
 
4.6 STRATEGIC PROPERTY INVESTMENT FUND 
 

Why is this important? 
 
The Councils are investing millions of pounds in commercial property to produce a 
sustainable income stream to support the Councils’ activities for the future. The scale of this 
investment activity and associated risks mean that such investments should be properly 
managed, a point reinforced by the recently revised Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities (Prudential Code). This aims to provide assurances that the Councils’ 
property investment activity is properly managed in a way that balances risk with return, but 
with the overriding consideration being given to the long-term security of the Councils’ 
property investments. 

  
Responsibilities of Assistant Director Regenerative Development 
 
To ensure that Key Decision notices are published for any potential purchase; 
 
To ensure that the approval of any purchases complies with the governance arrangements 
detailed within the Commercial Property Investment Strategy. 
 
To ensure sufficient resources are allocated to the long term management of Strategic 
Property Investment Fund assets to maintain their long term value is maintained. 
 
To ensure that effective asset management plans, processes and procedures are in place 
to ensure that these assets are managed appropriately.  
 
To report on property investment activities to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee, with 
recommendations (including adoption of the Annual Commercial Property Investment 
Strategy) referred for approval by Full Council. 
 
To effect all purchases in the name of the relevant Council. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Financial Officer 
 
To arrange the financing of any purchases (including borrowing) of the Council,, in such a 
manner as to comply with the CIPFA Prudential Code, the Councils’ Treasury Management 
Strategy and the Councils’ Treasury Management Practices. 
 

923



270 

Key controls 
 
(a) the Commercial Property Investment Strategy must be approved by Full Council by 

31st March for the next financial year; 
(b) Council will only invest in line with the agreed strategy; 
(c) The performance of the Strategic Property Investment Fund is monitored and reported 

to Officers and Members; 
(d) An annual report is prepared for both the Joint Strategic Committee and the Joint Audit 

& Governance Committee detailing the value, outstanding borrowings and rental 
performance of the fund 

(e) All property purchases are subject to extensive due diligence and conveyancing is 
managed by appropriately qualified legal resources. 

 
4.7 WORKFORCE 
 

Why is this important? 
 
The Council sees its Officers as a valuable asset to running its business to provide the 
highest level of service, it is essential that the Council recruits and retains high calibre, 
knowledgeable Officers, who are qualified to an appropriate level. 
  
Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
To ensure that CLT/Heads of Service have identified budget provision for all existing and 
new employees. 
To act as an advisor to CLT/Heads of Service on areas such as National Insurance and 
pension contributions, as appropriate. 
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Digital, Sustainability and Resources 
 
To develop a workforce strategy, policy and procedures and ensure they are disseminated 
and enforced. 

  
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 
To produce an annual workforce budget. 
To ensure that the workforce budget is an accurate forecast of workforce levels and is 
equated to an appropriate revenue budget provision (including on-costs and overheads). 
To ensure that the workforce budget is not exceeded without due authority and that it is 
managed to enable the agreed level of service to be provided. 
To comply with, and ensure Officers comply with, the Council’s Human Resource policies 
(for example: recruitment, training and flexible working policies). 
 
Key controls 
 
The key controls for employees are: - 
(a)  an appropriate workforce strategy and policy exists, in which Officer requirements and 

budget allocation are matched; 
(b)  procedures are in place for forecasting workforce requirements and cost; 
(c)  controls are implemented that ensure that Officer time is used efficiently and to the 

benefit of the Council; and 
(d)  checks are undertaken prior to appointing new Officers to ensure that they are 

appropriately qualified, experienced and trustworthy. 
 

5. FINANCIAL SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 
  
5.1 GENERAL 

924



271 

  
Introduction 
 
The Council is governed by laws requiring that it makes proper arrangements for the 
administration, reporting and safeguarding of those funds and act in a way that is open and 
accountable as to how those funds are used. 
  
Whilst all Council Officers and Members have a general financial responsibility, Section 151 
of the Local Government Act 1972 requires that a suitably qualified Officer must be 
responsible for the financial administration of the organisation. This Officer is the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

  
Chief Financial Officer 
 
The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the proper administration of the Council’s 
financial affairs, prescribes appropriate financial systems, protocols, procedures and 
policies, maintains an internal audit service and reports to the Council in the event of any 
decision or action leading to, or may lead to, unlawful expenditure, loss, deficiency or 
accounting entry and; 
  
(a)  will be responsible for ensuring the final accounts are completed and published in 

accordance with statute and accepted public sector accounting requirements and the 
reporting to Members of any material amendments specified by external audit, 

(b)  will have unrestricted access to all Council assets, systems, documents, information, 
data, employees and Members held by the Council, 

(c) issue guidance, advice or instruction on the application of these financial systems and 
procedures as appropriate, 

(d)  recommend to the Council the addition, alteration or deletion of any financial regulation. 
  
CLT/Heads of Service  
 
CLT and Heads of Service are the senior management of the organisation and: 
a) will manage budgets and financial activity within their area of responsibility including 

the planning and control of budgets and prevention of fraud and corruption to ensure 
efficient and effective use of resources, 

b) shall consult with the Chief Financial Officer and obtain approval on any matter that 
may have a material effect, advantageous or detrimental, on the Councils financial 
position or financial strategy, 

c) Comply with any instruction given by the Chief Financial Officer regarding the form and 
method of financial record keeping or the operation of any financial procedures. 

  
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees 
 
All Members of the Council including those appointed to the Cabinet, any Committee or 
Sub-Committee will ensure that decisions taken are within their remit and relevant budgets, 
are compliant with adopted policies, and consistent with achievement of the Council’s 
service or corporate plans 

  
Council 
 
The Council will; 
  
● Determine the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 

● Approve and the annual revenue and capital budgets and determine the level of local 

taxation and other statutory charges 

● Approve the Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) and prudential indicators 

925



272 

● Approve the capital strategy 

● Approve changes to these financial procedures (following consideration by the Joint 

Audit & Governance Committee) 

 
Officers and Members 
 
All Officers and Members will contribute to the general stewardship of the Council’s 
financial affairs in compliance with these rules and any systems, procedures, policies 
prescribed by law or the Chief Financial Officer relating to the Council’s financial 
management. They will bring to the attention of the Chief Financial Officer and the Assistant 
Director Legal & Democratic Services any matter that is contrary to the provisions of this 
code or the high standard of financial probity expected of the Council or may bring the 
Council into disrepute or legal challenge. 

  
5.2  INCOME 
  

All Officers receiving money or cashable instruments (including cash, cheques, credit/debit 
card payments, direct credits, etc.) or making arrangements for the collection of income 
must comply with the relevant procedures and instructions issued by the Chief Financial 
Officer to ensure that sums are properly recorded, receipted, and banked, and correct 
accounting entries made. 
  
Cash, in coin or bank note, is only to be accepted in agreed circumstances and every effort 
should be made to promote cashless payments. 

  
Budget Holders 
 
All Officers with budget management responsibility are required to ensure that: 

  
● invoices and credit notes are raised promptly, 

● all enquiries relating to invoices raised and answered promptly, 

● any matters that may affect recovery of an invoiced debt is made known to Accounts 

Receivable, 

● any debts considered appropriate for write-off are notified to the Chief Financial 

Officer, 

● income is regularly monitored and any irregularities are promptly notified to the Chief 

Financial Officer, 

● a review of fees, charges and other income is undertaken at least annually and also 

as part of the budget setting cycle. 

  
Write-off of irrecoverable debt 

  
Once levied, debt may not be cancelled, except by full payment or by its formal writing off. 
A credit note to replace a debt must only be issued to correct a factual inaccuracy or 
administrative error in the calculation or billing of the original debt. 

 
The Chief Financial Officer is: 
 
a)  approved to write-off a debt (or combination of debts) due from any individual debtor in 

any one financial year of not more than £2,500 in aggregate. 
 
b)  authorised to delegate the write off of small debts of less than £250.00 to nominated 

Officers 
  
Debts greater than £2,500 may only be written-off with relevant Cabinet Member approval. 

926



273 

  
Sale of Assets 
  
CLT or Heads of Service will notify the Chief Financial Officer of any proposal to sell any 
surplus assets within their control or responsibility. The Chief Financial Officer will assess in 
consultation with the Director or Heads of Service the value of the asset(s) and determine 
the most appropriate route for sale. The prior approval of the Cabinet Member for 
Resources is to be sought for the sale of any individual asset with a current value of more 
than £50,000 in the Asset Register. 
  

5.3 EXPENDITURE 
  

General 
 
All purchases of goods and services are to be made in compliance with procedures in the 
Contract Standing Orders, as set out at Part 4 of this Constitution, or as otherwise 
instructed by the Chief Financial Officer. All Council purchases (other than those made by 
credit card) must be made and authorised by raising an Official Order in the Council’s 
financial management system or repairs management system. 
  
Purchases made using a Council credit card must be supported by a Payment Requisition 
signed by the purchasing Officer and counter-signed by an authorised Officer and 
forwarded promptly to the Chief Financial Officer. 
  
The Chief Financial Officer will determine the authorised purchasing limits for all Officers in 
consultation with the relevant Director or Head of Service. 
  
All purchases of goods and services must be supported by a valid invoice (in electronic or 
hard copy) that meets the requirements of the HM Revenue & Customs to support VAT 
recovery where appropriate. 
  
Payments for goods and services will only be made where it can be referenced to an 
Official Order and will be by bank automated clearing system (BACS) or such other 
alternative method as may be approved by the Chief Financial Officer. 

  
Acquisition of Assets 
  
Assets purchased at a cost of more than £25,000 must be notified to the Chief Financial 
Officer for inclusion in a register of assets maintained to comply with public sector 
accounting requirements and best practice. 
  
Officers and Members 
  
All payments to Officers and Members will be made through the Council’s payroll or as 
otherwise authorised by the Chief Financial Officer in order that all statutory and regulatory 
requirements are met. 
  
No payment will be made unless approved by a duly authorised Officer. The Chief Financial 
Officer will determine the limit of authority for any Officer in consultation with the relevant 
Director or Head of Service. 
 

5.4  TAXATION 
  

The Council has a statutory duty for the proper administration of its tax affairs in pursuance 
of various United Kingdom and European Union legislation and directives. 
  

927



274 

All Officers and Members will comply promptly with any request made by the Chief 
Financial Officer for information or documentation in relation to any direct or indirect tax 
matters that may impact upon the proper administration of such matters including; 
  

 Pay As You Earn income tax (PAYE) 

 National Insurance Contributions (NIC) 

 Value Added Tax (VAT) 

 Construction Industry Tax (CIS) 

 Corporation Tax 

  
5.5  INSURANCE 
  

Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 

The Chief Financial Officer will arrange for all insurance covers and negotiate settlement of 
all claims made through such insurances in consultation with relevant officers of the 
Council. 

  
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 

 
CLT and Heads of Service will ensure prompt notification to the officer responsible for 
insurances: 

  
● of any incidents that may give rise to a claim against the Council the costs of which 

may be indemnified by the Council’s insurances, 

● of loss of or damage to any Council property or asset under its ownership, 

responsibility, custody or control, 

● of any change in risk or ownership of or responsibility for any asset or property. 

 
6. EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
 
6.1 EXTERNAL FUNDING 
  

Why is this important? 
 

External funding is a very important source of income, but funding conditions need to be 
carefully considered to ensure that they are compatible with the aims and objectives of the 
Council. Local authorities are increasingly encouraged to provide seamless service delivery 
through working closely with other agencies and private service providers. Funds from 
external agencies provide additional resources to enable the Council to deliver services to 
the local community. However, in some instances, such funding may not link to the 
Council’s aims and objectives, is linked to tight specifications and conditions and may 
impose risk and liability upon the Council.  
 
Responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer 
 

i) To ensure that all funding notified by external bodies is received and properly recorded 
in the Council’s accounts. 

ii) To ensure that the match-funding requirements are considered prior to entering into the 
agreements and that future revenue budgets reflect these requirements or an exit 
strategy is agreed. 

iii) To ensure that audit requirements are met. 
iv)  To ensure that all claims are submitted by the due date. 
v) To ensure all virements in relation to approved bids are appropriately approved and 

actioned. 

928



275 

vi) To include progress updates on significant approved bids as part of the regular 
reporting process as and when required. 

 
Responsibilities of CLT/Heads of Service 
 

 Bid Approvals 
i) To ensure that the Chief Executive, Director of Digital, Sustainability and Resources, 

the Chief Financial Officer and the Assistant Director Place & Economy are advised, at 
the earliest possible time, of all opportunities and applications for external funding. 

ii) To ensure that any match funding is identified and in place prior to bidding for any 
external funding. 

iii)  To ensure all bids up to £100,000 are approved by the relevant Director prior to 
submitting the bid. 

iv)  To ensure all bids over £100,000 are subject to consultation with all of the relevant 
Cabinet Members prior to submission of any bid 

 
Spend approvals 

v)  To update the Forward Plan for any new contracts or spend items which are over the 
Key Decision limits (currently £100,000 £75,000); 

vi)  If successful in bidding, to submit reports to: 
a) the relevant Cabinet Member for bids that are over £100,000 and up to £250,000 

b)  the Joint Strategic Committee for bids that are over £250,001 

which are sufficiently developed to enable the use of the funds without any further 
reporting requirement. This will include seeking approval for budget virements and any 
procurement activity. 

 
Delivery 
vii)  To give the Chief Financial Officer a copy of all approvals received from government 

departments or other sources of external funds. 
viii)  To ensure that all supporting information is kept to support claims for funds. 
ix)  To ensure that the project progresses in accordance with the agreed conditions and 

that all expenditure is properly incurred and recorded. 
x)  To complete all grant monitoring information and claims in accordance with the agreed 

timescales. 
 
Key controls 
 
The key controls for external funding are: 
  

(a) To ensure that key conditions of funding and any statutory requirements are 
complied with and that the responsibilities of the accountable body are clearly 
understood; 

(b) To ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities approved in the Policy 
Framework by the Council; 

(c) To ensure that any match-funding requirements are given due consideration prior to 
entering into long-term agreements and that future revenue budgets reflect these 
requirements or an exit strategy is agreed; 

(d) To ensure risks are identified, within acceptable limits and are capable of being 
managed; 

(e) To ensure monitoring and reporting frameworks are established and followed; and 
(f) To ensure adequate controls and governance arrangements are in place and are 

followed. 
 
6.2  GRANTS TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS (INCLUDING RATE RELIEF) 
  

Why is this important 
 

929



276 

Local groups and organisations make a significant contribution to the local community. 
However, this contribution is difficult to quantify in financial terms and it is therefore 
particularly important that any financial support the Council provides to these groups follows 
a clear and transparent process. 
 
Responsibility of CLT/Heads of Service 
 
To ensure that any grant payments and any awards of discretionary business rate relief are 
made in accordance with the agreed policies of the Council, and can be met from within 
existing budgetary provision. 

 
 
 APPENDIX 1: SCHEME OF VIREMENT AT A GLANCE (SECTION 3.2) 
 

Type of Virement 
Delegation Limit 

General 
(3.2.1) 

S106  
(3.2.2) 

Contingency (3.2.3) Reserves 
(3.2.4) 

CLT £50k £25k n/a £25k 

Chief Financial Officer 
(s.151 Officer) 

£100k n/a Technical virement (s.151 
Officer) allowed when fully 
costed and compliance with 
policy 

 

Cabinet Member £100k+ £25k+ n/a £25k+  
If a delegation 
is in place 

Joint Strategic 
Committee/Cabinet 

£250+ £100k+ n/a £250k+ 

 
 
Note: 
It is essential that these limits are read in conjunction with the Financial Rules as contained in Part 

4 of the Constitution as there are certain circumstances where virement is restricted or not 

permitted. 

  

930



277 

PART 5 - CODES AND PROTOCOLS 

 

Member Code of Conduct 
 

Joint statement 

The role of Members across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our country’s system of 

democracy. It is important that as Members we can be held accountable and all adopt the 

behaviours and responsibilities associated with the role. Our conduct as an individual Member 

affects the reputation of all Members. We want the role of Member to be one that people aspire to. 

We also want individuals from a range of backgrounds and circumstances to be putting themselves 

forward to become Members. 

As Members, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and deliver local 

change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to represent our local area; taking 

decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We have both an individual and collective responsibility 

to meet these expectations by maintaining high standards and demonstrating good conduct, and by 

challenging behaviour which falls below expectations. 

Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a Member without being intimidated, abused, 

bullied or threatened by anyone, including the general public. 

This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct and 

safeguard the public’s trust in local government. 

 

Introduction 

The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed this Model Councillor Code of Conduct, 

in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the sector, as part of its work 

on supporting all tiers of local government to continue to aspire to high standards of leadership and 

performance. It is a template for councils to adopt in whole and/or with local amendments. 

All councils are required to have a local Member Code of Conduct. 

The LGA will undertake an annual review of this Code to ensure it continues to be fit-for-purpose, 

incorporating advances in technology, social media and changes in legislation. The LGA can also 

offer support, training and mediation to councils and Members on the application of the Code and 

the National Association of Local Councils (NALC) and the county associations of local councils 

can offer advice and support to town and parish councils. 

 

Definitions 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a ‘Member’ means a member or co-opted member of a 

local authority or a directly elected mayor. A ‘co-opted member’ is defined in the Localism Act 

2011 Section 27(4) as ‘a person who is not a member of the authority but who 

(a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or; 

(b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint sub-

committee of the authority; 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that 

committee or sub-committee’. 

931



278 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, ‘local authority’ includes county councils, district 

councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and rescue authorities, 

police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, combined authorities and National 

Park authorities. 

 

Purpose of the Code of Conduct 

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Member, in modelling the behaviour that 

is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to set out the type of conduct 

that could lead to action being taken against you. It is also to protect you, the public, fellow 

Members, local authority officers and the reputation of local government. It sets out general 

principles of conduct expected of all Members and your specific obligations in relation to standards 

of conduct. The LGA encourages the use of support, training and mediation prior to action being 

taken using the Code. The fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public 

confidence in the role of Member and local government. 

 

General principles of Member conduct 

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services, including 

ministers, civil servants, Members and local authority officers; should uphold the Seven Principles 

of Public Life, also known as the Nolan Principles (see Appendix A). 

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed specifically for 

the role of Member. 

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions: 

 I act with integrity and honesty 

 I act lawfully 

 I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 

 I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of Member. 

In undertaking my role: 

 I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community 

 I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any person 

 I avoid conflicts of interest 

 I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

 I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local authority’s 
requirements and in the public interest. 

 
Application of the Code of Conduct 

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of acceptance of the 

office of Member or attend your first meeting as a co-opted member and continues to apply to you 

until you cease to be a Member. 

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a Member which 
may include when: 

 you misuse your position as a Member 

 Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public with 

knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a Member; 

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

 at face-to-face meetings 

932

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


279 

 at online or telephone meetings 

 in written communication 

 in verbal communication 

 in non-verbal communication 

 in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and comments. 

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all times when 

acting as a Member. 

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code of Conduct, 

and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring Officer on any matters that may 

relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish Members are encouraged to seek advice from 

their Clerk, who may refer matters to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
Standards of Member conduct 

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct required of you 

as a Member. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a complaint may be made against 

you, which may result in action being taken. 

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they should be 

followed. 

General Conduct 

1. Respect 

As a Member: 

1.1. I treat other Members and members of the public with respect. 

 

1.2. I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of partner 

organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with respect and 

respect the role they play. 

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word. Debate and 

having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a Member, you can express, 

challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but civil 

manner. You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or organisations to 

personal attack. 

 

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude and offensive 

behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in Members. 

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members of the public 

are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any conversation or 

interaction in person or online and report them to the local authority, the relevant social media 

provider or the police. This also applies to fellow Members, where action could then be taken under 

the Member Code of Conduct, and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in 

line with the local authority’s Member-Officer protocol. 

 

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination  

As a Member: 

2.1.  I do not bully any person.  

 

933



280 

2.2. I do not harass any person. 

 

2.3. I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any person. 

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as offensive, 

intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power through means that 

undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying might be a regular pattern of 

behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on social media, in emails or phone calls, 

happen in the workplace or at work social events and may not always be obvious or noticed by 

others. 

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes alarm or 

distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at least two 

occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted communications and contact 

upon a person in a manner that could be expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable 

person. 

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected characteristic. 

Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's identity defined by the Equality Act 

2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 

and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Members have a central role to 

play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's performance and strategic 

aims, and that there is a strong vision and public commitment to equality across public services. 
 

3. Impartiality of officers of the council  
 

As a Member: 

3.1. I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of anyone who 

works for, or on behalf of, the local authority. 

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless they are 

political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would 

undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, for example, their 

reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they have written. 

However, you must not try and force them to act differently, change their advice, or alter the 

content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their professional integrity.  
 

4. Confidentiality and access to information  

As a Member: 

 

4.1. I do not disclose information: 
 

a. given to me in confidence by anyone 

b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a 

confidential nature, unless:  

i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

ii. I am required by law to do so; 

iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional legal advice provided that the third party agrees not to 

disclose the information to any other person; or 

iv. the disclosure is: 

1. reasonable and in the public interest; and 

934



281 

2. made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 

requirements of the local authority; and 

3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its release. 

4.2. I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a Member 

for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members, my employer or my 

business interests. 

 

4.3. I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by law. 

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and printed materials 

are open to the public, except in certain legally defined circumstances. You should work on this 

basis, but there will be times when it is required by law that discussions, documents and other 

information relating to or held by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. 

Examples include personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing 

negotiations. 
 

5. Disrepute  

 
As a Member: 

5.1. I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute. 

As a Member, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and your actions 

and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the public. You 

should be aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on you, other Members and/or 

your local authority and may lower the public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to 

discharge your/its functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful 

can bring your local authority into disrepute. 

You are able to hold the local authority and fellow Members to account and are able to 

constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes undertaken by the 

council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of Conduct. 
 

6. Use of position  

As a Member: 

6.1. I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage or 

disadvantage of myself or anyone else. 

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain opportunities, 

responsibilities and privileges, and you make choices all the time that will impact others. However, 

you should not take advantage of these opportunities to further your own or others’ private 

interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

 

7.  Use of local authority resources and facilities  

As a Member:  

7.1. I do not misuse council resources. 

 

7.2. I will, when using the resources of the local or authorising their use by others: 

 

a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and 

b. ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes unless that 

use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be conducive to, 

the discharge of the functions of the local authority or of the office to which I 

have been elected or appointed. 

935



282 

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you in carrying out 

your duties as a Member. 

Examples include: 

 office support 

 stationery 

 equipment such as phones, and computers 

 transport 

 access and use of local authority buildings and rooms. 

 

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a Member more effectively and are not to 

be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in accordance with the purpose for 

which they have been provided and the local authority’s own policies regarding their use. 

 

8 .  Complying with the Code of Conduct  

As a Member:  

8.1. I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority. 

 

8.2. I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or determination. 
 

8.3. I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be involved 

with the administration of any investigation or proceedings. 
 

8.4. I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I  have  breached 

the Code of Conduct. 

It is extremely important for you as a Member to demonstrate high standards, for you to have your 

actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the local authority or its 

governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about the local authority’s processes in 

handling a complaint you should raise this with your Monitoring Officer. 

 
Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority 

9 .  Interests  

As a Member:  

9.1. I register and disclose my interests. 

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and maintain a 

register of interests of members of the authority. 

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and fellow 

Members know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register is a 

public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The register also protects 

you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held accountable. You are 

personally responsible for deciding whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but 

it can be helpful for you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also 

important that the public know about any interest that might have to be disclosed by you or other 

Members when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision making is seen by the public as 

open and honest. This helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is 

maintained. 

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set out in 

Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

936



283 

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If in doubt, you 

should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

 
10. Gifts and hospitality  

 
As a Member: 

10.1. I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which 

could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable suspicion 

of influence on my part to show favour from persons seeking to acquire, 

develop or do business with the local authority or from persons who may 

apply to the local authority for any permission, licence or other significant 

advantage. 

 

10.2. I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt. 
 

10.3. I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or hospitality that I 

have been offered but have refused to accept. 

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should exercise 

caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you reasonably believe to be) 

offered to you because you are a Member. The presumption should always be not to accept 

significant gifts or hospitality. However, there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it 

is seen as rudeness in which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. 

However, you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a 

Member, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is also important to note that it is 

appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated with your duties as a Member. If 

you are unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer for guidance. 
 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 

The principles are: 

Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 

organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not act or 

take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or 

their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests and relationships. 

Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best 

evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and must 

submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

Openness 

937



284 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner. 

Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so 

doing. 

Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful.  

Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should actively 

promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it 

occurs. 
 

Appendix B 

Registering interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you must 
register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 1 
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in ‘The Relevant Authorities 
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012’. You should also register details of your 
other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable 
Interests). 

‘Disclosable pecuniary interest’ means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware 
of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 

‘Partner’ means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or 
wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 days of 

becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered interest, notify the 

Monitoring Officer. 

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the Member, or a 

person connected with the Member, being subject to violence or intimidation. 

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with the 

reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer agrees they will 

withhold the interest from the public register. 

 

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not participate in 

any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have 

been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the 

nature of the interest, just that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in 

limited circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a 

disclosable pecuniary interest. 

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is being 

considered by you as a Cabinet Member in exercise of your Executive function, you must 

notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in 

the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it 

938



285 

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other 

Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You may 

speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting 

but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 

remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 

interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.  

7. Otherwise, if you disclose an Other Registrable Interest at a meeting regarding a matter 

that may engage but not directly relate to your interest, you may speak and vote on that 

particular item, provided you take account of any actual or perceived conflict of interest, 

bias or pre-determination, which a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts 

might believe would affect your view of the wider public interest.. 

Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests 

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-

being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in Table 1) or a financial interest 

or well-being of a relative6 or close associate, you must disclose the interest. You may 

speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 

meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 

not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

9. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

as set out in Table 1  

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the 
meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied 

10. Where a matter affects the financial interest or well-being of yourself, a friend, relative or 

close associate: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest 

11. you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at 

the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and 

must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a 

‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

12. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have made 

an Executive decision in relation to that business, you must make sure that any written 

statement of that decision records the existence and nature of your interest. 

                                                
6 ‘Relative’ is defined in s.28(10) of the Localism Act 2011 as: 

(a) the other person's spouse or civil partner, 
(b) living with the other person as husband and wife or as if they were civil partners, 
(c) a grandparent of the other person, 
(d) a lineal descendant of a grandparent of the other person, 
(e) a parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraph (a) or (b), 
(f) the spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraph (c), (d) or (e), or 
(g) living with a person within paragraph (c), (d) or (e) as husband and wife or as if they were civil partners. 

939



286 

 
Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

 
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the Relevant 

Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012  

Subject Description 
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the Member during the previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by them in carrying out their duties as a Member, or towards their election 
expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the Member or their spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the Member is living as if they were spouses/civil partners (or a 
firm in which such person is a partner, or an incorporated body of which such 
person is a director* or a body that such person has a beneficial interest in the 
securities of*) and the council — 

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the council. 

‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which 
does not give the Member or their spouse or civil partner or the person with whom 
the Member is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or jointly with 
another) a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the council 
for a month or longer 

Corporate 
tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)— 
the landlord is the council; and 
the tenant is a body that the Member, or their spouse or civil partner or the person 
with whom the Member is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners is a partner 
of or a director* of or has a beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where— 

(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of business or land in 
the area of the council; and 

(b) either— 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities* exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the Member, or 
their spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the Member is living 
as if they were spouses/civil partners has a beneficial interest exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.  

 
* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident 
society. 
 
* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective 
investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other 
securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building society. 

 
Table 2: Other Registerable Interests 
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to 
affect: 

(a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you are nominated 

940

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


287 

or appointed by your authority 

(b) any body 

(i) exercising functions of a public nature 

(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes (including Freemasons) or 

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union) 

 

Appendix C 

The Committee on Standards in Public Life 

The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider the 

recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their report on Local 

Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to implement any of the 

recommendations, this could require a change to this Code. 

The recommendations cover: 

 Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law when the Code of 

Conduct applies 

 The introduction of sanctions 

 An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman 

 Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 

 Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code 

 Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person 

 That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interests should be abolished 

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice recommendations. 

These are: 

Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and harassment in codes 

of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and harassment, supplemented with a list 

of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by such a definition. 

Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring Members to 

comply with any formal standards investigation and prohibiting trivial or malicious allegations by 

Members. 

Best practice 3: The Council will review this Code of Conduct every two years unless an earlier 

review is requested by the Monitoring Officer. 

Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both Members and the public, 

in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council premises. 

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at least once per 

quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV. 

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest test against 

which allegations are filtered. 

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent Persons. 

Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake a formal 

investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to review and comment on allegations 

941



288 

which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss as being without merit, vexatious, or trivial. 

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of misconduct following 

a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as soon as possible on its website, 

including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by the allegations, the view 

of the Independent Person, the reasoning of the decision-maker, and any sanction applied. 

Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible guidance on its 

website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the process for handling complaints, 

and estimated timescales for investigations and outcomes. 

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish Member towards a 

clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council, rather than the clerk in all but exceptional 

circumstances. 

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support and 

management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish councils within the 

remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with adequate training, corporate support 

and resources to undertake this work. 

Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any conflicts of 

interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps should include asking the 

Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake the investigation. 

Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or which they own 

as part of their annual governance statement and give a full picture of their relationship with those 

bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities should abide by the Nolan principle of 

openness and publish their board agendas and minutes and annual reports in an accessible place. 

Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with Political Group leaders or group whips 

to discuss standards issues. 

  

942



289 

Officer Code of Conduct 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Section 82 of the Local Government Act 2000 makes provision for a Code of Conduct for all 

Local Government Employees. The Officer Code of Conduct aims to set out fundamental 
values that underpin standards of conduct in Local Government.  

 
2.0 SCOPE 
 
2.1 This Code applies to all Council Officers, regardless of whether or not they are employees 

of the Council or employees of another body seconded to act as Officer of this Council. It 
applies to all Officers, regardless of whether they are part time, full time, permanent, 
temporary or casual. It sets out the minimum standards of conduct that apply.  

 
2.2 The Code forms part of all Employees’ terms and conditions of employment. 
 
3.0 STATEMENT 
 
3.1 All employees and/or Officers of the Council must perform their duties with honesty, 

integrity, impartiality and objectivity. All employees and Officers are accountable to the 
Council for their actions. The public is entitled to demand of a Local Government Officer 
conduct of the highest standard and public confidence in an Officer’s integrity would be 
damaged were the least suspicion, however ill-founded, to arise that an Officer could be 
influenced by improper motives. 

 
3.2 All Officers must treat other employees, Members and Co-opted Members of the Council 

with dignity and respect and must not discriminate unlawfully against any person. 
 
3.3 The Officer Code of Conduct is not intended to simply be a list of prohibitions, but should 

benefit all Officers because the Code will clarify conduct which is permissible and 
appropriate. 

 
4.0 CONDUCT EXPECTED OF COUNCIL OFFICERS 
 
4.1 This Officer Code of Conduct sets out the minimum standards that are to be expected. 
 
4.2 An Officer of the Council must be aware of and positively promote the Council’s vision and 

corporate priorities as set out on the Council’s website. 
 
4.3 An Officer of the Council must be committed to treating other Officers and Members with 

dignity and respect in accordance with the Councils’ dignity at work provisions 
incorporated into the Grievance Policy. 

 
4.4 A Council Officer must abide by all policies and procedures of the Councils, relevant to 

their area of work. 
 
4.5 All Council Officers must be aware of their responsibility to the community served by the 

Councils and must ensure that they provide a courteous, efficient and impartial service 
delivery, in accordance with the Council’s Customer Care Standards. Specifically all staff 
need to be proactive in providing great service to customers, ensuring we get things right 
first time, we listen to our customers and we are proactive in our communication. 

 
4.6 A Council Officer must not allow their personal interests to conflict with the Council’s 

requirements or objectives and nor may they use their position improperly to confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any individual, or organisation. 

 

943



290 

4.7 If a Council Officer who engages or supervises contractors, has a previous or current 
personal relationship with that contractor, it should be declared to their Head of Service. 

 
4.8 If a Council Officer has access to confidential information relating to tenders or costs for 

contractors, they may not disclose that information to any unauthorised individual, or 
organisation. 

 
4.9 A Council Officer must not use any public funds entrusted to them in an irresponsible, 

reckless or unlawful manner and may not make personal use of property or facilities of the 
Council, unless properly authorised to do so. 

 
4.10 An Officer of the Council will not be precluded from undertaking additional employment 

provided that any such employment does not, in the view of the Council, conflict with or 
react detrimentally to the Council’s interests, or in any way weaken public confidence in 
the conduct of the Council’s business. Any Officer of the Council must declare any such 
additional employment to their Head of Service for inclusion in the Register of Additional 
Employment maintained by the Assistant Director People & Change. 

 
4.11 If a Council Officer is aware that a contract in which they, or their spouse or partner, has 

any financial interest, either directly or indirectly, has been or is proposed to be entered 
into by the Councils, they must as soon as practicable give notice in writing to their Head 
of Service who shall inform the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services. 

 
4.12 Officers of the Council are employed to serve the Council as a whole and must provide a 

service to all Members, not just those of the controlling party, and ensure that the 
individual rights of all Members are respected. All Officers, whether in a politically 
restricted post or not, must follow all policies of the Councils and not allow their own 
personal or political opinions to interfere with their work.  

 
4.13 To preserve public confidence, Council Officers are strongly encouraged not to accept any 

gifts from customers or contractors. It may constitute a serious criminal offence for an 
Officer to corruptly receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage for doing, or not 
doing, anything, or showing favour or disfavour to any person, in their official capacity. 

 
4.14 If a Council Officer does accept any gift, they must comply with the Council’s requirements 

to register or declare interests, and to declare hospitality, benefits, gifts received as a 
consequence of employment. Any such gift received must be registered, regardless of its 
value, within 28 days of receipt. Such declaration must be made to the Officer’s Head of 
Service for inclusion in the register held by the Assistant Director People & Change. It is 
also good practice for Council Officers to declare any offers of gifts. 

 
4.15 A Council Officer must report to the appropriate Manager, any impropriety or breach of 

procedure. Further guidance is contained within the Councils’ Whistleblowing Policy. A 
Council Officer must not treat another Officer less favourably, because that Officer has, 
intends to, or is suspected of, reporting misconduct. 

 
4.16 A Council Officer must not disclose information given to them in confidence, or information 

acquired which is believed to be of a confidential nature, without the consent of the person 
involved or the proper authorisation. A Council Officer must not prevent another person 
from gaining access to information to which that person is entitled by law. Further 
guidance can be obtained from the Councils’ Security of Information Officer. 

 
4.17 Close personal associations, either between Officers and Members, or between Officers, 

can be perceived as leading to less independence and impartiality of individuals, and 
therefore Officers involved in such relationships should declare them to their Head of 
Service, to be transparent about the nature of the relationship and not put themselves nor 
the Council in any potential position of conflict. Further information can be found in the 

944



291 

Councils’ Equalities Policy and Grievance Policy, which are also part of an Officer’s terms 
and conditions of employment. 

 
4.18 A Council Officer must not be involved in the recruitment, discipline, promotion or pay 

adjustment or conditions of service of another Officer, or potential Officer, who is a relative 
or someone well known to them. Further guidance can be found in the Councils’ 
Recruitment and Selection Policy. 

 
4.19 A Council Officer must declare to their Head of Service, for inclusion in the Register of 

Interests held by the Assistant Director People & Change, membership of any 
organisation which is not open to the public without formal membership and commitment 
of allegiance and which has secrecy around rules of membership or conduct. 

 
4.20 A Council Officer should be aware that there may be exceptional circumstances where 

their behaviour, out of hours and off-duty, may impact on the Councils and their 
reputations. In particular, reference is made to the Councils’ Social Media Policy. The 
Councils reserve the right to consider such actions in relation to its position. 

 
4.21 A Council Officer must at all times act in accordance with the trust that the public is 

entitled to place in them. Therefore both at work and in private life a Council Officer should 
do nothing to bring the Councils into disrepute. The public need to be assured that public 
duties are not subordinated to private interests, and that conflicts between private life and 
duty do not arise. 

 
4.22 Any expenditure incurred by Council Officers on non-work related or social events will be 

personal and not paid from Council budgets. 
 
5.0 BREACH OF OFFICER CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
5.1 Failure of a Council Officer to comply with any part of this Code of Conduct may result in 

disciplinary action, which could include summary dismissal. Further guidance may be 
found in the Councils’ Disciplinary Policy. 

 

  

945



292 

Member/Officer Working Arrangements Protocol 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Mutual trust and respect between Members and Officers is at the heart of a Council’s 

good governance. They are essential if the partnership necessary for the effective running 
of a local authority is to succeed. At the heart of the Members’ and Officers’ Codes of 
Conduct and this Protocol, is the importance of mutual respect. Member/Officer 
relationships are to be conducted in a positive and constructive way.  

 
1.2 This protocol is intended to assist Members and Officers in maintaining the highest 

standards of integrity and propriety and ensuring that all they do is perceived by others to 
be done properly, fairly and, where possible, openly.  

 
1.3 This Protocol addresses the need for a written guide to the basic elements of the 

relationship between Members and Officers. It is a protocol designed to: 
(a) promote trust, openness, fairness and honesty by establishing some ground 

rules; 
(b) define roles so as to: 

(i) clarify responsibilities 
(ii) avoid conflict and 

(iii) prevent duplication or omission 
(c) secure compliance with the law, codes of conduct and the Council’s own 

practices; and 
(d) lay down procedures for dealing with concerns by Members or Officers. 

2.0 DEFINITIONS 

 
2.1 Unless the context indicates otherwise, references to the term Council includes the 

Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committees, and other Committees and Sub-
Committees. 

 
2.2 Unless the context indicates otherwise, the terms Member and Members include non-

elected (i.e. co-opted) Members as well as elected Councillors. 
 
2.3 Officers means all persons employed by the Council, or employed by another Council for 

the purpose of providing a service to this Council. 
 
2.4 Senior Officer means Chief Officer, Deputy Chief Officer, Director and Heads of Service. 
 
2.5 Designated Finance Officer means the Officer exercising the duties prescribed by law for 

the financial administration of the Council and is the Chief Finance Officer, Assistant 
Director Finance and Section 151 Officer.  

 
2.6 ‘Monitoring Officer’ means the Officer appointed to and exercising their role under the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and is the Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services. 

3.0 PRINCIPLES 

 
3.1 Members and Officers must at all times observe this protocol. 

 
3.2 This Protocol has been approved by the Council and the Joint Audit & Governance 

Committee will monitor its operation. 
 
3.3 Members and Officers must always respect the roles and duties of each other. They must 

946



293 

be courteous in all their dealings, and not seek to take unfair advantage by virtue of their 
position. They must maintain a professional working relationship at all times. 

 
3.4 Whilst Members and Officers are indispensable to one another, their responsibilities are 

distinct. Members are accountable to the electorate and serve only as long as their term of 
office lasts. Officers are accountable to the Council as a whole. Their job is to give advice 
to Members (individually and collectively) and to carry out the Council’s work under the 
direction of the Head of Paid Service. 
 

3.5 Officers are bound by the Council’s Officer Code of Conduct and, in some cases, by the 
codes of their professional associations. 

 
3.6 Elected Members are bound by the Council’s Member Code of Conduct. 
 
3.7 Breaches of this Protocol by a Member may result in a complaint to the Monitoring Officer 

if it appears that the Members’ Code of Conduct has also been breached. Breaches of this 
Protocol by an Officer may lead to disciplinary action, as may a breach of the Officer Code 
of Conduct. 

4.0 THE ROLE OF MEMBERS 

 
4.1 Collectively, Members are the ultimate policy-makers determining the core values of the 

Council and approving the Authority’s Policy Framework, strategic plans and budget. 
 
4.2 As politicians, Members may express the values and aspirations of the party Political 

Groups to which they belong, recognising that in their role as Members they have a duty 
always to act in the public interest. 

 
4.3 Members are not authorised to instruct Officers other than: 

(a) through the formal decision-making process; 
(b) to request the provision of consumable resources provided by the Council for 

Members’ use; 
(c) where staff have been specifically allocated to give support to a Member or group 

of Members.  
 
4.4 Members may not initiate or certify financial transactions, or enter into a contract in writing 

or orally on behalf of the Council, or direct any Officer to do so. Letters which may commit 
the Council to any action should not be sent in the name of any Member without having 
first checked the position with an appropriate Officer from Legal Services. Members 
should not give any assurances to any person outside the Council or make any public 
statement which may be interpreted as making a formal commitment on any matter where 
a formal decision has yet to be made. 

 
4.5 No Member should meet with a developer or contractor concerning negotiations for the 

disposal of land or the terms of a contract outside the formal meeting processes of the 
Council unless a Council Officer is present and a note is made of the content of the 
discussion at the meeting. Such meetings might occasionally take place on an initial 
exploratory basis, but should not continue beyond that. Officers should then pursue any 
negotiations arising. The Chief Officer would keep the Member(s) informed and report 
formally to Member meetings where appropriate for information or decision. 

 
4.6 Members must not take actions which are unlawful, financially improper or likely to 

amount to maladministration. Members have an obligation to take into account, when 
reaching decisions, any advice provided by the Monitoring Officer or the designated 
Finance Officer. 

 
4.7 Members’ roles on the employment of staff are limited to: 

947



294 

(a) the appointment of specified senior posts as set out in the Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules; 

(b) determining Human Resources policies and conditions of employment; and 
(c) hearing and determining specific appeals as set out in the Officer Employment 

Procedure Rules. 
 
4.8 Members must respect the impartiality of Officers and do nothing to compromise it, e.g. by 

insisting that an Officer change their professional advice. 
 
4.9 A Cabinet Member wanting to make a decision about a matter in their portfolio should 

ensure that other Members and Senior Officers who need to know of the matter are 
informed, particularly on issues of joint responsibility or mutual interest, and in appropriate 
cases to brief the whole Cabinet. 

5.0 THE ROLE OF OFFICERS 

 
5.1 Officers are paid employees of the Council (not of Elected Members). Officers are 

required to operate within the law, the Constitution, local and national codes and protocols 
and must always act to achieve the objectives of the Council. Ultimately, as employees, 
Officers are accountable under their contracts of employment. Some employees are in 
politically restricted posts and cannot stand for election, nor hold certain posts in political 
parties.  

 
5.2 Officers have a duty to provide information, advice and recommendations to Members to 

fulfil their roles. Such information, etc, can be given both formally and informally, but 
where significant or potentially controversial issues are at stake should be given formally 
and in writing.  

 
5.3 It must be recognised by all Officers and Members that in discharging their duties and 

responsibilities, Officers serve the Council as a whole and not any Political Group, 
combination of groups or any individual Member of the Council.  

 
5.4 Officers must assist and advise all parts of the Council. They must always act to the best 

of their abilities in the best interests of the Authority as expressed in the Council’s formal 
decisions.  
 

5.5 Officers have a contractual and legal duty to be impartial. They must not allow their 
professional judgment and advice to be influenced by their own personal views. 

 
5.6 Proper, open dialogue between Members and Officers of all grades and seniority is 

essential to good governance. In order to ensure that dialogue is mutually respectful, 
productive and contributes to the effective running of the council, certain principles should 
be followed.  
 

5.7 Under the direction and control of the Council (including, as appropriate, the Cabinet, 
Committees and Sub-Committees), Officers manage and provide the Council’s services 
within the framework of responsibilities delegated to them. This includes the effective 
management of employees and operational issues. 
 

5.8 Officers have a duty to implement decisions of the Council, the Cabinet, Committees and 
Sub-Committees which are lawful, and which have been properly approved in accordance 
with the requirements of the law and the Constitution, and duly recorded. 
 

5.9 Officers must be alert to issues which are, or are likely to be, contentious or politically 
sensitive, and be aware of the implications for Members, the media or other sections of 
the public. 

 

948



295 

5.10 Officers have the right not to support Members in any role other than that of Member, and 
not to engage in actions incompatible with this Protocol. In particular, there is a statutory 
limitation on Officers’ involvement in political activities applying to certain Officers holding 
politically restricted posts. 
 

5.11 Senior Officers shall agree mutually convenient times for regular contact with Cabinet 
Members and Shadow Cabinet Members. 

6.0 MEMBER DECISION MAKING  

 
6.1 Officers should never lobby Members or otherwise improperly seek to influence their 

decision making, nor should they seek to act for personal rather than professional 
motives.  

 
6.2 The principal focus of Member decision making is to determine policy and strategic 

objectives. Members will only exceptionally be involved in operational or managerial 
decisions designed to deliver those policies and strategic objectives. One exception to this 
principle is that Members sitting in a regulatory capacity will take decisions which affect 
the rights of individuals, for example in relation to development management and licensing 
matters, to which specific codes of practice apply.  
 

6.3 Member decision making is always formal, public and auditable on the basis of written 
reports and advice from relevant Officers.  
 

6.4 Accordingly, Members should not purport to give instructions directly to junior Officers on 
an informal basis, except to the small number of Officers employed specifically to provide 
support services to Elected Members.  
 

6.5 Members need to be aware that some, particularly more junior, members of staff can feel 
intimidated by direct approaches by Members, and in particular should avoid being in a 
position where they could be seen as asking an Officer to act against Council policy, 
against the Officer’s professional judgment or otherwise under pressure from the Member.  

7.0 THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 

 
7.1 The conduct of Members and Officers should be such as to inspire mutual confidence and 

trust. 
 

7.2 The key elements are a recognition of, and a respect for, each other’s roles and 
responsibilities. These should be reflected in the behaviour and attitude of each to the 
other, both publicly and privately. 
 

7.3 There must be no bullying and/or intimidating behaviour between Members and Officers. 
 

7.4 It is important that there should be a close working relationship between the Leader, 
Cabinet Members and Chairs of committees and senior Officers of any department which 
reports to that Member or committee. However, such relationships should never be 
allowed to become so close, or appear to be so close, as to bring into question the 
Officers’ ability to deal impartially with other Members and other Political Groups, or with 
any other individual or organisation.  
 

7.5 Informal and collaborative two-way contact between Members and Officers is encouraged. 
But personal familiarity can damage the relationship, as might a family or business 
connection. 

 
7.6 No Member or Officer should allow any personal connection or relationship with any other 

Member or Officer to affect the performance of their official responsibilities or the taking of 

949



296 

any action or decision by or on behalf of the Council. This includes, for example, any 
family relationship, membership of the same household or any business connection. 
Members and Officers should always consider how such a relationship or connection 
would be likely to be regarded by anyone outside the Council, or by any other Member or 
Officer, and avoid creating any impression of bias or unfairness.  

 
7.7 Any Members and Officers who form a close personal relationship, either a Member with 

an Officer, a Member with a Member, or an Officer with another Officer, shall inform their 
Head of Service of any such relationship since it might be seen as unduly influencing their 
work in their respective roles. 
 

7.8 If a Member or Officer becomes aware of an inappropriate relationship that may or does 
affect their work and/or the reputation of the Council, they should bring this to the attention 
of their Head of Service and Monitoring Officer. 
 

7.9 It is not enough to avoid actual impropriety. Members and Officers should always be open 
about their relationships to avoid any reason for suspicion and any appearance of 
improper conduct. Where a personal relationship has been disclosed, those concerned 
should avoid a situation where conflict could be perceived. Specifically, a Member should 
not sit on a body or participate in any decision which directly affects the Officer on a 
personal basis. 
 

7.10 Officers work to the instructions of their Senior Officers, not individual Members. It follows 
that, whilst such Officers will always seek to assist a Member, they must not be asked to 
exceed the bounds of authority they have been given by their managers. Except when the 
purpose of an enquiry is purely to seek factual information, Members should direct their 
requests and concerns to a Senior Officer, or an Officer that the Senior Officer has 
confirmed beforehand may be approached directly. Chief Officers shall ensure that 
Members are adequately informed of such arrangements. 
 

7.11 Officers will do their best to give timely responses to Members’ enquiries. However, 
Officers should not have unreasonable requests placed on them. Their work priorities are 
set and managed by Senior Managers. Members may discuss and give their views upon 
work priorities with Senior Officers. 
 

7.12 Members will endeavour to give timely responses to enquiries from Officers. 
 

7.13 An Officer shall not discuss with a Member personal matters concerning themselves or 
another individual employee. This does not prevent an Officer raising on a personal basis, 
and in their own time, a matter with their Ward Member. 
 

7.14 Members and Officers should respect each other’s free (i.e. non-Council) time. 
 

7.15 Members and Officers must comply with and promote the Council’s policies on equality 
and diversity. 

8.0 POLITICAL GROUPS AND OFFICERS 

 
8.1 Officers’ support will not extend beyond providing factual information or professional 

advice in relation to matters of Council business. Officers must not be involved in advising 
on matters of party business, and therefore should not be expected to be present at 
meetings or parts of meetings when such matters are to be discussed. 

 
8.2 Party group meetings, as opposed to meetings of a body such as the Cabinet that may 

consist only of members of one political party, are not empowered to make decisions on 
behalf of the Council, and conclusions reached at such meetings have no status as formal 
Council decisions. 

950



297 

 
8.3 In their dealings with Political Groups, Officers must treat each group in a fair and even-

handed manner. In particular, if a briefing is offered to one party then it should be offered 
to all Political Groups.  

 
8.4 There is statutory recognition for Political Groups, and it is common practice for such 

groups to give preliminary consideration to policy matters before being considered by the 
relevant Council decision-making body. There have to be confidential spaces in which 
Political Groups can develop their policy proposals in private with the benefit of officer 
advice. Officers must respect the confidentiality of any Political Group discussions at 
which they are present in the sense that they should not relay the content of any such 
discussion to another Political Group. Officers may therefore properly be called upon by 
Political Groups to support and contribute to such deliberations but must at all times 
maintain political neutrality. Equally, Members must not do anything which compromises 
or is likely to compromise Officers’ impartiality. 

 
8.5 At party group meetings where some of those present are not Members of the Council, 

care must be taken not to divulge confidential information relating to Council business. 
Persons who are not Members are not bound by the Members’ Code of Conduct. They do 
not have the same rights to Council information as Members. 

9.0 MEMBERS’ ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS AND INFORMATION 

 
9.1 This part of the Protocol should be read in conjunction with the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 
9.2 Members may request Senior Officers to provide them with such information, explanation 

and advice as they may reasonably need to assist them to discharge their roles as 
Members. This may range from general information about some aspect of the Council’s 
services to specific information on behalf of a constituent. Where information is requested 
on behalf of a third party, it will only be provided if: 

(a) it is in the public domain, and 
(b) it is not barred from being given, by any legislative restriction, including the Data 

Protection Act. 
 
9.3 A Member should obtain advice from the Monitoring Officer in circumstances where they 

wish to have access to documents or information: 
(a) where to do so is likely to be in breach of the Data Protection Act, or 
(b) where the subject matter is one in which they have a personal or disclosable 

pecuniary interest as defined in the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 
9.4 Information given to a Member must only be used for the purpose for which it was 

requested. 
 
9.5 Members and Officers must not disclose information given to them in confidence without 

the consent of a person authorised to give it, or unless required by law to do so. 
 
9.6 When requested to do so, Officers will keep confidential from other Members advice 

requested by a Member. 
 
9.7 Members and Officers must not prevent another person from gaining access to 

information to which that person is entitled by law. 

10.0 INTERPRETATION, COMPLAINTS AND ALLEGATIONS OF BREACHES  

 
10.1 This part of the Protocol should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Anti-Fraud, 

Corruption and Whistleblowing Policy Statement and Code of Conduct. 

951



298 

 
10.2 Members or Officers with questions about the implementation or interpretation or any part 

of this Protocol should seek the guidance of the Monitoring Officer or in their absence the 
Chief Executive. 

 
10.3 Neither Officers nor Members should pass comment about Officers (individually or 

collectively) in a way which could be taken as personally critical of, or as undermining, the 
Officer(s). Similarly, it is never the role of an Officer to criticise or undermine Members 
(individually or collectively).  

 
10.4 A Member should not raise matters relating to the conduct or capability of Officers 

(individually or collectively) in a manner that is incompatible with the objectives of this 
Protocol. This is a longstanding tradition in public service. Officers have no means of 
responding to such criticisms in public.  

 
10.5 A Member who is unhappy about the actions taken by, or the conduct or capability of, 

Officers (individually or collectively) should: 
(a) avoid personal attacks on, or abuse of, the Officer(s) at all times; 
(b) ensure that any criticism is well founded and constructive; 
(c) never make a criticism in public (including on social media); and 
(d) take up the concern with the relevant Director or Chief Executive. 

 
10.6 A serious breach of this Protocol by an Officer may lead to an investigation and action 

under the Council’s disciplinary procedure. 
 
10.7 An Officer who believes a Member may have acted other than in accordance with this 

Protocol should raise their concern with the Monitoring Officer. They will consider how the 
complaint or allegations should be dealt with and take such action as they consider 
appropriate. At a minor level, this may be to raise the matter confidentially with the 
Member and/or the Leader of the relevant party group, giving information to the Officer 
concerned as to the action taken. More serious complaints may be dealt with in 
accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct and Standards Procedure Rules, if they 
relate to an alleged breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 

  

952



299 

Monitoring Officer Protocol 
 
1.0 THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 
1.1 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for ensuring that the Council and its Members act 

lawfully, do not cause maladministration, and comply with the Member Code of Conduct. 
The Monitoring Officer is the Council’s primary source of advice on all legal issues, and to 
Members on their legal obligations, but they also have specific statutory duties, such as 
investigating complaints of Member misconduct and making public report to the Council in 
cases of illegality. There is an inherent potential conflict between the Monitoring Officer role 
as a Legal Advisor and the fact that, on occasion, they may have to comply with statutory 
duties in respect of illegality. The purpose of this protocol is to enable Members to make 
use of the Monitoring Officer’s ability to provide them with practical advice on legality and 
conduct, by setting out how the Monitoring Officer will carry out their functions. 

 
2.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
2.1 The Council recognises that an effective Monitoring Officer, positively engaged in the 

discharge of the Council’s business, is essential to the effective running and sound 
corporate governance of the Council. 

 
2.2 Section 5(1) Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires the Council to appoint an 

Officer as the Council’s Monitoring Officer and gives that Officer personal responsibility: 
(a) to report on actual, and anticipated, illegality within the Councils; 
(b) to report cases where the Ombudsman has found maladministration on the part of 

the Council; 
(c) to maintain the Register of Members’ Interests; and 
(d) to administer, assess and investigate complaints of Members’ misconduct. 

 
2.3 The Council has extended the functions of its Monitoring Officer beyond these ‘statutory 

functions’ above, and their functions are set out in paragraph 5 below.  
 
2.4 The law does not prescribe exactly how the Monitoring Officer is to carry out these 

functions. Therefore, this protocol describes the manner in which the Council expects the 
Monitoring Officer to discharge these functions and how it expects Officers and Members to 
co-operate with the Monitoring Officer in order to enable them to discharge these functions 
effectively. 

 
3.0 APPOINTMENT 
 
3.1 The Monitoring Officer is appointed by Council and is the Council’s Senior Legal Officer and 

Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services. 
 
3.2 The Monitoring Officer is employed by Adur District Council but also seconded to Worthing 

Borough Council to enable them to act as Monitoring Officer for both Adur District Council 
and Worthing Borough Council. 

 
3.3 Where the Monitoring Officer leaves the employment of Adur District Council, they 

automatically cease to be the Monitoring Officer for both Councils. The Council may appoint 
an Officer as Interim Monitoring Officer, pending a permanent appointment.  The Head of 
Paid Service shall nominate one of the outgoing Monitoring Officer’s Deputies to continue 
their appointment as Deputy until the new Interim or Monitoring Officer is appointed.  

 
4.0 PERSONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
 
4.1 The Monitoring Officer is required to carry out the statutory functions of their post 

personally, with the exception that: 

953



300 

(a) the Monitoring Officer may nominate one or more members of staff as Deputy 
Monitoring Officer, with power to act as Monitoring Officer where they are unable to 
act; and 

(b) in respect of the obligations relating to alleged breaches of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct, the Monitoring Officer may arrange for any person to perform all or any of 
their functions, for example by delegating internally or by instructing an external 
lawyer to conduct a particular investigation. 

 
4.2 Whilst the statutory functions are personal to the Monitoring Officer, they may arrange for 

any member of staff to assist them in the discharge of any non-statutory functions. 
 
5.0 FUNCTIONS 
 
5.1 Statutory Functions 
 
5.1.1 To report to the Council in any case where they are of the opinion that any proposal, 

decision or omission by the Council or any of its Committees, Sub-Committees or Joint 
Committees, or any Member or Officer of the Council, has given rise to, or is likely to give 
rise to any illegality, in accordance with section 5(2)(a) of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989. 

 
5.1.2 To report to the Council in any case where the Ombudsman, after investigation, has 

reported that any proposal, decision or omission by the Council or any Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee of the Council, or any Member or Officer of the Council has 
given rise to maladministration or injustice, in accordance with section 5(2)(b) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
5.1.3 To maintain the Register of Members’ Interests in accordance with section 81(1) of the 

Local Government Act 2000. 
 

5.1.4  To administer, assess and investigate complaints referred to them of allegations of breach 
of the Members’ Code of Conduct, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011. 

 
5.2 Non-Statutory Functions 
 
5.2.1 To investigate any proposal, decision or omission by the Council or any of its Committees, 

Sub-Committees or Joint Committees, or any Member or Officer of the Council, which they 
have reason to believe may have given rise to, or is likely to, or would give rise to: 

(a) illegality; 
(b) maladministration; 
(c) service failure; 
(d) failure to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 
5.2.2  To act as the principal legal advisor to the Councils’ Joint Audit & Governance Committee. 
 
5.2.3  To act as principal advisor to the Sub-Committees of the Councils’ Joint Audit & 

Governance Committee when dealing with allegations of breach of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 

 
5.2.4  To provide advice to Members on the Member Code of Conduct and local protocols 

adopted by the Council. 
 
5.2.5  To monitor and uphold the Constitution. 
 
5.2.6  Responsibility for the managing of complaints from the Commissioner for Local 

Administration in England and whistleblowing functions of the Council. 
 

954



301 

5.2.7  Appointment as Proper Officer for the Data Protection Act 1998, the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 and the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2001. 

 
5.2.8  To consult regularly with the Chief Executive, the Chief Finance Officer and Internal Audit to 

identify areas where the probity of the Council can be improved or better protected and to 
take appropriate actions. 

 
5.2.9  To investigate any application for dispensation from a Member and to report and 

recommend to the Councils’ Joint Audit & Governance Committee as appropriate. 
 
5.2.10  To ensure that Members of the Council are fully aware of their obligations in respect of 

probity, particularly under the Member Code of Conduct and any local protocols adopted by 
the Council. 

 
5.2.11  To report to the Councils’ Joint Audit & Governance Committee, and to the Council, on the 

resources which they require for the discharge of their functions. 
 
5.2.12  To report to the Councils’ Joint Audit & Governance Committee on the performance of their 

functions and to make any recommendations which would better enable those functions to 
be performed. 

 
6.0 ADVICE AND DECISIONS 
 
6.1 The Monitoring Officer’s responsibilities fall into three distinct categories: 
 
6.1.1  Advice 
 
 In a number of instances the Monitoring Officer acts as advisor to the Council, or to 

individual Members. For example, a Member may seek advice as to whether they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter coming before a Committee. In such cases, the 
Monitoring Officer will provide such advice, but ultimately it is for the individual Member to 
take their own decision as to their conduct in the light of that advice. Where a Member’s 
enquiry discloses a wider issue, the Monitoring Officer may decide that it is appropriate to 
make recommendations to the Council, in order to avoid a repetition of such difficulties. 

 
6.1.2 Decisions 
 
 In other cases, where the proposal, action or omission would cause the Council to act 

unlawfully, the Monitoring Officer may be required by statute to take a decision as to 
whether there is, or would be, any illegality on the part of the Council, or of any Member or 
Officer of the Council, and to decide whether they are required by statute to make a report 
to the Council which would have the effect of suspending the implementation of the action, 
or decision, until the report has been considered. 

 
6.1.3 Advice and Decision 
 
 The categories of advice and decisions are not mutually exclusive. In some instances the 

conduct of a Member could for example give rise to both a failure to comply with the 
Member Code of Conduct and an illegality on the part of the Councils. In some cases the 
Monitoring Officer may be obliged to advise a Member whilst also being required to take 
action as Monitoring Officer to address an illegality. 

 
7.0 SEEKING THE ADVICE OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 
7.1 It is recognised that the Monitoring Officer will be most effective if they are able to advise on 

any issue at an early stage of policy formulation or implementation. Accordingly, Officers 

955



302 

and Members of the Council should routinely inform and consult the Monitoring Officer in 
respect of new policy proposals and action programmes. 

 
7.2 Advice on legality and maladministration 
 
7.2.1  Members and Officers of the Council may consult the Monitoring Officer in confidence in 

respect of any proposal, decision or omission. 
 
7.2.2  Wherever possible, the Monitoring Officer will seek to avoid any illegality or 

maladministration by identifying alternative or legitimate means of achieving the objective of 
the proposal, decision, act or omission or by rectifying any deficiency. 

 
7.2.3  The Monitoring Officer will only need to make a report public on the matter if the proposed 

decision, act or omission were, in their opinion, unlawful and the Officer or Member 
concerned subsequently took any action to progress that proposal, decision or omission, 
despite having been advised to the contrary by the Monitoring Officer. 

 
7.2.4  Where the Monitoring Officer is consulted by a Member in respect of possible illegality or 

maladministration in any proposal, action or omission of the Council (as opposed to of the 
Member making the enquiry) the Monitoring Officer shall advise the Council’s Political 
Group Leaders and the relevant Committee Chair that they have been so consulted and the 
advice which they have given. 

 
7.3 Advice on the Code of Conduct 
 
7.3.1  The Monitoring Officer is the primary source of advice for all Members on the Member 

Code of Conduct and on local protocols. 
 
7.3.2  Any Member, irrespective of political party, can seek the confidential advice of the 

Monitoring Officer as to their own position. Where the Monitoring Officer is so consulted, 
and subject to any conflict of interest with the Council, they will seek to provide prompt 
advice to the Member concerned as to whether, in their opinion, the action or proposed 
action would constitute a failure to comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct. Where they 
are so consulted by a Member about their own conduct, the Monitoring Officer will not 
disclose the fact of consultation or the advice given unless required to do so by law or as 
part of an investigation into an alleged breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 
7.3.3  Any Member, irrespective of political party, may seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer as 

to whether the actions of another Member of the Council would amount to a failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct. Such enquiry should be made in writing to ensure that 
advice is given on the correct details. Members are encouraged to consult the Monitoring 
Officer before considering whether to make a formal complaint of an alleged breach of the 
Code. The Monitoring Officer may make enquiry of the Member in respect of whom the 
enquiry is made before providing such advice. 

 
8.0 INVESTIGATION 
 
8.1  Preventative Investigation 
 Prevention is better than cure and the Council expects the Monitoring Officer to investigate 

matters which give them concern as to possible illegality, maladministration or breach of the 
Member Code of Conduct. This would arise when the Monitoring Officer receives 
information which raises the possibility that a proposal, action or omission of the Council or 
any of its Committees, Sub-Committees or Joint Committees, or any Member or Officer of 
the Council, is or would be unlawful, or give rise to maladministration and injustice, or 
amount to a breach of the Member Code of Conduct. In such cases, the Council expects 
the Monitoring Officer to investigate the matter and determine whether the proposal, action 
or omission, actually is or would be unlawful, or give rise to maladministration or injustice, 

956



303 

or amount to a failure to observe the Member Code of Conduct, and to take the appropriate 
action. 

 
8.2 Where the Monitoring Officer determines that the proposal, action or omission is, or would 

be, a failure to comply with the Member Code of Conduct, they shall advise the relevant 
Member accordingly. If appropriate, the Monitoring Officer could carry out an assessment of 
the matter, investigate as appropriate and bring the matter to the attention of the Councils’ 
Joint Audit & Governance Committee in accordance with the Standards Procedure Rules. 

 
8.3 Established Procedures 

Where the Monitoring Officer receives a complaint that a proposal, action or omission is 
unlawful or constitutes maladministration, and the Council already operates an appeal 
process for resolving such matters, the Monitoring Officer may deal with the matter by 
ensuring that the established procedure is followed. They may also intervene in such 
procedure to identify that the particular matter potentially gives rise to illegality or 
maladministration and injustice. 

 
8.4 In cases where the Monitoring Officer determines that the proposal, act or omission is not 

unlawful, they shall advise any Member or Officer concerned of their determination. Where 
the Monitoring Officer determines that the proposal, action or omission is, or would be, 
unlawful, they shall, where possible, seek to agree an alternative and lawful course of 
action. The Monitoring Officer will then advise the complainant of their determination and of 
any agreed alternative course of action, which could include an offer in settlement of any 
injustice suffered by any person and/or the Monitoring Officer making a statutory report. 

 
8.5 Maladministration 

Where the Monitoring Officer determines upon investigation that a proposal, act or omission 
has not caused, or would not give rise to, maladministration and injustice, they shall 
respond to the complainant and advise any Member or Officer concerned of the 
determination. 

 
Where the Monitoring Officer determines that the proposal, act or omission has caused or 
would give rise to maladministration and injustice, they shall advise any Member or Officer 
concerned of the determination and seek to agree an alternative lawful course of action. 
The Monitoring Officer shall then advise the complainant of their determination and of any 
agreed alternative course of action and/or offer in settlement of any injustice suffered by 
any person. 

 
8.6 Failure to observe the Member Code of Conduct 

The Monitoring Officer will deal with assessments and determinations of allegations of 
failure to observe the Member Code of Conduct in accordance with the Standards 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 and the Member Code of Conduct.  

 
9.0 LOCAL RESOLUTION 
 
9.1  Where the Monitoring Officer receives a complaint of illegality, maladministration or failure 

to observe the Member Code of Conduct, they shall, if appropriate, seek to resolve the 
matter amicably by ensuring the situation is as far as possible rectified, informing the 
complainant of the resolution and dealing with any potential compensation payment or 
apology. However, it is recognised that the Monitoring Officer may determine that the 
matter is not appropriate for local resolution or incapable of being so resolved, or is of such 
seriousness that a statutory report is the only appropriate response. 

 
10.0 REPORTING 
 
10.1 Illegality 

957



304 

Where the Monitoring Officer is of the opinion that an unlawful action or omission has 
already occurred, or that the Council, its Committees, Sub-Committees or Joint 
Committees, or any Member or Officer seeks to progress an unlawful proposal, action or 
omission, the Monitoring Officer shall consult as far as practicable with the Chief Executive 
and the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer), prior to determining whether to make a 
formal report under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
To avoid a separate statutory report, the Monitoring Officer shall be entitled, if they wish, to 
add their written advice to the report on the matter by any other Officer of the Council, 
and/or to provide oral advice at any meeting of the Council. 

 
10.2 Maladministration 

Where the Monitoring Officer is of the opinion that maladministration and injustice have 
already occurred, or where the Council or any Committees, Sub-Committees, or Joint 
Committees of the Council, or any Member or Officer of the Council, seek to progress a 
proposal, action or omission which would give rise to maladministration and injustice, the 
Monitoring Officer shall consult as far as practicable with the Chief Executive and the Chief 
Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) before determining whether to make a written report 
to the decision-maker. The Monitoring Officer shall be entitled to add their written advice to 
the report on the matter by any other Officer of the Council, and/or to provide oral advice at 
any meeting of the Council. 

 
10.3  Failure to observe the Member Code of Conduct 

The Monitoring Officer will deal with allegations of failure to observe the Member Code of 
Conduct in accordance with the Council’s Member Code of Conduct and the Standards 
Procedure Rules. 

 
11.0 ADVICE TO INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS 
 
11.1 Wherever possible, the Monitoring Officer will provide advice to individual Members to 

support them in the discharge of their responsibilities as a Councillor. The Monitoring 
Officer will not however provide advice to a Political Group or party or to a Member making 
an enquiry on their behalf. 

 
11.2 The Monitoring Officer is employed by the Council and owes their primary responsibility to 

the Council, rather than to any individual Member or group of Members. Consequently, 
where the Monitoring Officer considers that providing advice to a Member on a matter 
which is incompatible with their role as advisor to the Council, or any action they may have 
to take on behalf of the Council, the Monitoring Officer may decline to provide such advice 
but could, at their discretion, secure such advice from an independent source at the 
Council’s expense.  

 
12.0 MONITORING AND INTERPRETING THE CONSTITUTION 
 
12.1  The Monitoring Officer will monitor, and review on a regular basis, the effectiveness and 

operation of the Constitution so as to ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution 
are given full effect and that the Constitution enables the Council to discharge its functions 
effectively. 

 
12.2 In order to conduct such monitoring and review, the Monitoring Officer may: 

(a) consult any Member and/or Officers and other organisations and persons having 
dealings with the Council; 

(b) observe meetings of Members and/or Officers at any level; 
(c) undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions; 
(d) record and analyse issues raised with them by Members, Officers, the public and 

other relevant stakeholders; 

958



305 

(e) compare practices in this Council with those in other comparable authorities, or 
national examples of best practice; and 

(f) consider any relevant reports and recommendations of the District Auditor and other 
regulatory agencies. 

 
12.3 The Monitoring Officer shall consult the Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer 

periodically, highlighting areas where there is potential to improve the Constitution or its 
effectiveness, before determining whether to report to the Council on any necessary 
changes. 
 

12.4 The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date copy of the Constitution and ensure that it 
is accessible to Members, Officers and the public and will make such amendments to the 
Constitution as are necessary to reflect changes of fact and law and decisions of the 
Council. The Council shall retain the power and responsibility to consider and determine 
policy changes to the Constitution. 
 

12.5 The Monitoring Officer shall be responsible for advising on the interpretation of the 
Constitution and in particular, shall determine whether a proposed decision is contrary to 
the Policy Framework or the approved budget and whether a proposal is sufficiently urgent 
to merit the use of the statutory urgency provisions or the Chief Executive’s urgency 
powers. 
 

13.0 RESOURCES 
 
13.1 The Council is required by statute to provide the Monitoring Officer with the resources 

which they consider are necessary for the fulfilment of their statutory duties. 
 
13.2 For the purpose of carrying out their functions, the Monitoring Officer shall be provided with 

the following resources: 
(a) the right of access to all documents and information held by or on behalf of the 

Council; 
(b) the right of access to any meetings of Members or Officers of the Council, although 

this does not extend to any meetings held by any political party or group; 
(c) the right to require any Officer or Member of the Council to provide an explanation 

of any matter under investigation; 
(d) a right to report to the Council, the Joint Audit & Governance Committee and to the 

Cabinet, including a right to present a written report and to attend and advise 
verbally; 

(e) the right to require the assistance of any Officer of the Council and to delegate to 
that Officer any other powers of the post of Monitoring Officer; 

(f) a power to agree a local resolution of any complaint of maladministration or breach 
of the Council’s Member Code of Conduct, in consultation with the Chief Executive 
and Chief Finance Officer, including the power to agree a compensation payment of 
up to £5,000 in any particular case, and subject to subsequent report to the Joint 
Audit & Governance Committee for information; 

(g) the right of access to the Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer; 
(h) the right after consultation with the Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer, to 

notify the Police, the Council’s auditors and other regulatory agencies of their 
concerns in respect of any matter and to provide them with information and 
documents in order to assist them with their statutory functions; 

(i) the right to obtain legal advice at the Council’s expense, whether internally or from 
an independent external solicitor or barrister, on any matter and to be provided with 
sufficient financial resource to enable them to do so. 

 
  

959



306 

Dispensations Protocol 
 
1.0 Guide to Dispensations 
 
1.1 The council is responsible for determining requests for a dispensation by a Member under 

s.33 of the Localism Act 2011. The council may grant a dispensation to an Elected or Co-
opted Member on a matter with which they would otherwise not be permitted to deal, as a 
result of having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  

 
1.2 This guide explains: 

(a) The purpose and effect of dispensations  
(b) The procedure for requesting dispensations  
(c) The criteria applied in determining dispensation requests  
(d) The terms of dispensations  

 
1.3 Until a dispensation is granted, a Member may not participate in the consideration of the 

matter before the Council (or any committee or sub-committee) in which they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  

 
1.4 For the avoidance of doubt, Members do not have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and/or 

are granted a general dispensation in respect of any business of the Council relating to: 
(a) housing, where the Member is a tenant of the Council, provided that the business 

does not relate particularly to the Member’s tenancy or lease, or that of a relative, 
friend or close associate; 

(b) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members; 
(c) any ceremonial honour given to Members;  
(d) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 
2.0 Purpose and effect of dispensations  
 
2.1 In certain circumstances, Members may be granted a dispensation that enables them to 

take part in council business where this would otherwise be prohibited because they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. Provided Members act within the terms of their dispensation 
there is deemed to be no breach of the Code of Conduct or the law.  

 
2.2 Section 31(4) of the Localism Act 2011 states that dispensations may allow a member to:  

(a) participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at a meeting; 
and/or  

(b) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at a meeting  
 
Please note: if a member participates in a meeting where they have a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest and they do not have a dispensation, they may be committing a criminal offence 
under section 34 of the Localism Act 2011.  
 
3.0 Process for making requests  
 
3.1 A request for dispensation must be made on an individual basis. Any Member who wishes 

to apply for a dispensation should fully complete a Dispensation Application Form 
(Appendix 1) and submit it to the Monitoring Officer, explaining why it is desirable and 
appropriate to grant the dispensation.  

 
4.0 Approval Process  
 
4.1 The Monitoring Officer may only grant a dispensation to a Member who has a Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interest allowing them to participate in any discussion of a matter at a meeting 
and/or to participate in any vote on the matter (as per paragraph 2 above), if they consider 
that:  

960



307 

(a) without the dispensation, the number of persons prohibited from participating in any 
particular business would be so great a proportion of the body transacting the 
business as to impede the transaction of the business,  

(b) without the dispensation, the representation of different Political Groups on the body 
transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the likely outcome 
of any vote relating to the business,  

(c) without the dispensation, each Member of the authority's Cabinet would be 
prohibited from participating in any particular business to be transacted by the 
Cabinet,  

(d) granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the authority's area, 
or  

(e) it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.  
 
4.2 In the absence of the Monitoring Officer, a Deputy Monitoring Officer is authorised to 

execute the functions of the Monitoring Officer. The Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
also has the delegated power to agree dispensations.  
 

4.3 Applications dealt with by the Monitoring Officer will normally be determined within 10 
working days. Applications made to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee will go to the 
next ordinary meeting or it may be appropriate to arrange a special meeting at the 
discretion of the Chair of the committee. Applications must be received at least 10 clear 
working days before a meeting to enable a report to be prepared and the agenda published 
five clear days before the meeting.  
 

4.4 The Monitoring Officer will formally notify the Member of the decision and reasons in writing 
at the earliest opportunity and in any event within five clear working days of the decision.  

 
5.0 Criteria for determination of requests  
 
5.1 In reaching a decision on a request for a dispensation, the Monitoring Officer will consider:  

(a) the nature of the Member’s interest  
(b) the extent to which the request could have been avoided or other arrangements 

could be made  
(c) the need to maintain public confidence in the conduct of the Council’s business  
(d) the extent to which there is some personal benefit and the extent of the public 

benefit obtained by agreeing to a dispensation  
(e) the possible outcome of the proposed vote  
(f) the need for efficient and effective conduct of the Council’s business  
(g) any other relevant circumstances  

 
6.0 Terms of dispensations  
 
6.1 Dispensations may be:  

(a) Granted for one meeting or for a period not exceeding 4 years  
(b) Subject to specific conditions, e.g. notification of any material change in 

circumstances arising from the dispensation  
 
7.0 Disclosure of decision  
 
7.1 Any Member who has been granted a dispensation must declare the nature and existence 

of the dispensation before the commencement of any business to which it relates.  
 

7.2 A copy of the dispensation will be kept with the Register of Members’ Interests.  
 
8.0 Dispensations for Conflicts of Interest when taking Executive decisions  
 

961



308 

8.1 Under regulations 12 and 13 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the record of an Executive 
decision made either at meetings or by individuals, must include:  

(a) details of any conflict of interest either declared by any Member of the body which 
made the decision or declared by any Cabinet Member consulted by the Member or 
Officer taking the decision which relates to that decision;  

(b) In respect of any such conflict of interest, a note of dispensation granted by the 
Chief Executive.  

 
Please note: A conflict of interest is broader than a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. It can be 
any interest that conflicts (or may reasonably be perceived to conflict) with a Member’s duty 
to take decisions only in the public interest in the light of material considerations. 
 

Appendix 1  

To: The Monitoring Officer  

APPLICATION FOR A DISPENSATION UNDER SECTION 33 OF THE LOCALISM ACT 2011 IN 

RESPECT OF A DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST  

Name of member:  

A Member who has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter may not participate in the 

consideration of that matter by the Council, a committee or sub-committee or by the Cabinet or a 

Cabinet committee unless they have first obtained a dispensation from the council. You may apply 

for a dispensation by completing this form and sending it to the Monitoring Officer.  

1. What is the matter for which dispensation is sought?  

Please provide full details including amounts where the matter involves funding or finance.  

2. For which type of meeting is dispensation sought?  

(Full Council, Cabinet, Committee or Sub-Committee)  

3. What is the nature of the Disclosable Pecuniary Interest?  

Please provide full details.  

4. What is the date of the meeting(s) at which this matter is to be considered?  

5. For how long is the dispensation needed?  

Please note that it cannot be longer than 4 years nor exceed the Member’s term of office.  

6. Do you benefit personally from the business to which this application relates?  

If ‘yes’, the full details must be provided of the nature and extent.  

7. How is the business of the Council being impeded in the absence of a dispensation?  

8. Are there any other factors that might help the council to reach a decision on the 

application?  

9. Are you seeking a dispensation to speak and vote?  

Yes/No  

10. Are you seeking a dispensation to speak but not vote?  

Yes/ No  

Signed: ____________________Date: _________   

962



309 

Officer Decision-Making Protocol 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 This document sets out the legal framework for decision-making and establishes a system 

to document decisions taken by Officers under delegated authority. 
 
2.0 TYPES OF DECISION 
 
2.1 The significance of decisions taken under delegated authority will vary and Officers 

authorised to make delegated decisions will need to exercise judgement in determining 
whether decisions are significant enough to require placing in the Forward Plan if they are 
in relation to Executive functions and/or formally recording. To assist in this process, 
decisions relating to Executive functions are defined as Key, Major or Administrative. All 
decisions other than Administrative Decisions need formally recording and publishing in 
accordance with paragraph 5. Administrative Decisions, although not required to be 
formally reported to the Proper Officer, must be recorded so as to provide an audit trail as 
referred to in paragraph 5. 

 
2.2 In relation to Non-Executive functions, Officers should adopt a similar approach to formal 

recording to ensure transparency of decision-making. Whilst Overview and Scrutiny cannot 
consider decisions of Regulatory Committees or Officers, such decisions can be challenged 
externally through appeals processes, the Courts and the Local Government Ombudsman. 

 
2.3 ‘Key Decision’, ‘Major Decision’ and ‘Administrative Decision’ are all defined in Article 12 of 

the Constitution. 
 
3.0 THE PROCESS 
 
3.1 Before taking any decision, Officers should ensure that they have appropriate delegated 

authority, and reference should be made to the Scheme of Officer Delegations in Part 4 of 
the Constitution. 

 
3.2 Where appropriate delegated authority exists, in writing, the authorised Officer must take 

into account the principles of decision-making set out in Article 12 of the Constitution. 
 
3.3 All proposed Key Decisions need to be published on the Council’s website not less than 28 

clear days prior to the date on which the decision is to be made. Officers proposing to make 
a Key Decision and needing to place an item on the Council’s website should provide 
details to the Democratic Services Manager at least 30 clear days prior to the date on 
which the decision is to be made.  

 
3.4 If it is impracticable to publish the notice not less than 28 clear days before the date of 

decision, then the Officer must comply with the legal requirements relating to exceptional 
and urgent Executive decisions. These are laid out in full in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 
3.5 If an Officer is unable to give five clear days’ notice of a Key Decision that was not 

published on the Council’s website at least 28 clear days before the date of the decision, 
they can take the decision only if the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (for an 
Adur only item) or the Joint Chair of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (joint 
items) agrees that the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. The full 
procedure is again set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
Constitution. 

 
3.6 Consultations under Paragraph 3.4 and 3.5 above, must be taken in consultation with the 

Democratic Services Manager. 

963



310 

 
3.7 In making an Officer decision, the principles of Member decision-making set out in Article 

12 of the Constitution, should be complied with. 
 
4.0 CALL-IN 
 
4.1 Relevant decisions made by Officers are subject to Call-In by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee or Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee and cannot be implemented until 
either the Call-In period has expired or the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee has made a decision regarding the Call-In. The Call-In 
procedure is set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules within the Constitution. 

 
5.0 RECORDING AND PUBLISHING OFFICER DECISIONS 
 
5.1 Officer Key Decisions are recorded in the same manner as Cabinet Member decisions. The 

Officer will produce a decision record in the same format as those relating to Executive 
decisions following the Officer decisions. 

 
5.2 Upon making a Major Decision in relation to an Executive function, the Officer must provide 

the Democratic Services Manager with a completed delegated decision form (available on 
the Council’s intranet site) within two clear working days of the date of taking the decision. 

 
5.3 Upon making a Major Decision relating to the exercise of a Non-Executive function, the 

Officer must provide the Democratic Services Manager with a completed delegated 
decision form within two clear working days of the date of taking the decision, unless 
agreed with the Assistant Director Legal & Democratic Services that that decision (or class 
of decision) does not require this. Any such forms must be copied to the relevant Director. 

 
5.4 The Democratic Services Manager will maintain a record of all decisions referred to in 

paragraphs 5.1 to 5.3, including any report upon which each decision was made and 
subject to any requirement for confidentiality, will ensure that this decision is recorded by 
the Council. They will also ensure that the record of decision is available for public 
inspection during all normal office hours, that the public has the right to copy or to be 
provided with a copy of any part of that record upon payment of a reasonable copying and 
administrative charge, and that the decision, report and background documents are 
available on the Council’s website. 

 
5.5 It is essential that the contents of the delegated decision form are clear in conveying the 

decision taken, i.e. it will not be sufficient to state that the recommendations in the report 
were agreed. The form and accompanying report must set out: 

(a) A record of decision (including the date it was made); 
(b) The reasons for the decision; 
(c) Details of any alternative options considered and rejected, with reasons; 
(d) A record of any conflict of interest declared by any Cabinet Member consulted; and 
(e) In relation to any such declaration, a note of any dispensation granted by the Joint 

Audit & Governance Committee. 
 

5.6 The delegated decision form includes a section for the recording of interests by Officers. It 
is important that where Officers involved in making decisions have a registerable interest, 
this is declared on the form to preserve the integrity of the process. 

 
Types of officer decisions  

 
5.7 An ‘Executive decision’ is one made in connection with the discharge of a function which is 

the responsibility of the Leader and Cabinet and which has been delegated to officers.  
 

964



311 

5.8 A ‘Non-Executive decision’ is one made in connection with the discharge of a function that 
is the responsibility of Full Council and its committees and which has been delegated to 
officers.  

 
5.9 The significance of decisions taken under delegated powers will vary, and officers 

authorised to make delegated decisions need to exercise judgment in determining whether 
decisions are significant enough to require formal recording and publishing.  

 
5.10 Although administrative and operational decisions are not required to be formally reported, 

they must be recorded within the service area so as to provide an audit trail.  
 
5.11 Key Decisions, Major Decisions and Urgent Decisions are defined below:  

 
Key Decisions are Executive decisions that are likely to result in the Council incurring expenditure 
which is, or the making of savings which are significant, having regard to the Council’s budget for 
the service or function to which the decision relates, which the Council has currently determined to 
be:  

(a) capital schemes, within the approved Capital Programme, in excess of £250,000; or 
(b) the letting/re-letting of contracts of value of £100,000 £75,000 or more over the period of 

the contract, where provision has been made in the approved budget; or 
(c) expenditure in addition to the approved budget, requiring virement or a supplementary 

estimate in excess of £100,000; or 
(d) in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more 

Wards in the wider area of Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council jointly.  
 
Major Executive Decisions are Executive decisions (other than purely operational or 
administrative in nature) taken by officers under powers delegated by a specific resolution of the 
Cabinet/Cabinet Member or under the Scheme of Delegation:  

(a) That are contentious, controversial or politically sensitive; or  
(b) Where there is likely to be a strong public interest; or  
(c) Where there is significant variance in expenditure outside the agreed scope or budget for a 

project or issue; or  
(d) Raise new issues of policy  

 
Major Non-Executive Decisions are Non-Executive decisions (other than purely operational or 
administrative in nature) taken by officers under powers delegated by a specific resolution of Full 
Council, a committee or under the Scheme of Delegation and having wide public impact/interest; 
where the effect of the decision:  

(a) is to grant a permission or licence  
(b) affects the legal rights of an individual  
(c) is to award a contract or incur expenditure which ‘materially’ affects the authority's financial 

position  
 
Urgent Decisions are decisions made in circumstances where:  

(a) a decision is required by statute or otherwise within a specified timescale; or  
(b) any delay likely to be caused by not making the decision would seriously prejudice the 

council’s or the public’s interests; or  
(c) any delay likely to be caused by not making the decision would be likely to expose the 

council, its members or the public to a significant level of risk, loss, damage or 
disadvantage  

 
5.12 The following types of officer decision must be formally recorded and published subject to 

the exceptions set out: 
  

965



312 

 

 
Type of Officer Decision  Exception  Publication  
Key Decisions  
Executive decisions that are:  
a) capital schemes, within the 
approved Capital Programme, in 
excess of £250,000; or 
b) the letting/re-letting of 
contracts of value of £100,000 
£75,000 or more over the period 
of the contract, where provision 
has been made in the approved 
budget; or 
c) expenditure in addition to 
the approved budget, requiring 
virement or a supplementary 
estimate in excess of £100,000; 
or 
d) are significant in terms of 
the effect on communities living 
or working in two or more 
electoral Wards. 

Officers are only to take Key 
Decisions where:  
(i) specifically authorised by the 
Leader or Cabinet; or  
(ii) where the Chief Executive 
or (in their absence) the 
Deputy Chief Executive is 
acting under urgency powers.  

As soon as reasonably 
practicable after an officer 
has made a Key, Material 
or Significant decision, 
they must produce a 
written statement, 
available for inspection at 
City Hall and published on 
the council’s website, that 
includes details of:  

 the decision and the 
date it was made;  

 the reasons for it;  

 any alternative 
options considered 
and rejected;  

 any conflicts of 
interests declared by 
any Cabinet member 
consulted by the 
officer and any 
dispensations granted 
by the Chief 
Executive in respect 
of any declared 
conflict;  

 the report considered 
by the decision-
maker; 

 any background 
documents disclosing 
facts or matters on 
which the decision 
was based and which 
were relied on to a 
material extent in 
making the decision. 

The decision record must 
be kept for inspection for 6 
years and the background 
papers for 4 years. 

Major Executive Decisions 
Executive decisions under 
powers delegated by a specific 
resolution of the Cabinet/Cabinet 
Member or under the Scheme of 
Delegation: 

 That are contentious, 
controversial or politically 
sensitive; or 

 Where there is likely to be a 
strong public interest; or 

 Where there is significant 
variance in expenditure 
outside the agreed scope or 
budget for a project or issue; 
or 

 That raise new issues of 
policy. 

Does not apply:  
(i) To routine operational, 
organisational or administrative 
decisions;  
(ii) Where the expenditure or 
saving has already been 
approved by the Cabinet or 
Cabinet Member and the 
decision has been published; 
(iii) Confidential or Exempt 
Information; or 
(iv) Where the expenditure or 
saving is already recorded and 
published under separate 
statutory requirements. 

Major Non-Executive Decisions 
Non-Executive decisions under 
powers delegated by a specific 
resolution of Full Council, a 
committee or under the Scheme 
of Delegation and having wide 
public impact/ interest; where the 
effect of the decision: 

 is to grant a permission or 
licence 

 affects the legal rights of an 
individual 

 is to award a contract or 
incur expenditure which 

Does not apply: 
(i) To routine operational, 
organisational or administrative 
decisions; 
(ii) Confidential or Exempt 
information; 
(iii) Where the date, details of 
and reasons for the decision 
are already required to be 
produced under a statutory 
requirement; 
(iv) If only the rights of an 
individual or business are 
affected, unless there is a 
wider public impact/ interest in 
the action. 

966



313 

‘materially’ affects the 
authority's financial position 

 
The process  
 
5.13 Before taking any decision, the authorised Officer must consider the principles of decision 

making set out in this Constitution.  
 
5.14 Details of all proposed Key Decisions must be published at least 28 clear days before the 

decision is made (unless the general exceptions procedure or special urgency procedure is 
applicable) via the Cabinet Notice (Forward Plan).  

 
5.15 Where an Officer makes an urgent Key Decision, they must comply with the legal 

requirements set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules.  
 
Call-In  
 
5.16 Key Decisions made by Officers are subject to Call-In by Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees and cannot be implemented until either the Call-In period has expired or the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee has made a decision regarding the Call-In.  

 
5.17 Although the formal Call-In process only applies to Officer Key Decisions, Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees can call an Officer to account over any decision made. 
 
6.0 AUTHORISATION OF OFFICERS TO EXERCISE DELEGATED POWERS 
 
6.1 The Scheme of Delegations to Officers includes the power for Officers to authorise other 

Officers to exercise delegations that have been delegated to them under the Scheme. This 
must be to another Officer or Officers of suitable experience and seniority. Each Director 
will prepare and maintain an up-to-date departmental Register of Sub-Delegations. It shall 
set out how decisions will be made in their area. This should establish which Officers will be 
given authority to make decisions under delegated powers and subject to which terms and 
conditions. The Scheme of Authorisation will be lodged with the Assistant Director Legal & 
Democratic Services. 

 
6.2 Whilst Directors may authorise other Officers to take delegated decisions, the decision is 

still their responsibility in that they will be accountable for the decision to authorise and the 
exercise of that authorisation. 

 
7.0 REFERRAL 
 
7.1 Whilst the Scheme of Delegations to Officers is designed to encourage Officers to take 

responsibility for decisions, an Officer may decide that a particular issue is such that it 
should be referred to the body from whom authority was delegated. Such a referral must 
take place where the proposed decision relates to an Executive function and is conflict with 
the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework. 
 

7.2 The Cabinet may also direct an Officer’s delegated authority should not be exercised in 
respect of a particular matter and that the matter should be referred to the Cabinet. 

 

967



314 

7.3 In relation to the exercise of Non-Executive functions, the Officer may decide to refer a 
particular issue to the Committee or Sub-Committee from whom it was delegated, or if 
none, arrange for an appropriate recommendation to be made to Full Council. 

 
8.0 GIVING REASONS 
 
8.1 A matter of increasing significance in Local Government, decision-making is when reasons 

have to be given. Generally, giving reasons is an accepted ‘best practice’ principle of good 
administration. Case law suggests that the practice may be important in ensuring that 
controversial decisions are rooted in relevant considerations and with proper regard to 
available legal powers. 

 
9.0 ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
9.1 Officers are accountable to the Council for any decision they may make and with the 

exception of decisions relating to individual regulatory matters, may be required to report to, 
and answer questions from, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in respect of any decisions. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee or 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee may also Call-In Key and Major Decisions before 
they are implemented and may recommend a course of action when the matter is to be 
reconsidered by the Officer. 

 
10.0 CONSULTATION WITH MEMBERS 
 
10.1 General provisions: 

(a) Decisions made by Officers under delegated powers fall into two principal categories, 
namely: 

(i) Decisions delegated to Officers in, or following, consultation with Cabinet 
Member (which may or may not be Key Decisions); and 

(ii) Other decisions delegated to Officers (which are not required to be taken in, or 
following, consultation with Cabinet Members) and which may or may not be Key 
Decisions; 

(b) Officers to whom decisions have been delegated have a duty to ensure that effective 
consultation takes place in accordance with the Constitution and the terms of the 
delegation; 

(c) Every effort will be made to ensure that Members have a realistic timescale to respond 
to consultation and, where appropriate and reasonably practicable, this timescale will be 
sufficient to enable Members to consult with their constituents. Members will be informed 
of any time restrictions which may apply relating to the process of consultation, 
particularly where urgent action is needed in the Council’s and/or the public interest. 

 
10.2 Decisions by Officers following consultation with Cabinet Members 
 

Officers to whom decision-making powers have been delegated, subject to consultation with 
Cabinet Members, will ensure that such consultation takes place. 
 
Consultation shall be carried out in writing, unless there is an urgency about the decision that 
makes such written consultation impractical, in which case the Officer shall confirm, in writing, 
to the Cabinet Member their understanding of the Cabinet Member’s response to the 
consultation. 
 
The decision, however, is the responsibility of the Officer and if, following consultation with 
the relevant Cabinet Member, the Officer does not feel that they can make the decision in 
accordance with their professional opinion, then they must refer the matter to the Cabinet 
Member for a formal decision. 
 

968



315 

10.3 Other decisions delegated to Officers 
(a) Officers acting within the remit of their delegated authority must ensure that they identify, 

at an early stage, issues upon which Members should be consulted; and 
(b) Will ensure that appropriate consultation takes place. 

 
10.4 Consultation with Cabinet Members 
 

Officers will ensure that appropriate consultation is undertaken with Cabinet Members on 
issues relating to their portfolios. 

  

969



316 

Councillor Call For Action Protocol 
 
1.0  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) was introduced under the Local Government and Public 

Involvement in Health Act 2007. It seeks to strengthen the role of the Ward Councillor, 
encouraging them to resolve local problems on behalf of residents. The legislation allows 
Ward Councillors to place CCfA onto scrutiny agendas for resolution and action. The 
legislation extends the power of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny function in two ways: 

(a) So that any Member of the Council can refer a local government matter to the 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and 

(b) that matters which can be referred include matters which the Council and its partners 
are delivering through the Local Area Agreement and ‘local crime and disorder’ 
matters. 

 
1.2 The CCfA Best Practice guidance released by the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) and the 

Improvement and Development Agency (IDeA) refers to the importance of concentrating on 
outcomes rather than process when dealing with CCfAs. This protocol is therefore a light 
touch approach. 

 
1.3 The protocol outlines what constitutes a CCfA, what should be excluded and the process for 

dealing with a CCfA. The protocol applies to CCfAs related to crime and disorder matters as 
well as local government matters. 

 
2.0  WHAT IS COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION? 
 
2.1 The CCfA is a process for a Councillor to act on behalf of residents to resolve a local issue 

of concern, acting as a last resort for people who cannot get issues resolved through any 
other means; this can include crime and disorder matters. 

 
2.2 Under section 21A of the Local Government Act 2000, a CCfA needed to relate to a ‘local 

government matter’. To give full effect to CCfA, the interpretation of ‘local government matter’ 
was broad. It would include issues relating to the Council’s partners, in line with the area 
focus of Comprehensive Area Assessment, and the fact that an Authority’s duties 
increasingly impact on other organisations and involve partners within and outside the Local 
Strategic Partnership. 

 
2.3 Under CCfA, Ward Councillors are able to refer issues to Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 

where it can be shown that: 
(a) the issue is of a genuine and persistent local concern; 
(b) the issue is not subject to ongoing legal processes; and 
(c) other courses of action have failed to resolve the matter. 

 
2.4 The Localism Act 2011 has provided further clarification on the matters or concerns that can 

be referred through the CCfA process: 
 

a) Ward Councillors are no longer restricted to referring matters of ‘local government 
concern’ to Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

3.0  MATTERS WHICH ARE EXCLUDED FROM COUNCILLOR CALL FOR  ACTION 
 
3.1 The following matters have been excluded under section 21A of the Local Government Act 

2000, introduced under section 119 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007: 

(a) any matter relating to a planning decision; 
(b) any matter relating to a licensing decision; 

970



317 

(c) any matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that individual or entity 
has a right of recourse to a review or right of appeal conferred by or under any 
enactment; 

(d) any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable to be included in the 
agenda for, or to be discussed at, a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
or at a meeting of a Sub-Committee of that Committee. 

 
4.0  CCFA PROCESS 
 
4.1 In accordance with the national best practice guidance Overview and Scrutiny should be the 

last resort for a CCfA. The expectation will be on the Ward Councillor to have tried to resolve 
an issue using all available mechanisms (including partnership working when appropriate) 
prior to referring the matter to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. When a matter is 
referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee it will be up to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Chair and the Proper Officer whether the matter is progressed and taken forward 
by scrutiny. The process of determination by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair 
with the Proper Officer represents a sifting process to determine if the matter is of sufficient 
weight to be considered as a CCfA, and to determine whether the matter is excluded under 
paragraph 3 above. 
 

4.2 At this stage the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair, together with the Proper Officer, 
will need to decide if the matter relates to a joint service issue. If so, the matter should be 
considered by the Councils’ Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Chair and 
Proper Officer will need to consult with the Worthing Borough Council Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Chair to determine if the matter should be considered by the Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  
 

4.3 The possible reasons for rejecting a CCfA are outlined at paragraph 5.0 below.  
 
5.0  REFERRAL TO SCRUTINY 
 
5.1 The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will then determine with the Proper Officer 

whether to take the CCfA forward. The Proper Officer will inform the Ward Councillor whether 
they will accept the CCfA within 5 working days of the request. If the CCfA is a crime and 
disorder related matter then responsible partners must be notified. 
 

5.2 Reasons an Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair may decide not to take a CCfA forward 
to Overview and Scrutiny Committee (or Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee) could 
include: 

(a) Not enough information has been provided; 
(b) More could be done to resolve the issue at a local level, e.g. key people have not 

been contacted; 
(c) The CCfA is, or has stemmed from, a vexatious discriminatory or unreasonable 

complaint; 
(d) The matter has recently been examined by Overview and Scrutiny (though the Ward 

Councillors may argue that certain aspects were not sufficiently covered hence a need 
for a CCfA); 

(e) The matter is the subject of an Ombudsman complaint or other official  complaints 
procedure; 

(f) The matter falls under any other excluded matters (see paragraph 3 above). 
 
5.3 If a CCfA is rejected for consideration by scrutiny the Ward Councillor will be notified by the 

Proper Officer in writing within 5 working days of lodging the CCfA. Where it is a crime and 
disorder CCfA, all responsible partners must also be notified of the rejection. Ward 
Councillors will have the opportunity to reply to the Chair perhaps with further information to 
substantiate the CCfA. 

 

971



318 

5.4 If the CCfA is accepted, the relevant Cabinet Members, Officers and/or partners will be 
notified by the Proper Officer. 

 
6.0  PROCESS FOR RESOLUTION OF A CCFA 
 
6.1 In an attempt to resolve the CCfA, a Ward Councillor may: 

(a) receive public request for action or issue; 
(b) discuss with other Ward Councillors if a multi-member ward and agree action; 
(c) take steps to resolve the issue through existing mechanisms such as liaising with 

partners, County Councillors or raising with Officers; 
(d) If unresolved and the matter can be taken no further by the Ward Councillor then refer to 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee by completing ‘the Councillor Call for Action Form’ 
and submit this to the Proper Officer for action. 

 
6.2 Overview and Scrutiny Committee either: 

(a) reject the CCfA and notify the Ward Councillor, who in turn should inform the public; or 
(b) accept the CCfA and arrange to consider the CCfA, notifying partners as appropriate. 

Following which they will determine their response and relay this to the Ward Councillor 
and Partners as appropriate. 

 
7.0  PROCESS FOR DEALING WITH A CCFA AT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
7.1 The Chair and Proper Officer will determine if a special meeting outside the calendar of 

meetings is required and call a meeting, if not then the CCfA will be dealt with at the next 
available meeting of the Committee. 

 
7.2 The Chair in consultation with the Ward Councillor and Proper Officer when considering the 

meeting should give consideration to: 
(a) Witnesses; 
(b) Notifying and Inviting Partners 
(c) Evidence required; 
(d) Key questions; 
(e) Timescales; and 
(f) Aims and objectives for the meeting. 

 
7.3 In a similar fashion to the Call-In process, at the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, or Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as appropriate, Members will be 
expected to reach a decision on whether to: 

(a) take no action;  
(b) refer the matter to the Cabinet/Council/Partner Organisation, with recommendations; 

and/or  
(c) carry out a full scrutiny investigation. 

 
7.4 Any report and recommendations arising from the Committee meeting will be made available 

and sent to all agencies involved with the CCfA within 5 working days of the meeting. In the 
case of a crime and disorder matter, reports and recommendations will be sent to the 
responsible authorities as listed in the Police and Justice Act 2006. 

 
8.0  PROPER OFFICER 
 
8.1 For the purposes of this protocol, the Proper Officer dealing with Councillor Call for Action 

will be the Council’s Corporate Policy Officer (Scrutiny). 

  

972



319 

Pre-Election Period Protocol 
 
1.0  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The actions of the Councils, its Members and Officers are subjected to closer scrutiny in a 

pre-election period and many activities which would normally pass without comment, could 
become the subject of controversy. 

 
1.2 This Protocol is intended to assist Officers and Members and covers rules on publicity, use 

of Council facilities, Council meetings, and use of premises during the pre-election period. 
 
1.3 This Protocol aims to extend the principles underlying the conduct of Members and Officers 

and should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Member Code of Conduct, the Officer 
Code of Conduct and the Protocol relating to Relationships within the Council. Also of 
relevance is any guidance note for the Officers and/or Members that is issued by the 
Returning Officer for any particular election. 

 
1.4 The pre-election period, which is sometimes referred to as ‘Purdah’ commences with the 

Notice of Elections and terminates the day after elections are concluded. 
 
2.0  PUBLICITY  
 
2.1 At any time the Councils are prohibited from publishing material which appears to be 

designed to affect public support for a political party. The Government’s Code of 
Recommended Practice on Local Authority Publicity sets out the following key principles in 
relation to Local Authority communications and publicity generally: 

(a) Publicity is defined in section 6 of the Local Government Act 1986 as: ‘Any 
communication, in whatever form, addressed to the public at large or to a section of 
the public’. This definition is very wide and would include press releases, speeches, 
leaflets and newspaper articles issued by, or on behalf of, the Council; posters; 
sponsorships; events; and displays. 

(b) Publicity about individual Members (whether or not they are or may become election 
candidates) should be objective and explanatory and should not be either party 
political or open to misinterpretation as such. 

(c) Publicity may include information about individual Members’ views on issues, 
decisions and recommendations only where this is relevant to their position and 
responsibilities within the Council. If views expressed by, or attributed to, individual 
Councillors do not reflect the views of the Local Authority itself, such publicity should 
make this fact clear. 

 
3.0  PUBLICITY DURING THE PRE-ELECTION PERIOD 

 
3.1 The following additional guidelines apply during the pre-election period: 

(a) During the pre-election period all Council publicity should avoid the pro-active 
publicity of candidates and other politicians involved directly with the elections; 

(b) There is a need to ensure that any publicity is objective, balanced, informative and 
accurate; concentrating on facts, explanations or both; 

(c) Council publicity should, as far as possible, avoid controversial issues or report 
proposals which could be identified with individual Members or Groups. However, 
the Council may respond to any events and enquiries provided the answers are 
factual and not party political; 

(d) Members holding key positions are able to comment on important unplanned events 
or emergencies where a Member-level response is required – ideally this should be 
a Member holding a politically neutral position or alternatively an agreed response 
from all Group Leaders; 

973



320 

(e) Events providing photo and publicity opportunities should, where possible, be timed 
to avoid the pre-election period. Where this is not possible, candidates for election 
should not be involved. 

  
3.2 The timing of a publication is an important factor. The nearer the publication to the election, 

the more likely it is to be controversial and be perceived as designed to affect support for a 
particular party. Where possible, therefore, it is advisable to avoid publishing any 
controversial material near the elections. 

 
4.0  CONTENT OF MEMBERS’ PUBLICITY 
 
4.1 The content of any publicity issued by Members who are election candidates is very much a 

matter for each Member and their Political Group. However, there will be circumstances 
when the Council’s Code of Conduct may apply, even to an individual Member’s own 
election publicity, and as such the Code must be borne in mind. As Members of a Local 
Authority, it is also necessary to take into account the general duties of Local Authorities 
under equalities and other legislation.  

 
5.0  IMPACT ON COUNCIL MEETINGS AND ACTIONS DURING THE ELECTION PERIOD 
 
5.1 In Local Government there is a broad convention that matters of political controversy, either 

locally or nationally, should not routinely be brought before Members if at all avoidable 
during a pre-election period. This can impact on, for example, items brought to Committees, 
questions from the public or from Members, petitions, or Motions on Notice at Council.  

 
5.2 In addition to the accepted convention, there are practical reasons for this approach from 

the publicity point of view. Firstly, whereas the agendas and minutes of official Council 
meetings are protected by the Local Government Act 1986 from being ‘publicity’, press 
releases publicising those minutes are not. This presents the Councils with difficulties in 
publicising any sensitive or controversial decisions during the pre-election period, even if in 
other circumstances such publicity would be merited by the level of public interest. 
Secondly, the more restrictive publicity regime during the pre-election period means that 
where an initiative would benefit from a public launch or immediate advertisement or 
consultation, this will rarely be possible during the pre-election period. 

 
5.3 Therefore any working practices or protocols which include publicity and media 

arrangements will need to be interpreted in the light of the restrictions mentioned above.  
 
6.0  CONSULTATION 
 
6.1 Guidance contained in the 2019 Local Government Association Guidance recommends that 

no new public consultations should be launched during the election period, and nor should 
any findings from consultation exercises be reported during this period if they could be 
politically sensitive. 

 
7.0  CODE OF MEMBER CONDUCT 
 
7.1 The Member Code of Conduct applies not only when a Member conducts the business of 

their Authority but also when acting, claiming to act, or giving the impression they are acting 
as a representative of the Authority. In this respect, certain elements of the Code are 
particularly relevant during the pre-election period:  
 

7.2 Disrepute: forbids a Member from conducting themselves in a manner which could 
reasonably be regarded as bringing their Office or Authority into disrepute.  
 

7.3 Unfair advantage: forbids a Member from using their position to confer on or secure for 
themselves or any other person an advantage or disadvantage. 

974



321 

 
7.4 Equalities: forbids a Member from conducting themselves in a way that is contrary to duties 

under Equalities legislation. Members should consider the need to treat some issues with 
sensitivity at all time, including in their election publicity and where they may relate to 
minority groups or protected characteristics. 

 
8.0  GENERAL 
 
8.1 The Councils do not and cannot vet Members’ election publicity. Generally, Members would 

need to seek any specific advice in relation to such publicity externally from the Councils, 
e.g. through their Political Group machinery. Also the Monitoring Officer would be happy to 
assist in relation to any queries from Members which relate to the application of the Code of 
Conduct.  

 
9.0  USE OF COUNCIL FACILITIES 
 
9.1 The use of Council facilities during the pre-election period can generate enquiries and 

complaints. The Councils’ Member Code of Conduct provides that a Member must ensure 
that Council resources are not used improperly for political purposes. 

 
9.2 Any services or facilities provided by the Council for Members should be used exclusively 

for the purposes of Council business or to enable the Member concerned to discharge their 
function as a Councillor. This applies to all facilities, including: 

(a) Council stationery (letterheads, envelopes, compliment slips); 
(b) Telephones; 
(c) Transport; 
(d) Photocopiers; 
(e) Officer time; 
(f) IT equipment. 

 
9.3 Subject to paragraph 12 below (use of Council premises during the pre-election period), no 

election candidate or a person associated with a political party is entitled to access Council 
premises. Members and Officers need to take extra care to ensure that election candidates 
or other persons associated with political parties who are not serving Councillors are not 
seen to have unauthorised access to Council offices or facilities. 

 
9.4 In relation to IT equipment, Members should not use IT equipment for party political 

purposes, as mentioned above. For example, Members sending messages to chat rooms 
or forums will need to consider whether to use their Councillor email address or a personal 
address. The former could be appropriate for simply sending information as a Councillor, 
but the latter will be appropriate if engaging in political debate.  

 
9.5 Council business and party political business are not always mutually exclusive. For 

example, a Political Group within the Councils may use Council facilities (such as meeting 
rooms) to discuss matters coming before the Councils or its Committees. The particular 
circumstances of each event will need to be considered. By way of illustration, the following 
are examples of cases where the use of Council facilities would not be appropriate: - 

(a) The use of the internal/external Council postal service to distribute election 
campaign material; 

(b) Using Council supplied letterheads or compliment slips in sending out election 
material or as part of election campaigning; 

(c) Including election messages, strap-lines or slogans in letters which are otherwise 
being legitimately sent (e.g. for information purposes) on Council supplied 
letterheads to local residents;  

(d) Sending out election material using a Council email address; 
(e) Putting election material on, or canvassing via, the Councillors’ web pages on the 

Councils’ web site; 

975



322 

(f) Using Council telephones for canvassing. 
 
10.0 USE OF EMAILS 
 
10.1 A Member’s Council email address should not be used for political purposes, such as 

electioneering.  
 
10.2 It is recognised that a local resident may contact their Ward Member about an election 

issue via that Member’s Council email address. As long as the use of the Council email for 
political purposes was not initiated or promoted by the Member, it would be perfectly 
acceptable to reply to the email although it may be political in nature. Members should not 
however initiate political discussions using Council provided email facilities. If the exchange 
becomes extensive, Members should consider using their own email. 

 
11.0 USE OF TELEPHONE 
 
11.1 In line with the position on emails, Members may use Council supplied telephones for non-

party-political purposes or where the call is not initiated by a Member. 
 
11.2 Council email addresses and telephone numbers are better avoided for any party-political 

literature. If Members wish to refer to the facility for purposes of constituency work, it should 
be made clear that it is for Ward casework only and it is better kept in a discrete part of the 
document, for example in a box at the back saying ‘If you want to contact your Ward 
Councillors about Ward issues, you may contact them on...’. 

 
12.0 USE OF COUNCIL PREMISES DURING THE PRE-ELECTION PERIOD 
 
12.1 Between the Notice of Election being published and the day before the election, a 

candidate in the election is entitled to use Council meeting rooms to hold public meetings 
for furtherance of their candidature. This includes committee rooms and rooms in schools in 
the candidate’s electoral area. The use of these rooms is free of hire charge, though the 
candidate may be required to cover the expenses associated with using the premises e.g. 
electricity, cleaning costs. Further information on these arrangements may be obtained from 
the Electoral Services Office.  

 
13.0 CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 
 
13.1 Members are usually entitled to information not available to the public (exempt or 

confidential information) where that information is required by them to discharge their 
functions as Councillors. This may, for example, be the case if the information relates to an 
item coming before a Committee of which they are a Member. Exempt or confidential 
information cannot be used for electioneering purposes. It is for this reason that Officers, in 
the run up to an election, may seek to clarify the purpose for which a Member is seeking 
information. Members should not seek, nor may Officers provide, exempt or confidential 
information to help election campaigns. 

 
14.0 MEMBER/OFFICER ROLES 
 
14.1 In general terms, the role of Members is to set the strategies, policies and frameworks 

within which the Councils will operate, to monitor performance and to represent those who 
live in their Wards. Officers are employed to advise, undertake the detailed preparation and 
implementation work, and provide the day-to-day running of services. It is particularly worth 
bearing in mind this broad split of functions at election time and, in the interests of good 
administration, the need to avoid roles becoming confused.  

 

976



323 

15.0 SPECIAL RULES RELATING TO OFFICERS 
 
15.1 Officers at all levels should not engage in party political activity that compromises their 

neutrality and objectivity at work. Officers who hold politically restricted posts (generally 
Senior Officers and those who advise Members or speak on behalf of the Councils) are 
subject to additional restrictions. 
 

15.2 If an Officer attends a Political Group meeting to brief Members on Council business, 
Members should ensure that the Officer is not present when political business is discussed. 
Attendance at such meetings should normally be limited to Directors, Heads of Service or 
other Senior Officers. 
 

15.3 A central register of all posts which are Politically Restricted is held by the Assistant 
Director People & Change. 

 
16.0 PROTOCOL FOR RELATIONSHIPS WITHIN THE COUNCILS 
 
16.1 Further information and advice on the working relationship between Members and Officers 

is contained in the Protocol for Member/Officer Working Arrangements, which forms part of 
this Constitution. It covers in more detail matters such as roles and responsibilities, political 
activity, contact between Members and Officers, access to information, undue pressure and 
redress for breach of the Protocol. 

 

  

977



324 

Recording of Council Meetings Protocol 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 

1.1 This protocol provides guidance on acceptable conduct for audio and visual recording and 
the use of social media tools at public Council meetings. 

1.2 Adur and Worthing Councils support the principle of transparency in the decision-making 
process and therefore will allow, subject to the control of the person presiding at the 
relevant meeting, the recording of the public section of Full Council, committee and sub-
committee meetings by members of the press and public. 

1.3 The Councils audio record Full Council, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings and 
retain a copy of the recording along with the written minutes of the meeting. More detail on 
this procedure can be found within the Council Procedure Rules at Part 4 of the 
Constitution. 

2.0 WHAT IS ‘REPORTING’? 

2.1 Reporting means: 

a) Filming, photographing or making an audio recording; 
b) Using social media, such as Twitter, Facebook, blogging or similar; 
c) Using any other means for enabling a person not present to see or hear proceedings at 

a meeting, as it takes place or later. 

3.0 WHEN IS REPORTING PERMITTED? 

3.1 Subject to the following rules, the public and press are permitted to record in any meetings 
of the Council that are held in public, except where the public have been excluded as 
permitted by law. 

3.2 Where meetings are held in private, due to confidential or exempt information being 
included, no recording by the press or public is permitted. 

3.3 No recording equipment may be left in the meeting room during any part of a meeting which 
is conducted in private. 

4.0 RULES ON REPORTING 
 

4.1 Anyone wishing to undertake recording should notify Democratic Services, by email at 
democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk or by telephone on 01903 239999, 24 hours 
prior to the commencement of the meeting and comply with any requests made by the 
Person Presiding. 

4.2 All recording must take place from a fixed position in the meeting room (i.e. public gallery) 
approved by the Person Presiding. 

4.3 Recording should be directed at Members of the Council. Members of the public seated in 
the public gallery should not be recorded, unless they have expressly given consent, to the 
Chair of the meeting. This also applies to a member of the public asking a question, 
presenting a petition or making a representation. 

4.4 No recording of anyone under the age of 18 is permitted. 

4.5 If a member of the public is concerned about being recorded at a Council meeting, please 
inform the Democratic Services Officer present at the meeting. No image or recording of a 

978

mailto:democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk


325 

member of the public should be made unless the member of the public has expressly given 
their consent to the Chair of that meeting. 

4.6 The Democratic Services Team will ensure signs are prominently displayed at meetings to 
remind attendees that recording may be undertaken and that the Council has no control 
over where a recording might appear (for example posted on the internet). meeting 
agendas will also carry this message and at the commencement of a meeting, the Person 
Presiding will announce if any requests to record have been made by the public. 

4.7 Persons recording meetings are not permitted to carry out an oral commentary or report 
whilst the meeting is in session. 

4.8 The use of flash or additional lighting in connection with recording at meetings will not be 
permitted without the prior notification and agreement of the Person Presiding. 

4.9 Where any part of a meeting is held in private, no recording by the press or public will be 
permitted. All recording equipment must be removed from the meeting room during the 
exclusion. 

4.10 Where the Person Presiding considers any recording is disrupting the meeting, the operator 
of the equipment will be required to stop and may be asked to leave the meeting room, 
removing their equipment at the same time. 

4.11 Anyone who has been asked to leave a meeting because they have refused to comply with 
the Person Presiding’s request with regard to recording may be prohibited from recording at 
future meetings. 

4.12 Members of the public and press must ensure the recording will not be edited in a way that 
could lead to misinterpretation of the proceedings of a meeting. This includes refraining 
from editing the views being expressed in a way that may ridicule or show a lack of respect 
towards those being filmed/recorded. 

4.13 Persons recording meetings are advised that the law of the land still applies when 
publishing recordings, for example the law of defamation and the law on public order 
offences. Freedom of speech within the law should also be exercised with personal and 
social responsibility, showing respect and tolerance towards the views of others. Anyone 
recording any meeting of the Council, or part of it, must comply with their statutory 
obligations relating to the recording, use and retention of any personal data they may 
capture. 

4.14 Recognised media organisations and educational institutions may be given greater flexibility 
to record meetings for the purposes of news bulletins, programmes and education. These 
requests must be directed through the Democratic Services Manager and approved by the 
Mayor or Chair of the relevant Council in the case of meetings of the Full Council, or the 
Person Presiding in the case of Committees and Sub-Committees. 

4.15 Any decision taken by the Person Presiding on the interpretation of this protocol is final. 

  

979



326 

Petition Scheme 
 
1.0 PETITIONS 
 
1.1 The Council welcomes petitions and recognises that they are a way in which the public can 

let the Council know about their concerns. Petitions can be submitted in paper or electronic 
form and a petition can be received by the Council by post, electronically or be hand 
delivered. All petitions must be sent to the Monitoring Officer by email at 
monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk. 

 
2.0 CONTENT 
 
2.1 Petitions submitted to the Council must: 

(a) include a clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition stating what 
action the petitioners wish the Council to take; 

(b) be accompanied by the name, address and contact details of the Petition Organiser; 
and 

(c) contain a minimum of 50 names, postal addresses (property name/number and post 
code) and signatures (other than when in electronic form) of people who live, work or 
study in the Borough of Worthing and who support the petition. 

 
3.0 PETITION ORGANISER 
 
3.1 The Petition Organiser is the person the Council will contact to explain how it will respond to 

the petition. The contact details of the Petition Organiser will not be placed on the Council’s 
website.  

 
3.2 Elected Members are not permitted to sign public petitions made to the Council. 
 
4.0 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
4.1 An acknowledgement will be sent to the Petition Organiser, by the Monitoring Officer, within 

five working days of receiving the petition. The acknowledgement will advise the Petition 
Organiser if their petition has been rejected by the Monitoring Officer on any of the grounds 
below, or accepted. 

 
5.0 REJECTION BY THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 
5.1 A petition may be rejected by the Monitoring Officer should they consider that the petition: 

(a) contains intemperate, inflammatory, abusive or provocative language, is 
defamatory, frivolous, vexatious, discriminatory or otherwise offensive or contains 
false statements; 

(b) is similar to another petition submitted to the Council within the previous six months; 
(c) discloses confidential or exempt information, including information protected by a 

court order; 
(d) discloses material which is commercially sensitive; 
(e) contains names of individuals as the target of the petition, or provides information 

where the individual could be easily identified; 
(f) contains advertising statements; 
(g) refers to an issue which is currently the subject of a formal Council complaint, Local 

Government Ombudsman complaint or legal proceedings; 
(h) relates to the Council’s Planning or Licensing functions (as there are separate 

processes in place to deal with those matters); 
(i) relates to a response to the Council as part of a formal consultation process; 
(j) relates to a matter where there is already an existing right of appeal, such as 

Council Tax Banding and non-domestic rates, (as there are separate processes in 
place to deal with those matters); 

980

mailto:monitoringofficer@adur-worthing.gov.uk


327 

(k) relates to a statutory petition, for example if at least 5% of Local Government 
electors in the Borough petition the Council to hold a referendum on whether it 
should change to a different form of governance (as there are separate processes 
to deal with those matters);  

(l) does not relate to an issue upon which the Council has powers or duties or on which 
it has shared delivery responsibilities. However, if the petition is about something 
over which the Council has no direct control, the Monitoring Officer will give 
consideration to the best method for responding to it. For example, the Council may 
make representations on behalf of the community to the relevant body or forward 
the petition to the relevant body. In any event the Council will always notify the 
Petition Organiser of the action it has taken; 

(m) has already been the subject of debate by Full Council within the previous six 
months; 

(n) is received during politically sensitive times, such as prior to an election or 
referendum, and the petition contains politically controversial material. In that 
situation the Monitoring Officer may need to agree a revised timescale for the 
acceptance of the petition; 

(o) relates specifically to the annual budget resolution, which is governed by the 
Council’s Budget Procedure Rules; 

(p) it contains less than 50 names, addresses and signatures of individuals who live, 
work or study in the Borough. 

 
6.0 ACCEPTED PETITIONS: THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSE  
 
6.1 If the Monitoring Officer has accepted the petition, the Petition Organiser will be advised 

what the Monitoring Officer plans to do with the petition and when they can expect to hear 
from the Council.  
 

6.2 The petition (but not the Petition Organiser’s details) and the details of what the Council will 
do will also be published on the Council’s website. 

 
 Non-qualifying petitions  
 
6.3 Non-qualifying petitions are defined in this scheme as petitions with 50 or more signatories 

but less than 1,000, and those petitions shall be referred to the relevant decision-maker, by 
the Monitoring Officer. 

 
6.4 Where the decision-maker is the Cabinet, a Committee or Joint Committee, then the 

Petition Organiser shall be advised as to when and where the petition is to be considered 
and shall be allowed to attend, remotely if the meeting is held with attendance via remote 
access, and speak for up to five minutes in support of the petition. Following which the 
Members shall discuss the petition and decide how to respond to it. Once a decision is 
made, the decision-maker will notify the Petition Organiser in writing of the response with 
reasons for the decision within five working days. 

 
6.5 Where the decision-maker is an individual Cabinet Member or an Officer they shall meet 

with the Petition Organiser, remotely or otherwise, to discuss the contents of the petition. 
Following which they shall determine how to respond to it. Once a decision is made, the 
decision-maker will notify the Petition Organiser in writing of the response with reasons for 
the decision within five working days. 

 
 Qualifying Petitions 
 
6.6 Qualifying petitions are defined in this scheme as petitions containing 1,000 or more 

names, postal addresses and signatures (other than when in electronic form) of people who 
live, work or study in the Borough of Worthing and support the petition. 
 

981



328 

On receipt of a qualifying petition, where time permits, the petition will be debated by the 
Full Council, at their next Ordinary meeting, provided that the petition is received by the 
Monitoring Officer 15 clear working days prior to that meeting, or otherwise at the next 
available Ordinary Council meeting. The Petition Organiser will be given five minutes to 
read the petition at the meeting and make any representations and the petition will then be 
discussed by Councillors in accordance with the Council’s Standing Orders as contained in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. Following the debate by Councillors, the Petition Organiser will 
be given a further opportunity to address the Council and shall have a maximum of three 
minutes to make a closing statement. The Council will decide, by way of a motion being 
proposed, seconded and voted upon, how to respond to the petition at this meeting.  

 
6.7 If the petition relates to action currently being progressed by the Council and the petition will 

trigger a debate at Full Council, as it is accepted by the Monitoring Officer and is a 
qualifying petition, then the action will be suspended pending the debate, unless in relation 
to statutory, contractual or other legal situations where a suspension would, in the view of 
the Monitoring Officer, prejudice the Council’s position. 

 
6.8 Where a petition is accepted by the Monitoring Officer and is a qualifying petition but time 

does not permit a debate at Full Council, for example because an action that is the subject 
of the petition will occur prior to the next meeting of the Full Council, the petition will be 
referred by the Monitoring Officer to the appropriate decision-maker, Cabinet or relevant 
Committee or Joint Committee. Once a decision is made, the decision-maker will notify the 
Petition Organiser in writing of the response with reasons for the decision within five 
working days. 
 

 The Council’s Response to a Petition 
 
6.9 The Council’s response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how many 

people have signed it, but may include one or more of the following: 
(a) taking the action requested; 
(b) receiving and considering the petition at the next Ordinary Council meeting; 
(c) holding an enquiry into the matter; 
(d) undertaking research into the matter; 
(e) holding a public meeting; 
(f) holding a consultation; 
(g) holding a meeting with the petitioners; 
(h) referring the petition for consideration by the Overview & Scrutiny or Joint Overview 

& Scrutiny Committee; 
(i) referring the petition to the Cabinet or another Committee if the substantive content 

of the petition falls within the remit of that Committee; 
(j) writing to the Petition Organiser setting out the Council’s views about the request in 

the petition; 
(k) deciding not to agree to do what is asked in the petition. 

 
7.0 PUBLICATION AND RETENTION 
 
7.1 All decisions relating to petitions will be published on the Council’s website. 
 
7.2 Petitions will not be retained by the Council for longer than 6 years in compliance with 

General Data Protection Regulations. 
  

982



329 

Planning Committee: Site Visit Protocol 
 
1.0 Site visits by the Planning Committee shall be held only where the benefit is clear and 

substantial, having regard to: policy and material considerations; where the impact of the 
proposed development is difficult to visualise from the plans, photographs and information 
provided; where the comments of the applicant and objectors cannot be expressed 
adequately in writing; or where the proposal is particularly contentious.  

 
2.0 The purpose of the site visit is to observe the site and gain a better understanding. The 

Committee shall visit the site with Officer assistance. The decision to hold a site visit will be 
taken by the Chair of the relevant Panning Committee in consultation with Officers, 
Planning Committee Members and Ward Councillors and a record of the reason for the visit 
shall be kept. 
 

3.0 Where a site visit is carried out following a request from a Ward Councillor, it may also be 
appropriate to invite the relevant Member to attend the site visit to hear the same 
explanation of the proposal/application as the Committee. The site owner, (whether the 
applicant, objector or third party) will also be present, solely to provide access to the site. 

 
4.0 The Ward Councillor, landowner, applicant and objector (if in attendance) may not make 

any representations to the Committee about the application, but may point out relevant 
features on the ground.  

 
5.0 The Committee should direct all questions to the Officer. Only where the Officer does not 

have the answer immediately available, may the applicant or objector answer a technical or 
factual question relevant to the application.  

 
6.0 At no point during a site visit should the applicant, objector or Ward Councillor be allowed to 

make representations to the whole Committee or to individual Committee Members in 
conversation. All representations should be made at the Planning Committee meeting in 
accordance with the procedure for public speaking on planning applications.  

 
7.0 The needs of all participants will be considered and reasonable measures taken to facilitate 

access to the site visit. A representative may attend where reasonable adjustments cannot 
be made. 

 
8.0 Individual Committee Members are only entitled to view the site from public vantage points 

if visiting the site alone, as they have no individual rights to enter private property.  

  

983



330 

Public Speaking at Planning Committee Protocol 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION  
 
Public speaking to object to or support planning applications at Planning Committee is an 
established part of the Council’s procedure.  
 

2.0 AGENDA ITEM  
 
A Planning Officer will introduce the planning application and display any plans as well as 
bringing any new matters that have arisen since the agenda was prepared. Members may 
ask questions of the Planning Officer.  
 

3.0 PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 
3.1 Public speaking at Planning Committee meetings shall be allowed in respect of planning 

applications, including Conservation Area, Listed Building, Tree Preservation Order 
confirmation and Advertisement Consent Applications.  

 
3.2 Questions, statements and comments made by the public to the Planning Committee must 

be relevant to planning issues.  
 
3.2.1 Examples of relevant planning issues include: 

(a) external design, appearance and layout of the development,  
(b) impact on trees and nature conservation or overshadowing and privacy,  
(c) Highway safety,  
(d) Planning Policy and Government Guidance.  

 
3.2.2 Examples of non-relevant planning issues may include: 

(a) boundary disputes or other property rights,  
(b) loss of property value or loss of a view,  
(c) matters covered by other legislation,  
(d) the applicants’ motives, character or reputation.  

 
3.3 Relevant representations will be accepted from objectors, parish councillors, Ward 

Councillors, and the Applicant or their representative and supporters.  
 
3.4 Advance notice of the intention to make representations must be provided to Democratic 

Services Officers, by email at democratic.services@adur-worthing.gov.uk, by noon on the 
working day prior to the date of the meeting. If a decision on the application is deferred to a 
future meeting, the individual having given appropriate notice, will be able to speak when 
the application is considered by the Committee again, without the need to give further 
notice of their intention to speak. If more than the maximum number of speakers give notice 
of their intention to make representations, those permitted will be taken in order in which 
their notice was received.  

 
The order, and time allowed, for speaking at Planning Committee meetings will be as 
follows: 

 

  Total time allowed 

Objectors Limited to a maximum of three speakers  Limited to 3 minutes per 
speaker  

Parish Councillor A maximum of one Parish Councillor 
from the relevant Parish Council 

Limited to 3 minutes 

Ward Councillors Subject to a maximum of one Councillor 
speaking in support of the application 
and a maximum of one Councillor 

5 minutes each 

984



331 

speaking against the application, limited 
to:  

 Up to two Ward Councillors or  

 With the agreement of the Chair, and 
subject to a maximum of one Ward 
Councillor wishing to speak, one Ward 
Councillor and an adjacent Ward 
Councillor, or  

 With the agreement of the Chair and 
subject to no Ward Councillors wishing to 
speak, a maximum of two Councillors. 

Applicant or 
representative and 
Supporters 

Limited to a maximum of three speakers Limited to 3 minutes per 
speaker 

 
3.5 There is no right for anyone to speak at a Planning Committee meeting otherwise than in 

accordance with the above table. An individual may not speak a second time at a Planning 
Committee meeting on the same application. 

 
3.6 Speakers may address the Planning Committee Chair, but are not permitted to ask 

questions of other speakers, Officers or Members. Members and Officers can question 
speakers for clarification purposes only.  
 

4.0 DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION  
 
4.1 Following public speaking, Members of the Planning Committee will debate the planning 

application, involving professional Officers as necessary and appropriate. The debate 
should be governed by the Rules of Debate within the Council’s Procedure Rules.  

 
4.2 Members of the Planning Committee may receive legal and other professional advice as 

required during the Committee meeting.  
 
5.0 MISCELLANEOUS  
 
5.1 The Chair has the discretion to waive any of the requirements of this Protocol if satisfied on 

legal and professional advice that it is fair, reasonable and appropriate to do so in the 
circumstances.  

 
5.2 This Protocol is formally adopted by the Council as part of its Constitution. It is to be 

reviewed at least once every 3 years. 

  

985



332 

Probity in Planning 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Planning has a positive and proactive role to play at the heart of Local Government. It helps 

the Councils to stimulate growth whilst looking after important environmental areas. It can 
help to translate goals into action. It balances social, economic and environmental needs to 
achieve sustainable development. 
 

1.2 The planning system works best when Officers and Members involved in planning 
understand their roles and responsibilities, and the context and constraints in which they 
operate. 
 

1.3 Planning decisions involve balancing many competing interests. In doing this, decision-
makers need an ethos of decision-making in the wider public interest on what can be 
controversial proposals. 
 

1.4 It is recommended that Members should receive regular training on Code of Conduct 
issues, interests and predetermination, as well as on planning matters. 

 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Early Member engagement is encouraged to ensure that proposals for sustainable 

development can be harnessed to produce the settlements that communities need. This 
Protocol is intended to reinforce Members’ community engagement roles, whilst maintaining 
good standards of probity that minimise the risk of legal challenge. 
 

2.2 Planning decisions are based on balancing competing interests and making an informed 
judgement against a local and national Policy Framework. Decisions can be controversial. 
The risk of controversy and conflict are heightened by the openness of a system which 
invites public opinion before taking decisions and the legal nature of the Local Plan and 
decision notices. Nevertheless, it is important that the decision-making process is open and 
transparent. 
 

2.3 One of the key aims of the planning system is to balance private interests in the 
development of land against the wider public interest. In performing this role, planning 
necessarily affects land and property interests, particularly the financial value of 
landholdings and the quality of their settings. Opposing views are often strongly held by 
those involved. 
 

2.4 Whilst Members must take account of these views, they should not favour any person, 
company, group or locality, nor put themselves in a position where they may appear to be 
doing so. It is important, therefore, that planning authorities make planning decisions 
affecting these interests openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable 
reasons. 
 

2.5 The process should leave no grounds for suggesting that those participating in the decision 
were biased or that the decision itself was unlawful, irrational or procedurally improper.  
 

2.6 This guidance is not intended to be prescriptive. Local circumstances may provide reasons 
for local variations of policy and practice. Every Council should regularly review the way in 
which it conducts its planning business. 
 

2.7 This Protocol, which is based on the Local Government Association Probity in Planning 
Guidance, refers mainly to the actions of a Local Authority Planning Committee as the 
principal decision-making forum. However, the Council’s governance and decision-making 
arrangements must be complied with and there are circumstances set out elsewhere in this 

986



333 

Constitution which provide for, in some circumstances, Officer delegations and Full Council 
decision-making. 
 

2.8 The Protocol applies equally to these alternative forms of decision-making.  
 

3.0 THE GENERAL ROLE AND CONDUCT OF MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 
 
3.1 Members and Officers have different but complimentary roles. Both serve the public but 

Members are responsible to the Electorate, whilst Officers are responsible to the Council as 
a whole. Officers advise Members and the Council and carry out the Council’s work. They 
are employed by the Council, not by individual Members. A successful relationship between 
Members and Officers will be based upon mutual trust, understanding and respect of each 
other’s positions. 
 

3.2 Both Members and Officers are guided by Codes of Conduct. The Localism Act 2011 sets 
out a duty for each Local Authority to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by 
Members and to adopt a Local Code of Conduct. The Codes of Conduct adopted by 
Worthing Borough Council and Adur District Council are consistent with the principles of 
selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 
 

3.3 The Codes of Conduct embrace the standards central to the preservation of an ethical 
approach to Council business, including the need to register and disclose interests, as well 
as appropriate relationships with other Members, Officers, and the public. Many Local 
Authorities have adopted their own, separate Codes relating specifically to planning, 
although Worthing Borough Council and Adur District Council have agreed to adopt the 
LGA Probity in Planning Guidance, which is summarised in this Protocol. This Protocol 
should always be cross-referenced with the Council’s substantive Code of Conduct. 
 

3.4 Officers and Members must not act as agents for people pursuing planning matters within 
either Adur District or Worthing Borough Councils, even if they are not involved in the 
decision-making on it.  
 

3.5 The determination of a Planning Application is a formal administrative process involving the 
application of national and local policies, reference to legislation and case law as well as 
rules of procedure, rights of appeal and an expectation that people will act reasonably and 
fairly. All involved should remember the possibility that an aggrieved party may seek a 
Judicial Review and/or complain to the Ombudsman on grounds of maladministration or a 
breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 
 

4.0 REGISTRATION AND DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 
 
4.1 The Localism Act 2011 places requirements on Members regarding the registration and 

disclosure of their pecuniary interests and the consequences for a Member taking part in 
consideration of an issue in the light of those interests. The definitions of disclosable 
pecuniary interests are set out in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 
Regulations 2012. A failure to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of 
election or co-option or the provision of false or misleading information on registration, or 
participation in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which a Member or Co-
opted Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest, are criminal offences. 
 

4.2 Advice should always be sought from the Council’s Monitoring Officer in respect of 
disclosable pecuniary interests. Ultimately, however, responsibility for fulfilling the 
requirements rests with each Member. 
 

4.3 The provisions of the Act seek to separate interests arising from the personal and private 
interests of a Member from those arising from the Member’s wider public life. Members 

987



334 

should think about how a reasonable member of the public, with full knowledge of all the 
relevant facts, would view the matter when considering whether the Member’s involvement 
would be appropriate. 
 

4.4 For information as to what interests need to be disclosed, reference should be made to the 
Council’s Member Code of Conduct. All disclosable interests should be registered under 
Register maintained by the Council’s Monitoring Officer and made available to the public. 
Members should also disclose that interest orally at the Committee Meeting when it relates 
to an item under discussion.  
 

4.5 A Member must provide the Monitoring Officer with written details of relevant interests 
within 28 days of their election or appointment to office. Any changes to those interests 
must similarly be notified within 28 days of the Member becoming aware of such changes.  
 

4.6 A disclosable pecuniary interest relating to an item under discussion requires the 
withdrawal of the Member from the Committee. In certain circumstances, a dispensation 
can be sought from the appropriate body or Officer to take part in that particular item of 
business, but further advice should be sought from the Council’s Monitoring Officer. 
 

4.7 If a Member has a (non-pecuniary) personal interest, they should disclose that interest, but 
then may speak and vote on that particular item. This includes being a member of an 
outside body; mere membership of another body does not constitute an interest requiring 
such a prohibition. 
 

4.8 It is always best to identify a potential interest early on. If a Member thinks that they may 
have an interest in a particular matter to be discussed at Planning Committee, they should 
raise this with the Council’s Monitoring Officer as soon as possible. 

 
5.0 PREDISPOSITION, PREDETERMINATION OR BIAS 

 
5.1 Members of the Planning Committee (or Full Council when the Local Plan is being 

considered) need to avoid any appearance of bias or of having predetermined their views 
before taking a decision on a planning application or on planning policies. The Courts have 
sought to distinguish between situations which involve predetermination or bias on the one 
hand and predisposition on the other. The former is indicative of a ‘closed mind’ approach 
and likely to leave the Committee’s decision susceptible to challenge by Judicial Review. 
 

5.2 Clearly expressing an intention to vote in a particular way before a meeting 
(predetermination) is different from where a Member makes it clear they are willing to listen 
to all the considerations presented at the Committee before deciding on how to vote 
(predisposition). The latter is acceptable; the former is not and may result in a Court 
quashing such planning decisions. 
 

5.3 Section 25 Localism Act 2011 also provides that a Member should not be regarded as 
having a closed mind simply because they previously did or said something that, directly or 
indirectly, indicated what view they might take in relation to a particular matter.  
 

5.4 This reflects the common law position that a Member may be predisposed on a matter 
before it comes to Committee, provided they remain open to listening to all the arguments 
and changing their minds in light of all the information presented at the meeting. 
Nevertheless, a Member in this position will always be judged against an objective test of 
whether the reasonable onlooker, with knowledge of the relevant facts, would consider that 
the Member was biased. 
 

5.5 If a Member has predetermined their position, they should withdraw from being a Member 
of the decision-making body for that matter. This would apply to any Member of the 
Planning Committee who wanted to speak for or against a proposal as a campaigner.  

988



335 

 
5.6 The Councils have a Cabinet Member responsible within their portfolio for development and 

planning. This Member is able to be a Member of the Planning Committee. Leading 
Members of a Local Authority who have participated in the development of planning policies 
and proposals, need not and should not, on that ground and in the interests of the good 
conduct of the business, normally exclude themselves from decision-making Committees. 
 

6.0 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS SUBMITTED BY MEMBERS AND OFFICERS AND 
COUNCIL DEVELOPMENT 

 
6.1 Proposals submitted by serving and former Members, Officers and their close associates 

and relatives can easily give rise to suspicions of impropriety. Proposals could be planning 
applications or Local Plan proposals. 
 

6.2 Such proposals must be handled in a way that gives no grounds for accusations of 
favouritism. Any local planning protocol or code of good practice should address the 
following points in relation to proposals submitted by Members and Planning Officers: 

(a) If they submit their own proposal to the Authority they should play no part in its 
consideration; 

(b) A system should be devised to identify and manage such proposals; 
(c) The Council’s Monitoring Officer should be informed of such proposals; 
(d) Such proposals should be reported to the Planning Committee and not dealt with by 

Officers under delegated powers. 
 

6.3 A Member would undoubtedly have a disclosable pecuniary interest in their own application 
and should not participate in its consideration. They do have the same rights as any 
applicant in seeking to explain their proposal to an Officer, but the Member, as applicant, 
should also not seek to improperly influence the decision. 
 

6.4 Proposals for a Council’s own development should be treated with the same transparency 
and impartiality as those of private developers. 

 
7.0 LOBBYING OF AND BY MEMBERS 
 
7.1 Lobbying is a normal part of the planning process. Those who may be affected by a 

planning decision, whether through an application, a site allocation in a local development 
plan, or an emerging policy, will often seek to influence it through an approach to their Ward 
Member or to a Member of the Planning Committee.  
 

7.2 Lobbying, however, can lead to the impartiality and integrity of a Member being called into 
question, unless care and common sense is exercised by all the parties involved. 
 

7.3 Whilst the common law permits predisposition, it remains good practice that when being 
lobbied, Members (and particularly Members of the Planning Committee) should try to take 
care about expressing an opinion that may be taken as indicating that they have already 
made up their mind on the issue before they have been exposed to all the evidence and 
arguments. In such situations, they could restrict themselves to giving advice about the 
process and what can and can’t be taken into account. 
 

7.4 Members can raise issues which have been raised by their constituents, with Officers. If 
Members do express an opinion to objectors or supporters, it is good practice that they 
make it clear that they will only be in a position to take a final decision after having heard all 
the relevant arguments and taken into account all relevant material and planning 
considerations at Committee. 
 

7.5 If any Member, whether or not a Planning Committee Member, speaks on behalf of a lobby 
group at the decision-making Committee, they would be well advised to withdraw once any 

989



336 

public or Board Member speaking opportunities had been completed, in order to counter 
any suggestion that Members of the Committee may have been influenced by their 
continuing presence. 
 

7.6 It is sometimes difficult to get the balance right between the duty to be an active local 
representative and the requirement when taking decisions on planning matters to take 
account of all arguments in an open-minded way. However, it cannot be stressed too 
strongly, that the striking of this balance is, ultimately, the responsibility of the individual 
Member. Further specific issues relating to lobbying are as follows: 

(a) Planning decisions cannot be made on a party political basis in response to 
lobbying; the use of political whips to seek to influence the outcome of a planning 
application is likely to be regarded as maladministration. 

(b) Planning Committee or Local Plan Steering Group Members should in general avoid 
organising support for or against planning application, and avoid lobbying other 
Members. Members should not put pressure on Officers for a particular 
recommendation or decision, and should not do anything which compromises, or is 
likely to compromise, the Officers’ impartiality or professional integrity. 

(c) Call-in procedures, whereby Members can require a proposal that would normally 
be determined under the delegated authority to be called in for determination by the 
Planning Committee, should require the reasons for Call-In to be recorded in writing 
and to refer solely to matters of material planning concern. 

 
7.7 As previously outlined, Members must always be mindful of their responsibilities and duties 

under their local Codes of Conduct. These responsibilities and duties apply equally to 
matters of lobbying as they do to the other issues of probity explored elsewhere in this 
Protocol. 

 
8.0 PRE-APPLICATION DISCUSSIONS 
 
8.1 Pre-application discussions between a potential applicant and a Member can benefit both 

parties and are encouraged. However, it would be easy for such discussions to become, or 
be seen by objectors to become, part of a lobbying process on the part of the applicant. 
 

8.2 The Localism Act has given Members much more freedom to engage in pre-application 
discussions. Nevertheless, in order to avoid perceptions that Members might have fettered 
their discretion, such discussions should take place within clear, published guidelines. 
 

8.3 The following guidelines should be adhered to: 
(a) Clarity at the outset that the discussions will not bind a Council to making a 

particular decision and that any views expressed are personal and provisional. By 
the very nature of such meetings not all relevant information may be at hand, nor 
will formal consultations with interested parties have taken place.  

(b) An acknowledgement that consistent advice should be given by Officers based 
upon the Local Plan and material planning considerations. 

(c) Officers should be present with Members in pre-application meetings. Members 
should avoid giving separate advice on the Local Plan or material considerations as 
they may not be aware of all the issues at an early stage. Neither should they 
become drawn into any negotiations, which should be done by Officers (keeping 
interested Members up to date) to ensure that the Authority’s position is 
coordinated. 

(d) Confirmation that a written note should be made of all meetings. An Officer should 
make the arrangements for such meetings, attend and write notes. A note should 
also be taken of any phone conversations, and relevant emails recorded for the file. 
Notes should record issues raised and advice given. The note should be placed on 
the file as a public record. If there is a legitimate reason for confidentiality regarding 
a proposal, a note of the non-confidential issues raised or advice given can still 
normally be placed on the file to reassure others not party to the discussion. 

990



337 

(e) A commitment that care will be taken to ensure that advice is impartial, otherwise 
the subsequent report or recommendation to Committee could appear to be 
advocacy. 

(f) The scale of proposals to which these guidelines would apply. Members talk 
regularly to constituents to gauge their views on matters of local concern.  

 
9.0 OFFICER REPORTS TO COMMITTEE 
 
9.1 As a result of decisions made by the Courts and Ombudsman, Officer reports on planning 

applications must have regard to the following: 
(a) Reports should be accurate and should include the substance of any objections and 

other responses received to the consultation. 
(b) Relevant information should include a clear assessment against the relevant local 

development plan policies, relevant parts of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, any local finance considerations, and any other material planning 
considerations. 

(c) Reports should have a written recommendation for a decision to be made. 
(d) Reports should contain technical appraisals which clearly justify the 

recommendation. 
(e) If the report’s recommendation is contrary to the provisions of the Local Plan, the 

material considerations which justify the departure must be clearly stated. Failure to 
do so may constitute maladministration or give rise to a Judicial Review challenge 
on the grounds that the decision was not taken in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Plan and the Council’s statutory duty under Section 38A of the Planning 
and Compensation Act 2004 and Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

(f) Any oral updates or changes to the report should be recorded. 
 
10.0 PUBLIC SPEAKING AT PLANNING COMMITTEES 
 
10.1 Reference is made to the Protocol on Public Speaking at the Planning Committee, to be 

found within Part 5 of the Constitution. 
 
11.0 DECISIONS WHICH DIFFER FROM A RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1 The law requires that decisions should be taken in accordance with the Local Plan, unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. This applies to all planning decisions. Any 
reasons for refusal must be justified against the Local Plan and other material 
considerations. 
 

11.2 The Courts have expressed the view that the Committee’s reasons should be clear and 
convincing. The personal circumstances of an applicant or any other material or non-
material planning considerations which might cause local controversy will rarely satisfy the 
relevant tests. 
 

11.3 Planning Committees can, and often do, make a decision which is different from the Officer 
recommendation. Sometimes this will relate to conditions or terms of a Section 106 
obligation. Sometimes it will change the outcome, from an approval to a refusal or vice 
versa. This will usually reflect a difference in the assessment of how a policy has been 
complied with, or different weight ascribed to material considerations. 
 

11.4 Planning Committees are advised to take the following steps before making a decision 
which differs from the Officer recommendation: 

(a) Firstly, if a Member is concerned about an Officer recommendation, they should 
discuss their area of difference and the reasons for that with Officers in advance of 
the Committee meeting; 

(b) Recording the detailed reasons as part of the mover’s motion; 

991



338 

(c) Adjourning for a few minutes for those reasons to be discussed and then agreed by 
the Committee; 

(d) Where there is concern about the validity of reasons, considering deferring to 
another meeting to have the putative reasons tested and discussed. 

 
11.5 If the Planning Committee makes a decision contrary to the Officers’ recommendation, a 

detailed minute of the Committee’s reasons should be made and a copy placed on the 
application file. Members should be prepared to explain in full their planning reasons for not 
agreeing with the Officers’ recommendation. 
 

11.6 The Officer should also be given an opportunity to explain the implications of the contrary 
decision, including an assessment of a likely appeal outcome, and chances of a successful 
award of costs against the Council, should one be made. 
 

11.7 All applications that are clearly contrary to the Local Plan must be advertised as such and 
are known as ‘departure’ applications. If it is intended to approve such an application, the 
material considerations leading to this conclusion must be clearly identified, and how these 
considerations justify overriding the Local Plan must be clearly demonstrated. 
 

11.8 The application may then have to be referred to the relevant Secretary of State, depending 
upon the type and scale of the development proposed. If the Officers’ report recommends 
approval of such a departure, the justification for this should be included, in full, in that 
report. 

 
12.0 ANNUAL REVIEW OF DECISIONS 
 
12.1 It is good practice for Members to visit a sample of implemented planning permissions to 

assess the quality of the decisions and the development. This should improve the quality 
and consistency of decision-making, strengthen public confidence in the planning system, 
and can help with reviews of planning policy. 
 

12.2 Reviews should include visits to a range of developments such as major and minor 
schemes, upheld appeals, listed building works and enforcement cases. Briefing notes 
should be prepared on each case. The Planning Committee should formally consider the 
review and decide whether it gives rise to the need to reconsider any policies or practices. 
 

13.0 COMPLAINTS AND RECORD KEEPING 
 
13.1 So that complaints may be fully investigated and as general good practice, record keeping 

should be complete and accurate. Every planning application file should contain an 
accurate account of events throughout its life. It should be possible for someone not 
involved in that application to understand what the decision was, and why and how it had 
been reached. This applies to decisions taken by Committee and under delegated powers, 
and to applications, enforcement and local development plan matters. 

 
14.0 TRAINING 
 
14.1 Councillors should not participate in decision making at meetings dealing with planning 

matters if they have not attended the mandatory planning training prescribed by the 
Council. 

 
14.2 Members of Planning Committee should endeavour to attend any other specialised training 

sessions provided, since these will be designed to extend their knowledge of planning law, 
regulations, procedures, Codes of Practice and the Development Plans beyond the 
minimum referred to above and thus assist them in carrying out their role properly and 
effectively. 

 

992



339 

14.3 Members of Planning Committee should participate in a periodic review of a sample of 
planning decisions to ensure that their judgments are based on proper planning 
considerations. The review should include examples from a broad range of categories, such 
as:  

(a) major and minor development proposals  
(b) permitted departures from the Local Plan  
(c) significant allowed appeals 
(d) major listed building works 
(e) associated infrastructure 

 
 

15.0 Deferral of Planning Decisions  
 

15.1 Members should not seek to defer consideration of any item put before the Planning 
Committee unless there are clear and demonstrable reasons relating to relevant planning 
considerations for doing so, such as a relevant planning issue arising for the first time that 
requires further investigation.  
 

15.2 Where a Member might otherwise be minded to seek deferral of an item because they wish 
to seek clarification or further information on a particular matter, or for any other substantial 
reason, they should seek to obtain such clarification or additional information from the 
relevant Planning Officer, ideally prior to the commencement of the Planning Committee 
meeting but otherwise during it.  
 

15.3 The reason for deferral shall be recorded in the minutes of the Committee meeting.  
 

15.4 If an application has previously been deferred then as far as reasonably practicable, the 
same Members will be asked to reconsider the application when it is returned to the 
Planning Committee.  
 

15.5 If an application is deferred after an Objector, Parish/Ward Councillor, Applicant, their 
Representative or other Supporter has spoken, they will not be allowed to speak again 
when the matter is referred back to Committee for a decision, unless any new information 
has been submitted in respect of the application. They will be limited to speak only in 
respect of the new information and subject to the usual order and time allowed for speaking 
at Planning Committee meetings. They will not be required to give further notice of their 
intention to speak. 

 

  

Formatted: Font: Bold

993



340 

Social Media Policy 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1. Social Media includes the various online technology tools that enable people to 

communicate easily via the internet to share information and resources. Social media 
includes, but is not limited to, blogs; wikis; RSS feeds; social networking sites such as 
Facebook, LinkedIn and Twitter; photo sharing sites such as Flickr, Instagram and 
Snapchat; and video sharing sites such as YouTube.  

 
1.2. The widespread availability and use of social networking applications brings opportunities 

for the Councils to better understand, engage and communicate with its customers, 
partner agencies and the communities it serves.  

 
1.3. This Policy supports the Councils’ stated purpose, ambition and values by enabling the 

organisation to make best use of these technologies and so improve the way it does 
business. It also sets out a behavioural framework for Officers and Members to ensure 
that the considerable benefits that accrue from using social media are adequately 
balanced against our legal responsibilities and the need to safeguard the Councils’ image 
and reputation. 

 
2. PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES 

2.1. The purpose of this policy is to: 

(a) ensure Officers are aware of their responsibility to comply with good practice and 
the law for example in relation to data protection, confidentiality, libel, copyright, 
safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults, human rights, harassment and 
discrimination so that the Councils are not exposed to legal and governance risks;  

(b) support safer working practice by setting standards of good practice and behaviour 
in the use of social media; 

(c) ensure the reputation of the Councils and its Officers are not damaged; 
(d) ensure children, young people and vulnerable adults are safeguarded by reducing 

the risk of positions of trust being abused or misused; 
(e) minimise the risk of misplaced or malicious allegations being made against those 

who work with vulnerable groups; 
(f) ensure users of social networking media are able to clearly identify where 

information provided via such applications is legitimately representative of the 
Councils;  

(g) enable Officers to distinguish between the use of social media in their work and 
personal lives; 

(h) ensure the use of social media is aligned to the Council’s corporate communications 
approach. 

3. OTHER CODES AND POLICIES 

3.1. The Councils’ Officer Code of Conduct applies to all offline and online communications and 
includes the use of social media, and can in some circumstances apply to the use of social 
media in an Officer’s personal life. 

3.2. The Councils’ Disciplinary Policy applies to online communications and includes the use of 
social media, and can in some circumstances apply to the use of social media in an 
Officer’s personal life. 

3.3. The Council’s Code of Conduct for Elected Members applies to a Member’s use of Social 
Media. 

994



341 

4. USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA BY ADUR & WORTHING COUNCIL OFFICERS 

4.1. Social media is used to communicate news and updates from the Council and the wider 
community and residents. It is also now an important customer service tool. The two main 
channels used are Facebook and Twitter. 

4.2. There is also a Council presence on LinkedIn and YouTube. 

4.3. The majority of public facing communication via the Councils’ corporate social media 
channels should be either produced or approved by the Council’s Communications Team. 

4.4. Some individual Councils accounts or aspects of social media management, such as 
incoming customer enquiries, can be operated by other members of staff. However, this is 
only by prior approval of the Assistant Director People & Change and after full training 
delivered by the Communications Team is completed. 

4.5. A Council service can request to create a public social media page by submitting a 
business case outlining how social media would benefit this service and how it will be 
maintained or managed. This should be submitted for review to the Assistant Director 
People & Change .  

4.6. If approved, the social media pages will be set up in collaboration with the Communications 
Team and all design must be in line with the Councils’ branding. 

4.7. All new social media pages will be reviewed after a period of 4 months. Those sites which 
are not performing well or are not benefiting residents will be removed. Similarly, any 
unauthorised sites will be closed down. Contact the  Assistant Director People & Change 
for more information. 

4.8. Officers may be permitted to use a Council’s Twitter account to represent their role within 
the local authority. These must: 

(a) Be requested and approved by the Assistant Director People & Change; 
(b) Be clearly identifiable as a corporate account using @nameAWC  
(c) Include the relevant Adur/Worthing/Joint logo in the header or profile image 

5. PERSONAL USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA - OFFICERS AND MEMBERS 

5.1. Social Media is now part of everyday life and routine and the lines between personal/ 
professional use can become blurred. 

5.2. Officers and Members must be aware that their actions online on their personal pages may 
have wider implications on their professional role and on the Councils’ 
image/representation. Always bear your relevant Code of Conduct in mind when you post to 
social media. 

5.3. In the event that an Officer/Member’s online conduct impacted on the Councils this would 
become a matter of Council concern and may result in investigation in accordance with the 
Council’s Disciplinary Procedure or Member Code of Conduct. 

5.4. All Officers and Members should familiarise themselves with the privacy settings of each 
social media platform they are using and ensure these are set up correctly. You should 
never include any personal information (DOB, phone number, address, etc) on your 
personal profile, nor should you share this with residents or third parties. 

5.5. Never publish confidential information which you have received as part of your job. Nor 
should you use any such information for personal gain or pass it on to others who may use 
it in such a way.  

995



342 

5.6. Staff should be aware of not using personal online profiles to raise or discuss a complaint or 
grievance about the Council, your manager, colleagues, etc. There are formal procedures 
in place for progressing these within the Council.  

6. DATA PROTECTION AND SUBJECT ACCESS REQUESTS 

6.1. As per section 5.5, to adhere to the latest data protection laws, i.e. (EU General Data 
Protection Regulation 2016/679 and Data Protection Act, 2018 you should never share any 
sensitive or personal information to social media about a colleague, Member or resident. 
Any instances of this will be investigated and may lead to disciplinary action. 

6.2. Data protection law was introduced to respect an individual’s fundamental right to privacy 
through the protection of their personal data. Personal data is identified as ‘any information 
related to an identifiable individual’. 

6.3. Observe the privacy notices of the social media platforms for which you sign up to and 
check the privacy settings to see who your posts are shared with. 

6.4. Personal data collected outside of social media by AWC may only be shared on social 
media if such sharing was stated explicitly under the AWC privacy notice that was used to 
initially collect the data. 

6.5. The sharing of ‘special category’ data, i.e. ethnicity, religious beliefs, trade union 
membership (refer to ICO website for full list) may only be shared on social media with the 
consent of the individual (data subject) and must be accurate at the time of posting. 

6.6. The sharing of personal data on social media must be noted in the Register of Processing 
Activity (RoPA) for the respective service who collected the information in the first instance. 

6.7. Members of the public can submit a Subject Access Request (SAR) via our corporate social 
media pages. The right of access, commonly referred to as subject access, gives 
individuals the right to obtain a copy of their personal data as well as other supplementary 
information.  

6.8. More information about an SAR can be found here: https://ico.org.uk/for-
organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/right-of-
access/ 

6.9. Members of the public may also exercise their other rights, i.e. right to rectification, erasure, 
restrict processing, data portability, object and automated decision making including 
profiling via our corporate social media pages. 

6.10. Most personal information collected for use by Members uses the ‘Public Task’ legal basis 
and any subsequent sharing or disclosure of personal information on social media satisfies 
that basis. 

6.11. More information about other rights may be found here: 

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-
gdpr/individual-rights/ 

7. MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT  

7.1. Members should be very careful in respect of their actions on their personal pages as the 
Member Code of Conduct may apply to them when they are not expecting it. The Code and 
relevant legislation continues to apply online and in social media. If you are referring online 
in any way to your role as a councillor, you are deemed to be acting in your ‘official 
capacity’ and any conduct may fall within the Code. 

996

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/right-of-access/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/right-of-access/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/right-of-access/


343 

7.2 Elected and Co-opted Members are bound by the provisions of their Member Code of 
Conduct when they are conducting Council business or acting, claiming to act, or giving the 
impression of so acting, as a representative of the Council, or in their official capacity as a 
Councillor. However, the law has held that whether a Member uses a personal social media 
or email account or a Council one is not definitive, and neither is whether the sign off of 
refers to themselves as a councillor or not (MC v Standards Committee of LB of Richmond 
2011). 

7.3 It is becoming increasingly common for standards complaints to be made on the basis of 
comments Members have made on social media. As section 27(1) of the Localism Act 2011 
places a positive duty on councils to promote and maintain high standards of conduct of 
members and officers, the Council must seek to do so wherever its Members use social 
media. 

7.4 Section 27(2) of the Act states that the Code of Conduct applies when Members are acting 
in their official capacity. This can present significant grey areas in the context of social 
media, where the line between acting officially or in a private capacity can be a difficult one 
to draw. 

7.5 In January 2019, the Committee on Standards in Public Life published their report ‘Local 
Government Ethical Standards – A Review by the Committee on Standards in Public Life’. 
In respect of Members’ use of social media, it recommended that there be a rebuttable 
presumption that when posting on social media they are acting in an official capacity.  

7.6 Once something is posted on social media, it is difficult to retain control over how it will be 
used. Consider the content of your communications carefully and apply this test – if you 
would be reluctant to say it face-to-face or in an official email, then it is probably 
inappropriate to say online. As a rule of thumb, never post anything online you would not be 
comfortable saying or sharing in a public meeting. 

8. LINKED DOCUMENTS 

8.1. There are a number of policies which should be considered in conjunction with this social 
media policy. These can all be found on the Councils’ Intranet, or hard copies can be 
provided on request. These are: 

(a) The IT Policy 
(b) The Disciplinary Policy 
(c) The Use of Social Media in Investigation Policy 
(d) The Officer Code of Conduct (see intranet) 
(e) The Member Code of Conduct 

  

997



344 

Code of Corporate Governance 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
Governance is about how local government bodies ensure they are doing the right things, in the 
right way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open and honest, and accountable manner. It 
comprises the systems and processes, and cultures and values, by which local government bodies 
are directed and controlled and through which they account to, engage with and, where 
appropriate, lead their communities. 
 
Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council are committed to the practise of good 
governance: ensuring good management, good performance, good stewardship of public money, 
good public engagement and ultimately good outcomes for citizens and service users. 
 
2.0 THE PRINCIPLES OF GOOD GOVERNANCE 
 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) / Society of Local Authority 
Chief Executives (SOLACE) provide a framework for developing and maintaining a Local Code of 
Corporate Governance and for discharging accountability for the proper conduct of public 
business.  
 
The CIPFA / SOLACE guidance Delivering Good Governance in Local Government (2012) 
identified six core principles against which local authorities should review their existing corporate 
governance arrangements and develop and maintain a Local Code of Governance.  
 
The six principles are: 

(a) Focussing on the Councils’ purpose and outcomes for the community and implementing a 
vision for the local area. 

(b) Members and Officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly defined 
functions and roles. 

(c) Promoting values for the Councils and demonstrating the values of good governance 
through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour. 

(d) Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to scrutiny and managing risk. 
(e) Developing the capacity and capability of Members and Officers to be effective. 
(f) Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public accountability. 

 
Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council are committed to these six core principles. 
The Councils’ Code of Corporate Governance has been prepared in accordance with the CIPFA / 
SOLACE guidance. The Code describes how the Councils achieve compliance with each of the 
core principles to deliver the best outcomes for local communities. 
 
Focussing on the Councils’ purpose and outcomes for the community and implementing a 
vision for the local area. 
 
Summary 
 
Good governance ensures the Councils fulfil their purpose and achieve the intended outcomes for 
their citizens and service users. Good governance also ensures the Councils continue to operate in 
an effective, economic and ethical manner. The Councils have therefore developed a clear vision 
of their purpose and intended outcomes which are communicated both within the Councils and to 
external stakeholders and the public, and contained within the document Catching the Wave. 
 
Supporting Principles of Good Governance 
 
In order to exercise strategic leadership the Councils will:  

(a) Develop and promote their authority’s purpose and vision;  

998



345 

(b) Review on a regular basis the authority’s vision for the local area and its impact on the 
authority’s governance arrangements; 

(c) Ensure that partnerships are underpinned by a common vision of their work that is 
understood and agreed by the parties; 

(d) Publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities and 
achievements, its financial position and performance. 

 
In order to ensure users have quality services the Councils will: 

(a) Decide how the quality of service for users is to be measured and make sure that the 
information needed to review service quality effectively and regularly is available; 

(b) Put in place effective arrangements to identify and deal with failure in service delivery. 
 
In order to ensure the Councils make best use of resources and that tax payers and service users 
receive excellent value for money the Councils will: 

(a) Decide how value for money is to be measured and make sure that the authority or 
partnership has the information needed to review value for money and performance 
effectively.  

(b) Measure the environmental impact of policies, plans and decisions. 
 
Evidence of Commitment to these Principles 
 

(a) The Councils’ strategic plan identifies its corporate priorities. The plan is widely promoted 
through the Councils’ website. 

(b) The corporate plan sets out the Councils’ ambitious vision and details how the strategic 
plan will be implemented and corporate priorities achieved. 

(c) Councils’ Constitution – sets out the governance arrangements and procedural 
requirements for the business of the Councils. 

(d) Joint Committee Agreement – sets out the roles and responsibilities for partnership working 
between Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council. 

(e) Local Development Framework – a series of Local Development Documents that deliver 
the spatial planning strategy for the District/Borough. 

(f) Medium Term Financial Strategy – links the Councils’ finances to the Corporate Priorities 
and sets out strategic financial policies, a medium term financial forecast and budget 
guidelines for the forthcoming year. 

(g) Annual Statement of Accounts – a mainly financial document listing achievements for the 
previous year as well as setting out longer term aims. 

(h) Trello Boards for Performance Dashboard and Risk Registers - records performance in 
relation to a range of key and local performance measures which form part of performance 
dashboard information and also details of Corporate and Service level risks which are 
reported to the Corporate Leadership Team on a regular basis. 

(i) Benchmarking – provides comparisons between the Councils’ functions and performance 
with those provided by similar organisations. 

(j) Comments, Compliments and Complaints System. 
(k) Contract Standing Orders - outlines the procurement process used by the Councils and 

how Officers ensure value for money is achieved. 
(l) Committee Reports – Provide Members with information needed to make decisions. 

 
Members and Officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly defined 
functions and roles 
 
Summary 
 
Elected Members are collectively responsible for the governance of the Councils. The Local 
Government Act 2000 introduced new Executive arrangements whereby the Councils’ Policy 
Framework, budget and key strategies are agreed by Full Council following proposals from the 
Cabinets. The Councils each have a 6 Member Executive responsible for exercising all functions 
except those reserved to Council and statutory functions such as planning and licensing. In 

999



346 

addition, the Councils have Overview and Scrutiny Committees, comprising of Non-Cabinet 
Members who can question and challenge the decisions and/or performance of the Cabinets. 
 
The Chief Executive, Directors, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer are responsible for 
advising the Cabinets and other Committees on legal, financial and other policy considerations. 
 
Supporting Principles of Good Governance 
 
In order to ensure effective leadership throughout the Councils, each Council will: 

(a) Set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the Cabinet and of 
the Cabinet Members individually and the authority’s approach towards putting this into 
practice; 

(b) Set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of other Authority 
Members, Members generally and of Senior Officers. 

 
In order to ensure a constructive working relationship exists between Members and Officers, each 
Council will: 

(a) Determine an Officer Scheme of Delegations and reserve powers within the Constitution, 
including a formal schedule of those matters specifically reserved for collective decision of 
the authority, taking into account relevant legislation and ensuring that it is monitored and 
updated when required; 

(b) Make the Chief Executive responsible and accountable to the authority for all aspects of 
operational management; 

(c) Develop protocols to ensure that the Leader and Chief Executive negotiate their respective 
roles early in the relationship and that a shared understanding of roles and objectives is 
maintained; 

(d) Make the Section 151 Officer responsible to the authority for ensuring that appropriate 
advice is given on all financial matters for keeping proper financial records and accounts, 
and for maintaining an effective system of internal financial controls; 

(e) Make the Monitoring Officer responsible to the authority for ensuring that agreed 
procedures are followed and that all applicable statutes and regulations are complied with. 

 
To ensure the Councils’ relationships with partners and the public are clear, each Council will: 

(a) Develop protocols to ensure effective communication between Members and Officers in 
their respective roles; 

(b) Set out the terms and conditions for remuneration of Members and Officers and an effective 
structure for managing the process, including an effective job evaluation process for 
Officers’ remuneration and a remuneration panel for Members; 

(c) Ensure that effective mechanism exists to monitor service delivery; 
(d) Ensure that the organisation’s vision, strategic plans, priorities and targets are developed 

through robust mechanisms, and in consultation with the local community and other key 
stakeholders, and that they are clearly articulated and disseminated; 

(e) When working in partnership, ensure that Members are clear about their roles and 
responsibilities, both individually and collectively, in relation to the partnership and to the 
authority; 

(f) When working in partnership, ensure that there is clarity about the legal status of the 
partnership, ensure that representatives or organisations understand and make clear to all 
other partners the extent of their authority to bind their organisation to partner decisions. 

 
Evidence of Commitment to these Principles 
 

(a) Constitution – sets out how the Councils operate, how decisions are made and the 
procedures and codes of conduct which the Councils follow. It also includes the roles of 
Statutory Officers and their responsibilities relating to compliance with the law and ensuring 
sound financial control. 

(b) Role of Members – set out in the Constitution. 
(c) Terms of Reference for the Cabinet and Cabinet Members – set out in the Constitution. 

1000



347 

(d) Monitoring Officer Protocol – set out in the Constitution. 
(e) Cabinet Procedure Rules – set out in the Constitution. 
(f) Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules – sets out the terms of reference which includes 

the role of overseeing the proper and effective administration of the Councils, reviewing the 
effectiveness of its services and supporting and complimenting the activities of the 
Cabinets. 

(g) Officer Job Descriptions – detail the roles and responsibilities of Officers employed by the 
Councils. 

(h) Whistleblowing Policy – enables Members and Officers to confidentially report suspected 
malpractice. 

(i) Chief Executive and Leader meetings – held to ensure effective communication. 
(j) Pay Policy – the Councils are committed to the principle of Equal Pay for all its employees 

and adopted a Pay Policy in October 2015. 
(k) Catching the Wave – sets out the corporate objectives and strategic ambitions of the 

Councils. 
 
Promoting values for the Authority and demonstrating the values of good governance 
through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour 
 
Summary 
 
Adur and Worthing Councils recognise that good governance is underpinned by shared values and 
demonstrated in the behaviour of its Members and Officers. The Councils’ values (the way in which 
the Councils work for the community in pursuing its aims) are set out in Catching the Wave and 
Surf’s Up. The standards of conduct and behaviour the Councils expect of their Members and 
Officers are clearly set out in the Constitution. This is supported by the Codes of Conduct and a 
range of training programmes for both Members and staff. 
 
Supporting Principles of Good Governance 
 
To ensure Members and Officers exemplify good standards of conduct each Council will: 

(a) Ensure that the authority’s leadership sets a tone for the organisation by creating a climate 
of openness, support and respect; 

(b) Ensure that standards of conduct and personal behaviour expected of Members and staff, 
of work between Members and staff and between the authority, its partners and the 
community are defined and communicated through codes of conduct and protocols; 

(c) Put in place arrangements to ensure that Members and Officers are not influenced by 
prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest in dealing with different stakeholders and put in place 
appropriate processes to ensure that they continue to operate in practice. 

 
To ensure organisational values are put into practice each Council will: 

(a) Develop and maintain shared values including leadership values both for the organisation 
and staff reflecting public expectations and communicate these with Members, staff, the 
community and partners; 

(b) Put in place arrangements to ensure that procedures and operations are designed in 
conformity with appropriate ethical standards, and monitor their continuing effectiveness in 
practice; 

(c) Develop and maintain an effective Standards Committee; 
(d) Use the organisations’ shared values to act as a guide for decision-making and as a basis 

for developing positive and trusting relationships within the authority; 
(e) In pursuing the vision of a partnership, agree a set of values against which decision-making 

and actions can be judged. Such values must be demonstrated by partners’ behaviour both 
individually and collectively. 

  

1001



348 

Evidence of Commitment to these Principles 
 

(a) Constitution – seeks to define the standards of conduct and personal behaviour expected of 
Members and Officers. 

(b) Member Code of Conduct and Officer Code of Conduct. 
(c) Performance Development Reviews – provide opportunities to review the performance, 

including standards of conduct and personal behaviour of Officers, as well as identifying 
any development needs. 

(d) Comments, Compliments and Complaints System – this provides a process, clearly 
publicised on the website, for those wanting to complain to the Councils. 

(e) Data Access Requests – a system is in place to respond to Freedom of Information and 
Subject Access Requests. 

(f) Joint Audit & Governance Committee and Standards Sub-Committee – promotes and 
maintains high standards of conduct by Members. 

(g) Whistleblowing Policy and Ombudsman Complaints System – enables Members, 
employees and residents to confidentially report suspected malpractice that is in the public 
interest. 

(h) Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy – designed to encourage prevention and promote 
detection. 

(i) Anti-Bribery Policy – this policy outlines the Councils’ position on preventing and prohibiting 
bribery, in accordance with the Bribery Act 2012. 

(j) Members’ and Officers’ Register of Interests and Gifts and Hospitality – the Councils 
maintain such registers to safeguard both Members and Officers against conflicts of 
interest. The Members’ Register of Interests and Gifts and Hospitality is available online. 

(k) Member Induction – following Council Elections, Members undergo a formal induction 
which includes information about the Councils’ vision and corporate priorities, an 
introduction to the Constitution and in particular the Code of Conduct. 

 
Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny and 
managing risk 
 
Summary 
 
Adur and Worthing Councils recognise that all Council decisions must be accountable and legally 
sound. As such, the Councils must be able to demonstrate that decision-makers follow a proper 
process and that all decisions are based on accurate information, including consideration of legal, 
financial and risk management implications. To ensure that this happens, Adur and Worthing 
Councils have a range of procedures in place to ensure that decisions are not influenced by 
prejudice, bias or conflicts on interest. 
 
Supporting Principles of Good Governance 
 
In being rigorous and transparent about how decisions are taken each Council will: 

(a) Develop and maintain an effective scrutiny function which encourages constructive 
challenge and enhances the Councils’ performance overall and of any organisation for 
which they are responsible; 

(b) Develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting evidence for 
decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and considerations on which decisions are 
based; 

(c) Put in place arrangements to safeguard Members and employees against conflicts of 
interest and put in place appropriate processes to ensure that they continue to operate in 
practice; 

(d) Develop and maintain an effective Audit Committee which is independent of the Cabinet; 
(e) Put in place effective transparent and accessible arrangements for dealing with complaints. 

 
In order to ensure that the Councils have good quality information and advice, each Council will: 

1002



349 

(a) Ensure that those making decisions, whether for the authority or partnership, are provided 
with information that is fit for the purpose - relevant, timely and gives clear explanations of 
technical issues and their implications; 

(b) Ensure that professional advice on matters that have legal or financial implications is 
available and recorded well in advance of decision-making and used appropriately. 

 
In order to ensure that there is an effective system of risk management, each Council will: 

(a) Ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the organisation, with 
Members and Managers at all levels recognising that risk management is part of their job; 

(b) Ensure that arrangements are in place for whistleblowing to which staff and all those 
contracting with the authority have access. 

 
In order to use the Councils’ legal powers for the full benefit of the community, the Councils will: 

(a) Actively recognise the limits of lawful activity placed on them by, for example, the ultra vires 
doctrine but also strive to utilise powers to the full benefit of their communities; 

(b) Recognise the limits of lawful action and observe both the specific requirements of 
legislation and the general responsibilities placed on local authorities by public law; 

(c) Observe all specific legislative requirements placed upon them, as well as the requirements 
of general law, and in particular, integrate the key principles of good administrative law - 
rationality, legality and natural justice - into their procedures and decision-making 
processes. 

 
Evidence of Commitment to these Principles 
 

(a) Overview and Scrutiny Committee – this is an established Committee which reviews and 
monitors the effectiveness of the Councils’ services. 

(b) Report Templates – to ensure that all relevant information is obtained when producing a 
report for Committee, Cabinet or Full Council, a standard report template has been 
adopted. The report format helps to ensure that all matters coming before Member bodies 
have received appropriate legal and financial vetting before being signed off.  

(c) Meeting Minutes – the majority of meetings are open to members of the public and minutes 
of the decisions taken are published on the Councils’ website. 

(d) Constitution – in order to safeguard Members and employees against conflicts of interest, 
the Constitution contains protocols which describe and regulate the way in which Members 
and Officers interact with one another. 

(e) Members’ and Officers’ Register of Interest and Gifts and Hospitality – the Councils 
maintain a Register of Interests and a Register of Gifts and Hospitality to safeguard both 
Members and Officers against conflicts of interest. 

(f) Joint Audit & Governance Committee – this Committee, which is independent from the 
Cabinets and scrutiny functions, monitors budgets and receives reports on the work of 
internal and external audit and risk management.  

(g) Comments, Compliments and Complaints System – a process is clearly outlined on the 
website for those wishing to complain to the Councils. Complaints are monitored and 
categorised, and reported to Corporate Leadership Team on a regular basis. 

(h) Data Access Requests – a system is in place to respond to Freedom of Information and 
Subject Access Requests. 

(i) Member Training – Members of specific committees receive comprehensive training to 
equip them with the skills required to carry out their work. 

(j) Whistleblowing Policy – enables Members and Officers to confidentially report suspected 
malpractice that is in the public interest. The Whistleblowing Policy is publicised on the 
Councils’ intranet.  

(k) Monitoring Officer provisions – the Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the 
Councils if any proposal would give rise to unlawfulness or maladministration and as such 
performs a key function in ensuring lawfulness and fairness in the operation of the Councils’ 
decision-making processes. 

  

1003



350 

Developing the capacity and capability of Members and Officers to be effective 
 
Summary 
 
Adur and Worthing Councils realise that the Officers they employ enable the Councils to fulfil their 
ambitions. Once appointed or elected, Members and Officers are provided with a range of 
development opportunities. The Councils’ learning and development needs are met through a 
variety of training interventions including in- house training and e-learning. Members also receive 
specialised training on key issues on a regular basis. 
 
Supporting Principles of Good Governance 
 
To make sure Members and Officers have the necessary skills and resources, the Councils will: 

(a) Provide induction programmes tailored to individual needs and opportunities for Members 
and Officers to update their knowledge on a regular basis; 

(b) Ensure that the Statutory Officers have the skills, resources and support necessary to 
perform effectively in their roles and that these roles are properly understood throughout 
the organisation. 

 
To develop the capability of people with governance responsibilities, each Council will: 

(a) Assess the skills required by Members and Officers and make a commitment to develop 
those skills to enable roles to be carried out effectively; 

(b) Develop skills on a continuing basis to improve performance including the ability to 
scrutinise and challenge and to recognise when outside expert advice is needed; 

(c) Ensure that effective arrangements are in place for reviewing the performance of the 
authority as a whole and of individual Members and agreeing an action plan which might for 
example aim to address any training or development needs. 

 
To encourage new Members of the authority, the Councils will: 

(a) Ensure that effective arrangements are in place, designed to encourage individuals from all 
sections of the community to engage with, contribute to and participate in the work of the 
authority; 

(b) Ensure that career structures are in place for Members and Officers to encourage 
participation and development. 

 
Evidence of Commitment to these Principles 
 

(a) Member and Officer Induction Programme – an extensive induction programme is in place 
for both Members and Officers. All new Officers receive an induction booklet and are invited 
to a corporate induction where the Councils’ values and visions are outlined in further 
detail. 

(b) Unboxed – the Councils run a talent pool known as the Unboxed Programme for Officers to 
provide opportunity for innovation and development. 

(c) Mentoring Scheme – the Councils run a programme of mentoring for Officers throughout 
the Councils, using external Mentors where necessary. 

(d) Members’ Bulletin – this is a web-based area which provides an information zone for 
Members and is a key source of information. 

(e) Performance Development Reviews – provide opportunities to review employee 
performance, providing a chance to consider personal development needs in relation to the 
employee’s role. 

(f) Officer Job Descriptions – set out the roles and responsibilities of Officers employed by the 
Councils. 

(g) Constitution – sets out how the Councils operate, how decisions are made and the 
procedures and codes of conduct which are followed. It also covers the roles of the 
Statutory Officers of the Council – Head of Paid Service, Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer – and their responsibilities relating to compliance with the law and 
ensuring sound financial control. 

1004



351 

(h) Overview and Scrutiny Committee – this is an established Committee which reviews and 
monitors the decisions of each Executive.  

(i) Leadership and Staff Exchange – organised events at which Managers and Officers meet 
to consider current issues affecting the Councils and work together to identify solutions. 

 
Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public accountability 
 
Summary 
 
Adur and Worthing Councils recognise the need to effectively engage with local residents to 
ensure that their opinions are taken into account when preparing Council plans and policies. The 
Constitution sets out how the Councils incorporate the rights of residents in relation to the Councils’ 
work.  
 
Supporting the Principles of Good Governance 
 
To exercise leadership through a robust scrutiny function the Councils will: 

(a) Make clear to themselves, all staff and the community, to whom they are accountable and 
for what; 

(b) Consider those institutional stakeholders to whom they are accountable and assess the 
effectiveness of the relationships and any changes required; 

(c) Produce an annual report on scrutiny function activity. 
 
To take an active approach to dialogues and accountability with the community each Council will: 

(a) Ensure that clear channels of communication are in place with all sections of the 
community and other stakeholders including monitoring arrangements to ensure that they 
operate effectively; 

(b) Hold meetings in public unless there are good reasons for confidentiality; 
(c) Ensure arrangements are in place to enable the authority to engage with all sections of the 

community effectively. These arrangements should recognise that different sections of the 
community have different priorities and establish explicit processes for dealing with these 
competing demands; 

(d) Establish a clear policy on the types of issues they will meaningfully consult on or engage 
with the public and service users including a feedback mechanism for those consultees to 
demonstrate what has changed as a result; 

(e) On an annual basis, publish an annual report giving information on the authority's vision, 
strategy, plans and financial statements as well as information about its outcomes, 
achievements and the satisfaction of service users in the previous period; 

(f) Ensure that the authority as a whole is open and accessible to the community, service 
users and its staff and ensure that it has made a commitment to openness and 
transparency in all its dealings, including partnerships subject only to the need to preserve 
confidentiality in those specific circumstances where it is proper and appropriate to do so. 

 
In order to make best use of human resources, the Councils will develop and maintain a clear 
policy on how staff and their representatives are consulted and involved in decision-making. 
 
Evidence of Commitment to these Principles  

(a) Constitution – sets out how the Councils operate, how decisions are made and the 
procedures and codes of conduct which are followed. It also sets out roles and 
responsibilities for Members and Statutory Officers and includes the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations. 

(b) Overview and Scrutiny Committee – this is an established committee which reviews and 
monitors the decisions made by the Cabinets and other Council bodies, as well as 
monitoring the activities and performance of external bodies. The Committee sets and 
reviews its work programme on a regular basis and produces an annual report on its work.  

1005



352 

(c) Joint Audit & Governance Committee – independent from the Cabinet and scrutiny 
functions, this Committee monitors budgets and receives reports on the work of internal 
and external audit and risk management. 

(d) Annual Statement of Accounts – a mainly financial document listing achievements for the 
previous year, as well as setting out longer term aims. 

(e) Petition Scheme – sets out in broad terms the right of members of the public to submit 
petitions, the functions and areas of the Councils’ activities which may be the subject of 
petitions and the general arrangements for dealing with them. 

 
3.0 REVIEW OF THE CODE 
 
The Councils’ Code of Corporate Governance will be reviewed on a regular basis with a view to 
ensuring that: 
 

(a) The Councils’ governance arrangements are adequate and operating effectively in practice, 
or 

(b) If reviews of governance arrangements have revealed gaps, action is planned that will 
ensure effective governance in the future. 

 
The Joint Governance Committee will review the Code at least once every two years.  

1006



353 

Whistleblowing Protocol 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 In this Protocol ‘Whistleblowing’ means the reporting by staff of suspected misconduct, illegal 

acts or failure to act within the Councils. 
 

1.2 The aim of this Protocol is to encourage employees and others who have serious concerns 
about any aspects of the Council’s work to come forward and voice those concerns. 
 

1.3 This Protocol intends to: 
(a) Encourage staff to report suspected wrongdoing as soon as possible, in the 

knowledge that their concerns will be taken seriously and investigated as 
appropriate, and that their confidentiality will be respected, as far as possible. 

(b) Encourage and enable staff to raise concerns within the Council rather than ignoring 
a problem or blowing the whistle externally. 

(c) Provide staff with guidance as to how to raise those concerns. 
(d) Reassure staff that they should be able to raise genuine concerns without fear of 

reprisals, victimisation, subsequent discrimination, disadvantage or dismissal, even 
if they turn out to be mistaken, provided the disclosure is made in the public interest. 

 
1.4 The Councils are committed to conducting business with honesty and integrity, and we expect 

all staff to maintain high standards of conduct, in accordance with the Council’s Officer Code 
of Conduct. However, all organisations face the risk of things going wrong from time to time, 
or of unknowingly harbouring illegal or unethical conduct. A culture of openness and 
accountability is essential in order to prevent such situations occurring or to address them 
when they do occur. 

 
1.5 Staff are often the first to realise that there may be something seriously wrong within an 

organisation. ‘Whistleblowing’ is viewed by the Council as a positive act that can make a 
valuable contribution to the Council’s efficiency and long-term success. It is not disloyal to 
colleagues or the Council to speak up. The Council is committed to achieving the highest 
possible standards of service and the highest possible ethical standards in public life and in 
all of its practices. To help achieve these standards it encourages freedom of speech. 
 

2.0 WHAT IS WHISTLEBLOWING? 
 
2.1 Any serious concerns that staff have about service provision or the conduct of Officers of the 

Council, or others acting on behalf of the Council, that make them feel uncomfortable in terms 
of known standards, are not in keeping with the Constitution or Council policies, fall below 
established standards of practice or are improper behaviour, should be reported. 

 
This may relate to: 

(a) Criminal activity; 
(b) Miscarriages of justice; 
(c) Racial, sexual, disability or other discrimination; 
(d) Danger to health and safety; 
(e) Damage to the environment;  
(f) Failure to comply with any legal, or professional, obligation or regulatory 

requirements; 
(g) Unauthorised use of public funds or other assets; 
(h) Bribery; 
(i) Financial fraud or mismanagement; 
(j) Negligence; 
(k) Breach of our internal policies and procedures, including our Officer Code of 

Conduct; 
(l) Conduct likely to damage our reputation; 

1007



354 

(m) Unauthorised disclosure of confidential information; 
(n) The deliberate concealment of any of the above matters. 

 
2.2 A whistleblower is a person who raises a genuine concern relating to any of the above, where 

they honestly and reasonably believes it to be in the public interest to raise the concern.  
 
2.3 This Protocol should not be used for complaints relating to an individual’s own personal 

circumstances, such as the way they have been treated at work. In those cases the 
Grievance Procedure should be used. 

 
2.4 If a staff member is uncertain whether something is within the scope of this Protocol they 

should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer, whose contact details are at the end of this 
Protocol. 

 
2.5 This Protocol does not form part of any employee's contract of employment and it may be 

amended at any time. 
 
2.6 If an individual has a concern about services provided to them, it should be raised through 

the Council’s complaints procedure. 
 
2.7 Complaints of misconduct by Councillors are dealt with under a separate procedure and 

should be referred to the Council’s Monitoring Officer.  
 
3.0 WHO CAN RAISE A CONCERN UNDER THIS PROTOCOL? 
 
3.1 This Protocol applies to all individuals working at all levels of the organisation, including 

Senior Managers, Officers, Directors, employees, consultants, contractors, trainees, 
homeworkers, part-time and fixed-term workers, casual and agency staff and volunteers 
(collectively referred to as staff in this Protocol). 

 
4.0 RAISING A WHISTLEBLOWING CONCERN 
 
4.1 It is hoped that in many cases staff will be able to raise any concerns with their line manager 

or Director. Staff may tell them in person or put the matter in writing if preferred. They may 
be able to agree a way of resolving concerns quickly and effectively.  

 
4.2 However, where the matter is more serious, or staff feel that their line manager or Director 

has not addressed the concern, or if they prefer not to raise it with them for any reason, they 
should contact one of the following: 

(a) The Monitoring Officer; 
(b) The Chief Executive; 
(c) The Chairs of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee; 
(d) The Chief Financial Officer (S.151 Officer). 

 
Contact details are set out at the end of this protocol. 
 
4.3 The Council will arrange a meeting with the whistleblower as soon as possible to discuss 

their concern. The whistleblower may bring a colleague or Union representative to any 
meetings held under this Protocol. The companion must respect the confidentiality of the 
disclosure and any subsequent investigation. 

 
4.4 The Council will take down a written summary of the whistleblower’s concern and provide 

them with a copy after the meeting. The Council will also aim to give an indication of how it 
proposes to deal with the matter. 

 

1008



355 

4.5 Whoever internally, within the Councils, receives a whistleblowing disclosure, they are 
obliged to notify the Monitoring Officer, in writing, within 2 working days of the nature of the 
disclosure made. 

 
5.0 CONFIDENTIALITY 
 
5.1 The Council hopes that staff will feel able to voice whistleblowing concerns openly under this 

Protocol. However, if a whistleblower wants to raise a concern confidentially, the Council will 
make every effort not to disclose their identity. If it is necessary for anyone investigating the 
concern to know the whistleblower’s identity, this will be discussed with the whistleblower in 
advance.  

 
5.2 The Council does not encourage staff to make disclosures anonymously. Proper investigation 

may be more difficult or impossible if the Investigating Officer cannot obtain further 
information from the whistleblower. It is also more difficult to establish whether any allegations 
are credible. Whistleblowers who are concerned about possible reprisals if their identity is 
revealed should come forward to the Monitoring Officer or another senior manager and 
appropriate measures can then be taken to preserve confidentiality.  

 
5.3 If a whistleblower is in any doubt, they can seek independent advice from the independent 

charity, Protect, who offer a confidential helpline. Their contact details are at the end of this 
Protocol. 

 
6.0 EXTERNAL DISCLOSURES 
 
6.1 The aim of this Protocol is to provide an internal mechanism for reporting, investigating and 

remedying any wrongdoing in the workplace. In most cases a whistleblower should not find 
it necessary to alert anyone externally. 

 
6.2 The law recognises that in some circumstances it may be appropriate for a whistleblower to 

report their concerns to an external body such as a regulator. It will very rarely, if ever, be 
appropriate to alert the media. The Council strongly encourages whistleblowers to seek 
advice before reporting a concern to anyone external. The independent whistleblowing 
charity, Protect, operates a confidential helpline. They also have a list of prescribed regulators 
for reporting certain types of concern. Their contact details are at the end of this Protocol. 

 
6.3 Whistleblowing concerns usually relate to the conduct of staff, but they may sometimes relate 

to the actions of a third party, such as a customer, supplier or service provider. In some 
circumstances the law will protect a whistleblower if they raise the matter with the third party 
directly. However, the Council encourages whistleblowers to report such concerns internally 
first.  

 
7.0 INVESTIGATION AND OUTCOME 
 
7.1 Once a whistleblower has raised a concern, the Council will carry out an initial assessment 

to determine the scope of any investigation. The Council will then inform the whistleblower of 
the outcome of the assessment. The whistleblower may be required to attend additional 
meetings in order to provide further information. 

 
7.2 In some cases the Council may appoint an Investigating Officer or team of investigators 

including staff with relevant experience of investigations or specialist knowledge of the 
subject matter. The investigator(s) may make recommendations for change to enable the 
Council to minimise the risk of future wrongdoing. 

 
7.3 The Council will aim to keep the whistleblower informed of the progress of the investigation 

and its likely timescale. However, sometimes the need for confidentiality may prevent the 

1009



356 

giving of specific details of the investigation or any disciplinary action taken as a result. Any 
information given about the investigation should be treated as confidential. 

 
7.4 If the Council concludes that a whistleblower has made false allegations maliciously or with 

a view to personal gain, the whistleblower may be subject to disciplinary action. 
 
8.0 IF THE WHISTLEBLOWER IS NOT SATISFIED WITH THE OUTCOME 
 
8.1 While the Council cannot always guarantee the outcome the whistleblower is seeking, it will 

deal with the concern raised fairly and in an appropriate way, and in compliance with Human 
Rights and Equalities legislation.  

 
8.2 If a whistleblower is not satisfied with the way in which their disclosure has been handled, 

they can raise it with one of the other key contacts in paragraph 4.2 of this Protocol. 
Alternatively they may contact the Council’s Auditors (contact details are set out at the end 
of this Protocol) or seek independent advice from Protect 

 
9.0 PROTECTION AND SUPPORT FOR WHISTLEBLOWERS 
 
9.1 It is understandable that whistleblowers are sometimes worried about possible 

repercussions. The Council aims to encourage openness and will support staff who raise 
genuine concerns under this Protocol, if they reasonably believe it to be in the public interest 
to do so, even if they turn out to be mistaken. 

 
9.2 Staff must not suffer any detrimental treatment as a result of raising a concern or making a 

disclosure, provided it is made in the honest belief that it is in the public interest to do so. 
Detrimental treatment includes dismissal, disciplinary action, threats or other unfavourable 
treatment connected with raising a concern. If you believe that you have suffered any such 
treatment, you should inform the Monitoring Officer immediately. If the matter is not remedied 
you should raise it formally using the Council’s Grievance Procedure. 

 
9.3 Staff must not threaten or retaliate whistleblowers in any way. Any staff member involved in 

such conduct it likely to be subject to disciplinary action. In some cases the whistleblower 
could have a right to sue them personally for compensation in an Employment Tribunal, and 
also for the Council to potentially be vicariously liable for their actions. 

 
10.0 RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE SUCCESS OF THIS PROTOCOL 
 
10.1 The Council’s Corporate Leadership Team has overall responsibility for this Protocol, and for 

reviewing the effectiveness of actions taken in response to concerns raised under this 
Protocol. 

 
10.2 The Monitoring Officer has day-to-day operational responsibility for this Protocol, and must 

ensure that all managers and other staff who may deal with concerns or investigations receive 
regular and appropriate training. 

 
10.3 The Monitoring Officer should review this Protocol at least every 3 years in conjunction with 

the Councils’ Joint Audit & Governance Committee and with the Assistant Director People & 
Change who shall consult with UNISON. 

 
10.4 All staff are responsible for the success of this Protocol and should ensure that they use it to 

disclose any suspected danger or wrongdoing. Staff are invited to comment on this Protocol 
and suggest ways in which it might be improved. Comments, suggestions and queries should 
be addressed to the Monitoring Officer. 

 

  

1010



357 

PART 6 - MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 

 
WORTHING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

COUNCILLORS’ ALLOWANCES 2021/22 

 
Worthing Borough Council in February 2023 approved an Allowance Scheme for Members that linked 
the scheme to the Officers’ NJC National Pay Agreement. The National Pay Agreement has been 
settled as a 1.75% increase from 1 April 2021. 
 
Therefore the allowances for Members for 2023/2024 are as follows: 

 

Basic Allowance (payable to all Members) 
 

£5530.67 

Special Responsibility Allowances 
 

 

Leader £16,592.01 

Deputy Leader £9,12.60 

Cabinet Members (each portfolio holder) £7,466.40 

Mayor 
Deputy Mayor 

£3,318.40 
£829.60 

Chair of Planning Committee  
Vice Chair  

£5,807.20 
£1,451.80 

Chair of Licensing and Control Committee  
Vice Chair 

£4,148.00 
£1,037.00 

Chair of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Vice Chair 

£3,865.48£1,288.4
5 

Chair of Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
Vice-Chair  

£3,318.40 
£829.60 

Leader of the Opposition Group 
Deputy Leader of the Opposition Group 

£4,148.00 
£1,037.00 

 

Other allowances   

● Travelling and Subsistence: NJC Rate, no local agreement   

● The allowances are not pensionable   

● More than one SRA can be claimed    

 
 
Dependent Person Carer Allowance and Child Carer Allowance 

 The Dependent Persons Carer Allowance and both Child Carer Allowance should be based 
at cost upon production of receipts. In the case of specialist care a requirement of medical 
evidence that this type of care be required, the allowance should have no daily or monthly 
maximum claim when undertaking Approved Councillor Duties. 

 

 
 The Council should actively promote the allowance to prospective and new councillors both 

before and following an election. This may assist in supporting a greater diversity of 
councillor representation. 

 

Parental Leave  
 All Councillors shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full for a period up to six 

months in the case of absence from their Councillor duties due to leave relate to maternity, 
paternity, adoption shared parental leave or sickness absence 

1011



358 

 

 
 Councillors entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance shall continue to receive their 

allowance in full for a period of six months, in the case of absence from their Councillor 
duties due to leave related to maternity, paternity, adoption, shared parental leave or 
sickness absence 

 

 
 Where for reasons connected with sickness, maternity leave, adoption leave, paternity 

leave or shared parental leave a Councillor is unable to attend a meeting of the Council for 
a period of six months, a dispensation by Council can be sought in accordance with Section 
85 of the Local Government Act 1972  

 

 
 If a replacement to cover the period of absence under these provisions is appointed by 

Council or the Leader (or in the case of a party group position the party group) the 
replacement shall be entitled to claim a Special Responsibility Allowance pro rata for the 
period over which the cover is provided. 

 

 
 If a Councillor stands down, or an election is held during the period when a Councillor is 

absent due to any of the above and the Councillor is not re-elected or decides not to stand 
down for re-election, their Basic Allowance and any Special Responsibility Allowance will 
cease from the date they leave office. 

 
 Indexing of Allowances 

 The allowances should be increased annually in line with the percentage increase in staff 
salaries from April 2023 for a period of up to four years. 

  

 

Notes:   
 Members may renounce in writing their entitlement to all or part of their allowance; 
 Travel and all other expenses and claims by Members must be submitted within two months 

of the period to which they relate. 

 
Notes: 
Councillors may renounce in writing their entitlement to all or part of their allowance. 
 
Travel and all other expenses and claims by Members must be submitted within two months of the 
period to which they relate. 
 
Principal Officer: 
Paul Brewer, Director for Sustainability & Resources,  Worthing Borough Council 
Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing, West Sussex, BN11 1HA

1012



359 

PART 7 - MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 

 

The Council’s Officer structure consists of the Chief Executive and 3 Directors with their Directorates. This section should be read in conjunction with 

Article 11 of the Constitution which details with statutory responsibilities within the Council’s management structure. Adur and Worthing Councils have 

a Joint Officer Management Structure; some of the areas of responsibility may refer only to one Council. The Joint Committee Agreement has the 

definitive roles and responsibilities. Full details of the delegations to Officers can be found in the Joint Scheme of Delegations to Officers (see Part 4 

of this Constitution).  

 

To see the current Senior Management structure diagram and breakdown of services please see:  
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/about-the-councils/senior-management-structure/ 

1013

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/about-the-councils/senior-management-structure/


360 

 

PART 8 – JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

 

The Council has several methods of establishing bodies for decision-making, collaboration or 

consultation with other local authorities, partners, officer representatives and members of the 

public. These bodies may be set up for a specific purpose or to more generally promote the 

economic, social, or environmental well-being of the District.  

Joint arrangements with other local authorities may be established to exercise Executive and/or 

Non-Executive functions. The establishment of joint committees that exercise Executive powers 

requires the agreement of the Leader. The establishment of joint committees that exercise Non-

Executive powers requires the approval of Full Council. The Leader must obtain Council approval 

before agreeing to exercise functions on behalf of another local authority.   

Political balance rules apply to joint committees that exercise Non-Executive powers and where 

Full Council appoints to three or more seats. Political balance rules do not apply to joint 

arrangements that only exercise Executive powers. If any Executive functions are to be exercised, 

then a Cabinet Member must be appointed if the Leader appoints to two or more seats on the 

committee.  

The membership, terms of reference and functions of the joint committees and the rules governing 

their conduct and proceedings are described below and in Part 9.  

There are additional joint arrangements with external bodies, as detailed below. 

 

Action in Rural Sussex (AiRS) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 4 per year. 

Venue: Billingshurst. 

Time/Duration: 2 hours max, in the afternoon. 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: 

AiRS is an independent charity that exists for all people living in rural areas of Sussex but 

especially those who are at risk of isolation and/or disadvantage, and for whom rural life brings an 

additional challenge and cost to their daily lives. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): TBA 

TERM: Annual appointment - tba 

 

Adur & Worthing Safer Communities Partnership (A&WSCP) Executive 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

1. The primary purpose of the A&WSCP Executive is to prevent crime and disorder, tackle 

substance misuse, anti-social behaviour and reduce re-offending to make Adur & Worthing 

a safer place for all. 

1014



361 

2. Its primary responsibilities shall comprise: 

 Being the statutory ‘strategy board’ for the Adur & Worthing Safer Communities 

Partnership; 

 Carry out an annual strategic assessment of local crime and disorder problems and 

community safety issues, taking into account the views of those who live, visit and work in 

Adur & Worthing; 

 Formulate and implement a three year partnership plan to address local priorities as 

identified in the strategic assessment;   

 Monitor partnership performance and progress against its priorities; 

 Publish an annual summary of the partnership’s achievements; 

 Review the strategic assessment on an annual basis and refresh the partnership plan, as 

appropriate; 

 Complete an annual Hallmarks assessment of the partnership & formulate an improvement 

plan if required; 

 Hold an annual ‘Face the Public’ session; 

 Have a clear escalation process of issues to the Safer West Sussex Partnership (county-

wide Community Safety Partnership) from A&WSCP. 

3. The partnership shall be managed by an Executive comprising senior representatives from 

 the following statutory responsible authorities, namely: 

 Police District Commander for Adur & Worthing; 

 Chief Executive, Adur & Worthing Councils or nominee; 

 Cabinet Member for Health & Wellbeing for Adur District Council; 

 Cabinet Member for Health & Wellbeing for Worthing Borough Council; 

 Chief Executive, West Sussex County Council or nominee; 

 Central Operations Group Manager, West Sussex Fire and Rescue Service; 

 Public Health, West Sussex or nominee; 

 Surrey & Sussex Probation Trust, Team Manager, Adur & Worthing; 

 Sussex Police & Crime Commissioner (Co-operating Member); 

4. Members of the Executive shall have authority to make decisions on behalf of their 

 respective organisations. 

5. The Executive shall meet on a quarterly basis. The Executive will agree the partnership plan, 

allocate funding, and monitor performance against priorities and commission services to 

deliver the plan. 

6. The Executive shall also: 

 Seek to encourage and promote arrangements to ensure that their respective 

organisation’s policies, strategies, plans and budgets take into account the prevention of 

crime and disorder, anti-social behaviour, substance misuse and reducing re-offending; 

 Agree an annual funding plan and submit its bids to the appropriate  grant-funding bodies; 

 Ensure that partnership funding provides value for money; 

1015



362 

 Engage communities in problem identification and resolution; 

 Appoint a chair & vice-chair with tenure of 12 months shared between partners, appointed 

following the local election cycle in May of each financial year; 

 The vice-chair should provide continuity and an overview role in connection with the SCP’s 

supporting structure and partnership working;  

 At least once a year, ensure that the partnership has the requisite skills and knowledge to 

meet its statutory requirements;   

 Sign up to the Pan- West Sussex Information Sharing Protocol, governing the sharing of 

information between the responsible authorities and others, as appropriate; 

 Share depersonalised information, as required; 

 Ensure that each responsible authority nominates a designated liaison officer whose role 

will be to facilitate the sharing of information with other partners.  

7. Membership of the wider Safer Communities Partnership (including the Executive) shall 

comprise all those agencies, organisations and individuals in the public, private, voluntary 

and community sectors who contribute to delivering the plan. 

 

Adur and Worthing Business Partnership 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Quarterly. 

Venue: Various venues across Adur and Worthing. 

Time/Duration: Board meetings 2pm to 3.15pm 

Partnership meetings 3:30pm to 6pm 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

To work in partnership with all economic development agencies to secure economic regeneration 

of the local economy, to open up new business opportunities and to promote competitiveness and 

employment growth. To liaise with business organisations and educational establishments in 

Worthing, Adur and surrounding areas to enable, facilitate and develop the delivery of skills, 

training and learning as broadly and widely to the community as practicable. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1: 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): tba 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Armed Forces Champion (appointed representative to sit on: West Sussex Civilian Military 

Partnership Board, which includes the Community Engagement Sub-Group and the South East 

Reserve Forces' and Cadets' Association (SERFCA)) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

West Sussex Civilian Military Partnership Board (& Community Engagement Sub-Group) 

Frequency: 3 times a year 

1016



363 

Venue: Various throughout the West Sussex Area 

Time/Duration: 0930 – 1230 

SERFCA 

Frequency: Annually 

Venue: Reserve Centre, Brighton or to be notified at the time of the meeting 

Duration: 3 hours 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

To champion the role of the Armed Forces in relation to the signed Community Covenant. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: 

Able to liaise with local interested groups, former service personnel, individuals and families, the 

Royal British Legion and Combined Ex-Services Associations. Willing to represent these groups on 

Community Covenant issues. 

To be the council’s spokesperson on Armed Forces and Community Covenant matters. 

Appointed representative should have an interest in Armed Forces matters  

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER) 

Interpretation of regulations. Able to liaise with local interested groups, former service personnel, 

individuals and families; the Royal British Legion and Combined Ex-Services Associations. Willing 

to represent these groups on Community Covenant issues. To be the council’s spokesperson on 

Armed Forces and Community Covenant matters. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Brighton City Airport Consultative Committee (formally Shoreham Airport Consultative 

Committee) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Quarterly. 

Venue: Brighton City Airport 

Time/Duration: 2:30pm (normally Wednesdays) 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

The Committee provides a forum for those operating and using the airport and those 

environmentally affected by the airport. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: 

This appointment is most relevant to Members with close links to the airport and/or neighbouring 

wards. Representatives are invited from Adur and Worthing Councils. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 (plus a substitute). 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Active participant. Representative to have 

knowledge of Shoreham Airport. 

1017



364 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Broadwater Community Association 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Monthly apart from December. 

Venue: Parish Rooms. 

Time/Duration: Thursday Evening 1-3 hours 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: 

Raising funds to build a Community Centre in Broadwater. To enhance the profile of Broadwater. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 2 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): To guide on Council policy and to relay 

back any problems to the Council. No voting rights.  

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Coast to Capital Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 

Coast to Capital is a voluntary partnership between local authorities and businesses, set up in 

2011 by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills to help determine local economic 

priorities and lead economic growth and job creation within the local area. It is a network of 

functional economic hubs around Gatwick airport, including Greater Brighton, West Sussex and 

East Surrey. 

Under the Articles of Association, the District Councils in the area (acting collectively) nominate up 

to two District Council Directors to be appointed by the LEP Board on a two yearly basis, any such 

appointment to take effect from close of the annual general meeting of the Company in every other 

year.  

 

Coastal West Sussex Partnership Board 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Quarterly. 

Venue: Various venues on the West Sussex south coast. 

Time/Duration: 2pm – 4pm 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

A public/private sector partnership of West Sussex organisations who have joined together to 

tackle the big economic issues facing coastal towns including Selsey, Bognor Regis, Chichester, 

Littlehampton, Worthing and Shoreham. The priority areas for action include business enterprise, 

employment and skills and economic regeneration. A partnership that brings together the private 

and public sector around a common purpose to support business development and sustainable 

economic growth working collectively on economic issues that affect the coast. Focusing on the 

strategic issues, the Coastal West Sussex Partnership brings together leaders and senior officers 

from business, education institutions and the public sector to work collectively on economic issues 

1018

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Local_government_in_England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Department_for_Business,_Innovation_and_Skills


365 

that affect the coastal area. The Partnership’s vision is for a strengthened coastal economy that 

delivers an exceptional experience for residents, business and visitors. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Bring ideas about what growth could mean 

for the area. What economic challenges are being faced in the area and on a wider scale. 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Court of the University of Sussex (known as the Sussex Annual Forum) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 1 per year. 

Venue: University of Sussex, Falmer, Brighton. 

Time/Duration: tbc 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: To promote research, teaching, and 

interests of the University to the local area, enhance relationships with businesses to strengthen 

placement opportunities and provide an opportunity for networking. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER) Non-voting member. 

TERM: Annual Appointment 

 

Discretionary Housing Payments Board 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: as and when required. 

Venue: Shoreham Centre 

Time/Duration: will be arranged as necessary. 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

To consider applications by members of the public in accordance with the Councils’ Joint Housing 

Discretionary Payments Policy as agreed by the Joint Strategic Committee on 11 June 2013. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: Interpretation of regulations. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 

Panel of members of 3 chosen from those appointed by the Council. 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

District Councils’ Network 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: - 

Regular Assemblies, Executive meetings and an annual conference 

1019



366 

Frequency: Monthly Executive meetings, 3 or 4 Assemblies a year. 

Time/Duration: Varied – Executive meetings are 2 hours, Assemblies vary from one morning or 

afternoon or one day. 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

Membership organisation for District Councils within the Local Government Association 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 183 council leaders 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Voting 

PRESENT REPRESENTATIVES: All DCN member council leaders, and more narrowly the DCN 

Executive of approximately 20 council leaders 

TERM: The Executive Leader remains the representative for the duration of their leadership of the 

council. 

 

Dr Chester’s (Poor Ten Acres) Charity (founded in 1662 and set up by Dr Granado Chester, 

Rector of Broadwater) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 1 trustees meeting per year in early December. 

Venue: Worthing Town Hall. 

Time/Duration: 45 minutes 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

Distribution of charity money. The Charity helps needy people in Worthing by making a small 

award towards their fuel bills. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 2 past Councillors (Honorary Aldermen/women) 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (TRUSTEE): A meeting of the Trustees is arranged by the Clerk in 

early September each year to agree an amount to be donated to Turning Tides. 

TERM: Hon Aldermen: Each term for 4 years from appointment 

 

Durrington Community Centre Association 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 3 per year. 

Venue: Durrington Community Centre 

Time/Duration: Wednesday evening 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: To promote the benefit of the 

inhabitants of Durrington, Northbrook and High Salvington. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 or 2 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Committee Member. Voting participant. 

Part of the management of the Centre for day to day running of operations. 

TERM: Annual appointment 

1020



367 

 

East Worthing Community Association 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 2 per year. 

Venue: East Worthing Community Centre. 

Time/Duration: 1-2 hours, evening 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: 

A Community Centre Association run by trustees including user members. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 2 - any Selden Ward councillors 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Non-voting, other than as users. Active 

participation welcomed. Representatives to attend General Meeting only. 

This is a Community Centre for the people they represent. Welcome to attend any open meetings 

such as Neighbourhood/Policing meetings which are held every month. 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Greater Brighton Economic Board (Joint Committee) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 4 per year 

Venue: Varied locations 

Time/Duration: 10am - varied duration 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

The Greater Brighton Economic Board is overarching, legally constituted, body behind the growth 

of the Greater Brighton City Region, formed in 2014 with the aim of protecting and growing the 

Region’s economy through creative, innovative initiatives which coordinate economic development 

activities and investment at City Region level. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 – Executive Leader  

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Voting member 

TERM: n/a (terms of reference require this to be the Leader of the Authority) 

 

Greater Brighton Economic Board ‘Call in Panel’ 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Ad Hoc 

Venue: tba 

Time/Duration: tba 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

1021



368 

Determination of call in for the Greater Brighton Economic Board, as required by the Board’s 

Constitution. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 Scrutiny member (plus 1 substitute) 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): tba 

TERM: Annual appointment (automatic) 

 

Heene Community Association (Management Committee) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 6 per year held bi-monthly at 2.30pm plus AGM 

Venue: Heene Community Centre. 

Time/Duration: Afternoon 2-4 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: Charity Community Centre 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 2 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Attend the trustees’ meetings, centre is 

owned by WBC so representatives have a duty of care to look after the Council’s responsibilities to 

ensure the Association doesn’t step outside its boundaries. Some away days are also organised to 

assess the performance and long term planning for the Centre. 

Non-voting observer role but also contributory. 8 trustees are on the board plus 3 holding trustees 

(responsibility to hold the lease with the Council). 

TERM: Annual 

 

High Salvington Mill Trust Committee & Management 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 4 + AGM 

Venue: Zoom or Findon Valley Free Church Hall 

Time/Duration: 1.5 - 2 hrs 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: 

Maintains and operates one of the last working mills in the country. Raises funds to do that work 

and it educates people in the working of the mill, specifically young people and schoolchildren. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 

The Trust invites membership when there are vacancies. The aim is to have 5 Council nominees 

as Trustees/Directors. There currently is 1. 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Voting directors of the Mill Trust. Attending 

meetings. The site is owned by WBC; the Trust operates and maintains it on their behalf. The 

Board is adamant that appointees should have a genuine interest in the Mill and be committed to 

attending meetings and help out as required. 

TERM: 4 year appointments. 

1022



369 

 

iESE Ltd 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Improvement and Efficiency South East (iESE) began as one of nine Regional Improvement and 

Efficiency Partnerships, established to work with councils across the South East to facilitate 

projects that drive efficiencies. In 2011, iESE became a not for profit making company limited by 

guarantee. Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council both became members of the 

company and each nominates the Leader as a Director and the Deputy Leader as the 

representative at Annual General Meetings.  

 

Local Government Association – Coastal Issues Special Interest Group 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Quarterly meetings a year 

Venue: London and/or a coastal location. 

Time/Duration: Daytime 

As confirmed by LGA for the foreseeable future, all meetings will take place via Zoom. 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: 

To increase awareness and debate at a national and European level of environmental, economic 

and social issues and concerns that directly affect or which may so affect coastal, estuarine and 

maritime communities. To act as a focus for liaison between local authorities and other bodies 

representing coastal, estuarine and maritime interests; To secure cross-departmental coordination 

within Central Govt on coastal, estuarine and maritime issues with a view to ensuring consistency 

in policy and provision of resources. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1. 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Attend and participate in meetings of the 

SIG 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Local Government Association - General Assembly 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Annual 

Venue: National venue, to coincide with the LGA Annual Conference 

Time/Duration: 11.45am - usually lasts between 45 minutes and 2 hours (held before lunchtime on 

the first day of the Conference and precedes the formal opening of the Annual Conference) 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: As set out in the LGA’s Articles of 

Association and Governance Framework. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 (plus 1 substitute) 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Voting 

1023



370 

TERM: One Year 

 

PATROL (Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London) - Adjudication Joint Committee 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Annually in July. 

Venue: Church House, Great smith St, Westminster, London SW1P 3NZ 

Time/Duration: 11am-2pm 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

Statutory requirement for all councils undertaking civil parking or bus lane enforcement to make 

provision for independent adjudication and this is delivered through the Traffic Penalty Tribunal. 

The PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee Agreement (to which both Adur District Council and 

Worthing Borough Councils are party) requires nomination of a Councillor to the Joint Committee, 

even if those Councillors are unable to attend meetings. 

PATROL has been established to enable councils undertaking civil parking enforcement in 

England and Wales and civil bus lane and moving traffic enforcement in Wales to exercise their 

functions under section 81 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA) and Regulations 17 and 18 

of the Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General Regulations 2007. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: There are no specific requirements for nominees except for 

being a Councillor, however they generally have an involvement in transport or environmental 

matters. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 - Cabinet Member (may also provide a substitute). (It is 

suggested that the Cabinet Member for the Environment be appointed) 

TERM: Annual Appointment 

 

Quality Bus Partnership 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Meetings currently on hold. 

Venue: tba 

Time/Duration: tba 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

The Quality Partnership hasn't met for a while following various reorganisations at this end, 

although there is a desire from bus operators to get it going again asap.  

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 3 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Represent local issues. 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

South Downs Leisure 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

1024



371 

Frequency: 4-6 meetings per year 

Venue: Field Place 

Time/Duration: 6pm- 2.5hrs 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: 

To provide both indoor and outdoor facilities in the interest of social welfare for recreation or other 

leisure time, promote community participation in healthy recreational activities and any other such 

charitable purposes. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 2 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): 2 active Board members. To act as a 

Board member with voting powers. They would not be able to take up the position as Chair whilst 

serving as a Councillor. 

TERM: Three years from 2020 or until no longer a councillor (up to Council) 

 

South Downs National Park Authority 

(This is a joint appointment by the Leaders of Adur and Worthing Councils) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: The Authority meets 6 times per year; plus working groups, training sessions and 

workshops as required. Each SDNPA Member is appointed to one Committee. 

Appointments to Committees and Outside bodies are made at the AGM meeting in June: 

 Planning Committee convenes 12 times per year and have 12 Site Visits per year 

 Policy & Programme Committee convenes 6 times per year 

 Governance Committee convenes 5 times per year 

 Area Tours and development opportunities at least 6 times per year. 

 Local Plan monthly workshops  

Venue: Generally the South Downs Centre at Midhurst. 

Time/Duration: Authority 2:00pm - Committees 10-10:30am 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: The two main purposes of the 

SDNPA are to: conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage; and 

promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the South 

Downs National Park by the public. The overall purpose of the Member role on the NPA is to 

ensure that the NPA fulfils its objectives and does so in a way that best suits the special 

characteristics of the National Park. 

NUMBER OF APPOINTEES: 

1 Councillor appointed by Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council - Members of the 

SDNPA do not represent their appointing bodies on the Authority, but will, as an SDNPA Member, 

be responsible for ensuring that the SDNPA achieves the National Park Purposes and Duty, and 

does so in a way that best suits the National Park as a whole. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: 

1025



372 

Skills and Knowledge Framework table set by South Downs National Park Authority. South Downs 

National Park Authority Members are able to claim an allowance, together with travel and other 

expenses incurred in the course of their appointment. Commitment to involvement of typically 3 to 

4 days per month. 

(Appointment to alternate between ADC and WBC) 

TERM: 

An election serves as a trigger for the reappointment process or if the appointee resigns/ceases to 

be a member of the SDNPA or appointing Authority. Appointments must be confirmed if the 

member appointed has stood for re-election. Under the local choice functions this no longer has to 

be delegated to the Joint Strategic Committee for determination. 

The provisions in the Environment Act 1995 place certain restrictions on termination of 

membership. The effect of Para 2(5) of Schedule 7 to the Act is that a local authority-appointed 

member holds office with a National Park Authority until they cease to be a member of the 

appointing local authority, unless the appointing local authority terminates the appointment earlier 

in accordance with the provisions, in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, requiring that 

appointments to committees and external bodies reflect the political balance of the appointing 

authority 

However, even if there has been a recent change in political balance within a local authority, the 

effect of Para 1(c) of Schedule 1 to the 1989 Act is that the rules on maintaining political balance in 

appointments only apply to appointments to a national park authority of three seats or more (local 

authorities within the SDNPA only appoint one member to SDNPA). 

 

Sussex Police and Crime Panel (PCP) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Quarterly. 

Venue: Council Chamber, County Hall, Lewes. 

Time/Duration: 10:30am start 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

To hold the elected Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) to account. Main functions in brief:  

 to consider and make recommendations on the draft Police and Crime Plan;  

 to consider and make recommendations (including power of veto) on the PCC’s proposed 

precept; and conduct public confirmation hearings for the PCC’s proposed appointments to 

senior positions including Deputy PCC, CEO, CFO and Chief Constable (PCP has power of 

veto over proposed Chief Constable appointment); 

 to scrutinise the actions and decisions of the PCC. 

SKILLS/INTERESTS REQUESTED: An interest in local crime and policing and the new Police 

governance structures. Involvement in the authority’s community safety role. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 (plus 1 substitute) 

TERM: The term of office to be decided by a member’s own local authority. Only appointed while a 

councillor. ADC determination: Appointment to the Annual Meeting of the Council after the PCC 

elections; or the term of office of the appointed Councillor; or any resignation from office by the 

appointed Councillor. 

1026



373 

 

Tourism South East 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: throughout the year 

Venue: tba 

Time/Duration: Daytime ½ day 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: To sustain and improve tourism 

industry performance by working in partnership to maximise economic and social benefits from 

tourism in the region, whilst safeguarding assets. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): The representative has full voting rights 

and is eligible to be elected as a proactive member of the Board. Attendance at meetings ensures 

that the representative’s views are represented. 

TERM: Annual Appointment 

 

University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust (UHSussex) (formerly known as Western 

Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 12 

Venue: Worthing Hospital 

Time/Duration: Any 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: tba 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): tba 

TERM: As defined by the Trust 

 

Worthing Community Partnership T/A Worthing Community Chest 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 6 per year. 

Venue: Committee Room 2, Worthing Town Hall 

Time/Duration: Evening 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: To support the community via the 

community chest and partnership working with all other voluntary and community groups. 

Community development. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 1. 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Voting participating in community matters. 

Although the representative is appointed by the council, it is a personal appointment and therefore 

1027



374 

liability for the representative as they must be eligible and willing to be a director at Companies 

House and a trustee for the Charity Commission. It will require their personal home address and 

details. They must have a genuine interest and involvement in the decision making and willingness 

to be hands-on in a small charity with only 1 part time member of staff, more so than a trustee or 

company director in many other organisations. As they must be willing to learn, follow and adhere 

to the Memorandum and Articles as well as Company and Charity, Employment and Landlord Law 

and act for the decisions and work of the Community Chest. 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Worthing Homes Ltd – Members of the Board of the Company 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: The board meets once a month in a formal meeting; training or board lunch. 

Venue: tba 

Time/Duration: Meetings take place on a Thursday at 5.30pm 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: Housing Association owning and 

managing c4500 homes in Sussex 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: There are no set requirements in the rules for appointing 

councillors to the board. When a councillor vacancy occurs the Council is advised of the skills that 

are required on the board. It is then able to nominate interested councillors who are then 

interviewed in the same way as all other board candidates. If the nominee does not have the skills 

required, the board is under no obligation to appoint. Although the board makes the final selection, 

in line with the Council’s procedures this is ratified by way of a formal nomination by the Council.  

2 places; names are put forward by the Executive Leader. 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Board Member and Company Director. 

Once appointed the Board Member acts in their own capacity not as a Worthing Borough 

Councillor. Not for profit company limited by share. Registered charity and registered with the 

Homes and Communities Agency. 

The representative does not have to be an elected representative. 

To assist the association in its operations.  

TERM: Maximum of 6 years via two terms of 3 years 

 

Worthing Town Centre Initiative 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: Monthly. 

Venue: Chatsworth Hotel. 

Time/Duration: At the Chatsworth Hotel for 2 hours daytime. 

TERMS OF REFERENCE/FUNCTION OF ORGANISATION: Town Centre management and 

business improvement district. To be clean, safe and vibrant, a lively heart of the community, 

where visitors are engaged and businesses are inspired and prosperous. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 2 

1028



375 

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): To ensure projects meet with Council 

Policy. To advise on the best way to gain Council support and/or adhere to Council Policy. Ensure 

the relevant Council Officers and Members at the Council are aware of the Worthing Town Centre 

Initiative and Worthing BID activities. Provide monthly updates on Council projects affecting the 

Town Centre. 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

Worthing Twinning Association 

DETAILS OF MEETINGS: 

Frequency: 6 per year. 

Venue: Worthing Town Hall 

Time/Duration: 2.5 hours evening 

TYPE OF BUSINESS: 

To promote and foster friendship and understanding between people of Worthing and twinned 

areas. Encourage visits, personal contacts especially between children and young people, to 

broaden mutual understanding of culture, education and commercial activities. 

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES: 3 representatives in total, can be officers. 1 must be the 

current Mayor.  

ROLE OF REPRESENTATIVE (VOTING/OBSERVER): Voting, observer or active participant. To 

have enthusiasm for the Association’s aims and possibly provide advice on occasions. 

TERM: Annual appointment 

 

  

1029



376 

PART 9 – ADUR/WORTHING JOINT COMMITTEE AGREEMENT 

 
DATED 27th July 2007 
Amended 1s May 2011 

Amended 7th October 2011 
Amended 17th May 2013 

Amended 10th November 2016 
Amended 3rd December 2018 

Amended 25th September 2019 
Amended 12th May 2020 

Amended 7th February 2024 
 

(1) ADUR DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

and 
 

(2) WORTHING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

_______________________________________________________ 
 

An Agreement (1) for the employment of staff (2) to provide 
services jointly and (3) to establish Joint Committees for Adur 

District Council and Worthing Borough Council 
 

 
Mrs Susan Sale  

Head of Legal Services 

Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council 

Town Hall 

Chapel Road 

Worthing  

West Sussex 

BN11 1HA 

DX 142960 Worthing 10 

Mr Andrew Mathias 

Senior Solicitor 

Adur District Council and Worthing 

Borough Council 

Town Hall 

Chapel Road 

Worthing 

West Sussex 

BN11 1HA 

DX 142960 Worthing 10 

 

 
CONTENTS 
 
Clause  Description              Page No. 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND ........................................................................................... 377376 
2.0 DEFINITIONS .............................................................................................. 378377 
3.0 PRELIMINARY MATTERS ........................................................................... 380379 
4.0 THE JOINT COMMITTEES .......................................................................... 380379 
5.0 UNRESOLVED DECISIONS ........................................................................ 387386 
6.0 DECISIONS RELEVANT TO A SINGLE AUTHORITY ................................. 387386 
7.0 OFFICER SUPPORT ................................................................................... 388387 
8.0 THE SERVICES ........................................................................................... 388387 
9.0 EXPENSES ................................................................................................. 388387 
10.0 EXTENSION ................................................................................................ 389388 
11.0 TERMINATION AND REVIEW ..................................................................... 389388 
12.0 DISPUTE RESOLUTION ............................................................................. 390389 

Formatted: Superscript

1030

file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518825
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518826
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518827
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518828
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518829
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518830
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518831
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518832
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518833
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518834
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518835
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518836


377 

13.0 ASSETS....................................................................................................... 390389 
14.0 LIABILITIES ................................................................................................. 391390 
15.0 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS ........................................................ 391390 
16.0 NOTICES ..................................................................................................... 391390 
17.0 RIGHTS AND DUTIES RESERVED ............................................................ 391390 
18.0 LEGAL AND OTHER FEES ......................................................................... 391390 
19.0 PROVISION OF STATISTICAL INFORMATION, ACCOUNTS AND OTHER 
 DOCUMENTS ETC ...................................................................................... 391390 
20.0 AUDIT .......................................................................................................... 392391 
21.0 STATUS....................................................................................................... 392391 
22.0 ANTI-CORRUPTION.................................................................................... 392391 
23.0 DISCRIMINATION ....................................................................................... 392391 
24.0 HUMAN RIGHTS ......................................................................................... 393391 
25.0 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ................................................................... 393392 
26.0 DATA PROTECTION ................................................................................... 393392 
27.0 SURVIVAL OF THIS AGREEMENT ............................................................. 393392 
28.0 WHOLE AGREEMENT ................................................................................ 393392 
29.0 WAIVER....................................................................................................... 393392 
30.0 SEVERANCE ............................................................................................... 393392 
31.0 CLAUSE HEADINGS ................................................................................... 393392 
32.0 LAW ............................................................................................................. 393392 
33.0 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 ........................... 394392 
34.0 NON-ASSIGNMENT .................................................................................... 394392 
SCHEDULE 1 .............................................................................................................. 395394 
SCHEDULE 2 .............................................................................................................. 395394 
 
 
THIS AGREEMENT is made on the 27th of July 2007 and amended on the 1st May 2011, 7th October 
2011, 17th May 2013, 10th November 2016, 3rd December 2018, and 25th September 2019, and 12th 
May 2020 and 7th February 2024 
 
BETWEEN 
 
(1) Adur District Council whose principal office is at c/o Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing BN11 

1HA ('Adur') 
 
(2) Worthing Borough Council whose principal office is at Town Hall, Chapel Road, Worthing 

BN11 1HA (‘Worthing’) 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
1.1 Adur and Worthing agreed in 2007 to deliver functions and services through a Joint Officer 

Structure and a Joint Committee Structure. 
 
1.2 The Strategic Purposes of such a co-ordinated approach are: 
 

(a) to optimise the availability of skills and resources available to the two  Councils; 
(b) to achieve best value in the delivery of services;  
(c) to secure the most economic, efficient and effective use of resources; 
(d) to secure the reduction of operational costs; 
(e) to maximise the opportunities for securing funding from outside bodies  including 

Government;  
(f) to reduce reliance on outside bodies to improve bargaining power in relation to outside 

bodies and to increase capacity and capability within the constituent Councils; 
(g) to provide and promote a customer-orientated approach to service delivery; 
(h) to support the community strategies led by the constituent Councils and prepared from 

time to time to reflect the strategic direction of the organisations; and  

Formatted: Superscript

1031

file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518837
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518838
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518839
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518840
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518841
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518842
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518843
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518843
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518844
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518845
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518846
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518847
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518848
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518849
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518850
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518851
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518852
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518853
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518854
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518855
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518856
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518857
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518858
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518859
file://///awiken-app/iken$/Documents/NonClient/q5wflsz9dyyvdhhv5kisj/00836007.doc%23_Toc524518860


378 

(i) wherever possible, to secure a joint response to strategic and other issues affecting the 
two Councils. 

 
1.3 In order to achieve the Strategic Purposes set out in clause 1.2 the Councils have agreed: 
 

(a) to establish: 
 

(i) a Joint Committee to provide strategic direction for the Joint Services and 
determine all delegated Executive functions relating to the Joint Services on 
behalf of the two Councils, to be known as the Joint Strategic Committee; 

(ii)  a Joint Individual Cabinet Member decision-making process in respect of all 
Executive functions of the Joint Services delegated to Individual Cabinet 
Members, encompassed in the Cabinet Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
Constitution; 

(iii)  a Joint Committee to agree, and where appropriate recommend to the Councils, 
the appointment of and staffing matters in relation to Senior Staff, in accordance 
with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution, known 
as the Joint Senior Staff Committee; 

(iv) a Joint Committee to determine Non-Executive staff matters and to determine 
employment policies, known as the Joint Staff Committee.  

(v) a Joint Overview & Scrutiny Committee to exercise the scrutiny function in relation 
to the Joint Services of the two Councils; 

(vi) a Joint Audit & Governance Committee to determine or make recommendations 
to the Councils on all Non-Executive functions that are not reserved to any other 
Committee, Joint Committee or Full Councils, and to establish a Joint Sub-
Committee to deal with Standards matters relating to either Council; 

(vii) a Joint Remuneration Panel, to make proposals to the Joint Audit & Governance 
Committee, as to Members Allowances . 

 
(b) to establish a Joint Officer structure to deliver all of the services of Adur and Worthing 

Councils jointly, subject to any other agreements made under s101 Local Government 
Act 1072 in respect of joint delivery of services. 

 
IT IS AGREED as follows 
 
2.0 DEFINITIONS 

Adur: Adur District Council 

Amendment Date: 12th May 20207th February 2024 

Appendix: Appendix to this Agreement 

Assets: All assets relating to the delivery of the joint services including contracts, 

machinery, computers, information, materials and equipment  

Chief Executive: Chief Executive of the Councils 

Clause: Clause in this Agreement 

Commencement 

Date: 

27th July 2007 

Contract Standing 

Orders: 

Joint Contract Standing Orders of Adur District Council and Worthing 

Borough Council 

Costs: Costs include income, expenditure, cashable savings and efficiency savings 

Formatted: Superscript

1032



379 

Council: One of Adur District Council or Worthing Borough Council as the case may 

be 

Councils: Both Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council 

Executive: The Leader and Executive of the relevant Council(s) 

Executive 

arrangements: 

Construed in accordance with Part II of the Local Government Act 2000, as 

amended  

Expenses: Expenses as defined by clause 8 

Financial 

Regulations: 

The Joint Financial Regulations of Adur District Council and Worthing 

Borough Council 

Head of Paid 

Service: 

The Head of Paid Service under Section 4 of the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989 who shall be the Chief Executive of the Councils 

Intellectual 

Property Rights: 

All rights available for the protection of any discovery, invention, name, 

design, process or work in which copyright or any rights in the nature of 

copyright subsist and all patents, copyrights, registered designs, design 

rights, trade marks, service marks and other forms of protection from time to 

time subsisting in relation to the same, including the right to apply for any 

such protection and trade secrets and other unpublished information 

JAGC: The Joint Audit & Governance Committee established by Clause 4 

Joint Committees: the Joint Committees established by Clause 4 

JOSC: the Joint Overview & Scrutiny Committee established by Clause 4 

Legal Adviser The Head of Legal Services Assistant Director, Legal & Democratic Services 

of Adur District Council and Worthing Borough Council, or their 

representative 

Monitoring Officer: The Officer appointed under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing 

Act 1989, who shall be the Head of Legal Services Assistant Director, Legal 

& Democratic Services of Adur District Council and Worthing Borough 

Council 

Officers: Officers employed within the Joint Officer Structure referred to in this 

Agreement 

Section 151 

Officer: 

The Head of Financial Services Assistant Director, Finance of Adur District 

Council and Worthing Borough Council who shall be the Chief Financial 

Officer  

Service: Any one of the Joint Services provided by the Councils 

JSC The Joint Strategic Committee established by Clause 4 

JSSC: the Joint Senior Staff Committee established by Clause 4 

The Joint 

Services: 

All services are joint services provided by the Councils unless specifically 

reserved to an individual Council as specified in Schedule 1 

1033



380 

JSfC:  the Joint Staff Committee established by Clause 4 

Worthing: Worthing Borough Council 

 
2.1 A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as amended, extended or 

re-enacted from time to time. 
 
2.2 A reference to a statute or statutory provision shall include all subordinate or secondary 

legislation made from time to time under the statute or statutory provisions.  
 
IT IS AGREED as follows 
 
PRELIMINARY MATTERS 
3.1 This Agreement is made pursuant to: 
 
 (a) Sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972 (delegation to joint 

committees) 
 (b) Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 (duty to secure best value) 
 (c) Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 (general power of competence) 
 (d) Sections 14 and 20 of the Local Government Act 2000 and The Local Authorities 

(Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2000/2851 (joint 
arrangements for the exercise of Executive functions), as amended. 

 
3.2 This Agreement has been entered into: 
 
 (a) by Adur by virtue of the resolution of Adur District Council dated 23rd July 2007 and 

(b) by Worthing by virtue of the resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 25th July 
2007 and amended: 

(c) by Adur by virtue of a resolution of Adur District Council dated 7th April 2011 and 
(d) by Worthing by virtue of a resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 12th April 2011 

and 
(e) By Adur by virtue of a resolution of Adur District Council dated 6th October 2011 and 
(f) By Worthing by virtue of a resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 4th October 

2011 and 
(g) by Adur by virtue of a resolution of Adur District Council dated 20th December 2012 and 
(h) By Worthing by virtue of a resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 18th 

December 2012 and 
(i) By Adur by virtue of a resolution of Adur District Council dated 24th October 2016 and 
(j) By Worthing by virtue of a resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 25th October 

2016 and 
(k) By Adur by virtue of a resolution of Adur District Council dated 1st November 2018 and 
(l) By Worthing by virtue of a resolution of Worthing Borough Council dated 30th October 

2018 and 
(m) By Worthing and Adur by virtue of the Monitoring Officer making minor amendments 

under delegated authority dated 25th September 2019. 
(n) By Worthing and Adur by virtue of the Monitoring Officer making minor and/or 

inconsequential amendments under delegated authority dated 12th May 2020 
(n)(o) By Worthing and Adur by virtue of the Monitoring Officer making minor and 

inconsequential amendments under delegated authority dated 7th February 2024. 
 

3.3 This Agreement shall commence on the commencement date and shall, subject to Clause 
10 (termination and review) and Clause 9 (extension) terminate on 31st March 2028.  

 
THE JOINT COMMITTEES 

Formatted: Superscript

Commented [TS1]: Is this the correct wording to use? 

1034



381 

The Joint Committees shall not be bodies corporate or have the functions of acquiring or holding 
assets, employing staff or entering into contracts. For the avoidance of doubt such functions shall 
be undertaken by one of the Councils as an administering Council. 
 
A Schedule of Joint meetings shall be agreed annually by each Council and additional meetings may 
be called in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4.2. The Director for Communities 
Sustainability & Resources shall be the Proper Officer for the signing of documents relating to the 
calling of meetings. 
 
Call-in of decisions of Joint Committees exercising Executive functions are provided for in the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 4 of each Council’s Constitution. Non-Executive 
decisions may not be called in and therefore the procedure does not apply to decisions of JOSC, 
JSSC, JSfC and JGC.  
 
4.1 Joint Strategic Committee 
 
The Councils shall establish a Joint Strategic Committee (‘JSC’) which: 
 

(a) shall comprise of the Cabinet of each Council. The Cabinet model adopted by each 
Council ensures that the Members appointed to JSC are empowered to take Executive 
decisions.  

(b) shall have the following terms of reference: 
1. To determine all matters relating to Executive functions of Joint Services, as set out 

in the Terms of Reference in Part 3 of the Constitution, unless specifically reserved 
to the Council’s individual Executives as specified in Schedule 1, either meeting as 
individual Executives or as sub-committees under 4.1(l);; 

2. To provide strategic management of the Joint Services; 
3. To provide strategic direction to both Councils in relation to all Executive functions 

unless specifically reserved to the Cabinets of the individual Councils as specified 
in Schedule 1; 

4. To set strategic targets in respect of the Joint Services; 
5. To agree draft revenue budgets for the implementation of each Joint Service which 

comply with the agreed budget strategy set by the Councils and which clearly show 
the costs to be borne by each Council including the allocation of any resulting 
savings or efficiencies and to recommend them to the Councils, via the individual 
Executives; 

6. To annually agree draft capital budgets for the Joint Services which comply with the 
agreed budget strategies set by the Councils and which clearly show the costs to 
be borne by each Council; 

7. To receive any reports in respect of any Executive function from either Council; 
8. To determine significant changes to the nature of the Joint Services delivered to 

the public in one or both Council areas; 
9. To determine any matters assigned as Executive functions in accordance with the 

Local Choice functions set out in Part 3 of the Constitution. 
(c) If there is an inequality between the Councils as to the number of Members on each 

Executive, all Cabinet Members may attend and participate in meetings of the Joint 
Strategic Committee as full voting Members. 

(d) One representative from Adur Consultative Forum shall be a co-opted non-voting 
Member on the Joint Strategic Committee for any item concerning the Housing 
Revenue Account, terms and conditions of tenancies or leaseholds, leasehold service 
charges and any other matter directly affecting housing tenants or leaseholders which 
do not have a general effect on other residents. 

(e)  In the event of a Member being unable to attend a meeting of JSC, there is no ability 
to appoint a Substitute Member. 

(f)  The JSC shall meet on at least four occasions in any municipal year. One of those 
meetings shall be scheduled to ensure that any proposed budgets can properly and 

1035



382 

fully be considered by each of the Councils as part of their respective budget-making 
processes. 

(g) The JSC shall meet during May to October of each municipal year at Worthing Town 
Hall and in November to April of each municipal year at the Shoreham Centre, or 
such other location as the Chair of the Committee shall agree. 

(h) The Executive Leader in whose area a meeting should take place shall be the Chair of 
the meeting and, in their absence, the Deputy Leader of that Council shall be the Chair. 
In the absence of both the Leader and Deputy Leader, the Leader of the other Council 
shall act as Chair of the meeting. 

(i) Each Member of JSC shall have one vote in its proceedings. The Chair shall not have 
a casting vote. 

(j) The JSC may arrange for the discharge of their functions by an Officer and in doing so 
will set out clearly any limits upon such delegation. 

(k) The JSC may establish working groups to assist them in their work and in doing so will 
set clear terms of reference for them. Such working groups will not be decision-making 
bodies.  

(l) JSC may establish sub-committees consisting solely of the Members of one Council, 
to consider matters solely relating to that Council. 

(m) For a meeting of JSC to be quorate there must be at least 4 members present and: at 
least two Members present from each Council where the business of the Committee 
relates to both the District of Adur and the Borough of Worthing; or at least one Member 
present from each Council where the business of the Committee relates to either the 
District of Adur or the Borough of Worthing. 

 
4.2 Individual Cabinet Member Decisions 
 

The Councils shall establish a process for the taking of decisions jointly by Individual Cabinet 
Members from each Council, encompassed in the Cabinet Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
Constitution, which includes: 

 
(a) where a decision relating to an Executive function which falls within the remit and 

portfolio of an Individual Cabinet Member from each Council and relates to a Joint 
Service, the relevant report shall be sent simultaneously by Democratic Services 
Officers to both Individual Cabinet Members from each Council; 

(b) the Individual Cabinet Members will consult with one another in an attempt to make a 
Joint decision; 

(c) if the two Individual Cabinet Members agree on the decision that is to be made, then 
they may make a Joint decision; 

(d) if the two Individual Cabinet Members do not agree on the decision that is to be made, 
then no decision is made, and the matter must be referred to the Joint Strategic 
Committee for determination. 

 
4.3 Joint Senior Staff Committee 
 

The Councils shall establish the Joint Senior Staff Committee (‘the JSSC’) which: 
 

(a) shall comprise three Councillors from each Council (or such greater number of 
Councillors as the Councils may from time to time agree, providing there is equal 
representation from each Council) at least one of whom shall be a Cabinet Member 
and at least one of whom shall be a Non-Executive Member; 

(b) shall be politically balanced for each Council in accordance with the provisions of the 
Local Government & Housing Act 1989; 

(c) shall have the terms of reference in respect of all staff employed in the Joint Officer 
structure, as set out in Part 3 of the Constitution, and shall operate in accordance with 
the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

(d) In the event of an appointed Councillor being unable to attend, any meeting of the 
JSSC, the relevant Political Group Leader may appoint a substitute Member, provided 

1036



383 

that prior written notice of such substitution is given to the Director for 
CommunitiesSustainability & Resources as Proper Officer for such matters.  

(e) shall meet on such occasions as is necessary to determine any business within its 
terms of reference. 

(f) shall meet from May to October each year at Worthing Town Hall and from November 
to April each year at the Shoreham Centre, or such other location as the Chairs of the 
Committee shall agree. 

(g) The Chair and Vice Chair of the JSSC Committee shall be appointed by each Council 
at its Annual Council meeting. 

(h) The Chair of JSSC in whose area a meeting should take place shall be the Chair of 
that meeting and, in their absence, the Vice Chair shall be the Chair. In the absence of 
both the Chair and Vice Chair, the Chair of JSSC from the other Council shall act as 
Chair of the meeting. 

(i) Each Member of JSSC shall have one vote in its proceedings, to include Substitute 
Members appointed in accordance with this Agreement. The Chair of JSSC shall have 
a casting vote. 

(j) JSSC may arrange for the discharge of their functions by an Officer and in doing so will 
set out clearly any limits upon such delegation.  

(k) JSSC may establish working groups to assist them in their work and in doing so will set 
clear terms of reference for them. Such working groups shall not be decision-making 
bodies. 

(l) JSSC may establish sub-committees consisting solely of the Members of one Council, 
to consider matters solely relating to that Council. 

(m) For a meeting of JSSC to be quorate there must be at least 4 Members present and: 
at least 2 Members present from each Council where the business of the Committee 
relates to both the District of Adur and the Borough of Worthing; or at least one Member 
present from each Council where the business of the Committee relates to either the 
District of Adur or the Borough of Worthing. 

 
4.4 Joint Staff Committee 
 

The Councils shall establish the Joint Staff Committee (‘JSfC’) which 
 

(a) shall comprise three Councillors from each Council (or such greater number of 
Councillors as the Councils may agree from time to time, providing there is equal 
representation from each Council); 

(b) shall be politically balanced from each Council in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 

(c) shall have the terms of reference in respect of all staff employed in the Joint Officer 
structure, as set out in Part 3 of the Constitution, and shall operate in accordance with 
the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

(d) In the event of an appointed Councillor being unable to attend, any meeting of the 
JSfC, they may nominate a Substitute Member to attend, provided that prior written 
notice of such substitution is given to the Director for CommunitiesSustainability & 
Resources as the Proper Officer for such matters. 

(e) The JSfC shall meet on such occasions as is necessary to determine any business 
within its terms of reference. 

(f) The JSfC shall meet from May to October each year at the Worthing Town Hall and 
from November to April each year at the Shoreham Centre, or such other location as 
the Chair of the Committee shall agree. 

(g) The Chair and Vice Chair of JSfC shall be appointed by the relevant Authority at its 
Annual Council meeting. 

(h) The Chair of JSfC in whose area a meeting should take place shall be the Chair of 
that meeting and, in their absence, the Vice Chair shall be the Chair. In the absence 
of both the Chair and Vice Chair, the Chair of JSfC from the other Council shall act as 
Chair of the meeting. 

1037



384 

(i) Each Member of JSfC shall have one vote in its proceedings (to include Substitute 
Members appointed in accordance with this Agreement). The Chair of JSfC shall 
have a casting vote.  

(j) JSfC may arrange for the discharge of its functions by an Officer and in doing so will 
set out clearly any limits upon such delegation. 

(k) JSfC may establish working groups to assist them in their work and in doing so will 
set clear terms of reference for them. Such working groups shall not be decision-
making bodies.  

(l) JSfC may establish a Sub-Committee consisting solely of the Members of one 
Council to consider matters solely relating to that Council. 

(m) For a meeting of JSfC to be quorate there must be at least 4 Members present and: 
at least 2 Members present from each Council where the business of the Committee 
relates to both the District of Adur and the Borough of Worthing; or at least one 
Member present from each Council where the business of the Committee relates to 
either the District of Adur or the Borough of Worthing. 

 
4.5 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

The Councils shall establish the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JOSC) which: 
 

(a) shall comprise eight Members from each Council (or such other number of Members 
as the Councils may from time to time agree, providing equal representation from each 
Council); 

(b) shall be politically balanced for each Council in accordance with the provisions of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 

(c) shall have the terms of reference set out in Article 6 of each Council’s Constitution and 
shall operate in accordance with the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in 
Part 4 of the Constitution; 

(d) shall exercise the overview and scrutiny functions of the two Councils in relation to all 
matters, except those to be determined by each Council’s Individual Executives as set 
out in Schedule 1 to this Agreement; 

(e) the Councils may each establish an Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) to 
exercise the overview and scrutiny functions of the Councils in relation to matters 
reserved to each Council’s individual Executive as set out in Schedule 1 to this 
aAgreement;  

(f) one Member of Adur Consultative Forum shall be a co-opted non-voting Member of the 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee for any item concerning the Housing Revenue 
Account, terms and conditions of tenancies or leaseholds, leasehold service charges 
and any other matter directly affecting housing tenants or leaseholders which do not 
have a general effect on other residents; the Member should not be the same Adur 
Consultative Forum representative who sits as a co-opted Member of JSC for the same 
purpose. 

(g) shall not comprise any Cabinet Members within its membership. In making its 
appointments to the JOSC each Council will ensure that its Members are not Cabinet 
Members;  

(h) In the event of an appointed Councillor being unable to attend, any meeting of the 
JOSC, the relevant Member may appoint a Substitute Member to attend, provided that 
prior written notice of such substitution is given to the Director for 
CommunitiesSustainability & Resources as the Proper Officer for such matters; 

(i) The JOSC shall meet on at least four occasions in any municipal year.  
(j) The JOSC shall meet in May to October of each municipal year at the Shoreham Centre 

and in November to April of each municipal year in Worthing Town Hall, or such other 
location as the Chair of the Committee shall agree; 

(k) The Chair and Vice Chair of JOSC shall be appointed by the relevant Council at its 
Annual Council meeting. The Chair of the JOSC of the Council in whose area a meeting 
should take place shall be the Chair of that meeting and, in their absence, the Vice 
Chair of the JOSC from the Council where the meeting should take place will be the 

1038



385 

Chair. In the absence of both, the Chair of JOSC from the other Council shall act as 
Chair of that meeting. 

(l) Each Member of JOSC shall have one vote in its proceedings (to include Substitute 
Members appointed in accordance with this Agreement). The Chair of JOSC shall not 
have a casting vote.  

(m) JOSC may arrange for the discharge of their functions by an Officer and in doing so will 
set out clearly any limits upon such delegation. 

(n) JOSC may establish working groups to assist them in their work and in doing so will 
set clear terms of reference for them. Such working groups shall not be decision-making 
bodies. 

(o) JOSC may establish sub-committees consisting solely of the Members of one Council 
to consider matters solely relating to that Council. 

(p) For a meeting of JOSC to be quorate there must be at least 4 Members present and: 
at least 2 Members present from each Council where the business of the Committee 
relates to both the District of Adur and the Borough of Worthing; or at least one Member 
present from each Council where the business of the Committee relates to either the 
District of Adur or the Borough of Worthing. 

 
4.6 Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
 
 The Councils shall establish a Joint Audit & Governance Committee (‘JAGC’) which shall: 
 

(a) comprise six Councillors from each Council (or such other number of Councillors as the 
Councils may from time to time agree, providing there is equal representation from each 
Council); 

(b)  be politically balanced for each Council in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989; 

(c)  have the terms of reference set out in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution;  
(d) have no more than one Executive Member from each Council in its membership.  
(e) In the event of an appointed Councillor being unable to attend any meeting of the JAGC, 

the relevant Member may appoint a Substitute Member to attend, provided that prior 
written notice of such substitution is given to the Director for Communities Sustainability 
& Resources as the Proper Officer for such matters. 

(f) The JAGC shall meet on at least four occasions in any municipal year.  
(g) The JAGC shall meet from May to October each year at the Shoreham Centre and from 

November to April each year at Worthing Town Hall, or such other location as the 
Chairs of the Committee shall agree.  

(h) The Chair and Vice Chair of JAGC shall be appointed by each Council at its Annual 
Council meeting. 

(i) The Chair and Vice Chair of any meeting of JAGC shall be the Chair and Vice Chair of 
JAGC of the Council in whose area a meeting should take place. In the absence of the 
Chair and Vice Chair of JAGC for the Council in whose area the meeting should take 
place, the Chair of JAGC from the other Council will act as Chair for that meeting. 

(j) Each Member of JAGC shall have one vote in its proceedings (to include Substitute 
Members appointed in accordance with this Agreement). The Chair of JAGC shall not 
have a casting vote. 

(k) JAGC may arrange for the discharge of its functions by an Officer and in doing so will 
set out clearly any limits upon such delegation. 

(l) JAGC may establish working groups to assist them in their work and in doing so will set 
clear terms of reference for them. Such working groups shall not be decision-making 
bodies.  

(m) JAGC may establish sub-committees consisting solely of the Members of one Council 
to consider matters solely relating to that Council.  

(n) For a meeting of JAGC to be quorate there must be at least 4 Members present and: 
at least 2 Members present from each Council where the business of the Committee 
relates to both the District of Adur and the Borough of Worthing; or at least one Member 

1039



386 

present from each Council where the business of the Committee relates to either the 
District of Adur or the Borough of Worthing. 

(o) The Councils’ Independent Persons, appointed under the Localism Act 2011, will be 
co-opted Members of Joint Audit & Governance Committee. 

 
4.7 Joint Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
 The Council shall establish a Joint Independent Remuneration Panel, which shall: 

 
(a) Comprise of four independent persons appointed in accordance with the Local 

Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2001. 
(b) carry out the functions set out in the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) 

Regulations, 2001. 
 

 Proposals of the Joint Independent Remuneration Panel are received by the Joint Audit & 
Governance Committee who will make recommendations to each Council as appropriate. 

 
4.8 Officers 
 
 The Joint Committees shall receive their legal advice from the Legal Adviser who shall also 

be the Monitoring Officer, or their representative. 
 
 The Joint Committees shall receive their financial advice from the Chief Financial Officer who 

shall also be the Section 151 Officer, or their representative. 
 
 The Joint Committees shall receive their advice (except that relating to legal, probity, and 

financial matters) from the Council’s Officers, as appropriate. 
 
4.9 Rules of Procedure 
 
 Rules of Procedures relating to Joint Committee structure are contained within each Council’s 

cConstitution. Where there is any conflict with the terms of this Agreement and the 
Constitution, advice will be taken from the Monitoring Officer as to the interpretation of 
provisions, and their determination will be final.  

 
4.10 Administrative Expenses 
 
 The administration expenses of the Joint Committees will be borne by the Councils in 

accordance with clause 8 below.  
 
4.11 Decision Making 
 
 Where decisions are taken by a Joint Committee the following principles and conditions, in 

addition to those contained in Article 12 of each Council’s Constitution, shall apply: 
 
 (a) powers shall be exercised in accordance with the Joint Contract Standing Orders and 

Joint Financial Regulations. 
 (b) the Joint Committees shall have proper regard to any resolution of the Councils. 
 (c) the Joint Committees shall satisfy themselves that any inter-Council consultation has 

been carried out. 
 (d) decision making by individual Cabinet Members should be undertaken in accordance 

with the Cabinet Procedure Rules in Part 4 of each Council’s Constitution.  
 (e) the taking of decisions shall be subject to there being appropriate and adequate 

budgetary provision. 
 (f) any decision which could attract legal liability shall be taken in consultation with the 

Legal Adviser or their representative. 

1040



387 

 (g) any decision which has financial implications shall be taken in consultation with the 
Chief Financial Officer and particularly in any case where JSC is considering making 
recommendations which involve increased expenditure in any budget they shall receive 
and incorporate in any report advice from the Chief Financial Officer or their 
representative. 

 (h) any decision which could involve the exercise by the Monitoring Officer of any of their 
powers shall be taken in consultation with them, or in their absence the Deputy 
Monitoring Officer. 

 (i) The exercise of functions by a Joint Committee shall have regard to all relevant 
considerations and shall not take into account irrelevant matters. In particular a Joint 
Committee must take proper account of the Councils’ duties to promote compliance 
with human rights legislation, social value, reduction of crime and disorder and 
promotion of equalities. 

 (j) The Joint Committees shall not authorise the entering into of obligations by or on behalf 
of the Councils beyond the expiry of the Term of this Agreement, unless the Councils 
have so agreed. 

 
5.0 UNRESOLVED DECISIONS 
5.1 There is an unresolved decision for the purposes of this clause if the Members of JSC, JOSC 

or JAGC fail to reach a decision upon the matter by a majority of their votes at a meeting.  
 
5.2 An unresolved decision of JSC shall be referred to the respective Leaders with a view to 

resolution by discussion and negotiation and thereafter either a Joint Decision Notice will be 
issued by them or the matter will be referred back to JSC for reconsideration and decision.  

 
5.3 An unresolved decision of the JOSC shall not be referred on for resolution. 
 
5.4 An unresolved decision of JAGC will either be referred to the next meeting of JAGC to allow 

a period of discussion and negotiation, or will be referred to full Council as the Committee 
was unable to determine the matter. 

 
5.5 Where there is an unresolved decision as set out in sections 5.2 and 5.4 above, advice should 

be taken from the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer and/or the Monitoring Officer, 
as appropriate, in seeking to resolve the matter. 

 
6.0 DECISIONS RELEVANT TO A SINGLE AUTHORITY 
6.1 This Clause applies where there is a matter which is solely the province of one Council and 

has not been reserved to the relevant Executive or sub-committee under clause 4.1(l). This 
clause does not apply to decisions of JSSC or JSfC.  

 
6.2 Where there is a matter which is solely within the province of one Council, the rules will be: 
 
 6.2.1 All Members of the Committee present may participate in the debate; 
 
 6.2.2 All Committee Members present may participate in the vote; 
 
 6.2.3 The decision shall be made by a majority vote of those present and voting, provided 

that the majority of those representatives of the relevant Council shall be part of that 
majority. 

 
 6.2.4 If the overall majority of those present and voting does not include the majority of 

the relevant Council, then the decision shall stand referred as follows: 
 

 Where it is a decision of JSC, to the relevant Executive or sub-committee 
under clause 4.1(l), who may hold a special meeting to determine the matter. 

 Where a decision of JAGC, to the next Council meeting of the relevant 
Council. 

1041



388 

 Where a decision of JOSC, to a meeting of OSC of the relevant Council or 
sub-committee under clause 4.3(l). 

 
6.3 Where the decision is one of a Joint Governance Sub-Committee determining an 

allegation that a Councillor has breached the Member Code of Conduct, the decision shall 
be made by a majority vote of those present and voting, provided that the majority of 
those representatives of the relevant Council shall be part of that majority. If not, or where 
there is no majority decision, then the matter will be referred to a meeting of the Joint 
Audit & Governance Committee. Should the Joint Audit & Governance Committee 
considering such a referred decision be unable to reach a majority decision which 
includes the majority of those representatives of the relevant Council, then the breach will 
stand as ‘not proven’.  

 
7.0 OFFICER SUPPORT 
7.1 The Councils shall establish a joint officer structure which shall: 
 

(a) be employed by Adur as lead authority under this Agreement as staff are transferred, 
appointed or employed within the joint officer structure. 

(b)  provide advice to both Councils 
(c)  provide services to both Councils 
(d)  not show bias towards one Council vis-à-vis the other in the provision of advice or 

services. 
 

7.2 The Chief Executive shall be the Head of Paid Service in respect of the joint officer structure 
and workforce and for each Council. 

 
7.3 The two Councils will appoint joint senior officers to fill the posts of Joint Chief Executive, 

Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service within the joint officer structure serving 
the Councils by means of the Joint Senior Staff Committee or Officer Employment Procedure 
Rules, as appropriate. 

 
7.4 The Councils shall ensure that each Council has a Head of Paid Service, a Monitoring Officer 

and a Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer). This to be achieved by way of employment 
by Adur and a secondment to Worthing of each office holder for the purposes of discharging 
their statutory duties at both Councils. 

 
7.5 Officers are to be empowered to act under the Scheme of Officer Delegations of each Council 

when providing services on behalf of that Council. 
 
7.6 The Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 apply to the 

transfer of staff from Worthing to Adur as lead authority for employment purposes and this 
constitutes a relevant transfer of an undertaking pursuant to regulation 3 thereof. 

 
7.7 The Councils shall agree financial arrangements as to the allocation of pension contributions 

including those relating to payments due in respect of the pension deficits of the two Councils 
upon the transfer, appointment or employment of staff within the joint officer structure. 

 
8.0 THE SERVICES 
8.1 The services providing the joint functions through a joint service, and the services providing 

a function through separate provision are set out in Schedule 1 to this Agreement. 
 
8.2 The costs of each joint service shall be shared by each Council in accordance with the terms 

of Schedule 2 
 
9.0 EXPENSES 
9.1 The expenses of the Joint Committee shall be borne 50% by Adur and 50% by Worthing. 
 

1042



389 

9.2 The expenses shall comprise: 
 

(a) the costs of and incidental to the holding of meetings of the Joint Committees, 
(b) the costs of legal, secretarial and financial support to the Joint Committees, 
(c) the costs of and incidental to the training of Members relating to the Joint Committees. 

 
9.3 The administration of the Joint Committees shall be shared between the relevant officers of 

the Councils until (1) there is an Agreement to alternative effect or (2) the joint officer structure 
is established for particular administrative services. This shall include legal, financial, human 
resources and democratic services administration. 

 
9.4 Income properly and solely paid for the Joint Committee (including grants) rather than to the 

constituent Councils individually shall be accounted for by the Chief Financial Officer and 
allocated if and as appropriate to the Councils. 

 
9.5 The Chief Financial Officer shall account to each of the Councils annually regarding the 

expenses of the Joint Committees by not later than 30th June following the end of the financial 
year. 

 
9.6 Payments due but not paid within 30 days of the invoice rendered pursuant to clause 8.5 

shall bear interest from the date of the invoice until payment at a rate of 2% above the 
Cooperative Bank plc base rate. 

 
10.0 EXTENSION 
10.1 This agreement may be extended by agreement in writing between the parties. 
 
11.0 TERMINATION AND REVIEW 
11.1 This Agreement shall continue until 31st March 2028 unless terminated in accordance with 

this clause or extended in accordance with clause 11. 
 
11.2 Either of the parties may terminate or withdraw from this Agreement before 31st March 2028 

only by giving to the other not less than two years' prior written notice to expire on 31st March 
in the relevant year. Such a decision to terminate or withdraw the Cabinet functions may only 
be made by the Cabinet of each Council, and in respect of the Non-Executive functions, each 
Council. 

 
11.3 In the event of termination however and whenever occurring the parties shall: 
 

(a) co-operate in terminating, modifying, restructuring, assigning or novating contractual 
arrangements entered into to mutual advantage and properly and timeously execute 
any documents necessary 

(b) enter into arrangements with the other party concerning the ownership and control of 
assets acquired, particularly where such assets may have been acquired for other 
parties or third parties 

(c) use reasonable endeavours to secure an amicable financial settlement 
(d) immediately transfer or return any property including data belonging to the other party 
(e) ensure that a fair and reasonable proportion of the staff within the joint officer structure 

are transferred promptly to the Council which is not the employer under this Agreement 
so that (1) each Council can maintain continuity in the provision of its services at the 
same level of effectiveness and efficiency as the other and (2) they become employed 
by the Council to which they are transferred. 

(f) The senior posts at the level of Chief Executive, Strategic Directors, Assistant Directors  
and Heads of Service shall be re-allocated between the two Councils so that each has 
half in number of the postholders concerned (with the Monitoring Officer and Section 
151 Officer being allocated to different Councils) SAVE THAT the Head of Service with 
responsibility for direct provision of housing shall go to Adur. 

 

1043



390 

11.4 In the event of one party wishing to terminate or withdraw from this Agreement before 31st 
March 2028 and the other party confirming in writing within three months of the receipt of the 
notice of termination its wish to continue this Agreement then the party wishing to terminate 
or withdraw from this Agreement shall  

 
(a) pay to the other party or direct to third parties (as may be appropriate) any additional 

costs which the other party may properly and reasonably incur by virtue of the early 
termination or withdrawal together with any professional and other costs properly and 
reasonably incurred by the other party in consequence of such early termination or 
withdrawal, and 

(b) indemnify and keep indemnified the other party from and against any claims, costs, 
losses and expenses arising from or in connection with such early termination or 
withdrawal. 

 
11.5 The parties may review and seek to amend this Agreement from time to time and (1) in any 

event they shall carry out a review as to the efficacy and relevance of its terms upon every 
seventh anniversary of the commencement date and (2) all changes arising upon such 
reviews shall only take effect upon the completion and sealing of a formal amending 
Agreement. 

 
12.0 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
12.1 In the event of a dispute concerning the construction or effect of this Agreement the matter 

shall be referred to the respective Leaders in consultation with the Chief Executive and such 
other officers as are appropriate with a view to resolution by discussion and negotiation. 

 
12.2 In the event that a decision or a matter in dispute cannot be resolved under clause 13.1 the 

matter will be referred to an arbitrator from a professional body appropriate to the matter in 
dispute. 

 
12.3 The arbitrator shall be appointed with the agreement of the two Councils or in the event that 

agreement cannot be reached by the President or other chief officer of the appropriate 
profession (such profession to be determined by the Chief Executive of the Councils). 

 
12.4 The resolution of unresolved disputes in respect of the expenses of the Joint Committees 

(referred to in clause 8) shall be determined in accordance with section 103(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 namely by a single arbitrator agreed on by the Councils or, in default 
of agreement, appointed by the Secretary of State. 

 
12.5 For the avoidance of doubt this clause remains in effect after the termination or expiry of this 

Agreement to confer powers on the parties to resolve matters remaining in dispute. 
 
13.0 ASSETS 
13.1 Each Council shall draw up a register of all its assets which will be applied for the purposes 

of the joint services controlled by the joint committees as at 1st April 2008. 
 
13.2 All assets acquired by the Councils for the purposes of the joint services controlled by the 

joint committees after 1st April 2008 shall be recorded on a register of shared assets, and 
incorporated into each authority’s register or balance sheet at the appropriate share. Those 
assets shall be acquired by Worthing but held in trust for the benefit of both Councils so that 
each has a share in the beneficial ownership of them in accordance with the statement to be 
prepared for each joint service under clause 7.3 (k).  

 
13.3 Each Council shall permit all staff employed under this Agreement reasonable use of all 

assets of the Councils for the purpose of discharging the joint services.  
 

1044



391 

13.4 Upon termination of this aAgreement all assets listed on the register of shared assets shall 
be valued and the assets shall be divided between the Councils in accordance with the share 
as shown on the balance sheet of the respective Councils. 

 
13.5 This Agreement has no application to any interests in land. Neither Council will acquire any 

rights or interest in land in respect of which the other Council has any right or interest. 
 
14.0 LIABILITIES 
14.1 The Councils shall be equally and severally liable to any third parties in respect of all claims, 

costs and expenses arising from (1) the employment of staff under this Agreement (2) the 
provision of joint services under this Agreement and (3) the use of assets under it.  

 
14.2 Each Council shall ensure that it has all appropriate insurances relating to public liability, 

employee liability, professional indemnity and Member indemnity to cover liabilities arising 
under clause 15.1 and (1) in relation to all functions and services provided by the joint officer 
structure and (2) in relation to the joint services.  

 
15.0 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS 
15.1 Each Council shall remain the owner of all intellectual property rights it owns at the date of 

this Agreement in any materials which it has created or the creation of which was undertaken 
by a third party which it commissioned to create those materials. 

 
15.2 Any new material created jointly by the Councils in the course of provision of the joint services 

shall belong to the parties jointly. 
 
15.3 Each Council hereby grants a licence to the other to use its intellectual property rights 

incorporated in or appearing from the materials referred to in clauses 16.1 and 16.2 for the 
purposes of the performance of this Agreement. 

 
16.0 NOTICES 
16.1 Any notice to be served under this Agreement shall be valid and effective if it is addressed to 

the Chief Executive and delivered by e-mail, fax, prepaid recorded delivery post or delivered 
by hand to the other Council’s principal offices. 

 
17.0 RIGHTS AND DUTIES RESERVED 
17.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall prejudice or fetter the proper exercise of any function by the 

Councils or their Officers. 
 
18.0 LEGAL AND OTHER FEES 
18.1 Each party shall bear its own legal and other fees in relation to the preparation and completion 

of this Agreement. 
 
19.0 PROVISION OF STATISTICAL INFORMATION, ACCOUNTS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 
ETC 
19.1 The parties shall make available to the other party such statistical information which each 

Council may from time to time reasonably require. 
 
19.2 Without prejudice to any provision in this Agreement requiring the keeping of records, the 

supply of statistics or the provision of information the parties shall keep such other records 
and details of or concerning the joint services, supplies or work delivered pursuant to this 
Agreement or their performance as the parties may require and shall produce or provide to 
the other copies whether kept electronically or in paper format, of such accounts, invoices, 
orders, contracts, receipts, statistics and other information or documents touching or 
concerning or arising from the joint services, supplies or work delivered pursuant to this 
Agreement or their performance or this Agreement as, when and in such form as each 
Council may reasonably require. 

 

1045



392 

19.3 Without prejudice to any provision in this Agreement the parties shall keep and maintain all 
necessary information and shall provide all necessary assistance to enable each Council to 
complete all necessary official returns or statistics related to this Agreement and the joint 
services, supplies or works delivered pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
19.4 The parties shall supply each other with such assistance and information as each Council 

may require to enable it to allocate such expenditure as each Council may incur under this 
Agreement and in relation to joint services, supplies or works delivered pursuant to this 
Agreement between their various respective budget heads. 

 
20.0 AUDIT 
20.1 Each Council's external and internal auditors shall have the like powers set out in the Local 

Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Each Council shall at all reasonable times (including 
following the termination for whatever reason of this Agreement) allow or procure for any 
auditor for the purposes of an external or internal or audit: 

 
(a) immediate access to 
(b) permission to copy and remove any copies of and 
(c) permission to remove the originals of 

  
 any books, records and information in the possession or control of either Council which in 

any way relates to or are or were used in connection with this Agreement or the provision of 
the joint services supplies and works delivered pursuant to this Agreement including (but 
without limitation) any of each Council's data and any such information stored on a computer 
system operated by another Council. 

 
20.2 Each Council will provide all practicable co-operation and afford all appropriate access to 

personnel and records in order to assist the requesting Council in carrying out any 
investigations which are already under way at the Commencement Date and any 
investigations which are carried out after the termination or expiry of this Agreement. 

 
21.0 STATUS 
21.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as establishing or implying any legal partnership 

or joint venture between the parties. 
 
22.0 ANTI-CORRUPTION  
22.1 Either Council may cancel this Agreement at any time and recover from the other the amount 

of any loss resulting from such cancellation if any of the following apply: 

(a) the other Council has offered or given or agreed to give to any person any gift or 
consideration as an inducement or reward (1) for doing or forbearing to do or for having 
done or forborne to do any action in relation to the obtaining or execution of the 
Agreement or any other contract with the Council (2) for showing or forbearing to show 
favour or disfavour to any person in relation to the Agreement or any other contract with 
the Council. 

(b) any person employed by or acting on behalf of the other Council (whether with or 
without the other council’s knowledge or consent) acts in a similar manner to that set 
out in (a) above. 

(c) in relation to any contract or potential contract with the Council the other Council or any 
person employed by or acting on behalf of the other Council shall have committed any 
offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916 or any amendment or 
replacement of them or shall have given any fee or reward the receipt of which is an 
offence under Sub Section (2) of Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

23.0 DISCRIMINATION 

1046



393 

23.1 The Councils shall not unlawfully discriminate within the meaning and scope of the provisions 
of the Race Relations Act 1976, the Sex Discrimination Act 1975 and 1986 or the Disability 
Discrimination Act 1995, Gender Recognition Act, 2004, Equality Act, 2010 and any other 
legislation prohibiting discrimination on any grounds whatsoever. The Councils shall take all 
reasonable steps to secure the observance of these provisions by its employees in the 
execution of the Agreement (and any statutory provisions amending or replacing the same). 

 
24.0 HUMAN RIGHTS 
24.1 The Councils in the performance of this Agreement shall comply with the provisions of the 

Human Rights Act 1998 in all respects as if the joint committees were public bodies within 
the meaning of the Act. The Councils shall indemnify or keep indemnified each other against 
all actions, claims, demands, proceedings, damages, losses, costs, charges and expenses 
whatsoever in respect of any breach by the one Council of this clause. 

 
25.0 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
25.1 It is agreed that the Councils are subject to the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act, 

2000. Each waives all claims of commercial or other confidentiality in respect of this 
document.  

 
26.0 DATA PROTECTION 
26.1 All data relating to the services or the recipient of any services undertaken by the Joint 

Committee shall remain the property of the Council on whose behalf that service is provided 
and that Council is the Data Controller. 

 
27.0 SURVIVAL OF THIS AGREEMENT 
27.1 In so far as any of the rights and powers of the parties provided for in this Agreement shall 

or may be exercised or exercisable after the termination or expiry of this Agreement the 
provisions of this Agreement conferring such rights and powers shall survive and remain in 
full force and effect notwithstanding such termination or expiry 

 
27.2 In so far as any of the obligations of the parties provided for in this Agreement remain to be 

discharged after the termination or expiry of this Agreement the provisions of this Agreement 
imposing such obligations shall survive and remain in full force and effect notwithstanding 
such termination or expiry 

 
28.0 WHOLE AGREEMENT 
28.1 This Agreement constitutes the whole agreement and understanding of the parties as to its 

subject matter and there are no prior or contemporaneous agreements between the parties. 
 
29.0 WAIVER 
29.1 Failure by any party at any time to enforce any provision of this Agreement or to require 

performance by the other or others of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be 
construed as a waiver of any such provisions and shall not affect the validity of this 
Agreement or any part or the right of that party to enforce any provision in accordance with 
its terms. 

 
30.0 SEVERANCE 
30.1 If any provision of this Agreement shall become or shall be declared by any court of 

competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable in any way, such invalidity or 
unenforceability shall in no way impair or affect any other provision all of which shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

 
31.0 CLAUSE HEADINGS 
31.1 The clause headings shall not be construed as part of the clauses. 
 
32.0 LAW 

1047



394 

32.1 This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England 
and the parties irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of the English courts. 

 
33.0 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 
33.1 The parties do not intend that any term of this Agreement should be enforceable by any third 

party as provided by the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999. 
 
34.0 NON-ASSIGNMENT 
34.1 Neither of the parties shall be entitled to assign this Agreement or any of its rights and 

obligations under it without the written consent of the other (which consent the other party 
may in its absolute discretion withhold). 

 
 
IN WITNESS of which this Agreement has been executed as a Deed on the first day before written 
 
Sealed with the Common Seal of  ) 
Adur District Council in the    ) 
presence of:    ) 
 
      Authorised signatory 
 
Sealed with the Common Seal of  ) 
Worthing Borough Council in   ) 
the presence of:   ) 
 
      Authorised signatory 

1048



395 

SCHEDULE 1 
 
All services of each Council will be regarded as Joint Services, other than those listed below. 
 
1.0 Services retained as a separate service by Adur District Council  

 
1.1 All matters relating to the Adur District Council Local Plan. 

 
1.2 All matters relating to the Adur District Council annual budget process. 
 
1.3 All matters relating to rent, fees and charges, connected to the provision and maintenance 

of Council housing stock, garages and leasehold property.  
 
2.0 Services retained as a separate service by Worthing Borough Council 
 
2.1 All matters relating to the Worthing Borough Council Local Plan 
 
2.2 All matters relating to the Worthing Borough Council annual budget process. 
 
 

SCHEDULE 2 
 

Cost allocation between the Councils 
 
Protocol for cost allocation in the Adur/Worthing partnership: 
 
Under joint working arrangements the allocation of costs becomes much more sensitive. Changes 
in allocation will affect not just individual services but could affect each authority’s budget (and final 
accounts). A gain for one authority will be a loss to another under the arrangement. 
 
There is no possible solution to this problem which will completely alleviate the risk to both authorities 
if the Councils are to comply with relevant professional guidelines and codes of practice. However, 
there are a number of measures which would help manage the risks. This note details those 
measures. 
 

1. Code directly to services where possible to minimise the amount to be allocated and 
consequently the amount which could be subject to controversy. 

2. Within the costs to be allocated, some will relate uniquely to services provided by one or other 
authority and some will relate to true joint services (for example AWS management). Those 
costs which relate uniquely to the services provided by one or other authority can continue to 
be allocated as present as changes in these will not affect the other Council.  

Those which are true joint costs will need to be subject to differing protocols. As part of this 
it will be sensible to review the current structure of the holding accounts and where possible 
separate out those groups of staff which deliver the services of one Council, from staff 
engaged on joint activity, again to minimise any areas of dispute. 
 

3. The service head will need to produce a service specification which should include the 
following: 

 The service specification – What are we delivering, to whom, to what standard, and how 
frequently? 

 The existing staff structures and the proposed staffing structure required to deliver the 
new service. 

 The existing baseline costs of service analysed between Adur and Worthing. 

1049



396 

 The new cost of service which should distinguish between costs which fall directly of 
Worthing, those which fall on Adur, and those which will need to be allocated between 
the two authorities. 

 The allocation basis for the joint service. The basis chosen should reflect the nature of 
the service delivered (for example number of invoices paid for creditors), and should be 
capable of being substantiated. 

 The overall impact on each authority’s budget of the new service. 

This will then determine the allocation of cost in the short term. 

4. Where the allocation of costs is across both Councils, the overriding principle must be one of 
stability. Consequently, having established a split of costs, this then should not be annually 
revised unless a trigger point is reached. Trigger points should include: 

 The overall resources devoted to the service need to be increased to meet demand.  

For example, it will be possible for the refuse and recycling service to accommodate a 
certain amount of growth in the number of households. However, a major development 
such as wWest Durrington may necessitate an increase to the number of refuse rounds 
and consequently increase the cost of refuse and recycling. At this point, the allocation 
of costs should be reviewed. 

 The current allocation does not reflect the long-term trend in use of the service.  

 The allocation of costs should be reviewed each year as part of the budget cycle. If over 
a three year period it transpires that the original allocation does not substantially reflect 
the average 3-year allocation, then the allocation should be changed. This should enable 
each authority to manage temporary changes to the allocations due to items such as 
project work. However, it may lead to the perception that one Council is getting better 
value than another. 

 
5.  The concept of ‘no detriment’ has been introduced to equalise any changes that might occur 

as a result of any of the above, although the actual details of such an arrangement still need 
to be established. 

 
6. The cost of the joint service for household waste collection and recycling shall be shared 

between the two Councils upon the basis of the ratio of the numbers of properties receiving 
the service in each area. Paragraph 4 of this schedule shall apply to any necessary review 
of this allocation. 

 
7. All the costs incurred by the Councils in employing the joint Chief Executive, Strategic 

Directors, Assistant Directors and Executive Heads of Services (including tax, pension, 
National Insurance and miscellaneous expenses incurred) shall be shared equally by the two 
Councils. 

 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

1050



Joint Audit and Governance Committee
21.03.2024

Key Decision [Yes/No]

Ward(s) Affected:

The Councils’ Surveillance Powers, Policy and Procedure

Report by the Monitoring Officer

Executive Summary

1. Purpose

1.1. To provide an update on the usage and activity of RIPA requests
during 2023/24.

1.2. To advise Members of the Monitoring Officer’s review of the Councils’
Surveillance Policy and Procedure.

2. Recommendations

The Joint Audit and Governance Committee is asked to:

2.1. Note that neither Council has used its surveillance powers under the
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 in the year 2023/24.

2.2. Note that the Councils’ Joint Surveillance Policy and Procedure of
September 2017 has been reviewed but no revisions are
recommended, other than very minor amendments as detailed
further within this report.

1051

Agenda Item 16



3. Context

3.1. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA), and the
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, legislates for the use of local
authorities of covert methods of surveillance and information gathering
to assist in the detection and prevention of crime in relation to an
authority’s core functions.

3.2. On 1st September 2017, The Office of Surveillance Commissioners,
The Intelligence Services Commissioner’s Office and The Interception
of Communications Commissioner’s Office were abolished by the
Investigatory Powers Act 2016. The Investigatory Powers
Commissioner’s Office (IPCO) is now responsible for the judicial
oversight of the use of covert surveillance by public authorities
throughout the United Kingdom.

4. Issues for consideration

4.1. RIPA Activity

4.1.1. There was no RIPA surveillance authorisation processed during
2023/24 for Adur District Council or Worthing Borough Council.

4.2. Review of Policy

4.2.1. The Monitoring Officer has reviewed the existing Surveillance
Policy and Procedure adopted in September 2017. This Policy
was previously reviewed in July 2019, December 2021 and
again in March 2023. There have been no changes to the
legislation requiring amendment to the Policy since the Policy
was last reviewed.

4.2.2. A copy of the current Surveillance Policy and Procedure is
annexed to this report at Appendix A and the Monitoring Officer
is confident that it remains up to date and fit for purpose. The
only minor revisions to recommend to the Committee are listed
below and are also shown as track changes to the annexed
policy:

● A review date of March 2024 has been added.

1052



● The job title of the SRO has been updated to ‘Director for
Sustainability & Resources’ throughout.

● References to ‘he/she’ and ‘his/her’ have been amended
to ‘they’ and ‘their’ throughout.

● Amendments to punctuation made at paragraphs 4.1(b),
13.1, 14.1.1, 14.2.1, 14.2.3, 16.2, 17.1, 19.3, 21.3 and
24.4.

● Minor grammatical error corrected at paragraph 28.1.
● Addition of wording at 12.1 to update an application for

judicial approval to Surrey & Sussex Magistrates
Administration Centre and telephone number.

● At 12.3 removal of District Judge’s name in favour of
position only noting complicated applications ‘may’ be
referred to a District Judge.

5. Engagement and Communication

5.1. The RIPA Coordinator has consulted with the relevant departments to
obtain the data set out in this report.

6. Financial Implications

6.1. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

Finance Officer: Emma Thomas Date:29/02/2024

7. Legal Implications

7.1. Other than as set out in the RIPA Policy there are no legal implications
directly related to this report.

Legal Officer: Joanne Lee Date: 29/02/2024

Background Papers
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Adur & Worthing Councils’ Surveillance Policy and Procedure

Appendices to the Report
Appendix A - Adur & Worthing Councils’ Surveillance Policy and Procedure marked
with track changes

1053



Officer Contact Details:-
Joanne Lee
Assistant Director and Monitoring Officer, Legal & Democratic Services
01903 221134
Joanne.lee@adur-worthing.gov.uk

1054

mailto:Joanne.lee@adur-worthing.gov.uk


Sustainability & Risk Assessment

1. Economic
Matter considered and no issues identified.

2. Social

2.1 Social Value
Matter considered and no issues identified.

2.2 Equality Issues
Matter considered and no issues identified.

2.3 Community Safety Issues (Section 17)
Matter considered and no issues identified.

2.4 Human Rights Issues
Matter considered and no issues identified.

3. Environmental
Matter considered and no issues identified.

4. Governance
Matter considered and no issues identified.

1055



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Value for Money
	Default Section
	Slide 1: Worthing Borough Council
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Contents
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: Executive Summary
	Slide 6: Executive Summary (continued)
	Slide 7: Executive Summary (continued)
	Slide 8: Executive Summary (continued)
	Slide 9
	Slide 10: Value for Money Commentary
	Slide 11: Value for Money Commentary (continued)
	Slide 12: Value for Money Commentary (continued)
	Slide 13: Value for Money Commentary (continued)

	Slide 39
	Slide 14
	Slide 15: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements
	Slide 16: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 17: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 18: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 19: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 20: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 21: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 22: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 23: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 24: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 25: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 26: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 27: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 28

	Adur DC 2022-23 Auditors Report for Value For Money
	Default Section
	Slide 1: Adur District Council
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Contents
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: Executive Summary
	Slide 6: Executive Summary (continued)
	Slide 7: Executive Summary (continued)
	Slide 8: Executive Summary (continued)
	Slide 9
	Slide 10: Value for Money Commentary
	Slide 11: Value for Money Commentary (continued)
	Slide 12: Value for Money Commentary (continued)
	Slide 13: Value for Money Commentary (continued)
	Slide 14: Value for Money Commentary (continued)
	Slide 15: Value for Money Commentary (continued)

	Slide 39
	Slide 16
	Slide 17: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements
	Slide 18: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 19: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 20: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 21: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 22: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 23: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 24: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 25: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 26: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 27: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 28: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 29: Appendix A - Summary of arrangements (continued)
	Slide 30



	8 Internal Audit Progress Report
	Slide 1: Adur & Worthing Councils  Joint Audit & Governance Committee – March 2024  Internal Audit Progress Report
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13

	9 Internal Audit Plan
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15
	Slide 16
	Slide 17

	10 Mazars Fraud Report
	Adur & Worthing Councils
	Slide Number 2
	Contents
	Slide Number 4
	1 - Summary and notes to the memorandum
	Slide Number 6
	2 – Phase 2 – Review of the Audit Trail (1/3)
	2 – Phase 2 – Review of the Audit Trail (2/3)
	2 – Phase 2 – Review of the Audit Trail (3/3)
	Slide Number 10
	Appendix A – Excerpts from Engagement Letter dated 4 May 2023
	Appendix B – Mazars for AWC – Draft Memorandum 16 06 2023
	Appendix C – Abbreviations used throughout the report
	Appendix D – CPS Results Excel
	Disclaimer
	Slide Number 16
	Appendix B - Mazars for AWC - Phase 1 Memorandum - including Phase 2 updates
	Appendix D - Mazars for AWC - CPS results

	11 Strategic Property Investment Fund - Annual Commercial Property Investment Strategy 2022/23
	12 Complaints Lead Member Champion
	Appendix A

	13 Sussex Yacht Club
	14 Adur Homes
	Appendix 1 Improvement Plan
	Appendix 2 Risk Assessment
	Appendix 3 Performance Indicators

	15 Working Group Constitutional Amendments
	Appendix to JAGC Constitution Report - ADC Constitution with Track Changes
	Appendix to JAGC Constitution Report - WBC Constitution with Track Changes

	16 The Councils' Surveillance Powers Policy and Procedure (RIPA)



